University of Mississippi eGrove

AICPA Professional Standards

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Historical Collection

1975

AICPA Professional Standards: Accounting Current text as of September 1, 1975

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

Follow this and additional works at: https://egrove.olemiss.edu/aicpa prof

Recommended Citation

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, "AICPA Professional Standards: Accounting Current text as of September 1, 1975" (1975). *AICPA Professional Standards*. 106. https://egrove.olemiss.edu/aicpa_prof/106

This Book is brought to you for free and open access by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Historical Collection at eGrove. It has been accepted for inclusion in AICPA Professional Standards by an authorized administrator of eGrove. For more information, please contact egrove@olemiss.edu.

AICPA PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS

VOLUME 3

ACCOUNTING

AS OF SEPTEMBER 1, 1975

AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

AICPA PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS

VOLUME 3

ACCOUNTING

Current Text

AS OF SEPTEMBER 1, 1975

Published for the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants by COMMERCE CLEARING HOUSE, INC. Chicago, Illinois 60646

Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc. 1211 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10036

> All Rights Reserved Printed in the United States of America

This volume contains quotations and uses materials copyrighted by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the "FASB"). Such material has been used by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants with the permission of the FASB.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section		Page
	How to Use This Volume	7011
AÇ 100	Preface; Introduction; Financial Accounting ——General	70 51
AC 2000	Financial Statement Presentation	7901
AC 4000	Revenue and Expense	8301
AC 5100	Assets	9301
AC 5300	Liabilities and Deferred Credits	9621
AC 5500	Capital	9901
AC 6000	Special Industry Applications	10,401
AC 6000	Appendix—AICPA Industry Audit/Accounting Guides	10,451
AC	AICPA Accounting Interpretations	12,501
AC	Cross-Reference Tables	15,001
AC	Topical Index	15,141

The materials in this volume have been prepared and compiled by the staff of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and have not been reviewed or approved by the Financial Accounting Standards Board.

HOW TO USE THIS VOLUME

Scope of the Volume . . .

This volume, which is a reprint of volume 3, the looseleaf edition of *AICPA Professional Standards*, includes the currently effective Accounting Research Bulletins, the Opinions and Statements of the Accounting Principles Board, the Accounting Interpretations issued by the AICPA, the Statements and Interpretations of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the successor to the Accounting Principles Board.

How this Volume is arranged . . .

The contents of this volume are arranged as follows:

Preface, Introduction Financial Accounting—General Financial Statement Presentation Revenue and Expense Assets Liabilities and Deferred Credits Capital Special Industry Applications AICPA Accounting Interpretations

How to use this Volume . . .

The arrangement of material in this volume is indicated in the general table of contents at the front of the volume. There is a detailed table of contents covering the material within each major division.

The major divisions are divided into sections, each with its own section number. Each paragraph within a section is decimally numbered. For example, AC section 2012.20 refers to the twentieth paragraph of section 2012, *Reporting the Results of Operations*. AICPA Accounting Interpretations have the same section number as the section to which they relate, but the number is always preceded by a "U". For example, AC section U1091 refers to AICPA Accounting Interpretations of section 1091, Accounting for Business Combinations.

Section 6000, Special Industry Applications, includes an appendix which lists the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Industry Audit/Accounting Guides. Accounting principles applicable to specialized situations are discussed in these publications. FASB Statements are located in the major divisions pertinent to their subject matter. FASB Interpretations are assigned the same section numbers as the pronouncements to which they relate except that a hyphenated number in serial order is added. For example, section 4211-1 is the first interpretation of section 4211.

Appendix A is a cross-reference index which lists the Accounting Research Bulletins, Opinions and Statements of the Accounting Principles Board, Statements and Interpretations of the Financial Accounting Standards Board in numerical order cross-referenced to the section number in this volume in which material from the pronouncements still in effect may be found.

Appendix B is a cross-reference index which is arranged by section numbers in this volume and which indicates the Accounting Research Bulletins, Opinions and Statements of the Accounting Principles Board, Statements and Interpretations of the Financial Accounting Standards Board from which the material in the section was derived.

Appendix C is a schedule of the major changes which have taken place in Accounting Research Bulletins 43 through 51, in the Opinions and Statements of the Accounting Principles Board, and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board since June 1953 when ARB No. 43 was issued. The dates of change are also indicated.

Appendix D is a cross-reference index which is arranged by section numbers and which indicates the AICPA Accounting Interpretations and FASB Interpretations relating to the official pronouncements. By reference to this appendix, it is possible to determine whether an Interpretation has been issued on any given section or paragraph.

The topical index uses the key word method to facilitate reference to the pronouncements. This index is arranged alphabetically by topic, with references to section and paragraph numbers, which appear at the foot of each page.

AC Section 100 Preface • Introduction FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING-GENERAL

... preface and introduction to current text of accounting pronouncements ... fundamentals of financial accounting . . . changes in accounting principles and estimates . . . price-level changes . . . foreign operations . . . business combinations

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Paragraph

Contents

100 Preface

Section

500 Introduction

510	General	
	Applicability of Committee Opinions Voting Procedure in Adopting Opinions Authority of Opinions	.0809
	Opinions Not Retroactive	.10 .11
520	Excerpts from the AICPA Code of Professional Ethics	
	Rules of Conduct	.01 0207.
1000	Financial AccountingGeneral	
1010	Fundamentals of Financial Accounting	
1020	Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles Un- derlying Financial Statements of Business Enterprises	
1021	Purpose and Nature of the Statement	
	Purpose of the Statement Nature of the Statement Terminology	
1022	Summary of the Statement	
	Financial Statements The Environment of Financial Accounting Objectives of Financial Accounting and Financial	
	Statements	.1316

Table of Contents

Paraaraph

Section	Pa	ragraph
	Basic Features and Basic Elements of Financial	
	Accounting	.1718
	Generally Accepted Accounting Principles	.1923
	Dynamic Nature of Financial Accounting Characteristics and Limitations of Financial Ac-	.24
	counting and Financial Statements	.2527
	Use of Financial Accounting Information	.2831
1023	The Environment of Financial Accounting Uses and Users of Financial Accounting Informa-	
	tion	
	Users with Direct Interests	.05
	Users with Indirect Interests	.06
	Common and Special Needs	.0709
	The Organization of Economic Activity in Society	.1016
	Economic Activity in Individual Business Enter-	
	prises	
	Economic Resources	.18
	Economic Obligations	.19
	Residual Interest	.20
	Relationship Among Economic Resources,	
	Economic Obligations, and Residual In-	
	terest	.21
	Changes in Economic Resources, Economic Obligations, and Residual Interest	.2226
	Discussion of Classification of Events	.25
	Cost	.26
	Measuring Economic Activity	27.22
	Measurement Problems	
1024	Objectives of Financial Accounting and	
	Financial Statements	
	Objectives of Particular Financial Statements	.03
	General Objectives	.0412
	Statement of the General Objectives	.0510
	Discussion of General Objectives	.1112
	Qualitative Objectives	.1337
	Statement of the Qualitative Objectives	.1522
	Comparability	
	Comparability Within a Single Enter-	
	prise	.2427
	Consistency	.26
	Regular Reporting Periods	.27
	Comparability Between Enterprises	.2833
	Adequate Disclosure	.34
	Reliability of Financial Statements	
	Achieving the Objectives	
ntents	© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Acc	ountants, Inc.
	*	

Contents

Section	Pa	ragraph
1025	Basic Features and Basic Elements of Financial Accounting	
	Basic Features of Financial Accounting Statement of the Basic Features of Financial	.0116
	Accounting	.0215
	Basic Features and the Environment	.16
	Basic Elements of Financial Accounting	.1723
	Financial Position	.1920
	Results of Operations	.2122
	Interrelationship of Financial Position and Results of Operations	.23
1026	Generally Accepted Accounting Principles— Pervasive Principles	
	Generally Accepted Accounting Principles	.0106
	Pervasive Principles	
	Pervasive Measurement Principles	
	Initial Recording	
	Income Determination	.11
	Revenue and Realization	.1217
	Application of Expense Recognition Principles	.25
	Effect of the Initial Recording, Realiza- tion, and Expense Recognition Prin-	
	ciples	
	Unit of Measure	
	Effect of the Unit of Measure Principle	.3132
	Modifying Conventions	.3338
	Conservatism	.35
	Emphasis on Income	.36
	Application of Judgment by the Ac- counting Profession as a Whole	.3738
1027	Generally Accepted Accounting Principles— Broad Operating Principles	
	Principles of Selection and Measurement Measurement Bases	.0305 .05
	Statement of the Principles of Selection and Measurement	.0613
	Principles That Guide Selection of Events and Assignment of Dollar Amounts	.0711
	Accounting for Those Assets and Liabilities That Are Not Resources or Obligations	.12

Contents

----D.-

Inc.

Section	Pa	ragraph
1027	Principles That Determine Effects on Assets, Liabilities, Owners' Equity, Revenue, and Expenses of an Enterprise	.13
	Principles of Financial Statement Presentation Fair Presentation in Conformity with Gen-	.1415
	erally Accepted Accounting Principles	.15
	Statement of the Principles of Financial Statement Presentation	.1628
1028	Generally Accepted Acounting Principles— Detailed Accounting Principles	
1029	Financial Accounting in the Future	
	Dynamic Nature of Financial Accounting	.0203
	Basis for Evaluation	.0407
	Practical Operation and Internal Consistency of Generally Accepted Accounting Prin-	
		.05
	The Environment	.06
	Financial Statements	.07
	Proposals for Change	.0813
	Note	.14
1040	Nonmonetary Transactions	
1041	Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions	
	Introduction	.0104
	Definitions	.03
	Applicability	.04
	Discussion	.0517
	Present Accounting for Nonmonetary Trans-	05 07
	actions	.0507 .05
	Nonreciprocal Transfers with Other Than	.05
	Owners	.06
	Nonmonetary Exchanges	.07
	Differing Views	.0817
	Nonreciprocal Transfers of Nonmonetary Assets to Owners	.0912
	Nonreciprocal Receipts of Nonmonetary Assets	.13
	Nonreciprocal Transfers of Nonmonetary	
	Assets to Other Than Owners	.14
	Exchange Transactions	
-	Fair Value Not Determinable	.17
Contents	© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Acc	ountants,

Section

1041

	Basic Principle	.1819
	Modifications of the Basic Principle	.2023
	Fair Value Not Determinable	.20
	Exchanges	.2122
	Nonreciprocal Transfers to Owners	.23
	Applying the Basic Principle	.2427
	Disclosure	.28
	Effective Date	.29
1050	Changes in Accounting Principles and Estimates	
1051	Accounting Changes	
	Introduction	.0105
	Scope of Section	
	Types of Accounting Changes	.0613
	Change in Accounting Principle	.0709
	Change in Accounting Estimate	.1011
	Change in estimate effected by a change in	
	accounting principle	.11
	Change in the Reporting Entity	.12
	Correction of an Error in Previously Issued	
	Financial Statements	.13
	Views on Reporting Changes in Accounting Prin-	• /
	ciples	.14
	Opinion	.1539
	Justification for a Change in Accounting Prin-	15.1/
		.1516
	General Disclosure—A Change in Accounting	.17
	Principle	
	Reporting a Change in Accounting Principle.	.1050
	Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle	.20
	Pro forma effects of retroactive application	
	Change in method of amortization and re-	
	lated disclosure	.2324
	Pro forma amounts not determinable	.25
	Cumulative effect not determinable	.26
	Special changes in accounting principle re-	
	ported by applying retroactively the new	
	method in restatements of prior periods	.2728
	Special exemption for an initial public dis- tribution	.2930
	Reporting a Change in Accounting Estimate	
	Disclosure	
	Reporting a Change in the Entity	_
AICPA Professi	ional Standards	Contents

Paragraph

Section	Pai	agraph
1051	Disclosure	.35
	Reporting a Correction of an Error in Previously	
	Issued Financial Statements	.3637
	Disclosure	.37
	Materiality	.38
	Historical Summaries of Financial Information	.39
	Effective Date	.40
1051A	Accounting Changes—Appendix A	
	Illustration of Reporting a Change in Accounting Principle	.0104
1051B	Accounting Changes—Appendix B	
	Illustration of Reporting a Special Change in Ac- counting Principle by Restating Prior Period	
	Financial Statements	.0104
1051-1	Accounting Changes Related to the Cost or Inventory: An Interpretation of Section 1051	
	Introduction	.0104
	Interpretation	.05
	Effective Date	.06
1070	Price-Level Changes	
1071	Financial Statements Restated for General Price-Level Changes	
	Foreword Introduction	.0106
	Background Information	
	Changes in the General Purchasing Power of Money	.0708
	Measuring General Price-Level Changes	
	Effects of General Price-Level Changes	
	Monetary and Nonmonetary Assets and Lia- bilities and General Price-Level Gains and	.1010
	Losses	.1723
	General Price-Level Restatements	.24
	Recommendations	.2549
	Restatement of Financial Statements	.2746
	Presentation of General Price-Level Financial Information	.4749

Contents

Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Section	Pa	ıragraph
1071A	Financial Statements Restated for General Price-Level Changes—Appendix A	
	Gross National Product Implicit Price Deflator Annual Averages Quarterly Averages	.01 .02
1071B	Financial Statements Restated for General Price-Level ChangesAppendix B	
	Monetary and Nonmonetary Items Assets	.02
	Liabilities	.02
	Owners' Equity	.04
1071C	Financial Statements Restated for General Price-Level Changes—Appendix C	
	Procedures To Prepare Financial Statements Re- stated for General Price-Level Changes	
	General Steps To Prepare General Price-Level Financial Statements	.0819
	Exhibits and Worksheets Illustrating Restatement	
	Exhibit A—Balance Sheet, December 31, 1967, General Price-Level Basis	.20
	Exhibit B—Statement of Income and Re-	
	tained Earnings, 1967, General Price- Level Basis	.21
	R-1—Gross National Product Implicit Price Deflators and Conversion Factors	.22
	R-2—Working Balance Sheets	.23
	R-3—Working Statement of Income and Re-	
	tained Earnings	.24
	R-4—Analysis of Marketable Securities, Capital Stock, and Additional Paid-In	
		.25
	R-5—Analysis of Prepaid Expenses	.26
	R-6—Analysis of Property, Plant, and Equip- ment	.27

Paragraph

Section	Pa	ragraph
1071C	R-7—Analysis of Accumulated Depreciation	.28
	R-8—Analysis of Deferred Income	.29
	R-9—Analysis of Sales and Cost of Sales	.30
	R-10—Analysis of Expenses	.31
	R-11—General Price-Level Gain	.32
	Exhibit A—Comparative Balance Sheets, December 31, 1968 and 1967, General Price-Level Basis	.33
	Exhibit B—Comparative Statements of In- come and Retained Earnings, 1968 and 1967, General Price-Level Basis	.34
	R-1—Gross National Product Implicit Price Deflators and Conversion Factors	.35
	R-2-Working Balance Sheets	.36
	R-2.—Working Statements of Income and	.50
	Retained Earnings	.37
	R-4—Analysis of Prepaid Expenses	.38
	R-5—Analysis of Property, Plant and Equip- ment	.39
	R-6—Analysis of Accumulated Depreciation	.40
	R-7-Analysis of Deferred Income	.41
	R-8—Analysis of Sales and Cost of Sales	.42
	R-9—Analysis of Expenses	.43
	R-10—General Price-Level Gain	.44
1071D	Financial Statements Restated for General Price-Level Changes—Appendix D	
	General Price-Level Changes and Specific Price Changes	
	Information for Illustration	.04
	Comments	.05
1080	Foreign Operations	
1081	Foreign Operations and Foreign Exchange	
	Consolidation of Foreign Subsidiaries	.0809
	Losses and Gains on Foreign Exchange	.1011
	Translation of Assets, Liabilities, Losses and Gains—Balance Sheet	.1218
	Translation of Assets, Liabilities, Losses and Gains—Profit and Loss Statement	.1921

z

Section	Paragraph	
1082	Disclosure of Foreign Currency Translation Information	
	Introduction	.0104
	Explanation of Terms	.05
	Standards of Disclosure	.06
	Effective Date	.07
	Appendix A—Background Information	
	Summary of Pronouncements and Practices	.0817
	Summary of Research Findings	.18
	Summary of Consideration of Comments on	10.05
	Exposure Draft	
	Appendix B—Examples of Disclosure	.2632
1090	Business Combinations	
1091	Accounting for Business Combinations	
	Summary	
	Problem	
	Scope and Effect of Opinion	.0407
	Conclusions	.08
	Background	.0941
	Present Accounting and Its Development	
	Development of Two Methods	.0910
	Purchase Method	.11
	Pooling of Interests Method	.1214
	Appraisal of Accepted Methods of Ac-	15 (1
	counting	.1541
	Purchase Method	
	An acquisition	.18
	A bargained transaction	
	Reporting economic substance	.21
	Defects attributed to purchase method	22 26
	method Pooling of Interests Method	.2220
	Validity of the concept	
	Consistency with other concepts	.31
	Usefulness of the concept	.32
	Application of the concept	
	Defects attributed to pooling of	
	interests method	
	Opinion	
	Applicability of Accounting Methods	.4249
	Conditions for Pooling of Interests	45 40
	Method	.4548

Contents

Section

1091

Table of Contents

Paragraph

Combining companies	.46
Combining of interests	.47
Absence of planned transactions	.48
Subsidiary Corporation	.49
Application of Pooling of Interests	
Method	.5065
Assets and Liabilities Combined	
Stockholders' Equity Combined	
Reporting Combined Operations	
Expenses Related to Combination	.58
Disposition of Assets After Combina-	50 40
tion	.5960
•	
Disclosure of a Combination	
Application of Purchase Method	.6696
Principles of Historical-Cost Account-	
ing	
Acquiring assets	.67
Allocating cost	.68
Accounting after acquisition	.69
Acquiring Corporation	.7071
Determining Cost of an Acquired Com-	70 7/
pany	
Costs of acquisition	
Contingent Consideration	
Contingency based on earnings	.80
Contingency based on security	.8183
prices Interest or dividends during contin-	.0103
gency period	.84
Tax effect of imputed interest.	.85
Compensation in contingent agree-	
ments	.86
Recording Assets Acquired and Lia-	
bilities Assumed	
Amortization of Goodwill	.90
Excess of Acquired Net Assets Over Cost	91- 92
Acavisition Date	
Disclosure in Financial Statements	
Effective Date	.7/99

/ The next page is 7081. ↓ / //

AC Section 100

Preface

(This preface represents a combination of the preface prepared by the committee on accounting procedure in 1953 for Accounting Research Bulletin Number 43, Restatement and Revision of Accounting Research Bulletins, and a statement of subsequent developments.)

.01 Since its organization the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, aware of divergences in accounting procedures and of an increasing interest by the public in financial reporting, has given consideration to problems raised by these divergences. Its studies led it, in 1932, to make certain recommendations to the New York Stock Exchange which were adopted by the Institute in 1934. Further consideration developed into a program of research and the publication of opinions, beginning in 1938, in a series of Accounting Research Bulletins.

.02 Forty-two bulletins were issued during the period from 1939 to 1953. Eight of these were reports of the committee on terminology. The other 34 were the result of research by the committee on accounting procedure directed to those segments of accounting practice where problems were most demanding and with which business and the accounting profession were most concerned at the time.

.03 Some of these studies were undertaken to meet new business or economic developments. Some arose out of the war which ended in 1945 and the problems following in its wake. Certain of the bulletins were amended, superseded, or withdrawn as changing conditions affected their usefulness.

.04 Although the committee has approved the objective of finding a better term than the word *surplus* for use in published financial statements, it has used *surplus* herein as being a technical term well understood among accountants, to whom its pronouncements are primarily directed.

.05 The committee on accounting procedure and the committee on terminology of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants were superseded on Septem-

ber 1, 1959, by the Accounting Principles Board. At its first meeting, on September 11, 1959, the Board approved the following resolution:

The Accounting Principles Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants on September 1, 1959, assumed the responsibilities of the former committees on accounting procedure and on terminology.

During its existence, the committee on accounting procedure issued a series of accounting research bulletins and the committee on terminology issued a series of accounting terminology bulletins. In 1953, the first forty-two of the accounting research bulletins were revised, restated, or withdrawn and appeared as Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43 and Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 1. Since 1953, other bulletins have been issued, the last accounting research bulletin being No. 51 and the last terminology bulletin being No. 4.

The Accounting Principles Board has the authority, as did the predecessor committees, to review and revise any of these bulletins and it plans to take such action from time to time.

Pending such action and in order to prevent any misunderstanding meanwhile as to the status of the existing accounting research and terminology bulletins, the Accounting Principles Board now makes public announcement that these bulletins should be considered as continuing in force with the same degree of authority as before.

.06 The Accounting Principles Board has issued a number of "Opinions" and "Statements." Certain of the Opinions modify Accounting Research Bulletins or other Opinions. With these revisions, all currently existing Bulletins, Opinions and Statements continue in full force and effect.

.07 The Institute staff has been authorized to issue Accounting Interpretations of accounting questions having general interest to the profession. The purpose of the Interpretations is to provide guidance on a timely basis

AC § 100.06

Preface

without the formal procedures required for an Accounting Principles Board Opinion. These Interpretations, which are reviewed with informed members of the profession, are not pronouncements of the Board.

.08 This looseleaf edition has been instituted to facilitate reference to the Bulletins, Opinions, Statements and Accounting Interpretations and to provide an effective means of reflecting modifications of them on a timely basis. Due to the fact that it is a compilation of pronouncements of the predecessor committee and the Board, the composition of which has changed during the periods of their existence, it has been considered desirable to maintain the language of the pronouncements in their original form and context to the extent feasible. Accordingly, such terms as *committee* and *Board* appear unchanged from the original pronouncements.

.09 The Council of the Institute passed the following resolution ¹ at its May 7, 1973 meeting:

Whereas in 1959 the Council designated the Accounting Principles Board to establish accounting principles, and

Whereas the Council is advised that the Financial Accounting Standards Board has become operational, it is

Resolved, that as of April 1, 1973, all authority of the Accounting Principles Board shall terminate, except in respect of action taken on pronouncements of such Board approved prior to April 1, 1973 for exposure, and action of the APB Chairman in respect of pronouncements not issued by such Board; and that on June 30, 1973 or upon approval for final issuance for all such APB pronouncements, whichever first occurs, the Accounting Principles Board shall be dissolved.

Resolved, that the Accounting Standards Executive Committee is hereby designated as the Senior Technical Committee of the Institute with respect to

¹See section 510.08 for the Council Resolution establishing the Financial Accounting Standards Board as the body to establish accounting principles pursuant to Rule 203 of the Rules of Conduct of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Preface

financial accounting and reporting, and cost accounting, as defined in the statement of its responsibilities, authority and structure approved by the Board of Directors, except as hereinabove provided with respect to the authority of the Accounting Principles Board and its Chairman until the dissolution of such Board.

> The next page is 7091. ← ₩

AC Section 510

Introduction—General

(This section of the introduction was prepared, except as otherwise indicated herein, by the committee on accounting procedure and was issued in June 1953 as a part of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, Restatement and Revision of Accounting Research Bulletins.)

ACCOUNTING AND THE CORPORATE SYSTEM

.01 Accounting is essential to the effective functioning of any business organization, particularly the corporate form. The test of the corporate system and of the special phase of it represented by corporate accounting ultimately lies in the results which are produced. These results must be judged from the standpoint of society as a whole—not merely from that of any one group of interested persons.

.02 The uses to which the corporate system is put and the controls to which it is subject change from time to time, and all parts of the machinery must be adapted to meet changes as they occur. In the past fifty years there has been an increasing use of the corporate system for the purpose of converting into readily transferable form the ownership of large, complex, and more or less permanent business enterprises. This evolution has brought in its train certain uses of the processes of law and accounting which have led to the creation of new controls, revisions of the laws, and reconsideration of accounting procedures.

.03 As a result of this development, the problems in the field of accounting have increasingly come to be considered from the standpoint of the buyer or seller of an interest in an enterprise, with consequent increased recognition of the significance of the income statement and a tendency to restrict narrowly charges and credits to surplus. The fairest possible presentation of periodic net income, with neither material overstatement nor understatement, is important, since the results of operations are significant not only to prospective buyers of an interest in the enterprise but also to prospective sellers. With the increasing importance of the income statement there has been a tendency to regard the balance sheet as the connecting link between successive income statements; however this concept should not obscure the fact that the balance sheet has significant uses of its own.

.04 This evolution has also led to a demand for a larger degree of uniformity in accounting. Uniformity has usually connoted similar treatment of the same item occurring in many cases, in which sense it runs the risk of concealing important differences among cases. Another sense of the word would require that different authorities working independently on the same case should reach the same conclusions. Although uniformity is a worthwhile goal, it should not be pursued to the exclusion of other benefits. Changes of emphasis and objective as well as changes in conditions under which business operates have led, and doubtless will continue to lead, to the adoption of new accounting procedures. Consequently, diversity of practice may continue as new practices are adopted before old ones are completely discarded.

APPLICABILITY OF COMMITTEE OPINIONS

The principal objective of the committee has been .05 to narrow areas of difference and inconsistency in accounting practices, and to further the development and recognition of generally accepted accounting principles, through the issuance of opinions and recommendations that would serve as criteria for determining the suitability of accounting practices reflected in financial statements and representations of commercial and industrial companies. In this endeavor, the committee has considered the interpretation and application of such principles as appeared to it to be pertinent to particular accounting problems. The committee has not directed its attention to accounting problems or procedures of religious, charitable, scientific, educational, and similar non-profit institutions, municipalities, professional firms, and the like. Accordingly, except where there is a specific statement of a different intent by the committee, its opinions and recommendations are directed primarily to business enterprises organized for profit.

VOTING PROCEDURE IN ADOPTING OPINIONS

.06 The committee regards the representative character and general acceptability of its opinions as of the highest importance, and to that end has adopted the following procedures:

(a) Any opinion or recommendation before issuance is submitted in final form to all members of the committee either at a meeting or by mail.

(b) No such opinion or recommendation is issued unless it has received the approval of two-thirds of the entire committee.

(c) Any member of the committee dissenting from an opinion or recommendation issued under the preceding rule is entitled to have the fact of his dissent and his reasons therefor recorded in the document in which the opinion or recommendation is presented.

.07 Before reaching its conclusions, the committee gives careful consideration to prior opinions, to prevailing practices, and to the views of professional and other bodies concerned with accounting procedures.

AUTHORITY OF OPINIONS

.08 The Council of the American Institute passed the following resolution ¹ at its May 7, 1973 meeting:

Whereas in 1959 the Council designated the Accounting Principles Board to establish accounting principles, and

Whereas the Council is advised that the Financial Accounting Standards Board has become operational, it is

Resolved, that as of the date hereof the Financial Accounting Standards Board, in respect of Statements of Financial Accounting Standards finally adopted by such Board in accordance with its Rules of Procedure and the bylaws of the Financial Accounting Foundation, be, and hereby is, designated by this Council as the body to establish accounting principles pursuant to Rule 203 of the Rules of Conduct of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants; provided, however, any Accounting Research Bulletins, or Opinions of the Accounting Principles Board presently issued or approved for exposure by the Accounting Principles Board prior to April 1, 1973 and finally adopted by such Board on or before June 30, 1973, shall constitute statements of accounting principles promulgated by a body

¹See section 100.09 for the Council Resolution which relates to the internal AICPA adjustment to the designation of the FASB as the body to establish accounting principles pursuant to Rule 203 of the Rules of Conduct of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Introduction

designated by Council as contemplated in Rule 203 of the Rules of Conduct² unless and until such time as they are expressly superseded by action of the FASB.

.09 The committee contemplates that its opinions need not be applied to immaterial items. It considers that items of little or no consequence may be dealt with as expediency may suggest. However, freedom to deal expediently with immaterial items should not extend to a group of items whose cumulative effect in any one financial statement may be material and significant. [As amended, effective after August, 1970 by the revision of notes to APB Opinions starting with APB Opinion No. 16.]

OPINIONS NOT RETROACTIVE

.10 No opinion issued by the committee or by the Board is required to have a retroactive effect unless it contains a statement of such requirement. Thus an opinion will ordinarily have no application to a transaction arising prior to its publication (or stated effective date), nor to transactions in process of completion at the time of publication. But while the committee considers it inequitable to make its statements retroactive, it does not wish to discourage the revision of past accounts in an individual case if it appears to be desirable in the circumstances. [As amended to reflect Board policy—beginning with APB Opinion No. 6, October 1965—of stating the effective date of each Opinion.]

THE COMPANY AND ITS AUDITORS

.11 Underlying all committee opinions is the fact that the accounts of a company are primarily the responsibility of management. The responsibility of the auditor is to express his opinion concerning the financial statements and to state clearly such explanations, amplifications, disagreement, or disapproval as he deems appropriate. While opinions of the committee are addressed particularly to certified public accountants whose problem it is to decide what they may properly report, the committee recommends similar application of the procedures mentioned herein by those who prepare the accounts and financial statements.

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

 $[\]implies$ The next page is 7101. \leftarrow

² See section 520, Excerpts from the AICPA Code of Professional Ethics.

Excerpts from the AICPA Code of Professional Ethics

Effective March 1, 1973

RULES OF CONDUCT

.01 Rule 203—Accounting Principles. A member shall not express an opinion that financial statements are presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles if such statements contain any departure from an accounting principle promulgated by the body designated by Council to establish such principles which has a material effect on the statements taken as a whole, unless the member can demonstrate that due to unusual circumstances the financial statements would otherwise have been misleading. In such cases his report must describe the departure, the approximate effects thereof, if practicable, and the reasons why compliance with the principle would result in a misleading statement.

Interpretations of Rules of Conduct

Interpretation under Rule 203-Accounting Principles

.02 203-1—Departures from established accounting principles. Rule 203 was adopted to require compliance with accounting principles promulgated by the body designated by Council to establish such principles. There is a strong presumption that adherence to officially established accounting principles would in nearly all instances result in financial statements that are not misleading.

.03 However, in the establishment of accounting principles it is difficult to anticipate all of the circumstances to which such principles might be applied. The rule therefore recognizes that upon occasion there may be unusual circumstances where the literal application of pronouncements on accounting principles would have the effect of rendering financial statements misleading. In such cases, the proper accounting treatment is that which will render the financial statements not misleading.

Introduction

.04 The question of what constitutes unusual circumstances as referred to in Rule 203 is a matter of professional judgment involving the ability to support the position that adherence to a promulgated principle would be regarded generally by reasonable men as producing a misleading result.

.05 Examples of events which may justify departures from a principle are new legislation or the evolution of a new form of business transaction. An unusual degree of materiality or the existence of conflicting industry practices are examples of circumstances which would not ordinarily be regarded as unusual in the context of Rule 203.

.06 203-2—Status of FASB Interpretations. Council is authorized under Rule 203 to designate a body to establish accounting principles and has designated the Financial Accounting Standards Board as such body. Council also has resolved that FASB Statements on Financial Accounting Standards, together with those Accounting Research Bulletins and APB Opinions which are not superseded by action of the FASB, constitute accounting principles as contemplated in Rule 203.

.07 In determining the existence of a departure from an accounting principle established by a Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, Accounting Research Bulletin or APB Opinion encompassed by Rule 203, the Division of Professional Ethics will construe such Statement, Bulletin or Opinion in the light of any Interpretations thereof issued by the FASB.

 \implies The next page is 7151. $\leftarrow \implies$

AC Section 1010 Fundamentals of Financial Accounting

[Source: APB Statement No. 1.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: April 13, 1962

STATEMENT BY THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD

.01 The Accounting Principles Board has received Accounting Research Study No. 3, "A Tentative Set of Broad Accounting Principles for Business Enterprises," by Robert T. Sprouse and Maurice Moonitz. The Board previously had received Accounting Research Study No. 1, "The Basic Postulates of Accounting," by Maurice Moonitz. Study No. 1 was published in September 1961 and Study No. 3 is scheduled for publication toward the end of April 1962.

.02 In the opinion of the Director of Accounting Research, these two studies comply with the instructions to the Accounting Research Division to make a study of the basic postulates and broad principles of accounting. Prior to its publication, Study No. 3 has been read and commented upon by a limited number of people in the field of accounting. Their reactions range from endorsement of the ideas set forth in the study of "Broad Principles" to misgivings that compliance with the recommendations set forth by the authors would lead to misleading financial statements. The Board is therefore treating these two studies (the one on "Postulates" and the other on "Principles") as conscientious attempts by the accounting research staff to resolve major accounting issues which, however, contain inferences and recommendations in part of a speculative and tentative nature.

.03 The Board feels that there is ample room for improvement in present generally accepted accounting principles and a need to narrow or eliminate areas of difference which now exist. It hopes the studies will stimulate constructive comment and discussion in the areas of the basic postulates and the broad principles of accounting. Accounting principles and practices should be adapted to meet changing times and conditions, and, therefore, there should be experimentation with new principles and new forms of reporting to meet these conditions. The Board believes, however, that while these studies are a valuable contribution to accounting thinking, they are too radically different from present generally accepted accounting principles for acceptance at this time.

.04 After a period of exposure and consideration, some of the specific recommendations in these studies may prove acceptable to the Board while others may not. The Board therefore will await the results of this exposure and consideration before taking further action on these studies.

 \longrightarrow The next page is 7171. \leftarrow

Purpose and Nature of the Statement

[Source: APB Statement No. 4, Chap. 1, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: October, 1970

STATEMENT OF THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD

PURPOSE OF THE STATEMENT

.01 The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants through its Accounting Principles Board is engaged in a program of advancing the written expression of financial accounting principles for the purpose of increasing the usefulness of financial statements. The Board has been directed to devote its attention to the broad fundamentals of financial accounting as well as to specific accounting problems.¹ This Statement of basic concepts ² and accounting principles underlying financial statements of business enterprises ³ (sections 1021-1029) states the Board's views in response to that directive.⁴

.02 Sections 1021-1029 have two broad purposes, one educational and the other developmental. They are intended to provide a basis for enhanced understanding of the broad fundamentals of financial accounting. They are also intended to provide a basis for guiding the future

³ See section 1023.12 for a discussion of business enterprises. Although sections 1021-1029 apply to business enterprises, some of the contents may also apply to not-for-profit organizations.

⁴Three accounting research studies were among the sources used in preparing sections 1021-1029: Accounting Research Study No. 1, The Basic Postulates of Accounting, by Maurice Moonitz; Accounting Research Study No. 3, A Tentative Set of Broad Accounting Principles for Business Enterprises, by Robert T. Sprouse and Maurice Moonitz; and Accounting Research Study No. 7, Inventory of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for Business Enterprises, by Paul Grady. (Accounting research studies are not pronouncements of this Board or of the Institute, but are published for the purpose of stimulating discussion on important accounting issues.)

¹See "Report to Council of the Special Committee on Research Program," The Journal of Accountancy, December 1958, pp. 62-68 and Report of Special Committee on Opinions of Accounting Principles Board, 1965, summarized in The Journal of Accountancy, June 1965, pp. 12, 14, and 16.

² The term *basic concepts* is used to refer to the observations concerning the environment, the objectives of financial accounting and financial statements, and the basic features and basic elements of financial accounting discussed in sections 1023-1025.

development of financial accounting. To achieve these purposes sections 1021-1029 (1) discuss the nature of financial accounting, the environmental forces that influence it, and the potential and limitations of financial accounting in providing useful information, (2) set forth the objectives of financial accounting and financial statements, and (3) present a description of present generally accepted accounting principles.

NATURE OF THE STATEMENT

.03 Sections 1021-1029 are primarily descriptive, not prescriptive. They identify and organize ideas that for the most part are already accepted. In addition to the summary in section 1022, sections 1021-1029 contain two main parts that are essentially distinct—(a) sections 1023 to 1025 on the environment, objectives, and basic features of financial accounting and (b) sections 1026 to 1028 on present generally accepted accounting principles. The description of present generally accepted accounting principles is based primarily on observation of accounting practice. Present generally accepted accounting principles have not been formally derived from the environment, objectives, and basic features of financial accounting.

.04 The aspects of the environment selected for discussion are those that appear to influence the financial accounting process directly. The objectives of financial accounting and financial statements discussed are goals toward which efforts are presently directed. The accounting principles described are those that the Board believes are generally accepted today. The Board has not evaluated or approved present generally accepted accounting principles except to the extent that principles have been adopted in Board Opinions. Publication of sections 1021-1029 does not constitute approval by the Board of accounting principles that are not covered in its Opinions.

.05 Section 1029 describes the dynamic nature of financial accounting and the need for continual reexamination of generally accepted accounting principles. The section describes how present generally accepted accounting principles may be evaluated on the basis of the material in sections 1023 to 1025. The section also indicates some of the proposals that have been made for improving financial

AC § 1021.03

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

accounting information. These proposals, which the Board has not evaluated, may also be evaluated on the basis of the material in sections 1023 to 1025.

.06 Sections 1021-1029 are a step toward development of a more consistent and comprehensive structure of financial accounting and of more useful financial information. They are intended to provide a framework within which the problems of financial accounting may be solved, although they do not propose solutions to those problems and do not attempt to indicate what generally accepted accounting principles should be. Evaluation of present accounting principles and determination of changes that may be desirable are left to future pronouncements of the Board.

.07 The status of Statements of the Board is defined in section 1029.14. Sections 1021-1029 do not change, supersede, or interpret Accounting Research Bulletins or Opinions of the Accounting Principles Board currently in effect. The normal procedures established to maintain the effectiveness of these pronouncements and to interpret them continue in effect unchanged. Sections 1021-1029 do, however, modify some of the definitions of technical accounting terms in the Accounting Terminology Bulletins.⁵ The following sections are superseded:

Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 1, paragraphs:

9-accounting 21-balance sheet 26-assets 27-liabilities

Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 4, paragraph 2, cost.

The following sections are amended:

Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 2, paragraphs:

5—revenue 8—income

Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 4, paragraph 3, expense.

These changes are noted by footnotes at appropriate places in sections 1021-1029.

⁵ The Accounting Terminology Bulletins do not have the same authoritative status as the Accounting Research Bulletins and the Opinions of the Accounting Principles Board but are useful guides to financial accounting terminology.

TERMINOLOGY

.08 Technical language is used in financial accounting. Many technical terms used in financial accounting are words that have wide common usage but that are given special meanings by accountants. Many important technical terms are defined or discussed in sections 1021-1029. The meaning of these terms is best understood in the context of the discussions in which they appear. The terms and the sections in which they are defined or discussed are:

	~
	Sections
Accounting	1023.01
Accrual	1022.27, 1025.08
Assets	1025.19
Balance sheet	1022.03, 1025.20
Basic elements	1025.17
Basic features	1025.01
Basic financial statements	1027.17
Business enterprise	1021.01 (footnote 3),
_	1023.12
Casualties	1023.23
Cost	
Current assets	
Current liabilities	1027.25
Deferred charges	1025.19 (footnote 2)
Deferred credits	
Depreciation	1026.23, 1027.10 (M-6B)
Economic obligations	
Economic resources	1023.18
Exchanges	1023.23
Expenses	1025.21, 1026.1819
External events	1023.23
Extraordinary items	1027.25
Fair presentation (or presents	
fairly) in conformity with	
generally accepted account-	
ing principles	1027.15
Fair value	
	1027.07 [M-1A(1)]
Financial accounting	
Financial position	
Financial statements	
Gains	
1.00	

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

	Sections
General objectives	1024.01, 1024.04
Generally accepted accounting	
principles	1026.0104
Going concern	
Income statement	
Internal events	1023.23
Liabilities	1025.19
Losses	1027.25
Matching	1026.11 (footnote 6)
Net income	1025.21
Net loss	
Net realizable value	1023.31 (footnote 11)
Nonreciprocal transfers	1023.23
Owners' equity	1025.19
Production	
Profit-directed activities	1024.06 (footnote 4)
Qualitative objectives	1024.13, 1024.14
Realization	1026.14
Residual interest	1023.20
Results of operations	1025.22
Retained earnings	1027.25
Revenue	1025.21, 1026.12
Statement of changes in finan	-
cial position	1022.06
Statement of retained earnings	1022.05
Substantial authoritative sup-	
port	1026.01 (footnote 1)
Transfers between the enter-	
prise and its owners	1023.23
Working capital	1027.25
[As amended, effective for fiscal periods ending after	
September 30, 1971, by APB Opinion No. 19.]	

>>>> The next page is 7181. ← ++++

AC Section 1022 Summary of the Statement

[Source: APB Statement No. 4, Chap. 2, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: October, 1970

STATEMENT OF THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD

.01 Accounting is a service activity. Its function is to provide quantitative information, primarily financial in nature, about economic entities that is intended to be useful in making economic decisions. Sections 1021-1029 deal with financial accounting for business enterprises, the branch of accounting that focuses on the general-purpose reports on financial position and results of operations known as financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

.02 Financial statements are the means by which the information accumulated and processed in financial accounting is periodically communicated to those who use it. They are designed to serve the needs of a variety of users, particularly owners and creditors. Through the financial accounting process, the myriad and complex effects of the economic activities of an enterprise are accumulated, analyzed, quantified, classified, recorded, summarized, and reported as information of two basic types: (1) financial position, which relates to a point in time, and (2) changes in financial position, which relate to a period of time. Notes to the statements, which may explain headings, captions or amounts in the statements or present information that cannot be expressed in money terms, and descriptions of accounting policies are an integral part of the statements. [As amended by APB Opinion No. 22, December 31, 1971.]

Financial Position----The Balance Sheet

.03 A balance sheet (or statement of financial position) presents three major categories: (a) assets, (b) liabilities, and (c) owners' equity, the difference between total assets and total liabilities. A balance sheet at any date presents an indication in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles of the financial status of the enterprise at a particular point of time.

Changes in Financial Position— The Income Statement

.04 The income statement for a period presents the revenue, expenses, gains, losses, and net income (net loss) recognized during the period and thereby presents an indication in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles of the results of the enterprise's profit-directed activities during the period. The information presented in an income statement is usually considered the most important information provided by financial accounting because profitability is a paramount concern to those interested in the economic activities of the enterprise.

Changes in Financial Position— Changes in Owners' Equity

An income statement is usually not sufficient to .05 describe the total change in owners' equity during a period because changes arise from sources other than profitdirected activities. The total change in owners' equity is described by three statements: an income statement, a statement of retained earnings, and a statement of other changes in owners' equity. A statement of retained earnings presents net income (as shown in the income statement) and items such as dividends and adjustments of the net income of prior periods. A statement of other changes in owners' equity presents additional investments by owners, retirements of owners' interests (except for the part considered to be a distribution of earnings), and similar events. If these other changes are simple and few in number, they are often presented in notes to the other financial statements rather than in a separate statement.

Changes in Financial Position— Other Statements

.06 A statement of changes in financial position shows the major sources of increases in an enterprise's assets for a period in addition to net income, for example, from borrowing, owners' investments, and disposal of assets other than through normal operations. It also shows how the

AC § 1022.04

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

enterprise used its assets during the period, for example, in acquiring other assets, in paying debt, and in distributions to owners. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods ending after September 30, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 19.]

.07 Other statements that analyze specific changes in financial position are occasionally presented, for example, changes in plant and equipment, changes in long-term liabilities, and cash receipts and disbursements. Statements that analyze changes in each asset, each liability, and each item of owners' equity could be prepared, but statements of changes in financial position in addition to those already discussed are seldom presented. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods ending after September 30, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 19.]

The Source of Financial Statements

.08 Financial statements are the end product of the financial accounting process. This process is governed by generally accepted accounting principles, which determine the information that is included, how it is organized, measured, combined, and adjusted, and finally how it is presented in the financial statements. The principles reflect the objectives and the basic features of financial accounting (discussed below). All of financial accounting—principles, objectives, and basic features—is grounded in the environment of business enterprises.

THE ENVIRONMENT OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING

.09 An understanding of financial accounting and an ability to evaluate the information it produces depend not only on delineation of accounting principles and the features and objectives of accounting, but also on an understanding of the environment within which financial accounting operates and which it is intended to reflect (section 1023). The users of financial accounting information and economic activity in society and in individual business enterprises are aspects of the environment important to an analysis of the problems of financial accounting.

Users

.10 Needs and expectations of users of financial statements are a part of the environment that determines the type of information required of financial accounting. A knowledge of important classes of users, of their common and special needs for information, and of their decision processes is helpful in improving financial accounting information.

Economic Activity

.11 Economic activity can be described in terms of (1) its general nature in highly developed economies, (2) the economic resources, obligations, and residual interest of a business enterprise and the economic activities that change them, and (3) the ways of measuring economic activity.

.12 Describing economic resources, economic obligations, and residual interest and the economic activities that change them is important because the basic elements of financial accounting—assets, liabilities, owners' equity, revenue, expenses, and net income—are related to these economic elements. A discussion of the measurement of economic activity is also relevant because measurement difficulties underlie many of the problems of financial accounting.

OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

.13 The basic purpose of financial accounting and financial statements is to provide financial information about individual business enterprises that is useful in making economic decisions (section 1024). General and qualitative objectives aid in fulfilling this basic purpose and provide means for evaluating present and proposed accounting principles.

.14 General objectives determine the appropriate content of financial accounting information. These objectives are to present reliable financial information about enterprise resources and obligations, economic progress and other changes in resources and obligations, to present information helpful in estimating earnings potential, and to present other financial information needed by users, particularly owners and creditors.

.15 Certain qualities or characteristics make financial information useful. Providing information that has each of these qualities is an objective of financial accounting.

AC § 1022.11

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

These qualitative objectives are relevance, understandability, verifiability, neutrality, timeliness, comparability, and completeness.

.16 The objectives of financial accounting and financial statements are at least partially achieved at present, although improvement is probably possible in connection with each of them. Constraints on full achievement of the objectives arise from (1) conflicts of objectives, (2) environmental influences, and (3) lack of complete understanding of the objectives.

BASIC FEATURES AND BASIC ELEMENTS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING

Basic Features

.17 The basic features of financial accounting (section 1025) are determined by the characteristics of the environment in which financial accounting operates. The features are:

- (1) Accounting entity—economic activities of individual entities are the focus of financial accounting.
- (2) Going concern—continuation of entity operations is usually assumed in financial accounting in the absence of evidence to the contrary.
- (3) Measurement of economic resources and obligations—financial accounting is primarily concerned with measurement of economic resources and obligations and changes in them.
- (4) *Time periods*—financial accounting presents information about activities for relatively short time periods.
- (5) Measurement in terms of money—financial accounting measures in terms of money.
- (6) Accrual—determining periodic income and financial position depends on measurement of noncash resources and obligations.
- (7) Exchange price—financial accounting measurements are primarily based on exchange prices.
- (8) Approximation—approximations are inevitable in the allocations required in financial accounting.

- (9) Judgment—financial accounting requires informed judgment.
- (10) General-purpose financial information—financial accounting presents general-purpose financial information.
- (11) Fundamentally related financial statements—statements of financial position and changes in financial position are fundamentally related.
- (12) Substance over form—financial accounting emphasizes the economic substance of events even though the legal form may differ from the economic substance and suggest different treatment.
- (13) *Materiality*—financial reporting is only concerned with significant information.

Basic Elements

.18 The basic elements of financial accounting are assets, liabilities, owners' equity, revenue, expenses, and net income (section 1025). These elements are defined in terms of (a) economic resources, economic obligations, and residual interest and changes in resources, obligations, and residual interest and (b) generally accepted accounting principles.

GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

.19 Generally accepted accounting principles (sections 1026 to 1028) incorporate the consensus ¹ at any time as to which economic resources and obligations should be recorded as assets and liabilities, which changes in them should be recorded, when these changes should be recorded, how the recorded assets and liabilities and changes in them should be measured, what information should be disclosed and how it should be disclosed, and which financial statements should be prepared. In this Statement, generally accepted accounting principles are divided into three levels: pervasive principles, broad operating principles, and detailed principles.

.20 Pervasive principles (section 1026) form the basis for much of the accounting process. They include pervasive measurement principles and modifying conventions. The

¹ See section 1026.01, footnote 1.

pervasive measurement principles—for example, realization —broadly determine the events recognized in financial accounting, the basis of measurement used in financial accounting, and the way net income is determined. The modifying conventions—for example, conservatism—affect the application of the pervasive measurement principles.

.21 Broad operating principles (section 1027) are general rules, derived from the pervasive principles, that govern the application of the detailed principles. They are described in this Statement in two groups, principles of selection and measurement and principles of financial statement presentation. The principles of selection and measurement include principles that guide selection of events to be accounted for and assignment of dollar amounts and principles that determine the effects of recorded events on assets, liabilities, owners' equity, revenue, and expenses of the enterprise.

.22 Detailed principles are the numerous rules and procedures that are based on the broad principles and specify the way data are processed and presented in specific situations. Detailed principles are discussed but not listed in section 1028.

.23 The three types of principles determine the operation of the financial accounting process. All three levels of principles are conventional. They have developed on the basis of experience, reason, and custom; they become generally accepted by agreement (often tacit agreement) and are not formally derived from a set of postulates.

DYNAMIC NATURE OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING

.24 Present generally accepted accounting principles are the result of an evolutionary process that can be expected to continue (section 1029). Principles change in response to changes in economic and social conditions, to new knowledge and technology, and to demands by users for more serviceable financial information. Change is more pronounced in the detailed principles than in the broad operating principles; the pervasive principles tend to be the most stable. Nevertheless, because the principles are conventional and have been developed in relation to a specific environment and with assumptions about needed financial information, they are all subject to review, evaluation, and possible change.

CHARACTERISTICS AND LIMITATIONS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

.25 The environment, objectives, and basic features of financial accounting determine the structure of financial accounting and provide constraints and conditions on its operations. The accounting principles that are generally accepted at a particular time as the basis of reporting represent a response to these influences, constraints, and conditions as they exist at that time and determine not only the scope of financial accounting information at the time but also its relevance. These principles are the result of the historical development of financial accounting, the way in which needs of users of financial accounting information are perceived, and the way accountants interact with the environment.

.26 The complexity of the economic activity that forms the subject matter of accounting gives financial accounting some definite limits. Taking one approach in financial accounting requires rejection of other approaches and limits the scope of accounting. The approach taken is reflected in certain characteristics of the financial accounting process and its product, the financial statements. In the midst of the continuous and complex interactions found in the economic environment of enterprises, periodic measurements are made based on a relatively simple classification system. Faced with the uncertainty and joint effects that characterize economic activity, accountants adopt conventional procedures that emphasize verifiable measures and are based on assumptions that certain causal relationships exist and can be traced.

.27 Some of the more important present characteristics and limitations of financial accounting and financial statements are briefly described.

Historical Report. Financial accounting and financial statements are primarily historical in that information about events that have taken place provides the basic data of financial accounting and financial statements. General-Purpose Financial Statements. Financial accounting presents information designed to serve the

AC § 1022.25

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

common needs of a variety of user groups with primary emphasis on the needs of present and potential owners and creditors.

Fundamentally Related Financial Statements. Financial statements are fundamentally related. Aspects of financial position presented in the balance sheet are related to changes in financial position presented in the income statement and the statement of changes in financial position.

Classification. Information about financial position and results of operations is classified based on the presumed needs of owners, creditors, and other users.

Summarization. Transactions and other events of a business enterprise that have similar characteristics are grouped and presented in summary form.

Measurement in Terms of Money. Financial statements in the United States are expressed in terms of numbers of U. S. dollars. Changes in the general purchasing power of the dollar are not reflected in the basic financial statements.

Measurement Bases. Several measurement bases are used in financial accounting, for example, net realizable value (receivables), lower of acquisition cost and present market price (inventories), and acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation (plant and equipment). Financial statements in general do not purport to reflect the current value of the assets of the enterprise or their potential proceeds on liquidation under present generally accepted accounting principles.

Accrual. The effects of transactions and other events on the assets and liabilities of a business enterprise are recognized and reported in the time periods to which they relate rather than only when cash is received or paid.

Estimates and Judgment. The complexity and uncertainty of economic activity seldom permit exact measurement. Estimates and informed judgment must often be used to assign dollar amounts to the effects of transactions and other events that affect a business enterprise. Verifiability. Although estimates are unavoidable in financial accounting, an attempt is made to keep the effects of estimates to a minimum by basing financial accounting measurements primarily on enterprise transactions and requiring corroboration by outside evidence before increases in value are recognized. Estimates included in financial accounting are usually related in some way to data derived from verifiable events and the estimates are accounted for in a consistent and systematic manner.

Conservatism. The uncertainties that surround the preparation of financial statements are reflected in a general tendency toward early recognition of unfavorable events and minimization of the amount of net assets and net income.

Substance Over Form. Although financial accounting is concerned with both the legal and economic effects of transactions and other events and many of its conventions are based on legal rules, the economic substance of transactions and other events are usually emphasized when economic substance differs from legal form.

Technical Terminology. Many of the terms used in financial statements are common words to which accountants have given technical meanings.

Audience. Financial statement users are presumed to be generally familiar with business practices, the technical language of accounting, and the nature of the information reported.

[As amended, effective for fiscal periods ending after September 30, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 19.]

USE OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION

.28 Appropriate use of financial accounting information requires a knowledge of the characteristics and limitations of financial accounting. Financial accounting information is produced for certain purposes by the use of conventional principles. Use of the information for other purposes or without a general knowledge of its characteristics and limitations may lead to misinterpretation and errors.

.29 An important characteristic of financial statements, for example, is that the information they contain describes the past, while decision making is oriented toward the future. A record of past events and a knowledge of past position and changes in position, however, help users evaluate prior decisions and this information is also a starting point for users in predicting the future. Decision makers should not assume, however, that the conditions that produced past results will necessarily continue in the future.

.30 Financial statements are designed to provide an important part of the information that users need for many of their decisions. The information contained in the statements should not be relied on exclusively, however, and should be supplemented by other information about the specific prospects of the company, the industry in which it operates, and the economy in general.

.31 A knowledge of the characteristics and limitations of financial statements also helps users avoid putting undue reliance on single measures or the results of a single year. Net income or earnings per share of a single year, for example, should not be overemphasized since these amounts are derived from complex computations, are based on estimates and judgments, and often have their meaning modified by information in the notes to the financial statements. In reaching decisions users should consider movements in the components of net income, the effects of estimates and judgments, the possible effects of information disclosed in notes, and similar factors.

 \implies The next page is 7201. $\leftarrow \implies$

AC Section 1023 The Environment of Financial Accounting

[Source: APB Statement No. 4, Chap. 3, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: October, 1970

STATEMENT OF THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD

.01 Accounting is a service activity. Its function is to provide quantitative information, primarily financial in nature, about economic entities that is intended to be useful in making economic decisions—in making reasoned choices among alternative courses of action. Accounting includes several branches, for example, financial accounting, managerial accounting, and governmental accounting.

.02 Financial accounting for business enterprises is one branch of accounting. It provides, within limitations described below, a continual history quantified in money terms of economic resources and obligations of a business enterprise and of economic activities that change those resources and obligations.

.03 Financial accounting is shaped to a significant extent by the environment, especially by:

- 1. The many uses and users which it serves,
- 2. The overall organization of economic activity in society,
- 3. The nature of economic activity in individual business enterprises, and
- 4. The means of measuring economic activity.

Environmental conditions, restraints, and influences are generally beyond the direct control of businessmen, accountants, and statement users. Understanding and evaluating financial accounting requires knowledge of this environment and of its impact on the financial accounting process. Aspects of the environment are reflected in the basic features and basic elements of financial accounting (see Section 1025) and in generally accepted accounting principles (see Sections 1026 to 1028).

USES AND USERS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION

.04 Financial accounting information ¹ is used by a variety of groups and for diverse purposes. The needs and expectations of users determine the type of information required. User groups may be broadly classified into (1) those with direct interests in business enterprises and (2) those with indirect interests.

Users with Direct Interests

.05 Some users have or contemplate having a direct economic interest in business enterprises. Examples of these users and of the types of evaluations and decisions for which they use financial accounting information are:

Owners—retain, increase, or decrease proportionate ownership; evaluate the use and stewardship of resources by management.

Creditors and suppliers—extend credit; determine terms of credit; require security or restrictive covenants in terms; enter suit or force bankruptcy or receivership; increase or decrease reliance on the enterprise as a customer.

Potential owners, creditors, and suppliers—commit resources to the enterprise; determine amount of commitment; evaluate the use and stewardship of resources by management.

Management (including directors and officers)—assess nature and extent of financing needs; evaluate results of past economic decisions; set dividend policy; project future financial position and income; assess merger and acquisition possibilities; recommend reorganization or dissolution.

Taxing authorities—evaluate tax returns; assess taxes or penalties; make investigations and audits.

Employees—negotiate wages; terminate employment; or, for prospective employees, apply for employment.

Customers—anticipate price changes; seek alternative sources or broader bases of supply.

AC § 1023.04

¹ The term *information* is sometimes applied only to relevant data. Sections 1021-1029 do not distinguish between the terms *information* and *data*.

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Users with Indirect Interests

.06 Some users of financial accounting information derive an interest because their function is to assist or protect those who have or contemplate having a direct interest. Examples are:

Financial analysts and advisors—advise investors and potential investors to retain, increase, decrease, or acquire an investment in the enterprise; evaluate prospects of investment in the enterprise relative to alternative investments.²

Stock exchanges—accept or cancel listings; suspend trading; encourage changes in accounting practices or additional disclosure of information.

Lawyers—determine whether covenants and contractual provisions are fulfilled; advise on legality of dividends and profit sharing and deferred compensation agreements; draft pension plan terms.

Regulatory or registration authorities—assess reasonableness of rate of return; allow or require increases or decreases in prices or rates; require or recommend changes in accounting or disclosure practices; issue cease-and-desist or stock-trading-suspension orders.

Financial press and reporting agencies—prepare descriptive analyses; combine, summarize, or select information to present in descriptions; conform information to uniform presentation arrangements; compute trends and ratios.

Trade associations—compile industry statistics and make comparisons; analyze industry results.

Labor unions—formulate wage and contract demands; assess enterprise and industry prospects and strengths.

Common and Special Needs

.07 Financial accounting information may be directed toward the common needs of one or more of the user groups cited above or may be directed toward specialized needs. Examples of information directed toward common needs are the general-purpose reports on enterprise financial posi-

² Investment bankers are users with derived interests when they act as analysts and advisors to issuers of securities and investors in securities. They are users with direct interests when they purchase and sell securities on their own account.

tion and progress known as the balance sheet, the income statement and the statement of changes in financial position. The emphasis in financial accounting on general-purpose information (see section 1025.12) is based on the presumption that a significant number of users need similar information. General-purpose information is not intended to satisfy specialized needs of individual users. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods ending after September 30, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 19.]

.08 Examples of information that is derived from financial accounting records and directed toward specialized needs are some financial reports submitted to regulatory authorities, special financial reports prepared to obtain credit or loans, many reports to management, tax returns, and statistical financial information given to trade and industry associations. Information prepared for a particular purpose cannot be expected to serve other needs well. Furthermore, the problem of ascertaining specialized needs of a large number of users, the cost of attempting to serve these needs on an individual basis, and the confusion that might result from disseminating more than one set of information about the financial results of an enterprise's operations militate against attempting to serve all needs of users with special-purpose reports.

.09 Improving financial accounting requires continuing research on the nature of user needs, on the decision processes of users, and on the information that most effectively serves user needs.

THE ORGANIZATION OF ECONOMIC ACTIVITY IN SOCIETY

.10 All societies engage in certain fundamental economic activities:

Production—the process of converting economic resources into outputs of goods and services that are intended to have greater utility than the required inputs. In sections 1021-1029 the term *production* is used in this broad sense and encompasses the provision of services and the movement and storage of goods as well as changes in physical form of goods. The term *production* therefore is not used in sections 1021-1029 synonymously with the term *manufacturing.*³

^a See paragraph .23 for further discussion of production.

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Income distribution—the process of allocating rights to the use of output among individuals and groups in society.

Exchange—the process of trading resources or obligations for other resources or obligations.

Consumption—the process of using the final output of the production process.

Saving—the process by which individuals and groups set aside rights to present consumption in exchange for rights to future consumption.

Investment—the process of using current inputs to increase the stock of resources available for future output as opposed to immediately consumable output.

.11 In less developed economies each form of economic activity is relatively simple and many of the processes are merged into one another. Individuals or groups produce for their own consumption; the distribution of claims to output and income is direct and obvious; exchange is the exception rather than the rule; and saving and investment occur together as some individuals or groups set aside part of the product of their current effort for future rather than present consumption.

.12 In contrast, economic activity is specialized and complex in highly developed economies like the United States. Goods and services are produced by specialized units. These units may be government owned, but in the United States most productive activity is carried on through investor owned business enterprises. Business enterprises are individuals or associations of individuals that control and use resources for a variety of purposes including the purpose of yielding a return to the owners of the enterprise. They produce for sale rather than their own consumption and generally engage in market exchanges to acquire inputs for the production process and to dispose of goods and services produced.

.13 Within producing units, the production process itself is often specialized and complex. Modern organization permits and modern technology requires long, continuous, and intricate processes in which products and services are often the joint result of several productive resources. Rapid changes in technology change patterns of inputs and of outputs and contribute to changes in their relative prices. Likewise, shifts in consumer demands and preferances affect the prices of outputs and through these the prices of inputs used in the production process.

.14 Savings and investment are also separate, specialized activities. Savings are invested through a complex set of intermediaries which offer the saver diverse types of ownership or creditor claims, most of which can be freely traded.

.15 The complexity and diversity of modern economic organization have implications for financial accounting:

- (1) Since economic activity of business enterprises tends to be continuous, relationships associated with intervals of time like a year or a quarter of a year can be measured only on the basis of assumptions or conventional allocations.
- (2) Because of the complexity of modern production and the joint nature of economic results, the relative effects of the various productive resources are intertwined, not only with each other but with external market events. Computing the precise effects of a particular input unit or a particular external event is therefore impossible except on an arbitrary basis.
- (3) In a dynamic economy, the outcome of economic activity is uncertain at the time decisions are made and financial results often do not correspond to original expectations.

.16 On the other hand, certain elements of modern economic organization help to provide an underlying continuity and stability to some aspects of economic activity and hence to the task of measuring that activity. In particular:

- (1) Several forms of enterprise, especially the corporate form, continue to exist as legal entities for extended periods of time.
- (2) The framework of law, custom, and traditional patterns of action provides a significant degree of stability to many aspects of the economic environ-

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

ment. In a society in which property rights are protected, contracts fulfilled, debts paid, and credit banking and transfer operations efficiently performed, the degree of uncertainty is reduced and the predicability of the outcome of many types of economic activities is correspondingly increased.

ECONOMIC ACTIVITY IN INDIVIDUAL BUSINESS ENTERPRISES

.17 The economic activities of a business enterprise increase or decrease (1) its economic resources, (2) its economic obligations, and (3) the residual interest in its resources.

Economic Resources

.18 Economic resources are the scarce means (limited in supply relative to desired uses) available for carrying on economic activities. The economic resources of a business enterprise include:

1. Productive resources

These resources are the means used by the enterprise to produce its product:

a. Productive resources of the enterprise-

These include raw materials, plant, equipment, natural resource deposits, patents and similar intangibles, goodwill, services, and other resources used in production.

b. Contractual rights to productive resources-

These include contractual rights to the use of resources of other entities (including individuals) as well as rights to delivery of materials, plant, and equipment from other entities. Contractual rights to resources of other entities often arise in mutual commitments in which payment is to be made as, or shortly after, the goods or services are used or received.

2. Products

These resources are outputs of the enterprise, consisting of (a) goods awaiting exchange, and (b) partially completed goods still in the process of production.⁴

- 3. Money
- 4. Claims to receive money
- 5. Ownership interests in other enterprises.

Economic Obligations

.19 The economic obligations of an enterprise at any time are its present responsibilities to transfer economic resources or provide services to other entities in the future. Obligations usually arise because the enterprise has received resources from other entities through purchases or borrowings. Some obligations, however, arise by other means, for example, through the imposition of taxes or through legal action. Obligations are general claims against the enterprise rather than claims to specific resources of the enterprise unless the terms of the obligation or applicable legal rules provide otherwise. Economic obligations include:

- 1. Obligations to pay money
- 2. Obligations to provide goods or services

These are normally contractual obligations calling for the transfer of resources other than money according to specified conditions. The obligations may arise because payment for the goods or services to be provided has already been received or as the result of a mutual commitment.

Residual Interest

.20 The residual or owners' interest is the interest in the economic resources of an enterprise that remains after deducting economic obligations. It is the interest of those who bear the ultimate risks and uncertainties and receive the ultimate benefits of enterprise operations. At the start of the enterprise the residual interest equals the owners' initial investment of resources. Increases or decreases in enterprise resources that are not offset by equal changes in enterprise obligations change the residual interest.

⁴ The products of an enterprise also include services provided to other entities. Services provided to others cannot be inventoried, however, and therefore are not resources of the enterprise.

Relationship Among Economic Resources, Economic Obligations, and Residual Interest

.21 The relationship among the resources of an enterprise and the claims and interests in those resources implicit in the definition of residual interest is:

Economic Resources — Economic Obligations = Residual Interest⁵

The resources, obligations, and residual interest of an enterprise are the basis for the basic elements of financial position—assets, liabilities, and owners' equity—dealt with in financial accounting (see section 1025.19-.20).

Changes in Economic Resources, Economic Obligations, and Residual Interest

.22 Resources, obligations, and residual interest of an enterprise change over time. Changes in resources and obligations include acquisitions and dispositions of resources, incurrence and discharge of obligations, and changes in the utility or prices of resources held. Because resources, obligations, and residual interest are related, changes in them are also related and a change in total resources is always accompanied by a change in obligations or residual interest. Events that change resources, obligations, and residual interest are the basis for the basic elements of results of operations—revenue, expenses, and net income (see section 1025.21-.22)—and other changes in financial position with which financial accounting is concerned.

.23 Events that change the resources, obligations, or residual interest of an enterprise may be classified in many ways. The following classification is intended to be complete, to avoid overlapping, and to highlight differences that are important to financial accounting. This classification of events is used in section 1027 as the basis for presenting the principles of selection and measurement.

- I. External events: events that affect the enterprise and in which other entities participate.
 - A. Transfers of resources or obligations to or from other entities.

^{*} Expressing the relationship in a mathematical equation goes beyond descriptions of terms and assumes appropriate measurement. Measurement of economic activity is discussed in paragraphs .27-.33.

1. Exchanges-

These events are reciprocal transfers of resources or obligations between the enterprise and other entities in which the enterprise either sacrifices resources or incurs obligations in order to obtain other resources or satisfy other obligations. Exchanges occur if each party to the transaction values that which he will receive more than that which he must give up and if the particular exchange is evaluated as preferable to alternative actions. Exchanges encompass many of the economic interactions of entities; they include contractual commitments as well as transfers of goods, services, money, and the exchange of one obligation for another. Some exchanges take place on a continuous basis over time instead of being consummated at a moment of time-for example, accumulations of interest and rent.

2. Nonreciprocal transfers—

These events are transfers in one direction of resources or obligations, either from the enterprise to other entities or from other entities to the enterprise.

a. Transfers between the enterprise and its owners—

These are events in which the enterprise receives resources from owners and the enterprise acknowledges an increased ownership interest, or the enterprise transfers resources to owners and their interest decreases.⁶ These transfers are not exchanges from the point of view of the enterprise. The enterprise sacrifices none of its resources and incurs no obligations in exchange for owners' investments, and it receives

AC § 1023.23

[•] Interactions of enterprises with owners acting as customers, suppliers, employees, debtors, creditors, donors, etc., rather than as owners are excluded from this category.

nothing of value to itself in exchange for the resources it distributes.⁷ Transfers of this type also include declaration of dividends and substituting ownership interest for obligations.

b. Nonreciprocal transfers between the enterprise and entities other than owners---

In these transfers one of the two entities is often passive, a mere beneficiary or victim of the other's actions. Examples are gifts, dividends received, taxes, loss of a negligence lawsuit, imposition of fines, and theft.

B. External events other than transfers of resources or obligations to or from other entities.

Enterprise resources may be changed by actions of other entities that do not involve transfers of enterprise resources or obligations. Examples are changes in specific prices of enterprise resources, changes in interest rates, general price-level changes, technological changes caused by outside entities, and vandalism. In addition to their direct effects on the enterprise, these types of events also introduce an element of uncertainty into production and exchange activities. Unfavorable effects of these events may at best be insured or hedged against or provided for through policies that promote orderly adaptation to changed conditions.

II. Internal events: events in which only the enterprise participates.

^{&#}x27;The distinction between exchanges and transfers between an enterprise and its owners is important in financial accounting today because resources are normally recorded at the cost (see section 1026.28) in an exchange; owners' investments have no cost to the enterprise and are recorded at the fair value of the assets received (see section 1027.08, M-2). Furthermore, revenue and expenses can result from exchanges but not from transfers between an enterprise and its owners.

A. Production.

Production in a broad sense is the process by which resources are combined or transformed into products (goods or services). Production does not necessarily alter the physical form of the items produced; it may involve simply a change in location or the holding of items over a period of time. Production encompasses a broad range of activities, including manufacturing, exploration, research and development, mining, agriculture, transportation, storage, marketing and distribution, merchandising, and provision of services. Each of these activities is intended to result in a product with an exchange price greater than the cost of the resources used in its production. Production includes all the internal events of an enterprise except casualties. (The term production therefore is not used in sections 1021-1029 synonymously with the term manufacturing.)

B. Casualties.

Casualties are sudden,⁸ substantial, unanticipated reductions in enterprise resources not caused by other entities.⁹ Examples are fires, floods, and other events ordinarily termed acts of God. Some events in this category are similar to those in category IB in that they introduce an element of uncertainty and may be insured against.

.24 Net income or loss can result from each of the types of events listed except transfers between an enterprise and its owners.

.25 Discussion of Classification of Events. Classifying events involves problems regardless of the system of classification chosen. First, the distinctions between classes probably cannot be made clear enough to make the class

^{*}Casualties also include concealed progressive changes in assets that are discovered after substantial change has taken place, for example, damage from settling of a building foundation.

⁹This definition of casualties differs from that in the Internal Revenue Code, which includes some external events as casualties.

in which every event belongs obvious. For example, the distinctions between external and internal events and between production and casualties involve borderline situations which require judgment in assigning events to classes. Second, more than one event can occur at the same time and place. For example, when employees are at work, exchanges are taking place between the enterprise and the employees (wages and salaries are accruing) and production is taking place at the same time. Single occurrences must sometimes be analyzed into component events that fit into separate classes. Finally, the economic substance of some events may differ from their legal form. Classification of this kind of event may differ depending on whether its form or its substance is considered to govern (see section 1025.14).

.26 Cost. Changes in resources, obligations, and residual interest often involve economic cost to the enterprise. Economic cost is the sacrifice (that which is given up or foregone) incurred in economic activities (see section 1026.28 for treatment of cost under generally accepted accounting principles).

MEASURING ECONOMIC ACTIVITY

.27 Comparison and evaluation of diverse economic activities are facilitated by measurement ¹⁰ of enterprises' resources and obligations and the events that change them.

Measurement Problems

.28 The complexity, continuity, and joint nature of economic activity (see paragraphs .12 to .15) present problems in measuring the effects of enterprise activities and associating them with specific products and services and with relatively short time periods. The need to relate measurements to each other also presents problems because it requires selecting like quantitative attributes and ignoring others. Attributes are selected on the basis of concepts that specify the attribute to be measured and how and when measurements are to be made. Disagreements over meas-

¹⁰ The terms *measurement* and *valuation* are often used interchangeably in accounting to mean simply the quantification of resources, obligations, and changes in them in money terms. An accounting research study on measurement and valuation in financial accounting is now in progress. The technicalities of differences between measurement and valuation, if any, will be examined in that study.

urement concepts are the source of many of the differences of opinion about how to achieve the objectives of financial accounting and financial statements. (The objectives are discussed in section 1024.)

.29 Because the resources and obligations of an enterprise and changes in them are inseparably connected, measuring the resources and obligations and measuring changes in them (including those changes that are the source of net income for a period) are two aspects of the same problem.

Exchange Prices

.30 The effects of economic activities are measured in terms of money in a monetary economy. Money measurements are used to relate economic activities that use diverse types of resources to produce diverse types of products and services. Fluctuations in the general purchasing power of money cause problems in using money as a unit of measure (see sections 1026.30 to 1026.32).

.31 Resources are measured in terms of money through money prices, which are ratios at which money and other resources are or may be exchanged. Several types of money prices can be distinguished based on types of markets (purchase prices and sales prices) and based on time (past prices, present prices, and expected future prices). Four types of money prices are used in measuring resources in financial accounting.

1. Price in past purchase exchanges of the enterprise This price is usually identified as historical cost or acquisition cost because the amount ascribed to the resource is its cost, measured by the money or other resources exchanged by the enterprise to obtain it.

2. Price in a current purchase exchange

This price is usually identified as *replacement cost* because the amount ascribed to the resource is measured by the current purchase price of similar resources that would now have to be paid to acquire it if it were not already held or the price that would now have to be paid to replace assets held.

3. Price in a current sale exchange This price is usually identified as current selling price because the amount ascribed to the resource is measured by the current selling price of the resource that would be received in a current exchange.

4. Price based on future exchanges

This price is used in several related concepts present value of future net money receipts, discounted cash flow, (discounted) net realizable value, and value in use. Each indicates that the amount ascribed to the resource is measured by the expected net future money flow related to the resource in its present or expected use by the enterprise, discounted for an interest factor.¹¹

.32 Each of these concepts has at least some current application in financial accounting. Their application is discussed in connection with present generally accepted accounting principles in section 1027.05.

.33 Measuring economic activities in terms of exchange prices has certain limitations because some important changes that affect these activities are not changes in monetary attributes of resources. Examples are (1) physical changes in resources during production, (2) certain external events, such as technological changes and changes in consumer tastes, and (3) certain broad forces in the economy, such as changes in governmental attitudes toward business operations. Reporting these changes in terms of exchange prices when they occur requires certain assumptions, for example, assumptions concerning the presumed effect of these changes on prices of enterprise resources. The alternative is to wait to report these changes until they affect aspects of resources that are directly related to exchange prices or until exchanges occur.

The next page is 7221. <

¹¹ Current selling price and net realizable value differ conceptually, although they may give the same amount under certain conditions: (1) future sales price is expected to be the same as current sales price (or no better estimate of future sales price than current price is available), (2) no future costs are expected, and (3) discounting is ignored.

AC Section 1024

Objectives of Financial Accounting and Financial Statements

[Source: APB Statement No. 4, Chap. 4, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: October, 1970

STATEMENT OF THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD

.01 The basic purpose of financial accounting and financial statements is to provide quantitative financial information about a business enterprise that is useful to statement users, particularly owners and creditors, in making economic decisions. This purpose includes providing information that can be used in evaluating management's effectiveness in fulfilling its stewardship and other managerial responsibilities. Within the framework of these purposes financial accounting and financial statements have a number of objectives that (1) determine the appropriate content of financial accounting information (general objectives) and (2) indicate the qualities that make financial accounting information useful (qualitative objectives). The objectives provide means to evaluate and improve generally accepted accounting principles (see section 1029.07).

.02 The content of financial accounting information can be examined on two levels. First, the appropriate content of particular financial statements prepared at a given date may be examined. Second, the appropriate content of financial accounting information in general, without regard for the conventions at any particular date, may be examined.

OBJECTIVES OF PARTICULAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

.03 The objectives of particular financial statements are to present fairly in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 1 (1) financial position, (2) results

³ See section 1026.01-.04 for a discussion of the nature of generally accepted accounting principles. See section 1027.15 for a discussion of fair presentation in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

of operations, and (3) other changes in financial position. Financial position and changes in financial position of an enterprise are defined in terms of its economic resources and obligations and changes in them that are identified and measured in conformity with accounting principles that are generally accepted at the time the statements are prepared.2

GENERAL OBJECTIVES

.04 The objectives of particular financial statements are stated in terms of the accounting principles that are generally accepted at the time the financial statements are prepared. These principles may change in response to a variety of forces.³ General objectives that give direction to the development of accounting principles are therefore required. These general objectives are broader or longer range than those for particular financial statements and indicate the appropriate content of financial accounting information in general. They are independent of generally accepted accounting principles at any particular time. Improving financial accounting to better achieve the general objectives involves difficulties, which are discussed in paragraphs .38 to .41.

Statement of the General Objectives

.05 A general objective of financial accounting and financial statements is to provide reliable financial information about economic resources and obligations of a business enterprise. This information is important in evaluating the enterprise's strengths and weaknesses. It indicates how enterprise resources are financed and the pattern of its holdings of resources. It aids in evaluating the enterprise's ability to meet its commitments. The information indicates the present resource base available to exploit opportunities and make future progress. In short, information about economic resources and obligations of a business enterprise is needed to form judgments about the ability of the enterprise to survive, to adapt, to grow, and to prosper amid changing economic conditions.

Another general objective, of prime importance, is .06 to provide reliable information about changes in net re-

³See section 1025.17-.22. ³See section 1029.02-.03 for a discussion of the dynamic nature of financial accounting.

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

sources (resources less obligations) of an enterprise that result from its profit-directed activities.⁴ Almost all who are directly concerned with the economic activities of an enterprise are interested in its ability to operate successfully. Investors expect a dividend return or increases in the price of ownership shares or both. An enterprise that operates successfully is more likely to be able to pay creditors and suppliers, provide jobs for employees, pay taxes, and generate funds for expansion. Management of the enterprise also needs information about economic progress to plan operations and evaluate progress in comparison with previously established goals. To survive, the enterprise needs some minimum level of success in its profitdirected activities over the long run.

.07 A related general objective is to provide financial information that assists in estimating the earning potential of the enterprise. Information about the past and present may help users of the information in making predictions. Trend figures usually (though not invariably) are better aids to prediction than the results of a single year. Extrapolations of financial data, however, should be made only in conjunction with the best additional information available about the enterprise, its circumstances, and its prospects.

.08 Another general objective is to provide other needed information about changes in economic resources and obligations. Examples are information about changes in residual interest from sources other than profit-directed activities and information about financing and investing activities. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods ending after September 30, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 19.]

.09 A further general objective is to disclose, to the extent possible, other information related to the financial statements that is relevant to statement users' needs. Examples of disclosures of this type are descriptions of the accounting policies adopted by the reporting entity. [As amended by APB Opinion No. 22, December 31, 1971.]

⁴ The term *profit-directed activities* is used in sections 1021-1029 to refer to all activities of an enterprise except transfers between the enterprise and its owners.

.10 Underlying the preceding discussion is the recognition that decisions of financial statement users involve the process of choosing among alternative courses of action. Owners make choices on whether to increase, retain, or dispose of holdings in various enterprises. Creditors often must choose between enterprises in deciding whether to extend credit. Management makes choices, for example, between alternative business activities and between alternative investments. Generally, statement users compare performance both between enterprises and over two or more reporting periods for the same enterprise. (See paragraphs .21 and .23-.33 for a discussion of comparability in financial accounting.)

Discussion of General Objectives

.11 The general objectives aid in improving accounting principles by relating the content of the information to the underlying activities of business enterprises and to the interests and needs of users of the information.

.12 The general objectives do not specify which resources and obligations and changes should be measured and reported as assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses in financial accounting. They contain no implication that assets and liabilities ideally should include *all* resources and obligations or that *all* changes in assets and liabilities ideally should be reported.⁵ Furthermore, they do not specify how the resources and obligations to be recorded should be measured. A complementary set of objectives, the qualitative objectives, aids in determining which resources and obligations and changes should be measured and reported and how they should be measured and reported to make the information most useful.

QUALITATIVE OBJECTIVES

.13 Certain qualities or characteristics make financial information useful. Providing information that has each of these qualities is an objective of financial accounting.

AC § 1024.10

⁸ Not all resources and obligations and changes in them are presently reported. For example, rights under executory contracts, obligations whose amounts are indeterminate, and changes in market price of productive resources are generally not recorded as assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses, although they may be disclosed. (See sections 1026-1028 on generally accepted accounting principles.)

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

These qualitative objectives are at least partially achieved at present, although improvement is probably possible in connection with each of them. Constraints on full achievement of the qualitative objectives are caused by conflicts of objectives, by environmental influences, and by lack of complete understanding of the objectives (see paragraphs .38 to .41).

.14 The qualitative objectives are related to the broad ethical goals of truth, justice, and fairness that are accepted as desirable goals by society as a whole. To the extent that the objectives are met, progress is made toward achieving the broad ethical goals as well as toward making financial information more useful. The qualitative objectives are less abstract than the ethical goals of truth, justice, and fairness and can therefore be applied more directly to financial accounting. Nevertheless, they are also generalizations that require judgment in using them to evaluate and improve accounting principles.

Statement of the Qualitative Objectives

.15 The Board believes that financial accounting has seven qualitative objectives (0-1 to 0-7). The primary qualitative objective is relevance.

.16 0-1. *Relevance*. Relevant financial accounting inmation bears on the economic decisions for which it is used.

The objective of relevance helps in selecting methods of measuring and reporting in financial accounting that are most likely to aid users in making the types of economic decisions for which they use financial accounting data.⁶ In judging relevance of general-purpose information attention is focused on the common needs of users and not on specific needs of particular users. A vital task is to determine these common needs and the information that is relevant to them (see sections 1023.07 and 1023.09). Relevance is the primary qualitative objective because information that does not bear on the decisions for which it is used is useless, regardless of the extent to which it satisfies the other objectives.

⁶See discussion on uses and users in section 1023.04-.09.

.17 0-2. Understandability. Understandable financial accounting information presents data that can be understood by users of the informamation and is expressed in a form and with terminology adapted to the users' range of understanding.

Understandability is important because accounting information must be intelligible if it is to be useful. Users of financial statements can understand the information only if the data presented and their method of presentation are meaningful to them. Understandability also requires that the users have some understanding of the complex economic activities of enterprises, the financial accounting process, and the technical terminology used in financial statements.

.18 0-3. Verifiability. Verifiable financial accounting information provides results that would be substantially duplicated by independent measurers using the same measurement methods.

Measurements cannot be completely free from subjective opinions and judgments. The process of measuring and presenting information must use human agents and human reasoning and therefore is not founded solely on an "objective reality." Nevertheless, the usefulness of information is enhanced if it is verifiable, that is, if the attribute or attributes selected for measurement and the measurement methods used provide results that can be corroborated by independent measurers.

.19 0-4. Neutrality. Neutral financial accounting information is directed toward the common needs of users and is independent of presumptions about particular needs and desires of specific users of the information.

Measurements not based on presumptions about the particular needs of specific users enhance the relevance of the information to common needs of users. Preparers of financial accounting information should not try to increase the helpfulness of the information to a few users to the detriment of others who may have opposing interests.

.20 0-5. *Timeliness*. Timely financial accounting information is communicated early enough to

AC § 1024.17

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

be used for the economic decisions which it might influence and to avoid delays in making those decisions.

.21 0-6. Comparability. Comparable financial accounting information presents similarities and differences that arise from basic similarities and differences in the enterprise or enterprises and their transactions and not merely from differences in financial accounting treatments.

Problems in achieving comparability are discussed in paragraphs .23 to .33.

.22 0-7. Completeness. Complete financial accounting information includes all financial accounting data that reasonably fulfill the requirements of the other qualitative objectives (0-1 to 0-6).

The first six qualitative objectives specify qualities that are desirable in reported financial information. The objective of completeness specifies that all information that has the six qualities in reasonable degree should be reported.

Comparability

.23 Comparability means the ability to bring together for the purpose of noting points of likeness and difference. Comparability of financial information generally depends on like events being accounted for in the same manner. Comparable financial accounting information facilitates conclusions concerning relative financial strengths and weaknesses and relative success, both between periods for a single enterprise and between two or more enterprises.

.24 Comparability Within a Single Enterprise. A comparison of the financial statements of one enterprise at one date or for one period of time with those of the same enterprise at other dates or for other periods of the same length is more informative if the following conditions exist:

- (1) The presentations are in the same form—that is, the arrangement within the statements is identical.
- (2) The content of the statements is identical—that is, the same items from the underlying accounting records are classified under the same captions.

- (3) Accounting principles are not changed or, if they are changed, the financial effects of the changes are disclosed.
- (4) Changes in circumstances or in the nature of the underlying transactions are disclosed.

.25 If these four conditions are satisfied, a comparison of the financial statements furnishes useful information about differences in the results of operations for the periods involved or in the financial positions at the dates specified. To the extent, however, that any one of the conditions is not met, comparisons may be misleading.

.26 Consistency—Consistency is an important factor in comparability within a single enterprise. Although financial accounting practices and procedures are largely conventional, consistency in their use permits comparisons over time. If a change of practice or procedure is made, disclosure of the change and its effect permits some comparability, although users can rarely make adjustments that make the data completely comparable.

.27 Regular reporting periods — Regular reporting periods are also an important factor in comparability within a single enterprise. Periods of equal length facilitate comparisons between periods. Comparing the results of periods shorter than a year, even though the periods are of equal length, however, may require consideration of seasonal factors. (See section 2071, Interim Financial Reporting.)

.28 Comparability Between Enterprises. Comparability between enterprises is more difficult to attain than comparability within a single enterprise. Widespread public interest in investment opportunities in recent years has focused attention on the desirability of achieving greater comparability of financial statements.

.29 To make comparisons between enterprises as meaningful as possible, the four conditions outlined in paragraph .24 as well as other conditions should be satisfied. The most important of the other conditions is that, ideally, differences between enterprises' financial statements should arise from basic differences in the enterprises themselves or from the nature of their transactions and not merely from differences in financial accounting practices and pro-

AC § 1024.25

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

cedures. One of the most important unsolved problems at present, therefore, is the general acceptance of alternative accounting practices under circumstances which themselves do not appear to be sufficiently different to justify different practices.

.30 Achieving comparability between enterprises depends on accomplishing two difficult tasks: (1) identifying and describing the circumstances that justify or require the use of a particular accounting practice or method, (2) eliminating the use of alternative practices under these circumstances. If these tasks can be accomplished, basic differences under which enterprises operate can be reflected by appropriate, and possibly different, practices.

.31 Pending accomplishment of these tasks, users of financial statements should recognize that financial statements of different enterprises may not be fully comparable; that is, they may to an unknown extent reflect differences unrelated to basic differences in the enterprises and in their transactions. Evaluation of differences is not completely effective in the absence of criteria governing the applicability of various practices and methods.

.32 Supplemental disclosures are sometimes directed toward overcoming this present weakness in financial reporting, but disclosure does not necessarily make financial statements comparable. For example, a statement user may not safely assume that he has made comparable the financial statements of two enterprises which use different accounting methods even though he has been able to put them on the same inventory or depreciation method through the use of disclosed information, because the circumstances may differ to such an extent that similar methods may not be appropriate.

.33 The Accounting Principles Board and others in the accounting profession are continuing to work on problems of comparability between enterprises. The Board has, for example, developed criteria for application of practices and procedures in some problem areas and expects to deal with others in the future. The great variety of business enterprises and the large number of different circumstances in which enterprises operate, even within the same industry, make the task a difficult one. The Board ranks compara-

bility among, the most important of the objectives of financial accounting, however, and is attempting to narrow areas of difference in accounting practices that are not justified by differences in circumstances.

Adequate Disclosure

.34 Financial information that meets the qualitative objectives of financial accounting also meets the reporting standard of adequate disclosure.⁷ Adequate disclosure relates particularly to objectives of relevance, neutrality, completeness, and understandability. Information should be presented in a way that facilitates understanding and avoids erroneous implications. The headings, captions, and amounts must be supplemented by enough additional data so that their meaning is clear but not by so much information that important matters are buried in a mass of trivia.

Reliability of Financial Statements

.35 Achievement of the qualitative objectives of financial accounting enhances the reliability of financial statements. Reliability of information is important to users because decisions based on the information may affect their economic well-being. Reliability does not imply precision of the information in financial statements because financial accounting involves approximation and judgment (see sections 1025.10 and 1025.11).

.36 The responsibility for the reliability of an enterprise's financial statements rests with its management. This responsibility is discharged by applying generally accepted accounting principles that are appropriate to the enterprise's circumstances, by maintaining effective systems of accounts and internal control, and by preparing adequate financial statements.

.37 The users of financial statements also look to the reports of independent auditors to ascertain that the financial statements have been examined by independent experts who have expressed their opinion as to whether or not the information is presented fairly in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied.

¹AU section 430 (volume 1, AICPA PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS).

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

ACHIEVING THE OBJECTIVES

.38 The objectives of financial accounting and financial statements are at least partially achieved at present, although improvement is probably possible in connection with each of them. The objectives are often difficult to achieve, however, and are usually not equally capable of attainment. Constraints on full achievement of the objectives arise from (1) conflicts of objectives, (2) environmental influences, and (3) lack of complete understanding of the objectives.

.39 The pursuit of one objective or one set of objectives may conflict with the pursuit of others. It is not always possible, for example, to have financial statements that are highly relevant on the one hand and also timely on the other. Nor is it always possible to have financial accounting information that is both as verifiable and as relevant as desired. Only if all other objectives are not affected will a change in information that increases compliance with one objective be certain to be beneficial. Conflicts between qualitative objectives might be resolved by arranging the objectives in order of relative importance and determining desirable trade-offs, but, except for the primacy of relevance, neither accountants nor users now agree as to their relative importance. Determining the trade-offs that are desirable requires judgment.

.40 Constraints on achieving the objectives may stem from influences of the environment on accounting. First, the objectives, which are based largely on the needs of users of financial information, are not necessarily compatible with environmental influences. The inherent difficulties of measurement in terms of money, for example, mean that information produced by accounting will necessarily fall short to some extent of objectives of verifiability and comparability. Second, financial accounting costs money. Anticipated benefits from proposed changes in financial accounting information that are intended to better achieve the objectives must be weighed against the additional cost involved. Finally, changing financial accounting practices to better achieve the objectives involves user costs and dislocations that may tend to offset the advantages to be obtained. For example, changing practices may affect business arrangements that were initiated on the basis of

practices before the change. Also, the costs of learning how to use new types of information and the reluctance to change ways of using information may reduce the benefits otherwise obtainable from improvements.

.41 The Board believes that the objectives discussed in this section are helpful in evaluating and improving financial accounting information even though they are stated in general terms. Obtaining clearer understanding of the nature and implications of the objectives is an important prerequisite to further improvement of financial accounting and financial statements.

 \implies The next page is 7241. \leftarrow

Basic Features and Basic Elements of Financial Accounting

[Source: APB Statement No. 4, Chap. 5.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: October, 1970

STATEMENT OF THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD BASIC FEATURES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING

.01 The basic features of financial accounting are a distillation of the effects of environmental characteristics (described in section 1023) on the financial accounting process. These features underlie present generally accepted accounting principles, discussed in sections 1026 to 1028, but they could also serve as a foundation for other accounting principles that are based on the same environmental characteristics.

Statement of the Basic Features of Financial Accounting

.02 The following thirteen statements (F-1 to F-13) describe the basic features of financial accounting. Each statement contains a parenthetical reference to environmental characteristics from which it is, at least in part, derived.

.03 F-1. Accounting entity. Accounting information pertains to entities, which are circumscribed areas of interest. In financial accounting the entity is the specific business enterprise. The enterprise is identified in its financial statements. (sections 1023.12, 1023.17)

Attention in financial accounting is focused on the economic activities of individual business enterprises. The boundaries of the accounting entity may not be the same as those of the legal entity, for example, a parent corporation and its subsidiaries treated as a single business enterprise. .04 F-2. Going concern. An accounting entity is viewed as continuing in operation in the absence of evidence to the contrary.¹ (section 1023.16)

Because of the relative permanence of enterprises, financial accounting is formulated basically for going concerns. Past experience indicates that continuation of operations is highly probable for most enterprises although continuation cannot be known with certainty. An enterprise is not viewed as a going concern if liquidation appears imminent.

.05 F-3. Measurement of economic resources and obligations. Financial accounting is primarily concerned with measurement of economic resources and obligations and changes in them. (sections 1023.10, 1023.17-.19, 1023.22-.24, 1023.27)

The subject matter of financial accounting is economic activity and financial accounting therefore involves measuring and reporting on the creation, accumulation, and use of economic resources. Economic activities that can be quantified are emphasized in financial accounting. Accounting does not deal directly with subjective concepts of welfare or satisfactions; its focus is not sociological or psychological.

.06 F-4. Time periods. The financial accounting process provides information about the economic activities of an enterprise for specified time periods that are shorter than the life of the enterprise. Normally the time periods are of equal length to facilitate comparisons. The time period is identified in the financial statements. (sections 1023.13, 1023.15-.16, 1023.28)

Interested parties make evaluations and decisions at many points in the lives of enterprises. The continuous activities of enterprises are therefore segmented into relatively short periods of time so that information can be prepared that will be useful in decisions.

³ The corollary observation is that if liquidation appears imminent, financial information may be prepared on the assumption that liquidation will occur.

.07 F-5. Measurement in terms of money. Financial accounting measures monetary attributes of economic resources and obligations and changes in them. The unit of measure is identified in the financial statements. (sections 1023.12, 1023.17, 1023.27, 1023.30-.31)

Measurement in terms of money focuses attention on monetary attributes of resources and obligations; other aspects, such as physical attributes, are not emphasized. Money measurement entails significant problems (see sections 1023.28, 1023.29 and 1023.33).

.08 F-6. Accrual. Determination of periodic income and financial position depends on measurement of economic resources and obligations and changes in them as the changes occur rather than simply on recording receipts and payments of money. (sections 1023.17, 1023.20-.22, 1023.24, 1023.27, 1023.29, 1023.31)

Enterprise economic activity in a short period seldom follows the simple form of a cycle from money to productive resources to product to money. Instead, continuous production, extensive use of credit and long-lived resources, and overlapping cycles of activity complicate the evaluation of periodic activities. As a result, noncash resources and obligations change in time periods other than those in which money is received or paid. Recording these changes is necessary to determine periodic income and to measure financial position. This is the essence of accrual accounting.

.09 F-7. Exchange price. Financial accounting measurements are primarily based on prices at which economic resources and obligations are exchanged. (sections 1023.12, 1023.28, 1023.30-.33)

Measurement in terms of money is based primarily on exchange prices. Changes in resources from other than exchanges (for example, production) are measured by allocating prices in prior exchanges or by reference to current prices for similar resources. The multiple concepts of exchange price (section 1023.31) require decisions about the prices relevant to the uses of financial accounting information. .10 F-8. Approximation. Financial accounting measurements that involve allocations among relatively short periods of time and among complex and joint activities are necessarily made on the basis of estimates. (sections 1023.12-.13, 1023.15-.16, 1023.28, 1023.33)

The continuity, complexity, uncertainty, and joint nature of results inherent in economic activity often preclude definitive measurements and make estimates necessary.

.11 F-9. Judgment. Financial accounting necessarily involves informed judgment. (sections 1023.04, 1023.07-.08, 1023.15-.16, 1023.28-.29, 1023.32-.33)

The estimates necessarily used in financial accounting (F-8) involve a substantial area of informed judgment. This precludes reducing all of the financial accounting process to a set of inflexible rules.

.12 F-10. General-purpose financial information. Financial accounting presents general-purpose financial information that is designed to serve the common needs of owners, creditors, managers, and other users, with primary emphasis on the needs of present and potential owners and creditors. (sections 1023.05-.08, 1023.24)

General-purpose financial statements are prepared by an enterprise under the presumption that users have common needs for information (see section 1023.07). Although special-purpose information may be prepared from financial accounting records, it is not the primary product of financial accounting and is not discussed in sections 1021-1029.

.13 F-11. Fundamentally related financial statements. The results of the accounting process are expressed in statements of financial position and changes in financial position, which are based on the same underlying data and are fundamentally related. (sections 1023.22, 1023.24, 1023.29)

The basic interrelationships between economic resources and economic obligations and changes in them make AC § 1025.10 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc. measurement of periodic net income and of assets and liabilities part of the same process and require that the financial statements be fundamentally related. The measurement bases used to quantify changes in financial position are necessarily related to the measurement bases of the resources and obligations used in representations of financial position.

.14 F-12. Substance over form. Financial accounting emphasizes the economic substance of events even though the legal form may differ from the economic substance and suggest different treatment. (sections 1023.02, 1023.25, 1023.27)

Usually the economic substance of events to be accounted for agrees with the legal form. Sometimes, however, substance and form differ. Accountants emphasize the substance of events rather than their form so that the information provided better reflects the economic activities represented.

.15 F-13. *Materiality*. Financial reporting is only concerned with information that is significant enough to affect evaluations or decisions. (section 1023.04-.06)

Basic Features and the Environment

.16 The basic features of financial accounting described above are the result of environmental factors and influence the financial accounting process. The relationships between the features and the environment and among the features themselves are complex. The relationships between environmental conditions and the basic features of financial accounting can be illustrated with examples. The importance of money in a highly developed economy is the basis for the feature of measurement in terms of money (F-5). The complexity and continuity of economic activity, the joint nature of economic results, and the uncertain outcome of economic activity are important factors in the features of approximation (F-8) and judgment (F-9).

BASIC ELEMENTS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING

The basic elements of financial accounting-.17 assets, liabilities, owners' equity, revenue, expenses, and net income (net loss) - are related to the economic resources, economic obligations, residual interest, and changes in them which are discussed in section 1023. Not all economic resources and obligations and changes in them are recognized and measured in financial accounting. The objectives of financial accounting (section 1024) provide broad criteria that aid in selecting economic resources, obligations, and changes in them for recognition and measurement. The basic features are additional factors in determining which economic elements and changes in them are recognized and measured. The particular economic elements and changes to be recognized and measured at any time as the basic elements of financial accounting are determined by generally accepted accounting principles in effect at that time. The basic elements of financial accounting therefore are defined in terms of both (1) economic resources and obligations of enterprises, and (2) generally accepted accounting principles.

.18 Because generally accepted accounting principles change, the concepts of assets, liabilities, owners' equity, revenue, expenses, and net income also change, subject to the constraints of the economic elements referred to in their definitions. The definitions themselves, therefore, provide criteria for determining those economic resources, economic obligations, and changes in them that are included in the basic elements at any particular time but do not provide criteria for determining from a broader or longerrange perspective those economic elements that should be included in the basic elements. Under the definitions given. determining the items that should be included in the basic elements is part of the overall problem of determining what generally accepted accounting principles should be. Criteria intended to help solve that problem are provided by the general and qualitative objectives of financial accounting and financial statements (section 1024).

Financial Position

.19 The basic elements of the financial position of an enterprise are assets, liabilities, and owners' equity:

AC § 1025.17

Assets—economic resources of an enterprise that are recognized and measured in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Assets also include certain deferred charges that are not resources ² but that are recognized and measured in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.³

Liabilities—economic obligations of an enterprise that are recognized and measured in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Liabilities also include certain deferred cre lits that are not obligations ⁴ but that are recognized and measured in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.⁵

Owners' equity—the interest of owners in an enterprise, which is the excess of an enterprise's assets over its liabilities.⁶

Owners' equity is defined in terms of assets and liabilities, just as residual interest is defined in terms of economic resources and obligations (see section 1023.20). The relationship among assets, liabilities, and owners' equity implicit in the definition of owners' equity is:

Assets - Liabilities = Owners' Equity'

.20 The *financial position* of an enterprise at a particular time comprises its assets, liabilities, and owners' equity

⁴Deferred credits from income tax allocation are an example of deferred credits that are not obligations. The term *deferred credits* is also sometimes used to refer to certain obligations, for example, subscriptions collected in advance.

⁵ This definition differs from that in Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 1, paragraph 27, in that (1) it defines liabilities primarily in terms of obligations rather than as credit balances carried forward upon closing the books, and (2) it excludes capital stock and other elements of owners' equity.

[•]This definition isolates owners' equity as a separate element. Owners' equity is included in the definition of liabilities in Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 1, paragraph 27. Owners' equity is conventionally classified into several categories (see section 1027.24).

⁷ Expressing the relationship in a mathematical equation goes beyond descriptions of terms and assumes appropriate measurement. Measurement of economic activity is discussed in section 1023.27-.33.

² Deferred charges from income tax allocation are an example of deferred charges that are not resources. The term *deferred charges* is also sometimes used to refer to certain resources, for example, prepaid insurance.

³ This definition differs from that in Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 1, paragraph 26, which defines assets as debit balances carried forward upon a closing of books of account that represent property values or rights acquired.

and the relationship among them, plus those contingencies, commitments, and other financial matters that pertain to the enterprise at that time and are required to be disclosed under generally accepted accounting principles. The financial position of an enterprise is presented in the *balance sheet*^{*} and in notes to the financial statements.

Results of Operations

.21 The basic elements of the results of operations of an enterprise are revenue, expenses, and net income:

Revenue—gross increases in assets or gross decreases in liabilities recognized and measured in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles that result from those types of profit-directed activities⁹ of an enterprise that can change owners' equity.¹⁰

Increases in assets and decreases in liabilities designated as revenue are related to changes in resources and obligations discussed in section 1023.22. Revenue does not, however, include all recognized increases in assets or decreases in liabilities. Revenue results only from those types of profit-directed activities that can change owners' equity under generally accepted accounting principles. Receipt of the proceeds of a cash sale is revenue under present generally accepted accounting principles, for example, because the net result of the sale is a change in owners' equity.¹¹ On the other hand, receipt of the proceeds of a loan or receipt of an asset purchased for cash, for example, is not revenue under present generally ac-

*See section 1024.06, fn. 4, for the definition of profit-directed activities.

AC § 1025.21

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

⁸ The definition of balance sheet in this paragraph differs from that in Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 1, paragraph 21, in that it defines the content in terms of assets, liabilities, and owners' equity, rather than balances carried forward after closing books kept according to principles of accounting.

¹⁰ The definition of revenue in this paragraph differs from that in Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 2, paragraphs 5-7, in that (1) it emphasizes the nature of revenue rather than the usual point of recognition—the sale, (2) it includes the proceeds rather than only the gain from sale or exchange of assets "other than stock in trade." Gain is defined in sections 1021-1029 as a net concept, the result of deducting expenses from revenue. See section 1027.24 for a discussion of gains in financial accounting.

¹¹ If by coincidence the proceeds of a sale are equal to the cost and owners' equity does not change, receipt of the proceeds is nevertheless revenue because a sale is a type of event in which owners' equity can change under present generally accepted accounting principles.

cepted accounting principles because owners' equity can not change at the time of the loan or purchase.

Expenses—gross decreases in assets or gross increases in liabilities recognized and measured in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles that result from those types of profit-directed activities of an enterprise that can change owners' equity.¹²

Decreases in assets and increases in liabilities designated as expenses are related to changes in resources and obligations discussed in section 1023.22. Expenses, like revenue, result only from those types of profit-directed activities that can change owners' equity under generally accepted accounting principles. Delivery of product in a sale is an expense under present generally accepted accounting principles, for example, because the net result of the sale is a change in owners' equity. On the other hand, incurring a liability for the purchase of an asset is not an expense under present generally accepted accounting principles because owners' equity can not change at the time of the purchase.

Net income (net loss)—the excess (deficit) of revenue over expenses for an accounting period, which is the net increase (net decrease) in owners' equity (assets minus liabilities) of an enterprise for an accounting period from profit-directed activities that is recognized and measured in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

The relationship among revenue, expenses, and net income (net loss) implicit in the definition of net income (net loss) is:

Revenue — Expenses = Net Income (Net Loss)¹³

¹³ Expressing the relationship in a mathematical equation goes beyond descriptions of terms and assumes appropriate measurement. Measurement of economic activity is discussed in section 1023.27-.33.

¹² This definition of expenses differs from that given in Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 4, paragraphs 3-4, and 6. It is similar to the "broad" definition in the Terminology Bulletin except that it includes the cost of assets "other than stock in trade" disposed of rather than only the loss (see section 1027.24 for a discussion of losses in financial accounting). The "narrow" definition of expenses recommended in the Terminology Bulletin for use in financial statements excludes "cost of goods or services sold" from expenses and is incompatible with the definition in sections 1021-1029. Expense in this "narrow" sense should always be modified by appropriate qualifying adjectives, for example, *selling and administrative expenses* or *interest expense*.

.22 The results of operations of an enterprise for a period of time comprises the revenue, expenses, and net income (net loss) of the enterprise for the period. The results of operations of an enterprise are presented in the *income statement*.

Interrelationship of Financial Position and Results of Operations

.23 The financial position and results of operations of an enterprise are fundamentally related. Net income (net loss) for an accounting period, adjustments of income of prior periods, and investments and withdrawals by owners during the period constitute the change during the period in owners' equity, an element of financial position. Other relationships between the income statement and the balance sheet, for example, the relationship of cost of goods sold to inventory and of depreciation to fixed assets, are further indications of the interrelatedness of the statements.

 \longrightarrow The next page is 7261. \leftarrow

7250

AC § 1025.22

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles— Pervasive Principles

[Source: APB Statement No. 4, Chap. 6, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: October, 1970

STATEMENT OF THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

.01 Financial statements are the product of a process in which a large volume of data about aspects of the economic activities of an enterprise are accumulated, analyzed, and reported. This process should be carried out in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Generally accepted accounting principles incorporate the consensus¹ at a particular time as to which economic resources and obligations should be recorded as assets and liabilities by financial accounting, which changes in assets and liabilities should be recorded, when these changes should be recorded, how the assets and liabilities and changes in them should be measured, what information should be disclosed and how it should be disclosed, and which financial statements should be prepared.

.02 Generally accepted accounting principles therefore is a technical term in financial accounting. Generally accepted accounting principles encompass the conventions,

rules, and procedures necessary to define accepted accounting practice at a particular time. The standard² of "generally accepted accounting principles" includes not only broad guidelines of general application, but also detailed practices and procedures.³

.03 Generally accepted accounting principles are conventional—that is, they become generally accepted by agreement (often tacit agreement) rather than by formal derivation from a set of postulates or basic concepts. The principles have developed on the basis of experience, reason, custom, usage, and, to a significant extent, practical necessity.

.04 In recent years Opinions of the Accounting Principles Board have received considerable emphasis as a major determinant of the composition of generally accepted accounting principles. All of the Accounting Research Bulletins and the early Opinions of the Accounting Principles Board include the statement that ". . . the authority of the bulletins [or Opinions] rests upon their general acceptability. . . ." Beginning with Opinion No. 6 (October 1965), however, Opinions of the Accounting Principles Board include a statement to reflect the adoption in October 1964 by Council of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants of a resolution that provides in essence that accounting principles accepted in Opinions of the Accounting Principles Board constitute, per se, generally accepted accounting principles for Institute members. [Effective March 1, 1973 members are governed by Rule 203 of the AICPA Code of Professional Ethics in reporting departures from generally accepted accounting principles.] (See section 520.)

.05 In sections 1021-1029 the discussion of present generally accepted accounting principles is divided into three sections: (1) pervasive principles, which relate to financial accounting as a whole and provide a basis for the other

^{*}The independent auditor's report gives the auditor's opinion as to whether the financial statements "present fairly the financial position . . . and the results of . . . operations, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. . . ."

^{*}"The term 'principles of accounting' as used in reporting standards is construed to include not only accounting principles and practices but also the methods of applying them." AU section 410.02 (volume 1, AICPA PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS).

principles, (2) broad operating principles, which guide the recording, measuring, and communicating processes of financial accounting, and (3) detailed principles, which indicate the practical application of the pervasive and broad operating principles. This classification provides a useful framework for analysis, although the distinctions between the types of principles, especially between the broad operating and detailed principles, are somewhat arbitrary. This section discusses the pervasive principles. The broad operating and detailed principles are discussed in sections 1027 and 1028, respectively.

.06 The three types of principles form a hierarchy. The pervasive principles are few in number and fundamental in nature. The broad operating principles derived from the pervasive principles are more numerous and more specific, and guide the application of a series of detailed principles. The detailed principles are numerous and specific. Detailed principles are generally based on one or more broad operating principles and the broad operating principles are generally based on the pervasive principles. No attempt is made in sections 1021-1029 to indicate specific relationships between principles.

PERVASIVE PRINCIPLES

.07 The pervasive principles specify the general approach accountants take to recognition and measurement of events that affect the financial position and results of operations of enterprises. The pervasive principles are divided into (1) pervasive measurement principles and (2) modifying conventions.

Pervasive Measurement Principles

.08 The pervasive measurement principles (P-1 to P-6) establish the basis for implementing accrual accounting. They include the initial recording principle, the realization principle, three pervasive expense recognition principles, and the unit of measure principle. These principles broadly determine (1) the types of events to be recognized by financial accounting, (2) the bases on which to measure the events, (3) the time periods with which to identify the events, and (4) the common denominator of measurement.

.09 Initial Recording. The principle for initial recording of assets and liabilities is important in financial accounting because it determines (1) the data that enter the accounting process, (2) the time of entry, and (3) generally the amounts at which assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses are recorded.

P-1. Initial recording of assets and liabilities. Assets and liabilities generally are initially recorded on the basis of events in which the enterprise acquires resources from other entities or incurs obligations to other entities.⁴ The assets and liabilities are measured by the exchange prices ⁵ at which the transfers take place.

.10 The initial recording of assets and liabilities may also reflect the elimination of other assets or liabilities, for example, the payment of cash in acquiring equipment. The amounts at which assets and liabilities are initially recorded may be carried without change, may be changed, for example, by amortization or write off, or may be shifted to other categories. The effects of transactions or other events to which the entity is not a party are usually not recognized in the accounting records until transactions of the enterprise occur, although there are significant exceptions to this general principle (see section 1027.09). The effects of executory contracts also are generally not recognized until one of the parties at least partially fulfills his commitment.

.11 Income Determination.⁶ Income determination in accounting is the process of identifying, measuring, and relating revenue and expenses of an enterprise for an

•The term *matching* is often used in the accounting literature to describe the entire process of income determination. The term is also often

⁴This principle does not cover the first recording of assets produced or constructed by the enterprise from other assets that previously have been initially recorded. Accounting for produced or self-constructed assets is discussed in paragraph .23.

⁵ In transfers that involve deferred payments of money, the determination of exchange prices requires a realistic rate of interest (refer to section 4111.) [As amended, effective October 1, 1971, by APB Opinion No. 21.]

In transfers that do not involve money prices, such as barter transactions or investments by owners, assets are usually measured at "fair value," that is, at the amount of money that would be involved if the assets were received in exchanges that involved money prices. For exceptions to this general rule see section 1027.08, M-2B and M-2C.

accounting period. Revenue for a period is generally determined independently by applying the realization principle. Expenses are determined by applying the expense recognition principles on the basis of relationships between acquisition costs 7 and either the independently determined revenue or accounting periods. Since the point in time at which revenue and expenses are recognized is also the time at which changes in amounts of net assets are recognized, income determination is interrelated From the perspective of inwith asset valuation. come determination, costs are divided into (1) those that have "expired" and become expenses and (2) those that are related to later periods and are carried forward as assets in the balance sheet. From the perspective of asset valuation, those costs that no longer meet the criteria of assets become expenses and are deducted from revenue in determining net income.

.12 Revenue and Realization. Revenue is a gross increase in assets or a gross decrease in liabilities recognized and measured in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles that results from those types of profit-directed activities of an enterprise that can change owners' equity (see section 1025.21). Revenue under present generally accepted accounting principles is derived from three general activities: (a) selling products, (b) rendering services and permitting others to use enterprise resources, which result in interest, rent, royalties, fees, and the like, and (c) disposing of resources other than products—for example, plant and equipment or investments in other entities. Revenue does not include receipt of assets purchased, proceeds of borrowing, investments by owners, or adjustments of revenue of prior periods.

.13 Most types of revenue are the joint result of many profit-directed activities of an enterprise and revenue is

⁷ See section 1023.26 for a general discussion of the term *cost* and paragraph .28 for a discussion of the meaning of the term *cost* under present generally accepted accounting principles.

applied in accounting, however, in a more limited sense to the process of expense recognition or in an even more limited sense to the recognition of expenses by associating costs with revenue on a cause and effect basis (see paragraph .21). Because of the variety of its meanings, the term *matching* is not used in sections 1021-1029.

often described as being "earned" gradually and continuously by the whole of enterprise activities. *Earning* in this sense is a technical term that refers to the activities that give rise to the revenue—purchasing, manufacturing, selling, rendering service, delivering goods, allowing other entities to use enterprise assets, the occurrence of an event specified in a contract, and so forth. All of the profitdirected activities of an enterprise that comprise the process by which revenue is earned may be called the *earning process*.

.14 Revenue is conventionally recognized at a specific point in the earning process of a business enterprise, usually when assets are sold or services are rendered. This conventional recognition is the basis of the pervasive measurement principle known as realization.

P-2. Realization. Revenue is generally recognized when both of the following conditions are met: (1) the earning process is complete or virtually complete, and (2) an exchange has taken place.

The exchange required by the realization principle .15 determines both the time at which to recognize revenue and the amount at which to record it. Revenue from sales of products is recognized under this principle at the date of sale, usually interpreted to mean the date of delivery to customers. Revenue from services rendered is recognized under this principle when services have been performed and are billable. Revenue from permitting others to use enterprise resources, such as interest, rent, and royalties is also governed by the realization principle. Revenue of this type is recognized as time passes or as the resources are used. Revenue from sales of assets other than products is recognized at the date of sale. Revenue recognized under the realization principle is recorded at the amount received or expected to be received.

.16 Revenue is sometimes recognized on bases other than the realization rule. For example, on long-term construction contracts revenue may be recognized as construction progresses. This exception to the realization principle is based on the availability of evidence of the ultimate proceeds and the consensus that a better measure of

7267

periodic income results. Sometimes revenue is recognized at the completion of production and before a sale is made. Examples include certain precious metals and farm products with assured sales prices.⁸ The assured price, the difficulty in some situations of determining costs of products on hand, and the characteristic of unit interchangeability are reasons given to support this exception.

.17 The realization principle requires that revenue be earned before it is recorded. This requirement usually causes no problems because the earning process is usually complete or nearly complete by the time of the required The requirement that revenue be earned exchange. becomes important, however, if money is received or amounts are billed in advance of the delivery of goods or rendering of services. For example, amounts for rent or magazine subscriptions received in advance are not treated as revenue of the period in which they are received but as revenue of the future period or periods in which they are "earned." These amounts are carried as "unearned revenue"-that is, liabilities to transfer goods or render services in the future—until the earning process is complete. The recognition of this revenue in the future period results in recording a decrease in a liability rather than an increase in an asset.

.18 Expense Recognition. Expenses are gross decreases in assets or gross increases in liabilities recognized and measured in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles that result from those types of profitdirected activities of an enterprise that can change owners' equity (see section 1025.21). Important classes of expenses are (1) costs of assets used to produce revenue (for example, cost of goods sold, selling and administrative expenses, and interest expense), (2) expenses from nonreciprocal transfers and casualties (for example, taxes, fires, and theft), (3) costs of assets other than products (for example, plant and equipment or investments in other companies) disposed of, (4) costs incurred in unsuccessful efforts, and (5) declines in market prices of inventories held for sale. Expenses do not include repayments of

⁸ This increase in assets is often reported in the income statement as a reduction of cost of goods sold rather than as sales revenue.

borrowing, expenditures to acquire assets, distributions to owners (including acquisition of treasury stock), or adjustments of expenses of prior periods.

.19 Expenses are the costs that are associated with the revenue of the period, often directly but, frequently indirectly through association with the period to which the revenue has been assigned. Costs to be associated with future revenue or otherwise to be associated with future accounting periods are deferred to future periods as assets. Costs associated with past revenue or otherwise associated with prior periods are adjustments of the expenses of those prior periods.⁹ The expenses of a period are (a) costs directly associated with the revenue of the period, (b) costs associated with the period on some basis other than a direct relationship with revenue, and (c) costs that cannot, as a practical matter, be associated with any other period.

.20 Three pervasive expense recognition principles specify the bases for recognizing the expenses that are deducted from revenue to determine the net income or loss of a period. They are "associating cause and effect," "systematic and rational allocation," and "immediate recognition."

.21 P-3. Associating cause and effect.¹⁰ Some costs are recognized as expenses on the basis of a presumed direct association with specific revenue.

Although direct cause and effect relationships can seldom be conclusively demonstrated, many costs appear to be related to particular revenue and recognizing them as expenses accompanies recognition of the revenue. Examples of expenses that are recognized by associating cause and effect are sales commissions and costs of products sold or services provided.

.22 Several assumptions regarding relationships must be made to accumulate the costs of products sold or services provided. For example, manufacturing costs

^{*} See paragraph .38.

¹⁰ The term *matching* is often applied to this process (see paragraph .11, footnote 6).

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

are considered to "attach" to products on bases of association such as labor hours, area or volume of facilities used, machine hours, or other bases presumed to indicate the relationship involved. "Attaching" costs to products often requires several allocations and reallocations of costs. Also, assumptions regarding the "flow" of costs or of physical goods (LIFO, FIFO, average) are often made to determine which costs relate to products sold and which remain in inventory as assets.

.23 P-4. Systematic and rational allocation. In the absence of a direct means of associating cause and effect, some costs are associated with specific accounting periods as expenses on the basis of an attempt to allocate costs in a systematic and rational manner among the periods in which benefits are provided.

If an asset provides benefits for several periods its cost is allocated to the periods in a systematic and rational manner in the absence of a more direct basis for associating cause and effect. The cost of an asset that provides benefits for only one period is recognized as an expense of that period (also a systematic and rational allocation). This form of expense recognition always involves assumptions about the pattern of benefits and the relationship between costs and benefits because neither of these two factors can be conclusively demonstrated. The allocation method used should appear reasonable to an unbiased observer and should be followed systematically. Examples of items that are recognized in a systematic and rational manner are depreciation of fixed assets, amortization of intangible assets, and allocation of rent and insurance. Systematic and rational allocation of costs may increase assets as product costs or as other asset costs rather than increase expenses immediately, for example, depreciation charged to inventory and costs of self-constructed assets. These costs are later recognized as expenses under the expense recognition principles.

.24 P-5. Immediate recognition. Some costs are associated with the current accounting period as expenses because (1) costs incurred during the period provide no discernible future benefits, (2) costs recorded as assets in prior periods no longer provide discernible benefits or (3) allocating costs either on the basis of association with revenue or among several accounting periods is considered to serve no useful purpose.

Application of this principle of expense recognition results in charging many costs to expense in the period in which they are paid or liabilities to pay them accrue. Examples include officers' salaries, most selling costs, amounts paid to settle lawsuits, and costs of resources used in unsuccessful efforts. The principle of immediate recognition also requires that items carried as assets in prior periods that are discovered to have no discernible future benefit be charged to expense, for example, a patent that is determined to be worthless.

.25 Application of Expense Recognition Principles. To apply expense recognition principles, costs are analyzed to see whether they can be associated with revenue on the basis of cause and effect. If not, systematic and rational allocation is attempted. If neither cause and effect associations nor systematic and rational allocations can be made, costs are recognized as expenses in the period incurred or in which a loss is discerned. Practical measurement difficulties and consistency of treatment over time are important factors in determining the appropriate expense recognition principle.

.26 Effect of the Initial Recording, Realization, and Expense Recognition Principles. The essential effect of these principles as they now exist is that measurement of the assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses of a business enterprise is based primarily on its own exchanges. Resources and obligations that result from executory contracts are generally not recorded as assets and liabilities until one of the parties at least partially fulfills his commitment. Furthermore, not all changes in the utility or price of assets are recognized. Increases in assets and the 'related revenue are usually not recorded if they result

AC § 1026.25

from events wholly internal to the enterprise. For example, revenue that is earned during the production process is generally not recorded until the goods and services produced are exchanged. Also, increases or decreases in assets and related revenue and expenses that result from events in which the enterprise does not participate directly are usually not recorded.¹¹ For example, most changes in prices of productive resources are not recognized until enterprise transactions take place.

.27 Under the initial recording, realization, and expense recognition principles assets are generally carried in the accounting records and presented in financial statements at acquisition cost or some unexpired or unamortized portion of it. When assets are sold, the difference between the proceeds realized and the unamortized portion of acquisition cost is recognized as an increase (or decrease) in the enterprise's net assets.

.28 The initial recording and realization conventions are the basis for the "cost principle" (which is more accurately described as the acquisition-price or historical-cost rule). Cost can be defined in several ways-for example, as the amount of money that would be required to acquire assets currently (replacement cost) or as the return from alternative uses of assets, such as selling them (opportunity cost). However, "cost" at which assets are carried and expenses are measured in financial accounting today usually means historical or acquisition cost because of the conventions of initially recording assets at acquisition cost and of ignoring increases in assets until they are exchanged (the realization convention).¹² The term cost is also commonly used in financial accounting to refer to the amount at which assets are initially recorded, regardless of how the amount is determined.

.29 Unit of Measure. In the United States, the U.S. dollar fulfills the functions of medium of exchange, unit of account, and store of value. It provides the unit of meas-

[&]quot; Exceptions include the cost or market rule for inventories (see section 1027.09).

²³ See section 1023.26 for a general discussion of the term *cost*. The discussions of cost in section 1023.26 and paragraph .28 are broader than that in Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 4, paragraph 2, which defines only historical or acquisition cost.

ure for financial accounting. Stating assets and liabilities and changes in them in terms of a common financial denominator is prerequisite to performing the operations for example, addition and subtraction—necessary to measure financial position and periodic net income.

.30 Defining the unit of measure in terms of money presents problems because of decreases (inflation) or increases (deflation) in the general purchasing power of money over time. The effects of inflation in the United States are not considered sufficiently important at this time to require recognition in financial accounting measurements.

P-6. Unit of measure. The U. S. dollar is the unit of measure in financial accounting in the United States. Changes in its general purchasing power are not recognized in the basic financial statements.

.31 Effect of the Unit of Measure Principle. The basic effect of this principle is that financial accounting measures are in terms of numbers of dollars, without regard to changes in the general purchasing power of those dollars.

.32 The unit of measure principle is applied together with the other pervasive measurement principles. Costs are therefore measured in terms of the number of dollars initially invested in assets. If moderate inflation or deflation persists for several years or if substantial inflation or deflation occurs over short periods, the general purchasing power of the dollars in which expenses are measured may differ significantly from the general purchasing power of the dollars in which revenue is measured. Methods of accounting which tend to minimize this effect in the determination of periodic income-most notably the last-in, first-out method of inventory pricing and accelerated depreciation of plant and equipment-have become generally accepted and widely used in the United States. Methods of restating financial statements for general price-level changes have been used in some countries that have experi-

AC § 1026.30

enced extreme inflation but are not now used in the basic financial statements in the United States.¹³

Modifying Conventions

.33 The pervasive measurement principles are largely practical responses to problems of measurement in financial accounting and do not provide results that are considered satisfactory in all circumstances. Certain widely adopted conventions modify the application of the pervasive measurement principles. These modifying conventions, discussed in the following paragraphs, have evolved to deal with some of the most difficult and controversial problem areas in financial accounting. They are applied because rigid adherence to the pervasive measurement principles (1) sometimes produces results that are not considered to be desirable, (2) may exclude from financial statements some events that are considered to be important, or (3) may be impractical in certain circumstances.

.34 The modifying conventions are applied through generally accepted rules that are expressed either in the broad operating principles or in the detailed principles. The modifying conventions are a means of substituting the collective judgment of the profession for that of the individual accountant.

.35 Conservatism. Frequently, assets and liabilities are measured in a context of significant uncertainties. Historically, managers, investors, and accountants have generally preferred that possible errors in measurement be in the direction of understatement rather than overstatement of net income and net assets. This has led to the convention of conservatism, which is expressed in rules adopted by the profession as a whole such as the rules that inventory should be measured at the lower of cost and market and that accrued net losses should be recognized on firm purchase commitments for goods for inventory. These rules may result in stating net income and net assets at amounts lower than would otherwise result from applying the pervasive measurement principles.

^a Section 1071, Financial Statements Restated for General Price-Level Changes, issued in June 1969, recommends supplementary disclosure of general price-level information.

.36 Emphasis on Income. Over the past century businessmen, financial statement users, and accountants have increasingly tended to emphasize the importance of net income and that trend has affected the emphasis in financial accounting. Although balance sheets formerly were presented without income statements, the income statement has in recent years come to be regarded as the most important of the financial statements. Accounting principles that are deemed to increase the usefulness of the income statement are therefore sometimes adopted by the profession as a whole regardless of their effect on the balance sheet or other financial statements. For example, the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method of inventory pricing may result in balance sheet amounts for inventories that become further removed from current prices with the passage of time. LIFO, however, is often supported on the grounds that it usually produces an amount for cost of goods sold in determining net income that more closely reflects current prices. This result is believed to compensate for the effect under the LIFO method of presenting inventories in the balance sheet at prices substantially different from current prices.

.37 Application of Judgment by the Accounting Profession as a Whole. Sometimes strict adherence to the pervasive measurement principles produces results that are considered by the accounting profession as a whole to be unreasonable in the circumstances or possibly misleading. Accountants approach their task with a background of knowledge and experience. The perspective provided by this background is used as the basis for modifying accounting treatments when strict application of the pervasive measurement principles yields results that do not appear reasonable to the profession as a whole.

.38 The exception to the usual revenue realization rule for long-term construction-type contracts, for example, is justified in part because strict adherence to realization at the time of sale would produce results that are considered to be unreasonable. The judgment of the profession is that revenue should be recognized in this situation as construction progresses. Similarly, the most meaningful concept of net income in the judgment of the pro-

AC § 1026.36

fession is one that includes all items of revenue and expense recorded during the period except for certain items that can be clearly identified with prior periods under carefully specified conditions. Extraordinary items are segregated in the current income statement so that their effects can be distinguished. Also, avoiding undue effects on the net income of a single period is judged by the profession to be important in certain circumstances. For example, actuarial gains and losses recognized in accounting for pension cost may be spread over the current year and future years.

 \implies The next page is 7281. $\leftarrow \implies$

AC Section 1027

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles— Broad Operating Principles

[Source: APB Statement No. 4, Chap. 7, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: October, 1970

STATEMENT OF THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD

.01 The broad operating principles guide in selecting, measuring, and reporting events in financial accounting. They are grounded in the pervasive principles discussed in section 1026 and are applied to specific situations through the detailed principles discussed in section 1028. The broad operating principles are broader and less specific than the detailed principles. For example, the detailed principle of first-in, first-out inventory pricing is one application of the broad operating principles of product cost determination and asset measurement, and straight-line depreciation is one of the detailed principles through which the broad operating principles that deal with systematic and rational expense allocation are applied. Although the broad operating principles are more specific than the pervasive principles, they are also generalizations. Consequently, exceptions to the broad operating principles may exist in the detailed principles through which they are applied.

.02 The financial accounting process consists of a series of operations that are carried out systematically in each accounting period. The broad operating principles guide these operations. The operations are listed separately although they overlap conceptually and some of them may be performed simultaneously:

(1) Selecting the events. Events to be accounted for are identified. Not all events that affect the economic resources and obligations of an enterprise are, or can be, accounted for when they occur.

- (2) Analyzing the events. Events are analyzed to determine their effects on the financial position of an enterprise.
- (3) *Measuring* the effects. Effects of the events on the financial position of the enterprise are measured and represented by money amounts.
- (4) Classifying the measured effects. The effects are classified according to the individual assets, liabilities, owners' equity items, revenue, or expenses affected.
- (5) *Recording* the measured effects. The effects are recorded according to the assets, liabilities, owners' equity items, revenue, and expenses affected.
- (6) Summarizing the recorded effects. The amounts of changes recorded for each asset, liability, owners' equity item, revenue, and expense are summed and related data are grouped.
- (7) Adjusting the records. Remeasurements, new data, corrections, or other adjustments are often required after the events have been initially recorded, classified, and summarized.
- (8) Communicating the processed information. The information is communicated to users in the form of financial statements.

The broad operating principles, which guide these eight operations, are divided into (1) principles of selection and measurement and (2) principles of financial statement presentation.

PRINCIPLES OF SELECTION AND MEASUREMENT

.03 The principles of selection and measurement are conventions that (1) guide selection of events to be accounted for by an enterprise, (2) determine how selected events affect the assets, liabilities, owners' equity, revenue, and expenses of the enterprise, and (3) guide assignment of dollar amounts to the effects of these events. They are classified in this section according to the types of economic events that affect the economic resources, economic obligations, and residual interests of enterprises, as discussed in section 1023 (see section 1023.23). The types of events are

AC § 1027.03

- I. External Events
 - A. Transfers of resources or obligations to or from other entities:
 - 1. Exchanges (reciprocal transfers)
 - 2. Nonreciprocal transfers
 - a. Transfers between an enterprise and its owners
 - b. Nonreciprocal transfers between an enterprise and entities other than owners
 - B. External events other than transfers
- II. Internal Events
 - A. Production
 - **B.** Casualties

Each type of event is explained briefly in the list of principles in paragraphs .07 to .11 and more fully in section 1023.23.

.04 Additional principles other than those that guide recognition of events govern accounting for those assets and liabilities that are not resources and obligations (see section 1025.19) and the related revenue and expenses and govern reporting of accounting changes and corrections of errors in previously issued financial statements (See section 1051). [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after July 31, 1971, by APB Opinion No. 20.]

Measurement Bases

.05 Four measurement bases are currently used in financial accounting: (1) price in a past exchange of the enterprise (historical cost), which is the primary basis of measurement in financial accounting and is usually used in measuring inventory, plant and equipment, and many other assets, (2) price in a current purchase exchange, used, for example, in applying the lower of cost and market rule to inventories, (3) price in a current sale exchange, which may be used, for example, in measuring precious metals that have a fixed monetary price with no substantial cost of marketing, and (4) price based on future exchanges, used, for example, to estimate future costs when revenue is recognized on the percentage-of-completion basis. The measurement bases are described more fully in section 1023.31.

STATEMENT OF THE PRINCIPLES OF SELECTION AND MEASUREMENT

.06 The principles of selection and measurement are presented in three sections:

- 1. The principles of selection of events and the principles of measurement (assignment of dollar amounts) are presented together for each type of event in paragraphs .07 to .11. Principles of selection (S-1 to S-7) and measurement (M-1 to M-7) that deal with the same items are identified by the same number (e. g., S-4 and M-4). Other important principles that constitute amplifications of or exceptions to the general rule are listed under it and identified with the general principle (e. g., S-4A). The statement of a principle is followed by a short discussion if further clarification is needed.
- 2. Principles that govern accounting for those assets and liabilities that are not resources or obligations are discussed in paragraph .12.
- 3. The principles (E-1 to E-10) of determination of the effects of events on the basic elements are presented in paragraph .13.

Principles That Guide Selection of Events and Assignment of Dollar Amounts

- I. External Events
 - A. Transfers of Resources or Obligations to or from Other Entities

.07 1. Exchanges are reciprocal transfers between the enterprise and other entities that involve obtaining resources or satisfying obligations by giving up other resources or incurring other obligations. Exchanges may take place over time rather than at points of time (for example, accumulations of interest and rent).

S-1. Exchanges recorded. Exchanges between the enterprise and other entities (enterprises or individuals) are generally recorded in financial accounting when the transfer of resources or obligations takes place or services are provided.

- M-1. Exchange prices. The effects of exchanges on assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses are measured at the prices established in the exchanges.
 - S-1A. Acquisitions of assets. Resources acquired in exchanges are recorded as assets of the enterprise. Some assets that are not carried forward to future periods are immediately charged to expense (see S-6C).
 - **M-1A.** Acquisition cost of assets. Assets acquired in exchanges are measured at the exchange price, that is, at acquisition cost. Money and money claims acquired are measured at their face amount or sometimes at their discounted amount.

Discussion. Cash, accounts receivable, and other short-term money claims are usually measured at their face amount. Long-term notes receivable are measured at their discounted amounts when the notes nominally bear no interest or an interest rate clearly below a reasonable rate. (See section 4111.) [As amended, effective October 1, 1971, by APB Opinion No. 21.]

- M-1A(1). Fair value. In exchanges in which neither money nor promises to pay money are exchanged, the assets acquired are generally measured at the fair value of the assets given up. However, if the fair value of the assets received is more clearly evident, the assets acquired are measured at that amount.
 - Discussion. Fair value is the approximation of exchange price in transfers in which money or money claims are not

involved. Similar exchanges are used to approximate what the exchange price would have been if an exchange for money had taken place. The recorded amount (as distinguished from the fair value) of assets given up in a trade is generally not used to measure assets acquired.

M-1A(2). Acquisition of a group of assets in one exchange. A group of assets acquired in a single exexchange is measured at the exchange price. The total price is allocated to the individual assets based on their relative fair values.

> Discussion. Fair value of assets acquired is used primarily as a device for allocating total cost, not as the measurement basis of the assets acquired.

M-1A(3). Acquisition of a business in an exchange. A business acquired in an exchange is measured at the exchange price. Each individual asset acquired (other than goodwill) is measured at its fair value. If the total exchange price exceeds the amounts assigned to the individual assets, the excess is recorded as goodwill. If the total amount assigned to individual assets exceeds the exchange price, the difference is recorded as a reduction of the amounts assigned to the assets (also see S-2A and S-2B).

7286

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

- S-1B. Dispositions of assets. Decreases in assets are recorded when assets are disposed of in exchanges.
- M-1B. Asset dispositions measured. Decreases in assets are measured by the recorded amounts that relate to the assets. The amounts are usually the historical or acquisition costs of the assets (as adjusted for amortization and other changes).

Discussion. In partial dispositions, measurement of the amount removed is governed by detailed principles (e. g., first-in, first-out; last-in, first-out; and average cost for inventories) that are based on the presumed "flow" of goods or the presumed "flow" of costs.

- S-1C. Liabilities recorded. Liabilities are recorded when obligations to transfer assets or provide services in the future are incurred in exchanges.
- M-1C. Amount of liabilities. Liabilities are measured at amounts established in the exchanges, usually the amounts to be paid, sometimes discounted.

Discussion. Conceptually, a liability is measured at the amount of cash to be paid discounted to the time the liability is incurred. Most short-term liabilities are simply measured at the amount to be paid. Discounted present values are often used if the obligations require payments at dates that are relatively far in the future. Pension obligations and liabilities under capitalized long-term leases are measured at discounted amounts. Bonds and other long-term liabilities are in effect measured at the discounted amount of the future cash payments for interest and principal. Long-term liabilities are discounted when the notes nominally bear no interest or an interest rate clearly below a

Financial Accounting-General

reasonable rate. (See section 4111.) [As amended, effective October 1, 1971, by APB Opinion No. 21.] The difference between the recorded amount of a liability and the amounts to be paid is amortized over the periods to maturity.

- S-1D. Liability decreases. Decreases in liabilities are recorded when they are discharged through payments, through substitution of other liabilities, or otherwise.
- M-1D. Liability decrease measured. Decreases in liabilities are measured by the recorded amounts that relate to the liabilities. A partial discharge of liabilities is measured at a proportionate part of the recorded amount of the liabilities.
- S-1E. Commitments. Agreements for the exchange of resources in the future that at present are unfulfilled commitments on both sides are not recorded until one of the parties at least partially fulfills its commitment, except that (1) some leases and (2) losses on firm commitments are recorded.

Discussion. An exception to the general rule for recording exchanges is made for most executory contracts. An exchange of promises between the contracting parties is an exchange of something of value, but the usual view in accounting is that the promises are off-setting and nothing need be recorded until one or both parties at least partially perform(s) under the contract. The effects of some executory contracts, however, are recorded, for example, long-term leases that are recorded as assets by the lessee with a corresponding liability (see discussion after M-1C).

S-1F. Revenue from exchanges. Revenue is recorded when products are sold, services

AC § 1027.07

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

are provided, or enterprise resources are used by others. Revenue is also recorded when an enterprise sells assets other than products (usually presented as part of a gain or loss—see paragraph .24).

M-1F. Revenue measurement. Revenue from exchanges is initially measured at prices established in the exchanges. The revenue amounts are reduced (or expenses recorded) for discounts, returns, and allowances.

> Discussion. Revenue is usually recognized at the time of exchanges in which cash is received or new claims arise against other entities. However, exceptions are made, for example, for certain products that have an assured selling price (see S-6D) and long-term construction-type contracts (see S-6E). Revenue is not recognized on purchases.

- Recognizing revenue and ex-S-1F(1). penses if proceeds are collectible over a long period without reasonable assurance of collection. The terms of an exchange transaction or other conditions related to receivables collectible over a long period may preclude a reasonable estimate of the collectibility of the receivables. Either an installment method or a cost recoverv method of recognizing revenue and expenses may be used as long as collectibility is not reasonably assured.
- M-1F(1). Measuring revenue and expenses on installment or cost recovery methods. Under both installment and cost recovery methods the proceeds collected

measure revenue. Under an installment method expenses are measured at an amount determined by multiplying the cost of the asset sold by the ratio of the proceeds collected to the total selling price. Under a cost recovery method, expenses are measured at the amounts of the proceeds collected until all costs have been recovered.

- S-1G. Expenses directly associated with revenue from exchanges. Costs of assets sold or services provided are recognized as expenses when the related revenue is recognized (see S-1F).
- M-1G. Expense measurement. Measurement of expenses directly associated with revenue recognized in exchanges is based on the recorded amount (usually acquisition cost) of the assets that leave the enterprise or the costs of the services provided (see S-6A(1) for a discussion of product and service costs).

Discussion. Revenue is usually accompanied by related expenses. For example, sale of a product leads to recording of revenue from the sale and an expense for the cost of the product sold. If an asset other than normal product, such as a building, is sold, the undepreciated cost of the asset is an expense to be subtracted from the revenue on the sale.

.08 2. Nonreciprocal transfers are transfers in one direction of resources or obligations, either from the enterprise to other entities or from other entities to the enterprise.

a. Transfers between an enterprise and its owners. Examples are investments of resources by owners, declaration of cash or property dividends, acqui-

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

sition of treasury stock, and conversion of convertible debt.

- S-2. Owners' investments and withdrawals recorded. Transfers of assets or liabilities between an enterprise and its owners are recorded when they occur.
- M-2. Owners' investments and withdrawals measured. Increases in owners' equity are usually measured by (a) the amount of cash received, (b) the discounted present value of money claims received or liabilities cancelled, or (c) the fair value of noncash assets received.¹ Decreases in owners' equity are usually measured by (a) the amount of cash paid, (b) the recorded amount of noncash assets transferred, or (c) the discounted present value of liabilities incurred.

Discussion. Measurement of owners' investments is generally based on the fair value of the assets or the discounted present value of liabilities that are transferred. The market value of stock issued may be used to establish an amount at which to record owners' investments but this amount is only an approximation when the fair value of the assets transferred cannot be measured directly.

- S-2A. Acquisition of a business as a whole through issuance of stock. The acquisition of a business as a whole by an enterprise through the issuance of stock is recorded when it occurs. (See S-2B for a discussion of poolings of interests.)
- M-2A. Acquisition of a business through issuance of stock measured. A business acquired through issuance of stock is measured at the fair value of the business acquired. Each individual asset acquired (other than goodwill) is measured at its fair value. If the fair value of the whole business exceeds the amounts assigned to the

¹ The fair value of assets received is often measured by the fair value of the shares of stock issued.

Financial Accounting-General

individual assets, the excess is recorded as goodwill. If the total assigned to individual assets exceeds the fair value of the whole business, the difference is recorded as a reduction of the amounts assigned to the assets.

- S-2B. Poolings of interests. Business combinations effected by issuance of voting common stock that also meet other specified criteria are accounted for as poolings of interests and not as acquisitions of one business by another. A business combination accounted for as a pooling of interests is accounted for when it occurs.
- M-2B. Poolings of interests measured. The assets. liabilities, and elements of owners' equity of the separate companies generally become the assets, liabilities, and elements of owners' equity of the combined corporation. They generally are measured at the time of combination by the combined corporation at the amounts at which they were then carried by the separate companies. The revenue and expenses of the combined corporation for the period in which the companies are combined include the revenue and expenses of the separate companies from the beginning of the period to the date of combination. Financial statements for prior periods presented in reports of the combined corporation combine the financial statements of the separate companies.
- S-2C. Investments of noncash assets by founders or principal stockholders of a corporation. Transfers of noncash assets to a corporation by its founders or principal stockholders are recorded when they occur.
- M-2C. Founders' or principal stockholders' investments of noncash assets measured.

AC § 1027.08

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Transfers of noncash assets to a corporation by its founders or principal stockholders are sometimes measured at their costs to the founders or principal stockholders rather than at their fair value at the date of transfer.

- b. Nonreciprocal transfers between an enterprise and entities other than owners. Examples are gifts and donations, taxes, loss of a negligence lawsuit, imposition of fines, and theft.
- S-3. Nonreciprocal transfers recorded. Nonreciprocal transfers with other than owners are recorded when assets are acquired, when assets are disposed of or their loss is discovered, or when liabilities come into existence or are discovered. [As amended, effective for transactions entered into after September 30, 1973, by APB Opinion No. 29.] (See section 1041.)
- M-3. Nonreciprocal transfers measured. Those noncash assets received in nonreciprocal transfers with other than owners that are recorded are measured at their fair value on the date received. Noncash assets given are usually accounted for at fair value. Liabilities imposed are measured at the amount to be paid, sometimes discounted. [As amended, effective for transactions entered into after September 30, 1973, by APB Opinion No. 29.] (See section 1041.)

.09 B. External events other than transfers of resources or obligations to or from other entities. Examples are changes in specific prices of enterprise assets, changes in interest rates, general price-level changes, technological changes caused by outside entities, and damage to enterprise assets caused by others.

S-4. Favorable external events other than transfers generally not recorded. External events other than transfers that increase market prices or utility of assets or decrease amounts required to discharge liabilities are generally not recorded when they occur. Instead their effects are usually reflected at the time of later exchanges.

Financial Accounting-General

- M-4. Retention of recorded amounts. Assets whose prices or utility are increased by external events other than transfers are normally retained in the accounting records at their recorded amounts until they are exchanged. Liabilities that can be satisfied for less than their recorded amounts because of external events generally are retained in the records at their recorded amounts until they are satisfied.
 - S-4A. Some favorable events recorded. Examples of the few exceptions to principle S-4 are (1) earnings of companies whose voting stock is owned by minority or 50% shareholders who have the ability to exercise significant influence over investees, (2) increases in market prices of marketable securities held by investment companies and (3) decreases in the amounts required currently to satisfy liabilities to provide services or deliver resources other than U. S. dollars, for example, foreign currency obligations and obligations under warranties. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 18.1
 - M-4A. Measuring favorable events. Recorded increases in market prices are measured by the difference between the recorded amount of the securities and the higher market price. Recorded decreases in liabilities are measured by the difference between the recorded amounts of the liabilities and the lower amounts estimated to be required to satisfy them.
- S-5. Unfavorable external events other than transfers recorded. Certain unfavorable external events, other than transfers, that decrease market prices or utility of assets or increase liabilities are recorded.

AC § 1027.09

M-5. *Measuring unfavorable events*. The amounts of those assets whose decreased market price or utility is recorded are adjusted to the lower market price or recoverable cost resulting from the external event.

Discussion. Recording unfavorable external events other than transfers varies depending on the type of asset or liability and is governed by specific rules. The major rules are described below.

- S-5A. Cost or market rule for inventories. A loss is recognized by application of the rule of lower of cost and market to inventories when their utility is no longer as great as their cost.
- M-5A. Measuring inventory losses under the cost or market rule. Replacement price is used in measuring the decline in price of inventory except that the recorded decline should not result in carrying the inventory at an amount that (1) exceeds net realizable value or (2) is lower than net realizable value reduced by an allowance for an approximately normal profit margin.
- S-5B. Decline in market price of certain marketable securities. If market price of marketable securities classified as current assets is less than cost and it is evident that the decline is not due to a temporary condition a loss is recorded when the price declines.
- M-5B. Measuring losses from decline in price of marketable securities. The loss on a price decline of marketable securities is measured by the difference between the recorded amount and the lower market price.

Financial Accounting-General

- S-5C. Obsolescence. Reductions in the utility of productive facilities caused by obsolescence due to technological, economic, or other change are usually recognized over the remaining productive lives of the assets. If the productive facilities have become worthless the entire loss is then recognized.
- M-5C. Measuring obsolescence. Obsolescence of productive facilities is usually measured by adjusting rates of depreciation, depletion, or amortization for the remaining life (if any) of the assets. If productive facilities have become worthless, unamortized cost is recognized as a current loss.

Discussion. In unusual circumstances persuasive evidence may exist of impairment of the utility of productive facilities indicative of an inability to recover cost although the facilities have not become worthless. The amount at which those facilities are carried is sometimes reduced to recoverable cost and a loss recorded prior to disposition or expiration of the useful life of the facilities.

- S-5D. 'Damage caused by others. The effects of damage to enterprise assets caused by others are recorded when they occur or are discovered.
- M-5D. Measuring damage caused by others. When enterprise assets are damaged by others, asset amounts are written down to recoverable costs and a loss is recorded.
- S-5E. Decline in market prices of noncurrent assets generally not recorded. Reductions in the market prices of noncurrent assets

are generally not recorded until the assets are disposed of or are determined to be worthless.

M-5E. Retention of recorded amount. Noncurrent assets whose market prices have declined are generally retained in accounting records at their recorded amounts until they are disposed of or have become worthless.

> Discussion. In unusual circumstances a reduction in the market price of securities classified as noncurrent assets may provide persuasive evidence of an inability to recover cost although the securities have not become worthless. The amount at which those securities are carried is sometimes reduced and a loss recognized prior to disposition of the securities.

- Increases in amounts required to liquidate S-5F. liabilities other than those payable in U. S. dollars recorded. Increases in the amounts required currently to satisfy liabilities to provide services or deliver resources other than U.S. dollars, for example, foreign currency obligations and obligations under warranties, are often recorded. Increases in amounts required currently to liquidate liabilities payable in U.S. dollars because of changes in interest rates or other external factors are generally not recorded until the liabilities are liquidated, converted, or otherwise disposed of.
- M-5F. Liability increases measured. Recorded increases in liabilities from external events other than transfers are measured at the difference between the recorded amount of the liabilities and the higher amounts estimated to be required to satisfy them.

II. Internal Events

.10 A. Production. Production in a broad sense is the economic process by which inputs of goods and services are combined to produce an output of product which may be either goods or services. Production in this sense is therefore *not* restricted to manufacturing operations, but includes activities such as merchandising, transporting, and holding goods.

- S-6. Production recorded. Utility added to assets by the internal profit-directed activities of the enterprise is generally not recorded at the time of production. Instead, historical or acquisition costs, including costs of the production process, are shifted to different categories of assets or to expenses as events in the enterprise indicate that goods and services have been used (either partially or completely) in production operations of the period. The costs that continue to appear in asset categories are deducted from revenue when the products or services to which they have been related are sold at a later date (see S-1G).
- M-6. Production measurement. Utility created by production is generally not measured at the time of production. Instead, previously recorded amounts (usually acquisition costs) are shifted or allocated between asset categories or between activities or periods in a systematic and rational manner.

Discussion. Accounting for production encompasses much of the internal accounting for the enterprise. Accounting to determine costs of manufacturing products and providing services (cost accounting) is a part of production accounting in general. The purpose of production accounting is to relate costs to revenue when the product is sold or services provided or to relate costs to particular accounting periods.

S-6A. Costs of manufacturing products and providing services. Costs of manufacturing products and providing services during a period include (1) costs of assets that are completely used during the period in manufacturing products and providing services and (2) allocated portions of the costs of assets that are partially used during the period in manufacturing products and providing services, assigned in a systematic and rational manner to those activities.

- M-6A. Measuring costs of manufacturing products and providing services. Costs of manufacturing products and providing services are measured at the recorded amounts (usually acquisition costs) of assets used directly and by allocations in a systematic and rational manner of recorded amounts of assets used indirectly. Discussion. Cost accounting often involves shifts and allocations of acquisition costs. The shifts and allocations are based on observed or assumed relationships between the assets used and the activities of manufacturing products or providing services. An example of a shift to a different category is the shift of costs from raw materials inventory to work in process inventory. Examples of allocated costs are overhead costs such as power, indirect labor, repair costs, and depreciation of plant and equipment.
 - S-6A(1). Product and service costs. Costs assigned to products and services provided are those costs of manufacturing products and providing services that are considered productive, including direct costs and indirect costs (absorbed overhead). Costs of manufacturing products and providing services for a period that are not

assigned to product or service costs are charged to expense during the period, for example, unabsorbed overhead.

- M-6A(1). Measuring product and service costs. Product and service costs are measured by the sum of productive costs of manufacturing products and providing services assigned to units of product or service in a rational and systematic manner.
- S-6B. Expenses from systematic and rational allocation. Some expenses are associated with accounting periods by allocating costs of assets over their useful lives.
- M-6B. Determination of expenses by systematic and rational allocation. These expenses are allocations of the recorded amount of assets in a systematic and rational manner to the period or periods of the assets' lives.

Discussion. If all the benefits of an asset are related to one period, the recorded amount of the asset is charged as expense in that period. If the asset will benefit several periods, the recorded amount is charged to expense in a systematic and rational manner over the periods involved. Depreciation, depletion, and amortization of long-lived assets are examples of amounts allocated to periods as expenses (excluding amounts allocated to costs of manufacturing products and providing services, see S-6A).

S-6C. Expenses recognized immediately. The costs of some assets are charged to expense immediately on acquisition.

AC § 1027.10

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

7301

M-6C. Measurement of expenses recognized immediately. Expenses from immediate recognition are measured at the acquisition prices of the assets acquired.

Discussion. Enterprises never acquire expenses per se; they always acquire assets. Costs may be charged to expenses in the period goods or services are acquired either under this principle of immediate recognition or, if they only benefit the period in which they are acquired, under the principle of systematic and rational allocation (see S-6B). Examples of costs that often are charged to expense immediately are salaries paid to officers and payments for advertising.

- S-6D. Revenue at completion of production. Revenue may be recorded at the completion of production of precious metals that have a fixed selling price and insignificant marketing costs. Similar treatment may also be accorded certain agricultural, mineral, and other products characterized by inability to determine unit acquisition costs, immediate marketability at quoted prices that cannot be influenced by the producer, and unit interchangeability.
- M-6D. Revenue measured by net realizable value of product. Revenue recorded at completion of production is measured by the net realizable value of the product.

Discussion. Recognition of revenue at completion of production is an exception to principles S-1F and S-6. The net realizable value of product is its selling price less expected costs to sell.²

S-6E. Revenue as production progresses. Revenue from cost-plus-fixed-fee and long-term

³See section 1026.16, footnote 8, for a discussion of income statement treatment of revenue recognized at completion of production.

Financial Accounting—General

construction-type contracts is recognized as production progresses using the percentage-of-completion method if the total cost and the ratio of performance to date to full performance can be reasonably estimated and collection of the contract price is reasonably assured. When the current estimate of total contract costs indicates a loss on long-term constructiontype contracts, in most circumstances provision is made for the loss on the entire contract.

M-6E. Measuring revenue as production progresses. Under cost-plus-fixed-fee contracts, revenue recognized as production progresses includes either reimbursable costs and an allocated portion of the fee or an allocated portion of the fee alone. Under long-term construction-type contracts, revenue recognized as production progresses is measured at an allocated portion of the predetermined selling price. Product or service cost is subtracted from revenue as an expense as production progresses for long-term constructiontype contracts and for those cost-plusfixed-fee contracts for which recorded revenue includes reimbursable costs.

> Discussion. Recognition of revenue as production progresses is another exception to principles S-1F and S-6.

.11 B. Casualties. Casualties are sudden, substantial, unanticipated reductions in enterprise assets not caused by other entities. Examples are fires, floods, and abnormal spoilage.

- S-7. Casualties. Effects of casualties are recorded when they occur or when they are discovered.
- M-7. *Measuring casualties*. When casualties occur or are discovered, asset amounts are written down to recoverable costs and a loss is recorded.

AC § 1027.11

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Accounting for Those Assets and Liabilities That Are Not Resources or Obligations

.12 Accounting for those assets and liabilities that are not resources or obligations (see section 1025.19) and the related revenue and expenses is governed by detailed principles, for example, principles for accounting for deferred federal income taxes in section 4091. The principles are generally related to the modifying conventions, especially emphasis on income (see sections 1026.33 to 1026.38).

Principles That Determine Effects on Assets, Liabilities, Owners' Equity, Revenue, and Expenses of an Enterprise

.13 Principles (E-1 to E-10) that summarize the effects of selection and measurement on the basic elements of financial accounting are related to changes in assets, liabilities, owners' equity, revenue, and expenses rather than to types of events. The first of these principles recognizes the interrelated effects of events.

E-1. Dual effects. Each recorded event affects at least two items in the financial accounting records. The double entry system of recording is based on this principle.

In the following principles, the changes in assets, liabilities, owners' equity, revenue, and expenses that are recognized in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles are listed, together with some indication of the dual effect. Recognized changes are derived from the preceding principles of selection of events and assignment of dollar amounts.

E-2. Increases in assets arise from (1) exchanges in which assets are acquired, (2) investments of assets in the enterprise by owners, (3) nonreciprocal transfers of assets to an enterprise by other than owners, (4) shifts of costs to different asset categories in production, and, occasionally, (5) increases in amounts ascribed to produced assets. Increases in assets sometimes arise from external events other than transfers.

In exchanges, asset increases may be accompanied by decreases in other assets (e. g., a purchase for cash), increases in liabilities (e.g., a purchase on account), or recognition of revenue (e.g., a sale for cash). In production, costs may be shifted from one asset classification to another with no change in total assets. If production increases are recorded (e.g., at the completion of production of precious metals), the increase is recognized as revenue or reduction of expenses. Earnings of companies whose voting stock is owned by minority or 50% shareholders who have the ability to exercise significant influence over investees, and increases in the market prices of securities held by investment companies are examples of asset increases recognized on external events other than transfers. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 18.]

E-3. Decreases in assets arise from (1) exchanges in which assets are disposed of, (2) withdrawals of assets from the enterprise by owners, (3) nonreciprocal transfers of assets from the enterprise other than to owners, (4) certain external events other than transfers that reduce the market price or utility of assets, (5) shifts or allocations of costs to different asset categories or to expense in production, and (6) casualties.

In exchanges, asset decreases may be accompanied by increases in other assets (e.g., a purchase for cash or a sale for cash or on account), decreases in liabilities (e.g., payment of a debt), or increases in expenses. An increase of expenses in an exchange may result if an asset acquired is used up almost immediately or if future benefits of an expenditure cannot be determined and it is therefore written off to expense immediately. The sale of products results in a decrease in product held by the enterprise and reduces an asset and increases an expense.

E.4. Increases in liabilities arise from (1) exchanges in which liabilities are incurred, (2) transfers between an enterprise and its owners (dividend declaration), and (3) nonreciprocal transfers with other than owners in which liabilities arise.

In exchanges, liability increases may be accompanied by decreases in other liabilities (e.g., a note given on an account payable), increases in assets (e.g., a purchase on

AC § 1027.13

account), or an expense (e.g., office salaries incurred but unpaid).

E-5. Decreases in liabilities arise from (1) exchanges in which liabilities are reduced, (2) transfers between an enterprise and its owners (debt converted into capital stock), and (3) nonreciprocal transfers with other than owners in which liabilities are reduced (forgiveness of indebtedness).

In exchanges, liability decreases may be accompanied by increases in other liabilities (e.g., a note given on an account payable), decreases in assets (e.g., payment of an account), or revenue (e.g., goods delivered or services rendered to satisfy a customer prepayment).

- E-6. Increases in owners' equity arise from (1) investments in an enterprise by its owners, (2) the net result of all revenue and expenses recognized during a period (net income), and (3) nonreciprocal transfers to an enterprise from other than owners (gifts and donations). Owners' equity may also be increased by prior period adjustments.
- E-7. Decreases in owners' equity arise from (1) transfers from an enterprise to its owners (dividends, treasury stock acquisitions), and (2) net losses for a period. Owners' equity may also be decreased by prior period adjustments.
- E-8. *Revenue* arises primarily from exchanges. Occasionally revenue arises from production, and rarely from nonreciprocal transfers and from external events other than transfers.

Revenue from exchanges is usually accompanied by asset increases but may be accompanied by decreases in liabilities ("unearned revenue").

E-9. *Expenses* arise from (1) exchanges, (2) nonreciprocal transfers with other than owners, (3) external events other than transfers, (4) production, and (5) casualties.

Expenses that arise in exchanges are costs associated directly with revenue recognized when assets are sold or

services are provided [including product and service costs, see S-6A(1)]. Expenses that arise in production are (1) costs of manufacturing products and providing services not included in product or service costs (for example, unabsorbed overhead), (2) expenses from systematic and rational allocation of the cost of assets over their useful lives (excluding amounts allocated to costs of manufacturing products and providing services, see S-6A), (3) expenses recognized immediately on the acquisition of goods and services, and (4) costs of products for which revenue is recognized at the completion of production or as production progresses (see S-6D and S-6E).

E-10. Effects of accounting for assets and liabilities that are not resources or obligations (see section 1025.19 and paragraph .12). Accounting for these assets and liabilities results in increases and decreases in assets and increases and decreases in liabilities. The income statement effects are usually confined to increases and decreases in expenses.

PRINCIPLES OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

.14 The principles of financial statement presentation guide the communication of the information provided by the financial accounting process. They are related to the principles of selection and measurement and the pervasive principles but are not derived directly from them. The presentation principles are more closely related to the objectives of financial accounting and financial statements. The general objectives that deal with the type of information to be provided (for example, reliable information about economic resources and obligations and economic progress) and the qualitative objectives based on characteristics of useful information (such as comparability, completeness, and understandability) directly influence the content of some of the presentation principles. The basic features of financial accounting, particularly accounting entity, approximation, and fundamentally related financial statements, also influence these principles.

AC § 1027.14 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Fair Presentation in Conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

.15 The qualitative standard of fair presentation in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles of financial position and results of operations is particularly important in evaluating financial presentations. This standard guides preparers of financial statements and is the subjective benchmark against which independent public accountants judge the propriety of the financial accounting information communicated. Financial statements "present fairly in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles" if a number of conditions are met: (1) generally accepted accounting principles applicable in the circumstances have been applied in accumulating and processing the financial accounting information, (2) changes from period to period in generally accepted accounting principles have been appropriately disclosed, (3) the information in the underlying records is properly reflected and described in the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, and (4) a proper balance has been achieved between the conflicting needs to disclose important aspects of financial position and results of operations in accordance with conventional concepts and to summarize the voluminous underlying data into a limited number of financial statement captions and supporting notes.

STATEMENT OF THE PRINCIPLES OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

.16 The principles of financial statement presentation guide reporting of financial accounting information. They are conventional and subject to change in the same manner as the principles of selection and measurement. Twelve principles (R-1 to R-12) of financial statement presentation are stated; two are amplified by related principles; several are followed by explanations of their characteristics or applications. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods ending after September 30, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 19.]

.17 R-1. Basic financial statements. A balance sheet, a statement of income, a statement of changes in retained earnings, a statement of changes in financial position, disclosure of changes in other categories of stockholders' equity, descriptions of accounting policies, and related notes is the minimum presentation required to present fairly the financial position and results of operations of an enterprise in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. [As amended, effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 1971, by APB Opinion No. 22.]

The basic financial statements are usually presented for two or more periods to enhance their usefulness. Historical summaries are also often presented. Other information may be provided as supplementary to the basic statements, for example, data as to revenue and net income by lines of business, information regarding physical output, and financial statements restated for changes in the general price level. These kinds of information, however, are not now considered necessary for a fair presentation of financial position and results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods ending after September 30, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 19.]

- .18 R-2. Complete balance sheet. The balance sheet or statement of financial position should include and properly describe all assets, liabilities, and classes of owners' equity as defined by generally accepted accounting principles.
- .19 R-3. Complete income statement. The income statement of a period should include and properly describe all revenue and expenses as defined by generally accepted accounting principles.

Under narrowly specified conditions an income statement should exclude a few items that represent adjustments of prior periods' net income.

.20 R-4. Complete statement of changes in financial position. The statement of changes in financial position of a period should include and properly describe all important aspects of

AC § 1027.18

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

the company's financing and investing activities. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods ending after September 30, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 19.]

- .21 R-5. Accounting period. The basic time period for which financial statements are presented is one year; "interim" financial statements are commonly presented for periods of less than a year. (See section 2071, Interim Financial Reporting.)
- .22 R-6. Consolidated financial statements. Consolidated financial statements are presumed to be more meaningful than the separate statements of the component legal entities. Consolidated statements are usually necessary for fair presentation in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles if one of the enterprises in a group directly or indirectly owns over 50% of the outstanding voting stock of the other enterprises.

Consolidated financial statements present the financial position and results of operations of a parent company and its subsidiaries essentially as if the group were a single enterprise comprised of branches or divisions. The resulting accounting entity is an economic rather than a legal unit, and its financial statements are considered to reflect the substance of the combined economic relationships to an extent not possible by merely providing the separate financial statements of the corporate entities comprising the group.

.23 R-7. Equity basis. Unconsolidated subsidiaries and investments in 50% or less of the voting stock of companies in which the investors have the ability to exercise significant influence over investees should be presented on the equity basis.

Under the equity basis, net income during a period includes the investor company's proportionate share of the net income reported by the investee for the period (subsequent to acquisition in the period of acquisition). The effect is that net income for the period and owners' equity at the end of the period are the same as if the companies presented on the equity basis had been consolidated. Dividends received are treated as adjustments of the amount of the investment under the equity basis. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 18.]

- .24 R-8. Translation of foreign balances. Financial information about the foreign operations of U. S. enterprises should be "translated" into U. S. dollars by the use of conventional translation procedures that involve foreign exchange rates.
- .25 R-9. Classification and segregation. Separate disclosure of the important components of the financial statements is presumed to make the information more useful. Examples in the income statement are sales or other source of revenue, cost of sales, depreciation, selling and administrative expenses, interest expense, and income taxes. Examples in the balance sheet are cash, receivables, inventories, plant and equipment, payables, and categories of owners' equity.

Owners' equity of corporations is conventionally classified into categories including par or stated amount of capital stock, additional paid-in capital, and retained earnings. Net income or net loss, prior period adjustments, dividends, and certain transfers to other categories of owners' equity are among the changes in owners' equity that affect retained earnings.

> R-9A. Working capital. Disclosure of components of working capital (current assets less current liabilities)³ is presumed to be useful in manufacturing, trading, and some service enterprises. Current assets and current liabilities are distinguished from other assets and liabilities.

^{*}Because the term *working capital* is sometimes used to describe current assets alone, the difference between current assets and current liabilities is sometimes described as *net working capital*.

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Disclosure of working capital is normally accomplished by classifying current assets and liabilities separately. Current assets include cash and other assets that are reasonably expected to be realized in cash or sold or consumed during the normal operating cycle of the business or within one year if the operating cycle is shorter than one year. Current liabilities include those expected to be satisfied by either the use of assets classified as current in the same balance sheet or the creation of other current liabilities, or those expected to be satisfied within a relatively short period of time, usually one year. (See section 2031.)

- R-9B. Offsetting. Assets and liabilities in the balance sheet should not be offset unless a legal right of setoff exists.
- R-9C. Gains and losses. Revenue and expenses from other than sales of products, merchandise, or services may be separated from other revenue and expenses and the net effects disclosed as gains or losses.⁴

Revenue and expense result from dispositions of assets other than products of the enterprise as well as from sales of products or services. For disclosure purposes, revenue (proceeds received) and expenses (cost of assets relinquished) on dispositions of assets other than products are separated from other revenue and expenses and the net amounts (revenue less expense) are shown as gains or losses. If these gains or losses are not material in amount they may be combined with other income statement amounts. Other examples of gains and losses are sizable writedowns of inventories and receivables, sizable gains and losses on sale of temporary investments, gains and losses recognized in nonmonetary transactions, and gains and losses on foreign currency devaluations. Gains and losses include items that are of a character typical of the customary business activities of the entity, which may be disclosed separately if their effects are material, and extraordinary gains and losses, which should be presented separately (see the following principle). [As amended, effective for

⁴ Losses are sometimes defined in the accounting literature as expired costs that produce no revenue. "Losses" of that type are a subclassification of expenses in sections 1021-1029.

transactions entered into after September 30, 1973, by APB Opinion No. 29 (See section 1041); as modified, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 1975, pursuant to FASB Statement No. 2. (See section 4211.)]

R-9D. *Extraordinary items.* Extraordinary gains and losses should be presented separately from other revenue and expenses in the income statement.

Extraordinary items are events and transactions that are distinguished by their unusual nature *and* by the infrequency of their occurrence. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.)

R-9E. Net income. The net income of an enterprise for a period should be separately disclosed and clearly identified in the income statement.

Identifying the amount of the net income is considered necessary for fair presentation in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

.26 R-10. Other disclosures. In addition to informative classifications and segregation of data, financial statements should disclose all additional information that is necessary for fair presentation in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Descriptions of accounting policies and notes that are necessary for adequate disclosure are an integral part of the financial statements.

Financial statements cannot provide all of the information available about an enterprise. They are essentially summaries of a large quantity of detailed information. Furthermore, the information given on the face of the statements is largely restricted to that which can be represented by a number described by a very few words. Normally information of that type needs amplification to make it most useful, and the financial statements, descriptions of accounting policies, and notes are necessary for adequate disclosure. In addition to the four types of disclosure specified below that are considered necessary, additional disclosures are commonly made, for example, disclosure of nonarm's-length and nonmonetary transactions. [As amended, effective for transactions entered into after September 30, 1973, by APB Opinion No. 29.] (See section 1041.)

In general, information that might affect the conclusions formed by a reasonably informed reader of the financial statements should be disclosed. Disclosure principles carry an implied responsibility to present information so that its significance is apparent to a reasonably informed reader. A mass of detailed information, overly compressed information, and language that may be a barrier to communication are unsatisfactory. Financial statements should inform the reader of matters that may affect his interpretation of them, and may provide additional information that will facilitate his understanding and use of the statements. [As amended by APB Opinion No. 22, December 31, 1971.]

- R-10A. Customary or routine disclosure. Information about measurement bases of important assets, restrictions on assets and of owners' equity, contingent liabilities, contingent assets, important long-term commitments not recognized in the body of the statements, information on terms of owners' equity and long-term debt. and certain other disclosures required by pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board and the Committee on Auditing Procedure of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and regulatory bodies that have jurisdiction are necessary for full disclosure.
- R-10B. Disclosure of changes in accounting principles. Disclosure of changes in accounting principles, practices, or the methods of applying them, together with the financial effect, is required in accordance with section 1051, Accounting Changes. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods

beginning after July 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 20.]

- R-10C. Disclosure of subsequent events. Disclosure of events that affect the enterprise directly and that occur between the date of, or end of the period covered by, the financial statements and the date of completion of the statements is necessary if knowledge of the events might affect the interpretation of the statements, even though the events do not affect the propriety of the statements themselves.
- R-10D. Disclosure of accounting policies. Description of the accounting policies adopted by the reporting entity is required as an integral part of the financial statements. [As amended, effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 1971, by APB Opinion No. 22.] (See section 2045.)
- .27 R-11. Form of financial statement presentation. No particular form of financial statements is presumed better than all others for all purposes, and several forms are used.
- .28 R-12. Earnings per share. Earnings per share information is most useful when furnished in conjunction with net income and its components and should be disclosed on the face of the income statement.

A single figure for earnings per share involves the same limitations of usefulness as does a single figure for net income. Unless earnings per share statistics are presented in conjunction with financial statements and with other historical information, their usefulness in evaluating past performance of an enterprise and attempting to formulate an opinion as to its future potential is limited. Furthermore, earnings per share should be disclosed for (a) income before extraordinary items, and (b) net income. Earnings per share disclosure should take into consideration matters such as changes in the number of shares outstanding, contingent changes, and possible dilution from potential conversions of convertible debentures, preferred stock, options, or warrants.

·₩ → The next page is 7321. ← ₩

AC Section 1028 Generally Accepted Accounting Principles— Detailed Operating Principles

[Source: APB Statement No. 4, Chap. 8, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: October, 1970

STATEMENT OF THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD

.01 The detailed principles of accounting are the large body of practices and procedures that prescribe definitively how transactions and other events should be recorded, classified, summarized, and presented. They are the means of implementing the pervasive and broad operating principles discussed in sections 1026 and 1027.

.02 The detailed accounting principles are not enumerated in sections 1021-1029 for several reasons:

- 1. Many detailed accounting principles are already found in Opinions of the Accounting Principles Board and in the Accounting Research Bulletins.
- 2. The pervasive principles and the broad operating principles that underlie the detailed accounting principles tend to evolve slowly. The detailed principles, on the other hand, change relatively frequently. A comprehensive statement of detailed principles therefore would need continual revision to avoid becoming obsolete.
- 3. A comprehensive statement of detailed accounting principles would include material that the Board cannot, as practical matter, consider at this time.

.03 Opinions of the Accounting Principles Board and Accounting Research Bulletins are the most authoritative sources of generally accepted accounting principles for members of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.¹ Opinions of the Accounting Principles Board and Accounting Research Bulletins deal with specific subjects

³ See sections 100.09 and 520.

but do not constitute a comprehensive list of detailed accounting principles. No comprehensive authoritative list of **detailed accounting principles** is presently available.² [As amended, effective May 7, 1973 by Council Resolution.] (See section 510.08.)

.04 Securities and Exchange Commission pronouncements are an important source of detailed principles in some areas. These pronouncements specify requirements for Securities and Exchange Commission reports and influence financial accounting and reporting practices. Actual accounting and reporting practices are another important source of detailed accounting principles in areas not covered by Accounting Principles Board Opinions or the Accounting Research Bulletins. Publications of professional organizations, for example Industry Audit Guides published by the American Institute of CPAs, and surveys that disclose predominant or preferred accounting practices may also provide evidence of authoritative support. On the other hand, isolated instances of actual practice cannot be regarded as authoritative.

.05 Accounting textbooks and other accounting writings may also be referred to as sources of detailed accounting principles in areas that are not covered by Accounting Principles Board Opinions or the Accounting Research Bulletins. The information from these sources must be regarded as tentative. No one textbook or other writing may be regarded as authoritative in itself. The consensus of a number of writers, however, may be a good indication of existing detailed principles not covered by Accounting Principles Board pronouncements.

 \implies The next page is 7331. $\leftarrow \implies$

AC § 1028.04

³Accounting Research Study No. 7, Inventory of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for Business Enterprises, by Paul Grady, is a valuable source of those detailed accounting principles that existed at the time of its publication in 1965. This is an "unofficial" source, however, because Accounting Research Studies are not pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board or of the Institute, and the fact that the study quotes extensively from the Board Opinions and the Accounting Research Bulletins in no way changes the status of either the pronouncements or the study.

AC Section 1029 Financial Accounting in the Future

[Source: APB Statement No. 4, Chap. 9, as amended.]

Issue .date, unless otherwise indicated: October, 1970

STATEMENT OF THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD

.01 Description of the environment, objectives, and basic features of financial accounting and financial statements and of broad generally accepted accounting principles has been an important objective of the Accounting Principles Board since its inception. Issuance of sections 1021-1029 is a basic step in the Board's program of determining appropriate practice and narrowing areas of difference and inconsistency.

DYNAMIC NATURE OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING

.02 Present generally accepted accounting principles are the result of an evolutionary process that can be expected to continue in the future. Changes may occur at any level of generally accepted accounting principles. The pervasive and broad operating principles are relatively stable but may change over time. Changes occur more frequently in the detailed principles used to apply broad principles to specific situations.

.03 Generally accepted accounting principles change in response to changes in economic and social conditions, to new knowledge and technology, and to demands of users for more serviceable financial information. The dynamic nature of financial accounting—its ability to change in response to changed conditions—enables it to maintain and increase the usefulness of the information it provides.

BASIS FOR EVALUATION

.04 Although sections 1021-1029 do not specify what generally accepted accounting principles should be in the future, they are intended to provide a basis for evaluating principles and guiding changes in financial accounting. Orderly change in financial accounting is promoted by evaluation of present and proposed principles in terms of their internal consistency and practical operation and in the light of observations concerning the environment and objectives of financial accounting and financial statements.

Practical Operation and Internal Consistency of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

.05 Present generally accepted accounting principles can be analyzed to determine if they are operational and internally consistent.¹ Analysis can focus on individual principles and on their implications for and consistency with other principles. Evaluations of this type can aid in narrowing areas of difference and promoting the usefulness of financial accounting information.

The Environment

.06 Generally accepted accounting principles can also be evaluated by relating the financial accounting information they produce to the economic activities that the information attempts to represent. The significant constraints placed on accounting measurement by the complexity, continuity, and joint nature of economic activities are important in this evaluation.

Objectives of Financial Accounting and Financial Statements

.07 Understanding the objectives of financial accounting and financial statements (section 1024) is vital in evaluating and improving generally accepted accounting principles. The general objectives relate the content of financial accounting information to the interests and needs of users. The content of financial accounting information can therefore be appraised by determining the extent to which it serves these interests and needs. The qualitative objectives indicate the characteristics of useful information and thus provide criteria for appraising the usefulness of financial accounting information. The objectives are now achieved with varying degrees of success but improvement is probably possible in achieving each of them. Some objectives may conflict, however, so that improvement in one

¹Although consistency of principles is desirable, improving financial accounting may require changes that temporarily increase inconsistency among principles.

area may be at the expense of another area. Generally accepted accounting principles should therefore be evaluated to determine the degree to which the objectives are met and the extent to which present principles represent an optimum practical solution to the problem of resolving conflicts between objectives.

PROPOSALS FOR CHANGE

.08 Suggestions have been made that present generally accepted accounting principles be changed (1) to eliminate differences in accounting practices that are not justified by differences in circumstances. (2) to make them more internally consistent. (3) to improve their effectiveness in accomplishing the objectives of financial accounting, and (4) to reflect more adequately the economic activities represented. These suggestions have resulted in a number of proposals in recent years which have not been fully evaluated but which, if accepted, would result in significant changes in generally accepted accounting principles and the resulting financial statements. Brief mention of some of these proposals in the following paragraphs does not, of course, imply a degree of present acceptance nor constitute a forecast of future acceptance. Reference to them in sections 1021-1029 does not give them substantial authoritative support.

Some proposals contemplate change within the .09 basic historical-cost-based accounting described in sections 1021-1029 in connection with present generally accepted accounting principles. The proposed changes, for example, would broaden the measurement and recognition criteria so that some items, such as contracts, commitments, and leases, that are not now recorded as assets and liabilities would be included in financial statements; also, criteria would be established for associating inventory costs and the costs of long-lived productive assets (plant and equipment) with the related revenue, both to narrow the range of acceptable procedures and to reduce the necessity of making essentially arbitrary choices among procedures. Although adopting these kinds of proposals would introduce significant changes, financial accounting for the most part would still rely on relating acquisition costs with revenue to determine income and on acquisition prices as the basic recorded amount of assets.

.10 Other proposals contemplate more sweeping changes in the financial accounting structure or the content of financial statements. For example, they would revise the realization principle to permit accrual of increases in value of resources during production, substitute current replacement prices, current selling prices, estimated future selling prices, or discounted present-value concepts for acquisition prices as the basis of measurement, recognize changes in the general level of prices, and incorporate budgets as part of the basic financial statements.

.11 Still other proposals would change the presentation of financial accounting information rather than its accumulation and processing. New financial statements and new forms of existing financial statements have been proposed. The use of ratios instead of money amounts has been suggested, pointing to an emphasis on information such as trends, relationships, rates of return, and statements expressed in terms of percentages, rather than on absolute dollar amounts. Development of ways of disclosing information more effectively than in narrative notes has been proposed, including more use of graphs, charts, and other visual aids.

.12 Considerable interest has been shown in international accounting standards or "international generally accepted accounting principles." Prerequisite to the development of accounting standards on an international scale is not only knowledge of accounting practices and principles in various countries but also some attempts on the part of the accounting profession of each country to formalize and codify the accounting practices used in the country.

.13 These proposals are mentioned in sections 1021-1029 not to give them recognition or support but to indicate the general nature of potential changes in ideas and conditions in the future. Financial accounting promises to be as dynamic in the future as it has been in the past. The Accounting Principles Board will be involved in guiding future changes in generally accepted accounting principles. It invites all those interested in continued improvement in financial accounting to participate actively.

AC § 1029.10

NOTE

.14 Statements of the Accounting Principles Board present the conclusions of at least two-thirds of the members of the Board, which is the senior technical body of the Institute authorized to issue pronouncements on accounting principles. This Statement is not an "Opinion of the Accounting Principles Board" covered by action of the Council of the Institute in its May 7, 1973 Resolution designating the Financial Accounting Standards Board as the body to establish accounting principles pursuant to Rule 203 of the Rules of Conduct of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. [As amended, effective May 7, 1973 by Council Resolution.] (See section 510.08.)

 \rightarrow The next page is 7401. $\leftarrow \parallel \parallel$

AC Section 1041 Accounting For Nonmonetary Transactions

[Source: APB Opinion No. 29.]

Effective for transactions entered into after September 30, 1973, unless otherwise indicated

INTRODUCTION

.01 Most business transactions involve exchanges of cash or other monetary assets or liabilities ¹ for goods or services. The amount of monetary assets or liabilities exchanged generally provides an objective basis for measuring the cost of nonmonetary assets or services received by an enterprise as well as for measuring gain or loss on nonmonetary assets transferred from an enterprise. Some transactions, however, involve either (a) an exchange with another entity (reciprocal transfer ¹) that involves principally nonmonetary assets or liabilities ¹ or (b) a transfer of nonmonetary assets for which no assets are received or relinquished in exchange (nonreciprocal transfer ¹). Both exchanges and nonreciprocal transfers that involve little or no monetary assets or liabilities are referred to in this section as nonmonetary transactions.

.02 Questions have been raised concerning the determination of the amount to assign to a nonmonetary asset transferred to or from an enterprise in a nonmonetary transaction and also concerning the recognition of a gain or loss on a nonmonetary asset transferred from an enterprise in a nonmonetary transaction. Practice has varied; some nonmonetary transactions have been accounted for at the estimated fair value of the assets transferred and some at the amounts at which the assets transferred were previously recorded. This section sets forth the views of the Board on accounting for nonmonetary transactions.

Definitions

.03 The meanings of certain terms used in this section are:

¹See paragraph .03 of this section for definitions of these terms.

- a. Monetary assets and liabilities are assets and liabilities whose amounts are fixed in terms of units of currency by contract or otherwise. Examples are cash, short- or long-term accounts and notes receivable in cash, and short- or long-term accounts and notes payable in cash.²
- b. Nonmonetary assets and liabilities are assets and liabilities other than monetary ones. Examples are inventories; investments in common stocks; property, plant and equipment; and liabilities for rent collected in advance.²
- c. Exchange (or exchange transaction) is a reciprocal transfer between an enterprise and another entity that results in the enterprise's acquiring assets or services or satisfying liabilities by surrendering other assets or services or incurring other obligations.³
- d. Nonreciprocal transfer³ is a transfer of assets or services in one direction, either from an enterprise to its owners (whether or not in exchange for their ownership interests) or another entity or from owners or another entity to the enterprise. An entity's reacquisition of its outstanding stock is an example of a nonreciprocal transfer.
- e. Productive assets are assets held for or used in the production of goods or services by the enterprise. Productive assets include an investment in another entity if the investment is accounted for by the equity method but exclude an investment not accounted for by that method. Similar productive assets are productive assets that are of the same general type, that perform the same function or that are employed in the same line of business.

Applicability

.04 This section does not apply to the following transactions:

² Section 1071.17-.19, Financial Statements Restated for General Price-Level Changes, and section 1071B, contains a more complete explanation of monetary and nonmonetary items.

 ^a Section 1027.06-.09, Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles Underlying Financial Statements of Business Enterprises, contains a more complete explanation of exchanges and nonreciprocal transfers.

- a. A business combination accounted for by an enterprise according to the provisions of section 1091, *Business Combinations*,
- b. A transfer of nonmonetary assets solely between companies or persons under common control, such as between a parent company and its subsidiaries or between two subsidiary corporations of the same parent, or between a corporate joint venture and its owners,
- c. Acquisition of nonmonetary assets or services on issuance of the capital stock of an enterprise,⁴ and
- d. Stock issued or received in stock dividends and stock splits which are accounted for in accordance with section 5561.

This section applies to regulated companies in accordance with section 6011, Accounting Principles for Regulated Industries. and it amends section 1027, Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles Underlying Financial Statements of Business Enterprises, to the extent it relates to measuring transfers of certain nonmonetary assets. Some exchanges of nonmonetary assets involve a small monetary consideration, referred to as "boot," even though the exchange is essentially nonmonetary. This section also applies to those transactions. For purposes of applying this section, events and transactions in which nonmonetary assets are involuntarily converted (for example, as a result of total or partial destruction, theft, seizure, or condemnation) to monetary assets that are then reinvested in other nonmonetary assets -are monetary transactions since the recipient is not obligated to reinvest the monetary consideration in other nonmonetary assets.

DISCUSSION

Present Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions

.05 Nonreciprocal Transfers with Owners. Some nonmonetary transactions are nonreciprocal transfers between an enterprise and its owners. Examples include (a) distribution of nonmonetary assets, such as marketable equity

⁴The Board has deferred consideration of accounting for those transactions pending completion and consideration of Accounting Research Studies on intercorporate investments and stockholders' equity except to the extent they are covered in section 4062, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.

securities, to stockholders as dividends. (b) distribution of nonmonetary assets, such as marketable equity securities, to stockholders to redeem or acquire outstanding capital stock of the enterprise, (c) distribution of nonmonetary assets, such as capital stock of subsidiaries, to stockholders in corporate liquidations or plans of reorganization that involve disposing of all or a significant segment of the business (the plans are variously referred to as spin-offs, split-ups, and split-offs), and (d) distribution of nonmonetary assets to groups of stockholders. pursuant to plans of rescission or other settlements relating to a prior business combination, to redeem or acquire shares of capital stock previously issued in a business combination. Accounting for decreases in owners' equity that result from nonreciprocal nonmonetary transactions with owners has usually been based on the recorded amount of the nonmonetary assets distributed.

.06 Nonreciprocal Transfers with Other Than Owners. Other nonmonetary transactions are nonreciprocal transfers between an enterprise and entities other than its owners. Examples are the contribution of nonmonetary assets by an enterprise to a charitable organization and the contribution of land by a governmental unit for construction of productive facilities by an enterprise. Accounting for nonmonetary assets received in a nonreciprocal transfer from an entity other than an owner has usually been based on fair value of the assets received while accounting for nonmonetary assets transferred to another entity has usually been based on the recorded amount of the assets relinquished.

.07 Nonmonetary Exchanges. Many nonmonetary transactions are exchanges of nonmonetary assets or services with another entity. Examples include (a) exchange of product held for sale in the ordinary course of business (inventory) for dissimilar property as a means of selling the product to a customer, (b) exchange of product held for sale in the ordinary course of business (inventory) for similar product as an accommodation—that is, at least one party to the exchange reduces transportation costs, meets immediate inventory needs, or otherwise reduces costs or facilitates ultimate sale of the product—and not as a means of selling the product to a customer, and (c) exchange of

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

productive assets—assets employed in production rather than held for sale in the ordinary course of business—for similar productive assets or for an equivalent interest in similar productive assets. Examples of exchanges in category (c) include the trade of player contracts by professional sports organizations, exchange of leases on mineral properties, exchange of one form of interest in an oil producing property for another form of interest, exchange of real estate for real estate. Accounting for nonmonetary assets acquired in a nonmonetary exchange has sometimes been based on the fair value of the assets relinquished and sometimes on the recorded amount of the assets relinquished.

Differing Views

.08 Views of accountants differ as to appropriate accounting for all of the types of nonmonetary transactions described in paragraphs .05 to .07.

.09 Nonreciprocal Transfers of Nonmonetary Assets to Owners. Some believe that accounting for nonreciprocal transfers of nonmonetary assets to owners should be based on the carrying amount of the nonmonetary assets transferred because only that method is consistent with the historical cost basis of accounting.

.10 Others believe that accounting for transfers of nonmonetary assets to reduce certain owners' interests other than through a reorganization, liquidation, or rescission of a prior business combination should be based on the fair value of the nonmonetary assets distributed or the fair value of the stock representing the owners' equity eliminated, whichever is more clearly evident. In their view, disposing of the value represented by a nonmonetary asset is a significant economic event, and the unrecorded increase or decrease that has resulted in the value of the nonmonetary asset since its acquisition should be recognized.

.11 Many who agree with accounting based on fair value for a nonreciprocal transfer of a nonmonetary asset that reduces certain owners' interests also believe that distributing a nonmonetary asset as an ordinary dividend (but not distributing a nonmonetary asset as a liquidating dividend or in a spin-off, reorganization or similar distributions) may be regarded as equivalent to an exchange with owners and therefore recorded at the fair value of the nonmonetary asset distributed, particularly if the dividend is distributable as either cash or the nonmonetary asset at the election of the owner. They believe that failure to recognize the fair value of nonmonetary assets transferred may both misstate the dividend and fail to recognize gains and losses on nonmonetary assets that have already been earned or incurred by the enterprise and should be recognized on distributing the assets for dividend purposes.

.12 Others generally agree with the view that nonreciprocal transfers of nonmonetary assets to certain owners should be accounted for at fair value but believe that dividends and other prorata distributions to owners are essentially similar to liquidating dividends or distributions in spin-offs and reorganizations and should be accounted for at the recorded amount of the asset transferred.

.13 Nonreciprocal Receipts of Nonmonetary Assets. Many believe that a nonmonetary asset received in a nonreciprocal transfer from other than owners should be recorded at fair value because fair value is the only value revelant to the recipient enterprise. Others believe that such nonmonetary assets should be recorded at a nominal value since fair value cannot be reasonably determined in view of performance obligations usually agreed to by the recipient as a consideration for the transfer.

.14 Nonreciprocal Transfers of Nonmonetary Assets to Other Than Owners. Some believe that accounting for a nonreciprocal transfer of a nonmonetary asset to an entity other than an owner should be based on the carrying amount of the asset transferred because only that method is consistent with the historical cost basis of accounting. Others believe that failure to recognize the fair value of a nonmonetary asset transferred may both understate (or overstate) expenses incurred and fail to recognize gains or losses on nonmonetary assets that have already been earned or incurred by the enterprise and should be recognized when the transfer of the asset is recognized as an expense.

.15 Exchange Transactions. Some believe that accounting for an exchange of nonmonetary assets between an enterprise and another entity (an enterprise or indi-

AC § 1041.12

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

vidual acting in a capacity other than a stockholder of the enterprise) should be based on the fair values of the assets involved, while others believe that accounting for the exchange should be based on the carrying amount of the asset transferred from the enterprise. Those who advocate the former view believe it to be the only method consistent with the accounting principle that an asset acquired should be recorded at its cost as measured by the fair value of the asset relinquished to acquire it. Those advocating the latter view believe that revenue should be recognized only if an exchange involves monetary assets; therefore recognizing fair value is inappropriate unless a monetary asset is received in an exchange.

.16 Many accountants who accept the concept that accounting for an exchange of nonmonetary assets should be based on fair value believe that problems of measurement and questions about the conditions for recognizing revenue require modification of the concept in two types of exchanges. They therefore conclude that:

- a. Fair values should not be recognized if an enterprise exchanges product or property held for sale in the ordinary course of business for product or property to be sold in the same line of business. The emphasis in that exchange, in their view, is on developing economical ways to acquire inventory for resale to customers rather than on marketing inventory to obtain revenue from customers. Therefore, "swapping" inventories between enterprises that are essentially competitors and not customers of each other is merely an incidental early stage of an earning process, and revenue should not be recognized until the time of sale of the exchanged products (in the same or another form) to a customer of the enterprise.
- b. Fair value should not be recognized if an enterprise exchanges a productive asset for a similar productive asset or an equivalent interest in the same or similar productive asset. Therefore, revenue should not be recognized merely because one productive asset is substituted for a similar productive asset but rather should be considered to flow from the

production and sale of the goods or services to which the substituted productive asset is committed.

.17 Fair Value Not Determinable. General agreement exists that a nonmonetary transaction, regardless of form, should not be recorded at fair value if fair value is not determinable within reasonable limits. Major uncertainties concerning realizability of the fair value proposed to be assigned to a nonmonetary asset received in a nonmonetary transaction are indicative of an inability to determine fair value within reasonable limits. Some believe that only an exchange transaction between parties with essentially opposing interests provides an independent test of fair value to be used in measuring the transaction; therefore fair value is determinable within reasonable limits only in a negotiated exchange transaction. Others believe that fair value in a nonreciprocal transfer is also often determinable within reasonable limits and should be recognized in certain types of transactions.

OPINION

Basic Principle

.18 The Board concludes that in general accounting for nonmonetary transactions should be based on the fair values⁵ of the assets (or services) involved which is the same basis as that used in monetary transactions. Thus, the cost of a nonmonetary asset acquired in exchange for another nonmonetary asset is the fair value of the asset surrendered to obtain it, and a gain or loss should be recognized on the exchange. The fair value of the asset received should be used to measure the cost if it is more clearly evident than the fair value of the asset surrendered. Similarly, a nonmonetary asset received in a nonreciprocal transfer should be recorded at the fair value of the asset received. A transfer of a nonmonetary asset to a stockholder or to another entity in a nonreciprocal transfer should be recorded at the fair value of the asset transferred. and a gain or loss should be recognized on the disposition of the asset. The fair value of an entity's own stock reacquired may be a more clearly evident measure of the fair value of the asset distributed in a nonreciprocal transfer if the transaction involves distribution of a nonmonetary asset

⁸ See paragraph .25 for determination of fair value.

to eliminate a disproportionate part of owners' interests (that is, to acquire stock for the treasury or for retirement).

.19 The Board believes that certain modifications of the basic principle are required to accommodate problems of measurement and questions about the conditions for recognizing revenue. These modifications are specified in paragraphs .20 to .23.

Modifications of the Basic Principle

.20 Fair Value Not Determinable. Accounting for a nonmonetary transaction should not be based on the fair values of the assets transferred unless those fair values are determinable within reasonable limits (paragraph .25).

.21 Exchanges. If the exchange is not essentially the culmination of an earning process, accounting for an exchange of a nonmonetary asset between an enterprise and another entity should be based on the recorded amount (after reduction, if appropriate, for an indicated impairment of value) of the nonmonetary asset relinquished. The Board believes that the following two types of nonmonetary exchange transactions do not culminate an earning process:

- a. An exchange of a product or property held for sale in the ordinary course of business for a product or property to be sold in the same line of business to facilitate sales to customers other than the parties to the exchange, and
- b. An exchange of a productive asset not held for sale in the ordinary course of business for a similar productive asset or an equivalent interest in the same or similar productive asset (similar productive asset is defined in paragraph .03 and examples are given in paragraph .07).⁶

.22 The exchanges of nonmonetary assets that would otherwise be based on recorded amounts (paragraph .21) may include an amount of monetary consideration. The Board believes that the recipient of the monetary consideration has realized gain on the exchange to the extent that the amount of the monetary receipt exceeds a proportionate

⁶ The fact that an exchange of productive assets is not a taxable transaction for tax purposes may be evidence that the assets exchanged are similar for purposes of applying this section.

share of the recorded amount of the asset surrendered. The portion of the cost applicable to the realized amount should be based on the ratio of the monetary consideration to the total consideration received (monetary consideration plus the estimated fair value of the nonmonetary asset received) or, if more clearly evident, the fair value of the nonmonetary asset transferred. The Board further believes that the entity paying the monetary consideration should not recognize any gain on a transaction covered in paragraph .21 but should record the asset received at the amount of the monetary consideration paid plus the recorded amount of the nonmonetary asset surrendered. If a loss is indicated by the terms of a transaction described in this paragraph or in paragraph .21, the entire indicated loss on the exchange should be recognized.

Nonreciprocal Transfers to Owners. Accounting .23 for the distribution of nonmonetary assets to owners of an enterprise in a spin-off or other form of reorganization or liquidation or in a plan that is in substance the rescission of a prior business combination should be based on the recorded amount (after reduction, if appropriate, for an indicated impairment of value) of the nonmonetary assets distributed. A prorata distribution to owners of an enterprise of shares of a subsidiary or other investee company that has been or is being consolidated or that has been or is being accounted for under the equity method is to be considered to be equivalent to a spin-off. Other nonreciprocal transfers of nonmonetary assets to owners should be accounted for at fair value if the fair value of the nonmonetary asset distributed is objectively measurable and would be clearly realizable to the distributing entity in an outright sale at or near the time of the distribution.

Applying the Basic Principle

.24 The Board's conclusions modify to some extent existing practices as described in paragraphs .05 to .07. The conclusions are based on supporting reasons given in paragraphs .08 to .17.

.25 Fair value of a nonmonetary asset transferred to or from an enterprise in a nonmonetary transaction should be determined by referring to estimated realizable values in cash transactions of the same or similar assets, quoted market prices, independent appraisals, estimated fair values of assets or services received in exchange, and other available evidence. If one of the parties in a nonmonetary transaction could have elected to receive cash instead of the nonmonetary asset, the amount of cash that could have been received may be evidence of the fair value of the nonmonetary assets exchanged.

.26 Fair value should be regarded as not determinable within reasonable limits if major uncertainties exist about the realizability of the value that would be assigned to an asset received in a nonmonetary transaction accounted for at fair value. An exchange involving parties with essentially opposing interests is not considered a prerequisite to determining a fair value of a nonmonetary asset transferred; nor does an exchange insure that a fair value for accounting purposes can be ascertained within reasonable limits. If neither the fair value of a nonmonetary asset transferred nor the fair value of a nonmonetary asset received in exchange is determinable within reasonable limits, the recorded amount of the nonmonetary asset transferred from the enterprise may be the only available measure of the transaction.

.27 A difference between the amount of gain or loss recognized for tax purposes and that recognized for accounting purposes may constitute a timing difference to be accounted for according to section 4091, *Income Taxes*.

Disclosure

.28 An enterprise that engages in one or more nonmonetary transactions during a period should disclose in financial statements for the period the nature of the transactions, the basis of accounting for the assets transferred, and gains or losses recognized on transfers.⁷

EFFECTIVE DATE

.29 This section shall be effective for transactions entered into after September 30, 1973. Transactions recorded previously for a fiscal year ending before October 1, 1973 should not be adjusted. However, transactions re-

⁷ Section 2051.11, Consolidated Financial Statements, includes additional disclosures that are preferred if a parent company disposes of a subsidiary during the year.

corded previously for a fiscal year that includes October 1, 1973 may be adjusted to comply with the provisions of this section.

 \implies The next page is 7431. $\leftarrow \implies$

AC § 1041.29 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

AC Section 1051 Accounting Changes [Source: APB Opinion No. 20, as amended.]

Effective for fiscal years beginning after July 31, 1971, unless otherwise indicated

INTRODUCTION

.01 A change in accounting by a reporting entity may significantly affect the presentation of both financial position and results of operations for an accounting period and the trends shown in comparative financial statements and historical summaries. The change should therefore be reported in a manner which will facilitate analysis and understanding of the financial statements.

Scope of Section

.02 This section defines various types of accounting changes and establishes guides for determining the manner of reporting each type. It also covers reporting a correction of an error in previously issued financial statements.

.03 This section applies to financial statements which purport to present financial position, changes in financial position, and results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The guides in this section also may be appropriate in presenting financial information in other forms or for special purposes. Companies in regulated industries may apply generally accepted accounting principles differently from nonregulated companies because of the effect of the rate-making process. This section should therefore be applied to regulated companies in accordance with the provisions of section 6011.

.04 This section does not change the policy of the Board that its Opinions, unless otherwise stated, are not intended to be retroactive. Each published section specifies its effective date and the manner of reporting a change to conform with the conclusions of each section. An industry audit guide prepared by a committee of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants may also prescribe the manner of reporting a change in accounting principle.¹ Accordingly, the provisions of this section do not apply to changes made in conformity with such pronouncements issued in the past or in the future.

¹See AC section 6000 Appendix for a list of AICPA Industry Audit/ Accounting Guides.

.05 This section reaffirms the provisions of previous Board Opinions that prescribe the manner of reporting a change in accounting principle, an accounting estimate, or reporting entity except for the following sections: ²

- a. Section 2041.03, Comparative Financial Statements, has been amended to insert a cross reference to this section. This section identifies numerous accounting changes and specifies the manner of reporting each change.
- b. Section 2010.19, Reporting the Results of Operations, has been superseded, and section 2011.13, Earnings per Share, amended by APB Opinion No. 30. This section specifies an additional element in the presentation of the income statement. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.)
- c. Section 2010.24 has been superseded. Although the conclusion of that paragraph is not modified, this section deals more completely with accounting changes.

TYPES OF ACCOUNTING CHANGES

.06 The term accounting change in this section means a change in (a) an accounting principle, (b) an accounting estimate, or (c) the reporting entity (which is a special type of change in accounting principle classified separately for purposes of this section). The correction of an error in previously issued financial statements is not deemed to be an accounting change.

Change in Accounting Principle

.07 A change in accounting principle results from adoption of a generally accepted accounting principle different from the one used previously for reporting purposes. The term *accounting principle* includes "not only accounting principles and practices but also the methods of applying them."³

.08 A characteristic of a change in accounting principle is that it concerns a choice from among two or more generally accepted accounting principles. However, neither

² Sections 1021-1029, Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles Underlying Financial Statements of Business Enterprises, have been amended to the extent that they relate to reporting accounting changes.

³AU section 410.02 (volume 1, AICPA PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS).

(a) initial adoption of an accounting principle in recognition of events or transactions occurring for the first time or that previously were immaterial in their effect nor (b) adoption or modification of an accounting principle necessitated by transactions or events that are clearly different in substance from those previously occurring is a change in accounting principle.

.09 Changes in accounting principle are numerous and varied. They include, for example, a change in the method of inventory pricing, such as from the last in, first out (LIFO) method to the first in, first out (FIFO) method; a change in depreciation method for previously recorded assets, such as from the double declining balance method to the straight line method; ⁴ a change in the method of accounting for long-term construction-type contracts, such as from the completed contract method to the percentage of completion method; and a change from recording costs as expense when incurred to deferring and amortizing them. (Paragraph .11 covers a change in accounting principle to effect a change in estimate.) [As modified, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 1975, pursuant to FASB Statement No. 2.] (See section 4211.)

Change in Accounting Estimate

.10 Changes in estimates used in accounting are necessary consequences of periodic presentations of financial statements. Preparing financial statements requires estimating the effects of future events. Examples of items for which estimates are necessary are uncollectible receivables, inventory obsolescence, service lives and salvage values of depreciable assets, warranty costs, periods benefited by a deferred cost, and recoverable mineral reserves. Future events and their effects cannot be perceived with certainty; estimating, therefore, requires the exercise of judgment. Thus accounting estimates change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, or as additional information is obtained.

.11 Change in estimate effected by a change in accounting principle. Distinguishing between a change in an accounting principle and a change in an accounting estimate

⁴A change to the straight line method at a specific point in the service life of an asset may be planned at the time the accelerated depreciation method is adopted to fully depreciate the cost over the estimated life of the asset. Consistent application of such a policy does not constitute a change in accounting principle for purposes of applying this section. (Section 2043.02d covers disclosure of methods of depreciation.)

is sometimes difficult. For example, a company may change from deferring and amortizing a cost to recording it as an expense when incurred because future benefits of the cost have become doubtful. The new accounting method is adopted, therefore, in partial or complete recognition of the change in estimated future benefits. The effect of the change in accounting principle is inseparable from the effect of the change in accounting estimate. Changes of this type are often related to the continuing process of obtaining additional information and revising estimates and are therefore considered as changes in estimates for purposes of applying this section.

Change in the Reporting Entity

.12 One special type of change in accounting principle results in financial statements which, in effect, are those of a different reporting entity. This type is limited mainly to (a) presenting consolidated or combined statements in place of statements of individual companies, (b) changing specific subsidiaries comprising the group of companies for which consolidated financial statements are presented, and (c) changing the companies included in combined financial statements. A different group of companies comprise the reporting entity after each change. A business combination accounted for by the pooling of interests method also results in a different reporting entity.

Correction of an Error in Previously Issued Financial Statements

.13 Reporting a correction of an error in previously issued financial statements concerns factors similar to those relating to reporting an accounting change and is therefore discussed in this section.⁵ Errors in financial statements result from mathematical mistakes, mistakes in the application of accounting principles, or oversight or misuse of facts that existed at the time the financial statements were prepared. In contrast, a change in accounting estimate results from new information or subsequent developments and accordingly from better insight or improved judgment. Thus, an error is distinguishable from a change in estimate. A change from an accounting principle that is not generally accepted to one that is generally accepted is a correction of an error for purposes of applying this section.

⁵ AU section 561, Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the Date of the Auditor's Report, discusses other aspects of errors in previously issued financial statements.

VIEWS ON REPORTING CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

.14 An essential question in reporting a change in accounting principle is whether to restate the financial statements currently presented for prior periods to show the new accounting principle applied retroactively. A summary of differing views bearing on that question is:

- a. Accounting principles should be applied consistently for all periods presented in comparative financial statements. Using different accounting principles for similar items in financial statements presented for various periods may result in misinterpretations of earnings trends and other analytical data that are based on comparisons. The same accounting principle therefore should be used in presenting financial statements of current and past periods. Accordingly, financial statements presented for prior periods in current reports should be restated if a reporting entity changes an accounting principle.
- b. Restating financial statements of prior periods may dilute public confidence in financial statements and may confuse those who use them. Financial statements previously prepared on the basis of accounting principles generally accepted at the time the statements were issued should therefore be considered final except for changes in the reporting entity or corrections of errors.
- c. Restating financial statements of prior periods for some types of changes requires considerable effort and is sometimes impossible. For example, adequate information may not be available to restate financial statements of prior periods if the method of recording revenue from long-term contracts is changed from the completed contract method to the percentage of completion method.
- d. Restating financial statements of prior periods for some changes requires assumptions that may furnish results different from what they would have been had the newly adopted principle been used in prior periods. For example, if the method of pricing inventory is changed from the FIFO method to the

LIFO method, it may be assumed that the ending inventory of the immediately preceding period is also the beginning inventory of the current period for the LIFO method. The retroactive effects under that assumption may be different from the effects of assuming that the LIFO method was adopted at an earlier date.

OPINION

Justification for a Change in Accounting Principle

.15 The Board concludes that in the preparation of financial statements there is a presumption that an accounting principle once adopted should not be changed in accounting for events and transactions of a similar type. Consistent use of accounting principles from one accounting period to another enhances the utility of financial statements to users by facilitating analysis and understanding of comparative accounting data.

The presumption that an entity should not change .16 an accounting principle may be overcome only if the enterprise justifies the use of an alternative acceptable accounting principle on the basis that it is preferable. However, a method of accounting that was previously adopted for a type of transaction or event which is being terminated or which was a single, nonrecurring event in the past should not be changed. For example, the method of accounting should not be changed for a tax or tax credit which is being discontinued or for preoperating costs relating to a specific plant. The Board does not intend to imply, however, that a change in the estimated period to be benefited for a deferred cost (if justified by the facts) should not be recognized as a change in accounting estimate. The issuance of an Opinion of the Accounting Principles Board that creates a new accounting principle, that expresses a preference for an accounting principle, or that rejects a specific accounting principle is sufficient support for a change in accounting principle. The burden of justifying other changes rests with the entity proposing the change.⁶

AC § 1051.15

[•]The issuance of an industry audit guide by a committee of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants also constitutes sufficient support for a change in accounting principle (paragraph .04).

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

General Disclosure—A Change in Accounting Principle

.17 The nature of and justification for a change in accounting principle and its effect on income should be disclosed in the financial statements of the period in which the change is made. The justification for the change should explain clearly why the newly adopted accounting principle is preferable.

Reporting A Change in Accounting Principle

.18 The Board believes that, although they conflict, both (a) the potential dilution of public confidence in financial statements resulting from restating financial statements of prior periods and (b) consistent application of accounting principles in comparative statements are important factors in reporting a change in accounting principles. The Board concludes that most changes in accounting should be recognized by including the cumulative effect, based on a retroactive computation, of changing to a new accounting principle in net income of the period of the change (paragraphs .19 to .26) but that a few specific changes in accounting principles should be reported by restating the financial statements of prior periods (paragraphs .27 to .30 and .34 to .35).

.19 For all changes in accounting principle except those described in paragraphs .27 to .30 and .34 to .35, the Board therefore concludes that:

- a. Financial statements for prior periods included for comparative purposes should be presented as previously reported.
- b. The cumulative effect of changing to a new accounting principle on the amount of retained earnings at the beginning of the period in which the change is made should be included in net income of the period of the change (paragraph .20).
- c. The effect of adopting the new accounting principle on income before extraordinary items and on net income (and on the related per share amounts) of the period of the change should be disclosed.
- d. Income before extraordinary items and net income computed on a pro forma basis ⁷ should be shown

^{&#}x27;The pro forma amounts include both (a) the direct effects of a change

on the face of the income statements for all periods presented as if the newly adopted accounting principle had been applied during all periods affected (paragraph .21).

Thus, income before extraordinary items and net income (exclusive of the cumulative adjustment) for the period of the change should be reported on the basis of the newly adopted accounting principle. The conclusions in this paragraph are modified for various special situations which are described in paragraphs .23 to .30.

.20 Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. The amount shown in the income statement for the cumulative effect of changing to a new accounting principle is the difference between (a) the amount of retained earnings at the beginning of the period of a change and (b) the amount of retained earnings that would have been reported at that date if the new accounting principle had been applied retroactively for all prior periods which would have been affected and by recognizing only the direct effects of the change and related income tax effect.⁸ The amount of the cumulative effect should be shown in the income statement between the captions "extraordinary items" and "net income." The cumulative effect is not an extraordinary item but should be reported in a manner similar to an extraordinary item. The per share information shown on the face of the income statement should include the per share amount of the cumulative effect of the accounting change.

.21 Pro forma effects of retroactive application. Pro forma effects of retroactive application (paragraph .19-d including footnote 7) should be shown on the face of the income statement for income before extraordinary items and net income. The earnings per share amounts (primary and fully diluted, as appropriate under section 2011, Earnings per Share) for income before extraordinary items and

7438

AC § 1051.20

and (b) nondiscretionary adjustments in items based on income before taxes and (b) nondiscretionary adjustments in items based on income before taxes or net income, such as profit sharing expense and certain royalties, that would have been recognized if the newly adopted accounting principle had been followed in prior periods: related income tax effects should be recog-nized for both (a) and (b). Direct effects are limited to those adjustments that would have been recorded to restate the financial statements of prior periods to apply retroactively the change. The nondiscretionary adjust-ments described in (b) should not therefore be recognized in computing the adjustment for the cumulative effect of the change described in para-graph .20 unless nondiscretionary adjustments of the prior periods are actually recorded actually recorded. * See footnote 7.

Accounting Changes

net income computed on a pro forma basis should be shown on the face of the income statement. If space does not permit, such per share amounts may be disclosed prominently in a separate schedule or in tabular form in the notes to the financial statements with appropriate cross reference; when this is done the actual per share amounts should be repeated for comparative purposes. Pro forma amounts should be shown in both current and future reports for all periods presented which are prior to the change and which would have been affected. Section 1051A illustrates the manner of reporting a change in accounting principle. If an income statement is presented for the current period only, the actual and the pro forma amounts (and related per share data) for the immediately preceding period should be disclosed.

.22 The principal steps in computing and reporting the cumulative effect and the pro forma amounts of a change in accounting principle may be illustrated by a change in depreciation method for previously recorded assets as follows:

- a. The class or classes of depreciable assets to which the change applies should be identified. (A "class of assets" relates to general physical characteristics.)
- b. The amount of accumulated depreciation on recorded assets at the beginning of the period of the change should be recomputed on the basis of applying retroactively the new depreciation method. Accumulated depreciation should be adjusted for the difference between the recomputed amount and the recorded amount. Deferred taxes should be adjusted for the related income tax effects.
- c. The cumulative effect on the amount of retained earnings at the beginning of the period of the change resulting from the adjustments referred to in (b) above should be shown in the income statement of the period of the change.
- d. The pro forma amounts should give effect to the pro forma provisions for depreciation of each prior period presented and to the pro forma adjustments of nondiscretionary items,⁹ computed on the assumption of retroactive application of the newly adopted method

^{*} See footnote 7.

to all prior periods and adjusted for the related income tax effects.

.23 Change in method of amortization and related disclosure. Accounting for the costs of long-lived assets requires adopting a systematic pattern of charging those costs to expense. These patterns are referred to as depreciation, depletion, or amortization methods (all of which are referred to in this section as methods of amortization). Various patterns of charging costs to expenses are acceptable for depreciable assets; fewer patterns are acceptable for other long-lived assets.

.24 Various factors are considered in selecting an amortization method for identifiable assets, and those factors may change, even for similar assets. For example, a company may adopt a new method of amortization for newly acquired, identifiable, long-lived assets and use that method for all additional new assets of the same class but continue to use the previous method for existing balances of previously recorded assets of that class. For that type of change in accounting principle, there is no adjustment of the type outlined in paragraphs .19-.22, but a description of the nature of the change in method and its effect on income before extraordinary items and net income of the period of the change, together with the related per share amounts, should be disclosed. If the new method of amortization is however applied to previously recorded assets of that class, the change in accounting principle requires an adjustment for the cumulative effect of the change and the provisions of paragraphs .15 to .22 should be applied.

.25 Pro forma amounts not determinable. In rare situations the pro forma amounts described in paragraph .21 cannot be computed or reasonably estimated for individual prior periods, although the cumulative effect on retained earnings at the beginning of the period of change can be determined. The cumulative effect should then be reported in the income statement of the period of change in the manner described in paragraph .20. The reason for not showing the pro forma amounts by periods should be explained because disclosing those amounts is otherwise required and is expected by users of financial statements.

.26 Cumulative effect not determinable. Computing the effect on retained earnings at the beginning of the period AC § 1051.23 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Accounting Changes

in which a change in accounting principle is made may sometimes be impossible. In those rare situations, disclosure will be limited to showing the effect of the change on the results of operations of the period of change (including per share data) and to explaining the reason for omitting accounting for the cumulative effect and disclosure of pro forma amounts for prior years. The principal example of this type of accounting change is a change in inventory pricing method from FIFO to LIFO for which the difficulties in computing the effects of that change are described in paragraph .14-d.

.27 Special changes in accounting principle reported by applying retroactively the new method in restatements of prior periods. Certain changes in accounting principle are such that the advantages of retroactive treatment in prior period reports outweigh the disadvantages. Accordingly, for those few changes, the Board concludes that the financial statements of all prior periods presented should be restated. The changes that should be accorded this treatment are: (a) a change from the LIFO method of inventory pricing to another method, (b) a change in the method of accounting for long-term construction-type contracts, and (c) a change to or from the "full cost" method of accounting which is used in the extractive industries.

.28 The nature of and justification for a change in accounting principle described in paragraph .27 should be disclosed in the financial statements for the period the change was adopted. In addition, the effect of the change on income before extraordinary items, net income, and the related per share amounts should be disclosed for all periods presented. This disclosure may be on the face of the income statement or in the notes. Section 1051B illustrates the manner of reporting a change in accounting principle retroactively by restating the statements of those prior periods affected. Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat the disclosures.

.29 Special exemption for an initial public distribution. The Board concludes that in one specific situation the application of the foregoing provisions of this section may result in financial statement presentations of results of operations that are not of maximum usefulness to intended users. For example, a company owned by a few individuals may decide

to change from one acceptable accounting principle to another acceptable principle in connection with a forthcoming public offering of shares of its equity securities. The potential investors may be better served by statements of income for a period of years reflecting the use of the newly adopted accounting principles because they will be the same as those expected to be used in future periods. In recognition of this situation, the Board concludes that financial statements for all prior periods presented may be restated retroactively when a company first issues its financial statements for any one of the following purposes: (a) obtaining additional equity capital from investors, (b) effecting a business combination, or (c) registering securities. This exemption is available only once for changes made at the time a company's financial statements are first used for any of those purposes and is not available to companies whose securities currently are widely held.

.30 The company should disclose in financial statements issued under the circumstances described in paragraph .29 the nature of the change in accounting principle and the justification for it (paragraph .17).

Reporting a Change in Accounting Estimate

.31 The Board concludes that the effect of a change in accounting estimate should be accounted for in (a) the period of change if the change affects that period only or (b) the period of change and future periods if the change affects both. A change in an estimate should not be accounted for by restating amounts reported in financial statements of prior periods or by reporting pro forma amounts for prior periods.¹⁰

.32 A change in accounting estimate that is recognized in whole or in part by a change in accounting principle should be reported as a change in an estimate because the cumulative effect attributable to the change in accounting principle cannot be separated from the current or future effects of the change in estimate (paragraph .11). Although

¹⁰ Financial statements of a prior period should not be restated for a change in estimate resulting from later resolution of an uncertainty which may have caused the auditor to qualify his opinion on previous financial statements unless the change meets all the conditions for a prior period adjustment (section 2010.22).

Accounting Changes

that type of accounting change is somewhat similar to a change in method of amortization (paragraphs .23 and .24), the accounting effect of a change in a method of amortization can be separated from the effect of a change in the estimate of periods of benefit or service and residual values of assets. A change in method of amortization for previously recorded assets therefore should be treated as a change in accounting principle, whereas a change in the estimated period of benefit or residual value should be treated as a change in accounting estimate.

.33 Disclosure. The effect on income before extraordinary items, net income and related per share amounts of the current period should be disclosed for a change in estimate that affects several future periods, such as a change in service lives of depreciable assets or actuarial assumptions affecting pension costs. Disclosure of the effect on those income statement amounts is not necessary for estimates made each period in the ordinary course of accounting for items such as uncollectible accounts or inventory obsolescence; however, disclosure is recommended if the effect of a change in the estimate is material.

Reporting a Change in the Entity

.34 The Board concludes that accounting changes which result in financial statements that are in effect the statements of a different reporting entity (paragraph .12) should be reported by restating the financial statements of all prior periods presented in order to show financial information for the new reporting entity for all periods.

.35 Disclosure. The financial statements of the period of a change in the reporting entity should describe the nature of the change and the reason for it. In addition, the effect of the change on income before extraordinary items, net income, and related per share amounts should be disclosed for all periods presented. Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat the disclosures. (Sections 1091.56-.65 and 1091.93-.96, Business Combinations, describe the manner of reporting and the disclosures required for a change in reporting entity that occurs because of a business combination.)

Reporting a Correction of an Error in Previously Issued Financial Statements

.36 The Board concludes that correction of an error in the financial statements of a prior period discovered subsequent to their issuance (paragraph .13) should be reported as a prior period adjustment. (Section 2010.17 covers the manner of reporting prior period adjustments.)

.37 Disclosure. The nature of an error in previously issued financial statements and the effect of its correction on income before extraordinary items, net income, and the related per share amounts should be disclosed in the period in which the error was discovered and corrected. Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat the disclosures.

Materiality

The Board concludes that a number of factors are .38 relevant to the materiality of (a) accounting changes contemplated in this section and (b) corrections of errors, in determining both the accounting treatment of these items and the necessity for disclosure. Materiality should be considered in relation to both the effects of each change separately and the combined effect of all changes. If a change or correction has a material effect on income before extraordinary items or on net income of the current period before the effect of the change, the treatments and disclosures described in this section should be followed. Furthermore, if a change or correction has a material effect on the trend of earnings, the same treatments and disclosures are required. A change which does not have a material effect in the period of change but is reasonably certain to have a material effect in later periods should be disclosed whenever the financial statements of the period of change are presented

Historical Summaries of Financial Information

.39 Summaries of financial information for a number of periods are commonly included in financial reports. The summaries often show condensed income statements, including related earnings per share amounts, for five years or more. In many annual reports to stockholders, the financial highlights present similar information in capsule form. The Board concludes that all such information should be pre-

AC § 1051.36

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

pared in the same manner (including the presentation of pro forma amounts) as that prescribed in this section for primary financial statements (paragraphs .15 to .38) because the summaries include financial data based on the primary financial statements. In a summary of financial information that includes an accounting period in which a change in accounting principle was made, the amount of the cumulative effect of the change that was included in net income of the period of the change should be shown separately along with the net income and related per share amounts of that period and should not be disclosed only by a note or parenthetical notation.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.40 The provisions of this section are effective for fiscal years beginning after July 31, 1971. However, the Board encourages application of the provisions of this section in reporting any accounting changes included in fiscal years beginning before August 1, 1971 but not yet reported in financial statements issued for the year of the change.

 \longrightarrow The next page is 7451. \leftarrow

Accounting Changes—Appendix A

An Illustration of Reporting a Change in Accounting Principle (Pursuant to Sections 1051.19-.22)

.01 ABC Company decides in 1971 to adopt the straight line method of depreciation for plant equipment. The straight line method will be used for new acquisitions as well as for previously acquired plant equipment for which depreciation had been provided on an accelerated method.

.02 This illustration assumes that the direct effects are limited to the effect on depreciation and related income tax provisions and that the direct effect on inventories is not material. The pro forma amounts have been adjusted for the hypothetical effects of the change in the provisions for incentive compensation. The per share amounts are computed assuming that 1,000,000 shares of common stock are issued and outstanding, that 100,000 additional shares would be issued if all outstanding bonds (which are not common stock equivalents) are converted, and that the annual interest expense, less taxes, for the convertible bonds is \$25,000. Other data assumed for this illustration are—

Year	Excess of Accelerate Depreciation Over Straight Line Deprecia		Effects o Direct, Less Tax Effect	of Change Pro forma (Note A)
Prior to 1967		\$	10,000	\$ 9,000
1967			40,000	36,000
1968			35,000	31,500
1969	50,000		25,000	22,500
1970			15,000	13,500
Total at beginn	ing			
of 1971		\$]	125,000	\$112,500
		=		

.03 The manner of reporting the change in two-year comparative statements is—

-	1971	1970
Income before extraordinary item and cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle Extraordinary item (description) Cumulative effect on prior years (to December 31, 1970) of changing		\$1,100,000 100,000
to a different depreciation method (Note A)	125,000	
Net Income	\$1,290,000	\$1,200,000
Per share amounts— Earnings per common share— assuming no dilution: Income before extraordinary item and cumulative effect of a change in accounting		
principle	\$1.20	\$1.10
Extraordinary item Cumulative effect on prior years (to December 31, 1970) of changing to a dif-	(0.04)	0.10
ferent depreciation method	0.13	
Net income	\$1.29	\$1.20
Earnings per common share— assuming full dilution: Income before extraordinary item and cumulative effect of a change in accounting		
principle	•	\$1.02
Extraordinary item Cumulative effect on prior years (to December 31, 1970) of changing to a dif-	(0.03)	0.09
ferent depreciation method	0.11	•
Net income	\$1.19	\$1.11

,

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

	1971	1970
Pro forma amounts assuming the		
new depreciation method is ap-		
plied retroactively—		
Income before extraordinary		
item	\$1,200,000	\$1,113,500
Earnings per common share—		
assuming no dilution	\$1.20	\$1.11
Earnings per common share—	·	
assuming full dilution	\$1.11	\$1.04
Net income	\$1.165.000	\$1,213,500
Earnings per common share	• • • • •	• • •
assuming no dilution	\$1.17	\$1.21
Earnings per common share—	•	
assuming full dilution	\$1.0 8	\$1.13
(See accompanying note to the	e financial s	statements)

NOTE A:

Change in Depreciation Method for Plant Equipment

Depreciation of plant equipment has been computed by the straight line method in 1971. Depreciation of plant equipment in prior years, beginning in 1954, was computed by the sum of the years digits method. The new method of depreciation was adopted to recognize . . . (state justification for change of depreciation method) . . . and has been applied retroactively to equipment acquisitions of prior years. The effect of the change in 1971 was to increase income before extraordinary item by approximately \$10,000 (or one cent per share). The adjustment of \$125,000 (after reduction for income taxes of \$125,000) to apply retroactively the new method is included in income of 1971. The pro forma amounts shown on the income statement have been adjusted for the effect of retroactive application on depreciation, the change in provisions for incentive compensation which would have been made had the new method been in effect, and related income taxes.

7453

.04 The manner of reporting the change in five-year comparative statements is	r comparativ	e statement	s is—			
Income before extraordinary item and cumulative	1971	1970	1969	1968	1961	
effect of a change in accounting principle	\$1,200,000	1,200,000 $1,100,000$	\$1,300,000	\$1,000,000	\$800,000	
Extraordinary item	(35,000)	100,000		40,000	*****	
Cumulative effect on prior years (to December 31, 1970) of changing to a different depreciation method (Note A)	125,000					
Net income	\$1,290,000	\$1,200,000	\$1,300,000	\$1,040,000	\$800,000	
Earnings per common share—assuming no di- lution:						
Income before extraordinary item and cumu- lative effect of change in accounting prin- ciple	\$1.20	\$1.10	\$1.30	\$1.00	\$0.80	
Extraordinary item	(0.04)	0.10		0.04		
Cumulative effect on prior years (to December 31, 1970) of changing to a different depre- ciation method	0.13	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		******		
Net income	\$1.29	\$1.20	\$1.30	\$1.04	\$0.80	

E

AC § 1051A.04

Financial Accounting-General

		Accou	nting Char	nges-Appendi	ix A			//
	1967 \$0.75		\$0.75	\$836,000	\$0.84	\$0.78 \$836,000	\$0.84	\$0.78
	1968 \$0.93	0.04	\$0.97	\$1,031,500	\$1.03	\$0.96 \$1,071,500	\$1.07	\$1.00
	1969 		\$1.20	\$1,322,500	\$1.32	\$1.23 \$1,322,500	\$1.32	\$1.23
	1970 \$1.02	0.09	\$1.11	\$1,113,500	\$1.11	\$1.04 \$1,213,500	\$1.21	\$1.13
	<i>1971</i> 	(0.03)	\$1.19	\$1,200,000	\$1.20	\$1.11 \$1,165,000	\$1.17	\$1.08
Earnings per common share—assuming full di- lution:	Income before extraordinary item and cumu- lative effect of change in accounting prin- ciple	Extraordinary item	Net income	Pro forma amounts assuming the new depreciation method is applied retroactively: Income before extraordinary item Farnings per common shareassuming no	dilution Earnings per common share—assuming full	dilution Net income	Earnings per common share—assuming no dilution	Earnings per common share—assuming full dilution

 \implies The next page is 7461. $\leftarrow \iff$

AC § 1051A.04

7455

Accounting Changes-Appendix A

7

Accounting Changes — Appendix B

An Illustration of Reporting a Special Change in Accounting Principle By Restating Prior Period Financial Statements (Pursuant to Sections 1051.27 and 1051.28)

.01 XYZ Company decides in 1971 to adopt the percentage of completion method in accounting for all of its long-term construction contracts. The company had used in prior years the completed contract method and had maintained records which are adequate to apply retroactively the percentage of completion method. The change in accounting principle is to be reported in the manner described in sections 1051.27 and 1051.28.

.02 The direct effect of the change in accounting principle and other data assumed for this illustration are---

	Pre-tax Incon	me Reported by	Difference in Income				
Year	Percentage of Completion Method	Completed Contract Method	Direct	Less Tax Effect			
Prior to 1967	\$1,800,000	\$1,300,000	\$500,000	\$250,000			
1967	900,000	800,000	100,000	50,000			
1968		1,000,000	(300,000)	(150,000)			
1969	800,000	600,000	200,000	100,000			
1970 [.]	1,000,000	1,100,000	(100,000)	(50,000)			
Total at beg	in-						
ning of 19	71 5,200,000	4,800,000	400,000	200,000			
1971	1,100,000	900,000	200,000	100,000			
Total	\$6,300,000	\$5,700,000	\$600,000	\$300,000			

The per share amounts are computed assuming that 1,000,000 shares of common stock are issued and outstanding, that 100,000 additional shares would be issued if all outstanding bonds (which are not common stock equivalents) are converted, and that the annual interest expense, less taxes, for the convertible bonds is \$25,000.

.03 The manner of reporting the change in two-year comparative statements is—

Income Statement:		1 971	1970			
		<u></u>	as adjusted (Note A)			
Income before extraordinary item Extraordinary item (descrip- tion)	\$	550,000	\$	500,000 (80,000)		
Net Income	\$	550,000	\$	420,000		
Per share amounts: Earnings per common share —assuming no dilution: Income before extraordi- nary item Extraordinary item Net Income	.	\$0.55 		\$0.50 (.08) \$0.42		
Earnings per common share assuming full dilution: Income before extraordi- nary item Extraordinary item		\$0.52		\$0.47 (.07)		
Net Income		\$0. 52		\$0.40 		
Statement of Retained Earnings	;:	1971		1970		
				adjusted Vote A)		
Balance at beginning of year, as previously reported	\$17	7,800,000	\$1	17,330,000		

7462

AC § 1051B.03

z

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

	1971	1970
Add adjustment for the cu- mulative effect on prior years of applying retroac- tively the new method of accounting or long-term contracts (Note A)		250,000
Balance at beginning of year, as adjusted Net income	\$18,000,000 550,000	\$17,580,000 420,000
Balance at end of year	\$18,550,000	\$18,000,000

(See accompanying note to the financial statements)

NOTE A:

Change in Method of Accounting for Long-Term Contracts

The company has accounted for revenue and costs for long-term construction contracts by the percentage of completion method in 1971, whereas in all prior years revenue and costs were determined by the completed contract method. The new method of accounting for long-term contracts was adopted to recognize . . . (state justification for change in accounting principle) . . . and financial statements of prior years have been restated to apply the new method retroactively. For income tax purposes, the completed contract method has been continued. The effect of the accounting change on income of 1971 and on income as previously reported for 1970 is—

•	Increase (Decrease)
Effect on—	1971	1970
Income before extraordinary item and net income	\$100,000	\$(50,000)
Earnings per common share— assuming no dilution	\$0.10	(\$0.05)
Earnings per common share	\$0.09	(\$0.05)
The balances of retained earnings	for 1970 a	nd 1971 have

The balances of retained earnings for 1970 and 1971 have been adjusted for the effect (net of income taxes) of applying retroactively the new method of accounting.

change on	percentage • completed	gnize	act method or 1970 and			20,000	\$450,000		\$0.40	0.05	\$0.45	\$0.38	0.05	\$0.43
ie effect of the nanner:	ntracts by the srmined by the	opted to reco	npleted contra sly reported fo	0001 4200 000		(100,000)	\$350,000		\$0.50	(0.15)	\$0.35	\$0.47	(0.13)	\$0.34
uld disclose th the following n	onstruction co osts were dete	tracts was ad sial statements	poses, the con me as previous	4300 000		100,000	\$400,000		\$0.30	0.10	\$0.40	\$0.30	0.09	\$0.39
tements shou affected in t	long-term co evenue and c	ng-term con . and financ	me tax purl on net incor	0/6T		(000,06)	\$420,000		\$0.47	(0.05)	\$0.42	\$0.45	(0.05)	\$0.40
.04 A note to a five-year summary of financial statements should disclose the effect of the change on net income and related per share amounts for the periods affected in the following manner:	NOIE A: Change in Method of Accounting for Long-Term Contracts The company has accounted for revenue and costs for long-term construction contracts by the percentage of completion method in 1971, whereas in all prior years revenue and costs were determined by the completed	contract method. The new method of accounting for long-term contracts was adopted to recognize (state justification for change in accounting principle) and financial statements of prior years have been	* restated to apply the new method retroactively. For income tax purposes, the completed contract method	a Nat income as maxionsly renorted	Adjustment for effect of a change in accounting principle	that is applied retroactively	Ret income as adjusted	8. Per share amounts: 2. Dominer of common change accomminent dilution.	Net income as previously reported	 Adjustment for effect of a change in accounting prin- ciple that is applied retroactively 	Net income as adjusted	Earnings per common share—assuming full dilution: Net income as previously reported	Adjustment for effect of a change in accounting prin- ciple that is applied retroactively	Net income as adjusted

Financial Accounting-General

AC § 1051B.04

Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

AC Section 1051-1

Accounting Changes Related to the Cost of Inventory: An Interpretation of Section 1051

[Source: FASB Interpretation No. 1.]

June 1974

INTRODUCTION

.01 Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 20 [section 1051] specifies how changes in accounting principles should be reported in financial statements and what is required to justify such changes. Under that Opinion, the term accounting principle includes "not only accounting principles and practices but also the methods of applying them."

.02 Paragraph 5 of Chapter 4 of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43 [section 5121.05] states "there is a presumption that inventories should be stated at cost," which is "understood to mean acquisition and production cost." It further states that "the exclusion of all overheads from inventory cost does not constitute an accepted accounting procedure."

.03 Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Regulation 1.471—11, adopted in September 1973, specifies how certain costs should be treated in determining inventory costs for income tax reporting. Under IRS Reg. 1.471—11, some costs must be included in inventory or excluded from inventory for income tax reporting *regardless* of their treatment for financial reporting. Other costs must be included in inventory or excluded from inventory for income tax reporting *depending upon* their treatment for financial reporting, "but only if such treatment is not inconsistent with generally accepted accounting principles." Among the costs listed in IRS Reg. 1.471—11 in this last category are taxes other than income taxes, depreciation, cost depletion, factory administrative expenses, and certain insurance costs.

.04 Taxable income and accounting income are based on common information about transactions of an enterprise. However, the objectives of income determination for Federal income taxation and the objectives of income determination for financial statements of business enterprises are not always the same.

INTERPRETATION

.05 A change in composition of the elements of cost included in inventory is an accounting change. A company which makes such a change for financial reporting shall conform to the requirements of *APB Opinion No. 20* [section 1051], including justifying the change on the basis of preferability as specified by paragraph 16 of *APB Opinion No. 20* [section 1051.16]. In applying *APB Opinion No. 20* [section 1051], preferability among accounting principles shall be determined on the basis of whether the new principle constitutes an improvement in financial reporting and not on the basis of the income tax effect alone.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.06 This Interpretation shall be effective on July 1, 1974.

This Interpretation was adopted by the unanimous vote of the seven members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board following submission to the members of the Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council.

> Marshall S. Armstrong, Chairman Donald J. Kirk Arthur L. Litke Robert E. Mays John W. Queenan Walter Schuetze Robert T. Sprouse

 \implies The next page is 7491. \prec \rightarrow

AC Section 1071

Financial Statements Restated for General Price-Level Changes

[Source: APB Statement No. 3, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1969

STATEMENT OF THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD FOREWORD

This Statement sets forth the conclusions and recommendations of the Accounting Principles Board concerning general price-level information. Presentation of such information is not mandatory. The principles and procedures on which general price-level information is based have been tested (see paragraph .16 of this section) and have been discussed with representatives of organizations that have responsibilities which involve financial reporting.

INTRODUCTION

.01 This section explains the effects on business enterprises and their financial statements of changes in the general purchasing power of money, describes the basic nature of financial statements restated for general price-level changes ("general price-level financial statements"), and gives general guidance on how to prepare and present these financial statements.¹

.02 In Section 4071 (issued in 1953), the committee on accounting procedure stated that it "... gives its full support to the use of supplementary financial schedules, explanations or footnotes by which management may ex-

¹A more detailed discussion of general price-level financial statements is found in *Accounting Research Study No.* 6, "Reporting the Financial Effects of Price-Level Changes," by the Staff of the Accounting Research Division, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, 1963. (Accounting research studies are not statements of this Board or of the Institute but are published for the purpose of stimulating discussion on important accounting matters.)

plain the need for retention of earnings [in the face of rising general price levels]." Section 4071 continues in "full force and effect without change" according to APB Opinion 6. The present section is an expansion of the ideas in section 4071; it provides recommendations on how to prepare and present supplementary information restated for general price-level changes.

.03 General price-level financial statements take into account changes in the general purchasing power of money. These changes are now ignored in preparing financial statements in the United States. In conventional financial statements the individual asset, liability, stockholders' equity, revenue, expense, gain, and loss items are stated in terms of dollars of the period in which these items originated. Conventional financial statements may be referred to as "historical-dollar financial statements."

.04 The basic difference between general price-level and historical-dollar financial statements is the unit of measure used in the statements. In general price-level statements the unit of measure is defined in terms of a single specified amount of purchasing power—the general purchasing power of the dollar at a specified date. Thus, dollars which represent the same amount of general purchasing power are used in general price-level statements whereas dollars which represent diverse amounts of general purchasing power are used in historical-dollar statements.

.05 The cost principle on which historical-dollar statements are based is also the basis of general price-level statements. In general, amounts shown at historical cost in historical-dollar statements are shown at historical cost restated for changes in the general purchasing power of the dollar in general price-level statements. The amount may be restated, but it still represents cost and not a current value. The process of restating historical costs in terms of a specified amount of general purchasing power does not introduce any factors other than general price-level changes. The amounts shown in general price-level financial statements are not intended to represent appraisal values, replacement costs, or any other measure of current value. (See section 1071D for further discussion.)

AC § 1071.03

.06 Changes in the general purchasing power of money have an impact on almost every aspect of economic affairs, including such diverse matters as investment, wage negotiation, pricing policy, international trade, and government fiscal policy. The effects of changes in the general purchasing power of money on economic data expressed in monetary terms are widely recognized, and economic data for the economy as a whole are commonly restated to eliminate these effects. General price-level financial statements should prove useful to investors, creditors, management, employees, government officials, and others who are concerned with the economic affairs of business enterprises.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Changes in the General Purchasing Power of Money

.07 The general purchasing power of the dollar—its command over goods and services in general—varies, often significantly, from time to time. Changes in the general purchasing power of money are known as inflation or deflation. During inflation, the general purchasing power of money declines as the general level of prices of goods and services rises. During deflation, the general purchasing power of money increases as the general level of prices falls. The general purchasing power of money and the general price level are reciprocals.

.08 A change in the general price level is a composite effect of changes in the prices of individual goods and services. The prices of all goods and services do not change at the same rate or in the same direction. Some rise while others fall, some rise or fall more rapidly than others, and some remain unchanged. This section is concerned with changes in the general purchasing power of money and therefore with changes in the *general* price level, not with changes in the relationships between *specific* prices of individual goods and services. (See section 1071D.)

Measuring General Price-Level Changes

.09 Changes in the general price level are measured by the use of index numbers. The most comprehensive indicator of the general price level in the United States is the Gross National Product Implicit Price Deflator (GNP Deflator), issued quarterly by the Office of Business Economics of the Department of Commerce. The Consumer Price Index which is issued monthly by the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the Department of Labor is less inclusive than the GNP Deflator. Because of differences in coverage and in the system of weights used, the two indexes may change at different rates in the short run. Over the long run, however, the two indexes have changed at approximately the same rate.

.10 Published general price-level indexes in the United States are stated in terms of a base year (currently 1958 for the GNP Deflator). Index numbers for current periods are expressed as percentages of the base year general price level. Through the use of indexes, amounts stated in terms of dollars at any point in time can be restated in terms of dollars of the base year of the index, dollars of the current year, or dollars of any year that is chosen. For example, the cost of land purchased for \$10,000 in 1964 (GNP Deflator index = 108.9) can be restated as 9,183dollars of 1958 general purchasing power (index = 100.0) by multiplying the cost by 100.0/108.9, or as 11,185 dollars of 1968 general purchasing power (index = 121.8) by multiplying the cost by 121.8/108.9. In all three cases the cost is the same but the units in which it is expressed are different. Similarly, the general level of prices in 1968 may be stated as 121.8% of the general level of prices in 1958, or the general level of prices in 1958 may be stated as 100

 $\frac{1}{121.8} = 82.1\%$ of the general level of prices in 1968.

.11 General price levels seldom remain stable for long periods. For example, 35 of the 39 year to year changes in the United States GNP Deflator from 1929 to 1968 exceeded 1%. Ten of these changes were more than 5% and four were more than 10%. (See section 1071A.)

.12 Although general price levels can and have moved both up and down, inflation has been the general rule throughout the world for the last 30 years. Some countries have experienced slowly rising prices while others have experienced rapidly rising prices. The rise in the general price level in the United States, as measured by the GNP Deflator, was approximately 22% during the period 1958-1968 or a compound annual rate of 2% in contrast to approximately 130% in the preceding 20 years or a compound annual rate of about 4%. Price indexes in Brazil rose about 3,000% from 1958 to 1966. Inflation in China, Greece, and Hungary just before and after World War II was even more spectacular. General price-level increases of 25% to 50% per year have occurred recently in several countries.

Effects of General Price-Level Changes

.13 The effects of inflation or deflation on a business enterprise and on its financial statements depend on (1) the amount of change in the general price level and (2) the composition of the assets and liabilities of the enterprise.

.14 Effects of Rate of Inflation. Large changes in the general price level obviously have a greater effect than small changes. It is perhaps less obvious that moderate changes in the general price level may also significantly affect business enterprises and their financial statements. The nature of the income statement and the cumulative effect over time of moderate changes in the general price level tend to magnify the effects of changes in the general price level. Thus, in the income statement, differences which represent relatively small percentage changes in comparatively large revenue and expense items may be substantial in relation to net income. Also, if assets are held for a number of years the effect of inflation or deflation depends on the cumulative inflation or deflation since acquisition of the assets. The general price-level change in any one year is only a part of the total effect. Thus, the 3.8% inflation experienced in 1968 is only a small part of the total inflation effect on fixed assets appearing in 1968 statements. For fixed assets purchased in 1950, for example, there is a cumulative inflation effect of 54% (total inflation measured by the GNP Deflator from 1950 to 1968) on undepreciated cost and depreciation expense in 1968 general price-level financial statements. Furthermore, the effects of inflation compound over a period of years (for example, a constant 2% rate of inflation results in a 22% cumulative general price-level change in ten years and a 49% cumulative general price-level change in 20 years). Nonrecognition

of the effects of inflation may therefore have a substantial effect on financial statement representations of assets held over long periods (such as investments, and property, plant, and equipment), even though the amount of inflation each year has been relatively small.

.15 Effects of Different Kinds of Assets and Liabilities. The holders of some types of assets and liabilities are affected differently by inflation and deflation than are the holders of other types of assets and liabilities. For example, holders of cash and similar assets always lose general purchasing power during a period of inflation, but holders of other assets may or may not lose general purchasing power during inflation. The effects on holders of different types of assets and liabilities are discussed more fully in paragraphs .17 to .23.

.16 Determining Combined Effects. The effects of general price-level changes on a business enterprise and its financial statements therefore cannot be approximated by a simple adjustment. If users attempt to adjust for general price-level changes on an uninformed basis, they are likely to draw misleading inferences. The effects of general price-level changes can only be determined by comprehensive restatement of the items which comprise its financial statements. The need for comprehensive restatement was illustrated by a field test of general price-level restatement procedures.² For many companies in the test, net income was a smaller numerical amount on the general price-level basis than on the historical-dollar basis for the same period; for other companies it was a larger amount. The percentage differences between the amounts of net income for each company on the two bases varied widely, even with the relatively mild inflation in the United States in recent years.

Monetary and Nonmonetary Assets and Liabilities and General Price-Level Gains and Losses

.17 During inflation, a given amount of money can be used to buy progressively fewer goods and services in general. Consequently, holders of money lose general purchasing power as a result of inflation. This loss may be

AC § 1071.15

² See Paul Rosenfield, "Accounting for Inflation—A Field Test," The Journal of Accountancy, June 1969, pp. 45 to 50.

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

called a "general price-level loss."³ General price-level losses also occur when certain other assets, mainly contractual claims to fixed amounts of money, are held during a period of inflation. The amount of money expected to be received represents a diminishing amount of general purchasing power simply as a result of the inflation. Similarly, a fixed amount of money payable in the future becomes less burdensome in a time of inflation because it is payable in dollars of reduced general purchasing power; those who owe money during inflation therefore have "general price-level gains." The effects of deflation are the opposite of the effects of inflation on holders of assets and liabilities of the type described in this paragraph.

.18 Assets and liabilities are called "monetary" for purposes of general price-level accounting if their amounts are fixed by contract or otherwise in terms of numbers of dollars regardless of changes in specific prices or in the general price level. Examples of monetary assets and liabilities are cash, accounts and notes receivable in cash, and accounts and notes payable in cash. Holders of monetary assets and liabilities gain or lose general purchasing power during inflation or deflation simply as a result of general price-level changes.⁴ General price-level gains and losses on monetary items cannot be measured in historicaldollar financial statements and are not now reported.

.19 Assets and liabilities other than monetary items are called "nonmonetary" for general price-level accounting purposes. Examples of nonmonetary items are inventories, investments in common stocks, property, plant, and equipment, deferred charges which represent costs expended in the past, advances received on sales contracts, liabilities

⁴ Gains and losses of this type are often called "purchasing power gains and losses" in discussions of general price-level accounting (for example, see Accounting Research Study No. 6, page 137), but the Board prefers the term "general price-level gains and losses" to distinguish them from other gains and losses of general purchasing power experienced by business enterprises, such as those discussed in paragraph .19 of this section.

⁶See Accounting Research Study No. 6, page 137, for discussion of monetary and nonmonetary items in general price-level accounting. Assets and liabilities may be classified as "monetary" for purposes other than general price-level accounting. Classification of assets and liabilities as monetary for general price-level accounting purposes should be based on the fact that holders gain or lose general purchasing power simply as a result of general price-level changes rather than on criteria developed for other purposes.

for rent collected in advance, deferred credits which represent reductions of prior expense, and common stock. Holders of nonmonetary items do not gain or lose general purchasing power simply as a result of general price-level changes. If the price of a nonmonetary item changes at the same rate as the general price level, no gain or loss of general purchasing power results. Holders of nonmonetary assets and liabilities gain or lose general purchasing power if the specific price of the item owned or owed rises or falls faster or slower than the change in the general price level. Holders of nonmonetary assets and liabilities also gain or lose general purchasing power if the specific price of a nonmonetary item remains constant while the general price level changes. Gains and losses on nonmonetary items differ from general price-level gains and losses on monetary items because they are the joint result of changes in the structure of prices (the relationships between specific prices) and changes in the general level of prices, and not the result simply of changes in the general price level. (See section 1071B for additional examples of monetary and nonmonetary items.)

.20 Historical-dollar financial statements report gains and losses on nonmonetary items, usually when the items are sold, and corresponding gains and losses should also be reported in general price-level financial statements in the same time period as in the historical-dollar statements. The amounts reported as gains or losses may differ, however, because the costs and proceeds in the general pricelevel statements are restated for changes in the general price level. Thus, if the market price of an asset increases more than the increase in the general price level and the asset is sold, in historical-dollar statements the entire market price increase is shown as a gain in the period of sale but only the excess of the market price increase over the cost restated for the increase in the general price level is shown as a gain in the general price-level statements. The timing of reporting these gains and losses is the same in historical-dollar and general price-level financial statements but the amounts differ because of the effect of the change in the general price level. Similarly, if the asset is used instead of sold, depreciation or amortization deducted from the related revenue is reported in the same time periods in

AC § 1071.20

r

both historical-dollar and general price-level statements, although the amounts differ because of the restatement made in the general price-level statements. The Internal Revenue Code does not recognize general price-level restatements for tax purposes and income taxes are therefore assessed on the basis of historical-dollar amounts rather than amounts restated for general price-level changes. The income tax expense presented in general price-level statements is not computed in direct relationship to specific amounts of gains or losses on the statements or to the amount of net income before taxes. A few members of the Board believe that federal income tax should be allocated in general price-level statements to achieve a more direct relationship between the tax and various elements presented in these statements.

.21 The fact that the market price of an item does not change over long periods of time does not in itself indicate that the item is monetary. Thus gold is nonmonetary because its price can fluctuate. The fact that the price did not fluctuate for over 30 years does not make gold a monetary item. When general price levels moved upward, the holder of gold lost general purchasing power because the price of his asset did not move as much as other prices. and not simply as a result of general price-level changes. Foreign currency, accounts receivable and pavable in foreign currency, and similar items are also nonmonetary. The price of foreign currency, that is, the foreign exchange rate, can change. Therefore, the holder of foreign currency items does not gain or lose general purchasing power simply as a result of general price-level changes. If the exchange rate does not change when the general price level changes because of international controls or other factors, the price of foreign currency is rising or falling at a different rate than the general price level. The effect on the holder is the joint result of a change in the structure of prices and a change in the general level of prices, and therefore the items are nonmonetary. Even though foreign currency items are nonmonetary, they may be stated at the current foreign exchange rate in general price-level financial statements. Under these circumstances they would be treated as nonmonetary items carried at current market value.

.22 A different viewpoint than that expressed in paragraph .21, held by a few Board members, is that foreign currency, accounts receivable and payable in foreign currency, and similar foreign currency items are similar to domestic monetary items. Foreign currency items should therefore be stated directly at the current (closing) foreign exchange rate in the general price-level balance sheet. The effect on the income of the holder of foreign currency items is the joint result of both the change in the foreign exchange rate and the change in the domestic general price level, and the items are therefore complex. Both effects are measurable, however, and should be disclosed separately. In the general price-level income statement, the effect of the general price-level change should be reported as a general price-level gain or loss on monetary items and the effect of the change in the exchange rate should be reported as a foreign exchange gain or loss. If the foreign exchange rate does not change, only a general price-level gain or loss should be reported.

.23 A few assets and liabilities have characteristics of both monetary and nonmonetary items. For example, debentures held as an investment may have both a market price and fixed interest and principal payments. The fixed interest and principal payments do not change when prices change and therefore holders have general price-level gains or losses during inflation or deflation with respect to this characteristic. On the other hand, the market price of the debentures can and does change, and this feature does not yield general price-level gains or losses. Similarly, convertible debt owed is fixed in amount when considered as debt, but may be converted into capital stock. The fixed amount of debt owed is a monetary liability, which gives rise to general price-level gains or losses when general price levels change. The conversion feature is nonmonetary in nature, and does not give rise to gains or losses of general purchasing power simply as a result of general price-level changes. (See paragraph .34.)

General Price-Level Restatements

.24 Economic data are commonly restated to eliminate the effects of changes in the general purchasing power of money. In the President's Economic Reports, National Income data of the United States, for example, have been restated in "constant" 1947-1949 dollars and "constant" 1954 dollars and are now expressed in "constant" 1958 dollars. The restatement procedures necessary for preparing general price-level financial statements are similar to those employed in restating other economic data. Some companies now use general price-level statements to report on their operations in countries in which the currency has suffered severe loss of general purchasing power.

RECOMMENDATIONS

.25 The Board believes that general price-level financial statements or pertinent information extracted from them present useful information not available from basic historical-dollar financial statements. General price-level information may be presented in addition to the basic historical-dollar financial statements, but general price-level financial statements should not be presented as the basic statements. The Board believes that general price-level information is not required at this time for fair presentation of financial position and results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

.26 The Board recognizes that the degree of inflation or deflation in an economy may become so great that conventional statements lose much of their significance and general price-level statements clearly become more meaningful, and that some countries have experienced this degree of inflation in recent years.⁵ The Board concludes that general price-level statements reported in the local currency of those countries are in that respect in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, and that they preferably should be presented as the basic foreign currency financial statements of companies operating in those countries when the statements are intended for readers in the United States.⁶

⁶Although the Board believes that this conclusion is obvious with respect to some countries, it has not determined the degree of inflation or deflation at which general price-level statements clearly become more meaningful.

⁶ This paragraph applies only to statements prepared in the currency of the country in which the operations reported on are conducted. Only conventional statements of foreign subsidiaries should be used to prepare historical-dollar consolidated statements.

Restatement of Financial Statements

.27 General guidelines for preparing general pricelevel statements, with explanatory comments, are set forth in paragraphs .28 to .46. More specific procedures are illustrated in section 1071C.

.28 The same accounting principles used in preparing historical-dollar financial statements should be used in preparing general price-level financial statements except that changes in the general purchasing power of the dollar are recognized in general price-level financial statements. General price-level financial statements are an extension of and not a departure from the "historical cost" basis of accounting. Many amounts in general price-level statements, however, are different from amounts in the historical-dollar statements because of the effects of changing the unit of measure.

.29 An index of the general price level, not an index of the price of a specific type of goods or services, should be used to prepare general price-level financial statements. Price indexes vary widely in their scope; some measure changes in the prices of a relatively limited group of goods and services, such as construction costs or retail food prices in a specific city, while others measure changes in the prices of a broad group of goods and services in a whole economy. The purpose of the general price-level restatement procedures is to restate historical-dollar financial statements for changes in the general purchasing power of the dollar, and this purpose can only be accomplished by using a general price-level index.

.30 Indexes which approximate changes in the general price level are now available for most countries. As noted in paragraph .09, the GNP Deflator is the most comprehensive indicator of the general price level in the United States. Consequently, it should normally be used to prepare general price-level statements in U. S. dollars.

.31 The GNP Deflator is issued on a quarterly basis. The deflator for the last quarter of a year can ordinarily be used to approximate the index as of the end of the year. The Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index has the practical advantage of being issued on a monthly basis. The consumer price index may therefore be used to approximate the GNP Deflator unless the two indexes deviate significantly.

.32 General price-level financial statements should be presented in terms of the general purchasing power of the dollar at the latest balance sheet date. The Board has selected current general purchasing power as the basis for presentation because it believes that financial statements in "current dollars" are more relevant and more easily understood than those employing the general purchasing power of any other period. Current economic actions must take place in terms of current dollars, and restating items in current dollars expresses them in the context of current action.

.33 Monetary and nonmonetary items should be distinguished for the purpose of preparing general price-level financial statements. Monetary items are stated in terms of current general purchasing power in historical-dollar statements. General price-level gains and losses arise from holding monetary items. On the other hand, nonmonetary items are generally stated in terms of the general purchasing power of the dollar at the time they were acquired. Holding nonmonetary items does not give rise to general price-level gains and losses. Distinguishing monetary and nonmonetary items therefore permits (1) restatement of nonmonetary items in terms of current general purchasing power and (2) recognition of general price-level gains and losses on monetary items which are not recognized under historical-dollar accounting. Paragraphs .17 to .23 give criteria for distinguishing monetary and nonmonetary items for general price-level accounting purposes.

.34 Assets and liabilities that have both monetary and nonmonetary characteristics (see paragraph .23) should be classified as monetary or nonmonetary based on the purpose for which they are held, usually evidenced by their treatment in historical-dollar accounting. Thus, carrying debentures at acquisition cost (perhaps adjusted to lower of cost and market) and classifying them as marketable securities provides evidence that market price may be important and the debentures may be nonmonetary. On the other hand, classifying debentures held as a longterm investment and amortizing premium or discount is evidence that the debentures are held for the fixed principal and interest and therefore are monetary assets. Similarly, convertible debt is usually treated as straight debt and therefore is usually a monetary liability.

.35 The amounts of nonmonetary items should be restated to dollars of current general purchasing power at the end of the period. Nonmonetary items are typically stated in historical-dollar financial statements in terms of the general purchasing power of the dollar at the dates of the originating transactions. They should be restated by means of the general price index to dollars of current general purchasing power at the end of the period. Restatement of nonmonetary items does not introduce current values or replacement costs. For example, restatement of the cost of land that cost \$100,000 in 1958 to \$123,500 in 1968 statements does not imply that the market price of the land is \$123,500 in 1968. Restatement merely presents the cost in a unit which represents the general purchasing power of the dollar at the end of 1968.

.36 Nonmonetary items are sometimes already stated in historical-dollar financial statements in dollars of current general purchasing power, for example, inventory purchased near the end of the fiscal period or assets carried at current market price. The fact that the amount of an item is not changed in restatement does not necessarily identify it as a monetary item on which general price-level gains and losses should be computed.

.37 Some nonmonetary items such as inventories are stated at the lower of cost and market in historical-dollar financial statements. These items should also be stated at the lower of cost and market in general price-level financial statements. Market may sometimes be below restated cost even though it is not below historical-dollar cost, and application of the cost or market rule will therefore sometimes result in a write-down to market in general price-level statements even though no write-down was required in the historical-dollar statements.

.38 Monetary assets and liabilities in the historicaldollar balance sheet are stated in dollars of current general AC § 1071.35 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc. purchasing power; consequently, they should appear in current general price-level statements at the same amounts. The fact that the amounts of monetary assets and liabilities are the same in general price-level and historical-dollar statements should not obscure the fact that general pricelevel gains and losses result from holding them during a period of general price-level change (see paragraphs .17 and .18). Monetary assets and liabilities which appear in financial statements of prior periods presented for comparative purposes are updated to dollars of current general purchasing power by the "roll-forward" procedure described in paragraph .44.

.39 The amounts of income statement items should be restated to dollars of current general purchasing power at the end of the period. Revenue and expenses are typically stated in historical-dollar statements in terms of the general purchasing power of the dollar at the dates of the originating transactions and should be restated by means of the general price index to dollars of current general purchasing power at the end of the period. The components of gains and losses (costs and proceeds) are also stated in terms of historical dollars and should be restated. All revenue, expenses, gains, and losses recognized under historical-dollar accounting are recognized in the same time period under general price-level accounting, but their amounts are different in the case of items that are recorded in noncurrent dollars, such as depreciation, amortization, and cost of goods sold. Transactions that give rise to gains in historical-dollar financial statements may even give rise to losses in general price-level financial statements and vice versa. Income tax amounts in general price-level statements are based on income taxes reflected in historical-dollar statements and are not computed in direct relationship to the income before taxes on the general price-level statements.

.40 General price-level gains and losses should be calculated by means of the general price index and included in current net income. General price-level gains and losses on monetary items described in paragraphs .17 and .18 should be calculated by restating the opening balances and transactions in the accounts for monetary assets and liabilities to dollars of general purchasing power at the end of the period and comparing the resulting restated balances at the end of the period with the actual balances at the end of the period. (See section 1071C.)

.41 General price-level gains and losses on monetary items arise from changes in the general price level, and are not related to subsequent events such as the receipt or payment of money. Consequently, the Board has concluded that these gains and losses should be recognized as part of the net income of the period in which the general price level changes.

.42 A different viewpoint than that expressed in paragraph .41, held by a Board member, is that all of a monetary gain should not be recognized in the period of general price-level increase. Under this view, a portion of the gain on net monetary liabilities in a period of general pricelevel increase should be deferred to future periods as a reduction of the cost of nonmonetary assets, since the liabilities represent a source of funds for the financing of these assets. The proponent of this view believes that the gain from holding net monetary liabilities during inflation is not realized until the assets acquired from the funds borrowed are sold or consumed in operations.⁷ The Board does not agree with this view, however, because it believes that the gain accrues during the period of the general price-level increase and is unrelated to the cost of nonmonetary assets.

.43 General price-level gains and losses should be reported as a separate item in general price-level income statements. General price-level gains and losses on monetary items are not part of the revenue and expenses reported in historical-dollar financial statements. They should be separately identified in the general price-level statements. General price-level gains may, however, be offset against general price-level losses and only a single figure representing net general price-level gain or loss for the period need be reported.

⁷ For further discussion of this view see Marvin M. Deupree, "Accounting for Gains and Losses in Purchasing Power of Monetary Items" in Accounting Research Study No. 6, pp. 153-165.

.44 General price-level financial statements of earlier periods should be updated to dollars of the general purchasing power at the end of each subsequent period for which they are presented as comparative information. Statements of an earlier period are updated by multiplying each item by the ratio of the current general price level to the general price level of the earlier period. This "rolling forward" of earlier statements could cause confusion and convey the erroneous impression that previously reported information has been changed in substance rather than merely updated in terms of a later unit of measure.⁸ Consequently, comparative general price-level financial statements and related financial information should be described in a way that makes clear that the general price-level statements of prior periods represent previously reported information updated to dollars of current general purchasing power to provide comparability with the current general price-level statements. (See paragraph .48, point f.)

.45 Restatement of financial statements of foreign branches or subsidiaries of U.S. companies for inclusion in combined or consolidated financial statements stated in terms of U.S. dollars should be based on an index of the general level of prices in the United States. General pricelevel financial statements stated in terms of U.S. dollars use a unit of measure that represents the general purchasing power of the U.S. dollar at a specified date. An index of changes in the general purchasing power of the U.S. dollar should therefore be used to restate the financial statements of a company and its combined or consolidated foreign branches and subsidiaries. Financial statements of foreign branches or subsidiaries to be combined or consolidated with the financial statements of their United States parent company should first be translated into U.S. dollars using presently accepted methods and then restated for changes in the general purchasing power of the U.S. dollar.

⁸ The "roll-forward" process results in stating financial statement items at different amounts than they were stated before being "rolled forward." The differences are not gains or losses but are merely differences between the same items measured in two different units of measure. If a cost stated at 100 dollars of general purchasing power current at the beginning of the year is "rolled forward" to 105 dollars of general purchasing power current at the end of the year, the difference of 5 is not a gain. It is similar, for example, to the difference of 2 between 1 yard and 3 feet.

.46 All general price-level information presented should be based on complete general price-level calculations. Financial statements in which only some of the items, such as depreciation, have been restated disclose only part of the effects of changing general price levels on an enterprise. Partially restated financial statements and information based on them are likely to be misleading and should not be presented. General price-level information should therefore be based on complete calculations, although it need not be presented in the same detail as the historical-dollar financial statements. If any general price-level information is given, at least sales, net general price-level gains and losses on monetary items, extraordinary items, net income, and common stockholders' equity should be disclosed.

Presentation of General Price-Level Financial Information

.47 Presentation of general price-level financial information as a supplement to the basic historical-dollar financial statements should be designed to promote clarity and minimize possible confusion. Because the two types of data are prepared on different bases, presentations of general price-level financial information should generally encourage comparisons with other general price-level data rather than with historical-dollar data. If general pricelevel financial statements are presented in their entirety, they preferably should be presented in separate schedules, not in columns parallel to the historical-dollar statements. Financial information extracted from general price-level statements (see paragraph .46) may be presented in either chart or narrative form, and may emphasize ratios and percentages instead of or in addition to dollar amounts.

.48 The basis of preparation of general price-level information and what it purports to show should be clearly explained in the notes to the general price-level financial statements or other appropriate places. The explanation should include the following points:

a. The general price-level statements (or information) are supplementary to the basic historical-dollar financial statements [except as provided in paragraph .26].

7508

AC § 1071.46

- b. All amounts shown in general price-level statements are stated in terms of units of the same general purchasing power by use of an index of changes in the general purchasing power of the dollar.
- c. The general price-level gain or loss in the general price-level statements indicates the effects of inflation (or deflation) on the company's net holdings of monetary assets and liabilities. The company gains or loses general purchasing power as a result of holding these assets and liabilities during a period of inflation (deflation).
- d. In all other respects, the same generally accepted accounting principles used in the preparation of historical-dollar statements are used in the preparation of general price-level statements (or information).
- e. The amounts shown in the general price-level statements do not purport to represent appraised value, replacement cost, or any other measure of the current value of assets or the prices at which transactions would take place currently.
- f. The general price-level statements (or information) of prior years presented for comparative purposes have been updated to current dollars. This restatement of prior years' general price-level statements is required to make them comparable with current information. It does not change the prior periods' statements in any way except to update the amounts to dollars of current general purchasing power.

.49 Disclosure involving the following items should also be made:

a. The difference between the balance of retained earnings at the end of the preceding year in beginning-of-the-year dollars and at the beginning of the year in end-of-the-year dollars, which arises in the roll-forward process discussed in paragraph .44, should be explained somewhat as follows:

- ____
- b. The fact should be disclosed that when assets are used or sold, federal income taxes are based on cost before restatement for general price-level changes because inflation is not recognized in the Internal Revenue Code.

NOTE

.50 Statements of the Accounting Principles Board present the conclusions of at least two-thirds of the members of the Board, which is the senior technical body of the Institute authorized to issue pronouncements on accounting principles. This Statement is not an "Opinion of the Accounting Principles Board" covered by action of the Council of the Institute in its May 7, 1973 Resolution designating the Financial Accounting Standards Board as the body to establish accounting principles pursuant to Rule 203 of the Rules of Conduct of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. [As amended, effective May 7, 1973 by Council Resolution.] (See section 510.08.)

 \implies The next page is 7521. \leftarrow

AC § 1071.50 (© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Financial Statements Restated for General Price-Level Changes—Appendix A

Gross National Product Implicit Price Deflator

Annual Averages 1929-1968 Quarterly Averages 1947-1968

.01 Annual Averages

		Percent Increase
Year	Deflator	(Decrease) From Previous Year
	(1958 = 100)	
1929	50.6	
1930	49.3	(2.6)
1931	44.8	(9.1)
1932	40.3	(10.0)
1933	39.3	(2.5)
1934	42.2	7.4
1935	42.6	.9
1936	42.7	.0
1937	44.5	4.2
1938	43.9	(1.3)
1939	43.2	(1.6)
1940	43.9	1.6
1941	47.2	7.5
1942	53.0	12.3
1943	56.8	7.2
1944	58.2	2.5
1945	59.7	2.6
1946	66.7	11.7
1947	74.6	11.8
1948	79.6	6.7
1949	79.1	(.6)
1950	80.2	1.4
1951	85.6	6.7
1951	87.5	
1952		2.2
1900	88.3	.9

Annual Averages----Continued

Year	Deflator	Percent Increase (Decrease) From Previous Year
	(1958 == 100)	
1954	89.6	1.5
1955	90.9	1.5
1956	94.0	3.4
1957	97.5	3.7
1958	100.0	2.6
195 9	101.6	1.6
1960	103.3	1.7
1961	104.6	1.3
1962	105.7	1.1
1963	107.1	1.3
1964	108.9	1.7
1965	110.9	1.8
1966	113.9	2.7
1967	117.3	3.0
1968	121.8	3.8

.02 Quarterly Averages

Year	Quarter	Deflator
1947	1	73.0
	2	73.7
	3	74.9
	4	77.0
1948	1	78.2
	2	79.2
	3	80.6
	4	80.3
1 94 9	1	79.7
	2	79.1
	3	78.8
	4	78.9
1950	1	78.3
	2	79.0
	3	80.8
	4	82.3

AC § 1071A.02

Quarterly Averages---Continued

Year	Quarter	Deflator
1951	1	84.8
	2	85.4
	3	85. 6
	4	86.7
1952	1	86.7
	2	87.1
	3	87.7
	4	88.3
1953	1	88.4
	2	88.3
	3	88.4
	4	88.4
1954	1	89.5
	2	89.6
	3	89.5
	4	89.8
1955	1	90.2
	2	90.6
	3	91.0
	4	91.6
1956	1	92.6
	2	93.4
	3	94.6
	4	95.4
1957	1	96.4
	2	97.1
	3	98.0
	4	98.5
1958	1	99.3
	2	99.7
	3	100.1
	4	100.6
1959	1	101.1
	2	101.4
	3	101.9
	4	102.1

Quarterly Averages—Continued

Year	Quarter	Deflator
1960	1	102.6
	2	103.0
	3	103.4
	4	104.0
1961	1	104.3
	2	104.5
	3	104.5
	4	105.1
1962	1	105.4
	2	105.5
	3	105.8
	4	106.2
1963	1	106.6
	2	107.0
	3	107.1
	4	107.8
1964	1	108.3
	2	108.4
	3	109.0
	4	109.6
1965	1	110.1
	2	110.7
	3	111.0
	4	111.6
1966	1	112.6
	2	113.5
	3	114.4
	4	115.3
19 67	1	116.0
	2	116.6
	3	117.7
	4	118.9
19 6 8	1	120.0
	2	121.2
	3	122.3
	4	123.5
	•	

Source: United States Department of Commerce, Survey of Current Business, issued monthly. Quarterly figures are available only since 1947. The deflators for 1929 to 1964 were recapitulated on pages 52 and 53 of the August 1965 issue of the Survey.

 \implies The next page is 7531. \leftarrow

AC § 1071A.02

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Financial Statements Restated for General Price-Level Changes—Appendix B

MONETARY AND NONMONETARY ITEMS

.01 Section 1071.17-.23 presents criteria for distinguishing between monetary and nonmonetary items for general price-level accounting purposes and gives examples of each kind of item. This section provides additional examples, with an explanation of the reason for classification when needed.

.02 Assets	Mo	netary	Non- monetary
Oak as hand and demand hash deman	:		
Cash on hand and demand bank depos		v	
(domestic currency)		X	
Time deposits (domestic currency)		X	
Foreign currency on hand and claims	to		
foreign currency			X
See discussion in section 1071.21.			
Marketable securities			
Stocks			X
Bonds		see dis	seussion)
Bonds held as a short-term investme		Sec un	Soussion
may be held for price speculation.			
so, they are nonmonetary. If the bor			
are held primarily for the fixed inco	me		
characteristic, they are monetary.			
Accounts and notes receivable		X	
Allowance for doubtful accounts and no	tes		
receivable		x	
Inventories produced under fixed pr			
contracts accounted for at the contra			
		x	
price		Л	
These items are in effect receivables	ot		
a fixed amount.			
· - · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			1 C C 1 07

Mo	netary	Non- monetary
Other inventories		X
Advances to employees	X	
Prepaid insurance, taxes, advertising, rent These represent an amount of services for which expenditures have been made and which will be amortized to expense in the future. In financial statements they are substantially the same kind of item as fixed assets.		x
Prepaid interest	X	
Related to notes payable, a monetary item.		
Receivables under capitalized financing leases	x	
Long-term receivables	X	
Refundable deposits	X	
Advances to unconsolidated subsidiaries If there is no expectation that the ad- vances will ever be collected, they are in effect additional investments and are nonmonetary.	x	
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries If an investment is carried at cost, it is nonmonetary. If an investment is car- ried on the equity basis, the statements of the subsidiary should be restated for general price-level changes (in accord- ance with section 1071.45 for foreign affiliates) and the equity method should then be applied.	(see dis	scussion)
Pension, sinking, and other funds Depends on composition of the fund	(see dis	scussion)
Investments in convertible bonds If the bond is held for price specula-	(see dis	scussion)
tion or with expectation of converting		

Monetary	Non-
	monetary
into common stock the investment is	
nonmonetary. If the bond is held for	
the fixed principal and interest, it is monetary.	
Property, plant, and equipment	X
Allowance for depreciation	X
Cash surrender value of life insurance	
Advances paid on purchase contracts	X
The items to be received are nonmone-	
tary.	
Deferred charges for income taxes-de-	
ferred method	X
A cost deferred as an expense of future periods is nonmonetary.	
Other deferred charges which represent	
costs incurred to be charged against	
future income	X
Patents, trademarks, licenses, formulas	Х
Goodwill	X
Other intangible assets	X
[As amended, effective Oc	tober 1,
1971, by APB Opinion No. 2	1.]
00	

.03 Liabilities

Accounts and notes payable	X	
Accrued expenses payable (salaries, wages, etc.) Similar to accounts payable, amount is fixed.	X	
Cash dividends payable	X	
Debts payable in foreign currency See section 1071.21.		X
Refundable deposits	X	
Advances received on sales contracts The obligation will be satisfied by de- livery of goods that are nonmonetary. Accrued losses on firm purchase commit-		X
ments	Χ	
Bonds payable	Χ	
		AC 6 14

Mo	netary	Non- monetary
Unamortized discount on bonds payable [As amended, effecti 1971, by APB Opinion	ve O	•
Convertible bonds payable	X	
Obligations under capitalized leases	X	
Other long-term debt	X	
Deferred taxes—deferred method Cost savings deferred as a reduction of expenses of future periods.		X
Deferred investment credits		X
Accrued pension cost	X	
Reserve for self-insurance Although reserve for self-insurance is nonmonetary, it may be stated in the same amount in both the historical- dollar and general price-level state- ments if the adequacy of the reserve in terms of current costs has been deter- mined at year end for the historical- dollar statements.		X
Deferred income		X
Provision for guarantees Provision for guarantees is nonmone- tary because it is a liability to provide goods or services. It may be stated in the same amount in both the historical- dollar and general price-level state- ments if the adequacy of the provision in terms of current costs has been de- termined at year end for the historical- dollar statements.		X
Accrued vacation pay	see di	scussion)
Accrued vacation pay Accrued vacation pay is monetary if it is based on a fixed contract. It is non- monetary if it is payable based on wage or salary rates that may change after the balance sheet date.		

AC § 1071B.03

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

	Non-
Monetary	monetary

Mone	tary	monetary
.04 Owners' Equity		
Minority interest		X
Preferred stock Classifying preferred stock as non- monetary is based on the fact that the amount accounted for is the proceeds received when the stock was issued. The proceeds must be restated to pre- sent them in terms of the general pur- chasing power of the dollar at the balance sheet date.		X
The amount of a nonconvertible call- able preferred stock should not exceed the call price in the general price-level balance sheet. The periodic change in the excess of the restated proceeds over the call price, if any, should not be in- cluded in net income, but should be added to net income to determine net income to common stockholders in the same manner as preferred dividends are deducted to determine net income to common stockholders.		
A different viewpoint held by some Board members is that preferred stock is a monetary item and that general price-level gains or losses from pre- ferred stock outstanding should be in- cluded in the computation of net income.		
Common stock		X
Additional paid-in capital		X
Retained earnings	ee di	scussion)

 \implies The next page is 7541. \leftarrow

AC § 1071B.04

AC Section 1071C

Financial Statements Restated for General Price-Level Changes—Appendix C

PROCEDURES TO PREPARE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RESTATED FOR GENERAL PRICE-LEVEL CHANGES

.01 This section illustrates procedures to apply the general guidelines discussed in section 1071.28.46. Procedures for restating historical-dollar financial statements for general price-level changes are described and illustrated for two years, 1967 and 1968. Restating the statements for 1967 illustrates the procedures for the first year of restatement; restating the 1968 statements illustrates the procedures for the first year of the first year a company restates its financial statements are more time consuming than those for subsequent years.

.02 Financial statements used in this illustration contain a variety of items designed to demonstrate various facets of the restatement technique. Indexes of the general price-level changes which occurred in the United States in recent years are used. For convenience, the general assumptions used in the illustration are summarized below:

- a. The XYZ Company was formed in 1957, ten years before the year for which its statements are first restated.
- b. All significant costs of the year-end finished goods inventory, carried at FIFO, were incurred in the last quarter of the year; costs incurred before the last quarter of the year are assumed to be not material.
- c. Year-end balances of raw materials and parts and supplies inventories, carried at FIFO, were acquired fairly evenly throughout the year.
- d. Market value of inventories is above the restated cost of inventories, and the market price of inventories to be delivered is below the restated amount of deferred income.

- e. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line basis. A full year's depreciation is taken in the year of acquisition, and no depreciation is taken in the year of sale. Depreciable assets have a ten-year life and no salvage value.
- f. Sales, purchases, and selling and administrative expenses (other than depreciation, amortization of prepaid expenses, and deferred income realized) have taken place fairly evenly throughout the year, and federal income taxes accrue ratably throughout the year.
- g. Interest expense is included in selling and administrative expenses.

.03 To perform restatement procedures, a company needs (1) its historical-dollar financial statements for the year, (2) index numbers, and (3) conversion factors derived from the index numbers, as described in the following paragraphs.

.04 The historical-dollar financial statements needed for the first year for which statements are to be restated are balance sheets at the beginning and end of the year and the statements of income, retained earnings, and other changes in owners' equity for the year. For each subsequent year, only the balance sheet at the end of the year and the statements of income, retained earnings, and other changes in owners' equity for the year are needed. The historical-dollar balance sheet at the beginning of the first year is restated to determine the restated amount of retained earnings at the beginning of the first year. In the illustration for the 1967 restatement, the historical-dollar balance sheets appear in paragraph .23 and the historicaldollar statement of income and retained earnings appears in paragraph .24. For the 1968 restatement, the historicaldollar balance sheet appears in paragraph .36 and the historical-dollar statement of income and retained earnings appears in paragraph .37.

.05 The Gross National Product Implicit Price Deflator is used in the illustration as the index of changes in the general price level.¹ This index is available on both

AC § 1071C.03

¹ See section 1071.30.

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

a quarterly and annual average basis. Indexes are needed for the average and the quarters for each year since the inception of the company or 1945,² whichever is later. The annual average index may be used for any year in which its use would produce results not materially different from those which would be produced by using quarterly indexes. The index at the end of a year may be approximated by using the average for the last quarter of the year. To simplify the illustration, quarterly indexes are used only for 1967 and 1968. Indexes used in the 1967 restatement appear in paragraph .22. Indexes used in the 1968 restatement appear in paragraph .35. (Also see section 1071A.)

.06 Conversion factors used in restatement are computed from general price-level index numbers by dividing the index number for the current balance sheet date by each of the other index numbers. To illustrate, assume that 1957 and 1960 expenditures are to be restated to dollars of December 1968 general purchasing power. The following GNP Deflators (general price-level index numbers) are applicable:

Average for 1957	97.5
Average for 1960	103.3
Fourth quarter 1968	123.5

To compute the conversion factors for restatement to dollars of general purchasing power current at December 31, 1968, divide the index number for the fourth quarter of 1968 by each of the other index numbers:

³The precision of the measure of change in the general price level by any series of index numbers decreases over time because new commodities are continuously introduced and others disappear. No method has been devised to measure the percentage change in the general price level between two periods in which the bulk of commodities in either period is unique. A large portion of the dollar amount of current exchange transactions involves goods and services that originated in discoveries and innovations that grew out of the war effort (World War II) and postwar developments. Consequently, comparison of current prices with prices during and prior to World War II would probably not be reliable enough for accounting purposes because of the dissimilarity of goods and services exchanged then and now. A cutoff date is therefore indicated. The year 1945 is probably the earliest point that offers reasonable comparability of goods and services with later periods. All assets acquired, liabilities incurred, or owners' equity accumulated prior to 1945 should generally be treated as if they had originated during 1945.

To restate a nonmonetary	item	purchased	\mathbf{in}	1957, for ex-
ample, its cost in 1957 dol	lars is	multiplied	by	1.267:

Cost in 1957 dollars	\$1,500
×	1.267
Cost in dollars current at	
December 31, 1968	\$1,900

The cost of \$1,500 in 1957 dollars is equal to a cost of \$1,900 in December 31, 1968 dollars. The cost is not changed; it is merely stated in a larger number of a smaller unit of measure. Conversion factors for the 1967 restatement are computed in paragraph .22. Conversion factors for the 1968 restatement are computed in paragraph .35.

.07 The exhibits and worksheets which comprise the illustration are presented together in paragraphs .20 to .44. Restatement procedures are discussed in eight steps in paragraphs .08 to .19. Each step is first described in general terms and then keyed to the two years in the illustration in two columns below the general description.

General Steps to Prepare General Price-Level Financial Statements

STEP 1: Identify monetary and nonmonetary assets and liabilities.

.08 The nature of each asset and liability item must be determined inasmuch as restatement procedures for monetary items are different from those for nonmonetary items as discussed in section 1071.35-.38. Section 1071.17-.23 discusses the difference between monetary and nonmonetary items and gives examples of each. Additional examples are given in section 1071B.

1967 Restatement	1968 Restatement
STEP 1: Monetary items in the December 31, 1966 and 1967 balance sheets in paragraph .23 are:	STEP 1: Monetary and nonmone- tary items in the December 31, 1968 balance sheet in paragraph .36 are the same as in the De-
Cash Receivables Current liabilities Long-term debt	cember 31, 1966 and 1967 bal- ance sheets.
Nonmonetary items are: Marketable securities Raw materials Finished goods	
Parts and supplies Prepaid expenses Property, plant, and equipment Accumulated depreciation	
Deferred income—payments received in advance * Capital stock Additional paid-in capital	-
Retained earnings *Deferred income—payments re- ceived in advance is a nonmonetary liability because it represents an	

STEP 2: Analyze all nonmonetary items in the balance sheet of the current year (and the prior year for the first year of restatement) to determine when the component money amounts originated.

obligation to deliver nonmonetary assets—the company's products.

.09 Schedule the data by years, and by quarters whenever significant general price-level changes occurred during a year. If no significant general price-level changes occurred during a year, or if acquisitions were spread fairly evenly throughout a year, assume the items were acquired when the average general price level for the year was in effect. All balances accumulated prior to 1945 may be treated as if acquired in 1945. See Step 3 for treatment of special problems in restating inventories.

.10 Retained earnings need not be analyzed. Retained earnings in the restated balance sheet at the beginning of the first year for which general price-level restatements are prepared can be computed as the balancing amount. This avoids the impractical alternative of restating all prior financial statements since the inception of the company. Retained earnings in subsequent restated balance sheets is determined from the restated statements of income and retained earnings.

1967 Restatement

STEP 2: Analysis of raw materials, finished goods, and parts and supplies inventories is discussed in notes 3 and 4 in paragraph .23. Marketable securities, capital stock, and additional paid-in capital are analyzed in columns 3, 5, and 7 in paragraph .25. Prepaid expenses, property, plant, and equipment, accumulated depreciation, and deferred income are analyzed in columns 3 to 6 in paragraphs .26 to .29.

1968 Restatement

STEP 2: Much of the analysis needed for the 1968 restatement has been prepared for the 1967 restatement and merely needs to be updated. Analysis of raw materials, finished goods, and parts and supplies inventories, capital stock, and additional paid-in capital is discussed in notes 4, 5, and 6 in paragraph .36. Prepaid expenses, property, plant, and equipment, accumulated depreciation, and deferred income are analyzed in columns 3 to 6 in paragraphs .38 to .41.

STEP 3: Analyze all revenue, expense, gain, and loss items in the income statement of the current year, and all dividends and other changes in retained earnings during the year, to determine when the amounts originated that ultimately resulted in the charges and credits in the statements of income and retained earnings.

.11 A wide range in degree of difficulty is likely to be encountered in restating inventories and cost of goods sold to dollars of current general purchasing power. Raw materials priced on a first-in, first-out basis may already be in dollars of current general purchasing power and need no restatement. If turnover is rapid and spread fairly evenly throughout the year, purchases may be in dollars whose general purchasing power can be approximated by using the average general price level for the year. Restatement of inventories of work in process and finished goods, however, can be quite complicated and time consuming. Weighted average or last-in, first-out pricing increases the amount of detail.

AC § 1071C.11 AC 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.12 Short cuts to the restatement of inventories and purchases often produce results that do not differ enough from amounts derived by detailed computation to warrant the additional effort. For example, costs of inventories based on weighted average include, in part, every expenditure ever made to buy or produce them. A short cut would be to assume that the beginning inventory had all been acquired in one turnover period. In the case of beginning LIFO inventories, using the assumption that different layers were acquired each year when the average general price level was in effect for that year will usually approximate the results of a detailed computation, purchase by purchase. Elements of overhead costs included in work in process and finished goods inventories can usually be restated from dollars of average general purchasing power for the year when overhead was applied to that segment of the inventory. Depreciation is the overhead cost element most likely to require extensive analysis, but only when the effect would be material.

.13 Many revenue and expense items are, of course, recognized in the accounts at approximately the same time that the receipts and expenditures occurred (for example, salaries). If these items are spread fairly evenly throughout the year, it can be assumed that the receipts and expenditures all occurred when the average general price level for the year was in effect. When peak and slack periods occur during the year, and the general price level changes significantly between periods, revenue and expense items in this category should be determined for each calendar quarter.

.14 The restatement of revenue and expense items should, of course, reconcile with the restatement of the related balance sheet accounts, and they can be restated as part of the same computation. For example, the beginning balance of merchandise inventory plus purchases, both stated in current dollars, should equal the sum of the cost of sales and the ending balance of merchandise inventory, also stated in current dollars.

AC § 1071C.14

1967 Restatement

STEP 3: Sales, cost of sales, selling and administrative expenses, and loss on sale of equipment are analyzed in column 1 in paragraphs .30 and .31. Depreciation is analyzed in column 4 in paragraph .28. Amortization of prepaid expenses is analyzed in column 5 in paragraph .26. Deferred income realized is analyzed in column 5 in paragraph .29. Federal income taxes and dividends are analyzed in paragraph .24.

1968 Restatement

STEP 3: Sales, cost of sales, selling and administrative expenses, gain on sale of equipment, and gain or loss on sale of marketable securities are analyzed in column 1 in paragraphs .42 and .43. Depreciation is analyzed in column 4 in paragraph .40. Amortization of prepaid expenses is analyzed in column 5 in paragraph .38. Deferred income realized is analyzed in column 5 in paragraph .41. Federal income taxes and dividends are analyzed in paragraph .37.

STEP 4: Restate the nonmonetary items.

.15 Multiply the component amounts of nonmonetary items in the balance sheet of the current year (and the prior year for the first year of restatement) and in the statement of income and retained earnings for the current year by the conversion factors applicable to the components. The restated amount of each nonmonetary item is the sum of the restated amounts of its components.

1967 Restatement

STEP 4: Restatement of nonmonetary items is demonstrated on the pages in which the nonmonetary items are analyzed in accordance with Steps 2 and 3.

1968 Restatement

STEP 4: Restatement of nonmonetary items is demonstrated on the pages in which the nonmonetary items are analyzed in accordance with Steps 2 and 3. Components which originated in 1967 or earlier generally are restated by merely "rolling forward" their restated amounts from the worksheets for the 1967 restatement.

STEP 5: Restate the monetary items in the balance sheet at the beginning of the first year.

.16 Monetary items in the balance sheet at the beginning of the first year for which statements are restated are stated in prior year dollars and are each restated to

AC § 1071C.15

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

dollars of current general purchasing power by the conversion factor applicable to the end of the prior year. Monetary items in the balance sheet at the end of each year for which statements are restated are stated in dollars of current general purchasing power and need no restatement.

1967 Restatement1968 RestatementSTEP 5: Restatement of the
monetary items in the balance
sheet at December 31, 1966 is
discussed in note 1 in para-STEP 5: (Not applicable after
the first year statements are
restated.)

STEP 6: Apply the "cost or market" rule after restatement to the items to which it applies before restatement.

.17 To determine that marketable securities and inventories are not stated above market in the restated statements, and that current nonmonetary liabilities are not stated below market, the restated amounts are compared with market and adjusted if necessary.

1967 Restatement

graph .23.

1968 Restatement

STEP 6: Market is assumed to be higher than restated marketable securities and inventories and lower than restated deferred income.

STEP 6: Market is assumed to be higher than restated inventories and lower than restated deferred income.

STEP 7: Compute the general price-level gain or loss for the current year.

.18 The general price-level gain or loss which arises from holding net balance sheet monetary items during ininflation or deflation appears in the general price-level statements but does not appear in the historical-dollar statements. The format used to prepare a statement of source and application of net balance sheet monetary items is a convenient device to use in calculating the general price-level gain or loss. In this calculation the items which cause changes in the monetary items are analyzed and the net balance of the monetary items if there were no gain or loss is determined. A comparison of this net balance with the actual net balance of monetary items at the balance sheet date determines the gain or loss.

1967 Restatement

1968 Restatement

STEP 7: The general price-level gain for 1967 is computed in paragraph .32.

STEP 7: The general price-level gain for 1968 is computed in paragraph .44.

STEP 8: "Roll forward" the restated statements of the prior year to dollars of current general purchasing power.

.19 Financial statements of the prior year which were restated to dollars current at the end of the prior year are restated to dollars current at the end of the current year simply by multiplying each amount by the conversion factor applicable to the end of the prior year. This "rolling forward" serves two purposes: (1) it provides the amount of retained earnings at the end of the prior year in current dollars for the current year statement of retained earnings, and (2) it provides the prior year statements in current dollars for use as comparative statements.

1967 Restatement

STEP 8: (Not applicable for the first year statements are restated.)

1968 Restatement

STEP 8: The restated balance sheet at the end of 1967 is "rolled forward" in columns 1 and 2 in paragraph .36. The restated statement of income and retained earnings for 1967 is "rolled forward" in columns 1 and 2 in paragraph .37.

1967 RESTATEMENT-XYZ COMPANY

EXHIBIT A

XYZ Company General Price-Level Balance Sheet December 31, 1967

ASSETS	General Price-Level Basis (Restated to 12/31/67)
Current assets:	
Cash	\$(e7) 1,700,000
Marketable securities, at cost	1,654,000
Receivables (net)	5,050,000
Inventories, at the lower of cost and mar- ket on a first-in, first-out basis:	
Raw materials	2,849,000
Finished goods	2,560,000
Parts and supplies	578,000
Prepaid expenses	49,000
Total current assets	14,440,000
Property, plant, and equipment, at cost	29,580,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation	21,156,000
	8,424,000
	\$(e7)22,864,000

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities	\$(11) 4,770,000
Deferred income-payments received in ad- vance	101,000
Long-term debt	5,000,000
Stockholders' equity: Capital stock – common	2,109,000
Additional paid-in capital	3,785,000
Retained earnings	7,099,000
Total stockholders' equity	12,993,000
	\$(m)22,864,000

.20

XYZ Company General Price-Level Statement of Income and Retained Earnings Year Ended December 31, 1967

	neral Price-Level Basis estated to 12/31/67)
Sales	\$(87)30,424,000
Operating expenses:	
Cost of sales	23,232,000
Depreciation	2,616,000
Selling and administrative expenses	2,615,000
	28,463,000
Operating profit	1,961,000
Loss on sale of equipment	(12,000)
General price-level gain	138,000
	126,000
Income before federal income taxes	2,087,000
Federal income taxes	923,000
Net income	1,164,000
Retained earnings, December 31, 1966	6,137,000
	7,301,000
Less: Dividends paid	202,000
Retained earnings, December 31, 1967	\$(67) 7,099,000

XYZ COMPANY General Price-Level Restatement—1967

Gross National Product Implicit Price Deflators and Conversion Factors

Year	Quarter	GNP deflators	Conversion factors 1967 (4th q.) = 1.000
Annual average			
1957		97.5	1.219
1958		100.0	1.189
1959		101.6	1.170
1960		103.3	1.151
1961		104.6	1.137
1962		105.7	1.125
1963		107.1	1.110
1964		108.9	1.092
1965		110.9	1.072
1966		113.9	1.044
1967		117.3	1.014

Quarterly

1966	4th	115.3	1.031
1967	1st	116.0	1.025
	2nd	116.6	1.020
	3rd	117.7	1.010
	4th	118.9	1.000

Source: Survey of Current Business, U.S. Department of Commerce, Office of Business Economics (Deflators of 1957-1964 from issue of August, 1965, page 53)

12/31/67

R-1

ĸ	×	General F 'orking Bal	XYZ COMPANY General Price-Level Restatement—1967 Working Balance Sheets—12/31/66 and 12/31/67	APANY estatement- -12/31/66 a	—1967 nd 12/31/6	_	12/31/67 R-2
		12/31/66			12/31/67		
	Conversion Historical factor or source	Conversion factor or source	Restated to 12/81/67 \$'s	Conversion Historical factor or source	Conversion factor or source	Restated to 12/81/67 \$'8	N otes
Assets							
Cash	810,000	(1) 1.031	835,110	1,700,000	(2)	1,700,000	(1) 12/31/66 monetary items be-
Marketable securities (at cost)	1,470,000	R-4	1,623,340	1,500,000	R-4	1,654,090	fore restatement are stated in
Receivable—net Inventories	1,900,000	(1) 1.031	1,958,900	5,050,000	(3)	5,050,000	is/ar/or 4 5. The conversion factor for the end of 1966 is
erials (2,680,000	(3) 1.044	2,797,920	2,810,000	(3) 1.014	2,849,340	used to restate them to 12/31/ 67 \$'s.
Finished goods (FIFO)	2,450,000	(4) 1.031	2,525,950	2,560,000	(4) 1.000	2,560,000	
Parts and supplies (FIFO)	700,000	(3) 1.044	730,800	570,000	(3) 1.014	577,980	(2) 12/31/67 monetary items need
Prepaid expenses	50,000	R-5	52,720	48,000	R-5	49,261	no restatement because they are stated in 12/31/67 %
Total current assets	10,060,000		10,524,740	14,238,000		14,440,671	ale stated iii 14/01/01 4 8.
Property, plant, and equipment							(3) Year-end balance assumed ac- guired fairly evenly through-
(at cost)	25,400,000	R-6	29,154,200	25,900,000	R-6	29,579,550	out the year.
Less: Accumulated depreciation	16,350,000	R-7	19,016,680	18,260,000	R-7	21,156,145	(4) Assumed that all significant
	9,050,000		10,137,520	7,640,000		8,423,405	
	19,110,000		20,662,260	21,878,000		22,864,076	goods were incurred in last quarter of the vear. Costs in-
Liabilities							curred before last quarter of the year (e.g., depreciation)
Current liabilities	9 060 000	100 1 (1)	2 041 4K0	1 770 000	(6)	4 770 000	assumed not material.
Deferred income—payments	2,000,000	T00.1 (T)	001'110'0	*, 1 10,000	(9)	2 , 1 0,000	(E) 10/91/60 metained countered an
۲B	120,000	R-8	125,280	100,000	R-8	100,900	
Long-term debt	5,300,000	(1) 1.031	5,464,300	5,000,000	(3)	5,000,000	makes the balance sheet bal- ance.
	8,370,000		8,631,030	9,870,000		9,870,900	
Stockholders' Equity							
Capital stock-common	1,760,000	R-4	2,109,120	1,760,000	R-4	2,109,120	
Additional paid-in capital	3,150,000		3,784,550	3,150,000	R-4	3,784,550	
Keramen earnings	5,830,000	(2)	6,137,560	7,098,000	R-3	7,099,506	
	10,740,000		12,031,230	12,008,000		12,993,176	
	000'011'81		007'700'07	000'010'T7		010/#00/77	

.24

XYZ COMPANY General Price-Level Restatement—1967 Working Statement of Income and Retained Earnings

12/31/67 R-3

	Historical	Conversion factor or source	Restated to 12/31/67 \$'s
Sales	30,000,000	R-9	30,424,220
Operating expenses:			
Cost of sales (except depreciation)	22,735,000	R-9	23,232,180
Depreciation	2,310,000	R-7	2,616,635
Selling and administrative expenses	2,57 7 ,000	R-10	2,614,704
	27,622,000		28,463,519
Operating profit	2,378,000		1,960,701
Loss of sale of equipment		R-10	(11,730)
General price-level gain	0	R-11	137,715
	-0-		125,985
Income before federal income taxes	2,378,000		2,086,686
Federal income taxes	910,000	(1) 1.014	922,740
Net income	1,468,000		1,163,9 4 6
Retained earnings-12/31/66	5,8 3 0,000	R-2	6,137,560
	7,298,000		7,301,506
Dividends paid			
June 1967	100,000	1.020	102,000
December 1967	100,000	1.000	100,000
	200,000		202,000
Retained earnings—12/31/67	7,098,000		7,099,506
(1) Aggregated accompany metables through			

(1) Assumed accrued ratably throughout the year

.25

XYZ COMPANY

12/31/67

General Price-Level Restatement—1967 R-4 Analysis of Marketable Securities, Capital Stock, and Additional Paid-in Capital

	Factor to	Marketab	le securities	Capital	stock	Additional pa	id-in capital
Year acquired	restate to		Restated to 12/31/67 \$'s	Historical	Restated to 12/31/67 \$'s		Restated to 12/31/67 \$'s
1957	1.219			1,000,000	1,219,000	2,000,000	2,438,000
1958	1.189			500,000	594,500	750,000	891,750
1959	1.170						
1960	1.151						
1961	1.137	500,000	5 6 8,500	260,000	295,62 0	400,000	454,800
1962	1.1 2 5						
19 63	1.110						
1964	1.092	750,000	819,000				
1965	1.072	220,000	235,840				
1966	1.044						
Balance	s						
12/31	/66	1,470,000	1,623,340	1,760,000	2,109,120	3,150,000	3,784,550
1967		••••••••••••					
1st q.	1.025	30,000	30,750				
2nd q.	1.020	30,000	30,700				
3 rd q.	1.010						
4th q.	1.000						
average							
Balance			[ll	
12/31	-	1.500.000	1,654,090	1,760,000	2,109,120	3,150,000	3,784,550
12/31	/01	1,000,000	1,001,000	1,100,000	2,103,120		
		Note: All n	narketable				

Note: All marketable securities assumed to be nonmonetary

AC § 1071C.25

12/31/67	R-5		Balance 12/31/67		3,216	10,440		17,425		18,180		49,261
12/	щ					1		T		1		4
		Restated to 12/31/67 \$'s	Amortization	5,460	7,504	26,100		8,200		2,020		49,284
		Restated to	Additions					25,625		20,200		45,825
967			Balance 12/31/66	5,460	10,720	36,540						52,720
General Price-Level Restatement-1967	Analysis of Prepaid Expenses		Balance 12/31/67		3,000	10,000		17,000		18,000		48,000
Price-Level	alysis of Prep	ical	Additions Amortization	5,000	7,000	25,000		8,000		2,000		47,000
General	An	Historical	Additions					25,000		20,000		45,000
			Balance 12/31/66	5,000	10,000	35,000						50,000
		Factor to	restate to 12/31/67 \$'s	1.092	1.072	1.044		1.025	1.020	1.010	1.000	
			Year acquired	1964	1965	1966	1967	1st q.	2nd q.	3rd q.	4th q.	

Statements Restated for General Price-Level Changes-Appendix C

AICPA Professional Standards

28

XYZ COMPANY

AC § 1071C.26

Ractor to restate to 1219 Historical 2000/000 Historical 281ance Restated to 12/31/67 \$'s 1.219 2000/000 2800/000 2800/000 2843.000 3,657/000 3,453/00 3, 117/00 3,657/000 3,453/00 3, 117/00 3,657/000 3,453/00 3, 117/00 3,667/000 1117/000 3,4567/000 1117/000 4, 4,680,000 3,567/000 3,567/000 3,567/000 1117/000 4, 4,480,000 3,567/000 3,567/000 3,567/000 1117/000 4, 4,143,600 4, 4,43,600 4, 4,43,600 4, 4,43,600 4, 4,43,600 4, 4,43,600 4, 4,43,600 4, 4,43,600 4, 4,43,600 4, 4, 4,43,600 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4				Analysis	Analysis of Property, Plant, and Equipment	lant, and Equi	pment			R-6
Balance Balance <t< th=""><th></th><th>Ractor to</th><th></th><th>Hist</th><th>orical</th><th></th><th></th><th>Restated to</th><th>12/31/67 \$'s</th><th></th></t<>		Ractor to		Hist	orical			Restated to	12/31/67 \$'s	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Year acquired		Balance 12/81/66	Additions	Retirements	Ba lance 12/31/67	Balance 12/31/66	Additions	Retirements	Balance 12/31/67
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	1957		3,000,000		200,000	2,800,000	3,657,000		243,800	3,413,200
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1958		3,000,000		100,000	2,900,000	3,567,000		118,900	3,448,100
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1959		4,000,000		100,000	3,900,000	4,680,000		117,000	4,563,000
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1960		3,600,000			3,600,000	4,143,600			4,143,600
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1961		800,000			800,000	909'606			909'606
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1962		5,000,000			5,000,000	5,625,000			5,625,000
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1963		3,000,000			3,000,000	3,330,000			3,330,000
1.072 500,000 536,000 536,000 1.044 500,000 500,000 536,000 522,000 1.045 500,000 500,000 522,000 522,000 1.025 250,000 300,000 256,250 306,000 1.020 300,000 200,000 256,250 306,000 1.010 200,000 200,000 250,000 256,000 256,000 1.010 200,000 250,000 250,000 255,400,000 1,000,000 500,000 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,	1964		2,000,000		100,000	1,900,000	2,184,000		109,200	2,074,800
1.044 500,000 500,000 522,000 1.025 250,000 250,000 256,250 1.020 300,000 300,000 306,000 1.010 200,000 200,000 250,000 1.010 256,000 250,000 250,000 255,400,000 1,000 250,000 250,000 255,400,000 1,001 29,154,200 1,014,250	1965		500,000			500,000	536,000			536,000
1.025 250,000 250,000 256,250 1.020 300,000 300,000 306,000 1.010 200,000 200,000 200,000 1.000 250,000 250,000 250,000 25,400,000 1,000,000 200,000 29,154,200 1,014,250	1966		500 ,00 0			500,000	522,000			522,000
1.025 250,000 250,000 256,250 1.020 300,000 300,000 306,000 1.010 200,000 200,000 200,000 1.010 256,250 268,250 266,000 250,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 255,400,000 1,000,000 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,	1967									
1.020 300,000 300,000 306,000 1.010 200,000 200,000 202,000 1.010 256,000 250,000 250,000 25,400,000 1,000 29,154,200 1,014,250	1st q.			250,000		250,000		256,250		256,250
1.010 200,000 200,000 202,000 1.000 250,000 250,000 250,000 255,400,000 1,000,000 25,900,000 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,	2nd q.	•••		300,000		300,000		306,000		306,000
1.000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900 29,154,200 1,014,250 1,014,250 1,014,250 1,014,250 1,014,250 1,014,250 1,014,250 1,014,250 1,014,250 1,014,250 1,014,250 1,014	3rd q.	•••		200,000		200,000		202,000		202,000
,400,000 1,000,000 500,000 25,900,000 29,154,200 1,014,250 588,900	4th q.			250,000		250,000		250,000		250,000
			25,400,000	1,000,000	500,000	25,900,000	29,154,200	1,014,250	588,900	29,579,550

12/31/67

General Price-Level Restatement—1967

XYZ COMPANY

Financial Accounting-General

AC § 1071C.27

5

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

7559

Year	Factor to		Hist	Historical			Restated to 12/31/67 \$'s	12/31/67 \$'8	
assets acquired	restate to 12/31/67 \$' s	Balance 12/81/66	Depreciation (1)	Retirements	Balance 12/31/67	Balance 12/31/66	Depreciation (1)	Retirements	Balance 12/31/67
1957	1.219	3.000,000		200,000	2,800,000	3,657,000		243,800	3,413,200
1958	1.189	2,700,000	290,000	000'06	2,900,000	3,210,300	344,810	107,010	3,448,100
1959	1.170	3,200,000	390,000	80,000	3,510,000	3,744,000	456,300	93,600	4,106,700
1960	1.151	2,520,000	360,000		2,880,000	2,900,520	414,360		3,314,880
1961	1.137	480,000	80,000		560,000	545,760	90,960		636,720
1962	1.125	2,500,000	500,000		3,000,000	2,812,500	562,500		3,375,000
1963	1.110	1,200,000	300,000		1,500,000	1,332,000	333,000		1,665,000
1964	1.092	600,000	190,000	30,000	760,000	655.200	207.480	32,760	829,920
1965	1.072	100,000	50,000		150,000	107,200	53,600		160,800
1966	1.044	50,000	50,000		100,000	52,200	52,200		104,400
1967		~							
1st q.	1.025		25,000		25,000		25,625		25,625
2nd q.	1.020		30,000		30,000		30,600		30,600
3rd g.	1.010		20,000		20,000		20,200		20,200
4th q.	1.000		25,000		25,000		25,000		25,000
		16,350,000	2,310,000	400,000	18,260,000	19,016,680	2,616,635	477,170	21,156,145

XYZ COMPANY

General Price-Level Restatement-1967 Analysis of Accumulated Depreciation

8

(1) Depreciation basis: Straight line

Full year's depreciation in year of acquisition No depreciation in year of disposition No salvage value 10 year life

07.				XYZ COMPANY	PANY				
			General F	rice-Level Re	General Price-Level Restatement-1967	967			12/31/67
			Ana	Analysis of Deferred Income	rred Income				R-8
	Factor to		Historical	al			Restated to 12/31/67 \$'s	/31/67 \$'s	
Year acquired	restate to 12/31/67 \$'s	Balance 12/31/66	Additions	Realized	Balance 12/31/67	Balance 12/31/66	Additions	Realized	Balance 12/31/67
1966		120,000		120,000		125,280		125,280	
1967									
1st q.	1.025		40,000	40,000			41,000	41,000	
2nd q.	•••		50,000	30,000	20,000		51,000	30,600	20,400
3rd q.	••		50,000		50,000		50,500		50,500
4th q.	••		30,000		30,000		30,000		30,000
		120,000	170,000	190,000	100,000	125,280	172,500	196,880	100,900
	-								

VIN COMPANY

AC § 1071C.29

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.29

.30

XYZ COMPANY General Price-Level Restatement—1967 Analysis of Sales and Cost of Sales

12/31/67 R-9

	Historical	Conversion factor or source	Restated to 12/31/67 \$'s
Sales		502200	
Current sales	29,810,000	(1) 1.014	30,227,340
Deferred sales realized	190,000	R-8	196,880
Total sales	30,000,000		30,424,220
Cost of sales (except depreciation)			
Inventories 12/31/66			
Raw materials	2,680,000	R-2	2,797,920
Finished goods	2,450,000	R-2	2,525,9 50
Parts and supplies	700,000	R-2	730,800
Purchases during 1967	22,845,000	(1) 1.014	23,164,830
	28,675,000		29,219,500
Inventories 12/31/67			
Raw materials	2,810,000	R-2	2,849,340
Finished goods	2,560,000	R-2	2,560,000
Parts and supplies	570,000	R-2	577,980
	5,940,000		5,987,320
	22,735,000		23,232,180

(1) Spread fairly evenly throughout the year

AICPA Professional Standards

.31 Gen	eral Price-Le	COMPANY vel Restatemen s of Expenses	t—1967	12/31/67 R-10
Salling and administration		Historical	Conversion factor or source	Restated to 12/31/67 \$'s
Selling and administrative Amortization of prepaid Other	-	47,000 2,530,000 2,577,000	R-5 (1) 1.014	49,284 2,565,420 2,614,704
(1) Spread fairly througho	ut the year			
Loss on sale of equipment				
Cost		500,000	R-6	588,900
Accumulated depreciation	n	400,000	R-7	477,170
		100,000		111,730
Proceeds, December, 196	7	100.000	1.000	100,000
Loss				11,730

XYZ COMPANY General Price-Level Restatement—1967 General Price-Level Gain or Loss

12/31/67 R-11

		12/3	1/66	12/31/67
Net monetary items	Source	Historical	Restated to 12/31/67 \$'s	Historical (stated in 12/31/67 \$'s)
Cash	R-2	810,000	835,110	1,700,000
Receivables	R-2 R-2	1,900,000	1,958,900	5,050,000
Current liabilities	R-2	(2,950,000)	(3,041,450)	(4,770,000)
Long-term debt	R-2	(5,300,000)	(5,464,300)	(5,000,000)
Long term debt		(5,540,000)	(5,711,740)	(3,020,000)
General price-level gain or lo		Historical	Source	Restated to 12/31/67 \$'s
		(5 540 000)		
Net monetary items—12/31 Add:	/66	(5,540,000)	as above	(5,711,740)
Current sales		29,810,000	R-9	30,227,340
Additions to deferred inco	ome	170,000	R-8	172,500
Proceeds from sale of eq	luipment	100,000	R-10	100,000
		24,540,000		24,788,100
Deduct:				
Purchases		22,845,000	R-9	23,164,830
Selling and administrati	ve ex-			
pensesother		2,530,000	R-10	2,565,420
Federal income taxes		910,000	R-3	922,740
Dividends		200,000	R-3	202,000
Purchase of marketable s Purchases of property, pl		30,000	R-4	30,750
equipment		1,000,000	R-6	1,014,250
Additions to prepaid expe	enses	45,000	R-5	45,825
		27,560,000		27,945,815
Net monetary items—histor	rical—			
12/31/67 (as above)		(3,020,000)		
Net monetary items—resta 12/31/67 (if there were				(3,157,715)
Net monetary items—12/31 (as above)	1/67			(3,020,000)
General price-level gain				137,715

.32

1968 RESTATEMENT-XYZ COMPANY

.33

EXHIBIT A

XYZ Company Comparative General Price-Level Balance Sheets December 31, 1968 and December 31, 1967

	General Price (Restated to	
ASSETS	Dec. 31, 1968	Dec. 31, 1967
Current assets:		
Cash	\$(**) 2,120,000	\$(as) 1,766,000
Marketable securities, at cost		1,719,000
Receivables (net)	6,170,000	5,247,000
Inventories, at the lower of cost and market on a first-in, first- out basis:		
Raw materials	2,575,000	2,960,000
Finished goods	2,390,000	2,660,000
Parts and supplies	621,000	601,000
Prepaid expenses	43,000	51,000
Total current assets	13,919,000	15,004,000
Property, plant, and equipment, at		
cost	31,208,000	30,733,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation.	24,253,000	21,981,000
	6,955,000	8,752,000
	\$(\$\$)20,874,000	\$(**)23,756,000

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities	\$(m) 2,521,000	\$(s) 4,957,000
Deferred income – payments re- ceived in advance Long-term debt	51,000 4,700,000	105,000 5,195,000
Stockholders' equity:		
Capital stock—common	2,191,000	2,191,000
Additional paid-in capital	3,932,000	3,932,000
Retained earnings	7,479,000	7,376,000
Total stockholders' equity.	13,602,000	13,499,000
	\$(\$\$)20,874,000	\$(**)23,756,000

AC § 1071C.33

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

EXHIBIT B

XYZ Company

Comparative General Price-Level Statements of Income and Retained Earnings Years Ended December 31, 1968 and December 31, 1967

	:e-Level Basis o 12/31/68)
1968	1967
\$(@)27,381,000	\$(@)31,611,000
21,379,000	24,138,000
2,408,000	2,719,000
2,658,000	2,717,000
26,445,000	29,574,000
936,000	2,037,000
41,000	(12,000)
(118,000)	
85,000	143,000
8,000	131,000
944,000	2,168,000
639,000	959,000
305,000	1,209,000.
7,376,000	6,377,000
7,681,000	7,586,000
202,000	210,000
\$(65) 7,479,000	\$() 7,376,000
	(Restated to 1968 \$()27,381,000 21,379,000 2,408,000 2,658,000 26,445,000 936,000 41,000 (118,000) 85,000 944,000 639,000 305,000 7,376,000 7,681,000 202,000

.34

.35

1968

12/31/68 R-1

XYZ COMPANY General Price-Level Restatement—1968 Gross National Product Implicit Price Deflators and Conversion Factors

Year	Quarter	GNP deflators	Conversion factors 1968 (4th q.) = 1.000
Annual average			
1957		97 .5	1.267
1958		100.0	1.23 5
1959		101.6	1.216
1960		103.3	1.196
1961		104.6	1.181
1962		105.7	1.168
1963		107.1	1.153
1964		108.9	1.134
1965		110.9	1.114
1966		113.9	1.084
1967		117.3	1.053
1968		121.8	1.014
Quarterly			
1966	4th	115.3	1.071
1967	1st	116.0	1.065
	2nd	116.6	1.059
	3rd	117.7	1.049
	4th	118 .9	1.039

120.0

121.2

122.3

123.5

1.029

1.019

1.010

1.000

1st

2nd

3rd

4th

Source: Survey of Current Business, U.S. Department of Commerce, Office of Business Economics

AC § 1071C.35 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.36		ХХ	XYZ COMPANY			12/31/68
	M	General Price- orking Balance S	General Price-Level Restatement—1968 Working Balance Sheets—12/31/67 and 12/31/68	nt—1968 and 12/31/	88	R-2
	12/	12/81/67		12/31/68		
	Restated to 12/31/67 \$'s	Restated to Restated to 12/31/67 \$'s 12/31/68 \$'s		Conversion factor or	Restated to	
Assets	(T)	(2)	HIBUOTICAL	source	5.4 00/T2/2T	Notes
Cash	1,700,000	1,766,300	2,120,000	(3)	2,120,000	(1) From R-2 of 12/31/67
Marketable securities (at cost)	1,654,090	1,718,600		é		(2) Each item "rolled-forward"
Keceivables-net	000'000'0	0,246,900	6,170,000	(8)	P'T.(0'000	ILOW 17/31/01 \$ \$ 10/17/21
Inventories Raw materials (FIFO)	2,849,340	2,960,464	2,540,000	(4) 1.014	2,575,560	68 \$'s by using conversion factor for the last quarter of
Finished goods (FIFO)	2,560,000	2,659,840	2,390,000	(5) 1.000	2,390,000	1967—1.039
Farts and supplies (FIFO) Prepaid expenses	577,980 49,261	600,521 51,182	612,000 42,000	(4) 1.014 R-4	620,568 43,030	(3) Monetary itemsno restate-
Total current assets	14,440,671	15,003,857	13,874,000		13,919,158	ment needed
Property, plant, and equipment						(4) Year-end balance assumed ac-
(at cost)	29,579,550	30,733,153	26,400,000	R-5	31,208,277	quired fairly evenly through-
Less: Accumulated depreciation	21,156,145	21,981,235	20,210,000	R-6	24,253,021	out the year.
	8,423,405	8,751,918	6,190,000		6,955,256	(5) See note 4 in R-2 of 12/31/67
	22.864.076	23.755.775	20.064.000		20.874.414	(6) No change in historical bal-
						ances during 1968. The re-
Liabilities						stated balances in the 12/31/ 88 helence sheet are there-
Current liabilities	4,770,000	4,956,030	2,521,000	(3)	2,521,000	fore the same as the balances
Leterred income	100.900	104.835	50.000	R-7	50.490	in the 12/31/67 balance sheet
Long-term debt	5,000,000	5,195,000	4,700,000	(3)	4,700,000	restated to 12/31/08 \$ 3 In column 2 of this worksheet.
	9,870,900	10,255,865	7,271,000		7,271,490	
Stockholders' Equity						
Capital stock-common	2,109,120	2,191,376	1,760,000	(9)	2,191,376	
Additional paid-in capital	3,784,550	3,932,147	3,150,000	(9)	3,932,147	
Retained earnings	7,099,506	7,376,387	7,883,000	R-3	7,479,401	
	12,993,176	13,499,910	12,793,000		13,602,924	
	22,864,076	23,755,775	20,064,000		20,874,414	
-		a come the second second second second				

AICPA Professional Standards

AC § 1071C.36

Working	General Price-Lev Statements of I	General Price-Level Restatement-1968 Working Statements of Income and Retained Earnings	8 Earnings		12/31/68 R-3
	9	1967		1968	
	Restated to 12/81/67 \$'s (1)	Restated to 12/31/68 \$'s (2)	Historical	Conversion factor or source	Restated to 12/81/68 \$'s
Sales	30,424,220	31,610,764	27,000,000	R-8	27,381,735
Operating expenses:		01 100 005	90 856 000	a C	970 100
Cost of sales (except depreciation) Depreciation	2616635	24,136,230 2,718,684	20,856,000	6-7 9-8	2.407.937
Selling and administrative expenses	2,614,704	2,716,677	2,620,000	R-9	2,658,412
	28,463,519	29,573,596	25,546,000		26,445,458
Operating profit	1,960,701	2,037,168	1,454,000		936,277
Gain or (loss) on sale of equipment	(11,730)	(12,187)	61,000	R-9	41,354
Gain or (loss) on sale of securities			100,000	R-9	(118,600)
General price-level gain	137,715	143,086	- -	R-10	84,703
	125,985	130,899	161,000		7,457
Income before federal income taxes	2,086,686	2,168,067	1,615,000		943,734
Federal income taxes	922,740	958,727	630,000	(3) 1.014	638,820
Net income	1,163,946	1,209,840	985,000		304,914
Retained earnings- beginning of year	6,137,560	6,376,925	7,098,000	R-2 (1967, 8)	7,376,387
	7,301,506	7,586,265	8,083,000		7,681,301
Dividends paid			000 001		000 101
December 1968	100,000	103,900	100,000	1.000	100,000
	202,000	209,878	200,000		201,900
Retained earningsend of year	7,099,506	7,376,387	7,883,000		7,479,401

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

From R-3 of 12/31/67
 Each item "rolled-forward" from 12/31/67 \$'s to 12/31/68 \$'s by using conversion factor for the last quarter of 1967-1.039
 Assumed accrued ratably throughout the vear

37

XYZ COMPANY

Financial Accounting-General

XYZ COMPANY

				General Price-Level Kestatement—1963 Analysis of Prepaid Expenses	ral Frice-Level Nestatement- Analysis of Prepaid Expenses	Expenses	9			12/31/68 R-4
			Histo	Historical		Balance	8	Restated to 12/31/68 \$'s	./31/68 \$'s	
Year acquired	Factor to restate 1968 additions	Balance 12/31/67	Additions	Additions Amortization	Balance 12/31/68	12/31/67 in 12/31/67 \$'s (1)	Balance 12/31/67 (2)	Additions	Amortization	Balance 12/31/68
1965 1966		3,000 10,000		3,000 8,000	2,000	3,216 10,440	3,341 10,847		(3) 3,341 (3) 8,678	2,169
1967										
1st q.		17,000		10,000	7,000	17,425	18,105		(3) 10,650	7,455
3rd q.		18,000		12,000	6,000	18,180	18,889		(3) 12,593	6,296
1968								011 11	060 6	
əru q. 4th q.	000.1		20,000	3,000 4,000	16,000			20,000	3,030 4,000	16,000
		48,000	34,000	40,000	42,000	49,261	51,182	34,140	42,292	43,030

(2) Each item restated by factor for 4th quarter 1967-1.039

(3) Restated amortization is same percentage of restated 12/31/67 balance as historical

amortization is of historical 12/31/67 balance.

88

ĀN	
MPA	
00	
ZXX	

Analysis of Property, Plant, and Equipment General Price-Level Restatement-1968

12/31/68 R-5

	factor to		Historical	-		12/31/67 in		Restated to 12/21/08 5.8	12/21/09 \$'8	
	restate 1968 additions	Balance 12/31/67	Additions	Retirements	Balance 12/31/68	12/31/67 \$'s (1)	Balance 12/31/67 (2)	Additions	Additions Betirements	Balance 12/31/68
57		2,800,000			2,800,000	3,413,200	3,546,315			3,546,315
58		2,900,000			2,900,000	3,448,100	3,582,576			3,582,576
29		3,900,000			3,900,000	4,563,000	4,740,957			4,740,957
80		3,600,000			3,600,000	4,143,600	4,305,200			4,305,200
61		800,000			800,000	809'600	945,074			945,074
62		5,000,000			5,000,000	5,625,000	5,844,375			5,844,375
63		3,000,000			3,000,000	3,330,000	3,459,870			3,459,870
64		1,900,000		300,000	1,600,000	2,074,800	2,155,717		(3) 340,376	1,815,341
65		500,000			500,000	536,000	556,904			556,904
66		500,000			500,000	522,000	542,858			542,358
67										
÷		250,000			250,000	256,250	266,244			266,244
÷		300,000			300,000	306,000	317,934			317,934
÷		200,000			200,000	202,000	209,878			209,878
ġ.		250,000			250,000	250,000	259,751			258,751
<u>88</u>										
÷	1.029		300,000		300,000			308,700		308,700
2nd g. 3rd g. 4th g.	1.019		200,000 800,000		200,000 300,000			203,800 303,000		203,800 803,000
		25,900,000	800,000	300,000	26,400,000	29,579,550	30,733,153	815,500	340,376	31,208,277

(1) From R-6 of 12/31/67

(2) Restated to 12/31/68 \$'s by factor for 4th quarter 1967—1.039
 (3) Restated retirement amount is same percentage of restated

Restated retirement amount is same percentage of restated 12/31/67 halance as historical retirement amount is of historical 12/31/67 halance.

Financial Accounting-General

AC § 1071C.39

39

12/31/ R-6

General Price-Level Restatement-1968 Analysis of Accumulated Depreciation XYZ COMPANY

d 12/31/66 % Balance d 12/31/66 % 2,800,000 2,800,000 3,510,000 2,880,000 2,880,000 1,500,000 1,	Depreciation (1) 890,000 880,000 880,000 880,000 500,000 160,000 50,000 50,000	Retirements	Balance 12/31/68 2,800,000	12/31/67 \$'s (2)	Balance 12/31/67 (4)	Depreciation (1)	Retirements	Balance 12/31/68
ณ์ สิ ฮิ สิ ฮิ ส ี	890,000 880,000 80,000 500,000 800,000 500,000 500,000 500,000		2,800,000					
สี่ตี้สี่ ดี ค่	380,000 380,000 80,000 500,000 300,000 500,000 50,000 50,000			3,413,200	3,546,316			3,546,316
ਲੇ ਨੇ ⁻ ਲੇ ਜੇ	390,000 360,000 500,000 300,000 50,000 50,000 50,000		2,900,000	3,448,100	3,582,576			3,582,576
ਕੇ ਕੇਜੇ	360,000 80,000 500,000 300,000 50,000 50,000		3,900,000	4,106,700	4,266,861	474,096		4,740,957
~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~	80,000 500,000 300,000 160,000 50,000 50,000		3,240,000	3,314,880	3,444,160	430,520		3,874,680
ଡି ମ ି	500,000 300,000 50,000 50,000 50,000		640,000	636,720	661,552	94,507		756,059
ਜ	300,000 160,000 50,000 50,000		3,500,000	3,375,000	3,506,625	584,437		4,091,062
	160,000 50,000 50,000		1,800,000	1,665,000	1,729,935	345,987		2,075,922
	50,000 50,000	120,000	800,000	829,920	862,287	181,534	(3) 136,151	907,670
	50,000		200,000	160,800	167,071	55,690	•	222,761
			150,000	104,400	108,472	54,236		162,708
1967 1=1 0 28 000	200				100 00	100 80		
	50°00		300'00	070'07	70'07	170'07		00,670
	30.000		60,000	30,600	31,793	31,793		63,586
	20,000		40,000	20,200	20,988	20,988		41,976
4th q. 25,000	25,000		50,000	25,000	25,975	25,975		51,950
1968								
	30,000		30,000			30,870		30,870
	20,000		20,000			20,380		20,380
8rd q. 1.010 4th q.	30,000		30,000			30,300		30,300
18,260,000	2,070,000	120,000 2	20,210,000	21,156,145	21,981,235	2,407,937	136,151	24,253,021
(1) Depreciation basis: Straight line	line		(2)	(2) From R-7 of 12/31/67	12/31/67			
10 year life	lfe		(3)	Restated acc	sumulated de	precistion on s	(3) Restated accumulated depreciation on assets retired is same per-	s same per-
No salvage value	No salvage value			centage of r	estated 12/31	1/67 balance a	centage of restated 12/31/67 balance as historical accumulated	ccumulated

(4) Restated to 12/31/68 \$'s by factor for 4th quarter 1967-1.039. depreciation on retirements is of historical 12/31/67 balance.

No depreciation in year of disposition Full year's depreciation in year of

acquisition

			5	General Price-Level Restatement—1968 Analysis of Deferred Income	Analysis of Deferred Income	Tement-1960				R-7
	Factor to		Historical			Balance		Restated to 12/31/68 \$'s	// 31/68 \$'s	
Year Icquired 1967	restate to 12/81/68 \$'s	Ba lance 12/81/67	Additions Realized	Realized	Balance 12/31/68	12/31/67 \$'s (1)	Balance 12/31/67 (2)	Additions	Realized	Balance 12/31/68
		20,000 50,000 30,000		20,000 50,00 0 80,00 0		20,400 50,500 80,000	21,196 52,469 31,170		21,196 52,469 81,170	
1968 1st q. 2nd q. 8rd q. 4th q.	1.028 1.018 1.010		20,000 30,000 30,000	20,000	10,000 30,000			20,580 10,190 30,300	20,580	10,180 30,300
		100,000	70,000	120,000	50, 0 00	100,900	104,835	71,070	125,415	50,490

7572

Financial Accounting-General

AC § 1071C.41

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.42

XYZ COMPANY General Price-Level Restatement—1968 Analysis of Sales and Cost of Sales

12/31/68 R-8

Historical	Conversion factor or source	Restated to 12/31/68 \$'s
• •	\ - >	27,256,320
120,000	R-7	125,415
27,000,000		27,381,735
2,810,000	R-2 (1967, 8)	2,960,464
2,560,000	R-2 (1967, 8)	2,659,840
570,000	R-2 (1967, 8)	600,521
20,458,000	(1) 1.014	20,744,412
26,398,000		26,965,237
2,540,000	R-2	2,575,560
2,390,000	R-2	2,390,000
612,000	R-2	620,568
5,542,000		5,586,128
20,856,000		21,379,109
	26,880,000 120,000 27,000,000 2,560,000 20,458,000 26,398,000 26,398,000 2,540,000 2,390,000 612,000 5,542,000	Historical factor or source 26,880,000 (1) 1.014 120,000 R-7 27,000,000 R-7 27,000,000 R-2 (1967, 8) 2,560,000 R-2 (1967, 8) 570,000 R-2 (1967, 8) 20,458,000 (1) 1.014 26,398,000 (1) 1.014 26,398,000 R-2 2,540,000 R-2 5,542,000 R-2

(1) Spread fairly evenly throughout the year

7574

.43

XYZ COMPANY General Price-Level Restatement—1968 Analysis of Expenses

12/31/68 R-9

Historical	Conversion factor or source	Restated to 12/31/68 \$'s
40,000	R-4	42,292
2,580,000	(1) 1.014	2,616,120
2,620,000		2,658,412
/ear		
300,000	R-5	340,376
120,000	R-6	136,151
180,000		204,225
241,000	1.0 19	245,579
61,000		41,354
<u> </u>		
1,500, 000	R-2 (1967, 8)	1,718,600
1,600,000	1.000	1,600,000
100,000		(118,600)
	40,000 2,580,000 2,620,000 2,620,000 2,620,000 120,000 180,000 241,000 61,000 1,500,000 1,600,000	Historical factor or source 40,000 R-4 2,580,000 (1) 1.014 2,620,000 (1) 1.014 2,620,000 R-5 120,000 R-6 180,000 1.019 61,000 1.019 1,500,000 R-2 (1967, 8) 1,600,000 1.000

.44

XYZ COMPANY General Price-Level Restatement-1968 **General Price-Level Gain or Loss**

12/31/68 **R-10**

		12/31/	/67	12/31/68
	Source	Historical	Restated to 12/31/68 \$'s	Historical (stated in 12/31/68 \$'s)
Net monetary items				
Cash	R-2	1,700,000	1,766,300	2,120,000
Receivables	R-2	5,050,000	5,246,950	6,170,000
Current liabilities	R-2	(4,770,000)	(4,956,030)	(2,521,000)
Long-term debt	R-2	(5,000,000)	(5,195,000)	(4,700,000)
		(3,020,000)	(3,137,780)	1,069,000

eneral price-level gain or loss	Historical	Source	Restated to 12/31/68 \$'s
Net monetary items—12/31/67	(3,020,000)	as above	(3,137,780)
Add:			
Current sales	26,880,000	R-8	27,256,320
Additions to deferred income	70,000	R-7	71,070
Proceeds from sale of equipment	241,000	R-9	245,579
Proceeds from sale of securities	1,600,000	R-9	1,600,000
	25,771,000		26,035,189
Deduct:			
Purchases	20,458,000	R-8	20,744,412
Selling and administrative ex-			
penses-other	2,580,000	R-9	2,616,120
Federal income taxes	630,000	R-3	638,820
Dividends	200,000	R-3	201,900
Purchases of property, plant, and			
equipment	800,000	R-5	815,500
Additions to prepaid expenses	34,000	R-4	34,140
	24,702,000		25,050,892
Net monetary items—historical—			
12/31/68 (as above)	1,069,000		
Net monetary items—restated—			
12/31/68 (if there were no gain)			984,297
Net monetary items—12/31/68			
(as above)			1,069,000
General price-level gain			84,703

 \implies The next page is 7581. \leftarrow

Financial Statements Restated for General Price-Level Changes—Appendix D

GENERAL PRICE-LEVEL CHANGES AND SPECIFIC PRICE CHANGES

General price-level statements deal with changes .01 in the general purchasing power of money. Adjustments for changes in the specific prices of nonmonetary assets and liabilities either by use of market prices or specific indexes. on the other hand, deal with changes in market or replacement values. Restatement for general price-level changes does not attempt to deal with specific market price changes: adjustments for specific price changes do not deal with the effects of inflation as such. The effects of general price-level changes and specific price changes may be dealt with separately or they may be dealt with simultaneously. Dealing with one is not a substitute for dealing with the other. Restatement for general price-level changes is appropriate if the effects of inflation are important, regardless of whether or not specific price changes are recognized currently. The effects of inflation are not treated if only specific price changes are recognized.

.02 The following illustration shows the differences between recognition of general price-level changes and specific price changes. Four different bases of accounting are illustrated:

- 1. Historical cost, not restated for general price-level changes.
- 2. Historical cost restated for general price-level changes (the method covered in section 1071).
- 3. Current value, not restated for general price-level changes.
- 4. Current value, restated for general price-level changes.

- A. In the income statement
 - 1. General price-level statements change the amounts but not the timing of revenue, expenses, gains, and losses.
 - 2. Specific price adjustments (without general pricelevel restatements) change the timing of recognition of revenue, expenses, gains, and losses, but not the amounts.
 - 3. Recognition of changes in both specific prices and in the general price level (1) changes the timing of recognition of revenue, expenses, gains, and losses and (2) changes the amounts.
- B. In the balance sheet
 - 1. General price-level accounting presents restated historical cost.
 - 2. Specific price adjustments present assets at current market value or replacement cost or approximations of them.

Information for Illustration

.04 Land was purchased in year 1 for \$20,000. Market price did not change in year 1.

Land was held during year 2, during which market price advanced to \$26,000.

Land was sold for \$34,000 at the end of year 3. GNP Deflator indexes:

Year 1	
Year 2	
Year 3	

	Historica	Cost	Current	Value
	Not restated (Col. 1)	Restated (Col. 2)	Nat restated (Col. 3)	Restated (Col. 4)
Balance sheet amount of land				
End of year 1	\$20,000	\$20,0 00	\$20,000	\$20,000
End of year 2	\$20,000	\$22,000	\$26,000	\$26,000
Year 3 before sale	\$20,000	\$24,000	\$34,000	\$34,000
ncome statement gains reported	5			
In year 1	\$ -0	\$ -0	\$0	\$0
In year 2	-0	-0	6,000	4,000 (
In year 3	14,000	10,000	8,000	5,640(
Total gains for 3 years	\$14,000	\$10,000	\$14,000	\$10,000
			(y	year 3 dol
Notes				
(1) Market price, end	of year 2		\$26,000	
Restated market fr 20,000 x 110/1	•		22,000	
Gain from appre	ciation		\$ 4,000	
(2) Selling price, year	3		\$34,000	
Restated market fr 26,000 x 120/1			28,360	
Gain from sale			\$ 5,640	
(3) The \$4,000 gain in restated to year 3 d Total gain:	lollars.	be		
Year 2 appreciat In year 2 de		\$4	,00 0	
In year 3 de Year 3 sale	ollars	\$4	,000 x 120/1	10 \$ 4
Total in y	ear 3 dollar	S		\$10

Comments

.05 1. Column (1) is presented in accordance with present generally accepted accounting principles. Column (2) is presented in accordance with the recommendations of section 1071.

2. Columns (3) and (4) are not discussed in section 1071. They are presented for illustrative purposes only.

3. The restated historical cost balance sheet (column 2) preserves the cost basis. It does not result in presenting assets at market value or the recognition of unrealized gains or losses.

4. Restating the income statement for changes in the general price level changes the amount but not the timing of gains and losses. Recognizing current values changes the timing but not the amount of gains and losses in the income statement. Thus, in the illustration:

- a. In the historical cost columns (1 and 2), the timing of the gains is the same, but the amounts differ (\$14,000 and \$10,000).
- b. In the current value columns (3 and 4), the timing of the gains is the same, but the amounts differ (\$14,000 and \$10,000).
- c. In the unrestated columns (1 and 3), the total gain is the same (\$14,000), but the timing and description of the gains are different.
- d. In the restated columns (2 and 4), the total gain is the same (\$10,000), but the timing and description of the gains are different.

 \implies The next page is 7631. \leftarrow

AC § 1071D.05 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

AC Section 1081 Foreign Operations and Foreign Exchange [Source: ARB No. 43, Chap. 12, as gmended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1953

.01 The recommendations made in this section apply to United States companies which have branches or subsidiaries operating in foreign countries.

.02 Since World War I foreign operations have been influenced to a marked degree by wars, departures from the gold standard, devaluations of currencies, currency restrictions, government regulations, etc.

.03 Although comparatively few countries in recent years have had unrestricted currencies and exchanges, it is nevertheless true that many companies have been doing business in foreign countries having varying degrees of restrictions; in some cases they have been carrying on all operations regarded as normal, including the transmission of funds. In view of the difficulties mentioned above, however, the accounting treatment of assets, liabilities, losses, and gains involved in the conduct of foreign business and to be included or reflected in the financial statements of United States companies requires careful consideration.

.04 A sound procedure for United States companies to follow is to show earnings from foreign operations in their own accounts only to the extent that funds have been received in the United States or unrestricted funds are available for transmission thereto. Appropriate provision should be made also for known losses.

.05 Any foreign earnings reported beyond the amounts received in the United States should be carefully considered in the light of all the facts. The amounts should be disclosed if they are significant, and they should be reserved against to the extent that their realization in dollars appears to be doubtful.

.06 As to assets held abroad, the accounting should take into consideration the fact that most foreign assets

stand in some degree of jeopardy, so far as ultimate realization by United States owners is concerned. Under the conditions it is important that especial care be taken in each case to make full disclosure in the financial statements of United States companies of the extent to which they include significant foreign items.

.07 Where more than one foreign exchange rate is in effect, care should be exercised to select the one most clearly realistic and appropriate in the circumstances.

CONSOLIDATION OF FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES

.08 In view of the uncertain values and availability of the assets and net income of foreign subsidiaries subject to controls and exchange restrictions and the consequent unrealistic statements of income that may result from the translation of many foreign currencies into dollars, careful consideration should be given to the fundamental question of whether it is proper to consolidate the statements of foreign subsidiaries with the statements of United States companies. Whether consolidation of foreign subsidiaries is decided upon or not, adequate disclosure of foreign operations should be made.

.09 The following are among the possible ways of providing information relating to such foreign subsidiaries:

(a) To exclude foreign subsidiaries from consolidation and to furnish (1) statements in which only domestic subsidiaries are consolidated and (2) as to foreign subsidiaries, a summary in suitable form of their assets and liabilities, their income and losses for the year, and the parent company's equity therein. The total amount of investments in foreign subsidiaries should be shown separately, and the basis on which the amount was arrived at should be stated. If these investments include any surplus of foreign subsidiaries and such surplus had previously been included in consolidated surplus, the amount should be separately shown or earmarked in stating the consolidated surplus in the statements here suggested. The exclusion of foreign subsidiaries from consolidation does not make it acceptable practice to include intercompany profits which would be eliminated if such subsidiaries were consolidated.

(b) To consolidate domestic and foreign subsidiaries and to furnish in addition the summary described in (a)(2) above.

(c) To furnish (1) complete consolidated statements and also (2) consolidated statements for domestic companies only.

(d) To consolidate domestic and foreign subsidiaries and to furnish in addition parent company statements showing the investment in and income from foreign subsidiaries separately from those of domestic subsidiaries.

LOSSES AND GAINS ON FOREIGN EXCHANGE

.10 Realized losses or gains on foreign exchange should be charged against or credited to operations.

.11 Provision should be made, ordinarily by a charge against operations, for declines in translation value of foreign net current and working assets (unrealized losses). Unrealized gains should preferably be carried to a suspense account, except to the extent that they offset prior provisions for unrealized losses, in which case they may be credited to the account previously charged.

TRANSLATION OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES, LOSSES AND GAINS

Balance Sheet

.12 Fixed assets and permanent investments should be translated into dollars at the rates prevailing when such assets were acquired or constructed. Long-term receivables may be similarly translated, although translation of such receivables at current exchange rates is appropriate in many circumstances. When large items are purchased for United States dollars (or from the proceeds of sale of such dollars), the United States dollar cost will, of course, be used. If, however, the purchase is made in some foreign currency (obtained from earnings or borrowings), then the cost of the assets should be the equivalent of the amount of foreign currency in the United States dollars, at the rate of exchange prevailing at the time payment is made. An exception to the foregoing general principles might be made where fixed assets, permanent investments, or long-term receivables were acquired shortly before a substantial and

presumably permanent change in the exchange rate with funds obtained in the country concerned, in which case it may be appropriate to restate the dollar equivalent of such assets to the extent of the change in the related debt. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1965, by APB Opinion No. 6.]

.13 In consolidating or combining the accounts, depreciation should be computed on the amount of fixed assets as expressed in United States dollars, even though for purposes of local taxation it may be impossible to show the foreign currency equivalent of the full amount of depreciation on the foreign statements.

.14 Cash, accounts receivable, and other current assets, unless covered by forward exchange contracts, should be translated at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the balance sheet.

.15 Inventory should follow the standard rule of cost or market, whichever is lower in dollars. Where accounts are to be stated in which the question of foreign exchange enters and the inventory is not translated at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the balance sheet, as is usually done with current assets, the burden of proof is on those who wish to follow some other procedure.

.16 There- are, however, undoubtedly many cases where the cost or a portion of the cost of an article was incurred when the foreign currency was at a substantially higher rate of exchange than existed on the closing day of the financial period. In many cases such an asset could not be replaced for the amount in foreign currency at which it appears in the records of the branch or subsidiary company. In some cases the replacement price in foreign currency would undoubtedly have increased since the fall in exchange, and it would be inequitable to treat the lower of cost or market as a mere translation at the closing rate of the foreign currency cost price, where the article could now be replaced only at a much higher amount in foreign currency. Where the selling price obtainable in dollars, after deducting a reasonable percentage to cover selling and other local expenses, exceeds the cost of the article in dollars at the rate prevailing as of the date of purchase, such original dollar equivalent may be considered as the cost for purposes of inventory.

.17 Current liabilities payable in foreign currency should be translated into dollars at the rate of exchange in force on the date of the balance sheet.

Capital stock stated in foreign currency should .18 not be translated at the closing rate, but at the rates of exchange prevailing when originally issued. Long-term liabilities payable in foreign currency may be similarly translated, although translation of such liabilities at current exchange rates is appropriate in many circumstances. These are general rules, but an exception may exist in respect to long-term debt incurred or capital stock issued in connection with the acquisition of fixed assets, permanent investments, or long-term receivables a short time before a substantial and presumably permanent change in the exchange rate. In such instances, it may be appropriate to state the long-term debt or the capital stock at the new rate and proper to deal with the exchange differences as an adjustment of the cost of the assets acquired. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1965, by APB Opinion No. 6.]

Profit and Loss Statement

.19 The operating statements of foreign branches or subsidiaries, or of domestic corporations conducting their business in foreign currencies (buying, selling, and manufacturing), should preferably, where there have been wide fluctuations in exchange, be translated at the average rate of exchange applicable to each month or, if this procedure would involve too much labor, on the basis of a carefully weighted average.

.20 Where a major change in an exchange rate takes place during a fiscal year, there may be situations in which more realistic results will be obtained if income computed in foreign currencies is translated for the entire fiscal year at the new rates in effect after such major fluctuation. This procedure would have the practical advantage of making unnecessary a cutoff at the date of the change in the exchange rate. Where dividends have been paid prior to a major change in the exchange rate, out of earnings of the current fiscal year, that portion of the income for the year should be considered as having been earned at the rate at which such dividend was paid irrespective of the rates used in translating the remainder of the earnings.

.21 The possibility of gains and losses from foreign exchange rate changes may ordinarily be considered to be a risk inherent in the conduct of business in foreign countries, and the worldwide scope and unprecedented frequency of rate changes that have occurred in recent years are such that they can be regarded as recurrent hazards of business. Accordingly, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such developments should be classified in the income statement in accordance with section 2012. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.]

* * * *

.22 The foregoing is no more than a brief résumé of the generally accepted principles pertaining to the treatment of foreign exchange as applied to the statements of accounts of American corporations. The practical problems which arise in their application should receive careful consideration in each case.

 \implies The next page is 7651. \leftarrow

AC Section 1082

Disclosure of Foreign Currency Translation Information [Source: FASB Statement No. 1.]

December 1973

INTRODUCTION

.01 The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) currently has the subject of accounting for foreign currency translation on its technical agenda. As part of that project, the FASB will examine the alternative methods of accounting for foreign currency translation. At the completion of that project, the FASB expects to issue a comprehensive Statement specifying the financial accounting and reporting standards to be applied. The disclosures required by this Statement should not be interpreted to imply that any accounting method is more or less acceptable than any other method.

.02 Under existing pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board (APB) and its predecessor, several significantly different alternatives are acceptable in accounting for foreign currency translation (see Appendix A). These pronouncements, however, are lacking in specific disclosure requirements. A recent survey¹ of foreign currency translation practices indicates that various accounting methods are used. The survey also indicates that a significant proportion of the companies surveyed presented incomplete disclosures of translation methods and the disposition of translation adjustments. Research conducted by the FASB staff supports those findings of the survey. (See paragraph 18.)

.03 Because of (a) continuing realignments of exchange rates, (b) the number of accounting alternatives available, (c) the diversity of practice, (d) the lack of specific disclosure requirements in existing accounting pronouncements, and (e) the limited amount of information concerning translation practices presently being disclosed by some companies with im-

¹ Financial Executives Institute, Survey of U.S. Company Foreign Translation Practices, July 31, 1973.

portant foreign operations, the FASB has concluded that more specific disclosure of current practices in foreign currency translation is now needed.

.04 The disclosures required by this Statement are designed to provide information concerning a company's translation practices to facilitate assessment of possible implications with respect to its financial position and results of operations. This Statement does not supersede, alter, or amend any APB Opinion or Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB).

EXPLANATION OF TERMS

.05 The following are explanations of certain terms used in this Statement:

a) Exchange rate is the ratio between a unit of one currency and the amount of another currency for which that unit can be exchanged at a particular time. A given currency may, in fact, have several categories of exchange rates, such as the financial rate or the commercial rate. Where such categories exist, this Statement does not attempt to specify a particular category as being more appropriate than another.

b) Current rate is the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date.²

c) *Historical rate* is the exchange rate that was in effect when a specific transaction or event occurred.

d) Exchange adjustment is the effect of an exchange rate change on the carrying amount of assets and liabilities denominated in terms of foreign currency. This term includes adjustments arising from (1) expression, in terms of one currency, of financial statements maintained in another currency, (2) expression, in terms of its own currency, of an entity's unsettled receivables and payables denominated in terms of another currency, (3) settlement of receivables and payables denominated in terms of another currency at an exchange rate different from that at which the receivable or payable was recorded, and (4) for purposes of this Statement, gains or losses on forward exchange contracts.

³See paragraph 14 of Chapter 12 of ARB 43 [AC section 1081.14] regarding forward exchange contracts.

STANDARDS OF DISCLOSURE

.06 The FASB has concluded that certain disclosures shall be made in financial statements that include amounts denominated in a foreign currency which have been translated into the currency of the reporting entity. The amounts may result from transactions, the consolidation of subsidiaries, and the equity method of accounting for investees. The following information^{*} shall be disclosed (see Appendix B for examples):

a) A statement of translation policies including identification of: (1) the balance sheet accounts that are translated at the current rate and those translated at the historical rate, (2) the rates used to translate income statement accounts (e.g., historical rates for specified accounts and a weighted average rate for all other accounts), (3) the time of recognition of gain or loss on forward exchange contracts, and (4) the method of accounting for exchange adjustments (and if any portion of the exchange adjustment is deferred, the method of disposition of the deferred amount in future years).

b) The aggregate amount of exchange adjustments originating in the period, the amount thereof included in the determination of income and the amount thereof deferred.

c) The aggregate amount of exchange adjustments included in the determination of income for the period, regardless of when the adjustments originated.

d) The aggregate amount of deferred exchange adjustments, regardless of when the adjustments originated, included in the balance sheet (e.g., such as in a deferral or in a "reserve" account) and how this amount is classified.

e) The amount by which total long-term receivables and total long-term payables translated at historical rates would each increase or decrease at the balance sheet date if translated at current rates.

³ This Statement does not require companies to change accounting methods. On occasion, the accounting methods employed may be such that it is not reasonably possible to provide all amounts required in paragraphs 6(b), (c) or (d). For example, an importer may have recorded as a part of the cost of merchandise an amount defined in the Statement as an exchange adjustment, and, therefore, may be unable to determine all or part of an amount required. Where this is so, an estimate shall be furnished if feasible. If an estimate cannot be furnished, an explanation shall be provided.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.07 The disclosures required by this Statement shall be made in financial statements reporting results of operations for fiscal periods ending after November 30, 1973 and in financial statements reporting financial position dated after November 30, 1973.

This Statement was adopted by the unanimous vote of the seven members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board.

Marshall S. Armstrong, *Chairman* Donald J. Kirk Arthur L. Litke Robert E. Mays John W. Queenan Walter Schuetze Robert T. Sprouse

The provisions of this Statement need not be applied to immaterial items.

APPENDIX A

Background Information

SUMMARY OF PRONOUNCEMENTS⁴ AND PRACTICES

.08 Chapter 12 of ARB 43 [section 1081], as modified by paragraph 18 of APB Opinion No. 6, is the authoritative pronouncement with respect to accounting for foreign currency translation. Chapter 12 [section 1081] calls for translation by the "current-noncurrent method," that is, translation of current assets and liabilities at the current rate and translation of noncurrent assets and liabilities at historical rates. Under Chapter 12 [section 1081], all exchange losses are charged to income, realized gains are credited to income, and unrealized gains are preferably deferred, except that such gains may be credited to income to the extent that they offset previously recognized losses.

.09 Chapter 12 of ARB 43 [section 1081] provides exceptions to these general rules. Under special circumstances (see paragraph 16 of Chapter 12) [section 1081.16], inventory may be stated at the historical rate. Long-term debt incurred or capital stock issued in connection with the acquisition of long-term assets shortly before a substantial and presumably permanent change in the exchange rate may be restated at the new rate. If the debt or stock is restated, an equivalent adjustment is to be made to the long-term assets. (See paragraphs 12 and 18 of Chapter 12.) [Sections 1081.12 and 1081.18.]

.10 A research report⁵ published in 1960 describes the current-noncurrent distinction as one which "seems to reflect the use of an established balance sheet classification for a purpose to which it is not relevant." In addition, the report describes the monetary-nonmonetary distinction. Based on this distinction, inventory, being nonmonetary, should be translated at historical rates of exchange, and noncurrent receivables and

⁴ The purpose of paragraphs 8-17 of this Appendix is to provide references to relevant pronouncements. These paragraphs should not be considered as interpretations by the FASB of any pronouncement cited.

⁵ National Association of Accountants, Management Accounting Problems in Foreign Operations, Research Report No. 36 (New York: NAA, 1960), p. 17.

payables, being monetary items, should be translated at current rates.

.11 The development in practice of translating all payables and receivables at current rates was given official recognition with the issuance in 1965 of APB Opinion No. 6. Paragraph 18 of Opinion No. 6 states, without specifying the circumstances, that "translation of long-term receivables and longterm liabilities at current exchange rates is appropriate in many circumstances." This modification of Chapter 12 of ARB 43 [section1081], in effect, permits use of the monetarynonmonetary method of translation.

.12 Because of extensive currency realignments in 1971, the APB considered the problem of foreign currency translation and issued an exposure draft proposing that companies using the monetary-nonmonetary method defer exchange adjustments to the extent they did not exceed those attributable to long-term debt. Amounts deferred were to be accounted for in a manner similar to debt discount.⁶ This draft, in effect, gave rise to another method of accounting for exchange adjustments. An Accounting Research Study⁷ was in process at the time and the U.S. dollar was devalued during the exposure period. The APB deferred action on the exposure draft and announced that companies should disclose how they accounted for exchange adjustments. The APB also noted that some companies had adopted the recommendations of the exposure draft, thus achieving somewhat the same effect as translating long-term receivables and payables at historical rates.8

.13 Paragraph 13 of APB Opinion No. 22 [section 2045.13] specifies that disclosure should be made of accounting policies with respect to translation of foreign currencies. This disclosure should "describe the accounting principles followed . . . and the methods of applying those principles that materially affect the determination of financial position, changes in financial position, or results

⁶ Proposed APB Opinion, *Translating Foreign Operations*, Exposure Draft, December 20, 1971.

⁷ Leonard Lorensen, Reporting Foreign Operations of U.S. Companies in U.S. Dollars, Accounting Research Study No. 12 (New York: AICPA, 1972).

⁸ Accounting Research Association Newsletter, January 28, 1972, p. 1.

of operations." (Paragraph 12 of APB Opinion No. 22.) [Section 2045.12.]

.14 While there is no specific reference to foreign currency translation in APB Opinion No. 19 [section 2021], the APB did conclude that "the statement summarizing changes in financial position should be based on a broad concept embracing all changes in financial position" and that the statement of changes in financial position "should disclose all important aspects of its financing and investing activities regardless of whether cash or other elements of working capital are directly affected." (Paragraph 8 of APB Opinion No. 19.) [Section 2021.08.]

.15 Chapter 12 of ARB 43 [section 1081] states, "... it is important that especial care be taken to make full disclosure in the financial statements of United States companies of the extent to which they include significant foreign items" (paragraph 6) and "... adequate disclosure of foreign operations should be made" (paragraph 8).

Chapter 12 of ARB 43 [section 1081] was amended .16 as of 1967 by APB Opinion No. 9. Paragraph 21 of APB Opinion No. 9 states the conditions under which an exchange adjustment should be reported as an extraordinary item, and paragraph 22 states when it should not be reported as an extraordinary item. These paragraphs have been superseded by APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012] for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973. Paragraph 23 of Opinion No. 30 [section 2012.23] states that "certain gains or losses should not be reported as extraordinary items" and names "gains or losses from exchange or translation of foreign currencies, including those relating to major devaluations and revaluations" as not qualifying as extraordinary items. Paragraph 27 of Opinion No. 30 [section 2012.27] states that "differences in classification . . . of the current and any prior periods presented should be disclosed in notes to the financial statements."

.17 A company that changes its methods of accounting for foreign currency translation is required to make certain disclosures by APB Opinion No. 20 [section 1051]. Those disclosures are not discussed here.

SUMMARY OF RESEARCH FINDINGS

.18 The FASB research staff reviewed recent annual financial statements of seventy-seven companies engaged in foreign operations with regard to the disclosure of translation practices. The population used in this study consisted of the companies appearing on the following lists:

- a. The Financial Executives Institute, Survey of U.S. Company Foreign Translation Practices (July 31, 1973).
- b. The major multinational companies as reported by *Business Week*, August 18, 1973.
- c. The U.S. companies that derived the most sales from their overseas operations in 1970 as reported by *Dun's*, April, 1973.

A variety of methods of determining and accounting for foreign currency exchange adjustments was found. Further, it was found that a significant proportion of the companies made incomplete disclosures of translation methods and the disposition of exchange adjustments.

SUMMARY OF CONSIDERATION OF COMMENTS ON EXPOSURE DRAFT

.19 In response to the request for comments on the Exposure Draft dated October 19, 1973, seventy-four letters were received and considered by the FASB in its deliberations on this Statement. Certain of the comments and the FASB's consideration of them are summarized in paragraphs 20-25.

.20 Suggestions were made that the definition in paragraph 5(d) explicitly include realized exchange gains and losses as well as gains and losses on forward exchange contracts. The FASB adopted these suggestions and, for emphasis, the term "translation adjustment" used in the Exposure Draft has been changed to "exchange adjustment" in this Statement.

.21 The importance of the use of forward exchange contracts in the financial management of foreign operations was emphasized. In recognition of this and because of the apparent variety of methods of recognizing gain or loss on forward exchange contracts,⁹ the FASB added specific requirements with respect thereto in paragraphs 6(a)(3) and 6(f).

.22 A need was indicated for disclosure of tax effects of exchange adjustments and for a statement of policy with regard to interperiod tax allocation on exchange adjustments. Because of the complexity in determining the taxability of exchange adjustments and the interrelationship of such with the provisions of APB Opinions No. 23 and No. 24 [sections 4095 and 4096], the FASB concluded that it would prefer to consider the matter further before requiring such disclosures. This Statement requires before tax amounts as opposed to after tax amounts. Where appropriate, the FASB encourages the separate disclosure of tax effects.

.23 The Exposure Draft contained the following proposed disclosure requirement which is not included in this Statement:

The amounts of changes in long-term receivables or long-term payables reflected in the statement of changes in financial position that are attributable to translation and the effect of translation on the net change in working capital.

The belief was expressed that APB Opinion No. 19 [section 2021] was not intended to cover such changes in financial position or that compliance was impracticable because of the number of transactions and balances affected by numerous exchange rate changes. Research by the FASB disclosed that some companies are furnishing in the statement of changes in financial position the type of information contemplated in the proposed requirement. However, because it was indicated that many companies would have difficulty in furnishing the desired information, the FASB decided not to require such information at the present time. This subject will be considered further as part of the comprehensive project on accounting for foreign currency translation. The FASB encourages those companies which have been furnishing the information to continue to do so and others to do so where practicable.

[•] Financial Executives Institute, Survey of U.S. Company Foreign Translation Practices, July 31, 1973.

.24 The Exposure Draft contained the following proposed disclosure requirement:

If historical rates have been used in translating longterm receivables or long-term payables, the amount each of these classifications would increase or decrease in the balance sheet if translated at the current rate.

a) The assertion was made that, by proposing this disclosure, the FASB appeared to be indicating a preference for translation at the current rate. Translation of long-term receivables and payables at historical rates is an acceptable accounting method, and in proposing this requirement, the FASB did not, in fact, intend to imply any preference for translation at current rates.

b) Objections were expressed because companies using an acceptable method of accounting were being asked to disclose the effect of using a different method. The use of historical rates to translate long-term receivables and payables in effect defers the recording of an exchange adjustment until the asset or liability is reclassified as current. Companies using the current rate to translate long-term receivables and payables record an exchange adjustment related thereto when an exchange rate changes, but may defer exchange adjustments. The FASB believes that information as to all deferrals of exchange adjustments should be furnished. Therefore the requirement is retained in slightly different form as paragraph 6(e).

.25 It was suggested that the required disclosures be considered only after public hearings as a portion of the FASB's previously announced comprehensive study on accounting for foreign currency translation or that the effective date of applicability be deferred. After considering these suggestions, however, the FASB judged that, on the basis of existing data, it could make an informed decision on this Statement without a public hearing. Also, on consideration of the circumstances mentioned in paragraph 3 of this Statement, the FASB judged that the effective date specified in paragraph 7 would be advisable.

APPENDIX B

Examples of Disclosure

.26 The disclosures specified by paragraph 6 of this Statement may be accomplished in various ways; for example, by a clearly captioned amount separately identified in the body of the financial statements, by a description in the summary of significant accounting policies, by explanation in the notes to the financial statements, or by combinations thereof. The following are to be considered only as examples of the disclosures which might be made to comply with the disclosure requirements specified by this Statement.

27 Paragraph 6(a) calls for a statement of translation policies including identification of: (1) the balance sheet accounts that are translated at the current rate and those translated at the historical rate, (2) the rates used to translate income statement accounts, (3) the time of recognition of gain or loss on forward exchange contracts, and (4) the method of accounting for exchange adjustments. For example, a company which uses the current-noncurrent method of translation might state the following concerning its policy for translating assets and liabilities, for time of recognition of gain or loss on forward exchange contracts, and for disposition of the exchange adjustment:

> Current assets and current liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange in effect at the close of the period. Long-term assets are translated at the rates in effect at the dates these assets were acquired, and long-term liabilities are translated at the rates in effect at the dates these obligations were incurred. Exchange adjustments, including gain or loss on settled forward exchange contracts, are charged or credited to income.

Or, the following might replace the last sentence:

Net unrealized losses from foreign currency translation are charged to income currently. Net unrealized gains from foreign currency translation are credited to Deferred Foreign Currency Exchange Gains, except that these gains are credited to income currently to the extent of losses previously charged to income. Gain or loss on forward exchange contracts is recognized in income upon settlement.

A company which uses the monetary-nonmonetary method of translation might state:

Inventory, property, plant, equipment, deferred charges, . . . are translated at the rates of exchange in effect when acquired. All other assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange in effect at the close of the period. Exchange adjustments are deferred to the extent that they do not exceed those that are attributable to long-term debt and are amortized by the interest method over the remaining term of the debt. Otherwise, they are charged or credited to income currently. Gain or loss on forward exchange contracts is recognized in income upon settlement.

As to rates used to translate income statement accounts, the accounting policy might be stated as follows:

Revenue and expense accounts for each month are translated at the average rate of exchange in effect during the month, except for depreciation and amortization which are translated at the rates of exchange which were in effect when the respective assets were acquired.

Or, as follows:

Revenue and expense accounts are translated at a weighted average of exchange rates which were in effect during the year, except for depreciation ... etc.

.28 Paragraph 6(b) calls for disclosure of the aggregate amount of exchange adjustments originating in the period, the amount thereof included in the determination of income and the amount thereof deferred. A company which includes all exchange adjustments in the determination of income for the year and so states in a description of its accounting policies might identify the amount by reporting it separately in its income statement as follows:

Foreign Currency Exchange Losses \$ XX,XXX

A company that follows the recommendations of paragraph 11 of Chapter 12 of ARB 43 [section 1081.11] might state in a note:

> In 1973, the Company charged unrealized foreign currency exchange losses of \$12,345 for the year to income. In 1974, the Company credited \$12,345 of its \$54,321 unrealized foreign currency exchange gain for the year to income and credited the remaining \$41,976 to Deferred Foreign Currency Exchange Gains.

.29 Paragraph 6(c) calls for disclosure of the aggregate amount of exchange adjustments included in the determination of income for the period, regardless of when the adjustments originated. This disclosure will generally be fulfilled by the disclosure called for under paragraph 6(b) unless amortization of exchange adjustments originating in prior periods has been included in income for the current year. For example, a company that defers the exchange adjustment (wholly or partially) and amortizes it would disclose the amount amortized in the current year from past years plus or minus any portion of the current year's exchange adjustment included in income.

A company might state the following:

Foreign currency exchange adjustments of \$100,-000 originating during the year and amortization of \$10,000 of previously deferred exchange adjustments have both been charged to income.

.30 Paragraph 6(d) calls for disclosure of the aggregate amount of deferred exchange adjustments included in the balance sheet and how this amount is classified. The disclosures called for here may be accomplished by a separate caption in the balance sheet or by disclosure in a note. For example, a company might have a separate caption in its balance sheet as follows:

Deferred Foreign Currency Exchange Gains \$ XXX,XXX

Another company might state in a note:

Deferred Charges at December 31, 1973, includes foreign currency exchange adjustments amounting to \$ XXX,XXX.

.31 Paragraph 6(e) calls for disclosure of the amount by which long-term receivables and payables translated at historical rates would each increase or decrease at the balance sheet date if translated at current rates. A company might state the following:

> The Company translates foreign currency longterm receivables at the rates of exchange in effect when the sales were made and translates foreign currency long-term debt at the rates of exchange in effect when these obligations were incurred. Translated at the rates of exchange in effect on December 31, 1973, long-term receivables would increase by \$3,210,000 and longterm debt would increase by \$5,432,000.

As an alternative, that same company (assuming the company disclosed in its balance sheet at December 31, 1973, total U.S. dollar and foreign currency long-term receivables in the amount of \$65,432,000 and total U.S. dollar and foreign currency long-term debt in the amount of \$76,543,000) might substitute for the last sentence above the following:

. . . Translated at the rates of exchange in effect on December 31, 1973, total long-term receivables would be \$68,642,000 and total long-term debt would be \$81,975,000.

.32 Paragraph 6(f) calls for disclosure of the amount of gain or loss which has not been recognized on unperformed forward exchange contracts at the balance sheet date. A com-

7664

pany which accrues losses on such contracts might state the following:

The Company accrues losses on all unperformed forward exchange contracts and records gains at maturity. At December 31, 1973, unrecorded gains based on exchange rates then in effect. amounted to \$ XX,XXX.

 \implies The next page is 7731. \leftarrow \ll

7731

AC Section 1091 Accounting for Business Combinations

[Source: APB Opinion No. 16.]

Effective to account for business combinations initiated after October 31, 1970, unless otherwise indicated ¹

SUMMARY

Problem

.01 A business combination occurs when a corporation and one or more incorporated or unincorporated businesses are brought together into one accounting entity. The single entity carries on the activities of the previously separate, independent enterprises.

.02 Two methods of accounting for business combinations—"purchase" and "pooling of interests"—have been accepted in practice and supported in pronouncements of the Board and its predecessor, the Committee on Accounting Procedure. The accounting treatment of a combination may affect significantly the reported financial position and net income of the combined corporation for prior, current, and future periods.

.03 The Director of Accounting Research of the Amercan Institute of Certified Public Accountants has published two studies on accounting for business combinations and the related goodwill: Accounting Research Study No. 5, A *Critical Study of Accounting for Business Combinations*, by Arthur R. Wyatt and Accounting Research Study No. 10, Accounting for Goodwill, by George R. Catlett and Norman O. Olson.² The two studies describe the origin and development of the purchase and pooling of interests methods of accounting for business combinations. The studies also cite the supporting authoritative pronouncements and their influences on accounting practices and evaluate the effects of practices on financial reporting.

Scope and Effect of Section

.04 The Board has considered the conclusions and

³Accounting research studies are not pronouncements of the Board or of the Institute but are published for the purpose of stimulating discussion on important accounting matters.

recommendations of Accounting Research Studies Nos. 5 and 10, the discussions of the need for and appropriateness of the two accepted methods of accounting for business combinations, and proposals for alternative accounting methods. It has also observed the present treatments of combinations in various forms and under differing conditions. The Board expresses in this section its conclusions on accounting for business combinations.

This section covers the combination of a corpora-.05 tion and one or more incorporated or unincorporated businesses; both incorporated and unincorporated enterprises are referred to in this section as companies. The conclusions of this section apply equally to business combinations in which one or more companies become subsidiary corporations, one company transfers its net assets to another. and each company transfers its net assets to a newly formed corporation. The acquisition of some or all of the stock held by minority stockholders of a subsidiary is not a business combination, but paragraph .43 of this section specifies the applicable method of accounting. The term business combination in this section excludes a transfer by a corporation of its net assets to a newly formed substitute corporate entity chartered by the existing corporation and a transfer of net assets or exchange of shares between companies under common control (control is described in section 2051.03), such as between a parent corporation and its subsidiary or between two subsidiary corporations of the same parent. This section does not specifically discuss the combination of a corporation and one or more unincorporated businesses or of two or more unincorporated businesses, but its provisions should be applied as a general guide.

This section applies to regulated companies in ac-.06 cordance with the provisions of section 6011. Accounting Principles for Regulated Industries.

.07 The conclusions of this section modify previous views of the Board and its predecessor committee. Conclusions

.08 The Board concludes that the purchase method and the pooling of interests method are both acceptable in accounting for business combinations, although not as alter-

AC § 1091.05 . © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc. natives in accounting for the same business combination. A business combination which meets specified conditions requires accounting by the pooling of interests method. A new basis of accounting is not permitted for a combination that meets the specified conditions, and the assets and liabilities of the combining companies are combined at their recorded amounts. All other business combinations should be accounted for as an acquisition of one or more companies by a corporation. The cost to an acquiring corporation of an entire acquired company should be determined by the principles of accounting for the acquisition of an asset. That cost should then be allocated to the identifiable individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values; the unallocated cost should be recorded as goodwill.

BACKGROUND

Present Accounting and Its Development

Development of Two Methods

.09 Most business combinations before World War II were classified either as a "merger," the acquisition of one company by another, or as a "consolidation," the formation of a new corporation. Accounting for both types of combinations generally followed traditional principles for the acquisition of assets or issuance of shares of stock. The accounting adopted by some new corporations was viewed as a precedent for the combining of retained earnings and of amounts of net assets recorded by predecessor corporations as retained earnings and net assets of a new entity.

.10 Emphasis shifted after World War II from the legal form of the combination to distinctions between "a continuance of the former ownership or a new ownership" (ARB No. 40, paragraph 1). New ownership was accounted for as a purchase; continuing ownership was accounted for as a pooling of interests. Carrying forward the stockholders' equity, including retained earnings, of the constituents became an integral part of the pooling of interests method. Significant differences between the purchase and pooling of interests methods accepted today are in the amounts ascribed to assets and liabilities at the time of combination and income reported for the combined enterprise.

Purchase Method ³

.11 The purchase method accounts for a business combination as the acquisition of one company by another. The acquiring corporation records at its cost the acquired assets less liabilities assumed. A difference between the cost of an acquired company and the sum of the fair values of tangible and identifiable intangible assets less liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The reported income of an acquiring corporation includes the operations of the acquired company after acquisition, based on the cost to the acquiring corporation.

Pooling of Interests Method 4

.12 The pooling of interests method accounts for a business combination as the uniting of the ownership interests of two or more companies by exchange of equity securities. No acquisition is recognized because the combination is accomplished without disbursing resources of the constituents. Ownership interests continue and the former bases of accounting are retained. The recorded assets and liabilities of the constituents are carried forward to the combined corporation at their recorded amounts. Income of the combined corporation includes income of the constituents for the entire fiscal period in which the combination occurs. The reported income of the constituents for prior periods is combined and restated as income of the combined corporation.

.13 The original concept of pooling of interests as a fusion of equity interests was modified in practice as use of the method expanded.⁴ The method was first applied in accounting for combinations of affiliated corporations and then extended to some combinations of unrelated corporate

⁴ The origin, development, and application of the pooling of interests method of accounting are traced in Accounting Research Study No. 5 and summarized in Accounting Research Study No. 10.

AC § 1091.11

^aThis section refers to the "purchase method of accounting" for a business combination because the term is widely used and generally understood. However, the more inclusive terms "acquire" (to come into possession of) and "acquisition" are generally used to describe transactions rather than the more narrow term "purchase" (to acquire by the payment of money or its equivalent). The broader terms clearly encompass obtaining assets by issuing stock as well as by disbursing cash and thus avoid the confusion that results from describing a stock transaction as a "purchase." This section does not describe a business combination accounted for by the pooling of interests method as an "acquisition" because the meaning of the word is inconsistent with the method of accounting.

ownership interests of comparable size. The method was later accepted for most business combinations in which common stock was issued. New and complex securities have been issued in recent business combinations and some combination agreements provide for additional securities to be issued later depending on specified events or circumstances. Most of the resulting combinations are accounted for as poolings of interests. Some combinations effected by both disbursing cash and issuing securities are now accounted for as a "part purchase, part pooling."

.14 Some accountants believe that the pooling of interests method is the only acceptable method for a combination which meets the requirements for pooling. Others interpret the existing pronouncements on accounting for business combinations to mean that a combination which meets the criteria for a pooling of interests may alternatively be accounted for as a purchase.

Appraisal of Accepted Methods of Accounting

.15 The pooling of interests method of accounting is applied only to business combinations effected by an exchange of stock and not to those involving primarily cash, other assets, or liabilities. Applying the purchase method of accounting to business combinations effected by paying cash, distributing other assets, or incurring liabilities is not challenged. Thus, those business combinations effected primarily by an exchange of equity securities present a question of choice between the two accounting methods.

.16 The significantly different results of applying the purchase and pooling of interests methods of accounting to a combination effected by an exchange of stock stem from distinct views of the nature of the transaction itself. Those who endorse the pooling of interests method believe that an exchange of stock to effect a business combination is in substance a transaction between the combining stockholder groups and does not involve the corporate entities. The transaction therefore neither requires nor justifies establishing a new basis of accountability for the assets of the combined corporation. Those who endorse the purchase method believe that the transaction is an issue of stock by a corporation for consideration received from those who become stockholders by the transaction. The consideration received is established by bargaining between independent parties, and the acquiring corporation accounts for the additional assets at their bargained—that is, current—values.

Purchase Method

.17 The more important arguments expressing the advantages and disadvantages of the purchase method and some of the practical difficulties experienced in implementing it are summarized in paragraphs .18 to .26.

.18 An acquisition. Those who favor the purchase method of accounting believe that one corporation acquires another company in almost every business combination. The acquisition of one company by another and the identities of the acquiring and acquired companies are usually obvious. Generally, one company in a business combination is clearly the dominant and continuing entity and one or more other companies cease to control their own assets and operations because control passes to the acquiring corporation.

.19 A bargained transaction. Proponents of purchase accounting hold that a business combination is a significant economic event which results from bargaining between independent parties. Each party bargains on the basis of his assessment of the current status and future prospects of each constituent as a separate enterprise and as a contributor to the proposed combined enterprise. The agreed terms of combination recognize primarily the bargained values and only secondarily the costs of assets and liabilities carried by the constituents. In fact, the recorded costs are not always known by the other bargaining party.

.20 Accounting by the purchase method is essentially the same whether the business combination is effected by distributing assets, incurring liabilities, or issuing stock because issuing stock is considered an economic event as significant as distributing assets or incurring liabilities. A corporation must ascertain that the consideration it receives for stock issued is fair, just as it must ascertain that fair value is received for cash disbursed. Recipients of the stock similarly appraise the fairness of the transaction. Thus, a business combination is a bargained transaction regardless of the nature of the consideration.

, © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.21 Reporting economic substance. The purchase method adheres to traditional principles of accounting for the acquisition of assets. Those who support the purchase method of accounting for business combinations effected by issuing stock believe that an acquiring corporation accounts for the economic substance of the transaction by applying those principles and by recording:

- a. All assets and liabilities which comprise the bargained cost of an acquired company, not merely those items previously shown in the financial statements of an acquired company.
- b. The bargained costs of assets acquired less liabilities assumed, not the costs to a previous owner.
- c. The fair value of the consideration received for stock issued, not the equity shown in the financial statements of an acquired company.
- d. Retained earnings from its operations, not a fusion of its retained earnings and previous earnings of an acquired company.
- e. Expenses and net income after an acquisition computed on the bargained cost of acquired assets less liabilities, not on the costs to a previous owner.

.22 Defects attributed to purchase method. Applying the purchase method to business combinations effected primarily by issuing stock may entail difficulties in measuring the cost of an acquired company if neither the fair value of the consideration given nor the fair value of the property acquired is clearly evident. Measuring fair values of assets acquired is complicated by the presence of intangible assets or other assets which do not have discernible market prices. Goodwill and other unidentifiable intangible assets are difficult to value directly, and measuring assets acquired for stock is easier if the fair value of the stock issued is determinable. The excess of the value of stock issued over the sum of the fair values of the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired less liabilities assumed indicates the value of acquired unidentified intangible assets (usually called goodwill).

.23 However, the fair value of stock issued is not always objectively determinable. A market price may not

be available for a newly issued security or for securities of a closely held corporation. Even an available quoted market price may not always be a reliable indicator of fair value of consideration received because the number of shares issued is relatively large, the market for the security is thin, the stock price is volatile, or other uncertainties influence the quoted price. Further, the determinable value of one security may not necessarily indicate the fair value of another similar, but not identical, security because their differences affect the value—for example, the absence of registration or an agreement which restricts a holder's ability to sell a security may significantly affect its value.

.24 Those who oppose applying the purchase method to some or most business combinations effected by stock also challenge the theoretical merits of the method. They contend that the goodwill acquired is stated only by coincidence at the value which would be determined by direct valuation. The weakness is attributed not to measurement difficulties (direct valuation of goodwill is assumed) but to the basis underlying an exchange of shares of stock. Bargaining in that type of transaction is normally based on the market prices of the equity securities. Market prices of the securities exchanged are more likely to be influenced by anticipated earnings capacities of the companies than by evaluations of individual assets. The number of shares of stock issued in a business combination is thus influenced by values attributed to goodwill of the acquirer as well as goodwill of the acquired company. Since the terms are based on the market prices of both stocks exchanged, measuring the cost of an acquired company by the market price of the stock issued may result in recording acquired goodwill at more or less than its value determined directly.

.25 A related argument is that the purchase method is improper accounting for a business combination in which a relatively large number of shares of stock is issued because it records the goodwill and fair values of only the acquired company. Critics of purchase accounting say that each group of stockholders of two publicly held and actively traded companies evaluates the other stock, and the exchange ratio for stock issued is often predicated on relative market values. The stockholders and management of each company evaluate the goodwill and fair values of the other.

AC § 1091.24

, © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Accounting for Business Combinations

Purchase accounting is thus viewed as illogical because it records goodwill and values of only one side of the transaction. Those who support this view prefer that assets and liabilities of both companies be combined at existing recorded amounts, but if one side is to be stated at fair values, they believe that both sides should be recorded at fair values.

.26 Criticism of the purchase method is directed not only to the theoretical and practical problems of measuring goodwill in combinations effected primarily by stock but also to accounting after the combination for goodwill recorded by the purchase method. Present accounting for goodwill, which often has an indeterminate useful life, is cited as an example of lack of uniformity because selecting among alternative methods of accounting is discretionary.

Pooling of Interests Method

.27 The more important arguments expressing the advantages and disadvantages of the pooling of interests method and some of the practical difficulties experienced in implementing it are summarized in paragraphs .28 to .41.

Validity of the concept. Those who support the .28 pooling of interests method believe that a business combination effected by issuing common stock is different from a purchase in that no corporate assets are disbursed to stockholders and the net assets of the issuing corporation are enlarged by the net assets of the corporation whose stockholders accept common stock of the combined corporation. There is no newly invested capital nor have owners withdrawn assets from the group since the stock of a corporation is not one of its assets. Accordingly, the net assets of the constituents remain intact but combined; the stockholder groups remain intact but combined. Aggregate income is not changed since the total resources are not changed. Consequently, the historical costs and earnings of the separate corporations are appropriately combined. In a business combination effected by exchanging stock, groups of stockholders combine their resources, talents, and risks to form a new entity to carry on in combination the previous businesses and to continue their earnings streams. The sharing of risks by the constituent stockholder groups is an important element in a business combination effected by exchanging stock. By pooling equity interests, each group continues to maintain risk elements of its former investment and they mutually exchange risks and benefits.

.29 A pooling of interests transaction is regarded as in substance an arrangement among stockholder groups. The fractional interests in the common enterprise are reallocated—risks are rearranged among the stockholder groups outside the corporate entity. A fundamental concept of entity accounting is that a corporation is separate and distinct from its stockholders. Elected managements represent the stockholders in bargaining to effect a combination, but the groups of stockholders usually decide whether the proposed terms are acceptable by voting to approve or disapprove a combination. Stockholders sometimes disapprove a combination proposed by management, and tender offers sometimes succeed despite the opposition of management.

.30 Each stockholder group in a pooling of interests gives up its interests in assets formerly held but receives an interest in a portion of the assets formerly held in addition to an interest in the assets of the other. The clearest example of this type of combination is one in which both groups surrender their stock and receive in exchange stock of a new corporation. The fact that one of the corporations usually issues its stock in exchange for that of the other does not alter the substance of the transaction.

.31 Consistency with other concepts. Proponents of pooling of interests accounting point out that the pooling concept was developed within the boundaries of the historical-cost system and is compatible with it. Accounting by the pooling of interests method for business combinations arranged through the issuance of common stock is based on existing accounting concepts and is not an occasion for revising historical costs. Both constituents usually have elements of appreciation and of goodwill which are recognized and offset, at least to some extent, in setting a ratio of exchange of stock. The bargaining which occurs usually reflects the relative earning capacities (measured by historical-cost accounts) of the constituents and frequently recognizes the relative market values of the two

AC § 1091.29

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

stocks, which in turn reflect earning capacity, goodwill, or other values. Accounting recognizes the bargaining by means of the new number of shares outstanding distributed in accordance with the bargained ratio, which has a direct effect on earnings per share after the combination.

.32 Usefulness of the concept. Those who favor the pooling of interests method of accounting believe that the economic substance of a combination is best reflected by reporting operations up to the date of the exchange of stock based on the same historical-cost information used to develop the separate operating results of each constituent. Also, informative comparison with periods prior to the business combination is facilitated by maintaining historical costs as the basis of reporting combined operations subsequent to the combination.

.33 Application of the concept. It has been observed that criteria for distinguishing between a pooling and a purchase have eroded over the years and that present interpretations of criteria have led to abuse. However, most accountants who support the pooling concept believe that criteria can be redefined satisfactorily to eliminate abuses. It is their view that the pooling of interests method of accounting for business combinations is justifiable on conceptual grounds and is a useful technique and therefore should be retained.

.34 Some proponents of pooling of interests accounting support a restriction on the difference in size of combining interests because a significant sharing of risk cannot occur if one combining interest is minor or because a meaningful mutual exchange does not occur if the combination involves a relatively small number of shares. Most, however, believe that there is no conceptual basis for a size restriction and that establishing a size restriction would seriously impair pooling of interests accounting.

.35 Defects attributed to pooling of interests method. Those who oppose the pooling of interests method of accounting doubt that the method is supported by a concept. In their view it has become essentially a method of accounting for an acquisition of a company without recognizing the current costs of the assets, including goodwill, underlying the transaction. The concept of a pooling of interests was described in general terms in the past—for example, as a continuity of equity interests or as a combination of two or more interests of comparable size. The descriptions tend to be contradictory. For example, accountants do not agree on whether or not relative size is part of the pooling of interests concept. Attempts to define the concept in terms of broad criteria for applying the method have also been unsuccessful.

.36 Indeed, many opponents of the pooling of interests method of accounting believe that effective criteria cannot be found. The concept of a uniting or fusing of stockholder groups on which pooling of interests accounting is based implies a broad application of the method because every combination effected by issuing stock rather than by disbursing cash or incurring debt is potentially a pooling of interests unless the combination significantly changes the relative equity interests. However, so broad an application without effective criteria results in applying the pooling of interests method to numerous business combinations which are clearly in economic substance the acquisition of one company by another.

.37 Some critics point out that the method was first applied to combining interests of comparable size and that pronouncements on business combinations have never sanctioned applying pooling of interests accounting to all or almost all business combinations effected by exchanging stock. All pronouncements have indicated that a large disparity in the size of the combining interests is evidence that one corporation is acquiring another.

.38 Other criteria restricting application of pooling of interests accounting, such as those prohibiting future disposals of stock received and providing for continuity of management, were added to the size restriction. Those criteria have, however, tended to strengthen the view that one corporation acquires another because they are unilateral, that is, they are applied only to the stockholders and management of the "acquired" company.

.39 The most serious defect attributed to pooling of interests accounting by those who oppose it is that it does not accurately reflect the economic substance of the business combination transaction. They believe that the method

ignores the bargaining which results in the combination by accounting only for the amounts previously shown in accounts of the combining companies. The acquiring corporation does not record assets and values which usually influence the final terms of the combination agreement with consequent effects on subsequent balance sheets and income statements. The combined earnings streams, which are said to continue after a pooling of interests, can continue unchanged only if the cost of the assets producing those earnings is identical for the acquiring corporation and the acquired company. That coincidence rarely occurs because the bargaining is based on current values and not past costs.

.40 Pooling of interests accounting is also challenged because the amount of assets acquired less liabilities assumed is recorded without regard to the number of shares of stock issued. The result does not reflect the presumption that a corporation issues stock only for value received and, in general, the greater the number of shares issued, the larger the consideration to be recorded.

.41 Traditional principles of accounting for acquisitions of assets encompass all business combinations because every combination is effected by distributing assets, incurring liabilities, issuing stock, or some blend of the three. Those who oppose the pooling of interests method believe that a departure from the traditional principles is justified only if evidence shows that financial statements prepared according to other principles better reflect the economic significance of a combination. In their opinion, the characteristics of a business combination do not justify departing from traditional principles of accounting to accommodate the pooling of interests method.

OPINION

Applicability of Accounting Methods

.42 The Board finds merit in both the purchase and pooling of interests methods of accounting for business combinations and accepts neither method to the exclusion of the other. The arguments in favor of the purchase method of accounting are more persuasive if cash or other assets are distributed or liabilities are incurred to effect a combination, but arguments in favor of the pooling of interests method of accounting are more persuasive if voting common stock is issued to effect a combination of common stock interests. Therefore, the Board concludes that some business combinations should be accounted for by the purchase method and other combinations should be accounted for by the pooling of interests method.

.43 The Board also concludes that the two methods are not alternatives in accounting for the same business combination. A single method should be applied to an entire combination; the practice now known as part-purchase, part-pooling is not acceptable. The acquisition after the effective date of this section of some or all of the stock held by minority stockholders of a subsidiary—whether acquired by the parent, the subsidiary itself, or another affiliate—should be accounted for by the purchase method rather than by the pooling of interests method.

.44 The Board believes that accounting for business combinations will be improved significantly by specifying the circumstances in which each method should be applied and the procedures which should be followed in applying each method. The distinctive conditions which require pooling of interests accounting are described in paragraphs .45 to .48, and combinations involving all of those conditions should be accounted for as described in paragraphs .50 to .65. All other business combinations should be treated as the acquisition of one company by another and accounted for by the purchase method as described in paragraphs .66 to .96.

Conditions for Pooling of Interests Method

.45 The pooling of interests method of accounting is intended to present as a single interest two or more common stockholder interests which were previously independent and the combined rights and risks represented by those interests. That method shows that stockholder groups neither withdraw nor invest assets but in effect exchange voting common stock in a ratio that determines their respective interests in the combined corporation. Some business combinations have those features. A business combination which meets *all* of the conditions specified and explained in paragraphs .46 to .48 should be accounted for by the pooling of interests method. The conditions are classified

AC § 1091.43

by (1) attributes of the combining companies, (2) manner of combining interests, and (3) absence of planned transactions.

.46 Combining companies. Certain attributes of combining companies indicate that independent ownership interests are combined in their entirety to continue previously separate operations. Combining virtually all of existing common stock interests avoids combining only selected assets, operations, or ownership interests, any of which is more akin to disposing of and acquiring interests than to sharing risks and rights. It also avoids combining interests that are already related by substantial intercorporate investments.

The two conditions in this paragraph define essential attributes of combining companies.

a. Each of the combining companies is autonomous and has not been a subsidiary or division of another corporation within two years before the plan of combination is initiated.

A plan of combination is initiated on the earlier of (1) the date that the major terms of a plan, including the ratio of exchange of stock, are announced publicly or otherwise formally made known to the stockholders of any one of the combining companies or (2) the date that stockholders of a combining company are notified in writing of an exchange offer. Therefore, a plan of combination is often initiated even though consummation is subject to the approval of stockholders and others.

A new company incorporated within the preceding two years meets this condition unless the company is successor to a part of a company or to a company that is otherwise not autonomous for this condition. A wholly owned subsidiary company which distributes voting common stock of its parent corporation to effect the combination is also considered an autonomous company provided the parent corporation would have met all conditions in paragraphs .46 to .48 had the parent corporation issued its stock directly to effect the combination.

Divestiture of assets to comply with an order of a governmental authority or judicial body results in an exception to the terms of this condition. Either a subsidiary divested under an order or a new company which acquires assets disposed of under an order is therefore autonomous for this condition.

b. Each of the combining companies is independent of the other combining companies.

This condition means that at the dates the plan of combination is initiated and consummated the combining companies hold as intercorporate investments no more than 10 percent in total of the outstanding voting common stock of any combining company.⁵ For the percentage computation, intercorporate investments exclude voting common stock that is acquired after the date the plan of combination is initiated in exchange for the voting common stock issued to effect the combination. Investments of 10 percent or less are explained in paragraph .47-b.

.47 Combining of interests. The combining of existing voting common stock interests by the exchange of stock is the essence of a business combination accounted for by the pooling of interests method. The separate stockholder interests lose their identities and all share mutually in the combined risks and rights. Exchanges of common stock that alter relative voting rights, that result in preferential claims to distributions of profits or assets for some common stockholder groups, or that leave significant minority interests in combining companies are incompatible with the idea of mutual sharing. Similarly, acquisitions of common stock for assets or debt, reacquisitions of outstanding stock for the purpose of exchanging it in a business combination. and other transactions that reduce the common stock interests are contrary to the idea of combining existing stockholder interests. The seven conditions in this paragraph relate to the exchange to effect the combination.

a. The combination is effected in a single transaction or is completed in accordance with a specific plan within one year after the plan is initiated.

Altering the terms of exchange of stock constitutes initiation of a new plan of combination unless earlier exchanges of stock are adjusted to the new terms.⁶

[•] An exception for common stock held on October 31, 1970 is explained in paragraph .99.

[•]However, an adjustment after the effective date of this section in the terms of exchange in a plan of combination initiated before and consum-

A business combination completed in more than one year from the date the plan is initiated meets this condition if the delay is beyond the control of the combining companies because proceedings of a governmental authority or litigation prevents completing the combination.

b. A corporation offers and issues only common stock with rights identical to those of the majority of its outstanding voting common stock ⁷ in exchange for substantially all of the voting common stock interest of another company at the date the plan of combination is consummated.

The plan to issue voting common stock in exchange for voting common stock may include, within limits, provisions to distribute cash or other consideration for fractional shares, for shares held by dissenting stockholders, and the like but may not include a pro rata distribution of cash or other consideration.

Substantially all of the voting common stock means 90 percent or more for this condition. That is, after the date the plan of combination is initiated, one of the combining companies (issuing corporation) issues voting common stock in exchange for at least 90 percent of the voting common stock of another combining company that is outstanding at the date the combination is consummated. The number of shares exchanged therefore excludes those shares of the combining company (1) acquired before and held by the issuing corporation and its subsidiaries at the date the plan of combination is initiated, regardless of the form of consideration,^{*} (2) acquired by the issuing corporation and its subsidiaries after the date the plan of combination is initiated other than by issuing its own voting common stock, and (3) outstanding after the date the combination is consummated.

mated after the effective date always constitutes initiation of a new plan. The one year specified in this condition is measured, therefore, from the date of adjustment of terms and all other conditions are evaluated for the new plan. (Paragraph .97 describes the application of this section to a plan of combination initiated before the effective date of this section and consummated later in accordance with the terms of exchange prevailing on the effective date.)

⁷A class of stock that has voting control of a corporation is the majority class.

⁸ An exception for common stock held on October 31, 1970 is explained in paragraph .99.

An investment in stock of the issuing corporation held by a combining company may prevent a combination from meeting this condition even though the investment of the combining company is not more than 10 percent of the outstanding stock of the issuing corporation (paragraph .46-b). An investment in stock of the issuing corporation by another combining company is the same in a mutual exchange as an investment by the issuing corporation in stock of the other combining company-the choice of issuing corporation is essentially a matter of convenience. An investment in stock of the issuing corporation must be expressed as an equivalent number of shares of the investor combining company because the measure of percent of shares exchanged is in terms of shares of stock of the investor company. An investment in 10 percent or less of the outstanding voting common stock of the issuing corporation affects the measure of percent of shares exchanged in the combination as follows:

The number of shares of voting common stock of the issuing corporation held by the investor combining company at the date the plan is initiated plus shares it acquired after that date are restated as an equivalent number of shares of voting common stock of the investor combining company based on the ratio of exchange of stock in the combination.

The equivalent number of shares is deducted from the number of shares of voting common stock of the investor combining company exchanged for voting common stock of the issuing corporation as part of the plan of combination.

The reduced number of shares is considered the number exchanged and is compared with 90 percent of the outstanding voting common stock of the investor combining company at the date the plan is consummated to determine whether the terms of condition .47-b are met.

Since the number of shares of voting common stock exchanged is reduced for an intercorporate investment in voting common stock of the issuing corporation, the terms of condition .47-b may not be met even though 90 percent or more of the outstanding common stock of a combining company is exchanged to effect a combination.

AC § 1091.47

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

A combination of more than two companies is evaluated essentially the same as a combination of two companies. The percent of voting common stock exchanged is measured separately for each combining company, and condition .47-b is met if 90 percent or more of the voting common stock of each of the several combining companies is exchanged for voting common stock of the issuing corporation. The number of shares exchanged for stock of the issuing corporation includes only shares exchanged by stockholders other than the several combining companies themselves. Thus, intercorporate investments in combining companies are included in the number of shares of stock outstanding but are excluded from the number of shares of stock exchanged to effect the combination.

A new corporation formed to issue its stock to effect the combination of two or more companies meets condition .47-b if (1) the number of shares of each company exchanged to effect the combination is not less than 90 percent of its voting common stock outstanding at the date the combination is consummated and (2) condition .47-b would have been met had any one of the combining companies issued its stock to effect the combination on essentially the same basis.

Condition .47-b relates to issuing common stock for the common stock interests in another company. Hence, a corporation issuing stock to effect the combination may assume the debt securities of the other company or may exchange substantially identical securities or voting common stock for other outstanding equity and debt securities of the other combining company. An issuing corporation may also distribute cash to holders of debt and equity securities that either are callable or redeemable and may retire those securities. However, the issuing corporation may exchange only voting common stock for outstanding equity and debt securities of the other combining company that have been issued in exchange for voting common stock of that company during a period beginning two years preceding the date the combination is initiated.

A transfer of the net assets of a combining company to effect a business combination satisfies condition .47-b provided all net assets of the company at the date the plan is consummated are transferred in exchange for stock of

the issuing corporation. However, the combining company may retain temporarily cash, receivables, or marketable securities to settle liabilities, contingencies, or items in dispute if the plan provides that the assets remaining after settlement are to be transferred to the corporation issuing the stock to effect the combination. Only voting common stock may be issued to effect the combination unless both voting common stock and other stock of the other combining company are outstanding at the date the plan is consummated. The combination may then be effected by issuing all voting common stock or by issuing voting common and other stock in the same proportions as the outstanding voting common and other stock of the other combining company. An investment in 10 percent or less of the outstanding voting common stock of a combining company held by another combining company requires special computations to evaluate condition .47-b. The computations and comparisons are in terms of the voting common stock of the issuing corporation and involve:

Stock issued for common stock interest. The total number of shares of voting common stock issued for all of the assets ° is divided between those applicable to outstanding voting common stock and those applicable to other outstanding stock, if any, of the combining company which transfers assets (transferor company).

Reduction for intercorporate investments. The number of issued shares of voting common stock applicable to the voting common stock interests of the transferor combining company is reduced by the sum of (1) the number of shares of voting common stock of the issuing corporation held by the transferor combining company at the date the plan of combination is initiated plus shares it acquired after that date and (2) the number of shares of voting common stock of the transferor combining company held by the issuing corporation at the date the plan of combination is initiated plus shares it acquired after that date. The shares of the transferor combining company are restated as the equivalent number of shares of voting common stock of the issuing corporation for this purpose. Restate-

⁹ Including (for this computation) stock of the issuing corporation held by the transferor combining company.

ment is based on the ratio of the number of shares of voting common stock of the transferor combining company which are outstanding at the date the plan is consummated to the number of issued shares of voting common stock applicable to the voting common stock interests.

Comparison with 90 percent. The reduced number of shares of stock issued is compared with 90 percent of the issued number of shares of voting common stock applicable to voting common stock interests to determine if the transfer of assets meets the terms of condition .47-b.

c. None of the combining companies changes the equity interest of the voting common stock in contemplation of effecting the combination either within two years before the plan of combination is initiated or between the dates the combination is initiated and consummated; changes in contemplation of effecting the combination may include distributions to stockholders and additional issuances, exchanges, and retirements of securities.

Distributions to stockholders which are no greater than normal dividends are not changes for this condition. Normality of dividends is determined in relation to earnings during the period and to the previous dividend policy and record. Dividend distributions on stock of a combining company that are equivalent to normal dividends on the stock to be issued in exchange in the combination are considered normal for this condition.

d. Each of the combining companies reacquires shares of voting common stock only for purposes other than business combinations, and no company reacquires more than a normal number of shares between the dates the plan of combination is initiated and consummated.

Treasury stock acquired for purposes other than business combinations includes shares for stock option and compensation plans and other recurring distributions provided a systematic pattern of reacquisitions is established at least two years before the plan of combination is initiated. A systematic pattern of reacquisitions may be established for less than two years if it coincides with the adoption of a new stock option or compensation plan. The normal number of shares of voting common stock reacquired is determined by the pattern of reacquisitions of stock before the plan of combination is initiated.

Acquisitions by other combining companies of voting common stock of the issuing corporation after the date the plan of combination is initiated are essentially the same as if the issuing corporation reacquired its own common stock.

e. The ratio of the interest of an individual common stockholder to those of other common stockholders in a combining company remains the same as a result of the exchange of stock to effect the combination.

This condition means that each individual common stockholder who exchanges his stock receives a voting common stock interest exactly in proportion to his relative voting common stock interest before the combination is effected. Thus no common stockholder is denied or surrenders his potential share of a voting common stock interest in a combined corporation.

f. The voting rights to which the common stock ownership interests in the resulting combined corporation are entitled are exercisable by the stockholders; the stockholders are neither deprived of nor restricted in exercising those rights for a period.

This condition is not met, for example, if shares of common stock issued to effect the combination are transferred to a voting trust.

g. The combination is resolved at the date the plan is consummated and no provisions of the plan relating to the issue of securities or other consideration are pending.

This condition means that (1) the combined corporation does not agree to contingently issue additional shares of stock or distribute other consideration at a later date to the former stockholders of a combining company or (2) the combined corporation does not issue or distribute to an escrow agent common stock or other consideration which

AC § 1091.47 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

is to be either transferred to common stockholders or returned to the corporation at the time the contingency is resolved.

An agreement may provide, however, that the number of shares of common stock issued to effect the combination may be revised for the later settlement of a contingency at a different amount than that recorded by a combining company.

.48 Absence of planned transactions. Some transactions after a combination is consummated are inconsistent with the combining of entire existing interests of common stockholders. Including those transactions in the negotiations and terms of the combination, either explicitly or by intent, counteracts the effect of combining stockholder interests. The three conditions in this paragraph relate to certain future transactions.

- a. The combined corporation does not agree directly or indirectly to retire or reacquire all or part of the common stock issued to effect the combination.
- b. The combined corporation does not enter into other financial arrangements for the benefit of the former stockholders of a combining company, such as a guaranty of loans secured by stock issued in the combination, which in effect negates the exchange of equity securities.
- c. The combined corporation does not intend or plan to dispose of a significant part of the assets of the combining companies within two years after the combination other than disposals in the ordinary course of business of the formerly separate companies and to eliminate duplicate facilities or excess capacity.

Subsidiary Corporation

.49 Dissolution of a combining company is not a condition for applying the pooling of interests method of accounting for a business combination. One or more combining companies may be subsidiaries of the issuing corporation after the combination is consummated if the other conditions are met.

Application of Pooling of Interests Method

.50 A business combination which meets all of the conditions in paragraphs .45 to .48 should be accounted for by the pooling of interests method. Appropriate procedures are described in paragraphs .51 to .65.

Assets and Liabilities Combined

.51 The recorded assets and liabilities of the separate companies generally become the recorded assets and liabilities of the combined corporation. The combined corporation therefore recognizes those assets and liabilities recorded in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles by the separate companies at the date the combination is consummated.

.52 The combined corporation records the historicalcost based amounts of the assets and liabilities of the separate companies because the existing basis of accounting continues. However, the separate companies may have recorded assets and liabilities under differing methods of accounting and the amounts may be adjusted to the same basis of accounting if the change would otherwise have been appropriate for the separate company. A change in accounting method to conform the individual methods should be applied retroactively, and financial statements presented for prior periods should be restated. (See sections 1051.34-.35, Accounting Changes.)

Stockholders' Equity Combined

.53 The stockholders' equities of the separate companies are also combined as a part of the pooling of interests method of accounting. The combined corporation records as capital the capital stock and capital in excess of par or stated value of outstanding stock of the separate companies. Similarly, retained earnings or deficits of the separate companies are combined and recognized as retained earnings of the combined corporation (paragraph .56). The amount of outstanding shares of stock of the combined corporation at par or stated value may exceed the total amount of capital stock of the separate combining companies; the excess should be deducted first from the combined other contributed capital and then from the combined retained earnings. The combined retained earnings

AC § 1091.50

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

could be misleading if shortly before or as a part of the combination transaction one or more of the combining companies adjusted the elements of stockholders' equity to eliminate a deficit; therefore, the elements of equity before the adjustment should be combined.

.54 A corporation which effects a combination accounted for by the pooling of interests method by distributing stock previously acquired as treasury stock (paragraph .47-d) should first account for those shares of stock as though retired. The issuance of the shares for the common stock interests of the combining company is then accounted for the same as the issuance of previously unissued shares.

.55 Accounting for common stock of one of the combining companies which is held by another combining company at the date a combination is consummated depends on whether the stock is the same as that which is issued to effect the combination or is the same as the stock which is exchanged in the combination. An investment of a combining company in the common stock of the issuing corporation is in effect returned to the resulting combined corporation in the combination. The combined corporation should account for the investment as treasury stock. In contrast. an investment in the common stock of other combining companies (not the one issuing stock in the combination) is an investment in stock that is exchanged in the combination for the common stock issued. The stock in that type of intercorporate investment is in effect eliminated in the combination. The combined corporation should account for that investment as stock retired as part of the combination.

Reporting Combined Operations

.56 A corporation which applies the pooling of interests method of accounting to a combination should report results of operations for the period in which the combination occurs as though the companies had been combined as of the beginning of the period. Results of operations for that period thus comprise those of the separate companies combined from the beginning of the period to the date the combination is consummated and those of the combined operations from that date to the end of the period. Elimi-

nating the effects of intercompany transactions from operations before the date of combination reports operations before and after the date of combination on substantially the same basis. The effects of intercompany transactions on current assets, current liabilities, revenue, and cost of sales for periods presented and on retained earnings at the beginning of the periods presented should be eliminated to the extent possible. The nature of and effects on earnings per share of nonrecurring intercompany transactions involving long-term assets and liabilities need not be eliminated but should be disclosed. A combined corporation should disclose in notes to financial statements the revenue, extraordinary items, and net income of each of the separate companies from the beginning of the period to the date the combination is consummated (paragraph .64-d). The information relating to the separate companies may be as of the end of the interim period nearest the date that the combination is consummated.

.57 Similarly, balance sheets and other financial information of the separate companies as of the beginning of the period should be presented as though the companies had been combined at that date. Financial statements and financial information of the separate companies presented for prior years should also be restated on a combined basis to furnish comparative information. All restated financial statements and financial summaries should indicate clearly that financial data of the previously separate companies are combined.

Expenses Related to Combination

.58 The pooling of interests method records neither the acquiring of assets nor the obtaining of capital. Therefore, costs incurred to effect a combination accounted for by that method and to integrate the continuing operations are expenses of the combined corporation rather than additions to assets or direct reductions of stockholders' equity. Accordingly, all expenses related to effecting a business combination accounted for by the pooling of interests method should be deducted in determining the net income of the resulting combined corporation for the period in which the expenses are incurred. Those expenses include, for example, registration fees, costs of furnishing informa-

AC § 1091.57

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

tion to stockholders, fees of finders and consultants, salaries and other expenses related to services of employees, and costs and losses of combining operations of the previously separate companies and instituting efficiencies.

Disposition of Assets After Combination

.59 A combined corporation may dispose of those assets of the separate companies which are duplicate facilities or excess capacity in the combined operations. Losses or estimated losses on disposal of specifically identified duplicate or excess facilities should be deducted in determining the net income of the resulting combined corporation. However, a loss estimated and recorded while a facility remains in service should not include the portion of the cost that is properly allocable to anticipated future service of the facility.

.60 Profit or loss on other dispositions of assets of the previously separate companies may require special disclosure unless the disposals are part of customary business activities of the combined corporation. Specific treatment of a profit or loss on those dispositions is warranted because the pooling of interests method of accounting would have been inappropriate (paragraph .48-c) if the combined corporation were committed or planned to dispose of a significant part of the assets of one of the combining companies. The Board concludes that a combined corporation should disclose separately a profit or loss resulting from the disposal of a significant part of the assets or a separable segment of the previously separate companies, provided

the profit or loss is material in relation to the net income of the combined corporation, and

the disposition is within two years after the combination is consummated.

The disclosed profit or loss, less applicable income tax effect, should be classified as an extraordinary item.

Date of Recording Combination

.61 A business combination accounted for by the pooling of interests method should be recorded as of the date the combination is consummated. Therefore, even though a business combination is consummated before one or more of the combining companies first issues its financial statements as of an earlier date, the financial statements issued should be those of the combining company and not those of the resulting combined corporation. A combining company should, however, disclose as supplemental information, in notes to financial statements or otherwise, the substance of a combination consummated before financial statements are issued and the effects of the combination on reported financial position and results of operations (paragraph .65). Comparative financial statements presented in reports of the resulting combined corporation after a combination is consummated should combine earlier financial statements of the separate companies.

.62 A corporation may be reasonably assured that a business combination which has been initiated but not consummated as of the date of financial statements will meet the conditions requiring the pooling of interests method of accounting. The corporation should record as an investment common stock of the other combining company acquired before the statement date. Common stock acquired by disbursing cash or other assets or by incurring liabilities should be recorded at cost. Stock acquired in exchange for common stock of the issuing corporation should, however, be recorded at the proportionate share of underlying net assets at the date acquired as recorded by the other company. Until the pooling of interests method of accounting for the combination is known to be appropriate, the investment and net income of the investor corporation should include the proportionate share of earnings or losses of the other company after the date of acquisition of the stock. The investor corporation should also disclose results of operations for all prior periods presented as well as the entire current period as they will be reported if the combination is later accounted for by the pooling of interests method. After the combination is consummated and the applicable method of accounting is known, financial statements issued previously should be restated as necessary to include the other combining company.

Disclosure of a Combination

.63 A combined corporation should disclose in its financial statements that a combination which is accounted

for by the pooling of interests method has occurred during the period. The basis of current presentation and restatements of prior periods may be disclosed in the financial statements by captions or by references to notes.

.64 Notes to financial statements of a combined corporation should disclose the following for the period in which a business combination occurs and is accounted for by the pooling of interests method.

- a. Name and brief description of the companies combined, except a corporation whose name is carried forward to the combined corporation.
- b. Method of accounting for the combination—that is, by the pooling of interests method.
- c. Description and number of shares of stock issued in the business combination.
- d. Details of the results of operations of the previously separate companies for the period before the combination is consummated that are included in the current combined net income (paragraph .56). The details should include revenue, extraordinary items, net income, other changes in stockholders' equity, and amount of and manner of accounting for intercompany transactions.
- e. Descriptions of the nature of adjustments of net assets of the combining companies to adopt the same accounting practices and of the effects of the changes on net income reported previously by the separate companies and now presented in comparative financial statements (paragraph .52).
- f. Details of an increase or decrease in retained earnings from changing the fiscal year of a combining company. The details should include at least revenue, expenses, extraordinary items, net income, and other changes in stockholders' equity for the period excluded from the reported results of operations.
- g. Reconciliations of amounts of revenue and earnings previously reported by the corporation that issues the stock to effect the combination with the combined amounts currently presented in financial

statements and summaries. A new corporation formed to effect a combination may instead disclose the earnings of the separate companies which comprise combined earnings for prior periods.

The information disclosed in notes to financial statements should also be furnished on a pro forma basis in information on a proposed business combination which is given to stockholders of combining companies.

.65 Notes to the financial statements should disclose details of the effects of a business combination consummated before the financial statements are issued but which is either incomplete as of the date of the financial statements or initiated after that date (paragraph .61). The details should include revenue, net income, earnings per share, and the effects of anticipated changes in accounting methods as if the combination had been consummated at the date of the financial statements (paragraph .52).

Application of Purchase Method

Principles of Historical-Cost Accounting

.66 Accounting for a business combination by the purchase method follows principles normally applicable under historical-cost accounting to recording acquisitions of assets and issuances of stock and to accounting for assets and liabilities after acquisition.

.67 Acquiring assets. The general principles to apply the historical-cost basis of accounting to an acquisition of an asset depend on the nature of the transaction:

- a. An asset acquired by exchanging cash or other assets is recorded at cost—that is, at the amount of cash disbursed or the fair value of other assets distributed.
- b. An asset acquired by incurring liabilities is recorded at cost—that is, at the present value of the amounts to be paid.
- c. An asset acquired by issuing shares of stock of the acquiring corporation is recorded at the fair value of the asset ¹⁰—that is, shares of stock issued are

AC § 1091.65

¹⁰ An asset acquired may be an entire entity which may have intangible assets, including goodwill.

recorded at the fair value of the consideration received for the stock.

The general principles must be supplemented to apply them in certain transactions. For example, the fair value of an asset received for stock issued may not be reliably determinable, or the fair value of an asset acquired in an exchange may be more reliably determinable than the fair value of a noncash asset given up. Restraints on measurement have led to the practical rule that assets acquired for other than cash, including shares of stock issued, should be stated at "cost" when they are acquired and "cost may be determined either by the fair value of the consideration given or by the fair value of the property acquired, whichever is the more clearly evident." " Cost" in accounting often means the amount at which an entity records an asset at the date it is acquired whatever its manner of acquisition, and that "cost" forms the basis for historical-cost accounting.

.68 Allocating cost. Acquiring assets in groups requires not only ascertaining the cost of the assets as a group but also allocating the cost to the individual assets which comprise the group. The cost of a group is determined by the principles described in paragraph .67. A portion of the total cost is then assigned to each individual asset acquired on the basis of its fair value. A difference between the sum of the assigned costs of the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired less liabilities assumed and the cost of the group is evidence of unspecified intangible values.

.69 Accounting after acquisition. The nature of an asset and not the manner of its acquisition determines an acquirer's subsequent accounting for the cost of that asset. The basis for measuring the cost of an asset—whether amount of cash paid, fair value of an asset received or given up, amount of a liability incurred, or fair value of stock issued—has no effect on the subsequent accounting for that cost, which is retained as an asset, depreciated, amortized, or otherwise matched with revenue.

¹¹ ARB No. 24; the substance was retained in slightly different words in Chapter 5, ARB No. 43 and ARB No. 48.

Acquiring Corporation

.70 A corporation which distributes cash or other assets or incurs liabilities to obtain the assets or stock of another company is clearly the acquirer. The identities of the acquirer and the acquired company are usually evident in a business combination effected by the issue of stock. The acquiring corporation normally issues the stock and commonly is the larger company. The acquired company may, however, survive as the corporate entity, and the nature of the negotiations sometimes clearly indicates that a smaller corporation acquires a larger company. The Board concludes that presumptive evidence of the acquiring corporation in combinations effected by an exchange of stock is obtained by identifying the former common stockholder interests of a combining company which either retain or receive the larger portion of the voting rights in the combined corporation. That corporation should be treated as the acquirer unless other evidence clearly indicates that another corporation is the acquirer. For example, a substantial investment of one company in common stock of another before the combination may be evidence that the investor is the acquiring corporation.

.71 If a new corporation is formed to issue stock to effect a business combination to be accounted for by the purchase method, one of the existing combining companies should be considered the acquirer on the basis of the evidence available.

Determining Cost of an Acquired Company

.72 The same accounting principles apply to determining the cost of assets acquired individually, those acquired in a group, and those acquired in a business combination. A cash payment by a corporation measures the cost of acquired assets less liabilities assumed. Similarly, the fair values of other assets distributed, such as marketable securities or properties, and the fair value of liabilities incurred by an acquiring corporation measure the cost of an acquired company. The present value of a debt security represents the fair value of the liability, and a premium or discount should be recorded for a debt security issued with an interest rate fixed materially above or below the effective rate or current yield for an otherwise comparable security. (See section 4111.)

AC § 1091.70

.73 The distinctive attributes of preferred stocks make some issues similar to a debt security while others possess common stock characteristics, with many gradations between the extremes. Determining cost of an acquired company may be affected by those characteristics. For example, the fair value of a nonvoting, nonconvertible preferred stock which lacks characteristics of common stock may be determined by comparing the specified dividend and redemption terms with comparable securities and by assessing market factors. Thus although the principle of recording the fair value of consideration received for stock issued applies to all equity securities, senior as well as common stock, the cost of a company acquired by issuing senior equity securities may be determined in practice on the same basis as for debt securities.

.74 The fair value of securities traded in the market is normally more clearly evident than the fair value of an acquired company (paragraph .67). Thus, the quoted market price of an equity security issued to effect a business combination may usually be used to approximate the fair value of an acquired company after recognizing possible effects of price fluctuations, quantities traded, issue costs, and the like (paragraph .23). The market price for a reasonable period before and after the date the terms of the acquisition are agreed to and announced should be considered in determining the fair value of securities issued.

.75 If the quoted market price is not the fair value of stock, either preferred or common, the consideration received should be estimated even though measuring directly the fair values of assets received is difficult. Both the consideration received, including goodwill, and the extent of the adjustment of the quoted market price of the stock issued should be weighed to determine the amount to be recorded. All aspects of the acquisition, including the negotiations, should be studied, and independent appraisals may be used as an aid in determining the fair value of securities issued. Consideration other than stock distributed to effect an acquisition may provide evidence of the total fair value received.

.76 Costs of acquisition. The cost of a company acquired in a business combination accounted for by the AICPA Professional Standards AC § 1091.76 purchase method includes the direct costs of acquisition. Costs of registering and issuing equity securities are a reduction of the otherwise determinable fair value of the securities. However, indirect and general expenses related to acquisitions are deducted as incurred in determining net income.

Contingent Consideration

.77 A business combination agreement may provide for the issuance of additional shares of a security or the transfer of cash or other consideration contingent on specified events or transactions in the future. Some agreements provide that a portion of the consideration be placed in escrow to be distributed or to be returned to the transferor when specified events occur. Either debt or equity securities may be placed in escrow, and amounts equal to interest or dividends on the securities during the contingency period may be paid to the escrow agent or to the potential security holder.

.78 The Board concludes that cash and other assets distributed and securities issued unconditionally and amounts of contingent consideration which are determinable at the date of acquisition should be included in determining the cost of an acquired company and recorded at that date. Consideration which is issued or issuable at the expiration of the contingency period or which is held in escrow pending the outcome of the contingency should be disclosed but not recorded as a liability or shown as outstanding securities unless the outcome of the contingency is determinable beyond reasonable doubt.

.79 Contingent consideration should usually be recorded when the contingency is resolved and consideration is issued or becomes issuable. In general, the issue of additional securities or distribution of other consideration at resolution of contingencies based on earnings should result in an additional element of cost of an acquired company. In contrast, the issue of additional securities or distribution of other consideration at resolution of contingencies based on security prices should not change the recorded cost of an acquired company.

.80 Contingency based on earnings. Additional consideration may be contingent on maintaining or achieving AC § 1091.77 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Inc. specified earnings levels in future periods. When the contingency is resolved and additional consideration is distributable, the acquiring corporation should record the current fair value of the consideration issued or issuable as additional cost of the acquired company. The additional costs of affected assets, usually goodwill, should be amortized over the remaining life of the asset.

.81 Contingency based on security prices. Additional consideration may be contingent on the market price of a specified security issued to effect a business combination. Unless the price of the security at least equals the specified amount on a specified date or dates, the acquiring corporation is required to issue additional equity or debt securities or transfer cash or other assets sufficient to make the current value of the total consideration equal to the specified amount. The securities issued unconditionally at the date the combination is consummated should be recorded at that date at the specified amount.

The cost of an acquired company recorded at the .82 date of acquisition represents the entire payment, including contingent consideration. Therefore, the issuance of additional securities or distribution of other consideration does not affect the cost of the acquired company, regardless of whether the amount specified is a security price to be maintained or a higher security price to be achieved. On a later date when the contingency is resolved and additional consideration is distributable, the acquiring corporation should record the current fair value of the additional consideration issued or issuable. However, the amount previously recorded for securities issued at the date of acquisition should simultaneously be reduced to the lower current value of those securities. Reducing the value of debt securities previously issued to their later fair value results in recording a discount on debt securities. The discount should be amortized from the date the additional securities are issued.

.83 Accounting for contingent consideration based on conditions other than those described should be inferred from the procedures outlined. For example, if the consideration contingently issuable depends on both future earnings and future security prices, additional cost of the acquired company should be recorded for the additional consideration contingent on earnings, and previously recorded consideration should be reduced to current value of the consideration contingent on security prices. Similarly, if the consideration contingently issuable depends on later settlement of a contingency, an increase in the cost of acquired assets, if any, should be amortized over the remaining life of the assets.

.84 Interest or dividends during contingency period. Amounts paid to an escrow agent representing interest and dividends on securities held in escrow should be accounted for according to the accounting for the securities. That is, until the disposition of the securities in escrow is resolved, payments to the escrow agent should not be recorded as interest expense or dividend distributions. An amount equal to interest and dividends later distributed by the escrow agent to the former stockholders should be added to the cost of the acquired assets at the date distributed and amortized over the remaining life of the assets.

.85 Tax effect of imputed interest. A tax reduction resulting from imputed interest on contingently issuable stock reduces the fair value recorded for contingent consideration based on earnings and increases additional capital recorded for contingent consideration based on security prices.

.86 Compensation in contingent agreements. The substance of some agreements for contingent consideration is to provide compensation for services or use of property or profit sharing, and the additional consideration given should be accounted for as expenses of the appropriate periods.

Recording Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed

.87 An acquiring corporation should allocate the cost of an acquired company to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Allocation should follow the principles described in paragraph .68.

First, all identifiable assets acquired, either individually or by type, and liabilities assumed in a business combination, whether or not shown in the financial statements of the acquired company, should be assigned

AC § 1091.84

a portion of the cost of the acquired company, normally equal to their fair values at date of acquisition.

Second, the excess of the cost of the acquired company over the sum of the amounts assigned to identifiable assets acquired less liabilities assumed should be recorded as goodwill. The sum of the market or appraisal values of identifiable assets acquired less liabilities assumed may sometimes exceed the cost of the acquired company. If so, the values otherwise assignable to noncurrent assets acquired (except longterm investments in marketable securities) should be reduced by a proportionate part of the excess to determine the assigned values. A deferred credit for an excess of assigned value of identifiable assets over cost of an acquired company (sometimes called "negative goodwill") should not be recorded unless those assets are reduced to zero value.

Independent appraisals may be used as an aid in determining the fair values of some assets and liabilities. Subsequent sales of assets may also provide evidence of values. The effect of taxes may be a factor in assigning amounts to identifiable assets and liabilities (paragraph .89).

.88 General guides for assigning amounts to the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed, except goodwill, are:

- a. Marketable securities at current net realizable values.
- b. Receivables at present values of amounts to be received determined at appropriate current interest rates, less allowances for uncollectibility and collection costs, if necessary.
- c. Inventories:
 - (1) Finished goods and merchandise at estimated selling prices less the sum of (a) costs of disposal and (b) a reasonable profit allowance for the selling effort of the acquiring corporation.
 - (2) Work in process at estimated selling prices of finished goods less the sum of (a) costs to complete, (b) costs of disposal, and (c) a reasonable

profit allowance for the completing and selling effort of the acquiring corporation based on profit for similar finished goods.

- (3) Raw materials at current replacement costs.
- d. Plant and equipment: (1) to be used, at current replacement costs for similar capacity ¹² unless the expected future use of the assets indicates a lower value to the acquirer, (2) to be sold or held for later sale rather than used, at current net realizable value, and (3) to be used temporarily, at current net realizable value recognizing future depreciation for the expected period of use.
- e. Intangible assets which can be identified and named, including contracts, patents, franchises, customer and supplier lists, and favorable leases, at appraised values.¹³
- f. Other assets, including land, natural resources, and nonmarketable securities, at appraised values.
- g. Accounts and notes payable, long-term debt, and other claims payable at present values of amounts to be paid determined at appropriate current interest rates.
- h. Liabilities and accruals—for example, accruals for pension cost,¹⁴ warranties, vacation pay, deferred compensation—at present values of amounts to be paid determined at appropriate current interest rates.
- i. Other liabilities and commitments, including unfavorable leases, contracts, and commitments and plant closing expense incident to the acquisition, at present values of amounts to be paid determined at appropriate current interest rates.

¹² Replacement cost may be determined directly if a used asset market exists for the assets acquired. Otherwise, the replacement cost should be approximated from replacement cost new less estimated accumulated depreciation.

²³ Fair values should be ascribed to specific assets; identifiable assets should not be included in goodwill.

³⁴ An accrual for pension cost should be the greater of (1) accrued pension cost computed in conformity with the accounting policies of the acquiring corporation for one or more of its pension plans or (2) the excess, if any, of the actuarially computed value of vested benefits over the amount of the pension fund.

An aquiring corporation should record periodically as a part of income the accrual of interest on assets and liabilities recorded at acquisition date at the discounted values of amounts to be received or paid. An acquiring corporation should not record as a separate asset the goodwill previously recorded by an acquired company and should not record deferred income taxes recorded by an acquired company before its acquisition. An acquiring corporation should reduce the acquired goodwill retroactively for the realized tax benefits of loss carry-forwards of an acquired company not previously recorded by the acquiring corporation.

.89 The market or appraisal values of specific assets and liabilities determined in paragraph .88 may differ from the income tax bases of those items. Estimated future tax effects of differences between the tax bases and amounts otherwise appropriate to assign to an asset or a liability are one of the variables in estimating fair value. Amounts assigned to identifiable assets and liabilities should, for example, recognize that the fair value of an asset to an acquirer is less than its market or appraisal value if all or a portion of the market or appraisal value is not deductible for income taxes. The impact of tax effects on amounts assigned to individual assets and liabilities depends on numerous factors, including imminence or delay of realization of the asset value and the possible timing of tax consequences. Since differences between amounts assigned and tax bases are not timing differences (section 4091.12), the acquiring corporation should not record deferred tax accounts at the date of acquisition.

Amortization of Goodwill

.90 Goodwill recorded in a business combination accounted for by the purchase method should be amortized in accordance with the provisions in section 5141.27-.31.

Excess of Acquired Net Assets Over Cost

.91 The value assigned to net assets acquired should not exceed the cost of an acquired company because the general presumption in historical-cost based accounting is that net assets acquired should be recorded at not more than cost. The total market or appraisal values of identifiable assets acquired less liabilities assumed in a few business combinations may exceed the cost of the acquired company. An excess over cost should be allocated to reduce proportionately the values assigned to noncurrent assets (except long-term investments in marketable securities) in determining their fair values (paragraph .87). If the allocation reduces the noncurrent assets to zero value, the remainder of the excess over cost should be classified as a deferred credit and should be amortized systematically to income over the period estimated to be benefited but not in excess of forty years. The method and period of amortization should be disclosed.

.92 No part of the excess of acquired net assets over cost should be added directly to stockholders' equity at the date of acquisition.

Acquisition Date

The Board believes that the date of acquisition of .93 a company should ordinarily be the date assets are received and other assets are given or securities are issued. However, the parties may for convenience designate as the effective date the end of an accounting period between the dates a business combination is initiated and consummated. The designated date should ordinarily be the date of acquisition for accounting purposes if a written agreement provides that effective control of the acquired company is transferred to the acquiring corporation on that date without restrictions except those required to protect the stockholders or other owners of the acquired company-for example, restrictions on significant changes in the operations, permission to pay dividends equal to those regularly paid before the effective date, and the like. Designating an effective date other than the date assets or securities are transferred requires adjusting the cost of an acquired company and net income otherwise reported to compensate for recognizing income before consideration is transferred. The cost of an acquired company and net income should therefore be reduced by imputed interest at an appropriate current rate on assets given, liabilities incurred, or preferred stock distributed as of the transfer date to acquire the company.

.94 The cost of an acquired company and the values assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed should

be determined as of the date of acquisition. The statement of income of an acquiring corporation for the period in which a business combination occurs should include income of the acquired company after the date of acquisition by including the revenue and expenses of the acquired operations based on the cost to the acquiring corporation.

Disclosure in Financial Statements

.95 Notes to the financial statements of an acquiring corporation should disclose the following for the period in which a business combination occurs and is accounted for by the purchase method.

- a. Name and a brief description of the acquired company.
- b. Method of accounting for the combination—that is, by the purchase method.
- c. Period for which results of operations of the acquired company are included in the income statement of the acquiring corporation.
- d. Cost of the acquired company and, if applicable, the number of shares of stock issued or issuable and the amount assigned to the issued and issuable shares.
- e. Description of the plan for amortization of acquired goodwill, the amortization method, and period (section 5141.27-.31).
- f. Contingent payments, options, or commitments specified in the acquisition agreement and their proposed accounting treatment.

Information relating to several relatively minor acquisitions may be combined for disclosure.

.96 Notes to the financial statements of the acquiring corporation for the period in which a business combination occurs and is accounted for by the purchase method should include as supplemental information the following results of operations on a pro forma basis:

a. Results of operations for the current period as though the companies had combined at the beginning of the period, unless the acquisition was at or near the beginning of the period. b. Results of operations for the immediately preceding period as though the companies had combined at the beginning of that period if comparative financial statements are presented.

The supplemental pro forma information should as a minimum show revenue, income before extraordinary items, net income, and earnings per share. To present pro forma information, income taxes, interest expense, preferred stock dividends, depreciation and amortization of assets, including goodwill, should be adjusted to their accounting bases recognized in recording the combination. Pro forma presentation of results of operations of periods prior to the combination transaction should be limited to the immediately preceding period.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.97 The provisions of this section shall be effective to account for business combinations initiated ¹⁵ after October 31, 1970. Business combinations initiated before November 1, 1970 and consummated on or after that date under the terms prevailing on October 31, 1970 (paragraph .47-a) may be accounted for in accordance with this section or the applicable previous pronouncements of the Board and its predecessor committee.

.98 The provisions of this section should not be applied retroactively for business combinations consummated before November 1, 1970.

.99 If a corporation holds as an investment on October 31, 1970 a minority interest in or exactly 50 percent of the common stock of another company and the corporation initiates after October 31, 1970 a plan of combination with that company, the resulting business combination may be accounted for by the pooling of interests method provided

the combination is completed within five years after October 31, 1970 and

the combination meets all conditions specified in paragraphs .45 to .48, except that

(i) the minority interest in the voting common stock of the combining company held on October 31,

AC § 1091.97

²⁵ Initiated is defined in paragraph .46-a whether the combination is accounted for by the pooling of interests method or by the purchase method.

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

1970 may exceed 10 percent of the outstanding voting common stock of the combining company (paragraph .46-b), and

(ii) the corporation which effects the combination issues voting common stock for at least 90 percent of the outstanding voting common stock interest, as described in paragraph .47-b, of the other combining company not already held on October 31, 1970 (rather than 90 percent of all of the common stock interest of the combining company).

The investment in common stock held on October 31, 1970 should not be accounted for as treasury stock or retired stock at the date of the combination. Instead, the excess of cost over the investor corporation's proportionate equity in the net assets of the combining company at or near the date the stock investment was acquired should be allocated to identifiable assets of the combining company at the date the combination is consummated on the basis of the fair values of those assets at the combination date. The unallocated portion of the excess should be assigned to an unidentified intangible asset (goodwill) and should be accounted for according to applicable previous pronouncements of the Board and its predecessor committee. The cost of goodwill should not be amortized retroactively but may be amortized prospectively under the provision of section 5141.35. If the cost of the investment is less than the investor's equity in the net assets of the combining company, that difference should reduce proportionately the recorded amounts of noncurrent assets (except long-term investments in marketable securities) of the combining company.

AC Section 2000

FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

... reporting the results of operations ... earnings per share ... gains and losses from extinguishment of debt ... statements of funds ... working capital ... form of statements ... consolidation of financial statements ... statements for special situations ... interim financial statements

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section	Pai	ragraph
2010	Reporting the Results of Operations	
	Introduction	.0104
	Applicability	.05
	Net Income and the Treatment of Prior Period Adjustments	
	Discussion	.0615
	Opinion	
	Summary	.1618
	Criteria for prior period adjustments	.2223
	Disclosure of prior period adjustments and re- statements of reported net income	.25
	Historical summaries of financial data	.26
	Capital transactions	.27
	Income statements	.28

•

Introduction	.0104
Applicability	.0506
Historical Background	.0711

Table of Contents

7902

Section

Paragraph

Presentation on Face of Income Statement. 12-16 Simple capital structures. 15 Dual presentation 16 Periods Presented 17-18 Additional Disclosures 19-23 Capital structure 19 Dual earnings per share data 20-21 Supplementary earnings per share data 22-23 Primary Earnings per Share 24-39 Nature of common stock equivalents 28-27 Determination of common stock equivalents 31-38 Convertible securities 31-34 Options and warrants (and their equivalents) 35-38 Non-recognition of common stock equivalents infinancial statements 39 Fully Diluted Earnings per Share 40-42 No anti-dilution 40 When required 41-42 Situations Not Covered in Opinion 43 Computational Guidelines 45-46 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines 02 Weighted average 02 Stock dividends or splits 03 Business combinations and reorganizations 04 Claims of	2011	Opinion	
Complex capital structures		Presentation on Face of Income Statement	.1216
Dual presentation 16 Periods Presented .17.18 Additional Disclosures .19.23 Capital structure .19 Dual earnings per share data .20.21 Supplementary earnings per share .24.39 Nature of common stock equivalents .25.27 Determination of common stock equivalents at issuance .28.29 No anti-dilution .30 Test of common stock equivalent status .31-38 Convertible securities .31-34 Options and warrants (and their equivalents) .35-38 Non-recognition of common stock equivalents in financial statements .39 Fully Diluted Earnings per Share .40-42 No anti-dilution .40 When required .41-42 Situations Not Covered in Opinion .41-42 Situations Not Covered in Opinion .43 Computational Guidelines .44 Effective Date .45-46 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines .02 Weighted average .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business comb		Simple capital structures	• -
Periods Presented .1718 Additional Disclosures .1923 Capital structure .19 Dual earnings per share data .2021 Supplementary earnings per share data .2223 Primary Earnings per Share .2439 Nature of common stock equivalents .2527 Determination of common stock equivalents .2527 Determination of common stock equivalents at issuance .2829 No anti-dilution .30 Test of common stock equivalents in financial statements .3138 Convertible securities .3138 Non-recognition of common stock equivalents in financial statements .39 Fully Diluted Earnings per Share .4042 Situations Not Covered in Opinion .40 When required .4142 Situations Not Covered in Opinion .44 Effective Date .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines .02 Weighted average .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securi			
Additional Disclosures .19-23 Capital structure .19 Dual earnings per share data .20-21 Supplementary earnings per share data .22-23 Primary Earnings per Share .24-39 Nature of common stock equivalents .25-27 Determination of common stock equivalents at issuance .28-29 No anti-dilution .30 Test of common stock equivalent status .31-38 Convertible securities .31-34 Options and warrants (and their equivalents) .35-38 Non-recognition of common stock equivalents in finan- cial statements .39 Fully Diluted Earnings per Share .40-42 No anti-dilution .40 When required .41-42 Situations Not Covered in Opinion .43 Computational Guidelines .44 Effective Date .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines .02 Weighted average .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Clains of senior securities .05			
Capital structure			
Dual earnings per share data 20-21 Supplementary earnings per share data 22-23 Primary Earnings per Share 24-39 Nature of common stock equivalents 25-27 Determination of common stock equivalents at issuance 28-29 No anti-dilution 30 Test of common stock equivalent status 31-38 Convertible securities 31-34 Options and warrants (and their equivalents) 35-38 Non-recognition of common stock equivalents in financial statements 39 Fully Diluted Earnings per Share 40-42 No anti-dilution 40 When required 41-42 Situations Not Covered in Opinion 43 Computational Guidelines 44 Effective Date 45-46 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines 04 Veighted average 02 Stock dividends or splits 03 Business combinations and reorganizations 04 Claims of senior securities 05 Use of "if-converted" method of computation 06-08 Use of "if-converted" method of computation		Additional Disclosures	
Supplementary earnings per share			
Primary Earnings per Share 24.39 Nature of common stock equivalents 25-27 Determination of common stock equivalents at issuance 28-29 No anti-dilution 30 Test of common stock equivalents at issuance 31-38 Convertible securities 31-38 Convertible securities 31-34 Options and warrants (and their equivalents) 35-38 Non-recognition of common stock equivalents in financial statements 39 Fully Diluted Earnings per Share 40-42 No anti-dilution 40 When required 41-42 Situations Not Covered in Opinion 43 Computational Guidelines 44 Effective Date 45-46 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines 02 Weighted average 02 Stock dividends or splits 03 Business combinations and reorganizations 04 Claims of senior securities 05 Use of "trooverted" method of computation 09-10 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates or exercise prices 11 Conversion r		Dual earnings per share data	
Nature of common stock equivalents 25-27 Determination of common stock equivalents at issuance 28-29 No anti-dilution .30 Test of common stock equivalent status .31-38 Convertible securities .3134 Options and warrants (and their equivalents) .3538 Non-recognition of common stock equivalents in financial statements .39 Fully Diluted Earnings per Share .4042 No anti-dilution .40 When required .4142 Situations Not Covered in Opinion .43 Computational Guidelines .44 Effective Date .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "two-class" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates or exercise prices .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Primary earnings per share .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .12			
Determination of common stock equivalents at issuance 28-29 No anti-dilution .30 Test of common stock equivalent status .3138 Convertible securities .3134 Options and warrants (and their equivalents) .3538 Non-recognition of common stock equivalents in financial statements .39 Fully Diluted Earnings per Share .4042 No anti-dilution .40 When required .4142 Situations Not Covered in Opinion .43 Computational Guidelines .44 Effective Date .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "two-class" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates or exercise prices .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— Primary earnings per share .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .12 Fully diluted earnings per share <td></td> <td>Primary Earnings per Share</td> <td>.2439</td>		Primary Earnings per Share	.2439
No anti-dilution		Nature of common stock equivalents	.2527
Test of common stock equivalent status .3138 Convertible securities .3134 Options and warrants (and their equivalents) .3538 Non-recognition of common stock equivalents in financial statements .39 Fully Diluted Earnings per Share .4042 No anti-dilution .40 When required .4142 Situations Not Covered in Opinion .43 Computational Guidelines .44 Effective Date .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "two-class" method of computation .0608 Use of "two-class" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates or exercise prices .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .20			.2829
Convertible securities .3134 Options and warrants (and their equivalents) .3538 Non-recognition of common stock equivalents in financial statements .39 Fully Diluted Earnings per Share .4042 No anti-dilution .40 When required .4142 Situations Not Covered in Opinion .43 Computational Guidelines .44 Effective Date .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "if-converted" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619			
Options and warrants (and their equivalents) .3538 Non-recognition of common stock equivalents in financial statements .39 Fully Diluted Earnings per Share .4042 No anti-dilution .40 When required .4142 Situations Not Covered in Opinion .43 Computational Guidelines .44 Effective Date .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "if-converted" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates or exercise prices .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .20 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B			
Non-recognition of common stock equivalents in finan- cial statements .39 Fully Diluted Earnings per Share .4042 No anti-dilution .40 We anti-dilution .40 When required .4142 Situations Not Covered in Opinion .43 Computational Guidelines .44 Effective Date .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "if-converted" method of computation .0608 Use of "two-class" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Sum			
cial statements			.0000
Fully Diluted Earnings per Share .4042 No anti-dilution .40 When required .4142 Situations Not Covered in Opinion .43 Computational Guidelines .44 Effective Date .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "two-class" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints .0208			.39
No anti-dilution .40 When required .4142 Situations Not Covered in Opinion .43 Computational Guidelines .44 Effective Date .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines .02 Weighted average .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "if-converted" method of computation .0608 Use of "two-class" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates .07 or exercise prices .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B </td <td></td> <td>- ·</td> <td></td>		- ·	
When required .4142 Situations Not Covered in Opinion .43 Computational Guidelines .44 Effective Date .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "if-converted" method of computation .0608 Use of "it-converted" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates or exercise prices .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints .0208			
Situations Not Covered in Opinion .43 Computational Guidelines .44 Effective Date .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines Weighted average .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "if-converted" method of computation .0608 Use of "two-class" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints .25			
Computational Guidelines .44 Effective Date .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines Weighted average .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "if-converted" method of computation .0608 Use of "two-class" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints .2008		•	.43
Effective Date .4546 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "if-converted" method of computation .0608 Use of "two-class" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints .0208			
2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A Computational Guidelines 02 Stock dividends or splits 03 Business combinations and reorganizations 04 Claims of senior securities 05 Use of "if-converted" method of computation 06-08 Use of "two-class" method of computation 09-10 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates or exercise prices 11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— 11 Primary earnings per share 12 Fully diluted earnings per share 13 Participating securities and two-class common 14-15 Issuance contingent on certain conditions 16-19 Securities of subsidiaries 20-24 Dividends per share 25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints Common Stock Equivalent or Residual Concept .0208			
Computational Guidelines .02 Weighted average .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "if-converted" method of computation .0608 Use of "two-class" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates .01 or exercise prices .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints .0208			
Weighted average .02 Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "if-converted" method of computation .0608 Use of "two-class" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates .07 or exercise prices .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints .0208	2011A	Earnings per Share—Appendix A	
Stock dividends or splits .03 Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "if-converted" method of computation .0608 Use of "two-class" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates .01 or exercise prices .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints .0208		Computational Guidelines	
Business combinations and reorganizations .04 Claims of senior securities .05 Use of "if-converted" method of computation .0608 Use of "two-class" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates .01 or exercise prices .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints .0208		Weighted average	•
Claims of senior securities		Stock dividends or splits	.03
Use of "if-converted" method of computation		Business combinations and reorganizations	
Use of "two-class" method of computation .0910 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— .11 Primary earnings per share .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints .0208			
Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates or exercise prices .11 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— Primary earnings per share .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints Common Stock Equivalent or Residual Concept .0208		Use of "if-converted" method of computation	.0608
or exercise prices		Use of "two-class" method of computation	.0910
Conversion rate or exercise price to be used— Primary earnings per share .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints .0208		Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates	_
Primary earnings per share .12 Fully diluted earnings per share .13 Participating securities and two-class common .1415 Issuance contingent on certain conditions .1619 Securities of subsidiaries .2024 Dividends per share .25 2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints .0208		or exercise prices	.11
Fully diluted earnings per share		Conversion rate or exercise price to be used—	
Participating securities and two-class common		Primary earnings per share	
Issuance contingent on certain conditions			
Issuance contingent on certain conditions		Participating securities and two-class common	.1415
2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints Common Stock Equivalent or Residual Concept		Issuance contingent on certain conditions	.1619
2011B Earnings per Share—Appendix B Summary of Differing Viewpoints Common Stock Equivalent or Residual Concept			.2024
Summary of Differing Viewpoints Common Stock Equivalent or Residual Concept		Dividends per share	.25
Summary of Differing Viewpoints Common Stock Equivalent or Residual Concept	2011B	Earnings per Share—Appendix B	
Common Stock Equivalent or Residual Concept			
Concept Has No Validity		Common Stock Equivalent or Residual Concept	.0208
		Concept Has No Validity	.0304

Contents	Co	nte	nts
----------	----	-----	-----

Concept Has Validity Both At Issuance and Subsequently .05-.08

Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Section	Pa	ragraph
2011B	Criteria and Methods for Determination of	
20112	Residual Status	.0920
	Convertible Securities	.1015
	Investment value method	.1012
	Market parity method	.1314
	Yield methods	.15
	Options and Warrants	.1620
	Exclusion from computation of primary earnings per share	.17
	Determination of equivalent common shares	.18
	Measurement of effect of options and warrants	
	Computational Method—Convertible Securities	.2122
	Recognition of Common Stock Equivalents in the Financial	•
	Statements	.2324
2011C	Earnings per Share—Appendix C	
	Illustrative Statements	
	Exhibit A—Example of Disclosure of Earnings per share,	
	Simple Capital Structure	.02
	Exhibit B—Example of Disclosure of Earnings per Share,	
	Complex Capital Structure	.03
	Exhibit C—Example of Note X to Exhibit B	.04
2011D	Earnings per ShareAppendix D	
20110		.0128
	Definitions of Terms	.0120
2012	Reporting the Results of Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extra- ordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions	
	Introduction	.0103
	Discussion	.0406
	Applicability	.07
	Opinion	.0826
	Income Statement Presentation and Disclosure	
	Discontinued Operations of a Segment of a	
	Business	
	Extraordinary Items	.1012
	Accounting for the Disposal of a Segment of a Busi-	
	ness	.1318
	Definition of Measurement and Disposal Dates	.14
	Determination of Gain or Loss on Disposal of	
	a Segment of a Business	
	Disclosure	.18 1924.
	Criteria for Extraordinary Items	.1924
	Unusual Nature	
	• •	.2223
	Materiality	.24
	Disclosure of Unusual or Infrequently Occurring	
		.26
	Effective Date	.27

7904	Table of Contents	
Section	Pare	agraph
2013	3 Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt	
	(An Amendment of Section 2012) Introduction and Background Information	01 07
	Standards of Financial Accounting and Reporting: Income Statement Classification Disclosure Amendment to Existing Pronouncement Effective Date and Transition	.08 .09 .10 1112
	Appendix A: Summary of Consideration of Comments on Exposure Draft	1317
2020	Statements of Funds	
2021	Reporting Changes in Financial Position	
	Introduction Discussion Opinion Effective Date	04 06
2030	Working Capital	
2031	Current Assets and Current Liabilities	
2032	Offsetting Securities Against Taxes Payable	
2033	Classification of Short-Term Obligations Expected to Be Refinanced	
	Applicability Standards of Financial Accounting and Reporting: Classification Intent to Refinance Ability to Consummate the Refinancing Disclosure Amendments to Existing Pronouncement	0106 .07 0809 .10 1114 .15 .16
	Effective Date and Transition	.17 18. 31
	Appendix B: Examples of Application of This Statement.	
2040	Form of Statements	
2041	Comparative Financial Statements	
2042	Capital Changes	
2043	Disclosure of Depreciable Assets and Depreciation	
2044	Classification and Disclosure of Allowances	
Contents	S Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accounta	nts, Inc.

Section	Pai	agraph
2045	Disclosure of Accounting Policies	
	Introduction	.0104
		.0507
		.0815
	-1	.0811
	Format	.15
	Effective Date	.16
2050	Consolidation of Financial Statements	
2051	Consolidated Financial Statements	
	Purpose of Consolidated Statements	.02
	Consolidation Policy	.0306
	Consolidation Procedure Generally	.07
	Elimination of Intercompany Investments	.0812
	Minority Interests	
	Stock Dividends of Subsidiaries	.17
	Combined Statements	
	Parent-Company Statements	.2122
2060 2061	Statements for Special Situations Disclosure of Supplemental Financial Information by Diversified Companies	
		.0103
	Background	.0405
	Needs of the Investor and His Advisors	.0607
	Reporting Problems	.08
	Competitive Aspects	.09
	Need for Research	.10
	Interim Recommendation for Disclosure	.1112
		.14
2062	Accounting and Reporting by Development Stage Enterprises	
	Introduction	.0107
	Standards of Financial Accounting and Reporting: Guidelines for Identifying a Development Stage	
	Enterprise	.0809
	Financial Accounting and Reporting	.1013
	Effective Date and Transition	
	Appendix A: Background Information	
	Appendix B: Basis for Conclusions	.2255

Contents

Section

Paragraph

2070	Interim	Financial	Statements
------	---------	-----------	------------

2071	Interim Financial Reporting	
	Discussion	.0106
	Opinion	
	Applicability	.0708
	mation	.0910
	Revenue	.11
	Costs and Expenses	.12
	Costs Associated with Revenue	.1314
	Seasonal Revenue, Costs, or Expenses	.1317
		.1920
	Disposat of a Segment of a Business and Extraordi- nary, Unusual, Infrequently Occurring and Con-	
	tingent Items	.2122
	Accounting Changes	.2329
	Disclosure of Summarized Interim Financial Data by Publicly Traded Companies	.3033
	Effective Date	.3435
2072	Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements (An Amendment of Section 2071)	
	Introduction and Background Information	.0105
	Cumulative Effect Type Accounting Changes	
	Fourth Quarter Accounting Changes Made by Publicly Traded Companies	.08
	Standards of Financial Accounting and Reporting: Cumulative Effect Type Accounting Changes Other	
	than Changes to LIFO	.0911
	and Similar Situations	.1213
	Fourth Quarter Accounting Changes Made by Pub-	
	licly Traded Companies	.14 .15
	Effective Date	.15
	Appendix A: Reporting a Cumulative Effect Type Account- ing Change (Other than a Change to LIFO)	
	Appendix B: Reporting a Change to the LIFO Method of	
	Inventory Pricing	.2225

→ The next page is 7921.

2

Reporting the Results of Operations

[Source: APB Opinion No. 9, as amended.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1966, unless otherwise indicated

INTRODUCTION

.01 The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, through its boards and committees, reviews from time to time the form and content of financial statements to determine how their usefulness may be improved. This section is the result of a review of present practice in the reporting of the results of operations of business entities.

.02 This section (a) concludes that net income should reflect all items of profit and loss recognized during the period except for prior period adjustments, with extraordinary items to be shown separately as an element of net income of the period, and (b) specifies the criteria to be used in determining which items, if any, recognized during the current period are to be considered prior period adjustments and excluded from net income for the current period. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.)

.03 This section also specifies the method of treating extraordinary items and prior period adjustments in comparative statements for two or more periods, specifies the disclosures required when previously issued statements of income are restated and recommends methods of presentation of historical, statistical-type financial summaries which include extraordinary items or are affected by prior period adjustments. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1968, by APB Opinion No. 15.]

.04 For convenience, the term *net income* is used herein to refer to either net income or net loss. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1968, by APB Opinion No. 15.]

APPLICABILITY

.05 This section applies to general purpose statements which purport to present results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Investment companies, insurance companies and certain nonprofit organizations have developed income statements with formats different from those of the typical commercial entity described herein, designed to highlight the peculiar nature and sources of their income or operating results. The portion of this section which requires that net income be presented as one amount does not apply to such entities. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1968, by APB Opinion No. 13.]

NET INCOME AND THE TREATMENT OF PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS DISCUSSION

General

.06 Business entities have developed a reporting pattern under which periodic financial statements are prepared from their accounting records to reflect the financial position of the entity at a particular date and the financial results of its activities for a specified period or periods. The statement of income and the statement of retained earnings (separately or combined) are designed to reflect, in a broad sense, the "results of operations."

.07 A problem in reporting the results of operations of a business entity for one or more periods is the treatment of prior period adjustments. The section also discusses the various types of adjustment which might be considered to be proper adjustments of the recorded results of operations of prior periods and establishes criteria which the Board feels are reasonable and practicable for the relatively few items which should be so recognized. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.)

Historical Background

General

.08 There is considerable diversity of views as to whether extraordinary items and prior period adjustments

should enter into the determination of net income of the period in which they are recognized. When Accounting Research Bulletin No. 32 was issued in December 1947, as well as when it was reissued in June 1953 as Chapter 8 of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, two conflicting viewpoints had attracted considerable support. The paragraphs which follow summarize the discussion of these two viewpoints contained in Chapter 8.

Current Operating Performance

.09 Under one viewpoint, designated current operating performance, the principal emphasis is upon the ordinary, normal, recurring operations of the entity during the current period. If extraordinary or prior period transactions have occurred, their inclusion might impair the significance of net income to such an extent that misleading inferences might be drawn from the amount so designated.

.10 Advocates of this position believe that users of financial statements attach a particular business significance to the statement of income and the "net income" reported therein. They point out that, while some users are able to analyze a statement of income and to eliminate from it those prior period adjustments and extraordinary items which may tend to impair its usefulness for their purposes, many users are not trained to do this. They believe that management (subject to the attestation of the independent auditors) is in a better position to do this, and to eliminate the effect of such items from the amount designated as net income.

.11 Advocates of this position also point out that many companies, in order to give more useful information concerning their earnings performance, restate the earnings or losses of affected periods to reflect the proper allocation of prior period adjustments. They believe therefore that items of this type may best be handled as direct adjustments of retained earnings or as "special items" excluded from net income of the current period. They feel that extraordinary items of *all* types may often best be disclosed as direct adjustments of retained earnings, since this eliminates any distortive effect on reported earnings.

All Inclusive

.12 Under the other viewpoint, designated all inclusive, net income is presumed to include all transactions affecting the net increase or decrease in proprietorship equity during the current period, except dividend distributions and transactions of a capital nature.

.13 Proponents of this position believe that the aggregate of such periodic net incomes, over the life of an enterprise, constitutes total net income, and that this is the only fair and complete method of reporting the results of operations of the entity. They believe that extraordinary items and prior period adjustments are part of the earnings history of an entity and that omission of such items from periodic statements of income increases the possibility that these items will be overlooked in a review of operating results for a period of years. They also stress the dangers of possible manipulation of annual earnings figures if such items may be omitted from the determination of net income. They believe that a statement of income including all such items is easy to understand and less subject to variations resulting from different judgments. They feel that, when judgment is allowed to determine whether to include or exclude particular items or adjustments, significant differences develop in the treatment of borderline cases and that there is a danger that the use of "extraordinary" as a criterion may be a means of equalizing income. Advocates of this theory believe that full disclosure in the income statement of the nature of any extraordinary items or prior period adjustments during each period will enable the user of a statement of income to make his own assessment of the importance of the items and their effects on operating results

.14 The committee on accounting procedure (predecessor of the Accounting Principles Board) did not embrace either of these viewpoints in its entirety in issuing its first Accounting Research Bulletin on this subject in December 1947. Instead, the committee stated ". . . it is the opinion of the committee that there should be a general presumption that all items of profit and loss recog-

AC § 2010.12

nized during the period are to be used in determining the figure reported as net income. The only possible exception to this presumption in any case would be with respect to items which in the aggregate are materially significant in relation to the company's net income and are clearly not identifiable with or do not result from the usual or typical business operations of the period. Thus, only extraordinary items such as the following may be excluded from the determination of net income for the year, and they should be excluded when their inclusion would impair the significance of net income so that misleading inferences might be drawn therefrom:"¹ The list of items which followed consisted of material charges or credits, other than ordinary adjustments of a recurring nature, (a) specifically related to operations of prior years, (b) resulting from unusual sales of assets not acquired for resale and not of the type in which the company usually deals, (c) resulting from losses of a type not usually insured against, (d) resulting from the write-off of a material amount of intangibles or a material amount of unamortized bond discount or premium and expense. The language quoted above was continued substantially unchanged in the 1953 Restatement and Revision of Accounting Research Bulletins, becoming Chapter 8 of ARB No. 43.

.15 Since the issuance of these guidelines for the determination of net income, developments in the business and investment environment have increased the emphasis on, and interest in, the financial reporting format of business entities and the nature of the amount shown as net income therein. As a result of the widespread and increasing dissemination of financial data, often in highly condensed form, to investors and potential investors, suggestions have been made that the criteria for the determination of the amount to be reported as net income, insofar as it is affected by extraordinary items and prior period adjustments, should be re-examined.

OPINION

Summary

.16 The Board has considered various methods of reporting the effects of extraordinary events and trans-

¹Accounting Research Bulletin No. 32, Income and Earned Surplus.

actions and of prior period adjustments which are recorded in the accounts during a particular accounting period. The Board has concluded that net income should reflect all items of profit and loss recognized during the period with the sole exception of the prior period adjustments described below. *Extraordinary items* should, however, be segregated from the results of ordinary operations and shown separately in the income statement, with disclosure of the nature and amounts thereof. The criteria for determination of extraordinary items and their presentation are described in section 2012.19-.24. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.]

.17 With respect to prior period adjustments, the Board has concluded that those rare items which relate directly to the operations of a specific prior period or periods, which are material and which qualify under the criteria described in paragraph .22 below should, in single period statements, be reflected as adjustments of the opening balance of retained earnings. When comparative statements are presented, corresponding adjustments should be made of the amounts of net income (and the components thereof) and retained earnings balances (as well as of other affected balances) for all of the periods reported therein, to reflect the retroactive application of the prior period adjustments. (See paragraph .25 for required disclosures of prior period adjustments.) [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after July 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 201.

.18 The Board has concluded that the above approach to the reporting of the results of operations of business entities will result in the most meaningful and useful type of financial presentation. The principal advantages are: (a) inclusion of all operating items related to the current period, with segregation and disclosure of the extraordinary items, (b) a reporting of current income from operations free from distortions resulting from material items directly related to prior periods and (c) proper retroactive reflection in comparative financial statements of material adjustments relating directly to prior periods. In reaching its conclusion, the Board recognizes that this approach may involve (a) occasional revision of previously-reported

AC § 2010.17

net income for prior periods to reflect subsequently recorded material items directly related thereto, (b) difficulty in segregating extraordinary items and items related to prior periods and (c) the possibility that disclosures regarding adjustments of opening balances in retained earnings or of net income of prior periods will be overlooked by the reader.

[.19] [Superseded, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973, by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.)

[.20] [Superseded, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.)

[.21] [Superseded, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.)

Criteria for Prior Period Adjustments

.22 Adjustments related to prior periods-and thus excluded in the determination of net income for the current period-are limited to those material adjustments which (a) can be specifically identified with and directly related to the business activities of particular prior periods, and (b) are not attributable to economic events occurring subsequent to the date of the financial statements for the prior period, and (c) depend primarily on determinations by persons other than management and (d) were not susceptible of reasonable estimation prior to such determination. Such adjustments are rare in modern financial accounting. They relate to events or transactions which occurred in a prior period, the accounting effects of which could not be determined with reasonable assurance at that time, usually because of some major uncertainty then existing. Evidence of such an uncertainty would be disclosure thereof in the financial statements of the applicable period, or of an intervening period in those cases in which the uncertainty became apparent during a subsequent period. Further, it would be expected that, in most cases, the opinion of the reporting independent auditor on such prior period would have contained a qualification because of the uncertainty. Examples are material, nonrecurring adjustments or settlements of income taxes, of renegotiation proceedings or of utility revenues under rate processes. Settlements of significant amounts resulting from litigation or similar claims may also constitute prior period adjustments.

.23 Treatment as prior period adjustments should not be applied to the normal, recurring corrections and adjustments which are the natural result of the use of estimates inherent in the accounting process. For example, changes in the estimated remaining lives of fixed assets affect the computed amounts of depreciation, but these changes should be considered prospective in nature and not prior period adjustments. Similarly, relatively immaterial adjustments of provisions for liabilities (including income taxes) made in prior periods should be considered recurring items to be reflected in operations of the current period. Some uncertainties, for example those relating to the realization of assets (collectibility of accounts receivable, ultimate recovery of deferred costs or realizability of inventories or other assets), would not qualify for prior period adjustment treatment, since economic events subsequent to the date of the financial statements must of necessity enter into the elimination of any previouslyexisting uncertainty. Therefore, the effects of such matters are considered to be elements in the determination of net income for the period in which the uncertainty is eliminated. Thus, the Board believes that prior period adjustments will be rare.

[.24] [Superseded, effective for fiscal periods beginning after July 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 20.] (See section 1051.)

Disclosure of Prior Period Adjustments and Restatements of Reported Net Income

.25 When prior period adjustments are recorded, the resulting effects (both gross and net of applicable income tax) on the net income of prior periods should be disclosed in the annual report for the year in which the adjustments are made.² When financial statements for a single period only are presented, this disclosure should indicate the ef-

² The Board recommends disclosure, in addition, in interim reports issued during that year subsequent to the date of recording the adjustments.

fects of such restatement on the balance of retained earnings at the beginning of the period and on the net income of the immediately preceding period. When financial statements for more than one period are presented, which is ordinarily the preferable procedure,³ the disclosure should include the effects for each of the periods included in the statements. Such disclosures should include the amounts of income tax applicable to the prior period adjustments. Disclosure of restatements in annual reports issued subsequent to the first such post-revision disclosure would ordinarily not be required.

Historical Summaries of Financial Data

.26 It has become customary for business entities to present historical, statistical-type summaries of financial data for a number of periods—commonly five or ten years. The Board recommends that the format for reporting extraordinary items described in section 2012 be used in such summaries. The Board further recommends that, whenever prior period adjustments have been recorded during any of the periods included therein, the reported amounts of net income (and the components thereof), as well as other affected items, be appropriately restated, with disclosure in the first summary published after the adjustments. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.)

Capital Transactions

The Board reaffirms the conclusion of the for-.27 mer committee on accounting procedure that the following should be excluded from the determination of net income or the results of operations under all circumstances: (a) adjustments or charges or credits resulting from transactions in the company's own capital stock,⁴ (b) transfers to and from accounts properly designated as appropriated retained earnings (such as general purpose contingency reserves or provisions for replacement costs of fixed assets) and (c) adjustments made pursuant to a quasireorganization.

^{*}See section 2041, Comparative Financial Statements. ^{*}See section 5542, Profits or Losses on Treasury Stock.

Income Statements

.28 Income statements may be prepared in either "single-step" or "multi-step" form. Regardless of the form used, the income statement should disclose revenues (sales), and the elements mentioned in section 2012.11 should be clearly disclosed in the order there indicated. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.)

 \implies The next page is 7941. $\leftarrow \iff$

AC Section 2011

Earnings per Share [Source: APB Opinion No. 15, as amended.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1968, unless otherwise indicated ¹

INTRODUCTION

Earnings per share data are used in evaluating .01 the past operating performance of a business, in forming an opinion as to its potential and in making investment de-They are commonly presented in prospectuses, cisions. proxy material and reports to stockholders. They are used in the compilation of business earnings data for the press, statistical services and other publications. When presented with formal financial statements, they assist the investor in weighing the significance of a corporation's current net income and of changes in its net income from period to period in relation to the shares he holds or may acquire.

In view of the widespread use of earnings per .02 share data, it is important that such data be computed on a consistent basis and presented in the most meaningful manner. The Board and its predecessor committee have previously expressed their views on general standards designed to achieve these objectives, most recently in Part II of APB Opinion No. 9, Reporting the Results of Operations.²

.03 In this section the Board expresses its views on some of the more specific aspects of the subject, including the guidelines that should be applied uniformly in the computation and presentation of earnings per share data in financial statements.

.04 Computational guidelines for the implementation of this section are contained in section 2011A. Certain views differing from those adopted in this section are summarized in section 2011B. Illustrations of the presentations described in this section are included in the Exhibits

¹ See paragraphs .45 and .46. ² Editor's Note: Footnote reference eliminated.

contained in section 2011C. Definitions of certain terms as used in this section are contained in section 2011D.

APPLICABILITY

.05 This section applies to financial presentations which purport to present results of operations of corporations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and to summaries of those presentations, except as excluded in paragraph .06. Thus, it applies to corporations whose capital structures include only common stock or common stock and senior securities and to those whose capital structures also include securities that should be considered the equivalent of common stock ^s in computing earnings per share data.

.06 This section does not apply to mutual companies that do not have outstanding common stock or common stock equivalents (for example, mutual savings banks, cooperatives, credit unions, and similar entities); to registered investment companies; to government-owned corporations; or to nonprofit corporations. This section also does not apply to parent company statements accompanied by consolidated financial statements, to statements of wholly-owned subsidiaries, or to special purpose statements.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

.07 Prior to the issuance of APB Opinion No. 9, earnings per share were generally computed by dividing net income (after deducting preferred stock dividends, if any) by the number of common shares outstanding. The divisor used in the computation usually was a weighted average of the number of common shares outstanding during the period, but sometimes was simply the number of common shares outstanding at the end of the period.

.08 ARB No. 49, *Earnings per Share*, referred to "common stock or other residual security;" however, the concept that a security other than a common stock could be the substantial equivalent of common stock and should,

AC § 2011.05

⁴APB Opinion No. 9 referred to certain securities as *residual* securities, the determination of which was generally based upon the market value of the security as it related to investment value. In this section, the Board now uses the term *common stock equivalents* as being more descriptive of those securities other than common stock that should be dealt with as common stock in the determination of earnings per share.

therefore, enter into the computation of earnings per share was seldom followed prior to the issuance of APB Opinion No. 9. Paragraph 33 of APB Opinion No. 9 stated that earnings per share should be computed by reference to common stock and other residual securities and defined a residual security as follows:

"When more than one class of common stock is outstanding, or when an outstanding security has participating dividend rights with the common stock, or when an outstanding security clearly derives a major portion of its value from its conversion rights or its common stock characteristics, such securities should be considered 'residual securities' and not 'senior securities' for purposes of computing earnings per share."

.09 APB Opinon No. 9 also stated in part (paragraph 43) that:

"Under certain circumstances, earnings per share may be subject to dilution in the future if existing contingencies permitting issuance of common shares Such circumstances include contingent eventuate. changes resulting from the existence of (a) outstanding senior stock or debt which is convertible into common shares, (b) outstanding stock options, warrants or similar agreements and (c) agreements for the issuance of common shares for little or no consideration upon the satisfaction of certain conditions (e.g., the attainment of specified levels of earnings following a business combination). If such potential dilution is material, supplementary pro forma computations of earnings per share should be furnished, showing what the earnings would be if the conversions or contingent issuances took place."

Before the issuance of APB Opinion No. 9 corporations had rarely presented pro forma earnings per share data of this type except in prospectuses and proxy statements.

.10 Under the definition of a residual security contained in paragraph 33 of APB Opinion No. 9, residual status of convertible securities has been determined using the "major-portion-of-value" test at the time of the issuance of the security and from time to time thereafter when-

7943

ever earnings per share data were presented. In practice this test has been applied by comparing a convertible security's market value with its investment value, and the security has been considered to be residual whenever more than half its market value was attributable to its common stock characteristics at time of issuance. Practice has varied in applying this test subsequent to issuance with a higher measure used in many cases. Thus, a convertible security's status as a residual security has been affected by equity and debt market conditions at and after the security's issuance.

.11 Application of the residual security concept as set forth in paragraph 33 of APB Opinion No. 9 has raised questions as to the validity of the concept and as to the guidelines developed for its application in practice. The Board has reviewed the concept of residual securities as it relates to earnings per share and, as a result of its own study and the constructive comments on the matter received from interested parties, has concluded that modification of the residual concept is desirable. The Board has also considered the disclosure and presentation requirements of earnings per share data contained in APB Opinion No. 9 and has concluded that these should be revised.

OPINION

Presentation on Face of Income Statement

.12 The Board believes that the significance attached by investors and others to earnings per share data, together with the importance of evaluating the data in conjunction with the financial statements, requires that such data be presented prominently in the financial statements. The Board has therefore concluded that earnings per share or net loss per share data should be shown on the face of the income statement. The extent of the data to be presented and the captions used will vary with the complexity of the company's capital structure, as discussed in the following paragraphs.

7944

.13 The reporting of earnings per share data should be consistent with the income statement presentation called for by section 2012. Earnings per share amounts should therefore be presented for (a) income before extraordinary items and (b) net income. It may also be desirable to present earnings per share amounts for extraordinary items. if any. When accounting changes and corrections of errors in previously issued financial statements occur, refer to section 1051, *Accounting Changes*. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after July 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 20.] [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973, by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.)

Simple Capital Structures

.14 The capital structures of many corporations are relatively simple—that is, they either consist of only common stock or include no potentially dilutive convertible securities, options, warrants or other rights that upon conversion or exercise could in the aggregate dilute ' earnings per common share. In these cases, a single presentation expressed in terms such as *Earnings per common share* on the face of the income statement (based on common shares outstanding and computed in accordance with the provisions of section 2011A.02-.05) is the appropriate presentation of earnings per share data.

Complex Capital Structures

.15 Corporations with capital structures other than those described in the preceding paragraph should present two types of earnings per share data (dual presentation) with equal prominence on the face of the income statement. The first presentation is based on the outstanding common shares and those securities that are in substance equivalent to common shares and have a dilutive ' effect. The second is a pro-forma presentation which reflects the dilution ' of

⁴Any reduction of less than 3% in the aggregate need not be considered as dilution in the computation and presentation of earnings per share data as discussed throughout this section. In applying this test only issues which reduce earnings per share should be considered. In establishing this guideline the Board does not imply that a similar measure should be applied in any circumstances other than the computation and presentation of earnings per share data under this section.

earnings per share that would have occurred if *all* contingent issuances of common stock that would individually reduce earnings per share had taken place at the beginning of the period (or time of issuance of the convertible security, etc., if later). For convenience in this section, these two presentations are referred to as "primary earnings per share" and "fully diluted earnings per share,"⁵ respectively, and would in certain circumstances discussed elsewhere in this section be supplemented by other disclosures and other earnings per share data: (See paragraphs .19-.23.)

Dual Presentation

.16 When dual presentation of earnings per share data is required, the primary and fully diluted earnings per share amounts should be presented with equal prominence on the face of the income statement. The difference between the primary and fully diluted earnings per share

^a APB Opinion No. 9 referred to the latter presentation as "supplementary pro forma earnings per share."

Earnings per Share

amounts shows the maximum extent of potential dilution of current earnings which conversions of securities that are not common stock equivalents could create. If the capital structure contains no common stock equivalents, the first may be designated Earnings per common share—assuming no dilution and the second Earnings per common share assuming full dilution. When common stock equivalents are present and dilutive, the primary amount may be designated Earnings per common and common equivalent share. The Board recognizes that precise designations should not be prescribed; corporations should be free to designate these dual presentations in a manner which best fits the circumstances provided they are in accord with the substance of this section. The term Earnings per common share should not be used without appropriate qualification except under the conditions discussed in paragraph .14.

Periods Presented

.17 Earnings per share data should be presented for all periods covered by the statement of income or summary of earnings. If potential dilution exists in any of the periods presented, the dual presentation of primary earnings per share and fully diluted earnings per share data should be made for all periods presented. This information together with other disclosures required (see paragraphs .19-.23) will give the reader an understanding of the extent and trend of the potential dilution.

.18 When results of operations of a prior period included in the statement of income or summary of earnings have been restated as a result of a prior period adjustment, earnings per share data given for the prior period should be restated. The effect of the restatement, expressed in per share terms, should be disclosed in the year of restatement.

Additional Disclosures

Capital Structure

.19 The use of complex securities complicates earnings per share computations and makes additional disclosures necessary. The Board has concluded that financial statements should include a description, in summary form, sufficient to explain the pertinent rights and privileges of the various securities outstanding. Examples of information which should be disclosed are dividend and liquidation preferences, participation rights, call prices and dates, conversion or exercise prices or rates and pertinent dates, sinking fund requirements, unusual voting rights, etc.

Dual Earnings per Share Data

.20 A schedule or note relating to the earnings per share data should explain the bases upon which both primary and fully diluted earnings per share are calculated. This information should include identification of any issues regarded as common stock equivalents in the computation of primary earnings per share and the securities included in the computation of fully diluted earnings per share. It should describe all assumptions and any resulting adjustments used in deriving the earnings per share data.⁶ There should also be disclosed the number of shares issued upon conversion, exercise or satisfaction of required conditions, etc., during at least the most recent annual fiscal period and any subsequent interim period presented.⁷

.21 Computations and/or reconciliations may sometimes be desirable to provide a clear understanding of the manner in which the earnings per share amounts were obtained. This information may include data on each issue of securities entering into the computation of the primary and fully diluted earnings per share. It should not, however, be shown on the face of the income statement or otherwise furnished in a manner implying that an earnings per share amount which ignores the effect of common stock equivalents (that is, earnings per share based on outstanding common shares only) constitutes an acceptable presentation of primary earnings per share.

Supplementary Earnings per Share Data

.22 Primary earnings per share should be related to the capital structures existing during each of the various

'See also section 2042 and section 2071.

[•]These computations should give effect to all adjustments which would result from conversion: for example, dividends paid on convertible preferred stocks should not be deducted from net income; interest and related expenses on convertible debt, less applicable income tax, should be added to net income, and any other adjustments affecting net income because of these assumptions should also be made. (See section 2011A.06.)

periods presented.⁸ Although conversions ordinarily do not alter substantially the amount of capital employed in the business, they can significantly affect the trend in earnings per share data. Therefore, if conversions during the current period would have affected (either dilutively or incrementally) primary earnings per share if they had taken place at the beginning of the period, supplementary information should be furnished (preferably in a note) for the latest period showing what primary earnings per share would have been if such conversions had taken place at the beginning of that period (or date of issuance of the security, if within the period). Similar supplementary per share earnings should be furnished if conversions occur after the close of the period but before completion of the financial report. It may also be desirable to furnish supplementary per share data for each period presented, giving the cumulative retroactive effect of all such conversions or changes. However, primary earnings per share data should not be adjusted retroactively for conversions.

.23 Occasionally a sale of common stock or common stock equivalents for cash occurs during the latest period presented or shortly after its close but before completion of the financial report. When a portion or all of the proceeds of such a sale has been used to retire preferred stock or debt, or is to be used for that purpose, supplementary earnings per share data should be furnished (preferably in a note) to show what the earnings would have been for the latest fiscal year and any subsequent interim period presented if the retirement had taken place at the beginning of the respective period (or date of issuance of the retired security, if later). The number of shares of common stock whose proceeds are to be used to retire the preferred stock or debt should be included in this computation. The bases of these supplementary computations should be disclosed."

Primary Earnings per Share

.24 If a corporation's capital structure is complex and either does not include common stock equivalents or includes common stock equivalents which do not have a dilutive effect, the primary earnings per share figures should be

⁸ See sections 2011A.03-.04 and 2011A.17-.19 for exceptions to this general rule.

[•] There may be other forms of recapitalization which should be reflected in a similar manner.

based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. In such cases, potential dilutive effects of contingent issuances would be reflected in the fully diluted earnings per share amounts. Certain securities, however, are considered to be the equivalent of outstanding common stock and should be recognized in the computation of primary earnings per share if they have a dilutive effect.

Nature of Common Stock Equivalents

.25 The concept that a security may be the equivalent of common stock has evolved to meet the reporting needs of investors in corporations that have issued certain types of convertible and other complex securities. A common stock equivalent is a security which is not, in form, a common stock but which usually contains provisions to enable its holder to become a common stockholder and which, because of its terms and the circumstances under which it was issued, is in substance equivalent to a common stock. The holders of these securities can expect to participate in the appreciation of the value of the common stock resulting principally from the earnings and earnings potential of the issuing corporation. This participation is essentially the same as that of a common stockholder except that the security may carry a specified dividend or interest rate yielding a return different from that received by a common stockholder. The attractiveness of this type of security to investors is often based principally on this potential right to share in increases in the earnings potential of the issuing corporation rather than on its fixed return or other senior security characteristics. With respect to a convertible security, any difference in yield between it and the underlying common stock as well as any other senior characteristics of the convertible security become secondary. The value of a common stock equivalent is derived in large part from the value of the common stock to which it is related. and changes in its value tend to reflect changes in the value of the common stock. Neither conversion nor the imminence of conversion is necessary to cause a security to be a common stock equivalent.

.26 The Board has concluded that outstanding convertible securities which have the foregoing characteristics and which meet the criteria set forth in this section for the

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

determination of common stock equivalents at the time they are issued should be considered the equivalent of common stock in computing primary earnings per share if the effect is dilutive. The recognition of common stock equivalents in the computation of primary earnings per share avoids the misleading implication which would otherwise result from the use of common stock only; use of the latter basis would place form over substance.

.27 In addition to convertible debt and convertible preferred stocks, the following types of securities are or may be considered as common stock equivalents:

Stock options and warrants (and their equivalents) and stock purchase contracts—should always be considered common stock equivalents (see paragraphs .35-.38).

Participating securities and two-class common stocks — if their participation features enable their holders to share in the earnings potential of the issuing corporation on substantially the same basis as common stock even though the securities may not give the holder the right to exchange his shares for common stock (see section 2011A.14-.15).

Contingent shares—if shares are to be issued in the future upon the mere passage of time (or are held in escrow pending the satisfaction of conditions unrelated to earnings or market value) they should be considered as outstanding for the computation of earnings per share. If additional shares of stock are issuable for little or no consideration upon the satisfaction of certain conditions they should be considered as outstanding when the conditions are met (see section 2011A.16-.19).

Determination of Common Stock Equivalents at Issuance

.28 The Board has concluded that determination of whether a convertible security is a common stock equivalent should be made only at the time of issuance and should not be changed thereafter so long as the security remains outstanding. However, convertible securities outstanding or subsequently issued with the same terms as those of a common stock equivalent also should be classified as common stock equivalents. After full consideration of whether a convertible security may change its status as a common stock equivalent subsequent to issuance, including the differing views which are set forth in section 2011B hereto, the Board has concluded that the dilutive effect of any convertible securities that were not common stock equivalents at time of their issuance should be included only in the fully diluted earnings per share amount. This conclusion is based upon the belief (a) that only the conditions which existed at the time of issuance of the convertible security should govern the determination of status as a common stock equivalent, and (b) that the presentation of fully diluted earnings per share data adequately discloses the potential dilution which may exist because of changes in conditions subsequent to time of issuance.

.29 Various factors should be considered in determining the appropriate "time of issuance" in evaluating whether a security is substantially equivalent to a common stock. The time of issuance generally is the date when agreement as to terms has been reached and announced, even though subject to certain further actions, such as directors' or stockholders' approval.

No Anti-Dilution

.30 Computations of primary earnings per share should not give effect to common stock equivalents or other contingent issuance for any period in which their inclusion would have the effect of increasing the earnings per share amount or decreasing the loss per share amount otherwise computed.¹⁰ Consequently, while a security once determined to be a common stock equivalent retains that status, it may enter into the computation of primary earnings per share in one period and not in another.

Test of Common Stock Equivalent Status

.31 Convertible securities. A convertible security which at the time of issuance has terms that make it for all practical purposes substantially equivalent to a common

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

³⁰ The presence of a common stock equivalent or other dilutive securities together with income from continuing operations and extraordinary items may result in diluting one of the per share amounts which are required to be disclosed on the face of the income statement—i. e., income from continuing operations, income before extraordinary items and before the cumulative effect of accounting changes, if any, and net income while increasing another. In such a case, the common stock equivalent or other dilutive securities should be recognized for all computations even though they have an anti-dilutive effect on one of the per share amounts. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.)

Earnings per Share

stock should be regarded as a common stock equivalent. The complexity of convertible securities makes it impractical to establish definitive guidelines to encompass all the varying terms which might bear on this determination. Consideration has been given, however, to various characteristics of a convertible security which might affect its status as a common stock equivalent, such as cash yield at issuance, increasing or decreasing conversion rates, liquidation and redemption amounts, and the conversion price in relation to the market price of the common stock. In addition, consideration has been given to the pattern of various nonconvertible security yields in recent years, during which period most of the existing convertible securities have been issued, as well as over a longer period of time. Many of the characteristics noted above, which in various degrees may indicate status as a common stock equivalent, are also closely related to the interest or dividend rate of the security and to its market price at the time of issuance.

.32 The Board has also studied the use of market price in relation to investment value (value of a convertible security without the conversion option) and market parity (relationship of conversion value of a convertible security to its market price) as means of determining if a convertible security is equivalent to a common stock. (See discussion of investment value and market parity tests in section 2011B.) It has concluded, however, that these tests are too subjective or not sufficiently practicable.

.33 The Board believes that convertible securities should be considered common stock equivalents if the cash yield to the holder at time of issuance is significantly below what would be a comparable rate for a similar security of the issuer without the conversion option. Recognizing that it may frequently be difficult or impossible to ascertain such comparable rates, and in the interest of simplicity and objectivity, the Board has concluded that a convertible security should be considered as a common stock equivalent at the time of issuance if, based on its market price,¹¹ it has a cash yield of less than $66\frac{2}{3}\%$ of the then current bank prime interest rate.¹² For any convertible security which

²¹ If no market price is available, this test should be based on the fair value of the security.

¹² If convertible securities are sold or issued outside the United States, the most comparable interest rate in the foreign country should be used for this test.

has a change in its cash interest rate or cash dividend rate scheduled within the first five years after issuance, the lowest scheduled rate during such five years should be used in determining the cash yield of the security at issuance.

The Board believes that the current bank prime .34 interest rate in general use for short-term loans represents a practical, simple and readily available basis on which to establish the criteria for determining a common stock equivalent, as set forth in the preceding paragraph. The Board recognizes that there are other rates and averages of interest rates relating to various grades of long-term debt securities and preferred stocks which might be appropriate or that a more complex approach could be adopted. However, after giving consideration to various approaches and interest rates in this regard, the Board has concluded that since there is a high degree of correlation between such indices and the bank prime interest rate, the latter is the most practical rate available for this particular purpose.

.35 Options and warrants (and their equivalents). Options, warrants and similar arrangements usually have no cash yield and derive their value from their right to obtain common stock at specified prices for an extended period. Therefore, these securities should be regarded as common stock equivalents at all times. Other securities, usually having a low cash yield (see definition of "cash yield", section 2011D.03), require the payment of cash upon conversion and should be considered the equivalents of warrants for the purposes of this section. Accordingly, they should also be regarded as common stock equivalents at all times. Primary earnings per share should reflect the dilution that would result from exercise or conversion of these securities and use of the funds, if any, obtained. Options and warrants (and their equivalents) should, therefore, be treated as if they had been exercised and earnings per share data should be computed as described in the following paragraphs. The computation of earnings per share should not, however, reflect exercise or conversion of any such security ¹³ if its effect on earnings per share is anti-dilutive (see paragraph .30) except as indicated in paragraph .38.

¹⁸ Reasonable grouping of like securities may be appropriate.

.36 Except as indicated in this paragraph and in paragraphs .37 and .38, the amount of dilution to be reflected in earnings per share data should be computed by application of the "treasury stock" method. Under this method, earnings per share data are computed as if the options and warrants were exercised at the beginning of the period (or at time of issuance, if later) and as if the funds obtained thereby were used to purchase common stock at the average market price during the period.¹⁴ As a practical matter, the Board recommends that assumption of exercise not be reflected in earnings per share data until the market price of the common stock obtainable has been in excess of the exercise price for substantially all of three consecutive months ending with the last month of the period to which earnings per share data relate. Under the treasury stock method, options and warrants have a dilutive effect (and are, therefore, reflected in earnings per share computations) only when the average market price of the common stock obtainable upon exercise during the period exceeds the exercise price of the options or warrants. Previously reported earnings per share amounts should not be retroactively adjusted, in the case of options and warrants, as a result of changes in market prices of common stock. The Board recognizes that the funds obtained by issuers from the exercise of options and warrants are used in many ways with a wide variety of results that cannot be anticipated. Application of the treasury stock method in earnings per share computations is not based on an assumption that the funds will or could actually be used in that manner. In the usual case, it represents a practical approach to reflecting the dilutive effect that would result from the issuance of common stock under option and warrant agreements at an effective price below the current market price. The Board has concluded, however, that the treasury stock method is inappropriate, or should be modified, in certain cases described in paragraphs .37 and .38.

²⁴ For example, if a corporation has 10,000 warrants outstanding, exercisable at \$54 and the average market price of the common stock during the reporting period is \$60, the \$540,000 which would be realized from exercise of the warrants and issuance of 10,000 shares would be an amount sufficient to acquire 9,000 shares; thus 1,000 shares would be added to the outstanding common shares in computing primary earnings per share for the period.

.37 Some warrants contain provisions which permit, or require, the tendering of debt (usually at face amount) or other securities of the issuer in payment for all or a portion of the exercise price. The terms of some debt securities issued with warrants require that the proceeds of the exercise of the related warrants be applied toward retirement of the debt. As indicated in paragraph .35, some convertible securities require cash payments upon conversion and are, therefore, considered to be the equivalent of warrants. In all of these cases, the "if converted" method (see section 2011A.06) should be applied as if retirement or conversion of the securities had occurred and as if the excess proceeds, if any, had been applied to the purchase of common stock under the treasury stock method. However, exercise of the options and warrants should not be reflected in the computation unless for the period specified in paragraph .36 either (a) the market price of the related common stock exceeds the exercise price or (b) the security which may be (or must be) tendered is selling at a price below that at which it may be tendered under the option or warrant agreement and the resulting discount is sufficient to establish an effective exercise price below the market price of the common stock that can be obtained upon exercise. Similar treatment should be followed for preferred stock bearing similar provisions or other securities having conversion options permitting payment of cash for a more favorable conversion rate from the standpoint of the investor.

.38 The treasury stock method of reflecting use of proceeds from options and warrants may not adequately reflect potential dilution when options or warrants to acquire a substantial number of common shares are outstanding. Accordingly, the Board has concluded that, if the number of shares of common stock obtainable upon exercise of outstanding options and warrants in the aggregate exceeds 20% of the number of common shares outstanding at the end of the period for which the computation is being made, the treasury stock method should be modified in determining the dilutive effect of the options and warrants upon earnings per share data. In these circumstances all the options and warrants should be assumed to have been exercised and the aggregate proceeds therefrom to have been applied in two steps:

AC § 2011.37

- a. As if the funds obtained were first applied to the repurchase of outstanding common shares at the average market price during the period (treasury stock method) but not to exceed 20% of the outstanding shares; and then
- b. As if the balance of the funds were applied first to reduce any short-term or long-term borrowings and any remaining funds were invested in U. S. government securities or commercial paper, with appropriate recognition of any income tax effect.

The results of steps (a) and (b) of the computation (whether dilutive or anti-dilutive) should be aggregated and, if the net effect is dilutive, should enter into the earnings per share computation.¹⁵

		raph .38:
Assumptions:	Case 1	Case 2
Net income for year Common shares outstanding Options and warrants outstanding to	\$ 4,000,000 3,000,000	\$ 2,000,000 3,000,000
purchase equivalent shares 20% limitation on assumed repurchase Exercise price per share Average and year-end market value per common share to be used	1,000,000 600,000 \$15	1,000,000 600,000 \$15
(see paragraph 42)	\$20	\$12
Computations: Application of assumed proceeds (\$15,000,000): Toward repurchase of outstanding common shares at applicable	* 10.000.000	A 7 200 000
market value	\$12,000,000 3,000,000	\$ 7,200,000 7,800,000
	\$15,000,000	\$15,000,000
Adjustment of net income: Actual net income Interest reduction (6%) less	\$ 4,000,000	\$ 2,000,000
50% tax effect	90,000	234,000
Adjusted net income (A)	\$ 4,090,000	\$ 2,234,000
Adjustment of shares outstanding: Actual outstanding Net additional shares issuable	3,000,000	3,000,000
(1,000,000—600,000)	400,000	400,000
Adjusted shares outstanding (B)	3,400,000	3,400,000
Earnings per share:	\$1.33	\$.67
Before adjustment \dots After adjustment $(A + B)$	\$1.20	\$.66

Non-Recognition of Common Stock Equivalents in Financial Statements

.39 The designation of securities as common stock equivalents in this section is solely for the purpose of determining primary earnings per share. No changes from present practices are recommended in the accounting for such securities, in their presentation within the financial statements or in the manner of determining net assets per common share. Information is available in the financial statements and elsewhere for readers to make judgments as to the present and potential status of the various securities outstanding.

Fully Diluted Earnings Per Share

No Anti-Dilution

.40 The purpose of the fully diluted earnings per share presentation is to show the maximum potential dilution of current earnings per share on a prospective basis. Consequently, computations of fully diluted earnings per share for each period should exclude those securities whose conversion, exercise or other contingent issuance would have the effect of increasing the earnings per share amount or decreasing the loss per share amount ¹⁶ for such period.

When Required

.41 Fully diluted earnings per share data should be presented on the face of the statement of income for each period presented if shares of common stock (a) were issued during the period on conversions, exercise, etc., or (b) were contingently issuable at the close of any period presented and if primary earnings per share for such period would have been affected (either dilutively or incrementally) had such actual issuances taken place at the beginning of the period or would have been reduced had such contingent issuances taken place at the beginning of the period. The above contingencies may result from the existence of (a) senior stock or debt which is convertible into common shares but is not a common stock equivalent, (b) options or warrants, or (c) agreements for the issuance of common shares upon the satisfaction of certain conditions (for example, the attainment of specified higher levels of earnings following a business combination). The computation should be based on the assumption that all such issued and issuable

^{*}See footnote 10.

Earnings per Share

shares were outstanding from the beginning of the period (or from the time the contingency arose, if after the beginning of the period). Previously reported fully diluted earnings per share amounts should not be retroactively adjusted for subsequent conversions or subsequent changes in the market prices of the common stock.

.42 The methods described in paragraphs .36-.38 should be used to compute fully diluted earnings per share if dilution results from outstanding options and warrants; however, in order to reflect maximum potential dilution, the market price at the close of the period reported upon should be used to determine the number of shares which would be assumed to be repurchased (under the treasury stock method) if such market price is higher than the average price used in computing primary earnings per share (see paragraph .30). Common shares issued on exercise of options or warrants during each period should be included in fully diluted earnings per share from the beginning of the period or date of issuance of the options or warrants if later; the computation for the portion of the period prior to the date of exercise should be based on market prices of the common stock when exercised.

Situations Not Covered in Section

.43 The Board recognizes that it is impracticable to cover all possible conditions and circumstances that may be encountered in computing earnings per share. When situations not expressly covered in this section occur, however, they should be dealt with in accordance with their substance, giving cognizance to the guidelines and criteria outlined herein.

Computational Guidelines

.44 The determination of earnings per share data required under this section reflects the complexities of the capital structures of some businesses. The calculations should give effect to matters such as stock dividends and splits, business combinations, changes in conversion rates, etc. Guidelines which should be used in dealing with some of the more common computational matters are set forth in section 2011A.

AICPA Professional Standards

EFFECTIVE DATE

.45 This section shall be effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1968 for all earnings per share data (primary, fully diluted and supplementary) regardless of when the securities entering into computations of earnings per share were issued, except as described in paragraph .46 as it relates to primary earnings per share. The Board recommends that (a) computations for periods beginning before January 1, 1969 be made for all securities in conformity with the provisions of this section and (b) in comparative statements in which the data for some periods are subject to this section and others are not, the provisions of the section be applied to all periods—in either case based on the conditions existing in the prior periods.

.46 In the case of securities whose time of issuance is prior to June 1, 1969 the following election should be made as of May 31, 1969 (and not subsequently changed) with respect to all such securities for the purpose of computing primary earnings per share:

- a. determine the classifications of all such securities under the provisions of this section, or
- b. classify as common stock equivalents only those securities which are classified as residual securities under APB Opinion No. 9 regardless of how they would be classified under this section.

If the former election is made, the provisions of this section should be applied in the computation of both primary and fully diluted earnings per share data for all periods presented.

 \implies The next page is 7971. \leftarrow

AC § 2011.45

AC Section 2011A Earnings per Share—Appendix A

COMPUTATIONAL GUIDELINES

.01 The Board has adopted the following general guidelines which should be used in the computation of earnings per share data.

.02 Weighted average. Computations of earnings per share data should be based on the weighted average number of common shares and common share equivalents outstanding during each period presented. Use of a weighted average is necessary so that the effect of increases or decreases in outstanding shares on earnings per share data is related to the portion of the period during which the related consideration affected operations. Reacquired shares should be excluded from date of their acquisition. (See definition in section 2011D.28.)

.03 Stock dividends or splits. If the number of common shares outstanding increases as a result of a stock dividend or stock split¹ or decreases as a result of a reverse split, the computations should give retroactive recognition to an appropriate equivalent change in capital structure for all periods presented. If changes in common stock resulting from stock dividends or stock splits or reverse splits have been consummated after the close of the period but before completion of the financial report, the per share computations should be based on the new number of shares because the readers' primary interest is presumed to be related to the current capitalization. When per share computations reflect such changes in the number of shares after the close of the period, this fact should be disclosed.

.04 Business combinations and reorganizations. When shares are issued to acquire a business in a transaction accounted for as a purchase, the computation of earnings per share should give recognition to the existence of the new shares only from the date the acquisition took place. When a business combination is accounted for as a pooling of interests, the computation should be based on the aggregate of the weighted average outstanding shares of the constituent businesses, adjusted to equivalent shares of

¹ See section 5561, Stock Dividends and Stock Split Ups.

the surviving business for all periods presented. This difference in treatment reflects the fact that in a purchase the results of operations of the acquired business are included in the statement of income only from the date of acquisition, whereas in a pooling of interests the results of operations are combined for all periods presented. In reorganizations, the computations should be based on analysis of the particular transaction according to the criteria contained in section 2011.

.05 Claims of senior securities. The claims of senior securities on earnings of a period should be deducted from net income (and also from income before extraordinary items if an amount therefor appears in the statement) before computing earnings per share. Dividends on cumulative preferred senior securities, whether or not earned, should be deducted from net income.² If there is a net loss, the amount of the loss should be increased by any cumulative dividends for the period on these preferred stocks. If interest or preferred dividends are cumulative only if earned, no adjustment of this type is required, except to the extent of income available therefor. If interest or preferred dividends are not cumulative, only the interest accruable or dividends declared should be deducted. In all cases, the effect that has been given to rights of senior securities in arriving at the earnings per share should be disclosed.

.06 Use of "if converted" method of computation. If convertible securities are deemed to be common stock equivalents for the purpose of computing primary earnings per share, or are assumed to have been converted for the purpose of computing fully diluted earnings per share, the securities should be assumed to have been converted at the beginning of the earliest period reported (or at time of issuance, if later). Interest charges applicable to convertible securities and non-discretionary adjustments that would have been made to items based on net income or income before taxes—such as profit sharing expense, certain royalties, and investment credit—or preferred dividends applicable to the convertible securities should be taken into account in determining the balance of income

³ The per share and aggregate amounts of cumulative preferred dividends in arrears should be disclosed.

applicable to common stock. As to primary earnings per share this amount should be divided by the total of the average outstanding common shares and the number of shares which would have been issued on conversion or exercise of common stock equivalents.³ As to fully diluted earnings per share this amount should be divided by the total of the average outstanding common shares plus the number of shares applicable to conversions during the period from the beginning of the period to the date of conversion and the number of shares which would have been issued upon conversion or exercise of any other security which might dilute earnings.

.07 The if converted method recognizes the fact that the holders of convertible securities cannot share in distributions of earnings applicable to the common stock unless they relinquish their right to senior distributions. Conversion is assumed and earnings applicable to common stock and common stock equivalents are determined before distributions to holders of these securities.

.08 The if converted method also recognizes the fact that a convertible issue can participate in earnings, through dividends or interest, either as a senior security or as a common stock, but not both. The two-class method (see paragraph .10) does not recognize this limitation and may attribute to common stock an amount of earnings per share less than if the convertible security had actually been converted. The amount of earnings per share on common stock as computed under the two-class method is affected by the amount of dividends declared on the common stock.

.09 Use of "two-class" method of computation. Although the two-class method is considered inappropriate with respect to the securities described in paragraph .06, its use may be necessary in the case of participating securities and two-class common stock. (See paragraphs .14-.15 for discussion of these securities.) This is the case, for example, when these securities are not convertible into common stock.

.10 Under the two-class method, common stock equivalents are treated as common stock with a dividend rate

⁸ Determined as to options and warrants by application of the method described in section 2011.36-.38.

different from the dividend rate on the common stock and, therefore, conversion of convertible securities is not assumed. No use of proceeds is assumed. Distributions to holders of senior securities, common stock equivalents and common stock are first deducted from net income. The remaining amount (the undistributed earnings) is divided by the total of common shares and common share equivalents. Per share distributions to the common stockholders are added to this per share amount to arrive at primary earnings per share.

.11 Delayed effectiveness and changing conversion rates or exercise prices. In some cases, a conversion option does not become effective until a future date: in others conversion becomes more (or less) advantageous to the security holder at some later date as the conversion rate increases (or decreases), generally over an extended period. For example, an issue may be convertible into one share of common stock in the first year, 1.10 shares in the second year, 1.20 shares in the third year, etc. Frequently, these securities receive little or no cash dividends. Hence, under these circumstances, their value is derived principally from their conversion or exercise option and they would be deemed to be common stock equivalents under the yield test previously described. (See section 2011.33.)* Similarly, the right to exercise options or warrants may be deferred or the exercise price may increase or decrease.

.12 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used—primary earnings per share. The conversion rate or exercise price of a common stock equivalent in effect during each period presented should be used in computing primary earnings per share, with the exceptions stated hereinafter in this paragraph. Prior period primary earnings per share should not be restated for changes in the conversion ratio or exercise price. If options, warrants or other common stock equivalents are not immediately exercisable or convertible, the earliest effective exercise price or conversion rate if any during the succeeding five years should be used. If a convertible security having an increasing conversion rate is issued in exchange for another class of security of the issuing company and is convertible back into the same or a similar security, and if a conversion rate equal to or

⁴An increasing conversion rate should not be accounted for as a stock dividend.

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

greater than the original exchange rate becomes effective during the period of convertibility, the conversion rate used in the computation should not result in a reduction in the number of common shares (or common share equivalents) existing before the original exchange took place until

.13 Conversion rate or exercise price to be used fully diluted earnings per share. Fully diluted earnings per share computations should be based on the most advantageous (from the standpoint of the security holder) conversion or exercise rights that become effective within ten years following the closing date of the period being reported upon.⁵ Conversion or exercise options that are not effective until after ten or more years may be expected to be of limited significance because (a) investors' decisions are not likely to be influenced substantially by events beyond ten years, and (b) it is questionable whether they are relevant to current operating results.

a greater rate becomes effective.

.14 Participating securities and two-class common. The capital structures of some companies include:

- a. Securities which may participate in dividends with common stocks according to a predetermined formula (for example, two for one) with, at times, an upper limit on the extent of participation (for example, up to but not beyond a specified amount per share).
- b. A class of common stock with different dividend rates or voting rights from those of another class of common stock, but without prior or senior rights.

Additionally, some of these securities are convertible into common stock. Earnings per share computations relating to certain types of participating securities may require the use of the two-class method. (See paragraphs .09-.10.)

.15 Because of the variety of features which these securities possess, frequently representing combinations of the features referred to above, it is not practicable to set out specific guidelines as to when they should be considered

⁶ The conversion rate should also reflect the cumulative effect of any stock dividends on the preferred stock which the company has contracted or otherwise committed itself to issue within the next ten years.

common stock equivalents. Dividend participation does not *per se* make a security a common stock equivalent. A determination of the status of one of these securities should be based on an analysis of all the characteristics of the security, including the ability to share in the earnings potential of the issuing corporation on substantially the same basis as the common stock.

.16 Issuance contingent on certain conditions. At times, agreements call for the issuance of additional shares contingent upon certain conditions being met. Frequently these conditions are either:

a. the maintenance of current earnings levels, or

b. the attainment of specified increased earnings.

Alternatively, agreements sometimes provide for immediate issuance of the maximum number of shares issuable in the transaction with some to be placed in escrow and later returned to the issuer if specified conditions are not met. For purposes of computing earnings per share, contingently returnable shares placed in escrow should be treated in the same manner as contingently issuable shares.

.17 If attainment or maintenance of a level of earnings is the condition, and if that level is currently being attained, the additional shares should be considered as outstanding for the purpose of computing both primary and fully diluted earnings per share. If attainment of increased earnings reasonably above the present level or maintenance of increased earnings above the present level over a period of years is the condition, the additional shares should be considered as outstanding only for the purpose of computing fully diluted earnings per share (but only if dilution is the result); for this computation, earnings should be adjusted to give effect to the increase in earnings specified by the particular agreements (if different levels of earnings are specified, the level that would result in the largest potential dilution should be used). Previously reported earnings per share data should not be restated to give retroactive effect to shares subsequently issued as a result of attainment of specified increased earnings levels. If upon expiration of the term of the agreement providing for contingent issuance of additional shares the conditions have not been met, the shares should not be considered

AC § 2011A.16

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

outstanding in that year. Previously reported earnings per share data should then be restated to give retroactive effect to the removal of the contingency.

.18 The number of shares contingently issuable may depend on the market price of the stock at a future date. In such a case, computations of earnings per share should reflect the number of shares which would be issuable based on the market price at the close of the period being reported on. Prior period earnings per share should be restated if the number of shares issued or contingently issuable subsequently changes because the market price changes.

In some cases, the number of shares contingently .19 issuable may depend on both future earnings and future prices of the shares. In that case, the number of shares which would be issuable should be based on both conditions. that is, market prices and earnings to date as they exist at the end of each period being reported on. (For example, if (a) a certain number of shares will be issued at the end of three years following an acquisition if earnings of the acquired company increase during those three years by a specified amount and (b) a stipulated number of additional shares will be issued if the value of the shares issued in the acquisition is not at least a designated amount at the end of the three-year period, the number of shares to be included in the earnings per share for each period should be determined by reference to the cumulative earnings of the acquired company and the value of the shares at the end of the latest period.) Prior-period earnings per share should be restated if the number of shares issued or contingently issuable subsequently changes from the number of shares previously included in the earnings per share computation.

.20 Securities of subsidiaries. At times subsidiaries issue securities which should be considered common stock equivalents from the standpoint of consolidated and parent company financial statements for the purpose of computing earnings per share. This could occur when convertible securities, options, warrants or common stock issued by the subsidiary are in the hands of the public and the subsidiary's results of operations are either consolidated or reflected on the equity method. Circumstances in which conversion or exercise of a subsidiary's securities should be assumed for the purpose of computing the consolidated and parent company earnings per share, or which would otherwise require recognition in the computation of earnings per share data, include those where:

As to the Subsidiary

- a. Certain of the subsidiary's securities are common stock equivalents in relation to its own common stock.
- b. Other of the subsidiary's convertible securities, although not common stock equivalents in relation to its own common stock, would enter into the computation of its fully diluted earnings per share.
- As to the Parent
- a. The subsidiary's securities are convertible into the parent company's common stock.
- b. The subsidiary issues options and warrants to purchase the parent company's common stock.

The treatment of these securities for the purpose of consolidated and parent company reporting of earnings per share is discussed in the following four paragraphs.

.21 If a subsidiary has dilutive warrants or options outstanding or dilutive convertible securities which are common stock equivalents from the standpoint of the subsidiary, consolidated and parent company primary earnings per share should include the portion of the subsidiary's income that would be applicable to the consolidated group based on its holdings and the subsidiary's primary earnings per share. (See section 2011.39.)

.22 If a subsidiary's convertible securities are not common stock equivalents from the standpoint of the subsidiary, only the portion of the subsidiary's income that would be applicable to the consolidated group based on its holdings and the fully diluted earnings per share of the subsidiary should be included in consolidated and parent company fully diluted earnings per share. (See section 2011.40.)

.23 If a subsidiary's securities are convertible into its parent company's stock, they should be considered among the common stock equivalents of the parent company for the purpose of computing consolidated and parent company primary and fully diluted earnings per share if

AC § 2011A.21

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

the conditions set forth in section 2011.33 exist. If these conditions do not exist, the subsidiary's convertible securities should be included in the computation of the consolidated and parent company fully diluted earnings per share only.

.24 If a subsidiary issues options or warrants to purchase stock of the parent company, they should be considered common stock equivalents by the parent in computing consolidated and parent company primary and fully diluted earnings per share.

.25 Dividends per share. Dividends constitute historical facts and usually are so reported. However, in certain cases, such as those affected by stock dividends or splits or reverse splits, the presentation of dividends per share should be made in terms of the current equivalent of the number of common shares outstanding at the time of the dividend. A disclosure problem exists in presenting data as to dividends per share following a pooling of interests. In such cases, it is usually preferable to disclose the dividends declared per share by the principal constituent and to disclose, in addition, either the amount per equivalent share or the total amount for each period for the other constituent, with appropriate explanation of the circumstances. When dividends per share are presented on other than an historical basis, the basis of presentation should be disclosed.

AC Section 2011B

Earnings per Share—Appendix B summary of differing viewpoints

.01 This section contains a summary of various viewpoints on a number of matters relating to the computation of earnings per share data, which viewpoints differ from the conclusions of the Board as stated in section 2011. The views in this section therefore do not represent the views of the Board as a whole.

Common Stock Equivalent or Residual Concept

.02 Section 2011.26 concludes that, for purposes of computing primary earnings per share, certain securities should be considered the equivalent of common stock. Section 2011.28 further concludes that such treatment—as to convertible securities—should be based on a determination of status made at the time of issuance of each security, based on conditions existing at that date and not subsequently changed. Viewpoints which differ from those conclusions are based on a number of positions, which are summarized below.

Concept Has No Validity

.03 Some believe there should be no such category as "common stock equivalent" or "residual" security, and hence no such classification as "primary" earnings per share including such securities. They contend that the common stock equivalent or residual security concept involves assumptions and arbitrary, intricate determinations which result in figures of questionable meaning which are more likely to confuse than enlighten readers. They advocate that earnings per share data be presented in a tabulation — as part of the financial statements — which first discloses the relationship of net income and the number of common shares actually outstanding and then moves through adjustments to determine adjusted net income and the number of common shares which would be outstanding if all conversions, exercises and contingent issuances took place. Under this approach, all the figures involved would be readily determinable, understandable and significant. Such information, together with the other disclosures required in section 2011 regarding the terms of securities, would place the reader in a position to make his own judgment regarding prospects of conversion or exercise and the resulting impact on per share earnings. Accounting should not make or pre-empt that judgment.

.04 Until convertible securities, etc., are in fact converted, the actual common stockholders are in control, and the entire earnings could often be distributed as dividends. The conversions, exercises and contingent issuances may, in fact, never take place. Hence, the reporting as "primary" earnings per share of an amount which results from treating as common stock securities which are not common stock is, in the view of some, improper.

Concept Has Validity Both At Issuance and Subsequently

.05 Some who believe in the validity of the common stock equivalent or residual concept feel that the status of a security should be determined not only at the time of its issuance but from time to time thereafter. Securities having the characteristics associated with residual securities-among other things the ability to participate in the economic benefits resulting from the underlying earnings and earnings potential of the common stock through the right of their holders to become common stockholdersdo change their nature with increases and decreases in the market value of the common stock after issuance. These securities are designed for this purpose, and therefore, in certain circumstances, they react to changes in the earnings or earnings potential of the issuer just as does the common stock. Furthermore, although many such securities are issued under market and yield conditions which do not place major emphasis at the time of issuance on their common stock characteristics, both the issuer and the holder recognize the possibility that these characteristics may become of increasing significance if, and when, the value of the underlying common stock increases. The limitation of the residual concept for convertible securities to "at issuance only" disregards these significant factors. (For example, a convertible security with a cash yield of 4% at time of issuance [assumed to be in excess of the yield test for common stock equivalent status in section 2011] may well appreciate in value subsequent to issuance,

AC § 2011B.04

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

due to its common stock characteristics. to such an extent that its cash yield will drop to 2% or less. It seems unsound to consider such a security a "senior security" for earnings per share purposes at such later dates merely because its vield at date of issuance-possibly years previouslywas 4%. This seems particularly unwise when the investment community evaluates such a security currently as the substantial equivalent of the common stock into which it is convertible.) Thus, the "at issuance only" application of the residual security concept is, in the opinion of some, illogical and arbitrary. In connection with the computation of earnings per share data, this approach disregards current conditions in reporting a financial statistic whose very purpose is a reflection of the *current* substantive relationship between the earnings of the issuer and its complex capital structure.

.06 Furthermore, the adoption of the treasury stock method to determine the number of shares to be considered as common stock equivalents under outstanding options and warrants (see section 2011.36-.38) is apparent recognition of the fact that market conditions subsequent to issuance should influence the determination of the status of a security. Thus, the conclusions of section 2011 in these matters are inconsistent.

.07 As for the contention that use of the residual concept subsequent to issuance has a "circular" effectin that reported earnings per share influences the market, which, in turn, influences the classification status of a security, which, in turn, influences the computation of earnings per share, which, in turn influences the marketanalysts give appropriate recognition to the increasing importance of the common stock characteristics of convertible securities as the market rises or falls. It seems only appropriate that a computation purporting to attribute the earnings of a corporation to the various components of its capital structure should also give adequate recognition to the changing substance of these securities. Thus, the movement of securities in and out of residual status subsequent to their issuance is a logical and integral part of the entire concept.

.08 As for the contention that the dual presentation of earnings per share data required by section 2011 appro-AICPA Professional Standards AC § 2011B.08 priately reflects the dilutive effect of any convertible securities which were not residual at time of issuance but which might subsequently be considered as residual, the disclosure of "fully-diluted" earnings per share data is aimed at *potential* (i.e., possible future) dilution; for issuers with securities having extremely low yields of the levels described in the preceding paragraph, the dilution has already taken place-these common stock equivalents are being so traded in the market, and any method which does not reflect these conditions results in an amount for "primary earnings per share" which may be misleading. Furthermore, whenever an issuer has more than one convertible security outstanding, the effect of even the "potential" dilution of such "residual" securities is not appropriately reflected in any meaningful manner in the fully-diluted earnings per share amount, since its impact is combined with that of other convertible securities of the issuer which may not currently be "residual".

Criteria and Methods for Determination of Residual Status

.09 Section 2011.33 concludes that a cash yield testbased on a specified percentage of the bank prime interest rate—should be used to determine the residual status of convertible securities, and that options and warrants should be considered residual securities at all times. Viewpoints differing from those conclusions and supporting other criteria or methods are summarized below.

Convertible Securities

.10 Investment value method. As explained in section 2011.08-.11, a previous Opinion specified a relative value method for the determination of the residual status of a security. In practice the method has been applied by comparing the market value of a convertible security with its "investment value", and by classifying a security as residual at time of issuance if such market value were 200% or more of investment value, with certain practical modifications of this test subsequent to time of issuance to assure the substance of an apparent change in status and to prevent frequent changes of status for possible temporary fluctuations in the market.

.11 The establishment of investment values for convertible securities involves considerable estimation, and AC § 2011B.09 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc. frequently requires the use of experts. Published financial services report estimates of investment value for many, but not all, convertible securities. Most convertible securities are issued under conditions which permit a reasonable estimate of their investment values. In addition, reference to the movements of long-term borrowing rates for groups of issuers with similar credit and risk circumstances-or even reference to general long-term borrowing rates-can furnish effective evidence for an appropriate determination of the investment value of a convertible security subsequent to its issuance. As in many determinations made for accounting purposes, estimates of this nature are often necessary. The necessity of establishing some percentage or level as the line of demarcation between residual and non-residual status is common to all methods under consideration-including the market parity test and various vield tests-and appears justifiable in the interest of reasonable consistency of treatment, both for a single issuer and among issuers.

.12 The investment value method is somewhat similar to the cash yield method specified in section 2011.33. However, the latter method has two apparent weaknesses, in the view of those who support the investment value method. In the first place, it does not differentiate between issuers-that is. it is based on the same borrowing rate for all issuers, without regard for their credit ratings or other risks inherent in their activities. Second, it is based on the current bank prime interest rate, which is essentially a short-term borrowing rate. The relationship between this rate-assuming that it is constant in all sections of the country at any given time-and the long-term corporate borrowing rate may fluctuate to such an extent that the claimed ease of determination may be offset by a lack of correlation. The investment value method, based on the terms of each issue and the status of each issuer, is thus considered by some to be a more satisfactory method.

.13 Market parity method. This method compares a convertible security's market value with its conversion value. In general, if the two values are substantially equivalent and in excess of redemption price, the convertible security is considered to be "residual".

.14 The market parity method has the advantage, as compared to the investment value method, of using amounts that usually are readily available or ascertainable, and of avoiding estimates of investment value. More importantly, in the view of some, the equivalence of values is clearly an indication of the equivalence of the securities, while a comparison of relative values of the characteristics of a security is an indication of its status only if arbitrary rules, such as the "major portion of value" test, are used. In similar vein, the yield test also requires the establishment of a point at which to determine residuality. On the other hand, a practical application of the market parity test would also require the establishment of a percentage relationship at which to determine residual status, due to the many variables involved and the need for consistent application. Also, the call or redemption price of a convertible security has an effect on the point at which market parity is achieved.

.15 Yield methods. There are various other methods of determining the residual nature of a convertible security based on yield relationships. Each of these is based on a comparison of the cash yield on the convertible security (based on its market value) and some predetermined rate of yield (based on other values, conditions or ratings). The discussion of the various methods contained in section 2011 comprehends the advantages and disadvantages of these other methods.

Options and Warrants

.16 As explained in section 2011.35-.38, options and warrants should be regarded as common stock equivalents at all times; the "treasury stock method" should be used in most cases to determine the number of common shares to be considered the equivalent of the options and warrants; and the number of common shares so computed should be included in the computation of both the "primary" and "fully-diluted" earnings per share (assuming a dilutive effect). Viewpoints which differ from those conclusions and support other treatments or other methods of measurement are summarized below.

.17 Exclusion from computation of primary earnings per share. In section 2011 the Board has for the first time AC § 2011B.14 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc. considered options and warrants to be common stock equivalents at all times and, because of the treasury stock method of computation established, the primary earnings per share will in some cases be affected by the market price of the stock obtainable on exercise. rather than solely by the economics of the transaction entered into. Some believe that this produces a circular effect in that the reporting of earnings per share may then influence the market which, in turn, influences earnings per share. They believe that earnings per share should affect the market and not vice versa. They point out that the classification of convertible debentures and convertible preferred stocks is determined at time of issuance only and consequently subsequent fluctuations in the market prices of these securities do not affect primary earnings per share. Therefore, they believe that the dual; equally prominent presentation of primary and fully diluted earnings per share is most informative when the effect of options and warrants, other than those whose exercise price is substantially lower than market price at time of issuance, is included only in the fully diluted earnings per share which would be lower than primary earnings per share and thus would emphasize the potential dilution.

.18 Determination of equivalent common shares. Some believe that the "treasury stock method" described in section 2011.36 is unsatisfactory and that other methods are preferable. Under one such method the number of equivalent shares is computed by reference to the relationship between the market value of the option or warrant and the market value of the related common stock. In general, it reflects the impact of options and warrants on earnings per share whenever the option or warrant has a market value, and not only when the market price of the related common stock exceeds the exercise price (as does the treasury stock method).

.19 Measurement of effect of options and warrants. Some believe that the effect of outstanding options and warrants on earnings per share should be computed by assuming exercise as of the beginning of the period and assuming some use of the funds so attributed to the issuer. The uses which have been suggested include application of such assumed proceeds to (a) reduce outstanding short or long term borrowings, (b) invest in government obli-

gations or commercial paper, (c) invest in operations of the issuer or (d) fulfill other corporate objectives of the issuer. Each of these methods is felt by some to be the preferable approach. Many who support one of these methods feel that the "treasury stock method" is improper since (a) it fails to reflect any dilution unless the market price of the common stock exceeds the exercise price. (b) it assumes a hypothetical purchase of treasury stock which in many cases-due to the significant number of common shares involved-would either not be possible or be possible only at a considerably increased price per share, and (c) it may be considered to be the attribution of earnings assumed on the funds received—in which case the earnings rate for each issuer is a function of the price-earnings ratio of its common stock and is thus similar in result to an arbitrary assumption of a possibly inappropriate earnings rate.

.20 Some believe that no increment in earnings should be attributed to the funds assumed to be received upon the exercise of options and warrants, particularly if such instruments are to be reflected in the computation of primary earnings per share, since the funds were not available to the issuer during the period.

Computational Methods—Convertible Securities

.21 Section 2011A.06 concludes that the "if converted" method of computation should be used for primary earnings per share when convertible securities are considered the equivalent of common stock. Some believe that this method does not properly reflect the actual circumstances existing during the period, and favor, instead, the so-called "two-class" method of computation. (See section 2011A.09-.10.) Under the latter method, securities considered common stock equivalents are treated as common shares with a different dividend rate from that of the regular common shares. The residual security concept is based on common stock equivalence without the necessity of actual conversion; therefore, this method properly recognizes the fact that these securities receive a preferential distribution before the common stock-and also share in the potential benefits of the undistributed earnings through their substantial common stock characteristics in the same way as do the common shares. These securities are designed to achieve these two goals. Those who favor this

Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

method believe that the "if converted" method disregards the realities of what occurred during the period. Thus, in their view, the "if converted" method is a "pro-forma" method which assumes conversion and the elimination of preferential distributions to these securities; as such, it is not suitable for use in the computation of *primary earnings per share data*, since the assumed conversions did not take place and the **preferential distributions** did take place.

.22 Those who favor the "two-class" method point out that it is considered appropriate in the case of certain participating and two-class common situations. In their view, the circumstances existing when common stock equivalents are outstanding are similar; therefore, use of this method is appropriate.

Recognition of Common Stock Equivalents in the Financial Statements

.23 Section 2011.39 concludes that the designation of securities as common stock equivalents is solely for the purpose of determining primary earnings per share; no changes from present practice are recommended in the presentation of such securities in the financial statements. Some believe, however, that the financial statements should reflect a treatment of such securities which is consistent with the method used to determine earnings per share in the financial statements. Accordingly, convertible debt considered to be a common stock equivalent would be classified in the balance sheet in association with stockholders' equity-either under a separate caption immediately preceding stockholders' equity, or in a combined section with a caption such as "Equity of common stockholders and holders of common stock equivalents." In the statement of income and retained earnings, interest paid on convertible debt considered a common stock equivalent would be shown as a "distribution to holders of common stock equivalents," either following the caption of "net income" in the statement of income or grouped with other distributions in the statement of retained earnings.

.24 Some believe that the inconsistency of the positions taken on this matter in section 2011A.21 is clearly evident in the requirement that, when a subsidiary has convertible securities which are common stock equivalents, the portion of the income of the subsidiary to be included in the consolidated statement of income of the parent and its subsidiaries should be computed disregarding the effect of the common stock equivalents, but that the computation of the primary earnings per share of the parent should reflect the effect of these common stock equivalents in attributing the income of the subsidiary to its various outstanding securities. This inconsistent treatment is, in the opinion of some, not only illogical but misleading.

AC Section 2011C

Earnings per Share—Appendix C

ILLUSTRATIVE STATEMENTS

.01 The following exhibits illustrate the disclosure of earnings per share data on the assumption that section 2011 was effective for all periods covered. The format of the disclosure is illustrative only, and does not necessarily reflect a preference by the Accounting Principles Board.

.02 Exhibit A. This exhibit illustrates the disclosure of earnings per share data for a company with a simple capital structure (see section 2011.14). The facts assumed for Exhibit A are as follows:

	Number of Shares	
Common stock outstanding	1968	1967
Beginning of year	3,300,000	3,300,000
End of year	3,300,000	3,300,000
Issued or acquired during year		None
Common stock reserved under employee		
stock options granted	7,200	7,200
Weighted average number of shares	3,300,000	3,300,000

NOTE: Shares issuable under employee stock options are excluded from the weighted average number of shares on the assumption that their effect is not dilutive (see section 2011.14).

EXHIBIT A EXAMPLE OF DISCLOSURE OF EARNINGS PER SHARE Simple Capital Structure

	Thousands	
	Excess per s	hare data
(Bottom of Income Statement)	1968	1967
Income before extraordinary item	. \$ 9,150	\$7,650
Extraordinary item-gain on sale of propert	ty.	
less applicable income taxes	. 900	
Net Income	. \$10,050	\$7,650
Earnings per common share:		
Income before extraordinary item.	\$ 2.77	\$ 2.32
Extraordinary item		• • • • •
Net Income	\$ 3.05	\$ 2.32
		

.03 Exhibit B. This exhibit illustrates the disclosure of earnings per share data for a company with a complex capital structure (see section 2011.15). The facts assumed for Exhibit B are as follows:

Market price of common stock. The market price of the common stock was as follows:

1968	1967	19 66
Average Price:		
First quarter 50	45	40
Second quarter 60	52	41
Third quarter 70	50	40
Fourth quarter	50	45
December 31 closing price	51	44

Cash dividends. Cash dividends of \$0.125 per common share were declared and paid for each quarter of 1966 and 1967. Cash dividends of \$0.25 per common share were declared and paid for each quarter of 1968.

Convertible debentures. 4% convertible debentures with a principal amount of \$10,000,000 due 1986 were sold for cash at a price of 100 in the last quarter of 1966. Each \$100 debenture was convertible into two shares of common stock. No debentures were converted during 1966 or 1967. The entire issue was converted at the beginning of the third quarter of 1968 because the issue was called by the company.

These convertible debentures were not common stock equivalents under the terms of section 2011. The bank prime rate at the time the debentures were sold in the last quarter of 1966 was 6%. The debentures carried a coupon interest rate of 4% and had a market value of \$100 at issuance. The cash yield of 4% was not less than $66\frac{2}{3}\%$ of the bank prime rate (see section 2011.33). Cash yield is the same as the coupon interest rate in this case only because the market value at issuance was \$100.

Convertible preferred stock. 600,000 shares of convertible preferred stock were issued for assets in a purchase transaction at the beginning of the second quarter of 1967. The annual dividend on each share of this con-

AC § 2011C.03

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

vertible preferred stock is 0.20. Each share is convertible into one share of common stock. This convertible stock had a market value of 53 at the time of issuance and was therefore a common stock equivalent under the terms of section 2011 at the time of its issuance because the cash yield on market value was only 0.4% and the bank prime rate was 5.5% (see section 2011.33).

Holders of 500,000 shares of this convertible preferred stock converted their preferred stock into common stock during 1968 because the cash dividend on the common stock exceeded the cash dividend on the preferred stock.

Warrants. Warrants to buy 500,000 shares of common stock at \$60 per share for a period of five years were issued along with the convertible preferred stock mentioned above. No warrants have been exercised. (Note that the number of shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants is less than 20% of outstanding common shares; hence section 2011.38 is not applicable.)

The number of common shares represented by the warrants (see section 2011.36) was 71,428 for each of the third and fourth quarters of 1968 (\$60 exercise price \times 500,000 warrants = \$30,000,000; \$30,000,000 \div \$70 share market price = 428,572 shares; 500,000 shares - 428,572 shares = 71,428 shares). No shares were deemed to be represented by the warrants for the second quarter of 1968 or for any preceding quarter (see section 2011.36) because the market price of the stock did not exceed the exercise price for substantially all of three consecutive months until the third quarter of 1968.

Common stock. The number of shares of common stock outstanding were as follows:

	1968	1967
Beginning of year	3,300,000	3,300,000
Conversion of preferred stock	500,000	
Conversion of debentures	200,000	. <i>.</i>
End of year	4,000,000	3,300,000

Weighted average number of shares. The weighted average number of shares of common stock and common stock equivalents was determined as follows:

Stock equivalences was determined as	1968	1967
Common stock:		
Shares outstanding from beginning of period	3,300,000	3,300,000
of preferred stock; assume issuance evenly during year 200,000 shares issued on conversion	250,000	
of convertible debentures at begin- ning of third quarter of 1968	100,000	
	3,650,000	3,300,000
Common stock equivalents: 600,000 shares convertible preferred stock issued at the beginning of the second quarter of 1967, excluding 250,000 shares included under com- mon stock in 1968. Warrants: 71,428 common share equiv- lents outstanding for third and fourth quarters of 1968, i. e., one- half year	350,000 35,714	450,000
	385,714	450,000
Weighted average number of shares	4,035,714	3,750,000
The weighted average number of adjusted to calculate fully diluted ear follows:	rnings per	share as
	1968	1967
Weighted average number of shares Shares applicable to convertible debenture converted at the beginning of the thir	s	3,750,000

	4,183,333	3 950 000
Shares applicable to warrants based on year- end price of \$72 (see section 2011.42)		· · · · · · · · ·
Shares applicable to warrants included above	· · /	
included under common stock for 1968	100,000	200,000
quarter of 1968, excluding 100,000 shares		
converted at the beginning of the third		

79	94
----	----

AC § 2011C.03

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Income before extraordinary item and net income would be adjusted for interest expense on the debentures in calculating fully diluted earnings per share as follows:

	Thousands		
	Befo re Adjustment	Interest, net of tax effect	After Adjustment
1967: Net income	\$10,300	\$2 08	\$10,508
1968:			
Income before extraord	i-	,	
nary item	. 12,900	94	12,994
Net income	. 13,800	94	13,894

NOTES: (a) Taxes in 1967 were 48%; in 1968 they were 52.8%. (b) Net income is before dividends on preferred stock.

EXHIBIT B

EXAMPLE OF DISCLOSURE OF EARNINGS PER SHARE Complex Capital Structure

(Bottom of Income Statement)	Except per share data	
	1968	1967
Income before extraordinary item	\$12,900	\$10,300
Extraordinary item—gain on sale of property less applicable income taxes	900	
Net Income	\$13,800	\$10,300
Earnings per common share and com- mon equivalent share (note x): Income before extraordinary item Extraordinary item	\$ 3.20 .22	\$ 2.75
Net Income	\$ 3.42	\$ 2.75
Earnings per common share—assuming full dilution (note x):		
Income before extarordinary item	\$ 3.11	\$ 2.66
Extraordinary item	.21	
Net Income	\$ 3.32	\$ 2.66

AICPA Professional Standards

.04

EXHIBIT C EXAMPLE OF NOTE X * TO EXHIBIT B

The \$0.20 convertible preferred stock is callable by the company after March 31, 1972 at \$53 per share. Each share is convertible into one share of common stock.

During 1968, 700,000 shares of common stock were issued on conversions: 500,000 shares on conversion of preferred stock and 200,000 on conversion of all the 4% convertible debentures.

Warrants to acquire 500,000 shares of the company's stock at \$60 per share were outstanding at the end of 1968 and 1967. These warrants expire March 31, 1972.

Earnings per common share and common equivalent share were computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock and common stock equivalents outstanding during the year. The convertible preferred stock has been considered to be the equivalent of common stock from the time of its issuance in 1967. The number of shares issuable on conversion of preferred stock was added to the number of common shares. The number of common shares was also increased by the number of shares issuable on the exercise of warrants when the market price of the common stock exceeds

* The following disclosure in the December 31, 1968 balance sheet is assumed for this note:

	1968	1967
Long-term debt:		
4% convertible debentures, due 1986		\$10,000,000
Stockholders' equity (note x): Convertible voting preferred stock of \$1 par value, \$0.20 cumulative divi- dend. Authorized 600,000 shares; issued and outstanding 100,000 shares (600,000 in 1967)	\$ 100,000	\$ 600,000
Common stock of \$1 par value per share. Authorized 5,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 4,000,000 shares (3,300,000 in 1967) Additional paid-in capital Retained earnings	4,000,000 xxx xxx \$ xxx	3,300,000 xxx xxx \$ xxx

AC § 2011C.04

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

the exercise price of the warrants. This increase in the number of common shares was reduced by the number of common shares which are assumed to have been purchased with the proceeds from the exercise of the warrants; these purchases were assumed to have been made at the average price of the common stock during that part of the year when the market price of the common stock exceeded the exercise price of the warrants.

Earnings per common share and common equivalent share for 1968 would have been \$3.36 for net income and \$3.14 for income before extraordinary item had the 4%convertible debentures due 1986 been converted on January 1, 1968. (These debentures were called for redemption as of July 1, 1968 and all were converted into common shares.).

Earnings per common share—assuming full dilution for 1968 were determined on the assumptions that the convertible debentures were converted and the warrants were exercised on January 1, 1968. As to the debentures, net earnings were adjusted for the interest net of its tax effect. As to the warrants, outstanding shares were increased as described above except that purchases of common stock are assumed to have been made at the year-end price of \$72.

Earnings per common share—assuming full dilution for 1967 were determined on the assumption that the convertible debentures were converted on January 1, 1967. The outstanding warrants had no effect on the earnings per share data for 1967, as the exercise price was in excess of the market price of the common stock.

 \implies The next page is 8001. \leftarrow

AC Section 2011D

Earnings per Share—Appendix D

DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

.01 There are a number of terms used in discussion of earnings per share which have special meanings in that context. When used in section 2011 they are intended to have the meaning given in the following definitions. Some of the terms are not used in section 2011 but are provided as information pertinent to the subject of earnings per share.

.02 Call price. The amount at which a security may be redeemed by the issuer at the issuer's option.

.03 Cash yield. The cash received by the holder of a security as a distribution of accumulated or current earnings or as a contractual payment for return on the amount invested, without regard to the par or face amount of the security. As used in section 2011 the term "cash yield" refers to the relationship or ratio of such cash to be received annually to the market value of the related security at the specified date. For example, a security with a coupon rate of 4% (on par of \$100) and a market value of \$80 would have a cash yield of 5%.

.04 Common stock. A stock which is subordinate to all other stocks of the issuer.

.05 Common stock equivalent. A security which, because of its terms or the circumstances under which it was issued, is in substance equivalent to common stock.

.06 Contingent issuance. A possible issuance of shares of common stock that is dependent upon the exercise of conversion rights, options or warrants, the satisfaction of certain conditions, or similar arrangements.

.07 Conversion price. The price that determines the number of shares of common stock into which a security is convertible. For example, \$100 face value of debt convertible into 5 shares of common stock would be stated to have a conversion price of \$20.

.08 Conversion rate. The ratio of (a) the number of common shares issuable upon conversion to (b) a unit of

a convertible security. For example, a preferred stock may be convertible at the rate of 3 shares of common stock for each share of preferred stock.

.09 Conversion value. The current market value of the common shares obtainable upon conversion of a convertible security, after deducting any cash payment required upon conversion.

.10 Dilution (Dilutive). A reduction in earnings per share resulting from the assumption that convertible securities have been converted or that options and warrants have been exercised or other shares have been issued upon the fulfillment of certain conditions. (See section 2011, footnote 4.)

.11 Dual presentation. The presentation with equal prominence of two types of earnings per share amounts on the face of the income statement—one is primary earnings per share; the other is fully diluted earnings per share.

.12 Earnings per share. The amount of earnings attributable to each share of common stock. For convenience, the term is used in section 2011 to refer to either net income (earnings) per share or to net loss per share. It should be used without qualifying language only when no potentially dilutive convertible securities, options, warrants or other agreements providing for contingent issuances of common stock are outstanding.

.13 Exercise price. The amount that must be paid for a share of common stock upon exercise of a stock option or warrant.

.14 Fully diluted earnings per share. The amount of current earnings per share reflecting the maximum dilution that would have resulted from conversions, exercises and other contingent issuances that individually would have decreased earnings per share and in the aggregate would have had a dilutive effect. All such issuances are assumed to have taken place at the beginning of the period (or at the time the contingency arose, if later).

.15 "If converted" method. A method of computing earnings per share data that assumes conversion of convertible securities as of the beginning of the earliest period reported (or at time of issuance, if later).

AC § 2011D.09

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.16 Investment value. The price at which it is estimated a convertible security would sell if it were not convertible, based upon its stipulated preferred dividend or interest rate and its other senior security characteristics.

.17 Market parity. A market price relationship in which the market price of a convertible security and its conversion value are approximately equal.

.18 Option. The right to purchase shares of common stock in accordance with an agreement, upon payment of a specified amount. As used in section 2011, options include but are not limited to options granted to and stock purchase agreements entered into with employees. Options are considered "securities" in section 2011.

.19 Primary earnings per share. The amount of earnings attributable to each share of common stock outstanding, including common stock equivalents.

.20 Redemption price. The amount at which a security is required to be redeemed at maturity or under a sinking fund arrangement.

.21 Security. The evidence of a debt or ownership or related right. For purposes of section 2011 it includes stock options and warrants, as well as debt and stock.

.22 Senior security. A security having preferential rights and which is not a common stock or common stock equivalent, for example, nonconvertible preferred stock.

.23 Supplementary earnings per share. A computation of earnings per share, other than primary or fully diluted earnings per share, which gives effect to conversions, etc., which took place during the period or shortly thereafter as though they had occurred at the beginning of the period (or date of issuance, if later).

.24 Time of issuance. The time of issuance generally is the date when agreement as to terms has been reached and announced, even though such agreement is subject to certain further actions, such as directors' or stockholders' approval.

.25 Treasury stock method. A method of recognizing the use of proceeds that would be obtained upon exercise of options and warrants in computing earnings per share. It assumes that any proceeds would be used to purchase common stock at current market prices. (See section 2011.36-.38.)

.26 "Two-class" method. A method of computing primary earnings per share that treats common stock equivalents as though they were common stocks with different dividend rates from that of the common stock.

.27 Warrant. A security giving the holder the right to purchase shares of common stock in accordance with the terms of the instrument, usually upon payment of a specified amount.

.28 Weighted average number of shares. The number of shares determined by relating (a) the portion of time within a reporting period that a particular number of shares of a certain security has been outstanding to (b) the total time in that period. Thus, for example, if 100 shares of a certain security were outstanding during the first quarter of a fiscal year and 300 shares were outstanding during the balance of the year, the weighted average number of outstanding shares would be 250.

 \implies The next page is 8031. \leftarrow

AC Section 2012

Reporting the Results of Operations— Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Frequently Occurring Events and Transactions [Source: APB Opinion No. 30, as amended.]

Effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 unless otherwise indicated

INTRODUCTION

.01 In section 2010, Reporting the Results of Operations, issued in 1966, the Board concluded that net income for a period should reflect all items of profit and loss recognized during the period except for certain prior period adjustments. The section further provided that extraordinary items should be segregated from the results of ordinary operations and shown separately in the income statement and that their nature and amounts should be disclosed.

.02 Financial reporting practices in recent years indicate that interpreting the criteria for extraordinary items in section 2010 has been difficult and significant differences of opinion exist as to certain of its provisions. The Board is also concerned with the varying accounting treatments accorded to certain transactions involving the sale, abandonment, discontinuance, condemnation, or expropriation of a segment of an entity (referred to in this section as disposals of a segment of a business).

.03 The purposes of this section are (1) to provide more definitive criteria for extraordinary items by clarifying and, to some extent, modifying the existing definition and criteria, (2) to specify disclosure requirements for extraordinary items, (3) to specify the accounting and reporting for disposal of a segment of a business, (4) to specify disclosure requirements for other unusual or infrequently occurring events and transactions that are not extraordinary items.

DISCUSSION

.04 Some accountants believe that financial statements would be improved by presenting an all-inclusive income statement without separate categories for continuing operations, discontinued operations and extraordinary items. In their view, the use of arbitrary and subjectively defined categories tends to mislead investors and to invite abuse of the intended purposes of the classifications. They believe, therefore, that basically an income statement should reflect only the two broad categories, (a) revenue and gains and (b) expenses and losses. They also believe that investors would be better served by reporting separately the primary types of revenue and expense, including identification of items that are unusual or occur infrequently. Alternatively, sufficient information relating to those items should be otherwise disclosed to permit investors to evaluate their relevance. These accountants believe that such changes should be implemented at the present time.

.05 Other accountants believe that the income statement is more useful if the effects of events or transactions that occur infrequently and are of an unusual nature are segregated from the results of the continuing, ordinary, and typical operations of an entity. They also believe that the criteria for income statement classification should relate to the environment in which an entity operates. In their view the criteria in APB Opinion No. 9, paragraph 21,¹ for determining whether an event or transaction should be reported as extraordinary lack precision. Accordingly, they conclude that the criteria should be clarified and modified to provide that to be classified as an extraordinary item an event or transaction should be both unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence when considered in relation to the environment in which the entity operates. They also believe that to enhance the usefulness of the income statement (a) the results of continuing operations of an entity should be reported sepa-

¹ Editor's Note: Footnote reference eliminated.

rately from the operations of a segment of the business which has been or will be discontinued and (b) the gain or loss from disposal of a segment should be reported in conjunction with the operations of the segment and not as an extraordinary item. They further believe that material events and transactions that are either unusual or occur infrequently, but not both, should be adequately disclosed.

.06 Still other accountants agree in part with the views described in paragraph .05 but believe that a combination of infrequency of occurrence and abnormality of financial effect should also result in classifying an event or transaction as extraordinary.

APPLICABILITY

.07 This section supersedes section 2010.19-.21, section 2010.28, insofar as it refers to examples of financial statements, and section 2010A. It also amends section 2011.13 and section 2011.30, footnote 10, *Earnings per Share*, insofar as this section prescribes the presentation and computation of earnings per share of continuing and discontinued operations. This section does not modify or amend the conclusions of sections 4091.44 and 4091.60, *Accounting for Income Taxes*, or of section 1091.60, *Business Combinations*, with respect to the classification of the effects of certain events and transactions as extraordinary items. Prior sections that refer to the superseded paragraphs noted above are modified to insert a cross reference to this section.²

OPINION

Income Statement Presentation and Disclosure

.08 Discontinued Operations of a Segment of a Business. For purposes of this section, the term discontinued operations refers to the operations of a segment of a business as defined in paragraph .13 that has been sold, abandoned, spun off, or otherwise disposed of or, although still operating, is the subject of a formal plan for disposal (see paragraph .14). The Board concludes that the results of

² This section amends sections 1021-1029, Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles Underlying Financial Statements of Business Enterprises, to the extent that they describe an extraordinary item.

continuing operations should be reported separately from discontinued operations and that any gain or loss from disposal of a segment of a business (determined in accordance with paragraphs .15 and .16) should be reported in conjunction with the related results of discontinued operations and not as an extraordinary item. Accordingly, operations of a segment that has been or will be discontinued should be reported separately as a component of income before extraordinary items and the cumulative effect of accounting changes (if applicable) in the following manner:

Income from continuing operations before

income taxes ³	\$xxxx	
Provision for income taxes	xxx	
Income from continuing operations ³		\$xxxx
Discontinued operations (Note):		
Income (loss) from operations of discon-		
tinued Division X (less applicable in		
come taxes of \$)	\$xxxx	
Loss on disposal of Division X, including		
provision of \$ for operating		
losses during phase-out period (less		
applicable income taxes of \$)	XXXX	XXXX
	<u> </u>	
Net Income		\$xxxx

Amounts of income taxes applicable to the results of discontinued operations and the gain or loss from disposal of the segment should be disclosed on the face of the income statement or in related notes. Revenues applicable to the discontinued operations should be separately disclosed in the related notes.

.09 Earnings per share data for income from continuing operations and net income, computed in accordance with section 2011, should be presented on the face of the income

³These captions should be modified appropriately when an entity reports an extraordinary item and/or the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in accordance with section 1051, *Accounting Changes*. The presentation of per share data will need similar modification.

statement.⁴ If presented, per share data for the results of discontinued operations and gain or loss from disposal of the business segment may be included on the face of the income statement or in a related note.

.10 Extraordinary Items. The Board has also reconsidered the presentation of extraordinary items in an income statement as prescribed in APB Opinion No. 9, and reaffirms the need to segregate extraordinary items for the reasons given in paragraph .05 of this section and section 2010.18.

.11 In the absence of discontinued operations and changes in accounting principles, the following main captions should appear in an income statement if extraordinary items are reported (sections 2010.16-.18):

Income before extraordinary items ⁵	\$xxx
Extraordinary items (less applicable in-	
come taxes of \$) (Note)	XXX
	·····
Net income	\$xxx

The caption *extraordinary items* should be used to identify separately the effects of events and transactions, other than the disposal of a segment of a business, that meet the criteria for classification as extraordinary as discussed in paragraphs .19-.24. Descriptive captions and the amounts for individual extraordinary events or transactions should be presented, preferably on the face of the income statement, if practicable; otherwise disclosure in related notes is acceptable. The nature of an extraordinary event or transaction and the principal items entering into the determination of an extraordinary gain or loss should be described. The income taxes applicable to extraordinary items should be disclosed on the face of the income statement; alterna-

^{*} The presence of a common stock equivalent or other dilutive securities ⁴ The presence of a common stock equivalent or other dilutive securities together with income from continuing operations and extraordinary items may result in diluting one of the per share amounts which are required to be disclosed on the face of the income statement—i.e., income from con-tinuing operations, income before extraordinary items and before the cumulative effect of accounting changes, if any, and net income—while increasing another. In such a case, the common stock equivalent or other dilutive securities should be recognized for all computations even though they have an anti-dilutive effect on one of the per share amounts. ⁶ This caption should be modified appropriately when an entity reports the cumulative effect of an accounting change.

the cumulative effect of an accounting change.

tively, disclosure in the related notes is acceptable. The caption *net income* should replace the three captions shown above if the income statement includes no extraordinary items.

.12 Earnings per share data for income before extraordinary items and net income should be presented on the face of the income statement, as prescribed by section 2011.

Accounting for the Disposal of a Segment of a Business

.13 For purposes of this section, the term segment of a business refers to a component of an entity whose activities represent a separate major line of business or class of customer. A segment may be in the form of a subsidiary, a division, or a department, and in some cases a joint venture or other nonsubsidiary investee, provided that its assets. results of operations, and activities can be clearly distinguished, physically and operationally and for financial reporting purposes, from the other assets, results of operations, and activities of the entity. Financial statements of current and prior periods that include results of operations prior to the measurement date (as defined in paragraph .14) should disclose the results of operations of the disposed segment, less applicable income taxes, as a separate component of income before extraordinary items (see paragraph .08). The fact that the results of operations of the segment being sold or abandoned cannot be separately identified strongly suggests that the transaction should not be classified as the disposal of a segment of the business. The disposal of a segment of a business should be distinguished from other disposals of assets incident to the evolution of the entity's business, such as the disposal of part of a line of business, the shifting of production or marketing activities for a particular line of business from one location to another, the phasing out of a product line or class of service, and other changes occasioned by technological improvements. The disposal of two or more unrelated assets that individually do not constitute a segment of a business should not be combined and accounted for as a disposal of a segment of business.

.14 Definition of Measurement and Disposal Dates. For purposes of applying the provisions of this section, the measurement date of a disposal is the date on which the management having authority to approve the action commits itself to a formal plan to dispose of a segment of the business, whether by sale or abandonment. The plan of disposal should include, as a minimum, identification of the major assets to be disposed of, the expected method of disposal, the period expected to be required for completion of the disposal, an active program to find a buyer if disposal is to be by sale, the estimated results of operations of the segment from the measurement date to the disposal date, and the estimated proceeds or salvage to be realized by disposal. For purposes of applying this section, the *disposal date* is the date of closing the sale if the disposal is by sale or the date that operations cease if the disposal is by abandonment.

.15 Determination of Gain or Loss on Disposal of a Segment of a Business. If a loss is expected from the proposed sale or abandonment of a segment, the estimated loss should be provided for at the measurement date.⁶ If a gain is expected, it should be recognized when realized, which ordinarily is the disposal date. The determination of whether a gain or a loss results from the disposal of a segment of a business should be made at the measurement date based on estimates at that date of the net realizable value of the segment after giving consideration to any estimated costs and expenses directly associated with the disposal and, if a plan of disposal is to be carried out over a period of time and contemplates continuing operations during that period, to any estimated income or losses from operations. If it is expected that net losses from operations will be incurred between the measurement date and the expected disposal date, the computation of the gain or loss on disposal should also include an estimate of such amounts. If it is expected that income will be generated from operations during that period the computation of the gain or loss should include the estimated income, limited however to the amount of any loss otherwise recognizable

⁶ If financial statements for a date prior to the measurement date have not been issued, and the expected loss provides evidence of conditions that existed at the date of such statements and affects estimates inherent in the process of preparing them, the financial statements should be adjusted for any change in estimates resulting from the use of such evidence. (See AU section 560.03, volume 1, AICPA PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS.)

from the disposal; any remainder should be accounted for as income when realized. The Board believes that the estimated amounts of income or loss from operations of a segment between measurement date and disposal date included in the determination of loss on disposal should be limited to those amounts that can be projected with reasonable accuracy. In the usual circumstance, it would be expected that the plan of disposal would be carried out within a period of one year from the measurement date and that such projections of operating income or loss would not cover a period exceeding approximately one year.⁷

.16 Gain or loss from the disposal of a segment of a business should not include adjustments, costs, and expenses associated with normal business activities that should have been recognized on a going-concern basis up to the measurement date, such as adjustments of accruals on longterm contracts or write-down or write-off of receivables, inventories, property, plant, and equipment used in the business, equipment leased to others, or intangible assets. However, such adjustments, costs, and expenses which (a) are clearly a *direct* result of the decision to dispose of the segment and (b) are clearly not the adjustments of carrying amounts or costs, or expenses that should have been recognized on a going-concern basis prior to the measurement date should be included in determining the gain or loss on disposal. Results of operations before the measurement date should not be included in the gain or loss on disposal. [As modified, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 1975, pursuant to FASB Statement No. 2.] (Section 4211.)

.17 Costs and expenses *directly* associated with the decision to dispose include items such as severance pay, additional pension costs, employee relocation expenses, and future rentals on long-term leases to the extent they are not offset by sub-lease rentals.

.18 Disclosure. In addition to the amounts that should be disclosed in the financial statements (paragraph .08), the notes to financial statements for the period encompassing the measurement date should disclose:

AC § 2012.16

[†]When disposal is estimated to be completed within one year and subsequently is revised to a longer period of time, any revision of the net realizable value of the segment should be treated as a change in estimate (see paragraph .25).

- (a) the identity of the segment of business that has been or will be discontinued,
- (b) the expected disposal date, if known (see paragraph .14),
- (c) the expected manner of disposal,
- (d) a description of the remaining assets and liabilities of the segment at the balance sheet date,^s and
- (e) the income or loss from operations and any proceeds from disposal of the segment during the period from the measurement date to the date of the balance sheet.

For periods subsequent to the measurement date and including the period of disposal, notes to the financial statements should disclose the information listed in (a), (b), (c), and (d) above and also the information listed in (e) above compared with the prior estimates.

Criteria for Extraordinary Items

.19 Judgment is required to segregate in the income statement the effects of events or transactions that are extraordinary items (as required by paragraph .11). The Board concludes that an event or transaction should be presumed to be an ordinary and usual activity of the reporting entity, the effects of which should be included in income from operations, unless the evidence clearly supports its classification as an extraordinary item as defined in this section.

.20 Extraordinary items are events and transactions that are distinguished by their unusual nature *and* by the infrequency of their occurrence. Thus, *both* of the following criteria should be met to classify an event or transaction as an extraordinary item:

(a) Unusual nature—the underlying event or transaction should possess a high degree of abnormality and be of a type clearly unrelated to, or only incidentally related to, the ordinary and typical activi-

^{*}Consideration should be given to disclosing this information by segregation in the balance sheet of the net assets and liabilities (current and noncurrent) of the discontinued segment. Only liabilities which will be assumed by others should be designated as liabilities of the discontinued segment. If the loss on disposal cannot be estimated within reasonable limits, this fact should be disclosed.

ties of the entity, taking into account the environment in which the entity operates. (See discussion in paragraph .21.)

(b) Infrequency of occurrence—the underlying event or transaction should be of a type that would not reasonably be expected to recur in the foreseeable future, taking into account the environment in which the entity operates. (See discussion in paragraph .22.)

.21 Unusual Nature. The specific characteristics of the entity, such as type and scope of operations, lines of business, and operating policies should be considered in determining ordinary and typical activities of an entity. The environment in which an entity operates is a primary consideration in determining whether an underlying event or transaction is abnormal and significantly different from the ordinary and typical activities of the entity. The environment of an entity includes such factors as the characteristics of the industry or industries in which it operates, the geographical location of its operations, and the nature and extent of governmental regulation. Thus, an event or transaction may be unusual in nature for one entity but not for another because of differences in their respective environments. Unusual nature is not established by the fact that an event or transaction is beyond the control of management.

.22 Infrequency of Occurrence. For purposes of this section, an event or transaction of a type not reasonably expected to recur in the foreseeable future is considered to occur infrequently. Determining the probability of recurrence of a particular event or transaction in the foreseeable future should take into account the environment in which an entity operates. Accordingly, a specific transaction of one entity might meet that criterion and a similar transaction of another entity might not because of different probabilities of recurrence. The past occurrence of an event or transaction for a particular entity provides evidence to assess the probability of recurrence of that type of event or transaction in the foreseeable future. By definition, extraordinary items occur infrequently. However, mere infrequency of occurrence of a particular event or transaction does not alone imply that its effects should be classified as

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

extraordinary. An event or transaction of a type that occurs frequently in the environment in which the entity operates cannot, by definition, be considered as extraordinary, regardless of its financial effect.

.23 Certain gains and losses should not be reported as extraordinary items because they are usual in nature or may be expected to recur as a consequence of customary and continuing business activities. Examples include:

- (a) Write-down or write-off of receivables, inventories, equipment leased to others, or intangible assets.
- (b) Gains or losses from exchange or translation of foreign currencies, including those relating to major devaluations and revaluations.
- (c) Gains or losses on disposal of a segment of a business.
- (d) Other gains or losses from sale or abandonment of property, plant, or equipment used in the business.
- (e) Effects of a strike, including those against competitors and major suppliers.
- (f) Adjustment of accruals on long-term contracts.

In rare situations, an event or transaction may occur that clearly meets both criteria specified in paragraph .20 of this section and thus gives rise to an extraordinary gain or loss that includes one or more of the gains or losses enumerated above. In these circumstances, gains or losses such as (a) and (d) above should be included in the extraordinary item if they are a direct result of a major casualty (such as an earthquake), an expropriation, or a prohibition under a newly enacted law or regulation that clearly meets both criteria specified in paragraph .20. However, any portion of such losses which would have resulted from a valuation of assets on a going concern basis should not be included in the extraordinary items. Disposals of a segment of a business should be accounted for pursuant to paragraph .13 and presented in the income statement pursuant to paragraph .08 even though the circumstances of the disposal meet the criteria specified in paragraph .20. [As modified, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 1975, pursuant to FASB Statement No. 2.] (See section 4211.)

.24 Materiality. The effect of an extraordinary event or transaction should be classified separately in the income statement in the manner described in paragraph .11 if it is material in relation to income before extraordinary items or to the trend of annual earnings before extraordinary items, or is material by other appropriate criteria. Items should be considered individually and not in the aggregate in determining whether an extraordinary event or transaction is material. However, the effects of a series of related transactions arising from a single specific and identifiable event or plan of action that otherwise meets the two criteria in paragraph .20 should be aggregated to determine materiality.

Adjustment of Amounts Reported in Prior Periods

.25 Circumstances attendant to disposals of a segment of a business and extraordinary items frequently require estimates, for example, of associated costs and occasionally of associated revenue, based on judgment and evaluation of the facts known at the time of first accounting for the event. Each adjustment in the current period of a loss on disposal of a business segment or of an element of an extraordinary item that was reported in a prior period should not be reported as a prior period adjustment unless it meets the criteria for a prior period adjustment as defined in section 2010.22. An adjustment that does not meet such criteria should be separately disclosed as to year of origin, nature, and amount and classified separately in the current period in the same manner as the original item. If the adjustment is the correction of an error, the provisions of section 1051.36-.37, Accounting Changes, should be applied.

Disclosure of Unusual or Infrequently Occurring Items

.26 A material event or transaction that is unusual in nature or occurs infrequently but not both, and therefore does not meet both criteria for classification as an extraordinary item, should be reported as a separate component of income from continuing operations. The nature and financial effects of each event or transaction should be disclosed on the face of the income statement or, alternatively, in notes to the financial statements. Gains or losses of a similar nature that are not individually material should be aggregated. Such items should not be reported on the face of the income statement net of income taxes or in any manner in-

AC § 2012.25

consistent with the provisions of paragraphs .08 and .11 of this section or in any other manner that may imply that they are extraordinary items. Similarly, the earnings per share effects of those items should not be disclosed on the face of the income statement.⁹

EFFECTIVE DATE

.27 This section shall be effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973. Events and transactions that were reported as extraordinary items in statements of income for fiscal years ending before October 1, 1973 should not be restated, except that a statement of income including operations of discontinued segments of a business may be reclassified in comparative statements to conform with the provisions of paragraphs .08 and .09 of this section and the Board encourages such reclassification. In addition, the accounting for events and transactions that have been reported previously for the fiscal year in which September 30, 1973 occurs may be restated retroactively to comply with the provisions of this section, and the Board encourages such restatement. Differences in classification of the effects of events and transactions in the financial statements of the current and any prior periods presented should be disclosed in notes to the financial statements.

 \implies The next page is 8045. \leftarrow

⁴ Exceptions to the final two sentences of this paragraph are specified in the following AICPA industry audit guides: Audits of Banks, p. 36; Audits of Fire and Casualty Insurance Companies, p. 66; and Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies, p. 89.

AC Section 2013

Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt an amendment of section 2012 [Source: FASB Statement No. 4.]

March 1975

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION

.01 APB Opinion No. 26 [section 5362], "Early Extinguishment of Debt." became effective for extinguishment of debt occurring on or after January 1, 1973. Paragraph 19 of that Opinion [section 5362.19] states "that all extinguishments of debt before scheduled maturities are fundamentally alike. The accounting for such transactions should be the same regardless of the means used to achieve the extinguishment." Paragraph 20 of the same Opinion [section 5362.20] states that "a difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the extinguished debt should be recognized currently in income of the period of extinguishment as losses or gains and identified as a separate item. . . . The criteria in APB Opinion No. 9 [section 2010] ['Reporting the Results of Operations'] should be used to determine whether the losses or gains are ordinary or extraordinary items. Gains and losses should not be amortized to future periods."

.02 APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012], "Reporting the Results of Operations," became effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 and superseded APB Opinion No. 9 [section 2010] with respect to the determination of extraordinary items. APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012] and the related Accounting Interpretation issued by the AICPA staff (see The Journal of Accountancy, November 1973, pages 82-84) [section U2012.001-.013] can be read literally to preclude classifying most if not all gains or losses from early extinguishment of debt as an extraordinary item in the income statement. The Board has observed that in those cases coming to its attention where a gain or loss from early extinguishment of debt has been reported in an income statement to which APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012] was applicable, the gain or loss was included in income before extraordinary items.

.03 Since the effective date of APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012], the Board has had inquiries regarding that Opinion be-

8045

cause application of the criteria, especially as illustrated in the related AICPA Accounting Interpretation, appears to preclude classifying gains or losses from most transactions or events as extraordinary items in the income statement. Many respondents to the Board's July 12, 1973 request for views concerning APB Opinions and Accounting Research Bulletins suggested that the conclusions of APB Opinion No. 26 [section 5362] relating to early extinguishment of debt be reconsidered. Since that time, concern also has been expressed to the Board with respect to the accounting for extinguishment of debt at its scheduled maturity date or later because the authoritative accounting pronouncements do not address that issue. In addition, the Securities and Exchange Commission and others have expressed concern to the Board about including gains and losses from extinguishment of debt in the determination of income before extraordinary items in the income statement.

.04 The Board considered carefully the suggestions that APB Opinion No. 26 [section 5362] be reconsidered and concluded that the issues extend beyond APB Opinion No. 26 [section 5362] and could involve APB Opinion No. 14 [section 5516], "Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants," and APB Opinion No. 21 [section 4111], "Interest on Receivables and Payables," and could extend to exchanges or sales and related purchases of similar monetary assets. The Board concluded that the pervasiveness of those issues makes broad reconsideration of all these Opinions and the other related issues a more comprehensive undertaking than can be accomplished in the near future. The Board also considered carefully the questions raised with respect to APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012] and concluded that there is insufficient experience under that Opinion to warrant a general reconsideration of the criteria set forth therein at this time.

.05 Prior to the issuance of the Exposure Draft of this Statement, the Board had been considering an Interpretation of APB*Opinion No. 26* [section 5362] that would have specified disclosure requirements regarding gains and losses from extinguishment of debt, but that course of action was changed when it became clear to the Board that the income statement classification of gains or losses on extinguishment of debt also required attention. The Board believes that an immediate response is needed to the concern expressed regarding income statement classification of gains and losses from certain extinguishments of debt. Further, the Board continues to believe that guidelines are needed regarding disclosures related to certain debt extinguishments because a review of a number of financial statements by the FASB staff indicates that disclosures often have been unclear, particularly with regard to the income tax effects.

.06 The Board has concluded that on the basis of existing data it can make an informed decision on the narrow issues identified in paragraph .05 without a public hearing and that the effective date and transition requirements set forth in paragraphs .11 and .12 are advisable.

.07 This Statement applies to regulated enterprises in accordance with the provisions of the Addendum to APB Opinion No. 2 [section 6011], "Accounting for the 'Investment Credit.'"

STANDARDS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING

Income Statement Classification

.08 Gains and losses from extinguishment of debt that are included in the determination of net income shall be aggregated and, if material,¹ classified as an extraordinary item, net of related income tax effect. That conclusion shall apply whether an extinguishment is early or at scheduled maturity date or later. The conclusion does not apply, however, to gains or losses from cash purchases of debt made to satisfy current or future sinkingfund requirements.² Those gains and losses shall be aggregated and the amount shall be identified as a separate item.

Disclosure

.09 Gains or losses from extinguishment of debt that are classified as extraordinary items should be described sufficiently to enable users of financial statements to evaluate their significance. Accordingly, the following information, to the extent not shown separately on the face of the income statement, shall be disclosed in a single note to the financial statements or adequately cross-referenced if in more than one note:

- (a) A description of the extinguishment transactions, including the sources of any funds used to extinguish debt if it is practicable to identify the sources.
- (b) The income tax effect in the period of extinguishment.
- (c) The per share amount of the aggregate gain or loss net of related income tax effect.

¹See the first sentence of paragraph 24 of APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012.24].

² Some obligations to acquire debt have the essential characteristics of sinkingfund requirements, and resulting gains or losses are not required to be classified as extraordinary items. For example, if an enterprise is required each year to purchase a certain percentage of its outstanding bonds before their scheduled maturity, the gain or loss from such purchase is not required to be classified as an extraordinary item. Debt maturing serially, however, does not have the characteristics of sinking-fund requirements, and gain or loss from extinguishment of serial debt shall be classified as an extraordinary item.

8047-2

Amendment to Existing Pronouncement

.10 This Statement amends APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012] only to the extent that classification of gains or losses from extinguishment of debt as an extraordinary item pursuant to the first two sentences of paragraph .08 of this Statement shall be made without regard to the criteria in paragraph 20 of that Opinion [section 2012.20].

Effective Date and Transition

.11 This Statement shall be effective for extinguishments occurring after March 31, 1975, except that it need not be applied to extinguishments occurring on or after April 1, 1975 pursuant to the terms of an offer or other commitment made prior to that date. Application to *all* extinguishments occurring during a fiscal year in which April 1, 1975 falls is encouraged. Retroactive application to extinguishments occurring in prior fiscal years is encouraged but not required.

.12 Although the requirements of this Statement may be applied retroactively, such application is not intended to change the accounting for amounts deferred on refundings of debt that occurred prior to the effective date of *APB Opinion No. 26* [section 5362] or the income statement classification of the amortization of those amounts.

The provisions of this Statement need not be applied to immaterial items.

This Statement was adopted by the affirmative votes of six members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board. Mr. Kirk dissented.

Mr. Kirk dissents because he believes that extinguishments of debt are reportable transactions that seldom, if ever, warrant extraordinary item treatment. In many cases, extinguishments are neither unusual nor infrequent. In most cases, they are certainly no more extraordinary than other unusual or infrequent gains and losses for which APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012] prohibits extraordinary item classification. That Opinion sharply restricted-for good reasons-the types of gains and losses that may be identified as extraordinary items and reported on a net-of-tax basis, and Mr. Kirk can see no inherent characteristic of debt extinguishments that justifies overriding the criteria in APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012]. He believes that disclosures, like those required by paragraph 20 of APB Opinion No. 26 [section 5362.20] and paragraph 26 of APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012.26], are sufficient to prevent a financial statement user from being misled. In his view, accounting standards cannot satisfy everyone's perception of economic reality, but they should at least be logically consistent in their result. Mr. Kirk believes that this Statement fails in that regard and may well encourage piecemeal erosion of APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012].

Members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board:

Marshall S. Armstrong, Chairman Oscar S. Gellein Donald J. Kirk Arthur L. Litke Robert E. Mays Walter Schuetze Robert T. Sprouse

APPENDIX A

SUMMARY OF CONSIDERATION OF COMMENTS ON EXPOSURE DRAFT

.13 In response to the request for comments on the Exposure Draft issued January 31, 1975, the FASB received and considered 120 letters in its deliberations on this Statement. Certain of the comments and the FASB's consideration of them are summarized in paragraphs .14-.17.

.14 For a variety of reasons, many respondents recommended that the FASB not adopt the Exposure Draft as a final Statement. Some respondents recommended that *APB Opinion No.* 26 [section 5362] and related issues be reconsidered. Others recommended that the criteria for determining extraordinary items as set forth in *APB Opinion No. 30* [section 2012] be reconsidered. The Board concluded not to address these issues for the reasons stated in paragraph .04.

.15 Some respondents suggested that the proposals in the Exposure Draft, if adopted, would result in erosion of the criteria in APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012] for determining extraordinarv items. However, this Statement is neither an amendment nor an interpretation of the criteria for classifying and reporting an event or transaction as an extraordinary item as set forth in paragraph 20 of that Opinion [section 2012.20]. Rather, the Board is proscribing the application of those criteria to certain extinguishments of debt in the same way that the application of those criteria has been proscribed with respect to the realization of tax benefits from an operating loss carryforward and to certain profits or losses resulting from the disposal of a significant part of the assets or a separable segment acquired in a business combination accounted for as a pooling of interests.3 The Board recognizes that the application of the criteria in APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012] to extinguishments of debt would seldom, if ever, require that resulting gains and losses be classified as extraordinary items. In issuing this Statement requiring that a gain or loss from certain debt extinguishments be classified as an extraordinary item in the income statement, the Board is neither modifying the criteria set forth in that Opinion nor intending to start a piecemeal revision of those criteria. Although as a result of this Statement questions may be raised regarding the application of the criteria for determining extraordinary items pursuant to APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012], the Board has concluded that, on balance, this Statement represents a practical and reasonable solu-

^{*} See paragraph 7 of APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012.07].

tion to the question regarding income statement classification of gains or losses from extinguishment of debt until such time as the broader issues involved can be addressed.

.16 Many respondents argued that gains and losses from extinguishment of debt pursuant to sinking-fund requirements should not be required to be classified as extraordinary items. The Board agrees primarily because acquisitions for sinking-fund purposes are made to meet continuing contractual requirements assumed in connection with the incurrence of the debt.

.17 In addition to the fact that many respondents recommended that the Exposure Draft not be issued as a final Statement, some respondents objected to the proposal that the Statement be applied retroactively. On further consideration of all the circumstances, the Board concluded that application of the Statement should be required only on a prospective basis although retroactive application is encouraged.

 \longrightarrow The next page is 8051. \leftarrow

Reporting Changes in Financial Position

[Source: APB Opinion No. 19, as amended.]

Effective for fiscal periods ending after September 30, 1971 unless otherwise indicated

In view of the broadened concept of the Funds Statement adopted in this section, the Board has recommended that the title of the statement be changed to "Statement of Changes in Financial Position."

INTRODUCTION

.01 In 1963 the Accounting Principles Board issued Opinion No. 3, The Statement of Source and Application of Funds. Support of that Opinion by the principal stock exchanges and its acceptance by the business community have resulted in a significant increase in the number of companies that present a statement of sources and uses of funds (funds statement) in annual financial reports to shareholders. Several regulatory agencies have acted recently to require funds statements in certain reports filed with them.

.02 APB Opinion No. 3 encouraged but did not require presentation of a funds statement. In view of the present widespread recognition of the usefulness of information on sources and uses of funds, the Board has considered whether presentation of such a statement should be required to complement the income statement and the balance sheet. APB Opinion No. 3 also offered considerable latitude as to form and content of funds statements, and practice has varied widely. The Board has therefore also considered establishing guides for presenting such statements.

.03 This section sets forth the Board's conclusions.

DISCUSSION

.04 The objectives of a funds statement are (1) to summarize the financing and investing activities of the entity, including the extent to which the enterprise has generated funds from operations during the period, and (2)

to complete the disclosure of changes in financial position during the period. The information shown in a funds statement is useful to a variety of users of financial statements in making economic decisions regarding the enterprise.

.05 The funds statement is related to both the income statement and the balance sheet and provides information that can be obtained only partially, or at most in piecemeal form, by interpreting them. An income statement together with a statement of retained earnings reports results of operations but does not show other changes in financial position. Comparative balance sheets can significantly augment that information, but the objectives of the funds statement require that all such information be selected, classified, and summarized in meaningful form. The funds statement cannot supplant either the income statement or the balance sheet but is intended to provide information that the other statements either do not provide or provide only indirectly about the flow of funds and changes in financial position during the period.

.06 The concept of funds in funds statements has varied somewhat in practice, with resulting variations in the nature of the statements. For example, funds is sometimes interpreted to mean *cash* or its equivalent, and the resulting funds statement is a summary of cash provided and used. Another interpretation of funds is that of working capital, i. e., current assets less current liabilities, and the resulting funds statement is a summary of working capital provided and used.¹ However, a funds statement based on either the cash or the working capital concept of funds sometimes excludes certain financing and investing activities because they do not directly affect cash or working capital during the period. For example, issuing equity securities to acquire a building is both a financing and investing transaction but does not affect either cash or working capital. To meet all of its objectives, a funds statement should disclose separately the financing and investing aspects of all significant transactions that affect financial

¹ Examples of different uses of the term *funds* are found in "Cash Flow" Analysis and the Funds Statement, by Perry Mason, Accounting Research Study No. 2, published by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants in November 1961, pp. 51-56. This study contains numerous examples of other aspects of these statements. (Accounting research studies are not pronouncements of the Board or of the Institute but are published for the purpose of stimulating discussion on important accounting issues.)

position during a period. These transactions include acquisition or disposal of property in exchange for debt or equity securities and conversion of long-term debt or preferred stock to common stock.

OPINION

Applicability

.07 The Board concludes that information concerning the financing and investing activities of a business enterprise and the changes in its financial position for a period is essential for financial statement users, particularly owners and creditors, in making economic decisions. When financial statements purporting to present both financial position (balance sheet) and results of operations (statement of income and retained earnings) are issued, a statement summarizing changes in financial position should also be presented as a basic financial statement for each period for which an income statement is presented.² These conclusions apply to all profit-oriented business entities, whether or not the reporting entity normally classifies its assets and liabilities as current and noncurrent.

Concept

.08 The Board also concludes that the statement summarizing changes in financial position should be based on a broad concept embracing all changes in financial position and that the title of the statement should reflect this broad concept. The Board therefore recommends that the title be Statement of Changes in Financial Position (referred to below as "the Statement"). The Statement of each reporting entity should disclose all important aspects of its financing and investing activities regardless of whether cash or other elements of working capital are directly affected. For example, acquisitions of property by issuance of securities or in exchange for other property, and conversions of longterm debt or preferred stock to common stock, should be appropriately reflected in the Statement.

Format

.09 The Board recognizes the need for flexibility in form, content, and terminology of the Statement to meet

³ The Board recognizes that a statement of changes in financial position will be omitted in some circumstances; for example, from financial statements restricted for internal use only (see AU section 516.05-.06) and financial statements prepared for special purposes (see AU section 620, volume 1, AICPA PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS).

its objectives in differing circumstances. For example, a working capital format is not relevant to an entity that does not distinguish between current and noncurrent assets and liabilities. Each entity should adopt the presentation that is most informative in its circumstances. The Board believes, however, that the guides set forth in the paragraphs that follow should be applied in preparing and presenting the Statement.

.10 The ability of an enterprise to provide working capital or cash from operations is an important factor in considering its financing and investing activities. Accordingly, the Statement should prominently disclose working capital or cash provided from or used in operations for the period, and the Board believes that the disclosure is most informative if the effects of extraordinary items (see section 2012, Reporting the Results of Operations) are reported separately from the effects of normal items. The Statement for the period should begin with income or loss before extraordinary items, if any, and add back (or deduct) items recognized in determining that income or loss which did not use (or provide) working capital or cash during the period. Items added and deducted in accordance with this procedure are not sources or uses of working capital or cash. and the related captions should make this clear, e.g., "Add -Expenses not requiring outlay of working capital in the current period." An acceptable alternative procedure, which gives the same result, is to begin with total revenue that provided working capital or cash during the period and deduct operating costs and expenses that required the outlay of working capital or cash during the period. In either case the resulting amount of working capital or cash should be appropriately described, e.g., "Working capital provided from [used in] operations for the period, exclusive of extraordinary items." This total should be immediately followed by working capital or cash provided or used by income or loss from extraordinary items, if any; extraordinary income or loss should be similarly adjusted for items recognized that did not provide or use working capital or cash during the period. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.)

AC § 2021.10

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.11 Provided that these guides are met, the Statement may take whatever form gives the most useful portrayal of the financing and investing activities and the changes in financial position of the reporting entity. The Statement may be in balanced form or in a form expressing the changes in financial position in terms of cash, of cash and temporary investments combined, of all quick assets, or of working capital. The Statement should disclose all important changes in financial position for the period covered; accordingly, types of transactions reported may vary substantially in relative importance from one period to another.³

Content

.12 Whether or not working capital flow is presented in the Statement, net changes in each element of working capital (as customarily defined) should be appropriately disclosed for at least the current period, either in the Statement or in a related tabulation.

- a. If the format shows the flow of cash, changes in other elements of working capital (e. g., in receivables, inventories, and payables) constitute sources and uses of cash and should accordingly be disclosed in appropriate detail in the body of the Statement.
- b. If the format shows the flow of working capital and two-year comparative balance sheets are presented, the changes in each element of working capital for the current period (but not for earlier periods) can be computed by the user of the statements. Nevertheless, the Board believes that the objectives of the Statement usually require that the net change in working capital be analyzed in appropriate detail in a tabulation accompanying the Statement, and accordingly this detail should be furnished.

.13 The effects of other financing and investing activities should be individually disclosed. For example, both outlays for acquisitions and proceeds from retirements of property should be reported; both long-term borrowings

³As stated in section 2051.23, *Consolidated Financial Statements*, in some cases parent-company financial statements (including, in conformity with this section, a statement of changes in financial position) may be needed in addition to consolidated financial statements for adequate disclosure.

⁴However, normal trade-ins to replace equipment should ordinarily be reported on a net basis.

and repayments of long-term debt should be reported; and outlays for purchases' of consolidated subsidiaries should be summarized in the consolidated Statement by major categories of assets obtained and obligations assumed. Related items should be shown in proximity when the result contributes to the clarity of the Statement. Individual immaterial items may be combined.

.14 In addition to working capital or cash provided from operations (see paragraph .10) and changes in elements of working capital (see paragraph .12), the Statement should clearly disclose:

- a. Outlays for purchase of long-term assets (identifying separately such items as investments, property, and intangibles).
- b. Proceeds from sale (or working capital or cash provided by sale) of long-term assets (identifying separately such items as investments, property, and intangibles) not in the normal course of business, less related expenses involving the current use of working capital or cash.
- c. Conversion of long-term debt or preferred stock to common stock.
- d. Issuance, assumption, redemption, and repayment of long-term debt.
- e. Issuance, redemption, or purchase of capital stock for cash or for assets other than cash.
- f. Dividends in cash or in kind or other distributions to shareholders (except stock dividends and stock split-ups as defined in section 5561—Stock Dividends and Stock Split-Ups).

Terminology

.15 The amount of working capital or cash provided from operations is not a substitute for or an improvement upon properly determined net income as a measure of results of operations and the consequent effect on financial position. Terms referring to "cash" should not be used

⁶When a business combination is accounted for as a pooling of interests, financial statements (including, in conformity with this section, statements of changes in financial position) of the separate companies should be restated on a combined basis for all periods presented. See section 1091.57, *Business Combinations*.

to describe amounts provided from operations unless all non-cash items have been appropriately adjusted. The adjusted amount should be described accurately, in conformity with the nature of the adjustments, e. g., "Cash provided from operations for the period" or "Working capital provided from operations for the period" as appropriate. The Board strongly recommends that isolated statistics of working capital or cash provided from operations, especially per-share amounts, not be presented in annual reports to shareholders. If any per-share data relating to flow of working capital or cash are presented, they should as a minimum include amounts for inflow from operations, inflow from other sources, and total outflow, and each per-share amount should be clearly identified with the corresponding total amount shown in the Statement.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.16 This section shall be effective for fiscal periods ending after September 30, 1971. However, the Board encourages earlier application of the provisions of this section.

 \implies The next page is 8071. \leftarrow

AC Section 2031

Current Assets and Current Liabilities [Source: ARB 43, Chap. 3A, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1953

.01 The working capital of a borrower has always been of prime interest to grantors of credit; and bond indentures, credit agreements, and preferred stock agreements commonly contain provisions restricting corporate actions which would effect a reduction or impairment of working capital. Many such contracts forego precise or uniform definitions and merely provide that current assets and current liabilities shall be determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Considerable variation and inconsistency exist, however, with respect to their classification and display in financial statements. In this section the committee discusses the nature of current assets and current liabilities with a view toward a more useful presentation thereof in financial statements.

.02 The committee believes that, in the past, definitions of current assets have tended to be overly concerned with whether the assets may be immediately realizable. The discussion which follows takes cognizance of the tendency for creditors to rely more upon the ability of debtors to pay their obligations out of the proceeds of current operations and less upon the debtor's ability to pay in case of liquidation. It should be emphasized that financial statements of a going concern are prepared on the assumption that the company will continue in business. Accordingly, the views expressed in this section represent a departure from any narrow definition or strict one year interpretation of either current assets or current liabilities; the objective is to relate the criteria developed to the operating cycle of a business.

.03 Financial position, as it is reflected by the records and accounts from which the statement is prepared is revealed in a presentation of the assets and liabilities of the enterprise. In the statements of manufacturing, trading, and service enterprises these assets and liabilities are generally classified and segregated; if they are classified logically, summations or totals of the current or circulating or working assets, hereinafter referred to as current assets. and of obligations currently payable, designated as current liabilities, will permit the ready determination of working capital. Working capital, sometimes called net working capital, is represented by the excess of current assets over current liabilities and identifies the relatively liquid portion of total enterprise capital which constitutes a margin or buffer for meeting obligations within the ordinary operating cycle of the business. If the conventions of accounting relative to the identification and presentation of current assets and current liabilities are made logical and consistent, the amounts, bases of valuations, and composition of such assets and liabilities and their relation to the total assets or capital employed will provide valuable data for credit and management purposes and afford a sound basis for comparisons from year to year. It is recognized that there may be exceptions, in special cases, to certain of the inclusions and exclusions as set forth in this section. When such exceptions occur they should be accorded the treatment merited in the particular circumstances under the general principles outlined herein.

.04 For accounting purposes, the term *current assets* is used to designate cash and other assets or resources commonly identified as those which are reasonably expected to be realized in cash or sold or consumed during the normal operating cycle of the business. Thus the term comprehends in general such resources as (a) cash available for current operations and items which are the equivalent of cash; (b) inventories of merchandise, raw materials, goods in process, finished goods, operating supplies, and ordinary maintenance material and parts; (c) trade accounts, notes, and acceptances receivable; (d) receivables from officers, employees, affiliates, and others, if collectible in the ordinary course of business within a year; (e) instalment or deferred accounts and notes receivable if they conform gen-

AC § 2031.03

erally to normal trade practices and terms within the business; (f) marketable securities representing the investment of cash available for current operations; and (g) prepaid expenses such as insurance, interest, rents, taxes, unused royalties, current paid advertising service not yet received, and operating supplies. Prepaid expenses are not current assets in the sense that they will be converted into cash but in the sense that, if not paid in advance, they would require the use of current assets during the operating cycle.

.05 The ordinary operations of a business involve a circulation of capital within the current asset group. Cash is expended for materials, finished parts, operating supplies, labor, and other factory services, and such expenditures are accumulated as inventory cost. Inventory costs, upon sale of the products to which such costs attach, are converted into trade receivables and ultimately into cash again. The average time intervening between the acquisition of materials or services entering this process and the final cash realization constitutes an operating cycle.

> The next page is 8073-3.

A one-year time period is to be used as a basis for the segregation of current assets in cases where there are several operating cycles occurring within a year. However, where the period of the operating cycle is more than twelve months, as in, for instance, the tobacco, distillery, and lumber businesses, the longer period should be used. Where a particular business has no clearly defined operating cycle, the one-year rule should govern.

.06 This concept of the nature of current assets contemplates the exclusion from that classification of such resources as: (a) cash and claims to cash which are restricted as to withdrawal or use for other than current operations, are designated for expenditure in the acquisition or construction of noncurrent assets, or are segregated 1 for the liquidation of long-term debts; (b) investments in securities (whether marketable or not) or advances which have been made for the purposes of control, affiliation, or other continuing business advantage; (c) receivables arising from unusual transactions (such as the sale of capital assets, or loans or advances to affiliates, officers, or employees) which are not expected to be collected within twelve months; (d) cash surrender value of life insurance policies; (e) land and other natural resources; (f) depreciable assets; and (g) long-term prepayments which are fairly chargeable to the operations of several years, or deferred charges such as unamortized debt issue costs, bonus payments under a long-term lease, and costs of rearrangement of factory layout or removal to a new location. [As amended, effective October 1, 1971, by APB Opinion No. 21 (See section 4111.); as modified, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 1975, pursuant to FASB Statement No. 2. (See section 4211.)]

.07 The term *current liabilities* is used principally to designate obligations whose liquidation is reasonably expected to require the use of existing resources properly classifiable as current assets, or the creation of other current liabilities. As a balance-sheet category, the classification is intended to include obligations for items which

¹Even though not actually set aside in special accounts, funds that are clearly to be used in the near future for the liquidation of long-term debts, payments to sinking funds, or for similar purposes should also, under this concept, be excluded from current assets. However, where such funds are considered to offset maturing debt which has properly been set up as a current liability, they may be included within the current asset classification.

have entered into the operating cycle, such as pavables incurred in the acquisition of materials and supplies to be used in the production of goods or in providing services to be offered for sale; collections received in advance of the delivery of goods or performance of services;² and debts which arise from operations directly related to the operating cycle, such as accruals for wages, salaries, commissions, rentals, royalties, and income and other taxes. Other liabilities whose regular and ordinary liquidation is expected to occur within a relatively short period of time. usually twelve months, are also intended for inclusion, such as short-term debts arising from the acquisition of capital assets, serial maturities of long-term obligations, amounts required to be expended within one year under sinking fund provisions, and agency obligations arising from the collection or acceptance of cash or other assets for the account of third persons.³

² Examples of such current liabilities are obligations resulting from advance collections on ticket sales, which will normally be liquidated in the ordinary course of business by the delivery of services. On the contrary, obligations representing long-term deferments of the delivery of goods or services would not be shown as current liabilities. Examples of the latter are the issuance of a long-term warranty or the advance receipt by a lessor of rental for the final period of a ten-year lease as a condition to execution of the lease agreement.

³Loans accompanied by pledge of life insurance policies would be classified as current liabilities when, by their terms or by intent, they are to be repaid within twelve months. The pledging of life insurance policies does not affect the classification of the asset any more than does the pledging of receivables, inventories, real estate, or other assets as collateral for a short-term loan. However, when a loan on a life insurance policy is

AC § 2031.07

Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.08 This concept of current liabilities would include estimated or accrued amounts which are expected to be required to cover expenditures within the year for known obligations (a) the amount of which can be determined only approximately (as in the case of provisions for accruing bonus payments) or (b) where the specific person or persons to whom payment will be made cannot as yet be designated (as in the case of estimated costs to be incurred in connection with guaranteed servicing or repair of products already sold). The current liability classification, however, is not intended to include debts to be liquidated by funds which have been accumulated in accounts of a type not properly classified as current assets, or long-term obligations incurred to provide increased amounts of working capital for long periods. When the amounts of the periodic payments of an obligation are, by contract, measured by current transactions, as for example by rents or revenues received in the case of equipment trust certificates or by the depletion of natural resources in the case of property obligations, the portion of the total obligation to be included as a current liability should be that representing the amount accrued at the balance-sheet date. As amended, effective December 31, 1975, by FASB Statement No. 6.] (See section 2033.)

.09 The amounts at which various current assets are carried do not always represent their present realizable cash values. Accounts receivable net of allowances for uncollectible accounts. and for unearned discounts where unearned discounts are considered, are effectively stated at the amount of cash estimated as realizable. However, practice varies with respect to the carrying basis for current assets such as marketable securities and inventories. In the case of marketable securities where market value is less than cost by a substantial amount and it is evident that the decline in market value is not due to a mere temporary condition, the amount to be included as a current asset should not exceed the market value. The basis for carrying inventories is stated in section \$121.15. Tt is important that the amounts at which current assets are stated be supplemented by information which reveals, for

obtained from the insurance company with the intent that it will not be paid but will be liquidated by deduction from the proceeds of the policy upon maturity or cancellation, the obligation should be excluded from current liabilities.

temporary investments, their market value at the balancesheet date, and for the various classifications of inventory items, the basis upon which their amounts are stated and, where practicable, indication of the method of determining the cost—e.g., average cost, first-in first-out, last-in firstout, etc.

.10 Unearned discounts (other than cash or quantity discounts and the like), finance charges and interest included in the face amount of receivables should be shown as a deduction from the related receivables. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1965, by APB Opinion No. 6.]

Offsetting Securities Against Taxes Payable

[Source: APB Opinion No. 10, Par. 7.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1966

.01 It is a general principle of accounting that the offsetting of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet is improper except where a right of setoff exists. Accordingly, the offset of cash or other assets against the tax liability or other amounts owing to governmental bodies is not acceptable except in the circumstances described in paragraph .03 below.

.02 Most securities now issued by governments are not by their terms designed specifically for the payment of taxes and, accordingly, should not be deducted from taxes payable on the balance sheet.

.03 The only exception to this general principle occurs when it is clear that a purchase of securities (acceptable for the payment of taxes) is in substance an advance payment of taxes that will be payable in the relatively near future, so that in the special circumstances the purchase is tantamount to the prepayment of taxes. This occurs at times, for example, as an accommodation to a local government and in some instances when governments issue securities that are specifically designated as being acceptable for the payment of taxes of those governments.

>>> The next page is 8081. ← ₩

Classification of Short-Term Obligations Expected to Be Refinanced an amendment of Section 2031

[Source: FASB Statement No. 6.]

May 1975

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION

.01 Some short-term obligations are expected to be refinanced on a long-term basis and, therefore, are not expected to require the use of enterprise working capital during the ensuing fiscal year. Examples include commercial paper, construction loans, and the currently maturing portion of long-term debt. Those obligations have been presented in balance sheets in a number of ways, including the following: (a) classification as current liabilities, (b) classification as long-term liabilities, and (c) presentation as a class of liabilities distinct from both current liabilities and long-term liabilities.

.02 For purposes of this Statement, short-term obligations are those that are scheduled to mature within one year after the date of an enterprise's balance sheet or, for those enterprises that use the operating cycle concept of working capital described in paragraphs 5 and 7 of Chapter 3A, "Current Assets and Current Liabilities," of Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 43 [sections 2031.05 and 2031.07], within an enterprise's operating cycle that is longer than one year. Long-term obligations are those scheduled to mature beyond one year (or the operating cycle, if applicable) from the date of an enterprise's balance sheet. Refinancing a short-term obligation on a long-term basis means either replacing it with a longterm obligation or with equity securities or renewing, extending, or replacing it with short-term obligations for an uninterrupted period extending beyond one year (or the operating cycle, if applicable) from the date of an enterprise's balance sheet. Accordingly, despite the fact that the short-term obligation is scheduled to mature during the ensuing fiscal year (or the operating cycle, if applicable), it will not require the use of working capital during that period.

.03 Exclusion of some short-term obligations from the current liability classification has been supported by paragraph 8 of Chapter 3A of ARB No. 43 [section 2031.08], which states that the current liability classification "is not intended to include a contractual obligation falling due at an early date which is expected to be refunded." In assessing whether a short-term obligation is "expected to be refunded," enterprise *intent* to refinance on a long-term basis and its *prior ability* to refinance its short-term obligations have sometimes been considered sufficient for exclusion of the short-term obligation from current liabilities. In other cases, *future ability* to refinance as demonstrated by the existence of an agreement for long-term financing has been viewed as necessary.

.04 SEC Accounting Series Release (ASR) No. 148, issued November 13, 1973, requires that commercial paper and other short-term debt be classified as a current liability unless (a) the borrower has a noncancelable binding agreement from a creditor to refinance the paper or other short-term debt and (b) the refinancing would extend the maturity date beyond one year (or operating cycle, if longer) and (c) the borrower's intention is to exercise this right.

.05 Because of the diverse practices referred to in paragraphs .01 and .03 of this Statement and questions brought to the Board's attention concerning the differences between the criteria in paragraph 8 of Chapter 3A of ARB No. 43 [section 2031.08] and those in ASR No. 148, the Board concluded that it should examine the criteria for classification of short-term obligations that are expected to be refinanced on a long-term basis.

.06 The Board concluded that on the basis of existing data it could make an informed decision on the classification of short-term obligations expected to be refinanced without a public hearing. An Exposure Draft of a proposed Statement on "Classification of Short-Term Obligations Expected to Be Refinanced" was issued on November 11, 1974. Ninety-two letters were received in response to the request for comments. On January 9, 1975, the Board announced that it would not issue a final statement effective for fiscal periods ending December 31, 1974, as had been proposed in the Exposure Draft, to allow additional time for consideration of points raised in the comment letters. Appendix A describes the principal changes from the Exposure Draft and also sets forth the basis for the Board's conclusions, including alternatives considered and reasons for accepting some and rejecting others. Examples of application of this Statement are presented in Appendix B.

APPLICABILITY

.07 The balance sheets of most enterprises show separate classifications of current assets and current liabilities (commonly referred to as classified balance sheets) permitting ready determination of working capital. Enterprises in several specialized industries (including broker-dealers and finance, real estate, and stock life insurance companies) for which the current/noncurrent distinction is deemed in practice to have little or no relevance prepare unclassified balance sheets. The standards established by this Statement apply only when an enterprise is preparing a classified balance sheet for financial accounting and reporting purposes.

STANDARDS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING

Classification

.08 Short-term obligations arising from transactions in the normal course of business that are due in customary terms shall be classified as current liabilities. Those obligations (as described in the second sentence of paragraph 7 of Chapter 3A of ARB No. 43 [section 2031.07]) are "obligations for items which have entered into the operating cycle, such as payables incurred in the acquisition of materials and supplies to be used in the production of goods or in providing services to be offered for sale; collections received in advance of the delivery of goods or performance of services; . . . and debts which arise from operations directly related to the operating cycle, such as accruals for wages, salaries, commissions, rentals, royalties, and income and other taxes."

.09 A short-term obligation other than one classified as a current liability in accordance with paragraph .08 shall be

8084

excluded from current liabilities only if the conditions in paragraphs .10 and .11 are $met.^1$

Intent to Refinance

.10 The enterprise intends to refinance the obligation on a long-term basis (see paragraph .02).

Ability to Consummate the Refinancing

.11 The enterprise's intent to refinance the short-term obligation on a long-term basis is supported by an ability to consummate the refinancing demonstrated in either of the following ways:

- a) Post-balance-sheet-date issuance of a long-term obligation or equity securities. After the date of an enterprise's balance sheet but before that balance sheet is issued, a long-term obligation or equity securities² have been issued for the purpose of refinancing the short-term obligation on a long-term basis; or
- b) Financing agreement. Before the balance sheet is issued, the enterprise has entered into a financing agreement that clearly permits the enterprise to refinance the short-term obligation on a long-term basis on terms that are readily determinable, and all of the following conditions are met:
 - (i) The agreement does not expire within one year (or operating cycle—see paragraph .02) from the date of the enterprise's balance sheet and during that period the agreement is not cancelable by the lender or the prospective lender or investor (and

² If equity securities have been issued, the short-term obligation, although excluded from current liabilities, shall not be included in owners' equity.

AC § 2033.10

¹ Paragraph 8 of Chapter 3A, *ARB No.* 43 [section 2031.08], describes a circumstance, unaffected by this Statement, in which obligations maturing within one year would be excluded from current liabilities as follows: "The current liability classification, however, is not intended to include . . . debts to be liquidated by funds which have been accumulated in accounts of a type not properly classified as current assets. . . ." Footnote 1 to paragraph 6(a) of Chapter 3A, *ARB No.* 43 [section 2031.06 (a)], describes another circumstance, also unaffected by this Statement Under that paragraph, "funds that are clearly to be used in the near future for liquidation of long-term debts, payments to sinking funds, or for similar purposes should . . . be excluded from current assets. However, where such funds are considered to offset maturing debt which has properly been set up as a current liability, they may be included within the current asset classification." Accordingly, funds obtained on a long-term basis prior to the balance sheet date would be excluded from current liabilities.

obligations incurred under the agreement are not callable during that period) except for violation of a provision³ with which compliance is objectively determinable or measurable.⁴

- (ii) No violation of any provision in the financing agreement exists at the balance-sheet date and no available information indicates that a violation has occurred thereafter but prior to the issuance of the balance sheet, or, if one exists at the balance-sheet date or has occurred thereafter, a waiver has been obtained.
- (iii) The lender or the prospective lender or investor with which the enterprise has entered into the financing agreement is expected to be financially capable of honoring the agreement.

.12 If an enterprise's ability to consummate an intended refinancing of a short-term obligation on a long-term basis is demonstrated by post-balance-sheet-date issuance of a long-term obligation or equity securities (paragraph .11(a)), the amount of the short-term obligation to be excluded from current liabilities shall not exceed the proceeds of the new long-term obligation or the equity securities issued. If ability to refinance is demonstrated by the existence of a financing agreement (paragraph .11(b)), the amount of the short-term obligation to be excluded from current liabilities shall be reduced to the amount available for refinancing under the agreement when the amount available is less than the amount of the short-term obligation. The amount to be excluded shall be reduced further if information (such as restrictions in other agreements or restrictions as to transferability of funds) indicates that funds obtainable under the agreement will not be available to liquidate the short-term obligation. Further, if amounts that could be obtained under the financing agreement fluctuate (for example, in relation to the enterprise's needs, in proportion to the value of collateral, or in accordance with other terms of the agreement), the amount to be excluded from current liabilities shall be

³ For purposes of this Statement, violation of a provision means failure to meet a condition set forth in the agreement or breach or violation of a provision such as a restrictive covenant, representation, or warranty, whether or not a grace period is allowed or the lender is required to give notice.

⁴ Financing agreements cancelable for violation of a provision that can be evaluated differently by the parties to the agreement (such as "a material adverse change" or "failure to maintain satisfactory operations") do not comply with this condition.

limited to a reasonable estimate of the minimum amount expected to be available at any date from the scheduled maturity of the short-term obligation to the end of the fiscal year (or operating cycle—see paragraph .02). If no reasonable estimate can be made, the entire outstanding short-term obligation shall be included in current liabilities.

.13 The enterprise may intend to seek an alternative source of financing rather than to exercise its rights under the existing agreement when the short-term obligation becomes due. The enterprise must intend to exercise its rights under the existing agreement, however, if that other source does not become available.⁵

.14 Replacement of a short-term obligation with another short-term obligation after the date of the balance sheet but before the balance sheet is issued is not, by itself, sufficient to demonstrate an enterprise's ability to refinance the short-term obligation on a long-term basis. If, for example, the replacement is made under the terms of a revolving credit agreement that provides for renewal or extension of the short-term obligation for an uninterrupted period extending beyond one year (or operating cycle-see paragraph .02) from the date of the balance sheet, the revolving credit agreement must meet the conditions in paragraph .11(b) to justify excluding the short-term obligation from current liabilities. Similarly, if the replacement is a roll-over of commercial paper accompanied by a "stand-by" credit agreement, the stand-by agreement must meet the conditions in paragraph .11(b) to justify excluding the short-term obligation from current liabilities.

Disclosure

.15 A total of current liabilities shall be presented in classified balance sheets. If a short-term obligation is excluded from current liabilities pursuant to the provisions of this Statement, the notes to the financial statements shall include a general description of the financing agreement and the terms of any new obligation incurred or expected to be incurred or equity securities issued or expected to be issued as a result of a refinancing.

⁵ The intent to exercise may not be present if the terms of the agreement contain conditions or permit the prospective lender or investor to establish conditions, such as interest rates or collateral requirements, that are unreasonable to the enterprise.

Amendments to Existing Pronouncement

.16 The Board's conclusions require deletion of the following words from the second sentence of paragraph 8 of Chapter 3A, ARB No. 43 [section 2031.08]: a contractual obligation falling due at an early date which is expected to be refunded, or. Footnote 4 and the reference to it in paragraph 8 of Chapter 3A [section 2031.08] are also deleted.

Effective Date and Transition

.17 The provisions of this Statement shall be effective December 31, 1975 and shall apply to balance sheets dated on or after that date and to related statements of changes in financial position. Reclassification in financial statements for periods ending prior to December 31, 1975 is permitted but not required.

The provisions of this Statement need not be applied to immaterial items.

This Statement was adopted by the affirmative votes of six members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board. Mr. Mays dissented.

Mr. Mays dissents because this Statement permits the exclusion of short-term obligations from current liabilities under circumstances in which, in his view, such exclusion is unwarranted. He believes that the criteria for exclusion set forth in the Statement tend to blur rather than to sharpen the accounting concept of working capital.

He is of the opinion that more restrictive criteria would result in a more meaningful portrayal of current and long-term cash requirements. He believes that information concerning management's ability and intent to refinance certain of its obligations can be communicated in financial statements by footnote disclosure or by disclosures within the current liabilities section of the balance sheet. However, those considerations, while important, should not be permitted to obscure the nature of the obligations themselves.

In Mr. Mays's opinion, classification of an obligation as a current liability or as a long-term liability should be based on the maturity date of the obligation, and only in exceptional circumstances should the existence of a financing agreement affect that classification. Those circumstances would be (1) the agreement is noncancelable by the lender (whereas the Statement provides for reclassification even though the lender may cancel if a provision of the agreement is violated); and (2) the agreement is entered into for the stated purpose of refinancing the particular short-term obligation (whereas the Statement requires merely that the agreement not prohibit such refinancing); and (3) the enterprise fully intends to refinance the obligation on a long-term basis under the agreement (whereas the Statement provides for reclassification even if the enterprise intends to seek other sources of financing).

In Mr. Mays's view, since the Statement permits general lines of bank credit to be used to justify the exclusion of unrelated short-term debt from current liabilities, logic would suggest that any solvent corporation with sufficient unused borrowing capacity should be permitted to exclude from current liabilities any kind of short-term obligation that it intends to refinance on a long-term basis. While not in agreement with the criteria that the Statement establishes, given those criteria, he sees no logical basis for denying their application to any short-term obligation, including those payables for which reclassification is ruled out by paragraph .08 of the Statement.

Members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board:

Marshall S. Armstrong, *Chairman* Oscar S. Gellein Donald J. Kirk Arthur L. Litke Robert E. Mays Walter Schuetze Robert T. Sprouse

Appendix A

BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS

.18 This Appendix discusses factors deemed significant by members of the Board in reaching the conclusions in this Statement. Individual Board members gave greater weight to some factors than to others. The Appendix also sets forth suggestions made by those responding to the Exposure Draft and reasons for accepting some and rejecting others.

SCOPE OF THIS STATEMENT

.19 Some respondents indicated that the Exposure Draft appeared to require all enterprises to prepare a classified balance sheet regardless of normal industry practice or other justification for adopting a balance sheet format that does not identify current assets and current liabilities. The question of whether it is appropriate for an enterprise to present an unclassified balance sheet is beyond the scope of this Statement. Accordingly, paragraph .07 indicates that the standards established by this Statement apply only if an enterprise is preparing a classified balance sheet.

.20 The Board also concluded that it should not, as part of this project, re-examine the accounting concept of working capital described in detail in Chapter 3A of ARB No. 43. [section 2031]. Paragraph 7 of Chapter 3A [section 2031.07] defines current liabilities as those whose liquidation "is reasonably expected to require the use of existing resources properly classified as current assets, or the creation of other, current liabilities." That paragraph goes on to say that the current liabilities classification "is intended to include obligations for items which have entered into the operating cycle . . , and debts which arise from operations directly related to the operating cycle. . . ." Accordingly, paragraph .08 of this Statement requires that short-term obligations arising from transactions in the normal course of business that are to be paid in customary terms shall be included in current liabilities. On the other hand, short-term obligations arising from the acquisition or construction of noncurrent assets would be excluded from current liabilities if the conditions in paragraphs .10 and .11 are met. Similarly, short-term obligations not directly related to the operating cycle - for example, a note given to a supplier to replace an account payable that originally arose in the normal course of

Classification of Short-Term Obligations

business and had been due in customary terms — would be excluded if the conditions in paragraphs .10 and .11 are met. This Statement does not specify disclosures relating to short-term obligations that are *included* in current liabilities, although the Statement does make explicit that a total of current liabilities shall be presented in classified balance sheets (see paragraph .15).

BALANCE SHEET CLASSIFICATION

.21 The alternative solutions considered by the Board with regard to the question of how to classify a short-term obligation that is expected to be refinanced on a long-term basis (see paragraph .02) ranged between:

- a) A strict maturity-date approach under which all obligations scheduled to mature within one year (or, in certain cases, within an enterprise's operating cycle) would be classified as current liabilities regardless of any intention to refinance on a long-term basis.
- b) An approach based *solely* on management's intention to seek refinancing on a long-term basis without requiring evidence of the enterprise's ability to do so.

.22 The Board also considered alternatives within that range. Those alternatives all require that the *intent* of the enterprise to refinance a short-term obligation on a long-term basis be demonstrated by an *ability* to consummate the refinancing, but they differ in terms of the conditions required to demonstrate that ability.

.23 The Board rejected a strict maturity-date approach because the scheduled maturity date of an obligation is not necessarily indicative of the point in time at which that obligation will require the use of the enterprise's funds. Inclusion of all short-term obligations within the current liability classification ignores the fact that enterprises, for sound economic reasons, often use commercial paper and other short-term debt instruments as means of long-term financing or that they often replace the currently maturing portion of long-term debt with other long-term debt. Borrowings under long-term revolving credit agreements and borrowings backed by long-term stand-by credit agreements are commonplace. A strict maturity-date approach would deny that these borrowings are sometimes, in substance, long-term financing. That approach would also result in a major change in the concept of current liabilities described in paragraph 7 of Chapter 3A of *ARB No.* 43 [section 2031.07] as "obligations whose liquidation is reasonably expected to require the use of existing resources properly classifiable as current assets, or the creation of other current liabilities."

.24 The Board also rejected classification based solely on an enterprise's intention to seek refinancing on a long-term basis. The Board concluded that intent, while essential, is insufficient to justify excluding a short-term obligation from current liabilities. The intent of an enterprise is an essential condition because without intent to refinance there is a presumption that liquidation of the short-term obligation would require the use of current assets or the creation of other current liabilities. The existence of a financing agreement, even one that requires that funds obtained thereunder be used to liquidate the short-term obligation, is irrelevant if the enterprise does not intend to refinance on a long-term basis. In the Board's judgment, however, intent alone does not provide sufficiently objective evidence to overcome the presumption that a short-term obligation will require the use of funds at its scheduled maturity date. The intent must be supported by a demonstrated ability to carry out that intent.

.25 The two conditions set forth in this Statement for exclusion of a short-term obligation from current liabilities — intent and ability — are essentially the same as the requirements proposed in the Exposure Draft. That draft had proposed that a short-term obligation be classified as a current liability unless all of the following conditions were met:

- a) The borrower has a noncancelable binding agreement to refinance the obligation from a source reasonably expected to be financially capable of honoring the agreement.
- b) The maturity date of the new obligation expected to be incurred by the borrower as a result of the refinancing under the agreement will be more than one year from the date of the financial statements.
- c) The borrower intends to exercise its rights under the agreement.

.26 Many respondents to the Exposure Draft indicated that the requirement of a "noncancelable binding agreement" was unrealistic because lenders generally do not make unqualified commitments. Financing agreements often include provisions that could restrict borrowing under the agreement. As indicated by the conditions in paragraphs .11(b)(i) and .11(b)(ii) of this Statement, the inclusion of a restrictive covenant, representation, warranty, or other provision in a financing agreement does not prevent a short-term obligation from being excluded from current liabilities provided that compliance with the provision can be objectively determined or measured and provided that there is no evidence of a violation for which a waiver has not been obtained. In the Board's view, inability to objectively determine or measure compliance, or the existence of a violation of a provision for which a waiver has not been obtained, raises a serious doubt about the enterprise's ability to consummate an intended refinancing to avoid the use of working capital and, consequently, requires classification of the short-term obligation as a current liability. The existence of a situation that permits the lender to cancel the agreement or otherwise to prevent the enterprise from exercising its rights thereunder after expiration of a grace period or after notice to the enterprise or both is also considered a violation of a provision that will, in the absence of a waiver, require classification of the short-term obligation as a current liability.

.27 The Board has concluded that exclusion of a short-term obligation from current liabilities should not be precluded as long as the financing agreement *clearly permits* the enterprise to replace the short-term obligation with a long-term obligation or with equity securities or to renew, extend, or replace the short-term obligation with another short-term obligation for an uninterrupted period extending beyond one year (or operating cycle). The Board considered and rejected the proposal that a short-term obligation should be excluded from current liabilities only if a financing agreement is specifically linked to the short-term obligation, either by specifically permitting or requiring that funds obtained thereunder be used to liquidate the short-term obligation. In the Board's judgment, that proposal places undue emphasis on the form of an agreement rather than on its substance. It is neither practicable nor realistic to trace specific funds to their ultimate use. The financial position of an enterprise that refinanced under a linked agreement will be has indistinguishable from the financial position of an enterprise that has entered into the same transactions under an agreement that is not linked but clearly permits refinancing the short-term obligation. Moreover, whether or not a financing agreement is specifically linked to a particular short-term obligation, the enterprise is not precluded from issuing another short-term obligation at approximately the same time as the old obligation is refinanced under the agreement. The potential effect of such a transaction can be avoided only if a strict maturity-date approach is adopted, but the Board rejected that alternative for the reasons stated in paragraph .23. The Board believes that the requirement in paragraph .10 that the enterprise intend to refinance on a long-term basis and thus not to use working capital to repay the maturing short-term obligation more closely comports with the spirit of this Statement and Chapter 3A of ARB No. 43 [section 2031] than would a requirement for specific linkage.

.28 Respondents to the Exposure Draft indicated that many enterprises enter into agreements that assure their ability to refinance short-term obligations although they might not intend to exercise their rights under the agreement if an alternative source of financing becomes available. One of the conditions in the Exposure Draft was that the enterprise intend to exercise its rights under the agreement (see paragraph .25(c)). A footnote in the Exposure Draft indicated that this condition would be met if the enterprise intended to exercise its rights under the agreement when the short-term obligations could not continue to be refinanced on a short-term basis. Respondents asked the Board to clarify the intent of the condition in the Exposure Draft and the related footnote. The Board believes that the justification for excluding a short-term obligation from current liabilities is not negated simply because an enterprise may intend to seek a more advantageous source of financing (including, perhaps, short-term financing) than that provided under the financing agreement in existence when the balance sheet is issued. However, the condition in paragraph .11(b)(i) requires that the agreement extend beyond one year (or operating cycle) from the date of the enterprise's balance sheet to demonstrate clearly the enterprise's ability to avoid using working capital to repay the short-term obligation. Moreover, paragraph .13 requires that the enterprise intend to exercise its rights under the agreement if another source of financing does not become available.

.29 A number of respondents to the Exposure Draft asked whether events occurring after the date of the balance sheet but before the balance sheet is issued should be considered in assessing an enterprise's ability to consummate the refinancing of a short-term obligation on a long-term basis. In particular, the two types of post-balance-sheet-date events cited were (a) actual issuance of a long-term obligation or equity securities for the purpose of refinancing the short-term obligation on a long-term basis and (b) entering into a financing agreement after the balance-sheet date but before the balance sheet is issued. In the Board's judgment, both of those types of post-balance-sheet-date events should be considered in determining liability classification and in assessing an enterprise's ability to consummate an intended refinancing, and they are explicitly provided for in paragraphs .11(a) and .11(b).

.30 Several respondents to the Exposure Draft asked whether a short-term obligation could be excluded from current liabilities if it is intended to be replaced (or, in fact, has been replaced after the balance sheet date) by issuing equity securities. A short-term obligation will not require the use of working capital regardless of whether refinancing on a long-term basis is accomplished by issuing debt securities or equity securities. Accordingly, refinancing on a long-term basis is defined in paragraph .02 to include issuance of equity securities, and a short-term obligation intended to be refinanced in that manner would be excluded from current liabilities if the conditions in paragraphs .10 and .11 are met. Although it is appropriate to exclude the short-term obligation from current liabilities when those conditions are met, the Board concluded that it is not appropriate to include the short-term obligation in owners' equity (see footnote 2 to paragraph .11(a)). The intent of an enterprise to refinance a short-term obligation on a long-term basis and its ability to do so relate to the question of whether the obligation is expected to require the use of working capital, not whether it is a liability. The obligation is a liability and not owners' equity at the date of the balance sheet.

EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION

.31 Many respondents opposed the proposal in the Exposure Draft that balance sheets for dates prior to the effective date of the Statement be restated to conform to the provisions of the Statement. They indicated that restatement would not achieve comparability of balance sheets for dates prior to the effective date of the Statement with balance sheets for subsequent dates because of the new conditions established by paragraph .11. After considering all of the circumstances, the Board concluded that prospective application of this Statement is appropriate, with restatement permitted but not required, and that the effective date in paragraph .17 is advisable.

Appendix B

EXAMPLES OF APPLICATION OF THIS STATEMENT

.32 The following examples provide guidance for applying this Statement. It should be recognized that these examples do not comprehend all possible circumstances and do not include all the disclosures that would typically be made regarding long-term debt or current liabilities.

GENERAL ASSUMPTIONS

- .33 The assumptions on which the examples are based are:
- a) ABC Company's fiscal year end is December 31, 19x5.
- b) The date of issuance of the December 31, 19x5 financial statements is March 31, 19x6; the Company's practice is to issue a classified balance sheet.
- c) At December 31, 19x5, short-term obligations include \$5,000,000 representing the portion of 6% long-term debt maturing in February 19x6 and \$3,000,000 of 9% notes payable issued in November 19x5 and maturing in July 19x6.
- d) The Company intends to refinance on a long-term basis both the current maturity of long-term debt and the 9% notes payable.
- e) Accounts other than the long-term debt maturing in February 19x6 and the notes payable maturing in July 19x6 are:

Current assets	\$30,000,000
Other assets	\$50,000,000
Accounts payable and accruals	\$10,000,000
Other long-term debt	\$25,000,000
Shareholders' equity	\$37,000,000

AC § 2033.32

f) Unless otherwise indicated, the examples also assume that the lender or prospective lender is expected to be capable of honoring the agreement, that there is no evidence of a violation of any provision, and that the terms of borrowings available under the agreement are readily determinable.

EXAMPLE 1

.34 The Company negotiates a financing agreement with a commercial bank in December 19x5 for a maximum borrowing of \$8,000,000 at any time through 19x7 with the following terms:

- a) Borrowings are available at ABC Company's request for such purposes as it deems appropriate and will mature three years from the date of borrowing.
- b) Amounts borrowed will bear interest at the bank's prime rate.
- c) An annual commitment fee of $\frac{1}{2}$ of 1% is payable on the difference between the amount borrowed and \$8,000,000.
- d) The agreement is cancelable by the lender only if:
 - (i) The Company's working capital, excluding borrowings under the agreement, falls below \$10,000,000.
 - (ii) The Company becomes obligated under lease agreements to pay an annual rental in excess of \$1,000,000.
 - (iii) Treasury stock is acquired without the prior approval of the prospective lender.
 - (iv) The Company guarantees indebtedness of unaffiliated persons in excess of \$500,000.

.35 The enterprise's intention to refinance meets the condition specified by paragraph .10. Compliance with the provisions listed in paragraph .34(d) is objectively determinable or measurable; therefore, the condition specified by paragraph .11(b)(i) is met. The proceeds of borrowings under the agreement are clearly available for the liquidation of the 9% notes payable and the long-term debt maturing

in February 19x6. Both obligations, therefore, would be classified as other than current liabilities.

.36 Following are the liability section of ABC Company's balance sheet at December 31, 19x5 and the related footnote disclosures required by this Statement, based on the information in paragraphs .33 and .34. Because the balance sheet is issued subsequent to the February 19x6 maturity of the long-term debt, the footnote describes the refinancing of that obligation.

	December 31, 19x5
Current Liabilities:	
Accounts payable and accruals	\$10,000,000
Total Current Liabilities	10,000,000
Long-Term Debt:	
9% notes payable (Note A)	3,000,000*
6% debt due February 19x6 (Note A)	5,000,000*
Other long-term debt	25,000,000
Total Long-Term Debt	33,000,000
Total Liabilities	\$43.000.000

*These obligations may also be shown in captions distinct from both current liabilities and long-term debt, such as "Interim Debt," "Short-Term Debt Expected to Be Refinanced," and "Intermediate Debt."

Note A

The Company has entered into a financing agreement with a commercial bank that permits the Company to borrow at any time through 19x7 up to \$8,000,000 at the bank's prime rate of interest. The Company must pay an annual commitment fee of ½ of 1% of the unused portion of the commitment. Borrowings under the financing agreement mature three years after the date of the loan. Among other things, the agreement prohibits the acquisition of treasury stock without prior approval by the bank, requires maintenance of working capital of \$10,000,000 exclusive of borrowings under the agreement, and limits the annual rental under lease agreements to \$1,000,000. In February 19x6, the Company borrowed \$5,000,000 at 8% and liquidated the 6% long-term debt, and it intends to borrow additional funds available under the agreement to refinance the 9% notes payable maturing in July 19x6.

AC § 2033.36

EXAMPLE 2

.37 A foreign subsidiary of the enterprise negotiates a financing agreement with its local bank in December 19x5. Funds are available to the subsidiary for its unrestricted use, including loans to affiliated companies; other terms are identical to those cited in paragraph .34. Local laws prohibit the transfer of funds outside the country.

.38 The requirement of paragraph .11(b)(i) is met because compliance with the provisions of the agreement is objectively determinable or measurable. Because of the laws prohibiting the transfer of funds, however, the proceeds from borrowings under the agreement are not available for liquidation of the debt maturing in February and July 19x6. Accordingly, both the 6% debt maturing in February 19x6 and the 9% notes payable maturing in July 19x6 would be classified as current liabilities.

EXAMPLE 3

.39 Assume that instead of utilizing the agreement cited in paragraph .34, the Company issues \$8,000,000 of ten-year debentures to the public in January 19x6. The Company intends to use the proceeds to liquidate the \$5,000,000 debt maturing February 19x6 and the \$3,000,000 of 9% notes payable maturing July 19x6. In addition, assume the debt maturing February 19x6 is paid prior to the issuance of the balance sheet, and the remaining proceeds from the sale of debentures are invested in a U.S. Treasury note maturing the same day as the 9% notes payable.

.40 Since the Company refinanced the long-term debt maturing in February 19x6 in a manner that meets the conditions set forth in paragraph .11 of this Statement, that obligation would be excluded from current liabilities. In addition, the 9% notes payable maturing in July 19x6 would also be excluded because the Company has obtained funds expressly intended to be used to liquidate those notes and not intended to be used in current operations. In balance sheets after the date of sale of the debentures and before the maturity date of the notes payable, the Company would exclude the notes payable from current liabilities if the U.S. Treasury note is excluded from current assets (see paragraph 6 of Chapter 3A of ARB No. 43 [section 2031.06], which is not altered by this Statement). .41 If the debentures had been sold prior to January 1, 19x6, the 88,000,000 of obligations to be paid would be excluded from current liabilities in the balance sheet at that date if the 88,000,000 in funds were excluded from current assets.

.42 If, instead of issuing the ten-year debentures, the Company had issued \$8,000,000 of equity securities and all other facts in this example remained unchanged, both the 6% debt due February 19x6 and the 9% notes payable due July 19x6 would be classified as liabilities other than current liabilities, such as "Indebtedness Due in 19x6 Refinanced in January 19x6."

EXAMPLE 4

.43 In December 19x5 the Company negotiates a revolving credit agreement providing for unrestricted borrowings up to \$10,000,000. Borrowings will bear interest at 1% over the prevailing prime rate of the bank with which the agreement is arranged but in any event not less than 8%, will have stated maturities of ninety days, and will be continuously renewable for ninety-day periods at the Company's option for three years provided there is compliance with the terms of the agreement. Provisions of the agreement are similar to those cited in paragraph .34(d). Further, the enterprise intends to renew obligations incurred under the agreement for a period extending beyond one year from the balance-sheet date. There are no outstanding borrowings under the agreement at December 31, 19x5.

.44 In this instance, the long-term debt maturing in February 19x6 and the 9% notes payable maturing in July 19x6 would be excluded from current liabilities because the Company consummated a financing agreement meeting the conditions set forth in paragraph .11(b) prior to the issuance of the balance sheet.

EXAMPLE 5

.45 Assume that the agreement cited in Example 4 included an additional provision limiting the amount to be borrowed by the Company to the amount of its inventory, which is pledged as collateral and is expected to range between a high of \$8,000,000 during the second quarter of 19x6 and a low of \$4,000,000 during the fourth quarter of 19x6.

.46 The terms of the agreement comply with the conditions required by this Statement; however, because the minimum amount expected to be available from February to December 19x6 is \$4,000,000, only that amount of short-term obligations can be excluded from current liabilities (see paragraph .12). Whether the obligation to be excluded is a portion of the currently maturing long-term debt or some portions of both it and the 9% notes payable depends on the intended timing of the borrowing.

.47 If the Company intended to refinance only the 9% notes payable due July 19x6 and the amount of its inventory is expected to reach a low of approximately \$2,000,000 during the second quarter of 19x6 but be at least \$3,000,000 in July 19x6 and thereafter during 19x6, the \$3,000,000 9% notes payable would be excluded from current liabilities at December 31, 19x5 (see paragraph .12).

EXAMPLE 6

.48 In lieu of the facts given in paragraphs .33(c) and .33(d), assume that during 19x5 the Company entered into a contract to have a warehouse built. The warehouse is expected to be financed by issuance of the Company's commercial paper. In addition, the Company negotiated a stand-by agreement with a commercial bank that provides for maximum borrowings equal to the expected cost of the warehouse, which will be pledged as collateral. The agreement also requires that the proceeds from the sale of commercial paper be used to pay construction costs. Borrowings may be made under the agreement only if the Company is unable to issue new commercial paper. The proceeds of borrowings must be used to retire outstanding commercial paper and to liquidate additional liabilities incurred in the construction of the warehouse. At December 31, 19x5 the Company has \$7,000,000 of commercial paper outstanding and \$1,000,000 of unpaid construction costs resulting from a progress billing through December 31.

.49 Because the commercial paper will be refinanced on a long-term basis, either by uninterrupted renewal or, failing that, by a borrowing under the agreement, the commercial paper would be excluded from current liabilities. The \$1,000,000 liability for the unpaid progress billing results from the construction of a noncurrent asset and will be refinanced on the same basis as the commercial paper and, therefore, it would also be excluded from current liabilities (see paragraphs .08 and .20).

EXAMPLE 7

.50 Following are two methods of presenting liabilities in ABC Company's balance sheet at December 31, 19x5 assuming the Company intends to refinance the 6% debt maturing in February 19x6 and the 9% notes payable maturing in July 19x6 but has not met the conditions required by this Statement to exclude those obligations from current liabilities.

Alternative 1

December 31, 19x5**Current Liabilities:** Accounts payable and accruals \$10,000,000 Notes payable, due July 19x6 3,000,000 6% debt due February 19x6 5,000,000 **Total Current Liabilities** 18,000,000 Long-Term Debt 25,000,000 Total Liabilities \$43,000,000 Alternative 2 December 31, 19x5Current Liabilities: Accounts payable and accruals \$10,000,000 Short-term debt expected to be refinanced: Notes payable, due July 19x6 \$3,000,000 6% debt due February 19x6 5,000,000 8,000,000 **Total Current Liabilities** 18,000,000 Long-Term Debt 25,000,000 **Total Liabilities** \$43,000,000

 \implies The next page is 8111. \leftarrow

Copyright @ 1975, Financial Accounting Standards Board

AC Section 2041

Comparative Financial Statements

[Source: ARB 43, Chap. 2A, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1953

.01 The presentation of comparative financial statements in annual and other reports enhances the usefulness of such reports and brings out more clearly the nature and trends of current changes affecting the enterprise. Such presentation emphasizes the fact that statements for a series of periods are far more significant than those for a single period and that the accounts for one period are but an instalment of what is essentially a continuous history.

.02 In any one year it is ordinarily desirable that the balance sheet, the income statement, and the surplus statement be given for one or more preceding years as well as for the current year. Footnotes, explanations, and accountants' qualifications which appeared on the statements for the preceding years should be repeated, or at least referred to, in the comparative statements to the extent that they continue to be of significance. If, because of reclassifications or for other reasons, changes have occurred in the manner of or basis for presenting corresponding items for two or more periods, information should be furnished which will explain the change. This procedure is in conformity with the well recognized principle that any change in practice which affects comparability should be disclosed.

.03 It is necessary that prior-year figures shown for comparative purposes be in fact comparable with those shown for the most recent period, or that any exceptions to comparability be clearly brought out. When accounting changes and corrections of errors in previously issued financial statements occur, refer to section 1051, Accounting Changes. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after July 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 20.]

.04 Circumstances vary so greatly that it is not practicable to deal here specifically with all situations. The independent accountant should, however, make very clear what statements are included within the scope of his report.

→ The next page is 8121. →

AC Section 2042

Capital Changes

[Source: APB Opinion No. 12, Pars. 9, 10.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967, unless otherwise indicated

.01 Section 2010.06 states that "The statement of income and the statement of retained earnings (separately or combined) are designed to reflect, in a broad sense, the 'results of operations'." Section 2010.27 states that certain capital transactions ". . . should be excluded from the determination of net income or the results of operations under all circumstances." Companies generally have reported the current year's changes in stockholders' equity accounts other than retained earnings in separate statements or notes to the financial statements when presenting both financial position and results of operations for one or more years. A question has arisen as to whether, because of the language of section 2010, changes in stockholders' equity accounts other than retained earnings are required to be reported.

.02 When both financial position and results of operations are presented, disclosure of changes in the separate accounts comprising stockholders' equity (in addition to retained earnings) and of the changes in the number of shares of equity securities during at least the most recent annual fiscal period and any subsequent interim period presented is required to make the financial statements sufficiently informative. Disclosure of such changes may take the form of separate statements or may be made in the basic financial statements or notes thereto.

 \implies The next page is 8131. $\leftarrow \ll$

Disclosure of Depreciable Assets and Depreciation

[Source: APB Opinion No. 12, Pars. 4, 5.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967, unless otherwise indicated

.01 Disclosure of the total amount of depreciation expense entering into the determination of results of operations has become a general practice. The balances of major classes of depreciable assets are also generally disclosed. Practice varies, however, with respect to disclosure of the depreciation method or methods used.

.02 Because of the significant effects on financial position and results of operations of the depreciation method or methods used, the following disclosures should be made in the financial statements or in notes thereto:

- a. Depreciation expense for the period,
- b. Balances of major classes of depreciable assets, by nature or function, at the balance-sheet date,
- c. Accumulated depreciation, either by major classes of depreciable assets or in total, at the balancesheet date, and
- d. A general description of the method or methods used in computing depreciation with respect to major classes of depreciable assets.

 \implies The next page is 8141. $\leftarrow \implies$

Classification and Disclosure of Allowances

[Source: APB Opinion No. 12, Pars. 2, 3.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967, unless otherwise indicated

.01 Although it is generally accepted that accumulated allowances for depreciation and depletion and asset valuation allowances for losses such as those on receivables and investments should be deducted from the assets to which they relate, there are instances in which these allowances are shown among liabilities or elsewhere on the credit side of the balance sheet.

.02 It is the Board's opinion that such allowances should be deducted from the assets or groups of assets to which the allowances relate, with appropriate disclosure.

→ The next page is 8151. →

Disclosure of Accounting Policies [Source: APB Opinion No. 22, as amended.]

Effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 1971, unless otherwise indicated

INTRODUCTION

.01 In recent years, a number of business enterprises have adopted the practice of including in their annual reports to shareholders a separate summary of the significant accounting policies followed in preparing the financial statements. This disclosure has been favorably received by users of financial statements and endorsed by organizations representing corporate business.

.02 Practice by those entities that present summaries of accounting policies has varied considerably. Some present the summary of accounting policies as an integral part of the financial statements; others present it as supplementary information. In addition, both the nature and the degree of disclosure vary, and related guidelines are lacking.

.03 Disclosure of accounting policies by those entities that do not present separate summaries has varied also. Some have included, in footnotes relating to particular items in the financial statements, descriptions of all significant accounting policies. Most entities, however, have disclosed no information as to certain significant accounting policies.

.04 In view of the increasing recognition of the usefulness of disclosure of accounting policies, the Accounting Principles Board has considered whether this disclosure should be required in financial statements and whether guides should be established for the form and scope of disclosure. This section sets forth the Board's conclusions.

DISCUSSION

.05 Financial statements are the end product of the financial accounting process, which is governed by generally accepted accounting principles on three levels: pervasive principles, broad operating principles, and detailed princi-

ples.¹ Applying generally accepted accounting principles requires that judgment be exercised as to the relative appropriateness of acceptable alternative principles and methods of application in specific circumstances of diverse and complex economic activities. Although the combined efforts of professional accounting bodies, of business, and of the regulatory agencies have significantly reduced the number of acceptable alternatives and are expected to reduce the number further, judgment must nevertheless be exercised in applying principles at all three levels.

.06 The accounting policies of a reporting entity are the specific accounting principles and the methods of applying those principles that are judged by the management of the entity to be the most appropriate in the circumstances to present fairly financial position, changes in financial position, and results of operations in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that, accordingly, have been adopted for preparing the financial statements.

.07 The accounting policies adopted by a reporting entity can affect significantly the presentation of its financial position, changes in financial position, and results of operations. Accordingly, the usefulness of financial statements for purposes of making economic decisions about the reporting entity depends significantly upon the user's understanding of the accounting policies followed by the entity.

Applicability

OPINION

.08 The Board concludes that information about the accounting policies adopted by a reporting entity is essential for financial statement users. When financial statements are issued purporting to present fairly financial position, changes in financial position, and results of operations in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, a description of all significant accounting policies of the reporting entity should be included as an integral part of the financial statements. In circumstances where it may be appropriate to issue one or more of the basic financial statements without the others, purporting to present fairly the information given in accordance with generally accepted

¹See Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles Underlying Financial Statements of Business Enterprises, sections 1026, 1027, and 1028.

accounting principles, statements so presented should also include disclosure of the pertinent accounting policies.

.09 The Board also concludes that information about the accounting policies adopted and followed by not-forprofit entities should be presented as an integral part of their financial statements.

.10 The provisions of paragraphs .08 and .09 above are not intended to apply to unaudited financial statements issued as of a date between annual reporting dates (e. g., each quarter) if the reporting entity has not changed its accounting policies since the end of its preceding fiscal year.²

.11 This section does not supersede any prior pronouncement of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants relating to disclosure requirements.

Content

.12 Disclosure of accounting policies should identify and describe the accounting principles followed by the reporting entity and the methods of applying those principles that materially affect the determination of financial position, changes in financial position, or results of operations. In general, the disclosure should encompass important judgments as to appropriateness of principles relating to recognition of revenue and allocation of asset costs to current and future periods; in particular, it should encompass those accounting principles and methods that involve any of the following:

- a. A selection from existing acceptable alternatives;
- b. Principles and methods peculiar to the industry in which the reporting entity operates, even if such principles and methods are predominantly followed in that industry;
- c. Unusual or innovative applications of generally accepted accounting principles (and, as applicable, of principles and methods peculiar to the industry in which the reporting entity operates).

³ The Board recognizes also that it may be appropriate to omit disclosure of accounting policies in some other circumstances; for example, from financial statements restricted to internal use only (see AU section 516.05-.06) and from certain special reports in which incomplete or no financial presentations are made (AU section 620.09-.10, volume 1, AICPA Professional Standards).

.13 Examples of disclosures by a business entity commonly required with respect to accounting policies would include, among others, those relating to basis of consolidation, depreciation methods, amortization of intangibles, inventory pricing, translation of foreign currencies, recognition of profit on long-term construction-type contracts, and recognition of revenue from franchising and leasing operations. This list of examples is not all-inclusive. [As amended, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 1975, by FASB Statement No. 2.] (See section 4211.)

.14 Financial statement disclosure of accounting policies should not duplicate details (e. g., composition of inventories or of plant assets) presented elsewhere as part of the financial statements. In some cases, the disclosure of accounting policies should refer to related details presented elsewhere as part of the financial statements; for example, changes in accounting policies during the period should be described with cross-reference to the disclosure required by section 1051, *Accounting Changes*, of the current effect of the change and of the pro forma effect of retroactive application.

Format

.15 The Board recognizes the need for flexibility in matters of format (including the location) of disclosure of accounting policies provided that the reporting entity identifies and describes its significant accounting policies as an integral part of its financial statements in accordance with the foregoing guides in this section. The Board believes that the disclosure is particularly useful if given in a separate Summary of Significant Accounting Policies preceding the notes to financial statements or as the initial note. Accordingly, it expresses its preference for that format under the same or a similar title.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.16 This section shall be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 1971. The Board, however, encourages earlier application of the provisions of this section.

```
The next page is 8181. 🔫 🛲
```

AC § 2045.13

AC Section 2051

Consolidated Financial Statements [Source: ARB 43, Chap. 1A, Par. 3; ARB 51, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: August, 1959

.01 Earned surplus of a subsidiary company created prior to acquisition does not form a part of the consolidated earned surplus of the parent company and subsidiaries; nor can any dividend declared out of such surplus properly be credited to the income account of the parent company.¹

PURPOSE OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

.02 The purpose of consolidated statements is to present, primarily for the benefit of the shareholders and creditors of the parent company, the results of operations and the financial position of a parent company and its subsidiaries essentially as if the group were a single company with one or more branches or divisions. There is a presumption that consolidated statements are more meaningful than separate statements and that they are usually necessary for a fair presentation when one of the companies in the group directly or indirectly has a controlling financial interest in the other companies.

CONSOLIDATION POLICY

.03 The usual condition for a controlling financial interest is ownership of a majority voting interest, and, therefore, as a general rule ownership by one company, directly or indirectly, of over fifty per cent of the outstanding voting shares of another company is a condition pointing toward consolidation. However, there are exceptions to this general rule. For example, a subsidiary should not be consolidated where control is likely to be temporary, or where it does not rest with the majority owners (as, for instance, where the subsidiary is in legal

¹ The above rule was adopted by the membership of the Institute in 1934. It had been recommended in 1932 to the New York Stock Exchange by the Institute's committee on cooperation with stock exchanges.

reorganization or in bankruptcy). There may also be situations where the minority interest in the subsidiary is so large, in relation to the equity of the shareholders of the parent in the consolidated net assets, that the presentation of separate financial statements for the two companies would be more meaningful and useful. However, the fact that the subsidiary has a relatively large indebtedness to bondholders or others is not in itself a valid argument for exclusion of the subsidiary from consolidation. (Also, see section 1081 for the treatment of foreign subsidiaries.)

.04 In deciding upon consolidation policy, the aim should be to make the financial presentation which is most meaningful in the circumstances. The reader should be given information which is suitable to his needs, but he should not be burdened with unnecessary detail. Thus, even though a group of companies is heterogeneous in character, it may be better to make a full consolidation than to present a large number of separate statements. On the other hand, separate statements or combined statements would be preferable for a subsidiary or group of subsidiaries if the presentation of financial information concerning the particular activities of such subsidiaries would be more informative to shareholders and creditors of the parent company than would the inclusion of such subsidiaries in the consolidation. For example, separate statements may be required for a subsidiary which is a bank or an insurance company and may be preferable for a finance company where the parent and the other subsidiaries are engaged in manufacturing operations.

.05 A difference in fiscal periods of a parent and a subsidiary does not of itself justify the exclusion of the subsidiary from consolidation. It ordinarily is feasible for the subsidiary to prepare, for consolidation purposes, statements for a period which corresponds with or closely approaches the fiscal period of the parent. However, where the difference is not more than about three months, it usually is acceptable to use, for consolidation purposes, the subsidiary's statements for its fiscal period; when this is done, recognition should be given by disclosure or otherwise to the effect of intervening events which materially affect the financial position or results of operations.

AC § 2051.04

.06 Consolidated statements should disclose the consolidation policy which is being followed. In most cases this can be made apparent by the headings or other information in the statements, but in other cases a footnote is required.

CONSOLIDATION PROCEDURE GENERALLY

.07 In the preparation of consolidated statements, intercompany balances and transactions should be eliminated. This includes intercompany open account balances. security holdings, sales and purchases, interest, dividends, etc. As consolidated statements are based on the assumption that they represent the financial position and operating results of a single business enterprise, such statements should not include gain or loss on transactions among the companies in the group. Accordingly, any intercompany profit or loss on assets remaining within the group should be eliminated; the concept usually applied for this purpose is gross profit or loss. (See also paragraph .16.) However, in a regulated industry where a parent or subsidiary manufactures or constructs facilities for other companies in the consolidated group, the foregoing is not intended to require the elimination of intercompany profit to the extent that such profit is substantially equivalent to a reasonable return on investment ordinarily capitalized in accordance with the established practice of the industry.

ELIMINATION OF INTERCOMPANY INVESTMENTS ²

.08 The earned surplus or deficit of a purchased³ subsidiary at the date of acquisition by the parent should not be included in consolidated earned surplus.

.09 When one company purchases two or more blocks of stock of another company at various dates and eventually obtains control of the other company, the date of acquisition (for the purpose of preparing consolidated statements) depends on the circumstances. If two or more purchases are made over a period of time, the earned surplus of the subsidiary at acquisition should generally be determined on a step-by-step basis; however, if small purchases are made

²As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after October 31, 1970, by APB Opinion No. 16. ³See section 1091 for the difference in treatment between a purchase

³See section 1091 for the difference in treatment between a purchase and a pooling of interests.

over a period of time and then a purchase is made which results in control, the date of the latest purchase, as a matter of convenience, may be considered as the date of acquisition. Thus there would generally be included in consolidated income for the year in which control is obtained the postacquisition income for that year, and in consolidated earned surplus the postacquisition income of prior years, attributable to each block previously acquired. For example, if a 45% interest was acquired on October 1, 1957 and a further 30% interest was acquired on April 1, 1958, it would be appropriate to include in consolidated income for the year ended December 31, 1958, 45% of the earnings of the subsidiary for the three months ended March 31, and 75% of the earnings for the nine months ended December 31, and to credit consolidated earned surplus in 1958 with 45% of the undistributed earnings of the subsidiary for the three months ended December 31, 1957.

.10 When a subsidiary is purchased during the year, there are alternative ways of dealing with the results of its operations in the consolidated income statement. One method, which usually is preferable, especially where there are several dates of acquisition of blocks of shares, is to include the subsidiary in the consolidation as though it had been acquired at the beginning of the year, and to deduct at the bottom of the consolidated income statement the preacquisition earnings applicable to each block of stock. This method presents results which are more indicative of the current status of the group, and facilitates future comparison with subsequent years. Another method of prorating income is to include in the consolidated statement only the subsidiary's revenue and expenses subsequent to the date of acquisition.

.11 Where the investment in a subsidiary is disposed of during the year, it may be preferable to omit the details of operations of the subsidiary from the consolidated income statement, and to show the equity of the parent in the earnings of the subsidiary prior to disposal as a separate item in the statement.

.12 Shares of the parent held by a subsidiary should not be treated as outstanding stock in the consolidated balance sheet.

AC § 2051.10

MINORITY INTERESTS

.13 The amount of intercompany profit or loss to be eliminated in accordance with paragraph .07 is not affected by the existence of a minority interest. The complete elimination of the intercompany profit or loss is consistent with the underlying assumption that consolidated statements represent the financial position and operating results of a single business enterprise. The elimination of the intercompany profit or loss may be allocated proportionately between the majority and minority interests.

.14 In the unusual case in which losses applicable to the minority interest in a subsidiary exceed the minority interest in the equity capital of the subsidiary, such excess and any further losses applicable to the minority interest should be charged against the majority interest, as there is no obligation of the minority interest to make good such losses. However, if future earnings do materialize, the majority interest should be credited to the extent of such losses previously absorbed.

INCOME TAXES

[.15] [Superseded, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 23.] (See section 4095.)

.16 If income taxes have been paid on intercompany profits on assets remaining within the group, such taxes should be deferred. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967, by APB Opinion No. 11.]

STOCK DIVIDENDS OF SUBSIDIARIES

.17 Occasionally, subsidiary companies capitalize earned surplus arising since acquisition, by means of a stock dividend or otherwise. This does not require a transfer to capital surplus on consolidation, inasmuch as the retained earnings in the consolidated financial statements should reflect the accumulated earnings of the consolidated group not distributed to the shareholders of, or capitalized by, the parent company.

UNCONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES IN CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

.18 The equity method described in section 5131 should be used for all subsidiaries which are not consolidated unless the limitations described at 2051.03 and at 1081.08 apply. When these limitations apply, the investment in a subsidiary should be carried at cost. Under the cost method, dividends received from a subsidiary out of its net earnings accumulated subsequent to the date of investment are recognized as income and dividends in excess of earnings subsequent to the date of investment are reductions of cost of the investment. Provision should be made for any material impairment of the investment, such as through losses sustained by the subsidiaries, unless it is deemed to be temporary. When the cost method is followed, the consolidated statements should disclose, by footnote or otherwise, the cost of the investment in the unconsolidated subsidiaries, the equity of the consolidated group of companies in their net assets, the dividends received from them in the current period, and the equity of the consolidated group in their earnings for the period; this information may be given in total or by individual subsidiaries or groups of subsidiaries. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 18.]

.19 When the cost method of dealing with unconsolidated subsidiaries is followed, if there is a difference between the cost of the investment and the equity in net assets at the date of acquisition, appropriate recognition should be given to the possibility that, had the subsidiaries been consolidated, part of such difference would have been reflected in adjusted depreciation or amortization. Also, appropriate recognition should be given to the necessity for an adjustment for intercompany gains or losses on transactions with unconsolidated subsidiaries. It is not necessary to eliminate the intercompany gain on sales to such subsidiaries, if the gain on the sales does not exceed the unrecorded equity in undistributed earnings of the unconsolidated subsidiaries. If such gain is material, it should be appropriately disclosed. Where the sales are made by the unconsolidated subsidiaries to companies included in the consolidated group, the intercompany gains or losses should be eliminated in arriving at the amount of the equity in the undistributed earnings of the unconsolidated subsidiaries which will be disclosed in a footnote or otherwise. (See paragraph .18.) [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 18.]

.20 Where the unconsolidated subsidiaries carried at cost are, in the aggregate, material in relation to the consolidated financial position or operating results, summarized information as to their assets, liabilities and operating results should be given in the footnotes or separate statements should be presented for such subsidiaries, either individually or in groups, as appropriate. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 18.]

COMBINED STATEMENTS

.21 To justify the preparation of consolidated statements, the controlling financial interest should rest directly or indirectly in one of the companies included in the consolidation. There are circumstances, however, where combined financial statements (as distinguished from consolidated statements) of commonly controlled companies are likely to be more meaningful than their separate statements. For example, combined financial statements would be useful where one individual owns a controlling interest in several corporations which are related in their operations. Combined statements would also be used to present the financial position and the results of operations of a group of unconsolidated subsidiaries. They might also be used to combine the financial statements of companies under common management. .22 Where combined statements are prepared for a group of related companies, such as a group of unconsolidated subsidiaries or a group of commonly controlled companies, intercompany transactions and profits or losses should be eliminated, and if there are problems in connection with such matters as minority interests, foreign operations, different fiscal periods, or income taxes, they should be treated in the same manner as in consolidated statements.

PARENT-COMPANY STATEMENTS

.23 In some cases parent-company statements may be needed, in addition to consolidated statements, to indicate adequately the position of bondholders and other creditors or preferred stockholders of the parent. Consolidating statements, in which one column is used for the parent company and other columns for particular subsidiaries or groups of subsidiaries, often are an effective means of presenting the pertinent information.

 \implies The next page is 8211. \leftarrow

AC § 2051.22

AC Section 2061

Disclosure of Supplemental Financial Information by Diversified Companies

[Source: APB Statement No. 2.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: September, 1967

STATEMENT OF THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD INTRODUCTION

.01 Increasing attention is being given to the question of whether published reports of conglomerate companies should contain supplemental financial information concerning the activities of those segments of the business which are clearly separable into different industry lines. The term *conglomerate* is used popularly to describe a company that diversifies into distinctly different industries by acquisition or merger. The Board believes, however, that there is little distinction between industry diversification which arises by this method and industry diversification resulting from a company's own internal development and expansion efforts. All of these companies will be referred to in this statement by the more descriptive term *diversified companies*.

.02 Disclosure of financial data relating to separable industry activities of a diversified company has not been considered essential for fair presentation of financial position and results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The Board recognizes, however, that financial reporting practices are not static and should be responsive to changes in the business environment. The increase in industry diversification by business enterprises is one aspect of the changing business environment which indicates a need for reexamination of financial reporting practices.

.03 The Board believes it should consider financial reporting by diversified companies. Presently the Financial

Executives Research Foundation is conducting a comprehensive study on this subject, some interested organizations are releasing "position" papers and other organizations are publishing views of individual authors. Upon completion and evaluation of these research activities and further study as may be deemed appropriate, the Board intends to issue a definitive pronouncement on the subject.

BACKGROUND

.04 Unlike earlier merger movements, which were largely characterized as horizontal (companies joining with others in the same or related businesses) or vertical (companies joining with their suppliers or distributors into more integrated enterprises), the current merger activity has produced a significant number of business combinations which are neither horizontal nor vertical. Instead they represent the bringing together of companies in industries which are unrelated, or only slightly related.

.05 Many companies, also, have accomplished industry diversification through internally generated activities, including the acquisition in some cases of comparatively small companies in other industries as a means of obtaining specialized industry knowledge. Some companies have broken away from an industry pattern with which they were previously identified and have entered entirely different fields to reduce dependence on a single market.

NEEDS OF THE INVESTOR AND HIS ADVISORS

.06 Another major development has been the significant growth in the number of investors, as well as the growth in number of companies whose shares are publicly traded. Prominent in this growth has been the substantial increase in securities held by institutional investors (mutual funds, pension funds, insurance companies, foundations, etc.) with an increased emphasis on the role of the financial analyst. Analysts have frequently asserted the need for information concerning revenues and operating results of segments of diversified companies and have requested that it be furnished when it is not disclosed in published financial reports. These requests are a reaction by the analyst to the loss of corporate identification with a specific industry which has accompanied the development of complex diversified companies.

AC § 2061.04

ţ

ł

.07 The Board recognizes that such information may be useful for investors in appraising the past performance and future risks and prospects of diversified companies.

REPORTING PROBLEMS

.08 There appear to be few practical problems involved in determining sales or revenues for segments of a diversified company. However, determination of profitability by segments in a form suitable for reporting to investors raises many complex problems. Reporting profitability by segments may be practicable in those cases where the industry segments are relatively autonomous, rather than interdependent. There are many instances, however, where reporting on segments of a company's activities would require many estimates, assumptions, and arbitrary allocations and might result in information that would not be meaningful and could be misleading to investors. This is especially true where joint costs are involved or arbitrary transfer prices are used between major segments of a company.

COMPETITIVE ASPECTS

.09 Concern has been expressed that supplemental financial information as to segments of the business may reveal valuable information to competitors and could be harmful to the company.

NEED FOR RESEARCH

.10 Before a definitive pronouncement can be made, the Board believes that substantial research is necessary to provide practical guidelines for determining the extent to which such supplemental information is, in fact:

- (a) needed by investors;
- (b) reliable for investment decisions;
- (c) not harmful to the company (that is, its present shareholders); and
- (d) necessary for fair presentation of financial position and results of operations.

INTERIM RECOMMENDATION FOR DISCLOSURE

.11 For the present, the Board urges diversified companies to review their own circumstances carefully and objectively with a view toward disclosing voluntarily supplemental financial information as to industry segments of the business.

.12 An increasing trend by diversified companies to disclose such information is now evident. Specific examples of supplemental disclosures that are being made by some companies at the present time are as follows:

- (a) Revenues by industry activity, or type of customer
- (b) Revenues and profits by separable industry segments
- (c) Separate financial statements of segments of the business which operate autonomously and employ distinctly different types of capital structure, such as insurance or bank subsidiaries of merchandising or manufacturing companies
- (d) Revenues by type of industry activity and type of customer, together with a general indication of the profitability of each category
- (e) Information that the operations of a segment of the enterprise are resulting in a loss, with or without disclosure of the amount of such loss.

CONCLUSION

.13 The Board believes that the experience derived from voluntary disclosure efforts, together with the conclusions to be derived from research activities and further study, should provide it with a sound basis for making a definitive pronouncement in the future on the need for, and extent of, disclosure of supplemental financial information by diversified companies.

NOTE

.14 Statements of the Accounting Principles Board present the conclusions of at least two-thirds of the members of the Board, which is the senior technical body of the Institute authorized to issue pronouncements on accounting principles. This Statement is not an "Opinion of the Accounting Principles Board" covered by action of the Council of the Institute in its May 7, 1973 Resolution designating the Financial Accounting Standards Board as the body to establish accounting principles pursuant to Rule 203 of the Rules of Conduct of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. [As amended, effective May 7, 1973 by Council Resolution.] (See section 510.08.)

AC § 2061.12

AC Section 2062

Accounting and Reporting by Development Stage Enterprises

[Source: FASB Statement No. 7.]

June 1975

INTRODUCTION

.01 This Statement specifies the guidelines for identifying an enterprise in the development stage and the standards of financial accounting and reporting applicable to such an enterprise. The transition requirements of this Statement are also applicable to certain established operating enterprises.¹

.02 Some development stage enterprises have adopted special financial accounting and reporting practices, including special forms of financial statement presentation or types of disclosure, that are different from those used by established operating enterprises. Some of the special practices have resulted from applying regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission; other practices appear simply to have evolved. Special accounting practices have included (a) deferral of all types of costs without regard to their recoverability, (b) nonassignment of dollar amounts to shares of stock issued for consideration other than cash, and (c) offset of revenue against deferred costs. Special reporting formats have included statements of (a) assets and unrecovered preoperating costs, (b) liabilities, (c) capital shares, and (d) cash receipts and disbursements. Sometimes, a balance sheet or a statement of operations is presented in conjunction with one or more special formats. Other development stage enterprises issue financial statements like those of established operating enterprises that present financial position, changes in financial position, and results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

.03 No special standards of financial accounting and reporting were established for development stage enterprises by the

¹See paragraphs .14-.16.

AICPA Accounting Principles Board or its predecessor, the Committee on Accounting Procedure. In 1973, the AICPA Committee on Companies in the Development Stage issued an exposure draft of a proposed Audit Guide recommending special financial statements and accounting methods, but no action was taken on the exposure draft and the matter was referred to the FASB. FASB Statement No. 2 [section 4211], "Accounting for Research and Development Costs," issued in October 1974, has been interpreted by the FASB to apply to "the accounting for research and development costs of development stage enterprises whose financial statements present financial position, changes in financial position, or results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles."² However, pending the issuance of a Statement on the subject of accounting and reporting by development stage enterprises, the FASB Interpretation stated that "a development stage enterprise that issues financial statements that do not purport to present financial position, changes in financial position, or results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles need not apply Statement No. 2 in accounting for its research and development costs."³

.04 The standards of financial accounting and reporting set forth in this Statement apply to any separate financial statements of a development stage subsidiary or other investee⁴ of an established operating enterprise, as well as to the financial statements of a separate development stage enterprise (or of a group of companies that, as a whole, is considered to be in the development stage). Hereinafter, the term "development stage enterprise" is used to include a development stage subsidiary or other investee that is issuing separate financial statements.

.05 This Statement applies to development stage enterprises in all industries. This Statement applies to development stage enterprises in regulated industries in accordance with the provisions of the Addendum to APB Opinion No. 2 [section 6011], "Accounting for the 'Investment Credit.'" However, paragraphs .11-.12 of this Statement, which require disclosure

² FASB Interpretation No. 5, "Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Development Stage Enterprises," par. 6 [section 4211-2.06].
⁸ Ibid., par. 7 [section 4211-2.07].
⁴ The terms subsidiary and investee are defined in paragraph 3 of APB Opinion No. 18 [section 5131.03], "The Equity Method of Accounting for

Investments in Common Stock.

of additional information, apply to development stage enterprises in regulated industries in all cases.

.06 This Statement supersedes FASB Interpretation No. 5 [section 4211-2], "Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Development Stage Enterprises." It does not supersede, alter, or amend any other present requirement in an Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB), Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion, or FASB Statement or Interpretation. Neither does this Statement change generally accepted accounting principles that are currently applicable to established operating enterprises but that are not explicitly stated in an ARB, APB Opinion, or FASB Statement or Interpretation. For example, this Statement does not change generally accepted accounting principles applicable to (a) established operating enterprises generally in expanding their existing businesses, (b) established operating enterprises in the extractive industries in their exploration and development activities, and (c) established operating enterprises in the real estate industry in developing their properties.

.07 Standards of financial accounting and reporting for development stage enterprises are set forth in paragraphs .08—.16. Appendix B sets forth the basis for the Board's conclusions, including alternatives considered and reasons for accepting some and rejecting others. Appendix A provides background information.

STANDARDS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING

Guidelines for Identifying a Development Stage Enterprise

.08 For purposes of this Statement, an enterprise shall be considered to be in the development stage if it is devoting substantially all of its efforts to establishing a new business and either of the following conditions exists:

- a) Planned principal operations have not commenced.
- b) Planned principal operations have commenced, but there has been no significant revenue therefrom.

.09 A development stage enterprise will typically be devoting most of its efforts to activities such as financial planning; raising capital; exploring for natural resources; developing natural resources; research and development;⁵ establishing sources of supply; acquiring property, plant, equipment, or other operating assets, such as mineral rights; recruiting and training personnel; developing markets; and starting up production.

Financial Accounting and Reporting

.10 Financial statements issued by a development stage enterprise shall present financial position, changes in financial position, and results of operations in conformity with the generally accepted accounting principles that apply to established operating enterprises and shall include the additional information required by paragraphs .11-.12. Special accounting practices and reporting formats, such as those described in paragraph .02 of this Statement, that are based on a distinctive accounting for development stage enterprises are no longer acceptable. Generally accepted accounting principles that apply to established operating enterprises shall govern the recognition of revenue by a development stage enterprise and shall determine whether a cost incurred by a development stage enterprise is to be charged to expense when incurred or is to be capitalized or deferred. Accordingly, capitalization or deferral of costs shall be subject to the same assessment of recoverability that would be applicable in an established operating enterprise. For a development stage subsidiary or other investee, the recoverability of costs shall be assessed within the entity for which separate financial statements are being presented.

.11 In issuing the same basic financial statements as an established operating enterprise, a development stage enterprise shall disclose therein certain additional information. The basic financial statements to be presented⁶ and the additional information shall include the following:

a) A balance sheet, including any cumulative net losses reported with a descriptive caption such as "deficit

⁵Research and development is defined in paragraph 8 of FASB Statement No. 2 [section 4211.08], "Accounting for Research and Development Costs."

⁶Under some circumstances, an established operating enterprise may issue less than a full set of financial statements, for example, only a balance sheet. This Statement does not preclude that possibility for development stage enterprises. Also, different titles or formats used by some established operating enterprises may be used provided that the prescribed information is included.

accumulated during the development stage" in the stockholders' equity section.

- b) An income statement, showing amounts of revenue and expenses for each period covered by the income statement and, in addition, cumulative amounts from the enterprise's inception.⁷
- c) A statement of changes in financial position, showing the sources and uses of financial resources for each period for which an income statement is presented⁸ and, in addition, cumulative amounts from the enterprise's inception.
- d) A statement of stockholders' equity, showing from the enterprise's inception:⁹
 - 1) For each issuance, the date and number of shares of stock, warrants, rights, or other equity securities issued for cash and for other consideration.
 - 2) For each issuance, the dollar amounts (per share or other equity unit and in total) assigned to the consideration received for shares of stock, warrants, rights, or other equity securities. Dollar amounts shall be assigned to any noncash consideration received.
 - 3) For each issuance involving noncash consideration, the nature of the noncash consideration and the basis for assigning amounts.

.12 The financial statements shall be identified as those of a development stage enterprise and shall include a description of the nature of the development stage activities in which the enterprise is engaged.

 $[\]overline{i}$ For a dormant enterprise that is reactivated to undertake development stage activities, the disclosure of cumulative amounts required by this paragraph shall be from inception of the development stage.

⁸ Subject to the exceptions described in paragraphs 7 and 16 of *APB* Opinion No. 19 [sections 2021.07 and 2021.16], "Reporting Changes in Financial Position."

⁹ Separate issuances of equity securities within the same fiscal year for the same type of consideration and for the same amount per equity unit may be combined in the statement of stockholders' equity. Appropriate modification of the statement of stockholders' equity. Appropriate modification of the statement of stockholders' equity may be required for (a) a combined group of companies that, as a whole, is considered to be in the development stage and (b) an unincorporated development stage enterprise.

.13 The financial statements for the first fiscal year in which an enterprise is no longer considered to be in the development stage shall disclose that in prior years it had been in the development stage. If financial statements for prior years are presented for comparative purposes, the cumulative amounts and other additional disclosures required by paragraphs .11—.12 need not be shown.

Effective Date and Transition

.14 This Statement shall be effective for fiscal periods beginning on or after January 1, 1976, although earlier application is encouraged. Thereafter, when financial statements, or financial summaries or other data derived therefrom, are presented for periods prior to the effective date of this Statement, they shall be restated, where necessary, to conform to the provisions of this Statement. Accordingly, any items that would have been accounted for differently by a development stage enterprise if the provisions of paragraph .10 had then been applicable shall be accounted for by prior period adjustment (described in paragraphs 18 and 26 of *APB Opinion No. 9* [sections 2010.17 and 2010.25], "Reporting the Results of Operations").

.15 An established operating enterprise that during its development stage would have accounted for any items differently if the provisions of paragraph .10 had then been applicable shall account for those items by prior period adjustment. In some cases, those items will have been amortized or otherwise included in an income statement in periods prior to the effective date of this Statement. Financial statements, or financial summaries or other data derived therefrom, for those periods shall be restated when they are included for comparative purposes with financial data for periods after the effective date of this Statement.

.16 The nature of any adjustment or restatement resulting from application of paragraphs .14—.15 and, where appropriate, its effect on income before extraordinary items, net income, and related per share amounts shall be disclosed in the period of change for all periods presented. Any related income tax effects shall be recognized and disclosed.

The provisions of this Statement need not be applied to immaterial items.

This Statement was adopted by the affirmative votes of six members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board. Mr. Schuetze dissented.

Although he agrees with the basic conclusions in this Statement that development stage enterprises should use the same accounting principles and prepare the same basic financial statements as established operating enterprises. Mr. Schuetze dissents because he believes that the Board should have addressed the question of accounting for start-up costs before issuing this Statement. Paragraph .10 states that "capitalization or deferral of costs [in a development stage enterprise] shall be subject to the same assessment of recoverability that would be applicable in an established operating enterprise." A substantial portion of the costs incurred by many development stage enterprises falls into a broad category that most persons would regard as start-up costs. In Mr. Schuetze's view, neither this Statement nor any other authoritative pronouncement furnishes adequate guidance as to how the recoverability of start-up costs should be assessed or as to how those start-up costs that are capitalized or deferred should be accounted for thereafter. Mr. Schuetze believes that until such a pronouncement is issued the accounting practices of development stage enterprises will vary significantly. In this regard, Mr. Schuetze is particularly concerned as to how the recoverability test in paragraph .10 would be applied by development stage enterprises in the extractive industries.

Members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board:

Marshall S. Armstrong, *Chairman* Oscar S. Gellein Donald J. Kirk Arthur L. Litke Robert E. Mays Walter Schuetze Robert T. Sprouse

Appendix A

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

.17 In April 1973, the FASB placed on its technical agenda a project on "Accounting for Research and Development and Similar Costs." The scope of the project also encompassed accounting and reporting by development stage enterprises, the subject of this Statement.

.18 A task force of sixteen persons from industry, government, public accounting, the financial community, and academe was appointed in July 1973 to provide counsel to the Board in preparing a Discussion Memorandum analyzing issues related to the project.

.19 The FASB did not undertake a major research effort in connection with the project but rather relied primarily on published research studies and articles that are cited in the Discussion Memorandum. Especially important in this regard was Accounting for Companies in the Development Stage, an exposure draft of an Audit Guide originally issued for comment in 1973 by the Committee on Companies in the Development Stage of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

.20 The Discussion Memorandum was issued by the Board on December 28, 1973, and a public hearing on the subject was held on March 15, 1974. Seventy-four position papers, letters of comment, and outlines of oral presentations were received by the Board in response to the Discussion Memorandum. Thirty-nine of those responses included recommendations about development stage enterprises. Fourteen oral presentations were made at the public hearing.

.21 In the course of its deliberations following the hearing, the Board concluded that accounting and reporting by development stage enterprises should be addressed in a separate Statement of Financial Accounting Standards. An Exposure Draft of a proposed Statement on "Accounting and Reporting by Development Stage Companies, Subsidiaries, Divisions and Other Components" was issued on July 19, 1974. The Board received 138 letters of comment on the Exposure Draft. In November 1974, the Board announced that "because of questions raised in many of the comment letters received during exposure of the proposed Statement on development stage companies, the Standards Board is continuing its consideration of that subject and a final Statement is not expected to be issued before April or May of 1975."¹⁰

Appendix B

BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS

.22 This Appendix discusses factors deemed significant by members of the Board in reaching the conclusions in this Statement, including various alternatives considered and reasons for accepting some and rejecting others.

SCOPE OF THIS STATEMENT

.23 As indicated by the title, the Exposure Draft, "Accounting and Reporting by Development Stage Companies, Subsidiaries, Divisions and Other Components," explicitly encompassed a development stage subsidiary, division, or other component of an established operating enterprise as well as a separate development stage enterprise. A number of respondents to the Exposure Draft interpreted the inclusion of subsidiaries, divisions, or other components of an established operating enterprise to mean that new financial accounting standards were being proposed for the costs incurred by established operating enterprises in expanding their existing businesses. Those respondents suggested that any changes called for by the proposed new standards in that regard were unclear. They further suggested that the proposed new standards for financial statement presentation and disclosure were inapplicable to components of established operating enterprises except as they might apply to separate financial statements occasionally issued by subsidiaries in the development stage.

.24 In addition to accounting for research and development costs and accounting for development stage enterprises, the Discussion Memorandum comprehended accounting for start-up costs and other costs that are similar to research and

¹⁰ FASB Status Report, No. 19, November 16, 1974.

development costs in the sense that they share certain distinguishing characteristics.¹¹ In issuing the Exposure Draft, however, the Board did not intend to propose new financial accounting standards for start-up costs and those other "similar costs" incurred by established operating enterprises. To eliminate that possible source of confusion and to deal more directly with the financial accounting and reporting matters affecting development stage enterprises, the scope of this Statement is restricted to the financial statements of a development stage enterprise (or of a group of companies that, as a whole, is considered to be in the development stage subsidiary or other investee of an established operating enterprise (see paragraph .04).

Development Stage Enterprises in the Extractive Industries

.25 A number of respondents to the Exposure Draft questioned the application of this Statement to development stage enterprises in certain industries (see paragraph .05 of this Statement), especially to development stage enterprises in the extractive industries. The Discussion Memorandum made a distinction for the extractive industries between (1) costs that are indistinguishable in nature from those costs incurred in other industries and (2) costs that are incurred uniquely in the extractive industries. It stated that "research and development and similar costs that are indistinguishable in nature from the research and development and similar costs incurred in other industries are embraced by this project." The Discussion Memorandum also stated that costs that are incurred uniquely in the extractive industries are generally believed to warrant separate consideration and "are specifically outside the scope of this project."12 FASB Statement No. 2 [section 4211], "Accounting for Research and Development Costs," in paragraph .03, recognized that distinction by indicating that it "does not apply to activities that are unique to enterprises in the extractive industries."

.26 Chapter four, "Companies in the Development Stage," of the Discussion Memorandum states that "this Discussion Memorandum excludes from this project only those 'costs that are incurred uniquely in the extractive industries.' Therefore, whether extractive industry companies in the

¹¹FASB Discussion Memorandum, "Accounting for Research and Development and Similar Costs," pp. 2-5.

¹² Ibid., pp. 8-9.

development stage have sufficiently different characteristics to warrant exclusion from or special handling in a definition of a company in the development stage requires consideration."¹³

.27 The AICPA Committee on Companies in the Development Stage indicated in its 1973 exposure draft that the proposed provisions should be applicable to any development stage enterprise in any industry. Similarly, the APB Committee on Extractive Industries states, "new companies still in the exploratory and development stage in the oil and gas industry are no different than companies in a similar stage in other industries and probably should not be afforded any special treatment."¹⁴

28 The Board has concluded that consideration of the accounting for costs incurred in activities that are unique to enterprises in the extractive industries is outside the scope of this Statement. Paragraph .06 explains that this Statement does not change generally accepted accounting principles that are applicable to established operating enterprises but that are not explicitly stated in an ARB, APB Opinion, or FASB Statement or Interpretation, and cites as an example generally accepted accounting principles that are applicable established operating enterprises in the extractive to industries in their exploration and development activities. The effect of this Statement being applicable to development stage enterprises in all industries, therefore, is not to change the generally accepted accounting principles applicable to costs incurred in activities that are unique to enterprises in the extractive industries, but to require those generally accepted accounting principles applicable to established operating enterprises in the extractive industries to be applied to development stage enterprises in the extractive industries as well. This includes presentation of the same basic financial statements.

GUIDELINES FOR IDENTIFYING A DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISE

.29 The broad guidelines set forth in paragraphs .08—.09 for identifying a development stage enterprise are designed to

¹⁸ Ibid., p. 55.

¹⁶ American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Accounting Principles Board Committee on Extractive Industries, *Accounting and Reporting Practices in the Oil and Gas Industry* (New York: AICPA, May 31, 1973), p. 24.

include enterprises engaged in diverse areas of economic activity. The point at which an enterprise ceases to be in the development stage, and, therefore, need not present the cumulative amounts since its inception and other additional disclosures required by paragraphs .11—.12, must be evaluated in each case.

ACCOUNTING

.30 The Board has concluded that the generally accepted accounting principles that apply to established operating enterprises shall govern the recognition of revenue by a development stage enterprise and shall determine whether a cost incurred by a development stage enterprise is to be charged to expense when incurred or is to be capitalized or deferred. The primary reasons for this conclusion are:

- a) The kinds of transactions engaged in by development stage enterprises are also common to established operating enterprises in expanding their existing businesses. Accounting treatment should be governed by the nature of the transaction rather than by the degree of maturity of the enterprise. Thus, the determination of whether a particular cost should be charged to expense when incurred or should be capitalized or deferred should be based on the same accounting standards regardless of whether the enterprise incurring the cost is already operating or is in the development stage.
- b) Any different standards for a development stage enterprise that would result in deferral of costs that would not be deferred if the generally accepted accounting principles applicable to established operating enterprises had been applied may cause financial statement users to reach unjustified conclusions about the nature of the costs incurred by a development stage enterprise. The Board believes that adequate financial statement disclosures concerning the costs incurred by a development stage enterprise, both for the current period and cumulatively since its inception, will mitigate that possibility and provide useful financial information for decisions about that kind of enterprise.

.31 Established operating enterprises incur costs under various circumstances and with varying degrees of

uncertainty about future benefits, especially in expanding their existing businesses. Authoritative accounting literature does not contain general criteria or guidelines for determining when costs should be charged to expense as incurred and when costs should be capitalized or deferred,¹⁵ and this Statement does not attempt to specify such criteria or guidelines.

.32 The absence of explicit criteria or guidelines, however, does not provide a free choice to defer costs or to charge them to expense when incurred. The scope of generally accepted accounting principles is broader than the authoritative literature and encompasses practices that have evolved and gained acceptance with time and experience. Many of those practices are described in APB Statement No. 4 [sections 1021-1029], "Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles Underlying Financial Statements of Business Enterprises." For example, paragraph 160 of APB Statement No. 4 [section 1026.24] describes generally accepted accounting principles as calling for immediate recognition as expense when "(1) costs incurred during the period provide no discernible future benefits, (2) costs recorded as assets in prior periods no longer provide discernible benefits or (3) allocating costs either on the basis of association with revenue or among several accounting periods is considered to serve no useful purpose."¹⁶

.33 In concluding that the generally accepted accounting principles applicable to established operating enterprises shall determine whether a cost incurred by a development stage enterprise is to be charged to expense when incurred or is to be capitalized or deferred, the Board is relying primarily on the assessment of recoverability of incurred costs that those principles require. Heretofore, some have felt that generally

¹⁵ Guidance is provided for some specific situations. For example, FASB Statement No. 2 [section 4211] prescribes that the research and development costs encompassed by that Statement shall be charged to expense when incurred and describes the considerations that led to that conclusion. Also, AICPA Industry Audit Guides provide guidance about accounting for costs incurred by enterprises in particular industries. Although Audit Guides do not constitute authoritative accounting literature, those issued in recent years state that members of the AICPA may be called upon to justify departures from the recommendations contained therein.

¹⁶ APB Statement No. 4, in paragraph 4 [section 1021.04], describes its status as follows: "The accounting principles described are those that the [Accounting Principles] Board believes are generally accepted today. The Board has not evaluated or approved present generally accepted accounting principles except to the extent that principles have been adopted in Board Opinions. Publication of this Statement does not constitute approval by the Board of accounting principles that are not covered in its Opinions."

accepted accounting principles did not apply to the special accounting practices and special financial reporting formats that have been used by some development stage enterprises. The Board's conclusion that the generally accepted accounting principles applicable to established operating enterprises also apply to development stage enterprises, including presentation of the same basic financial statements, eliminates the special practices and formats and the question about the applicability of generally accepted accounting principles to them.

SEC Regulations and AICPA Committee Proposal

.34 Both the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the proposed Audit Guide issued by the AICPA Committee on Companies in the Development Stage provide for the use by development stage enterprises of certain accounting practices that differ from those appropriate for established operating enterprises.

.35 Article 5A of SEC Regulation S-X prescribes the form and content of financial statements filed with the SEC by development stage enterprises. It provides for separate statements of (a) assets and unrecovered promotional, exploratory, and development costs; (b) liabilities; (c) capital shares; (d) other securities; and (e) cash receipts and disbursements. Among the types of costs indicated as includible in unrecovered promotional, exploratory, and development costs are:

(a) development expenses, (b) plant and equipment maintenance expenses, (c) rehabilitation expenses, (d) general administrative expenses incurred in a period when there was little or no actual mining and (e) other expenses... General administrative expenses incurred in connection with subcaptions (a), (b) and (c) should be included therein. Any other general administrative expenses not chargeable to those subcaptions nor written off as costs or other operating charges (including taxes, protection and conservation of property when inactive) shall be included under subcaption (d).¹⁷

Rule 12-06a of *Regulation S-X* allows for the offset of certain proceeds and other income against promotional, exploratory, and development costs.

¹⁷ U. S., Securities and Exchange Commission, *Regulation S-X*, Rule 5a-02, "Statement of Assets and Unrecovered Promotional, Exploratory, and Development Costs," item 14.

.36 The AICPA Committee proposed the presentation of cumulative cost outlays, together with assets, liabilities, and investment by stocknolders, in a special statement referred to as a "preoperating accountability statement." Cumulative cost outlays would have been deferred and amortized by charges against income when operations commenced. Incidental revenue received during the development stage would have been deducted from the cumulative cost outlays.

.37 The AICPA Committee stated the basis for its conclusion as follows:

A company in the development stage is engaged in building an enterprise, and the expenditures it makes are in the nature of investments for the future. Costs incurred during the development stage are accumulated because they have been incurred in the expectation that they will generate future revenues or otherwise benefit periods after the company reaches the operating stage. Accumulating costs is consistent with the business fact that for many companies a development stage must precede the attainment of ordinary business operations... The only outlays that should not be carried as accumulated costs during the preoperating period are those relating to known losses....

For a company in the development stage there is from inception a presumption that uncertainty as to cost recovery will both exist and persist. (By contrast, the presumption for an operating company is that cost recoverability can be reasonably evaluated.) It would be unrealistic and arbitrary to write off immediately the costs incurred during the development stage simply because of this predictable uncertainty.¹⁸

.38 Both the SEC and AICPA Committee approaches draw attention to the uncertainty about cost recovery surrounding most development stage costs by segregating them in a special category in a special financial statement (or group of statements) similar to the conventional balance sheet. Those costs are not reported as "assets," and they need not be subjected to the assessment of recoverability that is applied to costs incurred by established operating enterprises. The Board believes, however, that the distinction between costs that would be reported as "assets" and costs that would be reported as "unrecovered costs" or "cumulative cost outlays"

8229

¹⁸ American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Committee on Companies in the Development Stage, Accounting for Companies in the Development Stage, an exposure draft of an Audit Guide (New York: AICPA, March 1973), pp. 25-26, 28.

under the SEC and AICPA Committee approaches is one that is likely to be overlooked by many financial statement users. In addition, as indicated in paragraphs .30—.33, the Board believes that all costs of a development stage enterprise should be subjected to the same assessment of recoverability applicable to costs incurred by established operating enterprises. In the Board's view, the nature of development stage activities and their related costs can best be indicated by the additional financial statement disclosures required by paragraphs .11—.12, rather than by accumulation or deferral of costs that would be charged to expense when incurred if generally accepted accounting principles applicable to established operating enterprises were applied.

,39 Accumulation or deferral of development stage costs requires amortization after operations commence. Article 5A does not address the question of amortization, and the AICPA Committee noted that "while the current practices are anything but uniform, the most prevalent policy noted is to amortize such costs over a short period of time, usually not more than five years."¹⁹ The Board believes that the difficulty in reasonably relating subsequent revenue to accumulated or deferred costs that would not be deferred under generally accepted accounting principles applicable to established operating enterprises limits the usefulness of the data that would result from such accumulation or deferral by a development stage enterprise. Moreover, the initial operating periods of such an enterprise would include both the amortization of those costs incurred during the development stage and the charging to expense of certain costs incurred currently.

.40 Some respondents to the Discussion Memorandum and to the Exposure Draft supported the SEC approach, the proposed approach of the AICPA Committee, or similar approaches. The reasons offered were generally similar to those stated by the AICPA Committee (see paragraph .37). A number of respondents to the Discussion Memorandum and to the Exposure Draft recommended that development stage enterprises follow the same accounting standards as established operating enterprises. The reasons given by the respondents were generally similar to those specified in paragraph .30.

¹⁹ Ibid., p. 11.

Relationship to "Similar Costs"

.41 The Exposure Draft stated that the Board was considering an additional pronouncement on the "similar costs" identified in the Discussion Memorandum. A number of respondents to the Exposure Draft indicated that because, in their view, many costs incurred by development stage enterprises are within a broader category of costs that include start-up costs generally, the Board should address accounting for those "similar costs" before issuing a final Statement on development stage enterprises. The Board considered those suggestions, but concluded that it could reach an informed decision on the issues covered in this Statement without first addressing the more pervasive issues associated with accounting for "similar costs." In the Board's view, this Statement will significantly improve financial accounting and reporting for development stage enterprises.

FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES

.42 The Board believes that a development stage enterprise should present the same basic financial statements as any other enterprise. The conventional balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in financial position, and statement of stockholders' equity are sufficiently adaptable to provide the distinctive information that might be considered useful for development stage enterprises. Unique financial statements for development stage enterprises might imply that the nature and results of the transactions entered into by those enterprises are unique, but many established operating enterprises have similar transactions. Further. unique financial statements would not be readily comparable with financial statements issued after an enterprise has emerged from the development stage. Also, the conclusion that the same accounting principles are appropriate for the transactions of development stage enterprises suggests that conventional basic financial statements should be presented.

.43 A development stage enterprise typically will be incurring substantial costs in connection with development stage activities and will not have significant revenue. Development stage activities are likely to extend into two or more financial reporting periods. To reflect the significance of development stage activities, the Board believes that the basic financial statements presented by a development stage enterprise should be expanded to provide cumulative financial information since its inception, as well as current information. The Board concluded that disclosure of cumulative revenue and expenses and cumulative amounts of funds obtained from various sources to finance the development effort and initial operations will provide useful information about the activities of development stage enterprises without sacrificing the advantages of retaining the familiar format and content of the basic financial statements of established operating enterprises. Those additional disclosures are specified in paragraphs .11—.12.

.44 Some respondents to the Discussion Memorandum and Exposure Draft suggested that the differences between established operating enterprises and development stage enterprises are so fundamental as to require unique financial statements for development stage enterprises. The AICPA Committee concluded that, because of the absence of revenue, a conventional income statement would be inappropriate for a development stage enterprise; unique financial statements were deemed necessary to emphasize accountability for financial resources received and expended and to direct attention to accumulated costs rather than to measurement of performance. To accomplish those objectives, the Committee recommended the following special statements:

<u>Preoperating accountability statement</u> - to show the assets and cumulative cost outlays, the liabilities, and the investment by stockholders.

Statement of preoperating financial activities — to show the sources and uses of financial resources, preferably cumulative since an enterprise's inception along with data for the current period.

Statement of investment by stockholders — to show the classes and numbers of shares authorized, issued, and outstanding and the types and amounts of consideration received for the shares issued.

.45 The AICPA Committee proposed extensive disclosures emphasizing that the enterprise is in the development stage, calling attention to the uncertainties that surround the enterprise and making clear that the financial statements do not purport to present financial position and results of operations.

.46 Other respondents to the Discussion Memorandum and to the Exposure Draft took the position that different basic financial statements or additional disclosures are not necessary for a development stage enterprise. Still others asserted that the same basic financial statements are appropriate but should be supplemented by additional disclosures relevant to the distinctive features of a development stage enterprise.

Other Suggestions

.47 The Board considered other presentation and disclosure possibilities for a development stage enterprise (including forecasts, disclosure of liquidation priorities and values, and a description of the business environment) and concluded that they should not be required solely for development stage enterprises. The Board also considered the possibility of a statement of cash receipts and disbursements and concluded that the statement of changes in financial position including amounts on a cumulative basis required by paragraph .11(c) would fulfill that need.

POTENTIAL ECONOMIC IMPACT

.48 Some respondents to the Exposure Draft expressed concern that requiring development stage enterprises to present the same basic financial statements and to apply the same generally accepted accounting principles as established operating enterprises might make it difficult, if not impossible, for development stage enterprises to obtain capital. They suggested that those requirements would likely cause many development stage enterprises to report periodic losses in an income statement and a cumulative deficit in a balance sheet. Because those results would not be fully understood, suppliers of capital would be disinclined to invest in those enterprises.

.49 During the course of developing the Discussion Memorandum and preparing the Exposure Draft, the FASB solicited information about the potential economic impact of applying to development stage enterprises the same generally accepted accounting principles that apply to established

operating enterprises. Responses of financial statement users to the Discussion Memorandum and to the Exposure Draft provided only limited information about the potential economic impact. To obtain additional information, the FASB arranged for discussions with officers of fifteen venture capital enterprises. The consensus of those officers was that whether development stage enterprise defers or expenses a preoperating costs has little effect on (a) the amount of any venture capital to be provided to that enterprise and (b) the terms under which any venture capital is provided. According to those officers, the venture capital investor typically relies an investigation of the technological, marketing, on management, and financial aspects of an enterprise. That investigation provides a basis for estimating potential cash flows and the probabilities of achieving them. Whether a development stage enterprise defers or expenses its preoperating costs does not affect those estimates. Based on their experience, those officers also expressed the opinion that the accounting treatment of preoperating costs would have minimal impact on the availability of short-term credit from commercial banks, but might have impact on the investment and credit decisions of unsophisticated investors.

.50 In January 1975, the U.S. Department of Commerce issued a report of a study entitled "Impact of FASB's Rule Two Accounting for Research and Development Costs on Firms." The study involved Small/Developing Stage interviews with forty lenders and investors, eleven small, high-technology firms, eleven accountants, and selected government agencies. It focused primarily on the impact on investment and credit decisions concerning development stage enterprises if they were required to charge research and development costs to expense when incurred. That issue is related to the issue at hand - that is, the potential economic impact on development stage enterprises of requiring certain costs to be expensed when incurred rather than deferred. The conclusions of the Department of Commerce study were generally consistent with the FASB findings described in paragraph .49 of this Statement. Specifically, the study concluded that "FASB's Statement Two should not have a significant impact on those firms who have heretofore capitalized R&D."20

²⁰ U. S., Department of Commerce, "Impact of FASB's Rule Two Accounting for Research and Development Costs on Small/Developing Stage Firms" (Washington, D. C.: U. S., Department of Commerce, January 20, 1975), p. 3.

.51 In summary, the Board has concluded that the cumulative income statement information and the cumulative information about changes in financial position required in paragraph .11 of this Statement will provide the cumulative information about preoperating costs that is typically provided by development stage enterprises currently when using special reporting formats and special accounting practices, such as those cited in paragraph .02. In addition, this Statement requires such information to be presented in financial statements whose formats are familiar and, therefore, less likely to be misinterpreted. As for the concerns of some respondents, the results of FASB discussions and the Department of Commerce study suggest that this Statement will have no significant adverse effect on the ability of development stage enterprises to obtain capital.

ISSUANCE OF SHARES OF STOCK OTHER THAN FOR CASH

.52 Under the provisions of Article 5A of SEC Regulation S-X, dollar amounts are not assigned to shares of stock issued by a development stage enterprise for noncash consideration, or to the consideration received, unless the noncash consideration has a "fixed or objectively determinable value."

.53 The proposed AICPA Audit Guide would have required assignment of dollar amounts to shares of stock issued for noncash consideration, and to the consideration received, at the time of issuance.

.54 The Board agrees with the conclusion of the AICPA Committee, and of a number of respondents to the Discussion Memorandum and Exposure Draft who addressed this question, that those transactions should be accounted for when the shares are issued in accordance with the guidelines applicable to acquisition of assets or issuance of shares in general. The transactions are not unique to development stage enterprises and should not be accounted for differently by those enterprises, even if estimates and judgments are required to determine their values.

EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION

.55 The Board adopted the restatement provisions set forth in paragraphs .14—.16 because, in its view, this approach provides the most useful information about development stage enterprises and about those previously in the development stage in comparing financial data for periods after the effective date of this Statement with data presented for earlier periods.

 \implies The next page is 8241. $\leftarrow \iff$

AC § 2062.55

AC Section 2071

Interim Financial Reporting

[Source: APB Opinion No. 28, as amended.]

Effective for interim financial information issued for all interim periods relating to fiscal years beginning after December 31, 1973, unless otherwise indicated

DISCUSSION

.01 The purpose of this section is to clarify the application of accounting principles and reporting practices to interim financial information, including interim financial statements and summarized interim financial data of publicly traded companies issued for external reporting purposes.

.02 Interim financial information may include current data during a fiscal year on financial position, results of operations and changes in financial position. This information may be issued on a monthly or quarterly basis or at other intervals and may take the form of either complete financial statements or summarized financial data. Interim financial information often is provided for each interim period or on a cumulative year-to-date basis, or both, and for the corresponding periods of the preceding year.

.03 APB Opinions and Accounting Research Bulletins make few specific references to the applicability of generally accepted accounting principles to financial statements for interim periods. A wide variety of practice exists in the application of accounting principles to interim financial information. This section indicates the applicability of generally accepted accounting principles to interim financial information and indicates types of disclosures necessary to report on a meaningful basis for a period of less than a full year.

.04 The determination of the results of operations on a meaningful basis for intervals of less than a full year presents inherent difficulties. The revenues of some businesses fluctuate widely among interim periods because of seasonal factors, while in other businesses heavy fixed costs incurred in one interim period may benefit other periods. In these situations, financial information for periods of less than a full year may be of limited usefulness. In other situations costs and expenses related to a full year's activities are incurred at infrequent intervals during the year and need to be allocated to products in process or to other interim periods to avoid distortion of interim financial results. In view of the limited time available to develop complete information, many costs and expenses are estimated in interim periods. For example, it may not be practical to perform extensive reviews of individual inventory items, costs on individual long-term contracts and precise income tax calculations for each interim period. Subsequent refinement or correction of these estimates may distort the results of operations of later interim periods. Similarly, the effects of disposal of a segment of a business and extraordinary, unusual or infrequently occurring events and transactions on the results of operations in an interim period will often be more pronounced than they will be on the results for the annual period. Special attention must be given to disclosure of the impact of these items on financial information for interim periods.

.05 The variety of practice that exists in the presentation of interim financial information is partly attributable to differing views as to the principal objective of interim financial information.

- a. Some view each interim period as a basic accounting period and conclude that the results of operations for each interim period should be determined in essentially the same manner as if the interim period were an annual accounting period. Under this view deferrals, accruals, and estimations at the end of each interim period are determined by following essentially the same principles and judgments that apply to annual periods.
- b. Others view each interim period primarily as being an integral part of the annual period. Under this view deferrals, accruals, and estimations at the end of each interim period are affected by judgments made at the interim date as to results of operations

for the balance of the annual period. Thus, an expense item that might be considered as falling wholly within an annual accounting period (no fiscal year-end accrual or deferral) could be allocated among interim periods based on estimated time, sales volume, productive activity, or some other basis.

.06 Despite these differing views and limitations, periodic and timely financial information during a fiscal year is useful to investors and others. The principal objectives of this section are to provide guidance on accounting and disclosure issues peculiar to interim reporting and to set forth minimum disclosure requirements for interim financial reports of publicly traded companies.¹ The section is not intended to deal with unresolved matters of accounting related to annual reporting.

OPINION

Applicability

.07 The Board has reviewed the applicability of APB Opinions and Accounting Research Bulletins in relation to the current practices followed in the preparation and reporting of interim financial information. The Board believes the accounting principles and reporting practices in the Opinions and Bulletins should apply to interim financial information in the manner set forth in this section. The guides expressed in this section are applicable whenever companies issue interim financial information.

.08 This section (a) outlines (Part I, paragraphs .09-.29) the application of generally accepted accounting principles to the determination of income when interim financial information is presented, (b) provides (paragraphs .19 and .20) for the use of estimated effective income tax rates (thus modifying section 4091.05, Accounting for Income Taxes), and (c) specifies (Part II, paragraphs .30-.33) certain disclosure requirements for summarized financial information issued by publicly traded companies.

¹A publicly traded company for purposes of this section includes any company whose securities trade in a public market on either (1) a stock exchange (domestic or foreign) or (2) in the over-the-counter market (including securities quoted only locally or regionally). When a company makes a filing with a regulatory agency in preparation for sale of its securities in a public market it is considered a publicly traded company for this purpose.

PART I

Standards for Determining Interim Financial Information

.09 Interim financial information is essential to provide investors and others with timely information as to the progress of the enterprise. The usefulness of such information rests on the relationship that it has to the annual results of operations. Accordingly, the Board has concluded that each interim period should be viewed primarily as an integral part of an annual period.

.10 In general, the results for each interim period should be based on the accounting principles and practices used by an enterprise in the preparation of its latest annual financial statements unless a change in an accounting practice or policy has been adopted in the current year (paragraphs .23-.29). However, the Board has concluded that certain accounting principles and practices followed for annual reporting purposes may require modification at interim reporting dates so that the reported results for the interim period may better relate to the results of operations for the annual period. Paragraphs .12-.20 set forth the modifications that are necessary or desirable at interim dates in accounting principles or practices followed for annual periods.

Revenue

.11 Revenue from products sold or services rendered should be recognized as earned during an interim period on the same basis as followed for the full year. For example, revenues from long-term construction-type contracts accounted for under the percentage-of-completion method should be recognized in interim periods on the same basis followed for the full year. Losses projected on such contracts should be recognized in full during the interim period in which the existence of such losses becomes evident.

Costs and Expenses

.12 Costs and expenses for interim reporting purposes may be classified as:

a. Costs associated with revenue—those costs that are associated directly with or allocated to the products sold or to the services rendered and which are charged against income in those interim periods in which the related revenue is recognized.

AC § 2071.09

b. All other costs and expenses—those costs and expenses that are not allocated to the products sold or to the services rendered and which are charged against income in interim fiscal periods as incurred, or are allocated among interim periods based on an estimate of time expired, benefit received, or other activity associated with the periods.

Costs Associated with Revenue

.13 Those costs and expenses that are associated directly with or allocated to the products sold or to the services rendered for annual reporting purposes (including, for example, material costs, wages and salaries and related fringe benefits, manufacturing overhead, and warranties) should be similarly treated for interim reporting purposes.

.14 Practices vary in determining costs of inventory. For example, cost of goods produced may be determined based on standard or actual cost, while cost of inventory may be determined on an average, FIFO, or LIFO cost basis. While companies should generally use the same inventory pricing methods and make provisions for writedowns to market at interim dates on the same basis as used at annual inventory dates, the following exceptions are appropriate at interim reporting dates:

- a. Some companies use estimated gross profit rates to determine the cost of goods sold during interim periods or use other methods different from those used at annual inventory dates. These companies should disclose the method used at the interim date and any significant adjustments that result from reconciliations with the annual physical inventory.
- b. Companies that use the LIFO method may encounter a liquidation of base period inventories at an interim date that is expected to be replaced by the end of the annual period. In such cases the inventory at the interim reporting date should not give effect to the LIFO liquidation, and cost of sales for the interim reporting period should include the expected cost of replacement of the liquidated LIFO base.
- c. Inventory losses from market declines should not be deferred beyond the interim period in which the

Financial Statement Presentation

decline occurs. Recoveries of such losses on the same inventory in later interim periods of the same fiscal year through market price recoveries should be recognized as gains in the later interim period. Such gains should not exceed previously recognized losses. Some market declines at interim dates, however, can reasonably be expected to be restored in the fiscal year. Such *temporary* market declines need not be recognized at the interim date since no loss is expected to be incurred in the fiscal year.

d. Companies that use standard cost accounting systems for determining inventory and product costs should generally follow the same procedures in reporting purchase price, wage rate, usage or efficiency variances from standard cost at the end of an interim period as followed at the end of a fiscal year. Purchase price variances or volume or capacity cost variances that are planned and expected to be absorbed by the end of the annual period, should ordinarily be deferred at interim reporting dates. The effect of unplanned or unanticipated purchase price or volume variances, however, should be reported at the end of an interim period following the same procedures used at the end of a fiscal year.

All Other Costs and Expenses

.15 Charges are made to income for all other costs and expenses in annual reporting periods based upon (a) direct expenditures made in the period (salaries and wages), (b) accruals for estimated expenditures to be made at a later date (vacation pay) or (c) amortization of expenditures that affect more than one annual period (insurance premiums, interest, rents). The objective in all cases is to achieve a fair measure of results of operations for the annual period and to present fairly the financial position at the end of the annual period. The Board has concluded that the following standards should apply in accounting for costs and expenses other than product costs in interim periods:

a. Costs and expenses other than product costs should be charged to income in interim periods as incurred, or be allocated among interim periods based on an estimate of time expired, benefit received or activity

AC § 2071.15

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

associated with the periods. Procedures adopted for assigning specific cost and expense items to an interim period should be consistent with the bases followed by the company in reporting results of operations at annual reporting dates. However, when a specific cost or expense item charged to expense for annual reporting purposes benefits more than one interim period, the cost or expense item may be allocated to those interim periods. (See paragraph .16.)

- b. Some costs and expenses incurred in an interim period, however, cannot be readily identified with the activities or benefits of other interim periods and should be charged to the interim period in which incurred. Disclosure should be made as to the nature and amount of such costs unless items of a comparable nature are included in both the current interim period and in the corresponding interim period of the preceding year.
- c. Arbitrary assignment of the amount of such costs to an interim period should not be made.
- d. Gains and losses that arise in any interim period similar to those that would not be deferred at year end should not be deferred to later interim periods within the same fiscal year.

.16 A complete listing of examples of application of the standards set forth in paragraph .15 is not practical; however, the following examples of applications may be helpful:

- a. When a cost that is expensed for annual reporting purposes clearly benefits two or more interim periods (e. g., annual major repairs), each interim period should be charged for an appropriate portion of the annual cost by the use of accruals or deferrals.
- b. When quantity discounts are allowed customers based upon annual sales volume, the amount of such discounts charged to each interim period should be based on the sales to customers during the interim period in relation to estimated annual sales.

- c. Property taxes (and similar costs such as interest and rent) may be accrued or deferred at annual reporting date, to achieve a full year's charge of taxes to costs and expenses. Similar procedures should be adopted at each interim reporting date to provide an appropriate cost in each period.
- d. Advertising costs may be deferred within a fiscal year if the benefits of an expenditure made clearly extend beyond the interim period in which the expenditure is made. Advertising costs may be accrued and assigned to interim periods in relation to sales prior to the time the service is received if the advertising program is clearly implicit in the sales arrangement.

.17 The amounts of certain costs and expenses are frequently subjected to year-end adjustments even though they can be reasonably approximated at interim dates. To the extent possible such adjustments should be estimated and the estimated costs and expenses assigned to interim periods so that the interim periods bear a reasonable portion of the anticipated annual amount. Examples of such items include inventory shrinkage, allowance for uncollectible accounts, allowance for quantity discounts, and discretionary yearend bonuses.

Seasonal Revenue, Costs, or Expenses

.18 Revenues of certain businesses are subject to material seasonal variations. To avoid the possibility that interim results with material seasonal variations may be taken as fairly indicative of the estimated results for a full fiscal year, such businesses should disclose the seasonal nature of their activities, and consider supplementing their interim reports with information for twelve-month periods ended at the interim date for the current and preceding years.

Income Tax Provisions

.19 In reporting interim financial information, income tax provisions should be determined under the procedures set forth in sections 4091, 4095, and 4096. At the end of each interim period the company should make its best estimate of the effective tax rate expected to be applicable for

AC § 2071.17

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

the full fiscal year. The rate so determined should be used in providing for income taxes on a current year-to-date basis. The effective tax rate should reflect anticipated investment tax credits, foreign tax rates, percentage depletion, capital gains rates, and other available tax planning alternatives. However, in arriving at this effective tax rate no effect should be included for the tax related to significant unusual or extraordinary items that will be separately reported or reported net of their related tax effect in reports for the interim period or for the fiscal year.²

.20 The tax effects of losses that arise in the early portion of a fiscal year (in the event carryback of such losses is not possible) should be recognized only when realization is assured beyond any reasonable doubt (section 4091.44). An established seasonal pattern of loss in early interim periods offset by income in later interim periods should constitute evidence that realization is assured beyond reasonable doubt, unless other evidence indicates the established seasonal pattern will not prevail. The tax effects of losses incurred in early interim periods may be recognized in a later interim period of a fiscal year if their realization, although initially uncertain, later becomes assured beyond reasonable doubt. When the tax effects of losses that arise in the early portions of a fiscal year are not recognized in that interim period, no tax provision should be made for income that arises in later interim periods until the tax effects of the previous interim losses are utilized.³ Changes resulting from new tax legislation should be reflected after the effective dates prescribed in the statutes.

Disposal of a Segment of a Business and Extraordinary, Unusual, Infrequently Occurring and Contingent Items

.21 Extraordinary items should be disclosed separately and included in the determination of net income for the interim period in which they occur. In determining materiality, extraordinary items should be related to the estimated income for the full fiscal year. Effects of disposals

² Disclosure should be made of the reasons for significant variations in the customary relationship between income tax expense and pretax accounting income, if they are not otherwise apparent from the financial statements or from the nature of the entity's business (see section 4091.62). ³ The tax benefits of interim losses accounted for in this manner would

^{*}The tax benefits of interim losses accounted for in this manner would not be reported as extraordinary items in the results of operations of the interim period as is provided for in annual periods in section 4091.44.

of a segment of a business and unusual and infrequently occurring transactions and events that are material with respect to the operating results of the interim period but that are not designated as extraordinary items in the interim statements should be reported separately. In addition, matters such as unusual seasonal results, business combinations treated for accounting purposes as poolings of interests and acquisition of a significant business in a purchase should be disclosed to provide information needed for a proper understanding of interim financial reports. Extraordinary items, gains or losses from disposal of a segment of a business, and unusual or infrequently occurring items should not be prorated over the balance of the fiscal year.

.22 Contingencies and other uncertainties that could be expected to affect the fairness of presentation of financial data at an interim date should be disclosed in interim reports in the same manner required for annual reports.⁴ Such disclosures should be repeated in interim and annual reports until the contingencies have been removed, resolved, or have become immaterial.

Accounting Changes

.23 Each report of interim financial information should indicate any change in accounting principles or practices from those applied in (a) the comparable interim period of the prior annual period, (b) the preceding interim periods in the current annual period and (c) the prior annual report.

.24 Changes in an interim or annual accounting practice or policy made in an interim period should be reported in the period in which the change is made, in accordance with the provisions of section 1051, *Accounting Changes*.

.25 Certain changes in accounting principle, such as those described in sections 1051.04 and 1051.27, require retroactive restatement of previously issued financial statements. Section 2010.25, *Reporting the Results of Operations*, requires similar treatment for prior period adjustments. Previously issued financial statements must also be restated for a change in the reporting entity (see section

⁴The significance of a contingency or uncertainty should be judged in relation to annual financial statements. Disclosures of such items should include, but not be limited to, those matters that form the basis of a qualification of an independent auditor's report. (See section 4311.)

1051.34-.35) and for correction of an error (see section 1051.36-.37). Previously issued interim financial information should be similarly restated. Sections 2010 and 1051 specify the required disclosures.

.26 The effect of a change in an accounting estimate, including a change in the estimated effective annual tax rate, should be accounted for in the period in which the change in estimate is made. No restatement of previously reported interim information should be made for changes in estimates, but the effect on earnings of a change in estimate made in a current interim period should be reported in the current and subsequent interim periods, if material in relation to any period presented and should continue to be reported in the interim financial information of the subsequent year for as many periods as necessary to avoid misleading comparisons. Such disclosure should conform with section 1051.33.

.27 [Superseded for cumulative effect type accounting changes by FASB Statement No. 3, effective for interim periods ending on or after December 31, 1974.] (See section 2072.)

.28 The Board recommends that, whenever possible, companies adopt any accounting changes during the first interim period of a fiscal year. Changes in accounting principles and practices adopted after the first interim period in a fiscal year tend to obscure operating results and complicate disclosure of interim financial information.

.29 In determining materiality for the purpose of reporting the cumulative effect of an accounting change or correction of an error, amounts should be related to the estimated income for the full fiscal year and also to the effect on the trend of earnings. Changes that are material with respect to an interim period but not material with respect to the estimated income for the full fiscal year or to the trend of earnings should be separately disclosed in the interim period.

PART II Disclosure of Summarized Interim Financial Data by Publicly Traded Companies

.30 The Board recognizes that many publicly traded companies ⁶ report summarized financial information to

their securityholders at periodic interim dates in considerably less detail than that provided in annual financial statements. While this information provides securityholders with more timely information than would result if complete financial statements were issued at the end of each interim period, the timeliness of presentation may be partially offset by a reduction in detail in the information provided. As a result, the Board recognizes that certain guides as to minimum disclosure are desirable. When publicly traded companies report summarized financial information to their securityholders at interim dates (including reports on fourth quarters), the following data should be reported, as a minimum:⁷

- a. Sales or gross revenues, provision for income taxes, extraordinary items (including related income tax effects), cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles or practices, and net income.
- b. Primary and fully diluted earnings per share data for each period presented, determined in accordance with the provisions of section 2011, *Earnings Per Share*.
- c. Seasonal revenue, costs or expenses (paragraph .18).
- d. Significant changes in estimates or provisions for income taxes (paragraph .19).
- e. Disposal of a segment of a business and extraordinary, unusual or infrequently occurring items (paragraph .21).
- f. Contingent items (paragraph .22).
- g. Changes in accounting principles or estimates (paragraphs .23-.29).
- h. Significant changes in financial position (paragraph .33).

When summarized financial data are regularly reported on a quarterly basis, the foregoing information with respect to the current quarter and the current year-to-date or the last

⁷ It should be recognized that the minimum disclosures of summarized interim financial data required of publicly traded companies by Part II of this section do not constitute a fair presentation of financial position and results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

twelve months to date should be furnished together with comparable data for the preceding year.

.31 When interim financial data and disclosures are not separately reported for the fourth quarter, securityholders often make inferences about that quarter by subtracting data based on the third quarter interim report from the annual results. In the absence of a separate fourth quarter report or disclosure of the results (as outlined in paragraph .30) for that quarter in the annual report, disposals of segments of a business and extraordinary, unusual, or infrequently occurring items recognized in the fourth quarter, as well as the aggregate effect of year-end adjustments which are material to the results of that quarter (see paragraphs .04 and .17), and an accounting change made in the fourth quarter (see section 2072.14) should be disclosed in the annual report in a note to the annual financial statements. [As amended, effective for interim periods ending on or after December 31, 1974 by FASB Statement No. 3.]

.32 Disclosure of the impact on the financial results for interim periods of the matters discussed in paragraphs .21-.29 is desirable for as many subsequent periods as necessary to keep the reader fully informed. The Board believes there is a presumption that users of summarized interim financial data will have read the latest published annual report, including the financial disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles and management's commentary concerning the annual financial results, and that the summarized interim data will be viewed in that context. In this connection, the Board encourages management to provide commentary relating to the effects of significant events upon the interim financial results.

.33 The Board encourages publicly traded companies to publish balance sheet and funds flow data at interim dates since these data often assist securityholders in their understanding and interpretation of the income data reported. When condensed interim balance sheet information or funds flow data are not presented at interim reporting dates, significant changes since the last reporting period with respect to liquid assets, net working capital, long-term liabilities, or stockholders' equity should be disclosed.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.34 This section shall be effective for interim financial information issued for all interim periods relating to fiscal years beginning after December 31, 1973. However, the Board encourages earlier application of the provisions of this section.

.35 When interim financial data are presented for prior interim periods for comparative purposes, these data should be restated on a basis consistent with procedures newly adopted, or the effect on the prior interim period data had the newly adopted procedures been applicable for that period should be disclosed.

AC § 2071.34

AC Section 2072

Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements an amendment of Section 2071 [Source: FASB Statement No. 3.]

December 1974

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION

.01 As a result of numerous inquiries concerning the appropriate procedures for reporting a change to the LIFO method of inventory pricing in interim financial reports, the FASB has examined certain conclusions of *APB Opinion No. 28* [section 2071], "Interim Financial Reporting," with respect to two aspects of reporting accounting changes in interim financial reports:

- a) Reporting a cumulative effect type accounting change (as described in *APB Opinion No. 20* [section 1051], "Accounting Changes") including a change to the LIFO method of inventory pricing for which a cumulative effect cannot be determined.
- b) Reporting an accounting change made during the fourth quarter of a fiscal year by a company whose securities are publicly traded.

.02 APB Opinion No. 28 [section 2071] became effective for interim periods relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 1974, and paragraphs 23-29 of that Opinion set forth standards for reporting accounting changes in interim financial reports. Those paragraphs provide that, in general, an accounting change made in an interim period should be reported in accordance with the provisions of APB Opinion No. 20 [section 1051].

.03 Paragraphs 9-14 of this Statement establish standards of financial accounting and reporting that address the matters identified in paragraph 1. The Appendices to this Statement contain examples of application of *APB Opinion No. 28* [section 2071] (as amended by this Statement) and the requirements of *APB Opinion No. 20* [section 1051] as they are incorporated by reference in *APB Opinion No. 28* [section 2071].

.04 An Exposure Draft of a proposed Statement on "Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements" was issued on November 11, 1974. Fifty-five letters were received in response to the request for comments. This Statement incorporates a number of changes suggested by those respondents. The principal change is to require that, if an accounting change is made in other than the first interim period of an enterprise's fiscal year, the cumulative effect of the change on retained earnings at the beginning of that year shall be included in the determination of net income of the first interim period of the year of change (by restatement of that period's financial information).

.05 The Board has concluded that it can make an informed decision on the matters identified in paragraph 1 of this Statement without a public hearing. It has also concluded that the effective date in paragraph 16 of this Statement is advisable to permit application of the provisions of this Statement before divergent interpretations of APB Opinion No. 28 [section 2071] develop in practice.

Cumulative Effect Type Accounting Changes

.06 Paragraph 27 of APB Opinion No. 28 [section 2071.27] provides that "a change in accounting principle or practice adopted in an interim period that requires an adjustment for the cumulative effect of the change to the beginning of the current fiscal year should be reported in the interim period in a manner similar to that to be followed in the annual report. . . The effect of the change from the beginning of the annual period to the period of change should be reported as a determinant of net income in the interim period in which the change is made." That paragraph goes on to require, however, that when information is subsequently presented for the period in which the change is made or for pre-change interim periods of that year, that information should be restated to give effect to the accounting change.

107 As a result of those requirements, if a cumulative effect type accounting change is made, the cumulative effect of the change on retained earnings at the beginning of that fiscal year is a component of net income of the interim period in which the change is adopted. If a change is made in other than the first interim period, since the cumulative effect remains a component of that interim period's income when financial information for that period is subsequently reported, reissued pre-change interim period balance sheets would not reflect the

cumulative effect of the change on retained earnings at the beginning of the fiscal year on a retroactive basis, whereas reissued pre-change interim period income statements would be restated. In addition, an enterprise may issue interim financial information knowing that the information will subsequently have to be revised. For example, during the second quarter of its fiscal year an enterprise may make an accounting change as of the beginning of that quarter. If, subsequently during that second quarter, the enterprise issues first quarter financial information (perhaps in a report to its securityholders, in a report to a bank, or in a filing with the SEC), that first quarter information would be prepared on the basis of the old accounting principle - not the newly adopted one. When that enterprise later issues second quarter information, both the cumulative effect of the change up to the beginning of the fiscal year and the effect from the beginning of the year to the beginning of the second quarter would be included in the determination of second guarter net income. However, in any subsequent report that separately presents information either for that first quarter or that second quarter, the first quarter information would be retroactively restated on the basis of the newly adopted accounting principle, and the effect of the change from the beginning of the year to the beginning of the second quarter would no longer be included in second quarter net income. Thus the enterprise issued both first and second quarter information that had to be restated in subsequent periods. A similar situation arises if the accounting change were made during the third or fourth quarters.

Fourth Quarter Accounting Changes Made by Publicly Traded Companies

STANDARDS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING

Cumulative Effect Type Accounting Changes Other Than Changes to LIFO

.09 If a cumulative effect type accounting change is made during the *first* interim period of an enterprise's fiscal year, the cumulative effect of the change on retained earnings at the *beginning of that fiscal year* shall be included in net income of the first interim period (and in last-twelve-months-to-date financial reports that include that first interim period).

.10 If a cumulative effect type accounting change is made in other than the first interim period of an enterprise's fiscal year, no cumulative effect of the change shall be included in net income of the period of change. Instead, financial information for the pre-change interim periods of the fiscal year in which the change is made shall be restated by applying the newly adopted accounting principle to those pre-change interim periods. The cumulative effect of the change on retained earnings at the beginning of that fiscal year shall be included in restated net income of the first interim period of the fiscal year in which the change is made (and in any year-to-date or last-twelve-months-to-date financial reports that include the first interim period). Whenever financial information that includes those pre-change interim periods is presented, it shall be presented on the restated basis.

.11 The following disclosures about a cumulative effect type accounting change shall be made in interim financial reports:

- a) In financial reports for the interim period in which the new accounting principle is adopted, disclosure shall be made of the nature of and justification for the change.
- b) In financial reports for the interim period in which the new accounting principle is adopted, disclosure shall be made of the effect of the change on income from continuing operations, net income, and related per share amounts for the interim period in which the change is made. In addition, when the change is made in other than the first interim period of a fiscal year, financial reports for the period of change shall also disclose (i) the effect of the change on income from continuing operations, net income, and related per share amounts for each pre-change interim period of that fiscal year and (ii) income from continuing operations, net income, and related per share amounts for each pre-change interim period of that fiscal year and (ii) income from continuing operations, net income, and related per share amounts for each pre-change interim period of that fiscal year and (ii) income from continuing operations, net income, and related per share amounts for each pre-change interim period of that fiscal year and (ii) income from continuing operations, net income, and related per share amounts for each pre-change interim period of that fiscal year and (ii) income from continuing operations, net income, and related per share amounts for each pre-change interim period of that fiscal year and (ii) income from continuing operations, net income, and related per share amounts for each pre-change interim period of that fiscal year and (ii) income from continuing operations, net income, and related per share amounts for each pre-change interim period period

interim period restated in accordance with paragraph 10 of this Statement.

- c) In financial reports for the interim period in which the new accounting principle is adopted, disclosure shall be made of income from continuing operations, net income, and related per share amounts computed on a pro forma basis for (i) the interim period in which the change is made and (ii) any interim periods of prior fiscal years for which financial information is being presented. If no financial information for interim periods of prior fiscal years is being presented, disclosure shall be made, in the period of change, of the actual and pro forma amounts of income from continuing operations, net income, and related per share amounts for the interim period of the immediately preceding fiscal year that corresponds to the interim period in which the change is made. In all cases, the pro forma amounts shall be computed and presented in conformity with paragraphs 19, 21, 22, and 25 of APB Opinion No. 20 [sections 1051.19, 1051.21. 1051.22, and 1051.25].
- d) In year-to-date and last-twelve-months-to-date financial reports that include the interim period in which the new accounting principle is adopted, the disclosures specified in the first sentence of subparagraph (b) above and in subparagraph (c) above shall be made.
- e) In financial reports for a subsequent (post-change) interim period of the fiscal year in which the new accounting principle is adopted, disclosure shall be made of the effect of the change on income from continuing operations, net income, and related per share amounts for that post-change interim period.

Changes to the LIFO Method of Inventory Pricing and Similar Situations

.12 Paragraph 26 of APB Opinion No. 20 [section 1051.26] indicates that in rare situations—principally a change to the LIFO method of inventory pricing ¹—neither the cumulative effect of the change on retained earnings at the beginning of the fiscal year in which the change is made nor the pro forma amounts can be computed. In those situations, that paragraph requires an explanation of the reasons for omitting (a) accounting for a cumu-

¹In making disclosures about changes to the LIFO method, enterprises should be aware of the limitations the Internal Revenue Service has placed on such disclosures.

lative effect and (b) disclosure of pro forma amounts for prior years. If a change of that type is made in the *first* interim period of an enterprise's fiscal year, the disclosures specified in paragraph 11 of this Statement shall be made (except the pro forma amounts for interim periods of prior fiscal years called for by paragraph 11(c) will not be disclosed).

.13 If the change is made in *other than* the first interim period of an enterprise's fiscal year, the disclosure specified in paragraph 11 of this Statement shall be made (except the pro forma amounts for interim periods of prior fiscal years called for by paragraph 11(c) will not be disclosed) and in addition, financial information for the pre-change interim periods of that fiscal year shall be restated by applying the newly adopted accounting principle to those pre-change interim periods. Whenever financial information that includes those pre-change interim periods is presented, it shall be presented on the restated basis.

Fourth Quarter Accounting Changes Made by Publicly Traded Companies

.14 When a publicly traded company that regularly reports interim information to its securityholders makes an accounting change during the fourth quarter of its fiscal year and does not report the data specified by paragraph 30 of APB Opinion No. 28 [section 2071.30] in a separate fourth quarter report or in its annual report ² to its securityholders, the disclosures about the effect of the accounting change on interim periods that are required by paragraphs 23-26 of APB Opinion No. 28 [section 2071.23—.26] or by paragraphs 9-13 of this Statement, as appropriate, shall be made in a note to the annual financial statements for the fiscal year in which the change is made.

Amendments to Existing Pronouncement

.15 Paragraph 27 of *APB Opinion No. 28* [section 2071.27] is superseded by paragraphs 9-13 of this Statement. Paragraph 31 of that Opinion is amended by this Statement to require the additional disclosures set forth in paragraph 14.

Effective Date

.16 The provisions of this Statement shall apply to accounting changes made in interim periods ending on or after December 31, 1974.

²See footnote 1.

This Statement was adopted by the unanimous vote of the seven members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board:

Marshall S. Armstrong, *Chairman* Donald J. Kirk Arthur L. Litke Robert E. Mays John W. Queenan Walter Schuetze Robert T. Sprouse

The provisions of this Statement need not be applied to immaterial items.

Appendix A

REPORTING A CUMULATIVE EFFECT TYPE ACCOUNTING CHANGE (OTHER THAN A CHANGE TO LIFO)

.17 The following are examples of application of APB Opinion No. 28 [section 2071] (as amended by this Statement) and the requirements of APB Opinion No. 20 [section 1051] as they are incorporated by reference in APB Opinion No. 28 [section 2071]. The examples do not encompass all possible circumstances and are not intended to indicate the Board's preference for a particular format.

FACTS

.18 In the year 19x5, ABC Company decides to adopt the straightline method of depreciation for plant equipment. The straightline method will be used for new acquisitions as well as for previously acquired plant equipment for which depreciation had been provided on an accelerated method.

.19 These examples assume that the effects of the change are limited to the effect on depreciation, incentive compensation, and related income tax provisions and that the effect on inventories is not material. The pro forma amounts have been adjusted for an assumed 10% pre-tax effect of the change on the provisions for incentive compensation and an assumed 50% income tax rate. The per share amounts are computed assuming that throughout the two years 19x4 and 19x5, 1,000,000 shares of common stock were issued and outstanding with no potential dilution. Other data assumed for these examples are:

Period	Net Income on the Basis of Old Accounting Principle (Accelerated Depreciation)	Gross Effect of Change to Straight-Line Depreciation	Gross Effect Less Income Taxes	Net Effect After Incentive Compensation and Related Income Taxes
Prior to first quarter 19x4		\$ 20,000	\$ 10,000	\$ 9,000
First quarter 19x4	\$1,000,000	30,000	15,000	13,500
Second quarter 19x4	1,200,000	70,000	35,000	31,500
Third quarter 19x4	1,100,000	50,000	25,000	22,500
Fourth quarter 19x4	1,100,000	80,000	40,000	36,000
Total at beginning of 19x5	\$4,400,000	\$250,000	\$125,000	<u>\$112,500</u>
First quarter 19x5	\$1,059,500	\$ 90,000	\$ 45,000	\$ 40,500
Second quarter 19x5	1,255,000	100,000	50,000	45,000
Third quarter 19x5	1,150,500	110,000	55,000	49,500
Fourth quarter 19x5	1,146,000	120,000	60,000	54,000
	<u>\$4,611,000</u>	\$420,000	\$210,000	\$189,000

•

.

EXAMPLE 1

.20 The change in depreciation method is made in the first quarter of 19x5. The manner of reporting the change in the first quarter of 19x5, with comparative information for the first quarter of 19x4, is as follows:

		Three Months Ended March 31.	
	19x5	19x4	
Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle Cumulative effect on prior years (to December 31,	\$1,100,000	\$1,000,000	
19x4) of changing to a different depreciation method (Note A)	125,000		
Net income	\$1,225,000	\$1,000,000	
Amounts per common share: Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle Cumulative effect on prior years (to December 31, 19x4) of changing to a different depreciation	\$1.10	\$1.00	
method (Note A)	13		
Net income	\$1.23	\$1.00	
Pro forma amounts assuming the new depreciation method is applied retroactively (Note A): Net income Net income per common share	\$1,100,000 \$1.10	\$1,013,500 \$1.01	

NOTE A: Change in Depreciation Method for Plant Equipment

In the first quarter of 19x5, the method of computing depreciation of plant equipment was changed from the ... (state previous method)... used in prior years, to the straight-line method . . . (state justification for the change in method)... and the new method has been applied to equipment acquisitions of prior years. The \$125,000 cumulative effect of the change on prior years (after reduction for income taxes of \$125,000) is included in income of the first quarter of 19x5. The effect of the change on the first quarter of 19x5 was to increase income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle \$40,500 (\$.04 per share) and net income \$165,500 (\$.17 per share). The pro forma amounts reflect the effect of retroactive application on depreciation, the change in provisions for incentive compensation that would have been made in 19x4 had the new method been in effect, and related income taxes.

EXAMPLE 2

.21 Assume the same facts as in Example 1, except that the change is made in the third quarter of 19x5.

The manner of reporting the change in the third quarter of 19x5, with year-to-date information and comparative information for similar periods of 19x4, is as follows:

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	19x5	19x4	19x5	19x4
Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle	\$1,200,000	\$1,100,000	\$3,600,000	\$3,300,000
Cumulative effect on prior years (to December 31, 19x4) of changing to a different depreciation				
method (Note A)			125,000	
Net income	\$1,200,000	\$1,100,000	\$3,725,000	\$3,300,000
Amounts per common share	:			
Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle	9 \$1.20	\$1.10	\$3.60	\$3.30
Cumulative effect on prior years (to December 31, 19x4) of changing to a different depreciation method (Note A)			13	
Net income	\$1.20	<u>\$1.10</u>	\$3.73	\$3.30
Pro forma amounts assuming the new depreciation method is applied retroactively (Note A):				
Net income	\$1,200,000	\$1,122,500	\$3,600,000	\$3,367,500
Net income per common share	\$1.20	\$1.12	\$3.60	\$3 .37

NOTE A: Change in Depreciation Method for Plant Equipment

In the third quarter of 19x5, the method of computing depreciation of plant equipment was changed from the ... (state previous method)... used in prior years, to the straight-line method ... (state justification for the change in method)... and the new method has been applied to equipment acquisitions of prior years. The \$125,000 cumulative effect of the change on prior years (after reduction for income taxes of \$125,000) is included in income of the nine months ended September 30, 19x5. The effect of the change on the three months ended September 30, 19x5 was to increase net income \$49,500 (\$.05 per share); the effect of the change on the nine months ended September 30, 19x5 was to increase income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle \$135,000 (\$.14 per share) and net income \$260,000 (\$.26 per share). The pro forma amounts reflect the effect of retroactive application on depreciation, the change in provisions for incentive compensation that would have been made in 19x4 had the new method been in effect, and related income taxes. The effect of the change on the first quarter of 19x5 was to increase income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle \$40,500 (\$.04 per share) to \$1,100,000 (\$1.10 per share) and net income \$165,500 (\$.17 per share) to \$1,225,000 (\$1.23 per share); the effect of the change on the second quarter was to increase net income \$45,000 (\$.04 per share) to \$1,300,000 (\$1.30 per share).

Alternatively, the last sentence of Note A could be replaced with the following tabular disclosure:

The effect of the change on the first and second quarters of 19x5 is as follows:

	Three Months Ended	
	March 31, 19x5	June 30, 19x5
Net income as originally reported*	\$1,059,500	\$1,255,000
Effect of change in depreciation method	40,500	45,000
Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle Cumulative effect on prior years (to December 31, 19x4) of changing to a different depreciation	1,100,000	1,300,000
methód	125,000	
Net income as restated	\$1,225,000	\$1,300,000
Per share amounts:		
Net income as originally reported *	\$1.06	\$1.26
Effect of change in depreciation method	.04	.04
Income before cumulative effect of a change in		
accounting principle	1.10	1.30
Cumulative effect on prior years (to December 31, 19x4) of changing to a different depreciation		
method	.13	
Net income as restated	\$1.23	\$1.30
• Discharges of and increase on existently considered to not an existent		

* Disclosure of net income as originally reported is not required.

8274

Appendix B

REPORTING A CHANGE TO THE LIFO METHOD OF INVENTORY PRICING

.22 The following are examples of application of APB Opinion No. 28 [section 2071] (as amended by this Statement) and the requirements of APB Opinion No. 20 [section 1051] as they are incorporated by reference in APB Opinion No. 28 [section 2071]. The examples do not encompass all possible circumstances and are not intended to indicate the Board's preference for a particular format.

FACTS

.23 In the year 19x5, XYZ Company decides to change to the LIFO method of inventory pricing. These examples assume that the effects of the change are limited to the effect on inventory, incentive compensation, and related income tax provisions. A 10% pre-tax effect of the change on incentive compensation and a 50% income tax rate are assumed. The per share amounts are computed assuming that throughout 19x4 and 19x5, 1,000,000 shares of common stock were issued and outstanding with no potential dilution. Other data assumed for these examples are:

Period	Net Income on tho Basis of Old Accounting Principle	Gross Effect of Change to LIFO	Net Effect After Incentive Compensation and Income Taxes
First quarter 19x5 Second quarter 19x5 Third quarter 19x5 Fourth quarter 19x5	\$1,095,500 1,295,000 1,194,500 <u>1,194,000</u> \$4,779,000	\$(90,000) (100,000) (110,000) (120,000) \$(420,000)	\$(40,500) (45,000) (49,500) <u>(54,000)</u> \$(189,000)

EXAMPLE 3

.24 The change to LIFO is made in the first quarter of 19x5. The manner of reporting the change in the first quarter of 19x5, with comparative information for the first quarter of 19x4, is as follows:

		onths Ended rch 31,
	19x5	19x4
Net income (Note A)	\$1,055,000	\$1,000,000
Net income per common share (Note A)	<u>\$1.06</u>	<u>\$1.00</u>

NOTE A: Change to LIFO Method of Inventory Pricing

In the first quarter of 19x5, the Company changed its method of inventory pricing from ... (state previous method)... used previously to the LIFO method because ... (state justification for change and reasons for not disclosing a cumulative effect on, and pro forma amounts for, prior periods). The effect of the change on the first quarter of 19x5 was to decrease net income \$40,500 (\$.04 per share).

EXAMPLE 4

.25 Assume the same facts as in Example 3, except that the change is made in the third quarter of 19x5.

The manner of reporting the change in the third quarter of 19x5, with year-to-date information and comparative information for similar periods of 19x4, is as follows:

	Three Months Ended Nine Months Ende September 30, September 30,				
	19x5	19x4	19x5 19x4		
Net income (Note A)	\$1,145,000	\$1,200,000	\$3,450,000	\$3,400,000	
Net income per common share (Note A)	\$1.15	<u>\$1.20</u>	\$3.45	<u>\$3.40</u>	

NOTE A: Change to LIFO Method of Inventory Pricing

In the third quarter of 19x5, the Company changed its method of inventory pricing from . . . (state previous method) . . . used previously to the LIFO method because . . . (state justification for change and reasons for not disclosing a cumulative effect on, and pro forma amounts for, prior periods). The effect of the change on the three months and nine months ended September 30, 19x5 was to decrease net income \$49,500 (\$.05 per share) and \$135,000 (\$.14 per share), respectively. The effect of the change on the first and second quarters of 19x5 was to decrease net income \$40,500 (\$.04 per share) to \$1,055,000 (\$1.06 per share) and \$45,000 (\$.05 per share) to \$1,250,000 (\$1.25 per share), respectively. Alternatively, the last sentence of Note A could be replaced with the following tabular disclosure:

The effect of the change on the first and second quarters of 19x5 is as follows:

	Three Months Ended	
	March 31, 19x5	June 30, 19x5
Net income as originally reported*	\$1,095,500	\$1,295,000
Effect of change to LIFO method of inventory pricing	(40,500)	(45,000)
Net income as restated	\$1,055, 00 0	\$1,250,000
Per share amounts:		
Net income as originally reported*	\$1.10	\$1.30
Effect of change to LIFO method of inventory pricing	(.04)	(.05)
Net income as restated	<u>\$1.06</u>	\$1.25

*Disclosure of net income as originally reported is not required.

AC Section 4000

REVENUE AND EXPENSE

. . . unrealized profit . . . installment method . . . construction-type contracts . . . government contracts . . . financial statements of lessors . . compensation . . . pension plan costs . . . deferred compensation . . . depreciation . . . real and personal property taxes . . . income taxes . . . interest . . . research and development . . . contingencies

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Paragraph

4010	Unrealized	Profit
4010	Unieunzeu	r i Om

Section

- 4020 Installment Method of Accounting
- 4030 Construction-Type Contracts

4031	Long-Term Construction-Type Contracts	
-	Generally Accepted Methods	.03
	Percentage-of-Completion Method	.0408
	Completed-Contract Method	.0914
	Selection of Method	.15
	Commitments	.16
4040	Government Contracts	
4041	Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts	

	Summary Statement	.0205
	Discussion	.0609
	Major Accounting Problems	.1022
1010	Democratication	*

4U4Z	Kenegotiation	
	Treatment in Financial Statements	.0607
	Renegotiation Refunds for Prior Years	.08

4043	Terminated War and Defense	Contracts
	Summary Statement	
	Discussion	
AICPA Pr	rofessional Standards	Contents

8302	Table of Contents	
Section	Pa	ragraph
4050	Financial Statements of Lessors	
4051	Accounting for Leases in Financial Statements of Lessors	
	Introduction	.0102
	Discussion Leasing Activities Accounting Methods	.03 0409.
	Opinion Initial Direct Costs	.11
	Reporting in Balance Sheet	.1315
		.17
	Relationship to Section 5351 Prior Lease Agreements	.18 .19
4052	Accounting for Lease Transactions by Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors	
	Introduction	.01
	Discussion	
	Opinion	.0417 .0409
	Two-party Lease Transactions	.0409
		.0709
	Participation by Third Parties	.1014
	Leases equivalent to sales	
	Transactions with Related Companies	.1517
	Leases equivalent to sales	.15 .1617
	Operating leases	.1017
4060	Compensation	
4000	•	
4061	Compensation Involved in Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans	
	Rights Involving Compensation	.03
	Rights Not Involving Compensation	
	Time of Measurement of Compensation	
	Other Considerations	
4062	Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees	
	Introduction Scope of Section	.0106
	Differing Views	.0506
	Opinion	.0719
	Noncompensatory Plans	.07. 0819.
	Compensatory Plans	.0819
Contents	Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Account	ants, Inc.

Paraaranh

Accruing Compensation Cost .1215 Accounting for Income Tax Benefits .1618 Disclosure .19 Effective Date .20 4062A Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees— Appendix A Measuring and Accounting for Compensation Under Typical Plans (For Illustration Only) .0114 Compensation Cost Measured at Date of Grant or .0306 Accounting .03 Typical Plans with Fixed and Determinable .03 Terms .04 Stock Bonus or Award Plans .06 Compensation Cost Measured at Other than Date of Grant or Award .0712 Accounting .0708 Typical Plans with Variable Terms .09 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .10 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .1112 Combination and Elective Plans .1314 Accounting .1314 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans .1416 Introduction .0107 Pension Plans Covered by This Section .06 Basic Accounting Method .05 Discussion .912	Section	Pa	ragraph
4062A Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees— Appendix A Measuring and Accounting for Compensation Under Typical Plans (For Illustration Only) .0114 Compensation Cost Measured at Date of Grant or Award .0306 Accounting .03 Typical Plans with Fixed and Determinable Terms .04 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .06 Compensation Cost Measured at Other than Date of Grant or Award .0712 Accounting .0718 Accounting .0718 Typical Plans with Variable Terms .09 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .10 Stock Coption and Stock Purchase Plans .11 Combination and Elective Plans .1112 Combination and Elective Plans .14 Accounting .13 Typical Combination and Elective Plans .14 Accounting Method .0107 Pension Plans Covered by This Section .06 Basic Accounting Methods .02 Discussion	4062	Applying the measurement principle Accruing Compensation Cost Accounting for Income Tax Benefits Disclosure	.11 .1215
Measuring and Accounting for Compensation Under Typical Plans (For Illustration Only) .0114 Compensation Cost Measured at Date of Grant or .0306 Accounting .03 Typical Plans with Fixed and Determinable .04 Terms .04 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .05 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .05 Stock Bonus or Award Plans .0712 Accounting .0708 Typical Plans with Variable Terms .09 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .1014 Accounting .0708 Typical Plans with Variable Terms .09 Stock Donion and Stock Purchase Plans .1012 Combination and Elective Plans .1112 Combination and Elective Plans .13 Typical Combination and Elective Plans .14 4063 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans Introduction .0107 Pension Plans Covered by This Section .08 Basic Accounting Method .05 Discussion .1922 Opinion .2324 Actuarial Cost Metho	4062A	Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees	
Typical Plans (For Illustration Only) .0114 Compensation Cost Measured at Date of Grant or .0306 Award .0306 Accounting .03 Typical Plans with Fixed and Determinable .04 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .05 Stock Bonus or Award Plans .06 Compensation Cost Measured at Other than Date of .0712 Accounting .1016 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .10 Stock Bonus or Award Plans .1112 Combination and Elective Plans .1314 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans .14 4063 Accounting Method .0915 Discussion .0915 .0915 Opinion .23		•••	
Accounting .03 Typical Plans with Fixed and Determinable .04 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .05 Stock Bonus or Award Plans .06 Compensation Cost Measured at Other than Date of .0712 Accounting .0708 Typical Plans with Variable Terms .09 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .10 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .10 Stock Bonus or Award Plans .1112 Combination and Elective Plans .1314 Accounting .13 Typical Combination and Elective Plans .14 4063 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans Introduction .0107 Pension Plans Covered by This Section .08 Basic Accounting Method .05 Discussion .0915 Opinion .1616 Actuarial Cost Methods		Typical Plans (For Illustration Only)	.0114
Terms .04 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .05 Stock Bonus or Award Plans .06 Compensation Cost Measured at Other than Date of Grant or Award .0712 Accounting .0708 Typical Plans with Variable Terms .09 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .10 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .1112 Combination and Elective Plans .1112 Combination and Elective Plans .1314 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans .14 4063 Accounting Method .0107 Pension Plans Covered by This Section .08 Basic Accounting Method .1618 Discussion .0915 Opinion .1922 Opinion .2324 Actuarial Gains and Losses .2525 Discussion .2525 Opinion .3033 Employe		Accounting	.0306 .03
Stock Bonus or Award Plans .06 Compensation Cost Measured at Other than Date of .0712 Accounting .0708 Typical Plans with Variable Terms .09 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .10 Stock Bonus or Award Plans .1112 Combination and Elective Plans .13 Accounting .1314 Accounting .13 Typical Combination and Elective Plans .14 4063 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans Introduction .0107 Pension Plans Covered by This Section .08 Basic Accounting Method .0915 Opinion .1618 Actuarial Cost Methods .1922 Discussion .2324 Actuarial Gains and Losses .1922 Opinion .3033 Employees Included in Cost Calculations .3033 Employees Included in Cost Calculations .3434			.04
Grant or Award .0712 Accounting .0708 Typical Plans with Variable Terms .09 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .10 Stock Bonus or Award Plans .1112 Combination and Elective Plans .1314 Accounting .13 Typical Combination and Elective Plans .14 4063 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans Introduction .0107 Pension Plans Covered by This Section .08 Basic Accounting Method .0915 Opinion .1618 Actuarial Cost Methods .1922 Opinion .2324 Actuarial Gains and Losses .2529 Opinion .3033 Employees Included in Cost Calculations .3435		•	.05 .06
Typical Plans with Variable Terms .09 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans .10 Stock Bonus or Award Plans .1112 Combination and Elective Plans .1314 Accounting .13 Typical Combination and Elective Plans .13 Typical Combination and Elective Plans .14 4063 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans Introduction .0107 Pension Plans Covered by This Section .08 Basic Accounting Method .0915 Opinion .1618 Actuarial Cost Methods .1922 Opinion .2324 Actuarial Gains and Losses .2529 Opinion .3033 Employees Included in Cost Calculations .3033			.0712
Stock Bonus or Award Plans .1112 Combination and Elective Plans .1314 Accounting .13 Typical Combination and Elective Plans .14 4063 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans Introduction .0107 Pension Plans Covered by This Section .08 Basic Accounting Method .0915 Opinion .1618 Actuarial Cost Methods .1922 Opinion .2324 Actuarial Gains and Losses .2525 Opinion .3033 Employees Included in Cost Calculations .3434			.09
Accounting .13 Typical Combination and Elective Plans .14 4063 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans Introduction .0107 Pension Plans Covered by This Section .08 Basic Accounting Method .0915 Opinion .1618 Actuarial Cost Methods .1922 Opinion .2324 Actuarial Gains and Losses .2529 Discussion .2529 Opinion .3033 Employees Included in Cost Calculations .3435		•	.10 .11 <i>-</i> .12
Typical Combination and Elective Plans .14 4063 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans .0107 Pension Plans Covered by This Section .08 Basic Accounting Method .0915 Opinion .1618 Actuarial Cost Methods .1922 Opinion .2324 Actuarial Gains and Losses .2529 Opinion .3033 Employees Included in Cost Calculations .3435			
Introduction .0107 Pension Plans Covered by This Section .08 Basic Accounting Method .0915 Discussion .0915 Opinion .1618 Actuarial Cost Methods .1922 Opinion .2324 Actuarial Gains and Losses .2529 Opinion .3033 Employees Included in Cost Calculations .3435		Ū	
Pension Plans Covered by This Section .08 Basic Accounting Method .0915 Discussion .0915 Opinion .1618 Actuarial Cost Methods .1922 Opinion .2324 Actuarial Gains and Losses .2529 Opinion .3033 Employees Included in Cost Calculations .3435	4063	Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans	
Basic Accounting Method Discussion .0915 Opinion .1618 Actuarial Cost Methods .1922 Opinion .2324 Actuarial Gains and Losses .2529 Opinion .3033 Employees Included in Cost Calculations .3435		Introduction	.0107
Discussion.0915Opinion.1618Actuarial Cost Methods.1922Opinion.2324Actuarial Gains and Losses.2529Opinion.3033Employees Included in Cost Calculations.3435		Pension Plans Covered by This Section	.08
Opinion.1618Actuarial Cost MethodsDiscussionDiscussion.1922Opinion.2324Actuarial Gains and LossesDiscussionDiscussion.2529Opinion.3033Employees Included in Cost Calculations.3435			
Actuarial Cost Methods .1922 Discussion .2324 Actuarial Gains and Losses .2529 Opinion .3033 Employees Included in Cost Calculations .3435			
Discussion			
Actuarial Gains and Losses .2529 Discussion .3033 Opinion .3033 Employees Included in Cost Calculations .3435		Discussion	
Discussion		-	
Employees Included in Cost Calculations Discussion .3435		Discussion	
Discussion		-	
		Discussion	

8304	Table of Contents	
Section	Paras	graph
4063	Companies with More than One Plan Opinion	.37
	Defined-Contribution Plans Opinion	839
	Insured Plans	
	Opinion	041
	Effect of Funding Opinion	244
	Income Taxes Opinion	.45
	Disclosure Opinion	.46
	Changes in Accounting Method Opinion	.47
	Transition to Recommended Practices Opinion	849
4063A	Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans— Appendix A	
	Actuarial Valuations, Assumptions and Cost Methods Actuarial Valuations	1.03
	Actuarial Assumptions	.04
	Interest (Return on Funds Invested)	.05 .06
	Expenses of Administration	.08
	Actuarial Gains and Losses	.08
	Actuarial Cost MethodsActuarial Cost Method — Unit Credit	.09
	Method	
* ,	Projected Benefit Cost Methods	
4063B	Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans— Appendix B Glossary	
4063-1	Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans Subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974: An Interpretation of Section 4063	
	Introduction	102
	Interpretation	
	Effective Date	.06
4064	Deferred Compensation Contracts	
4070	Depreciation	
4071	Depreciation and High Costs	
Contents	convright © 1975. American Institute of Certified Public Accountan	ts. Inc.

r

Section	Par	agraph
4072	Depreciation on Appreciation	
4073	Emergency Facilities—Depreciation and Amortization Certificates of Necessity Depreciation Considerations	.0103 .0410
4074	Declining-Balance Depreciation Discussion	.0608
4080	Real and Personal Property Taxes	
4081	Accounting for Real and Personal Property Taxes Legal Liability for Property Taxes and Treatment for Income Tax Purposes Accounting for Property Taxes	
	Accrual Accounting	.0813
	Treatment in Financial Statements Balance Sheet Income Statement	.16 1719.
4090	Accounting for Income Taxes	
4091	Income Taxes	
	Introduction	.0104
	Applicability	.0506
	Summary of Problems	.0710
	Summary of Conclusions	.11
	Definitions and Concepts	.1213
	Timing Differences	
	Discussion	
	Nature of Timing Differences Differing Viewpoints Partial Allocation Comprehensive Allocation Permanent Differences	.1724 .2527 .2831 .32
	Opinion	.3336
	Special Areas Requiring Further Study	
	Operating Losses	
	Discussion	.4142 .4349
	Tax Allocation within a Period	_
	Discussion	.50 .51

8306	Table of Contents	
Section	Pai	ragraph
4091	Other Unused Deductions and Credits Opinion Financial Reporting	.52
	Discussion Balance Sheet Income Statement	.53 .54
	Opinion	FF 50
	Balance Sheet	.5961
	Effective Date	.6466
4091A	Income Taxes—Appendix A Examples of Timing Differences	01-05
		.0100
4092	Tax Allocation Accounts—Discounting	
4093	New Depreciation Guidelines and Rules	
4094	Accounting for the Investment Credit Conclusions	.1521
4095	Accounting for Income Taxes—Special Areas	
		.0104
	Discussion	.0506
	Undistributed Earnings of Subsidiaries	.0714
	Discussion	.0708
	Opinion Timing difference	.0914
	Indefinite reversal criteria	.12
	Change in investment	.13
	Disclosure	.14
	Investments in Corporate Joint Ventures	
	Discussion	.1518
	Disclosure	.18
	"Bad Debt Reserves" of Savings and Loan Associations	.1925
	Discussion	.1922
	Opinion Disclosure	.2325
	"Policyholders' Surplus" of Stock	
	Life Insurance Companies	.2630
	Discussion	.2627
	Opinion	.2830
	Disclosure	
_	Effective Date	.3133
Contents	Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Account	ants, Inc.

z

Section	Paragraph
4096	Accounting for Income Taxes—Investments in Com- mon Stock Accounted for by the Equity Method (Other than Subsidiaries and Corporate Joint Ventures)
	Introduction
	Discussion
	Opinion
	Effective Date

4110 Interest

4111	Interest on Receivables and Payables		
	Introduction	.0104	
	Problem	.01 0204.	
	Note Received or Issued for Cash Unstated Rights or Privileges Note Received or Issued in a Noncash Transaction	.0509 .05 .06 .07 .0809	
	Opinion	.10 .11	
	Determining an Appropriate Interest Rate Amortization of Discount and Premium Statement Presentation of Discount and Premium	.1213 .14 .15	
	Effective Date	.16	
4111A	Interest on Receivables and Payables—Appendix		
	Present Value Concepts	.0102	
	Illustrations of Balance Sheet Presentation of Notes Which Are Discounted	.03	
4111-1	Imputing Interest on Debt Arrangements Made Under the Federal Bankruptcy Act: An Interpretation of Section 4111		
	Introduction	.0103	
	Interpretation	.04	
	Effective Date	.05	
AICPA Prof	essional Standards Co	ontents	

8308	Table of Contents	
Section	Para	graph
4210	Research and Development	
4211	Accounting for Research and Development Costs	
	Introduction	0106
	Standards of Financial Accounting and Reporting:	
	Activities Constituting Research and Development Elements of Costs to Be Identified with Research and	
	Development Activities	.11
	Accounting for Research and Development Costs	
	Effective Date and Transition	
	Appendix A: Background Information	
	Appendix B: Basis for Conclusions	2364
4211-1	Applicability of Section 4211 to Business Combina- tions Accounted for by the Purchase Method: An Interpretation of Section 4211	
	Introduction	0103
	Interpretation	0405
	Effective Date and Transition	06 07
4211-3	Applicability of Section 4211 to Computer Software: An Interpretation of Section 4211	
	Introduction	0103
	Interpretation	0409
	Purchase or Lease of Software	.05
	Internal Development of Software	0609
	Effective Date and Transition	.10
4310	Contingencies	
4311	Accounting for Contingencies	0107
	Standards of Financial Accounting and Reporting: Accrual of Loss Contingencies	.08
Contents	-	nts, Inc.

ì

Paraaraph

Section	Paragraph
4311	Disclosure of Loss Contingencies
	General or Unspecified Business Risks
	Appropriation of Retained Earnings
	Examples of Application of this Statement
	Gain Contingencies
	Other Disclosures
	Effective Date and Transition
	Appendix A: Examples of Application of this Statement2145
	Appendix B: Background Information
	Appendix C: Basis for Conclusions

₩ → The next page is 8321. < + ₩

AC Section 4010

Unrealized Profit

[Source: ARB No. 43, Chap. 1A, Par. 1.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: 1934¹

.01 Unrealized profit should not be credited to income account of the corporation either directly or indirectly, through the medium of charging against such unrealized profits amounts which would ordinarily fall to be charged against income account. Profit is deemed to be realized when a sale in the ordinary course of business is effected, unless the circumstances are such that the collection of the sale price is not reasonably assured. An exception to the general rule may be made in respect of inventories in industries (such as packing-house industry) in which owing to the impossibility of determining costs it is a trade custom to take inventories at net selling prices, which may exceed cost. (See section 4020, Installment Method of Accounting, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1966-APB Opinion No. 10.)

+ The next page is 8331. ← + H

¹ The above rule was adopted by the membership of the Institute in 1934. It had been recommended in 1932 to the New York Stock Exchange by the Institute's committee on cooperation with stock exchanges.

Installment Method of Accounting

[Source: APB Opinion No. 10, Par. 12.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1966

.01 Section 4010 states that "Profit is deemed to be realized when a sale in the ordinary course of business is effected, unless the circumstances are such that the collection of the sale price is not reasonably assured." The Board reaffirms this statement; it believes that revenues should ordinarily be accounted for at the time a transaction is completed, with appropriate provision for uncollectible accounts. Accordingly, it concludes that, in the absence of the circumstances ¹ referred to above, the installment method of recognizing revenue is not acceptable.

 \implies The next page is 8341. $\leftarrow \parallel \parallel$

AICPA Professional Standards

¹ The Board recognizes that there are exceptional cases where receivables are collectible over an extended period of time and, because of the terms of the transactions or other conditions, there is no reasonable basis for estimating the degree of collectibility. When such circumstances exist, and as long as they exist, either the installment method or the cost recovery method of accounting may be used. (Under the cost recovery method, equal amounts of revenue and expense are recognized as collections are made until all costs have been recovered, postponing any recognition of profit until that time.)

AC Section 4031 Long-Term Construction-Type Contracts [Source: ARB No. 45.1]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: October, 1955

This section is directed to the accounting prob-.01 lems in relation to construction-type contracts in the case of commercial organizations engaged wholly or partly in the contracting business. It does not deal with cost-plusfixed-fee contracts, which are discussed in section 4041, other types of cost-plus-fee contracts, or contracts such as those for products or services customarily billed as shipped or rendered. In general the type of contract here under consideration is for construction of a specific project. While such contracts are generally carried on at the job site, the section would also be applicable in appropriate cases to the manufacturing or building of special items on a contract basis in a contractor's own plant. The problems in accounting for construction-type contracts arise particularly in connection with long-term contracts as compared with those requiring relatively short periods for completion.

.02 Considerations other than those acceptable as a basis for the recognition of income frequently enter into the determination of the timing and amounts of interim billings on construction-type contracts. For this reason, income to be recognized on such contracts at the various stages of performance ordinarily should not be measured by interim billings.

GENERALLY ACCEPTED METHODS

.03 Two accounting methods commonly followed by contractors are the percentage-of-completion method and the completed-contract method.

Percentage-of-Completion Method

.04 The percentage-of-completion method recognizes income as work on a contract progresses. The committee

recommends that the recognized income be that percentage of estimated total income, either:

- (a) that incurred costs to date bear to estimated total costs after giving effect to estimates of costs to complete based upon most recent information, or
- (b) that may be indicated by such other measure of progress toward completion as may be appropriate having due regard to work performed.

Costs as here used might exclude, especially during the early stages of a contract, all or a portion of the cost of such items as materials and subcontracts if it appears that such an exclusion would result in a more meaningful periodic allocation of income.

.05 Under this method current assets may include costs and recognized income not yet billed, with respect to certain contracts; and liabilities, in most cases current liabilities, may include billings in excess of costs and recognized income with respect to other contracts.

.06 When the current estimate of total contract costs indicates a loss, in most circumstances provision should be made for the loss on the entire contract. If there is a close relationship between profitable and unprofitable contracts, such as in the case of contracts which are parts of the same project, the group may be treated as a unit in determining the necessity for a provision for loss.

.07 The principal advantages of the percentage-ofcompletion method are periodic recognition of income currently rather than irregularly as contracts are completed, and the reflection of the status of the uncompleted contracts provided through the current estimates of costs to complete or of progress toward completion.

.08 The principal disadvantage of the percentage-ofcompletion method is that it is necessarily dependent upon estimates of ultimate costs and consequently of currently accruing income, which are subject to the uncertainties frequently inherent in long-term contracts.

Completed-Contract Method

.09 The completed-contract method recognizes income only when the contract is completed, or substantially so.

Accordingly, costs of contracts in process and current billings are accumulated but there are no interim charges or credits to income other than provisions for losses. A contract may be regarded as substantially completed if remaining costs are not significant in amount.

.10 When the completed-contract method is used, it may be appropriate to allocate general and administrative expenses to contract costs rather than to periodic income. This may result in a better matching of costs and revenues than would result from treating such expenses as period costs, particularly in years when no contracts were completed. It is not so important, however, when the contractor is engaged in numerous projects and in such circumstances it may be preferable to charge those expenses as incurred to periodic income. In any case there should be no excessive deferring of overhead costs, such as might occur if total overhead were assigned to abnormally few or abnormally small contracts in process.

.11 Although the completed-contract method does not permit the recording of any income prior to completion, provision should be made for expected losses in accordance with the well established practice of making provision for foreseeable losses. If there is a close relationship between profitable and unprofitable contracts, such as in the case of contracts which are parts of the same project, the group may be treated as a unit in determining the necessity for a provision for losses.

.12 When the completed-contract method is used, an excess of accumulated costs over related billings should be shown in the balance sheet as a current asset, and an excess of accumulated billings over related costs should be shown among the liabilities, in most cases as a current liability. If costs exceed billings on some contracts, and billings exceed costs on others, the contracts should ordinarily be segregated so that the figures on the asset side include only those contracts on which costs exceed billings, and those on the liability side include only those on which billings exceed costs. It is suggested that the asset item be described as "costs of uncompleted contracts in excess of related billings" rather than as "inventory" or "work in process," and that the item on the liability side be described as "billings on uncompleted contracts in excess of related costs."

AC § 4031.12

.13 The principal advantage of the completed-contract method is that it is based on results as finally determined, rather than on estimates for unperformed work which may involve unforeseen costs and possible losses.

.14 The principal disadvantage of the completed-contract method is that it does not reflect current performance when the period of any contract extends into more than one accounting period and under such circumstances it may result in irregular recognition of income.

Selection of Method

.15 The committee believes that in general when estimates of costs to complete and extent of progress toward completion of long-term contracts are reasonably dependable, the percentage-of-completion method is preferable. When lack of dependable estimates or inherent hazards cause forecasts to be doubtful, the completed-contract method is preferable. Disclosure of the method followed should be made.

COMMITMENTS

.16 In special cases disclosures of extraordinary commitments may be required, but generally commitments to complete contracts in process are in the ordinary course of a contractor's business and are not required to be disclosed in a statement of financial position. They partake of the nature of a contractor's business, and generally do not represent a prospective drain on his cash resources since they will be financed by current billings.

+ The next page is 8351. ← + H

AC Section 4041 Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts [Source: ARB No. 43, Chap. 11A.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1953

.01 This section deals with accounting problems arising under cost-plus-fixed-fee contracts, hereinafter referred to as CPFF contracts.

SUMMARY STATEMENT

.02 Fees under CPFF contracts may be credited to income on the basis of such measurement of partial performance as will reflect reasonably assured realization. One generally acceptable basis is delivery of completed articles. The fees may also be accrued as they are billable, under the terms of the agreements, unless such accrual is not reasonably related to the proportionate performance of the total work or services to be performed by the contractor from inception to completion.

.03 Where CPFF contracts involve the manufacture and delivery of products, the reimbursable costs and fees are ordinarily included in appropriate sales or other revenue accounts. Where such contracts involve only services, or services and the supplemental erection of facilities, only the fees should ordinarily be included in revenues.

.04 Unbilled costs and fees under such contracts are ordinarily receivables rather than advances or inventory, but should preferably be shown separately from billed accounts receivable.

.05 Offsetting of government advances on CPFF contracts by, or against, amounts due from the government on such contracts is acceptable only to the extent that the advances may under the terms of the agreement be offset in settlement, and only if that is the treatment anticipated in the normal course of business transactions under the contract. In case of offset, the amounts offset should be adequately disclosed.

DISCUSSION

.06 Contracts in the CPFF form are used (a) for the manufacture and delivery of various products, (b) for the construction of plants and other facilities, and (c) for management and other services. Under these agreements contractors are reimbursed at intervals for their expenditures and in addition are paid a specified fixed fee. Payments on account of the fees (less 10% or other amount which is withheld until completion) are made from time to time as specified in the agreements, usually subject to the approval of the contracting officer. In most cases the amount of each payment is, as a practical matter, determined by the ratio of expenditures made to the total estimated expenditures rather than on the basis of deliveries or on the percentage of completion otherwise determined.

.07 The agreements provide that title to all material applicable thereto vests in the government as soon as the contractor is reimbursed for his expenditures or, in some cases, immediately upon its receipt by the contractor at his plant even though not yet paid for. The contractor has a custodianship responsibility for these materials, but the government usually has property accountability officers at the plant to safeguard government interests.

.08 The contracts are subject to cancellation and termination by the government, in which event the contractor is entitled to reimbursement for all expenditures made and an equitable portion of the fixed fee.

.09 The government frequently makes advances of cash as a revolving fund or against the final payment due under the agreement.

Major Accounting Problems

.10 There are a number of basic accounting problems common to all CPFF contracts. This section deals with the four most important, which are:

- (a) When should fees under such contracts be included in the contractor's income statement?
- (b) What amounts are to be included in sales or revenue accounts?
- (c) What is the proper balance-sheet classification of unbilled costs and fees?

AC § 4041.06

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

(d) What is the proper balance-sheet treatment of various items, debit and credit, identified with CPFF contracts?

(a) When should fees under such contracts be included in the contractor's income statement?

.11 It is recognized that income should be recorded and stated in accordance with certain accounting principles as to time and amount; that profit is deemed to be realized when a sale in the ordinary course of business is effected unless the circumstances are such that collection of the sales price is not reasonably assured; and that delivery of goods sold under contract is normally regarded as the test of realization of profit or loss.

.12 In the case of manufacturing, construction, or service contracts, profits are not ordinarily recognized until the right to full payment has become unconditional, i.e., when the product has been delivered and accepted, when the facilities are completed and accepted, or when the services have been fully and satisfactorily rendered. This accounting procedure has stood the test of experience and should not be departed from except for cogent reasons.

.13 It is, however, a generally accepted accounting procedure to accrue revenues under certain types of contracts and thereby recognize profits, on the basis of partial performance, where the circumstances are such that total profit can be estimated with reasonable accuracy and ultimate realization is reasonably assured. Particularly where the performance of a contract requires a substantial period of time from inception to completion, there is ample precedent for pro-rata recognition of profit as the work progresses, if the total profit and the ratio of the performance to date to the complete performance can be computed reasonably and collection is reasonably assured. Depending upon the circumstances, such partial performance may be established by deliveries, expenditures, or percentage of completion otherwise determined. This rule is frequently applied to long-term construction and other similar contracts: it is also applied in the case of contracts involving deliveries in instalments or the performance of services. However, the rule should be dealt with cautiously and not applied in the case of partial deliveries and uncompleted contracts where the information available does not clearly indicate that a partial profit has been realized after making provision for possible losses and contingencies.

.14 CPFF contracts are much like the type of contracts upon which profit has heretofore been recognized on partial performance, and accordingly have at least as much justification for accrual of fee before final delivery as those cited. The risk of loss is practically negligible, the total profit is fairly definite, and even on cancellation, pro-rata profit is still reasonably assured.

.15 The basic problem in dealing with CPFF contracts is the measure of partial performance, i.e., whether fees thereunder should be accrued under the established rules as to partial deliveries or percentage of completion otherwise determined, or whether, in view of their peculiar terms with respect to part payments, the determination of amounts billable by continuous government audit, and the minimum of risk carried by the contractor, the fees should be accrued as they are billable.

.16 Ordinarily it is acceptable to accrue the fees as they become billable. The outstanding characteristic of CPFF contracts is reimbursement for all allowable costs. plus payment of a fixed fee for the contractor's efforts. Delivery of the finished product may not have its usual legal significance because title passes to the government prior thereto and the contractor's right to partial payment becomes unconditional in advance thereof: deliveries are not necessarily, under the terms of the agreement, evidence of the progress of the work or of the contractor's performance. Amounts billable indicate reasonably assured realization, possibly subject to renegotiation, because of the absence of a credit problem and minimum risk of loss involved. The fee appears to be earned when allowable costs are incurred or paid and the fee is billable. Finally, accrual on the basis of amounts billable is ordinarily not a departure from existing rules of accrual on the basis of partial performance, but rather a distinctive application of the rule for determining percentage of completion.

.17 Judgment must be exercised in each case as to whether accrual of the fee when billable is preferable to accrual on the usual basis of delivery or of percentage of

AC § 4041.14

completion otherwise determined. While the approval of the government as to amounts billable would ordinarily be regarded as objective evidence, factors may exist which suggest an earlier or later accrual. Such factors include indications of substantial difference between estimated and final cost, as where preparatory or tooling-up costs were much more than estimated, raw material needs were greatly and unduly anticipated by advance purchases, or delays in delivery schedules or other circumstances suggest that costs are exceeding estimates. While such factors are normally considered by the government and billings for fees may be temporarily adjusted to safeguard against too early proportionate payment, the contractor, in accruing income. should also consider them, particularly when any substantial lag exists between expenditures and billings and audit thereof. In such cases, the presumption may be that the fee will not be found to be billable when the charges are presented, and conservatism in accrual will be necessary. Excess costs may be indicated in some cases to such an extent that accrual of fee before actual production would be unwise. Where such a situation exists the usual rule of deliveries or percentage of completion may be a preferable method of accruing the fee.

There are further questions as to whether the fee .18 may be accrued as it is billed rather than as it becomes billable and whether accrual should be on the basis of the full fee or the full fee less the amount withheld. As to the first question, it seems obvious that when accrual in relation to expenditures is otherwise suitable it should be on the basis of amounts billable, since such matters as clerical delays in assembling data for billing should not affect the income statement. As to the second question, accrual on the basis of 100% of the fee is ordinarily preferable since, while payment of the balance depends on complete performance, such completion is to be expected under ordinary circumstances. Care must be exercised, of course, to provide for possible non-realization where there is doubt as to the collection of claimed costs or of the fee thereon.

(b) What amounts are to be included in sales or revenue accounts?

.19 This problem is whether sales or revenue as reported in the income statement should include reimbursable costs and the fee, or the fee alone. The answer to this question depends upon the terms of the contract and upon judgment as to which method gives the more useful information.

.20 Some CPFF contracts are service contracts under which the contractor acts solely in an agency capacity, whether in the erection of facilities or the management of operations. These appear to call for inclusion in the income statement of the fee alone. In the case of supply contracts, however, the contractor is more than an agent. For instance, he is responsible to creditors for materials and services purchased; he is responsible to employees for salaries and wages; he ordinarily uses his own facilities in carrying out his agreement; his position in many respects is that of an ordinary principal. In view of these facts, and the desirability of indicating the volume of his activities, it appears desirable to include reimbursable costs, as well as fees, in sales or revenues.

(c) What is the proper balance-sheet classification of unbilled costs and fee?

.21 The principal reason for the existence of unbilled costs at any date is the time usually required, after receipt of material or expenditures for labor, etc., to assemble data for billing. The right to bill usually exists upon expenditure or accrual, and that right unquestionably represents a receivable rather than an advance or inventory. There is nevertheless a difference in character between billed items and unbilled costs and distinction should be made between them on the balance sheet.

(d) What is the proper balance-sheet treatment of various items, debit and credit, identified with CPFF contracts?

.22 In statements of current assets and current liabilities, amounts due to and from the same person are ordinarily offset where, under the law, they may be offset in the process of collection or payment. An advance received on a contract is, however, usually not offset unless it is definitely regarded as a payment on account of contract work in progress, in which event it will be shown as a deduction from the related asset. An advance on a CPFF contract usually is made for the purpose of providing a revolving fund and is not ordinarily applied as a partial payment until the contract is completed or nears completion. It therefore appears to be preferable to offset advances on CPFF contracts against receivables in connection with the contracts only when it is expected that the advances will be applied in payment of those particular charges. In any case, amounts offset should be clearly disclosed.

 \implies The next page is 8361. \leftarrow

AC Section 4042

Renegotiation

[Source: ARB No. 43, Chap. 11B, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1953¹

.01 This section 2 deals with certain aspects of the accounting for those government contracts and subcontracts which are subject to renegotiation.

.02 Where such contracts constitute a substantial part of the business done, the uncertainties resulting from the possibilities of renegotiation are usually such that appropriate indication of their existence should be given in the financial statements.

.03 It is impossible to lay down general rules which can be applied satisfactorily in all cases. Here, as elsewhere in accounting, there must be an exercise of judgment which should be based on experience and on a clear understanding of the objective to be attained. That objective is to present the fairest possible financial statements, and at the same time make clear any uncertainties that limit the significance of such statements.

.04 In keeping with the established accounting principle that provision should be made in financial statements for all liabilities, including reasonable estimates for liabilities not accurately determinable, provision should be made for probable renegotiation refunds wherever the amount of such refunds can be reasonably estimated. Thus, in cases where experience of the company or of comparable companies with renegotiation determinations is available and would make a reasonable estimate practicable, provision in the income account for an estimated refund affecting the current year's operations is called for. In cases in which a reasonable estimate cannot be made, as where the effect of a new or amended renegotiation act

¹The material included in this section was drawn primarily from ARB 43, Chapter 11, Section B, *Renegotiation*. Paragraph 8 of that bulletin was superseded by APB Opinion No. 11, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967.

³ The comments in this section are considered to be applicable also to price redetermination estimated to result in retroactive price reduction.

cannot be foretold within reasonable limits or where a company is facing renegotiation for the first time and no reliable precedent is available, disclosure of the inability, because of these circumstances, to determine renegotiation effects and of the consequent uncertainties in the financial statements is necessary.

.05 In addition to any provision made in the accounts, disclosure by footnote or otherwise may be required as to the uncertainties, their significance, and the basis used in determining the amount of the provision, such as the prior years' experience of the contractor or of similar contractors if their experience is available and is used, renegotiation discussions relating to the current year, etc. Such disclosure may be helpful in informing shareholders or other interested persons as to the company's status under the renegotiation law. It should also be recognized that, if conditions change, the results of a prior-year determination or settlement are not, in most cases, indicative of the amount probably refundable for the current year.

TREATMENT IN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

.06 Provisions made for renegotiation refunds should be included in the balance sheet among the current liabilities.

.07 Accounting treatment in the income statement should conform to the concept that profit is deemed to be realized when a sale in the ordinary course of business is effected, unless the circumstances are such that collection of the sales price is not reasonably assured.³ Renegotiation refunds are commonly referred to as involving a refund of "excessive profits"; realistically, however, renegotiation involves an adjustment of the original contract or selling price. Since a provision for renegotiation refund indicates that the collection, or retention, of the selling price is not reasonably assured, the provision should preferably be treated in the income statement as a deduction from sales. Because of the interrelationship of renegotiation and taxes on income, the provision for such taxes should then be computed accordingly.

^{*} See section 4010.

RENEGOTIATION REFUNDS FOR PRIOR YEARS

.08 A further question arises where a renegotiation refund applicable to a particular year is made in an amount materially different from the provision made in the financial statements originally issued for such year. The committee recommends that the difference between the renegotiation refund and the provision therefor be shown in the current income statement, or as a prior period adjustment, as appropriate. (See sections 2010.22-.23, 2012.10.12, and 2010.25.) [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1966, by APB Opinion No. 9.] [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.]

> The next page is 8371. ← ₩

AC Section 4043

Terminated War and Defense Contracts [Source: ARB No. 43, Chap. 11C.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1953

.01 This section deals with problems involved in accounting for fixed-price war and defense supply contracts terminated, in whole or in part, for the convenience of the government. It does not deal specifically with terminated cost-plus-fixed-fee contracts nor with contracts for facilities or services. However, the conclusions reached herein may serve as guides for the accounting applicable to such special contracts. Terminations for default of the contractor involve problems of a different nature and are not considered here.

.02 Except where the text clearly indicates otherwise, the term *contractor* is used to denote either a prime contractor or a subcontractor, and the term *contract* to denote either a prime contract or a subcontract.

SUMMARY STATEMENT

.03 The profit of a contractor on a fixed-price supply contract terminated for the convenience of the government accrues as of the effective date of termination.

.04 Those parts of the termination claim which are reasonably determinable should be included in financial statements after termination; when the total of the undeterminable elements is believed to be material, full disclosure of the essential facts should be made, by footnote or otherwise.

.05 Under ordinary circumstances the termination claim should be classified as a current asset and unless the amount is relatively small should be separately disclosed.

.06 Advances received on the contract before its termination may be shown in financial statements after termi-

AC § 4043.06

nation as a deduction from the claim receivable and should be appropriately explained. Loans negotiated on the security of the termination claim, however, should be shown as current liabilities.

.07 All of the contractor's own cost and profit elements included in the termination claim are preferably accounted for as a sale and if material in amount should be separately disclosed. The costs and expenses chargeable to the claim may then be given their usual classification in the accounts.

.08 When inventory items whose costs are included in the termination claim are subsequently reacquired by the contractor the reacquisition value of those items should be recorded as a purchase and applied, together with other disposal credits, against the termination claim receivable.

.09 So called *no-cost* settlements—those in which the contractor waives the right to make a claim—result in no transaction which could be reflected in sales. The costs applicable to the contract may be given their usual classification in the accounts; the inventory retained should not be treated as a purchase but should be accounted for according to the usual methods and standards applicable to inventories.

DISCUSSION

.10 Termination of war and defense contracts for the convenience of the government is a means of adjusting the production of materials to the varying requirements of the military services. Since terminations transfer active contracts in process of execution into claims in process of liquidation, they, like contract renegotiations and cost-plus-fixed-fee contracts, may have important effects on the financial statements of defense contractors.

When Profit Accrues

.11 An important problem involved in accounting for the effect of terminations is that of determining the time at which profit earned on the contract should be recognized. This problem is similar to that described in other sections on renegotiation and cost-plus-fixed-fee contracts in that it involves accrual at a specific date of an element of profit whose original measurement may be difficult and will require informed judgment, and whose final amount may not be determined until some future period.

.12 Three dates have been mentioned as dates for the determination of profit from terminated contracts: (a) the effective date of termination; (b) the date of final settlement; and (c) some intermediate date, such as that on which the claim is finally prepared or filed. The effective date of termination is the date at which the contractor acquires the right to receive payment on the terminated portion of the contract. This date is also, of the three, the one most objectively determined.

.13 Under the accrual basis of accounting recognition is given to revenues and expenses, to the fullest extent possible, in the period to which they relate. Profit on a contract of sale is ordinarily taken into account upon delivery or performance. However, as stated in section 4041 it is a generally accepted accounting procedure to accrue revenues under certain types of contracts, and thereby recognize profits, on the basis of partial performance where the circumstances are such that total profit can be estimated with reasonable accuracy and ultimate realization is reasonably assured. Thus, the accrual of profit under a cost-plus-fixed-fee contract is recognized as the fee becomes billable rather than when it is actually billed. Upon termination of a contract the contractor acquires a claim for fair compensation; the government reserves the option of acquiring any of the inventories for which the contractor makes claim under the terminated contract. Except to effect settlements and to protect and dispose of property, the expenses of which are reimbursable, the contractor need perform no further service under a terminated contract in order to enforce his claim. It follows that any profit arising out of such a contract accrues at the effective date of termination and, if the amount can be reasonably ascertained, should be recorded at that time.

Determination of Claim

.14 Practical application of the accrual principle to the accounting for terminated war and defense contracts rests upon the possibility of making a reasonable estimate of the amount of the termination claim before its final determination by settlement. This involves two principal considerations: (1) whether the costs of the contractor can be determined with reasonable accuracy and (2) whether the amount of profit to be realized can be estimated closely enough to justify inclusion in the accounts.

.15 The various acts and regulations, including a statement of principles for determining costs and certain termination cost memorandums, describe in general terms the costs and expenses which are to be taken into account in arriving at fair compensation, as well as certain costs which are not allowable, and establish uniform termination policies and procedures.

.16 While the total claim, and particularly the profit allowance, is subject to negotiation, the termination articles provide for a formula settlement allowing definite percentages of profit based on costs in the event of the failure of negotiations. This in effect fixes a minimum expectation of profit allowance since the formula percentages have also been recognized by regulation as a basis of negotiating settlement in the event of failure by the parties to agree on any other basis. The same regulations give other guides for estimating a fair profit allowance, which in some cases may be greater than the amount computed by the formula percentages. When the contractor, because of lack of prior negotiation experience or uncertainty as to the application of the principles of these regulations to a particular case, is unable to determine a more appropriate profit allowance, he may accrue the minimum amount determined by the formula percentages.

.17 The profit to be included in the accounts of the contractor upon termination is the difference between (a) the amount of his recorded claim and (b) the total of the inventory, deferred and capitalized items, and other costs applicable to the terminated contract as they are currently included in his accounts. This profit may exceed the amount specified as profit in the claim because costs applicable to the terminated portion of the contract may be allowable in the claim even though they may have been properly written off as incurred in prior periods.

.18 In some cases it will be impossible to make a reasonable estimate of a termination claim in time for inclu-

AC § 4043.15

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

sion in the financial statements of the period in which the termination occurs. Effect may then be given in the statements to those parts of the termination claim which are determinable with reasonable certainty and disclosure made, by footnote or otherwise, of the status of the remainder.

.19 When the contractor's claim includes items of known controversial nature it should be stated at the amount estimated to be collectible. When a particular termination claim or part thereof is so uncertain in amount that it cannot be reasonably estimated, it is preferable not to give effect to that part of the claim in the financial statements; but if the total of such undeterminable elements is material, the circumstances should be disclosed in statements issued before the removal of the uncertainty. In an extreme case involving undeterminable claims, consideration should be given to delaying the issuance of financial statements until necessary data are available.

Presentation in Financial Statements

.20 Termination has the effect of converting an active contract in process into a claim, or, from an accounting standpoint, from inventories and other charges into an account receivable. This receivable arises in the regular course of business; it is part of the working capital; and in view of the provisions made for financial assistance to the contractor during the period of termination, collection in large part may be expected within a relatively short time. The termination claim should therefore be classified as a current asset, unless there is an indication of extended delay, such as serious disagreement pointing to probable litigation, which would exclude it from this classification.

.21 Although a claim may be composed of several elements representing reimbursable items of special equipment, deferred charges, inventories, and other items, as well as claims for profit, it is preferable to record the claim in one account. When the total of termination claims is material it should be disclosed separately from other receivables. It is also desirable to segregate claims directly against the government from claims against other contractors where the amounts are significant.

.22 To assure adequate financial assistance to contractors, the acts provide in some cases for partial pay-

ments and in others for such payments or guaranteed loans from the effective date of termination until final settlement. Partial payments are, of course, to be recorded as reductions of the termination claim receivable. Termination loans. on the other hand, are definite liabilities to third parties, even though guaranteed in whole or in part by the government, and accordingly should be shown in the balance sheet as liabilities, with appropriate cross-reference to the related claim or claims. When a terminated contract is one on which advance payments had previously been received, the financial statements of the contractor issued before final collection of the claim ordinarily should reflect any balance of those advances disclosed as deductions from the claim receivable.¹ Financial statements issued before the termination claim is recorded should disclose, by footnote or otherwise, the relationship of such liabilities to a possible termination claim receivable.

.23 Ordinarily, a termination will result in the cessation of a contractor's activity through which materials or services have been supplied under the contract and of the related transactions which have been reflected in the contractor's income accounts as sales and cost elements. In effect, termination policies and procedures provide a basis upon which the contractor's costs in process may become the elements of a final sale under the terminated portion of the contract. Accordingly, the amount of the contractor's termination claim representing his cost and profit elements should be treated as a sale and the costs and expenses chargeable to the claim given their usual classification in the income statement. Because these termination sales are of a special type, their financial results should not be appraised in the same manner as are those of regular sales and they should, if material in amount, be separately disclosed in the income statement. Any items which the contractor chooses to retain without claim for cost or loss are, of course, not sold but remain as inventory or deferred charges in the contractor's accounts.

Claims of Subcontractors

.24 The term subcontractor's claims as used in connection with terminated contracts refers to those obliga-

AC § 4043.23 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

¹ See section 4041.22.

tions of a contractor to a subcontractor which arise from the subcontractor's costs incurred through transactions which were related to the contract terminated but did not result in the transfer of billable materials or services to the contractor before termination. Other obligations of a contractor to a subcontractor, arising through transactions by which materials or services of the subcontractor are furnished or supplied to the contractor, are considered to be liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business and are not included in the term *claims of subcontractors*.

.25 The termination articles provide that, following the termination of a contract, the contractor shall settle, with the approval or ratification of the contracting officer when necessary, all claims of subcontractors arising out of the termination; and that the contractor shall be paid, as part of his settlement, the cost of settling and paying claims arising out of the stoppage of work under subcontracts affected by the termination. While a contractor ordinarily is liable to his subcontractors or suppliers for such obligations, the amounts due them are an element in his termination claim and often are not paid to them until after his claim has been settled. He often has no control over the filing of subcontractors' claims and may not know their amount until some time after the termination date or even until some time after he has filed and received payment for his own claim.

.26 The possibility that a contractor may suffer loss through failure to recover the amount of his liability on subcontractors' claims arises principally from overcommitments, errors in ordering, and similar causes. Provision should be made in his accounts for losses of this character which are known or believed to be probable.

.27 Although the principle that liabilities may not be offset against assets in the financial statements is generally approved by accountants, there is no general agreement as to the accounting treatment to be accorded subcontractors' claims which are expected to be fully recoverable. To the extent that a subcontractor's claim is considered to be unrecoverable no difference of opinion exists; the liability should be recorded and provision made for any contemplated loss. The difference of opinion relates to those subcontractors' claims which are deemed to be fully recoverable.

.28 Some accountants believe that the effect of the various acts and regulations is to establish a relationship between the claims of subcontractors and the resulting right of the contractor under his own termination claim which differs from an ordinary commercial relationship and justifies their omission from the accounts. Recoverable subcontractors' claims are thus said to be in the nature of contingent liabilities, which are customarily omitted from the accounts except where a loss is expected. Contingent liabilities may be disclosed in the financial statements without recording them as assets and liabilities, and even when they are recorded it is customary accounting practice to show them on the balance sheet as deductions from the related contingent assets so that no effect upon financial ratios and relationships results.

.29 Other accountants believe that the nature of an obligation to a subcontractor is that of an ordinary liability, even though it may arise through the termination of a war or defense contract, and that the contractor's termination claim receivable, although related to the subcontractor's claim, is to be accounted for independently as an asset. This group believes that all subcontractors' claims, to the extent that they are reasonably ascertainable, should be recorded in the accounts and displayed in the contractor's balance sheet as current liabilities, and that the amounts recoverable by the contractor should be included in his termination claim receivable. To the extent that the amounts of subcontractors' claims are not reasonably determinable, disclosure by footnote or otherwise in the financial statements is believed to be adequate.

.30 Because of the merits and prevalence of these alternative views, the committee expresses no preference for either treatment and considers either to be acceptable.

Disposal Credits

.31 Disposal credits are amounts deducted from the contractor's termination claim receivable by reason of his retention, or sale to outsiders, of some or all of the termination inventory for which claim was made. In the case

AC § 4043.28 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

of items retained, either as scrap or for use by the contractor, the amount of the credit is determined by agreement between the contractor and a representative of the government. The sale of inventory items by the contractor is likewise subject to approval by the government, except as permitted by regulation. Since the amount of the contractor's termination claim, as already indicated, is properly recorded as a sale, any elements included in that claim for items of inventory retained by the contractor are, in effect, reacquired by him and should be treated as purchases at the agreed value. Amounts received for items sold to others with the approval of the government are collections for the account of the government and should be applied in reduction of the claim receivable. Obviously inventories or other items that are retained by the contractor after termination without claim for loss should not be included as an element of the termination claim.

No-Cost Settlements

.32 A contractor whose contract is terminated may prefer to retain the termination inventory for use in other production or for disposal at his own risk. For these or other reasons the contractor may prefer to make no claim against the government or a higher-tier contractor. In the case of such no-cost settlements there is no sale of inventory or other items to the government and therefore no occasion to accrue any profit arising out of the termination. The costs otherwise applicable to the contract should be given their usual treatment in the accounts. Items of inventory or other property retained, having been previously recorded, will, of course, require no charge to purchases but should be treated in accordance with the usual procedures applicable to such assets.

 \implies The next page is 8421. \leftarrow

AC § 4043.32

AC Section 4051

Accounting for Leases in Financial Statements of Lessors

[Source: APB Opinion No. 7, as amended.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1966, unless otherwise indicated

INTRODUCTION

.01 This section sets forth the Board's views as to accounting for the revenue and expense related to, and the investment in, property leased to others. Because of the highly specialized problems involved, this section does not apply to lease agreements concerning natural resources such as oil, gas, timber and mineral rights.

.02 The principal accounting problems of lessors concern the allocation of revenue and expense to the accounting periods covered by a lease. Although the lease typically establishes a schedule of rent to be received by the lessor, the treatment of this rent as revenue in the period of receipt does not necessarily result in a fair measurement of the lessor's periodic income during the term of the lease. The allocation to accounting periods of acquisition and operating costs of the lease needs to be systematic, rational and consistent with the method of recognizing revenue. The description and classification in the balance sheet of the investment in leasing activities is also of importance.

DISCUSSION

Leasing Activities

.03 Lessors may engage in leasing activities to accomplish one or more objectives, such as: investing funds; facilitating the sale or use of the lessor's own manufactured product; retaining control of locations when it is desirable that the property be operated by others; and making available to others property operated by the lessor for profit. Some lessors engage in leasing primarily or solely as a method of investing funds; some financing institutions specialize in leasing. On the other hand, some lessors engage in leasing as incidental to entirely different and relatively more significant business operations. Leasing activities of many lessors have both financing and operating characteristics to some degree, and some lessors have leasing activities of both types.¹

Accounting Methods

.04 There are two predominant methods in general use for allocating rental revenue and expenses over the accounting periods covered by a lease. These may be termed the "financing" and the "operating" methods.

.05 Financing method—Under the financing method, the excess of aggregate rentals over the cost (reduced by estimated residual value at the termination of the lease) of the leased property is generally designed to compensate the lessor for the use of the funds invested. Since this excess is in the nature of interest, it is recognized as revenue during the term of the lease in decreasing amounts related to the declining balance of the unrecovered investment or, in other words, as an approximately level rate of return on funds not yet recovered. When rentals are level, this results in a decreasing percentage of each succeeding rental being accounted for as revenue and an increasing percentage as recovery of investment. This is comparable to the method followed by most lending institutions in accounting for level repayment plans.

.06 Operating method—Under the operating method, aggregate rentals are reported as revenue over the life of the lease. The amount of revenue to be recognized in each accounting period will ordinarily be equivalent to the amount of rent receivable according to the provisions of the lease unless distortion of periodic revenue would result, e.g., when the rentals depart radically from a straightline basis without relation to the economic usefulness of the leased property. The income statement reflects, as

AC § 4051.04 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

¹A. comprehensive discussion of leasing will be found in Accounting Research Study No. 4, *Reporting of Leases in Financial Statements* by John H. Myers, published by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 1962. (Accounting research studies are not statements of this Board or of the Institute, but are published for the purpose of stimulating discussion on important accounting issues.)

expenses, depreciation of the leased property, maintenance and other related costs, as well as the cost of any other services rendered under the provisions of the lease. The amount of these expenses to be recognized in each accounting period should be determined by methods which are appropriate in the circumstances and which are conventionally used for such expenses when incurred in activities other than leasing.

.07 Basis for selection—The objective of fairly stating the lessor's net income during each of the periods covered by the leasing activities is the most important consideration in differentiating between the use of the financing or operating methods (see paragraphs .13-.15 for a description of balance sheet presentations consistent with the method used in determining income). Pertinent factors in making the choice, among others, are the following: the nature of the lessor's business activities; the specific objectives of its leasing activities, including the relationship to other business activities of the lessor, if any; the term of the lease in relation to the estimated useful life of the property; the existence of renewal or purchase options and the likelihood that the lessee will exercise them: provisions of the lease which indicate the extent to which the usual risks of ownership (e.g., obsolescence, unprofitable operation, unsatisfactory performance, idle capacity, dubious residual value) or rewards of ownership (e.g., profitable operation, gain from appreciation in value at end of lease) rest with the lessor or the lessee.

.08 The financing method is generally appropriate for measuring periodic net income from leasing activities of entities engaged in, perhaps among other things, lending money at interest—e.g., lease-finance companies, banks, insurance companies or pension funds. Lease agreements of institutions of this kind typically are designed to pass all or most of the usual ownership risks or rewards to the lessee, and to assure the lessor of, and generally limit him to, a full recovery of his investment plus a reasonable return on the use of the funds invested, subject only to the credit risks generally associated with secured loans. Usually, the financing method is similar to the method of accounting for revenue already in use for other lending

8423

activities of the institutions. [As amended, effective December 31, 1972, by APB Opinion No. 27.]

.09 On the other hand, there are companies (e.g., the owner-operator of an office building, the lessor of automotive equipment on short-term leases-daily, weekly or monthly) which retain the usual risks or rewards of ownership in connection with their leasing activity. They may also assume responsibilities for maintaining the leased property or furnishing certain related services which will give rise to costs to be incurred in the future. Rental revenues are designed to cover the costs of these services. depreciation and obsolescence, and to provide an adequate profit for assuming the risks involved. In these cases the operating method is appropriate for measuring periodic net income from leasing activities. The operating method is also appropriate if the leasing activity is an integral part of manufacturing, marketing or other operations of a business which generate revenues and costs which must be considered along with revenues and costs from the leasing activities in arriving at appropriate methods for measuring the overall periodic net income (examples are leases of retail outlets with lease provisions deliberately made favorable to induce lessee to handle lessor's product and leases which generate significant servicing revenues and costs). The operating method likewise is appropriate for leasing activities for an otherwise strictly financing institution if such activities are characterized as set forth in this paragraph.

OPINION

.10 The Board believes that the financing method of accounting, described in paragraph .05, should be used for lease financing activities of the type described in paragraph .08. The Board believes that the operating method, described in paragraph .06, should be used for leasing activities of the type described in paragraph .09. If a single company engages in separate leasing activities of the types described in both paragraphs .08 and .09, the appropriate accounting method should be used for each type of leasing activity. Where a single lease has both financing and operating characteristics to some degree, the determination of the appropriate accounting method should be made on the basis of which of the two methods described in paragraphs

AC § 4051.09

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.05 and .06 will fairly reflect net income. In rare cases, a single lease may require the use of both methods to reflect fairly lessor's net income; a condition precedent to this would be the ability initially to assign aggregate rentals to each of the financing and operating elements.

Initial Direct Costs

.11 When initial direct costs of negotiating and closing leases are reasonably expected to be recovered from revenues, these costs should preferably be deferred and allocated to future periods in which the related revenues are reported. In this context, "initial direct" costs are those costs which are directly associated with consummating the lease (e.g., commissions, legal fees, costs of investigating the lessee's financial status and of preparing and processing documents). The method of allocation to future periods should be consistent with that used to recognize revenue under the financing or operating methods. However, substantially the same net income would be reported under the financing method by expensing initial costs as incurred and recognizing as revenue in the same period, in addition to the normal revenue, a portion of the unearned revenue equal to the initial costs; this method is also acceptable. When initial direct costs of a lessor are reasonably constant in relation to revenues, no practical objection can be raised to a practice of consistently expensing these costs as incurred and recognizing revenue without compensating for initial costs.

[.12] [Superseded, effective for all lease transactions involving manufacturers or dealers with independent lessees after December 31, 1972, by APB Opinion No. 27.] (See section 4052.)

Reporting in Balance Sheet

.13 Amounts invested in leasing activities which are significant in relation to other resources or activities should be stated separately in a manner which best describes the nature of the investment. The investment in leasing activities is neither a conventional loan or receivable, nor in the same category as facilities employed in typical manufacturing or commercial operations. The classification and description of the investment should be appropriate in the

8425

circumstances and should depend upon whether the financing or operating method of accounting is used.

.14 When the financing method is used, the aggregate rentals called for in the lease should be classified with or near receivables and a description used along the lines of "receivables under contracts for equipment rentals" or "contracts receivable for equipment rentals." When a company is predominantly engaged in leasing activities for which the financing method is appropriate, information should be disclosed regarding future maturities of the rentals receivable. Unearned finance charges or interest (as defined in paragraph .05) included in the aggregate rentals should be shown as a deduction therefrom.² Estimated residual value should be classified separately with or near property, plant and equipment unless the residual value represents an amount expected to be collected from the lessee (e.g., when a favorable purchase option exists), in which case it should be classified with or near notes and accounts receivable. Thus, the investment is represented by the net rentals receivable plus the residual value. Receivables under financing leases are subject to the same considerations as to current or noncurrent classification. where such segregation is appropriate in the balance sheet. as are assets resulting from other activities.³

.15 When the operating method is used, the investment should be classified with or near property, plant and equipment and a description used along the lines of "investment in leased property," "property held for or under lease," or "property (equipment, buildings, machines, etc.) leased to others"; accumulated allowances for depreciation and obsolescence should be shown as a deduction from the investment.

Disclosure

.16 In addition to an appropriate description in the balance sheet of the investment in property held for or under lease (see paragraphs .13-.15), the principal accounting methods used in accounting for leasing activities should be disclosed. Further, where leasing is a substantial portion of a nonfinancing institution's operations, the Board

AC § 4051.14 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

² See section 2031.10.

^a See section 2031.10.

believes that financial statements should disclose sufficient information to enable readers to assess the significance of leasing activities to the company. Leases and leased property are also subject to the conventional disclosure requirements affecting financial statements as, for example, disclosure of pledges of leased property and leases as security for loans.

Income Taxes

.17 When lease revenues or expenses are recognized for tax purposes in a period other than the one in which they are recognized for financial reporting, appropriate consideration should be given to allocation of income taxes among accounting periods.⁴

Relationship to Section 5351

.18 The Board takes notice of a question that has been raised as to whether certain conclusions herein are inconsistent with conclusions in section 5351, Reporting of Leases in Financial Statements of Lessee-specifically, the question is whether leases accounted for on the financing method by lessors should be capitalized by lessees. As indicated in paragraphs .02 and .07, the Board considers the principal accounting problem of lessors to be the allocation of revenue and expense to accounting periods covered by the lease in a manner that meets the objective of fairly stating the lessor's net income; the Board believes that this objective can be met by application of the financing method when the circumstances are as described in this section. As to the lessee, however, capitalization of leases, other than those which are in substance installment purchases of property, may not be necessary in order to state net income fairly since the amount of the lease rentals may represent a proper charge to income. There continues to be a question as to whether assets and the related obligations should be reflected in the balance sheet for leases other than those that are in substance installment purchases. The Board will continue to give consideration to this question.

Prior Lease Agreements

.19 Unless otherwise stated, Opinions of the Board are not intended to be retroactive. However, the Board

^{*} See section 4091.

Revenue and Expense

believes that the conclusions as to disclosure in paragraphs .13-.16 should apply to lease agreements made prior as well as subsequent to the issuance of this section (May 1966).

→ The next page is 8441. ← ₩

AC § 4051.19

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Accounting for Lease Transactions by Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors [Source: APB Opinion No. 27.]

Effective for all lease transactions involving manufacturers or dealers with independent lessees after Dec. 31, 1972, unless otherwise indicated

INTRODUCTION

.01 The accounting for leases entered into with independent lessees by manufacturers or dealers to assist in marketing their products or services is generally covered by section 4051, Accounting for Leases in Financial Statements of Lessors. However, the interpretation and application in practice of section 4051 have raised a number of questions since its issuance in May 1966.

DISCUSSION

.02 Questions have arisen about the circumstances under which it is appropriate to conclude that the manufacturer or dealer lessor has transferred the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee thus allowing the lessor to record the lease transaction as if it were a sale of the leased property. In some cases, a sale has been recognized where a manufacturer or dealer lessor delivered property under a cancelable lease or under a noncancelable lease for only a portion of the economic life ¹ of the property. Sometimes it was assumed that a cancelable lease would not be canceled or that a noncancelable lease for a period shorter than the economic life would be subsequently renewed. Determining these probabilities has proven to be extremely difficult in

¹ The term *economic life*, as used in this section, refers to the period during which the property is generally expected to be used for the purpose for which it was designed. Economic life is usually shorter than the physical life of the property. Also, economic life can cover a period of use by more than one user and is therefore not dependent upon the operating policies of any particular user.

many cases. Assumptions that the lessee would continue to lease the property even though not legally obligated to do so sometimes were not realized in practice. Further, in some cases, a manufacturer or dealer sold or assigned a lease, or property subject to a lease, to an independent financing institution with certain guarantees by the manufacturer or dealer, raising questions as to the accounting for the sale or assignment. Likewise, a manufacturer or dealer sold property to an independent financing institution which leased the property to others with certain guarantees by the manufacturer or dealer, creating complications in accounting for the transaction. Additional problems arise if these transactions are with a related entity rather than with an independent entity.

.03 The Board has concluded that more specific criteria are needed to determine when a manufacturer or dealer lessor should recognize a lease transaction with an independent lessee as if it were a sale. This section supersedes the last sentence of section 4051.08 and all of section 4051.12. Except as stated in the preceding sentence, this section does not modify section 4051. Because of the highly specialized problems involved, this section does not apply to lease agreements concerning real estate and natural resources such as oil, gas, timber, and mineral rights. It also does not apply to the accounting for lease financing transactions by independent financing institutions and independent leasing companies. The section is, however, applicable to these organizations if they are acting as dealers.

OPINION

Two-party Lease Transactions

.04 Leases equivalent to sales. Some lease transactions with independent lessees are in substance equivalent to sales of the property with the sales price collectible over a period of time. A manufacturer or dealer lessor should account for a lease transaction with an independent lessee as a sale if at the time of entering into the transaction (a) collectibility of the payments required from the lessee is reasonably assured, (b) no important uncertainties, such as those described in paragraph .07, surround the amount of costs yet

AC § 4052.03

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

to be incurred ² under the lease, and (c) any one of the following conditions is present:

- (i) The lease transfers title to the property to the lessee by the end of its fixed, noncancelable term; or
- (ii) The lease gives the lessee the option to obtain title to the property without cost or at a nominal cost by the end of the fixed, noncancelable term of the lease; or
- (iii) The leased property, or like property, is available for sale, and the sum of (1) the present value 3 of the required rental payments * by the lessee under the lease during the fixed, noncancelable term of the lease (excluding any renewal or other option) and (2) any related investment tax credit retained by the lessor (if realization of such credit is assured beyond any reasonable doubt) is equal to or greater than the normal selling price or, in the absence thereof, the fair value (either of which may be less than cost) of the leased property or like property;⁵ or
- (iv) The fixed, noncancelable term of the lease (excluding any renewal option) is substantially equal to the remaining economic life 6 of the property. (This test cannot be complied with (1) by estimating an economic life substantially equal to the noncancelable term if this is unrealistic or (2) if a material contingent residual interest is retained in the property.)

.05 A high credit risk frequently presents measurement problems (a) in determining the interest rate that is commensurate with the risk and should be applied in computing the present value of the rental payments or (b) in

² Maintenance, management or service agreements, either separate from or as a part of the lease agreement, do not preclude recording the lease transaction as a sale if the agreements provide the manufacturer or dealer with a reasonable return on the services rendered under such agreements. If the revenues from such agreements are included as part of the lease payments, these revenues should not be considered as part of the sales price of the property.

See section 4111.12-.13, Interest on Receivables and Payables.

^{*} Maintenance, management and service charges should be excluded

from rental payments for purposes of this computation. See footnote 2. "In making the determination under (iii) no consideration should be given to the residual or salvage value. Residual or salvage value should be disregarded in determining whether a lease transaction should be treated as a sale because recognition of a sale implies that the revenue has been earned and all costs have been incurred or provided for at the time. See footnote 1.

determining an adequate provision for bad debts. When the credit risk is so high as to preclude reasonable assurance of collection the lease transaction should not be recorded as a sale:

.06 When a lease transaction by a manufacturer or dealer lessor is recorded as a sale, (a) revenue should be recognized in the period of the sale in an amount equal to the present value of the required rental payments ' by the lessee under the lease during the fixed, noncancelable term (excluding any renewal or other option) of the lease and (b) the cost of the property (not reduced by salvage or residual value) and the estimated related future costs⁸ (other than interest) should be charged against income in that period." In some cases this may result in a loss on the transaction.

.07 Operating leases. Important uncertainties may still exist in some lease transactions that otherwise appear to meet the tests for recognition as a sale (see paragraph .04). For example, the lease may contain commitments by the lessor to guarantee performance in a manner more extensive than the typical product warranty or to effectively protect the lessee from obsolescence. The difficulties of evaluating the future costs, both individually and collectively, and thus the risks under such commitments may be so great that the lease transaction should be accounted for by the operating method.

.08 A manufacturer or dealer lessor should account for a two-party lease transaction that does not meet the criteria described in paragraph .04 for treatment as a sale by use of the operating method as set forth in section 4051.

.09 An implicit loss exists and should be recognized by the manufacturer or dealer whenever the rental payments expected to be received from independent lessees over the

^{&#}x27; See footnotes 2 and 4.

^{*}In section 411.04, *Interest on Receivables and Payables*, the Board stated that it was "not taking a position as to the application of the present value measurement (valuation) technique to estimates of contractual or other obligations assumed in connection with sales of property, goods, or service, for example, a warranty for product performance." Inasmuch as the revenue from a lease transaction recorded as a sale is measured by the present value of the required rental payments under the lease, the Board has concluded that estimates of future costs related to the lease may also be measured on the present value basic be measured on the present value basis.

^{&#}x27;In determining the amount of profit or loss to be recognized on the transaction consideration should be given to any related investment tax credits.

remaining economic life ¹⁰ of the leased property together with its estimated residual value are insufficient to recover the unrecovered costs pertaining to the property, estimated related future costs and any deferred costs relating to leases of the property.

Participation by Third Parties

.10 In some instances a manufacturer or dealer lessor sells or assigns a lease, or property subject to a lease, to independent financing institutions and independent leasing companies. In other instances, a manufacturer or dealer sells the property to the financing institutions and at that time a lease for the property is obtained for the benefit of the institutions. In these cases, a third party is participating in a lease transaction involving a manufacturer or dealer and the lessee. The terms of the underlying leases and the risks and rewards retained by the manufacturers or dealers should determine the accounting for such transactions by the manufacturers or dealers.

.11 Leases equivalent to sales. The sale or assignment by a manufacturer or dealer to an independent financing institution of a lease, or of property subject to a lease, that meets, insofar as the lease transaction is concerned, the conditions of paragraph .04 does not negate the original determination that the lease transaction should be accounted for as a sale. Profit or loss, if any, on the transaction with the financing institution should be recognized at the time of sale or assignment to the financing institution.

.12 Operating leases. The sale to an independent financing institution of property subject to an operating lease, or of property which is leased by or intended to be leased by the financing institution to an independent party, with the manufacturer or dealer effectively retaining any risks of ownership in the property, is not a sale in substance and, therefore, should not be accounted for as a sale. However, the sale to an independent financing institution of such property should be reflected as a sale if no important uncertainties such as those described in paragraph .07 exist and either (a) all risks and rewards of ownership in the property are transferred to the purchaser or (b) all risks are transferred but some of the rewards are retained by the

³⁰ See footnote 1.

Revenue and Expense

manufacturer or dealer and the sum of the present value of the required payments " by the purchaser and any related investment tax credit retained by the dealer (see paragraph .04(c)(iii)) is equal to or greater than the normal selling price or, in the absence thereof, the fair value of the property. When a sale is recorded, all costs should be charged against income in that period (see paragraph .06).

.13 A manufacturer or dealer may by various arrangements assure recovery of the investment by the third-party financing institution in some operating lease transactions and thus retain substantial risks of ownership in the property. For example, in the case of default by the lessee or termination of the lease, the arrangements may involve a formal or informal commitment by the manufacturer or dealer (a) to acquire the lease or the property, (b) to substitute an existing lease, or (c) to secure a replacement lessee or a buyer for the property under a remarketing agreement. In these circumstances the manufacturer or dealer has not transferred all risks and should not reflect the transaction as a sale. However, a remarketing agreement by itself should not disqualify accounting for the transaction as a sale if the manufacturer or dealer (a) will receive a reasonable fee, commensurate with the effort involved, at the time of securing a replacement lessee or buyer for the property and (b) is not required to give any priority to the re-leasing or disposition of the property owned by the third party over similar property owned or produced by the manufacturer or dealer. (For example, for this purpose, a "best efforts" or a first-in, first-out, remarketing arrangement is considered to be a priority.)

.14 When the sale to an independent financing institution of property subject to an operating lease is not reflected as a sale, the transaction should be accounted for as a loan and revenue should be recognized under the operating method. Likewise, the sale or assignment by a manufacturer or dealer of lease payments due under an operating lease should continue to be accounted for under the operating method by the manufacturer or dealer and the proceeds should be recorded as a loan. (Transactions of these types are in effect collateralized loans from the financ-

¹¹ See footnotes 2 and 4.

ing institution to the manufacturer or dealer.)¹² However. if all risks of ownership in the property are transferred but the transaction does not qualify as a sale because the sum of the present value of the required payments ¹³ by the purchaser and any related investment tax credit retained by the dealer (see paragraph .04(c)(iii)) is less than the normal selling price or, in the absence thereof, the fair value of the property (see paragraph .12), the proceeds should be classified as deferred revenue and taken into income under the operating method.¹²

Transactions with Related Companies

.15 Leases equivalent to sales. The sale or assignment by a manufacturer or dealer to a related company¹⁴ of a lease, or property subject to a lease, that meets, insofar as the lease transaction is concerned, the conditions of paragraph .04 does not negate the original determination that the lease transaction should be accounted for as a sale. Profit or loss, if any, on the transaction with the related company should be recognized following the principles of section 2051. Consolidated Financial Statements, or section 5131, The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock, whichever is appropriate.

.16 Operating leases. The sale to a related company of property (or an undivided interest in the property) subject to an operating lease, or of property (or an undivided interest in the property) which is leased by or intended to be leased by the related company to an independent party. is not a sale in substance if the manufacturer or dealer retains any risks of ownership in the property and, therefore, should not be accounted for as a sale. Likewise, the sale or assignment to a related company of lease payments due under an operating lease should continue to be accounted

²² Also see paragraph .09 of this section with regard to recognition of an implicit loss under an operating lease. ²³ See footnotes 2 and 4.

¹³See footnotes 2 and 4. ¹⁴For the purposes of this part (paragraphs .15 and .16) of this section a related company is considered to be a subsidiary, corporate joint venture, partnership, unincorporated joint venture or other investee in which the manufacturer or dealer has a financial interest. Financial interest refers to those situations in which the manufacturer or dealer directly or indirectly controls the related company or has the ability to exercise significant influ-ence over operating and financial policies of the related company. (See section 5131.17.) Significant influence may be exercised through guarantees of indebtedness, extension of credit and other special arrangements, or ownership of warrants, debt obligations or other securities.

for under the operating method by the manufacturer or dealer. Further, the lease of property to a related company should not be considered a sale by the manufacturer or dealer unless the related company has leased the property to an independent lessee in a transaction that meets the conditions of paragraph .04 of this section and the manufacturer or dealer retains no risks of ownership in the property. When a sale is recorded by the manufacturer or dealer, all costs should be charged against income in that period (see paragraph .06). Profit or loss, if any, on the transaction with the related company should be recognized following the principles of section 2051 or section 5131, whichever is appropriate.¹⁵

.17 The sale by a manufacturer or dealer to an unrelated company of an undivided interest in property subject to an operating lease, or of an undivided interest in property which is leased by or intended to be leased by the unrelated company to an independent party, creates a situation similar to a joint venture and therefore should not be accounted for as a sale unless the transaction meets the conditions of paragraph .04 of this section and the manufacturer or dealer retains no risks of ownership in the property. When a sale of an undivided interest is recorded by the manufacturer or dealer, all costs pertaining to that undivided interest should be charged against income in that period (see paragraph .06).

EFFECTIVE DATE

.18 The provisions of this section shall be effective for all lease transactions involving manufacturers or dealers with independent lessees after December 31, 1972. However, the accounting for lease transactions that have previously been entered into in the fiscal year in which December 31, 1972 occurs may be adjusted to comply with the provisions of this section.

 \implies The next page is 8461. \leftarrow

AC § 4052.17 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

¹⁵ Also see paragraph .09 of this section with regard to recognition of an implicit loss under an operating lease.

Compensation Involved in Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans [Source: ARB No. 43, Chap. 13B, as amended.]

> Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1953¹

.01 The practice of granting to officers and other employees options to purchase or rights to subscribe for shares of a corporation's capital stock has been followed by a considerable number of corporations over a period of many years. To the extent that such options and rights involve a measurable amount of compensation, this cost of services received should be accounted for as such. The amount of compensation involved may be substantial and omission of such costs from the corporation's accounting may result in overstatement of net income to a significant degree. Accordingly, consideration is given herein to the accounting treatment of compensation represented by stock options or purchase rights granted to officers and other employees.¹

.02 For convenience, this section will discuss primarily the problems of compensation raised by stock option plans. However, the committee feels that substantially the same problems may be encountered in connection with stock purchase plans made available to employees, and the discussion below is applicable to such plans also.

¹ Bulletin 37, "Accounting for Compensation in the Form of Stock Options," was issued in November, 1948. Issuance of a revised bulletin in 1953 and its expansion to include stock purchase plans were prompted by the very considerable increase in the use of certain types of option and purchase plans following the enactment in 1950 of Section 130A of the Internal Revenue Code. This section granted specialized tax treatment to employee stock options if certain requirements were met as to the terms of the option, as to the circumstances under which the option was granted and could be exercised and as to the holding and disposal of the stock acquired thereunder. In general, the effect of Section 130A was to eliminate or minimize the amount of income taxable to the employee as compensation and to deny to the issuing corporation any tax deduction in respect of such restricted options. In 1951, Federal Salary Stabilization Board issued rules and regulations relating to stock options and purchase rights granted to employees whereby options generally comparable in nature to the restricted stock options specified in Section 130A might be considered for its purposes not to involve compensation, or to involve compensation only in limited amounts. [Ed. note: changed to past tense.]

RIGHTS INVOLVING COMPENSATION

.03 Stock options involving an element of compensation usually arise out of an offer or agreement by an employer corporation to issue shares of its capital stock to one or more officers or other employees (hereinafter referred to as grantees) at a stated price. The grantees are accorded the right to require issuance of the shares either at a specified time or during some determinable period. In some cases the grantee's options are exercisable only if at the time of exercise certain conditions exist, such as that the grantee is then or until a specified date has been an employee. In other cases, the grantees may have undertaken certain obligations, such as to remain in the employment of the corporation for at least a specified period, or to take the shares only for investment purposes and not for resale.

RIGHTS NOT INVOLVING COMPENSATION 2

.04 Stock option plans in many cases may be intended not primarily as a special form of compensation but rather as an important means of raising capital, or as an inducement to obtain greater or more widespread ownership of the corporation's stock among its officers and other employees. In general, the terms under which such options are granted, including any conditions as to exercise of the options or disposal of the stock acquired, are the most significant evidence ordinarily available as to the nature and purpose of a particular stock option or stock option plan. In practice, it is often apparent that a particular option or plan involves elements of two or more of the above purposes. Where the inducements are not larger per share than would reasonably be required in an offer of shares to all shareholders for the purpose of raising an equivalent amount of capital, no compensation need be presumed to be involved.

.05 Stock purchase plans also are frequently an integral part of a corporation's program to secure equity capital or to obtain widespread ownership among employees, or both. In such cases, no element of compensation need be considered to be present if the purchase price is not

^{*} Four essential characteristics of a noncompensatory plan are described in section 4062.07.

lower than is reasonably required to interest employees generally or to secure the contemplated funds.

TIME OF MEASUREMENT OF COMPENSATION

.06 In the case of stock options involving compensation, the principal problem is the measurement of the compensation. This problem involves selection of the date as of which measurement of any element of compensation is to be made and the manner of measurement. The date as of which measurement is made is of critical importance since the fair value of the shares under option may vary materially in the often extended period during which the option is outstanding. There may be at least six dates to be considered for this purpose: (a) the date of the adoption of an option plan, (b) the date on which an option is granted to a specific individual, (c) the date on which the grantee has performed any conditions precedent to exercise of the option, (d) the date on which the grantee may first exercise the option. (e) the date on which the option is exercised by the grantee, and (f) the date on which the grantee disposes of the stock acquired.

.07 Of the six dates mentioned two are not relevant to the question considered in this section—cost to the corporation which is granting the option. The date of adoption of an option plan clearly has no relevance, inasmuch as the plan per se constitutes no more than a proposed course of action which is ineffective until options are granted thereunder. The date on which a grantee disposes of the shares acquired under an option is equally immaterial since this date will depend on the desires of the individual as a shareholder and bears no necessary relation to the services performed.³

.08 The date on which the option is exercised has been advocated as the date on which a cost may be said to have been incurred. Use of this date is supported by the argument that only then will it be known whether or not the option will be exercised. However, beginning with the time at which the grantee may first exercise the op-

³This was the date on which income or gain taxable to the grantee might arise under Section 130A. Use of this date for tax purposes was doubtless based on considerations as to the ability of the optionee to pay taxes prior to sale of the shares. [Ed. note: changed to past tense.]

tion he is in effect speculating for his own account. His delay has no discernible relation to his status as an employee but reflects only his judgment as an investor.

.09 The date on which the grantee may first exercise the option will generally coincide with, but in some cases may follow, the date on which the grantee will have performed any conditions precedent to exercise of the option. Accordingly this date presents no special problems differing from those to be discussed in the next paragraph.

.10 There remain to be considered the date on which an option is granted to a specific individual and the date on which the grantee has fulfilled any conditions precedent to exercise of the option. When compensation is paid in a form other than cash the amount of compensation is ordinarily determined by the fair value of the property which was agreed to be given in exchange for the services to be rendered. The time at which such fair value is to be determined may be subject to some difference of opinion but it appears that the date on which an option is granted to a specific individual would be the appropriate point at which to evaluate the cost to the employer, since it was the value at that date which the employer may be presumed to have had in mind. In most of the cases under discussion, moreover, the only important contingency involved is the continuance of the grantee in the employment of the corporation, a matter very largely within the control of the grantee and usually the main objective of the grantor. Under such circumstances it may be assumed that if the stock option were granted as a part of an employment contract, both parties had in mind a valuation of the option at the date of the contract; and accordingly, value at that date should be used as the amount to be accounted for as compensation. If the option were granted as a form of supplementary compensation otherwise than as an integral part of an employment contract, the grantor is nevertheless governed in determining the option price and the number of shares by conditions then existing. It follows that it is the value of the option at that time, rather than the grantee's ultimate gain or loss on the transaction, which for accounting purposes constitutes whatever compensation the grantor intends to pay. The committee

AC § 4061.09

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

therefore concludes that in most cases, including situations where the right to exercise is conditional upon continued employment, valuation should be made of the option as of the date of grant.

.11 The date of grant also represents the date on which the corporation foregoes the principal alternative use of the shares which it places subject to option, i.e., the sale of such shares at the then prevailing market price. Viewed in this light, the *cost* of utilizing the shares for purposes of the option plan can best be measured in relation to what could then have been obtained through sale of such shares in the open market. However, the fact that the grantor might, as events turned out, have obtained at some later date either more or less for the shares in question than at the date of the grant does not bear upon the measurement of the compensation which can be said to have been in contemplation of the parties at the date the option was granted.⁴

MANNER OF MEASUREMENT

.12 Freely exercisable option rights, even at prices above the current market price of the shares, have been traded in the public markets for many years, but there is no such objective means for measuring the value of an option which is not transferable and is subject to such other restrictions as are usually present in options of the nature here under discussion. Although there is, from the standpoint of the grantee, a value inherent in a restricted future right to purchase shares at a price at or even above the fair value of shares at the grant date, the committee believes it is impracticable to measure any such value. As to the grantee any positive element may, for practical purposes, be deemed to be largely or wholly offset by the negative effect of the restrictions ordinarily present in options of the type under discussion. From the viewpoint of the grantor corporation no measurable cost can be said to have been incurred because it could not at the grant date have realized more than the fair value of the optioned shares, the concept of fair value as here used encompassing the possibility and prospect of future developments. On the other hand, it follows in the opinion of the committee that

⁴Also see section 4062.10b for the definition of the measurement date.

the value to the grantee and the related cost to the corporation of a restricted right to purchase shares at a price below the fair value of the shares at the grant date may for the purposes here under discussion be taken as the excess of the then fair value of the shares over the option price.⁵

.13 While market quotations of shares are an important and often a principal factor in determining the fair value of shares, market quotations at a given date are not necessarily conclusive evidence.⁶ Where significant market quotations cannot be obtained, other recognized methods of valuation have to be used. Furthermore, in determining the fair value ⁷ of shares for the purpose of measuring the cost incurred by a corporation in the issuance of an option, it is appropriate to take into consideration such modifying factors as the range of quotations over a reasonable period and the fact that the corporation by selling shares pursuant to an option may avoid some or all of the expenses otherwise incurred in a sale of shares. The absence of a ready market, as in the case of shares of closely-held corporations, should also be taken into account and may require the use of other means of arriving at fair value than by reference to an occasional market quotation or sale of the security.8

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

.14 If the period for which payment for services is being made by the issuance of the stock option is not specifically indicated in the offer or agreement, the value of the option should be apportioned over the period of service for which the payment of the compensation seems appropriate in the existing circumstances. Accrual of the compensation over the period selected should be made by means of charges against the income account." Upon exer-

AC § 4061.13

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Inc.

^a Section 4062.10 states that "Compensation for services that a corpora-tion receives as consideration for stock issued through employee stock option, purchase, and award plans should be measured by the quoted market price of the stock at the measurement date less the amount, if any, that the employee is required to pay." [As amended by APB Opinion No. 25, effective after December 31, 1972.]

Whether treasury or unissued shares are to be used to fulfill the obligation is not material to a determination of value. (However, see section

^{4062.11}a.) 'See section 4062.10 in which quoted market price is substituted for fair value. See section 4062.10a.

^{*} See sections 4062.12-.15.

cise of an option the sum of the cash received and the amount of the charge to income should be accounted for as the consideration received on issuance of the stock.

.15 In connection with financial statements, disclosure should be made as to the status of the option or plan at the end of the period of report, including the number of shares under option, the option price, and the number of shares as to which options were exercisable. As to options exercised during the period, disclosure should be made of the number of shares involved and the option price thereof.

 \longrightarrow The next page is 8481. \leftarrow

AC Section 4062 Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees

[Source: APB Opinion No. 25.]

Effective for all stock option, purchase, award, and bonus rights granted after December 31, 1972, unless otherwise indicated ¹

INTRODUCTION

Scope of Section

.01 Many corporations have adopted various plans, contracts, and agreements to compensate officers and other employees by issuing to them stock of the employer corporation. Under traditional stock option and stock purchase plans an employer corporation grants options to purchase a fixed number of shares of stock of the corporation at a stated price during a specified period or grants rights to purchase shares of stock of the corporation at a stated price, often at a discount from the market price of the stock at the date the rights are granted. Stock options and purchase rights are normally granted for future services of employees. Section 4061, Compensation Involved in Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans (1953), contains the principles of accounting for those plans.

.02 Among traditional plans not described in section 4061 are plans in which an employer corporation awards to employees shares of stock of the corporation for current or future services. Some corporations have replaced or supplemented traditional plans with more complex plans, contracts, and agreements for issuing stock. An arrangement may be based on variable factors that depend on future events; for example, a corporation may award a variable number of shares of stock or may grant a stock option with a variable option price. Other arrangements combine the characteristics of two or more types of plans, and some give an employee an election.

¹See paragraph .20.

.03 Accounting for employee services received as consideration for stock issued is included in Accounting Research Study No. 15, *Stockholders' Equity.*²

This section deals with some aspects of accounting .04 for stock issued to employees through both noncompensatory and compensatory plans (a plan is any arrangement to issue stock to officers and employees, as a group or individually). Section 4061 remains in effect for traditional stock option and stock purchase plans except that the measure of compensation is redefined in this section. This section recognizes certain practices that evolved after section 4061 was adopted and applies the principles of that section to other plans in which the number of shares of stock that may be acquired by or awarded to an employee and the option or purchase price, if any, are known or determinable at the date of grant or award. It also specifies the accounting for (a) plans in which either the number of shares of stock or the option or purchase price depends on future events and (b) income tax benefits related to stock issued to employees through stock option, purchase, and award plans. Section 4062A illustrates measuring and accounting for compensation under typical plans.

Differing Views

.05 Some accountants believe that compensation cost for all compensatory plans should be recorded at the date of grant or not later than the date of exercise. They believe that past experience and outside evidence of values can overcome difficulties in measuring compensation. Other accountants believe that compensation need not be recorded if an employee pays an amount that is at least equal to the market price of the stock at the date of grant and that problems in accounting for compensation plans pertain to plans in which the number of shares of stock or the option or purchase price cannot be determined until after the date of grant or award. Still other accountants, although they agree in principle with the first group, believe that progress will result from specifying the accounting for plans with variable factors but leaving section 4061 in effect with modifications while the entire topic of accounting for compensation involving stock is studied.

AC § 4062.03

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

²Accounting research studies are not pronouncements of the Board or of the Institute but are published for the purpose of stimulating discussion on important accounting matters.

.06 Some accountants believe that a tax benefit attributable to compensation that is deductible in computing taxable income but is not recorded as an expense of any period results from a permanent difference. The benefit should therefore be recorded under section 4091.32-.33, Accounting for Income Taxes, as a reduction of income tax expense for the period that the benefit is received. Other accountants believe that the tax benefit results from issuing stock and should be accounted for as an adjustment of capital in addition to par or stated value of capital stock in accordance with section 4091.51.

OPINION

Noncompensatory Plans

.07 Sections 4061.04-.05 describe stock option and stock purchase plans that may not be intended primarily to compensate employees. An employer corporation recognizes no compensation for services in computing consideration received for stock that is issued through noncompensatory plans. The Board concludes that at least four characteristics are essential in a noncompensatory plan: (a) substantially all full-time employees meeting limited employment qualifications may participate (employees owning a specified percent of the outstanding stock and executives may be excluded), (b) stock is offered to eligible employees equally or based on a uniform percentage of salary or wages (the plan may limit the number of shares of stock that an employee may purchase through the plan), (c) the time permitted for exercise of an option or purchase right is limited to a reasonable period, and (d) the discount from the market price of the stock is no greater than would be reasonable in an offer of stock to stockholders or others. An example of a noncompensatory plan is the "statutory" employee stock purchase plan that qualifies under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code.

Compensatory Plans

.08 Plans that do not possess the four characteristics of noncompensatory plans are classified as compensatory plans. Since the major principles of section 4061 are not changed, classification as a compensatory plan does not necessarily require that compensation cost be recognized.³

.09 Services as Consideration for Stock Issued. The consideration that a corporation receives for stock issued through a stock option, purchase, or award plan consists of cash or other assets, if any, plus services received from the employee.

.10 Measuring Compensation for Services. Compensation for services that a corporation receives as consideration for stock issued through employee stock option, purchase, and award plans should be measured by the quoted market price of the stock at the measurement date less the amount, if any, that the employee is required to pay. That is the principle in section 4061 with two modifications: (a) the meaning of fair value of stock for compensatory plans is narrowed and (b) the measurement date for plans with a variable number of shares of stock or a variable option or purchase price is different.

a. Quoted market price is substituted for fair value. The Board acknowledges the conclusion in section 4061 that "market quotations at a given date are not necessarily conclusive evidence" of fair value of shares of stock but concludes that, for purposes of this section, the unadjusted quoted market price of a share of stock of the same class that trades freely in an established market should be used in measuring compensation. An employee's right to acquire or receive shares of stock is presumed to have a value and that value stems basically from the value of the stock to be received under the right. However, the value of the right is also affected by various other factors, some of which tend to diminish its value and some of which tend to enhance it. Those opposing factors include a known future purchase price (or no payment), restrictions on the employee's right to receive stock, absence of commissions on acquisition, different risks as compared

AC § 4062.09

³All compensation arrangements involving stock, regardless of the name given, should be accounted for according to their substance. For example, an arrangement in which the consideration for stock issued to an employee is a nonrecourse note secured by the stock issued may be in substance the same as the grant of a stock option and should be accounted for accordingly. The note should be classified as a reduction of stockholders' equity rather than as an asset.

Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees

with those of a stockholder, tax consequences to the employee, and restrictions on the employee's ability to transfer stock issued under the right. The effects of the opposing factors are difficult to measure, and a practical solution is to rely on quoted market price to measure compensation cost related to issuing both restricted (or letter) and unrestricted stock through stock option, purchase, or award plans. If a quoted market price is unavailable, the best estimate of the market value of the stock should be used to measure compensation.

b. The measurement date for determining compensation cost in stock option, purchase, and award plans is the first date on which are known both (1) the number of shares that an individual employee is entitled to receive and (2) the option or purchase price, if any. That date for many or most plans is the date an option or purchase right is granted or stock is awarded to an individual employee and is therefore unchanged from section 4061. However, the measurement date may be later than the date of grant or award in plans with variable terms that depend on events after date of grant or award.

Thus a corporation recognizes compensation cost for stock issued through compensatory plans unless the employee pays an amount that is at least equal to the quoted market price of the stock at the measurement date.

.11 Applying the measurement principle—The following supplements paragraph .10 for special situations in some plans.

a. Measuring compensation by the cost to an employer corporation of reacquired (treasury) stock that is distributed through a stock option, purchase, or award plan is not acceptable practice. The only exception is that compensation cost under a plan with all the provisions described in paragraph .11(c) may be measured by the cost of stock that the corporation (1) reacquires during the fiscal period for which the stock is to be awarded and (2) awards shortly thereafter to employees for services during that period.

- b. The measurement date is not changed from the grant or award date to a later date solely by provisions that termination of employment reduces the number of shares of stock that may be issued to an employee.
- c. The measurement date of an award of stock for current service may be the end of the fiscal period, which is normally the effective date of the award, instead of the date that the award to an employee is determined if (1) the award is provided for by the terms of an established formal plan, (2) the plan designates the factors that determine the total dollar amount of awards to employees for the period (for example, a percent of income), although the total amount or the individual awards may not be known at the end of the period, and (3) the award pertains to current service of the employee for the period.
- d. Renewing a stock option or purchase right or extending its period establishes a new measurement date as if the right were newly granted.
- e. Transferring stock or assets to a trustee, agent, or other third party for distribution of stock to employees under the terms of an option, purchase, or award plan does not change the measurement date from a later date to the date of transfer unless the terms of the transfer provide that the stock (1) will not revert to the corporation, (2) will not be granted or awarded later to the same employee on terms different from or for services other than those specified in the original grant or award, and (3) will not be granted or awarded later to another employee.
- f. The measurement date for a grant or award of convertible stock or (stock that is otherwise exchangeable for other securities of the corporation) is the date on which the ratio of conversion (or exchange) is known unless other terms are variable at that date (paragraph .10b). The higher of the quoted market price at the measurement date of (1) the convertible stock granted or awarded or (2) the securities into which the original grant or award

AC § 4062.11

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

is convertible should be used to measure compensation.

- g. Cash paid to an employee to settle an earlier award of stock or to settle a grant of option to the employee should measure compensation cost. If the cash payment differs from the earlier measure of the award of stock or grant of option, compensation cost should be adjusted (paragraph .15). The amount that a corporation pays to an employee to purchase stock previously issued to the employee through a compensation plan is "cash paid to an employee to settle an earlier award of stock or to settle a grant of option" if stock is reacquired shortly after issuance. Cash proceeds that a corporation receives from sale of awarded stock or stock issued on exercise of an option and remits to the taxing authorities to cover required withholding of income taxes on an award is not "cash paid to an employee to settle an earlier award of stock or to settle a grant of option" in measuring compensation cost.
- h. Some plans are a combination of two or more types of plans. An employer corporation may need to measure compensation for the separate parts. Compensation cost for a combination plan permitting an employee to elect one part should be measured according to the terms that an employee is most likely to elect based on the facts available each period.

.12 Accruing Compensation Cost. Compensation cost in stock option, purchase, and award plans should be recognized as an expense of one or more periods in which an employee performs services and also as part or all of the consideration received for stock issued to the employee through a plan. The grant or award may specify the period or periods during which the employee performs services, or the period or periods may be inferred from the terms or from the past pattern of grants or awards (section 4061.14; section 4064.01).

.13 An employee may perform services in several periods before an employer corporation issues stock to him for those services. The employer corporation should accrue compensation expense in each period in which the services are performed. If the measurement date is later than the date of grant or award, an employer corporation should record the compensation expense each period from date of grant or award to date of measurement based on the quoted market price of the stock at the end of each period.

.14 If stock is issued in a plan before some or all of the services are performed,⁴ part of the consideration recorded for the stock issued is unearned compensation and should be shown as a separate reduction of stockholders' equity. The unearned compensation should be accounted for as expense of the period or periods in which the employee performs service.

.15 Accruing compensation expense may require estimates, and adjustment of those estimates in later periods may be necessary (section 1051.31-.33, Accounting Changes). For example, if a stock option is not exercised (or awarded stock is returned to the corporation) because an employee fails to fulfill an obligation, the estimate of compensation expense recorded in previous periods should be adjusted by decreasing compensation expense in the period of forfeiture.

.16 Accounting for Income Tax Benefits. An employer corporation may obtain an income tax benefit related to stock issued to an employee through a stock option, purchase, or award plan. A corporation is usually entitled to a deduction for income tax purposes of the amount that an employee reports as ordinary income, and the deduction is allowable to the corporation in the year in which the amount is includable in the gross income of the employee. Thus, a deduction for income tax purposes may differ from the related compensation expense that the corporation recognizes,⁵ and the deduction may be allowable in a period that differs from the one in which the corporation recognizes compensation expense in measuring net income.

.17 An employer corporation should reduce income tax expense for a period by no more of a tax reduction under a stock option, purchase, or award plan than the proportion of the tax reduction that is related to the compensation expense for the period. Compensation expenses that are

AC § 4062.14 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

⁴State law governs the issuance of a corporation's stock including the acceptability of issuing stock for future services.

[•]A corporation may be entitled to a deduction for income tax purposes even though it recognizes no compensation expense in measuring net income.

deductible in a tax return in a period different from the one in which they are reported as expenses in measuring net income are timing differences (section 4091.33-.36), and deferred taxes should be recorded. The remainder of the tax reduction, if any, is related to an amount that is deductible for income tax purposes but does not affect net income. The remainder of the tax reduction should not be included in income but should be added to capital in addition to par or stated value of capital stock in the period of the tax reduction. Conversely, a tax reduction may be less than if recorded compensation expenses were deductible for income tax purposes. If so, the corporation may deduct the difference from additional capital in the period of the tax reduction to the extent that tax reductions under the same or similar compensatory stock option, purchase, or award plans have been included in additional capital.

.18 A corporation may, either by cash payment or otherwise—for example, by allowing a reduction in the purchase price of stock—reimburse an employee for his action related to a stock option, purchase, or award plan that results in a reduction of income taxes of the corporation. The corporation should include the reimbursement in income as an expense.

.19 Disclosure. Section 4061.15 specifies the disclosures related to stock option and stock purchase plans that should be made in financial statements.⁶

EFFECTIVE DATE

.20 This section applies to all stock option, purchase, award, and bonus rights granted by an employer corporation to an individual employee after December 31, 1972 under both existing and new arrangements and to reductions of income taxes resulting from deductions as of a date after December 31, 1972 that are related to stock option, purchase, award, and bonus rights granted before as well as after the effective date of this section.

 \implies The next page is 8501. \leftarrow

[•]Other disclosure requirements are in Regulation S-X for financial statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and in listing agreements of the stock exchanges for financial statements included in annual reports to stockholders.

Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees—Appendix A

MEASURING AND ACCOUNTING FOR COMPENSATION UNDER TYPICAL PLANS (FOR ILLUSTRATION ONLY)

Corporations issue stock to officers and other em-.01 ployees through plans with a variety of names and a multiplicity of terms. Plans in which employees pay cash, either directly or through payroll withholding, as all or a significant part of the consideration for stock they receive, are commonly designated by names such as stock option, stock purchase, or stock thrift or savings plans. Plans in which employees receive stock for current or future services without paying cash (or with a nominal payment) are commonly designated by names such as stock bonus or stock award plans. Stock bonus and award plans are invariably compensatory. Stock thrift and savings plans are compensatory to the extent of contributions of an employer corporation. Stock option and purchase plans may be either compensatory or noncompensatory. The combination of terms in some plans tend to make various types of plans shade into one another, and an assigned name may not describe the nature of a plan.

.02 This section is organized according to the most vital distinction in section 4062—compensatory plans are divided between plans in which the cost of compensation is measured at the date of grant or award and those in which the cost of compensation depends on events after the date of grant or award. Combination plans are described briefly in a final section.

Compensation Cost Measured at Date of Grant or Award

.03 Accounting. Total compensation cost is measured by the difference between the quoted market price of the stock at the date of grant or award and the price, if any, to be paid by an employee and is recognized as expense over the period the employee performs related services. The sum of compensation and cash paid by the employee is the consideration received for the stock issued. Compensation cost related to an award of stock may be adjusted for a later cash settlement (section 4062.11(g)).

.04 Typical Plans with Fixed and Determinable Terms. The characteristic that identifies plans in this group is that the terms fix and provide means for determining at the date of grant or award both the number of shares of stock that may be acquired by or awarded to an employee and the cash, if any, to be paid by the employee. Plans usually presume or provide that the employee perform current or future services. The right to transfer stock received is sometimes restricted for a specified period.

.05 Stock option and stock purchase plans—Typical terms provide for an employer corporation to grant to an employee the right to purchase a fixed number of shares of stock of the employer corporation at a stated price during a specified period.

.06 Stock bonus or award plans—Typical terms provide for an employer corporation to award to an employee a fixed number of shares of stock of the employer corporation without a cash payment (or with a nominal cash payment) by the employee. Often the award is specified as a fixed dollar amount but is distributable in stock with the number of shares determined by the quoted market price of the stock at the date of award, the effective date of award (section 4062.11(c)), or the date treasury stock is acquired (section 4062.11(a)).

Compensation Cost Measured at Other Than Date of Grant or Award

.07 Accounting. Compensation cost is accounted for the same as for plans in the first group with one exception. The quoted market price used in the measurement is not the price at date of grant or award but the price at the date on which both the number of shares of stock that may be acquired by or awarded to an individual employee and the option or purchase price are known. Total compensation cost is measured by the difference between that quoted market price of the stock and the amount, if any, to be paid by an employee and is recognized as expense over the period the employee performs related services. The sum of compensation and cash paid by the employee is the consideration received for the stock issued. Compensation cost re-

AC § 4062A.04

lated to an award of stock may be adjusted for a later cash settlement (section 4062.11(g)).

.08 Estimates of compensation cost are recorded before the measurement date based on the quoted market price of the stock at intervening dates. Recorded compensation expense between the date of grant or award and the measurement date may either increase or decrease because changes in quoted market price of the stock require recomputations of the estimated compensation cost.

.09 Typical Plans with Variable Terms. The characteristic that identifies plans in this group is that the terms prevent determining at the date of grant or award either the number of shares of stock that may be acquired by or awarded to an employee or the price to be paid by the employee, or both. The indeterminate factors usually depend on events that are not known or determinable at the date of grant or award. Plans usually presume or provide that the employee perform current or future services. The right to transfer stock received is sometimes restricted for a specified period.

.10 Stock option and stock purchase plans—Some terms provide for an employer corporation to grant to an employee the right to purchase shares of stock of the employer corporation during a specified period. The number of shares of stock, the option or purchase price, or both may vary depending on various factors during a specified period, such as market performance of the stock, equivalents of dividends distributed, or level of earnings of the employer corporation.

.11 Stock bonus or award plans—Some terms provide for an employer corporation to award to an employee the right to receive shares of stock of the employer corporation but the number of shares is not determinable at the date of award. Often the award is specified as a fixed dollar amount but is distributable in stock with the number of shares of stock determined by the market price of the stock at the date distributed, or the award may be of an undesignated number of shares of stock and that number is to be determined by variable factors during a specified period.

.12 The terms of some plans, often called *phantom* stock or shadow stock plans, base the obligations for com-AICPA Professional Standards AC § 4062A.12 pensation on increases in market price of or dividends distributed on a specified or variable number of shares of stock of the employer corporation but provide for settlement of the obligation to the employee in cash, in stock of the employer corporation, or a combination of cash and stock.

Combination and Elective Plans

.13 Accounting. In general, compensation is measured for the separate parts of combination or elective plans. Compensation expense is the sum of the parts that apply. An employer corporation may need to measure compensation at various dates as the terms of separate parts become known. For example, if an employee is entitled to dividend equivalents, compensation cost is the sum of the costs measured at the dates the dividends are credited to the employee in accordance with the terms of the plan. If an employee may choose between alternatives, compensation expense is accrued for the alternative that the employee is most likely to elect based on the facts available at the date of accrual.

Typical Combination and Elective Plans. Some .14 plans provide for an employer corporation to grant or award to an employee rights with more than one set of terms. Often an employee may elect the right to be exer-The combination of rights may be granted or cised. awarded simultaneously or an employee who holds a right may subsequently be granted or awarded a second but different right. The rights may run concurrently or for different periods. An illustration is: an employee holding an option to purchase a fixed number of shares of stock at a fixed price during a specified period is granted an alternative option to purchase the same number of shares at a different price or during a different specified period. Instead of a second option, the award may be the right to elect to receive cash or shares of stock without paying cash. Often the election to acquire or receive stock under either right decreases the other right. Plans combining rights are often called tandem stock or alternate stock plans; the second right may be of the type that is sometimes called a phantom stock plan.

\implies The next page is 8521. \leftarrow

AC § 4062A.13 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

AC Section 4063 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans

[Source: APB Opinion No. 8.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1966, unless otherwise indicated

INTRODUCTION

.01 Pension plans have developed in an environment characterized by a complex array of social concepts and pressures, legal considerations, actuarial techniques, income tax laws and regulations, business philosophies, and accounting concepts and practices. Each plan reflects the interaction of the environment with the interests of the persons concerned with its design, interpretation and operation. From these factors have resulted widely divergent practices in accounting for the cost of pension plans.

.02 An increased significance of pension cost in relation to the financial position and results of operations of many businesses has been brought about by the substantial growth of private pension plans, both in numbers of employees covered and in amounts of retirement benefits. The assets accumulated and the future benefits to employees under these plans have reached such magnitude that changes in actuarial assumptions concerning pension fund earnings, employee mortality and turnover, retirement age, etc., and the treatment of differences between such assumptions and actual experience, can have important effects on the pension cost recognized for accounting purposes from year to year.

.03 In Accounting Research Bulletin No. 47, Accounting for Costs of Pension Plans, the committee on accounting procedure stated its preferences that "costs based on current and future services should be systematically accrued during the expected period of active service of the covered employees" and that "costs based on past services should be charged off over some reasonable period, provided the

And the second

allocation is made on a systematic and rational basis and does not cause distortion of the operating results in any one year." In recognition of the divergent views then existing, however, the committee also said "as a minimum, the accounts and financial statements should reflect accruals which equal the present worth, actuarially calculated, of pension commitments to employees to the extent that pension rights have vested in the employees, reduced, in the case of the balance sheet, by any accumulated trusteed funds or annuity contracts purchased." The committee did not explain what was meant by the term "vested" and did not make any recommendations concerning appropriate actuarial cost methods or recognition of actuarial gains and losses.

.04 Despite the issuance of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 47, accounting for the cost of pension plans has varied widely among companies and has sometimes resulted in wide year-to-year fluctuations in the provisions for pension cost of a single company. Generally, companies have provided pension cost equivalent to the amounts paid to a pension fund or used to purchase annuities. In many cases such payments have included amortization of past service cost (and prior service cost arising on amendment of a plan) over periods ranging from about ten to forty years; in other cases the payments have not included amortization but have included an amount equivalent to interest (see definition of interest in section 4063B.27) on unfunded prior service cost. In some cases payments from year to year have varied with fluctuations in company earnings or with the availability of funds. In other cases payments have been affected by the Federal income tax rates in effect at a particular time. The recognition of actuarial gains and losses in the year of their determination, or intermittently, has also caused year-to-year variations in such payments.

.05 Because of the increasing importance of pensions and the variations in accounting for them, the Accounting Principles Board authorized Accounting Research Study No. 8, Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans (referred to hereinafter as the "Research Study"). The Research Study was published in May 1965 by the American Institute

AC § 4063.04

of Certified Public Accountants and has been widely distributed. The Board has carefully examined the recommendations of the Research Study and considered many comments and articles about it. The Board's conclusions agree in most respects with, but differ in some from, those in the Research Study.

.06 The Board has concluded that this section is needed to clarify the accounting principles and to narrow the practices applicable to accounting for the cost of pension plans.

.07 The computation of pension cost for accounting purposes requires the use of actuarial techniques and judgment. Generally pension cost should be determined from a study by an actuary, giving effect to the conclusions set forth in this section. It should be noted that the actuarial cost methods and their application for accounting purposes may differ from those used for funding purposes. A discussion of actuarial valuations, assumptions and cost methods is included in section 4063A. The terminology used in this section to describe pension cost and actuarial cost methods is consistent with that generally used by actuaries and others concerned with pension plans. A Glossary of such terminology is included in section 4063B.

PENSION PLANS COVERED BY THIS SECTION

.08 For the purposes of this section, a pension plan is an arrangement whereby a company undertakes to provide its retired employees with benefits that can be determined or estimated in advance from the provisions of a document or documents or from the company's practices. Ordinarily, such benefits are monthly pension payments but, in many instances, they include death and disability payments. However, death and disability payments under a separate arrangement are not considered in this section. The section applies both to written plans and to plans whose existence may be implied from a well-defined, although perhaps unwritten, company policy. A company's practice of paying retirement benefits to selected employees in amounts determined on a case-by-case basis at or after retirement does not constitute a pension plan under this section. The section applies to pension cost incurred outside the United States under plans that are reasonably similar to those contemplated by this section, when included in financial statements intended to conform with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. The section applies to unfunded plans as well as to insured plans and trust fund plans. It applies to definedcontribution plans as well as to defined-benefit plans. It applies also to deferred compensation contracts with individual employees if such contracts, taken together, are equivalent to a pension plan. It does not apply to deferred profit-sharing plans except to the extent that such a plan is, or is part of, an arrangement that is in substance a pension plan.

Discussion

BASIC ACCOUNTING METHOD

.09 This section is concerned with the determination of the amount of pension cost for accounting purposes. In considering the discussions and conclusions in this section, it is important to keep in mind that the annual pension cost to be charged to expense ("the provision for pension cost") is not necessarily the same as the amount to be funded for the year. The determination of the amount to be funded is a financial matter not within the purview of this section.

.10 The pension obligations assumed by some companies are different from those assumed by other companies. In some plans the company assumes direct responsibility for the payment of benefits described in the plan. In these cases, if the pension fund is inadequate to pay the benefits to which employees are entitled, the company is liable for the deficiency. In contrast, the terms of most funded plans limit the company's legal obligation for the payment of benefits to the amounts in the pension fund. In these cases, if the pension fund is inadequate to pay the benefits to which employees are otherwise entitled, such benefits are reduced in a manner stated in the plan and the company has no further legal obligation.

.11 There is broad agreement that pension cost, including related administrative expense, should be accounted for on the accrual basis. There is not general agreement, however, about the nature of pension cost. Some view pensions solely as a form of supplemental benefit to employees in service at a particular time. Others see a broader purpose in pensions; they consider pensions to be in large part

AC § 4063.09

(a) a means of promoting efficiency by providing for the systematic retirement of older employees or (b) the fulfillment of a social obligation expected of business enterprises, the cost of which, as a practical matter, constitutes a business expense that must be incurred. Those who hold this second viewpoint associate pension cost, to a large extent, with the plan itself rather than with specific employees. In addition, the long-range nature of pensions causes significant uncertainties about the total amount of pension benefits ultimately to be paid and the amount of cost to be recognized. These differences in viewpoint concerning the nature of pension cost, the uncertainties regarding the amount of the estimates, and the use of many actuarial approaches, compound the difficulty in reaching agreement on the total amount of pension cost over a long period of years and on the time to recognize any particular portion applicable to an employee or group of employees. It is only natural, therefore, that different views exist concerning the preferable way to recognize pension cost. The major views are described in the following four paragraphs.

.12 One view is that periodic pension cost should be provided on an actuarial basis that takes into account all estimated prospective benefit payments under a plan with respect to the existing employee group, whether such payments relate to employee service rendered before or after the plan's adoption or amendment, and that no portion of the provision for such payments should be indefinitely deferred or treated as though, in fact, it did not exist. Those holding this view believe that the recurring omission of a portion of the provision, because of the time lag between making the provision and the subsequent benefit payments under a plan, is a failure to give accrual accounting recognition to the cost applicable to the benefits accrued over the service lives of all employees. Among those holding this view there is general agreement that cost relating to service following the adoption or amendment of a plan should be recognized ratably over the remaining service lives of em-There is some difference of opinion, however, plovees. concerning the period of time to use in allocating that portion of the cost which the computations under some actuarial methods assign to employee service rendered before a plan's adoption or amendment. As to this cost, (a) those

viewing pensions as relating solely to the existing employee group believe that it should be accounted for over the remaining service lives of those in the employ of the company at the time of the plan's adoption or amendment, whereas (b) some of those holding the broader view of pensions, referred to in paragraph .11, believe that this cost is associated to a large extent with the plan itself and hence that the period of providing for it need not be limited to the remaining service lives of a particular group of employees but may be extended somewhat beyond that period. However, this difference of opinion relates only to the period of time over which such cost should be provided.

.13 An opposing view stresses that pension cost is related to the pension benefits to be paid to the continuing employee group as a whole. Those holding this view emphasize that, in the application of accrual accounting, charges against income must be based on actual transactions and events-past, present or reasonably anticipated. They stress the long-range nature of pensions, referred to in paragraph .11, and emphasize the uncertainties concerning the total cost of future benefits. They point out that, in the great majority of cases, provision for normal cost plus an amount equivalent to interest on unfunded prior service cost will be adequate to meet, on a continuing basis, all benefit payments under a plan. Those holding this view believe that following the view expressed in paragraph .12 can result, over a period of years, in charging income with, and recording a balance-sheet accrual for, amounts that will not be paid as benefits. They see no reason therefore to urge employers to provide more than normal cost plus an amount equivalent to interest on unfunded prior service cost in these circumstances, because additional amounts never expected to be paid by a going concern are not corporate costs, and thus are not appropriate charges against income. They acknowledge, however, that corporations can and do make payments to pension funds for past and prior service cost, with the result that reductions will be effected in future charges for the equivalent of interest on unfunded amounts, but they consider this to be solely a matter of financial management rather than a practice dictated by accounting considerations.

AC § 4063.13 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.14 In many pension plans, cost recorded on the basis described in paragraph .13 will accumulate an amount (whether funded or not) at least equal to the actuarially computed value of vested benefits (see definition of vested benefits in section 4063B.43). However, this result might not be achieved in some cases (for example, if the average age of the employee group is high in relation to that of expected future employee groups, or if benefits vest at a relatively early age). Some hold the view that when periodic provisions are based on normal cost plus an amount equivalent to interest such periodic provisions should be increased if they will not, within a reasonable period of time, accumulate an amount (whether funded or not) at least equal to the actuarially computed value of vested benefits. Others would require the increases in provisions only if the company has a legal obligation for the payment of such benefits.

.15 Another view is that, if the company has no responsibility for paying benefits beyond the amounts in the pension fund, pension cost is discretionary and should be provided for a particular accounting period only when the company has made or has indicated its intent to make a contribution to the pension fund for the period. Others believe that pension cost is discretionary even if the company has a direct responsibility for the payment of benefits described in the plan.

Opinion

.16 The Board recognizes that a company may limit its legal obligation by specifying that pensions shall be payable only to the extent of the assets in the pension fund. Experience shows, however, that with rare exceptions pension plans continue indefinitely and that termination and other limitations of the liability of the company are not invoked while the company continues in business. Consequently, the Board believes that, in the absence of convincing evidence that the company will reduce or discontinue the benefits called for in a pension plan, the cost of the plan should be accounted for on the assumption that the company will continue to provide such benefits. This assumption implies a long-term undertaking, the cost of which should be recognized annually whether or not funded. Therefore, accounting for pension cost should not be discretionary.

.17 All members of the Board believe that the entire cost of benefit payments ultimately to be made should be charged against income subsequent to the adoption or amendment of a plan and that no portion of such cost should be charged directly against retained earnings. Differences of opinion exist concerning the measure of the cost of such ultimate payments. The Board believes that the approach stated in paragraph .12 is preferable for measuring the cost of benefit payments ultimately to be made. However, some members of the Board believe that the approach stated in paragraph .13, in some cases with the modifications described in paragraph .14, is more appropriate for such measurement. The Board has concluded, in the light of such differences in views and of the fact that accounting for pension cost is in a transitional stage, that the range of practices would be significantly narrowed if pension cost were accounted for at the present time within limits based on paragraphs .12, .13 and .14. Accordingly, the Board believes that the annual provision for pension cost should be based on an accounting method that uses an acceptable actuarial cost method (as defined in paragraphs .23 and .24) and results in a provision between the minimum and maximum stated below. The accounting method and the actuarial cost method should be consistently applied from year to year.

a. Minimum. The annual provision for pension cost should not be less than the total of (1) normal cost, (2) an amount equivalent to interest on any unfunded prior service cost and (3) if indicated in the following sentence, a provision for vested benefits. A provision for vested benefits should be made if there is an excess of the actuarially computed value of vested benefits (see definition of vested benefits in section 4063 B.43)¹ over the total of (1) the pension fund and (2) any balance-sheet pension accruals, less (3) any balance-sheet pension prepayments or deferred charges, at the end of the year, and such excess is not at least 5 per cent less than the comparable excess

¹ The actuarially computed value of vested benefits would ordinarily be based on the actuarial valuation used for the year even though such valuation would usually be as of a date other than the balance sheet date.

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

at the beginning of the year. The provision for vested benefits should be the lesser of (A) the amount, if any, by which 5 per cent of such excess at the beginning of the year is more than the amount of the reduction, if any, in such excess during the year or (B) the amount necessary to make the aggregate annual provision for pension cost equal to the total of (1) normal cost, (2) an amount equivalent to amortization, on a 40-year basis, of the past service cost (unless fully amortized), (3) amounts equivalent to amortization, on a 40-year basis, of the amounts of any increases or decreases in prior service cost arising on amendments of the plan (unless fully amortized) and (4) interest equivalents under paragraph .42 or .43 on the difference between provisions and amounts funded.²

b. Maximum. The annual provision for pension cost should not be greater than the total of (1) normal cost, (2) 10 per cent of the past service cost (until fully amortized), (3) 10 per cent of the amounts of any increases or decreases in prior service cost arising on amendments of the plan (until fully amortized) and (4) interest equivalents under paragraph .42 or .43 on the difference between provisions and amounts funded. The 10 per cent limitation is considered necessary to prevent unreasonably large charges against income during a short period of years.

.18 The difference between the amount which has been charged against income and the amount which has been paid should be shown in the balance sheet as accrued or prepaid pension cost. If the company has a legal obligation for pension cost in excess of amounts paid or accrued, the excess should be shown in the balance sheet as both a liability and a deferred charge. Except to the extent indicated in the preceding sentences of this paragraph, unfunded prior service cost is not a liability which should be shown in the balance sheet.

ACTUARIAL COST METHODS

Discussion

.19 A number of actuarial cost methods have been developed to determine pension cost. These methods are designed primarily as funding techniques, but many of them

² For purposes of this sentence, amortization should be computed as a level annual amount, including the equivalent of interest.

are also useful in determining pension cost for accounting purposes. Pension cost can vary significantly, depending on the actuarial cost method selected; furthermore, there are many variations in the application of the methods, in the necessary actuarial assumptions concerning employee turnover, mortality, compensation levels, pension fund earnings, etc., and in the treatment of actuarial gains and losses.

.20 The principal actuarial cost methods currently in use are described in section 4063A. These methods include an accrued benefit cost method and several projected benefit cost methods.

a. Under the accrued benefit cost method (unit credit method), the amount assigned to the current year usually represents the present value of the increase in present employees' retirement benefits resulting from that year's service. For an individual employee, this method results in an increasing cost from year to year because both the present value of the annual increment in benefits and the probability of reaching retirement increase as the period to retirement shortens; also, in some plans, the retirement benefits are related to salary levels, which usually increase during the years. However, the aggregate cost for a total work force of constant size tends to increase only if the average age or average compensation of the entire work force increases.

b. Under the projected benefit cost methods (entry age normal, individual level premium, aggregate and attained age normal methods), the amount assigned to the current year usually represents the level amount (or an amount based on a computed level percentage of compensation) that will provide for the estimated projected retirement benefits over the service lives of either the individual employees or the employee group, depending on the method selected. Cost computed under the projected benefit cost methods tends to be stable or to decline year by year, depending on the method selected. Cost computed under the entry age normal method is usually more stable than cost computed under any other method.

.21 Some actuarial cost methods (individual level premium and aggregate methods) assign to subsequent AC § 4063.20 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

years the cost arising at the adoption or amendment of a plan. Other methods (unit credit, entry age normal and attained age normal methods) assign a portion of the cost to years prior to the adoption or amendment of a plan, and assign the remainder to subsequent years. The portion of cost assigned to each subsequent year is called normal cost. At the adoption of a plan, the portion of cost assigned to prior years is called *past service cost*. At any later valuation date, the portion of cost assigned to prior years (which includes any remaining past service cost) is called prior service cost. The amount assigned as past or prior service cost and the amount assigned as normal cost vary depending on the actuarial cost method. The actuarial assignment of cost between past or prior service cost and normal cost is not indicative of the periods in which such cost should be recognized for accounting purposes.

.22 In some cases, past service cost (and prior service cost arising on amendment of a plan) is funded in total: in others it is funded in part; in still others it is not funded at all. In practice, the funding of such cost is influenced by the Federal income tax laws and related regulations, which generally limit the annual deduction for such cost to 10 per cent of the initial amount. There is no tax requirement that such cost be funded, but there are requirements that effectively prohibit the unfunded cost from exceeding the total of past service cost and prior service cost arising on amendment of the plan. The practical effect of the tax requirements is that on a cumulative basis normal cost plus an amount equivalent to the interest on any unfunded prior service cost must be funded. Funding of additional amounts is therefore discretionary for income tax purposes. However, neither funding nor the income tax laws and related regulations are controlling for accounting purposes.

Opinion

.23 To be acceptable for determining cost for accounting purposes, an actuarial cost method should be rational and systematic and should be consistently applied so that it results in a reasonable measure of pension cost from year to year. Therefore, in applying an actuarial cost method that separately assigns a portion of cost as past or prior service cost, any amortization of such portion should be based on a rational and systematic plan and generally should result in reasonably stable annual amounts. The equivalent of interest on the unfunded portion may be stated separately or it may be included in the amortization; however, the total amount charged against income in any one year should not exceed the maximum amount described in paragraph .17.

.24 Each of the actuarial cost methods described in section 4063A, except terminal funding, is considered acceptable when the actuarial assumptions are reasonable and when the method is applied in conformity with the other conclusions of this Opinion. The terminal funding method is not acceptable because it does not recognize pension cost prior to retirement of employees. For the same reason, the pay-as-you-go method (which is not an actuarial cost method) is not acceptable. The acceptability of methods not discussed herein should be determined from the guidelines in this and the preceding paragraph.

ACTUARIAL GAINS AND LOSSES

Discussion

.25 Actuarial assumptions necessarily are based on estimates of future events. Actual events seldom coincide with events estimated; also, as conditions change, the assumptions concerning the future may become invalid. Adjustments may be needed annually therefore to reflect actual experience, and from time to time to revise the actuarial assumptions to be used in the future. These adjustments constitute actuarial gains and losses. They may be regularly recurring (for example, minor deviations between experience and actuarial assumptions) or they may be unusual or recurring at irregular intervals (for example, substantial investment gains or losses, changes in the actuarial assumptions, plant closings, etc.).

.26 In dealing with actuarial gains and losses, the primary question concerns the timing of their recognition in providing for pension cost. In practice, three methods are in use; immediate-recognition, spreading and averaging. Under the immediate-recognition method (not ordinarily used at present for net losses), net gains are applied to reduce pension cost in the year of occurrence or the

AC § 4063.24 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

following year. Under the spreading method, net gains or losses are applied to current and future cost, either through the normal cost or through the past service cost (or prior service cost on amendment). Under the averaging method, an average of annual net gains and losses, developed from those that occurred in the past with consideration of those expected to occur in the future, is applied to the normal cost.

.27 The use of the immediate-recognition method sometimes results in substantial reductions in, or the complete elimination of, pension cost for one or more years. For Federal income tax purposes, when the unit credit actuarial cost method is used, and in certain other instances, actuarial gains reduce the maximum pension-cost deduction for the year of occurrence or the following year.

.28 Unrealized appreciation and depreciation in the value of investments in a pension fund are forms of actuarial gains and losses. Despite short-term market fluctuations, the overall rise in the value of equity investments in recent years has resulted in the investments of pension funds generally showing net appreciation. Although appreciation is not generally recognized at present in providing for pension cost, it is sometimes recognized through the interest assumption or by introducing an assumed annual rate of appreciation as a separate actuarial assumption. In other cases, appreciation is combined with other actuarial gains and losses and applied on the immediate-recognition, spreading or averaging method.

.29 The amount of any unrealized appreciation to be recognized should also be considered. Some actuarial valuations recognize the full market value. Others recognize only a portion (such as 75 per cent) of the market value or use a moving average (such as a five-year average) to minimize the effects of short-term market fluctuations. Another method used to minimize such fluctuations is to recognize appreciation annually based on an expected longrange growth rate (such as 3 per cent) applied to the cost (adjusted for appreciation previously so recognized) of common stocks; when this method is used, the total of cost and recognized appreciation usually is not permitted to exceed a specified percentage (such as 75 per cent) of the market value. Unrealized depreciation is recognized in full or on a basis similar to that used for unrealized appreciation.

Opinion

The Board believes that actuarial gains and losses. .30 including realized investment gains and losses, should be given effect in the provision for pension cost in a consistent manner that reflects the long-range nature of pension cost. Accordingly, except as otherwise indicated in paragraphs .31 and .33, actuarial gains and losses should be spread over the current year and future years or recognized on the basis of an average as described in paragraph .26. If this is not accomplished through the routine application of the method (for example, the unit credit method-see paragraph .27), the spreading or averaging should be accomplished by separate adjustments of the normal cost resulting from the routine application of the method. Where spreading is accomplished by separate adjustments, the Board considers a period of from 10 to 20 years to be reasonable. Alternatively, an effect similar to spreading or averaging may be obtained by applying net actuarial gains as a reduction of prior service cost in a manner that reduces the annual amount equivalent to interest on, or the annual amount of amortization of, such prior service cost, and does not reduce the period of amortization.

.31 Actuarial gains and losses should be recognized immediately if they arise from a single occurrence not directly related to the operation of the pension plan and not in the ordinary course of the employer's business. An example of such occurrences is a plant closing, in which case the actuarial gain or loss should be treated as an adjustment of the net gain or loss from that occurrence and not as an adjustment of pension cost for the year. Another example of such occurrences is a merger or acquisition accounted for as a purchase, in which case the actuarial gain or loss should be treated as an adjustment of the purchase price.³ However, if the transaction is accounted for as a pooling of interests, the actuarial gain or loss should generally be treated as described in paragraph .30.

.32 The Board believes unrealized appreciation and depreciation should be recognized in the determination of the provision for pension cost on a rational and systematic

AC § 4063.30 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

^{*} See section 1091.88h.

basis that avoids giving undue weight to short-term market fluctuations (as by using a method similar to those referred to in paragraph .29). Such recognition should be given either in the actuarial assumptions or as described in paragraph .30 for other actuarial gains and losses. Ordinarily appreciation and depreciation need not be recognized for debt securities expected to be held to maturity and redeemed at face value.

.33 Under variable annuity and similar plans the retirement benefits vary with changes in the value of a specified portfolio of equity investments. In these cases, investment gains or losses, whether realized or unrealized, should be recognized in computing pension cost only to the extent that they will not be applied in determining retirement benefits.

EMPLOYEES INCLUDED IN COST CALCULATIONS Discussion

.34 Under some plans employees become eligible for coverage when they are employed; other plans have requirements of age or length of service or both. Some plans state only the conditions an employee must meet to receive benefits but do not otherwise deal with coverage. Ordinarily actuarial valuations exclude employees likely to leave the company within a short time after employment. This simplifies the actuarial calculations. Accordingly, actuarial calculations ordinarily exclude employees on the basis of eligibility requirements and, in some cases, exclude covered employees during the early years of service.

.35 If provisions are not made for employees from the date of employment, pension cost may be understated. On the other hand, the effect of including all employees would be partially offset by an increase in the turnover assumption; therefore, the inclusion of employees during early years of service may expand the volume of the calculations without significantly changing the provisions for pension cost.

Opinion

.36 The Board believes that all employees who may reasonably be expected to receive benefits under a pension plan should be included in the cost calculations, giving appropriate recognition to anticipated turnover. As a practical matter, however, when the effect of exclusion is not material it is appropriate to omit certain employees from the calculations.

COMPANIES WITH MORE THAN ONE PLAN Opinion

.37 A company that has more than one pension plan need not use the same actuarial cost method for each one; however, the accounting for each plan should conform to this Opinion. If a company has two or more plans covering substantial portions of the same employee classes and if the assets in any of the plans ultimately can be used in paying present or future benefits of another plan or plans, such plans may be treated as one plan for purposes of determining pension cost.

DEFINED-CONTRIBUTION PLANS

Opinion

.38 Some defined-contribution plans state that contributions will be made in accordance with a specified formula and that benefit payments will be based on the amounts accumulated from such contributions. For such a plan the contribution applicable to a particular year should be the pension cost for that year.

.39 Some defined-contribution plans have defined benefits. In these circumstances, the plan requires careful analysis. When the substance of the plan is to provide the defined benefits, the annual pension cost should be determined in accordance with the conclusions of this Opinion applicable to defined-benefit plans.

Opinion

INSURED PLANS

.40 Insured plans are forms of funding arrangements and their use should not affect the accounting principles applicable to the determination of pension cost. Cost under individual policy plans is ordinarily determined by the individual level premium method, and cost under group deferred annuity contracts is ordinarily determined by the unit credit method. Cost under deposit administration contracts, which operate similarly to trust-fund plans, may be determined on any of several methods. Some elements of pension cost, such as the application of actuarial gains (dividends, termination credits, etc.), may at times cause differences between the amounts being paid to the insurance company and the cost being recognized for accounting purposes. The Board believes that pension cost under insured plans should be determined in conformity with the conclusions of this section.

.41 Individual annuity or life insurance policies and group deferred annuity contracts are often used for plans covering small employee groups. Employers using one of these forms of funding exclusively do not ordinarily have ready access to actuarial advice in determining pension cost. Three factors to be considered in deciding whether the amount of net premiums paid is the appropriate charge to expense are dividends, termination credits and pension cost for employees not yet covered under the plan. Usually, the procedures adopted by insurance companies in arriving at the amount of dividends meet the requirements of paragraph .30; consequently, in the absence of wide year-to-year fluctuations such dividends should be recognized in the year credited. Termination credits should be spread or averaged in accordance with paragraph .30. Unless the period from date of employment to date of coverage under the plan is so long as to have a material effect on pension cost, no provision need be made for employees expected to become covered under the plan. If such a provision is made, it need not necessarily be based on the application of an actuarial cost method.

Opinion

EFFECT OF FUNDING

.42 This section is written primarily in terms of pension plans that are funded. The accounting described applies also to plans that are unfunded. In unfunded plans, pension cost should be determined under an acceptable actuarial cost method in the same manner as for funded plans; however, because there is no fund to earn the assumed rate of interest, the pension-cost provision for the current year should be increased by an amount equivalent to the interest that would have been earned in the current year if the prior-year provisions had been funded.

AICPA Professional Standards

.43 For funded plans, the amount of the pension cost determined under this section may vary from the amount funded. When this occurs, the pension-cost provision for the year should be increased by an amount equivalent to interest on the prior-year provisions not funded or be decreased by an amount equivalent to interest on prior-year funding in excess of provisions.

.44 A pension plan may become overfunded (that is, have fund assets in excess of all prior service cost assigned under the actuarial method in use for accounting purposes) as a result of contributions or as a result of actuarial gains. In determining provisions for pension cost, the effects of such overfunding are appropriately recognized in the current and future years through the operation of paragraph .30 or .43. As to a plan that is overfunded on the effective date of this section see paragraph .48.

Opinion

INCOME TAXES

.45 When pension cost is recognized for tax purposes in a period other than the one in which recognized for financial reporting, appropriate consideration should be given to allocation of income taxes among accounting periods. (See section 4091.)

Opinion

DISCLOSURE

.46 The Board believes that pension plans are of sufficient importance to an understanding of financial position and results of operations that the following disclosures should be made in financial statements or their notes:

- 1. A statement that such plans exist, identifying or describing the employee groups covered.
- 2. A statement of the company's accounting and funding policies.
- 3. The provision for pension cost for the period.
- 4. The excess, if any, of the actuarially computed value of vested benefits over the total of the pension fund and any balance-sheet pension accruals, less any pension prepayments or deferred charges.

AC § 4063.43 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

5. Nature and effect of significant matters affecting comparability for all periods presented, such as changes in accounting methods (actuarial cost method, amortization of past and prior service cost, treatment of actuarial gains and losses, etc.), changes in circumstances (actuarial assumptions, etc.), or adoption or amendment of a plan.

An example of what the Board considers to be appropriate disclosure is as follows:

The company and its subsidiaries have several pension plans covering substantially all of their employees, including certain employees in foreign countries. The total pension expense for the year, which includes, as to was **\$**..... certain of the plans, amortization of prior service cost over periods ranging from 25 to 40 years. The company's policy is to fund pension cost accrued. The actuarially computed value of vested benefits for all plans as of December 31, 19....., exceeded the total of the pension fund and balance-sheet accruals less pension prepayments and deferred charges by approximately \$_____. A change during the year in the actuarial cost method used in computing pension cost had the effect of reducing net income for the year by approximately \$____

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING METHOD

.47 On occasion a company may change its method of accounting for pension cost from one acceptable method under this section to another. Such a change might be a change in the actuarial cost method, in the amortization of past and prior service cost, in the treatment of actuarial gains and losses, or in other factors. When such a change is made subsequent to the effective date of this section, a question arises about the accounting for the difference between the cost actually provided under the old method and the cost that would have been provided under the new method. The Board believes that pension cost provided under an acceptable method of accounting in prior periods should not be changed subsequently. Therefore, the effect on prior-year cost of a change in accounting method should be applied prospectively to the cost of the current year and

Opinion

future years, in a manner consistent with the conclusions of this section, and not retroactively as an adjustment of retained earnings or otherwise. The change and its effect should be disclosed as indicated in paragraph .46.

TRANSITION TO RECOMMENDED PRACTICES Opinion

.48 For purposes of this section, any unamortized prior service cost (computed under the actuarial cost method to be used for accounting purposes in the future) on the effective date of this section may be treated as though it arose from an amendment of the plan on that date rather than on the actual dates of adoption or amendment of the plan. If the pension plan is overfunded (see paragraph .44) on the effective date of this section, the amount by which it is overfunded (computed under the actuarial cost method to be used for accounting purposes in the future) should be treated as an actuarial gain realized on that date and should be accounted for as described in paragraph .30.

.49 The effect of any changes in accounting methods made as a result of the issuance of this section should be applied prospectively to the cost of the current year and future years in a manner consistent with the conclusions of this section, and not retroactively by an adjustment of retained earnings or otherwise. The change and its effect should be disclosed as indicated in paragraph .46.

₩ → The next page is 8551. <--

AC § 4063.48

Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans— Appendix A

ACTUARIAL VALUATIONS, ASSUMPTIONS AND COST METHODS ACTUARIAL VALUATIONS

An actuarial valuation of a pension plan is the .01 process used by actuaries for determining the amounts an employer is to contribute (pay, fund) under a pension plan (except where an insured arrangement calls for payment of specified premiums). A valuation is made as of a specific date, which need not coincide with the end of the period for which a payment based on the valuation will be made. Indeed. it is uncommon for such a coincidence of dates to exist. Among other factors, a time lag is necessary in order to compile the data and to permit the actuary to make the necessary calculations. Although annual valuations are. perhaps, the rule, some employers have valuations made at less frequent intervals, in some cases as infrequently as every five years. The calculations are made for a closed group -- ordinarily, employees presently covered by the plan, former employees having vested rights and retired employees currently receiving benefits.

.02 An initial step in making a valuation is to determine the present value on the valuation date of benefits to be paid over varying periods of time in the future to employees after retirement (plus any other benefits under the plan). An actuarial cost method (see description in a later section of this Appendix) is then applied to this present value to determine the contributions to be made by the employer.

.03 The resulting determinations are estimates, since in making a valuation a number of significant uncertainties concerning future events must be resolved by making several actuarial assumptions.

NOTE: For further discussion see Appendix C of Accounting Research Study No. 8, Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans by Ernest L. Hicks, CPA, published by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 1965.

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS

.04 The uncertainties in estimating the cost of a pension plan relate to (1) interest (return on funds invested), (2) expenses of administration and (3) the amounts and timing of benefits to be paid with respect to presently retired employees, former employees whose benefits have vested and present employees.

Interest (Return on Funds Invested)

.05 The rate of interest used in an actuarial valuation is an expression of the average rate of earnings that can be expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for the future benefits. Since in most instances the investments include equity securities as well as debt securities, the earnings include dividends as well as interest; gains and losses on investments are also a factor. For simplicity, however, the rate is ordinarily called the interest rate.

Expenses of Administration

.06 In many instances the expenses of administering a pension plan—for example, fees of attorneys, actuaries and trustees, and the cost of keeping pension records—are borne directly by the employer. In other cases, such expenses, or some of them, are paid by a trust or insurance company from funds contributed by the employer. In the latter cases, expenses to be incurred in the future must be estimated in computing the employer's pension cost.

Benefits

.07 Several assumptions must be made as to the amounts and timing of the future benefits whose present value is used in expressing the cost of a pension plan. The principal assumptions are as follows:

a. Future compensation levels. Benefits under some pension plans depend in part on future compensation levels. Under plans of this type, an estimate is ordinarily made of normal increases expected from the progression of employees through the various earnings-rate categories, based on the employer's experience. General earnings-level increases, such as those which may result from inflation, are usually excluded from this actuarial assumption.

AC § 4063A.04 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

b. Cost-of-living. To protect the purchasing power of retirement benefits, some plans provide that the benefits otherwise determined will be adjusted from time to time to reflect variations in a specific index, such as the Consumer Price Index of the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics. In estimating the cost of such a plan, expected future changes in the cost-of-living index may be included in the actuarial assumptions.

c. Mortality. The length of time an employee covered by a pension plan will live is an important factor in estimating the cost of the benefit payments he will receive. If an employee dies before he becomes eligible for pension benefits, he receives no payments, although in some plans his beneficiaries receive lump-sum or periodic benefits. The total amount of pension benefits for employees who reach retirement is determined in large part by how long they live thereafter. Estimates regarding mortality are based on mortality tables.

d. Retirement age. Most plans provide a normal retirement age, but many plans permit employees to work thereafter under certain conditions. Some plans provide for retirement in advance of the normal age in case of disability, and most plans permit early retirement at the employee's option under certain conditions. When there are such provisions, an estimate is made of their effect on the amount and timing of the benefits which will ultimately be paid.

e. *Turnover*. In many plans, some employees who leave employment with the employer before completing vesting requirements forfeit their rights to receive benefits. In estimating the amount of future benefits, an allowance for the effect of turnover may be made.

f. Vesting. Many plans provide that after a stated number of years of service an employee becomes entitled to receive benefits (commencing at his normal retirement age and usually varying in amount with his number of years of service) even though he leaves the company for a reason other than retirement. This is taken into consideration in estimating the effect of turnover.

g. Social security benefits. For plans providing for a reduction of pensions by all or part of social security benefits, it is necessary in estimating future pension benefits to estimate the effect of future social security benefits. Ordinarily, this estimate is based on the assumption that such benefits will remain at the level in ^leffect at the time the valuation is being made.

Actuarial Gains and Losses

.08 The likelihood that actual events will coincide with each of the assumptions used is so remote as to constitute an impossibility. As a result, the actuarial assumptions used may be changed from time to time as experience and judgment dictate. In addition, whether or not the assumptions as to events in the future are changed, it is often necessary to recognize in the calculations the effect of differences between actual prior experience and the assumptions used in the past.

ACTUARIAL COST METHODS

.09 Actuarial cost methods have been developed by actuaries as funding techniques to be used in actuarial valuations. As indicated in paragraph .19 of section 4063, many of the actuarial cost methods are also useful for accounting purposes. The following discussion of the principal methods describes them as funding techniques (to simplify the discussion, references to prior service cost arising on amendment of a plan have been omitted; such cost would ordinarily be treated in a manner consistent with that described for past service cost). Their application for accounting purposes is described in section 4063.

Accrued Benefit Cost Method-Unit Credit Method

.10 Under the unit credit method, future service benefits (pension benefits based on service after the inception of a plan) are funded as they accrue—that is, as each employee works out the service period involved. Thus, the normal cost under this method for a particular year is the present value of the units of future benefit credited to employees for service in that year (hence unit credit). For example, if a plan provides benefits of \$5 per month for each year of credited service, the normal cost for a particular employee for a particular year is the present value (adjusted for mortality and usually for turnover) of an

AC § 4063A.08 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

annuity of \$5 per month beginning at the employee's anticipated retirement date and continuing throughout his life.

.11 The past service cost under the unit credit method is the present value at the plan's inception date of the units of future benefit credited to employees for service prior to the inception date.

.12 The annual contribution under the unit credit method ordinarily comprises (1) the normal cost and (2) an amount for past service cost. The latter may comprise only an amount equivalent to interest on the unfunded balance or may also include an amount intended to reduce the unfunded balance.

.13 As to an individual employee, the annual normal cost for an equal unit of benefit each year increases because the period to the employee's retirement continually shortens and the probability of reaching retirement increases; also, in some plans, the retirement benefits are related to salary levels, which usually increase during the years. As to the employees collectively, however, the step-up effect is masked, since older employees generating the highest annual cost are continually replaced by new employees generating the lowest. For a mature employee group, the normal cost would tend to be the same each year.

.14 The unit credit method is almost always used when the funding instrument is a group annuity contract and may also be used in trusteed plans and deposit administration contracts where the benefit is a stated amount per year of service. This method is not frequently used where the benefit is a fixed amount (for example, \$100 per month) or where the current year's benefit is based on earnings of a future period.

Projected Benefit Cost Methods

.15 As explained above, the accrued benefit cost method (unit credit method) recognizes the cost of benefits only when they have accrued (in the limited sense that the employee service on which benefits are based has been rendered). By contrast, the projected benefit cost methods look forward. That is, they assign the entire cost of an employee's *projected* benefits to past, present and future periods. This is done in a manner not directly related to the periods during which the service on which the benefits are based has been or will be rendered. The principal projected benefit cost methods are discussed below.

.16 Entry age normal method. Under the entry age normal method, the normal costs are computed on the assumption (1) that every employee entered the plan (thus, entry age) at the time of employment or at the earliest time he would have been eligible if the plan had been in existence and (2) that contributions have been made on this basis from the entry age to the date of the actuarial valuation. The contributions are the level annual amounts which, if accumulated at the rate of interest used in the actuarial valuation, would result in a fund equal to the present value of the pensions at retirement for the employees who survive to that time.

.17 Normal cost under this method is the level amount to be contributed for each year. When a plan is established after the company has been in existence for some time, past service cost under this method at the plan's inception date is theoretically the amount of the fund that would have been accumulated had annual contributions equal to the normal cost been made in prior years.

.18 In theory, the entry age normal method is applied on an individual basis. It may be applied, however, on an aggregate basis, in which case separate amounts are not determined for individual employees. Further variations in practice often encountered are (1) the use of an average entry age, (2) the use, particularly when benefits are based on employees' earnings, of a level percentage of payroll in determining annual payments and (3) the computation of past service cost as the difference between the present value of employees' projected benefits and the present value of the employer's projected normal cost contributions. In some plans, the normal cost contribution rate may be based on a stated amount per employee. In other plans the normal cost contribution itself may be stated as a flat amount.

.19 In valuations for years other than the initial year the past service cost may be frozen (that is, the unfunded amount of such cost is changed only to recognize payments and the effect of interest). Accordingly, actuarial gains and losses are spread into the future, entering into the normal cost for future years. If past service cost is not frozen, the unfunded amount includes the effects of actuarial gains and losses realized prior to the date of the valuation being made.

.20 The annual contribution under the entry age normal method ordinarily comprises (1) the normal cost and (2) an amount for past service cost. The latter may comprise only an amount equivalent to interest on the unfunded balance or may also include an amount intended to reduce the unfunded balance.

.21 The entry age normal method is often used with trusteed plans and deposit administration contracts.

.22 Individual level premium method. The individual level premium method assigns the cost of each employee's pension in level annual amounts, or as a level percentage of the employee's compensation, over the period from the inception date of a plan (or the date of his entry into the plan, if later) to his retirement date. Thus, past service cost is not determined separately but is included in normal cost.

.23 The most common use of the individual level premium method is with funding by individual insurance or annuity policies. It may be used, however, with trusteed plans and deposit administration contracts.

.24 In plans using individual annuity policies, the employer is protected against actuarial losses, since premiums paid are not ordinarily subject to retroactive increases. The insurance company may, however, pass part of any actuarial gains along to the employer by means of dividends. Employee turnover may be another source of actuarial gains under such insured plans, since all or part of the cash surrender values of policies previously purchased for employees leaving the employer for reasons other than retirement may revert to the company (or to the trust). Dividends and cash surrender values are ordinarily used to reduce the premiums payable for the next period.

.25 The individual level premium method generates annual costs which are initially very high and which ultimately drop to the level of the normal cost determined under the entry age normal method. The high initial costs arise because the past service cost (although not separately identified) for employees near retirement when the plan is adopted is in effect amortized over a very short period.

.26 Aggregate method. The aggregate method applies on a collective basis the principle followed for individuals in the individual level premium method. That is, the entire unfunded cost of future pension benefits (including benefits to be paid to employees who have retired as of the date of the valuation) is spread over the average future service lives of employees who are active as of the date of the valuation. In most cases this is done by the use of a percentage of payroll.

.27 The aggregate method does not deal separately with past service cost (but includes such cost in normal cost). Actuarial gains and losses enter into the determination of the contribution rate and, consequently, are spread over future periods.

.28 Annual contributions under the aggregate method decrease, but the rate of decrease is less extreme than under the individual level premium method. The aggregate cost method amortizes past service cost (not separately identified) over the average future service lives of employees, thus avoiding the very short individual amortization periods of the individual level premium method.

.29 The aggregate method may be modified by introducing past service cost. If the past service cost is determined by the entry age normal method, the modified aggregate method is the same as the entry age normal method applied on the aggregate basis. If the past service cost is determined by the unit credit method, the modified aggregate method is called the attained age normal method (discussed below).

.30 The aggregate method is used principally with trusteed plans and deposit administration contracts.

.31 Attained age normal method. The attained age normal method is a variant of the aggregate method or individual level premium method in which past service cost, determined under the unit credit method, is recognized separately. The cost of each employee's benefits assigned to years after the inception of the plan is spread over the employee's future service life. Normal cost contributions under the attained age normal method, usually determined as a percentage of payroll, tend to decline but less markedly than under the aggregate method or the individual level premium method.

.32 As with the unit credit and entry age normal methods, the annual contribution for past service cost may comprise only an amount equivalent to interest on the unfunded balance or may also include an amount intended to reduce the unfunded balance.

.33 The attained age normal method is used with trusteed plans and deposit administration contracts.

Terminal Funding

.34 Under terminal funding, funding for future benefit payments is made only at the end of an employee's period of active service. At that time the employer either purchases a single-premium annuity which will provide the retirement benefit or makes an actuarially equivalent contribution to a trust. (Note—This method is not acceptable for determining the provision for pension cost under section 4063.)

₩ → The next page is 8571. < - ₩

Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans— Appendix B

GLOSSARY

.01 Accrue (Accrual). When accrue (accrual) is used in accounting discussions in section 4063, it has the customary accounting meaning. When used in relation to actuarial terms or procedures, however, the intended meaning differs somewhat. When actuaries say that pension benefits, actuarial costs or actuarial liabilities have accrued, they ordinarily mean that the amounts are associated, either specifically or by a process of allocation, with years of employee service before the date of a particular valuation of a pension plan. Actuaries do not ordinarily intend their use of the word accrue to have the more conclusive accounting significance.

.02 Accrued Benefit Cost Method. An actuarial cost method. See section 4063A.

.03 Actuarial Assumptions. Factors which actuaries use in tentatively resolving uncertainties concerning future events affecting pension cost; for example, mortality rate, employee turnover, compensation levels, investment earnings, etc. See section 4063A.

.04 Actuarial Cost Method. A particular technique used by actuaries for establishing the amount and incidence of the annual actuarial cost of pension plan benefits, or benefits and expenses, and the related actuarial liability. Sometimes called *funding method*. See section 4063A.

.05 Actuarial Gains (Losses). The effects on actuarially calculated pension cost of (a) deviations between actual prior experience and the actuarial assumptions used or (b) changes in actuarial assumptions as to future events.

.06 Actuarial Liability. The excess of the present value, as of the date of a pension plan valuation, of pro-

spective pension benefits and administrative expenses over the sum of (1) the amount in the pension fund and (2) the present value of future contributions for normal cost determined by any of several actuarial cost methods. (Sometimes referred to as *unfunded actuarial liability*.)

.07 Actuarial Valuation. The process by which an actuary estimates the present value of benefits to be paid under a pension plan and calculates the amounts of employer contributions or accounting charges for pension cost. See section 4063A.

.08 Actuarially Computed Value. See present value.

.09 Actuarially Computed Value of Vested Benefits. See vested benefits.

.10 Actuary. There are no statutory qualifications required for actuaries. Membership in the American Academy of Actuaries, a comprehensive organization of the profession in the United States, is generally considered to be acceptable evidence of professional qualification.

.11 Aggregate Method. An actuarial cost method. See section 4063A.

.12 Assumptions. See actuarial assumptions.

.13 Attained Age Normal Method. An actuarial cost method. See section 4063A.

.14 Benefits (Pension Benefits) (Retirement Benefits). The pensions and any other payments to which employees or their beneficiaries may be entitled under a pension plan.

.15 Contribute (Contribution). When used in connection with a pension plan, *contribute* ordinarily is synonymous with pay.

.16 Deferred Compensation Plan. An arrangement whereby specified portions of the employee's compensation are payable in the form of retirement benefits.

.17 Deferred Profit-Sharing Plan. An arrangement whereby an employer provides for future retirement benefits for employees from specified portions of the earnings of the business; the benefits for each employee are usually the amounts which can be provided by accumulated amounts specifically allocated to him.

AC § 4063B.07 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.18 Defined-Benefit Plan. A pension plan stating the benefits to be received by employees after retirement, or the method of determining such benefits. The employer's contributions under such a plan are determined actuarially on the basis of the benefits expected to become payable.

.19 Defined-Contribution Plan. A pension plan which (a) states the benefits to be received by employees after retirement or the method of determining such benefits (as in the case of a defined-benefit plan) and (b) accompanies a separate agreement that provides a formula for calculating the employer's contributions (for example, a fixed amount for each ton produced or for each hour worked, or a fixed percentage of compensation). Initially, the benefits stated in the plan are those which the contributions expected to be made by the employer can provide. If later the contributions are found to be inadequate or excessive for the purpose of funding the stated benefits on the basis originally contemplated, either the contributions or the benefits, or both, may be subsequently adjusted. In one type of defined-contribution plan (money-purchase plan) the employer's contributions are determined for, and allocated with respect to, specific individuals, usually as a percentage of compensation; the benefits for each employee are the amounts which can be provided by the sums contributed for him.

.20 Deposit Administration Contract. A funding instrument provided by an insurance company under which amounts contributed by an employer are not identified with specific employees until they retire. When an employee retires, the insurance company issues an annuity which will provide the benefits stipulated in the pension plan and transfers the single premium for the annuity from the employer's accumulated contributions.

.21 Entry Age Normal Method. An actuarial cost method. See section 4063A.

.22 Fund. Used as a verb, *fund* means to pay over to a funding agency. Used as a noun, *fund* refers to assets accumulated in the hands of a funding agency for the purpose of meeting retirement benefits when they become due. .23 Funded. The portion of pension cost that has been paid to a funding agency is said to have been *funded*.

.24 Funding Agency. An organization or individual, such as a specific corporate or individual trustee or an insurance company, which provides facilities for the accumulation of assets to be used for the payment of benefits under a pension plan; an organization, such as a specific life insurance company, which provides facilities for the purchase of such benefits.

.25 Funding Method. See actuarial cost method.

.26 Individual Level Premium Method. An actuarial cost method. See section 4063A.

.27 Interest. The return earned or to be earned on funds invested or to be invested to provide for future pension benefits. In calling the return *interest*, it is recognized that in addition to interest on debt securities the earnings of a pension fund may include dividends on equity securities, rentals on real estate, and realized and unrealized gains or (as offsets) losses on fund investments. See section 4063A.

.28 Mortality Rate. Death rate—the proportion of the number of deaths in a specified group to the number living at the beginning of the period in which the deaths occur. Actuaries use mortality tables, which show death rates for each age, in estimating the amount of future retirement benefits which will become payable. See section 4063A.

.29 Normal Cost. The annual cost assigned, under the actuarial cost method in use, to years subsequent to the inception of a pension plan or to a particular valuation date. See *past service cost*, *prior service cost*.

.30 Past Service Cost. Pension cost assigned, under the actuarial cost method in use, to years prior to the inception of a pension plan. See normal cost, prior service cost.

.31 Pay-As-You-Go. A method of recognizing pension cost only when benefits are paid to retired employees. (Note—This is not an acceptable method for accounting purposes under section 4063.)

AC § 4063B.23 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.32 Pension Fund. See fund.

.33 Present Value (Actuarially Computed Value). The current worth of an amount or series of amounts payable or receivable in the future. *Present value* is determined by discounting the future amount or amounts at a predetermined rate of interest. In pension plan valuations, actuaries often combine arithmetic factors representing probability (e.g., mortality, withdrawal, future compensation levels) with arithmetic factors representing discount (interest). Consequently, to actuaries, determining the present value of future pension benefits may mean applying factors of both types.

.34 Prior Service Cost. Pension cost assigned, under the actuarial cost method in use, to years prior to the date of a particular actuarial valuation. *Prior service cost* includes any remaining past service cost. See *normal cost*, *past service cost*.

.35 Projected Benefit Cost Method. A type of actuarial cost method. See section 4063A.

.36 Provision (Provide). An accounting term meaning a charge against income for an estimated expense, such as pension cost.

.37 Service. Employment taken into consideration under a pension plan. Years of employment before the inception of a plan constitute an employee's past service; years thereafter are classified in relation to the particular actuarial valuation being made or discussed. Years of employment (including past service) prior to the date of a particular valuation constitute prior service; years of employment following the date of the valuation constitute future service.

.38 Terminal Funding. An actuarial cost method. See section 4063A. (Note—This is not an acceptable actuarial cost method for accounting purposes under section 4063.)

.39 Trust Fund Plan. A pension plan for which the funding instrument is a trust agreement.

.40 Turnover. Termination of employment for a reason other than death or retirement. See *withdrawal*, section 4063A.

.41 Unit Credit Method. An actuarial cost method. See section 4063A.

.42 Valuation. See actuarial valuation, section 4063A.

Vested Benefits. Benefits that are not contingent .43 on the employee's continuing in the service of the employer. In some plans the payment of the benefits will begin only when the employee reaches the normal retirement date: in other plans the payment of the benefits will begin when the employee retires (which may be before or after the normal retirement date). The actuarially computed value of vested benefits, as used in section 4063, represents the present value, at the date of determination, of the sum of (a) the benefits expected to become payable to former employees who have retired, or who have terminated service with vested rights, at the date of determination; and (b) the benefits, based on service rendered prior to the date of determination, expected to become payable at future dates to present employees, taking into account the probable time that employees will retire, at the vesting percentages applicable at the date of determination. The determination of vested benefits is not affected by other conditions, such as inadequacy of the pension fund, which may prevent the employee from receiving the vested benefits.

.44 Withdrawal. The removal of an employee from coverage under a pension plan for a reason other than death or retirement. See *turnover*.

AC Section 4063-1

Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans Subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974: An Interpretation of Section 4063

[Source: FASB Interpretation No. 3.]

December 1974

INTRODUCTION

.01 The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (commonly referred to as the Pension Reform Act) became law on September 2, 1974. It is principally concerned with the funding of pension plans, the conditions for employee participation and for vesting of benefits, and the safeguarding of employees' pension rights. Pension plans adopted after January 1, 1974 are subject to the participation, vesting, and funding requirements of the Act for plan years beginning after September 2, 1974. Pension plans in existence on January 1, 1974 are not subject to those requirements until plan years beginning after December 31, 1975, unless earlier compliance is elected.

.02 The Financial Accounting Standards Board has analyzed the Act to determine whether there is a need to reconsider APB Opinion No. 8 [section 4063] "Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans." As a result of that analysis, the Board has placed the overall subject of pension accounting, including accounting and reporting by pension trusts, on its technical agenda. Pending completion of that project, the Board is issuing this Interpretation to clarify the accounting for the cost of pension plans covered by the Act.

INTERPRETATION

.03 A fundamental concept of *APB Opinion No. 8* [section 4063] is that the annual pension cost to be charged to expense for financial accounting purposes is not necessarily determined by the funding of a pension plan. Therefore, no change in the minimum and maximum limits for the annual provision for pension cost set forth in paragraph 17 of *APB Opinion No. 8* [section 4063.17] is required as a result of the Act. Compliance with the Act's participation, vesting, or funding requirements may result, however, in a change in the amount of pension cost to be charged to expense periodically for financial accounting

purposes even though no change in accounting methods is made. Paragraph 17 of APB Opinion No. 8 [section 4063.17] requires that "the entire cost of benefit payments ultimately to be made should be charged against income subsequent to the adoption or amendment of a plan." Consistent with that requirement and within the minimum and maximum limits of paragraph 17 of APB Opinion No. 8 [section 4063.17], any change in pension cost resulting from compliance with the Act shall enter into the determination of periodic provisions for pension expense *subsequent* to the date a plan becomes subject to the Act's participation, vesting, and funding requirements. That date will be determined either by the effective dates prescribed by the Act or by an election of earlier compliance with the requirements of the Act.

.04 If, *prior* to the date a plan becomes subject to the Act's participation, vesting, and funding requirements, it appears likely that compliance will have a significant effect in the future on the amount of an enterprise's (a) periodic provision for pension expense, (b) periodic funding of pension costs, or (c) unfunded vested benefits, this fact and an estimate of the effect shall be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.¹

.05 Based on an analysis of information presently available, the Board does not believe that the Act creates a legal obligation for unfunded pension costs that warrants accounting recognition as a liability pursuant to paragraph 18 of APB Opinion No. 8 [section 4063.18] except in the following two respects. First, an enterprise with a plan subject to the Act must fund a minimum amount annually unless a waiver is obtained from the Secretary of the Treasury. If a waiver is not obtained, the amount currently required to be funded shall be recognized as a liability by a charge to pension expense for the period, by a deferred charge, or by a combination of both, whatever is appropriate under APBOpinion No. 8 [section 4063]. Second, in the event of the termination of a pension plan, the Act imposes a liability on an enterprise. When there is convincing evidence that a pension plan will be terminated, evidenced perhaps by a formal commitment by management to terminate the plan, and the liability on termination will exceed fund assets and related prior accruals, the excess liability shall be accrued. If the amount of the excess liability cannot be reasonably determined, disclosure of the circumstances shall be made in the notes to the financial statements. including an estimate of the possible range of the liability.

¹ The Board recognizes that actuarial computations or other information may not be available in time to permit disclosure of an estimate of the effect in notes to financial statements for fiscal periods ending in 1974 or early in 1975. If an estimate cannot be furnished, an explanation shall be provided.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.06 This Interpretation shall be effective on December 31, 1974. This Interpretation was adopted by the unanimous vote of the seven members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board following submission to the members of the Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council.

> Marshall S. Armstrong, *Chairman* Donald J. Kirk Arthur L. Litke Robert E. Mays John W. Queenan Walter Schuetze Robert T. Sprouse

 \implies The next page is 8601.

AC Section 4064 Deferred Compensation Contracts

[Source: APB Opinion No. 12, Pars. 6-8.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967, unless otherwise indicated

.01 Section 4063, Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans, applies to deferred compensation contracts with individual employees if such contracts, taken together, are equivalent to a pension plan. The Board believes that other deferred compensation contracts should be accounted for individually on an accrual basis. Such contracts customarily include certain requirements such as continued employment for a specified period and availability for consulting services and agreements not to compete after retirement, which, if not complied with, remove the emplover's obligations for future payments. The estimated amounts¹ to be paid under each contract should be accrued in a systematic and rational manner over the period of active employment from the time the contract is entered into, unless it is evident that future services expected to be received by the employer are commensurate with the payments or a portion of the payments to be made. If elements of both current and future services are present, only the portion applicable to the current services should be accrued.

.02 Some deferred compensation contracts provide for periodic payments to employees or their surviving spouses for life with provisions for a minimum lump-sum settlement in the event of the early death of one or all of the beneficiaries. The estimated amount ' of future payments to be made under such contracts should be accrued over the period of active employment from the time the contract is entered into. Such estimates should be based on the life expectancy of each individual concerned (based on the most

³ The amounts to be accrued periodically should result in an accrued amount at the end of the term of active employment which is not less than the then present value of the estimated payments to be made.

recent mortality tables available) or on the estimated cost of an annuity contract rather than on the minimum payable in the event of early death.

.03 At the effective date of this section, amounts² pertaining to deferred compensation contracts with employees actively employed, which amounts have not been accrued in a manner consistent with the provisions of the section, should be accrued over the employee's remaining term of active employment. For purposes of transition, these amounts may be accrued over a period of up to ten years if the remaining term of active employment is less than ten years.

\implies The next page is 8651. \leftarrow

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Depreciation and High Costs'

[Source: ARB No. 43, Chap. 9A.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1953

.01 In December, 1947, the committee issued Accounting Research Bulletin No. 33, dealing with the subject of depreciation and high costs. In October, 1948, it published a letter to the membership reaffirming the opinion expressed in the bulletin.

.02 The subject is one of continuing importance. The committee once more expresses its approval of the basic conclusions asserted in both publications, but in view of the many requests received for further consideration of various aspects of the problem has placed the subject on its agenda for further study.

.03 Accounting Research Bulletin No. 33 read as follows:

.04 "The American Institute of Accountants committee on accounting procedure has given extensive consideration to the problem of making adequate provision for the replacement of plant facilities in view of recent sharp increases in the price level. The problem requires consideration of charges against current income for depreciation of facilities acquired at lower price levels.

.05 "The committee recognizes that business management has the responsibility of providing for replacement of plant and machinery. It also recognizes that, in reporting profits today, the cost of material and labor is reflected in terms of 'inflated' dollars while the cost of productive facilities in which capital was invested at a lower price level is reflected in terms of dollars whose purchasing power was much greater. There is no doubt that in considering depreciation in connection with product costs, prices, and business policies, management must take into consideration the probability that plant and machinery will have to be

¹ See section 1071, Financial Statements Restated for General Price-Level Changes.

replaced at costs much greater than those of the facilities now in use.

.06 "When there are gross discrepancies between the cost and current values of productive facilities, the committee believes that it is entirely proper for management to make annual appropriations of net income or surplus in contemplation of replacement of such facilities at higher price levels.

.07 "It has been suggested in some quarters that the problem be met by increasing depreciation charges against current income. The committee does not believe that this is a satisfactory solution at this time. It believes that accounting and financial reporting for general use will best serve their purposes by adhering to the generally accepted concept of depreciation on cost, at least until the dollar is stabilized at some level. An attempt to recognize current prices in providing depreciation, to be consistent, would require the serious step of formally recording appraised current values for all properties, and continuous and consistent depreciation charges based on the new values. Without such formal steps, there would be no objective standard by which to judge the propriety of the amounts of depreciation charges against current income, and the significance of recorded amounts of profit might be seriously impaired.

.08 "It would not increase the usefulness of reported corporate income figures if some companies charged depreciation on appraised values while others adhered to cost. The committee believes, therefore, that consideration of radical changes in accepted accounting procedure should not be undertaken, at least until a stable price level would make it practicable for business as a whole to make the change at the same time.

.09 "The committee disapproves immediate writedowns of plant cost by charges against current income in amounts believed to represent excessive or abnormal costs occasioned by current price levels. However, the committee calls attention to the fact that plants expected to have less than normal useful life can properly be depreciated on a systematic basis related to economic usefulness."

.10 The letter of October 14, 1948, was addressed to the members of the Institute and read as follows:

.11 "The committee on accounting procedure has reached the conclusion that no basic change in the accounting treatment of depreciation of plant and equipment is practicable or desirable under present conditions to meet the problem created by the decline in the purchasing power of the dollar.

.12 "The committee has given intensive study to this problem and has examined and discussed various suggestions which have been made to meet it. It has solicited and considered hundreds of opinions on this subject expressed by businessmen, bankers, economists, labor leaders, and others. While there are differences of opinion, the prevailing sentiment in these groups is against any basic change in present accounting procedures. The committee believes that such a change would confuse readers of financial statements and nullify many of the gains that have been made toward clearer presentation of corporate finances.

.13 "Should inflation proceed so far that original dollar costs lose their practical significance, it might become necessary to restate all assets in terms of the depreciated currency, as has been done in some countries. But it does not seem to the committee that such action should be recommended now if financial statements are to have maximum usefulness to the greatest number of users.

.14 "The committee, therefore, reaffirms the opinion it expressed in Accounting Research Bulletin No. 33, December, 1947.

.15 "Any basic change in the accounting treatment of depreciation should await further study of the nature and concept of business income.

.16 "The immediate problem can and should be met by financial management. The committee recognizes that the common forms of financial statements may permit misunderstanding as to the amount which a corporation has available for distribution in the form of dividends, higher wages, or lower prices for the company's products. When prices have risen appreciably since original investments in plant and facilities were made, a substantial proportion of net income as currently reported must be reinvested in the business in order to maintain assets at the same level of productivity at the end of a year as at the beginning. .17 "Stockholders, employees, and the general public should be informed that a business must be able to retain out of profits amounts sufficient to replace productive facilities at current prices if it is to stay in business. The committee therefore gives its full support to the use of supplementary financial schedules, explanations or footnotes by which management may explain the need for retention of earnings."

 \implies The next page is 8671. \leftarrow

AC § 4071.17

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Depreciation on Appreciation

[Source: APB Opinion No. 6, Par. 17.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1965, unless otherwise indicated

.01 The Board is of the opinion that property, plant and equipment should not be written up by an entity to reflect appraisal, market or current values which are above cost to the entity. This statement is not intended to change accounting practices followed in connection with quasi-reorganizations ¹ or reorganizations. This statement may not apply to foreign operations under unusual conditions such as serious inflation or currency devaluation. However, when the accounts of a company with foreign operations are translated into United States currency for consolidation, such write-ups normally are eliminated. Whenever appreciation has been recorded on the books, income should be charged with depreciation computed on the written up amounts.

+ The next page is 8681. ← + H

¹See section 5581, Quasi-Reorganization or Corporate Readjustment.

Emergency Facilities— Depreciation and Amortization

[Source: ARB No. 43, Chap. 9C, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1953¹

CERTIFICATES OF NECESSITY

.01 Section 124A of the Internal Revenue Code, which was added by the Revenue Act of 1950, provides for the issuance of certificates of necessity under which all or part of the cost of so-called *emergency facilities* may be amortized over a period of 60 months for income tax purposes. In many cases, the amounts involved are material, and companies are faced with the problem of deciding whether to adopt the 60-month period over which the portions of the cost of the facilities covered by certificates of necessity may be amortized for income tax purposes as the period over which they are to be depreciated in the accounts.

.02 Thinking on this question apparently has become confused because many so-called *percentage certificates* have been issued covering less than the entire cost of the facility. This fact, together with the fact that the probable economic usefulness of the facility after the close of the five-year amortization period is considered by the certifying authority in determining the percentage covered by these certificates, has led many to believe that the percentage used represents the government's conclusion as to the proportion of the cost of the facility that is not expected to have usefulness at the end of five years.

.03 In some cases, it is apparent that the probable lack of economic usefulness of the facility after the close of the amortization period must constitute the principal if not the sole basis for determining the percentage to be

¹ The material included in this section is from ARB 43, Chapter 9, Section C. Paragraphs 11-13 of that Bulletin were superseded by APB Opinion No. 11, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967.

Revenue and Expense

included in the certificate. However, it must be recognized that the certifying authority has acted under orders to give consideration also to a variety of other factors to the end that the amount certified may be the minimum amount necessary to secure expansion of industrial capacity in the interest of national defense during the emergency period. Among the factors required to be considered in the issuance of these certificates, in addition to loss of useful value, are (a) character of business, (b) extent of risk assumed (including the amount and source of capital employed, and the potentiality of recovering capital or retiring debt through tax savings or pricing), (c) assistance to small business and promotion of competition. (d) compliance with government policies (e.g., dispersal for security), and (e) other types of incentives provided by government, such as direct government loans, guaranties, and contractual arrangements.

DEPRECIATION CONSIDERATIONS

.04 The argument has been advanced from time to time that, since the portion of the cost of properties covered by certificates of necessity is amortized over a five-year period for income tax purposes, it is necessary to follow the same procedure in the accounts. Sound financial accounting procedures do not necessarily coincide with the rules as to what shall be included in "gross income," or allowed as a deduction therefrom, in arriving at taxable net income. It is well recognized that such rules should not be followed for financial accounting purposes if they do not conform to generally accepted accounting principles. However, where the results obtained from following income tax procedures do not materially differ from those obtained where generally accepted accounting principles are followed, there are practical advantages in keeping the accounts in agreement with the income tax returns.

.05 The cost of a productive facility is one of the costs of the services it renders during its useful economic life. Generally accepted accounting principles require that this cost be spread over the expected useful life of the facility in such a way as to allocate it as equitably as possible to the periods during which services are obtained from the use of the facility. This procedure is known as depreciation accounting, a system of accounting which aims to distribute

AC § 4073.04

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

the cost or other basic value of tangible capital assets, less salvage (if any), over the estimated useful life of the unit (which may be a group of assets) in a systematic and rational manner. It is a process of allocation, not of valuation.

.06 The committee is of the opinion that from an accounting standpoint there is nothing inherent in the nature of emergency facilities which requires the depreciation or amortization of their cost for financial accounting purposes over either a shorter or a longer period than would be proper if no certificate of necessity had been issued. Estimates of the probable useful life of a facility by those best informed in the matter may indicate either a shorter or a longer life than the statutory 60-month period over which the certified portion of its cost is deductible for income tax purposes.

.07 In determining the proper amount of annual depreciation with respect to emergency facilities for financial accounting purposes, it must be recognized that a great many of these facilities are being acquired primarily for what they can produce during the emergency period. To whatever extent it is reasonable to expect the useful economic life of a facility to end with the close of the amortization period, the cost of the facility is a proper cost of operation during that period.

.08 In determining the prospective usefulness of such facilities it will be necessary to consider their adaptability to post-emergency use, the effect of their use upon economic utilization of other facilities, the possibility of excessive costs due to expedited construction or emergency conditions, and the fact that no deductions for depreciation of the certified portion will be allowable for income tax purposes in the post-amortization years if the company elects to claim the amortization deduction. The purposes for which emergency facilities are acquired in a great many cases are such as to leave major uncertainties as to the extent of their use during the amortization period and as to their subsequent usefulness—uncertainties which are not normally encountered in the acquisition and use of operating facilities.

.09 Consideration of these factors, the committee believes, will in many cases result in the determination of depreciation charges during the amortization period in excess of the depreciation that would be appropriate if these factors were not involved. Frequently they will be so compelling as to indicate the need for recording depreciation of the cost of emergency facilities in the accounts in conformity with the amortization deductions allowable for income tax purposes. However, the committee believes that when the amount allowed as amortization for income tax purposes is materially different from the amount of the estimated depreciation, the latter should be used for financial accounting purposes.²

.10 In some cases, certificates of necessity cover facilities which the owner expects to use after the emergency period in lieu of older facilities. As a result the older facilities may become unproductive and obsolete before they are fully depreciated on the basis of their previously expected life. In such situations, the committee believes depreciation charges to income should be determined in relation to the total properties, to the end that sound depreciation accounting may be applied to the property accounts as a whole.

>>> The next page is 8691. <---

² See section 4091.

AC § 4073.10

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

AC Section 4074 Declining-Balance Depreciation

[Source: ARB No. 44 (Revised), as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: July, 1958¹

.01 The declining-balance method of estimating periodic depreciation has a long history of use in England and in other countries including, to a limited extent, the United States. Interest in this method has been increased by its specific recognition for income tax purposes in the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.

.02 The declining-balance method is one of those which meets the requirements of being "systematic and rational."² In those cases where the expected productivity or revenue-earning power of the asset is relatively greater during the earlier years of its life, or where maintenance charges tend to increase during the later years, the declining-balance method may well provide the most satisfactory allocation of cost. The conclusions of this section also apply to other methods, including the "sum-of-the-years-digits" method, which produce substantially similar results.

.03 When a change to the declining-balance method is made for general accounting purposes, and depreciation is a significant factor in the determination of net income, the change in method, including the effect thereof, should be disclosed in accordance with section 1051, *Accounting Changes.* [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after July 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 20.]

.04 There may be situations in which the decliningbalance method is adopted for income tax purposes but other appropriate methods are used for financial accounting purposes. In such cases, accounting recognition should be given to deferred income taxes (see definition in section

¹ The material included in this section is partially from ARB 44 (Revised). Paragraphs 7 and 10 of that Bulletin were superseded by APB Opinion No. 11, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967. ³ Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 1, paragraph 56.

4091.34), if the amounts thereof are material, except in the cases mentioned in paragraph .07, where there are special circumstances which may make such procedure inappropriate. The foregoing provision as to accounting recognition of deferred income taxes applies to a single asset, or to a group of assets which are expected to be retired from service at about the same time: in this case an excess of depreciation taken for income tax purposes during the earlier years would be followed by the opposite condition in later years, and there would be a tax deferment for a definite period. It applies also to a group of assets consisting of numerous units which may be of differing lengths of life and which are expected to be continually replaced; in this case an excess of depreciation taken for income tax purposes during the earlier years would be followed in later years by substantial equality between the annual depreciation for income tax purposes and that for accounting purposes, and a tax deferment would be built up during the earlier years which would tend to remain relatively constant thereafter. It applies further to a gradually expanding plant; in this case an excess of depreciation taken for income tax purposes may exist each year during the period of expansion in which event there would be a tax deferment which might increase as long as the period of expansion continued. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967, by APB Opinion No. 11.]

.05 Where it may reasonably be presumed that the accumulative difference between taxable income and financial income will continue for a long or indefinite period, it is not appropriate to recognize the related tax effect as additional amortization or depreciation applicable to such assets in recognition of the loss of future deductibility for income tax purposes. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967, by APB Opinion No. 11.]

DISCUSSION

.06 Following the passage of the Internal Revenue Act of 1954 in August of that year, permitting the use of declining-balance and similar accelerated depreciation methods for federal income tax purposes, the committee anticipated that many companies would be considering whether such methods should be adopted for general ac-

AC § 4074.05

counting purposes. In October of that year, Accounting Research Bulletin No. 44 was issued in which the committee stated that such accelerated methods met the requirement of being "systematic and rational." The committee also stated that when such methods were adopted for general accounting purposes, appropriate disclosure of the change should be made whenever depreciation was a significant factor in the determination of net income. (Refer to section 1051, Accounting Changes.)

.07 Many regulatory authorities permit recognition of deferred income taxes for accounting and/or rate-making purposes, whereas some do not. The committee believes that they should permit the recognition of deferred income taxes for both purposes. However, where charges for deferred income taxes are not allowed for rate-making purposes, accounting recognition need not be given to the deferment of taxes if it may reasonably be expected that increased future income taxes, resulting from the earlier deduction of declining-balance depreciation for income tax purposes only, will be allowed in future rate determinations.

.08 When a company subject to rate-making processes adopts the declining-balance method of depreciation for income tax purposes but adopts other appropriate methods for financial accounting purposes in the circumstances described in paragraph .07, and does not give accounting recognition to deferred income taxes, disclosure should be made of this fact. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1965, by APB Opinion No. 6.]

 \implies The next page is 8751. \leftarrow

8751

AC Section 4081

Accounting for Real and Personal Property Taxes [Source: ARB No. 43, Chap. 10A, as amended.]

lssue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1953

.01 The purpose of this section is to draw attention to the problems involved in accounting for real and personal property taxes and to present some of the considerations which enter into a determination of their accounting treatment.

LEGAL LIABILITY FOR PROPERTY TAXES AND TREATMENT FOR INCOME TAX PURPOSES

.02 Unlike excise, income, and social security taxes, which are directly related to particular business events, real and personal property taxes are based upon the assessed valuation of property (tangible and intangible) as of a given date, as determined by the laws of a state or other taxing authority. For this reason the legal liability for such taxes is generally considered as accruing at the moment of occurrence of some specific event, rather than over a period of time. Whether such legal accrual should determine the accounting treatment is a question to be discussed later. Tax laws, opinions of attorneys, income tax regulations, and court decisions have mentioned various dates on which certain property taxes are said to accrue legally. Among them are the following:

- (a) Assessment date,
- (b) Beginning of taxing authority's fiscal year,
- (c) End of taxing authority's fiscal year,
- (d) Date on which tax becomes a lien on the property,
- (e) Date tax is levied,
- (f) Date or dates tax is payable,
- (g) Date tax becomes delinquent,
- (h) Tax period appearing on tax bill.

.03 Most of the foregoing dates are mentioned in tax laws. In a given case several of these dates may coincide. .04 The date to be applied in a particular case necessarily requires reference to the law and court decisions of the state concerned. Where the matter has been litigated, it has often been held that property taxes become a liability at the point of time when they become a lien. The general rule, however, is that such taxes accrue as of the date on which they are assessed. The position of the Bureau of Internal Revenue is that generally property taxes accrue on the assessment date, even if the amount of the tax is not determined until later.

.05 A practical aspect of the legal liability for property taxes must be considered when title to property is transferred during the taxable year. As stated above, the assessment date generally determines accrual. But as between vendor and vendee, the Supreme Court¹ has laid down the rule that the lien date, or the date of personal obligation, controls and that where a transfer occurs after either of those dates, the purchaser is not entitled to deduct the taxes for income-tax purposes.

.06 Adjustments on account of property taxes paid or accrued are frequently incorporated in agreements covering the sale of real estate, which determine the question for the individual case as between the buyer and seller, though they are not necessarily controlling for income tax purposes.

.07 Although pro-rata accrual of property taxes has been permitted by some courts, the generally accepted rule seems to be that such taxes accrue in a lump sum on one date and not ratably over the year.

ACCOUNTING FOR PROPERTY TAXES Accrual Accounting

.08 Accounting questions arise as to (1) when the liability for real and personal property taxes should be recorded on the books of a taxpayer keeping his accounts on the accrual basis and (2) the amounts to be charged against the income of respective periods. Here again, the decision is influenced by the particular circumstances of each tax. Such terms as assessment date and levy date vary in meaning in the different jurisdictions; and while there is sufficient agreement about assessment date to furn-

AC § 4081.04 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

¹ Magruder v. Supplee, 316 U. S. 394 (1942).

ish a basis for the general legal rule already mentioned, it does not necessarily follow that the legal rule should determine the accounting treatment.

.09 Determination of the liability for the tax often proceeds by degrees, the several steps being taken at appreciable intervals of time. For example, while it is known that the owner of real property is liable, with respect to each tax period, for a tax on property owned on the assessment date, the amount of the tax may not be fixed until much later. There is sometimes reluctance toward recording liabilities of indeterminate amount, especially such items as property taxes, and a preference for recording them when the amount can be computed with certainty. While this consideration is one which occasionally leads to the mention of taxes in footnotes as contingent liabilities, the inability to determine the exact amount of taxes is in itself no justification for failure to recognize an existing tax liability.

.10 In practice, real and personal property taxes have been charged against the income of various periods, as indicated below:

- (a) Year in which paid (cash basis),
- (b) Year ending on assessment (or lien) date,
- (c) Year beginning on assessment (or lien) date,
- (d) Calendar or fiscal year of taxpayer prior to assessment (or lien) date,
- (e) Calendar or fiscal year of taxpayer including assessment (or lien) date,
- (f) Calendar or fiscal year of taxpayer prior to payment date,
- (g) Fiscal year of governing body levying the tax,
- (h) Year appearing on tax bill.

.11 Some of these periods may coincide, as when the fiscal year of the taxing body and that of the taxpayer are the same. The charge to income is sometimes made in full at one time, sometimes ratably on a monthly basis, sometimes on the basis of prior estimates, adjusted during or after the period.

.12 The various periods mentioned represent varying degrees of conservatism in accrual accounting. Some jus-

tification may be found for each usage, but all the circumstances relating to a particular tax must be considered before a satisfactory conclusion is reached.

.13 Consistency of application from year to year is the important consideration and selection of any of the periods mentioned is a matter for individual judgment.

Basis Considered Most Acceptable

.14 Generally, the most acceptable basis of providing for property taxes is monthly accrual on the taxpayer's books during the fiscal period of the taxing authority for which the taxes are levied. The books will then show, at any closing date, the appropriate accrual or prepayment.

.15 It may be argued that the entire amount of tax should logically be accrued by the lien date. Advocates of this procedure vary from those who would accrue the tax by charges to income during the year ending on the lien date, to those who urge setting up the full tax liability on the lien date and charging the amount thereof to income during the subsequent year. However, the basis described in the preceding paragraph is held by the majority of accountants to be practical and satisfactory so long as it is consistently followed.

TREATMENT IN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Balance Sheet

.16 An accrued liability for real and personal property taxes, whether estimated or definitely known, should be included among the current liabilities. Where estimates are subject to a substantial measure of uncertainty the liability should be described as estimated.

Income Statement

.17 While it is sometimes proper to capitalize in property accounts the amount of real estate taxes applicable to property which is being developed for use or sale, these taxes are generally regarded as an expense of doing business. They may be (a) charged to operating expenses; (b) shown as a separate deduction from income; or (c) distributed among the several accounts to which they are deemed to a ply, such as factory overhead, rent income, and selling or general expenses.

.18 In condensed income statements appearing in published reports, the amounts of real and personal property taxes, however charged in the accounts, are rarely shown separately. They are frequently combined with other taxes but not with taxes on income.

.19 Since the liability for property taxes must frequently be estimated at the balance-sheet date, it is often necessary to adjust the provision for taxes of a prior year when their amount has been ascertained. These adjustments should ordinarily be made through the income statement, either in combination with the current year's provision or as a separate item. Such adjustments should not be considered prior period adjustments unless they meet the criteria of sections 2010.22 and 2010.23. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1966, by APB Opinion No. 9.]

 \implies The next page is 8791. \leftarrow

AC Section 4091 Income Taxes

[Source: APB Opinion No. 11, as amended.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967, unless otherwise indicated

INTRODUCTION

.01 This section sets forth the Board's conclusions on some aspects of accounting for income taxes. These conclusions include significant modifications of views previously expressed by the Committee on Accounting Procedure and by the Board.

.02 Discounting. The Board's Opinion on "Tax Allocation Accounts—Discounting," as expressed in section 4092, continues in effect pending further study of the broader aspects of discounting as it is related to financial accounting in general.

.03 Investment Credits. The Board is continuing its study on accounting for "Investment Credits" and intends to issue a new Opinion on the subject as soon as possible. In the meantime section 4094, Accounting for the Investment Credit, remains in effect.

.04 Certain aspects of tax allocation, including illustrations of procedures and an extended discussion of alternative approaches to allocation, are presented in Accounting Research Study No. 9, *Interperiod Allocation of Corporate Income Taxes*, by Homer A. Black, published by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 1966.¹ The Board has considered the Study and the comments received on it. The conclusions in this section vary in some important respects from those reached in the Study.

APPLICABILITY

.05 This section applies to financial statements which purport to present financial position and results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting

¹Accounting Research Studies are not statements of this Board, or of the Institute, but are published for the purpose of stimulating discussion on important accounting issues.

principles. It does not apply (a) to regulated industries in those circumstances where the standards described in section 6011 (which remains in effect) are met and (b) to special areas requiring further study as specifically indicated in paragraphs .37-.40 of this section. The Board has deferred consideration of the special problems of allocation among components of a business enterprise pending further study and the issuance of Opinions on the applicability of generally accepted accounting principles to these statements. (As amended, effective after December 31, 1973, by APB Opinion No. 28.) (See section 2071.)

.06 The Board emphasizes that this section, as in the case of all other sections, is not intended to apply to immaterial items.

SUMMARY OF PROBLEMS

.07 The principal problems in accounting for income taxes arise from the fact that some transactions ² affect the determination of net income for financial accounting purposes in one reporting period and the computation of taxable income and income taxes payable in a different reporting period. The amount of income taxes determined to be payable for a period does not, therefore, necessarily represent the appropriate income tax expense applicable to transactions recognized for financial accounting purposes in that period. A major problem is, therefore, the measurement of the tax effects of such transactions and the extent to which the tax effects should be included in income tax expense in the same periods in which the transactions affect pretax accounting income.

.08 The United States Internal Revenue Code permits a "net operating loss" of one period to be deducted in determining taxable income of other periods. This leads to the question of whether the tax effects of an operating loss should be recognized for financial accounting purposes in the period of loss or in the periods of reduction of taxable income.

.09 Certain items includable in taxable income receive special treatment for financial accounting purposes, even though the items are reported in the same period in which

² The term *transactions* refers to all transactions and other events requiring accounting recognition. As used in this section, it relates either to individual events or to groups of similar events.

they are reported for tax purposes. A question exists, therefore, as to whether the tax effects attributable to extraordinary items, adjustments of prior periods (or of the opening balance of retained earnings), and direct entries to other stockholders' equity accounts should be associated with the particular items for financial reporting purposes.³

.10 Guidelines are needed for balance sheet and income statement presentation of the tax effects of timing differences, operating losses and similar items.

SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS

.11 The Board's conclusions on some of the problems in accounting for income taxes are summarized as follows:

- a. Interperiod tax allocation is an integral part of the determination of income tax expense, and income tax expense should include the tax effects of revenue and expense transactions included in the determination of pretax accounting income.
- b. Interperiod tax allocation procedures should follow the deferred method,* both in the manner in which tax effects are initially recognized and in the manner in which deferred taxes are amortized in future periods.
- c. The tax effects of operating loss carrybacks should be allocated to the loss periods. The tax effects of operating loss carryforwards ⁵ usually should not be recognized until the periods of realization.
- d. Tax allocation within a period should be applied to obtain fair presentation of the various components of results of operations.
- e. Financial statement presentations of income tax expense and related deferred taxes should disclose (1) the composition of income tax expense as between amounts currently payable and amounts representing tax effects allocable to the period and (2) the classification of deferred taxes into a net current amount and a net noncurrent amount.

See sections 2010 and 2012. See paragraph .18.

⁵ The term "loss carryforwards" is used in this section to mean "loss carryovers" as referred to in the United States Internal Revenue Code.

DEFINITIONS AND CONCEPTS

.12 Terminology relating to the accounting for income taxes is varied; some terms have been used with different meanings. Definitions of certain terms used in this section are therefore necessary.

- a. Income taxes. Taxes based on income determined under provisions of the United States Internal Revenue Code and foreign, state and other taxes (including franchise taxes) based on income.
- b. Income tax expense. The amount of income taxes (whether or not currently payable or refundable) allocable to a period in the determination of net income.
- c. Pretax accounting income. Income or loss for a period, exclusive of related income tax expense.
- d. *Taxable income*. The excess of revenues over deductions or the excess of deductions over revenues to be reported for income tax purposes for a period.⁶
- e. Timing differences. Differences between the periods in which transactions affect taxable income and the periods in which they enter into the determination of pretax accounting income. Timing differences originate in one period and reverse or "turn around" in one or more subsequent periods. Some timing differences reduce income taxes that would otherwise be payable currently; others increase income taxes that would otherwise be payable currently.
- f. Permanent differences. Differences between taxable income and pretax accounting income arising from transactions that, under applicable tax laws and regulations, will not be offset by corresponding differences or "turn around" in other periods.⁷
- g. Tax effects. Differentials in income taxes of a period attributable to (1) revenue or expense transactions which enter into the determination of pretax accounting income in one period and into the deter-

⁷ See paragraph .32.

AC § 4091.12

[•] For the purposes of this definition "deductions" do not include reductions in taxable income arising from net operating loss carrybacks or carryforwards.

Income Taxes

mination of taxable income in another period, (2) deductions or credits that may be carried backward or forward for income tax purposes and (3) adjustments of prior periods (or of the opening balance of retained earnings) and direct entries to other stockholders' equity accounts which enter into the determination of taxable income in a period but which do not enter into the determination of pretax accounting income of that period. A permanent difference does not result in a "tax effect" as that term is used in this Opinion.

- h. Deferred taxes. Tax effects which are deferred for allocation to income tax expense of future periods.
- i. Interperiod tax allocation. The process of apportioning income taxes among periods.
- j. Tax allocation within a period. The process of apportioning income tax expense applicable to a given period between income before extraordinary items and extraordinary items, and of associating the income tax effects of adjustments of prior periods (or of the opening balance of retained earnings) and direct entries to other stockholders' equity accounts with these items.

.13 Certain general concepts and assumptions are recognized by the Board to be relevant in considering the problems of accounting for income taxes.

- a. The operations of an entity subject to income taxes are expected to continue on a going concern basis, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, and income taxes are expected to continue to be assessed in the future.
- b. Income taxes are an expense of business enterprises earning income subject to tax.
- c. Accounting for income tax expense requires measurement and identification with the appropriate time period and therefore involves accrual, deferral and estimation concepts in the same manner as these concepts are applied in the measurement and time period identification of other expenses.
- d. Matching is one of the basic processes of income determination; essentially it is a process of deter-

mining relationships between costs (including reductions of costs) and (1) specific revenues or (2) specific accounting periods. Expenses of the current period consist of those costs which are identified with the revenues of the current period and those costs which are identified with the current period on some basis other than revenue. Costs identifiable with future revenues or otherwise identifiable with future periods should be deferred to those future periods. When a cost cannot be related to future revenues or to future periods on some basis other than revenues, or it cannot reasonably be expected to be recovered from future revenues, it becomes, by necessity, an expense of the current period (or of a prior period).

TIMING DIFFERENCES

Discussion

Nature of Timing Differences

.14 Four types of transactions are identifiable which give rise to timing differences; that is, differences between the periods in which the transactions affect taxable income and the periods in which they enter into the determination of pretax accounting income.⁸ Each timing difference originates in one period and reverses in one or more subsequent periods.

- a. Revenues or gains are included in taxable income later than they are included in pretax accounting income. For example, gross profits on installment sales are recognized for accounting purposes in the period of sale but are reported for tax purposes in the period the installments are collected.
- b. Expenses or losses are deducted in determining taxable income later than they are deducted in determining pretax accounting income. For example, estimated costs of guarantees and of product waranty contracts are recognized for accounting purposes in the current period but are reported for tax purposes in the period paid or in which the liability becomes fixed.

[•]Accounting Research Study No. 9, Interperiod Allocation of Corporate Income Taxes, pages 2-3 and 8-10.

- c. Revenues or gains are included in taxable income earlier than they are included in pretax accounting income. For example, rents collected in advance are reported for tax purposes in the period in which they are received but are deferred for accounting purposes until later periods when they are earned.
- d. Expenses or losses are deducted in determining taxable income earlier than they are deducted in determining pretax accounting income. For example, depreciation is reported on an accelerated basis for tax purposes but is reported on a straight-line basis for accounting purposes.

Additional examples of each type of timing difference are presented in Appendix A to this section (section 4091A).

.15 The timing differences of revenue and expense transactions entering into the determination of pretax accounting income create problems in the measurement of income tax expense for a period, since the income taxes payable for a period are not always determined by the same revenue and expense transactions used to determine pretax accounting income for the period. The amount of income taxes determined to be payable for a period does not, therefore, necessarily represent the appropriate income tax expense applicable to transactions recognized for financial accounting purposes in that period.

.16 Interperiod tax allocation procedures have been developed to account for the tax effects of transactions which involve timing differences. Interperiod allocation of income taxes results in the recognition of tax effects in the same periods in which the related transactions are recognized in the determination of pretax accounting income.

Differing Viewpoints

.17 Interpretations of the nature of timing differences are diverse, with the result that three basic methods of interperiod allocation of income taxes have developed and been adopted in practice. The three concepts and their applications are described and evaluated in Chapters 2, 3 and 4 of Accounting Research Study No. 9. A brief description of each method follows.

.18 Interperiod tax allocation under the *deferred* method is a procedure whereby the tax effects of current

timing differences are deferred currently and allocated to income tax expense of future periods when the timing differences reverse. The deferred method emphasizes the tax effects of timing differences on income of the period in which the differences originate. The deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the tax rates in effect at the time the timing differences originate and are not adjusted for subsequent changes in tax rates or to reflect the imposition of new taxes. The tax effects of transactions which reduce taxes currently payable are treated as deferred credits; the tax effects of transactions which increase taxes currently payable are treated as deferred charges. Amortization of these deferred taxes to income tax expense in future periods is based upon the nature of the transactions producing the tax effects and upon the manner in which these transactions enter into the determination of pretax accounting income in relation to taxable income.

.19 Interperiod tax allocation under the *liability* method is a procedure whereby the income taxes expected to be paid on pretax accounting income are accrued currently. The taxes on components of pretax accounting income may be computed at different rates, depending upon the period in which the components were, or are expected to be, included in taxable income. The differences between income tax expense and income taxes payable in the periods in which the timing differences originate are either liabilities for taxes payable in the future or assets for prepaid taxes. The estimated amounts of future tax liabilities and prepaid taxes are computed at the tax rates expected to be in effect in the periods in which the timing differences reverse. Under the liability method the initial computations are considered to be tentative and are subject to future adjustment if tax rates change or new taxes are imposed.

.20 Interperiod tax allocation under the *net of tax method* is a procedure whereby the tax effects (determined by either the deferred or liability methods) of timing differences are recognized in the valuation of assets and liabilities and the related revenues and expenses. The tax effects are applied to reduce specific assets or liabilities on the basis that tax deductibility or taxability are factors in their valuation.

Income Taxes

.21 In addition to the different methods of applying interperiod tax allocation, differing views exist as to the extent to which interperiod tax allocation should be applied in practice.

.22 Some transactions result in differences between pretax accounting income and taxable income which are permanent ' because under applicable tax laws and regulations the current differences will not be offset by corresponding differences in later periods. Other transactions, however, result in differences between pretax accounting income and taxable income which reverse or turn around in later periods; these differences are classified broadly as timing differences. The tax effects of certain timing differences often are offset in the reversal or turnaround period by the tax effects of similar differences originating in that period. Some view these differences as essentially the same as permanent differences because, in effect, the periods of reversal are indefinitely postponed. Others believe that differences which originate in a period and differences which reverse in the same period are distinguishable phases of separate timing differences and should be considered separately.

.23 In determining the accounting recognition of the tax effects of timing differences, the first question is whether there should be any tax allocation. One view holds that interperiod tax allocation is never appropriate. Under this concept, income tax expense of a period equals income taxes payable for that period. This concept is based on the presumption that income tax expense of a period should be measured by the amount determined to be payable for that period by applying the laws and regulations of the governmental unit, and that the amount requires no adjustment or allocation. This concept has not been used widely in practice and is not supported presently to any significant extent.

.24 The predominant view holds that interperiod tax allocation is appropriate. However, two alternative concepts exist as to the extent to which it should be applied: partial allocation and comprehensive allocation.

^{*} See paragraph .32.

Partial Allocation

.25 Under partial allocation the general presumption is that income tax expense of a period for financial accounting purposes should be the tax payable for the period. Holders of this view believe that when recurring differences between taxable income and pretax accounting income give rise to an indefinite postponement of an amount of tax payments or to continuing tax reductions, tax allocation is not required for these differences. They believe that amounts not reasonably expected to be payable to, or recoverable from, a government as taxes should not affect net income. They point out in particular that the application of tax allocation procedures to tax payments or recoveries which are postponed indefinitely involves contingencies which are at best remote and thus, in their opinion, may result in an overstatement or understatement of expenses with consequent effects on net income. An example of a recurring difference not requiring tax allocation under this view is the difference that arises when a company having a relatively stable or growing investment in depreciable assets uses straight-line depreciation in determining pretax accounting income but an accelerated method in determining taxable income. If tax allocation is applied by a company with large capital investments coupled with growth in depreciable assets (accentuated in periods of inflation) the resulting understatement of net income from using tax allocation is magnified.

.26 Holders of the view expressed in paragraph .25 believe that the only exceptions to the general presumption stated therein should be those instances in which specific nonrecurring differences between taxable income and pretax accounting income would lead to a material misstatement of income tax expense and net income. If such nonrecurring differences occur, income tax expense of a period for financial accounting purposes should be increased (or decreased) by income tax on differences between taxable income and pretax accounting income provided the amount of the increase (or decrease) can be reasonably expected to be paid as income tax (or recovered as a reduction of income taxes) within a relatively short period not exceeding, say, five years. An example would be an isolated install-

AC § 4091.25 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Income Taxes

ment sale of a productive facility in which the gross profit is reported for financial accounting purposes at the date of sale and for tax purposes when later collected. Thus, tax allocation is applicable only when the amounts are reasonably certain to affect the flow of resources used to pay taxes in the near future.

.27 Holders of this view state that comprehensive tax allocation, as opposed to partial allocation, relies on the so-called "revolving" account approach which seems to suggest that there is a similarity between deferred tax accruals and other balance sheet items, like accounts payable, where the individual items within an account turn over regularly although the account balance remains constant or grows. For these other items, the turnover reflects actual, specific transactions—goods are received, liabilities are recorded and payments are subsequently made. For deferred tax accruals on the other hand, no such transactions occur-the amounts are not owed to anyone: there is no specific date on which they become payable, if ever; and the amounts are at best vague estimates depending on future tax rates and many other uncertain factors. Those who favor partial allocation suggest that accounting deals with actual events, and that those who would depart from the fact of the tax payment should show that the modification will increase the usefulness of the reports to management, investors or other users. To do this requires a demonstration that the current lower (or higher) tax payments will result in higher (or lower) cash outflows for taxes within a span of time that is of significant interest to readers of the financial statements.

Comprehensive Allocation

.28 Under comprehensive allocation, income tax expense for a period includes the tax effects of transactions entering into the determination of pretax accounting income for the period even though some transactions may affect the determination of taxes payable in a different period. This view recognizes that the amount of income taxes payable for a given period does not necessarily measure the appropriate income tax expense related to transactions for that period. Under this view, income tax expense encompasses any accrual, deferral or estimation

necessary to adjust the amount of income taxes payable for the period to measure the tax effects of those transactions included in pretax accounting income for that Those supporting comprehensive allocation beperiod. lieve that the tax effects of initial timing differences should be recognized and that the tax effects should be matched with or allocated to those periods in which the initial differences reverse. The fact that when the initial differences reverse other initial differences may offset any effect on the amount of taxable income does not, in their opinion, nullify the fact of the reversal. The offsetting relationships do not mean that the tax effects of the differences cannot be recognized and measured. Those supporting comprehensive allocation state that the makeup of the balances of certain deferred tax amounts "revolve" as the related differences reverse and are replaced by similar differences. These initial differences do reverse, and the tax effects thereof can be identified as readily as can those of other timing differences. While new differences may have an offsetting effect, this does not alter the fact of the reversal: without the reversal there would be different tax consequences. Accounting principles cannot be predicated on reliance that offsets will continue. Those supporting comprehensive allocation conclude that the fact that the tax effects of two transactions happen to go in opposite directions does not invalidate the necessity of recognizing separately the tax effects of the transactions as they occur.

.29 Under comprehensive allocation, material tax effects are given recognition in the determination of income tax expense, and the tax effects are related to the periods in which the transactions enter into the determination of pretax accounting income. The tax effects so determined are allocated to the future periods in which the differences between pretax accounting income and taxable income reverse. Those supporting this view believe that comprehensive allocation is necessary in order to associate the tax effects with the related transactions. Only by the timely recognition of such tax effects is it possible to associate the tax effects of transactions with those transactions as they enter into the determination of net income. The need exists to recognize the tax effects of initial differences because only by doing so will the income tax expense in

AC § 4091.29 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

the periods of initial differences include the tax effects of transactions of those periods.

.30 Those who support comprehensive allocation believe that the partial allocation concept in stressing cash outlays represents a departure from the accrual basis of accounting. Comprehensive allocation, in their view, results in a more thorough and consistent association in the matching of revenues and expenses, one of the basic processes of income determination.

These differences in viewpoint become most sig-.31 nificant with respect to the tax effects of transactions of a recurring nature-for example, depreciation of machinery and equipment using the straight-line method for financial accounting purposes and an accelerated method for income tax purposes. Under partial allocation the tax effects of these timing differences would not be recognized under many circumstances; under comprehensive allocation the tax effects would be recognized beginning in the periods of the initial timing differences. Under partial allocation, the tax effects of these timing differences would not be recognized so long as it is assumed that similar timing differences would arise in the future creating tax effects at least equal to the reversing tax effects of the previous timing differences. Thus, under partial allocation, so long as the amount of deferred taxes is estimated to remain fixed or to increase, no need exists to recognize the tax effects of the initial differences because they probably will not "reverse" in the foreseeable future. Under comprehensive allocation tax effects are recognized as they occur.

Permanent Differences

.32 Some differences between taxable income and pretax accounting income are generally referred to as permanent differences. Permanent differences arise from statutory provisions under which specified revenues are exempt from taxation and specified expenses are not allowable as deductions in determining taxable income. (Examples are interest received on municipal obligations and premiums paid on officers' life insurance.) Other permanent differences arise from items entering into the determination of taxable income which are not components of pretax accounting income in any period. (Examples are the special deduction for certain dividends received and the excess of statutory depletion over cost depletion.)

Opinion

.33 The Board has considered the various concepts of accounting for income taxes and has concluded that comprehensive interperiod tax allocation is an integral part of the determination of income tax expense. Therefore, income tax expense should include the tax effects of revenue and expense transactions included in the determination of pretax accounting income. The tax effects of those transactions which enter into the determination of pretax accounting income either earlier or later than they become determinants of taxable income should be recognized in the periods in which the differences between pretax accounting income and taxable income arise and in the periods in which the differences reverse. Since permanent differences do not affect other periods, interperiod tax allocation is not appropriate to account for such differences.

.34 The Board has concluded that the deferred method ¹⁰ of tax allocation should be followed since it provides the most useful and practical approach to interperiod tax allocation and the presentation of income taxes in financial statements.

.35 The tax effect of a timing difference should be measured by the differential between income taxes computed with and without inclusion of the transaction creating the difference between taxable income and pretax accounting income. The resulting income tax expense for the period includes the tax effects of transactions entering into the determination of results of operations for the period. The resulting deferred tax amounts reflect the tax effects which will reverse in future periods. The measurement of income tax expense becomes thereby a consistent and integral part of the process of matching revenues and expenses in the determination of results of operations.

.36 In computing the tax effects referred to in paragraph .35 timing differences may be considered individually or similar timing differences may be grouped. The net

¹⁰ See paragraph .18.

Income Taxes

change in deferred taxes for a period for a group of similar timing differences may be determined on the basis of either (a) a combination of amounts representing the tax effects arising from timing differences originating in the period at the current tax rates and reversals of tax effects arising from timing differences originating in prior periods at the applicable tax rates reflected in the accounts as of the beginning of the period; or (b) if the applicable deferred taxes have been provided in accordance with this section on the cumulative timing differences as of the beginning of the period, the amount representing the tax effects at the current tax rates of the net change during the period in the cumulative timing differences. If timing differences are considered individually, or if similar timing differences are grouped, no recognition should be given to the reversal of tax effects arising from timing differences originating prior to the effective date of this section unless the applicable deferred taxes have been provided for in accordance with this section, either during the periods in which the timing differences originated or, retroactively, as of the effective date of this section. The method or methods adopted should be consistently applied.

Special Areas Requiring Further Study

[.37] [Superseded, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 23.] (See section 4095.)

[.38] [Superseded, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 23.] (See section 4095.)

.39 Intangible development costs in the oil and gas industry are commonly deducted in the determination of taxable income in the period in which the costs are incurred. Usually the costs are capitalized for financial accounting purposes and are amortized over the productive periods of the related wells. A question exists as to whether the tax effects of the current deduction of these costs for tax purposes should be deferred and amortized over the productive periods of the wells to which the costs relate. Other items have a similar, or opposite, effect because of the interaction with "percentage" depletion for income

AC § 4091.39

tax purposes. The Board has decided to defer any conclusion on these questions until the accounting research study on extractive industries is completed and an Opinion is issued on that subject.

[.40] [Superseded, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 23.] (See section 4095.)

OPERATING LOSSES

Discussion

.41 An operating loss arises when, in the determination of taxable income, deductions exceed revenues. Under applicable tax laws and regulations, operating losses of a period may be carried backward or forward for a definite period of time to be applied as a reduction in computing taxable income, if any, in those periods. When an operating loss is so applied, pretax accounting income and taxable income (after deducting the operating loss carryback or carryforward) will differ for the period to which the loss is applied.

.42 If operating losses are carried backward to earlier periods under provisions of the tax law, the tax effects of the loss carrybacks are included in the results of operations of the loss period, since realization is assured. If operating losses are carried forward under provisions of the tax law, the tax effects usually are not recognized in the accounts until the periods of realization, since realization of the benefits of the loss carryforwards generally is not assured in the loss periods. The only exception to that practice occurs in unusual circumstances when realization is assured beyond any reasonable doubt in the loss periods. Under an alternative view, however, the tax effects of loss carryforwards would be recognized in the loss periods unless specific reasons exist to question their realization.

Opinion

.43 The tax effects of any realizable loss carrybacks should be recognized in the determination of net income (loss) of the loss periods. The tax loss gives rise to a refund (or claim for refund) of past taxes, which is both measurable and currently realizable; therefore the tax effect of

AC § 4091.40

the loss is properly recognizable in the determination of net income (loss) for the loss period. Appropriate adjustments of existing net deferred tax credits may also be necessary in the loss period.

.44 The tax effects of loss carryforwards also relate to the determination of net income (loss) of the loss periods. However, a significant question generally exists as to realization of the tax effects of the carryforwards, since realization is dependent upon future taxable income. Accordingly, the Board has concluded that the tax benefits of loss carryforwards should not be recognized until they are actually realized, except in unusual circumstances when realization is assured beyond any reasonable doubt at the time the loss carryforwards arise. When the tax benefits of loss carryforwards are not recognized until realized in full or in part in subsequent periods, the tax benefits should be reported in the results of operations of those periods as extraordinary items.¹¹

.45 In those rare cases in which realization of the tax benefits of loss carryforwards is assured beyond any reasonable doubt, the potential benefits should be associated with the periods of loss and should be recognized in the determination of results of operations for those periods. Realization is considered to be assured beyond any reasonable doubt when conditions such as those set forth in paragraph .46 are present. (Also see paragraph .47.) The amount of the asset (and the tax effect on results of operations) recognized in the loss period should be computed at the rates expected ¹² to be in effect at the time of realization. If the applicable tax rates change from those used to measure the tax effect at the time of recognition, the effect of the rate change should be accounted for in the period of the change as an adjustment of the asset account and of income tax expense.

[&]quot; See section 2012.07, Reporting the Results of Operations.

²³ The rates referred to here are those rates which, at the time the loss carry *forward* benefit is recognized for financial accounting purposes, have been enacted to apply to appropriate future periods.

.46 Realization of the tax benefit of a loss carryforward would appear to be assured beyond any reasonable doubt when both of the following conditions exist: (a) the loss results from an identifiable, isolated and nonrecurring cause and the company either has been continuously profitable over a long period or has suffered occasional losses which were more than offset by taxable income in subsequent years, and (b) future taxable income is virtually certain to be large enough to offset the loss carryforward and will occur soon enough to provide realization during the carryforward period.

Net deferred tax credits arising from timing dif-.47 ferences may exist at the time loss carryforwards arise. In the usual case when the tax effect of a loss carryforward is not recognized in the loss period, adjustments of the existing net deferred tax credits may be necessary in that period or in subsequent periods. In this situation net deferred tax credits should be eliminated to the extent of the lower of (a) the tax effect of the loss carryforward. or (b) the amortization of the net deferred tax credits that would otherwise have occurred during the carryforward period. If the loss carryforward is realized in whole or in part in periods subsequent to the loss period, the amounts eliminated from the deferred tax credit accounts should be reinstated (at the then current tax rates) on a cumulative basis as, and to the extent that, the tax benefit of the loss carryforward is realized. In the unusual situation in which the tax effect of a loss carryforward is recognized as an asset in the loss year,¹³ the deferred tax credit accounts would be amortized in future periods as indicated in paragraph .18.

.48 The tax effects of loss carry*forwards* of purchased subsidiaries (if not recognized by the subsidiary prior to purchase) should be recognized as assets at the date of purchase only if realization is assured beyond any reasonable doubt. Otherwise they should be recognized only when the tax benefits are actually realized and should be re-

AC § 4091.46 . © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

³⁸See paragraph .45.

Income Taxes

corded as retroactive adjustments ¹⁴ of the purchase transactions and treated in accordance with the procedures described in section 1091.87. Retroactive adjustments of results of operations for the periods subsequent to purchase may also be necessary if the balance sheet items affected have been subject to amortization in those periods.

.49 Tax effects of loss carry*forwards* arising prior to a quasi-reorganization (including for this purpose the application of a deficit in retained earnings to contributed capital) should, if not previously recognized, be recorded as assets at the date of the quasi-reorganization only if realization is assured beyond any reasonable doubt. If not previously recognized and the benefits are actually realized at a later date, the tax effects should be added to contributed capital because the benefits are attributable to the loss periods prior to the quasi-reorganization.

TAX ALLOCATION WITHIN A PERIOD

Discussion

.50 The need for tax allocation within a period arises because items included in the determination of taxable income may be presented for accounting purposes as (a) extraordinary items, (b) adjustments of prior periods (or of the opening balance of retained earnings) or (c) as direct entries to other stockholders' equity accounts.

Opinion

.51 The Board has concluded that tax allocation within a period should be applied to obtain an appropriate relationship between income tax expense and (a) income before extraordinary items, (b) extraordinary items, (c) adjustments of prior periods (or of the opening balance of retained earnings) and (d) direct entries to other stockholders' equity accounts. The income tax expense attributable to income before extraordinary items is computed by determining the income tax expense related to revenue and expense transactions entering into the determination of such income, without giving effect to the tax consequences of the items excluded from the determination of income before extraordinary items. The income tax ex-

¹⁴ See section 2010, Reporting the Results of Operations.

pense attributable to other items is determined by the tax consequences of transactions involving these items. If an operating loss exists before extraordinary items, the tax consequences of such loss should be associated with the loss.

OTHER UNUSED DEDUCTIONS AND CREDITS

Opinion

.52 The conclusions of this section, including particularly the matters discussed in paragraphs .41-.49 on tax reductions resulting from operating losses, also apply to other unused deductions and credits for tax purposes that may be carried backward or forward in determining taxable income (for example, capital losses, contribution carryovers, and foreign tax credits).

FINANCIAL REPORTING

Discussion

Balance Sheet

.53 Interperiod tax allocation procedures result in the recognition of several deferred tax accounts. Classification of deferred taxes in the balance sheet has varied in practice, with the accounts reported, alternatively, as follows:

- a. Separate current and noncurrent amounts. In this form of presentation all balance sheet accounts resulting from income tax allocation are classified into four separate categories—current assets, noncurrent assets, current liabilities and noncurrent liabilities.
- b. Net current and net noncurrent amounts. In this form of presentation all balance sheet accounts resulting from income tax allocation are classified into two categories—net current amount and net noncurrent amount.
- c. Single amount. In this form of presentation all balance sheet accounts resulting from income tax allocation are combined in a single amount.
- d. Net of tax presentation. Under this approach each balance sheet tax allocation account (or portions thereof) is reported as an offset to, or a valuation of, the asset or liability that gave rise to the tax effect. Net of tax presentation is an extension of a valuation concept and treats the tax effects as valu-

ation adjustments of the related assets and liabilities.

Income Statement

.54 Interperiod tax allocation procedures result in income tax expense generally different from the amount of income tax payable for a period. Three alternative approaches have developed for reporting income tax expense:

- a. Combined amount. In this presentation income tax expense for the period is reported as a single amount, after adjustment of the amount of income taxes payable for the period for the tax effects of those transactions which had different effects on pretax accounting income and on taxable income. This form of presentation emphasizes that income tax expense for the period is related to those transactions entering into the determination of pretax accounting income.
- b. Combined amount plus disclosure (or two or more separate amounts). In this presentation the amount of income taxes reported on the tax return is considered significant additional information for users of financial statements. The amount of taxes payable (or the effect of tax allocation for the period) is, therefore, disclosed parenthetically or in a note to the financial statements. Alternatively, income tax expense may be disclosed in the income statement by presenting separate amounts—the taxes payable and the effects of tax allocation.
- c. "Net of tax" presentation. Under the "net of tax" concept the tax effects recognized under interperiod tax allocation are considered to be valuation adjustments to the assets or liabilities giving rise to the adjustments. For example, depreciation deducted for tax purposes in excess of that recognized for financial accounting purposes is held to reduce the future utility of the related asset because of a loss of a portion of future tax deductibility. Thus, depreciation expense, rather than income tax expense, is adjusted for the tax effect of the difference between the depreciation amount used in the determination of taxable income and

that used in the determination of pretax accounting income.

Opinion

Balance Sheet

.55 Balance sheet accounts related to tax allocation are of two types:

- a. Deferred charges and deferred credits relating to timing differences; and
- b. Refunds of past taxes or offsets to future taxes arising from the recognition of tax effects of carrybacks and carryforwards of operating losses and similar items.

.56 Deferred charges and deferred credits relating to timing differences represent the cumulative recognition given to their tax effects and as such do not represent receivables or payables in the usual sense. They should be classified in two categories-one for the net current amount and the other for the net noncurrent amount. This presentation is consistent with the customary distinction between current and noncurrent categories and also recognizes the close relationship among the various deferred tax accounts, all of which bear on the determination of income tax expense. The current portions of such deferred charges and credits should be those amounts which relate to assets and liabilities classified as current. Thus, if installment receivables are a current asset, the deferred credits representing the tax effects of uncollected installment sales should be a current item; if an estimated provision for warranties is a current liability, the deferred charge representing the tax effect of such provision should be a current item.

.57 Refunds of past taxes or offsets to future taxes arising from recognition of the tax effects of operating loss carrybacks or carryforwards should be classified either as current or noncurrent. The current portion should be determined by the extent to which realization is expected to occur during the current operating cycle as defined in section 2031.

.58 Deferred taxes represent tax effects recognized in the determination of income tax expense in current and AC § 4091.55 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Income Taxes

prior periods, and they should, therefore, be excluded from retained earnings or from any other account in the stockholders' equity section of the balance sheet.

Income Statement

.59 In reporting the results of operations the components of income tax expense for the period should be disclosed, for example:

- a. Taxes estimated to be payable
- b. Tax effects of timing differences
- c. Tax effects of operating losses.

These amounts should be allocated to (a) income before extraordinary items and (b) extraordinary items and may be presented as separate items in the income statement or, alternatively, as combined amounts with disclosure of the components parenthetically or in a note to the financial statements.

.60 When the tax benefit of an operating loss carryforward is realized in full or in part in a subsequent period, and has not been previously recognized in the loss period, the tax benefit should be reported as an extraordinary item¹⁵ in the results of operations of the period in which realized.

.61 Tax effects attributable to adjustments of prior periods (or of the opening balance of retained earnings) and direct entries to other stockholders' equity accounts should be presented as adjustments of such items with disclosure of the amounts of the tax effects.¹⁵

General

.62 Certain other disclosures should be made in addition to those set forth in paragraphs .55-.61:

- a. Amounts of any operating loss carry*forwards* not recognized in the loss period, together with expiration dates (indicating separately amounts which, upon recognition, would be credited to deferred tax accounts);
- b. Significant amounts of any other unused deductions or credits, together with expiration dates; and
- c. Reasons for significant variations in the customary relationships between income tax expense and pre-

¹⁵ See section 2012.07, Reporting the Results of Operations.

tax accounting income, if they are not otherwise apparent from the financial statements or from the nature of the entity's business.

The Board recommends that the nature of significant differences between pretax accounting income and taxable income be disclosed.

.63 The "net of tax" form of presentation of the tax effects of timing differences should not be used for financial reporting. The tax effects of transactions entering into the determination of pretax accounting income for one period but affecting the determination of taxable income in a different period should be reported in the income statement as elements of income tax expense and in the balance sheet as deferred taxes and not as elements of valuation of assets or liabilities.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.64 This section shall be effective for all fiscal periods that begin after December 31, 1967. However, the Board encourages earlier application of the provisions of this section.

.65 Accordingly, the tax allocation procedures set forth in this section should be applied to timing differences occurring after the effective date. (See paragraph .36 for treatment of timing differences originating prior to the effective date.) Balance sheet accounts which arose from interperiod tax allocation and accounts stated on a net of tax basis prior to the effective date of this section should be presented in the manner set forth in this section.

.66 The Board recognizes that companies may apply this section retroactively to periods prior to the effective date to obtain comparability in financial presentations for the current and future periods. If the procedures are applied retroactively, they should be applied to all material items of those periods insofar as the recognition of prior period tax effects of timing differences, operating losses and other deductions or credits is concerned. Any adjustments made to give retroactive effect to the conclusions stated in this section should be considered adjustments of prior periods and treated accordingly.¹⁶

+ The next page is 8831. ← + H

AC § 4091.63 (© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

¹⁶ See section 2010, Reporting the Results of Operations.

Income Taxes— Appendix A

EXAMPLES OF TIMING DIFFERENCES

.01 The following examples of timing differences are taken from Accounting Research Study No. 9, *Interperiod Allocation of Corporate Income Taxes*, by Homer A. Black, pages 8-10. They are furnished for illustrative purposes only without implying approval by the Board of the accounting practices described.

.02 (A) Revenues or gains are taxed after accrued for accounting purposes:

Profits on installment sales are recorded in accounts at date of sale and reported in tax returns when later collected.

Revenues on long-term contracts are recorded in accounts on percentage-of-completion basis and reported in tax returns on a completed-contract basis.

Revenue from leasing activities is recorded in a lessor's accounts based on the financing method of accounting and exceeds rent less depreciation reported in tax returns in the early years of a lease.

Earnings of foreign subsidiary companies are recognized in accounts currently and included in tax returns when later remitted.

.03 (B) Expenses or losses are deducted for tax purposes after accrued for accounting purposes:

Estimated costs of guarantees and product warranty contracts are recorded in accounts at date of sale and deducted in tax returns when later paid.

Expenses for deferred compensation, profit-sharing, bonuses, and vacation

Revenue and Expense

and severance pay are recorded in accounts when accrued for the applicable period and deducted in tax returns when later paid.

Expenses for pension costs are recorded in accounts when accrued for the applicable period and deducted in tax returns for later periods when contributed to the pension plan.

Current expenses for self-insurance are recorded in accounts based on consistent computations for the plan and deducted in tax returns when losses are later incurred.

Estimated losses on inventories and purchase commitments are recorded in accounts when reasonably anticipated and deducted in tax returns when later realized.

Estimated losses on disposal of facilities and discontinuing or relocating operations are recorded-in accounts when anticipated and determinable and deducted in tax returns when losses or costs are later incurred.

Estimated expenses of settling pending lawsuits and claims are recorded in accounts when reasonably ascertainable and deducted in tax returns when later paid.

Provisions for major repairs and maintenance are accrued in accounts on a systematic basis and deducted in tax returns when later paid.

Depreciation recorded in accounts exceeds that deducted in tax returns in early years because of:

accelerated method of computation for accounting purposes

shorter lives for accounting purposes

AC § 4091A.03

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Organization costs are written off in accounts as incurred and amortized in tax returns.

.04 (C) Revenues or gains are taxed before accrued for accounting purposes:

Rent and royalties are taxed when collected and deferred in accounts to later periods when earned.

Fees, dues, and service contracts are taxed when collected and deferred in accounts to later periods when earned.

Profits on intercompany transactions are taxed when reported in separate returns, and those on assets remaining within the group are eliminated in consolidated financial statements.

Gains on sales of property leased back are taxed at date of sale and deferred in accounts and amortized during the term of lease.

Proceeds of sales of oil payments or ore payments are taxed at date of sale and deferred in accounts and recorded as revenue when produced.

.05 (D) Expenses or losses are deducted for tax purposes before accrued for accounting purposes:

Depreciation deducted in tax returns exceeds that recorded in accounts in early years because of:

accelerated method of computation for tax purposes

shorter guideline lives for tax purposes

amortization of emergency facilities under certificates of necessity

Unamortized discount, issue cost and redemption premium on bonds refunded are deducted in tax returns and deferred and amortized in accounts.

Revenue and **Expense**

Research and developments costs are deducted in tax returns when incurred and deferred and amortized in accounts.

Interest and taxes during construction are deducted in tax returns when incurred and included in the cost of assets in accounts.

Preoperating expenses are deducted in tax returns when incurred and deferred and amortized in accounts.

\implies The next page is 8861. \leftarrow

Tax Allocation Accounts— Discounting

[Source: APB Opinion No. 10, Par. 6.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1966, unless otherwise indicated

.01 Accounting Research Study No. 9, Interperiod Allocation of Corporate Income Taxes,¹ deals with the allocation of income taxes among accounting periods when revenues and expenses are reported for financial accounting purposes in different periods than they are for income tax purposes. The Board is presently giving attention to this general subject with a view to issuing an Opinion on it.² One of the questions now being considered is whether certain long-term tax allocation accounts should be determined on a discounted basis as recommended in the Study. Pending further consideration of this subject and the broader aspects of discounting as it is related to financial accounting in general and until the Board reaches a conclusion on this subject, it is the Board's opinion that, except for applications existing on the exposure date of this section (September 26, 1966) with respect to transactions consummated prior to that date. deferred taxes should not be accounted for on a discounted basis.

₩ → The next page is 8881. ← ₩

¹Accounting Research Studies are not statements of this Board or of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, but are published for the purpose of stimulating discussion on important accounting issues.

² APB Opinion No. 11 was issued effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967. See section 4091.

AC Section 4093

New Depreciation Guidelines

and Rules

[Source: APB Opinion No. 1, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: November, 1962

.01 Accounting problems may arise in connection with the Depreciation Guidelines and Rules issued by the United States Treasury Department Internal Revenue Service as Revenue Procedure 62-21, effective July 12, 1962. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967, by APB Opinion No. 11.]

.02 The service lives suggested in the Guidelines for broad classes of depreciable assets are, in general, appreciably shorter than the individual lives given in Bulletin "F," which was previously used as a guide in the determination of deductible depreciation for income tax purposes. The Guidelines purport to bring the lives used for income tax purposes into line with the actual experience of taxpayers, and thereby reduce the areas of controversy as to the amount of deductible depreciation, but not to provide another type of accelerated depreciation.

For the first three years, either the new Guideline .03 lives, or lives longer than the Guideline lives, may be used for income tax purposes without challenge. Lives shorter than those found in the Guidelines may be used if they have previously been established or are justifiable as reflecting the taxpayer's existing or intended retirement and replacement practices. If the "reserve ratio" tests provided in the Procedure subsequently indicate that the lives used for income tax purposes are not in accordance with actual retirement and replacement practices, the lives may be lengthened in accordance with the "life adjustment" tables provided in the Procedure. If the adjustment is not sufficient to bring tax and actual lives into line, the adjusted lives will then be replaced by lives determined in accordance with all of the facts and circumstances.

.04 A taxpayer should carefully review the estimates of useful life of depreciable property adopted for financial

accounting purposes, with the objective of conforming them with Guideline lives to the extent that the latter fall within a reasonable range of estimated useful lives applicable in his business.

.05 With exceptions such as those discussed in paragraphs .06 and .07, net income for the period should not be *increased* as the result of the adoption of Guideline lives for income tax purposes only. Accordingly, where Guideline lives shorter than the lives used for financial accounting purposes are adopted for income tax purposes, provision for deferred income taxes should be made in the manner provided by section 4091. [As amended effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967, by APB Opinion No. 11.]

.06 It may happen that a company has used shorter lives for accounting purposes than for tax purposes in the past, and now finds that these lives are longer than the new Guideline lives. If the lives previously used for accounting purposes are still considered reasonable, they presumably will be continued, but Guideline lives might be adopted for tax purposes. Tax-effect accounting should be introduced in this type of case in conformity with section 4091. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967, by APB Opinion No. 11.]

.07 It may develop that some regulatory authorities having jurisdiction over regulated businesses will prescribe the manner in which the tax effect of the adoption of Guideline lives for income tax purposes only is to be dealt with for rate-making purposes. Where this is done, the principles set forth in section 4074.07-.08 are applicable.

 \implies The next page is 8901. \leftarrow

8882

AC § 4093.05

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Investment Credit

[Source: APB Opinion Nos. 2 and 4, as amended.]

This is a combination of APB Opinion No. 2, issued December, 1962, and APB Opinion No. 4 (Amending No. 2), issued March, 1964, unless otherwise indicated

.01 The Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, provides for an "investment credit" which, in general, is equal to a specified percentage of the cost of certain depreciable assets acquired and placed in service after 1961. It is subject to certain statutory limitations and the amount available in any one year is used to reduce the amount of income tax payable for that year. An investment credit once allowed is subject to recapture under certain circumstances set forth in the statute.

.02 Some decision as to the nature of the investment credit, i.e., as to the *substance* of its essential characteristics, if not indispensable, is of great significance in a determination of its accounting treatment.

.03 Three concepts as to the substance of the investment credit have been considered by the Board: (a) subsidy by way of a contribution to capital; (b) reduction in taxes otherwise applicable to the income of the year in which the credit arises; and (c) reduction in a cost otherwise chargeable in a greater amount to future accounting periods.

.04 There is no significant disagreement with the view that the investment credit is a factor which influences the determination of net income. The basic accounting issue before us therefore is not whether the investment credit increases net income but, rather, the accounting period(s) during which it should be reflected in the operating statement. Resolution of the accounting issue, in large part, rests upon the accounting principles relative to the realization of income. This is true for both regulated and nonregulated companies.

AICPA Professional Standards

AC § 4094.04

.05 Subsidy by way of a contribution to capital. This concept, in our opinion, is the least rational because it runs counter to the conclusion that the investment credit increases the net income of some accounting period(s).

.06 Tax reduction. The argument for this concept essentially is that since the investment credit is made available by the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, it is in substance a selective reduction in taxes related to the taxable income of the year in which the credit arises.

.07 The General Rule of Section 38(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, provides that:

There shall be allowed, as a credit against the tax imposed by this chapter, the amount determined under sub-part B of this part.

The tax code has traditionally distinguished between exclusions from taxable income (which affect the computation of taxes payable on taxable income of the period) and credits to be applied to reduce taxes otherwise applicable to such taxable income (which do not enter into such computation). In our view the relevant materials support the interpretation that the investment credit is an administrative procedure to permit the taxpayer to withhold the cash equivalent of the credit from taxes otherwise payable and that it is not an element entering into the computation of taxes related to income of the period.

.08 Cost reduction. We believe that the interpretation of the investment credit as a reduction in or offset against a cost otherwise chargeable in a greater amount to future accounting periods is supported by the weight of the pertinent factors and is based upon existing accounting principles.

.09 In reaching this conclusion we have evaluated the pertinent portions of the legislative history of the investment credit, which we regard as significant but not decisive. We also evaluated the pertinent provisions of the tax code which contain recapture and other provisions the effect of which is to make realization of the credit dependent to some degree on future events.

.10 In concluding that the cost reduction concept is based upon existing accounting principles we attach sub-

stantial weight to two points in particular. First, in our opinion, earnings arise from the use of facilities, not from their acquisition. Second, the ultimate realization of the credit is contingent to some degree on future developments. Where the incidence of realization of income is uncertain, as in the present circumstances, we believe the record does not support the treatment of the investment credit as income at the earliest possible point of time. In our opinion the alternative choice of spreading the income in some rational manner over a series of future accounting periods is more logical and supportable.

.11 In December 1962 the Board stated (in APB Opinion No. 2):

"... the allowable investment credit should be reflected in net income over the productive life of acquired property and not in the year in which it is placed in service."

.12 In January 1963 the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Accounting Series Release No. 96 in which it reported that in recognition of the substantial diversity of opinion among responsible persons in the matter of accounting for the investment credit the Commission would accept statements in which the credit was accounted for either as this Board concluded in Opinion No. 2 or as a reduction in taxes otherwise applicable to the year in which the credit arises. The Commission has recently reconsidered and reaffirmed that position.

.13 The Board's review of experience since the issuance of Opinion No. 2 shows that the investment credit has been treated by a significant number of companies as an increase in net income of the year in which the credit arose.

.14 The Revenue Act of 1964 eliminates the requirement imposed by the Revenue Act of 1962 that the investment credit be treated for income tax purposes as a reduction in the basis of the property to which the credit relates.

CONCLUSIONS

.15 It is the conclusion of this Board that the Revenue Act of 1964 does not change the essential nature of the investment credit and, hence, of itself affords no basis for revising our Opinion as to the method of accounting for the investment credit.

.16 However, the authority of Opinions of this Board rests upon their general acceptability. The Board, in the light of events and developments occurring since the issuance of Opinion No. 2, has determined that its conclusions as there expressed have not attained the degree of acceptability which it believes is necessary to make the Opinion effective.

.17 In the circumstances the Board believes that, while the method of accounting for the investment credit recommended in paragraph .11 should be considered to be preferable, the alternative method of treating the credit as a reduction of Federal income taxes of the year in which the credit arises is also acceptable.

.18 The Board emphasizes that whichever method of accounting for the investment credit is adopted, it is essential that full disclosure be made of the method followed and amounts involved, when material.

.19 A number of alternative choices for recording the credit on the balance sheet has been considered. While we believe the reflection of the allowable credit as a reduction in the net amount at which the acquired property is stated (either directly or by inclusion in an offsetting account) may be preferable in many cases, we recognize as equally appropriate the treatment of the credit as deferred income, provided it is amortized over the productive life of the acquired property.

.20 We believe it preferable that the statement of income in the year in which the allowable investment credit arises should be affected only by the results which flow from the accounting for the credit set forth in paragraph .11. Nevertheless, reflection of income tax provisions, in the income statement, in the amount payable (that is, after deduction of the allowable investment credit) is appropriate provided that a corresponding charge is made to an appropriate cost or expense (for example, to the provision for depreciation) and the treatment is adequately disclosed in the financial statements of the first year of its adoption.

.21 An investment credit should be reflected in the financial statements only to the extent that it has been AC § 4094.16 (© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

used as an offset against income tax liability. Under the statute, unused investment credits may be carried backward or forward to other years. The amount of a carryback of unused investment credit may be set up as an asset (a claim for refund of income taxes) and be added to the allowable investment credit in accounting for the effect of the credit in the year in which the property is placed in service. A carryforward of unused investment credit should ordinarily be reflected only in the year in which the amount becomes "allowable," in which case the unused amount would not appear as an asset. Either of two treatments is acceptable in the preparation of income statements for the year in which these carrybacks or carryforwards are recognized: (a) the amount of taxes estimated to be actually payable for such year may be shown in the income statement, with the amount of the tax reduction attributable to the amounts carried backward or forward indicated either in a footnote or parenthetically in the body of the income statement; or (b) the income statement may indicate the tax expense for the period without inclusion of such reduction, which reduction should be shown as a separate item in the statement of income. Material amounts of unused investment credits should be disclosed. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1966, by APB Opinion No. 9.]

>>> The next page is 8921. ← </

Accounting for Income Taxes— Special Areas

[Source: APB Opinion No. 23.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971, unless otherwise indicated

INTRODUCTION

.01 In December 1967 the Accounting Principles Board issued section 4091, *Income Taxes*, but deferred modifying the practices of accounting for income taxes in five special areas identified in paragraphs .37 through .40 of that section as requiring further study:

- a. Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
- b. Intangible development costs in the oil and gas industry
- c. "General reserves" of stock savings and loan associations
- d. Amounts designated as "policyholders' surplus" by stock life insurance companies
- e. Deposits in statutory reserve funds by United States steamship companies.

.02 T. Board has examined the characteristics of the tax consequences of transactions in the three special areas designated (a), (c), and (d) above and sets forth in this section its conclusions on appropriate accounting treatments. The Board continues to defer conclusions on intangible development costs in the oil and gas industry pending the issuance of an Opinion on extractive industries. The Board also defers conclusions on deposits in capital construction funds or statutory reserve funds by United States steamship companies until regulations covering the provisions of the Merchant Marine Act of 1970 are available; experience under the 1970 Act, which substantially modified the Merchant Marine Act of 1936, is now limited. The Board also expresses in this section its conclusions on accounting for taxes on income from investments in corporate joint ventures accounted for by the equity method in accordance with section 5131, The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock. Section 4096 covers accounting for taxes on income from investments in common stock accounted for by the equity method (other than subsidiaries and corporate joint ventures).

.03 This section supersedes section 2051.15, Consolidated Financial Statements, sections 4091.37-.38 and 4091.40, and section 5131.19j. Except as stated in the preceding sentence this section does not modify section 4091.

.04 This section applies to financial statements which purport to present financial position, results of operations, and changes in financial position in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. It does not apply to regulated industries in those circumstances meeting the standards described in section 6011.

Discussion

.05 In section 4091 the Board defined differences between taxable income and pretax accounting income as either timing differences or permanent differences and provided criteria for distinguishing between the differences. Timing differences are "Differences between the periods in which transactions affect taxable income and the periods in which they enter into the determination of pretax accounting income. Timing differences originate in one period and reverse or 'turn around' in one or more subsequent periods." Permanent differences are "Differences between taxable income and pretax accounting income arising from transactions that, under applicable tax laws and regulations, will not be offset by corresponding differences or 'turn around' in other periods." The Board also recognized that the tax consequences of a number of other transactions are somewhat similar to those of timing differences: however, the initial differences between taxable income and pretax accounting income related to the transactions may not reverse until indefinite future periods or may never reverse.

.06 A timing difference arises when the initial difference between taxable income and pretax accounting income originates in one period and predictably reverses or turns around in one or more subsequent periods. The reversal of a timing difference at some future date is definite and the period of reversal is generally predictable within reasonable limits. Sometimes, however, reversal of a difference cannot be predicted because the events that create the tax consequences are controlled by the taxpayer and frequently require that the taxpayer take specific action before the initial difference reverses.

UNDISTRIBUTED EARNINGS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Discussion

.07 Section 2051.15, Consolidated Financial Statements, which is superseded by this section, provided guides for interperiod allocation of income taxes that will be incurred at the date that previously undistributed earnings of subsidiaries are remitted to the parent company.¹ The concept of accruing income taxes for earnings included in consolidated income in accordance with section 2051 has been applied inconsistently. Some believe that the only appropriate method is to accrue related deferred taxes substantially in accordance with sections 4091.35-.36 while others believe that under the criteria set forth in section 2051 a parent company need accrue related deferred taxes only if the transfer of earnings to the parent company in a taxable distribution is imminent or relatively certain. Disclosure of the accounting for income taxes on undistributed earnings of subsidiaries has often been inadequate. Some believe that the contingent liability for taxes that would be pavable if the undistributed earnings of subsidiaries were remitted should be disclosed. In their view changing circumstances, often beyond the control of the parent company, may accelerate distribution of earnings of a subsidiary so that the parent company will incur a tax for which no provision has been made. They believe an inability to determine the exact amount of the tax that might be payable is in itself no justification for not accruing the best current

¹Section 2051.15 stated: "When separate income tax returns are filed, income taxes usually are incurred when earnings of subsidiaries are transferred to the parent. Where it is reasonable to assume that a part or all of the undistributed earnings of a subsidiary will be transferred to the parent in a taxable distribution, provision for related income taxes should be made on an estimated basis at the time the earnings are included in consolidated income, unless these taxes are immaterial in amount when effect is given, for example, to dividend-received deductions or foreign-tax credits. There is no need to provide for income tax to the parent company in cases where the income has been, or there is evidence that it will be, permanently invested by the subsidiaries, or where the only likely distribution would be in the form of a tax-free liquidation."

estimate of the contingent liability. Others believe that instead the amount of undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which a parent company has not accrued income taxes should be disclosed in notes to financial statements. In their view disclosure of a hypothetical tax which would be payable, assuming those earnings were distributed currently, implies a contradiction of the decision that it is not necessary to provide for income taxes on the earnings in the financial statements. They do not believe that such a hypothetical tax is normally a realistic quantification of the contingent taxes that would be incurred even if some portion of the undistributed earnings were remitted.

.08 A domestic or foreign subsidiary remits earnings to a parent company after the parties consider numerous factors, including the following:

- a. Financial requirements of the parent company
- b. Financial requirements of the subsidiary
- c. Operational and fiscal objectives of the parent company, both long-term and short-term
- d. Remittance restrictions imposed by governments
- e. Remittance restrictions imposed by lease or financing agreements of the subsidiary
- f. Tax consequences of the remittance.

Remittance of earnings of a subsidiary may sometimes be indefinite because of the specific long-term investment plans and objectives of the parent company. Even in the absence of long-term investment plans, the flexibility inherent in the United States Internal Revenue Code may permit a parent company to postpone income taxes on the earnings of a subsidiary for an extended period or may permit the ultimate distribution to be taxed at special rates applicable to the nature of the distribution. Other circumstances may indicate that the earnings will probably be remitted in the foreseeable future. However, the parent company may control the events that create the tax consequences in either circumstance.

Opinion

.09 The Board concludes that including undistributed earnings of a subsidiary² in the pretax accounting income

² The conclusions of the Board on undistributed earnings of a subsidiary also apply to the portion of the earnings of a Domestic International Sales Corporation (DISC) that is eligible for tax deferral.

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

of a parent company, either through consolidation or accounting for the investment by the equity method, may result in a timing difference, in a difference that may not reverse until indefinite future periods, or in a combination of both types of differences, depending on the intent and actions of the parent company.

Timing difference. The Board believes it should .10 be presumed that all undistributed earnings of a subsidiary will be transferred to the parent company. Accordingly, the undistributed earnings of a subsidiary included in consolidated income (or in income of the parent company³) should be accounted for as a timing difference, except to the extent that some or all of the undistributed earnings meet the criteria in paragraph .12. Income taxes attributable to a timing difference in reporting undistributed earnings of a subsidiary should be accounted for in accordance with the provisions of section 4091 for interperiod allocation of taxes. Problems in measuring and recognizing the tax effect of a timing difference do not justify ignoring income taxes related to the timing difference. Income taxes of the parent company applicable to a timing difference in undistributed earnings of a subsidiary are necessarily based on estimates and assumptions. For example, the tax effect may be determined by assuming that unremitted earnings were distributed in the current period and that the parent company received the benefit of all available tax-planning alternatives and available tax credits and deductions.⁴ The income tax expense of the parent company should also include taxes that would have been withheld if the undistributed earnings had been remitted as dividends.

.11 The tax effect of a difference between taxable income and pretax accounting income attributable to losses of a subsidiary should be accounted for in accordance with the Board's conclusions on operating losses in sections 4091.43-.49.

.12 Indefinite reversal criteria. The presumption that all undistributed earnings will be transferred to the parent company may be overcome, and no income taxes should be

^a Section 5131.14.

⁴As the unused tax credits that are recognized by the parent in determining deferred income taxes on undistributed earnings of a subsidiary are subsequently realized, the initial reduction in deferred taxes should be reinstated at the then current rates in accordance with the provisions of section 4091.

accrued by the parent company, if sufficient evidence shows that the subsidiary has invested or will invest the undistributed earnings indefinitely or that the earnings will be remitted in a tax-free liquidation. A parent company should have evidence of specific plans for reinvestment of undistributed earnings of a subsidiary which demonstrate that remittance of the earnings will be postponed indefinitely. Experience of the companies and definite future programs of operations and remittances are examples of the types of evidence required to substantiate the parent company's representation of indefinite postponement of remittances from a subsidiary. If circumstances change and it becomes apparent that some or all of the undistributed earnings of a subsidiary will be remitted in the foreseeable future but income taxes have not been recognized by the parent company, it should accrue as an expense of the current period income taxes attributable to that remittance; income tax expense for such undistributed earnings should not be accounted for as an extraordinary item. If it becomes apparent that some or all of the undistributed earnings of a subsidiary on which income taxes have been accrued will not be remitted in the foreseeable future, the parent company should adjust income tax expense of the current period; such adjustment of income tax expense should not be accounted for as an extraordinary item.

.13 Change in investment. An investment in common stock of a subsidiary may change so that it is no longer a subsidiary because the parent company sells a portion of the investment, the subsidiary sells additional stock, or other transactions affect the investment. If the remaining investment in common stock should be accounted for by the equity method, the investor should recognize income taxes on its share of current earnings of the investee company in accordance with the provisions of section 4096. If a parent company did not recognize income taxes on its equity in undistributed earnings of a subsidiary for the reasons cited in paragraph .12 (and the company in which the investment is held ceases to be a subsidiary), it should accrue as a current period expense income taxes on undistributed earnings in the period that it becomes apparent⁵ that any

⁵ The change in the status of an investment would not by itself mean that remittance of these undistributed earnings should be considered apparent.

of those undistributed earnings (prior to the change in status) will be remitted; the accrual of those income taxes should not be accounted for as an extraordinary item. If a parent company recognized income taxes on its equity in undistributed earnings of a subsidiary, the amount of deferred income taxes of the parent attributable to undistributed earnings of the subsidiary should be considered in accounting for a disposition through sale or other transaction which reduces the investment.

.14 Disclosure. Information concerning undistributed earnings of a subsidiary for which income taxes have not been accrued that should be disclosed in notes to financial statements includes:

- a. A declaration of an intention to reinvest undistributed earnings of a subsidiary to support the conclusion that remittance of those earnings has been indefinitely postponed, or a declaration that the undistributed earnings will be remitted in the form of a tax-free liquidation, and
- b. The cumulative amount of undistributed earnings on which the parent company has not recognized income taxes.⁶

INVESTMENTS IN CORPORATE JOINT VENTURES

Discussion

.15 Corporate joint ventures, as defined in section 5131 are of two kinds: (1) those essentially permanent in duration and (2) those that have a life limited by the nature of the venture or other business activity. In section 5131 the Board concluded that the equity method of accounting best enables an investor in a corporate joint venture to recognize the underlying nature of the investment regardless of duration.

.16 Unless characteristics indicate a limited life, a corporate joint venture has many of the characteristics of a subsidiary. The investors usually participate in the management of the joint venture, consider the factors set forth in paragraph .08 above, and agree (frequently before form-

⁶Other disclosure requirements in sections 4091.55-.63 may also apply. Disclosure of other matters such as available tax credits and deductions may be desirable.

ing the venture) as to plans for long-term investment, for utilizing the flexibility inherent in the United States Internal Revenue Code, and for planned remittances.

Opinion

.17 The Board concludes that the principles applicable to undistributed earnings of subsidiaries (paragraphs .09, .10, .11, .12 and .13) also apply to tax effects of differences between taxable income and pretax accounting income attributable to earnings of corporate joint ventures that are essentially permanent in duration and are accounted for by the equity method.⁷

.18 Disclosure. The disclosure requirements set forth in paragraph .14 also apply to earnings of corporate joint ventures.

"BAD DEBT RESERVES" OF SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS

Discussion

.19 Regulatory authorities require both stock and mutual savings and loan associations to appropriate a portion of earnings to general reserves⁸ and to retain the reserves as a protection for depositors. Provisions of the United States Internal Revenue Code permit a savings and loan association to deduct an annual addition to a reserve for bad debts⁸ in determining taxable income, subject to certain limitations. This annual addition permitted by the Code generally differs significantly from the bad debt experience upon which determination of pretax accounting income is based. Thus, taxable income and pretax accounting income of an association usually differ.

.20 Although a general reserve determined according to requirements of the regulatory authorities is not directly related to a reserve for bad debts computed according to provisions of the United States Internal Revenue Code, the purposes and restrictions of each reserve are similar.

AC § 4095.17

[']Certain corporate joint ventures have a life limited by the nature of the venture, project, or other business activity. Therefore, a reasonable assumption is that a part or all of the undistributed earnings of the venture will be transferred to the investor in a taxable distribution. Deferred taxes should be recorded, in accordance with the concepts of section 4091 at the time the earnings (or losses) are included in the investor's income. ^{*} The terms general reserves and reserve for bad debts are used in the

⁸ The terms general reserves and reserve for bad debts are used in the context of the special meaning these terms have in regulatory pronouncements and in the United States Internal Revenue Code.

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Amounts of bad debt deductions for income tax purposes are includable in taxable income of later years only if the bad debt reserves are used subsequently for purposes other than to absorb bad debt losses.

.21 The term pretax accounting income, as used in this section, represents income or loss for a period, exclusive of related income tax expense, determined in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The term taxable income, as used in this section, represents pretax accounting income (a) adjusted for reversal of provisions for estimated losses on loans and property acquired in settlement of loans, and gains or losses on the sales of such property, and adjusted for permanent differences, and (b) after giving effect to the bad debt deduction allowable by the United States Internal Revenue Code assuming the applicable tax return were to be prepared based on such adjusted pretax accounting income.

.22 Some believe that a difference between taxable income and pretax accounting income attributable to a bad debt reserve that is accounted for as part of the general reserve and undivided profits of a savings and loan association has attributes of a permanent or indefinite deferral of tax payments. In their view, a savings and loan association should not accrue income taxes on such differences. Others believe that this difference has the principal attributes of a timing difference as described in sections 4091.35-.36. In effect, they believe that this difference is a Governmentsponsored deferral of tax, that the Government has an equity in the savings and loan association to the extent of the deferred tax, and that it is inappropriate to include earnings in stockholders' equity without accruing income taxes which the the association would incur if the earnings were distributed to stockholders or otherwise became subject to tax. In their view the savings and loan association should recognize deferred taxes on the difference.

Opinion

.23 The Board concludes that a difference between taxable income and pretax accounting income attributable to a bad debt reserve that is accounted for as part of the general reserves and undivided profits of a savings and

loan association " may not reverse until indefinite future periods or may never reverse. The association controls the events that create the tax consequence, and the association is required to take specific action before the initial difference reverses. Therefore, a savings and loan association should not provide income taxes on this difference. However, if circumstances indicate that the association is likely to pay income taxes, either currently or in later years, because of known or expected reductions in the bad debt reserve, income taxes attributable to that reduction should be accrued as tax expense of the current period; the accrual of those income taxes should not be accounted for as an extraordinary item.

.24 Disclosure. Information that should be disclosed in notes to financial statements of a savings and loan association concerning bad debt reserves that are accounted for as part of the general reserves and undivided profits includes:

- a. The purposes for which the reserves are provided under the applicable rules and regulations and the fact that income taxes may be payable if the reserves are used for other purposes, and
- b. The accumulated amount of the reserves for which income taxes have not been accrued.¹⁰

.25 The disclosure requirements set forth in paragraph .24 also apply to a parent company of a savings and loan association accounting for that investment either through consolidation or by the equity method.

"POLICYHOLDERS' SURPLUS" OF STOCK LIFE INSURANCE COMPANIES

Discussion

.26 The provisions of the United States Internal Revenue Code provide for the exclusion from taxable income of a stock life insurance company of amounts determined under a formula and the allocation of those amounts to

¹⁰ Other disclosure requirements in sections 4091.55-.63 may also apply.

AC § 4095.24

.

^{*}Section 4091.37 indicated that the "general reserves" of stock savings and loan associations was a special area requiring further study. In practice the statement also has been applied to mutual savings and loan associations and mutual savings banks. The Board affirms that its conclusions in this section apply to stock and mutual savings and loan associations and mutual savings banks.

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

policyholders' surplus until the total policyholders' surplus equals a specified maximum. The amounts excluded from taxable income and designated as policyholders' surplus are includable in taxable income of later years if the company elects to (a) distribute policyholders' surplus to stockholders as dividends, (b) transfer amounts from policyholders' surplus to shareholders' surplus designated for tax purposes as available for any business purpose, or (c) take, or if it fails to take, certain other specified actions (none of which usually occur).

.27 Some believe that a difference between taxable income and pretax accounting income attributable to amounts designated as policyholders' surplus of a stock life insurance company has attributes of a permanent or indefinite deferral of tax payments. In their view, a stock life insurance company should not accrue income taxes on the difference between taxable income and pretax accounting income related to amounts designated as policyholders' surplus unless circumstances indicate that the insurance company is likely to pay income taxes, either currently or in future vears, because of known or expected reductions in policyholders' surplus. Others believe that the difference has the principal attributes of a timing difference as described in sections 4091.35-.36. In effect, they believe that the difference is a Government-sponsored deferral of tax, that the Government has an equity in the stock life insurance company to the extent of the deferred tax, and that it is inappropriate to include earnings in stockholders' equity without accruing income taxes which would be incurred by the stock life insurance company if those earnings were distributed to stockholders or otherwise became subject to tax. In their view the stock life insurance company should accrue deferred taxes on the difference.

Opinion

.28 The Board concludes that a difference between taxable income and pretax accounting income attributable to amounts designated as policyholders' surplus of a stock life insurance company may not reverse until indefinite future periods or may never reverse. The insurance company controls the events that create the tax consequences and the company is generally required to take specific action before the initial difference reverses. Therefore, a stock life insurance company should not accrue income taxes on the difference between taxable income and pretax accounting income attributable to amounts designated as policyholders' surplus. However, if circumstances indicate that the insurance company is likely to pay income taxes, either currently or in later years, because of known or expected reductions in policyholders' surplus, income taxes attributable to that reduction should be accrued as a tax expense of the current period; the accrual of those income taxes should not be accounted for as an extraordinary item.

.29 Disclosure. Information concerning amounts designated as policyholders' surplus of a stock life insurance company that should be disclosed in notes to financial statements includes:

- a. The treatment of policyholders' surplus under the United States Internal Revenue Code and the fact that income taxes may be payable if the company takes certain specified actions, which should be appropriately described, and
- b. The accumulated amount of the policyholders' surplus for which income taxes have not been accrued.¹¹

.30 The disclosure requirements set forth in paragraph .29 also apply to a parent company of a stock life insurance company accounting for that investment either through consolidation or by the equity method.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.31 This section shall be effective for all fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971. However, the Board encourages earlier application of the provisions of this section.

.32 The conclusions of the Board on accounting for income taxes on undistributed earnings of subsidiaries and corporate joint ventures represent a clarification of current practice. Accordingly, this section should be applied retroactively to undistributed earnings of subsidiaries included in consolidated financial statements and to undistributed earnings applicable to unconsolidated subsidiaries and investments in corporate joint ventures accounted for by the

¹¹ Other disclosure requirements in sections 4091.55-.63 may also apply.

equity method in accordance with section 5131. An adjustment resulting from a change in accounting method to comply with this section should be treated as an adjustment of prior periods, and financial statements presented for the periods affected should be restated.

.33 The conclusions of the Board on "bad debt reserves" of savings and loan associations and amounts designated as "policyholders' surplus" by stock life insurance companies agree generally with current practice. If application of this section should result in a change in accounting principle, the adjustment should be treated as an adjustment of prior periods, and financial statements presented for the periods affected should be restated.

 \implies The next page is 8941. \leftarrow

Accounting for Income Taxes—Investments in Common Stock Accounted for by the Equity Method (other than Subsidiaries and Corporate Joint Ventures)

[Source: APB Opinion No. 24.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971, unless otherwise indicated

INTRODUCTION

.01 In March 1971 the Accounting Principles Board issued section 5131, The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock, and stated that the guides in section 2051.15, Consolidated Financial Statements, should apply in accounting for income taxes on income recognized by an investor in common stock of an investee company until the APB issued an Opinion on the special areas referred to in sections 4091.37-.40, Income Taxes. (See section 4095, Accounting for Income Taxes — Special Areas.)

.02 The Board has examined the characteristics of the tax consequences of transactions in this area and sets forth in this section its conclusion on appropriate accounting for taxes on income from investments in common stock accounted for by the equity method (other than subsidiaries and corporate joint ventures) in accordance with section 5131.

.03 This section applies to financial statements which purport to present financial position, results of operations, and changes in financial position in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. It does not apply to regulated industries in those circumstances meeting the standards described in section 6011.

DISCUSSION

.04 The Board concluded in section 5131 that an investor should follow the equity method of accounting for

an investment in common stock if the investment in voting stock gives it the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies of an investee even though the investor holds 50% or less of the voting stock.

.05 Under the equity method of accounting for investments, an investor recognizes its share of the earnings or losses of an investee in the periods for which they are reported by the investee in its financial statements rather than in the period in which an investee declares a dividend or the period in which an investor liquidates its investment. A reasonable assumption is that a part or all of the earnings of an investee ultimately transferred to the investor or realized through the sale or liquidation of the investment will be taxable to the investor. Some believe that the assumed eventual tax consequences have the essential characteristics of a timing difference, and accordingly they would require interperiod tax allocation under the provisions of section 4091.

Others believe that the principles applicable to .06 undistributed earnings of subsidiaries (paragraphs .09, .10, .11, .12, and .13) of section 4095 are equally applicable to undistributed earnings of investees (other than subsidiaries and corporate joint ventures) accounted for by the equity method and that income taxes should be provided only on the portion of undistributed earnings of an investee that represents a timing difference and not on the portion that available evidence indicates will be invested permanently or for an indefinite period. They emphasize that application of section 5131 is based on the presumption that the investor has the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the investee, and accordingly they believe that the investor must necessarily be presumed to have the ability to exercise significant influence on the extent to which and manner in which the earnings of an investee will be remitted or invested. Under such circumstances, they believe that the investor is in a position to determine and substantiate the effect of probable future remittances which may require an accrual of income tax.

OPINION

.07 The Board concludes that the tax effects of differences between taxable income and pretax accounting in-AC § 4096.05 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc. come attributable to an investor's share of earnings of investee companies (other than subsidiaries and corporate joint ventures) accounted for by the equity method in accordance with section 5131 are related either to probable future distributions of dividends or to anticipated realization on disposal of the investment and therefore have the essential characteristics of timing differences. The Board believes that the ability of an investor to exercise significant influence over an investee differs significantly from the ability of a parent company to control investment policies of a subsidiary and that only control can justify the conclusion that undistributed earnings may be invested for indefinite periods.

The Board believes' that the determination of .08 whether an investor's equity 'in undistributed earnings of an investee will be realized in the form of dividends, will be realized by ultimate disposition of the investment, or a combination of both must be based on all facts and circumstances. If evidence indicates that an investor's equity in undistributed earnings of an investee will be realized in the form of dividends, an investor should recognize income taxes attributable to the timing difference as if the equity in earnings of the investee that the investor included in income were remitted as a dividend during the period, recognizing available dividend-received deductions and foreign tax credits. Income taxes of the investor company should also include taxes that would have been withheld if the undistributed earnings had been remitted as dividends. If evidence indicates that an investor's equity in undistributed earnings of an investee will be realized by ultimate disposition of the investment, an investor should accrue income taxes attributable to the timing difference at capital gains or other appropriate rates, recognizing all available deductions and credits.

.09 The tax effect of a difference between taxable income and pretax accounting income attributable to losses of an investee should be accounted for in accordance with the Board's conclusions on operating losses in sections 4091.43-.49.

.10 Change in Investment. An investment in common stock of an investee (other than a subsidiary or corporate)

joint venture) may change so that the investee becomes a subsidiary because the investor acquires additional common stock, the investee acquires or retires common stock or other transactions affect the investment. Or, an investment in common stock of an investee may fall below the level of ownership necessary for the investor to have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies of the investee because the investor sells a portion of the investment, the investee sells additional stock or other transactions affect the investment. If an investment in an investee increases so that it becomes a subsidiary, the deferred income taxes previously accrued by the investor in accordance with paragraphs .07 through .09 should be included in the income of the parent company only as dividends from the subsidiary are received in amounts which exceed the parent company's share of the earnings of the subsidiary subsequent to the date it became a subsidiary. Similarly, if an investment in the investee falls below the level of ownership necessary to enable the investor to follow the equity method of accounting, the deferred income taxes previously accrued by the investor should be included in the income of the former investor only as dividends from the former investee are received in amounts which exceed the former investor's allocable share of earnings of the former investee subsequent to the date it ceased to qualify as an investee. The amount of deferred income taxes of the investor attributable to its share of the equity in earnings of the investee company should be considered in accounting for a disposition through sale or other transaction that reduces the investment.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.11 This section shall be effective for all fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971. However, the Board encourages earlier application of the provisions of this section.

.12 The conclusions of the Board on accounting for income taxes on investments in common stock (other than subsidiaries and corporate joint ventures) represent a clarification of current practice. Accordingly, this section should be applied retroactively to undistributed earnings applicable to investments (other than subsidiaries and cor-

AC § 4096.11

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

porate joint ventures) accounted for by the equity method in accordance with section 5131. Adjustments resulting from a change in accounting method to comply with this section should be treated as adjustments of prior periods, and financial statements presented for the periods affected should be restated.

→ The next page is 8991. ← ₩

AC Section 4111 Interest on Receivables and Pavables

[Source: APB Opinion No. 21.]

Effective for transactions entered into on or after October 1, 1971 unless otherwise indicated ¹

INTRODUCTION

.01 Problem. Business transactions often involve the exchange of cash or property, goods, or service for a note or similar instrument. The use of an interest rate that varies from prevailing interest rates warrants evaluation of whether the face amount and the stated interest rate of a note or obligation provide reliable evidence for properly recording the exchange and subsequent related interest. This section sets forth the Board's views regarding the appropriate accounting when the face amount of a note does not reasonably represent the present value ² of the consideration given or received in the exchange. This circumstance may arise if the note is noninterest bearing or has a stated interest rate which is different from the rate of interest appropriate for the debt at the date of the transaction. Unless the note is recorded at its present value in this circumstance the sales price and profit to a seller in the year of the transaction and the purchase price and cost to the buyer are misstated, and interest income and interest expense in subsequent periods are also misstated. The primary objective of this section is to refine the manner of applying existing accounting principles in this circumstance. Thus, it is not intended to create a new accounting principle.

.02 Applicability. The principles discussed in this section are applicable to receivables and payables which represent contractual rights to receive money or contractual obligations to pay money on fixed or determinable dates, whether or not there is any stated provision for interest, except as stated in paragraphs .03 and .04. Such receivables and payables are collectively referred to in this section as "notes." Examples are secured and unsecured notes, de-

¹See Paragraph .16.

² Present value is the sum of the future payments discounted to the present date at an appropriate rate of interest. Section 4111A contains a description of the valuation process.

bentures, bonds, mortgage notes, equipment obligations, and some accounts receivable and payable.

.03 Except that paragraph .15 covering statement presentation of discount and premium is applicable in all circumstances, this section is not intended to apply to:

- (a) receivables and payables arising from transactions with customers or suppliers in the normal course of business which are due in customary trade terms not exceeding approximately one year;
- (b) amounts which do not require repayment in the future, but rather will be applied to the purchase price of the property, goods, or service involved (e. g., deposits or progress payments on construction contracts, advance payments for acquisition of resources and raw materials, advances to encourage exploration in the extractive industries);
- (c) amounts intended to provide security for one party to an agreement (e.g., security deposits, retainages on contracts);
- (d) the customary cash lending activities and demand or savings deposit activities of financial institutions whose primary business is lending money;
- (e) transactions where interest rates are affected by the tax attributes or legal restrictions prescribed by a governmental agency (e. g., industrial revenue bonds, tax exempt obligations, government guaranteed obligations, income tax settlements); and
- (f) transactions between parent and subsidiary companies and between subsidiaries of a common parent.³

.04 This section is also not intended to apply to, and the Board is not presently taking a position⁴ as to, the application of the present value measurement (valuation) technique to estimates of contractual or other obligations assumed in connection with sales of property, goods, or

AC § 4111.03

^a The Board has deferred consideration of the treatment of transactions between such companies pending consideration of the subject of reporting on components of a business enterprise and completion of the Accounting Research Study on intercorporate investments.

Research Study on intercorporate investments. ⁴ In section 4092, the Board concluded that deferred income taxes should not be accounted for on a discounted (present value) basis. That conclusion is not modified by this section.

service, for example, a warranty for product performance. This section does not alter the accounting for convertible debt securities described in section 5516, Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants.

DISCUSSION

.05 Note received or issued for cash. The total amount of interest during the entire period of a cash loan is generally measured by the difference between the actual amount of cash received by the borrower and the total amount agreed to be repaid to the lender. Frequently, the stated or coupon interest rate differs from the prevailing rate applicable to similar notes, and the proceeds of the note differ from its face amount. As section 4111A demonstrates, such differences are related to differences between the present value upon issuance and the face amount of the note. The difference between the face amount and the proceeds upon issuance is shown as either discount or premium, which is amortized over the life of the note.⁵

.06 Unstated rights or privileges. A note issued solely for cash equal to its face amount is presumed to earn the stated rate of interest. However, in some cases the parties may also exchange unstated (or stated) rights or privileges, which are given accounting recognition by establishing a note discount or premium account. In such instances, the effective interest rate differs from the stated rate. For example, a corporation may lend a supplier cash which is to be repaid five years hence with no stated interest. Such a noninterest bearing loan may be partial consideration under a purchase contract for supplier products at lower than the prevailing market prices. In this circumstance, the difference between the present value of the receivable and the cash loaned to the supplier is appropriately regarded as an addition to the cost of products purchased during the con-

⁶ For example, if a bond is issued at a discount or premium, such discount or premium is recognized in accounting for the original issue. The coupon or stated interest rate is not regarded as the effective yield or market rate. Moreover, if a long-term noninterest bearing note or bond is issued, its net proceeds are less than face amount and an effective interest rate is based on its market value upon issuance. As section 4111A illustrates, the coupon or stated rate of interest and the face amount of a note or bond may *not* be the appropriate bases for valuation. The presumption that market values provide the evidence for valuation must be overcome before using coupon or stated rates and face or maturity amounts as the bases for accounting.

tract term. The note discount is amortized as interest income over the five-year life of the note.

Note received or issued in a noncash transaction. .07 A note exchanged for property, goods, or service represents two elements, which may or may not be stipulated in the note: (1) the principal amount, equivalent to the bargained exchange price of the property, goods, or service as established between the supplier and the purchaser and (2) an interest factor to compensate the supplier over the life of the note for the use of funds he would have received in a cash transaction at the time of the exchange. Notes so exchanged are accordingly valued and accounted for at the present value of the consideration exchanged between the contracting parties at the date of the transaction in a manner similar to that followed for a cash transaction. The difference between the face amount and the present value upon issuance is shown as either discount or premium, which is amortized over the life of the note.

.08 Determining present value. If determinable, the established exchange price (which, presumably, is the same as the price for a cash sale) of property, goods, or service acquired or sold in consideration for a note may be used to establish the present value of the note. When notes are traded in an open market, the market rate of interest and market value of the notes provide the evidence of the present value. The above methods are preferable means of establishing the present value of the note.

.09 If an established exchange price is not determinable and if the note has no ready market, the problem of determining present value is more difficult. To estimate the present value of a note under such circumstances, an applicable interest rate is approximated which may differ from the stated or coupon rate. This process of approximation is frequently called imputation, and the resulting rate is often called an imputed interest rate. Nonrecognition of an apparently small difference between the stated rate of interest and the applicable current rate may have a material effect on the financial statements if the face amount of the note is large and its term is relatively long.

OPINION

.10 Note exchanged for cash. When a note ' is re-

⁶ Paragraphs .02, .03 and .04 describe the applicability of this section.

ceived or issued solely for cash and no other right or privilege is exchanged, it is presumed to have a present value at issuance measured by the cash proceeds exchanged. If cash and some other rights or privileges are exchanged for a note, the value of the rights or privileges should be given accounting recognition as described in paragraph .06.

.11 Note exchanged for property, goods, or service. When a note is exchanged for property, goods, or service in a bargained transaction entered into at arm's length. there should be a general presumption that the rate of interest stipulated by the parties to the transaction represents fair and adequate compensation to the supplier for the use of the related funds. That presumption, however, must not permit the form of the transaction to prevail over its economic substance and thus would not apply if (1) interest is not stated, or (2) the stated interest rate is unreasonable (paragraphs .12 and .13) or (3) the stated face amount of the note is materially different from the current cash sales price for the same or similar items or from the market value of the note at the date of the transaction. In these circumstances, the note, the sales price, and the cost of the property, goods, or service exchanged for the note should be recorded at the fair value of the property, goods, or service or at an amount that reasonably approximates the market value of the note, whichever is the more clearly determinable. That amount may or may not be the same as its face amount, and any resulting discount or premium should be accounted for as an element of interest over the life of the note (paragraph .14). In the absence of established exchange prices for the related property, goods, or service or evidence of the market value of the note (paragraph .08), the present value of a note that stipulates either no interest or a rate of interest that is clearly unreasonable should be determined by discounting all future payments on the notes using an imputed rate of interest as described in paragraphs .12 and .13. This determination should be made at the time the note is issued, assumed, or acquired; any subsequent changes in prevailing interest rates should be ignored.

.12 Determining an appropriate interest rate. The variety of transactions encountered precludes any specific interest rate from being applicable in all circumstances. However, some general guides may be stated. The choice

of a rate may be affected by the credit standing of the issuer, restrictive covenants, the collateral, payment and other terms pertaining to the debt, and, if appropriate, the tax consequences to the buyer and seller. The prevailing rates for similar instruments of issuers with similar credit ratings will normally help determine the appropriate interest rate for determining the present value of a specific note at its date of issuance. In any event, the rate used for valuation purposes will normally be at least equal to the rate at which the debtor can obtain financing of a similar nature from other sources at the date of the transaction. The objective is to approximate the rate which would have resulted if an independent borrower and an independent lender had negotiated a similar transaction under comparable terms and conditions with the option to pay the cash price upon purchase or to give a note for the amount of the purchase which bears the prevailing rate of interest to maturity.

.13 The selection of a rate may be affected by many considerations. For instance, where applicable, the choice of a rate may be influenced by (a) an approximation of the prevailing market rates for the source of credit that would provide a market for sale or assignment of the note; (b) the prime or higher rate for notes which are discounted with banks, giving due weight to the credit standing of the maker; (c) published market rates for similar quality bonds; (d) current rates for debentures with substantially identical terms and risks that are traded in open markets; and (e) the current rate charged by investors for first or second mortgage loans on similar property.⁷

.14 Amortization of discount and premium. With respect to a note which by the provisions of this section requires the imputation of interest, the difference between the present value and the face amount should be treated as discount or premium⁸ and amortized as interest expense or income over the life of the note in such a way as to result in a constant rate of interest when applied to the amount

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

^rA theory has been advanced which states that no imputation of interest is necessary if the stated interest rate on a note receivable exceeds the interest cost on the borrowed funds used to finance such notes. The Board considers this theory unacceptable for reasons discussed in this section.

⁸ Differences between the recognition for financial accounting purposes and income tax purposes of discount or premium resulting from determination of the present value of a note should be treated as timing differences in accordance with section 4091, *Income Taxes*.

outstanding at the beginning of any given period. This is the "interest" method described in and supported by section 5361. However, other methods of amortization may be used if the results obtained are not materially different from those which would result from the "interest" method.

.15 Statement presentation of discount and premium. The discount or premium resulting from the determination of present value in cash or non-cash transactions is not an asset or liability separable from the note which gives rise to it. Therefore, the discount or premium should be reported in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from or addition to the face amount of the note. It should not be classified as a deferred charge or deferred credit. The description of the note should include the effective interest rate; the face amount should also be disclosed in the financial statements or in the notes to the statements.⁹ Amortization of discount or premium should be reported as interest in the statement of income. Issue costs should be reported in the balance sheet as deferred charges.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.16 This section shall be effective for transactions entered into on or after October 1, 1971. The Board believes that the conclusions as to balance sheet presentation and disclosure in paragraph .15 should apply to transactions made prior as well as subsequent to the issuance of this section. However, this section is not intended to require the discounting of notes existing on September 30, 1971 which were not previously discounted. Notes that were previously recorded in fiscal years ending before October 1, 1971 should not be adjusted. However, notes that have previously been recorded in the fiscal year in which October 1, 1971 occurs may be adjusted to comply with the provisions of this section.

₩ → The next page is 9011. ← ₩

*Refer to section 4111A for illustrations of balance sheet presentation.

Interest on Receivables and Payables—Appendix

.01 Present value concepts. Upon issuance of a note or bond, the issuer customarily records as a liability the face or principal amount of the obligation. Ordinarily, the recorded liability also represents the amount which is to be repaid upon maturity of the obligation. The value recorded in the liability account, however, may be different from the proceeds received or the present value of the obligation at issuance if the market rate of interest differs from the coupon rate of interest. For example, consider the issuance of a \$1,000, 20-year bond which bears interest at 10% annually. If we assume that 10% is an appropriate market rate of interest for such a bond the proceeds at issuance will be \$1,000. The bond payable would be recorded at \$1,000 which represents the amount repayable at maturity and also the present value at issuance which is equal to the proceeds. However, under similar circumstances, if the prevailing market rate were more (less) than 10%, a 20-year 10% bond with a face amount of \$1,000 would usually have a value at issuance and provide cash proceeds of less (more) than \$1,000. The significant point is that, upon issuance, a bond is valued at (1) the present value of the future coupon interest payments plus (2) the present value of the future principal payments (face amount). These two sets of future cash payments are discounted at the prevailing market rate of interest (for an equivalent security) at the date of issuance of the debt. As the 8% and 12% columns show, premium or discount arises when the prevailing market rate of interest differs from the coupon rate:

	Assume	Assume prevailing market rate of		
	10%	8%	12%	
1. Present value of an nual interest pay ments of \$100 (the coupon rate of 10% of \$1,000) for 20 years	e 6 0	\$ 982	\$747	
2. Present value of pay ment of the fac- amount of \$1,000 a	e			
the end of year 20		215	104	
.				
Present value and				
proceeds at date o		¢1 107	\$851	
issuance	. ф1,000	\$1,197 	ф001	

.02 In the case of a \$1,000 noninterest bearing 20-year note, where the prevailing market rate for comparable credit risks is 10%, the following valuation should be made:

1.	Present value of no annual interest		
	payments	\$	0
2.	Present value of payment of the face		
	amount of \$1,000 at the end of year 20	14	49
	Present value and proceeds at date of	11	
	issuance	\$1 4	1 9

Comparison of the results of the illustrations in paragraph .01 with the illustration above shows the significant impact of interest.

.03 Illustrations of balance sheet presentation of notes which are discounted.

AC § 4111A.02 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

	December 31	
	1970	1969
Example 1—Discount presented in caption		
NOTE RECEIVABLE FROM SALE OF PROPERTY:		
 \$1,000,000 face amount, non- interest bearing, due De- cember 31, 1975 (less unamortized d i s c o u n t based on imputed interest rate of 8% — 1970, \$320,000; 1969, \$370,000) 	\$ 680,000	\$ 630,000
Example 2—Discount presented separately		
NOTE RECEIVABLE FROM SALE OF PROPERTY:		
Noninterest bearing note due December 31, 1975 Less unamortized discount based on imputed interest	\$ 1,000,000	\$ 1,000,000
rate of 8%	320,000	370,000
Note receivable less un- amortized discount	\$ 680,000	\$ 630,000
Example 3—Several notes involved		
LONG-TERM DEBT (Note 1)	:	
Principal amount Less unamortized discount	\$24,000,000 2,070,000	\$24,000,000 2,192,000
Long-term debt less un- amortized discount	\$21,930,00	\$21,808,000
Note 1-Long-Term Debt		

Long-term debt at December 31, 1970 consisted of the following:

Revenue and Expense

	Principal	Unamortized Discount
 6% subordinated debentures, due 1984 (discount is based on imputed interest rate of 7%)	\$20,000,000 3,000,000	\$ 1,750,000
Noninterest bearing note is- sued in connection with acquisition of property, due 1975 (discount is based on imputed interest	•.	
rate of 8%)	1,000,000	320,000
Total	\$24,000,000	\$ 2,070,000

AC § 4111A.03 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

No. 5

AC Section 4111-1

Imputing Interest on Debt Arrangements Made Under The Federal Bankruptcy Act: An Interpretation of Section 4111 [Source: FASB Interpretation No. 2.]

June 1974

INTRODUCTION

.01 The Financial Accounting Standards Board has been asked to clarify the application of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 21 [section 4111] with respect to debt issued in connection with arrangements made under the Federal Bankruptcy Act and Federal statutes related thereto (Federal Bankruptcy Act). APB Opinion No. 21 [section 4111] does not specifically address bankruptcy accounting and this Interpretation is limited in scope to clarification of the application of that Opinion in such circumstances.

.02 Paragraph 12 of *APB Opinion No. 21* [section 4111.11] generally requires that interest be imputed by recording either discount or premium on a note* exchanged for property, goods, or service if (1) interest is not stated, or (2) the stated interest rate is unreasonable, or (3) the stated face amount of the note is materially different from the current cash sales price for the same or similar items or from the market value of the note at the date of the transaction. Likewise, when a note is received or issued for cash and there is at the same time an exchange of rights or privileges, paragraph 11 of *APB Opinion No. 21* [section 4111.10] requires that accounting recognition be given to the value of the rights or privileges exchanged by establishing a note discount or premium account.

.03 Under a reorganization, arrangement, or other provisions of the Federal Bankruptcy Act, modification, alteration, or other changes of notes may be made in satisfaction of creditors' claims. For example, this may be accomplished through a provision for a debtor to issue equity securities and/or notes having a different interest rate and/or principal amount in exchange for existing

^{*} See pararaph 2 of APB Opinion No. 21 [section 4111.02] for a definition of the term "note."

notes. Likewise, a modification, alteration, or other change may involve an agreement whereby a creditor forgives part of the existing debt or extends the payment period with interest at a rate different from the market rate for the debtor.

INTERPRETATION

.04 APB Opinion No. 21 [section 4111] applies to notes issued by a debtor in a reorganization, arrangement, or under other provisions of the Federal Bankruptcy Act. A note issued under such circumstances in exchange (in whole or in part) for an existing note or notes shall be considered a "note exchanged for property" for purposes of applying APB Opinion No. 21 [section 4111]. In addition, an existing note shall be considered as originating in a reorganization, arrangement, or under other provisions of the Federal Bankruptcy Act and therefore as being a new note if its original terms are modified, altered, or otherwise changed as a part of the agreement with creditors. Accordingly, interest shall be imputed by applying APB Opinion No. 21 [section 4111] if the new note does not specify interest or specifies an interest rate which is unreasonable in the particular circumstances.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.05 This Interpretation shall be effective for notes issued, modified, altered, or otherwise changed after June 30, 1974 in reorganizations, arrangements, or under other provisions of the Federal Bankruptcy Act.

This Interpretation was adopted by the unanimous vote of the seven members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board following submission to the members of the Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council.

> Marshall S. Armstrong, Chairman Donald J. Kirk Arthur L. Litke Robert E. Mays John W. Queenan Walter Schuetze Robert T. Sprouse

The next page is 9101.

AC Section 4211

Accounting for Research and Development Costs [Source: FASB Statement No. 2.]

INTRODUCTION

October 1974

.01 This Statement establishes standards of financial accounting and reporting for research and development costs with the objectives of reducing the number of alternative accounting and reporting practices presently followed and providing useful financial information about research and development costs. This Statement specifies:

- a) Those activities that shall be identified as research and development for financial accounting and reporting purposes.
- b) The elements of costs that shall be identified with research and development activities.
- c) The accounting for research and development costs.
- d) The financial statement disclosures related to research and development costs.

.02 Accounting for the costs of research and development activities conducted for others under a contractual arrangement is a part of accounting for contracts in general and is beyond the scope of this Statement. Indirect costs that are specifically reimbursable under the terms of a contract are also excluded from this Statement.

.03 This Statement does not apply to activities that are unique to enterprises in the extractive industries, such as prospecting, acquisition of mineral rights, exploration, drilling, mining, and related mineral development. It does apply, however, to research and development activities of enterprises in the extractive industries that are comparable in nature to research and development activities of other enterprises, such as development or improvement of processes and techniques including those employed in exploration, drilling, and extraction.

.04 APB Opinion No. 17 [section 5141], "Intangible Assets," is hereby amended to exclude from its scope those research and development costs encompassed by this Statement.

.05 Paragraph 13 of *APB Opinion No. 22* [section 2045.13], "Disclosure of Accounting Policies," is amended to delete "research and development costs (including basis for amortization)" as an example of disclosure "commonly required" with respect to accounting policies.

.06 Standards of financial accounting and reporting for research and development costs are set forth in paragraphs 7-16. The basis for the Board's conclusions, as well as alternatives considered by the Board and reasons for their rejection, are discussed in Appendix B to this Statement. Background information is presented in Appendix A.

STANDARDS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING

Activities Constituting Research and Development

.07 Paragraphs 8-10 set forth broad guidelines as to the activities that shall be classified as research and development.

.08 For purposes of this Statement, research and development is defined as follows:

- a) Research is planned search or critical investigation aimed at discovery of new knowledge with the hope that such knowledge will be useful in developing a new product or service (hereinafter "product") or a new process or technique (hereinafter "process") or in bringing about a significant improvement to an existing product or process.
- b) Development is the translation of research findings or other knowledge into a plan or design for a new product or process or for a significant improvement to an existing product or process whether intended for sale or use. It includes the conceptual formulation, design, and testing of product alternatives, construction of prototypes, and operation of pilot plants. It does not include routine or periodic alterations to existing products, production lines,

manufacturing processes, and other on-going operations even though those alterations may represent improvements and it does not include market research or market testing activities.

.09 The following are examples of activities that typically would be included in research and development in accordance with paragraph 8 (unless conducted for others under a contractual arrangement — see paragraph 2):

- a) Laboratory research aimed at discovery of new knowledge.
- b) Searching for applications of new research findings or other knowledge.
- c) Conceptual formulation and design of possible product or process alternatives.
- d) Testing in search for or evaluation of product or process alternatives.
- e) Modification of the formulation or design of a product or process.
- f) Design, construction, and testing of pre-production prototypes and models.
- g) Design of tools, jigs, molds, and dies involving new technology.
- h) Design, construction, and operation of a pilot plant that is not of a scale economically feasible to the enterprise for commercial production.
- i) Engineering activity required to advance the design of a product to the point that it meets specific functional and economic requirements and is ready for manufacture.

.10 The following are examples of activities that typically would be excluded from research and development in accordance with paragraph 8:

a) Engineering follow-through in an early phase of commercial production.

- b) Quality control during commercial production including routine testing of products.
- c) Trouble-shooting in connection with break-downs during commercial production.
- d) Routine, on-going efforts to refine, enrich, or otherwise improve upon the qualities of an existing product.
- e) Adaptation of an existing capability to a particular requirement or customer's need as part of a continuing commercial activity.
- f) Seasonal or other periodic design changes to existing products.
- g) Routine design of tools, jigs, molds, and dies.
- h) Activity, including design and construction engineering, related to the construction, relocation, rearrangement, or start-up of facilities or equipment other than (1) pilot plants (see paragraph 9(h)) and (2) facilities or equipment whose sole use is for a particular research and development project (see paragraph 11(a)).
- i) Legal work in connection with patent applications or litigation, and the sale or licensing of patents.

Elements of Costs to Be Identified with Research and Development Activities

.11 Elements of costs shall be identified with research and development activities as follows:

a) Materials, equipment, and facilities. The costs of materials (whether from the enterprise's normal inventory or acquired specially for research and development activities) and equipment or facilities that are acquired or constructed for research and development activities and that have alternative future uses (in research and development projects or otherwise) shall be capitalized as tangible assets when acquired or constructed. The cost of such materials consumed in research and development activities and the depreciation of such equipment or facilities used in those activities are research and development costs. However, the costs of materials, equipment, or facilities that are acquired or constructed for a particular research and development project and that have no alternative future uses (in other research and development projects or otherwise) and therefore no separate economic values are research and development costs at the time the costs are incurred.

- b) *Personnel.* Salaries, wages, and other related costs of personnel engaged in research and development activities shall be included in research and development costs.
- c) Intangibles purchased from others. The costs of intangibles that are purchased from others for use in research and development activities and that have alternative future uses (in research and development projects or otherwise) shall be capitalized and amortized as intangible assets in accordance with APB Opinion No. 17 [section 5141]. The amortization of those intangible assets used in research and development activities is a research and development cost. However, the costs of intangibles that are purchased from others for a particular research and development project and that have no alternative future uses (in other research and development projects or otherwise) and therefore no separate economic values are research and development costs at the time the costs are incurred.
- d) Contract services. The costs of services performed by others in connection with the research and development activities of an enterprise, including research and development conducted by others in behalf of the enterprise, shall be included in research and development costs.
- e) Indirect costs. Research and development costs shall include a reasonable allocation of indirect costs. However, general and administrative costs that are not clearly related to research and development activities shall not be included as research and development costs.

Accounting for Research and Development Costs

.12 All research and development costs encompassed by this Statement shall be charged to expense when incurred.

Disclosure

.13 Disclosure shall be made in the financial statements of the total research and development costs charged to expense in each period for which an income statement is presented.

.14 A government-regulated enterprise that defers research and development costs for financial accounting purposes in accordance with the Addendum to *APB Opinion No. 2* [section 6011], "Accounting for the 'Investment Credit," shall disclose the following additional information about its research and development costs:

- a) Accounting policy, including basis for amortization.
- b) Total research and development costs incurred in each period for which an income statement is presented and the amount of those costs that has been capitalized or deferred in each period.

Effective Date and Transition

.15 This Statement shall be effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 1975, although earlier application is encouraged. The requirement of paragraph 12 that research and development costs be charged to expense when incurred shall be applied retroactively by prior period adjustment (described in paragraphs 18 and 26 of APB Opinion No. 9 [sections 2010.17 and 2010.25], "Reporting the Results of Operations"). When financial statements for periods before the effective date or financial summaries or other data derived therefrom are presented, they shall be restated to reflect the prior period adjustment. The prior period adjustment shall recognize any related income tax effect. The nature of a restatement and its effect on income before extraordinary items, net income, and related per share amounts for each period presented shall be disclosed in the period of change.

.16 The disclosures specified in paragraphs 13-14 are encouraged but not required for fiscal periods prior to the effective date of this Statement. If disclosures for those earlier periods are made, amounts shall be based to the extent practicable on the guidelines in paragraphs 8-11 of this Statement for identifying research and development activities and costs. This Statement was adopted by the unanimous vote of the seven members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board:

Marshall S. Armstrong, *Chairman* Donald J. Kirk Arthur L. Litke Robert E. Mays John W. Queenan Walter Schuetze Robert T. Sprouse

The provisions of this Statement need not be applied to immaterial items.

Appendix A BACKGROUND INFORMATION

.17 Expenditures for research and development constitute a significant element of the United States economy and are vital for its growth. Based on statistics for research and development as defined by the National Science Foundation (see paragraph 25), total expenditures were over \$30 billion in 1973, approximately two-thirds of which was spent for research and development conducted by business enterprises and the balance for research and development conducted by the government, universities and colleges, and other organizations.

.18 In recognition of the significance of research and development and the alternative accounting and reporting practices presently followed for research and development costs, in April 1973 the FASB placed on its technical agenda a project on "Accounting for Research and Development and Similar Costs." The scope of the project encompassed accounting and reporting by companies in the development stage.

.19 A task force of 16 persons from industry, government, public accounting, the financial community, and academe was appointed in July 1973 to provide counsel to the Board in preparing a Discussion Memorandum analyzing issues related to the project.

.20 In February 1973 the AICPA published Accounting Research Study No. 14, "Accounting for Research and Development Expenditures." In view of the availability of that study and other published research studies and articles, which are cited in Appendix B and in the Discussion Memorandum, the FASB did not undertake a major research effort for the project. The FASB staff interviewed a limited number of selected financial analysts and commercial bankers and reviewed a substantial number of published financial statements.

.21 The Board issued the Discussion Memorandum on December 28, 1973, and held a public hearing on the subject on March 15, 1974. The Board received 74 position papers, letters of comment, and outlines of oral presentations in connection with the public hearing and heard 14 oral presentations at the hearing.

.22 In its deliberations following the hearing, the Board concluded that the initial Statement of Financial Accounting Standards resulting from the project should address solely accounting for research and development costs. An Exposure Draft of a proposed Statement on "Accounting for Research and Development Costs" was issued on June 5, 1974. The Board received 168 letters of comment on the Exposure Draft.

Appendix B BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS

.23 This Appendix discusses factors deemed significant by members of the Board in reaching the conclusions in this Statement, including the various alternatives considered and reasons for accepting some and rejecting others.

ACTIVITIES CONSTITUTING RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

.24 The guidelines in paragraphs 8–10 for activities that should be identified as research and development are designed to accommodate a wide variety of research and development activities. Adherence to those guidelines should result in a reasonable degree of comparability. Differences among enterprises and among industries are so great that a detailed prescription of the activities and related costs includable in research and development, either for all companies or on an industry-by-industry basis, is not a realistic undertaking for the FASB.

.25 The Board began its consideration of a definition of research and development with the following definition by the National Science Foundation (NSF):¹

Research and development — Basic and applied research in the sciences and engineering and the design and development of prototypes and processes. This definition excludes quality control, routine product testing, market research, sales promotion, sales service, research in the social sciences or psychology, and other nontechnological activities or technical services.

.26 The NSF further classifies research and development activities by type, as follows: 2

Basic research — Original investigations for the advancement of scientific knowledge not having specific commercial objectives, although such investigations may be in fields of present or potential interest to the reporting company.

¹National Science Foundation, Research and Development in Industry 1971 (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, May 1973), p. 19. ²Ibid Applied research — Investigations directed to the discovery of new scientific knowledge having specific commercial objectives with respect to products or processes. This definition differs from that of basic research chiefly in terms of the objectives of the reporting company.

Development — Technical activities of a nonroutine nature concerned with translating research findings or other scientific knowledge into products or processes. [Development] does not include routine technical services to customers or other activities excluded from ... research and development.

.27 The NSF definition has the advantage of being relatively widely used and understood. However, it is oriented primarily to research in the physical and biological sciences and excludes research in the social sciences.

.28 Respondents to the Discussion Memorandum recommended modifications of the NSF definition as well as various other definitions which were generally similar to or broader than the NSF definition. The Board agreed that a broad definition including research and development activities in the social sciences such as those conducted by service-type business enterprises is appropriate for financial accounting and reporting purposes. Accordingly, the definition in paragraph 8 has been adopted.

.29 The Exposure Draft had included research and development activities conducted for others under a contractual arrangement within the definition of research and development and had proposed that all research and development costs not directly reimbursable by others be charged to expense when incurred. Some respondents to the Exposure Draft contended that costs incurred in research and development activities conducted for others under a contractual arrangement should continue to be accounted for in accordance with financial accounting standards for contracts in general rather than as research and development costs. The Board agrees with this view and the change is reflected in paragraph 2.

.30 The examples in paragraphs 9–10 incorporate certain changes, many of which were recommended by respondents to the Exposure Draft. The Board believes that those paragraphs as changed more clearly reflect its intent regarding the inclusion or exclusion of particular types of activities within the definition of research and development. .31 Several respondents to the Exposure Draft raised questions about the inclusion or exclusion of the development of various types of computer software within the definition of research and development. Computer software is developed for many and diverse uses. Accordingly, in each case the nature of the activity for which the software is being developed should be considered in relation to the guidelines in paragraphs 8–10 to determine whether software costs should be included or excluded. For example, efforts to develop a new or higher level of computer software capability intended for sale (but not under a contractual arrangement) would be a research and development activity encompassed by this Statement.

ELEMENTS OF COSTS TO BE IDENTIFIED WITH RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

.32 To achieve a reasonable degree of comparability among enterprises, the Board concluded that broad guidelines are appropriate to identify the elements of costs that should be included as research and development. Those guidelines are in paragraph 11.

.33 Consideration was given to the alternative that the costs of materials, equipment, or facilities that are acquired or constructed for a particular research and development project and that have no alternative future uses (in other research and development projects or otherwise) be apportioned over the life of the project rather than treated as research and development costs when incurred. The Board reasoned, however, that if materials, equipment, or facilities are of such a specialized nature that they have no alternative future uses. even in another research and development project, those materials, equipment, or facilities have no separate economic values to distinguish them from other types of costs such as salaries and wages incurred in a particular project. Accordingly, all costs of those materials, equipment, and facilities should be treated as research and development costs when incurred.

.34 Paragraph 11(c) reflects certain changes from the Exposure Draft to treat the costs of intangibles purchased from others in a manner similar to that in paragraph 11(a) for the costs of materials, equipment, or facilities. Paragraph 11(c) is not intended to alter the conclusions in paragraphs

87-88 of APB Opinion No. 16 [section 1091.87-.88], "Business Combinations," regarding allocation of cost to assets acquired in a business combination accounted for by the purchase method.

.35 The conclusion that general and administrative costs not be allocated to research and development activities (unless clearly related) conforms to present accounting practice, which generally treats such costs as expenses when incurred.

.36 One question in the Discussion Memorandum was whether interest or other cost of capital should be allocated to research and development activities. At present, interest or other cost of capital generally is not allocated to the cost of assets or specific activities for financial accounting purposes. The Board believes that allocation of interest or other cost of capital to research and development activities is part of a broader question beyond the scope of this Statement.

ACCOUNTING FOR RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

.37 The Board considered four alternative methods of accounting at the time research and development costs are incurred:

- a) Charge all costs to expense when incurred.
- b) Capitalize all costs when incurred.
- c) Capitalize costs when incurred if specified conditions are fulfilled and charge all other costs to expense.
- d) Accumulate all costs in a special category until the existence of future benefits can be determined.

.38 In concluding that all research and development costs be charged to expense when incurred (see paragraph 12), Board members considered the factors discussed in paragraphs 39-59. Individual Board members gave greater weight to some factors than to others.

Uncertainty of Future Benefits

.39 There is normally a high degree of uncertainty about the future benefits of individual research and development projects, although the element of uncertainty may diminish

as a project progresses. Estimates of the rate of success of research and development projects vary markedly — depending in part on how narrowly one defines a "project" and how one defines "success" — but all such estimates indicate a high failure rate. For example, one study of a number of industries found that an average of less than 2 percent of new product ideas and less than 15 percent of product development projects were commercially successful.³

.40 Even after a project has passed beyond the research and development stage, and a new or improved product or process is being marketed or used, the failure rate is high. Estimates of new product failures range from 30 percent to 90 percent, depending on the definition of failure used.⁴ One study concludes that "for about every three products emerging from research and development departments as technical successes, there is an average of only one commercial success."⁵ That study goes on to say that "of all the dollars of new product expense, almost three-fourths go to unsuccessful products; about two-thirds of these...dollars are in the 'development stage." "⁶

Lack of Causal Relationship Between Expenditures and Benefits

.41 A direct relationship between research and development costs and specific future revenue generally has not been demonstrated, even with the benefit of hindsight. For example, three empirical research studies, which focus on companies in industries intensively involved in research and development activities, generally failed to find a significant correlation between research and development expenditures and increased future benefits as measured by subsequent sales,⁷ earnings,⁸ or share of industry sales.⁹

³Booz-Allen & Hamilton, Inc., *Management of New Products* (Chicago: Booz-Allen & Hamilton, Inc., 1968), p. 12.

⁴John T. Gerlach and Charles Anthony Wainwright, Successful Management of New Products (New York: Hastings House, Publishers, Inc., 1968), p. 126.

⁵Booz-Allen & Hamilton, Inc., Management of New Products, p. 2. ⁶Ibid., p. 11.

⁷Maurice S. Newman, "Equating Return from R & D Expenditures," Financial Executive, April 1968, pp. 26-33.

⁸Orace Johnson, "A Consequential Approach to Accounting for R & D," Journal of Accounting Research, Autumn 1967, pp. 164-172.

⁹Alex J. Milburn, "An Empirical Study of the Relationship of Research and Development Expenditures to Subsequent Benefits," (Unpublished Research Study, Department of Accountancy of the University of Illinois, 1971).

AC § 4211.40

Accounting Recognition of Economic Resources

.42 In paragraph 57 of *APB Statement No.* 4 [section 1023.18], "Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles Underlying Financial Statements of Business Enterprises," economic resources are defined as the scarce means for carrying on economic activities. The economic resources of a particular enterprise are generally regarded as those *scarce* resources for which there is an *expectation of future benefits to the enterprise* either through use or sale.

.43 Not all of the economic resources of an enterprise are recognized as assets for financial accounting purposes. However, criteria for identifying those economic resources that should be recognized as the assets of an enterprise for accounting purposes have not been specified in the official accounting literature. One criterion that has been suggested in published research studies and articles and in position papers, letters of comment, and oral presentations the Board received in connection with the public hearing is that of *measurability*.

.44 The criterion of measurability would require that a resource not be recognized as an asset for accounting purposes unless at the time it is acquired or developed its future economic benefits can be identified and objectively measured.

.45 Paragraphs 39-40 indicate that at the time most research and development costs are incurred the future benefits are at best uncertain. In other words, there is no indication that an economic resource has been created. Moreover, even if at some point in the progress of an individual research and development project the expectation of future benefits becomes sufficiently high to indicate that an economic resource has been created, the question remains whether that resource should be recognized as an asset for financial accounting purposes. Although future benefits from a particular research and development project may be foreseen, they generally cannot be measured with a reasonable degree of certainty. According to the research data cited in paragraph 41, there is normally little, if any, direct relationship between the amount of current research and development expenditures and the amount of resultant future benefits to the enterprise. Research and development costs therefore fail to satisfy the suggested measurability test for accounting recognition as an asset.

.46 The criterion of exchangeability, which was discussed in the Exposure Draft, was not considered a significant factor by the Board in reaching its final conclusion on accounting for research and development costs. The Board believes that exchangeability needs further study and at this time the Board neither accepts nor rejects exchangeability as a criterion for accounting recognition of an economic resource.

Expense Recognition and Matching

.47 APB Statement No. 4 [section 1021—1029] explicitly avoids using the term "matching" because it has a variety of meanings in the accounting literature. In its broadest sense, matching refers to the entire process of income determination —described in paragraph 147 of APB Statement No. 4 [section 1026.11] as "identifying, measuring, and relating revenues and expenses of an enterprise for an accounting period." Matching may also be used in a more limited sense to refer only to the process of expense recognition or in an even more limited sense to refer to the recognition of expenses by associating costs with revenue on a cause and effect basis. In the following discussion, matching is used in its most limited sense to refer to the process of recognizing costs as expenses on a cause and effect basis.

.48 Three pervasive principles for recognizing costs as expenses are set forth in paragraphs 156—160 of *APB Statement No.* 4 [section 1026.20—.24], as follows:

Associating Cause and Effect. Some costs are recognized as expenses on the basis of a presumed direct association with specific revenue....recognizing them as expenses accompanies recognition of the revenue.

Systematic and Rational Allocation.... If an asset provides benefits for several periods its cost is allocated to the periods in a systematic and rational manner in the absence of a more direct basis for associating cause and effect.

Immediate Recognition. Some costs are associated with the current accounting period as expenses because (1) costs incurred during the period provide no discernible future benefits, (2) costs recorded as assets in prior periods no longer provide discernible benefits, or (3) allocating costs either on the basis of association with revenue or among several accounting periods is considered to serve no useful purpose.... The principle of immediate recognition also requires that items carried as assets in prior periods that are discovered to have no discernible future benefit be charged to expense, for example, a patent that is determined to be worthless.

.49 As noted in paragraph 41, evidence of a direct causal relationship between current research and development expenditures and subsequent future benefits generally has not been found. Also, there is often a high degree of uncertainty about whether research and development expenditures will provide any future benefits. Thus, even an indirect cause and effect relationship can seldom be demonstrated. Because there is generally no direct or even indirect basis for relating costs to revenues, the Board believes that the principles of "associating cause and effect" and "systematic and rational allocation" cannot be applied to recognize research and development costs as expenses. That is, the notion of "matching" - when used to refer to the process of recognizing costs as expenses on any sort of cause and effect basis - cannot be applied to research and development costs. Indeed, the general lack of discernible future benefits at the time the costs are incurred indicates that the "immediate recognition" principle of expense recognition should apply.

Usefulness of Resulting Information

.50 APB Statement No. 4 [sections 1021-1029] indicates that certain costs are immediately recognized as expenses because allocating them to several accounting periods "is considered to serve no useful purpose." There is general agreement that two of the basic elements in the decision models of many financial statement users are (a) expected return-the predicted amount and timing of the return on an investment-and (b) risk-the variability of that expected return. The data cited in paragraphs 39-41, the views of security analysts and other professional investors submitted to the Board in connection with the public hearing, and FASB interviews with selected analysts and bankers suggest that the relationship between current research and development costs and the amount of resultant future benefits to an enterprise is so uncertain that capitalization of any research and development costs is not useful in assessing the earnings potential of the enterprise. Therefore, it is unlikely that one's ability to predict the return on an investment and the variability of that return would be enhanced by capitalization.

Capitalization of All Costs When Incurred

.51 Enterprises undertake research and development activities with the hope of future benefits. If there were no such hope, the activities would not be conducted. Some persons take the position that the accounting treatment for research and development costs should be determined by considering in the aggregate all of the research and development activities of an enterprise. In their view, if there is a high probability of future benefits from an enterprise's total research and development program, the entire cost of those activities should be capitalized without regard to the certainty of future benefits from individual projects.

.52 The Board believes, however, that it is not appropriate to consider accounting for research and development activities on an aggregate or total-enterprise basis for several reasons. For accounting purposes the expectation of future benefits generally is not evaluated in relation to broad categories of expenditures on an enterprise-wide basis but rather in relation to individual or related transactions or projects. Also, an enterprise's total research and development program may consist of a number of projects at varying stages of completion and with varying degrees of uncertainty as to their ultimate success. If research and development costs were capitalized on an enterprise-wide basis, a meaningful method of amortization could not be developed because the period of benefit could not be determined. Moreover, over 90 percent of the respondents to a survey reported in AICPA Accounting Research Study No. 14 indicated that their company's philosophy is that research and development expenditures are intended to be recovered by current revenues rather than by revenue from new products.¹⁰

Selective Capitalization

.53 Selective capitalization — capitalizing research and development costs when incurred if specified conditions are fulfilled and charging to expense all other research and development costs — requires establishment of conditions that must be fulfilled before research and development costs are capitalized. The Board considered a number of factors on which prerequisite conditions might be based, including the following:

a) Definition of product or process. The new or improved product or process must be defined.

¹⁰Oscar S. Gellein and Maurice A. Newman, Accounting Research Study No. 14, "Accounting for Research and Development Expenditures," (New York: AICPA, 1973), p. 100.

- b) *Technological feasibility*. The new or improved product or process must be determined to be technologically feasible.
- c) Marketability/Usefulness. The marketability of the product or process or, if it is to be used internally rather than sold, its usefulness to the enterprise must be substantially assured.
- d) Economic feasibility. Probability of future economic benefits sufficient to recover all capitalized costs must be high. Encompassed by the notion of economic feasibility is measurability of future benefits. Also implicit is the ability to associate particular future benefits with particular costs.
- e) Management action. Management must have definitely decided to produce and market or use the new product or process or to incorporate the significant improvement into an existing product or process.
- f) Distortion of net income comparisons. Capitalization or immediate charging to expense of research and development costs must be determined on the basis of whether interperiod comparisons of net income would be materially distorted.

.54 None of those factors, however, lends itself to establishing a condition that could be objectively and comparably applied by all enterprises. Considerable judgment is required to identify the point in the progress of a research and development project at which a new or improved product or process is "defined" or is determined to be "technologically feasible," "marketable," or "useful." Nor can the "probability of future benefits" be readily assessed. A "management decision" to proceed with production does not necessarily assure future benefits. The Board does not believe that "distortion of net income comparisons," which a few respondents to the Discussion Memorandum suggested, is an operable criterion by which to decide whether research and development costs should be capitalized because the point at which net income comparisons might be "distorted" cannot be defined. Moreover, in assessing risk, financial statement users have indicated that they seek information about the variability of earnings.

.55 The Board has concluded that no set of conditions that might be established for capitalization of costs could achieve the comparability among enterprises that proponents of "selective capitalization" cite as a primary objective of that approach.

.56 If selective capitalization were applied only to costs incurred after fulfillment of the specified conditions, only a portion of the total costs of a particular research and development project would be capitalized and amortized. Thus, the capitalized amount would not indicate the total costs incurred to produce future benefits; nor would the amount of periodic amortization of capitalized costs represent a "matching" of costs and benefits.

.57 Selective capitalization might involve retroactive capitalization of previously incurred costs in addition to capitalization of costs incurred after fulfillment of the specified conditions. However, many research and development costs incurred before fulfillment of the conditions are not likely to be directly identifiable with the particular new or improved product or process for which costs would be capitalized. Moreover, retroactive capitalization of costs previously charged to expense is contrary to present accounting practice for other transactions whose initial accounting is not altered as a result of hindsight. The preparation of periodic financial statements requires many estimates and judgments for which restatements are not made in retrospect.

Accumulation of Costs in a Special Category

.58 The Board considered the proposal that all research and development costs be accumulated in a special category distinct from assets and expenses until a determination can be made about whether future benefits exist. That special category might be reported either below the asset section of the balance sheet (with segregation of a corresponding amount of stockholders' equity) or as a negative (contra) element of stockholders' equity. Ultimately, the accumulated costs would be transferred to assets (if future benefits become reasonably established) or written off (if it were reasonably established that no significant future benefits would ensue).

.59 A feature cited by proponents of this approach is that it draws attention to the uncertainty surrounding most research and development costs and it enables postponement of the capitalize vs. expense decision. This alternative was rejected, however, for the following reasons. First, financial analysts and others have indicated that costs accumulated in that special category would not be useful in assessing the earning power of an enterprise because of the uncertainties involved, and the research data cited earlier tend to support that view. Second, use of a special category would alter the nature of the basic financial statements and would complicate the computation of ratios and other financial data.

DISCLOSURE

.60 Regardless of their position on the accounting treatment for research and development costs, respondents to the Discussion Memorandum generally pointed out that current disclosure practices for research and development costs vary and that requirements for informative disclosure need to be established. The disclosures specified in paragraphs 13-14 reflect the Board's general agreement with that view.

.61 The Exposure Draft had proposed that disclosure also be required of (a) the accounting policy for research and development costs, (b) the amount of directly reimbursable research and development costs incurred, (c) the costs of research and development conducted in behalf of the enterprise by others, and (d) the amounts and classifications in the income statement of research and development costs charged to expense during the period. The Board has accepted the recommendation of some respondents to the Exposure Draft that disclosure of accounting policy not be required¹¹ because this Statement permits only one method of accounting for research and development costs. Some letters of comment on the Exposure Draft indicated that data related to items (b), (c), and (d) above are frequently difficult to obtain and that those disclosures generally would not be meaningful. The Board agrees with this view; this Statement does not require those disclosures.

.62 The Board recognizes that disclosure of additional information about an enterprise's research and development activities might be useful to some financial statement users. However, many respondents to the Discussion Memorandum

¹¹That disclosure is required by this Statement for certain government-regulated enterprises (see paragraph 14).

contended that certain kinds of information should not be required to be included in financial statements because the information is not sufficiently objective, is confidential in nature, or is beyond the scope of financial accounting information. For that reason, the Board concluded that disclosure of (a) the nature, status, and costs of individual research and development projects, (b) the nature and status of patents, (c) projections about new or improved products or processes, and (d) an enterprise's philosophy regarding research and development, all of which were included in the Discussion Memorandum as disclosure possibilities, should not be required. In addition, most respondents said that forecasts of research and development expenditures should not be considered in this project, and the Board agrees with that view. Disclosure of research and development costs by line of business is a matter included in "Financial Reporting for Segments of a Business Enterprise," another project presently on the Board's agenda.

EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION

.63 The Board considered three alternative approaches to reporting a change in the method of accounting for research and development costs: (1) prior period adjustment, (2) the "cumulative effect" method described in APB Opinion No. 20 [section 1051], "Accounting Changes," and (3) continued amortization of previously capitalized costs. The Board concluded that the prior period adjustment method will provide the most useful information about research and development costs for comparing financial data for periods after the effective date of this Statement with data presented for earlier periods.

.64 Upon consideration of all circumstances, the Board judged that the effective date specified in paragraph 15, which had been proposed in the Exposure Draft, is advisable.

Applicability of Section 4211 to Business Combinations Accounted for by the Purchase Method: An Interpretation of Section 4211 [Source: FASB Interpretation No. 4.]

February 1975

INTRODUCTION

.01 The FASB has been asked to explain the applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 [section 4211], "Accounting for Research and Development Costs," to the cost of tangible and intangible assets to be used in research and development activities of an enterprise when those assets are acquired in a business combination accounted for by the purchase method.

.02 Broad guidelines about the activities to be classified as research and development and the elements of costs to be identified with those activities are set forth in paragraphs 8-11 of *Statement No.* 2 [section 4211.08-.11]. Paragraph 12 of that Statement [section 4211.12] provides that research and development costs shall be charged to expense when incurred. However, some costs associated with research and development activities shall be capitalized if the item has alternative future uses in research and development or otherwise (see paragraphs 11(a) and 11(c) of *Statement* No. 2). [Sections 4211.11(a) and 4211.11(c).] The cost of materials consumed, the depreciation of equipment and facilities used, and the amortization of intangibles used in research and development activities are research and development costs.

.03 Statement No. 2 amends APB Opinion No. 17 [section 5141], "Intangible Assets," to exclude from the scope of that Opinion those research and development costs encompassed by the Statement but does not amend APB Opinion No. 16 [section 1091], "Business Combinations." Paragraph 34 of the Statement [section 4211.34] indicates that paragraph 11(c) [section 4211.11(c)] is not intended to alter the conclusions in paragraphs 87-88 of APB Opinion No. 16 [section 1091.87-.88] regarding allocation of cost to assets acquired in a business combination accounted for by the purchase method.

INTERPRETATION

.04 The intent of paragraph 34 of *Statement No. 2* [section 4211.34] is that the allocation of cost to the identifiable assets of an acquired enterprise shall be made in accordance with the provisions

of APB Opinion No. 16 [section 1091]. Therefore, costs shall be assigned to all identifiable tangible and intangible assets, including any resulting from research and development activities of the acquired enterprise or to be used in research and development activities of the combined enterprise. Identifiable assets resulting from research and development activities of the acquired enterprise might include, for example, patents received or applied for, blueprints, formulas, and specifications or designs for new products or processes. Identifiable assets to be used in research and development activities of the combined enterprise might include, for example, materials and supplies, equipment and facilities, and perhaps even a specific research project in process. In either case, the costs to be assigned under APB Opinion No. 16 [section 1091] are determined from the amount paid by the acquiring enterprise and not from the original cost to the acquired enterprise.

.05 The subsequent accounting by the combined enterprise for the costs allocated to assets 1 to be used in research and development activities shall be determined by reference to Statement No. 2 [section 4211]. Paragraph 12 of Statement No. 2 [section 4211.12] requires that costs identified with research and development activities shall be charged to expense when incurred unless the test of alternative future use in paragraph 11(a) or 11(c) [sections 4211.11(a) or 4211.11(c)] is met. That requirement also applies in a business combination accounted for by the purchase method. Accordingly, costs assigned to assets to be used in a particular research and development project and that have no alternative future use shall be charged to expense at the date of consummation of the combination. Therefore, the accounting for the cost of an item to be used in research and development activities is the same under paragraphs 11 and 12 of Statement No. 2 [sections 4211.11 and 4211.12], whether the item is purchased singly, or as part of a group of assets, or as part of an entire enterprise in a business combination accounted for by the purchase method.

EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION

.06 Because there have been varying interpretations of *Statement* No. 2 [section 4211] with respect to the accounting for the cost of tangible and intangible assets covered by this Interpretation, the Board has concluded that it shall be effective as follows:

¹ In this regard, paragraph 69 of *APB Opinion No. 16* [section 1091.69] states in part that: "The nature of an asset and not the manner of its acquisition determines an acquirer's subsequent accounting for the cost of that asset."

- (a) Application of this Interpretation to business combinations accounted for by the purchase method that are initiated ² after March 31, 1975 is required.
- (b) Application of this Interpretation to business combinations accounted for by the purchase method that are initiated prior to April 1, 1975 and consummated after March 31, 1975 is encouraged but is not required. It may be applied selectively to those combinations.
- (c) Application of this Interpretation to business combinations accounted for by the purchase method that were initiated and consummated prior to April 1, 1975 is encouraged but is not required. If an enterprise chooses to apply this Interpretation to those combinations, it shall be applied retroactively as described in paragraphs 15 and 16 of Statement No. 2 [sections 4211.15 and 4211.16] to all business combinations accounted for by the purchase method that were consummated prior to April 1, 1975.

.07 This Interpretation shall not be applied prior to the initial application of *Statement No. 2* [section 4211].

This Interpretation was adopted by the unanimous vote of the seven members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board following submission to the members of the Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council.

> Marshall S. Armstrong, *Chairman* Oscar S. Gellein Donald J. Kirk Arthur L. Litke Robert E. Mays Walter Schuetze Robert T. Sprouse

> The next page is 9131. ← ₩

² See paragraph .46(a) of *APB Opinion No. 16* [section 1091.46(a)] for the definition of "initiated."

AC Section 4211-3

Applicability of Section 4211 to Computer Software: An Interpretation of Section 4211 [Source: FASB Interpretation No. 6.]

February 1975

INTRODUCTION

.01 The FASB has been asked to explain the applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 [section 4211], "Accounting for Research and Development Costs," to costs incurred to obtain or develop computer software.

.02 Broad guidelines about the activities to be classified as research and development and the elements of costs to be identified with those activities are set forth in paragraphs 8-11 of *Statement No. 2* [section 4211.08-.11]. Paragraph 12 of that Statement [section 4211.12] provides that research and development costs shall be charged to expense when incurred. However, some costs associated with research and development activities shall be capitalized if the item has alternative future uses in research and development or otherwise (see paragraphs 11(a) and 11(c) of *Statement No. 2*). [Sections 4211.11(a) and 4211.11(c).] The costs of materials consumed, the depreciation of equipment and facilities used, and the amortization of intangibles used in research and development costs.

.03 Paragraph 31 of *Statement No. 2* [section 4211.31] states the following about the activities for which computer software is developed:

Computer software is developed for many and diverse uses. Accordingly, in each case the nature of the activity for which the software is being developed should be considered in relation to the guidelines in paragraphs 8-10 to determine whether software costs should be included or excluded [in research and development]. For example, efforts to develop a new or higher level of computer software capability intended for sale (but not under a contractual arrangement) would be a research and development activity encompassed by this Statement.

INTERPRETATION

.04 Paragraph 8 of Statement No. 2 [section 4211.08] defines research and development to include those activities aimed at developing or significantly improving a product or service (hereinafter "product") or a process or technique (hereinafter "process") whether the product or process is intended for sale or use. A process may be a system whose output is to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed to others. A process also may be used internally as a part of a manufacturing activity or a service

activity where the service itself is marketed. A process may be intended to achieve cost reductions as opposed to revenue generation. Paragraph 8(b) of Statement No. 2 [section 4211.08(b)], however, specifically excludes from research and development activities "market research or market testing activities." Those activities were excluded because they relate to the selling function of an enterprise. Thus, while in the broadest sense of the word, a process may be used in all of an enterprise's activities, the Board's intent in Statement No. 2 [section 4211] was that the acquisition, development, or improvement of a process by an enterprise for use in its selling or administrative activities be excluded from the definition of research and development activities.¹ To the extent, therefore, that the acquisition, development, or improvement of a process by an enterprise for use in its selling or administrative activities includes costs for computer software, those costs are not research and development costs. Examples of the excluded costs of software are those incurred for development by an airline of a computerized reservation system or for development of a general management information system.

Purchase or Lease of Software

.05 Costs incurred to purchase or lease computer software developed by others are not research and development costs under Statement No. 2 [section 4211] unless the software is for use in research and development activities. When software for use in research and development activities is purchased or leased, its cost shall be accounted for as specified by paragraphs 11(c) and 12 of Statement No. 2 [sections 4211.11(c) and 4211.12]. That is, the cost shall be charged to expense as incurred unless the software has alternative future uses (in research and development or otherwise).

Internal Development of Software

.06 An enterprise may undertake development of computer software internally for its own use or as a product or process to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed to others for their use. If development is undertaken for the enterprise's own use, the software may be intended, for example, to be used in the research and development activities of the enterprise or as a part of a newly developed or significantly improved product or process.

.07 Development of software as a product or process to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed. Accounting for the cost of developing software for others under a contractual arrangement is

¹General and administrative costs are discussed in paragraphs 11(e) and 35 of *Statement No. 2* [sections 4211.11(e) and 4211.35].

beyond the scope of Statement No. 2 [section 4211], because paragraph 2 of the Statement [section 4211.02] indicates that this is part of accounting for contracts in general. On the other hand, if the development of software is undertaken to create a new or significantly improved product or process without any contractual arrangement, costs incurred for conceptual formulation or the translation of knowledge into a design would be research and development costs (see paragraph 8 of Statement No. 2 [section 4211.08]). Other costs, including those incurred for programming and testing software, are research and development costs when incurred in the search for or the evaluation of product or process alternatives or in the design of a pre-production model. On the other hand, costs for programming and testing are not research and development costs when incurred, for example, in routine or other on-going efforts to improve an existing product or adapt a product to a particular requirement or customer's need. Because the term product also encompasses services that are sold, leased, or otherwise marketed to others, this paragraph applies, for example, to costs incurred in developing software to be used by a data processing service bureau or a computer time-sharing company.

.08 Development of software to be used in research and development activities. Developing or significantly improving a product or process that is intended to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed to others is a research and development activity (see paragraph 8 of Statement No. 2 [section 4211.08]). Similarly, developing or significantly improving a process whose output is a product that is intended to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed to others is a research and development activity. Costs incurred by an enterprise in developing computer software internally for use in its research and development activities are research and development costs and, therefore, shall be charged to expense when incurred.² This includes costs incurred during all phases of software development because all of those costs are incurred in a research and development activity.

.09 Development of software to be used as a part of a product or process. An enterprise may undertake internal development of software as a part of a newly developed or significantly improved product or process that will be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed to others, or as a part of a process whose output is a product that will be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed to others. For example, a manufacturer of computerized typesetting machinery may undertake to develop and use software as a part of that machinery, or a medical laboratory may undertake to develop software

² The alternative future use test does not apply to the internal development of computer software; paragraph 11(c) of Statement No. 2 [section 4211.11(c)] applies only to intangibles *purchased from others*.

for use in a newly developed analytical process. In those cases, costs incurred for conceptual formulation or the translation of knowledge into a design would be research and development costs (see paragraph 8 of Statement No. 2 [section 4211.08]). Other costs, including those incurred for programming and testing software, are research and development costs when incurred in the search for or the evaluation of product or process alternatives or in the design of a pre-production model. On the other hand, costs for programming and testing are not research and development costs when incurred, for example, in routine or other on-going efforts to improve an existing product or process or adapt a product or process to a particular requirement or customer's need.

EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION

.10 Because there have been varying interpretations of Statement No. 2 [section 4211] with respect to costs of computer software, this Interpretation shall be effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 1975. Earlier application is encouraged, except that this Interpretation shall not be applied prior to initial application of Statement No. 2 [section 4211]. Retroactive application of this Interpretation, as described in paragraphs 15 and 16 of Statement No. 2 [sections 4211.15 and 4211.16], to costs incurred in prior fiscal years is also encouraged but is not required.

This Interpretation was adopted by the unanimous vote of the seven members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board following submission to the members of the Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council.

Marshall S. Armstrong, *Chairman* Oscar S. Gellein Donald J. Kirk Arthur L. Litke Robert E. Mays Walter Schuetze Robert T. Sprouse

₩ → The next page is 9181. ←₩

for class proster in the

AC § 4211-3.10

AC Section 4311

Accounting for Contingencies [Source: FASB Statement No. 5.]

March 1975

INTRODUCTION

.01 For the purpose of this Statement, a contingency is defined as an existing condition, situation, or set of circumstances involving uncertainty as to possible gain (hereinafter a "gain contingency") or loss¹ (hereinafter a "loss contingency") to an enterprise that will ultimately be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. Resolution of the uncertainty may confirm the acquisition of an asset or the reduction of a liability or the loss or impairment of an asset or the incurrence of a liability.

.02 Not all uncertainties inherent in the accounting process give rise to contingencies as that term is used in this Statement. Estimates are required in financial statements for many on-going and recurring activities of an enterprise. The mere fact that an estimate is involved does not of itself constitute the type of uncertainty referred to in the definition in paragraph .01. For example, the fact that estimates are used to allocate the known cost of a depreciable asset over the period of use by an enterprise does not make depreciation a contingency; the eventual expiration of the utility of the asset is not uncertain. Thus, depreciation of assets is not a contingency as defined in paragraph .01, nor are such matters as recurring repairs, maintenance, and overhauls, which interrelate with depreciation. Also, amounts owed for services received, such as advertising and utilities, are not contingencies even though the accrued amounts may have been estimated; there is nothing uncertain about the fact that those obligations have been incurred.

.03 When a loss contingency exists, the likelihood that the future event or events will confirm the loss or impairment of an asset or the incurrence of a liability can range from probable to remote. This Statement uses the terms *probable*, *reasonably possible*, and *remote* to identify three areas within that range, as follows:

¹ The term *loss* is used for convenience to include many charges against income that are commonly referred to as *expenses* and others that are commonly referred to as *losses*.

- a) Probable. The future event or events are likely to occur.
- b) Reasonably possible. The chance of the future event or events occurring is more than remote but less than likely.
- c) *Remote.* The chance of the future event or events occurring is slight.
- .04 Examples of loss contingencies include:
- a) Collectibility of receivables.
- b) Obligations related to product warranties and product defects.
- c) Risk of loss or damage of enterprise property by fire, explosion, or other hazards.
- d) Threat of expropriation of assets.
- e) Pending or threatened litigation.
- f) Actual or possible claims and assessments.
- g) Risk of loss from catastrophes assumed by property and casualty insurance companies including reinsurance companies.
- h) Guarantees of indebtedness of others.
- i) Obligations of commercial banks under "standby letters of credit."²
- j) Agreements to repurchase receivables (or to repurchase the related property) that have been sold.

² As defined by the Federal Reserve Board, "standby letters of credit" include "every letter of credit (or similar arrangement however named or designated) which represents an obligation to the beneficiary on the part of the issuer (1) to repay money borrowed by or advanced to or for the account of the account party or (2) to make payment on account of any evidence of indebtedness undertaken by the account party or (3) to make payment on account of any default by the account party or (3) to make payment on account of any default by the account party in the performance of an obligation." A note to that definition states that "as defined, 'standby letter of credit' would not include (1) commercial letters of credit and similar instruments where the issuing bank expects the beneficiary to draw upon the issuer and which do not 'guaranty' payment of a money obligation or (2) a guaranty or similar obligation issued by a foreign branch in accordance with and subject to the limitations of Regulation M [of the Federal Reserve Board]." Regulations of the Comptroller of the Currency and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation contain similar definitions.

.05 Some enterprises now accrue estimated losses from some types of contingencies by a charge to income prior to the occurrence of the event or events that are expected to resolve the uncertainties while, under similar circumstances, other enterprises account for those losses only when the confirming event or events have occurred.

.06 This Statement establishes standards of financial accounting and reporting for loss contingencies (see paragraphs .08—.16) and carries forward without reconsideration the conclusions of *Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB)* No. 50 [section 5514], "Contingencies," with respect to gain contingencies (see paragraph .17) and other disclosures (see paragraphs .18—.19). The basis for the Board's conclusions, as well as alternatives considered and reasons for their rejection, are discussed in Appendix C. Examples of application of this Statement are presented in Appendix A, and background information is presented in Appendix B.

.07 This Statement supersedes both ARB No. 50 [section 5514] and Chapter 6 "Contingency Reserves." of ARB No. 43 [section 5513]. The conditions for accrual of loss contingencies in paragraph .08 of this Statement do not amend any other present requirement in an Accounting Research Bulletin or Opinion of the Accounting Principles Board to accrue a particular type of loss or expense. Thus, for example, accounting for pension cost, deferred compensation contracts, and stock issued to employees are excluded from the scope of this Statement. Those matters are covered, respectively, in APB Opinion No. 8 [section 4063], "Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans," APB Opinion No. 12, "Omnibus Opinion-1967." paragraphs 6-8 [section 4064], and APB Opinion No. 25 [section 4062], "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees." Accounting for other employment-related costs, such as group insurance, vacation pay, workmen's compensation, and disability benefits, is also excluded from the scope of this Statement. Accounting practices for those types of costs and pension accounting practices tend to involve similar considerations.

STANDARDS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING

Accrual of Loss Contingencies

.08 An estimated loss from a loss contingency (as defined in paragraph .01) shall be accrued by a charge to income 3 if both of the following conditions are met:

- a) Information available prior to issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that an asset had been impaired or a liability had been incurred at the date of the financial statements.⁴ It is implicit in this condition that it must be probable that one or more future events will occur confirming the fact of the loss.
- b) The amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.

Disclosure of Loss Contingencies

.09 Disclosure of the nature of an accrual⁵ made pursuant to the provisions of paragraph .08, and in some circumstances the amount accrued, may be necessary for the financial statements not to be misleading.

.10 If no accrual is made for a loss contingency because one or both of the conditions in paragraph .08 are not met, or if an exposure to loss exists in excess of the amount accrued pursuant to the provisions of paragraph .08, disclosure of the contingency shall be made when there is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss or an additional loss may have been incurred.⁶ The disclosure shall indicate the nature of the contingency and shall give an estimate of the possible loss or

³ Paragraphs 23—24 of APB Opinion No. 9 [section 2010.22—.23] "Reporting the Results of Operations," describe the "rare" circumstances in which a prior period adjustment is appropriate. Those paragraphs are not amended by this Statement. "Date of the financial statements means the end of the most recent accounting period for which financial statements are being presented.

⁵ Terminology used shall be descriptive of the nature of the accrual (see paragraphs 57—64 of Accounting Terminology Bulletin No. 1, "Re-view and Resume"). ⁶ For example, disclosure shall be made of any loss contingency that meets the condition in paragraph .08(a) but that is not accrued because the amount of loss cannot be reasonably estimated (paragraph .08(b)). Disclosure is also required of some loss contingencies that do not meet the condition in paragraph .08(a)—namely, those contingencies that do not meet the condition in paragraph .08(a)—namely, those contingencies for which there is a *reasonable possibility* that a loss may have been incurred even though information may not indicate that it is *probable* that an asset had been impaired or a liability had been incurred at the date of the financial statements.

range of loss or state that such an estimate cannot be made. Disclosure is not required of a loss contingency involving an unasserted claim or assessment when there has been no manifestation by a potential claimant of an awareness of a possible claim or assessment unless it is considered probable that a claim will be asserted and there is a reasonable possibility that the outcome will be unfavorable.

.11 After the date of an enterprise's financial statements but before those financial statements are issued, information may become available indicating that an asset was impaired or a liability was incurred after the date of the financial statements or that there is at least a reasonable possibility that an asset was impaired or a liability was incurred after that date. The information may relate to a loss contingency that existed at the date of the financial statements, e.g., an asset that was not insured at the date of the financial statements. On the other hand, the information may relate to a loss contingency that did not exist at the date of the financial statements, e.g., threat of expropriation of assets after the date of the financial statements or the filing for bankruptcy by an enterprise whose debt was guaranteed after the date of the financial statements. In none of the cases cited in this paragraph was an asset impaired or a liability incurred at the date of the financial statements, and the condition for accrual in paragraph .08(a) is, therefore, not met. Disclosure of those kinds of losses or loss contingencies may be necessary, however, to keep the financial statements from being misleading. If disclosure is deemed necessary, the financial statements shall indicate the nature of the loss or loss contingency and give an estimate of the amount or range of loss or possible loss or state that such an estimate cannot be made. Occasionally, in the case of a loss arising after the date of the financial statements where the amount of asset impairment or liability incurrence can be reasonably estimated, disclosure may best be made by supplementing the historical financial statements with pro forma financial data giving effect to the loss as if it had occurred at the date of the financial statements. It may be desirable to present pro forma statements, usually a balance sheet only, in columnar form on the face of the historical financial statements.

.12 Certain loss contingencies are presently being disclosed in financial statements even though the possiblity of loss may be remote. The common characteristic of those contingencies is a guarantee, normally with a right to proceed against an outside party in the event that the guarantor is called upon to satisfy the guarantee. Examples include (a) guarantees of indebtedness of others, (b) obligations of commercial banks under "standby letters of credit," and (c) guarantees to repurchase receivables (or, in some cases, to repurchase the related property) that have been sold or otherwise assigned. The Board concludes that disclosure of those loss contingencies, and others that in substance have the same characteristic, shall be continued. The disclosure shall include the nature and amount of the guarantee. Consideration should be given to disclosing, if estimable, the value of any recovery that could be expected to result, such as from the guarantor's right to proceed against an outside party.

.13 This Statement applies to regulated enterprises in accordance with provisions of the Addendum to APB Opinion No. 2 [section 6011], "Accounting for the 'Investment Credit.'" If, in conformity with the Addendum, a regulated enterprise accrues for financial accounting and reporting purposes an estimated loss without regard to the conditions in paragraph .08, the following information shall be disclosed in its financial statements:

- a) The accounting policy including the nature of the accrual and the basis for estimation.
- b) The amount of any related "liability" or "asset valuation" account included in each balance sheet presented.

General or Unspecified Business Risks

.14 Some enterprises have in the past accrued so-called "reserves for general contingencies." General or unspecified business risks do not meet the conditions for accrual in paragraph .08, and no accrual for loss shall be made. No disclosure about them is required by this Statement.

Appropriation of Retained Earnings

.15 Some enterprises have classified a portion of retained earnings as "appropriated" for loss contingencies. In some cases, the appropriation has been shown outside the stockholders' equity section of the balance sheet. Appropriation of retained earnings is not prohibited by this Statement provided that it is shown within the stockholders' equity section of the balance sheet and is clearly identified as an appropriation of retained earnings. Costs or losses shall not be charged to an appropriation of retained earnings, and no part of the appropriation shall be transferred to income.

Examples of Application of this Statement

.16 Examples of application of the conditions for accrual of loss contingencies in paragraph .08 and the disclosure requirements in paragraphs .09—.11 are presented in Appendix A.

Gain Contingencies

.17 The Board has not reconsidered ARB No. 50 [section 5514] with respect to gain contingencies. Accordingly, the following provisions of paragraphs 3 and 5 of that Bulletin shall continue in effect:

- a) Contingencies that might result in gains usually are not reflected in the accounts since to do so might be to recognize revenue prior to its realization.
- b) Adequate disclosure shall be made of contingencies that might result in gains, but care shall be exercised to avoid misleading implications as to the likelihood of realization.

Other Disclosures

.18 Paragraph 6 of ARB No. 50 [section 5514.06] required disclosure of a number of situations including "unused letters of credit, long-term leases, assets pledged as security for loans, pension plans, the existence of cumulative preferred stock dividends in arrears, and commitments such as those for plant acquisition or an obligation to reduce debts, maintain working capital, or restrict dividends." Subsequent Opinions issued by the Accounting Principles Board established more explicit disclosure requirements for a number of those items, i. e., leases (see APB Opinions No. 5 and 31 [sections 5351 and 5352]), pension plans (see APB Opinion No. 8 [section 4063]), and preferred stock dividend arrearages (see APB Opinion No. 10, paragraph 11(b) [section 5515.02b]).

.19 Situations of the type described in the preceding paragraph shall continue to be disclosed in financial statements, and this Statement does not alter the present disclosure requirements with respect to those items.

Effective Date and Transition

20 This Statement shall be effective for fiscal years beginning on or after July 1, 1975, although earlier application is encouraged. A change in accounting principle resulting from compliance with paragraph .08 or .14 of this Statement shall be reported in accordance with APB Opinion No. 20 [section 1051], "Accounting Changes." Accordingly, except in the special circumstances referred to in paragraphs 29-30 of APB Opinion No. 20 [section 1051.29-.30], the cumulative effect of the change on retained earnings at the beginning of the year in which the change is made shall be included in net income of the year of the change, and the disclosures specified in APB Opinion No. 20 [section 1054] shall be made. Reclassification of an appropriation of retained earnings to comply with paragraph .15 of this Statement shall be made in any financial statements for periods before the effective date of this Statement, or financial summaries or other data derived therefrom, that are presented after the effective date of this Statement.

The provisions of this Statement need not be applied to immaterial items.

This Statement was adopted by the unanimous vote of the seven members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board:

Marshall S. Armstrong, *Chairman* Oscar S. Gellein Donald J. Kirk Arthur L. Litke Robert E. Mays Walter Schuetze Robert T. Sprouse

Appendix A

EXAMPLES OF APPLICATION OF THIS STATEMENT

.21 This Appendix contains examples of application of the conditions for accrual of loss contingencies in paragraph .08 and of the disclosure requirements in paragraphs .09—.11. Some examples have been included in response to questions raised in letters of comment on the Exposure Draft. It should be recognized that no set of examples can encompass all possible contingencies or circumstances. Accordingly, accrual and disclosure of loss contingencies should be based on an evaluation of the facts in each particular case.

Collectibility of Receivables

.22 The assets of an enterprise may include receivables that arose from credit sales, loans, or other transactions. The conditions under which receivables exist usually involve some degree of uncertainty about their collectibility, in which case a contingency exists as defined in paragraph .01. Losses from uncollectible receivables shall be accrued when both conditions in paragraph .08 are met. Those conditions may be considered in relation to individual receivables or in relation to groups of similar types of receivables. If the conditions are met, accrual shall be made even though the particular receivables that are uncollectible may not be identifiable.

.23 If, based on available information, it is probable that the enterprise will be unable to collect all amounts due and, therefore, that at the date of its financial statements the net realizable value of the receivables through collection in the ordinary course of business is less than the total amount receivable, the condition in paragraph .08(a) is met because it is probable that an asset has been impaired. Whether the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated (the condition in paragraph .08(b)) will normally depend on, among other things, the experience of the enterprise, information about the ability of individual debtors to pay, and appraisal of the receivables in light of the current economic environment. In the case of an enterprise that has no experience of its own, reference to the experience of other enterprises in the same business may be appropriate. Inability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss from uncollectible receivables (i.e., failure to satisfy the condition in paragraph .08(b)) precludes accrual and may, if there is significant uncertainty as to collection, suggest that the installment method, the cost recovery method, or some other method of revenue recognition be used (see paragraph 12 of APB Opinion No. 10 [section 4020.01], "Omnibus Opinion—1966"); in addition, the disclosures called for by paragraph .10 of this Statement should be made.

Obligations Related to Product Warranties and Product Defects

.24 A warranty is an obligation incurred in connection with the sale of goods or services that may require further performance by the seller after the sale has taken place. Because of the uncertainty surrounding claims that may be made under warranties, warranty obligations fall within the definition of a contingency in paragraph .01. Losses from warranty obligations shall be accrued when the conditions in paragraph .08 are met. Those conditions may be considered in relation to individual sales made with warranties or in relation to groups of similar types of sales made with warranties. If the conditions are met, accrual shall be made even though the particular parties that will make claims under warranties may not be identifiable.

.25 If, based on available information, it is probable that customers will make claims under warranties relating to goods or services that have been sold, the condition in paragraph .08(a) is met at the date of an enterprise's financial statements because it is probable that a liability has been incurred. Satisfaction of the condition in paragraph .08(b) will normally depend on the experience of an enterprise or other information. In the case of an enterprise that has no experience of its own, reference to the experience of other enterprises in the same business may be appropriate. Inability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of a warranty obligation at the time of sale because of significant uncertainty about possible claims (i.e., failure to satisfy the condition in paragraph .08(b)) precludes accrual and, if the range of possible loss is wide, may raise a question about whether a sale should be recorded prior to expiration of the warranty period or until sufficient experience has been gained to permit a reasonable estimate of the obligation; in addition, the disclosures called for by paragraph .10 of this Statement should be made.

.26 Obligations other than warranties may arise with respect to products or services that have been sold, for example, claims resulting from injury or damage caused by product defects. If it is probable that claims will arise with respect to products or services that have been sold, accrual for losses may be appropriate. The condition in paragraph .08(a) would be met, for instance, with respect to a drug product or toys that have been sold if a health or safety hazard related to those products is discovered and as a result it is considered probable that liabilities have been incurred. The condition in paragraph .08(b) would be met if experience or other information enables the enterprise to make a reasonable estimate of the loss with respect to the drug product or the toys.

Risk of Loss or Damage of Enterprise Property

.27 At the date of an enterprise's financial statements, it may not be insured against risk of future loss or damage to its property by fire, explosion, or other hazards. The absence of insurance against losses from risks of those types constitutes an existing condition involving uncertainty about the amount and timing of any losses that may occur, in which case a contingency exists as defined in paragraph .01. Uninsured risks may arise in a number of ways, including (a) noninsurance of certain risks or co-insurance or deductible clauses in an insurance contract or (b) insurance through a subsidiary or investee⁷ to the extent not reinsured with an independent insure. Some risks, for all practical purposes, may be noninsurable, and the self-assumption of those risks is mandatory.

.28 The absence of insurance does not mean that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred at the date of an enterprise's financial statements. Fires, explosions, and other similar events that may cause loss or damage of an enterprise's property are random in their occurrence.⁸ With respect to events of that type, the condition for accrual in

¹ The effects of transactions between a parent or other investor and a subsidiary or investee insurance company shall be eliminated from an enterprise's financial statements (see paragraph 6 of *ARB No. 51* [section 2051.07], "Consolidated Financial Statements," and paragraph 19(a) of *APB Opinion No. 18* [section 5131.19(a)], "The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock").

⁸ The Board recognizes that, in practice, experience regarding loss or damage to depreciable assets is in some cases one of the factors considered in estimating the depreciable lives of a group of depreciable assets, along with such other factors as wear and tear, obsolescence, and maintenance and replacement policies. This Statement is not intended to alter present depreciation practices (see paragraph .02).

paragraph .08(a) is not satisfied prior to the occurrence of the event because until that time there is no diminution in the value of the property. There is no relationship of those events to the activities of the enterprise prior to their occurrence, and no asset is impaired prior to their occurrence. Further, unlike an insurance company, which has a contractual obligation under policies in force to reimburse insureds for losses, an enterprise can have no such obligation to itself and, hence, no liability.

Risk of Loss from Future Injury to Others, Damage to the Property of Others, and Business Interruption

.29 An enterprise may choose not to purchase insurance against risk of loss that may result from injury to others, damage to the property of others, or interruption of its business operations.⁹ Exposure to risks of those types constitutes an existing condition involving uncertainty about the amount and timing of any losses that may occur, in which case a contingency exists as defined in paragraph .01.

.30 Mere exposure to risks of those types, however, does not mean that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred. The condition for accrual in paragraph .08(a) is not met with respect to loss that may result from injury to others, damage to the property of others, or business interruption that may occur after the date of an enterprise's financial statements. Losses of those types do not relate to the current or a prior period but rather to the *future* period in which they occur. Thus, for example, an enterprise with a fleet of vehicles should not accrue for injury to others or damage to the property of others that may be caused by those vehicles in the future even if the amount of those losses may be reasonably estimable. On the other hand, the conditions in paragraph .08 would be met with respect to uninsured losses resulting from injury to others or damage to the property of others that took place prior to the date of the financial statements, even though the enterprise may not become aware of those matters until after that date, if the experience of the enterprise or other information enables it to make a reasonable estimate of the loss that was incurred prior to the date of its financial statements.

⁹ As to injury or damage resulting from products that have been sold, see paragraph .26.

Write-Down of Operating Assets

.31 In some cases, the carrying amount of an operating asset not intended for disposal may exceed the amount expected to be recoverable through future use of that asset even though there has been no physical loss or damage of the asset or threat of such loss or damage. For example, changed economic conditions may have made recovery of the carrying amount of a productive facility doubtful. The question of whether, in those cases, it is appropriate to write down the carrying amount of the asset to an amount expected to be recoverable through future operations is not covered by this Statement.

Threat of Expropriation

.32 The threat of expropriation of assets is a contingency within the definition of paragraph .01 because of the uncertainty about its outcome and effect. If information indicates that expropriation is imminent and compensation will be less than the carrying amount of the assets, the condition for accrual in paragraph .08(a) is met. Imminence may be indicated, for example, by public or private declarations of intent by a government to expropriate assets of the enterprise or actual expropriation of assets of other enterprises. Paragraph .08(b) requires that accrual be made only if the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. If the conditions for accrual are not met, the disclosures specified in paragraph .10 would be made when there is at least a reasonable possibility that an asset has been impaired.

Litigation, Claims, and Assessments

.33 The following factors, among others, must be considered in determining whether accrual and/or disclosure is required with respect to pending or threatened litigation and actual or possible claims and assessments:

- a) The period in which the underlying cause (i.e., the cause for action) of the pending or threatened litigation or of the actual or possible claim or assessment occurred.
- b) The degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome.
- c) The ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss.

.34 As a condition for accrual of a loss contingency, paragraph .08(a) requires that information available prior to the issuance of financial statements indicate that it is probable that an asset had been impaired or a liability had been incurred at the date of the financial statements. Accordingly, accrual would clearly be inappropriate for litigation, claims, or assessments whose underlying cause is an event or condition occurring after the date of financial statements but before those financial statements are issued, for example, a suit for damages alleged to have been suffered as a result of an accident that occurred after the date of the financial statements. Disclosure may be required, however, by paragraph .11.

.35 On the other hand, accrual may be appropriate for litigation, claims, or assessments whose underlying cause is an event occurring on or before the date of an enterprise's financial statements even if the enterprise does not become aware of the existence or possibility of the lawsuit, claim, or assessment until after the date of the financial statements. If those financial statements have not been issued, accrual of a loss related to the litigation, claim, or assessment would be required if the probability of loss is such that the condition in paragraph .08(a) is met and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.

.36 If the underlying cause of the litigation, claim, or assessment is an event occurring before the date of an enterprise's financial statements, the probability of an outcome unfavorable to the enterprise must be assessed to determine whether the condition in paragraph .08(a) is met. Among the factors that should be considered are the nature of the litigation, claim, or assessment, the progress of the case (including progress after the date of the financial statements but before those statements are issued), the opinions or views of legal counsel and other advisers, the experience of the enterprise in similar cases, the experience of other enterprises, and any decision of the enterprise's management as to how the enterprise intends to respond to the lawsuit, claim, or assessment (for example, a decision to contest the case vigorously or a decision to seek an out-of-court settlement). The fact that legal counsel is unable to express an opinion that the outcome will be favorable to the enterprise should not necessarily be interpreted to mean that the condition for accrual of a loss in paragraph .08(a) is met.

.37 The filing of a suit or formal assertion of a claim or assessment does not automatically indicate that accrual of a loss may be appropriate. The degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome must be assessed. The condition for accrual in paragraph .08(a) would be met if an unfavorable outcome is determined to be probable. If an unfavorable outcome is determined to be reasonably possible but not probable, or if the amount of loss cannot be reasonably estimated, accrual would be inappropriate, but disclosure would be required by paragraph .10 of this Statement.

.38 With respect to unasserted claims and assessments, an enterprise must determine the degree of probability that a suit may be filed or a claim or assessment may be asserted and the possibility of an unfavorable outcome. For example, a catastrophe, accident, or other similar physical occurrence predictably engenders claims for redress, and in such circumstances their assertion may be probable; similarly, an investigation of an enterprise by a governmental agency, if enforcement proceedings have been or are likely to be instituted, is often followed by private claims for redress, and the probability of their assertion and the possibility of loss should be considered in each case. By way of further example, an enterprise may believe there is a possibility that it has infringed on another enterprise's patent rights, but the enterprise owning the patent rights has not indicated an intention to take any action and has not even indicated an awareness of the possible infringement. In that case, a judgment must first be made as to whether the assertion of a claim is probable. If the judgment is that assertion is not probable, no accrual or disclosure would be required. On the other hand, if the judgment is that assertion is probable, then a second judgment must be made as to the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome. If an unfavorable outcome is probable and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated, accrual of a loss is required by paragraph .08. If an unfavorable outcome is probable but the amount of loss cannot be reasonably estimated, accrual would not be appropriate, but disclosure would be required by paragraph .10. If an unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible but not probable, disclosure would be required by paragraph .10.

.39 As a condition for accrual of a loss contingency, paragraph .08(b) requires that the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. In some cases, it may be determined that a loss was incurred because an unfavorable outcome of

the litigation, claim, or assessment is probable (thus satisfying the condition in paragraph .08(a)), but the range of possible loss is wide. For example, an enterprise may be litigating an income tax matter. In preparation for the trial, it may determine that, based on recent decisions involving one aspect of the litigation, it is probable that it will have to pay additional taxes of \$2 million. Another aspect of the litigation may, however, be open considerable to interpretation, and depending on the interpretation by the court the enterprise may have to pay taxes of \$8 million over and above the \$2 million. In that case, paragraph .08 requires accrual of the \$2 million if that is considered a reasonable estimate of the loss. Paragraph .10 requires disclosure of the additional exposure to loss if there is a reasonable possibility that additional taxes will be paid. Depending on the circumstances, paragraph .09 may require disclosure of the \$2 million that was accrued.

Catastrophe Losses of Property and Casualty Insurance Companies

.40 At the time that a property and casualty insurance company or reinsurance company issues an insurance policy covering risk of loss from catastrophes, a contingency arises. The contingency is the risk of loss *assumed* by the insurance company, that is, the risk of loss from catastrophes that may occur *during the term of the policy*. The insurance company has not assumed risk of loss for catastrophes that may occur *beyond* the term of the policy. Clearly, therefore, no asset has been impaired or liability incurred with respect to catastrophes that may occur beyond the terms of policies in force.

.41 The conditions in paragraph .08 should be considered with respect to the risk of loss assumed by an insurance company for catastrophes that may occur during the terms of policies in force to determine whether accrual of a loss is appropriate. To satisfy the condition in paragraph .08(a) that it be probable that a liability has been incurred to existing policyholders, the occurrence of catastrophes (i.e., the confirming future events) would have to be reasonably predictable within the terms of policies in force. Further, to satisfy the condition in paragraph .08(b), the amounts of losses therefrom would have to be reasonably estimable. Actuarial techniques are employed by insurance companies to predict the rate of occurrence of and amounts of losses from catastrophes over long periods of time for insurance rate-setting purposes.

AC § 4311.40

Copyright © 1975, Financial Accounting Standards Board

Predictions over relatively short periods of time, such as an individual accounting period or the terms of a large number of existing insurance policies in force, are subject to substantial deviations. Consequently, assumption of risk of loss from catastrophes by property and casualty insurance companies and reinsurance companies fails to satisfy the conditions for accrual in paragraphs .08(a) and .08(b). Moreover, deferral of unearned premiums within the terms of policies in force represents the "unknown liability" for loss (including catastrophe losses) on unexpired policies, making an accrual inappropriate—see paragraphs .94—.96 in Appendix C. Recognition of premium income as earned revenue within the terms of policies in force is discussed in the AICPA Industry Audit Guide, "Audits of Fire and Casualty Insurance Companies."

.42 Although some property and casualty insurance companies have accrued an estimated amount for catastrophe losses, other insurance companies have accomplished the same objective by deferring a portion of the premium income. Deferral of any portion of premium income beyond the terms of policies in force is, in substance, similar to premature accrual of catastrophe losses and, therefore, also does not meet the conditions of paragraph .08.

.43 The conditions for accrual in paragraph .08 do not prohibit a property and casualty insurance company from accruing probable catastrophe losses that have been incurred on or before the date of its financial statements but that have not been reported by its policyholders as of that date. If the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated, paragraph .08 requires accrual of those incurred-but-not-reported losses.

Payments to Insurance Companies That May Not Involve Transfer of Risk

.44 To the extent that an insurance contract or reinsurance contract does not, despite its form, provide for indemnification of the insured or the ceding company by the insurer or reinsurer against loss or liability, the premium paid less the amount of the premium to be retained by the insurer or reinsurer shall be accounted for as a deposit by the insured or the ceding company. Those contracts may be structured in various ways, but if, regardless of form, their substance is that all or part of the premium paid by the insured or the ceding company is a deposit, it shall be accounted for as such.

.45 Operations in certain industries may be subject to such high risks that insurance is unavailable or is available only at what is considered to be a prohibitively high cost. Some enterprises in those industries have "pooled" their risks by forming a mutual insurance company in which they retain an equity interest and to which they pay insurance premiums. For example, some electric utility companies have formed such a mutual insurance company to insure risks related to nuclear power plants, and some oil companies have formed a company to insure against risks associated with petroleum exploration and production. Whether the premium paid represents a payment for the transfer of risk or whether it represents merely a deposit will depend on the circumstances surrounding each enterprise's interest in and insurance arrangement with the mutual insurance company. An analysis of the contract is required to determine whether risk has been transferred and to what extent.

Appendix B

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

.46 In April 1973, the FASB placed on its technical agenda a project then entitled "Accounting for Future Losses." The project addressed accrual and disclosure of loss contingencies. The Board believes that "Accounting for Contingencies" is a more descriptive title for this Statement than "Accounting for Future Losses."

.47 A task force of 16 persons from industry, public accounting, the financial community, and academe was appointed in the summer of 1973 to provide counsel to the Board in preparing a Discussion Memorandum analyzing issues related to the project.

.48 The Discussion Memorandum gave examples of various types of contingencies and considered several of those at length to assist in the development of standards of financial accounting and reporting. These included (a) uninsured risks ("self-insurance"), (b) risk of losses from catastrophes assumed by property and casualty insurance companies, and (c) risk of losses from expropriations by foreign governments.

.49 Research undertaken in connection with this project included (a) a search of relevant literature, (b) an examination of published financial statements in annual reports to shareholders and in filings with the SEC on Form 10-K, (c) a questionnaire survey conducted by the Financial

Executives Institute to which 64 companies responded, and (d) a study of catastrophe reserve accounting methods employed by property and casualty insurance companies. Summaries of research findings are included in appendices to the Discussion Memorandum.

.50 On January 3, 1973 (prior to the date the Board placed this subject on its agenda), the Securities and Exchange Commission issued its Accounting Series Release No. 134, which pointed out that a number of property and casualty insurance companies had adopted the accounting policy of making a provision from each period's income to cover a portion of major losses expected to occur in future periods. The SEC Release indicated that the Committee on Insurance Accounting and Auditing of the AICPA was working actively on the subject in cooperation with industry groups. The Release set forth certain disclosure requirements pending resolution of the question of accrual.

.51 The AICPA committee's report (dated July 17, 1973) was in the form of a memorandum setting forth the views of those committee members favoring and those opposing accrual of losses from future catastrophes. In the course of its study, the AICPA committee had gathered considerable data on the subject, in part from a survey of member companies of the American Insurance Association, and this information was made available to the Board.

.52 On August 2, 1973, the SEC announced in Accounting Series Release No. 145 that property and casualty insurance companies should not change their method of accounting for catastrophe losses "until a single method has been adopted by the Financial Accounting Standards Board."

.53 The Board issued the Discussion Memorandum on March 13, 1974, and held a public hearing on the subject on May 13, 1974. The Board received 87 position papers, letters of comment, and outlines of oral presentations in response to the Discussion Memorandum. Eighteen presentations were made at the public hearing.

.54 An Exposure Draft of a proposed Statement on "Accounting for Contingencies" was issued on October 21, 1974. The Board received 212 letters of comment on the Exposure Draft.

Appendix C

BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS

.55 This Appendix discusses factors deemed significant by members of the Board in reaching the conclusions in this Statement, including various alternatives considered and reasons for accepting some and rejecting others.

SCOPE OF THIS STATEMENT

.56 Some respondents to the Exposure Draft proposed that the Statement not deal with accrual and disclosure of loss contingencies in general but, rather, only with the following three specific matters: "self-insurance," risks of losses from catastrophes assumed by property and casualty insurance companies including reinsurance companies, and threat of expropriation. As the basis for that position, they noted that the Discussion Memorandum considered those three matters at length. Other respondents suggested that catastrophe losses be dealt with in a separate Statement.

.57 The Board has concluded, however, that the broad issue of accrual and disclosure of loss contingencies should be dealt with in a single Statement, just as the Discussion Memorandum encompassed "the broad issue of accounting for future losses."¹⁰ As the Discussion Memorandum stated, "future losses of all types presently known to affect enterprises and new types of future losses that may arise are conceptually included in the scope of this project." The three matters dealt with at length in the Discussion Memorandum were used "as examples to assist in the evaluation and development of criteria for accounting for future losses," and other examples were discussed. The Board has concluded that

²⁰ The Board believes that contingencies is a more descriptive term than future losses, and the Discussion Memorandum indicated that the project would necessarily involve reconsideration of both ARB No. 50 [section 5514] and Chapter 6 of ARB No. 43 [section 5513].

loss contingencies such as those given as examples in paragraph .04 of this Statement have common characteristics and that questions about accounting for and reporting of those contingencies should be resolved comprehensively. It is for that reason, also, that the Board believes it inappropriate to deal with catastrophe losses in a separate Statement.

.58 A question has been raised whether uncollectibility of receivables and product warranties constitute contingencies within the scope of this Statement. The Board recognizes that uncertainties associated with uncollectibility of some receivables and some product warranties are likely to be, in part, inherent in making accounting estimates (described in paragraph .02) as well as, in part, the type of uncertainties that give rise to a contingency (described in paragraph .01). The Board believes that no useful purpose would be served by attempting to distinguish between those two types of uncertainties for purposes of establishing conditions for accrual of uncollectible receivables and product warranties. Consequently, those matters are deemed to be contingencies within the definition of paragraph .01 and should be accounted for pursuant to the provisions of this Statement.

ACCRUAL OF LOSS CONTINGENCIES

.59 Paragraph .08 requires that a loss contingency be accrued if the two specified conditions are met. The purpose of those conditions is to require accrual of losses when they are reasonably estimable and relate to the current or a prior period. The requirement that the loss be reasonably estimable is intended to prevent accrual in the financial statements of amounts so uncertain as to impair the integrity of those statements. The Board has concluded that disclosure is preferable to accrual when a reasonable estimate of loss cannot be made. Further, even losses that are reasonably estimable should not be accrued if it is not probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred at the date of an enterprise's financial statements because those losses relate to a future period rather than the current or a prior period. Attribution of a loss to events or activities of the current or prior periods is an element of asset impairment or liability incurrence.

.60 In establishing the conditions in paragraph .08, Board members considered the factors discussed in paragraphs .61—.101. Individual Board members gave greater weight to some factors than to others.

Accounting Accruals Do Not Provide Protection Against Losses

.61 Accrual of a loss related to a contingency does not create or set aside funds to lessen the possible financial impact of a loss. although some respondents to the Discussion Memorandum and the Exposure Draft argued to the contrary. The Board believes that confusion exists between accounting accruals (sometimes referred to as "accounting reserves") and the reserving or setting aside of specific assets to be used for a particular purpose or contingency. Accounting accruals are simply a method of allocating costs among accounting periods and have no effect on an enterprise's cash flow. An enterprise may choose to maintain or have access to sufficient liquid assets to replace or repair lost or damaged property or to pay claims in case a loss occurs. Alternatively, it may transfer the risk to others by purchasing insurance. Those are financial decisions, and if enterprise management decides to do neither, the presence or absence of an accrued credit balance on the balance sheet will have no effect on the consequences of that decision. The accounting standards set forth in this Statement do not affect the fundamental business economics of that decision.

.62 In that regard, some respondents to the Discussion Memorandum and the Exposure Draft contended that an accounting standard that does not permit periodic accrual of so-called "self-insurance reserves" and, in the case of insurance companies, so-called "catastrophe reserves" will force enterprises to purchase insurance or reinsurance because the "protection" afforded by the accrual would no longer exist. Those accruals, however, in no way protect the assets available to replace or repair uninsured property that may be lost or damaged, or to satisfy claims that are not covered by insurance, or, in the case of insurance companies, to satisfy the claims of insured parties. Accrual, in and of itself, provides no financial protection that is not available in the absence of accrual.

.63 The sole result of accrual, for financial accounting and reporting purposes, is allocation of costs among accounting periods. Some respondents to the Discussion Memorandum and the Exposure Draft took the position that estimated losses from loss contingencies should be accrued even before available information indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred to avoid reporting net income that fluctuates widely from period to period. In their view, financial statement users may be misled by those fluctuations. They believe that estimated losses should be accrued without regard to whether the loss relates to the current period if, based on experience, it is reasonable to expect losses sometime in the future.

.64 Financial statement users have indicated, however, that information about earnings variability is important to them. Two elements often cited as basic to the decision models of many financial statement users are (a) expected return — the predicted amount and timing of the return on an investment — and (b) risk — the variability of that expected return. If the nature of an enterprise's operations is such that irregularities in the incurrence of losses cause variations in periodic net income, that fact should not be obscured by accruing for anticipated losses that do not relate to the current period.

.65 The Board recognizes that some investors may have a preference for investments in enterprises having a stable pattern of earnings, because that indicates lesser uncertainty or risk than fluctuating earnings. That preference, in turn, is perceived by many as having a favorable effect on the market prices of those enterprises' securities. If accruals for such matters as future uninsured losses and catastrophes were prohibited, some respondents contended, enterprises would be forced to purchase insurance or reinsurance to achieve the more stable pattern of reported earnings that tends to accompany the use of an "accounting reserve." Insurance or reinsurance reduces or eliminates risks and the inherent earnings fluctuations that accompany risks. Unlike insurance and reinsurance, however, the use of "accounting reserves" does not reduce or eliminate risk. The Board rejects the contention, therefore, that the use of "accounting reserves" is an alternative to insurance and reinsurance in protecting against risk. Earnings fluctuations are inherent in risk retention, and they should be reported as they occur. The Board cannot sanction the use of an accounting procedure to create the illusion of protection from risk when, in fact, protection does not exist.

.66 The Board has also considered the argument that periodic accrual of losses without regard to whether an asset has been impaired or liability incurred is justified on grounds of comparability of financial statements among enterprises. Some respondents contended, for example, that accrual is necessary to make the financial statements of enterprises that do not purchase insurance comparable to those of enterprises that do purchase insurance (and report the premiums as expenses) and to make the financial statements of property and casualty insurance companies comparable regardless of the extent to which reinsurance has been purchased. In the Board's view, however, to report activity when there has been none would obscure a fundamental difference in circumstance between enterprises that transfer risks to others and those that do not.

Financial Accounting and Reporting Reflects Primarily the Effects of Past Transactions and Existing Conditions

.67 Financial accounting and reporting reflects primarily the effects of past transactions and existing conditions, not future transactions or conditions. For example, paragraph 35 of *APB Statement No. 4* [section 1022.27], "Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles Underlying Financial Statements of Business Enterprises," states :

Financial accounting and financial statements are primarily historical in that information about events that have taken place provides the basic data of financial accounting and financial statements. .68 The first condition in paragraph .08—that a loss contingency not be accrued until it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred — is consistent with this concept of financial accounting and financial statements. That condition is not so past-oriented that accrual of a loss must await the occurrence of the confirming future event, for example, final adjudication or settlement of a lawsuit. The condition requires only that it be probable that the confirming future event will occur. The condition is intended to prohibit the recognition of a liability when it is not probable that one has been incurred and to prohibit the accrual of an asset impairment when it is not probable that an asset of an enterprise has been impaired.

The Concept of a Liability

.69 In many cases, the accrual of a loss contingency results in the recording of a liability, for example, accruals for a probable tax assessment, a warranty obligation, or a probable loss resulting from the guarantee of indebtedness of others. In the course of its deliberations, therefore, the Board found it relevant to consider the concept of a liability as expressed in accounting literature.

.70 The economic obligations of an enterprise are defined in paragraph 58 of *APB Statement No. 4* [section 1023.19] as "its present responsibilities to transfer economic resources or provide services to other entities in the future." Two aspects of that definition are especially relevant to accounting for contingencies: first, that liabilities are *present* responsibilities and, second, that they are obligations to *other entities*. Those notions are supported by other definitions of liabilities in published accounting literature, for example:

Liabilities `are claims of creditors against the enterprise, arising out of past activities, that are to be satisfied by the disbursement or utilization of corporate resources.¹¹

¹¹ American Accounting Association, Accounting and Reporting Standards for Corporate Financial Statements and Preceding Statements and Supplements (Sarasota, Fla.: AAA, 1957), p. 16.

9206

A liability is the result of a transaction of the past, not of the future.¹²

.71 The condition in paragraph .08(a)-that a loss contingency shall be accrued if it is probabe that a liability has been incurred - is intended to proscribe recognition of losses that relate to future periods but to require accrual of losses that relate to the current or a prior period (assuming the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated -- see paragraph .08(b)).

.72 Liability definitions also generally require that the amount of an economic obligation be known or susceptible of reasonable estimation before it is recorded as a liability. For example:

[Liabilities] are measured by cash received, by the established price of noncash assets or services received, or by estimates of a definitive character when the amount owing cannot be measured more precisely.¹³

The amount of the liability must be the subject of calculation or of close estimation.¹⁴

.73 The condition in paragraph .08(b)—that an estimated loss from a loss contingency not be accrued until the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated -is consistent with this feature of the liability concept.

Accounting for Impairment of Value of Assets

.74 The accrual of some loss contingencies may result in recording the impairment of the value of an asset rather than recording a liability, for example, accruals in for expropriation of assets or uncollectible receivables.

AC § 4311.71

 ¹² Maurice Moonitz, "The Changing Concept of Liabilities," The Journal of Accountancy, May 1960, p. 44.
 ¹³ American Accounting Association, Accounting and Reporting Standards for Corporate Financial Statements, p. 16.
 ¹⁴ Maurice Moonitz, "The Changing Concept of Liabilities," p. 44.

Accounting presently recognizes impairments of the value of assets such as the following:

- a) Paragraph 9 of Chapter 3A, "Current Assets and Current Liabilities," of ARB No. 43 [section 2031.09] provides that "in the case of marketable securities where market value is less than cost by a substantial amount and it is evident that the decline in market value is not due to a mere temporary condition, the amount to be included as a current asset should not exceed the market value."
- b) Statement 5 of Chapter 4, "Inventory Pricing," of ARB No. 43 [section 5121.07—.08] states that "a departure from the cost basis of pricing the inventory is required when the utility of the goods is no longer as great as its cost.... A loss of utility is to be reflected as a charge against the revenues of the period in which it occurs."
- c) Paragraph 19(h) of APB Opinion No. 18 [section 5131.19 (h)], "The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock," states that "a loss in value of an investment which is other than a temporary decline should be recognized the same as a loss in value of other long-term assets."
- d) Paragraph 15 of APB Opinion No. 30 [section 2012.15], "Reporting the Results of Operations," states that "if a loss is expected from the proposed sale or abandonment of a segment, the estimated loss should be provided for at the measurement date. . . ." Paragraph 14 [section 2012.14] states that the measurement date is the date on which management "commits itself to a formal plan to dispose of a segment of the business, whether by sale or abandonment."
- e) Paragraph 183 of *APB Statement No. 4* [section 1027.09] states that "when enterprise assets are damaged by others, asset amounts are written down to recoverable costs and a loss is recorded."

.75 A recurring principle underlying all of these references to asset impairments in the accounting literature is that a loss should not be accrued until it is probable that an asset *has*

been impaired and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. As indicated by those references, impairment is recognized, for instance, when a non-temporary decline in the market price of marketable securities below cost has taken place, when the utility of inventory is no longer as great as its cost, when a commitment, in terms of a formal plan, has been made to abandon a segment of a business or to sell a segment at less than its carrying amount, when enterprise assets are damaged, and so forth. The condition in paragraph .08(a) is intended to proscribe accrual of losses that relate to future periods, and the condition in paragraph .08(b)further requires that the amount of loss be reasonably estimable before it is accrued.

The Matching Concept

.76 A number of respondents to the Discussion Memorandum and the Exposure Draft noted that losses from certain types of contingencies are likely to occur irregularly over an extended period of time encompassing a number of accounting periods. In their view, the matching process in accounting requires that estimated losses from those types of contingencies be accrued in each accounting period even if not directly related to events or activities of the period.

.77 APB Statement No. 4 [sections 1021-1029] explicitly avoids using the term "matching" because it has a variety of meanings in the accounting literature. In its broadest sense, matching refers to the entire process of income determination --described in paragraph 147 of APB Statement No. 4 [section 1026.11] as "identifying, measuring, and relating revenue and expenses of an enterprise for an accounting period." Matching may also be used in a more limited sense to refer only to the process of expense recognition or in an even more limited sense to refer to the recognition of expenses by associating costs with revenue on a cause and effect basis.

.78 Three pervasive principles for recognizing costs as expenses are set forth in paragraphs 156-160 of APB Statement No. 4 [section 1026.20—.24] as follows:

Associating Cause and Effect....Some costs are recognized as expenses on the basis of a presumed direct association with specific revenue...recognizing them as expenses accompanies recognition of the revenue.

Systematic and Rational Allocation.... If an asset provides benefits for several periods its cost is allocated to the periods in a systematic and rational manner in the absence of a more direct basis for associating cause and effect.

Immediate Recognition. Some costs are associated with the current accounting period as expenses because (1) costs incurred during the period provide no discernible future benefits, (2) costs recorded as assets in prior periods no longer provide discernible benefits or (3) allocating costs either on the basis of association with revenue or among several accounting periods is considered to serve no useful purpose.

.79 Some who believe that matching requires accrual of losses that are likely to occur irregularly over an extended period of time encompassing a number of accounting periods cite the systematic and rational allocation principle of expense recognition as justification for their position. That principle, however, involves the systematic and rational allocation of the cost of an asset (an asset that has been acquired) throughout the estimated periods that the asset provides benefits or the systematic and rational accrual of the amount of some obligations (obligations that have been incurred) throughout the estimated periods that the obligations are incurred. The customary depreciation of plant and equipment is an example of the former; when reasonably estimable, the accrual of vacation pay is an example of the latter. The systematic and rational allocation principle has no application to assets that are expected to be acquired in the future or to obligations that are expected to be incurred in the future.

.80 Matching, in the sense of recognizing expenses by associating costs with specific revenue on a cause and effect basis, is a consideration in relation to accrual for such matters as uncollectible receivables and warranty obligations. For example, most enterprises that make credit sales or warrant their products or services regularly incur losses from uncollectible receivables and warranty obligations. Frequently, those losses can be associated with revenue on a cause and effect basis. If the amount of those losses can be reasonably estimated, paragraph .08 of this Statement requires accrual if it is probable that an asset has been impaired (estimated uncollectible receivables) or that a liability has been incurred (estimated warranty claims).

Spreading the Burden of Irregularly Occurring Costs to Successive Generations of Customers and Shareholders

.81 Some respondents to the Discussion Memorandum and the Exposure Draft contended that all costs of doing business should be accrued in each accounting period so that successive generations of customers and shareholders would bear their share of all costs including those that occur irregularly. It would seem, however, that those irregularly occurring costs are usually borne by customers through pricing policy and that pricing is not necessarily dependent upon financial accounting and reporting practices. With regard to accrual on grounds that it enables successive generations of shareholders to bear their share of irregularly occurring costs, see paragraphs .63—.65.

Conservatism

.82 On the grounds of conservatism, some respondents supported accrual of estimated losses from loss contingencies before available information indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred. Conservatism is indicated as one of the "characteristics and limitations" of financial accounting in paragraph 35 of APB Statement No. 4 [section 1022.27] as follows:

Conservatism. The uncertainties that surround the preparation of financial statements are reflected in a general tendency toward early recognition of unfavorable events and minimization of the amount of net assets and net income.

.83 Conservatism is further discussed in paragraph 171 of APB Statement No. 4 [section 1026.35]:

Conservatism. Frequently, assets and liabilities are measured in a context of significant uncertainties. Historically, managers, investors, and accountants have generally preferred that possible errors in measurement be in the direction of understatement rather than overstatement of net income and net assets. This has led to the convention of conservatism....

.84 The conditions for accrual in paragraph .08 are not inconsistent with the accounting concept of conservatism. Those conditions are not intended to be so rigid that they require virtual certainty before a loss is accrued. They require only that it be *probable* that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred and that the amount of loss be *reasonably* estimable. In the absence of that probability or estimability, however, the Board has concluded that disclosure is preferable to accruing in the financial statements amounts so uncertain as to impair the integrity of the financial statements.

Risk of Future Loss or Damage of Enterprise Property, Injury to Others, Damage to the Property of Others, and Business Interruption

.85 Some persons contend that the decision not to purchase insurance against losses that can be reasonably expected some time in the future (such as risk of loss or damage of enterprise property, injury to others, damage to the property of others, and business interruption) justifies periodic accrual for those losses without regard to whether it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability incurred at the date of the financial statements. As a basis for their position, they frequently cite the following factors: matching of revenue and expense, spreading the burden of irregularly occurring to successive generations of customers, and costs conservatism. They also believe that accrual of estimated losses from those types of risks improves the comparability of the financial statements of enterprises that do not insure with those of enterprises that purchase insurance. Some

contend that a prohibition against periodic accrual for uninsured losses will force enterprises to purchase insurance coverage that would not otherwise be purchased.

.86 In the Board's judgment, however, the mere existence of risk, at the date of an enterprise's financial statements, does not mean that a loss should be accrued. Anticipation of asset impairments or liabilities or losses from business interruption that do not relate to the current or a prior period is not justified by the matching concept.

.87 The Board's views regarding the contention that periodic accrual for uninsured losses is a way of providing protection against loss and improving comparability among enterprises that do and do not purchase insurance, and the contention that prohibition of accrual will force enterprises to purchase insurance, are discussed in paragraphs .61—.66. The Board's position regarding periodic accrual for uninsured risks and other loss contingencies on the grounds of spreading the burden of irregularly occurring costs to successive generations of customers or on the grounds of conservatism is discussed in paragraphs .81—.84.

.88 Some respondents to the Exposure Draft said that prohibition against periodic accrual for uninsured losses would be detrimental to government contractors because requirements of Federal government agencies in auditing costs subject to procurement regulations currently allow reimbursement for periodic accruals for uninsured losses only if they are included in the contractor's financial statements. Contract reimbursement and financial accounting and reporting may well have different objectives. Accordingly, the provisions of this Statement may not be appropriate for contract reimbursement purposes.

Catastrophe Losses of Property and Casualty Insurance Companies

.89 At the time that a property and casualty insurance company or reinsurance company issues an insurance policy covering risk of loss from catastrophes, a contingency arises.

AC § 4311.86

9213

The contingency is the risk of loss *assumed* by the insurance company, that is, the risk of loss from catastrophes that may occur *during the term of the policy*.

.90 Some respondents to the Discussion Memorandum and the Exposure Draft proposed that insurance companies accrue estimated losses from catastrophes including both those that may occur during the terms of insurance policies in force and those that may occur beyond the terms of policies in force. Other respondents proposed that some portion of the premium revenue of a property and casualty insurance company be deferred beyond the terms of insurance policies in force to provide what, in substance, is an estimated liability for future castasrophe losses. Some respondents proposed that accrual of estimated losses or deferral of premiums be permitted but not required. On the some respondents to other hand. the Discussion Memorandum and the Exposure Draft were opposed to any accrual for future catastrophe losses by means of an estimated liability or deferral of premium revenue. Because those estimated liabilities and revenue deferrals have come to be referred to as "catastrophe reserves," that term will be used in paragraphs .91-.101 for convenience.

.91 In response to the Exposure Draft, it was recommended that the FASB appoint a special committee to study further the matter of catastrophe reserve accounting and to make recommendations thereon. The Board has concluded, however, that its own research and that of others (mentioned in Appendix B to this Statement and summarized in the Discussion Memorandum), the written responses received to the Discussion Memorandum, the presentations made at the public hearing, and the letters of comment on the Exposure Draft provide the Board with sufficient information with which to reach a conclusion.

.92 Proponents of catastrophe reserve accounting generally cite the following reasons for their position:

a) Catastrophes certain to occur. Over the long term, catastrophes are certain to occur; therefore, they are not contingencies.

- b) *Predictability of catastrophe losses*. On the basis of experience and by application of appropriate statistical techniques, catastrophe losses can be predicted over the long term with reasonable accuracy.
- c) *Matching.* Some portion of property and casualty insurance premiums is intended to cover losses that usually occur infrequently and at intervals longer than both the terms of the policies in force and the financial accounting and reporting period. Catastrophe losses should, therefore, be accrued when the revenue is recognized (or premiums should be deferred beyond the terms of policies in force to periods in which the catastrophes occur) to match catastrophe losses with the related revenue.
- d) Stabilization of reported income. Catastrophe reserve accounting stabilizes reported income and avoids erratic variations caused by irregularly occurring catastrophes.
- e) Comparability. Reinsurance premiums paid by a prime insurer are said to be similar to accrual of catastrophe losses prior to their occurrence because the reinsurance premiums paid reduce income before a catastrophe loss occurs. Accrual of catastrophe losses as an expense prior to occurrence of a catastrophe makes the financial statements of property and casualty insurance companies comparable regardless of the extent to which reinsurance has been purchased.
- f) Non-accrual would force purchase of reinsurance. Nonaccrual of catastrophe losses will force property and casualty insurance companies to purchase reinsurance.
- g) Generations of policyholders. Periodic accrual of estimated catastrophe losses charges each generation of policyholders with its share of the loss through the premium structure.

.93 The Board does not find those arguments persuasive. The fact that over the long term catastrophes are certain to occur does not justify accrual before the catastrophes occur. As

stated in paragraph .59, the purpose of the conditions for accrual in paragraph .08 is to require accrual of losses if they are reasonably estimable and relate to the current or a prior period. An enterprise may know with certainty, for example, next year's administrative salaries, but that does not justify accrual in the current accounting period because those salaries do not relate to that period. As indicated in paragraphs .67—.68, financial accounting and reporting reflects primarily the effects of past transactions and existing conditions, not future transactions or conditions; accrual for losses from catastrophes that are expected to occur beyond the terms of insurance policies in force would amount to accrual of a liability before one has been incurred. Existing policyholders are insured only during the period covered by their insurance contracts: an insurance company is not presently obligated to policyholders for catastrophes that may occur after expiration of their policies. Accrual for those catastrophe losses would record a liability that is inconsistent with the concept of a liability discussed in paragraphs .69-.73.

.94 The Board recognizes that the costs of catastrophes to insurance companies are large and are incurred irregularly and that insurance companies recoup those costs in the long run through periodic adjustments in the premiums charged to policyholders. It is the view of the Board, however, that the long-run nature of pricing of premiums should not be a determinant of the time when a liability is recorded.

.95 The AICPA Industry Audit Guide, "Audits of Fire and Casualty Insurance Companies," describes accounting for premiums as follows (pp. 24-25):

As soon as a policy is issued promising to indemnify for loss, the insurance company incurs a potential liability. The company may be called upon to pay the full amount of the policy, a portion of the policy, or nothing. It would be impossible to try to measure the liability under a single policy. However, since insurance is based on the law of averages, one may estimate from experience the loss on a large number of policies. As state supervision of insurance developed, the insurance departments set about providing a legal basis for determining the potential liability under outstanding policies in order to establish an ample reserve for the protection of policyholders and provide a uniform method of calculation. It was recognized that, since the premium is expected to pay losses and expenses, and provide a margin of profit over the term of the policy, the portion measured by the unexpired term should be adequate to pay policy liabilities (principally losses and loss expenses) and return premiums during the unexpired term on a uniform basis for all companies. Therefore the unearned premium was adopted as the basis for computing the unknown liability on unexpired policies.

.96 Because unearned premiums represents the "unknown liability," the Board is of the view that it is inappropriate to accrue an additional amount as an estimate for that same unknown liability. Further, in the Board's view, deferral of premiums beyond the terms of policies in force is inconsistent with the concept of revenue recognition set forth in the Audit Guide and is without any conceptual basis. Moreover, the Board believes that its conclusion regarding the time at which accruals shall be made for catastrophic losses is consistent with the Audit Guide. It should be noted that this Statement does not prohibit (and, in fact, requires) accrual of a net loss (that is, a loss in excess of deferred premiums) that probably will be incurred on insurance policies that are in force provided that the loss can be reasonably estimated, just as accrual of net losses on long-term construction-type contracts is required (see ARB No. 45 [section 4031], "Long-Term Construction-Type Contracts").

.97 With respect to catastrophes that may occur within the terms of policies in force, to satisfy the conditions for accrual in paragraph .08, the occurrence of catastrophes would have to be probable during the terms of those policies, and the amounts of losses therefrom would have to be reasonably estimable. The letters of comment and position papers received in response to the Discussion Memorandum and the Exposure Draft and presentations at the public hearing lead

the Board to conclude that neither the timing of catastrophes nor the amounts of losses therefrom are reasonably predictable within the terms of policies in force.

.98 The Board is of the view that accrual of losses from catastrophes is not justified by the accounting concept of matching. Systematic and rational allocation does not apply to costs that have not been incurred. The Board recognizes that large and irregularly occurring costs must of necessity be considered in systematically and rationally determining premiums to be charged to customers but does not believe that pricing considerations should dictate the accrual of losses for financial accounting purposes. The Board also does not believe that matching in the sense of recognizing expenses by associating losses with specific revenue on a cause and effect basis is, in and of itself, a basis for accrual of catastrophe losses prior to the event causing the loss. The Board believes that, for the reasons stated in paragraphs .94-.96, there can be no presumed direct association with specific revenue prior to the event causing the catastrophe loss.

.100 The argument that accrual of catastrophe reserves enables each generation of policyholders to bear its share of the losses through the premiums that it is charged is also questionable because amounts established for premiums are not necessarily dependent on financial accounting and reporting practices.

.101 The Board considered the proposal that catastrophe reserve accounting be permitted but not made mandatory. Whether it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability incurred is determined by the circumstances, not by choice. Accordingly, the conditions for accrual in paragraph .08 apply to all loss contingencies, including risk of loss from catastrophes assumed by property and casualty insurance companies and reinsurance companies. In the Board's view, the use of different methods to report catastrophe losses in similar circumstances cannot be justified.

APPLICABILITY TO LIFE INSURANCE COMPANIES

.102 Some respondents to the Exposure Draft inquired as to whether the conditions for accrual in paragraph .08 are intended to change accounting practices of life insurance companies. This Statement does not amend the AICPA Industry Audit Guide, "Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies."

DISCLOSURE OF NONINSURANCE

.103 A number of respondents to the Exposure Draft inquired as to whether it is the Board's intent to require disclosure of noninsurance or underinsurance. Some recommended that the Board require disclosures with respect to uninsured risks that enterprises ordinarily insure against. Others said that they were unable to define risks that would ordinarily be insured against because the insurance practices of enterprises are so varied. Because of the problems involved in developing operational criteria for disclosure of noninsured or underinsured risks, this Statement does not require disclosure of uninsured risks. However, the Board does not discourage those disclosures in appropriate circumstances.

EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION

.104 The Board considered three alternative approaches to a change in the method of accounting for contingencies: (1) prior period adjustment, (2) the "cumulative effect" method described in *APB Opinion No. 20* [section 1051], "Accounting Changes," and (3) retention of amounts accrued for contingencies that do not meet the conditions for accrual in paragraph .08 until

AC § 4311.102

those amounts are exhausted by actual losses charged thereto. The Exposure Draft had proposed the change be effected by the prior period adjustment method. A large number of respondents to the Exposure Draft, however, opposed the prior period adjustment method for a number of reasons, including significant difficulties involved in determining the degree of probability and estimability that had existed in prior periods as would have been required if the conditions in paragraph .08 were applied retroactively. On further consideration of all the circumstances, the Board has concluded that use of the "cumulative effect" method described in *APB Opinion No. 20* [section 1051] represents a satisfactory solution and has concluded that the effective date in paragraph .20 is advisable. Section

... receivable accounts ... inventories ... intercorporate investments . . . intangible assets

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Paragraph

5110 Receivable Accou	counts:
-----------------------	---------

- 5111 Receivables from Officers, Employees or Affiliated **Companies**
- 5120 Inventories

5121	Inventory Pricing	
	Statement 1 (definition of inventory) Discussion	.03
	Statement 2 (objective of accounting for inventories) Discussion	.04
	Statement 3 (primary basis of accounting for inventories) Discussion	.05
	Statement 4 (assumptions as to the flow of cost factors) Discussion	.06 07
	Statement 5 (departure from cost basis) Discussion	.08
	Statement 6 (definition of market) Discussion	.0910
	Statement 7 (application of rule of cost or market) Discussion	.1114
	Statement 8 (consistent application) Discussion	.15
	Statement 9 (exceptional cases) Discussion	.16
	Statement 10 (losses on purchase commitments) Discussion	.17
5130	Intercorporate Investments	

5131	The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock		
	Introduction		
	Discussion		
	Opinion		
	Effective Date		
AICPA Pro	ofessional Standards Contents		

Section	Pa	ragraph
5140	Intangible Assets	
5141	Accounting for Intangible Assets	
	Summary	.0109
	Problem	.0103
	Scope and Effect of Opinion	.0408
	Conclusions	
	Background	.1023
	Bases of Classification	
	Present Accounting	.1114
	Accounting for Costs at Acquisition	
	Accounting for Deferred Costs After Acquisition	
	Criticism of Present Practice	.14
	Appraisal of Alternative Procedures	.1523
	Cost of Intangible Assets	
	Treatment of Costs	-
	Arguments for nonamortization	
	Accounting on the Historical-Cost Basis A Practical Solution	
	Opinion	
	Acquisition of Intangible Assets	
	Cost of intangible assets	
	Amortization of Intangible Assets	
	Method of amortization	.30
	Subsequent review of amortization	.31
	Disposal of Goodwill	.32
	Effective Date	.3335

→ The next page is 9321. ← ₩

AC Section 5111

Receivables from Officers, Employees or Affiliated Companies

[Source: ARB No. 43, Chap. 1A, Par. 5.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: 1934¹

.01 Notes or accounts receivable due from officers, employees, or affiliated companies must be shown separately and not included under a general heading such as notes receivable or accounts receivable.

₩ → The next page is 9341. <-₩

¹ The above rule was adopted by the membership of the Institute in 1934. It had been recommended in 1932 to the New York Stock Exchange by the Institute's committee on cooperation with stock exchanges.

9341

AC Section 5121 Inventory Pricing [Source: ARB No. 43, Chap. 4, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1953

.01 Whenever the operation of a business includes the ownership of a stock of goods, it is necessary for adequate financial accounting purposes that inventories be properly compiled periodically and recorded in the accounts.' Such inventories are required both for the statement of financial position and for the periodic measurement of income.

.02 This section sets forth the general principles applicable to the pricing of inventories of mercantile and manufacturing enterprises. Its conclusions are not directed to or necessarily applicable to noncommercial businesses or to regulated utilities.

STATEMENT 1

The term *inventory* is used herein to designate the aggregate of those items of tangible personal property which (1) are held for sale in the ordinary course of business, (2) are in process of production for such sale, or (3) are to be currently consumed in the production of goods or services to be available for sale.

Discussion

.03 The term *inventory* embraces goods awaiting sale (the merchandise of a trading concern and the finished goods of a manufacturer), goods in the course of production (work in process), and goods to be consumed directly or indirectly in production (raw materials and supplies). This definition of inventories excludes long-term assets subject to depreciation accounting, or goods which, when put into use, will be so classified. The fact that a depreciable asset is retired from regular use and held for sale does not indicate that the item should be classified as part of the inventory. Raw materials and supplies purchased for

85.5

¹ Prudent reliance upon perpetual inventory records is not precluded.

production may be used or consumed for the construction of long-term assets or other purposes not related to production, but the fact that inventory items representing a small portion of the total may not be absorbed ultimately in the production process does not require separate classification. By trade practice, operating materials and supplies of certain types of companies such as oil producers are usually treated as inventory.

STATEMENT 2

A major objective of accounting for inventories is the proper determination of income through the process of matching appropriate costs against revenues.

Discussion

.04 An inventory has financial significance because revenues may be obtained from its sale, or from the sale of the goods or services in whose production it is used. Normally such revenues arise in a continuous repetitive process or cycle of operations by which goods are acquired and sold, and further goods are acquired for additional sales. In accounting for the goods in the inventory at any point of time, the major objective is the matching of appropriate costs against revenues in order that there may be a proper determination of the realized income. Thus, the inventory at ony given date is the balance of costs applicable to goods on hand remaining after the matching of absorbed costs with concurrent revenues. This balance is appropriately carried to future periods provided it does not exceed an amount properly chargeable against the revenues expected to be obtained from ultimate disposition of the goods carried forward. In practice, this balance is determined by the process of pricing the articles comprised in the inventory.

STATEMENT 3

The primary basis of accounting for inventories is cost, which has been defined generally as the price paid or consideration given to acquire an asset. As applied to inventories, cost means in principle the sum of the applicable expenditures

AC § 5121.04

^{. © 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Inventory Pricing

and charges directly or indirectly incurred in bringing an article to its existing condition and location.

Discussion

.05 In keeping with the principle that accounting is primarily based on cost, there is a presumption that inventories should be stated at cost. The definition of cost as applied to inventories is understood to mean acquisition and production cost,² and its determination involves many problems. Although principles for the determination of inventory costs may be easily stated, their application, particularly to such inventory items as work in process and finished goods, is difficult because of the variety of problems encountered in the allocation of costs and charges. For example, under some circumstances, items such as idle facility expense, excessive spoilage, double freight, and rehandling costs may be so abnormal as to require treatment as current period charges rather than as a portion of the inventory cost. Also, general and administrative expenses should be included as period charges, except for the portion of such expenses that may be clearly related to production and thus constitute a part of inventory costs (product charges). Selling expenses constitute no part of inventory costs. It should also be recognized that the exclusion of all overheads from inventory costs does not constitute an accepted accounting procedure. The exercise of judgment in an individual situation involves a consideration of the adequacy of the procedures of the cost accounting system in use, the soundness of the principles thereof, and their consistent application.

STATEMENT 4

Cost for inventory purposes may be determined under any one of several assumptions as to the flow of cost factors (such as first-in first-out, average, and last-in first-out); the major objective in selecting a method should be to choose the one which, under the circumstances, most clearly reflects periodic income.

³ In the case of goods which have been written down below cost at the close of a fiscal period, such reduced amount is to be considered the cost for subsequent accounting purposes.

Discussion

.06 The cost to be matched against revenue from a sale may not be the identified cost of the specific item which is sold, especially in cases in which similar goods are purchased at different times and at different prices. While in some lines of business specific lots are clearly identified from the time of purchase through the time of sale and are costed on this basis, ordinarily the identity of goods is lost between the time of acquisition and the time of sale. In any event, if the materials purchased in various lots are identical and interchangeable, the use of identified cost of the various lots may not produce the most useful financial statements. This fact has resulted in the development of general acceptance of several assumptions with respect to the flow of cost factors (such as first-in first-out, average, and last-in first-out) to provide practical bases for the measurement of periodic income.³ In some situations a reversed mark-up procedure of inventory pricing, such as the retail inventory method, may be both practical and appropriate. The business operations in some cases may be such as to make it desirable to apply one of the acceptable methods of determining cost to one portion of the inventory or components thereof and another of the acceptable methods to other portions of the inventory.

.07 Although selection of the method should be made on the basis of the individual circumstances, it is obvious that financial statements will be more useful if uniform methods of inventory pricing are adopted by all companies within a given industry.

STATEMENT 5

A departure from the cost basis of pricing the inventory is required when the utility of the goods is no longer as great as its cost. Where there is evidence that the utility of goods, in their disposal in the ordinary course of business, will be less than

AC § 5121.06

³ Standard costs are acceptable if adjusted at reasonable intervals to reflect current conditions so that at the balance-sheet date standard costs reasonably approximate costs computed under one of the recognized bases. In such cases descriptive language should be used which will express this relationship, as, for instance, "approximate costs determined on the first-in first-out basis," or, if it is desired to mention standard costs, "at standard costs, approximating average costs."

cost, whether due to physical deterioration, obsolescence, changes in price levels, or other causes, the difference should be recognized as a loss of the current period. This is generally accomplished by stating such goods at a lower level commonly designated as *market*.

Discussion

.08 Although the cost basis ordinarily achieves the objective of a proper matching of costs and revenues, under certain circumstances cost may not be the amount properly chargeable against the revenues of future periods. A departure from cost is required in these circumstances because cost is satisfactory only if the utility of the goods has not diminished since their acquisition: a loss of utility is to be reflected as a charge against the revenues of the period in which it occurs. Thus, in accounting for inventories, a loss should be recognized whenever the utility of goods is impaired by damage, deterioration, obsolescence, changes in price levels, or other causes. The measurement of such losses is accomplished by applying the rule of pricing inventories at cost or market, whichever is lower. This provides a practical means of measuring utility and thereby determining the amount of the loss to be recognized and accounted for in the current period.

STATEMENT 6

As used in the phrase *lower of cost or market* ' the term *market* means current replacement cost (by purchase or by reproduction, as the case may be) except that:

(1) Market should not exceed the net realizable value (i.e., estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less reasonably predictable costs of completion and disposal); and

(2) Market should not be less than net realizable value reduced by an allowance for an approximately normal profit margin.

^{&#}x27;The terms cost or market, whichever is lower and lower of cost or market are used synonymously in general practice and in this section. The committee does not express any preference for either of the two alternatives.

Discussion

The rule of cost or market, whichever is lower is .09 intended to provide a means of measuring the residual usefulness of an inventory expenditure. The term market is therefore to be interpreted as indicating utility on the inventory date and may be thought of in terms of the equivalent expenditure which would have to be made in the ordinary course at that date to procure corresponding utility. As a general guide, utility is indicated primarily by the current cost of replacement of the goods as they would be obtained by purchase or reproduction. In applying the rule, however, judgment must always be exercised and no loss should be recognized unless the evidence indicates clearly that a loss has been sustained. There are therefore exceptions to such a standard. Replacement or reproduction prices would not be appropriate as a measure of utility when the estimated sales value, reduced by the costs of completion and disposal, is lower, in which case the realizable value so determined more appropriately measures utility. Furthermore, where the evidence indicates that cost will be recovered with an approximately normal profit upon sale in the ordinary course of business, no loss should be recognized even though replacement or reproduction costs are lower. This might be true, for example, in the case of production under firm sales contracts at fixed prices, or when a reasonable volume of future orders is assured at stable selling prices.

.10 Because of the many variations of circumstances encountered in inventory pricing, Statement 6 is intended as a guide rather than a literal rule. It should be applied realistically in the light of the objectives expressed in this section and with due regard to the form, content, and composition of the inventory. The committee considers, for example, that the retail inventory method, if adequate markdowns are currently taken, accomplishes the objectives described herein. It also recognizes that, if a business is expected to lose money for a sustained period, the inventory should not be written down to offset a loss inherent in the subsequent operations.

AC § 5121.09

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

STATEMENT 7

Depending on the character and composition of the inventory, the rule of cost or market, whichever is lower may properly be applied either directly to each item or to the total of the inventory (or, in some cases, to the total of the components of each major category). The method should be that which most clearly reflects periodic income.

Discussion

.11 The purpose of reducing inventory to market is to reflect fairly the income of the period. The most common practice is to apply the lower of cost or market rule separately to each item of the inventory. However, if there is only one end-product category the cost utility of the total stock-the inventory in its entirety-may have the greatest significance for accounting purposes. Accordingly, the reduction of individual items to market may not always lead to the most useful result if the utility of the total inventory to the business is not below its cost. This might be the case if selling prices are not affected by temporary or small fluctuations in current costs of purchase or manufacture. Similarly, where more than one major product or operational category exists, the application of the cost or market, whichever is lower rule to the total of the items included in such major categories may result in the most useful determination of income.

.12 When no loss of income is expected to take place as a result of a reduction of cost prices of certain goods because others forming components of the same general categories of finished products have a market equally in excess of cost, such components need not be adjusted to market to the extent that they are in balanced quantities. Thus, in such cases, the rule of cost or market, whichever is lower may be applied directly to the totals of the entire inventory, rather than to the individual inventory items, if they enter into the same category of finished product and if they are in balanced quantities, provided the procedure is applied consistently from year to year.

.13 To the extent, however, that the stocks of particular materials or components are excessive in relation to others, the more widely recognized procedure of applying the lower of cost or market to the individual items constituting the excess should be followed. This would also apply in cases in which the items enter into the production of unrelated products or products having a material variation in the rate of turnover. Unless an effective method of classifying categories is practicable, the rule should be applied to each item in the inventory.

.14 When substantial and unusual losses result from the application of this rule it will frequently be desirable to disclose the amount of the loss in the income statement as a charge separately identified from the consumed inventory costs described as *cost of goods sold*.

STATEMENT 8

The basis of stating inventories must be consistently applied and should be disclosed in the financial statements; whenever a significant change is made therein, there should be disclosure of the nature of the change and, if material, the effect on income in accordance with section 1051, *Accounting Changes*. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after July 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 20.]

Discussion

.15 While the basis of stating inventories does not affect the over-all gain or loss on the ultimate disposition of inventory items, any inconsistency in the selection or employment of a basis may improperly affect the periodic amounts of income or loss. Because of the common use and importance of periodic statements, a procedure adopted for the treatment of inventory items should be consistently applied in order that the results reported may be fairly allocated as between years. A change of such basis may have an important effect upon the interpretation of the financial statements both before and after that change, and hence, in the event of a change, a full disclosure of its nature and of its effect, if material, upon income should be made. (See also section 2031.09.)

STATEMENT 9

Only in exceptional cases may inventories properly be stated above cost. For example, pre-

AC § 5121.14

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

cions metals having a fixed monetary value with no substantial cost of marketing may be stated at such monetary value; any other exceptions must be justifiable by inability to determine appropriate approximate costs, immediate marketability at quoted market price, and the characteristic of unit interchangeability. Where goods are stated above cost this fact should be fully disclosed.

Discussion

.16 It is generally recognized that income accrues only at the time of sale, and that gains may not be anticipated by reflecting assets at their current sales prices. For certain articles, however, exceptions are permissible. Inventories of gold and silver, when there is an effective governmentcontrolled market at a fixed monetary value, are ordinarily reflected at selling prices. A similar treatment is not uncommon for inventories representing agricultural, mineral. and other products, units of which are interchangeable and have an immediate marketability at quoted prices and for which appropriate costs may be difficult to obtain. Where such inventories are stated at sales prices, they should of course be reduced by expenditures to be incurred in disposal, and the use of such basis should be fully disclosed in the financial statements.

STATEMENT 10

Accrued net losses on firm purchase commitments for goods for inventory, measured in the same way as are inventory losses, should, if material, be recognized in the accounts and the amounts thereof separately disclosed in the income statement.

Discussion

.17 The recognition in a current period of losses arising from the decline in the utility of cost expenditures is equally applicable to similar losses which are expected to arise from firm, uncancelable, and unhedged commitments for the future purchase of inventory items. The net loss on such commitments should be measured in the same way as are inventory losses and, if material, should be recognized

AICPA Professional Standards

in the accounts and separately disclosed in the income statement. The utility of such commitments is not impaired, and hence there is no loss, when the amounts to be realized from the disposition of the future inventory items are adequately protected by firm sales contracts or when there are other circumstances which reasonably assure continuing sales without price decline.

 \implies The next page is 9371. $\leftarrow \implies$

AC § 5121.17

AC Section 5131 The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock [Source: APB Opinion No. 18, gs gmended.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971, unless otherwise indicated ¹

INTRODUCTION

.01 The Accounting Principles Board expresses in this section its views on the equity method of accounting for investments in common stock. This section clarifies the applicability of the equity method of accounting (paragraph .06b) to investments in common stock of subsidiaries and extends the applicability of the equity method of accounting to investments in common stock of corporate joint ventures and certain other investments in common stock. The section also applies to investments reported in parent-company financial statements when such statements are prepared for issuance to stockholders as the financial statements of the primary reporting entity.³

.02 This section does not apply to investments in common stock held by (a) investment companies registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 or investment companies which would be included under the Act (including small business investment companies) except that the number of stockholders is limited and the securities are not offered publicly, or (b) nonbusiness entities, such as estates, trusts and individuals. The section also does not apply to investments in common stock other than those described in the section.

- .03 Several terms are used in this section as indicated:
- a. "Investor" refers to a business entity that holds an investment in voting stock of another company.

¹See paragraph .21.

³ An accounting research study on the broader subject of accounting for intercorporate investments is now in process and will encompass the matters on parent-company financial statements and on consolidated financial statements covered in section 2051 and in section 1081.

Assets

- b. "Investee" refers to a corporation that issued voting stock held by an investor.
- c. "Subsidiary" refers to a corporation which is controlled, directly or indirectly, by another corporation. The usual condition for control is ownership of a majority (over 50%) of the outstanding voting stock. The power to control may also exist with a lesser percentage of ownership, for example, by contract, lease, agreement with other stockholders or by court decree.
- d. "Corporate joint venture" refers to a corporation owned and operated by a small group of businesses (the "joint venturers") as a separate and specific business or project for the mutual benefit of the members of the group. A government may also be a member of the group. The purpose of a corporate joint venture frequently is to share risks and rewards in developing a new market, product or technology; to combine complementary technological knowledge; or to pool resources in developing production or other facilities. A corporate joint venture also usually provides an arrangement under which each joint venturer may participate, directly or indirectly, in the overall management of the joint venture. Joint venturers thus have an interest or relationship other than as passive investors. An entity which is a subsidiary of one of the "joint venturers" is not a corporate joint venture. The ownership of a corporate joint venture seldom changes, and its stock is usually not traded publicly. A minority public ownership, however, does not preclude a corporation from being a corporate joint venture.
- e. "Dividends" refers to dividends paid or payable in cash, other assets, or another class of stock and does not include stock dividends or stock splits.
- f. "Earnings or losses of an investee" and "financial position of an investee" refer to net income (or net loss) and financial position of an investee determined in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

AC § 5131.03

DISCUSSION

.04 Section 2051.02 states that: "There is a presumption that consolidated statements are more meaningful than separate statements and that they are usually necessary for a fair presentation when one of the companies in the group directly or indirectly has a controlling financial interest in the other companies." Consolidated financial statements combine the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of subsidiaries with the corresponding items of the parent company. Intercompany items are eliminated to avoid double counting and prematurely recognizing income. Consolidated financial statements report the financial position and results of operations of the parent company and its subsidiaries as an economic entity. In practice, consolidation has been limited to subsidiary companies, although under certain circumstances valid reasons may exist for omitting a subsidiary from consolidation.³

.05 Investments are sometimes held in stock of companies other than subsidiaries, namely corporate joint ventures and other noncontrolled corporations. These investments are usually accounted for by one of two methods the cost method or the equity method. While practice varies to some extent, the cost method is generally followed for most investments in noncontrolled corporations, in some corporate joint ventures, and to a lesser extent in unconsolidated subsidiaries, particularly foreign. The equity method is generally followed for investments in unconsolidated domestic subsidiaries, some corporate joint ventures and some noncontrolled corporations. An adaptation of the cost method, the lower of cost or market, has also been followed for investments in certain marketable securities if a decline in market value is evidently not a mere temporary condition.

.06 A summary of the two principal methods of accounting for the investments in common stock discussed in this section follows:

a. The cost method. An investor records an investment in the stock of an investee at cost, and recognizes as income dividends received that are distributed from net accumulated earnings of the investee since the date of acquisition by the investor. The net accumu-

^{*} See section 2051.03-.04 and section 1081.08.

lated earnings of an investee subsequent to the date of investment are recognized by the investor only to the extent distributed by the investee as dividends. Dividends received in excess of earnings subsequent to the date of investment are considered a return of investment and are recorded as reductions of cost of the investment. A series of operating losses of an investee or other factors may indicate that a decrease in value of the investment has occurred which is other than temporary and should accordingly be recognized.

b. The equity method. An investor initially records an investment in the stock of an investee at cost, and adjusts the carrying amount of the investment to recognize the investor's share of the earnings or losses of the investee after the date of acquisition. The amount of the adjustment is included in the determination of net income by the investor, and such amount reflects adjustments similar to those made in preparing consolidated statements including adjustments to eliminate intercompany gains and losses, and to amortize, if appropriate, any difference between investor cost and underlying equity in net assets of the investee at the date of investment. The investment of an investor is also adjusted to reflect the investor's share of changes in the investee's capital. Dividends received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment. A series of operating losses of an investee or other factors may indicate that a decrease in value of the investment has occurred which is other than temporary and which should be recognized even though the decrease in value is in excess of what would otherwise be recognized by application of the equity method.

.07 Under the cost method of accounting for investments in common stock, dividends are the basis for recognition by an investor of earnings from an investment. Financial statements of an investor prepared under the cost method may not reflect substantial changes in the affairs of an investee. Dividends included in income of an investor for a period may be unrelated to the earnings (or losses) of

AC § 5131.07

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

an investee for that period. For example, an investee may pay no dividends for several periods and then pay dividends substantially in excess of the earnings of a period. Losses of an investee of one period may be offset against earnings of another period because the investor reports neither in results of operations at the time they are reported by the investee. Some dividends received from an investee do not cover the carrying costs of an investment whereas the investor's share of the investee's earnings more than covers those costs. Those characteristics of the cost method may prevent an investment in common stock—either cumulatively or in the appropriate periods.

.08 Corporations have increasingly established or participated in corporate joint venture arrangements or taken substantial positions (but less than majority ownership) in other corporations. The significant increase in the number of intercorporate investments of less than majority ownership of voting stock has broadened interest in reflecting earnings from investments on a more timely basis than by receipt of dividends. Some hold that such investments should be accounted for at market value and that this basis of accounting is most appropriate, whether market value is lower than or higher than cost. Others hold that the equity method is the most appropriate basis of accounting for some or all investments of that type.

.09 Under the market value method, an investor recognizes both dividends received and changes in market prices of the stock of the investee company as earnings or losses from an investment. Dividends received are accounted for as part of income from the investment. In addition, an investor adjusts the carrying amount of its investment based on the market value of the investee's stock. Change in market value since the preceding reporting date is included in results of operations of the investor. Reporting of investments in common stock at market value (or at approximate fair value if market value is not available) is considered to meet most closely the objective of reporting the economic consequences of holding the investment. However, the market value method is now used only in special circumstances. While the Board believes the market value method provides the best presentation of investments

in some situations, it concludes that further study is necessary before the market value method is extended beyond current practice.

.10 Under the equity method, an investor recognizes its share of the earnings or losses of an investee in the periods for which they are reported by the investee in its financial statements rather than in the period in which an investee declares a dividend. An investor adjusts the carrying amount of an investment for its share of the earnings or losses of the investee subsequent to the date of investment and reports the recognized earnings or losses in income. Dividends received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Thus, the equity method is an appropriate means of recognizing increases or decreases measured by generally accepted accounting principles in the economic resources underlying the investments. Furthermore, the equity method of accounting more closely meets the objectives of accrual accounting than does the cost method since the investor recognizes its share of the earnings and losses of the investee in the periods in which they are reflected in the accounts of the investee.

.11 Under the equity method, an investment in common stock is generally shown in the balance sheet of an investor as a single amount. Likewise, an investor's share of earnings or losses from its investment is ordinarily shown in its income statement as a single amount.

.12 The equity method tends to be most appropriate if an investment enables the investor to influence the operating or financial decisions of the investee. The investor then has a degree of responsibility for the return on its investment, and it is appropriate to include in the results of operations of the investor its share of the earnings or losses of the investee. Influence tends to be more effective as the investor's percent of ownership in the voting stock of the investee increases. Investments of relatively small percentages of voting stock of an investee tend to be passive in nature and enable the investor to have little or no influence on the operations of the investee.

.13 Some hold the view that neither the market value method nor the equity method is appropriate accounting for investments in common stock where the investor holds less

than majority ownership of the voting stock. They would account for such investments at cost. Under that view the investor is not entitled to recognize earnings on its investment until a right to claim the earnings arises, and that claim arises only to the extent dividends are declared. The investor is considered to have no earnings on its investment unless it is in a position to control the distribution of earnings. Likewise, an investment or an investor's operations are not affected by losses of an investee unless those losses indicate a loss in value of the investment that should be recognized.

OPINION

.14 The Board reaffirms the conclusion that investors should account for investments in common stock of unconsolidated domestic subsidiaries by the equity method in consolidated financial statements, and the Board now extends this conclusion to investments in common stock of all unconsolidated subsidiaries (foreign as well as domestic) in consolidated financial statements. The equity method is not, however, a valid substitute for consolidation and should not be used to justify exclusion of a subsidiary when consolidation is otherwise appropriate. The Board also concludes that parent companies should account for investments in the common stock of subsidiaries by the equity method in parent-company financial statements prepared for issuance to stockholders as the financial statements of the primary reporting entity.⁴

.15 In APB Opinion No. 10, paragraph 4, the Board stated that the accounts of subsidiaries (regardless of when organized or acquired) whose principal business activity is leasing property or facilities to parent or other affiliated companies should be consolidated. The Board also concluded that the equity method is not adequate for the fair

⁴Section 2051.03-.04 and section 1081.08 describe, at ong other things, the conditions under which a subsidiary should or might not be consolidated. The limitations on consolidation described in section 2051.03 and section 1081.08, should also be applied as limitations to the use of the equity method. The Board has deferred further consideration of the treatment of foreign subsidiaries in consolidated statements and the treatment of all subsidiaries in parent-company statements that are not prepared for issuance to stockholders as the financial statements of the primary reporting entity until the accounting research study on intercorporate investments is published. In the meantime, the provisions of section 1081 continue in effect. The conclusions in paragraph .14 of this section apply to investments in foreign subsidiaries unless those companies are operating under conditions of exchange restrictions, controls or other uncertainties of a type that would affect decisions as to consolidation or application of the equity method; if those conditions exist, the cost method should be followed.

Assets

presentation of those subsidiaries because their assets and liabilities are significant to the consolidated financial position of the enterprise. The Board reaffirms those conclusions.⁵

.16 The Board concludes that the equity method best enables investors in corporate joint ventures to reflect the underlying nature of their investment in those ventures. Therefore, investors should account for investments in common stock of corporate joint ventures by the equity method, both in consolidated financial statements and in parent-company financial statements prepared for issuance to stockholders as the financial statements of the primary reporting entity.⁶

.17 The Board concludes that the equity method of accounting for an investment in common stock should also be followed by an investor whose investment in voting stock gives it the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies of an investee even though the investor holds 50% or less of the voting stock. Ability to exercise that influence may be indicated in several ways, such as representation on the board of directors, participation in policy making processes, material intercompany transactions, interchange of managerial personnel, or technological dependency. Another important consideration is the extent of ownership by an investor in relation to the concentration of other shareholdings, but substantial or majority ownership of the voting stock of an investee by another investor does not necessarily preclude the ability to exercise significant influence by the investor. The Board recognizes that determining the ability of an investor to exercise such influence is not always clear and applying judgment is necessary to assess the status of each investment. In order to achieve a reasonable degree of uniformity in application, the Board concludes that an investment (direct or indirect) of 20% or more of the voting stock of

⁶ The equity method should not be applied to the investments described in this paragraph insofar as the limitations on the use of the equity method outlined in footnote 4 would be applicable to investments other than those in subsidiaries.

AC § 5131.16

⁶ The Board is giving further consideration to the accounting treatment of lease transactions. In the meantime, it has deferred expressing an opinion on the inclusion in consolidated financial statements of leasing companies in which the equity interest, usually nominal at the time of organization, is held by third parties, but in which the principal lessee, through options or by similar devices, possesses or has the power to obtain the economic benefits of ownership from the lease arrangements. That deferment does not affect the applicability of section 5351.12.

an investee should lead to a presumption that in the absence of evidence to the contrary an investor has the ability to exercise significant influence over an investee. Conversely, an investment of less than 20% of the voting stock of an investee should lead to a presumption that an investor does not have the ability to exercise significant influence unless such ability can be demonstrated. When the equity method is appropriate, it should be applied in consolidated financial statements and in parent-company financial statements prepared for issuance to stockholders as the financial statements of the primary reporting entity.⁷

.18 An investor's voting stock interest in an investee should be based on those currently outstanding securities whose holders have present voting privileges. Potential voting privileges which may become available to holders of securities of an investee should be disregarded. An investor's share of the carnings or losses of an investee should be based on the shares of common stock held by an investor without recognition of securities of the investee which are designated as "common stock equivalents" under section 2011.⁸

.19 Applying the equity method. The difference between consolidation and the equity method lies in the details reported in the financial statements. Thus, an investor's net income for the period and its stockholders' equity at the end of the period are the same whether an investment in a subsidiary is accounted for under the equity method or the subsidiary is consolidated (except as indicated in paragraph .19 i). The procedures set forth below should be followed by an investor in applying the equity method of accounting to investments in common stock of unconsoli-

[†] The equity method should not be applied to the investments described in this paragraph insofar as the limitations on the use of the equity method outlined in footnote 4 would be applicable to investments other than those in subsidiaries.

¹¹¹ Substitutes: * Section 2011.39 states: "The designation of securities as common stock equivalents in this section is solely for the purpose of determining primary earnings per share. No changes from present practices are recommended in the accounting for such securities, in their presentation within the financial statements or in the manner of determining net assets per common share. Information is available in the financial statements and elsewhere for readers to make judgments as to the present and potential status of the various securities outstanding." Sections 2011A.20-.24 discuss the treatment of common stock equivalents of subsidiaries in computing earnings per share of a parent company. The provisions of those paragraphs also apply to investments in common stock of corporate joint ventures and investee companies accounted for under the equity method.

dated subsidiaries, corporate joint ventures, and other investees which qualify for the equity method:

- a. Intercompany profits and losses should be eliminated until realized by the investor or investee as if a subsidiary, corporate joint venture or investee company were consolidated.
- b. A difference between the cost of an investment and the amount of underlying equity in net assets of an investee should be accounted for as if the investee were a consolidated subsidiary.⁹
- c. The investment(s) in common stock should be shown in the balance sheet of an investor as a single amount, and the investor's share of earnings or losses of an investee(s) should ordinarily be shown in the income statement as a single amount except for the extraordinary items as specified in (d) below.
- d. The investor's share of extraordinary items and its share of prior-period adjustments reported in the financial statements of the investee in accordance with sections 2010 and 2012 should be classified in a similar manner unless they are immaterial in the income statement of the investor. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.]
- e. A transaction of an investee of a capital nature that affects the investor's share of stockholders' equity of the investee should be accounted for as if the investee were a consolidated subsidiary.
- f. Sales of stock of an investee by an investor should be accounted for as gains or losses equal to the difference at the time of sale between selling price and carrying amount of the stock sold.
- g. If financial statements of an investee are not sufficiently timely for an investor to apply the equity method currently, the investor ordinarily should record its share of the earnings or losses of an investee from the most recent available financial statements. A lag in reporting should be consistent from period to period.

AC § 5131.19

⁹ For investments made prior to November 1, 1970, the effective date of section 5141, investors are not required to amortize any goodwill in the absence of evidence that the goodwill has a limited term of existence; prospective amortization of such goodwill is encouraged.

- h. A loss in value of an investment which is other than a temporary decline should be recognized the same as a loss in value of other long-term assets. Evidence of a loss in value might include, but would not necessarily be limited to, absence of an ability to recover the carrying amount of the investment or inability of the investee to sustain an earnings capacity which would justify the carrying amount of the investment. A current fair value of an investment that is less than its carrying amount may indicate a loss in value of the investment. However, a decline in the quoted market price below the carrying amount or the existence of operating losses is not necessarily indicative of a loss in value that is other than temporary. All are factors to be evaluated.
- i. An investor's share of losses of an investee may equal or exceed the carrying amount of an investment accounted for by the equity method plus advances made by the investor. The investor ordinarily should discontinue applying the equity method when the investment (and net advances) is reduced to zero and should not provide for additional losses unless the investor has guaranteed obligations of the investee or is otherwise committed to provide further financial support for the investee.¹⁰ If the investee subsequently reports net income, the investor should resume applying the equity method only after its share of that net income equals the share of net losses not recognized during the period the equity method was suspended.
- [j.] [Superseded, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971 by APB Opinion No. 23.]¹¹
 - k. When an investee has outstanding cumulative preferred stock, an investor should compute its share of earnings (losses) after deducting the investee's preferred dividends, whether or not such dividends are declared.

²⁰ An investor should, however, provide for additional losses when the imminent return to profitable operations by an investee appears to be assured. For example, a material, nonrecurring loss of an isolated nature may reduce an investment below zero even though the underlying profitable operating pattern of an investee is unimpaired.

[&]quot;See section 4095.

- 1. An investment in voting stock of an investee company may fall below the level of ownership described in paragraph .17 from sale of a portion of an investment by the investor, sale of additional stock by an investee, or other transactions and the investor may thereby lose the ability to influence policy, as described in that paragraph. An investor should discontinue accruing its share of the earnings or losses of the investee for an investment that no longer qualifies for the equity method. The earnings or losses that relate to the stock retained by the investor and that were previously accrued should remain as a part of the carrying amount of the investment. The investment account should not be adjusted retroactively under the conditions described in this subparagraph. However, dividends received by the investor in subsequent periods which exceed his share of earnings for such periods should be applied in reduction of the carrying amount of the investment (see paragraph .06a).
- m. An investment in common stock of an investee that was previously accounted for on other than the equity method may become qualified for use of the equity method by an increase in the level of ownership described in paragraph .17 (i. e., acquisition of additional voting stock by the investor, acquisition or retirement of voting stock by the investee, or other transactions). When an investment qualifies

for use of the equity method, the investor should adopt the equity method of accounting. The investment, results of operations (current and prior periods presented), and retained earnings of the investor should be adjusted retroactively in a manner consistent with the accounting for a step-by-step acquisition of a subsidiary.

n. The carrying amount of an investment in common stock of an investee that qualifies for the equity method of accounting as described in subparagraph (m) may differ from the underlying equity in net assets of the investee. The difference should affect the determination of the amount of the investor's share of earnings or losses of an investee as if the investee were a consolidated subsidiary. However, if the investor is unable to relate the difference to specific accounts of the investee, the difference should be considered to be goodwill and amortized over a period not to exceed forty years, in accordance with section 5141.12

.20 Disclosures. The significance of an investment to the investor's financial position and results of operations should be considered in evaluating the extent of disclosures of the financial position and results of operations of an investee. If the investor has more than one investment in common stock, disclosures wholly or partly on a combined basis may be appropriate. The following disclosures are generally applicable to the equity method of accounting for investments in common stock:

a. Financial statements of an investor should disclose parenthetically, in notes to financial statements, or in separate statements or schedules (1) the name of each investee and percentage of ownership of common stock, (2) the accounting policies of the investor with respect to investments in common stock,¹³ and

¹⁰ For investments made prior to November 1, 1970, the effective date of section 5141, investors are not required to amortize any goodwill in the absence of evidence that the goodwill has a limited term of existence; prospective amortization of such goodwill is encouraged. ¹⁰ Disclosure should include the names of any significant investee corpo-rations in which the investor holds 20% or more of the voting stock, but the common stock is not accounted for on the equity method, together with the reasons why the equity method is not considered appropriate, and the names of any significant investee corporations in which the investor holds less than 20% of the voting stock and the common stock is accounted for on the equity method, together with the reasons why the equity method is considered appropriate. is considered appropriate.

Assets

(3) the difference, if any, between the amount at which an investment is carried and the amount of underlying equity in net assets and the accounting treatment of the difference.

- b. For those investments in common stock for which a quoted market price is available, the aggregate value of each identified investment based on the quoted market price usually should be disclosed. This disclosure is not required for investments in common stock of subsidiaries.
- c. When investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries are, in the aggregate, material in relation to financial position or results of operations, summarized information as to assets, liabilities, and results of operations should be presented in the notes or separate statements should be presented for such subsidiaries, either individually or in groups, as appropriate.
- d. When investments in common stock of corporate joint ventures or other investments of 50% or less accounted for under the equity method are, in the aggregate, material in relation to the financial position or results of operations of an investor, it may be necessary for summarized information as to assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the investees to be presented in the notes or in separate statements, either individually or in groups, as appropriate.
- e. Conversion of outstanding convertible securities, exercise of outstanding options and warrants and other contingent issuances of an investee may have a significant effect on an investor's share of reported earnings or losses. Accordingly, material effects of possible conversions, exercises or contingent issuances should be disclosed in notes to the financial statements of an investor.¹⁴

EFFECTIVE DATE

.21 This section shall be effective for all fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971, and should be applied retroactively to all investments in common stock held

AC § 5131.21 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

¹⁴ See footnote 8.

during any portion of the period for which results of operations are presented regardless of the date the investments were acquired. However, the Board encourages earlier application of the provisions of this section. Adjustments resulting from a change in accounting method to comply with this section should be treated as adjustments of prior periods, and financial statements presented for the periods affected should be restated appropriately.

 \implies The next page is 9421. \leftarrow

AC Section 5141

Accounting for Intangible Assets

[Source: APB Opinion No. 17, as amended.]

Effective to account for intangible assets acquired after October 31, 1970, unless otherwise indicated ¹

SUMMARY

Problem

.01 An enterprise may acquire intangible assets from others or may develop them itself. Many kinds of intangible assets may be identified and given reasonably descriptive names, for example, patents, franchises, trademarks, and the like. Other types of intangible assets lack specific identifiability. Both identifiable and unidentifiable assets may be developed internally. Identifiable intangible assets may be acquired singly, as a part of a group of assets, or as part of an entire enterprise, but unidentifiable assets cannot be acquired singly. The excess of the cost of an acquired company over the sum of identifiable net assets, usually called goodwill, is the most common unidentifiable intangible asset.

.02 Accounting for an intangible asset involves the same kinds of problems as accounting for other long-lived assets, namely, determining an initial carrying amount, accounting for that amount after acquisition under normal business conditions (amortization), and accounting for that amount if the value declines substantially and permanently. Solving the problems is complicated by the characteristics of an intangible asset: its lack of physical qualities makes evidence of its existence elusive, its value is often difficult to estimate, and its useful life may be indeterminable.

\implies The next page is 9421-3. \leftarrow

¹ See paragraphs .33-.35.

.03 The Director of Accounting Research of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants has published Accounting Research Study No. 10, Accounting for Goodwill, by George R. Catlett and Norman O. Olson.² The study emphasizes accounting for goodwill acquired in a business combination but also discusses accounting for goodwill developed internally. The study cites the supporting authoritative pronouncements and their influences on accounting practices and evaluates the effects of practices on financial reporting.

Scope and Effect of Section

.04 The Board has considered the conclusions and recommendations of Accounting Research Study No. 10, the discussions of the appropriateness of accepted methods of accounting for intangible assets, and proposals for alternative accounting procedures. The Board expresses in this section its conclusions on accounting for intangible assets. Those research and development costs encompassed by FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 2 are excluded from the scope of this section. [As amended, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 1975, by FASB Statement No. 2.] (See section 4211.)

.05 This section covers the accounting for both identifiable and unidentifiable intangible assets that a company acquires, including those acquired in business combinations. "Company" in this section refers to both incorporated and unincorporated enterprises. The conclusions of the section apply to intangible assets recorded, if any, on the acquisition of some or all of the stock held by minority stockholders of a subsidiary company. This section also covers accounting for costs of developing goodwill and other unidentifiable intangible assets with indeterminate lives.

.06 The provisions of this section apply to costs of developing identifiable intangible assets that a company defers and records as assets. Some companies defer costs incurred to develop identifiable intangible assets while others record the costs as expenses as incurred. Certain

²Accounting research studies are not pronouncements of the Board or of the Institute but are published for the purpose of stimulating discussion on important accounting matters.

Assets

costs, for example, preoperating costs, present problems which need to be studied separately. The question of deferral of those costs is beyond the scope of this section. [As amended, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 1975, by FASB Statement No. 2.] (See section 4211.)

.07 This section applies to regulated companies in accordance with the provisions of section 6011, Accounting Principles for Regulated Industries.

.08 The conclusions of this section modify previous views of the Board and its predecessor, the Committee on Accounting Procedure.

Conclusions

.09 The Board concludes that a company should record as assets the costs of intangible assets acquired from others, including goodwill acquired in a business combination. A company should record as expenses the costs to develop intangible assets which are not specifically identifiable. The Board also concludes that the cost of each type of intangible asset should be amortized by systematic charges to income over the period estimated to be benefited. The period of amortization should not, however, exceed forty years.

BACKGROUND

Bases of Classification

.10 Various intangible assets differ in their characteristics, their useful lives, their relations to operations, and their later dispositions. Intangible assets may be classified on several different bases:

Identifiability—separately identifiable or lacking specific identification.

Manner of acquisition—acquired singly, in groups, or in business combinations or developed internally.

Expected period of benefit—limited by law or contract, related to human or economic factors, or indefinite or indeterminate duration.

Separability from an entire enterprise—rights transferable without title, salable, or inseparable from the enterprise or a substantial part of it.

Present Accounting

Accounting for Costs at Acquisition

.11 Present principles of accounting for intangible assets are generally similar to those for tangible, long-lived assets such as property, plant, and equipment. Intangible assets acquired from other entities are recorded at cost when acquired. Costs incurred to develop specifically identifiable intangible assets are often recorded as assets if the periods of expected future benefit are reasonably determinable. Costs of developing other intangible assets are usually recorded as expenses when incurred.

Accounting for Deferred Costs After Acquisition

.12 Intangible assets have been divided into two classes for purposes of accounting for their costs: (a) those with a

Assets

determinable term of existence because it is limited by law, regulation, or agreement, or by the nature of the asset, and (b) those having no limited term of existence and no indication of limited life at the time of acquisition. The cost of a type (a) intangible asset is amortized by systematic charges to income over the term of existence or other period expected to be benefited. The cost of a type (b) intangible asset may be treated in either of two ways: (1) the cost may be retained until a limit on the term of existence or a loss of value is evident, at which time the cost is amortized systematically over the estimated remaining term of existence or, if worthless, written off as an extraordinary item in the income statement, or (2) the cost may be amortized at the discretion of management by charges to income even though no present evidence points to a limited term of existence or a loss of value.

.13 The cost of an intangible asset, including goodwill acquired in a business combination, may not be written off as a lump sum to capital surplus or to retained earnings nor be reduced to a nominal amount at or immediately after acquisition (section 2010, and Chapter 5, ARB No. 43).

Criticism of Present Practice

.14 Present accounting for goodwill and other unidentifiable intangible assets is often criticized because alternative methods of accounting for costs are acceptable. Some companies amortize the cost of acquired intangible assets over a short arbitrary period to reduce the amount of the asset as rapidly as practicable, while others retain the cost as an asset until evidence shows a loss of value and then record a material reduction in a single period. Selecting an arbitrary period of amortization is criticized because it may understate net income during the amortization period and overstate later net income. Retaining the cost as an asset is criticized because it may overstate net income before the loss of value is recognized and understate net income in the period of write-off.

Appraisal of Alternative Procedures

Cost of Intangible Assets

.15 The cost of intangible assets acquired either singly or in groups, including intangible assets acquired in a busi-

AC § 5141.13 ... © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

ness combination, from other businesses or individuals is determined by general principles of the historical-cost basis of accounting. The costs of developing goodwill and other intangible assets with indeterminate lives are ordinarily not distinguishable from the current costs of operations and are thus not assignable to specific assets.

Treatment of Costs

.16 Costs of intangible assets which have fixed or reasonably determinable terms of existence are now amortized by systematic charges to income over their terms of existence. Differences of opinion center on the amortization of acquired intangible assets with lives which cannot be estimated reliably either at the date of acquisition or perhaps long after, for example, goodwill and trade names.

.17 The literature on business combinations and goodwill, including Accounting Research Study No. 10, Accounting for Goodwill, contains at least four possible accounting treatments of goodwill and similar intangible assets:

- a. Retain the cost as an asset indefinitely unless a reduction in its value becomes evident.
- b. Retain the cost as an asset but permit amortization as an operating expense over an arbitrary period.
- c. Retain the cost as an asset but require amortization as an operating expense over its estimated limited life or over an arbitrary but specified maximum and minimum period.
- d. Deduct the cost from stockholders' equity at the date acquired.

.18 Arguments for nonamortization. The two of the four accounting proposals which do not involve amortization of goodwill as an operating expense are based in part on the contention that goodwill value is not consumed or used to produce earnings in the same manner as various property rights, and therefore net income should not be reduced by amortization of goodwill. Further, net income should not be reduced by both amortization of goodwill and current expenditures that are incurred to enhance or maintain the value of the acquired intangible assets. All methods of amortizing goodwill are criticized as arbitrary because the life of goodwill is indefinite and an estimated period of existence is not measurable.

.19 The basis for proposing that the cost of goodwill be retained as an asset until a loss in value becomes evident is that the cost incurred for acquired goodwill should be accounted for as an asset at the date acquired and in later periods. The cost should not be reduced as long as the value of the asset is at least equal to that cost.

.20 The basis for proposing that the cost of goodwill be deducted from stockholders' equity at the date acquired is that the nature of goodwill differs from other assets and warrants special accounting treatment. Since goodwill attaches only to a business as a whole and its value fluctuates widely for innumerable reasons, estimates of either the terms of existence or current value are unreliable for purposes of income determination.

Accounting on the Historical-Cost Basis

All assets which are represented by deferred costs .21 are essentially alike in historical-cost based accounting. They result from expenditures or owners' contributions and are expected to increase revenue or reduce costs to be incurred in future periods. If future benefit or the period to be benefited is questionable, the expenditure is usually treated as a current expense and not as a deferred cost. Associating deferred costs with the revenue or period to which they are expected to relate is a basic problem in historical-cost based accounting both in measuring periodic income and in accounting for assets. The basic accounting treatment does not depend on whether the asset is a building, a piece of equipment, an element of inventory, a prepaid insurance premium, or whether it is tangible or intangible. The cost of goodwill and similar intangible assets is therefore essentially the same as the cost of land. buildings, or equipment under historical-cost based accounting. Deducting the cost of an asset from stockholders' equity (either retained earnings or capital in excess of par or stated value) at the date incurred does not match costs with revenue.

AC § 5141.19 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.22 Accounting for the cost of a long-lived asset after acquisition normally depends on its estimated life. The cost of assets with perpetual existence, such as land, is carried forward as an asset without amortization, and the cost of assets with finite lives is amortized by systematic charges to income. Goodwill and similar intangible assets do not clearly fit either classification; their lives are neither infinite nor specifically limited, but are indeterminate. Thus, although the principles underlying present practice conform to the principles of accounting for similar types of assets, their applications have led to alternative treatments. Amortizing the cost of goodwill and similar intangible assets on arbitrary bases in the absence of evidence of limited lives or decreased values may recognize expenses and decreases of assets prematurely, but delaying amortization of the cost until a loss is evident may recognize the decreases after the fact

A Practical Solution

.23 A solution to this dilemma is to set minimum and maximum amortization periods. This accounting follows from the observation that few, if any, intangible assets last forever, although some may seem to last almost indefinitely. Allocating the cost of goodwill or other intangible assets with an indeterminate life over time is necessary because the value almost inevitably becomes zero at some future date. Since the date at which the value becomes zero is indeterminate, the end of the useful life must necessarily be set arbitrarily at some point or within some range of time for accounting purposes.

OPINION

Acquisition of Intangible Assets

.24 The Board concludes that a company should record as assets the costs of intangible assets acquired from other enterprises or individuals. Costs of developing, maintaining, or restoring intangible assets which are not specifically identifiable, have indeterminate lives, or are inherent in a continuing business and related to an enterprise as a whole—such as goodwill—should be deducted from income when incurred. .25 Cost of intangible assets. Intangible assets acquired singly should be recorded at cost at date of acquisition. Cost is measured by the amount of cash disbursed, the fair value of other assets distributed, the present value of amounts to be paid for liabilities incurred, or the fair value of consideration received for stock issued as described in section 1091.67.

.26 Intangible assets acquired as part of a group of assets or as part of an acquired company should also be recorded at cost at date of acquisition. Cost is measured differently for specifically identifiable intangible assets and those lacking specific identification. The cost of identifiable intangible assets is an assigned part of the total cost of the group of assets or enterprise acquired, normally based on the fair values of the individual assets. The cost of unidentifiable intangible assets is measured by the difference between the cost of the group of assets or enterprise acquired and the sum of the assigned costs of individual tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired less liabilities assumed. Cost should be assigned to all specifically identifiable intangible assets; cost of identifiable assets should not be included in goodwill. Principles and procedures of determining cost of assets acquired, including intangible assets, are discussed in detail in section 1091.66-.89.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

.27 The Board believes that the value of intangible assets at any one date eventually disappears and that the recorded costs of intangible assets should be amortized by systematic charges to income over the periods estimated to be benefited. Factors which should be considered in estimating the useful lives of intangible assets include:

- a. Legal, regulatory, or contractual provisions may limit the maximum useful life.
- b. Provisions for renewal or extension may alter a specified limit on useful life.
- c. Effects of obsolescence, demand, competition, and other economic factors may reduce a useful life.
- d. A useful life may parallel the service life expectancies of individuals or groups of employees.

AC § 5141.25

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

- e. Expected actions of competitors and others may restrict present competitive advantages.
- f. An apparently unlimited useful life may in fact be indefinite and benefits cannot be reasonably projected.
- g. An intangible asset may be a composite of many individual factors with varying effective lives.

The period of amortization of intangible assets should be determined from the pertinent factors.

.28 The cost of each type of intangible asset should be amortized on the basis of the estimated life of that specific asset and should not be written off in the period of acquisition. Analysis of all factors should result in a reasonable estimate of the useful life of most intangible assets. A reasonable estimate of the useful life may often be based on upper and lower limits even though a fixed existence is not determinable.

.29 The period of amortization should not, however, exceed forty years. Analysis at the time of acquisition may indicate that the indeterminate lives of some intangible assets are likely to exceed forty years and the cost of those assets should be amortized over the maximum period of forty years, not an arbitrary shorter period.

.30 Method of amortization. The Board concludes that the straight-line method of amortization—equal annual amounts—should be applied unless a company demonstrates that another systematic method is more appropriate. The financial statements should disclose the method and period of amortization. Amortization of acquired goodwill and of other acquired intangible assets not deductible in computing income taxes payable does not create a timing difference, and allocation of income taxes is inappropriate.

.31 Subsequent review of amortization. A company should evaluate the periods of amortization continually to determine whether later events and circumstances warrant revised estimates of useful lives. If estimates are changed, the unamortized cost should be allocated to the increased or reduced number of remaining periods in the revised useful life but not to exceed forty years after acquisition. Estimation of value and future benefits of an intangible asset may indicate that the unamortized cost should be reduced significantly by a deduction in determining net income (section 2012.19-.24). However, a single loss year or even a few loss years together do not necessarily justify an extraordinary charge to income for all or a large part of the unamortized cost of intangible assets. The reason for an extraordinary deduction should be disclosed. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.)

Disposal of Goodwill

.32 Ordinarily goodwill and similar intangible assets cannot be disposed of apart from the enterprise as a whole. However, a large segment or separable group of assets of an acquired company or the entire acquired company may be sold or otherwise liquidated, and all or a portion of the unamortized cost of the goodwill recognized in the acquisition should be included in the cost of the assets sold.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.33 The provisions of this section shall be effective to account for intangible assets acquired after October 31, 1970. Intangible assets recognized in business combinations initiated before November 1, 1970 and consummated on or after that date under the terms prevailing on October 31, 1970³ may be accounted for in accordance with this section or Chapter 5 of ARB No. 43 and section 2010.

.34 The provisions of this section should not be applied retroactively to intangible assets acquired before November 1, 1970, whether in business combinations or otherwise.

.35 The Board encourages the application on a prospective basis to all intangible assets held on October 31, 1970 of the provisions in paragraphs .27 to .31 of this section which require amortization of all intangible assets. Unless the provisions of this section are applied prospectively, the accounting for intangible assets held on October 31, 1970 should be in accordance with Chapter 5 of ARB No. 43 as modified by section 2010.

^{*}Section 1091.46a-.47a define date initiated and describe the effect of changes in terms of a plan of combination.

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

AC Section 5300 LIABILITIES AND **DEFERRED CREDITS**

Section

... financial statements of lessees ... reporting and disclosure of leases . . . premium and discount on debt

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Paragraph

5350	Financial	Statements	of	Lessees	

5351	Reporting of Leases in Financial Statements of Lessee	01 05
	Introduction	
	Discussion	.0612
	Opinion	
	Application of Opinion	.13
	Capitalization	
	Sale and Leaseback	
	Prior Lease Agreements	.23
5352	Disclosure of Lease Commitments by Lessees	
	Introduction	.0106
	Differing Views	.0304
	Financial Accounting Standards Board	.05
	Applicability	.06
	Opinion	.0711
	Total Rental Expense	.08
	Minimum Rental Commitments	.09
	Additional Disclosures	.10
	Present Value of Commitments	.11
	Effective Date	.12
5360	Premium and Discount on Debt	
5361	Amortization of Debt Discount and Expense or Premium	
5362	Early Extinguishment of Debt	
		.0103
	Applicability Definitions	.02 .03

Table of Contents

Discussion	.0417
Current Practice	
Amortization over Life of Old Issue	.06
Amortization over Life of New Issue	.07
Recognition Currently in Income	.0810
Extinguishment of Convertible Debt	
Economic Nature of Extinguishment	
Opinion	.1821
Reduction of Alternatives	.19
Disposition of Amounts	.20
Convertible Debt	.21
Effective Date	.22

 \implies The next page is 9641. \leftarrow

AC Section 5351

Reporting of Leases in Financial Statements of Lessee

[Source: APB Opinion No. 5, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: September, 1964

INTRODUCTION

.01 This section sets forth the Board's views as to proper procedures or methods for implementing generally accepted accounting principles governing accounting for assets and liabilities and income and expense with respect to leases and sale and leasebacks. It supersedes Chapter 14 of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, Disclosure of Long-Term Leases in Financial Statements of Lessees. This section makes no distinction between leases of real property and leases of personal property. Because of the highly specialized problems involved, this section does not apply to agreements concerning natural resources such as oil, gas, timber and mineral rights.

.02 The two principal recommendations of Chapter 14 of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43 were:

(1) . . . where the rentals or other obligations under long-term leases are material in the circumstances, the committee is of the opinion that:

(a) disclosure should be made in financial statements or in notes thereto of:

(1) the amounts of annual rentals to be paid under such leases with some indication of the periods for which they are payable and

(2) any other important obligation assumed or guarantee made in connection therewith;

(b) the above information should be given not only in the year in which the transaction originates but also as long thereafter as the amounts involved are material; and

(c) in addition, in the year in which the transaction originates, there should be disclosure of the

AC § 5351.02

principal details of any important sale-and-lease transaction.

(2) . . . the committee is of the opinion that the facts relating to all such leases should be carefully considered and that, where it is clearly evident that the transaction involved is in substance a purchase, the "leased" property should be included among the assets of the lessee with suitable accounting for the corresponding liabilities and for the related charges in the income statement.

.03 In the period since the issuance of the Bulletin, the practice of obtaining by lease the right to use property has continued on an important scale. Although relatively more information about leases has been disclosed in financial statements of lessees in recent years, no consistent pattern has emerged, and the extent of disclosure of pertinent information has often been inadequate. In addition, there have been relatively few instances of capitalization of leased property and recognition of the related obligation, which suggests that the criteria for determining when a lease is in substance a purchase require clarification.

.04 The situation described in the preceding paragraph caused the accounting research division of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants to undertake a research study on reporting of leases in financial statements.¹ This study recommended, in part:

. . . To the extent then that leases give rise to property rights, those rights and related liabilities should be measured and incorporated in the balance sheet.

The major question then is what leases, or parts of leases, give rise to property rights. . . . (p. 4)

To the extent, then, that the rental payments represent a means of financing the acquisition of property rights which the lessee has in his possession and under his control, the transaction constitutes the acquisition of an asset with a related obligation to pay for it. To the extent, however, that the rental payments are for services such as maintenance, insurance, property taxes, heat, light, and elevator service, no asset has been acquired, and none should be recorded. . . .

AC § 5351.03

¹Accounting Research Study No. 4, Reporting of Leases in Financial Statements by John H. Myers, published for its accounting research division by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants in May, 1962. (Accounting research studies are not statements of this Board or of the Institute but are published for the purpose of stimulating discussion on important accounting issues.)

The measurement of the asset value and the related liability involves two steps: (1) the determination of the part of the rentals which constitutes payment for property rights, and (2) the discounting of those rentals at an appropriate rate of interest. . . .

On the balance sheet the property rights acquired under lease should be grouped with the other property accounts, but probably separately classified in order to disclose the existence of the lease arrangement. The liability should be divided into its current and longterm portions and shown in the appropriate classification. . . . (p. 5)

In effect, the proposed balance-sheet treatment removes the charge for "rent" in the [income statement] accounts as an occupancy cost and instead treats it simply as a payment of an obligation and interest thereon. In its place is put "amortization of property right acquired under lease" (an occupancy cost) and "interest" (a financial expense). In the case of manufacturing concerns there probably would be a related effect on the valuation of work in process and of finished goods. (p. 6)

.05 The Accounting Principles Board has considered the recommendations and the supporting argument presented in Accounting Research Study No. 4. The Board agrees that the nature of some lease agreements is such that an asset and a related liability should be shown in the balance sheet, and that it is important to distinguish this type of lease from other leases. The Board believes, however, that the distinction depends on the issue of whether or not the lease is in substance a purchase of the property rather than on the issue of whether or not a property right exists. The Board believes that the disclosure requirements regarding leases contained in Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43. Chapter 14, should be extended, and the criteria for identification of lease agreements which are in effect installment purchases of property should be clarified. The Board also believes that accounting for gains and losses on sale-and-leaseback transactions should be specifically dealt with in this section.

DISCUSSION

.06 The central question is whether assets and liabilities are created by leases which convey the right to use property if no equity is accumulated in the property by the lessee. Chapter 14 of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43 and Accounting Research Study No. 4 agree that leases which are clearly in substance purchases result in assets and liabilities which should be recorded, and that to the extent rental payments are for services, such as property taxes, utilities, maintenance, and so forth, they should be charged to current operations. They disagree with regard to leases which convey merely the right to use property in consideration of specified rental payments over a definite future period.

.07 It seems clear that leases covering merely the right to use property in exchange for future rental payments do not create an equity in the property and are thus nothing more than executory contracts requiring continuing performance on the part of both the lessor and the lessee for the full period covered by the leases. The question of whether assets and liabilities should be recorded in connection with leases of this type is, therefore, part of the larger issue of whether the rights and obligations that exist under executory contracts in general (e.g., purchase commitments and employment contracts) give rise to assets and liabilities which should be recorded.

.08 The rights and obligations related to unperformed portions of executory contracts are not recognized as assets and liabilities in financial statements under generally accepted accounting principles as presently understood. Generally accepted accounting principles require the disclosure of the rights and obligations under executory contracts in separate schedules or notes to the financial statements if the omission of this information would tend to make the financial statements misleading. The rights and obligations under leases which convey merely the right to use property, without an equity in the property accruing to the lessee, fall into the category of pertinent information which should be disclosed in schedules or notes rather than by recording assets and liabilities in the financial statements.

.09 On the other hand, some lease agreements are essentially equivalent to installment purchases of property. In such cases, the substance of the arrangement, rather than its legal form, should determine the accounting treatment. The property and the related obligation should be

AC § 5351.07

included in the balance sheet as an asset and a liability, respectively, at the discounted amount of the future lease rental payments, exclusive of payments to cover taxes and operating expenses other than depreciation. Further, in such cases, it is appropriate to depreciate the capitalized amount for property over its estimated useful life rather than over the initial period of the lease.

.10 The property and the related obligation should be included as an asset and a liability in the balance sheet if the terms of the lease result in the creation of a material equity in the property. It is unlikely that such an equity can be created under a lease which either party may cancel unilaterally for reasons other than the occurrence of some remote contingency. The presence, in a noncancelable lease or in a lease cancelable only upon the occurrence of some remote contingency, of either of the two following conditions will usually establish that a lease should be considered to be in substance a purchase:

- a. The initial term is materially less than the useful life of the property, and the lessee has the option to renew the lease for the remaining useful life of the property at substantially less than the fair rental value; or
- b. The lessee has the right, during or at the expiration of the lease, to acquire the property at a price which at the inception of the lease appears to be substantially less than the probable fair value of the property at the time or times of permitted acquisition by the lessee.

In these cases, the fact that the rental payments usually run well ahead of any reasonable measure of the expiration of the service value of the property, coupled with the options which permit either a bargain purchase by the lessee or the renewal of the lease during the anticipated useful life at bargain rentals, constitutes convincing evidence that an equity in the property is being built up as rental payments are made and that the transaction is essentially equivalent to a purchase.

.11 The determination that lease payments result in the creation of an equity in the property obviously requires a careful evaluation of the facts and probabilities surrounding a given case. Unless it is clear that no material equity in the property will result from the lease, the existence, in connection with a noncancelable lease or a lease cancelable only upon the occurrence of some remote contingency, of one or more circumstances such as those shown below tend to indicate that the lease arrangement is in substance a purchase and should be accounted for as such.

- a. The property was acquired by the lessor to meet the special needs of the lessee and will probably be usable only for that purpose and only by the lessee.
- b. The term of the lease corresponds substantially to the estimated useful life of the property, and the lessee is obligated to pay costs such as taxes, insurance, and maintenance, which are usually considered incidental to ownership.
- c. The lessee has guaranteed the obligations of the lessor with respect to the property leased.
- d. The lessee has treated the lease as a purchase for tax purposes.

.12 In cases in which the lessee and the lessor are related, leases should often be treated as purchases even though they do not meet the criteria set forth in paragraphs .10 and .11, i.e., even though no direct equity is being built up by the lessee. In these cases, a lease should be recorded as a purchase if a primary purpose of ownership of the property by the lessor is to lease it to the lessee and (1) the lease payments are pledged to secure the debts of the lessor or (2) the lessee is able, directly or indirectly, to control or influence significantly the actions of the lessor with respect to the lease. The following illustrate situations in which these conditions are frequently present:

- a. The lessor is an unconsolidated subsidiary of the lessee, or the lessee and the lessor are subsidiaries of the same parent and either is unconsolidated.
- b. The lessee and the lessor have common officers, directors, or shareholders to a significant degree.
- c. The lessor has been created, directly or indirectly, by the lessee and is substantially dependent on the lessee for its operations.
- d. The lessee (or its parent) has the right, through options or otherwise, to acquire control of the lessor.

AC § 5351.12

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

OPINION

Application of Opinion

.13 This section is concerned with accounting for noncancelable leases (or leases cancelable only upon the occurrence of some remote contingency) which are material, either individually or as a group for similar types of property, or in the aggregate. The presumption is that if the rights and obligations under such leases are either material in relation to the lessee's net assets or reasonably expected to affect materially the results of operations of future periods, the leases are covered by the provisions of this section.

Capitalization

.14 Except in cases of leases which come under paragraphs .09, .10, .11, and .12 of this section, the right to use property and a related obligation to pay specific rents over a definite future period are not considered by the Board to be assets and liabilities under present accounting concepts (see paragraphs .06, .07 and .08). Leases of this type involve future rights and obligations, however, and pertinent information should be disclosed as described in section 5352. In the opinion of the Board, disclosure rather than capitalization is the correct accounting treatment of these leases. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods ending on or after December 31, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 31.] (See section 5352.)

.15 Leases which are clearly in substance installment purchases of property (see paragraphs .09, .10, .11 and .12) should be recorded as purchases. The property and the obligation should be stated in the balance sheet at an appropriate discounted amount of future payments under the lease agreement. A note or schedule may be required to disclose significant provisions of the transaction. The method of amortizing the amount of the asset to income should be appropriate to the nature and use of the asset and should be chosen without reference to the period over which the related obligation is discharged.

[.16] [Superseded, effective for fiscal periods ending on or after December 31, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 31.] (See section 5352.) [.17] [Superseded, effective for fiscal periods ending on or after December 31, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 31.] (See section 5352.)

[.18] [Superseded, effective for fiscal periods ending on or after December 31, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 31.] (See section 5352.)

Sale and Leaseback

.19 The principal details of any material sale-andleaseback arrangement should be disclosed in the year in which the transaction originates.

.20 The conclusions in paragraphs .14, .15, and section 5352 apply to the agreement covering the leaseback as though no concurrent sale were involved. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods ending on or after December 31, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 31.]

.21 The Board is of the opinion that the sale and the leaseback usually cannot be accounted for as independent transactions. Neither the sale price nor the annual rental can be objectively evaluated independently of the other. Consequently, material gains or losses resulting from the sale of properties which are the subject of sale-and-leaseback transactions, should be amortized over the life of the lease as an adjustment of the rental cost (or, if the leased property is capitalized, as an adjustment of depreciation). The related tax effect should be amortized over the life of the lease in conformity with section 4091. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967, by APB Opinion No. 11.]

.22 Exceptions to the rule in paragraph .21 are expected to be rare. If, however, the fair value of the property at the time of the sale and leaseback is less than the undepreciated cost, the loss should be reflected in income at the time of the sale to the extent that a write-down to recognize fair value could properly have been recorded in the absence of a sale. In other instances in which the use of the leased property changes with the sale and leaseback and in which the sale price falls within the limits which would reasonably be set by independent transactions (for example, companies engaged in both constructing and oper-

AC § 5351.17

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

ating office buildings or other commercial investment properties may sell a property after construction and lease it back for operation), the exceptional circumstances surrounding a particular sale-and-leaseback transaction may clearly justify recognition of all or part of the gain or loss at the time of the sale.

Prior Lease Agreements

.23 Unless otherwise stated, Opinions of the Board are not intended to be retroactive. However, the Board encourages the revision of past accounts in individual cases where the effect on current financial statements is material. In any event, the Board believes the conclusions as to disclosure stated in section 5352 should apply to lease agreements made prior to the issuance of that section. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods ending on or after December 31, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 31.] (See section 5352.)

→ The next page is 9661. →

AC Section 5352

Disclosure of Lease Commitments by Lessees

[Source: APB Opinion No. 31.]

Effective for fiscal periods ending on or after December 31, 1973, unless otherwise indicated

INTRODUCTION

.01 Since the adoption of section 5351, Reporting of Leases in Financial Statements of Lessee, in September 1964, the Board has observed improvement in disclosures of lease commitments by lessees. However, some investors, credit grantors, credit rating services, and other users of financial statements have stated that the disclosures have not always provided all of the relevant information they believe to be important.

.02 These users of financial statements state that information with respect to expiration dates and minimum annual rentals under lease commitments is as essential as similar information with respect to long-term debt. Furthermore, they observe that comparisons of financial position, including capital structure and debt/equity ratios, of similar enterprises are impaired if the impact of lease commitments (and the major categories of leased properties) are not determinable from the financial statements of each company. Some have observed that, to make meaningful comparisons between enterprises that finance property acquisitions with long-term debt or equity capital and those that obtain the use of such properties under long-term noncancelable leases, it is necessary to calculate gross rental commitments and apply a "factor" to those amounts to estimate the present values of lease commitments. A "factor" must also be applied to rent expense in evaluating the ability of a lessee to meet fixed charges. These factors, generally arbitrary, have produced widely varying results in evaluating lease commitments in similar circumstances.

Differing Views

.03 Some accountants believe that evaluation of lease commitments, as discussed in paragraph .02, would be aided by expanding disclosures to include (a) a description of the major categories of leased properties, (b) amounts of required lease payments due in future periods, (c) the present values of such payments after excluding the amounts applicable to taxes, insurance, maintenance, and other operating expenses (that is, on a net lease basis), and (d) interest rates used in computing the present values. Some accountants in this group believe that in view of the matters discussed in paragraph .05 it is acceptable to call attention to the possible utility of giving the information referred to in (c) and (d) but not to make the disclosure of such information mandatory at this time.

Other accountants believe that the disclosure of the .04 aggregate gross commitments arising from leases by time intervals and type of property and services is adequate to assess the extent to which operations are dependent upon leased property and the credit of the company has been committed. They believe that disclosure of present values of lease commitments (net leases and, if practicable, gross leases reduced by estimation to a net lease basis) improperly implies that such lease commitments should have been recorded as debt and resulted in capitalization of the related assets. The subjective nature of the estimates necessary to reduce gross leases to a net lease basis, in their view, would result in many cases in the still more inappropriate alternative disclosure of the present values of the portions of gross leases which represent future services. Further, they believe that the disclosure of two substantially different amounts with respect to the same lease contract can only add complexity and cause confusion.

Financial Accounting Standards Board

.05 The Board recognizes that disclosure of lease commitments is part of the broad subject of accounting for leases by lessees, a subject which has now been placed on the agenda of the Financial Accounting Standards Board. The Board also recognizes that the forthcoming report of the Study Group on Objectives of Financial Statements may contain recommendations which will bear on this subject

AC § 5352.03

and which the FASB may consider in its deliberations. Accordingly, the Board is refraining from establishing any disclosure requirements which may prejudge or imply any bias with respect to the outcome of the FASB's undertaking, particularly in relation to the questions of which leases, if any, should be capitalized and how such capitalization may influence the income statement. Nevertheless, in the meantime the Board recognizes the need to improve the disclosure of lease commitments in order that users of financial statements may be better informed.

Applicability

.06 This section supersedes sections 5351.16-.18 and should be substituted for the references to them in sections 5351.14, 5351.20, and 5351.23. Except as stated in the preceding sentence, this section does not modify section 5351. This section applies to lease commitments for either personal property or real property, including leases of office space and special purpose facilities and of properties subleased to others. Because of the highly specialized problems involved, it does not apply to lease agreements concerning natural resources (such as oil, gas, timber, and mineral rights) other than land. Further, this section does not apply to lease commitments that have been capitalized in accordance with section 5351.

OPINION

.07 The Board believes that financial statements of lessees should disclose sufficient information regarding noncapitalized lease commitments to enable users of the statements to assess the present and prospective effect of those commitments upon the financial position, results of operations, and changes in financial position of the lessees. Accordingly, the Board believes that the information specified in paragraphs .08-.10 should be disclosed as an integral part of the financial statements.

Total Rental Expense

.08 Total rental expense (reduced by rentals from subleases, with disclosure of such amounts) entering into the determination of results of operations for each period for which an income statement is presented should be disclosed. Rental payments under short-term leases for a month or less which are not expected to be renewed need not be included. Contingent rentals, such as those based upon usage or sales, should be reported separately from the basic or minimum rentals.

Minimum Rental Commitments

.09 The minimum rental commitments ¹ under all noncancelable leases ² should be disclosed, as of the date of the latest balance sheet presented, in the aggregate for:

- a. Each of the five succeeding fiscal years,
- b. Each of the next three five-year periods, and
- c. The remainder as a single amount.

The amounts so determined should be reduced by rentals to be received from existing noncancelable subleases (with disclosure of the amounts of such rentals). The total of the amounts included in (a), (b), and (c) should also be classified by major categories of properties, such as real estate, aircraft, truck fleets, and other equipment.

Additional Disclosures

.10 Additional disclosures should be made to report in general terms:

- a. The basis for calculating rental payments if dependent upon factors other than the lapse of time.
- b. Existence and terms of renewal or purchase options, escalation clauses, etc.
- c. The nature and amount of related guarantees made or obligations assumed.
- d. Restrictions on paying dividends, incurring additional debt, further leasing, etc.
- e. Any other information necessary to assess the effect of lease commitments upon the financial position, results of operations, and changes in financial position of the lessee. (For example, in instances where significant changes in lease arrangements are likely

¹ The minimum rental commitments are not necessarily indicative of the values of the property rights vested in the lessee. ² For purposes of this section a noncancelable lease is defined as one that has an initial or remaining term of more than one year and is noncan-celable, or is cancelable only upon the occurrence of some remote contin-gency or upon the payment of a substantial penalty.

it may be desirable to state that the information given is for existing leases only and is not a forecast of future rental expense. A statement could also be made that the amounts given may not necessarily represent the amounts payable in the event of default.)

Present Value of Commitments

.11 The Board also believes that disclosure of the present value of the commitments reported in accordance with paragraph .09 may be helpful in evaluating the credit capacity of the lessee and in comparing the lessee's financial position with that of other entities using other means of financing to obtain the use of property. Such disclosure, if presented, may include, as of the date of the latest balance sheet presented:

- a. The present values of the net fixed minimum lease commitments ³ (based on the interest rates implicit in the terms of the leases at the times of entering into the leases ⁴) in the aggregate and by major categories of properties, such as real estate, aircraft, truck fleets, and other equipment.
- b. Either the weighted average interest rate (based on the present values) and range of rates, or specific interest rates, for all lease commitments included in the amounts disclosed under (a) above.
- c. The present value of rentals to be received from existing noncancelable subleases of property included in (a) above (based on the interest rates implicit in the terms of the subleases at the times of entering into the subleases).

^a The net amounts disclosed should exclude the estimated or actual portions, if any, of the lease commitments applicable to taxes, insurance, maintenance, and other operating expenses. To the extent that such expenses cannot be reasonably estimated for some leases, it is acceptable to disclose the present value of the aggregate of those lease commitments computed without regard to such deductions (that is, on a gross basis). In the latter case separate amounts should be presented for lease commitments determined on a net basis and for those determined on a gross basis.

⁴In some cases, the pertinent lease documents may indicate the interest rates inherent in the lease terms. In other cases, interest rates applicable to the financing of purchases of similar types of properties by the lessee at the times of entering into the lease agreements may be indicative of the interest rates implicit in the terms of the leases. Also, see section 4111.12-.13, Interest on Receivables and Payables.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.12 This section shall be effective for fiscal periods ending on or after December 31, 1973 and applies to all lease agreements, including those entered into prior to the issuance of this section. The Board, however, encourages earlier application of the provisions of this section.

 \implies The next page is 9691. \leftarrow

AC § 5352.12

Amortization of Debt Discount and Expense or Premium¹

[Source: APB Opinion No. 12, Pars. 16 and 17.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967, unless otherwise indicated

.01 Questions have been raised as to the appropriateness of the "interest" method of periodic amortization of discount and expense or premium on debt (i.e., the difference between the net proceeds, after expense, received upon issuance of debt and the amount repayable at its maturity) over its term. The objective of the interest method is to arrive at a periodic interest cost (including amortization) which will represent a level effective rate on the sum of the face amount of the debt and (plus or minus) the unamortized premium or discount and expense at the beginning of each period. The difference between the periodic interest cost so calculated and the nominal interest on the outstanding amount of the debt is the amount of periodic amortization.

.02 In the Board's opinion, the interest method of amortization is theoretically sound and an acceptable method.

→ The next page is 9701.

¹See section 4111, Interest on Receivables and Payables.

Early Extinguishment of Debt [Source: APB Opinion No. 26, as amended.]

Effective for all extinguishments of debt occurring on or after January 1, 1973, unless otherwise indicated ¹

INTRODUCTION

.01 Debt is frequently extinguished in various ways before its scheduled maturity. Generally, the amount paid upon reacquisition of debt securities will differ from the net carrying amount of the debt at that time. This section expresses the views of the Accounting Principles Board regarding the appropriate accounting for that difference.

.02 Applicability. This section applies to the early extinguishment of all kinds of debt. It supersedes section 5151. However, this section does not apply to debt that is converted pursuant to the existing conversion privileges of the holder. Moreover, it does not alter the accounting for convertible debt securities described in section 5516. This section applies to regulated companies in accordance with the provisions of section 6011, Accounting Principles for Regulated Industries, 1962.

.03 Definitions. Several terms are used in this section as follows:

- a. Early extinguishment is the reacquisition of any form of debt security or instrument before its scheduled maturity except through conversion by the holder, regardless of whether the debt is viewed as terminated or is held as so-called "treasury bonds." All open-market or mandatory reacquisitions of debt securities to meet sinking fund requirements are early extinguishments.
- b. Net carrying amount of debt is the amount due at maturity, adjusted for unamortized premium, discount, and cost of issuance.
- c. Reacquisition price of debt is the amount paid on early extinguishment, including a call premium and

miscellaneous costs of reacquisition. If early extinguishment is achieved by a direct exchange of new securities, the reacquisition price is the total present value of the new securities.

d. *Difference* as used in this section is the excess of the reacquisition price over the net carrying amount or the excess of the net carrying amount over the reacquisition price.

DISCUSSION

.04 Current practice. Early extinguishment of debt is usually achieved in one of three ways: use of existing liquid assets, use of proceeds from issuance of equity securities, and use of proceeds from issuing other debt securities. The replacement of debt with other debt is frequently called refunding.

.05 Differences on nonrefunding extinguishments are generally treated currently in income as losses or gains. Three basic methods are generally accepted to account for the differences on refunding transactions:

- a. Amortization over the remaining original life of the extinguished issue
- b. Amortization over the life of the new issue

c. Recognition currently in income as a loss or gain. Each method has been supported in court decisions, in rulings of regulatory agencies, and in accounting literature.

.06 Amortization over life of old issue. Some accountants believe that the difference on refunding should be amortized over the remaining original life of the extinguished issue. In effect, the difference is regarded as an adjustment of the cash cost of borrowing that arises from obtaining another arrangement for the unexpired term of the old agreement. Therefore, the cost of money over the remaining period of the original issue is affected by the difference that results upon extinguishment of the original contract. Early extinguishment occurs for various reasons, but usually because it is financially advantageous to the issuer, for example, if the periodic cash interest outlay can be reduced for future periods. Accordingly, under this view the difference should be spread over the unexpired term of the original issue to obtain the proper periodic cost of borrowed money. If the maturity date of the new issue pre-

AC § 5362.04

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

cedes the maturity date of the original issue, a portion of the difference is amortized over the life of the new debt and the balance of the difference is recognized currently in income as a loss or gain.

.07 Amortization over life of new issue. Some accountants believe that the difference on refunding should be amortized over the life of the new issue if refunding occurs because of lower current interest rates or anticipated higher interest rates in the future. Under this view, the principal motivation for refunding is to establish a more favorable interest rate over the term of the new issue. Therefore, the expected benefits to be obtained over the life of the new issue justify amortization of the difference over the life of the new issue.

.08 Recognition currently in income. Some accountants believe a difference on refunding is similar to the difference on other early extinguishments and should be recognized currently in income in the period of the extinguishment. This view holds that the value of the old debt has changed over time and that paying the call price or current market value is the most favorable way to extinguish the debt. The change in the market value of the debt is caused by a change in the market rate of interest, but the change has not been reflected in the accounts. Therefore, the entire difference is recorded when the specific contract is terminated because it relates to the past periods when the contract was in effect. If the accountant had foreseen future events perfectly at the time of issuance, he would have based the accounting on the assumption that the maturity value of the debt would equal the reacquisition price. Thus, no difference upon early extinguishment would occur because previous periods would have borne the proper interest expense. Furthermore, a call premium necessary to eliminate an old contract and an unamortized discount or premium relate to the old contract and cannot be a source of benefits from a new debt issue. For example, a larger (or smaller) coupon rate could have been set on the old issue to avoid an unamortized discount (or premium) at issuance. When such debt originally issued at par is refunded, few accountants maintain that some portion of past interest should be capitalized and written off over the remaining life of the old debt or over the life of the new debt.

.09 Another argument in favor of current recognition of the difference as gain or loss is also related to market forces but is expressed differently. If debt is callable, the call privilege is frequently exercised when the market value of the bonds as determined by the current yield rate exceeds the call price. A loss or gain is recognized on extinguishing the debt because an exchange transaction occurs in which the call or current market value of the debt differs from its net carrying amount. For example, the market value of the debt ordinarily rises as the market rate of interest falls. If market values were recorded as the market rate of interest fluctuates, the changes in the market value of the debt would have been recorded periodically as losses or gains. The bond liability would not exceed the call price.

.10 On the other hand, some accountants holding views opposing current recognition of the difference in income believe that recognizing the difference as gains or losses may induce a company to report income by borrowing money at high rates of interest in order to pay off discounted lowrate debt. Conversely, a large potential charge to income may discourage refunding even though it is economically desirable; the replacement of high cost debt with low cost debt may result in having to recognize a large loss. Thus, a company may show higher current income in the year of extinguishment while increasing its economic cost of debt and lower current income while decreasing its economic cost of debt. For these reasons, these accountants favor deferral.

.11 Extinguishment of convertible debt. Accountants have expressed differing views regarding accounting for the extinguishment of convertible debt. In section 5516, which is directed in part to accounting for convertible debt at time of issue, the Board concluded that no portion of the proceeds from the issuance of the types of convertible debt securities defined in section 5516 should be accounted for as attributable to the conversion feature. In reaching that conclusion, the Board placed greater weight on the inseparability of the debt and conversion option and less weight on practical difficulties. The Board emphasized that a convertible debt security is a complex hybrid instrument bearing an option the alternative choices of which cannot exist independently of one another. The holder ordinarily does not sell one right and retain the other. Furthermore, the two choices are

AC § 5362.09

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

mutually exclusive; the holder cannot exercise the option to convert unless he foregoes the right to redemption, and vice versa. Therefore, section 5516 implies that (except for conversion) a difference on extinguishing convertible debt needs to be recognized in the same way as a difference on extinguishment of debt without conversion features.

.12 The various views expressed on how to account for the extinguishment of convertible debt to some extent reflect the same attitudes as to the nature of the debt at time of issue as were considered in section 5516. Thus, some accountants believe that a portion of the proceeds at issuance is attributable to the conversion feature. If the convertible debt is later extinguished, the initial value of the conversion feature should then be recorded as an increase in stockholders' equity. The balance of the difference would, under that view of the transaction, be a gain or loss in income of the period of extinguishment.

.13 Some accountants maintain that the intent of issuing convertible debt is to raise equity capital. A convertible debt is therefore in substance an equity security, and all the difference on extinguishing convertible debt should be an increase or decrease of paid-in capital.

.14 Another view is that the market price that gives rise to the difference reflects both the level of interest rates on debt and the prices of the related common stock or both. Those expressing this view believe that if the effects of these factors can be identified at the time of extinguishment, the difference attributable to the interest rate should be accounted for as gain or loss in income, and that the difference attributable to the market price of the issuer's common stock should be accounted for as an increase or decrease in paid-in capital.

.15 Some accountants believe that the accounting for a difference on extinguishment of convertible debt depends on the nature of the security at the time of extinguishment. Events after time of issue may provide evidence that a convertible debt is either still debt in substance or equity in substance. Under this view the purchase price on extinguishment provides the best evidence as to whether the security is essentially debt or equity. Convertible debt that is selling below the call or redemption price at time of ex-

tinguishment is essentially debt; the difference should be a gain in current income. Moreover, if convertible debt has a coupon rate that exceeds the current market rate of interest and clearly causes the issue to trade at a premium as a debt instrument, the difference on extinguishment should be a loss in current income. On the other hand, if convertible debt is selling above the call or redemption price because of the conversion privilege, it is essentially a common stock. In effect, market forces have transformed a debt instrument into an equity security, and the extinguishment provides an explicit transaction to justify recognizing that the convertible debt is in substance a common stock equivalent. Those who hold this view believe that accounting should report the substance of the transaction rather than its form; convertible debt need not be converted into common stock to demonstrate that the extinguishment transaction is equivalent to a purchase of common stock for retirement.

.16 Economic nature of extinguishment. In many respects the essential economics of the decision leading to the early extinguishment of outstanding debt are the same, regardless of whether such debt is extinguished via the use of the existing liquid assets, new equity securities, or new debt. That is, the decision favoring early extinguishment usually implies that the net present value of future cash inflows and outflows is maximized by extinguishing the debt now rather than by letting it run to maturity. The savings may be in lower cash interest costs on a new debt issue, in increased earnings per share of common stock if the assets are not earning the interest rate on the outstanding debt, or in some other form. The essential event is early extinguishment. Under this view, the difference is associated with extinguishing the existing debt and is accounted for the same regardless of how extinguishment is accomplished.

.17 To illustrate that view, assume that three firms each have long-term debt outstanding with ten years remaining to maturity. The first firm may have excess cash and no investment opportunities that earn a rate of return higher than the cash savings that would ensue from immediately extinguishing the debt. The second firm may wish to replace the debt with a similar issue bearing a

AC § 5362.16

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

lower coupon rate. The third firm may have excessive debt and may want to replace the debt with a new issue of common stock. The underlying reason for the early extinguishment in all three cases is to obtain a perceived economic advantage. The relevant comparison in the replacement of debt with other debt is with the costs of other debt. The comparison in other cases is with other means of financing. The means by which the debt is extinguished have no bearing on how to account for the loss or gain.

OPINION

.18 The following conclusions of the Board are based primarily on the reasoning in paragraphs .08, .09, .11, .16, and .17.

.19 Reduction of alternatives. The Board concludes that all extinguishments of debt before scheduled maturities are fundamentally alike. The accounting for such transactions should be the same regardless of the means used to achieve the extinguishment.

.20 Disposition of amounts. A difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the extinguished debt should be recognized currently in income of the period of extinguishment as losses or gains and identified as a separate item.² The criteria in section 2013 and in section 2012 as amended by section 2013 should be used to determine whether the losses or gains are ordinary or extraordinary items. Gains and losses should not be amortized to future periods. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.) [As amended, effective for extinguishments occurring after March 31, 1975 by FASB Statement No. 4.] (See section 2013.)

.21 Convertible debt. The extinguishment of convertible debt before maturity does not change the character of the security as between debt and equity at that time. Therefore, a difference between the cash acquisition price of the debt and its net carrying amount should be recognized

² If upon extinguishment of debt, the parties also exchange unstated (or stated) rights or privileges, the portion of the consideration exchanged allocable to such unstated (or stated) rights or privileges should be given appropriate accounting recognition. Moreover, extinguishment transactions between related entities may be in essence capital transactions.

currently in income in the period of extinguishment as losses or gains.

EFFECTIVE DATE

.22 This section shall be effective for all extinguishments of debt occurring on or after January 1, 1973. Extinguishment transactions are considered to be terminated events similar to that set forth in section 1051.16 and as such, extinguishments that were previously recorded in fiscal years ending before January 1, 1973 should not be adjusted. However, the accounting for refunding transactions that have been previously reported in the fiscal year in which December 31, 1972 occurs may be retroactively restated to comply with the provisions of this section.

AC Section 5500 CAPITAL

Section

• • • stockholders' equity • • • treasury stock • • • dividends • • • quasi-reorganizations • • •

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Paragraph

5510	Stockholders' Equity
5511	Capital Surplus
5512	Donated Stock
5515	Liquidation Preference of Preferred Stock
5516	Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Pur- chase Warrants Convertible Debt
	Other Types of Debt Securities
	Effective Date of This Section
5540	Treasury Stock
5541	Accounting for Treasury Stock
5542	Profits or Losses on Treasury Stock
5560	Dividends
5561	Stock Dividends and Stock Split-Ups As to the Recipient
5580	Quasi-Reorganizations
5581	Quasi-Reorganization or Corporate Readjustment Procedure in Readjustment
5582	Discontinuance of Dating Earned Surplus

 \implies The next page is 9921. $\leftarrow \ll$

Capital Surplus

[Source: ARB 43, Chap. 1A, Par. 2.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: 1934¹

.01 Capital surplus, however created, should not be used to relieve the income account of the current or future years of charges which would otherwise fall to be made thereagainst. This rule might be subject to the exception that where, upon reorganization, a reorganized company would be relieved of charges which would require to be made against income if the existing corporation were continued, it might be regarded as permissible to accomplish the same result without reorganization provided the facts were as fully revealed to and the action as formally approved by the shareholders as in reorganization.²

 \implies The next page is 9923. \leftarrow

¹ The above rule was adopted by the membership of the Institute in 1934. It had been recommended in 1932 to the New York Stock Exchange by the Institute's committee on cooperation with stock exchanges. ² See also section 5581, *Quasi-Reorganization or Corporate Readjustment.*

Donated Stock

[Source: ARB 43, Chap. 1A, Par. 6.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: 1934 ¹

.01 If capital stock is issued nominally for the acquisition of property and it appears that at about the same time, and pursuant to a previous agreement or understanding, some portion of the stock so issued is donated to the corporation, it is not permissible to treat the par value of the stock nominally issued for the property as the cost of that property. If stock so donated is subsequently sold, it is not permissible to treat the proceeds as a credit to surplus of the corporation.

 \implies The next page is 9961. \leftarrow

¹ The above rule was adopted by the membership of the Institute in 1934.

Liquidation Preference of Preferred Stock

[Source: APS Opinion No. 10, Par. 10-11, as amended.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1966, unless otherwise indicated

.01 Companies at times issue preferred (or other senior) stock which has a preference in involuntary liquidation considerably in excess of the par or stated value of the shares. The relationship between this preference in liquidation and the par or stated value of the shares may be of major significance to the users of the financial statements of those companies and the Board believes it highly desirable that it be prominently disclosed. Accordingly, the Board recommends that, in these cases, the liquidation preference of the stock be disclosed in the equity section of the balance sheet in the aggregate, either parenthetically or "in short," rather than on a per share basis or by disclosure in notes.

.02 In addition, the financial statements should disclose, either on the face of the balance sheet or in notes pertaining thereto:

- a. the aggregate or per share amounts at which preferred shares may be called or are subject to redemption through sinking fund operations or otherwise;
- b. as called for by section 2011A.05, the aggregate and per share amounts of arrearages in cumulative preferred dividends. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after Dec. 31, 1968 by APB Opinion No. 15.] (See section 2011.)

Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants¹

[Source: APB Opinion No. 14.]

Effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1966, unless otherwise indicated ²

CONVERTIBLE DEBT

Discussion

.01 Convertible debt securities discussed herein are those debt securities which are convertible into common stock of the issuer or an affiliated company at a specified price at the option of the holder and which are sold at a price or have a value at issuance not significantly in excess of the face amount. The terms of such securities generally include (1) an interest rate which is lower than the issuer could establish for nonconvertible debt, (2) an initial conversion price which is greater than the market value of the common stock at time of issuance, and (3) a conversion price which does not decrease except pursuant to antidilution provisions. In most cases such securities also are callable at the option of the issuer and are subordinated to nonconvertible debt.

.02 Convertible debt may offer advantages to both the issuer and the purchaser. From the point of view of the issuer, convertible debt has a lower interest rate than does nonconvertible debt. Furthermore, the issuer of convertible debt securities, in planning its long-range financing, may view convertible debt as essentially a means of raising equity capital. Thus, if the market value of the underlying common stock increases sufficiently in the future, the issuer can force conversion of the convertible debt into common stock by calling the issue for redemption. Under these market conditions, the issuer can effectively terminate the conversion option and eliminate the debt. If the market

¹This section supersedes paragraphs 8 and 9 of APB Opinion No. 10 and paragraphs 11-15 of APB Opinion No. 12. ³See paragraphs .17 and .18.

value of the stock does not increase sufficiently to result in conversion of the debt, the issuer will have received the benefit of the cash proceeds to the scheduled maturity dates at a relatively low cash interest cost.

.03 On the other hand, the purchaser obtains an option to receive either the face or redemption amount of the security or the number of common shares into which the security is convertible. If the market value of the underlying common stock increases above the conversion price, the purchaser (either through conversion or through holding the convertible debt containing the conversion option) benefits through appreciation. He may at that time require the issuance of the common stock at a price lower than the current market price. However, should the value of the underlying common stock not increase in the future, the purchaser has the protection of a debt security. Thus, in the absence of default by the issuer, he would receive the principal and interest if the conversion option is not exercised.

.04 Differences of opinion exist as to whether convertible debt securities should be treated by the issuer solely as debt or whether the conversion option should receive separate accounting recognition at time of issuance. The views in favor of each of these two concepts are contained in the following paragraphs.

.05 The most important reason given for accounting for convertible debt solely as debt is the inseparability of the debt and the conversion option. A convertible debt security is a complex hybrid instrument bearing an option, the alternative choices of which cannot exist independently of one another. The holder ordinarily does not sell one right and retain the other. Furthermore the two choices are mutually exclusive; they cannot both be consummated. Thus, the security will either be converted into common stock or be redeemed for cash. The holder cannot exercise the option to convert unless he foregoes the right to redemption, and vice versa.

.06 Another reason advanced in favor of accounting for convertible debt solely as debt is that the valuation of the conversion option or the debt security without the conversion option presents various practical problems. In the absence of separate transferability, values are not established in the marketplace, and accordingly, the value assigned to each feature is necessarily subjective. A determination of the value of the conversion feature poses problems because of the uncertain duration of the right to obtain the stock and the uncertainty as to the future value of the stock obtainable upon conversion. Furthermore, issuers often claim that a subjective valuation of a debt security without the conversion option but with identical other terms (which are usually less restrictive on the issuer and less protective of the holder than those of nonconvertible debt) is difficult because such a security could not be sold at a price which the issuer would regard as producing an acceptable cost of financing. Thus, when the attractiveness to investors of a convertible debt security rests largely on the anticipated increased value of the issuer's stock, the conversion feature may be of primary importance, with the debt feature regarded more as a hedge than as the principal investment objective. Many proponents of the single-element view believe that the practical problems of determining separate values for the debt and the conversion option should not be controlling for purposes of determining appropriate accounting but such problems should be given consideration, particularly if valid arguments exist for each of the two accounting concepts identified in paragraph .04.

.07 The contrary view is that convertible debt possesses characteristics of both debt and equity and that separate accounting recognition should be given to the debt characteristics and to the conversion option at time of issuance. This view is based on the premise that there is an economic value inherent in the conversion feature or call on the stock and that the nature and value of this feature should be recognized for accounting purposes by the issuer. The conversion feature is not significantly different in nature from the call represented by an option or warrant, and sale of the call is a type of capital transaction. The fact that the conversion feature coexists with certain debt characteristics in a hybrid security and cannot be sold or transferred separately from these senior elements or from the debt instrument itself does not constitute a logical or compelling reason why the values of the two elements should not receive separate accounting recognition. Similar separate accounting recognition for disparate features of single

AC § 5516.07

9974

instruments is reflected in, for example, the capitalization of long-term leases—involving the separation of the principal and interest elements—and in the allocation of the purchase cost in a bulk acquisition between goodwill and other assets.

.08 Holders of this view also believe that the fact that the eventual outcome of the option available to the purchaser of the convertible debt security cannot be determined at time of issuance is not relevant to the question of reflecting in the accounting records the distinguishable elements of the security at time of issuance. The conversion option has a value at time of issuance, and a portion of the proceeds should therefore be allocated to this element of the transaction. The remainder of the proceeds is attributable to the debt characteristics, and should be so recognized for accounting purposes.

.09 Holders of this view also believe that the difficulties of implementation—which are claimed by some to justify or to support not recognizing the conversion option for accounting purposes—are not insurmountable and should not govern the conclusion. When convertible debt securities are issued, professional advisors are usually available to furnish estimates of values of the conversion option and of the debt characteristics, which values are sufficiently precise for the purpose of allocating the proceeds. If a nonconvertible debt security could not be sold at an acceptable price, the value of the conversion option is of such material significance that its accounting recognition, even on the basis of an estimate, is essential.

Opinion

.10 The Board is of the opinion that no portion of the proceeds from the issuance of the types of convertible debt securities described in paragraph .01 should be accounted for as attributable to the conversion feature. In reaching this conclusion, the Board places greater weight on the inseparability of the debt and the conversion option (as described in paragraph .05) and less weight on practical difficulties.

DEBT WITH STOCK PURCHASE WARRANTS
Discussion

.11 Unlike convertible debt, debt with detachable warrants to purchase stock is usually issued with the expecta-

AC § 5516.08

tion that the debt will be repaid when it matures. The provisions of the debt agreement are usually more restrictive on the issuer and more protective of the investor than those for convertible debt. The terms of the warrants are influenced by the desire for a successful debt financing. Detachable warrants often trade separately from the debt instrument. Thus, the two elements of the security exist

.12 From the point of view of the issuer, the sale of a debt security with warrants results in a lower cash interest cost than would otherwise be possible or permits financing not otherwise practicable. The issuer usually cannot force the holders of the warrants to exercise them and purchase the stock. The issuer may, however, be required to issue shares of stock at some future date at a price lower than the market price existing at that time, as is true in the case of the conversion option of convertible debt. Under different conditions the warrants may expire without exercise. The outcome of the warrant feature thus cannot be determined at time of issuance. In either case the debt must generally be paid at maturity or earlier redemption date whether or not the warrants are exercised.

independently and may be treated as separate securities.

.13 There is general agreement among accountants that the proceeds from the sale of debt with stock purchase warrants should be allocated to the two elements for accounting purposes. This agreement results from the separability of the debt and the warrants. The availability of objective values in many instances is also a factor. There is agreement that the allocation should be based on the relative fair values of the debt security without the warrants and of the warrants themselves at time of issuance. The portion of the proceeds so allocated to the warrants should be accounted for as paid-in capital. The remainder of the proceeds should be allocated to the debt security portion of the transaction. This usually results in issuing the debt security at a discount (or, occasionally, a reduced premium).

Opinion

.14 The Board is of the opinion that the portion of the proceeds of debt securities issued with detachable stock purchase warrants which is allocable to the warrants should

be accounted for as paid-in capital. The allocation should be based on the relative fair values of the two securities at time of issuance.³ Any resulting discount or premium on the debt securities should be accounted for as such.⁴ The same accounting treatment applies to issues of debt securities (issued with detachable warrants) which may be surrendered in settlement of the exercise price of the warrant. However, when stock purchase warrants are not detachable from the debt and the debt security must be surrendered in order to exercise the warrant, the two securities taken together are substantially equivalent to convertible debt and the accounting specified in paragraph .10 should apply.

.15 When detachable warrants are issued in conjunction with debt as consideration in purchase transactions, the amounts attributable to each class of security issued should be determined separately, based on values at the time of issuance.³ The debt discount or premium is obtained by comparing the value attributed to the debt securities with the face amount thereof.

OTHER TYPES OF DEBT SECURITIES

Opinion

.16 The Board recognizes that it is not practicable in this section to discuss all possible types of debt with conversion features, debt issued with stock purchase warrants, or debt securities with a combination of such features. Securities not explicitly discussed in this section should be dealt with in accordance with the substance of the transaction. For example, when convertible debt is issued at a substantial premium, there is a presumption that such premium represents paid-in capital.

EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS SECTION

.17 This section is effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1966.⁵ However, if a portion of the proceeds of a convertible debt issue covered by paragraph .10

AC § 5516.15

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

³ The time of issuance generally is the date when agreement as to terms has been reached and announced, even though the agreement is subject to certain further actions, such as directors' or stockholders' approval. ⁴ See sections 5361 and 5362

⁴ See sections 5361 and 5362. ⁵ This was the effective date of paragraphs 8 and 9 of APB Opinion No. 10 which were temporarily suspended by paragraphs 11-15 of APB Opinion No. 12. The latter Opinion stated that the Board might decide to have the Opinion resolving this question apply retroactively to fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1966.

was allocated to the conversion feature for periods beginning before January 1, 1969 that accounting may be continued with respect to such issues.

.18 Material adjustments resulting from adoption of this section which affect periods beginning prior to January 1, 1969 should be treated as prior period adjustments (see section 2010.22).

 \implies The next page is 10,051. \leftarrow \parallel

Accounting for Treasury Stock

[Source: ARB 43, Chap. 1A, Par. 4.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: 1934¹

.01 While it is perhaps in some circumstances permissible to show stock of a corporation held in its own treasury as an asset, if adequately disclosed, the dividends on stock so held should not be treated as a credit to the income account of the company.

 \implies The next page is 10,061. \lor

¹ The above rule was adopted by the membership of the Institute in 1934. It had been recommended in 1932 to the New York Stock Exchange by the Institute's committee on cooperation with stock exchanges.

Profits or Losses on Treasury Stock

[Source: ARB 43, Chap. 1B, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1953

.01 Following an inquiry made by the New York Stock Exchange, a predecessor committee on accounting procedure in 1938 issued the following report:

"PROFITS OR LOSSES ON TREASURY STOCK"

.02 "The executive committee of the American Institute of Accountants has directed that the following report of the committee on accounting procedure, which it received at a meeting on April 8, 1938, be published, without approval or disapproval of the committee, for the information of members of the Institute:

TO THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE,

AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF ACCOUNTANTS:

.03 "This committee has had under consideration the question regarding treatment of purchase and sale by a corporation of its own stock, which was raised during 1937 by the New York Stock Exchange with the Institute's special committee on cooperation with stock exchanges.

.04 "As a result of discussions which then took place, the special committee on cooperation with stock exchanges made a report which was approved by the committee on accounting procedure and the executive committee, and a copy of which was furnished to the committee on stock list of the New York Stock Exchange. The question raised was stated in the following form:

.05 "'Should the difference between the purchase and resale prices of a corporation's own common stock be reflected in earned surplus (either directly or through inclusion in the income account) or should such difference be reflected in capital surplus?'

.06 "The opinion of the special committee on cooperation with stock exchanges reads in part as follows:

10,062

.07 "Apparently there is general agreement that the difference between the purchase price and the stated value of a corporation's common stock purchased and retired should be reflected in capital surplus. Your committee believes that while the net asset value of the shares of common stock outstanding in the hands of the public may be increased or decreased by such purchase and retirement, such transactions relate to the capital of the corporation and do not give rise to corporate profits or losses. Your committee can see no essential difference between (a) the purchase and retirement of a corporation's own common stock and the subsequent issue of common stock.'

.08 "This committee is in agreement with the views thus expressed; it is aware that such transactions have been held to give rise to taxable income, but it does not feel that such decisions constitute any bar to the application of correct accounting procedure as above outlined.

.09 "The special committee on cooperation with stock exchanges continued and concluded its report with the following statement:

.10 "'Accordingly, although your committee recognizes that there may be cases where the transactions involved are so inconsequential as to be immaterial, it does not believe that, as a broad general principle, such transactions should be reflected in earned surplus (either directly or through inclusion in the income account).'

.11 "This committee agrees with the special committee on cooperation with stock exchanges, but thinks it desirable to point out that the qualification should not be applied to any transaction which, although in itself inconsiderable in amount, is a part of a series of transactions which in the aggregate are of substantial importance.

.12 "This committee recommends that the views expressed be circulated for the information of members of the Institute."

.13 The Board considers that the following accounting practices, in addition to the accounting practices indicated in paragraphs .03-.12 are acceptable, and that they appear to be more in accord with current developments in practice:

AC § 5542.07

- a. When a corporation's stock is retired, or purchased for constructive retirement (with or without an intention to retire the stock formally in accordance with applicable laws):
 - i. an excess of purchase price over par or stated value may be allocated between capital surplus and retained earnings. The portion of the excess allocated to capital surplus should be limited to the sum of (a) all capital surplus arising from previous retirements and net "gains" on sales of treasury stock of the same issue and (b) the prorata portion of capital surplus paid in, voluntary transfers of retained earnings, capitalization of stock dividends, etc., on the same issue. For this purpose, any remaining capital surplus applicable to issues fully retired (formal or constructive) is deemed to be applicable prorata to shares of common stock. Alternatively, the excess may be charged entirely to retained earnings in recognition of the fact that a corporation can always capitalize or allocate retained earnings for such purposes.
 - ii. an excess of par or stated value over purchase price should be credited to capital surplus.
- b. When a corporation's stock is acquired for purposes other than retirement (formal or constructive), or when ultimate disposition has not yet been decided, the cost of acquired stock may be shown separately as a deduction from the total of capital stock, capital surplus, and retained earnings, or may be accorded the accounting treatment appropriate for retired stock, or in some circumstances may be shown as an asset in accordance with section 5541. "Gains" on sales of treasury stock not previously accounted for as constructively retired should be credited to capital surplus; "losses" may be charged to capital surplus to the extent that previous net "gains" from sales or retirements of the same class of stock are included therein, otherwise to retained earnings.

[As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1965, by APB Opinion Capital

No. 6 and as amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after October 31, 1970, by APB Opinion No. 16.]

.14 Laws of some states govern the circumstances under which a corporation may acquire its own stock and prescribe the accounting treatment therefor. Where such requirements are at variance with paragraph .13 the accounting should conform to the applicable law. When state laws relating to acquisition of stock restrict the availability of retained earnings for payment of dividends or have other effects of a significant nature, these facts should be disclosed. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1965, by APB Opinion No. 6.]

 \implies The next page is 10,151. $\leftarrow \iff$

Stock Dividends and Stock Split-Ups

[Source: ARB 43, Chap. 7B, as amended.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1953

.01 The term stock dividend as used in this section refers to an issuance by a corporation of its own common shares to its common shareholders without consideration and under conditions indicating that such action is prompted mainly by a desire to give the recipient shareholders some ostensibly separate evidence of a part of their respective interests in accumulated corporate earnings without distribution of cash or other property which the board of directors deems necessary or desirable to retain in the business.

.02 The term *stock split-up* as used in this section refers to an issuance by a corporation of its own common shares to its common shareholders without consideration and under conditions indicating that such action is prompted mainly by a desire to increase the number of outstanding shares for the purpose of effecting a reduction in their unit market price and, thereby, of obtaining wider distribution and improved marketability of the shares.

.03 This section is not concerned with the accounting for a distribution or issuance to shareholders of (a) shares of another corporation theretofore held as an investment, or (b) shares of a different class, or (c) rights to subscribe for additional shares or (d) shares of the same class in cases where each shareholder is given an election to receive cash or shares.

.04 The discussion of accounting for stock dividends and split-ups that follows is divided into two parts. The first deals with the problems of the recipient. The second deals with the problems of the issuer.

AS TO THE RECIPIENT

.05 One of the basic problems of accounting is that of income determination. Complete discussion of this problem is obviously beyond the scope of this section. Basically, income is a realized gain and in accounting is recognized, recorded, and stated in accordance with certain principles as to time and amount.

.06 In applying the principles of income determination to the accounts of a shareholder of a corporation, it is generally agreed that the problem of determining his income is distinct from the problem of income determination by the corporation itself. The income of the corporation is determined as that of a separate entity without regard to the equity of the respective shareholders in such income. Under conventional accounting concepts, the shareholder has no income solely as a result of the fact that the corporation has income: the increase in his equity through undistributed earnings is no more than potential income to him. It is true that income earned by the corporation may result in an enhancement in the market value of the shares, but until there is a distribution, division, or severance of corporate assets, the shareholder has no income. If there is an increase in the market value of his holdings, such unrealized appreciation is not income. Tn the case of a stock dividend or split-up, there is no distribution, division, or severance of corporate assets. Moreover, there is nothing resulting therefrom that the shareholder can realize without parting with some of his proportionate interest in the corporation.

(Note: The Board is of the opinion that paragraph .06 should not be construed as prohibiting the equity method of accounting for substantial intercorporate investments. [As amended, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1965, by APB Opinion No. 6.] This method, which is described in section 5131, *The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock*, is required in certain circumstances.)

.07 The foregoing are important points to be considered in any discussion of the accounting procedures to be followed by the recipient of a stock dividend or splitup since many arguments put forward by those who favor recognizing stock dividends as income are in substance arguments for the recognition of corporate income as income to the shareholder as it accrues to the corporation, and prior to its distribution to the shareholder; the acceptance of such arguments would require the abandonment of the *separate entity* concept of corporation accounting.

.08 The question as to whether or not stock dividends are income has been extensively debated; the arguments pro and con are well known.¹ The situation cannot be better summarized, however, than in the words approved by Mr. Justice Pitney in *Eisner v. Macomber*, 252 U. S. 189, wherein it was held that stock dividends are not income under the Sixteenth Amendment, as follows:

"A stock dividend really takes nothing from the property of the corporation and adds nothing to the interests of the stockholders. Its property is not diminished and their interests are not increased . . . the proportional interest of each shareholder remains the same. The only change is in the evidence which represents that interest, the new shares and the original shares together representing the same proportional interests that the original shares represented before the issue of the new ones."

.09 Since a shareholder's interest in the corporation remains unchanged by a stock dividend or split-up except as to the number of share units constituting such interest, the cost of the shares previously held should be allocated equitably to the total shares held after receipt of the stock dividends or split-up. When any shares are later disposed of, a gain or loss should be determined on the basis of the adjusted cost per share.

AS TO THE ISSUER

Stock Dividends

.10 As has been previously stated, a stock dividend does not, in fact, give rise to any change whatsoever in either the corporation's assets or its respective shareholders' proportionate interests therein. However, it can-

¹See, for instance, Freeman, "Stock Dividends and the New York Stock Exchange," *American Economic Review*, December, 1931 (pro), and Whitaker, "Stock Dividends, Investment Trusts, and the Exchange," *American Economic Review*, June, 1931 (con).

not fail to be recognized that, merely as a consequence of the expressed purpose of the transaction and its characterization as a *dividend* in related notices to shareholders and the public at large, many recipients of stock dividends look upon them as distributions of corporate earnings and usually in an amount equivalent to the fair value of the additional shares received. Furthermore, it is to be presumed that such views of recipients are materially strengthened in those instances, which are by far the most numerous, where the issuances are so small in comparison with the shares previously outstanding that they do not have any apparent effect upon the share market price and, consequently, the market value of the shares previously held remains substantially unchanged. The committee therefore believes that where these circumstances exist the corporation should in the public interest account for the transaction by transferring from earned surplus to the category of permanent capitalization (represented by the capital stock and capital surplus accounts) an amount equal to the fair value of the additional shares issued. Unless this is done, the amount of earnings which the shareholder may believe to have been distributed to him will be left, except to the extent otherwise dictated by legal requirements, in earned surplus subject to possible further similar stock issuances or cash distributions.

.11 Where the number of additional shares issued as a stock dividend is so great that it has, or may reasonably be expected to have, the effect of materially reducing the share market value, the committee believes that the implications and possible constructions discussed in the preceding paragraph are not likely to exist and that the transaction clearly partakes of the nature of a stock split-up as defined in paragraph .02. Consequently, the committee considers that under such circumstances there is no need to capitalize earned surplus, other than to the extent occasioned by legal requirements. It recommends, however, that in such instances every effort be made to avoid the use of the word dividend in related corporate resolutions, notices, and announcements and that, in those cases where because of legal requirements this cannot be done, the transaction be described, for example, as a splitup effected in the form of a dividend.

AC § 5561.11

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.12 In cases of closely-held companies, it is to be presumed that the intimate knowledge of the corporations' affairs possessed by their shareholders would preclude any such implications and possible constructions as are referred to in paragraph .10. In such cases, the committee believes that considerations of public policy do not arise and that there is no need to capitalize earned surplus other than to meet legal requirements.

.13 Obviously, the point at which the relative size of the additional shares issued becomes large enough to materially influence the unit market price of the stock will vary with individual companies and under differing market conditions and, hence, no single percentage can be laid down as a standard for determining when capitalization of earned surplus in excess of legal requirements is called for and when it is not. However, on the basis of a review of market action in the case of shares of a number of companies having relatively recent stock distributions, it would appear that there would be few instances involving the issuance of additional shares of less than, say, 20% or 25% of the number previously outstanding where the effect would not be such as to call for the procedure referred to in paragraph .10.

.14 The corporate accounting recommended in paragraph .10 will in many cases, probably the majority, result in the capitalization of earned surplus in an amount in excess of that called for by the laws of the state of incorporation; such laws generally require the capitalization only of the par value of the shares issued, or, in the case of shares without par value, an amount usually within the discretion of the board of directors. However, these legal requirements are, in effect, minimum requirements and do not prevent the capitalization of a larger amount per share.

Stock Split-Ups

.15 Earlier in this section a stock split-up was defined as being confined to transactions involving the issuance of shares, without consideration moving to the corporation, for the purpose of effecting a reduction in the unit market price of shares of the class issued and, thus, of obtaining wider distribution and improved marketability of the shares. Where this is clearly the intent, no transfer from earned surplus to capital surplus or capital stock account is called for, other than to the extent occasioned by legal requirements. It is believed, however, that few cases will arise where the aforementioned purpose can be accomplished through an issuance of shares which is less than, say, 20% or 25% of the previously outstanding shares.

.16 The committee believes that the corporation's representations to its shareholders as to the nature of the issuance is one of the principal considerations in determining whether it should be recorded as a stock dividend or a split-up. Nevertheless, it believes that the issuance of new shares in ratios of less than, say, 20% or 25% of the previously outstanding shares, or the frequent recurrence of issuances of shares, would destroy the presumption that transactions represented to be split-ups should be recorded as split-ups.

H → The next page is 10,271. ← H

AC § 5561.16

Quasi-Reorganization or Corporate Readjustment

(Amplification of Institute Rule No. 2 of 1934) [Source: ARB 43, Chap. 7A.]

> Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: June, 1953

.01 A rule was adopted by the Institute in 1934 which read as follows:

"Capital surplus, however created, should not be used to relieve the income account of the current or future years of charges which would otherwise fall to be made thereagainst. This rule might be subject to the exception that where, upon reorganization, a reorganized company would be relieved of charges which would require to be made against income if the existing corporation were continued, it might be regarded as permissible to accomplish the same result without reorganization provided the facts were as fully revealed to and the action as formally approved by the shareholders as in reorganization."¹

.02 Readjustments of the kind mentioned in the exception to the rule fall in the category of what are called quasi-reorganizations. This section does not deal with the general question of quasi-reorganizations, but only with cases in which the exception permitted under the rule of 1934 is availed of by a corporation. Hereinafter such cases are referred to as readjustments. The problems which arise fall into two groups: (a) what may be permitted in a readjustment and (b) what may be permitted thereafter.

PROCEDURE IN READJUSTMENT

.03 If a corporation elects to restate its assets, capital stock, and surplus through a readjustment and thus avail itself of permission to relieve its future income account or earned surplus account of charges which would otherwise be made thereagainst, it should make a clear report to its shareholders of the restatements proposed to be made, and obtain their formal consent. It should present a fair bal-

¹ See section 5511.

ance sheet as at the date of the readjustment, in which the adjustment of carrying amounts is reasonably complete, in order that there may be no continuation of the circumstances which justify charges to capital surplus.

.04 A write-down of assets below amounts which are likely to be realized thereafter, though it may result in conservatism in the balance sheet at the readjustment date. may also result in overstatement of earnings or of earned surplus when the assets are subsequently realized. Therefore, in general, assets should be carried forward as of the date of readjustment at fair and not unduly conservative amounts, determined with due regard for the accounting to be employed by the company thereafter. If the fair value of any asset is not readily determinable a conservative estimate may be made, but in that case the amount should be described as an estimate and any material difference arising through realization or otherwise and not attributable to events occurring or circumstances arising after that date should not be carried to income or earned surplus.

.05 Similarly, if potential losses or charges are known to have arisen prior to the date of readjustment but the amounts thereof are then indeterminate, provision may properly be made to cover the maximum *probable* losses or charges. If the amounts provided are subsequently found to have been excessive or insufficient, the difference should not be carried to earned surplus nor used to offset losses or gains originating after the readjustment, but should be carried to capital surplus.

.06 When the amounts to be written off in a readjustment have been determined, they should be charged first against earned surplus to the full extent of such surplus; any balance may then be charged against capital surplus. A company which has subsidiaries should apply this rule in such a way that no consolidated earned surplus survives a readjustment in which any part of losses has been charged to capital surplus.

.07 If the earned surplus of any subsidiaries cannot be applied against the losses before resort is had to capital surplus, the parent company's interest in such earned surplus should be regarded as capitalized by the readjustment just as surplus at the date of acquisition is capitalized, so far as the parent is concerned.

.08 The effective date of the readjustment, from which the income of the company is thereafter determined, should be as near as practicable to the date on which formal consent of the stockholders is given, and should ordinarily not be prior to the close of the last completed fiscal year.

PROCEDURE AFTER READJUSTMENT

.09 When the readjustment has been completed, the company's accounting should be substantially similar to that appropriate for a new company.

.10 After such a readjustment earned surplus previously accumulated cannot properly be carried forward under that title. A new earned surplus account should be established, dated to show that it runs from the effective date of the readjustment, and this dating should be disclosed in financial statements until such time as the effective date is no longer deemed to possess any special significance.²

.11 Capital surplus originating in such a readjustment is restricted in the same manner as that of a new corporation; charges against it should be only those which may properly be made against the initial surplus of a new corporation.

.12 It is recognized that charges against capital surplus may take place in other types of readjustments to which the foregoing provisions would have no application. Such cases would include readjustments for the purpose of correcting erroneous credits made to capital surplus in the past. In this statement the committee has dealt only with that type of readjustment in which either the current income or earned surplus account or the income account of future years is relieved of charges which would otherwise be made thereagainst.

 \implies The next page is 10,291. \leftarrow

Discontinuance of Dating Earned Surplus

[Source: ARB 46.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: February, 1956

.01 Section 5581.10, Quasi-Reorganization or Corporate Readjustment, reads as follows:

After such a readjustment earned surplus previously accumulated cannot properly be carried forward under that title. A new earned surplus account should be established, dated to show that it runs from the effective date of the readjustment, and this dating should be disclosed in financial statements until such time as the effective date is no longer deemed to possess any special significance.

.02 The committee believes that the dating of earned surplus following a quasi-reorganization would rarely, if ever, be of significance after a period of ten years. It also believes that there may be exceptional circumstances in which the discontinuance of the dating of earned surplus could be justified at the conclusion of a period less than ten years.

1

AC Section 6000

SPECIAL INDUSTRY APPLICATIONS

... public utilities ... industry audit/accounting guides and statements of positions

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section

6010 Public Utilities

6011 Accounting Principles for Regulated Industries

Appendix—AICPA Industry Audit/Accounting Guides and Statements of Position

₩ + The next page is 10,421. <-

Contents

Accounting Principles for Regulated Industries

[Source: APB Opinion No. 2, Addendum.]

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: December, 1962

The following statement, approved by the Board, originally appeared in *The Journal of Accountancy*, December 1962, p. 67:

.01 The basic postulates and the broad principles of accounting comprehended in the term generally accepted accounting principles pertain to business enterprises in general. These include public utilities, common carriers, insurance companies, financial institutions, and the like that are subject to regulation by government, usually through commissions or other similar agencies.

.02 However, differences may arise in the application of generally accepted accounting principles as between regulated and nonregulated businesses, because of the effect in regulated businesses of the rate-making process, a phenomenon not present in nonregulated businesses. Such differences usually concern mainly the time at which various items enter into the determination of net income in accordance with the principle of matching costs and revenues. For example, if a cost incurred by a regulated business during a given period is treated for rate-making purposes by the regulatory authority having jurisdiction as applicable to future revenues, it may be deferred in the balance sheet at the end of the current period and written off in the future period or periods in which the related revenue accrues, even though the cost is of a kind which in a nonregulated business would be written off currently. However, this is appropriate only when it is clear that the cost will be recoverable out of future revenues, and it is not appropriate when there is doubt, because of economic conditions or for other reasons, that the cost will be so recoverable.

.03 Accounting requirements not directly related to the rate-making process commonly are imposed on regulated businesses by orders of regulatory authorities, and occasionally by court decisions or statutes. The fact that such accounting requirements are imposed by the government does not necessarily mean that they conform with generally accepted accounting principles. For example, if a cost, of a kind which in a nonregulated business would be charged to income, is charged directly to surplus pursuant to the applicable accounting requirements of the regulatory authority, such cost nevertheless should be included in operating expenses or charged to income, as appropriate in financial statements intended for use by the public.

.04 The financial statements of regulated businesses other than those prepared for filing with the government for regulatory purposes preferably should be based on generally accepted accounting principles (with appropriate recognition of rate-making considerations as indicated in paragraph .02) rather than on systems of accounts or other accounting requirements of the government.

.05 Generally Accepted Auditing Standards lists four standards of reporting, the first of which says that "The report shall state whether the financial statements are presented in accordance with generally accepted principles of accounting." In reporting on the financial statements of regulated businesses, the independent auditor should observe this standard and should deal with material variances from generally accepted accounting principles (with appropriate recognition of rate-making considerations as indicated in paragraph .02), if the financial statements reflect any such variances, in the same manner as in his reports on nonregulated businesses.

 \implies The next page is 10,451. \leftarrow

AC § 6011.03

APPENDIX

AICPA Industry Audit/Accounting Guides and Statements of Position

Audit Guides

- Audits of Banks, Including Supplement, Committee on Bank Accounting and Auditing, 1969.
- Audits of Brokers and Dealers in Securities, Committee on Stockbrokerage Auditing, 1973.
- Audits of Colleges and Universities, Committee on College and University Accounting and Auditing, 1973; Statement of Position, Financial Accounting and Reporting by Colleges and Universities, Accounting Standards Division, August, 1974.
- Audits of Construction Contractors, Committee on Contractor Accounting and Auditing and the Committee on Cooperation With Surety Companies, 1965.
- Audits of Employee Health and Welfare Benefit Funds, Committee on Health, Welfare and Pension Funds, 1972.
- Audits of Finance Companies, Committee on Finance Companies, 1973.
- Audits of Fire and Casualty Insurance Companies, Committee on Insurance Accounting and Auditing, 1966; Statement of Position, Revision of Form of Auditor's Report, Auditing Standards Division, July, 1974.
- Audits of Government Contractors, Task Force on Defense Contract Agencies, 1975.
- Audits of Investment Companies, Committee on Investment Companies, 1973.
- Audits of Personal Financial Statements, Committee on Personal Financial Statements, 1968.
- Audits of Savings and Loan Associations, Committee on Savings and Loan Accounting and Auditing, 1973.
- Audits of Service-Center-Produced Records, Committee on Computer Auditing, 1974.
- Audits of State and Local Governmental Units, Committee on Governmental Accounting and Auditing, 1974; Statement of Position, Accrual of Revenues and Expenditures by State and Local Governmental Units, Accounting Standards Division, August, 1975.
- Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies, Committee on Insurance Accounting and Auditing, 1972.
- Audits of Voluntary Health and Welfare Organizations, Committee on Voluntary Health and Welfare Organizations, 1974.

AICPA Professional Standards

Appendix

10,452

Appendix

Audit Guides—Continued

Guide for Engagements of CPAs to Prepare Unaudited Financial Statements, Task Force on Unaudited Financial Statements, Auditing Standards Division, 1975.

Hospital Audit Guide, Committee on Health Care Institutions, 1972.

Medicare Audit Guide, Committee on Health Care Institutions, 1969.

Accounting Guides

- Accounting for Motion Picture Films, Committee on the Entertainment Industries, 1973.
- Accounting for Retail Land Sales, Committee on Land Development Companies, 1973.
- Accounting for Franchise Fee Revenue, Committee on Franchise Accounting and Auditing, 1973.

Profit Recognition on Sales of Real Estate, Committee on Accounting for Real Estate Transactions, 1973.

AICPA ACCOUNTING INTERPRETATIONS

During the time the Accounting Principles Board was in existence, the Institute staff was authorized to issue interpretations of accounting questions having general interest to the profession. The purpose of the interpretations was to provide guidance on a timely basis without the formal procedures required for an APB Opinion and to clarify points on which past practice may have varied and been considered generally accepted. These interpretations, which were reviewed with informed members of the profession, were not pronouncements of the Board and did not establish standards enforceable under the Institute's Code of Professional Ethics. Responsibility for their preparation rested with RICHARD C. LYTLE, at that time administrative director of the Accounting Principles Board. Unless otherwise stated, the interpretations were not intended to be retroactive.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Paragraph

U1051	Accounting Changes: Accounting Interpretations of Se	ection 1051 ¹
	1. Changing EPS Denominator for Retroa ment to Prior Period	
	2. EPS for "Catch-up" Adjustment	
U1091	Accounting for Business Combinations: Accountin tations of Section 1091	ng Interpre-
	1. Ratio of Exchange	
	2. Notification to Stockholders	
	3. Intercorporate Investment Exceeding 10 F	Per Cent Limit .009010
	4. Consummation Date for a Business Com	
	5. Pooling Not Completed Within One Year	
	6. Registered Stock Exchanged for Restricted	l Stock019020
	7. Pooling Under "Old Rules"	
	8. Applying Purchase Accounting	
	9. "Two-Year" Provisions at Effective Date.	
	10. Effect of Termination	
	11. Use of Restricted Stock to Effect a Busin tion	
	12. Warrants May Defeat Pooling	•••••
	13. Two-Class Common for Pooling	
	14. Contingent Shares Defeat Pooling	

¹ See also AC section 1051-1, Accounting Changes Related to the Cost of Inventory. AICPA Professional Standards Contents

U1091		
	15. Paragraph .99 Is Not Mandatory	
	16. Changes in Intercorporate Investments	
	17. Intercorporate Investments at 10/31/70.	
	18. Wholly Owned Subsidiary	
	19. Equity and Debt Issued for Common Before	Pooling065066
	20. Treasury Stock Allowed with Pooling	
	21. Pooling with "Bailout"	
	22. Disposition of Assets to Comply with an C	
	23. Retroactive Disclosure of Pooling	
	24. "Grandfather" for Subsidiaries	
	25. All Shares Must Be Exchanged to Pool	
	26. Acquisition of Minority Interest	
	27. Entities Under Common Control in a Busing nation	
	28. Pooling by Subsidiary of Personal Holding	
	29. Option May Initiate Combination	
	30. Representations in a Pooling	
	31. Employment Contingencies in a Pooling.	
	32. Stock Options in a Pooling	
	33. Costs of Maintaining an "Acquisitions" De	
	34. Forced Sale of Stock	
	35. Registration Costs in a Purchase	
	36. No Pooling with Wholly Owned Sub	
	37. Combination Contingent on "Bailout"	
	38. Several Companies in a Single Business C	Combination .147150
	39. Transfers and Exchanges Between Compo Common Control	
U2010	Reporting the Results of Operations: Accounting Inte of Section 2010	erpretations
	1. Losses Caused by Bankruptcies	
U2011	Computing Earnings per Share: Accounting Interpr Section 2011, Earnings per Share	etations of
Int	troduction	
	Comparison of APB Opinion No. 9 and Section 201	1
	Interpretation of Section 2011	
	Arrangement	
Pa	art I: An Overview of Section 2011	
	Presentation of Earnings per Share	
	Assumptions	
	Classification of Securities	
	Anti-Dilutive Securities	
	Primary Earnings per Share	
	Fully Diluted Earnings per Share	

Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Section		Paragraph
U2011	Part I—Continued	
	Earnings Applicable to Common Stock	
	Convertible Securities	
	Options and Warrants	
	Delayed Effectiveness and Changing Rates or Prices	
	Other Securities	
	Restatement of Previously Reported Data	
	Business Combinations and Reorganizations	
	Disclosure	
	Supplementary Data	
	Effective Date	.048051
Part	II: Accounting Interpretations of Section 2011	.052356
	Definitional Interpretations	
	1. Security	
	2. Common Stock Equivalents	
	3. Other Potentially Dilutive Securities	
	4. Dilution—Dilutive Security	
	5. Anti-Dilution—Anti-Dilutive Security	
	6. Dual Presentation	
	7. Primary Earnings per Share	
	8. Fully Diluted Earnings per Share	
	Applicability of Section 2011	
	9. Corporations and Financial Presentations Excepted	
	10. Closely Held Corporations	
	11. Dilution Less Than 3%	
	12. 3% Test	
	13. Subchapter S Corporations	
	14. Unaudited Financial Statements	
	Earnings per Share Presentation	
	15. Reporting Loss per Share	
	16. EPS for Extraordinary Items	
	17. Simple Capital Structure	
	18. Complex Capital Structure	
	19. EPS for Simple and Complex Capital Structures	
	20. Dual Presentation for Corporation with Simple Capital	
	Structure	.092094
	21. Primary vs. Fully Diluted EPS.	
	22. Captions for Earnings per Share Presentations	
	23. Captions in Comparative Statements	
	Computing Earnings per Share	
	24. Earnings Applicable to Common Stock	.101104
	25. Weighted Average of Shares Outstanding	
	Convertible Securities	
	26. Classification and Assumed Conversion	
	20. Clussification and Assonica Conversion	Contents
~ U ' U A		

Paragraph

U2011	Part IICo	ontinued	
	27.	Time of Issuance	.117120
	28.	Classification and Computation Not Always the Same	.121125
	29.	Change of Classification of Convertible Security	.126128
	30.	Change of Classification Is Mandatory	.129131
		Definition of "Same Terms"	
	32.	Issue Price Is Not a "Term"	.133
	33.	Sale of Treasury Securities Is a New Issue	.134
	34.	Determining a Convertible Security's Cash Yield	.135
	35.	Computing a Convertible's Cash Yield	.136
	36.	Cash Yield of Convertible Security in a "Package"	.137
	37.	Property Included in Cash Yield	.138139
	38.	Prime Rate Used in Yield Test	.140
	39.	Prior Period Prime Rates	.141
	40.	Original Issue Premium or Discount on Convertible Securities	
	41.	No Anti-Dilution from Convertible Preferred Stock	.143144

U2011	Part IIC	ontinued	
02011	-	No Anti-Dilution from Convertible Debt	.145146
	43.	Conversion Assumed for Primary Only	
	44.	If Converted Method at Actual Conversion	
	45.	Securities Convertible into Other Convertible Securities	
		nd Warrants and Their Equivalents	
	46.	Classification of Options and Warrants	
	40. 47.	No Anti-Dilution from Options and Warrants	
	47.	Equivalents of Options and Warrants	
	40. 49.	Grouping Options and Warrants	
	50 .	Methods Used for Options and Warrants	
	51.	Treasury Stock Method Reflects Dilution of Options	
	51.	and Warrants	.171174
	52.	Market Prices Used for Treasury Stock Method	.175180
	53.	How Many Market Prices?	.181183
	54.	What Market Price to Use?	.184186
	55.	Over-the-Counter and Listed Stocks Not Traded	.187189
	56.	Fair Value Used If No Market Price	.190194
	57.	Options and Warrants Outstanding Part of a Period	.195201
	58.	What Is a Period?	.202204
	59.	Share Averaging	.205206
	60.	Applying Ending and Average Market Prices	.207212
	61.	Treasury Stock Method at Exercise	.213216
	62.	Anti-Dilutive Exercise	.217222
	63.	"Substantially All" of Three Months	.223227
	64.	Total of Quarters May Not Equal Annual EPS	.228229
	65.	Unusual Warrants and Their Equivalents	
	66.	Securities Subject to Section 2011.37 Tests	
	67.	Market Prices Used in Section 2011.37 Tests	
	6 8 .	Debt	
	69.	Computations for Warrants Allowing the Tendering of Debt	
	70.	Computations for Warrants Whose Proceeds Are Applied to Retire Debt	.246248
	71.	Treasury Stock Method for Convertibles	
	72.	Anti-Dilutive Options and Warrants Included	.253
	73.	No Order for Exercise	.254
	74.	Explanation of 20% Provision	.255260
	75.	Original Issue Premium or Discount	.261
	76.	Redemption Premium or Discount	
	77.	Debt Purchased Under Section 2011.38	.265266
	78.	Compensating Balances Excluded	.267
	79.	Investments Under Section 2011.38	.268269
	80.	Debt Eligible Only While Outstanding	.270
AICDA	Drofessional	Standards	Contents

Table of Contents

Section		Paragraph
U2011	Part II—Continued	
	 81. Computations May Differ for Primary and Fully Diluted When Section 2011.38 Applies 82. Deferred Compensation Stock Option 83. Stock Subscriptions Are Warrants 84. Options or Warrants to Purchase Convertible Securities 	.274286 .287289
	 Two-Class Common Stock and Participating Securities 85. EPS Treatment of Two-Class and Participating Securities 86. Two-Class Method for Nonconvertible Securities 87. Two-Class Method for Convertible Securities 	.295299
	Securities Issuable Upon Satisfaction of Specified Conditions88. Contingent Shares89. Time of Issuance for Contingent Issuances90. Market Price Conditions91. Earnings Conditions92. Convertible Securities Contingently Issuable	.308312 .313 .314321 .322329
	Parent and Consolidated Financial Statements 93. Securities Issued by Subsidiaries	.334340
	Effects of Scheduled Changes 94. Changing Exercise Prices and Conversion Rates	.341343
	Election to Classify Outstanding Securities95. Factors in Section 2011.46 Election96. Effect of New Issue of Common Stock Equivalents97. No Change for Options and Warrants98. Prior Period Restatement Recommended99. Is Prior Period Restatement Permitted?	.344345 .346 .347348 .349351
	Disclosure 100. Required Disclosure 101. Supplementary Data	.353
	Definitional Interpretations	
	102. Two-Class Method for Warrants Issued by REITs	.361366
	 Exhibits U. S. Bank Prime Interest Rates Examples of Computing Average Market Prices Application of the Treasury Stock Method for Options and Warrants Days Between Two Dates 	.357 .358 .359
U2012	Reporting the Results of Operations: Accounting Interpretations of Section 2012	
	1. Illustration of the Application of Section 2012	.001013
U2021	Reporting Changes in Financial Position: Accounting Interpreta- tions of Section 2021	
	 Number of Funds Statements Required Funds Statement for Mutuals and Co-ops Funds Statements for Mutual Funds and Real Estate Companies 	.005006
Content		

Section	Paragraph
U2045 Disclosure of Accounting Policies: Accounting Interpretations Section 2045	of
 Disclosure of "Leveraged Lease" Transactions by Lessors 	001005
U4062 Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees: Accounting Interpret tions of Section 4062	
1. Stock Plans Established by a Principal Stockholder.	001006
U4063 Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans: Accounting Interpreto tions of Section 4063 ²	1-
A Discussion of the Background and Requirements of Section 4063 by Julius W. Phoenix, Jr., and William D. Bosse	3,
Part I	
1. Introduction	
2. Some Key Definitions	
3. Previous Pronouncements	
4. Development of Section 4063	
5. Major Objective of Section 4063	
6. Interest Equivalents	
7. What Constitutes Pension Cost?	
8. Minimum—Maximum	
9. Computing the Defined Maximum	
10. Computing the Defined Minimum	
Part II	
11. Actuarial Cost Methods	
12. Actuarial Valuations	
13. Actuarial Gains and Losses	
14. What Should be Included in the Actuarially Con	
puted Value of Vested Benefits—Comments b	
Frederick P. Sloat	
15. Separate Adjustments for Actuarial Gains and Loss	es .099102
16. Unrealized Appreciation and Depreciation	
17. Other Gain and Loss Considerations	
18. Changes in Accounting Method	
19. Treatment of Overfunding	
20. Balance Sheet Presentation	
21. Disclosure	
22. Regulated Industries	105 107
23. EmployeesIncluded24. SeveralPlans	129-127
24. Several Plans 25. Multiemployer Plans	130
26. Insured Plans	
20. Insured Plans	
Actuarial Considerations Involved in Pension Cost Under Section 406 by Frederick P. Sloat	з,
28. Questions and Answers	

² See also AC section 4063-1, Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans Subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

Section		Paragraph
U4064	Deferred Compensation Contracts: Accounting Interpretations	
	1. Accounting for Key-Man Life Insurance	.001004
U4091	Accounting for Income Taxes: Accounting Interpretations of Section 4091	
	Introduction	
	2. Historical Development	
	3. Subjects Included in Section 4091	
	4. Exclusions from the Sections	.016021
	Interperiod Tax Allocation	
	5. Objective	
	6. Alternative Methods Considered by the APB	
	7. Timing Differences	
	8. Permanent Differences	
	9. Computation of Deferred Taxes	
	10. Amortization of Deferred Taxes	
	Operating Losses	
	11. Loss Carrybacks	
	12. Loss Carryforwards—Conflict of Concepts	
	13. Assurance Beyond Any Reasonable Doubt	.083087
	14. Recognition of Carryforwards as Offsets to Deferred Tax Credits	.088094
	15. Deferred Tax Charges Existing When Loss Carry- forward Arises	.095097
	16. Loss Carryforwards Arising Prior to Quasi-Reorgani- zation	
	17. Purchased Loss Carryforwards	
	18. Investment Credit: Carrybacks and Carryforwards	
	Financial Statement Presentation	.100114
	19. Allocation Within a Period	.115120
	20. Income Statement Presentation	
	21. Balance Sheet Presentation	
	22. General Disclosures	
	23. Transitional Problems	.128136
	24. Franchise Taxes Based on Income	.137140
	25. "Leveraged" Lease Accounting	.141142
U4094	Accounting for the Investment Credit: Accounting Interpretations of Section 4094	
	1. Tax Credit Disclosure	.001002
	2. Tax Credit Disclosure (Modification)	
	3. Acceptable Methods of Accounting for Investment Credits Under 1971 Act	•
	4. Change in Method of Accounting for Investment	
	Credit	.011020
	5. Investment Credit is Prior Period Adjustment	
	6. Investment Credit in Consolidation	

£

Copyright @ 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Section	1	Paragraph
U4095	Accounting for Income Taxes—Special Areas: Accounting Inter- pretations of Section 4095	
	1. Disclosure of Untaxed Undistributed Earnings of Sub- sidiary	.001005
U4111	Interest on Receivables and Payables: Accounting Interpretations of Section 4111 ³	
	1. Advance Not Requiring Imputation	.001002
U5131	The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock: Accounting Interpretations of Section 5131	
	1. Intercompany Profit Eliminations under Equity Method	.001007
	2. Investments in Partnerships and Ventures	
	3. Early Disclosure of Material Equity Adjustment	
U5141	Accounting for Intangible Assets: Accounting Interpretations of Section 5141	
	1. Intangible Assets	.001002
	2. Goodwill in a Step Acquisition	
U5362	Early Extinguishment of Debt: Accounting Interpretations of Sec- tion 5362	
	1. Debt Tendered to Exercise Warrants	.001003

→ The next page is 12,551. →

³See also AC section 4111-1, Imputing Interest on Debt Arrangements made under the Federal Bankruptcy Act.

AC Section U1051

Accounting Changes: Accounting Interpretations of Section 1051

1. Changing EPS Denominator for Retroactive Adjustment to Prior Period

Question-Section 1051.27 specifies that certain .001 accounting changes should be reported by retroactively restating all prior periods presented. Section 1051.28 requires that the effect of these changes on the prior periods' earnings per share amounts be disclosed. The anti-dilution prohibitions of sections 2011.30 and 2011.40 require the exclusion from earnings per share computations of securities whose conversion, exercise, or other contingent issuance would have the effect of increasing the earnings per share amount or decreasing the loss per share amount. If these securities were originally included in the earnings per share computation in a prior period but would have been excluded if the retroactively restated amount had been reported in the prior period, should the securities be included or excluded when computing the restated earnings per share amount?

.002 Interpretation—A retroactively restated earnings per share amount should always be computed as if the restated income or loss had been originally reported in the prior period. Common stock assumed to be issued for exercise, conversion, etc., and included in the original earnings per share denominator should, therefore, in circumstances such as those described below be excluded from the denominator in computing the restated earnings per share amount.

.003 For example, assume that a corporation which reported \$200,000 net income in the immediately preceding year changes its method of accounting for long-term construction-type contracts from the completed contract method to the percentage of completion method. In applying this change retroactively (see section 1051.27), the net income originally reported for the immediately preceding year is decreased \$290,000 and restated as a net loss of \$90,000. Further assume that in the prior year the corporation had 900,000 shares of common stock and 150,000 warrants outstanding for the entire year. Each warrant could be exercised to purchase one share of common stock for \$10 while the market price of common was \$30 throughout the year. Earnings per share were originally reported as \$.20 based on \$200,000 net income divided by a denominator of 1,000,000 common shares (900,000 shares outstanding plus 100,000 shares for warrants computed under the treasury stock method). The assumption of exercise of warrants is anti-dilutive when there is a loss, so the restated amount would be reported as a net loss of \$.10 per share based on \$90,000 net loss divided by a denominator of 900,000 common shares outstanding.

.004 Note that retroactive restatement could also cause securities originally determined to be anti-dilutive to become dilutive. For example, assume the same facts as given in the preceding illustration except a \$90,000 net loss was originally reported and is restated as \$200,000 net income. Exercise of the warrants would not have been assumed in the original per share computation because the result would have been anti-dilutive but would be assumed in computing the restated earnings per share because the result is dilutive.

.005 Retroactive restatement may also cause the earnings per share numerator to change by an amount different from the amount of the retroactive adjustment. For example, assume that a corporation changes from the LIFO method of inventory pricing to the FIFO method, retroactively increasing net income for the immediately preceding year by \$400,000 (see section 1051.27). Further assume that the corporation originally reported a net income of \$800,000 in the prior year and had 800,000 shares of common stock outstanding. In addition, 200,000 shares of preferred stock were outstanding which were convertible into common stock on a one-for-one basis. The preferred stock is a common stock equivalent and paid a dividend of \$1 per share. Earnings per share were originally reported as \$.75 based on an earnings per share numerator of \$600,000 (\$800,000 net income less \$200,000 preferred dividends) and a denominator of 800,000 common shares. The assumption

AC § U 1051.004

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

of conversion in the original computation would have been anti-dilutive. Restated net income is \$1,200,000 and restated earnings per share is \$1.20 based on a numerator of \$1,200,000 and a denominator of 1,000,000 shares (800,000 common shares outstanding plus 200,000 common shares for the assumed conversion of preferred stock). Although restatement increased net income and, therefore, the earnings per share numerator \$400,000 in this case, the assumed conversion of the preferred stock increased the earnings per share numerator by another \$200,000.

.006 In addition to a retroactive adjustment for a change in accounting principle under section 1051.27, the guidelines given above in this Interpretation apply to (a) retroactive restatement under section 1051.29-.30, (b) restatement of prior periods for a change in the reporting entity as described in section 1051.34-.35, (c) the correction of an error in previously issued financial statements as described in section 1051.36-.37, and (d) a prior period adjustment as described in sections 2010.17, 2010.22, and 2010.23. These guidelines will likewise apply whenever an APB Opinion requires that it be applied retroactively, including Opinions which may be issued in the future.

.007 Also, these guidelines should be applied in computing the pro forma earnings per share amounts for the types of changes in accounting principle described in section 1051.19. Although these types of changes in accounting principle are not applied retroactively, sections 1051.19d and 1051.21 require that the pro forma effects of retroactive application be disclosed.

.008 A change in the earnings per share denominator (and perhaps numerator) from that originally used in the computation may create certain complications in reporting the effect of a retroactive change. These complications may be illustrated by considering the data in the table below, for the examples presented earlier in this Interpretation.

	Warrant Example	Convertible Preferred Stock Example
Net income as previously reported Adjustment for retroactive change	• •	\$ 800,000 400,000
Net income (loss) as adjusted	.\$ (90,000)	\$1,200,000
Earnings per share amounts: As previously reported Effect of retroactive change		\$.75° .45
As adjusted	\$(.10) ^b	\$1.20ª

Computational Notes:

- (a) \$200,000 ÷ (900,000 + 100,000) shares
- (b) \$90,000 ÷ 900,000 shares
- (c) $(\$800,000 \$200,000) \div 800,000$ shares
- (d) $1,200,000 \div (800,000 + 200,000)$ shares

.009 In both of the above examples, the earnings per share amounts shown for "effect of retroactive change" are computed by subtracting the previously reported amounts from the adjusted amounts. Determining the per share amount of the change by subtraction comprehends the effects of any necessary changes in the denominator and the numerator by reason of retroactive application.

[Issue Date: March, 1973]

2. EPS for "Catch-up" Adjustment

.010 Question—Section 1051.20 requires the per share amount of the cumulative effect of most accounting changes (see sections 1051.18 and 1051.19) to be shown on the face of the income statement similar to the manner in which an extraordinary item would be shown. Footnote 10, section 2011.30, giving an exception to the anti-dilution prohibition in primary earnings per share computations, states that: The presence of a common stock equivalent or other dilutive securities together with income from continuing operations and extraordinary items may result in diluting one of the per share amounts which are required to be disclosed on

AC § U 1051.009

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

the face of the income statement—i.e., income from continuing operations, income before extraordinary items and before the cumulative effect of accounting changes, if any, and net income—while increasing another. In such a case, the common stock equivalent or other dilutive securities should be recognized for all computations even though they have an anti-dilutive effect on one of the per share amounts. Footnote 16, section 2011.40, gives a similar reference for fully diluted computations. How does reporting the cumulative effect of an accounting change in a manner similar to an extraordinary item affect the application of these two footnotes in computing earnings per share?

.011 Interpretation—The cumulative effect of an accounting change (sometimes referred to as a "catch-up" adjustment) is considered the same as an extraordinary item, whether or not extraordinary items are present, in computing earnings per share. Therefore, a common stock equivalent which has a dilutive effect on the primary earnings per share computation for (a) income from continuing operations, if discontinued operations are reported, or (b) income before extraordinary items (if any) and the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle or (c) net income should be recognized in all computations of primary earnings per share for the period. Likewise, a common stock equivalent or other potentially dilutive security which has a dilutive effect on the fully diluted earnings per share computation for either (a) income from continuing operations, if discontinued operations are reported, or (b) income before extraordinary items (if any) and cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle or (c) net income should be recognized in all computations of fully diluted earnings per share for the period. Note that, under these exceptions to the anti-dilution prohibitions of section 2011, a common stock equivalent or other potentially dilutive security may have an anti-dilutive effect on "a", "b" or "c" but not on all. The per share amount of an extraordinary item or a "catch-up" adjustment is always computed by using the same denominator used to compute the other earnings per share amounts. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.1

.012 However, the exceptions to the anti-dilution prohibitions do not permit an assumed exercise, conversion, AICPA Professional Standards AC § U 1051.012 etc., to cause fully diluted net income (loss) per share to be anti-dilutive in relation to primary net income (loss) per share. That is, the assumed exercise, conversion, etc., of a security may have an anti-dilutive effect within primary earnings per share or within fully diluted earnings per share, but the assumed exercise, conversion, etc., should not have the effect of increasing (decreasing) the fully diluted net income (loss) per share amount to more (less) than the primary net income (loss) per share amount. (See footnote 5, section U2011.016, Computing Earnings per Share.)

.013 Although the "catch-up" adjustment is considered the same as an extraordinary item in computing earnings per share, the earnings per share reporting requirement for the two items is different. Section 2011 does not require that per share amounts be reported for extraordinary items, although this presentation may generally be desirable (see Interpretation 16, section U2011.084-.086, *Computing Earnings per Share*). Section 1051.20 does require per share data for a "catch-up" adjustment to be shown on the face of the income statement. Preferably, when both an extraordinary item and a "catch-up" adjustment are reflected in net income for a period, per share data for both should be presented on the face of the income statement.

[Issue Date: March, 1973]

 \implies The next page is 12,601. \leftarrow

AC § U 1051.013

AC Section U1091

Accounting for Business Combinations: Accounting Interpretations of Section 1091

1. Ratio of Exchange

.001 Question—Section 1091.46a defines the initiation date for a business combination as the earlier of (1) the date the major terms of a plan, including the ratio of exchange of stock, are announced publicly or otherwise formally made known to the stockholders of any one of the combining companies or (2) the date that stockholders of a combining company are notified in writing of an exchange offer. Does the announcement of a formula by which the ratio of exchange will be determined in the future constitute the initiation of a plan of combination?

.002 Interpretation—Yes, the actual exchange ratio (1 for 1, 2 for 1, etc.) need not be known to constitute initiation of a business combination so long as the ratio of exchange is absolutely determinable by objective means in the future. A formula would usually provide such a determination.

.003 A formula to determine the exchange ratio might include factors such as earnings for some period of time, market prices of stock at a particular date, average market prices for some period of time, appraised valuations, etc. The formula may include upper and/or lower limits for the exchange ratio and the limits may provide for adjustments based upon appraised valuations, audit of the financial statements, etc. Also, the formula must be announced or communicated to stockholders as specified by section 1091.46a to constitute initiation.

.004 If a formula is used after October 31, 1970 to initiate a business combination which is intended to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method, the actual exchange ratio would have to be determined by the consummation date and therefore no later than one year after the initiation date to meet the conditions of section 1091.47a. Also, changing the terms after October 31, 1970 of a formula used to initiate a business combination before November 1, 1970 would constitute the initiation of a new plan of combination (see section 1091.47, footnote 6).

[Issue Date: December, 1970.]

2. Notification to Stockholders

.005 Question—Section 1091.46a specifies that a business combination is initiated on the earlier of (1) the date major terms of a plan are formally announced or (2) the date that stockholders of a combining company are notified in writing of an exchange offer. Does communication in writing to a corporation's own stockholders that the corporation plans a future exchange offer to another company without disclosure of the terms constitute initiation of a business combination?

.006 Interpretation—No. Section 1091.46a defines "initiation" in terms of two dates. The first date is for the announcement of an exchange offer negotiated between representatives of two (or more) corporations. The second date is for a tender offer made by a corporation directly or by newspaper advertisement to the stockholders of another company. It is implicit in the circumstances of a tender offer that the plan is not initiated until the stockholders of the other company have been informed as to the offer and its major terms, including the ratio of exchange.

.007 Therefore, in the second date specified for initiation in section 1091.46a, "a combining company" refers to the company whose stockholders will tender their shares to the issuing corporation. "An exchange offer" means the major terms of a plan including the ratio of exchange (or a formula to objectively determine the ratio).

.008 A corporation may communicate to its own stockholders its intent to make a tender offer or to negotiate on the terms of a proposed business combination with another company. However, intent to tender or to negotiate does not constitute "initiation." A business combination is not initiated until the major terms are "set" and announced publicly or formally communicated to stockholders.

[Issue Date: December, 1970.]

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

3. Intercorporate Investment Exceeding 10 Per Cent Limit

.009 Question—Section 1091.46b (the "independence" condition) states that the pooling of interests method of accounting for a business combination may not be applied if at the dates the plan of combination is initiated and consummated the combining companies hold as intercorporate investments more than 10 per cent in total of the outstanding voting common stock of any combining company. Would an intercorporate investment of 10 per cent or less at the initiation and consummation dates but exceeding 10 per cent between these dates (for example, through a cash purchase and subsequent sale of the voting common stock of a combining company) prohibit accounting for a business combination under the pooling of interests method?

Interpretation—Section 1091.46b would not be .010 met if between the initiation and consummation dates combining companies hold as intercorporate investments more than 10 per cent of the outstanding voting common stock of any combining company even though the intercorporate investments do not exceed 10 per cent at either the initiation or consummation date. Although the section mentions only the initiation and consummation dates, intercorporate investments exceeding 10 per cent in the interim would violate the spirit of the independence condition and the business combination would be an acquisition accounted for under the purchase method. For the 10 per cent computation, however, intercorporate investments exclude voting common stock that is acquired after the date the plan of combination is initiated in exchange for the voting common stock issued to effect the combination.

[Issue Date: December, 1970.]

4. Consummation Date for a Business Combination

.011 Question—Sections 1091.46-.48 specify certain conditions which require a business combination to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method. Among these conditions in sections 1091.46b and 1091.47b are quantitative measurements which are to be made on the consummation date. When does the "consummation date" occur for a business combination?

.012 Interpretation—A plan of combination is consummated on the date the combination is completed, that is, the date assets are transferred to the issuing corporation. The quantitative measurements specified in sections 1091.46b and 1091.47b are, therefore, made on the date the combination is completed. If they and all of the other conditions specified in sections 1091.46-.48 are met on that date, the combination must be accounted for by the pooling of interests method.

.013 It should not be overlooked that section 1091.47a states the plan of combination must be *completed* in accordance with a specific plan within one year after it is initiated unless delay is beyond the control of the combining companies as described in that paragraph. Therefore, ownership of the issuing corporation's common stock must pass to combining stockholders and assets must be transferred from the combining company to the issuing corporation within one year after the initiation date (unless the described delay exists) if the business combination is to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method. Physical transfer of stock certificates need not be accomplished on the consummation date so long as the transfer is in process.

.014 If any of the conditions specified in sections 1091.46-.48 are not met, a business combination is an acquisition which must be accounted for by the purchase method. Section 1091.93 specifies that the date of acquisition should ordinarily be the date assets are received and other assets are given or securities are issued, that is, the consummation date. However, this paragraph allows the parties for convenience to designate the end of an accounting period falling between the initiation and consummation dates as the effective date for the combination.

.015 The designated effective date is not a substitute for the consummation date in determining whether the purchase or pooling of interests method of accounting applies to the combination. In designating an effective date as some date prior to the consummation date, the parties would automatically be anticipating that the business combination would be accounted for as a purchase since sections 1091.51 and 1091.61 specify that a business combination accounted for by the pooling of interests method must be recorded as of the date the combination is consummated.

[Issue Date: December, 1970.]

AC § U 1091.013

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

5. Pooling Not Completed Within One Year

.016 Question—Section 1091.47a specifies that a condition for a business combination to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method is for the combination to be completed in accordance with a specific plan within one year after the plan is initiated unless delay is beyond the control of the combining companies. This paragraph also indicates that new terms may be offered if earlier exchanges of stock are adjusted to the new terms. If completion of a business combination is delayed beyond one year, would the offering of new terms during the delay period meet the condition of paragraph .47-a for a business combination to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method?

.017 Interpretation—New terms may be offered under the conditions of paragraph .47-a more than one year after the initiation date if delay in completion is beyond the control of the combining companies because of certain circumstances and earlier exchanges of stock are adjusted to the new terms (but see section 1091.47, footnote 6 for plans in effect on October 31, 1970). However, the only delays permitted under paragraph .47-a are proceedings of a governmental authority and litigation.

.018 Proceedings of a governmental authority for this purpose include deliberations by a federal or state regulatory agency on whether to approve or disapprove a combination where the combination cannot be effected without approval. They do *not* include registration of the securities with the SEC or a state securities commission. Litigation for this purpose means, for example, an antitrust suit filed by the Justice Department or a suit filed by a dissenting minority stockholder to prohibit a combination.

[Issue Date: December, 1970.]

6. Registered Stock Exchanged for Restricted Stock

.019 Question—The pooling of interests method of accounting for a business combination is required by section 1091 if the conditions specified in paragraphs .46 through .48 are met showing that stockholder groups have combined their rights and risks. Would the exchange of unrestricted voting common stock of the issuing corporation for the shares owned by a substantial common stockholder of a combining company whose stock was restricted as to voting or public sale indicate the conditions were not met if the stock issued could be sold immediately?

.020 Interpretation—Stockholder groups have combined their rights and risks so long as stockholders holding substantially all classes of the voting common stock in the combining company receive shares of the majority class of voting common stock of the issuing corporation exactly in proportion to their relative voting common stock interest before the combination was effected. The fact that unrestricted voting common stock is exchanged for stock previously held in a voting trust would not negate accounting for a business combination by the pooling of interests method. Likewise, the fact that "registered" voting common stock of the issuing corporation is exchanged for "restricted" voting common stock of the combining corporation also would not negate accounting for a business combination by the pooling of interests method.

[Issue Date: December, 1970.]

7. Pooling Under "Old Rules"

.021 Question—Section 1091.97 states that business combinations initiated before November 1, 1970 and consummated on or after that date under the terms prevailing on October 31, 1970 may be accounted for in accordance with section 1091 or the applicable previous pronouncements of the Board or its predecessor committee. Paragraph .97 also contains a reference to paragraph .47-a which, among other things, states that a combination must be completed within one year after the plan is initiated to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method. Does this mean a business combination initiated before November 1, 1970 must be consummated within one year after it was initiated to be accounted for as a pooling of interests under the "old rules"?

.022 Interpretation—No, a business combination initiated before November 1, 1970 need only be consummated under the terms in effect on October 31, 1970 to be accounted for under the "old rules." There is no time limit for consummating the combination.

.023 The reference to paragraph .47-a is intended to call attention to the discussion of a change in terms in that

AC § U 1091.020

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

paragraph and to footnote 6 which specifies that an adjustment after October 31, 1970 in the terms of exchange in effect on October 31, 1970 always constitutes initiation of a new plan. A new plan of combination, naturally, would be subject to the provisions of section 1091.

.024 To require a business combination initiated before November 1, 1970 to be consummated within one year after initiation would be retroactive application of section 1091. For example, a business combination initiated on December 31, 1969 would need to be consummated no later than December 31, 1970 if the section were retroactive. The section was not intended to be retroactive and retroactive application is in fact prohibited by paragraph .98 for business combinations consummated before November 1, 1970. [Issue Date: December, 1970.]

8. Applying Purchase Accounting

.025 Question—Section 1091 clearly applies when one corporation obtains at least 90 per cent of the voting common stock of another corporation, whether through a purchase or a pooling of interests. Does the section also apply when one corporation acquires less than 90 per cent of the voting common stock of another corporation?

.026 Interpretation—Section 1091 discusses a 90 per cent "cutoff" (paragraph .47-b) only as one of the conditions to be met to account for a business combination by the pooling of interests method. If this condition—or any other condition in paragraphs .46 through .48—is not met, a business combination must be accounted for by the purchase method.

.027 The section does not create new rules for purchase accounting. The purchase section (paragraphs .66 through .96) merely discusses valuation techniques in much greater detail than is given in prior APB Opinions and Accounting Research Bulletins. Thus, section 1091 provides more guidance for the application of purchase accounting, whether the item purchased is an entire company, a major portion of the stock of a company or a manufacturing plant and regardless of whether the consideration given is cash, other assets, debt, common or preferred stock or a combination of these.

AICPA Professional Standards

AC § U 1091.027

.028 An investment by a corporation in the voting common stock of another company which does not meet the 90 per cent condition must be accounted for as a purchase. The purchase method of accounting applies even though the investment is acquired through an exchange of the voting common stock of the companies.

.029 The acquisition by a corporation of voting control over another corporation creates a parent-subsidiary relationship. Generally, domestic subsidiaries either are consolidated or are included in consolidated financial statements under the equity method of accounting (see sections 5131 and 2051).

.030 Since a controlling interest is usually considered to be more than 50 per cent of the outstanding voting stock in another corporation, the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary would be determined when control is acquired if the resulting subsidiary is either consolidated in the financial statements or included under the equity method of accounting. Also, section 5141 specifies the appropriate accounting for intangible assets, if any, recognized for these cases.

.031 In addition, the subsequent acquisition of some or all of the stock held by minority stockholders of a subsidiary is accounted for by the purchase method (see sections 1091.05 and 1091.43). Thus, after a business combination has been completed or a controlling interest in a subsidiary has been obtained, the acquisition of some or all of the remaining minority interest is accounted for by the purchase method. The purchase method applies even though the minority interest is acquired through an exchange of common stock for common stock, including the acquisition of a minority interest remaining after the completion of a business combination accounted for by the pooling of interests method.

[Issue Date: April, 1971.]

9. "Two-Year" Provisions at Effective Date

.032 Question—Sections 1091.46a and 1091.47c specify conditions to be met for two years prior to the initiation of a business combination which is to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method. Since the section applies to combinations initiated after October 31. 1970, must the con-

AC § U 1091.028

ditions of paragraph .46-a (each company is autonomous) and paragraph .47-c (no changes in equity interests) be met for a combination initiated in November 1970 to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method?

.033 Interpretation—No, a corporation which has had a change in the equity interest in its voting common stock or which was a division that was spun-off as a separate corporation prior to November 1, 1970 could be a party to a business combination initiated on or after that date and meet the conditions for accounting by the pooling of interests method without regard to the two-year period.

[Issue Date: April, 1971.]

10. Effect of Termination

.034 Question—Section 1091.46a defines the initiation of a plan of combination as the date the major terms of an exchange offer are announced publicly or communicated to stockholders even though the plan is still subject to approval of stockholders and others. What is the effect of termination of a plan of combination prior to approval by stockholders and the subsequent resumption of negotiations between the parties?

.035 Interpretation—Paragraph .47-a specifies that a combination must be completed in accordance with a specific plan. Therefore, if negotiations are formally terminated after a plan has been initiated (as defined in paragraph .46-a), the subsequent resumption of negotiations always constitutes a new plan. Formal announcement of the major terms of the new plan constitutes a new initiation, even if the terms are the same as the terms of the old plan. Any shares of stock exchanged under the old plan become subject to the conditions of paragraphs .46-b and .47-b (the 10 per cent and 90 per cent tests) upon initiation of the new plan.

[Issue Date: April, 1971.]

11. Use of Restricted Stock to Effect a Business Combination

.036 Question—Section 1091.47b states as a condition for accounting for a business combination by the pooling of interests method that a corporation may issue only common stock with rights *identical* to those of the majority of its outstanding voting common stock in exchange for the voting common stock of another company. Would restrictions on the sale of the shares of common stock issued result in different rights for these shares?

.037 Interpretation—The "rights" pertinent to paragraph .47-b are those involving relationships between stockholders and the corporation rather than between the stockholders and other parties. The "rights" therefore pertain to voting, dividends, liquidation, etc., and not necessarily to a stockholder's right to sell stock. Restrictions imposed on the sale of the stock to the public in compliance with governmental regulations do not ordinarily cause the "rights" to be different, but other restrictions may create different rights.

.038 For example, voting common stock issued by a publicly held corporation to effect a business combination may be restricted as to public sale until a registration with the SEC or a state securities commission becomes effective. If a registration were in process or the issuing corporation agreed to register the stock subsequent to the combination, the rights of the stock would not be different because of the restriction.

.039 However, a restriction imposed by the issuing corporation upon the sale of the stock in the absence of a governmental regulation would probably create different rights between previously outstanding and newly issued stock. Such a restriction might also indicate the previously separate stockholder groups would not be sharing the same risks in the business combination (see paragraph .45 and introductory statements in paragraphs .46 and .47). Likewise, a restriction upon the sale of the stock to anyone other than the issuing corporation or an affiliate would not meet the "absence of planned transactions" condition specified in paragraph .48-a.

[Issue Date: April, 1971.]

12. Warrants May Defeat Pooling

.040 Question—May a business combination be accounted for by the pooling of interests method if the issuing corporation exchanges voting common stock and warrants for the voting common stock of a combining company?

.041 Interpretation—Section 1091.47b specifies that in a business combination accounted for by the pooling of

AC § U 1091.37

Accounting for Business Combinations

interests method a corporation may issue only common stock in exchange for at least 90 per cent of the common stock of another company. Therefore, a pro rata distribution of warrants of the issuing corporation to all stockholders of a combining company would not meet this condition and the business combination would be accounted for as a purchase.

.042 In some cases, however, warrants may be used in a business combination accounted for by the pooling of interests method. Warrants (as well as cash or debt) could be used, for example, to acquire up to 10 per cent of the common stock of a combining company under paragraph .47-b and the combination could still qualify as a "pooling" so long as the common stock acquired plus other intercorporate investments plus any remaining minority interest would allow the 90 per cent test to be met.

.043 Warrants may be issued in exchange for the combining company's outstanding preferred stock or debt.

.044 The issuing corporation may exchange its warrants for the combining company's outstanding warrants. Any warrants issued could not provide for the purchase of a greater number of shares than could be obtained if the warrants were exercised. For example, if the issuing corporation will exchange three of its common shares for each of the combining company's common shares outstanding and the combining company has warrants outstanding allowing the holders to purchase two common shares per warrant, each warrant issued in exchange for the outstanding warrants could provide for the purchase of no more than six of the issuing corporation's common shares. (It should be noted that warrants issued by either company in contemplation of effecting the combination might not meet the conditions of paragraph .47-c.)

[Issue Date: April, 1971.]

13. Two-Class Common for Pooling

.045 Question—Section 1091.47b specifies that a corporation must issue common stock "with rights identical to those of the majority class of its outstanding voting common stock" in a business combination which is to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method. Could the common stock issued be designated as a class of stock different from majority class (for example, Class A if the majority class has no class designation) and meet this condition?

.046 Interpretation—Paragraph .47-b does not prohibit designating the common stock issued as a different class if it has rights identical to those of the majority class of outstanding voting common stock. Thus, the different class must have the same voting, dividend, liquidation, preemptive, etc., rights as the majority class with the stipulation that these rights cannot be changed unless a corresponding change is made in the rights of the majority class.

.047 Issuing a different class of common stock with rights identical to other common stock would generally serve no useful purpose. It would be suspected that the parties might have secretly agreed that they would in the future change the rights of the different class to restrict voting; grant a preference in liquidation; or increase, guarantee or limit dividends.

[Issue Date: April, 1971.]

14. Contingent Shares Defeat Pooling

.048 Question—Section 1091.47g specifies that in a business combination to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method a corporation may not (1) agree to issue additional shares of stock at a later date or (2) issue to an escrow agent shares which will later be transferred to stockholders or returned to the corporation. Would this condition be met if the corporation issued some maximum number of shares to stockholders of the combining company under an agreement that part of the shares would be returned if future earnings are below a certain amount or the future market price of the stock is above a stipulated price?

.049 Interpretation—No, contingent shares based on earnings, market prices and the like require a business combination to be accounted for as a purchase. Paragraph .47-g states that the combination must be "resolved at the date the plan is consummated."

The only contingent arrangement permitted under paragraph .47-g is for settlement of a contingency pending at consummation, such as the later settlement of a lawsuit. A contingent arrangement would also be permitted for an AC § U 1091.046 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Inc. [Issue Date: April, 1971.]

15. Paragraph .99 Is Not Mandatory

.050 Question-Section 1091 requires business combinations meeting the conditions of paragraphs .46 through .48 to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method and all other business combinations to be accounted for by the purchase method. However, paragraph .99 provides a "grandfather clause" permitting certain exceptions to the pooling conditions for business combinations which meet the conditions of that paragraph. Under paragraph .99 the accounting treatment is: (1) the excess of cost of the investment in common stock acquired prior to November 1, 1970 over equity in net assets when the stock investment was acquired is allocated to identifiable assets and goodwill regardless of the percentage of ownership on October 31, 1970 and (2) the pooling of interests method is applied for the common stock issued in the combination if the combination meets the conditions for accounting by the pooling of interests method. That is, the combination is accounted for as a "part-purchase, part-pooling." Is the application of paragraph .99 mandatory for a busines combination meeting the conditions of that paragraph?

.051 Interpretation—No, the accounting described in paragraph .99 is an election available to an issuing corporation to apply the pooling of interests method to account for a business combination not otherwise meeting the conditions of paragraphs .46-b and .47-b. Paragraph .99 specifies "the resulting business combination may [emphasis added] be accounted for by the pooling of interests method provided. . . ."

.052 Paragraph .99 applies only for intercorporate investments held at October 31, 1970 and to business combinations completed within five years after that date. The provision was inserted to avoid retroactivity by allowing pooling of interest accounting for a combination that would not have met the conditions of paragraphs .46-b and .47-b because an intercorporate investment held at October 31, 1970 then was near or exceeded 10 per cent of the outstanding voting common stock of the combining company.

.053 A business combination meeting all of the conditions of paragraphs .46 through .48 as well as the conditions of paragraph .99 would be accounted for by the pooling of interests method. Paragraph .99 would not apply and the intercorporate investment would be accounted for as described in paragraph .55. A business combination meeting the conditions of paragraph .99 but not otherwise meeting the conditions of paragraphs .46-b and .47-b may either be accounted for as a "part-purchase, part-pooling" as described in paragraph .99 or as a purchase.

[Issue Date: April, 1971.]

16. Changes in Intercorporate Investments

.054 Question—How do sales of investments in another corporation's voting common stock owned at October 31, 1970 and acquisitions of additional investments of the same class of stock after that date affect computations under the "grandfather clause" in section 1091.99!

.055 Interpretation—Sales after October 31, 1970 of investments in another corporation's voting common stock which was owned at that date are always considered as reductions of the common stock to which the "grandfather clause" in paragraph .99 applies, in other words, on a firstin, first-out basis. This reduction is made even though the common stock sold is identified as having been acquired after October 31, 1970.

.056 The "grandfather clause" in paragraph .99 does not apply to acquisitions after October 31, 1970 of voting common stock of the same class as was owned at that date. Any stock so acquired is therefore subject to the conditions of paragraphs .46-b and .47-b.

[Issue Date: April, 1971.]

17. Intercorporate investment at 10/31/70

.057 Question—Section 1091.99 contains a "grandfather clause" which exempts minority interests held on October 31, 1970 from certain provisions of the section in business combinations initiated and consummated within five years after that date. The paragraph is written in terms of an intercorporate investment owned by the corporation which effects the combination by issuing voting common stock. Does this paragraph also apply to stock of the issu-

AC § U 1091.053

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

ing corporation which is owned by the other combining company on October 31, 1970?

.058 Interpretation—Paragraph .99 was intended to exempt intercorporate investments owned on October 31, 1970 by all of the parties to the business combination in the circumstances described. Thus, stock of the issuing corporation which is owned by the other combining company on October 31, 1970 may be ignored in computing the 90 per cent condition described in paragraph .47-b.

For example, assume that on October 31, 1970 .059 Baker Company owned 500,000 of the 3,000,000 shares of the voting common stock of Adam Corporation. Subsequently, Adam Corporation initiated a business combination by offering the stockholders of Baker Company one share of Adam common for each share of Baker common outstanding. The combination was consummated in a single transaction within one year after initiation and within five years after October 31, 1970. Of the 1,000,000 Baker common shares outstanding at initiation and consummation, 950,000 shares were tendered to Adam Corporation. Assume also that the combination meets all of the conditions of paragraphs .46 through .48 to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method except the conditions of paragraph .46-b (no more than 10 per cent intercorporate investments) and paragraph .47-b (the 90 per cent condition).

.060 Under paragraph .99 as interpreted here, the business combination may be accounted for by the pooling of interests method since the 500,000 Adam shares owned by Baker Company need not be considered in applying the conditions of paragraphs .46-b and .47-b. Under the pooling of interests method, the 500,000 Adam shares would become treasury stock of Adam Corporation as specified by paragraph .55.

[Issue Date: April, 1971.]

18. Wholly Owned Subsidiary

.061 Question—Section 1091.46a states that a wholly owned subsidiary may distribute voting common stock of its parent corporation in a "pooling" combination if its parent would have met all of the conditions in paragraphs .46-.48 had the parent issued its stock directly to effect the combination. As a practical matter, a parent may be unable to own all of a subsidiary's stock. State laws generally require a certain number of the directors of a corporation to own some of the corporation's shares, so a parent would not legally own a few "qualifying directors' shares" registered in the names of "inside" directors. Also, even though a parent attempts to purchase all of a subsidiary's shares owned by outsiders, a few shareholders may never be located and others may refuse to sell their shares for a reasonable amount. If a parent company owns *substantially all* of the outstanding voting stock of a subsidiary, will the subsidiary be considered "wholly" owned for purposes of applying paragraph .46-a?

.062 Interpretation—Yes, a subsidiary is considered "wholly" owned under paragraph .46-a if its parent owns substantially all of the subsidiary's outstanding voting stock. The subsidiary may therefore "pool" with another company by distributing the parent company's voting common stock if the parent would have met the conditions of paragraphs .46.48 in a direct issuance.

.063 What constitutes "substantially all" of a subsidiary's voting stock will vary according to circumstances. Generally, the shares not owned by the parent would be expected to be an insignificant number, such as qualifying directors' shares. A parent might also be considered as owning "substantially all" of a subsidiary's voting stock if the parent had attempted to buy all of the stock but some owners either could not be located or refused to sell a small number of shares at a reasonable price. In no case, however, would less than 90 percent be considered "substantially all" (see section 1091.47b) and generally the percentage would be expected to be much higher.

.064 The reason for using the subsidiary as the combining company would also be important in determining if "substantially all" of its voting stock is owned by the parent. A parent would be expected to own all but a few of its subsidiary's shares, other than qualifying directors' shares, in a combination in which either the parent or subsidiary could engage if the parent is to be considered as owning "substantially all" of its subsidiary's voting stock. A somewhat greater percentage of outside owner-

AC § U 1091.062 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

ship would be acceptable in a combination between a subsidiary authorized to operate in a state where the parent is not authorized to operate and another company operating in that state. An even larger outside ownership (but not more than 10 percent) would be acceptable in a regulated industry (where a subsidiary in the industry but not its parent outside the industry—could combine with another company in the industry) when a subsidiary engages in a combination that its parent could not undertake directly.

[Issue Date: September, 1971.]

19. Equity and Debt Issued for Common Before Pooling

.065 Question—Section 1091.47b states that the issuing corporation may exchange only voting common stock for outstanding equity and debt securities of the other combining company that have been issued in exchange for voting common stock of that company during a period beginning two years preceding the date a "pooling" combination is initiated. What is the purpose of this provision?

.066 Interpretation-Section 1091.47c prohibits accounting for a business combination by the pooling of interests method if equity and/or debt securities have been issued by a combining company in exchange for or to retire its voting common stock in contemplation of effecting the combination within two years before the plan of combination was initiated or between the dates of initiation and consummation. In paragraph .47-b, there is an implied presumption that all such transactions of the other combining company were made in contemplation of effecting a combination, thereby violating the condition of paragraph .47-c. However, the issuance of voting common stock of the issuing corporation to the holders of such equity and debt securities of the other combining company in exactly the same ratio as their former holdings of voting common stock of the other combining company will restore the holders of the securities to their former position and, hence, will "cure" the violation of the condition of paragraph .47-c.

[Issue Date: September, 1971.]

20. Treasury Stock Allowed with Pooling

.067 Question—Section 1091.47d states as a condition for "pooling" that each of the combining companies may reacquire shares of voting common stock (as treasury stock) only for purposes other than business combinations. Also, paragraphs .47-c and .47-d of section 1091 include provisions related to the reacquisition of treasury stock within two years prior to initiation and between initiation and consummation of a business combination which is planned to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method. For what purposes may treasury stock be reacquired during this period?

.068 Interpretation—The statement "for purposes other than business combinations" means combinations initiated under section 1091 which are to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method. Therefore, acquisitions of treasury stock for specific purposes that are not related to a particular business combination which is planned to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method are not prohibited by the conditions of either paragraph .47-c or .47-d.

.069 In the absence of persuasive evidence to the contrary, however, it should be presumed that all acquisitions of treasury stock during the two years preceding the date a plan of combination is initiated (or from October 31, 1970 to the date of initiation if that period is less than two years) and between initiation and consummation were made in contemplation of effecting business combinations to be accounted for as a pooling of interests. Thus, lacking such evidence, this combination would be accounted for by the purchase method regardless of whether treasury stock or unissued shares or both are issued in the combination.

.070 The specific purposes for which treasury shares may be reacquired prior to consummation of a "pooling" include shares granted under stock option or compensation plans, stock dividends declared (or to be declared as a recurring distribution), and recurring distributions as provided in paragraph .47-d. Likewise, treasury shares reacquired for issuance in a specific "purchase" or to resolve an existing contingent share agreement from a prior business combination would not invalidate a concurrent "pool-

AC § U 1091.067

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

ing." Treasury shares reacquired for these purposes should be either reissued prior to consummation or specifically reserved for these purposes existing at consummation.

.071 To the extent that treasury shares reacquired within two years prior to initiation or between initiation and consummation have not been reissued or specifically reserved, an equivalent number of shares of treasury stock may be sold prior to consummation to "cure" the presumed violation of paragraphs .47-c and .47-d. If the number of shares not reserved or disposed of prior to consummation of a combination is material in relation to the number of shares to be issued to effect the combination, the combination should be accounted for by the purchase method.

.072 Treasury shares reacquired more than two years prior to initiation may be reissued in a "pooling." Also, "tainted" treasury shares purchased within two years prior to initiation or between initiation and consummation and not disposed of or reserved may be reissued in a "pooling" if not material in relation to the total number of shares issued to effect the combination. Treasury shares reissued in a "pooling" should be accounted for as specified in section 1091.54.

.073 It should be noted that earnings and market price contingencies were permitted in both "purchases" and "poolings" under "old rules." These contingencies in a combination consummated under section 1091 require the combination to be accounted for as a "purchase." Although "liability-type" contingencies may exist in a "pooling" as specified in paragraph .47-g, treasury stock may not be reacquired to satisfy such a contingency.

[Issue Date: September, 1971.]

21. Pooling with "Bailout"

.074 Question—Section 1091.48a specifies that a combined corporation may not agree to directly or indirectly retire or reacquire all or part of the common stock issued to effect a business combination and paragraph .48-b specifies that a combined corporation may not enter into financial arrangements for the benefit of the former stockholders of a combining company if a business combination

Accounting Interpretations

is to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method. Would an arrangement whereby a third party buys all or part of the voting common stock issued to stockholders of a combining company immediately after consummation of a business combination cause the combination to not meet

.075 Interpretation—The fact that stockholders of a combining company sell voting common stock received in a business combination to a third party would not indicate failure to meet the conditions of paragraphs .48-a and .48-b. "Continuity of ownership interests," a criterion for a pooling of interests under ARB No. 48, is not a condition to account for a business combination by the pooling of interests method under section 1091. The critical factor in meeting the conditions of paragraphs .48-a and .48-b is that the voting common stock issued to effect a business combination remains outstanding outside the combined corporation without arrangements on the part of any of the corporations involving the use of their financial resources to "bailout" former stockholders of a combining company or to induce others to do so.

.076 Either the combined corporation or one of the combining companies may assist the former stockholders in locating an unrelated buyer for their shares (such as by introductions to underwriters) so long as compensation or other financial inducements from the corporation are not in some way involved in the arrangement. If unregistered stock is issued, the combined corporation may also agree to pay the costs of initial registration.

[Issue Date: September, 1971.]

22. Disposition of Assets to Comply with an Order

.077 Question—As a condition to account for a business combination by the pooling of interests method, section 1091.48c prohibits the planned disposal of a significant part of the assets of the combining companies within two years after the consummation date other than disposals in the ordinary course of business and eliminations of duplicate facilities or excess capacity. Likewise, paragraph .47-c prohibits a change in the equity interests of the voting common stock—such as through the "spin-off" of a division or a subsidiary—in contemplation of effecting a "pooling"

AC § U 1091.075

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

these conditions?

combination either within two years before initiation or between initiation and consummation. Does a prior or a planned disposition of a significant part of the assets of a combining company to comply with an order of a governmental authority or judicial body constitute a violation of this condition?

.078 Interpretation—No. The prior or planned disposition of a significant part of the assets of a combining company (even though in contemplation of effecting or planned subsequent to a combination) does not negate accounting for a business combination as a "pooling" if the disposition is undertaken to comply with an order of a governmental authority or judicial body or to avoid circumstances which, on the basis of available evidence, would result in the issuance of such an order. This is generally consistent with paragraph .46-a (autonomy of combining companies) which permits subsidiaries disposed of in compliance with an order of a governmental authority or judicial body to be considered autonomous for purposes of that condition.

.079 Any gain or loss resulting from a disposal within two years after consummation of a pooling of interests should be accounted for in accordance with sections 1091.59-.60.

[Issue Date: September, 1971.]

23. Retroactive Disclosure of Pooling

Question-Section 1091.61 specifies that a busi-.080 ness combination accounted for by the pooling of interests method should be recorded as of the date the combination is consummated. This paragraph prohibits a combining company from retroactively reflecting in the financial statements for the current year a combination consummated after the close of the year but before financial statements are issued. However, this paragraph requires a corporation to disclose as supplemental information, in notes to financial statements or otherwise, the substance of a combination consummated before financial statements are issued and the effects of the combination on reported financial position and results of operations. Could this disclosure be in the form of a statement with side-by-side columns reporting financial data for (1) the issuing corporation and (2) the combined corporations, and, perhaps, (3) the other combining company?

.081 Interpretation—Section 1091 does not prohibit the side-by-side columnar format described above, nor alternatively, does it prohibit an above-and-below columnar format. The term or otherwise included in paragraph .61 is sufficiently broad to permit disclosure of the information on the face of the financial statements in either side-by-side or above-and-below columns.

.082 Because section 1091 prohibits retroactive pooling for a combination completed after the close of the year but before the financial statements are issued, however, the individual columns in the presentation should be separately identified as primary or supplemental information. That is, data for the issuing corporation would be identified as the primary financial statements and data for the combined corporation would be identified as supplemental information. If presented, data for the combining company would also be identified as supplemental information.

.083 It might be noted that a side-by-side presentation will disclose information in greater detail than is required by paragraph .65 (which requires that only revenue, net income, earnings per share and the effects of anticipated changes in accounting methods be disclosed as if the combination had been consummated at the date of the financial statements). Although both paragraphs .61 and .65 specify disclosure in *notes* to the financial statements and paragraph .65 specifies only *note* disclosure without the *or otherwise* provision, this paragraph refers back to paragraph .61 so the columnar format is not prohibited by paragraph .65 as long as the information is properly identified as primary and supplemental.

.084 Information for the combined corporation identified as supplemental information (as described above) would be reported as primary information in statements for the following period when the combination was consummated if comparative financial statements are presented. Reporting and disclosure requirements for the period when a business combination is consummated and for prior periods are contained in paragraphs .51-.58, .63 and .64.

AC § U 1091.081

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.085 Notes to the statements and other disclosures which are included in the statements are a part of the financial statements. Accordingly, the auditor's opinion—unless appropriately modified—would apply to disclosure (in notes to the statements or in columnar format) of the substance of a combination consummated after the close of the year but before the financial statements were issued. The auditor's opinion might be modified, however, to disclaim an opinion on the supplemental information if it had not been included in the auditor's examination.

[Issue Date: September, 1971.]

24. "Grandfather" for Subsidiaries

.086 Question—Section 1091.46a prohibits use of pooling accounting for a business combination initiated after October 31, 1970 (the effective date of section 1091) which involves an entity which was a "subsidiary." However, notes to APB Opinions state that they are not intended to be retroactive. Section 1091.46a appears to impose a retroactive effect on subsidiaries with significant minority interests that may have been considering engaging in pooling combinations. Was this intended?

.087 Interpretation—Section 1091.46a was not intended to have the retroactive effect described above. Subsidiaries which had a significant outstanding minority interest at October 31, 1970 may take part in a pooling combination completed within five years after that date providing the significant minority also exists at the initiation of the combination. In addition, the combination must meet all of the other pooling conditions specified in sections 1091.46 through 1091.48 both directly and indirectly (i. e., the parent company cannot take actions on behalf of the subsidiary that the subsidiary could not take itself).

.088 For purposes of this Interpretation, a significant minority means that at least 20 percent of the voting common stock of the subsidiary is owned by persons not affiliated with the parent company.

.089 This "grandfathering" is consistent with section 1091.99 and applies both to combinations where the subsidiary with a significant minority interest is the issuing corporation and those where it is the other combining company. However, it does not permit a pooling between a subsidiary and its parent.

[Issue Date: November, 1971.]

25. All Shares Must Be Exchanged to Pool

.090 Question—Section 1091.47b specifies that an issuing corporation must exchange only voting common stock for at least 90 percent of the voting common stock interest of a combining company to account for the combination as a pooling of interests. Section 1091.47 permits cash or other consideration to be exchanged for the remaining shares or they may continue outstanding as a minority interest. Under section 1091.47b, assuming the issuing corporation exchanges common stock for at least 90 percent of the common stock of the combining company, may an individual common shareholder of the combining company exchange some of his shares for shares of the issuing corporation and either retain the balance of his shares or sell the shares to the issuing corporation for cash?

.091 Interpretation—If a business combination is to be accounted for as a pooling of interests, each common shareholder of the combining company must either agree to exchange all of his shares for common shares of the issuing corporation or refuse to exchange any of his shares.

.092 It would be contrary to the "pooling" concept expressed in section 1091 for an individual shareholder of a combining company to exchange some of his shares and keep some of his shares in a pooling of interests or for the issuing corporation to exchange common stock for some of an individual shareholder's shares and pay cash for some of his shares. The "pooling" concept would be violated in these cases even though the issuing corporation exchanged its common stock for at least 90 percent of the common stock of the combining company as required by section 1091.47b.

.093 Theoretically two or more *entire* common stockholder groups join together as a single entity in a pooling of interests to share the combined risks and rights represented by the previously independent interests without the distribution of corporate assets to *any* of the common stock-

AC § U 1091.090 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

holders (see section 1091.45). Section 1091.46 states as an attribute of "pooling" that independent ownership interests are combined in their entirety. Section 1091.46 indicates that combining only selected assets or ownership interests would be more akin to disposing of or acquiring interests than to sharing rights and risks. Section 1091.47 states that acquisitions of common stock for assets or debt and other transactions that reduce the common stock interest are contrary to the idea of combining existing stockholder interests.

.094 Section 1091 permits the theoretical concept of "pooling" to be modified only within strict limits to accommodate practical obstacles that may be encountered in many combinations. Thus, the 90 percent "test" in section 1091.47b recognizes that, as a practical matter, some shareholders of a combining company may refuse to exchange their shares even though most shareholders agree to a combination.

.095 Section 1091.47b permits cash or other consideration to be distributed by the issuing corporation for shares held by these dissenting shareholders of the combining company. However, a shareholder who assents to exchange part of his shares can hardly be considered a dissenting shareholder.

.096 In addition, the exchange by an individual shareholder of a combining company of only part of his shares for common stock of the issuing corporation would not meet section 1091.47e. Section 1091.47e states that each individual shareholder who exchanges his stock must receive a voting common stock interest in proportion to his relative voting common stock interest in the combining company before the combination.

.097 Usually the determination of whether or not a shareholder of a combining company is exchanging all of his shares for common stock of the issuing corporation will be made at consummation. However, transactions prior to consummation between the issuing corporation and a shareholder of a combining company who exchanges shares at consummation may also preclude a "pooling." In the absence of persuasive evidence to the contrary, it should be presumed that the purchase was made in contemplation of effecting the combination (see section 1091.47c) if the issuing corporation purchased shares of a combining company within two years prior to initiation and before consummation from a shareholder who also exchanges shares at consummation.

.098 To overcome another purely practical problem, section 1091.47b also allows cash or other consideration to be distributed by the issuing corporation in lieu of fractional shares. There is no essential difference between the payment of cash to a common shareholder for a fraction of a share and the payment of cash for some of his shares. Therefore, the payment of more than a reasonable amount of cash to a shareholder for a fractional share would also be contrary to the "pooling" concept expressed in section 1091. Thus, the payment for fractional shares among shareholders must be reasonable in amount and should be proportional to each shareholder's fractional share interest.

[Issue date: November, 1971.]

26. Acquisition of Minority Interest

.099 Question—How should a corporation account for the acquisition of all or part of the minority interest of a subsidiary?

.100 Interpretation—Section 1091.05 states, "The acquisition of some or all of the stock held by minority shareholders of a subsidiary is not a business combination, but paragraph .43 of this section specifies the applicable method of accounting." Paragraph .43 states that the acquisition of some or all of the stock held by minority stockholders of a subsidiary-whether acquired by the parent, the subsidiary itself, or another affiliate-should be accounted for by the purchase method. Thus, purchase accounting applies when (a) a parent exchanges its common stock or assets or debt for common stock held by minority shareholders of its subsidiary, (b) the subsidiary buys as treasury stock the common stock held by minority shareholders, or (c) another subsidiary of the parent exchanges its common stock or assets or debt for common stock held by the minority shareholders of an affiliated subsidiary.

AC § U 1091.098

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.101 In addition, section 1091.46b precludes pooling when the combining companies hold as intercorporate investments more than 10 percent of the outstanding voting common stock of any combining company (except when section 1091.99 applies, as discussed later). Therefore. pooling is precluded in the exchange by a subsidiary of its common stock for the outstanding voting common stock of its parent (usually referred to as a "downstream merger"). Instead, purchase accounting applies and the transaction should be accounted for as if the parent had exchanged its common stock for common stock held by minority shareholders of its subsidiary. (Whether a parent acquires the minority or a subsidiary acquires its parent, the end result is a single shareholder group, including the former minority shareholders, owning the consolidated net assets.) The same would be true if a new corporation exchanged its common stock for the common stock of the parent and the common stock of the subsidiary held by minority shareholders.

.102 An exception to the requirement for purchase accounting in the acquisition of a minority interest may exist in some rare cases under section 1091.99. This paragraph permits pooling accounting to be elected on a "grandfather" basis under certain conditions, one condition being a combination in which one corporation owns no more than 50 percent of the voting common stock of the other combining company. Since a parent company may control a subsidiary even though the parent owns less than 50 percent of the subsidiary's voting common stock (e.g., by owning voting preferred stock in addition to voting common stock—see section 2051.03), the exchange by the parent of its voting common stock for the voting common stock of the subsidiary owned by outsiders could qualify for pooling accounting. However, it should be noted that section 1091.99 would require the parent to allocate the excess of the cost of its previously existing investment over its proportionate equity in the subsidiary's net assets to the subsidiary's identifiable assets (and to goodwill, if any) based on fair values at the consummation date.

[Issue Date: December, 1971]

27. Entities Under Common Control in a Business Combination

.103 Question—Section 1091.05 states that the provisions of section 1091 should be applied as a general guide in a business combination involving one or more unincorporated businesses. Section 1091.46a requires that each company in a pooling be autonomous and have not been a subsidiary or division for two years prior to initiation. How does section 1091 apply to a combination involving one entity controlled by one or a few individuals who control several other entities?

.104 Interpretation—A proprietorship or a partnership may be a party to a business combination accounted for under section 1091 as stated in the first sentence of section 1091.05. Many of these entities are very similar, except for legal form of organization, to a closely held corporation. Often a single individual may own one or more proprietorships and also may own the controlling interest in one or more corporations and in addition may have an interest in one or more partnerships.

.105 Considerable judgment will usually be required to determine the substance of a combination involving one (or more) of several companies under common control. For example, it may be necessary to look beyond the form of the legal organizations to determine substance when an unincorporated business or a closely held corporation owned by one or a few individuals who also control other entities is involved since the dividing lines may not be as "sharp" as they would be in publicly held corporations with wide ownership interests.

.106 An individual who owns two separate businesses organized as corporations theoretically is a "parent" with two "subsidiaries." The same would be true if the businesses were organized as two proprietorships or as one proprietorship and one corporation. To apply section 1091.46a to a combination involving one of these businesses, however, the relationship between the two businesses is more important than the fact that each business is theoretically a subsidiary, because section 1091.46a precludes fragmenting a business and pooling only a part of the business. The following examples demonstrate these points.

AC § U 1091.103

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

12,629

.107 If both businesses are grocery stores, a combination involving only one business should presumably be accounted for as a purchase because the two stores presumably are part of a single kind of business and the two separate legal organizations should be ignored.

.108 On the other hand, if one business is a grocery store and the other is an automobile dealership, a combination involving only one business would be accounted for as a pooling of interests if all other conditions of sections 1091.46-.48 are met because the individual is operating two unrelated businesses. In these examples, a "line of business" is an indicator of a single business.

.109 Also, a combination involving two or more businesses owned by one individual must be accounted for by a single method. For example, if both the grocery store and the automobile dealership are to be combined with another unrelated company, one could *not* be a purchase and the other a pooling. (Section 1091.47b discusses a combination of more than two companies and section 1091.43 states the two methods are not alternatives in accounting for the same combination.)

.110 In general, the same guidelines apply to a business with a few owners rather than an individual owner. They would apply, for example, to two partnerships having the same partners, two closely held corporations having the same stockholders, or to a partnership and a closely held corporation whose stockholders are the partners in the partnership. If the various individuals are all members of one family, the effect may be the same (but is not always the same) as if there were only an individual owner rather than several partners and/or several stockholders.

.111 Because the ratios of ownership of the different businesses may differ or the ownership groups may overlap but be different, however, several owners of different businesses create complexities which are not present if there is a single owner. Because of the diversity of the situaations which might be encountered in practice, stating guidelines beyond those given above is impossible.

[Issue Date: December, 1971]

28. Pooling by Subsidiary of Personal Holding Company

.112 Question—A single individual may control other corporations (for federal income tax reasons) through a personal holding company. Section 1091.46a requires that each company in a pooling be autonomous and have not been a subsidiary or division for two years prior to the initiation of a combination. Does this preclude a pooling by a corporation which is controlled by a personal holding company?

.113 Interpretation—The legal form may sometimes be ignored in a combination involving a subsidiary of a personal holding company. Under section 1091.46a a personal holding company is technically a parent corporation and the corporations it controls are technically subsidiaries. In many cases, a parent-subsidiary relationship does in fact exist and should be considered as such in applying section 1091.46a if the personal holding company or any of its subsidiaries is involved in a business combination.

.114 In other cases, a personal holding company is a convenience established for federal income tax reasons and the various "subsidiaries" are in fact operated by the "owners" as if the personal holding company did not exist. In a combination involving such a "subsidiary," the personal holding company may be disregarded and the various "subsidiaries" considered autonomous in applying section 1091.46a. However, the guidelines described in Accounting Interpretation No. 27, "Entities Under Common Control in a Business Combination," should be applied in determining the appropriate method of accounting for the combination and all other conditions of sections 1091.46-.48 must be met in a pooling.

[Issue Date: December, 1971]

29. Option May Initiate Combination

.115 Question—Section 1091.46a specifies the requirements for initiation of a business combination. Does an option to exchange substantially all of their shares at a future date (for example, three years hence) granted by the shareholders of a closely held company to another company constitute the initiation of a business combination?

AC § U 1091.112 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.116 Interpretation—An option that requires unilateral performance by either party or bilateral performance by both parties constitutes initiation. Thus, if one company is required to issue stock upon the tendering of shares by the shareholders of another company or if the shareholders are required to tender their shares upon demand, the date the option is granted is the initiation date. The combination must be consummated within one year thereafter to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method (see section 1091.47a).

.117 However, an agreement which grants only the right of "first refusal" does not constitute initiation. This would be the case, for example, where the stockholders of a closely held company agree to negotiate with one company before negotiating with any other company if the shareholders should in the future decide to consider entering into a business combination. Neither party may be obligated to perform, however, or to pay damages in the absence of performance.

.118 The payment of cash or other consideration by either company for a "first refusal" agreement would also be contrary to the pooling concept expressed in section 1091. Individual shareholders, however, may pay cash to obtain the agreement so long as company resources are not directly or indirectly involved.

[Issue Date: December, 1971]

30. Representations in a Pooling

.119 Question—Section 1091.47g specifies that in a business combination accounted for as a pooling of interests there can be no agreement to contingently issue additional shares of stock or other consideration at a later date and no escrowing of shares until a contingency is resolved. This paragraph allows, however, revision of the number of shares issued upon the settlement of a contingency at an amount different from that recorded by a combining company. May an issuing company reserve or escrow some shares against the representations of the management of a combining company in a pooling?

.120 Interpretation—Section 1091.47g is intended to require purchase accounting when an earnings or market

price contingency agreement is present in a business combination. However, this paragraph does not prohibit certain kinds of contingency agreements in a pooling so long as they provide for the sharing of rights and risks arising after consummation and are not in effect earnings or market price contingency agreements.

.121 A contingency agreement which is not prohibited in a pooling may provide for the reservation by the issuing company of a portion of the shares being issued, the issuance of additional shares, the return of shares by former shareholders of the combining company, or the issuance of shares to an escrow agent who will subsequently transfer them to the former shareholders of the combining company or return them to the issuing company. (Note that the former shareholders of the combining company must be able to vote any shares issued, reserved, or escrowed to meet the condition of section 1091.47f.)

.122 The most common type of contingency agreement *not* prohibited in a pooling by section 1091.47g is the "general management representation" which is present in nearly all business combinations. In such a representation, management of a combining company typically warrants that the assets exist and are worth specified amounts and that all liabilities and their amounts have been disclosed. The contingency agreement usually calls for an adjustment in the total number of shares exchanged up to a relatively small percentage (normally about 10 percent) for variations from the amounts represented, but actual adjustments of the number of shares are rare.

.123 A contingency agreement for a "general management representation" does not violate section 1091.47g if it provides for a substantial sharing of rights and risks beginning with consummation and the complete sharing within a reasonable period of time. In this light, the contingency agreement is merely a device to provide time for the issuing company to determine that the representations are accurate so it does not share risks arising prior to consummation. Although the time required will vary with circumstances, these determinations should be completed within a few months following consummation of the combination. In any case, the maximum time should not extend

AC § U 1091.121

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

beyond the issuance of the first independent audit report on the company making the representations following consummation of the combination. Thereafter, the combined shareholder interests share the risks of inventory obsolescence, collection of receivables, etc. However, if the complete sharing of risks is unduly delayed or if the risk sharing is not substantial at consummation, a "general management representation" may in effect indicate an earnings contingency agreement.

.124 Section 1091.47g specifically allows certain contingency agreements in a pooling to cover specific situations whose outcome cannot be reasonably determined at consummation and perhaps even for several years thereafter. (Contingencies of this type are described in section 5514.02.) Although management of a combining company may make specific representations as to these contingencies that are known at the consummation of a pooling and as to those which may arise within a reasonable period thereafter, the combined shareholder interests are expected to share the risks and rights of all other contingencies if section 1091.47g is to be met. Likewise, the former shareholders of a combining company must be able to vote any shares issued, reserved, or escrowed for a specific contingency until it is finally resolved if section 1091.47f is to be met. The contingency agreement may provide, however, that any dividends during the contingency period on contingent shares "follow" the shares when the contingency is resolved

.125 It should also be noted that any change in the number of shares (as originally recorded for a pooling of interests) upon the final resolution of either a general or a specific representation contingency is recorded as an adjustment to stockholders' equity (see section 1091.53). The effect of the resolution of a contingency involving an asset or liability, whether or not previously recorded, is reflected currently in net income or as a prior period adjustment in accordance with section 2010. In no case may a contingency agreement for either a general or a specific representation in a pooling be used as a means of relieving current or prior net income of an amount which should be reflected therein.

[Issue Date: December, 1971]

31. Employment Contingencies in a Pooling

.126 Question—Section 1091.47g stipulates that in a business combination accounted for as a pooling of interests there can be no agreement for contingent issuance of additional shares of stock or distribution of other consideration to the former stockholders of a combining company. Would the granting of an employment contract or a deferred compensation plan by the combined corporation to former stockholders of a combining company cause this condition to not be met?

.127 Interpretation—An employment contract or a deferred compensation plan granted by the combined corporation to former stockholders of a combining company would not automatically constitute failure of section 1091.47g. The critical factors would be the reasonableness of the arrangement and restriction of the arrangement to continuing management personnel. Generally, reasonable contracts or plans entered into for valid business purposes would meet section 1091.47g. Substance, however, is more important than form.

.128 As an example, the granting of employment contracts to former stockholders of a combining company who were active in its management and who will be active in management of the combined corporation would meet section 1091.47g if the contracts are reasonable in relation to existing contracts granted by the issuing corporation to its management. However, the granting of employment contracts to former stockholders of a combining company who were not or will not be active in management. Likewise, "consultant" contracts for former stockholders might also indicate a contingent pay-out arrangement.

.129 Employment contracts and deferred compensation plans entered into by a combining company between the initiation and consummation dates may also cause a business combination to not meet section 1091.47g. For example, a combining company may not enter into a "contingency-type" compensation agreement *in contemplation* of the combination and meet section 1091.47g if the issuing corporation could not also enter into the same agreement under the paragraph.

[Issue Date: December, 1971]

AC § U 1091.126 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

32. Stock Options in a Pooling

.130 Question—Section 1091.47g states that in a business combination accounted for as a pooling of interests the combined corporation may not agree to contingently issue additional shares of stock to the former stockholders of a combining company. Would this condition be violated if the combined corporation granted stock options to these stockholders?

.131 Interpretation—Generally, stock options granted by the combined corporation as current compensation to former stockholders of a combining company would not violate section 1091.47g. That is, the former stockholders of a combining company who are employees or directors of the combined corporation may participate in a stock option plan adopted by the combined corporation for its employees and/or directors.

.132 Section 1091.47g would be violated, however, if the stock option plan in reality is an arrangement to issue additional shares of stock at a relatively low cost to these former stockholders of the combining company to satisfy a contingency agreement. Also, a stock option plan to accomplish the same result adopted by the combining company prior to consummation but *in contemplation* of the combination would not meet sections 1091.47c and 1091.47g.

[Issue Date: December, 1971]

33. Costs of Maintaining an "Acquisitions" Department

.133 Question—A corporation maintains an "acquisitions" department to find, evaluate, and negotiate with possible merger candidates. The president of the corporation also spends a considerable portion of his time negotiating business combinations. Cost records are excellent and the total cost is determined for each investigation and negotiation, whether it is successful or unsuccessful. What accounting is specified by section 1091 for these costs?

.134 Interpretation—All "internal" costs associated with a business combination are deducted as incurred in determining net income under section 1091. This answer applies to costs incurred for both "poolings" (see section 1091.58) and "purchases" (see section 1091.76). Naturally, costs incurred in unsuccessful negotiations are also deducted as incurred. .135 Section 1091.76 specifies that in a business combination accounted for by the purchase method the cost of a company acquired includes the *direct* costs of acquisition. These direct costs, however, are "out-of-pocket" or incremental costs rather than recurring internal costs which may be directly related to an acquisition. The direct costs which are capitalized in a purchase therefore include, for example, a finder's fee and fees paid to outside consultants for accounting, legal, or engineering investigations or for appraisals, etc. All costs related to effecting a pooling of interests, including the direct costs listed above, are charged to expense as specified in section 1091.58.

[Issue Date: December, 1971]

34. Forced Sale of Stock

.136 Question—A publicly held corporation wants to effect a business combination with a large closely held corporation and to account for the combination as a pooling of interests. Because management of the publicly held corporation prefers not to have a single stockholder owning a large block of its stock, the agreement to combine requires the majority stockholder of the closely held corporation to sell 25 percent of the voting common stock he receives immediately following consummation and to sell another 25 percent within one year thereafter. The stock is to be sold in public offerings and all of the shares will remain outstanding outside the combined corporation. Since section 1091 does not have the "continuity of ownership interests" criterion of ARB No. 48 as a condition for pooling, should this combination be accounted for as a pooling of interests or as a purchase?

.137 Interpretation—The combination is a purchase because of the *requirement* imposed on a shareholder to sell some of the voting common stock received. Any requirement imposed on a stockholder (other than by a government authority) either to sell or to not sell stock received in a business combination is contrary to the pooling concept expressed in section 1091 of the sharing of rights and risks by the previously independent stockholder interests. While such a requirement does not violate any spe-

AC § U 1091.135 . © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

cific condition for pooling described in sections 1091.46-48, it violates the whole pooling concept of section 1091.

[Issue Date: January, 1972]

35. Registration Costs in a Purchase

.138 Question—If a company issues previously registered equity securities in a business combination accounted for by the purchase method, the fair value of the securities issued is credited to the capital accounts of the issuing corporation. However, if the securities issued have not been previously registered, section 1091.76 specifies that the costs of registering and issuing equity securities are a reduction of the otherwise determinable fair value of the securities. How should a corporation account for the costs of a registration which will not be undertaken until after the securities are issued?

Interpretation—A publicly held company issuing .139 unregistered equity securities in an acquisition with an agreement for subsequent registration should credit the fair value of the securities (the otherwise determinable fair value less registration costs) to its capital accounts. The present value of the estimated costs of registration should be accrued as a liability at the date of acquisition (see section 1091.88h) with an immediate charge to the assets acquired (in most cases, to "goodwill"). Any difference between the actual costs of registration and the amount accrued at the payment date (the original accrual plus imputed interest) would be an adjustment to the recorded goodwill. Total assets (including goodwill) and total capital will thereby be recorded at the same amounts as if previously registered securities had been issued except for any difference in fair value ascribed to restrictions prohibiting sale of the securities at time of issuance.

.140 Agreements for the subsequent registration of unregistered securities issued in business combinations often specify that the securities will be registered "piggyback" (that is, included in the registration of a planned future offering of other securities). In such a case, only the incremental costs of registering the equity securities issued in the acquisition would be accrued or subsequently charged to "goodwill" as described above and amortized prospectively over the remaining term of the period of amortization of the initial goodwill.

[Issue Date: January, 1972]

36. No Pooling with Wholly Owned Sub

.141 Question-Company A initiated a combination by making a tender offer for Company B which was at the time an independent company. Company C, which owned a large interest in, but not control of, Company B, subsequently and without Company A's knowledge purchased all of the remaining outstanding voting common stock of Company B and operated Company B as a wholly owned subsidiary. Within one year of the date Company A made the tender offer, Company C tendered all of the voting common stock of Company B to Company A in exchange for voting common stock of Company A at the ratio of exchange of the tender offer. Section 1091.46a generally precludes accounting for a business combination by the pooling of interests method if one of the combining companies has been a subsidiary of another corporation within two years prior to initiation of the combination. Does the fact that Company B became a wholly owned subsidiary of Company C following initiation of the combination by Company A preclude pooling in this case?

.142 Interpretation—Yes, pooling is precluded and Company A should account for the combination as a purchase. (Company C, in effect, sold its wholly owned subsidiary B to Company A.) Section 1091.46a provides that a wholly owned subsidiary may pool only by distributing the stock of its parent company.

.143 Although section 1091.46a refers to not being a subsidiary "within two years before the plan of combination is initiated," the intent of the paragraph is that a combining company in a pooling has not been a subsidiary during a period beginning two years prior to initiation and ending at consummation of a combination.

[Effective for combinations consummated after May 31, 1972]

37. Combination Contingent on "Bailout"

.144 Question—Accounting Interpretation No. 21, section U1091.074-.076, "Pooling with 'Bailout'," issued in

AC § U 1091.141 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

September 1971 indicates that former shareholders of a combining company may sell voting common stock received in a business combination accounted for as a pooling of interests. Would the accounting for a combination be affected by the fact that its consummation is contingent upon the purchase by a third party or parties of all or part of the voting common stock to be issued in the combination?

.145 Interpretation—Yes. A business combination should be accounted for as a purchase if its consummation is contingent upon the purchase by a third party or parties of any of the voting common stock to be issued. This would be the case, for example, if the parties to the combination have agreed that consummation of the combination will not occur until there is a commitment by a third party for a private purchase, a firm public offering, or some other form of a guaranteed market for all or part of the shares to be issued. Including such a contingency in the arrangements of the combination, either explicitly or by intent, would be considered a financial arrangement which is precluded in a pooling by section 1091.48(b).

.146 It should be noted that this accounting interpretation does not modify the previous interpretation, "Pooling with 'Bailout'," which states that shareholders may sell stock received in a pooling and that the corporation may assist them in locating an unrelated buyer for their shares. Although shareholders may sell stock received in a pooling, consummation of the business combination must first occur without regard to such a sale and cannot be contingent upon a firm commitment by the potential purchaser of the shares to be issued.

[Issue Date: November, 1972]

38. Several Companies in a Single Business Combination

.147 Question—How does section 1091 apply when more than two companies are involved in a single business combination?

.148 Interpretation—When more than two companies negotiate a combination which is contingent upon the mutual agreement by the several companies to the terms, the resulting combination is deemed a single business combination regardless of the number of companies involved. Each company must meet all of the conditions of section 1091.46-.48 if the combination is to be accounted for by the pooling of interests method. In particular, sections 1091.46b and 1091.47b specify how the 10 percent and 90 percent tests should be made when more than two companies are involved in a single combination.

.149 Section 1091.43 specifies that a single method should be applied to account for an entire combination. Therefore, if any condition in section 1091.46-.48 is not met by any company, the entire combination would be accounted for by the purchase method.

.150 However, it should be noted that a corporation may be involved in more than one business combination at the same time and that different methods of accounting may apply to the different combinations.

[Issue Date: March, 1973]

39. Transfers and Exchanges Between Companies Under Common Control

.151 Question—Section 1091.05 states section 1091 does not apply to a transfer of net assets or to an exchange of shares between companies under common control. What are some examples of the types of transactions excluded from section 1091 by this provision and what accounting should be applied?

.152 Interpretation—In general, section 1091.05 excludes transfers and exchanges that do not involve outsiders. For example, a parent company may transfer the net assets of a wholly owned subsidiary into the parent company and liquidate the subsidiary, which is a change in legal organization but not a change in the entity. Likewise, a parent may transfer its interest in several partially owned subsidiaries to a new wholly owned subsidiary, which is again a change in legal organization but not in the entity. Also, a parent may exchange its ownership or the net assets of a wholly owned subsidiary for additional shares issued by the parent's partially owned subsidiary, thereby increasing the parent's percentage of ownership in the partially owned subsidiary but leaving all of the existing minority interest outstanding.

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.153 None of the above transfers or exchanges is covered by section 1091. The assets and liabilities so transferred would be accounted for at historical cost in a manner similar to that in pooling of interests accounting.

.154 It should be noted, however, that purchase accounting applies when the effect of a transfer or exchange is to acquire all or part of the outstanding shares held by the minority interest of a subsidiary (see section 1091.43). The acquisition of all or part of a minority interest, however acquired, is never considered a transfer or exchange by companies under common control. (See Interpretation No. 26, section U1091.099.102, "Acquisition of Minority Interest.")

[Issue Date: March, 1973]

 \implies The next page is 12,701. \leftarrow

AC Section U2010

Reporting the Results of Operations: Accounting Interpretations of Section 2010

1. Losses Caused by Bankruptcies

.001 Question—Recent railroad bankruptcies raise the question of whether companies holding receivables from these railroads should account for losses arising from charging off such assets as ordinary losses or as extraordinary losses in determining net income. The Interstate Commerce Commission has ruled that railroads must write off certain past due payments from other railroads (e.g., interline receivables) as extraordinary losses. Is this accounting treatment appropriate in the annual reports to railroads' shareholders and in the annual reports to shareholders of other (nonrailroad) companies?

.002 Interpretation—No, section 2012.23 specifies that losses from receivables do not constitute extraordinary losses. The fact that the loss arises from a receivable from a company in bankruptcy proceedings does not alter this answer in any way. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.] (See section 2012.)

.003 Regulatory authorities often rule on the accounting treatment to be applied by companies under their jurisdiction. The above question is covered by section 6011.03-.04. An auditor should in his opinion take an exception to any loss from an interline receivable classified as an extraordinary item in a railroad's annual report to shareholders.

[Issue Date: February, 1971.]

 \implies The next page is 12,751. $\leftarrow \implies$

AC Section U2011

Computing Earnings per Share: Accounting Interpretations of Section 2011, Earnings per Share

Issue date, unless otherwise indicated: July, 1970

INTRODUCTION

Comparison of APB Opinion No. 9 and Section 2011

.001 Section 2011, *Earnings per Share*, is an extension of the issues discussed in Part II, "Computation and Reporting of Earnings Per Share," of APB Opinion No. 9.

.002 APB Opinion No. 9 included certain "residual" securities as the equivalent of common stock in earnings per share computations, established "supplementary pro forma" earnings per share for reporting what the effect on earnings per share would have been if all residual and contingently issuable securities had been issued, and strongly recommended that both earnings per share and supplementary pro forma earnings per share be disclosed in the income statement.

.003 Section 2011 supersedes Part II of APB Opinion No. 9, modifies the concept of residual securities and replaces the term *residual securities* with the new designation *common stock equivalents*. Under section 2011, dilutive common stock equivalents are included with outstanding common stock in computing "primary" earnings per share. Common stock, dilutive common stock equivalents and other potentially dilutive securities are included in computing "fully diluted" earnings per share.

.004 Section 2011 requires that earnings per share be presented on the face of corporate income statements or summaries of such statements with both the primary and fully diluted amounts presented when potential dilution of earnings per share exists. Also, section 2011 specifically prohibits including anti-dilutive¹ securities in earnings

³ See Interpretation 5 for the definition of an anti-dilutive security.

per share computations (except in special situations to be discussed later) while APB Opinion No. 9 discussed dilution but did not specifically prohibit anti-dilution.

Interpretation of Section 2011

.005 These Accounting Interpretations are intended to explain the provisions of section 2011. They do not in any way amend or modify section 2011. They do not presume to answer all questions which might be raised in applying section 2011 but rather are addressed to questions raised since section 2011 was issued.

.006 Some Interpretations are concerned with simple situations; others are concerned with rather complex situations. And just as APB Opinions are not necessarily applicable to immaterial items, these Interpretations do not necessarily apply to immaterial items. In many cases the refinements described will be material, but in many other cases they will not. When the difference is not significant, the refinements need not be applied. For example, the quarterly share averaging procedure for options and warrants described in Interpretations 58-62 need not be used when the market price of common stock is stable throughout the year and always above the exercise price. In such a case the treasury stock method could be applied on an annual basis.

.007 Although the Interpretations are not binding on Institute members, they reflect informed consideration of the situations posed and express what the Institute staff believes to be the preferred practices for earnings per share computations under section 2011.

Arrangement

.008 These Interpretations of section 2011 are divided into two parts. Part I is an overview of section 2011. Although Part I summarizes the basic provisions of section 2011, familiarity with section 2011 is assumed and terms used in section 2011 are not defined in this part. Part I also serves as a brief description of the underlying concepts of section 2011. Part II contains definitional Interpretations followed by individual Interpretations in question and answer form. The Interpretations are numbered sequentially and are arranged generally in the order in

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

which the topics appear in Part I. Exhibits follow Part II. A cross-reference table which lists each section 2011 paragraph cited (as explained below) and the location of the citation, is included in Appendix D, page 5841.

.009 Numbers appearing in brackets at the end of paragraphs indicate references (in numerical order) to paragraph numbers in section 2011 (and its appendixes) relevant to the material being discussed.

PART I: AN OVERVIEW OF SECTION 2011 Presentation of Earnings per Share

.010 Section 2011 requires nearly all corporations² to report earnings per share data on the face of income statements or earnings summaries issued for periods beginning after December 31, 1968. Each presentation must include per share data for income or loss before extraordinary items (if extraordinary items are reported on the income statement) and per share data for net income or loss. Corporations with capital structures containing securities that do not, in the aggregate, dilute earnings per share 3% or more need present only earnings per common share. This exception for corporations whose securities do not dilute earnings per share by at least 3% is based upon the immateriality of dilution of less than 3%. In section 2011 the Board specified the point at which dilution becomes material rather than allowing different judgments to determine different levels of materiality. All other corporations are required to have the "dual" presentation of primary earnings per share and fully diluted earnings per share. All computations of earnings per share data are to be based on a weighted average of shares assumed to be outstanding during the period. [.12, .13, .14, .15, 2011A.02]

Assumptions

.011 Earnings per share computations for corporations with complex capital structures are based on various assumptions which are required by section 2011. These assumptions are made to reflect (1) what a corporation's earnings per share would have been if common stock had been issued to replace all dilutive securities considered to be the equivalent of common stock and (2) the additional

² See Interpretation 9 for the exceptions.

dilution which would have resulted if common stock had been issued to replace all of the corporation's other potentially dilutive securities.³ [.20, .24-.27, .41]

.012 Assumptions to be made are specified for exercise, conversion, and issuance of securities, prices to be used, and methods to be applied to reflect the dilution which would have resulted if the transactions and events underlying those assumptions had actually occurred. Although specific methods for applying the assumptions are designated, the Board realized that the events and transactions assumed for the computations might not actually occur. Rather, the Board specified the assumptions and the methods as a practical approach to obtaining comparable determinations of earnings per share. [.34, .36]

Classification of Securities

.013 The advent of securities which are not common stock in form but which enable their holders to obtain common stock modifies some of the traditional relationships among securities. While common stock is regarded as the basic equity security and nonconvertible preferred stock and nonconvertible debt are regarded as senior securities, those securities which enable their holders to obtain common stock are classified as either common stock equivalents or as other potentially dilutive securities for earnings per share computations. This classification is made at time of issuance and does not change thereafter.⁴ [.25, .28, .41]

.014 A security is classified solely for purposes of determining earnings per share. The accounting for securities, their presentation in the financial statements, and the determination of book value per share are not affected by the classification of securities for earnings per share computations. [.39]

.015 Common stock equivalents are included in both primary and fully diluted earnings per share computations. Other potentially dilutive securities are included only in fully diluted earnings per share computations. However, common stock equivalents and other potentially dilutive

AC § U 2011.012 (© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

^{*} See Interpretation 3 for the special context in which the term other potentially dilutive securities is used in these Accounting Interpretations of section 2011. The term is not used in section 2011. ^{*} Except as explained in Interpretations 29 and 30.

securities are included in the *computations* only when their effect is dilutive. Both are excluded from the *computations* whenever their effect is anti-dilutive except in the situations described in the following paragraph. Thus, a security retains its status as a common stock equivalent or as an other potentially dilutive security after its classification has been determined, but it may enter earnings per share computations in one period and not in another period. [.15, .30]

Anti-dilutive Securities

.016 Anti-dilutive securities are excluded from earnings per share computations unless (1) common stock was issued during the period on an anti-dilutive exercise or conversion or (2) a security is anti-dilutive in earnings per share for income before extraordinary items but is dilutive in earnings per share for net income or vice versa ⁵ or (3) an aggregate computation is required which has a net dilutive effect but which may include anti-dilutive securities or antidilutive computations.⁶ All other anti-dilutive securities are excluded from earnings per share computations even when some anti-dilutive securities are included in the computation because of one or more of the above exceptions. In an aggregate computation, only when the net result is dilutive may anti-dilutive securities be included in the earnings per share computation. [.14, .30, .30 fn. 10, .38, .40, .41]

Primary Earnings per Share

.017 Primary earnings per share data are based upon outstanding common stock and common stock assumed to

⁶ For example, an aggregate computation is required by section 2011.38 when the number of common shares issuable upon the exercise of all options, warrants, and their equivalents exceed 20% of the number of common shares outstanding at the end of the period for which the computation

⁵Note that primary earnings per share for income from continuing operations or primary earnings per share for income before extraordinary items and the cumulative effect of accounting changes may be anti-dilutive when common stock equivalents are present together with discontinued operations, and/or extraordinary items and/or accounting changes. The common stock equivalents may have an anti-dilutive effect upon one of these amounts so long as the effect is dilutive upon the other amounts. The same type of anti-dilution may be reflected within fully diluted earnings per share when common stock equivalents and other potentially dilutive securities are present together with discontinued operations, and/or extraordinary items and/or accounting changes. However, fully diluted earnings per share for net income would not be anti-dilutive with respect to primary earnings per share for net income unless the anti-dilution is caused by actual exercises or conversions. (See also section 2011.30, footnote 10.) [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.]

be outstanding to reflect the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents. Convertible securities which yield less than two-thirds of the bank prime interest rate at the time of issuance are classified as common stock equivalents. Convertible securities issued with the same terms as those of an outstanding common stock equivalent are classified as common stock equivalents regardless of their yield. Outstanding convertible securities which are not common stock equivalents become common stock equivalents if another convertible security with the same terms is issued and is classified as a common stock equivalent. [.28, .33]

.018 Convertible securities which allow or require the payment of cash at conversion are considered the equivalents of warrants. Options, warrants and their equivalents, stock purchase contracts, and certain agreements to issue common stock in the future are classified as common stock equivalents. Some participating securities and two-class common stocks are also classified as common stock equivalents. [.27, .37]

Fully Diluted Earnings per Share

.019 Fully diluted earnings per share data are based on outstanding common stock and common stock assumed to be outstanding to reflect the maximum dilutive effect of common stock equivalents and other potentially dilutive securities. Thus, convertible securities, options, warrants, stock purchase contracts, participating securities, two-class common stocks and agreements to issue stock in the future are included in the computation of fully diluted earnings per share. The difference between the primary and the fully diluted earnings per share amounts is the additional dilution resulting from other potentially dilutive securities outstanding. [.16, .40]

Earnings Applicable to Common Stock

.020 To compute earnings per share, net income must often first be adjusted to determine earnings applicable to common stock. The adjustments to net income do not in any way change reported net income but rather are made to compute the earnings for the period to which common stock has a claim. Corporations with nonconvertible pre-

AC § U 2011.018 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

is being made. An aggregate computation would also be made for an anti-dilutive option which must be exercised before a dilutive option may be exercised. (See Interpretation 49.)

ferred stock, for example, must deduct any preferred dividends paid, declared, or accumulated for the period in adjusting net income to determine earnings applicable to common stock. [.39, 2011A.05]

.021 Only dividends which are applicable to the period covered by the income statement would be deducted. Dividends declared or accumulated during a prior period and paid during the period covered by the income statement are not deducted since they were considered in computing earnings applicable to common stock during the prior period and their payment merely retires the liability.

.022 Corporations with common stock equivalents or other potentially dilutive securities may have to make more complex adjustments or may not make some adjustments which would otherwise be made. For example, interest, less tax effect, on convertible bonds deducted in arriving at net income would be added back to net income to determine earnings applicable to common stock when the convertible bonds are assumed to be converted. Since dividends on convertible preferred stock are not deducted in arriving at net income, they would not be added back to net income to determine earnings applicable to common stock when convertible preferred stock is assumed to be converted. [2011A.06, 2011A.07]

Convertible Securities

.023 Convertible securities are included in earnings per share computations under the "if converted" method. Under this method, the security is assumed to have been converted into common stock at the beginning of the period being reported upon (or time of issuance of the security, if later). The common stock which would have been issued upon conversion is considered outstanding from the date of the assumed conversion. Interest deductions applicable to convertible debt reduced by the income taxes attributable to such interest are added back to net income because the interest would not have been incurred if the debt had been converted into common stock. Nondiscretionary adjustments based on net income or income before taxes (for items such as profit sharing or royalty agreements, etc.) are recomputed after the interest adjustment is made. Any difference (less income tax) from the amount originally computed is also included in the adjusted net income. [2011A.06]

.024 Convertible securities which require the payment of cash at conversion are considered the equivalent of warrants for computational purposes. Both the treasury stock method and the if converted method must be applied. Convertible securities which *permit* the payment of cash as an alternative at conversion are also considered the equivalent of warrants. But when conversion without the payment of cash would be more advantageous to the holder with this alternative, only the if converted method is applied. No proceeds would be received to which the treasury stock method could be applied. [.35, .37]

.025 When conversion is not assumed because the result would be anti-dilutive, dividends declared for the period (or accumulated for the period even though not declared) are deducted from net income to determine earnings applicable to common stock. [.30, .40, 2011A.05]

Options and Warrants

.026 The basic method for including options and warrants and their equivalents in earnings per share computations is the treasury stock method. Under this method, exercise of options and warrants and their equivalents is assumed at the beginning of the period (or time of issuance, if later). Shares of common stock are assumed to be issued and the proceeds from exercise are assumed to be used to purchase common stock at the exercise date. Common stock outstanding is assumed to increase by the difference between the number of shares issued and the number of shares purchased. The provision against reflecting antidilution in earnings per share computations generally prohibits the assumption of exercise of any option or warrant or their equivalents when the assumed purchased price of the common stock is below the exercise price of the option or warrant. [.36, .42]

.027 Section 2011 recommends as a practical matter that exercise not be assumed for earnings per share computations until the market price of the common stock has been higher than the exercise price for substantially all of three consecutive months ending with the last month of the period for which the share computation is being made. Thus, exercise need not be assumed until this three-month test has once been met. [.36]

AC § U 2011.024

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.028 After the test has been met, however, an ending market price which is above the average market price is used for fully diluted computations if the result is dilutive. Therefore, options and warrants may be reflected in fully diluted earnings per share even though they are not reflected in primary earnings per share. Options and warrants may also be included in the computations in some periods but not be included in other periods. [.42]

.029 Some warrants require or permit the tendering of debt or other securities in payment of all or part of the exercise price. Upon the assumed exercise of such warrants, the debt or other securities are assumed to be tendered (unless tendering cash would be more advantageous to the warrant holder when permitted and the treasury stock method is applied). Interest, net of income tax, on any debt tendered is added back to net income. The treasury stock method is applied for proceeds assumed to be received in cash. [.37]

.030 The proceeds from the exercise of some warrants must be applied to retire debt under the terms of the debt. Upon the assumed exercise of such warrants, the proceeds are applied to purchase the debt at its market price rather than to purchase common stock under the treasury stock method. The treasury stock method is applied, however, for excess proceeds from the assumed exercise. Interest, net of income tax, on any debt assumed to be purchased is added back to net income.

.031 Some convertible securities require or permit the payment of cash upon conversion and are considered the equivalent of warrants. The treasury stock method must be applied to purchase common stock from proceeds assumed to be received. The if converted method must also be applied for the convertible security.

.032 The application of the treasury stock method is modified when the number of common shares which would be issued if all outstanding options and warrants and their equivalents were exercised exceeds 20% of the number of common shares outstanding at the end of the period. This 20% test is based only on common shares actually outstanding, not considering any assumed conversion or contingently issuable shares. [.38]

.033 When the 20% test is met. all options and warrants and their equivalents are assumed to be exercised (or converted) regardless of whether each would be dilutive or anti-dilutive. The treasury stock method is first applied to purchase no more than 20% of the number of common shares outstanding at the end of the period with the proceeds from exercise. The balance of any proceeds remaining after applying the treasury stock method is then applied to reduce any short-term or long-term debt of the issuer to the extent that the debt may be retired. Finally, any remaining balance of proceeds is assumed to be invested in U. S. government securities or commercial paper. Appropriate recognition is given to any necessary interest adjustments (and related income tax effect) for both debt retirement and investment in determining earnings applicable to common stock. [.35..38]

.034 The results of the foregoing computations are then aggregated. If the net aggregate effect is dilutive, *all* of these computations enter into earnings per share computations. However, *all* are omitted if the net aggregate effect is anti-dilutive. (See Interpretation 74 for a description of the distinction between the 20% test and the 20% limitation.)

Delayed Effectiveness and Changing Rates or Prices

.035 Some convertible securities are not convertible until a future date or their conversion rates may increase or decrease in the future. Similarly, some options or warrants are not exercisable until a future date or their exercise prices may increase or decrease in the future. [2011A.11]

.036 For primary earnings per share computations, the conversion rate or exercise price in effect for the period presented is used. If the holder does not have the right to convert or exercise the security until after that period, the earliest effective conversion rate or exercise price during the five years following the close of the period is used. [2011A.12]

.037 For fully diluted earnings per share computations, the most advantageous conversion rate or exercise price (to the security holder) becoming effective within ten years following the close of the period being reported upon is used. [2011A.13]

AC § U 2011.033 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Other Securities

.038 Although section 2011 does not describe in depth the treatment to be accorded to other types of securities, they were contemplated by section 2011 and some guidelines given. The earnings per share treatments of two-class common stock, participating securities, common stock issuable in the future upon the satisfaction of specified conditions, securities of subsidiaries, and options or warrants to purchase convertible securities are discussed in the Interpretations which follow in Part II. Situations or securities not expressly covered in section 2011 should be dealt with in accordance with their substance following the guidelines and criteria of section 2011 and these Accounting Interpretations. [.43]

Restatement of Previously Reported Data

.039 The earnings per share amounts reported in a prior period generally will be reported at the same amounts when that prior period is included in a later comparative income statement. Section 2011 specifically prohibits retroactive restatement (1) for changes in market prices of common stock when the treasury stock method has been applied for options and warrants, (2) when conversion rates of convertible securities or exercise prices of options or warrants change, (3) when convertible securities are actually converted, and (4) for primary earnings per share, when the number of shares issued upon the attainment of increased earnings levels differs from the number of shares previously considered outstanding. [.22, .36, .41, 2011A.12, 2011A.17]

.040 Section 2011 requires retroactive restatement (1) to give effect to prior period adjustments,⁷ (2) to give effect to stock dividends, stock splits, and reverse splits, including those occurring after the close of the period being reported upon, (3) to give effect to a pooling of interests, (4) to give effect to changes in the number of shares contingently issuable or issued when such changes are caused by changes in market prices of the stock, and (5) to give effect to a reduction in the number of shares contingently issuable when the term of an agreement to issue additional shares

^{&#}x27;As defined in sections 2010.22 and 2010.23.

expires and the conditions have not been met.⁸ [.18, 2011A.03, 2011A.04, 2011A.17, 2011A.18]

.041 Section 2011 recommends retroactive restatement of earnings per share data for periods beginning before January 1, 1969 when such data are presented in comparative income statements including a period beginning after December 31, 1968 and election "b" of section 2011.46 has been made. Retroactive restatement of such data is required, however, when election "a" of section 2011.46 has been made. Otherwise, part of the data would conform to the provisions of Part II of APB Opinion No. 9 which is superseded by section 2011. [.45, .46]

Business Combinations and Reorganizations

.042 A business combination accounted for as a purchase of another business should, in the weighted average of shares, give effect to additional securities issued only from the date of acquisition. Results of operations of the acquired business are also included in the statement of income only from the date of acquisition. [2011A.04]

.043 In a pooling of two or more corporations, the weighted average outstanding securities of the constituent corporations adjusted to the equivalent securities of the surviving corporation should be used for the earnings per share computation for all periods presented. The results of operations of the constituent businesses are also combined for all periods presented.

.044 After a reorganization or quasi-reorganization, the earnings per share computations should be based on an analysis of the particular transaction applying the guidelines of section 2011.

Disclosure

.045 Disclosure is required to explain the rights and privileges of the holders of the various securities outstanding; the bases upon which primary and fully diluted earnings per share were computed; the number of shares issued upon conversion, exercise or satisfaction of required con-

AC § U 2011.041

⁸ But note that restatement is prohibited for primary earnings per share when increased earnings levels are attained and shares are issued which were not previously considered outstanding for prior primary computations. (See point 4 in the preceding paragraph and section 2011A.17.)

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

ditions; and other information necessary for a clear understanding of the data presented. (For example, if the fully diluted amount is the same as the primary amount because certain anti-dilutive securities which are not common stock equivalents are omitted from the fully diluted computation, that fact would be disclosed.) [.15-.16, .19, .20]

Supplementary Data

.046 Supplementary earnings per share data $^{\circ}$ are to be furnished for the latest period when conversion occurs and primary earnings per share would have increased or decreased at least 3% if the conversion had occurred at the beginning of the period. Supplementary data are also to be furnished when common stock or common stock equivalents are sold and the proceeds are used to retire preferred stock or debt. It may also be desirable to furnish supplementary earnings per share data for each period presented giving the cumulative retroactive effect of all such issuances. [.14 fn. 4, .22-.23]

.047 Supplementary data show what primary earnings per share would have been if the situations described above had occurred at the beginning of the period being reported upon rather than during the period. Thus, supplementary data are helpful for reflecting the trend of earnings per share data when primary amounts are affected by an increase in the number of shares included in the computation without an increase in the capital employed in the business.

Effective Date

.048 Section 2011 is effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1968. Earnings per share must therefore be reported on the faces of all income statements for periods beginning January 1, 1969 and thereafter. Securities are to be classified under the provisions of section 2011 regardless of the time of issuance except that an election is granted for securities with a time of issuance prior to June 1, 1969 for computing primary earnings per share to either:

^{*}Supplementary earnings per share data should not be confused with fully diluted earnings per share. As used in section 2011, "supplementary earnings per share data" are additional data which are disclosed in a note. (APB Opinion No. 9 used the term "supplementary pro forma earnings per share" to describe data which are described as "fully diluted earnings per share" in section 2011.)

- (a) classify all such securities under the provisions of section 2011, i. e., apply section 2011 retroactively regardless of when the securities were issued, or
- (b) classify all securities outstanding ¹⁰ at May 31, 1969 as common stock equivalents if they were residual securities under APB Opinion No. 9.

All securities subject to the election must be classified under election "a" or all securities must be classified under election "b." The election may not be changed after it is made. Thus, the classification of all securities issued prior to June 1, 1969 once determined under election "a" or election "b" never change.¹¹ All securities with a time of issuance after May 31, 1969 must be classified under the provisions of section 2011. [.45, .46]

.049 Election "b" allows a corporation to ignore options and warrants issued before June 1, 1969 in primary earnings per share computations unless they were considered residual securities under APB Opinion No. 9. The election was provided because the Board has traditionally not made its Opinions retroactive. Section 2011 therefore does not apply new rules to securities which were issued under a prior section and which were already outstanding when section 2011 was issued.

.050 The election applies only to primary earnings per share computations. Fully diluted earnings per share computations include all common stock equivalents and other potentially dilutive securities without regard to the election. However, supplementary pro forma earnings per share determined under APB Opinion No. 9 are not necessarily the same ¹² as fully diluted earnings per share determined under section 2011. Therefore, the Board recommends that previously reported earnings per share data be restated when reported in comparative income statements including an earnings per share amount computed under

AC § U 2011.049 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

²⁰ Securities no longer outstanding at May 31, 1969 are classified as common stock equivalents if they were residual securities under APB Opinion No. 9 at the statement date. This applies only for income statements for periods prior to May 31, 1969 when such income statements are subsequently included in comparative income statements after that date.

¹¹ See Interpretations 29 and 30 for exceptions.

¹² Although pro forma earnings per share and fully diluted earnings per share could be the same, they might be different. Any differences would result principally from the anti-dilution provisions of section 2011 and from different computational methods for options and warrants.

the provisions of section 2011 if election "b" of section 2011.46 has been made. Restatement for all prior periods presented is accomplished by retroactively applying (1) the security classifications determined under election "b" and (2) the computational methods prescribed by section 2011. [.45, .46]

.051 Both primary and fully diluted earnings per share amounts for prior periods must be retroactively restated if election "a" of section 2011.46 has been made when the prior period data are reported in comparative income statements including earnings per share data computed under the provisions of section 2011.

PART II: ACCOUNTING INTERPRETATIONS OF SECTION 2011

DEFINITIONAL INTERPRETATIONS

1. Security

.052 The term security is used in sections 2010, 2011 and in these Interpretations in a broad context to include instruments not usually considered to be securities. Securities are usually thought of as being common stocks, preferred stocks (both nonconvertible and convertible), bonds (both ordinary and convertible), and warrants. In a broad context, the term security also includes all debt instruments, options to purchase stock (or other securities), stock purchase contracts, stock subscriptions, and agreements to issue stock (or other securities) at a future date. Several securities may be included in a single instrument, which may or may not be separable. [.27, .37]

2. Common Stock Equivalents

.053 A common stock equivalent is defined by section 2011 as: "A security which, because of its terms or the circumstances under which it was issued, is in substance equivalent to common stock." (See section 2011D.05.) A common stock equivalent is not common stock in form but rather derives a large portion of its value from its common stock characteristics or conversion privileges. Such a security typically contains provisions enabling its holder to become a common stockholder. Its value tends to change with changes in the value of the common stock to which it is related. Examples of common stock equivalents are: options and warrants, preferred stock or debt convertible into common stock if the stock or debt yields less than $66\frac{2}{3}\%$ of the bank prime interest rate at time of issuance, and agreements to issue common stock with the passage of time as the only condition to issuance. [.25, .27, .33, .35]

3. Other Potentially Dilutive Securities

.054 Other potentially dilutive securities is a term used in this Interpretation to designate a classification of securities which are similar to common stock equivalents but which for one reason or another do not meet the tests for common stock equivalents under section 2011.¹³ Other potentially dilutive securities are included only in fully diluted earnings per share computations while common stock equivalents are, in effect, included in both primary and fully diluted earnings per share computations.

.055 Examples of other potentially dilutive securities are convertible senior securities (convertible preferred stock and convertible debt) and options or warrants issued prior to June 1, 1969 if election "b" of section 2011.46 is made ¹⁴ and the options or warrants were not classified as residual securities under APB Opinion No. 9. [.41, .46]

4. Dilution—Dilutive Security

.056 Dilution, as used in section 2011, is a reduction of the amount which would otherwise be reported as earnings per share. A dilutive security is a security which results in a decrease in the amount reported as earnings per share. As explained in Interpretations 5 and 15, there is no dilution of net loss per share when a corporation reports a net loss on its income statement. [.14 fn. 4, .30, .40]

.057 A dilutive security increases the number of common shares which are considered to be outstanding during

¹⁴ See Interpretation 46 for an explanation of why these options and warrants are not classified as common stock equivalents.

AC § U 2011.054 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

¹⁸ The term is not used in section 2011 in this strict context. Potentially dilutive securities, as that term is used in section 2011, includes common stock equivalents. (For example, see section 2011.14.) Section 2011 discusses convertible senior securities which are not common stock equivalents and other contingent issuances which are not common stock equivalents. Securities which are not common stock equivalents. Securities which are not common stock equivalents. Securities which are not common stock are described in these Interpretations as "other potentially dilutive securities." Therefore, convertible senior securities described in section 2011 are classified as "other potentially dilutive securities." in these Interpretations.

the period for which the earnings per share computation is being made. Thus, a dilutive security increases the denominator used in the earnings per share computation. Earnings applicable to common stock, the numerator in the computation, may also increase. But so long as the numerator increase per additional denominator share is less than earnings per outstanding share, the security will be dilutive. [2011A.06]

5. Anti-Dilution—Anti-Dilutive Security

.058 Anti-dilution is an increase in the amount which would otherwise be reported as earnings per share or a decrease in the amount of the net loss per share. Anti-dilution therefore has an incremental effect on earnings per share data. An anti-dilutive security is a security which would result in an increase in the amount reported as earnings per share or a decrease in the amount reported as net loss per share. [.30, .40]

.059 When a net income is reported, an anti-dilutive option or warrant under the treasury stock method reduces the number of common shares considered outstanding during a period. Such options or warrants, if permitted to enter the computation, would increase earnings per share by reducing the denominator used. Anti-dilutive convertible debt would increase the denominator. However, its interest adjustment would increase earnings applicable to common stock, the numerator used in the computation, by a greater amount per additional share than earnings per share computed without assuming conversion. Any numertor increase per additional denominator share which is greater than earnings per share computed without assuming conversion would have an incremental effect on earnings per share and would be anti-dilutive. Convertible preferred stock is anti-dilutive when its dividend per common share obtainable upon conversion exceeds earnings per share computed without assuming conversion.

.060 When a net loss is reported, exercise or conversion is not assumed.¹⁵ Any computation is anti-dilutive which increases the number of shares considered outstanding during a period for which a net loss is reported. Exercise of options and warrants is not assumed since this would

¹⁵ See Part I, paragraph .016, footnote 5.

increase the number of shares considered outstanding. Likewise, conversion would increase the number of shares considered outstanding. In addition, the if converted adjustments for convertible debt would decrease the amount of the loss. Not deducting dividends on convertible preferred stock would also decrease the amount of the loss applicable to common stock.

6. Dual Presentation

.061 The dual presentation has two groups of earnings per share data; one is primary earnings per share data and the other is fully diluted earnings per share data. Both must be presented with equal prominence on the face of the income statement. [.16]

.062 The dual presentation of primary and fully diluted earnings per share data should not be confused with the two earnings per share amounts which must be presented when a corporation reports extraordinary items on its income statement. Even when the dual presentation is not required, a corporation reporting extraordinary items must report (1) earnings per share for income before extraordinary items and (2) earnings per share for net income. When the dual presentation is required, a corporation reporting extraordinary items must report both amounts for primary earnings per share and both amounts for fully diluted earnings per share. [.13]

.063 A corporation with no extraordinary items on its income statement would report only earnings per share for net income. But this must be reported for both primary and fully diluted earnings per share by a corporation when the dual presentation is required.

7. Primary Earnings per Share

.064 Primary earnings per share is the amount of earnings attributable to each share of common stock outstanding and common stock assumed to be outstanding to reflect the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents. Primary earnings per share data include an earnings per share amount for income before extraordinary items and an earnings per share amount for net income. These data may also include an earnings per share amount for extraordinary items. [.13, .15]

.065 Primary earnings per share is used in section 2011 and in these Interpretations as a convenient means of designating the presentation of these data which must appear on the face of an income statement of a corporation when the dual presentation is required. Thus, "primary" is a communication tool used merely to identify this group of earnings per share data to be presented and is not suggested as a caption to be used on the income statement. The term "primary" is not intended in any way to attribute greater significance to this group of data than is attributed to the fully diluted data.

8. Fully Diluted Earnings per Share

.066 Fully diluted earnings per share is the amount of earnings attributable to each share of common stock outstanding and common stock assumed outstanding to reflect the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents and other potentially dilutive securities. Fully diluted earnings per share data include an earnings per share amount for income before extraordinary items and an earnings per share amount for net income. These data may include an earnings per share amount for extraordinary items. [.13, .15]

.067 Fully diluted earnings per share is used in section 2011 and in these Interpretations as a convenient means of designating the presentation of these data which must appear on the face of an income statement of a corporation when the dual presentation is required. Thus, "fully diluted" is a communication tool used merely to identify this group of earnings per share data to be presented and is not suggested as a caption to be used on the income statement.

APPLICABILITY OF SECTION 2011

9. Corporations and Financial Presentations Excepted .068

Q—Does section 2011 require all corporations to present earnings per share on all income statements?

A—All corporations which are not specifically excepted by section 2011 must present earnings per share on the face of any income statement or summary of such a statement for periods beginning after December 31, 1968. .069 The only corporations excepted from the provisions of section 2011 are:

- 1. Mutual companies without common stock or common stock equivalents outstanding (for example, mutual savings banks, cooperatives, credit unions, etc.).
- 2. Companies registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940.
- 3. Corporations owned by political subdivisions or municipal, county, state, federal or foreign governments.
- 4. Not-for-profit corporations (for example, colleges, universities, medical or scientific research entities, trade and professional associations, religious organizations, etc. which are incorporated). [.06]

.070 Section 2011 applies to all financial presentations which purport to present results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and to summaries of those presentations for all corporations except those listed above. However, the following financial presentations are also excepted from the provisions of section 2011:

- 1. Parent company statements accompanying consolidated financial statements.
- 2. Statements of wholly owned subsidiaries.
- 3. Special purpose statements. [.05, .06]

.071 Special purpose statements (as described in AU section 620, volume 1, AICPA PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS) by definition are not prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Special purpose statements are not, however, merely those prepared for specific purposes if they purport to present results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. For example, SEC Form S-9 for registration of certain high-grade, nonconvertible, fixed-interest debt securities requires disclosure of ratios of earnings to fixed charges for each year in the summary (or statement) of earnings. Although the SEC does not require that earnings per share data be reported in Form S-9, this form is not a "special purpose

statement." Earnings per share must therefore be reported under section 2011.

10. Closely Held Corporations .072

Q—Does section 2011 apply to closely held corporations?

A—Yes, closely held corporations which are not wholly owned subsidiaries of other corporations must report earnings per share on their income statements in accordance with section 2011. A corporation whose stock is all owned by a single individual is not a wholly owned subsidiary [.05, .06]

11. Dilution Less Than 3% .073

Q—Must a corporation with few dilutive securities outstanding make the dual presentation? May such a corporation ignore the dilutive securities and report earnings per share based on common shares outstanding?

A—The required reporting of earnings per share data depends on the materiality of the amount of dilution produced by securities which enable their holders to obtain common stock in the future. Aggregate dilution from all such securities which is less than 3% of earnings per common share outstanding need not be reported for either primary or fully diluted earnings per share, since such dilution is not considered to be material. Thus, if both the primary and fully diluted amounts are more than 97% of earnings per common share outstanding, earnings per share may be based on only common shares outstanding. [.14 fn. 4]

.074 The 3% provision applies to fully diluted earnings per share compared to earnings per common share outstanding, not compared to primary earnings per share. Anti-dilutive securities are not dilutive by definition and should be excluded in computing aggregate dilution. The 3% provision also applies to the reporting of any other earnings per share information, such as supplementary data. Aggregate dilution of less than 3% generally should be reported when it is anticipated that earnings per share data for a period when the provision applies might subsequently be included in a comparative income statement in which the following period reflects dilution of 3% or more. Otherwise, dilution in the following period would appear greater than it in fact was. [.15, .17]

.075 The Board intended the 3% provision to provide relief from complex computations to corporations which would have insignificant dilution if all obligations to issue common stock in the future were fulfilled currently. This would be the case, for example, for a corporation which has no obligations to issue common stock except for a small amount of stock under options granted to its executives. [.14 fn. 4]

12. 3% Test

.076

Q—Is there a simple test which can be applied to determine if dilution would be at least 3%?

A—Yes. As a "rule of thumb," make both the primary and fully diluted computations whenever the number of additional common shares which must be assumed to be issued exceeds 3% ¹⁶ of the number of outstanding common shares. If the dilution produced by either computation is at least 3%, the dual presentation is required. [.15]

.077 Dilutive options and warrants are included in earnings per share computations under the treasury stock method, which produces incremental shares (as explained in Interpretation 51). The number of incremental shares the treasury stock method will produce can be approximated by applying a simple formula. Since stock options are the only obligations of many closely held corporations to issue common stock, the formula is useful when the test described above is to be applied and only options or warrants are considered. [.36]

AC § U 2011.075 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

²⁶ Actually, the number of additional shares must be at least 3/97 (or 3.09 + %) of the number of outstanding common shares. If earnings applicable to common stock includes an "if converted" adjustment, a greater number of additional shares would be required to produce dilution of at least 3%. Thus, although the number of additional shares is not the only determinant of dilution, common shares assumed outstanding must increase more than 3% to produce dilution of at least 3%.

.078 The following formula ¹⁷ will approximate the number of incremental shares which will result from applying the treasury stock method for options or warrants:

$$I = \frac{M - E}{M} (N)$$

Where:

- I is the number of incremental shares which would be produced by the treasury stock method.
- M is the market price (or fair value) per share of common stock.
- E is the exercise price of the option or warrant per common share obtainable upon exercise.
- N is the total number of shares obtainable on exercise.

Subject to the constraint ¹⁸ that M>E

.079 An example of the application of the formula tollows. Assume that a corporation has granted options to its officers to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock at \$6 per share and the common stock has a market price (or fair value) of \$10 per share.

.080 Applying the formula for the information given, the amounts to be substituted for the letters are:

I = unknown M = \$10 E = \$6 N = 10,000Therefore: $I = \frac{\$10 - \$6}{\$10} (10,000)$ I = .4(10,000) I = 4.000

¹⁷ The formula should not be used when section 2011.38 applies, i. e., when the number of common shares obtainable on the exercise of all options and warrants and their equivalents exceeds 20% of the number of common shares outstanding.

¹⁸ The formula would not be used unless the market price is greater than the exercise price since the result could be anti-dilutive.

If the 4,000 incremental shares exceeds 3% of the number of outstanding common shares, actual dilution would be computed to determine if dilution is at least 3%.

13. Subchapter S Corporations .081

Q—Does section 2011 apply to the financial statements of corporations electing under Subchapter S of Chapter 1 of the Internal Revenue Code?

A-Yes, such corporations must report earnings per share on the face of their income statements. Net income is computed without regard to taxes on that income which will be paid by stockholders rather than by the corporation. Undistributed earnings of the corporation taxed to the stockholders increase the stockholders' tax bases in the shares they own, but the number of shares outstanding does not increase unless the corporation issues additional shares. The amount per share of income tax the corporation would have paid in the absence of the Subchapter S election would be useful information to disclose. [.05, .06]

14. Unaudited Financial Statements .082

Q—Does section 2011 apply to unaudited financial statements?

A—Yes. If a CPA is associated with an unaudited income statement which does not report earnings per share, the CPA should phrase his disclaimer of opinion on the statement in accordance with the provisions of either AU sections 516.05-.06 or 517.06 (Volume 1, AICPA PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS) as is appropriate under the circumstances of the engagement. [.05, .06]

EARNINGS PER SHARE PRESENTATION

15. Reporting Loss per Share .083

Q-Must net loss per share be reported?

A—Yes, net loss per share must be reported under the same requirements that earnings per share must be reported. Net loss per share, however, is based on outstanding

AC § U 2011.081 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

common shares. Assuming exercise of options and warrants or conversion of convertible securities would be antidilutive since an increase in the number of shares assumed to be outstanding would reduce the amount of the loss per share.¹⁹ The amount of the loss is increased by any dividends declared (or cumulative even though not declared) for the period on preferred stocks. [.12, 2011A.05]

16. EPS for Extraordinary Items

Q—Must earnings per share be presented for extraordinary items?

A—No, although this presentation may generally be desirable. Section 2011.13 states that earnings per share data should be reported consistent with the income statement presentation required by section 2012.11. Thus, it would appear that earnings per share should be presented for (1) income before extraordinary items, (2) extraordinary items less applicable income tax, and (3) net income as required by section 2012.11 when an extraordinary item is reported on the income statement. This presentation is used in the example in section 2011C.03, Exhibit B. [.13] [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.]

.085 However, section 2011.13 requires that earnings per share data be presented for only (1) income before extraordinary items and (2) net income. Although the two requirements appear to conflict, earnings per share need not be presented for extraordinary items. A reader of the financial statements can determine earnings per share for extraordinary items by subtraction if it is not reported.

.086 Naturally, the earnings per share data will be more complete if an amount is reported for extraordinary items when such items are reported on the income statement. This presentation, although not required, may therefore be generally desirable. In some cases, reporting all three earnings per share amounts would be particularly helpful to the reader, such as in the situation described in section 2011.30, footnote 10 (where the effect on either income before extraordinary items or on net income is antidilutive but is dilutive on the other). [.30, fn. 10]

¹⁹ See paragraph .016, footnote 5.

17. Simple Capital Structure

.087

Q—What is a simple capital structure for purposes of computing earnings per share?

A—A corporation has a simple capital structure for purposes of computing earnings per share if during the period it had no securities outstanding (or agreements to issue securities) that in the aggregate dilute earnings per outstanding common share. [.14]

18. Complex Capital Structure

.088

Q—What is a complex capital structure for purposes of computing earnings per share?

A—A corporation has a complex capital structure for purposes of computing earnings per share if it has issued, in addition to common stock, securities which have a dilutive effect on earnings per outstanding common share. Among the securities which may have a dilutive effect are convertible preferred stock, convertible debt, options, warrants, participating securities, different classes of common stock, and agreements to issue such securities or shares of common stock in the future. [.15, .27, .41]

.089 As explained in Interpretation 11, if the aggregate dilution for the period produced by all such securities which are dilutive does not reduce earnings per outstanding common share by at least 3%, a corporation may be considered as having a simple capital structure for purposes of computing earnings per share. It may be desirable, however, to report the actual dilution in such a case, particularly if the period being reported upon might later be included in a comparative income statement which includes one or more periods with dilution of 3% or more. [.14, .14 fn. 4, .17]

19. EPS for Simple and Complex Capital Structures .090

Q—How does the reporting of earnings per share data differ for corporations with simple capital structures and corporations with complex capital structures?

A—A corporation with a simple capital structure is required to have a single presentation of "earnings per common share" on the face of its income statement. A corporation with a complex capital structure is required to have a dual presentation of both primary and fully diluted earnings per share on the face of its income statement. [.14, .15]

.091 Exceptions which apply to corporations with simple capital structures are explained in Interpretation 20. An exception which applies to corporations with complex capital structures is explained in Interpretation 18.

20. Dual Presentation for Corporation with Simple Capital Structure .092

Q—Is a corporation with a simple capital structure ever required to have the dual presentation?

A—Yes, the dual presentation is required if common stock was issued during the period on exercise, conversion, etc. and primary earnings per share would have increased or decreased if the issuance had taken place at the beginning of the period. [.41]

.093 A corporation has a simple capital structure when it has no dilutive securities outstanding. If outstanding anti-dilutive securities are exercised or converted, however, such a corporation would be required to have the dual presentation if primary earnings per share would have been affected as described above. Thus the dual presentation may be required for a corporation with a simple capital structure to report the incremental effect of an anti-dilutive exercise or conversion. [.14, .41]

.094 Also, the dual presentation is required for all periods presented in a comparative income statement if it is required for any period. The dual presentation may therefore be required for one or more periods in a comparative income statement when the corporation had a simple capital structure. [.17]

21. Primary v. Fully Diluted EPS .095

Q—How do fully diluted earnings per share differ from primary earnings per share?

A—Primary earnings per share computations include only common stock and dilutive common stock equivalents. Fully diluted earnings per share computations include common stock and dilutive common stock equivalents together with other potentially dilutive securities. Fully diluted earnings per share also include those exercises or conversions for which common stock was issued during the period whether their effect is dilutive or anti-dilutive. [.24, .41]

.096 Fully diluted earnings per share show the maximum potential dilution of all dilutive contractual obligations to issue common stock and their effect on current earnings per share on a prospective basis. The difference between primary and fully diluted earnings per share shows (1) the maximum extent of potential dilution of current earnings which would occur from the conversions of securities that are not common stock equivalents or the contingent issuance of common stock not included in the computation of primary earnings per share and (2) the effect of all issuances of common stock on exercises or conversions during the year as if the issuance had occurred at the beginning of the year. [.16, .40, .41]

22. Captions for Earnings per Share Presentations .097

Q—What captions should be used for reporting earnings per share amounts in the dual presentation?

A—Precise designations are not prescribed by section 2011 except that the term "earnings per common share" should not be used unless a corporation has a simple capital structure or the term is appropriately qualified. The qualification is determined by whether the corporation has only common stock equivalents or also has other potentially dilutive securities. [.16]

.098 Listed below are five captions which might be used to designate earnings per share amounts. Following the captions is a table indicating the captions a corporation might use when it has various combinations of securities outstanding. The first two columns of the table indicate the combinations of securities a corporation might have. The numbers in the other three columns refer to the numbers listed beside the captions which might be used to designate the earnings per share amounts. For example, a corporation having both dilutive common stock equivalents and other potentially dilutive securities outstanding could designate the primary amounts "Earnings per common and common equivalent share" and could designate the fully diluted amounts "Earnings per common share assuming full dilution."

SUGGESTED EARNINGS PER SHARE CAPTIONS

- 1. Earnings per common share.
- 2. Earnings per common share—assuming no dilution.
- 3. Earnings per common share—assuming full dilution.
- 4. Earnings per common and common equivalent share. (If both dilutive and anti-dilutive common stock equivalents are present, the caption may be: Earnings per common and dilutive common equivalent share.)
- 5. Earnings per common share—assuming issuance of all dilutive contingent shares.

Dual Presentation

Common Stock Equivalents Present	Other Potentially Dilutive Securities Present	Caption for Single Presentation	Primary Caption	Fully Diluted Caption
No ª	No ª	1		
No ª	Dilutive		2	3
No ^a	Anti-dilutive	1 ^b		
Dilutive	No		4	3 °
Dilutive	Dilutive		4	3
Dilutive	Anti-dilutive		4	5 ^{b, c}
Anti-dilutive	No ª	I b		
Anti-dilutive	Dilutive		2 ^b	5 ^b
Anti-dilutive	Anti-dilutive	1 ^b		

TABLE INDICATING USE OF EPS CAPTIONS

Notes:

* Or dilution is less than 3% if such securities are present.

^b In a note, disclose the existence of the anti-dilutive securities.

^c Primary and fully diluted amounts will be the same.

23. Captions in Comparative Statements

.099

Q—What presentation is required in a comparative income statement when a corporation has a simple capital structure in one period and a complex capital structure in another period? **A**—The dual presentation is required for all periods presented if it is required for any period presented. Since the corporation had a complex capital structure in one period presented, the dual presentation is required for that period and for all other periods presented in the comparative income statement. [.17]

.100 In a comparative income statement the captions used should be appropriate for the most dilutive presentation. For example, if there were no common stock equivalents in one period, anti-dilutive common stock equivalents in one period, and dilutive common stock equivalents in another period in a comparative income statement, the primary amounts could have a designation such as "earnings per common and dilutive common equivalent share." Explanatory disclosure in a note may also be appropriate.

COMPUTING EARNINGS PER SHARE 24. Earnings Applicable to Common Stock .101

Q—How is "earnings applicable to common stock" determined for earnings per share computations?

A—For a corporation with a simple capital structure, earnings applicable to common stock is net income reduced by dividends declared or paid for the period to preferred stock. Cumulative preferred dividends for the current period not paid or declared also are deducted from net income in determining earnings applicable to common stock. However, preferred dividends which are cumulative only if earned are deducted only to the extent they are earned. Interest on debt need not be adjusted in determining earnings applicable to common stock since it was deducted in arriving at net income. [2011A.05]

.102 For example, assume that a corporation has a net income of \$6,000 and has 1,000 shares of common stock outstanding. Also outstanding are 1,000 shares of nonconvertible noncumulative preferred stock and \$10,000 of 6% nonconvertible bonds. The corporation has a simple capital structure. If no dividends were paid on preferred stock, earnings applicable to common stock would be \$6,000. Earnings per common share would be \$6 per share (\$6,000 net income divided by 1,000 common shares). The declaration of a dividend of \$1 per share on preferred stock would

Computing Earnings per Share

result in earnings applicable to common stock of \$5,000 (\$6,000 net income less \$1,000 for preferred dividends) and earnings per common share of \$5 per share. The same result would be obtained if the dividend were cumulative and had not been declared. The same result would also be obtained whether or not the corporation paid (or declared) a dividend on common stock. [.14, 2011A.05]

.103 For a corporation with a complex capital structure, net income is reduced by dividends on nonconvertible preferred stock as described above. When the if converted method is applied for outstanding convertible securities, however, dividends for convertible preferred stock are not deducted from net income but other adjustments may be necessary. Under the if converted method, convertible dividends are not deducted when conversion is assumed, and interest (less applicable income tax) is added back to net income when convertible debt is assumed to be converted. [2011A.06]

.104 For example, assume that a corporation has a net income of \$6,000 and has 1,000 shares of common stock outstanding. Also outstanding are 1,000 shares of common stock equivalent convertible preferred stock (convertible one common share for each preferred share) and \$10,000 of 6% convertible bonds (convertible three common shares for each \$100 bond) which are not common stock equivalents. The corporation has a complex capital structure. Assume also that the corporation paid a \$1 per share dividend on both common and preferred stock and the income tax rate is 22%. For primary earnings per share, earnings applicable to common stock is \$6,000 and earnings per common and common equivalent share is \$3 per share (\$6,000 divided by 2,000 shares, composed of 1,000 common shares and 1,000 common equivalent shares from the assumed conversion of the convertible preferred stock). For fully diluted earnings per share, earnings applicable to common stock is \$6,468 (\$6,000 net income plus \$600 interest less \$132 additional tax pavable if the interest had not reduced net income). Earnings per common share assuming full dilution is \$2.81 per share [\$6,468 divided by 2,300 shares; composed of 1,000 common shares, 1,000 common equivalent shares, and 300 shares from the assumed conversion of the convertible bonds). [.15, 2011A.06]

AC § U 2011.104

25. Weighted Average of Shares Outstanding

.105

Q—What is the effect on earnings per share computations of issuing common stock or other securities which may be converted or exercised to obtain common stock or of reacquiring common stock or such securities during a period?

A—Such issuances or reacquisitions of common stock or other securities during a period require that a weighted average of shares be computed for the denominator to be used in the earnings per share computations. A weighted average gives due consideration to all shares outstanding and assumed to have been outstanding during a period. Shares issued or retired during a period are weighted by the fraction of the period they were outstanding. The weighted number of shares is added to the number of shares outstanding for the entire period to obtain the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. [2011A.02]

.106 For example, assume that a corporation had 100,000 common shares outstanding on January 1 and issued 6,000 additional common shares on March 1. The weighted average would be 102,000 shares for the quarter ending March 31 or 104,000 shares for the six months ending June 30 or 105,000 shares for the year ending December 31. COMPUTATIONAL NOTES:

The same answers would result if the 6,000 shares issued on March 1 were merely assumed to have been issued to reflect the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents issued on March 1. It should be noted that the number of shares in the weighted average for the quarter and for the year are different.

.107 Reacquired shares are included in the weighted average only for the time they were outstanding. For example, assume that a corporation had 100,000 shares outstanding on January 1 and reacquired 6,000 shares on March 1. The weighted average would be 98,000 shares for the quarter ending March 31 or 96,000 shares for the six

AC § U 2011.105 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

months ending June 30 or 95,000 shares for the year ending December 31.

COMPUTATIONAL NOTES:

100,000 - 6,000 = 94,00094,000 + 2/3 (6,000) = 98,000 94,000 + 2/6 (6,000) = 96,000 94,000 + 2/12 (6,000) = 95,000

The same answers would result if the 100,000 shares had included common stock equivalents and the corporation had reacquired 100 dilutive common stock equivalent convertible bonds (convertible 60 common shares for one bond) on March 1.

.108 More complex methods for computing a weighted average could be used if the number of shares involved changes frequently, such as computing an average weighted by days. (See Exhibit 4, paragraph .360.)

.109 The weighted average discussed in section 2011 and in these Interpretations is technically an arithmetical mean average of shares outstanding and assumed to be outstanding for earnings per share computations. The most precise average would be the sum of the shares determined on a daily basis divided by the number of days in the period. Less precise averaging methods may be used, however, as illustrated above, if they produce reasonable results. But methods which introduce artificial weighting are not acceptable for computing a weighted average of shares for earnings per share computations. For example, the "Rule of 78" method, which weights shares for the first month of the year by 12 and weights shares for the last month of the year by 1, is not an acceptable method.

.110 Retroactive recognition is given for all periods presented to any stock dividend, stock split or reverse split, including those occurring after the end of the period for which the computation is being made but before the statements are issued.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

26. Classification and Assumed Conversion .111

Q—Which convertible securities are assumed to be converted for primary earnings per share computations

and which are assumed to be converted for fully diluted earnings per share computations?

A—Convertible securities which are classified as common stock equivalents are assumed to be converted for both primary and fully diluted earnings per share computations. Convertible securities which are not common stock equivalents are classified as other potentially dilutive securities and are assumed to be converted only for fully diluted earnings per share computations. [.15, .31]

.112 Conversion is assumed for either computation only when the result is dilutive unless (1) the security is included in an aggregate computation which has a net dilutive effect or (2) for fully diluted earnings per share, common stock was issued during the period on an antidilutive conversion, that is, a conversion which would have had the effect of increasing earnings per share if it had occurred at the beginning of the period. When conversion is assumed, the if converted method is applied.²⁰ When conversion is not assumed because the result would be antidilutive, interest or dividends on the securities reduce the amount of earnings or increase the amount of loss otherwise applicable to common stock. [.30, .38, .40, .41, 2011A.05, 2011A.06]

.113 Most convertible securities are classified on the basis of their yield at time of issuance. (The exceptions are discussed in the following paragraphs of this Interpretation.) Under the yield test, convertible securities which yield less than $66\frac{2}{3}\%$ of the bank prime interest rate at time of issuance are common stock equivalents; those yield-ing at least $66\frac{2}{3}\%$ of the prime rate are other potentially dilutive securities. [.33]

.114 If a convertible security has a change scheduled in its interest or dividend rate within five years after issuance, its yield at issuance is considered to be the lowest scheduled rate within the five years. (See Interpretation 28 for the treatment of convertible securities which are not convertible until a future date.) A convertible security which would not otherwise be a common stock equivalent at time of issuance is classified as a common stock equiva-

²⁰ See paragraph .023 of this Interpretation and section 2011A.06 for a description of the if converted method.

lent if it is issued with the same terms as those of an outstanding convertible security which is a common stock equivalent. [.28]

.115 Convertible securities issued prior to June 1, 1969 are classified by the issuer under one of two alternative elections specified in section 2011.46. (The election made applies to all securities issued before that date, not just to convertible securities.) Under election "a," all convertible securities issued prior to June 1, 1969 are classified as either common stock equivalents or other potentially dilutive securities under the provisions of section 2011. Under election "b," all convertible securities issued prior to June 1, 1969 which were classified as residual securities under APB Opinion No. 9 are classified as nonresidual securities are classified as other potentially dilutive securities. [.46]

.116 Convertible securities which require or permit the payment of cash upon conversion are considered the equivalents of warrants and are classified as common stock equivalents. (See Interpretation 71 for the treatment of such securities.) A few convertible participating securities are common stock equivalents for which the two-class method may be applied. (See Interpretation 87 for the treatment of such securities.) The if converted method is applied when any convertible security is assumed to be converted except for unusual cases when the two-class method is applied. [.35, .37, 2011A.06, 2011A.14]

27. Time of Issuance

.117

Q—What is the "time of issuance" of a convertible security?

A—"Time of issuance" is generally the date when agreement as to terms has been reached and announced even though subject to further actions, such as directors' or stockholders' approval. In this context, time of issuance is often referred to in financial jargon as the "handshake" date. Thus, time of issuance will usually precede the actual date of issuance of a security by some period which might be as long as several months or as short as a few hours. [.29] .118 "Agreement as to terms" means that all of the terms have been set, not merely that the parties have reached an agreement in principle but the number of securities to be issued or the issue price is still to be determined at a later date. Agreement as to terms is reached when the parties are obligated to complete the transaction if it is ratified by the directors and/or stockholders, that is, neither party may legally terminate the agreement except for failure to receive approval from the directors or stockholders. The fact that the agreement is subject to a "favorable" ruling from the Treasury Department or a regulatory agency does not affect time of issuance so long as all of the terms of the agreement have been set.

.119 The classification of a convertible security is determined at time of issuance and does not change when the security is actually issued except as discussed in Interpretation 29.

.120 When time of issuance occurs before a year end but the agreement has not been approved by either the directors or stockholders before the financial statements are issued, the securities are not considered outstanding in the financial statements being issued or in earnings per share computations. (The securities are similar to a contingent issuance whose conditions are not currently being met.) [2011A.17]

28. Classification and Computation Not Always the Same .121

Q—Are convertible securities included in earnings per share computations at time of issuance?

A—Convertible securities are classified at time of issuance. Generally they are assumed to be converted for earnings per share computations from this date also. Although a convertible security is classified at time of issuance, in some cases it is not assumed to be converted for earnings per share computations until a later date. [.28, 2011A.06]

.122 If the conversion privilege is not effective during the period being reported upon, the length of time before the privilege becomes effective determines when the security is eligible for assumed conversion in earnings per share computations. Conversion is not assumed for either primary or fully diluted computations if the conversion privi-

Computing Earnings per Share

lege is not effective within ten years from the end of the period being reported upon. Conversion is assumed only for fully diluted computations if the conversion privilege is effective after five years but within ten years from the end of the period being reported upon. Conversion is assumed as if the security were immediately convertible if the conversion privilege is effective within five years from the end of the period being reported upon. [2011A.12, 2011A.13]

.123 For example, assume that a corporation issued a debt security at the end of its 1969 reporting year that may be converted into common stock after twelve years (at the end of 1981). The security's yield at time of issuance requires that it be classified as a common stock equivalent. Conversion would not be assumed for 1969 or 1970 earnings per share computations (interest would reduce net income in 1970, however). Conversion would be assumed whenever the effect is dilutive for fully diluted computations beginning in 1971 and for both primary and fully diluted computations beginning in 1976. Thus, the security is classified at time of issuance but conversion is not assumed for earnings per share computations until later. [.28]

.124 Time of issuance and classification of a convertible security may precede the obligation to issue and actual issuance by as much as several months, but a convertible security is not considered outstanding in the interim until there is a valid obligation to issue the security. For example, assume that agreement as to terms for a business combination is reached and announced on December 1, 1969. Final approval by stockholders occurs on February 16, 1970 and a convertible security is to be issued March 2, 1970. Classification of the security is determined at December 1, 1969. The security would be omitted from 1969 earnings per share computations if the financial statements are issued before February 16, 1970, but the impending issuance would be disclosed.

.125 If the business combination is accounted for as a purchase, the security would be considered outstanding from the date of the acquisition in 1970 earnings per share computations if the stockholders in fact ratify the agreement. If the business combination is accounted for as a pooling of interests, prior periods' earnings per share data would be retroactively restated in comparative income statements issued subsequently to reflect the security as outstanding for all periods presented. (See Part I, paragraphs.042-.044.) [2011A.04]

29. Change of Classification of Convertible Security .126

Q---When does the classification of a convertiblé security change?

A—A convertible security's classification is generally determined only at time of issuance and does not change thereafter. However, a change of classification (usually from other potentially dilutive security status to common stock equivalent status) may be required in two situations. These are when (1) an incorrect estimate of the security's value at time of issuance was made in the absence of a market price or (2) a common stock equivalent convertible security is issued with the same terms as an already outstanding convertible security which is not a common stock equivalent. (See Interpretation 30.) [.28, .29]

.127 If a convertible security does not have a market price at time of issuance, an estimate must be made of the security's fair value to apply the yield test. If the estimate of the security's value is too low, a convertible security which should be classified as a common stock equivalent might not be so classified. In such a case, the security would have to be reclassified as a common stock equivalent at actual issuance. Typically, an obviously incorrect estimate would be evidenced by materially higher market transactions for the security at actual issuance shortly after the time of issuance. [.29, .33 fn. 11]

.128 A change of the classification of the security would not be appropriate in such a case, however, if the higher market prices resulted from an external change over which the issuer had no control. (A general increase in the market prices of other securities might indicate an external change.) A change of the classification would also not be appropriate if convertible securities were sold for cash and the gross proceeds to the issuer were substantially equal to the total amount of the original fair value estimate for the securities. In this case, the total of the net amount received by the issuer plus brokerage commissions paid is approximately equal to the original estimate of fair value of the securities.

AC § U 2011.126 (© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

30. Change of Classification Is Mandatory .129

Q—Would convertible securities issued prior to June 1, 1969 and classified as other potentially dilutive securities under section 2011.46 become common stock equivalents if another convertible security is issued with the same terms after May 31, 1969 and is classified as a common stock equivalent? [.46]

A—Yes, a change in classification is required by the second sentence of section 2011.28 for any outstanding convertible security which is not a common stock equivalent but which has the same terms as those of another convertible security being issued which is classified as a common stock equivalent at time of issuance. Thus, an outstanding convertible security which is not a common stock equivalent would be reclassified as a common stock equivalent if another convertible security is issued with the same terms and is classified as a common stock equivalent at time of issuance. [.28]

.130 Although this reclassification is an exception to the general rule that securities do not change status subsequent to time of issuance, reclassification is mandatory. All of a corporation's convertible securities issued with the same terms therefore are classified the same for earnings per share computations.

.131 For example, assume that convertible securities were issued with the same terms on May 2, June 2, and July 2, 1969. Only the July 2 issue is a common stock equivalent if classification is based on yield at time of issuance because of an increase in the bank prime interest rate. Under section 2011.28, however, both the May 2 and June 2 issues become common stock equivalents also.

31. Definition of "Same Terms"

.132

Q—What are the "same terms" (as used in the second sentence of section 2011.28) for the subsequent issuance of a convertible security?

A—The "same terms" are identical terms, not merely similar terms. Thus, any change in dividend or interest rates, conversion rates, call prices or dates, preferences in liquidation, etc. is a change in terms. Market price or issue price is not considered a "term." (See Interpretation 32.) [.28]

AICPA Professional Standards

AC § U 2011.132

32. Issue Price Is Not a "Term" .133

Q—Do different issue prices for different issuances of convertible securities constitute a change in "terms" if all other terms for the securities are the same?

A—No, different issue prices for convertible securities with the same terms otherwise is not a change in terms. Thus, two convertible securities issued at different prices but with the same stated dividend or interest rates, conversion rates, call prices and dates, preferences in liquidation, etc. have the same terms. [.28]

33. Sale of Treasury Securities Is a New Issue .134

Q—Are convertible securities sold by an issuer from securities held as treasury securities to be classified as a new issue or as part of the original issue under the provisions of the second sentence of section 2011.28?

A—When convertible securities are acquired by the issuing corporation and subsequently reissued, they constitute a new issue with the same terms as the existing outstanding convertible security. The "new" issue's status (as a common stock equivalent or not) should be determined under both the common stock equivalent test and the provisions of the second sentence of section 2011.28. If deemed a common stock equivalent, the "new" issue could also affect the status of outstanding securities with the same terms as described in the second sentence of section 2011.28. For example, if the outstanding securities are not common stock equivalents and the reissued securities are common stock equivalents under the yield test (because of a change in market prices or the prime rate), the outstanding securities also become common stock equivalents. [.28]

34. Determining a Convertible Security's Cash Yield .135

Q—Upon what return is a convertible security's cash yield based?

A—Cash yield for most convertible securities is based upon the stated amount of interest or dividends the security is scheduled to pay each year.²¹ However, if the dividends

AC § U 2011.133 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

ⁿ See Interpretation 26 for the amount to be used when a convertible security has a change of interest or dividends scheduled.

on convertible preferred stock are not cumulative, yield might have to be based on some lesser amount, particularly if the stated amount appears impossible to pay. Low earnings or contractual provisions on outstanding debt, for example, might prohibit payment of the stated amount. The same would apply for preferred dividends which are cumulative only if earned. [.33]

35. Computing a Convertible's Cash Yield .136

Q—How is a convertible security's cash yield at time of issuance computed?

A—Yield is a security's return expressed as a percentage of its value. For example, a \$1,000 bond which is paying \$45 annual interest to the holder and selling at 90

(i. e., \$900) yields 5% $\left(\operatorname{computed} \frac{\$45}{\$900} \times 100 \right)$ if the

time factor to maturity is ignored. Although yield is generally computed to maturity, the yield test described in section 2011 for convertible securities uses only the stated annual return expressed as a percentage of the security's market price (ignoring commissions and transfer taxes) at time of issuance. If the security does not have a market price at time of issuance, the test is based on the security's fair value. [.33]

36. Cash Yield of Convertible Security in a "Package" .137

Q—How is the cash yield determined for a convertible security issued in a "package," i. e., a convertible security is one of two or more securities issued as a unit?

A—When two or more securities are issued as a unit, the unit price at time of issuance should be allocated to each security based on the relative fair values of the securities at time of issuance. For example, assume that a "package" consisting of one share of common stock, one share of convertible preferred stock, and one nonconvertible \$100 bond with a detachable warrant is sold as a unit for a total price of \$200. At time of issuance, fair values were \$42 per share of common stock, \$63 per share of convertible preferred stock, \$99.75 per bond and \$5.25 per warrant. The \$200 unit amount would be allocated to each security as follows:

AICPA Professional Standards

AC § U 2011.137

Accounting Interpretations

	Fair Value at Issuance	Percentage of Total	Allocated Amount of \$200
Common stock	\$ 42.00	20.0%	\$ 40.00
Preferred stock	63.00	30.0	60.00
Bond		47.5	95.00
Warrant	5.25	2.5	5.00
Totals	\$210.00	100.0%	\$200.00
			<u></u>

If the convertible preferred stock is scheduled to pay a dividend of \$3.15 per share each year, it would yield 5.25%

 $\left(\text{computed } \frac{\$3.15}{\$60.00} \times 100\right).$

[.33, fn. 11*]

37. Property Included in Cash Yield .138

Q—May the fair value of property to be paid as dividends or interest be included in computing cash yield since section 2011 specifically states only "cash"?

A—Yes, the fair value of property to be paid in lieu of cash may be included in computing the cash yield of a convertible security. The property so treated may include non-convertible senior securities of the same company. But it may not include the same issue for which common stock equivalency is being determined. And it may not include securities of the issuer or its parent or subsidiary which are currently or potentially dilutive and enter into the computation of either primary or fully diluted earnings per share. [.33]

.139 For example, any common stock or common stock equivalent of the issuer and securities such as those described in sections 2011A.14, 2011A.15, and 2011A.20-.24 would not be considered property for this purpose. Also, "extra" dividends to be paid on convertible stock on a nonrecurring basis would not be considered in computing cash yield in conformity with the "lowest scheduled rate" provision of section 2011.33.

38. Prime Rate Used in Yield Test .140

Q—What bank prime interest rate should be used to determine the status of a convertible security as a com-

^{*} Also see section 5516.

mon stock equivalent or not in applying the yield test when more than one rate is in effect in a country?

A—The prime interest rate in effect at the bank where the issuer borrows is used when more than one bank prime interest rate (or its equivalent in foreign ²² countries) is in effect in the U. S. If the issuer borrows from more than one bank and the different banks have different prime rates in effect, an average of the rates is used. If the issuer does not borrow from a bank where the prime interest rate is offered and more than one bank prime interest rate is in effect, an average of the rates would be used unless the issuer can show that the predominant rate is more appropriate than an average rate. [.34]

39. Prior Period Prime Rates .141

Q—What source should be considered authoritative in determining the bank prime interest rate which was in effect in the U. S. during prior periods when applying election "a" of section 2011.46? [.46]

A—The Federal Reserve Bulletin may be considered an authoritative source for determining the bank prime interest rate at any time. When a "split" prime rate is in effect, the provisions of Interpretation 38 are applied. For readers' convenience, the dates of changes in the prime rate and the rates in effect from 1954 through 1970 have been extracted and appear in paragraph .357. [.34]

40. Original Issue Premium or Discount on Convertible Securities

.142

Q—What happens to original issue premium or discount when convertible securities are assumed to be converted and common stock is assumed to be issued for earnings per share computations?

A—Any original issue premium or discount amortized during the period (to compute the effective interest deducted from net income for a debt security) is eliminated from net income in arriving at carnings applicable to common stock. The unamortized original issue premium or

²² See The Banker, February 1969, p. 117 ff., for a discussion of rates in foreign countries which are the equivalents of the U. S. bank prime interest rate.

discount balance at the date of assumed conversion (the ending balance plus the amount amortized during the period) is then ignored for earnings per share computations. The if converted method only assumes conversion of the securities; it does not assume retirement. The converted securities are assumed to be held by the issuer as treasury securities during the period being reported upon and balance sheet accounts related to those securities are not affected by the assumed conversion. Note that these assumptions are made only for earnings per share computations; the issuer's balance sheet and net income for the period are not affected in any way by the assumptions made for earnings per share computations. [.39, 2011A.06]

41. No Anti-Dilution from Convertible Preferred Stock .143

Q—When is convertible preferred stock antidilutive and therefore not assumed to be converted for earnings per share computations?

A—Convertible preferred stock is anti-dilutive and conversion is not assumed ²³ whenever the amount of the dividend paid or declared for the current period (or accumulated if not paid) per common share obtainable upon conversion exceeds the earnings per share amount computed without assuming conversion. [.30, .40, 2011A.05]

.144 For example, assume that a corporation had a net income of \$1,500 and had 1,000 shares of common stock outstanding. Also outstanding were 1,000 shares of preferred stock convertible on a one-for-one basis and classified as a common stock equivalent. A \$1 per share dividend was paid to the convertible shareholders. Assumption of conversion would be anti-dilutive in this case since earnings per outstanding common share is \$.50 per share. (Earnings per common and common equivalent share would be \$.75 per share if conversion were assumed.) Conversion would not be assumed, but rather the preferred dividend would be deducted to compute earnings applicable to common stock. Earnings per share would be computed on the basis of actual common stock outstanding. The same result would be obtained if the dividend were cumulative and not paid.

²⁷ See Interpretation 44 for an exception when actual conversion occurs.

42. No Anti-Dilution from Convertible Debt .145

Q—When is convertible debt anti-dilutive and therefore not assumed to be converted for earnings per share computations?

A—Convertible debt is anti-dilutive and conversion is not assumed ²⁴ whenever its interest (net of tax) per common share obtainable on conversion exceeds the earnings per share computed without assuming conversion. [.30, .40, 2011A.05]

.146 For example, assume that a corporation had a net income of \$500 and had 1,000 shares of common stock outstanding. Also outstanding were 1,000 convertible bonds with a par value of \$100 each paying interest at 3% per annum and convertible into one share of common stock each. Assume the bonds are classified as common stock equivalents and that the effective income tax rate is 50%. The earnings per common share outstanding (ignoring conversion of the bonds) is \$.50 per share. Assuming conversion, \$3,000 interest would be added back less \$1,500 of additional income tax, resulting in a net increase of \$1,500 and earnings per share for the 2,000 common and common equivalent shares would be anti-dilutive and conversion would therefore not be assumed.

43. Conversion Assumed for Primary Only .147

Q—When a common stock equivalent convertible security is assumed to be converted for primary earnings per share computations, must it also be assumed to be converted for fully diluted earnings per share computations?

A—Generally, a common stock equivalent convertible security is assumed to be converted for both computations. However, if fully diluted earnings per share would be increased by the assumed conversion, conversion would be assumed only for the primary earnings per share computation. Such a situation could occur if two convertible securities were outstanding and the dividend on one classified as a common stock equivalent exceeds fully diluted earnings per share but not primary earnings per share. [.15, .31,.40]

²⁴ See Interpretation 44 for an exception when actual conversion occurs.

.148 For example, assume that a corporation had a net income of \$9,500 and had 2,000 shares of common stock outstanding. Also outstanding were 1,000 shares of Class A convertible preferred stock which was a common stock equivalent and 1,500 shares of Class B convertible preferred stock which was not a common stock equivalent. The Class A paid a dividend of \$2.50 per share and the Class B paid a dividend of \$1 per share. Both are convertible into common on a one-for-one basis.

.149 Primary earnings per share is \$2.67 per share assuming conversion of the Class A convertible preferred (\$9,500 - \$1,500 = \$8,000 earnings applicable to commondivided by 3,000 shares). Fully diluted earnings per share would be \$2.11 per share if conversion were assumed for both the Class A and Class B convertible preferred (\$9,500 \div 4,500 shares). However, fully diluted earnings per share is \$2.00 per share if conversion is assumed for only the Class B (\$9,500 - \$2,500 = \$7,000 earnings applicable to common divided by 3,500 shares). The difference between \$2.11 and \$2.00 is caused by the incremental effect of assuming conversion of the Class A. Since the Class A dividend per common share obtainable upon conversion exceeds fully diluted earnings per share computed without assuming conversion, conversion would be anti-dilutive. (See Interpretation 41.) Therefore, primary earnings per share is reported at \$2.67 per share and fully diluted earnings per share is reported at \$2.00 per share since this is the maximum dilutive amount.

.150 This example illustrates the fact that earnings per share amounts may be affected by changes either in the numerator or in the denominator used in the computation. Naturally, in some cases, both change.

44. If Converted Method at Actual Conversion .151

Q—Is the if converted method applied differently for primary and fully diluted earnings per share computations when actual conversion occurs?

 \mathbf{A} —When a common stock equivalent convertible security is converted during a period, the if converted method

is applied from the beginning of the period 25 to the date of conversion for both primary and fully diluted earnings per share computations if the result is dilutive. [.41]

.152 If the result is anti-dilutive, however, conversion is not assumed for the primary computation. But when an actual conversion occurs during a period, conversion is assumed at the beginning²⁵ of the period for the fully diluted computation and the if converted method is applied, regardless of whether the result is dilutive or anti-dilutive. [.30, .41]

.153 Upon actual conversion, common stock issued is included in the weighted average of shares outstanding in both the primary and fully diluted computations from the date of conversion. The securities tendered by the holder for conversion are thereafter considered to be retired. [2011A.02]

45. Securities Convertible into Other Convertible Securities .154

Q—How is a convertible security which is convertible into another convertible security included in earnings per share computations?

A—Such convertible securities enter earnings per share computations according to their provisions and their characteristics. [.43]

.155 A convertible security issued by a subsidiary which is convertible only into a parent company's convertible security is a senior security from the standpoint of the subsidiary, i. e., the yield test does not apply. For consolidated earnings per share computations, however, the subsidiary's security would be assumed to be converted into the parent's security. The parent's security would then be assumed to be converted under the if converted method (if the net result is dilutive). If the parent's convertible security is not a common stock equivalent, conversion of the parent's security would be assumed only for fully diluted computations. If it is a common stock equivalent, conversion of the parent's security would be assumed for both primary and fully diluted computations. (See Interpretation 93.)

²⁶ For convertible securities issued and converted during the period, conversion is assumed only from time of issuance rather than from the beginning of the period.

.156 Convertible securities which are convertible at the option of the holder into either another convertible security or a nonconvertible security are assumed to be converted into the security which would be more advantageous for the holder (but not if the result is anti-dilutive). If conversion is assumed into the other convertible security, that security is then assumed to be converted into common stock for earnings per share computations (but not if the net result is anti-dilutive). If conversion is assumed into the nonconvertible security, dividends which would have been applicable to the nonconvertible security, as if it had been outstanding, are deducted in determining earnings applicable to common stock. If converted adjustments may also be applicable. The classification (determined under the yield test) as a common stock equivalent or other potentially dilutive security of convertible securities which are convertible at the option of the holder as discussed in this paragraph determines whether conversion is assumed for both primary and fully diluted computations or only for fully diluted computations. [2011A.11. 2011A.13]

.157 In some cases, the security which would be more advantageous for assumed conversion cannot be determined. This might be the case, for example, if the nonconvertible security pays a high dividend and the second convertible security has good prospects for an increase in its market price. If the more advantageous security to the holders cannot be determined, the computation should give effect to the greater earnings per share dilution.

OPTIONS AND WARRANTS AND THEIR EQUIVALENTS 46. Classification of Options and Warrants .158

Q—How are options, warrants and their equivalents classified for earnings per share computations?

A—Options, warrants and their equivalents are always common stock equivalents unless *all* of the following conditions are met: (1) they were issued prior to June 1, 1969 *and* (2) the issuer makes election "b" under section 2011.46 *and* (3) they were not classified as residual securities under APB Opinion No. 9. Options, warrants and other equivalents classified under this exception are not common stock equivalents but are other potentially dilutive securities and are included only in fully diluted earnings per share com-

AC § U 2011.156. © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

putations.²⁶ All other options, warrants and their equivalents are included in both primary and fully diluted earnings per share computations. [.35, .42, .46]

47. No Anti-Dilution from Options and Warrants .159

Q—When are options and warrants anti-dilutive under the treasury stock method?

A—Generally, options and warrants are anti-dilutive whenever their exercise price exceeds the market price of the common stock obtainable on exercise. This is because application of the treasury stock method in such a case would reduce the number of common shares included in the computation which would increase the earnings per share amount. [.36, .36 fn. 14]

.160 The prohibition against anti-dilution in applying the treasury stock method recognizes the economic fact that an option or warrant would not be exercised if the exercise price were above the market price because the stock could be purchased in the market for less than it could be purchased by exercising the option or warrant. However, if for some reason options or warrants are exercised when the market price is below the exercise price, the market price at the exercise date is applied in the fully diluted computation for the exercised options or warrants for the period they were outstanding. (See Interpretation 62.) However, anti-dilution is not reflected in the primary computation prior to exercise. [.30, .40, .42]

.161 In special cases for which other methods are applied (see sections 2011.37 and 2011.38), the factors which cause dilution or anti-dilution are, of course, different. These special cases are discussed in Interpretations 50 and 65-71. [.37, .38]

48. Equivalents of Options and Warrants .162

Q—What kinds of securities are considered the equivalents of options and warrants and therefore always classified as common stock equivalents?

 \mathbf{A} —Stock purchase contracts, stock subscriptions not fully paid, deferred compensation plans providing for the

²⁶ These options and warrants would be common stock equivalents except for the fact that they were issued before section 2011 was released. Section 2011 provides that they be classified as common stock equivalents only if the issuer elects to so classify them.

issuance of common stock, and convertible debt and convertible preferred stock allowing or requiring the payment of cash at conversion (regardless of the yield of such convertible securities at time of issuance) are considered the equivalents of options or warrants. The treasury stock method should be applied for all of these securities unless their terms or the provisions of sections 2011.37 and 2011.38 require that another method be applied for the computation of earnings per share. [.27, .35, .36, .37, .38]

49. Grouping Options and Warrants .163

Q-May anti-dilutive options and warrants be grouped with dilutive options and warrants in applying the treasury stock method?

A-No, except in the special situations discussed below. [.30, .40]

.164 Section 2011.35, footnote 13, allows reasonable grouping of like securities, i. e., options and warrants with the same exercise prices per common share to be issued. For example, it would be appropriate to group an option to purchase one share of common stock for \$20 with a warrant to purchase two shares of common stock for \$40. Assuming a market price of \$15 per share for common stock, these options and warrants would not be grouped with a warrant to purchase one share of common stock for \$10. [.35 fn. 13]

.165 If an aggregate computation is required, however, anti-dilutive and dilutive securities must be included in the same computation. Section 2011.38 provides for an aggregate computation, for example. An anti-dilutive option which must be exercised before a dilutive option may be exercised must also be included in an aggregate computation. [.38]

.166 For example, assume an option is exercisable at \$30 to purchase one share of common stock and a second option is exercisable at \$10 to purchase one share of common stock after the first option is exercised. The two options would be grouped and considered as a "two-step" option to buy two shares of common stock for \$40. Their aggregate effect would be dilutive whenever the market price of common stock exceeds \$20 per share. An aggre-

AC § U 2011.163 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc. gate computation would not be made for a dilutive option which must be exercised before an anti-dilutive option may be exercised, because the anti-dilutive option would not be exercised in such a situation.

50. Methods Used for Options and Warrants .167

Q—Since different methods are described for the treatment of options and warrants in section 2011, in what order should the different methods be applied?

A—In determining the effect of options and warrants and their equivalents in earnings per share computations, apply section paragraphs in the following order (to the extent that each is pertinent):

> Section 2011.37 Section 2011.38 Section 2011.36 [.36]

.168 Section 2011.37 applies to options and warrants or their equivalents (1) which either allow or require the tendering of debt at exercise or (2) whose proceeds from exercise must be applied to retire debt or other securities under the terms of those securities. Section 2011.37 also applies to convertible securities which either allow or permit the payment of cash at conversion. Such convertibles are considered the equivalents of warrants. [.35, .37]

.169 Section 2011.38 applies only when the number of common shares obtainable upon exercise of all outstanding options and warrants and their equivalents exceed 20% of the number of common shares outstanding at the end of the period. [.38]

.170 Section 2011.36 (the treasury stock method) applies to all other options and warrants and their equivalents. [.36]

51. Treasury Stock Method Reflects Dilution of Options and Warrants

.171

Q—How does the treasury stock method reflect the dilutive effect of options and warrants?

A—The treasury stock method increases the number of shares assumed to be outstanding when the exercise price of an option or warrant is below the market price of common stock obtainable on exercise. The dilutive effect of the treasury stock method is demonstrated in the following example. [.36 fn. 14]

.172 Assume that a corporation earned \$125,000 during a period when it had 60,000 shares of common stock outstanding. The common stock sold at an average market price of \$20 per share during the period. Also outstanding were 10,000 warrants which could be exercised to purchase one share of common stock for \$15 for each warrant exercised. Earnings per common share *outstanding* would be \$2.08 per share (\$125,000 \div 60,000 shares).

.173 Applying the treasury stock method, the 10,000 warrants would be assumed to have been exercised by their holders at the beginning of the period. Upon exercise, 10,000 shares of common stock would be assumed to have been issued by the corporation to the holders. The \$150,000 proceeds (10,000 warrants at an exercise price of \$15 per share) would be assumed to have been used by the corporation to purchase 7,500 shares ($$150,000 \div 20 per share average market price) of common stock in the market on the exercise date. Common stock would therefore increase 2,500 shares.²⁷ (10,000 shares issued less 7,500 shares purchased results in 2,500 incremental shares.) A total of 62,500 shares would be considered as outstanding for the entire period. The amount to be reported as primary earnings per share would be \$2.00 per share ($$125,000 \div$ 62,500 shares), or dilution of \$.08 per share.

.174 Fully diluted earnings per share would also be \$2.00 per share if the ending market price of the common stock were \$20 per share or less. But an ending market price above \$20 per share would cause more dilution to be reflected in fully diluted earnings per share. For example, an ending market price of \$25 per share would produce 4,000 incremental common shares ²⁸ which would result in fully diluted earnings per share of \$1.95 per share. Dilution would be \$.13 per share from earnings per outstanding share and \$.05 per share from primary earnings per share. [.42]

AC § U 2011.172 . © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

²⁷ The incremental number of shares may be more simply computed 20 - 15

 $[\]times$ 10,000 = 2,500 using the formula given in Interpretation 12 \$20

^{\$25}

52. Market Prices Used for Treasury Stock Method .175

Q—What market prices of common stock are used in applying the treasury stock method for options and warrants?

A—The average market price of common stock during each three-month quarter included in the period being reported upon is used to determine the number of incremental shares included in primary earnings per share computations. When a period of less than three months is being reported upon, the average market price during that period is used. [.36, 2011C.03]

.176 The average market price during each threemonth quarter included in the period being reported upon is also used to determine the number of incremental shares included in fully diluted earnings per share computations unless (1) the ending market price for the quarter is higher than the average market price or (2) options or warrants were exercised during the quarter. [.42, 2011C.03]

.177 A higher ending market price for the quarter is used in fully diluted computations rather than the average market price. For the fully diluted year-to-date computation, the number of incremental shares produced by applying the ending market price is compared to the number of shares determined by computing a year-to-date weighted average of incremental shares included in the quarterly fully diluted computations. The number of incremental shares used in the fully diluted year-to-date computation is the greater of the number of incremental shares determined from the ending market price or from the weighted average of quarters. (See Interpretation 60 and paragraph .359 for examples.)

.178 When options or warrants are exercised, the market price on the exercise date is applied for the exercised options or warrants from the beginning of the year to the exercise date for fully diluted computations. Thus, the incremental share computations for quarters prior to the exercise date use the market price at the exercise date rather than the ending or average market price. (See Interpretations 61 and 62 for examples.)

.179 In accordance with the anti-dilution provisions of section 2011 exercise of options or warrants is not as-

sumed for any quarter when the exercise price is higher than the market price determined for the computation (as described above) except when options or warrants have in fact been exercised. However, anti-dilutive options or warrants would be included in an aggregate computation resulting in a net dilutive effect. [.30, .38, .40, .42]

.180 Thus, options and warrants may be included in the computations in some quarters but not in other quarters. Also, options and warrants may be included in fully diluted earnings per share computations in a quarter when the ending market price is above the exercise price but not included in primary earnings per share computations for the quarter because the average market price is below the exercise price. [.30, .42]

53. How Many Market Prices? .181

Q—How many market prices should be used to determine the average market price of common stock when applying the treasury stock method ?

A—As many market prices as are needed to compute a meaningful average would be used. [.36]

.182 Theoretically, every market transaction for a company's common stock (both the number of shares and the price per share) could be included in determining the average market price. For example, consider four transactions of: 100 shares at \$10 per share, 60 shares at \$11 per share, 30 shares at \$12 per share, and 10 shares at \$13 per share. The average of the four prices would be \$11.50 (a simple average) but the average price for the 200 shares would be \$10.75 per share (a weighted average).

.183 As a practical matter, however, a simple average of monthly prices is adequate so long as prices do not fluctuate significantly. If prices fluctuate greatly, weekly or daily prices probably would be used. Only if volume of common shares traded and prices at which trades occurred both fluctuated significantly would it be necessary to compute a weighted average to obtain a meaningful average market price.

54. What Market Price to Use? .184

Q—Should the market price used in computing the average described in Interpretation 53 be the high, low, close or an average of high and low prices?

A—Generally, closing market prices would be adequate for use in computing the average market price. When prices fluctuate widely, however, an average of the high and low prices for the period the price represents (whether a month, week, or day) would usually produce a more representative price to be used. [.36]

.185 Perhaps more important than the price selected is that the particular price selected be used consistently unless it is no longer representative because of changed conditions. For example, a company using the closing price during several years of relatively stable market prices could. change to an average of high and low prices if prices started fluctuating greatly and the closing market price would no longer produce a representative average market price. Likewise, a company using an average of high and low prices during several years of relatively stable volume could use an average weighted by the number of shares included in market transactions during the period if both prices and volume started fluctuating greatly and the simple average of high and low prices would no longer produce a representative average market price. Shorter periods would be more appropriate than longer periods in this case also, as noted in Interpretation 53.

.186 Changing the price, period or method used in computing the average market price would only be done when it becomes obvious that a representative average market price would not be obtained if the change were not made. In the absence of changed conditions a change would not be made.

55. Over-the-Counter and Listed Stocks Not Traded .187

Q—What price should be used when applying the treasury stock method for an over-the-counter stock or a listed stock not traded?

A—If available, market prices at which trades occur would be used in applying the treasury stock method. For stocks traded over-the-counter, the actual trade prices may not be known. Bid and asked quotations generally are available, however, for both over-the-counter stocks and listed stocks not traded. [.36]

.188 The price which will be representative of the market price may have to be computed from the information

available. An average of the bid and asked quotations might produce a representative price. In some cases, an average of quotations from several dealers could be used. Generally the method selected would be used consistently in the absence of actual market prices.

.189 It should be noted that although bid quotations produce a conservative estimate of a stock's market value, asked quotations are more conservative for earnings per share computations. This is because a higher market price produces more incremental shares under the treasury stock method than does a lower price. Therefore, to obtain a conservative answer, the asked quotation would be used in applying the treasury stock method for listed common stocks not traded and for common stocks traded over the counter.

56. Fair Value Used If No Market Price .190

Q—How should the average market price be determined, to apply the treasury stock method for options and warrants, if a company's common stock is not traded (for example, for a closely held company with only options outstanding)?

A—When a company's common stock is not traded and market prices are therefore not available, the fair value per share of its common stock is used to apply the treasury stock method for options and warrants. [.33 fn. 11]

.191 Estimating the fair value of a share of common stock which is seldom, if ever, traded is often difficult. Various methods of valuation may be appropriate under different circumstances. While book value or liquidation value per share may provide some indication of fair value, these amounts usually would not be used without adjustment. Estimations based on replacement value or capitalized earnings value, however, might be used in determining fair value.

.192 In some cases documents may be used as a basis for estimating the fair value of a company's common stock. Personal financial statements of stockholders prepared in accordance with *Audits of Personal Financial Statements* (An AICPA Industry Audit Guide published by the American Institute of CPAs in 1968) would present the estimated

AC § U 2011.189 _ © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

value of their stock ownership in the company. Buy and sell agreements contain provisions for determining the value of a stockholder's interest in a company in the event of death or retirement or withdrawal from participation in the company's activities. Estate tax valuations established for recently deceased stockholders may provide a basis for estimating the current value of a company's stock. Merger or sales negotiations entered into by the company and valuations or appraisals obtained by a stockholder or the company for credit purposes may provide established values appropriate for use in estimating the fair value of a company's common stock. A fair value estimate of the stock might also be projected currently from the relationship at the time of issuance of the warrant or option to earnings (on a per share basis) or to the book value of the common stock.

.193 External sources may also be used to obtain a fair value estimate for a company's stock. Traded securities of other companies in the same industry, their price-earnings ratios, dividend yields, and the relationship of their market prices to book values per share may provide guidance for estimating the value of a stock which is not traded. In addition to the methods suggested above, articles in professional publications may suggest other valuation methods and provide more specific guidance for applying selected techniques (for example, see The Journal of Accountancy, August 1969, pages 35-47, and March 1966, pages 47-55). Revenue Ruling 59-60 also provides guidance for valuing stocks with no quoted market prices. In some instances, companies have engaged investment bankers to estimate the value of the common stock when management believed a fair value could not be obtained any other way.

.194 When a fair value estimate is used in the absence of market prices for a company's common stock, this fact and the method used to estimate the fair value would be disclosed as required by section 2011.20. The disclosure would usually be contained in a note to the earnings per share amounts presented (such as the example in section 2011C.04). [.20]

57. Options and Warrants Outstanding Part of a Period .195

Q—How should dilutive options or warrants which are outstanding for only part of a period be treated for earnings per share computations?

A—Dilutive options or warrants which are issued during a period or which expire or are cancelled during a period are reflected in both primary and fully diluted earnings per share computations for the time they were outstanding during the period being reported upon. The common equivalent shares to be considered enter earnings per share computations as a weighted average as described in section 2011A.02. [.36, .41, 2011A.02]

.196 For example, assume that a corporation whose financial reporting year ends on December 31 issued 100,000 warrants for one share each on October 8, 1969 with an exercise price of \$10. Assume also an average market price for common stock during the intervening twelve-week period of \$12 per share. Applying the treasury stock method for primary earnings per share computations for the fourth quarter, the 16,667 incremental shares

would be weighted 12/13, since they were outstanding for only twelve of the thirteen weeks during the quarter, and would represent 15,385 common shares (16,667 \times 12/13) in the fourth quarter of 1969. In the annual earnings per share computation for 1969, these warrants would represent 3,846 common shares (15,385 \div 4).

.197 If the market price at December 31, 1969 for common stock exceeded the \$12 average market price, the higher market price would be used in computing fully diluted earnings per share to reflect maximum potential dilution as specified in section 2011.42. For a market price of common stock on December 31 of \$12.50 per share, the shares to be added for the fourth quarter fully diluted earnings per share would be computed as follows:

$$\frac{12.50 - 10}{12.50} \times 100,000 = 20,000$$

 $12/13 \times 20.000 = 18.462$ shares.

The shares to be added for 1969 annual fully diluted earnings per share in this case would be 4,615.

.198 If the warrants described in the above example expired or were cancelled on March 25, 1970 and we assume

AC § U 2011.196 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

an average market price for common stock during the twelve weeks then ended of \$12, the same results as above would be obtained for primary earnings per share computations for the first quarter of 1970. That is, assumed exercise of the 100,000 warrants would produce 16,667 incremental shares weighted 12/13 and would represent 15,385 common shares in the first quarter of 1970. In the annual earnings per share computations for 1970, these warrants would represent 3,846 common shares.

.199 If the market price of common stock on the last day the warrants were outstanding (March 25, 1970) exceeded the \$12 average market price for the twelve week period, the higher market price would be used in computing fully diluted earnings per share to reflect maximum dilution. For a market price of \$12.50 on March 25, 1970 in this example, 18,462 shares would be added for the first quarter computations and 4,615 shares would be added for the 1970 annual computations in computing fully diluted earnings per share. [.42]

.200 Generally, options or warrants which expire or are cancelled will not affect earnings per share computations. The above examples are included only for those rare cases when they do. Most dilutive options and warrants will be exercised prior to expiration or cancellation. Anti-dilutive options and warrants do not enter earnings per share computations,²⁹ since they would not be exercised when common stock could be purchased for less in the market than through exercise. [.30, .40]

.201 When dilutive options or warrants expire or are cancelled during a period, it may also be desirable to furnish supplementary earnings per share data as described in section 2011.22, but previously reported earnings per share data would not be retroactively adjusted for expirations or cancellations of warrants or options. [.22]

58. What Is a Period?

.202

Q—What is a "period" as the term is used in section 2011?

A—A "period" is the time for which net income is reported and earnings per share are computed.

²⁹ Except in the unusual situations described in section 2011.38 and in Part I, paragraph .016, fn. 6.

.203 However, when the treasury stock method or any method ³⁰ requiring the computation of an average market price is used and the reporting period is longer than three months, a separate computation is made for each three-month period. [2011C.03]

.204 If a period of less than a quarter is being reported upon, the average market price of common stock during the period encompassed by the income statement is used in applying the treasury stock methods. Other methods ³⁰ requiring the use of average market prices also use the prices in effect during this shorter period.

59. Share Averaging

.205

Q—When the reporting period is longer than three months and the treasury stock method is applied, how is the weighted average of shares computed for the reporting period?

A—A weighted average of shares is computed based on the average market prices during each three months included in the reporting period. Thus, if the period being reported upon is six months, nine months, or one year, a weighted average ³¹ of shares is computed for each quarter. The weighted averages for all quarters are then added together, and the resulting total is divided by the number of quarters to determine the weighted average for the period. [2011C.03]

.206 Assume, for example, that a corporation had 25,000 shares of common stock outstanding during a year and also had granted options which resulted in the following incremental shares computed using the treasury stock method: 500 in the first quarter, none in the second quarter because they would have been anti-dilutive, 1,400 in the third quarter, and 1,000 in the fourth quarter. The weighted average of shares for the year could be computed either

25,500 + 25,000 + 26,400 + 26,000 = 102,900 $102,900 \div 4 = 25,725$ or $\frac{500}{----} + \frac{1,400}{----} + \frac{1,000}{----} = 725$ $4 \qquad 4 \qquad 4$ 725 + 25,000 = 25,725

^a See Interpretation 25 and paragraph .359 for examples of computing a weighted average.

AC § U 2011.203 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

²⁰ For example, see Interpretations 67, 70, 77 and 79.

60. Applying Ending and Average Market Prices .207

Q—How do the computations of primary and fully diluted earnings per share differ when the treasury stock method is applied for options and warrants and the ending market price of common stock is different from the average market price?

A—When the ending market price of common stock is higher than the average market price for the period, the ending market price is used for the fully diluted computation to reflect maximum potential dilution. The use of different market prices for primary and fully diluted earnings per share computations naturally results in different numbers of shares for the two computations. The use of a higher ending market price for fully diluted computations may also result in the assumption of exercise for fully diluted earnings per share but not for primary earnings per share. Yearto-date computations for fully diluted earnings per share may also be more complex when market prices of common stock increase and then decrease during the year, since the share computation is then made two ways and the greater number of shares is used in computing year-to-date fully diluted earnings per share. The above situations are illustrated in the following example. [.42]

.208 Assume stock options are outstanding to obtain 5,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$10 per share. Assume also the following average and ending market prices of common stock during the calendar year:

		Ending Market Price
First quarter	\$11.11	\$12.00
Second quarter		11.00
Third quarter	. 13.89	14.00
Fourth quarter		13.0 0

.209 For primary earnings per share, the treasury stock method would produce the following number of *incremental* shares to reflect the dilutive effect of the options:

	Primary Incremental Share	
	Quarterly EPS	Year-to-Date EPS
First quarter	500(1)	500
Second quarter		250(2)
Third quarter	1,400(3)	633(4)
Fourth quarter	1,000(5)	725(6)

AICPA Professional Standards

AC § U 2011.209

Accounting Interpretations

COMPUTATIONAL NOTES: (1) \$11.11 - \$10 $- \times 5.000 = 500$ \$11.11 $500 \div 2 = 250$ (2) 500 + 0 = 500. (3) \$13.89 - \$10 $-- \times 5,000 = 1,400$ \$13.89 (4) 500 + 0 + 1,400 = 1,900.1,900 + 3 = 633(5) \$12.50 - \$10 $----- \times 5,000 = 1,000$ \$12.50 (6) 500 + 0 + 1,400 + 1,000 = 2,900.2.900 + 4 = 725

.210 For fully diluted earnings per share, the treasury stock method would produce the following number of incremental shares to reflect the maximum dilutive effect of the options:

1	Fully Diluted Incremental Shar	
-	Quarterly EPS (1)	Year-to-Date EPS
First quarter	833	833
Second guarter		644(3)
Third quarter	1,429	1,429(4)
Fourth quarter	1,154	1,154(5)

COMPUTATIONAL NOTES:

- (1) Based on ending market price for each quarter.
- (2) Note that the average market price for this quarter was anti-dilutive, so the computation is made only for fully diluted earnings per share.
- (3) 833 + 455 = 1,288. 1,288 + 2 = 644
 Use 644 weighted average since 644 is greater than 455 incremental shares based on ending market price.
- (4) 833 + 455 + 1,429 = 2,717.
 2,717 + 3 ≈ 906.
 Use 1,429 incremental shares based on the ending market price since 1,429 is greater than 906.
- (5) 833 + 455 + 1,429 + 1,154 = 3,871. 3,871 + 4 = 968.
 Use 1,154 incremental shares based on the ending market price since 1,154 is greater than 968.

.211 Note that the two computations made for year-todate fully diluted incremental shares may in some cases cause different market prices to be applied for the quarterly and year-to-date fully diluted computations. For example, assume that in the above illustration the average market price in the fourth quarter was \$13 and the ending market price was \$12.50. The \$13 average market price would produce 1,154 incremental shares in the fourth quarter for both primary and fully diluted computations. In the annual fully diluted computation, however, the \$12.50 ending market price would produce 1,000 incremental shares while the average number of shares for the four quarters would be only 968 (see computational note 5 above under fully diluted).

AC § U 2011.210 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Therefore the average market price would be used for the fourth quarter fully diluted computation and the ending market price would be used for the annual fully diluted computation.

.212 A more comprehensive example of these points appears in paragraph .359.

61. Treasury Stock Method at Exercise .213

Q—How is the treasury stock method applied for options and warrants which are exercised?

A—Common stock issued upon the exercise of options or warrants is included in the weighted average of outstanding shares from the exercise date. The treasury stock method is applied for exercised options or warrants from the beginning of the period to the exercise date. For primary earnings per share, the computation for the period prior to exercise is based on the average market price of common stock during the period the exercised options or warrants were outstanding (if the result is dilutive). Incremental shares are weighted for the period the options or warrants were outstanding and shares issued are weighted for the period the shares were outstanding. For fully diluted earnings per share, however, the computation for the period prior to exercise is based on the market price of common stock when the options or warrants were exercised regardless of whether the result is dilutive or anti-dilutive. Incremental shares are weighted for the period the options or warrants were outstanding and shares issued are weighted for the period the shares are outstanding. These situations are illustrated in the following example. [.42, 2011A.02]

.214 Assume stock options are outstanding to obtain 5,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$10 per share. Assume also the following average and ending market prices of common stock during the calendar year:

	Average arket Price	
First quarter	 \$11.11	\$12.00
Second quarter		11.00
Third quarter		14.00
Fourth quarter		13.00
-	-	

Also assume that 1,000 options were exercised May 1 when the market price of common stock was \$10.50 per share and another 1,000 options were exercised September 1 when the market price of common stock was \$15 per share. The average market price from April 1 to May 1 was \$11.25 and from July 1 to September 1 was \$13.

.215 For primary earnings per share, the treasury stock method would produce the following number of *incremental* shares to reflect the dilutive effect of the options:

	Primary Incremental Shar	
	Quarterly EPS	Year-to-Date EPS
First quarter		500 269(2)
Third quarter Fourth quarter	994(3)	510(4) 533(5)

COMPUTATIONAL NOTES:

- 3 by of 111 incremental shares for 1,000 options exercised May 1 (using \$11.25 average market price for the period the options were outstanding). Remaining options are anti-dilutive.
- (2) 500 + 37 = 537. 537 + 2 = 269
- (3) 840 incremental shares for 3,000 options outstanding all of the quarter (exercise assumed at \$13.89 average market price for the quarter) plus 3/3 of the 231 incremental shares for 1,000 options outstanding for two months of the quarter (exercise assumed at \$13 average market price for the period the options were outstanding). 840 + 154 = 994

(4) 500 + 37 + 994 = 1,531. 1,531 + 3 = 510

 $(5) 500 + 37 + 994 + 600 = 2,131. \qquad 2,131 + 4 = 533$

In addition, outstanding shares would increase as follows to reflect options *exercised* May 1 and September 1:

	Increase in Outstanding Sha	
	Quarterly EPS	Year-to-Date EPS
First quarter	0	0
Second quarter		333(2)
Third quarter		667(4)
Fourth quarter	2,000(5)	1,000(6)

COMPUTATIONAL NOTES:

(1) 3/3 of 1,000 shares issued May 1 and outstanding for two months.

 $(2) 0 + 667 = 667. \qquad 667 + 2 = 333$

(3) 1,000 shares issued May 1 plus 1/3 of 1,000 shares issued September 1.

 $(4) \ 667 \ + \ 1,333 \ = \ 2,000. \qquad 2,000 \ + \ 3 \ = \ 667$

(5) 1,000 shares issued May 1 plus 1,000 shares issued September 1.

 $(6) \ 0 \ + \ 667 \ + \ 1,333 \ + \ 2,000 \ = \ 4,000. \qquad 4,000 \ + \ 4 \ = \ 1,000$

.216 For fully diluted earnings per share, the treasury stock method would produce the following number of *incremental* shares to reflect the maximum dilutive effect of the options:

AC § U 2011.215 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

12.013	1	2	.8	1	5
--------	---	---	----	---	---

	Fully Diluted Incremental Sha	
	Quarterly EPS	Year-to-Date EPS
First quarter	833	833
Second quarter		548(2)
Third quarter		1,174(4)
Fourth quarter		930(6)

COMPUTATIONAL NOTES:

- 364 incremental shares for 4,000 options outstanding all of the quarter (using \$11 ending market price) plus ¼ of 48 incremental shares for 1,000 options exercised May 1 (using \$10.50 market price at exercise date).
- (2) (667 + 48) + 380 = 1,095. 1,095 + 2 = 548. For the first quarter, 667 incremental shares for 4,000 options (using \$12 ending market price) plus 48 incremental shares for 1,000 options exercised May 1 (using \$10.50 market price at exercise date). See note 1 for second quarter. The incremental shares for the two quarters are then weighted.
- (3) 857 incremental shares for 3,000 options outstanding all of the quarter plus ²/₃
 (333) = 222 incremental shares for 1,000 options exercised September 1 and outstanding two months.
- (4) 857 incremental shares for 3,000 options outstanding for all of the three quarters based on \$14 higher ending market price applied for all of the three quarters plus 4/9 (48) = 21 for the May 1 exercise plus 8/9 (333) = 296 for the September 1 exercise.
- (5) Based on \$13 market price and 3,000 options.
- (6) 500 + 273 + 857 + 692 = 2,322. 2,322 + 4 = 581 incremental shares for 3,000 options outstanding for four quarters using market prices of \$12, \$11, \$14 and \$13 for the respective quarters for computing the weighted average of incremental shares. Since 692 incremental shares determined by applying the ending market price is greater than 581 weighted incremental shares, 692 is used. The 692 is increased by 4/12 (48) = 16 shares for the May 1 exercise plus 8/12 (333) = 222 for the September 1 exercise. 692 + 16 + 222 = 930.

In addition, outstanding shares would increase by the same number of shares as illustrated for the primary earnings per share computation for the options *exercised* on May 1 and September 1, i. e., 667 shares in the second quarter, 1,333 in the third quarter, 2,000 in the fourth quarter, 333 for the first six months, 667 for the first nine months, and 1,000 for the year.

62. Anti-Dilutive Exercise

.217

Q—Is the treasury stock method applied for options and warrants which are exercised when the market price is below the exercise price?

A—Options or warrants usually would not be exercised in such a situation. The common stock obtainable upon exercise could be purchased in the market for less than the exercise price. However, in those rare cases where such an exercise does occur, the treasury stock method is applied from the beginning of the year to the exercise date for fully diluted computations using the market price at the exercise date. The result will be anti-dilutive. [.42] .218 For primary computations, the average market price from the beginning of the quarter to the exercise date is used, but only if the result is dilutive. Thus, when the average market price is less than the exercise price while the exercised options or warrants were outstanding, the exercised options or warrants are omitted from primary computations. [.30, .36]

.219 Common stock issued upon exercise is included in the weighted average of outstanding shares from the exercise date for both primary and fully diluted computations. Shares produced by the treasury stock method are included in the weighted average of outstanding shares for the time the exercised options or warrants were outstanding. [2011A.02]

.220 For example, assume stock options are outstanding to obtain 5,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$10 per share. Assume also the following average and ending market prices of common stock during the calendar year.

	Average Market Price	Ending Market Price
First quarter	\$11.11	\$12.00
Second quarter	9.75	11.00
Third quarter	13.89	14.00
Fourth quarter	12.50	13.00

On June 1, 1,000 options were exercised when the market price of common stock was \$9.50 per share. The average market price from April 1 to June 1 was \$9.65 per share.

.221 For primary earnings per share, the treasury stock method would produce the following number of *incremental* shares to reflect the dilutive effect of the options:

	Primary Incremental Shar	
	Quarterly EPS	Year-to-Date EPS
First quarter	500	500
Second quarter		250
Third quarter		540(3)
Fourth quarter		605(4)

COMPUTATIONAL NOTES:

 Average market price for both outstanding options and exercised options are anti-dilutive.

(2) 1,120 incremental shares for 4,000 options outstanding all of the quarter.

- (3) 500 + 0 + 1,120 = 1,620. 1,620 + 3 = 540
- (4) 500 + 0 + 1,120 + 800 = 2,420. 2,420 + 4 = 605

AC § U 2011.218

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

In addition, outstanding shares would increase as follows to reflect options *exercised* June 1:

	Increase in Outstanding Share	
	Quarterly EPS	Year-to-Date EPS
First quarter		0
Second quarter		167(2)
Third quarter		444(4)
Fourth quarter		583(6)

COMPUTATIONAL NOTES:

(1) *y*₃ of 1,000 shares issued June 1 and outstanding for one month.
 (2) 0 + 333 = 333. 333 + 2 = 167
 (3) 1,000 shares issued June 1.
 (4) 0 + 333 + 1,000 = 1,333. 1,333 + 3 = 444
 (5) 1,000 shares issued June 1.
 (6) 0 + 333 + 1,000 + 1,000 = 2,333. 2,333 + 4 = 583

.222 For fully diluted earnings per share, the treasury stock method would produce the following number of *incremental* shares to reflect the maximum dilutive effect of the options:

ł	Fully Diluted Incremental Share	
-	Quarterly EPS	Year-to-Date EPS
First quarter	833	833
Second quarter		472(2)
Third quarter		1,114(4)
Fourth quarter		901(6)

COMPUTATIONAL NOTES:

- (1) 364 incremental shares for 4,000 options outstanding all of the quarter less
 ³/₃ (1,000-1,053) = 35 to reflect the anti-dilutive effect of the exercise of
 1,000 options outstanding 2 months during the quarter. 364 35 = 329
- (2) (667 53) + (364 35) = 943. 943 ÷ 2 = 472. See note 1. For the first quarter, 667 incremental shares for 4,000 options are reduced by 53 antidilutive shares for 1,000 options exercised June 1. The net incremental shares for the two quarters are then weighted.
- (3) 1,143 incremental shares for 4,000 options outstanding all of the quarter.
- (4) 1,143 incremental shares for 4,000 options outstanding for all of the three quarters based on \$14 higher ending market price applied for all of the three quarters less 5/9 (53) = - 29 for the June 1 anti-dilutive exercise.
- (5) Based on \$13 market price and 4,000 options.
- (6) 667 + 364 + 1,143 + 923 = 3,097. 3,097 + 4 = 774 incremental shares for 4,000 options outstanding for four quarters using market prices of \$12, \$11, \$14 and \$13 for the respective quarters for computing the weighted average of incremental shares. Since 923 incremental shares determined by applying the ending market price is greater than 774 weighted incremental shares, 923 is used. The 923 is decreased by 5/12 (-53) = -22 for the June 1 anti-dilutive exercise. 923 22 = 901.

In addition, outstanding shares would increase by the same number of shares as illustrated for the primary earnings per share computation for the options *exercised* on June 1, i. e., 333 shares in the second quarter, 1,000 shares in the third and fourth quarters, 167 shares for the first six months, 444 shares for the first nine months, and 583 shares for the year.

63. "Substantially All" of Three Months .223

Q—How long is "substantially all" of a three-month period and why should exercise of options and warrants not be assumed in applying the treasury stock method "until" the market price has exceeded the exercise price for such a period?

A—"Substantially all" is not defined in section 2011. Following the recommendation ³² to not assume exercise before the three-month test is met (1) eliminates the need to make the computation until the market price has exceeded the exercise price for a significant period and (2) reduces "flip-flop" of options and warrants in and out of the computation because of the common stock's market price fluctuations above and below the exercise price. [.36]

.224 Presumably, eleven weeks would be substantially all of a thirteen-week quarter. Therefore, the computation would be made for any quarter after the market price has once been above the exercise price for any eleven weeks during a quarter.

.225 Note that this is a one-time test. Exercise need not be assumed for the computations *until* the test has been met, not *unless* the test is met in a particular quarter. Thus, once the test is met, the average market price would be computed thereafter unless the market prices are clearly anti-dilutive.

.226 The test applies for both primary and fully diluted computations. But after the test has once been met, an ending market price which is above the exercise price is used for the fully diluted computation even though the average market price is below the exercise price. [.42]

.227 This recommendation also applies to earnings per share computations for income statements prepared for periods which are less than a quarter. When applied to shorter periods, however, virtually all market prices in the

AC § U 2011.22,3 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

²⁸ The Board recommended that exercise of options and warrants not be assumed for earnings per share data *until* the market price has been above the exercise price for *substantially all* of the three months ending with the month for which the computation is being made.

shorter period should be above the exercise price or exercise need not be assumed. For a one-month statement, for example, the market prices during that month and for most of the two preceding months should be above the exercise price. [.36]

64. Total of Quarters May Not Equal Annual EPS .228

Q—Are previously reported earnings per share data ever retroactively adjusted or restated for changes in the incremental number of shares computed using the treasury stock method?

A—No, retroactive adjustment or restatement of previously reported earnings per share data are not made when the incremental number of shares determined by applying the treasury stock method changes. The Board realized that the total of four quarter's earnings per share might not equal the earnings per share for the year when market prices change and the treasury stock method is applied. [.36, .41]

.229 Computations for each quarter or other period are independent. Earnings per share data would not either be restated retroactively nor adjusted currently to obtain quarterly (or other period) amounts to equal the amount computed for the year or year to date.

65. Unusual Warrants and Their Equivalents .230

Q—To what kinds of securities does section 2011.37 apply?

A—Section 2011.37 must be applied for earnings per share computations for the following kinds of securities, all of which are classified as common stock equivalents:

1. Warrants which *require* the tendering of debt or other securities of the issuer or its parent or its subsidiary in full or partial payment of the exercise price.

2. Warrants which *permit* as an alternative the tendering of debt or other securities of the issuer or its parent or its subsidiary in full or partial payment of the exercise price.

3. Warrants whose proceeds from exercise must be applied toward the retirement of debt or other securities of the issuer. Such debt or other securities would have been issued with the warrants and the requirement to apply any proceeds toward retirement would usually be written into an indenture, making the requirement a contractual obligation.

4. Convertible securities which *require* the payment of cash upon conversion (regardless of their yield at time of issuance).

5. Convertible securities which *permit* the payment of cash as an alternative upon conversion, for example, to obtain a greater number of common shares than could be obtained from straight conversion (regardless of their yield at time of issuance). [.37]

66. Securities Subject to Section 2011.37 Tests .231

Q—Are all of the securities listed in the preceding Interpretation subject to the two tests described in section 2011.37?

A—The two tests described in section 2011.37 are tests to determine whether certain warrants are dilutive or antidilutive. The "a" test is the usual test to determine if a warrant is dilutive. The "b" test is applied when securities can be tendered in lieu of cash to exercise a warrant. The computations to be made when either or both tests are met are described in Interpretations 67-70. [.37]

.232 The "a" test (the market price of the related common stock must exceed the exercise price of the warrant or the convertible security considered the equivalent of a warrant) applies to warrants (1) which require the tendering of debt, (2) which permit the tendering of debt, and (3) whose proceeds must be used to retire debt.

.233 The "b" test (the security to be tendered is selling at enough discount to establish an effective exercise price below the market price of the common stock obtainable) applies only to the debt or other securities which must or may be tendered toward the exercise price of the warrant (the debt listed in 1 and 2 in Interpretation 65). The "b" test gives recognition to the possibility that a warrant holder could purchase debt in the market at a discount and exercise a warrant by tendering the debt at its face amount, thereby effecting the purchase of the common stock for less than its market price.

AC § U 2011.231 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.234 These tests are demonstrated in the following example. Assume that a warrant may be exercised to purchase two shares of common stock by tendering either \$100 cash or a \$100 face value debenture when market prices are \$48 per common share, \$94 per debenture, and \$6 per warrant. The "a" test is not met $(2 \times $48 = 96 market price of common does not exceed the exercise price of \$100 cash). The "b" test is met. (The \$94 market price of the debenture is below the \$96 market price for two shares of common. This may also be computed \$94 market price of debenture

 \times \$50 exercise price per \$100 tender value of debenture share = \$47 effective exercise price per share.) Note that the market price of the warrant is not considered in either

test.

.235 The "a" and "b" tests apply to securities on an individual basis. However, when section 2011.38 applies (see Interpretations 72-74), the securities subject to these tests are included in the aggregate computation required by that paragraph whether their individual effect is dilutive or anti-dilutive. [.35, .38]

67. Market Prices Used in Section 2011.37 Tests .236

Q—What market prices are used for the two tests described in section 2011.37?

A—The market prices used for these two tests and for the computations when the tests are met correspond to the market prices used for the treasury stock method (see Interpretations 52-56). Therefore, the computations are made for each quarter and the shares for the quarters are averaged for annual primary computations. [.37]

.237 The market price of common stock for both tests is the average market price during each three-month quarter included in the period being reported upon. The ending market price of common stock is used, however, for fully diluted earnings per share if the ending price is *higher* than the average price. [.42, 2011C.03]

.238 For the "b" test, the average market price of the debt or other security during each three-month quarter included in the period being reported upon is used. The ending market price of the debt or other security is used, however, for fully diluted earnings per share if the ending price is *lower* than the average price. [.37]

.239 Usually, only one test will be met. In some cases, however, both tests will be met. Also, different tests may be met for primary and fully diluted computations. The computations to be made in these situations are explained in Interpretations 68 and 69. When neither test is met, these securities are not included in earnings per share computations unless section 2011.38 applies. [.35, .38]

68. Computations for Warrants Requiring the Tendering of Debt

.240

Q—What computations are made under the "a" and "b" tests specified in section 2011.37 for warrants which require that debt or other securities be tendered upon exercise?

A—If either the "a" or "b" test described in Interpretations 66 and 67 is met when debt or other securities *must* be tendered toward the exercise price, exercise of the warrants is assumed. The debt or other security is tendered at the amount it must be tendered (usually face amount). Interest, net of tax, on the debt is added back to net income in determining earnings applicable to common stock. Common stock is assumed to be issued on the exercise date. The treasury stock method is applied for any cash proceeds when cash is also to be tendered with the debt. The fact that both tests may sometimes be met does not affect the computations. [.37]

69. Computations for Warrants Allowing the Tendering of Debt

.241

Q—What computations are made under the "a" and "b" tests specified in section 2011.37 for warrants which permit the tendering of debt or other securities upon exercise?

A—The computations depend upon the test met. If both tests are met, the computations depend upon the alternatives available since some warrants and their equivalents provide two or more exercise or conversion alternatives to the holder. For example, a warrant may be exercisable by paying \$60 cash to obtain one share of common stock

AC § U 2011.239 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

or by tendering \$100 face value debt to obtain two shares of common stock. In such a case, debt may be tendered but is not required to be tendered. [.37]

.242 When only the "a" test is met (because the debt or other security is selling for more than the amount for which it may be tendered), the treasury stock method is applied since the debt or other security would not be tendered toward exercise of the warrant or its equivalent.

.243 When only the "b" test is met (the debt or other security which may be tendered is selling at enough discount to create an effective exercise price below the market price of the common stock), the procedures described in Interpretation 68 (for when debt or other securities *must* be tendered) are applied.

.244 If both the "a" and "b" tests described above are met when debt or other securities may be tendered toward the exercise price or if two or more exercise or conversion alternatives meet one test (whether or not both tests are met), the computation should be based upon the alternative which meets the test and is more (or most) advantageous to the holder of the warrant or its equivalent. [2011A.13]

.245 The "a" and "b" tests are applied for each quarter using the market prices specified in Interpretation 67. When either test is met, the computations are made for that quarter. Different tests may apply for different quarters in the period. The shares determined for each quarter are averaged for year-to-date primary computations. In fully diluted year-to-date computations, the greater of the average number of shares included in the fully diluted quarterly computations or the number of shares determined by applying ending market prices is used. [2011C.03]

70. Computations for Warrants Whose Proceeds Are Applied To Retire Debt .246

Q—How are warrants whose proceeds must be used to retire debt or other securities included in earnings per share computations?

 \mathbf{A} —When debt or other securities of the issuer require that the proceeds from the exercise of warrants or their

equivalents be applied toward retirement of those securities, exercise of the warrants is assumed at the beginning of the period (or time of issuance, if later). The proceeds from exercise are assumed to have been used to purchase the securities to be retired at the date of assumed exercise. [.37]

.247 These computations are made on a quarterly basis. The shares determined for each quarter are averaged for annual earnings per share computations. The purchase price to be used is the average market price during each three-month quarter for the securities assumed to have been purchased. To reflect maximum potential dilution, the purchase price for the computation of fully diluted earnings per share is the market price of the securities to be retired at the end of the period if this price is *higher* than the average market price. [.42, 2011C.03]

.248 Exercise of the warrants is not assumed for either primary or fully diluted earnings per share unless the market price of the related common stock exceeds the exercise price of the warrants.³³ When exercise is assumed and the proceeds from exercise are used to purchase securities to be retired, interest (net of tax) on any debt retired must be added back to net income in determining earnings applicable to common stock. Any excess amount from the assumed exercise of the warrants above the amount needed for the purchase of securities is used to purchase common stock under the treasury stock method. [.30, .37, .40]

71. Treasury Stock Method for Convertibles .249

Q—How are convertible securities which require or permit the payment of cash at conversion included in earnings per share computations?

A—Convertible securities which require or permit the payment of cash at conversion are considered the equivalents of warrants and are therefore always ³⁴ common stock equivalents. [.37]

.250 Convertible securities requiring the payment of cash are assumed to be converted at the beginning of the

AC § U 2011.247 ... © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

^{*} Exercise may be assumed, however, if section 2011.38 applies. See Interpretations 72-74.

²⁴ Unless issued before June 1, 1969 and classified under election "b" of section 2011.46.

period (or time of issuance, if later) and the if converted method is applied. Proceeds from conversion are used to purchase common stock under the treasury stock method. Thus, the incremental number of shares assumed to be outstanding is the difference between the number of shares isused upon assumed conversion and the number of shares assumed purchased under the treasury stock method. If the net result of the aggregate computation of applying both the if converted method and the treasury stock method is dilutive, these computations are included in both primary and fully diluted earnings per share. The computations are not included, however, if the net result is anti-dilutive.³⁵ [.30, .40]

.251 Some convertible securities permit the payment of cash at conversion to obtain a more favorable conversion rate. The procedures described in the preceding paragraph are applied for such securities except that no proceeds are assumed to be received upon conversion whenever the amount of cash to be paid exceeds the market value of the additional shares obtainable. The treasury stock method therefore cannot be applied when this condition exists and only the if converted method is applied (if the result is dilutive).³⁵ [.37, 2011A.13]

.252 When several conversion alternatives exist (for example, permitting the payment of different amounts of cash for different conversion rates), the computation should give effect to the alternative which is most advantageous to the holder of the convertible security. [2011A.13]

72. Anti-Dilutive Options and Warrants Included .253

Q—When section 2011.38 applies (the number of common shares obtainable upon exercise of all options and warrants exceeds 20% of the number of common shares outstanding at the end of the period), are anti-dilutive options and warrants assumed to be exercised as well as dilutive options and warrants?

A—Yes, when section 2011.38 applies, all options and warrants and their equivalents are assumed to be exercised (or converted) whether they are dilutive or anti-

^{*} Conversion may be assumed even if the result is anti-dilutive when section 2011.38 applies. See Interpretations 72-74 and sections 2011.35 and 2011.38.

dilutive. Under this exception to the general rule that computations should not give effect to anti-dilution, all of the computations specified in sections 2011.36, 2011.37 and 2011.38 are made and aggregated. If the net result is dilutive, all are included. If the net result is anti-dilutive, all are excluded. [.35, .36, .37, .38]

73. No Order for Exercise .254

Q—When section 2011.38 applies and several issues of options and warrants with different exercise prices are outstanding, which options and warrants should be assumed to be exercised to obtain common stock under the treasury stock method, i. e., may anti-dilutive options and warrants be used in applying the treasury stock method or is the treasury stock method applicable only for dilutive options and warrants?

A—All options and warrants are assumed to be exercised when section 2011.38 applies without regard to whether the proceeds will be applied to purchase common stock under the treasury stock method or will be applied to the retirement of debt. Specific options or warrants are not to be allocated for the treasury stock method, but rather all options and warrants are assumed to be exercised and the number of common shares assumed to be repurchased under the treasury stock method may not exceed 20% of the number of common shares outstanding at the end of the period. [.38]

74. Explanation of 20% Provision .255

Q-How is the 20% provision described in section 2011.38 applied?

A-20% is used in two ways in section 2011.38. First, a 20% test is applied ³⁶ to outstanding common shares. If the 20% test is met, an aggregate computation is required and all options and warrants and their equivalents are assumed to be exercised. Then a 20% *limitation* is applied to the number of common shares purchased under the treasury stock method. [.38]

AC § U 2011.254 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

^{**} A corporation which has made election "b" of section 2011.46 would apply this test for both primary and fully diluted earnings per share computations, since the number of shares obtainable from options and warrants may differ for the two computations as described in Interpretation 81.

.256 Even though the 20% test is met, the number of shares purchased under the treasury stock method may be below the 20% limitation if the market price is high relative to the exercise price. For example, if 1,000,000 common shares and warrants to obtain 500,000 shares were outstanding, the 20% test would be met and the 20% limitation for the treasury stock method would be 200,000 shares. At an exercise price of \$10 and a market price of \$50, however, only 100,000 shares could be purchased under the treasury stock method.

.257 Note that the 20% limitation applies only to shares assumed *purchased* under the treasury stock method. It does not apply to the number of incremental shares which results from the computation. In the above example, 400,000 incremental shares resulted from the assumed issuance of 500,000 shares upon exercise and the assumed purchase of 100,000 shares under the treasury stock method.

.258 In addition, some warrants and their equivalents for which the treasury stock method may not be applicable result in the assumed issuance of common stock. They are therefore included in applying the 20% test and are included in the aggregate computation if the test is met. For example, warrants whose proceeds must be used to retire debt are included in applying the 20% test and in the aggregate computation if the test is met. Only the proceeds in excess of the amount required for debt retirement would be eligible for the treasury stock method, however. Warrants assumed to be exercised by tendering debt or other securities would also be included in applying the 20% test and in the aggregate computation if the test is met. But only if both cash and debt or other securities were assumed tendered would there be any proceeds eligible for the treasury stock method. Convertible securities which require or permit the payment of cash at conversion are considered the equivalent of warrants. Such convertible securities would be included in applying the 20% test and in the aggregate computation if the test is met. [.35, .37, .38]

.259 Most convertible securities, however, (those which do not require or permit the payment of cash at conversion) are not included in applying the 20% test. Nor are other securities which are not options or warrants or

their equivalents included in the 20% test. For example, the usual participating securities, two-class common stocks and common stock issuable when specified conditions are met are not included in the 20% test. [.27, .33]

.260 Securities which are not included in the 20% test are not included in the aggregate computation³⁷ described in section 2011.38. Thus, even if the net result of the aggregate computation is anti-dilutive and therefore not included in the earnings per share computation, other securities not included in the aggregate computation would be included in the earnings per share computations if they are dilutive. [.15, .38]

75. Original Issue Premium or Discount .261

Q—What treatment is accorded to any original issue premium or discount when debt is assumed acquired under the provisions of sections 2011.37 and 2011.38?

A—Original issue premium or discount is treated as specified in Interpretation 40, i. e., applicable premium or discount amortized during the period is eliminated from net income. Unamortized premium or discount is not included in earnings applicable to common stock and does not affect earnings per share. [2011A.06]

76. Redemption Premium or Discount .262

Q—What treatment is accorded to any redemption premium or discount when debt is assumed acquired under the provisions of sections 2011.37 and 2011.38?

A—Redemption premium or discount, i. e., the difference between the purchase price and the "book" carrying amount of debt, is ignored for earnings per share computations. [2011A.06]

.263 Redemption premium or discount could occur only when the proceeds from the assumed exercise of options and warrants are applied to purchase debt at the market price under the provisions of either section 2011.37 or 2011.38. Redemption premium or discount is not included

AC § U 2011.260 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

²⁷ However, convertible debt assumed to be retired with proceeds from exercise in excess of the amount required for applying the treasury stock method would be included in the aggregate computation and its interest would be eliminated as described in section 2011A.06.

in earnings applicable to common stock and does not affect earnings per share.

.264 Common shares are, of course, assumed to be issued for all options and warrants assumed to be exercised. [.36, .42]

77. Debt Purchased Under Section 2011.38 .265

Q—What debt may the issuer assume is purchased when the provisions of section 2011.38 apply?

A—The issuer may select any debt which is eligible to be retired for assumed purchase when the provisions of section 2011.38 apply. This includes convertible debt (both common stock equivalents and other potentially dilutive securities) except that convertible debt may not be assumed purchased if the purchase would be anti-dilutive (that is, result in less dilution). Debt is eligible to be retired when it either may be "called" or is trading and could be purchased in the market. [.30, .38, .40]

.266 The same debt is assumed purchased for both primary and fully diluted earnings per share computations. Different amounts of debt may be assumed purchased, however, since different market prices may have to be used for the primary and fully diluted computations for the treasury stock method. The average market price of the debt during each quarter for which the computations are made is used for both the primary and fully diluted computations under section 2011.38. [.38]

78. Compensating Balances Excluded .267

Q—When section 2011.38 applies and a loan is assumed to be paid, what treatment is accorded to any compensating balance maintained for the loan?

A—A compensating balance maintained for a loan assumed to be paid is excluded from consideration in applying section 2011.38. Although a compensating balance increases the effective interest rate on a loan to the borrower, only the actual interest paid or accrued (less applicable income tax) is adjusted against net income for earnings per share computations. [.38]

79. Investments Under Section 2011.38 .268

Q—What securities are eligible for assumed purchase as investments when the provisions of section 2011.38 apply?

A—Only U. S. government securities and commercial paper are eligible for assumed purchase as investments when the provisions of section 2011.38 apply. Tax-exempt securities of state and local governments are not eligible. The same securities are assumed purchased as investments for both primary and fully diluted earnings per share computations. Different amounts may have to be assumed invested for primary and fully diluted computations, however. [.38]

.269 U. S. government securities, in the context of section 2011.38, are securities issued by the federal government, not merely securities guaranteed by the federal government. Typically the securities to be considered would be short-term securities, such as Treasury bills.

80. Debt Eligible Only While Outstanding .270

Q—When section 2011.38 applies and debt assumed purchased was actually outstanding only part of the period, may the assumed purchase apply for the entire period?

A—No, debt issued or retired during the period may be assumed purchased at its average market price under section 2011.38 only for the time the debt was actually outstanding. Since all computations under this paragraph are made on a quarterly basis, the issue or retirement typically affects only one quarter. An investment in U. S. government securities or commercial paper must be assumed for the time when debt was not outstanding and therefore could not be purchased. Any difference in interest (net of tax) between the debt and the investment naturally is reflected in earnings applicable to common stock. [.38]

81. Computations May Differ for Primary and Fully Diluted when Section 2011.38 Applies .271

Q—Will section 2011.38 always apply for both primary and fully diluted computations if it applies to either?

A—No, in some cases section 2011.38 may apply for fully diluted computations but not for primary computations. This could occur when an issuer has made election "b" under section 2011.46 and the common shares obtainable upon exercise of options and warrants issued before June 1, 1969 exceed 20% of the common shares outstanding. Section 2011.38 applies in such a case for fully diluted but not for primary computations because the options and warrants issued before June 1, 1969 are included only in fully diluted computations. [.38, .46]

.272 Even if the common shares obtainable upon exercise of options and warrants issued before June 1, 1969 do not exceed 20% of the outstanding common shares when election "b" is in effect, the subsequent issuance of additional options or warrants could cause section 2011.38 to apply for fully diluted but not for primary computations. In such a case, section 2011.38 would be applied only for fully diluted computations because options and warrants issued before June 1, 1969 would not be included in primary computations. [.38,.46]

.273 The computation of primary and fully diluted earnings per share would also differ if section 2011.38 applied for both computations, but the net result in primary is anti-dilutive and is dilutive in fully diluted. This could occur when the ending market price is above the exercise price but the average market price is below the exercise price. In such a case, the computations would be included only for determining fully diluted earnings per share. [.30, .36, .38, .42]

82. Deferred Compensation Stock Option .274

Q—What treatment for earnings per share computations should be accorded to an employee deferred compensation plan with the compensation to be paid in stock?

A—Stock to be issued to an employee under a deferred compensation plan is considered a stock option. The time of issuance is the agreement date (or "date of grant"). The fact that the employee may not receive (or be able to sell) the stock until more than five or ten years from the statement date does not affect the computation. Accordingly, all shares to be issued are considered outstanding and the treasury stock method is applied to determine the incremental number of shares to be included in the earnings per share computations. The exercise amount of the option is the sum of the amount the employee must pay, the unamortized deferred compensation, and any tax benefit credited to capital surplus.³³ The exercise amount is divided by the market price ³⁹ per share of the common stock to determine the number of shares assumed to be purchased. [.29, .35, .36, 2011A.12, 2011A.13]

.275 For primary earnings per share computations, the average unamortized deferred compensation for the period and the average market price of the issuer's common stock are used. For fully diluted earnings per share computations, the unamortized deferred compensation at the end of the period and, if higher than the average market price, the ending market price of the issuer's common stock are used.

.276 For example, assume that on January 2, 1973 ⁴⁰ a corporation grants options to its president for the purchase of 6,000 shares of its common stock at \$2 per share, with options for 1,000 shares exercisable each July 1 and January 1 for three years as partial compensation for services during the preceding six months. The shares issued cannot be sold within three years of the issue date. At time of the grant of the options (January 2, 1973 ⁴¹), the 6,000 shares have a market price of \$10 per share. Also assume

²⁹ The unadjusted quoted market price of a share of stock of the same class that trades freely in an established market should be used. If a quoted market price is not available, the best estimate of what the market price would be (not reduced for any restrictions imposed) should be used.

"Grants or awards made prior to January 1, 1973 are subject to section 4061 rather than section 4062. Accordingly, fair value per share rather than market price is used if a restriction on the sale of the stock makes it worth less than the market price of freely trading stock. "If the corporation has made election "b" under section 2011.46 as

^a If the corporation has made election "b" under section 2011.46 as to grants or awards made prior to June 1, 1969, only the fully diluted computations would apply, since "time of issuance" of these options is the date of grant.

12,832

AC § U 2011.275 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

²⁰ The tax benefit credited to capital surplus is the "windfall" tax credit resulting from an increase in the market price of the stock between the date the plan is entered into and the date the compensation charge is deductible for tax purposes. Since the compensation is charged on the financial statements against the period benefited, the tax related to the charge results in a timing difference for interperiod tax allocation. If the market price of the stock increases, the additional reduction in taxes (i.e., a "windfall" gain) should be credited to capital surplus and considered part of the proceeds from the stock compensation plan which would be used to purchase stock under the treasury stock method.

12,833

that the market price per share increases steadily during the three years at the rate of \$1 per quarter and the tax rate is 50%. The total compensation to be charged to expense over the three-year period is \$48,000 (\$10 market price reduced by the \$2 option price results in \$8 per share compensation multiplied by 6,000 shares).

.277 At March 31, 1973, the unamortized deferred compensation is \$44,000 (\$48,000 - \$4,000) and the windfall tax benefit is \$3,000 (\$1.00 \times 6,000 = \$6,000 increase in market multiplied by .50 tax rate). The total exercise price is \$12,000 (6,000 \times \$2). For primary computations, averages of \$46,000 unamortized deferred compensation and \$1,500 windfall tax benefit plus the \$12,000 total exercise price produce \$59,500 "proceeds" for the total exercise amount. Dividing by the average market price of \$10.50 (\$10 + \$11 = \$21 divided by 2) results in 5,667 shares assumed repurchased under the treasury stock method. Therefore, 333 incremental shares (6,000 - 5,667) are assumed to be outstanding for the first quarter in the primary computation. For fully diluted computations, 636 incremental shares are computed:

\$44,000 + \$3,000 + \$12,000 = \$59,000 $$59,000 \div $11 = 5,364$ 6,000 - 5,364 = 636

.278 At June 30, 1973, the second quarter primary computation would include 913 incremental shares and fully diluted would include 1,167 incremental shares computed:

\$42,000 + \$4,500 + \$12,000 = \$58,500 $$58,500 \div $11.50 = 5,087$ 6,000 - 5,087 = 913 \$40,000 + \$6,000 + \$12,000 = \$58,000 $$58,000 \div $12 = 4,833$ 6,000 - 4,833 = 1,167

.279 On July 1, 1973, 1,000 shares would be issued to the president and are outstanding shares thereafter.⁴²

AICPA Professional Standards

⁴² The amount of the tax benefit for each share issued will be the lesser of the difference between the \$2 exercise price and (1) the market price of the unrestricted stock when the restricted stock is issued or (2) the market price when restrictions lift. Changes in the windfall tax gain after the stock is issued are ignored in this computation since the compensation paid in stock is considered finalized upon issuance in this example.

At September 30, 1973, the treasury stock method would produce 660 incremental shares for the third quarter primary and 885 incremental shares for fully diluted computed:

> \$38,000 + \$6,250 + \$10,000 = \$54,250 $$54,250 \div $12.50 = 4,340$ 5,000 - 4,340 = 660 \$36,000 + \$7,500 + \$10,000 = \$53,500 $$53,500 \div $13 = 4,115$ 5,000 - 4,115 = 885

.280 At December 31, 1973, the treasury stock method would produce 1,093 incremental shares for the fourth quarter primary and 1,286 incremental shares for fully diluted computed:

\$34,000 + \$8,750 + \$10,000 = \$52,750 $$52,750 \div $13.50 = 3,907$ 5,000 - 3,907 = 1,093 \$32,000 + \$10,000 + \$10,000 = \$52,000 $$52,000 \div $14 = 3,714$ 5,000 - 3,714 = 1,286

.281 The deferred compensation payable in stock would produce the following shares of common stock to be included in the corporation's 1973 annual earnings per share computations:

	Primary Computations	Fully Diluted Computations
Incremental shares from application the treasury stock method:	of	
First quarter	333	1,167(1)
Second quarter	913	1,167
Third quarter	660	1,286(2)
Fourth quarter	1,093	1,286
Totals	2,999	4,906
Shares for weighted average		
(divide totals by 4)	750	1,227
Shares issued (1,000 ÷ 2)	500	500
Total shares	1,250	1,727

AC § U 2011.280 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

COMPUTATIONAL NOTES:

- (1) 636 incremental shares computed for first quarter fully diluted not used in annual computation. 1,167 incremental shares based on \$12 market price at July 1 "exercise date" when the stock was issued.
- (2) 885 incremental shares computed for third quarter fully diluted not used in annual computation. 1,286 incremental shares based on \$14 ending market price for the fourth quarter.

.282 If the market price of the stock should subsequently fall below the market price at the date of grant, the application of the treasury stock method would be antidilutive. In such a case, the treasury stock method would not be applied and any unissued shares would not be considered outstanding for earnings per share computations. [.30, .40]

.283 The procedures described above are also used for deferred compensation plans to be paid in stock which do not require the employee to make a payment to obtain the stock. In such plans, the option price is zero. The period for measuring compensation under such plans is generally the period over which the restrictions lift. Although the plans are different, the procedures described in this Interpretation are applied with the zero option price offset by an increase in the unamortized deferred compensation. Also, these procedures would be applied for earnings per share computations whether or not the plan has been recorded by the company prior to the issuance of the stock. [.35, .36, .39]

.284 Whether or not these procedures apply to "phantom" or "shadow" stock deferred compensation plans depends upon the nature of the plan. These plans may require the employer corporation to (1) either issue stock or pay cash for the stock's value to the employee at a future date or (2) pay the employee in cash at a future date for any increase in the stock's value. Most "phantom" stock plans are based on the employer corporation's stock but some of these plans are based on the stock of an unrelated corporation selected by the employee. Additionally, these plans may either be "funded" or "unfunded." Funding may be accomplished by periodically setting aside any cash to be paid out under the plan or by purchasing stock (which may subsequently be issued or sold to fulfill the plan) or, in the case of plans based on the employer corporation's stock, by reserving unissued or treasury shares.

.285 Phantom stock deferred compensation plans based on the employer corporation's stock (or the stock of a parent or subsidiary corporation) are included in earnings per share computations under the procedures described above in this Interpretation. However, plans requiring the employer to pay eash rather than stock to the employee are an exception if stock will not be sold to provide the eash. Such plans affect earnings per share only through any compensation charged against net income, since the stock value determines the compensation amount and stock is not issued.

.286 Phantom stock plans based on the stock of an unrelated corporation likewise affect earnings per share only through any compensation charged against net income, since the employer corporation's stock is in no way involved in the plan.

[As amended, for all stock option, purchase, award, and bonus rights granted after December 31, 1972 by APB Opinion No. 25.] (See section 4062.)

83. Stock Subscriptions Are Warrants .287

Q—How are stock subscriptions included in earnings per share computations?

A—Fully paid stock subscriptions are considered outstanding stock whether or not the shares have actually been issued. Partially paid stock subscriptions are considered the equivalents of warrants and are therefore always⁴³

AC § U 2011.285 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

[&]quot;Unless subscribed before June 1, 1969 and election "b" under section 2011.46 is made.

common stock equivalents. The unpaid balance is assumed to be proceeds used to purchase stock under the treasury stock method. [.35]

.288 The number of shares included in earnings per share computations for partially paid stock subscriptions is the difference between the number of shares subscribed and the number of shares assumed to be purchased under the treasury stock method.

.289 The procedures described above are used for subscriptions to purchase convertible securities as well as for subscriptions to purchase common stock. Any incremental convertible securities resulting are then assumed to be converted into common stock if the result is dilutive (see Interpretation 84).

84. Options or Warrants to Purchase Convertible Securities .290

Q—What treatment is accorded options or warrants to purchase convertible securities?

A—Options or warrants to purchase convertible securities are assumed to be exercised to purchase the convertible security whenever the market price of both the convertible security and the common stock obtainable upon conversion are above the exercise price of the warrant. However, exercise is not assumed unless conversion of the outstanding convertible securities is also assumed. The treasury stock method is applied to determine the incremental number of convertible securities which are assumed to be issued and immediately converted into common stock. The if converted adjustments which would be applicable to the incremental convertible securities are ignored since the adjustments would be self-cancelling, i. e., any interest or dividends imputed to the incremental convertible securities would be cancelled in applying the if converted method. [.30, .40, .36, 2011A.06]

.291 For example, assume that a corporation issued 10,000 warrants exercisable to obtain its \$100 par value 5% convertible debt. Each warrant may be exercised at \$90 to obtain one convertible bond. Each bond is convertible into two shares of common stock. The market prices of the securities are \$46 per common share and \$95 per convertible

bond. The warrants are dilutive $(2 \times \$46 = \92 which is greater than the \$90 exercise price).

.292 Assumption of exercise would produce \$900,000 proceeds, which would be used to purchase 9,474 convertible bonds, resulting in 526 incremental bonds. Conversion would be assumed and 1,052 shares of common ($2 \times 526 =$ 1,052) would be assumed issued to replace the 526 convertible bonds. [.36]

.293 If the market price of common were \$45 per share or less, exercise would not be assumed (for example, at \$42 per share, $2 \times $42 = 84 which is less than \$90).

.294 The classification of the convertible security as a common stock equivalent or other potentially dilutive security determines whether the incremental number of common shares enters primary and fully diluted or enters only fully diluted earnings per share computations. [.33]

TWO-CLASS COMMON STOCK AND PARTICIPATING SECURITIES

85. EPS Treatment of Two-Class and Participating Securities .295

Q—How are two-class common stocks and participating securities treated for earnings per share computations?

A—Two-class common is a term applied when a corporation has issued more than one class of common stock (for example, Class A and Class B). A participating security is a security eligible to participate in dividends with common stock; often a fixed amount is guaranteed to the participating security, then common is paid a dividend at the same rate, and the security participates with common on a reduced ratio thereafter. Classes of common stock other than "ordinary" common stock and the participating securities may be convertible into "ordinary" common stock or may be nonconvertible and may or may not be senior to common stock.

.296 For example, some stocks may be designated as common stock (e. g., Class B Common), but their terms and conditions are equivalent to preferred stock (by limiting their voting rights or the amount of dividends they may receive and by giving them preferences in liquidation). If dividends are guaranteed in some way but limited in participation to a maximum amount for a particular class of common stock, that common stock is considered the equivalent of a senior security to the extent it is to share in earnings.

.297 If dividend participation for a particular class of common stock is not limited but the participation is at a rate different from the "ordinary" common stock (for example, participating equally to some amount per share and partially participating thereafter), the two-class method is used. The two-class method is also used for participating preferred stock which is not limited as to participation in dividends with common stock. The two-class method is modified, however, when it is applied for a convertible security. (See Interpretation 87.) To be applied for a convertible security, the two-class method must result in greater dilution than would result from application of the if converted method. [2011A.09, 2011A.10]

.298 A determination of the status of a two-class common stock or other participating security as a common stock equivalent or as an other potentially dilutive security is based on an analysis of all the characteristics of the security, including the ability to share in the earnings potential of the issuing corporation on substantially the same basis as the common stock. Dividend participation *per se* does not make such a security a common stock equivalent. [2011A.15]

.299 The two-class method of computation for nonconvertible securities is discussed in Interpretation 86. The two-class method of computation for convertible securities is discussed in Interpretation 87.

86. Two-Class Method for Nonconvertible Securities .300

Q—How is the two-class method applied for nonconvertible securities?

A—The two-class method for nonconvertible securities is an earnings allocation formula which determines earnings per share for each class of common stock and participating security according to dividends paid and participation rights in undistributed earnings. [2011A.10] .301 Under the two-class method, net income is first reduced by the amount of dividends actually paid for the period to each class of stock and by the contractual amount of any dividends (or interest on participating income bonds) which must be paid (for example, unpaid cumulative dividends or dividends declared during the period and paid during the following period). The remaining unencumbered undistributed earnings is secondly allocated to common stock and participating securities to the extent each security may share in earnings. The total earnings allocated to each security is determined by adding together the amount allocated for dividends and the amount allocated for a participation feature.

.302 This amount is divided by the number of outstanding shares of the security to which the earnings are allocated to determine the earnings per share for the security. For this computation, outstanding common stock (the "ordinary" class of common stock) includes the usual common stock equivalent securities assumed to be converted or exercised for primary computations and includes these securities and all other potentially dilutive securities assumed to be converted or exercised for fully diluted computations. Although reporting earnings per share for each class of security may be desirable, earnings per share must be reported for the "ordinary" class of common stock.

.303 The application of the two-class method for a nonconvertible security is illustrated in the following example. Assume that a corporation had 5,000 shares of \$100 par value nonconvertible preferred stock and 10,000 shares of \$50 par value common stock outstanding during 1969 and had a net income of \$65,000. The preferred stock is entitled to a noncumulative annual dividend of \$5 per share before any dividend is paid on common. After common has been paid a dividend of \$2 per share, the preferred stock then participates in any additional dividends on a 40:60 per share ratio with common. That is, after preferred and common have been paid dividends of \$5 and \$2 per share respectively, preferred participates in any additional dividends at a rate of two-thirds of the additional amount paid to common on a per share basis. Also assume that for 1969 preferred shareholders have been paid \$27,000 (or \$5.40 per

AC § U 2011.301

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

share) and common shareholders have been paid \$26,000 (or \$2.60 per share). Earnings per share for 1969 would be computed as follows under the two-class method for non-convertible securities:

Net income		\$65,000
Less dividends paid: Preferred	\$27,000	
Common	26,000	53,000
Undistributed 1969 earnings		\$12,000
Allocation of undistributed earnings:		
To preferred:		
.4(5,000)		
(1000) + (1000)	0 == \$3,00	00
.4(5,000) + .6(10,000)		
$3,000 \div 5,000 \text{ shares} = 3.6$	0 per sha	re.
To common:		
.6(10,000)		
	0 == \$9,00	0
.4(5,000 + .6(10,000)	• •	
$$9,000 \div 10,000 \text{ shares} = $.9$)0 per sha	ure.
	_	÷.,

Earnings per share amounts:

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Distributed earnings	\$2.60
Undistributed earnings	io .90
Totals	0 \$ 3.00

Q-How is the two-class method applied for convertible securities?

A—Most convertible two-class common stocks and other convertible participating securities are assumed to be converted and the if converted method is applied for earnings per share computations. The two-class method is rarely appropriate for such convertible securities and may be applied only when it results in greater dilution than would result from the if converted method. [2011A.06. 2011A.09]

.305 When the two-class method is used for a convertible two-class common or other convertible participating security, net income is first allocated under the procedure described in Interpretation 86 for dividends for the current period which were paid or declared or are cumulative if not paid or declared. Conversion of the convertible two-class common and participating securities is then assumed, but adjustments to net income usually made for the if converted method are not made. Unencumbered undistributed earnings is divided by the total of all common shares outstanding and assumed outstanding from conversions and exercise. The resulting amount per share is added to the amount of the dividends per share allocated to each class of security to determine the earnings per share for each class of security. Although reporting earnings per share for each class of security may be desirable, earnings per share must be reported for the "ordinary" class of common stock. [2011A.10]

.306 The application of the two-class method for a convertible security is illustrated in the following example. Assume that a corporation had 10,000 shares of Class A common stock (the "ordinary" common) and 5,000 shares of Class B common stock outstanding during 1969 and had a net income of \$65,000. Each share of Class B is convertible into two shares of Class A. The Class B is entitled to a noncumulative annual dividend of \$5 per share. After Class A has been paid a dividend of \$2 per share, Class B then participates in any additional dividends on a 40:60 per share ratio with Class A. For 1969 the Class A shareholders have been paid \$26,000 (or \$2.60 per share) and the Class B shareholders have been paid \$27,000 (or \$5.40 per share). Earnings per share for 1969 would be computed as follows:

Under the if converted method:

\$65,000

-==\$3.25 per share 20.000 shares*

* Conversion of Class B is assumed.

AC § U 2011.305 (C) 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Under the two-class method for convertible securities:

Net income		\$65,000
Less dividends paid:		
Class A common	\$26,000	
Class B common	27,000	53,000
Undistributed 1969 earnings		\$12,000

Allocation of undistributed earnings:

\$12,000

=== \$.60 per Class A share.

20,000 shares

2(.60) = \$1.20 per Class B share.

Earnings per share amounts:

	Class A	Class B
Distributed earnings	\$2.60	\$5.40
Undistributed earnings	.60	1.20
Totals	\$3.20	\$6.60

.307 The two-class method may be used in this case since it results in greater dilution than the if converted method.

SECURITIES ISSUABLE UPON SATISFACTION OF SPECIFIED CONDITIONS

88. Contingent Shares

.308

Q—How is common stock contingently issuable or subject to recall classified and treated in earnings per share computations?

A—Common stock contingently issuable or subject to contingent recall is always ⁴⁴ classified as a common stock equivalent unless it will be issued upon the mere passage of time and is therefore considered to be outstanding for both

[&]quot;Unless their time of issuance (see Interpretation 89) is prior to June 1, 1969 and the issuer makes election "b" of section 2011.46 and they were not considered residual securities under APB Opinion No. 9. Contingent shares meeting these three conditions are other potentially dilutive securities.

primary and fully diluted computations. Whether (1) the stock will be issued in the future upon the satisfaction of specified conditions, (2) the stock has been placed in escrow and part must be returned if specified conditions are not met, or (3) the stock has been issued but the holder must return part if specified conditions are not met does not affect the classification of contingent shares. [.27, 2011A.16]

.309 When certain conditions are not met, however, contingent shares are omitted from primary or from primary and fully diluted earnings per share computations. Typical examples of the conditions to be met for contingent shares are (1) the passage of time along with other conditions, (2) the maintenance of some level of earnings, (3) the attainment of some level of earnings, and (4) changes in market prices which modify the number of shares to be issued.

.310 Contingent shares are included in both primary and fully diluted computations when the conditions for their issuance are currently being met. If additional shares would be contingently issuable if a higher earnings level were being attained currently, the additional shares are included only in fully diluted computations (giving effect to the higher earnings level) but only if dilution results. Contingent shares based on (1) the attainment of increased earnings levels above the present earnings level or (2) the maintenance of increased earnings above the present level of earnings over a period of years are included only in fully diluted computations (giving effect to the higher earnings level) but only if dilution results. [2011A.17]

.311 When contingent shares have been included in an earnings per share computation, they continue to be included in the computations in following periods until the expiration of the term of the agreement providing for the contingent issuance of additional shares. However, contingent shares are excluded from the computations whenever their effect would be anti-dilutive. [.30, .40]

.312 Prior period primary and fully diluted earnings per share should be retroactively restated whenever the number of shares issued or contingently issuable changes from the number of shares originally included in the computation. However, prior period earnings per share data are not retroactively restated for shares actually issued when the condition was the attainment of specified increased earnings levels and the shares were not previously considered outstanding. [2011A.17-.19]

89. Time of Issuance for Contingent Issuances .313

Q—What is the time of issuance of a contingently issuable security?

A—The time of issuance of a contingently issuable security is the date when agreement to terms has been reached and announced even though subject to further actions, such as directors' or stockholders' approval. But, contingently issuable common stock is considered outstanding for earnings per share computations only when the terms become binding. (See Interpretations 27 and 28.) [.29]

90. Market Price Conditions

.314

Q—How do market price conditions affect the number of contingent shares included in earnings per share computations?

A—The number of contingently issuable shares may depend on market prices for an issuer's common stock. Generally, these market price conditions for contingent shares may be classified as (1) maximum future market price guarantees, (2) market prices for base number of shares to be determined, and (3) minimum future market price guarantees. Additionally, some agreements based on market prices for an issuer's common stock specify that no less than some minimum number of shares and/or no more than some maximum number of shares will be issued regardless of market prices. [2011A.18, 2011A.19]

.315 Conditions which guarantee a maximum future price provide "upside" assurance. That is, the issuer guarantees that the market price per share will increase to some stated amount within some time period. To the extent that the market price does not increase as guaranteed, the issuer agrees to issue additional shares or pay cash to make up the difference. Such a guarantee may extend to shares already issued as well as shares to be issued. .316 Conditions for market prices to determine the base number of shares to be issued may relate to periodic prices (such as the end of each year), an average of prices over some period, or some final price (such as at the end of five years). The conditions may also specify maximum or minimum market price guarantees.

.317 Conditions which guarantee a minimum future price provide "downside" protection. That is, the issuer guarantees that the market price per share will not decrease below some stated amount within some time period. To the extent that the market price goes below that amount, the issuer agrees to issue additional shares or pay cash to make up the difference. Such a guarantee may extend to shares already issued as well as to shares to be issued.

.318 When the number of contingently issuable shares depends on the future market price of an issuer's common stock, earnings per share computations reflect the number of shares which would be issuable based on the market price at the close of the period being reported upon. If a minimum and/or maximum number of shares is also specified, the number of shares determined from the market price at the close of the period would, if necessary, be adjusted to not less than the minimum nor more than the maximum number of shares so specified.

.319 When additional shares are to be issued for an "upside" or a "downside" guarantee and the market price at the close of the period is less than the guaranteed price, earnings per share computations should give effect to the additional shares which would be issued.

.320 The number of contingently issuable shares may differ for primary and fully diluted computations based upon earnings levels. But market price conditions do not cause different numbers of contingently issuable shares to be included in primary and fully diluted computations. Specifically, more shares are not included in fully diluted than in primary computations because of market price guarantees. A market price guarantee has the same effect on both computations. [2011A.17, 2011A.18, 2011A.19]

.321 Prior period earnings per share would be retroactively restated if the number of shares issued or contin-

AC § U 2011.316

gently issuable subsequently changes because of market price changes.

91. Earnings Conditions

.322

Q—How does an earnings condition affect the number of contingent shares included in earnings per share computations?

A—Earnings conditions for the contingent issuance of common stock vary. Some earnings conditions determine the *total* number of shares to be issued, for example, one share for each \$100 earned (1) each year for five years or (2) based on a formula, such as ten times the average annual earnings for five years. [2011A.17, 2011A.19]

.323 Other earnings conditions determine the *additional* number of shares to be issued. Typically, additional shares are to be issued based on either (1) the *maintenance* of (a) the present level of earnings or (b) a higher level of earnings or (2) the *attainment* of (a) a higher level of earnings or (b) successively higher levels of earnings.

.324 Earnings conditions may specify a minimum and/ or a maximum number of shares to be issued regardless of earnings. Shares may be issued each year or only at the end of several years. Earnings conditions may apply to each year individually or may apply to all years on some cumulative or average basis. Various combinations of the earnings conditions described above may be contained in an agreement.

.325 Some maximum number of shares may be issued initially (or placed in escrow) with the stipulation that unearned shares are to be returned to the issuer. Such plans specifying that shares are returnable are treated the same as contingently issuable shares for earnings per share computations. [2011A.16]

.326 Because of the diversity of earnings conditions, stating general guidelines which will apply to all agreements is difficult. The number of shares included in earnings per share computations for an earnings agreement should conform to the provisions of sections 2011A.17 and 2011A.19 and to the guidelines given below.

.327 If shares would at some time be issuable based on the present level of earnings, the shares issuable based on that level of earnings projected to the end of the agreement are considered outstanding for both primary and fully diluted computations. If shares previously considered outstanding become unissuable (for example, because of a decline in earnings), previously reported earnings per share data would be retroactively restated when the term of the condition expires and it is determined that the shares will not be issued. [2011A.17, 2011A.19]

.328 If additional shares would at some time be issuable if a level of earnings higher than the present level were attained, the additional shares issuable based on the higher level (or levels) projected to the end of the agreement are considered outstanding only for the fully diluted computation, giving effect to the higher earnings level. If different levels of earnings are specified, the level which results in the greatest dilution is used. If additional shares previously considered outstanding become unissuable (for example, because the higher earnings level is not maintained), previously reported earnings per share data would be retroactively restated when it is determined that the shares will not be issued. If in giving effect to the higher earnings level dilution does not result, the additional shares are not included in the computation. When such additional shares were not included in prior earnings per share computations but are subsequently issued (for example, because the higher earnings level was actually attained), previously reported earnings per share data are not retroactively restated.

.329 When an earnings condition specifies a minimum and/or a maximum number of shares to be issued, no less than the minimum nor no more than the maximum number specified would be included in the earnings per share computations. If shares are issued each year and a total minimum and/or maximum number is specified, the minimum and/or maximum would be reduced by the number of shares issued.

92. Convertible Securities Contingently Issuable .330

Q—How are contingently issuable convertible securities treated for earnings per share computations? **A**—Contingently issuable convertible securities are included in earnings per share computations under the guidelines described for convertible securities and the guidelines described for contingently issuable common stock. That is, additional convertible securities are assumed to be issued in conformity with the conditions specified for their issuance. (See Interpretations 88-91 for an explanation of how conditions affect the number of securities considered outstanding.) [.33, 2011A.06, 2011A.16-.19]

.331 Time of issuance of the contingently issuable convertible securities is the date when agreement as to terms has been reached and announced. The classification of the contingently issuable convertible security as a common stock equivalent or other potentially dilutive security is determined at time of issuance based on its yield at that time ⁴⁵ and does not change when the security is actually issued. A change in the bank prime interest rate or the market price of the security between the time of issuance and actual issuance of a contingently issuable convertible security has no effect on its classification.⁴⁶ [.29]

.332 Those contingently issuable convertible securities classified as common stock equivalents are included in both primary and fully diluted computations. However, such common stock equivalents based on the attainment or maintenance of earnings above the present level are included only in fully diluted computations. Contingently issuable convertible securities classified as other potentially dilutive securities are included only in fully diluted computations. [.33, 2011A.17]

.333 When contingently issuable convertible securities are to be included in earnings per share computations, conversion of the additional securities is assumed. However, conversion is not assumed for the additional securities unless conversion is also assumed for their counterpart outstanding convertible securities. Interest or dividends are not imputed for the additional contingently issuable convertible securities since any imputed amount would be

[&]quot;Unless it has the same terms as the terms of an outstanding convertible security which is a common stock equivalent. A convertible security contingently issuable at May 31, 1969 would be classified under either election "a" or election "b" of section 2011.46.

^{*} Except in the situations described in Interpretations 29 and 30.

reversed by the if converted adjustments for assumed conversion. [2011A.06]

PARENT AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

93. Securities Issued by Subsidiaries

.334

Q—How do convertible securities and options and warrants issued by a subsidiary affect parent and/or consolidated earnings per share?

A—The effect of options and warrants and convertible securities issued by a subsidiary upon consolidated earnings per share (or parent company earnings per share when parent company statements are prepared as the primary financial statements using the equity method) depends upon whether the securities issued by the subsidiary to the public enable their holders to obtain common stock of the subsidiary company or common stock of the parent company. [2011A.20]

.335 Securities issued by a subsidiary which enable their holders to obtain the subsidiary's common stock are included in computing the subsidiary's earnings per share data. These earnings per share data are then included in the parent or consolidated earnings per share computations based on the consolidated group's holdings of the subsidiary's securities. [2011A.21-.22]

.336 Options and warrants issued by a subsidiary which enable their holders to purchase parent company common stock are common stock equivalents 4^7 for parent or consolidated earnings per share computations. Securities of a subsidiary convertible into parent company common stock are classified as common stock equivalents or other potentially dilutive securities for parent or consolidated earnings per share computations under the yield test.⁴⁸ [2011A.23-.24]

.337 The following example illustrates the earnings per share computations for a subsidiary's securities which enable their holders to obtain the subsidiary's common stock. Assume that a parent corporation had a net income

AC § U 2011.334 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

[&]quot; Unless issued prior to June 1, 1969 and the parent company makes election "b" specified by section 2011.46.

⁴⁸ See Interpretation 45 for a description of the treatment of a subsidiary security convertible into a parent company's convertible security.

of \$10,000 from operations (excluding any dividends paid by the subsidiary), had 10,000 shares of common stock outstanding and had not issued any other securities. The parent corporation owned 900 of the common shares of a domestic subsidiary corporation and also owned 40 warrants and 100 shares of convertible preferred stock issued by the subsidiary. The subsidiary corporation had a net income of \$3,600 and had outstanding 1,000 shares of common stock, 200 warrants exercisable to purchase 200 shares of its common at \$10 per share (assume \$20 average and ending market price for common), and 200 shares of preferred stock convertible into two of its common shares for each preferred share. The convertible preferred paid a dividend of \$1.50 per share and is not a common stock equivalent. Assume that no intercompany eliminations or adjustments are necessary except for dividends. (Income taxes have been ignored in the following computations for simplicity.) [2011A.21-.22]

Earnings per share for the subsidiary

Computed:

\$3,600 • - \$300 • 1.000 • + 100 ª

* Subsidiary's net income.

^b Dividends paid by subsidiary on convertible preferred stock.

' Shares of subsidiary's common stock outstanding.

 ⁴ Incremental shares of subsidiary's common stock assumed outstanding applying the treasury stock method for warrants (com-\$20-\$10
 puted ----- × 200).

\$20

Fully diluted earnings per share...... \$2.40

Computed:

\$3,600 •

$$1,000 + 100 + 400$$
 ^t

• Subsidiary's earnings applicable to common stock applying the if converted method for convertible preferred stock.

^t Shares of subsidiary's common stock assumed outstanding from conversion of convertible preferred stock.

Parent or consolidated earnings per share Primary earnings per share \$1.29 Computed: \$10,000 ° + \$150 ° + \$2,700 ° + \$60 ° 10,000 ° * Parent's net income. * Dividends received by parent on subsidiary's convertible preferred stock.

\$10,000 + \$2,160 ^r + \$48 ^s + \$480 ^h

10,000

^t Parent's proportionate interest in subsidiary's earnings attributable to 900 common stock, computed: _____ (1,000 shares × \$2.40 per share).

⁴ Parent's proportionate interest in subsidiary's earnings attributable to warrants, computed: $\frac{40}{200}$ (100 incremental shares × \$2.40 per share).

^b Parent's proportionate interest in subsidiary's earnings attributable to convertible preferred stock, computed: $\frac{100}{200}$ (400 shares from conversion × \$2.40 per share).

[2011A.21]

.338 The above computations apply only to earnings per share data. Parent or consolidated net income is determined in the usual manner as follows:

Parent net i	income from operations.			\$10,000
Subsidiary	net income		\$3,600	
Less minori	ty interest:			
	Preferred	\$150 ¹		

Commo	n 330 ^j	480	3,120
Parent or consolidated	net income		\$13,120
I arent or consolitated	net meome		ф10,120

AC § U 2011.338

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Computed:

¹ 50% (200 preferred shares \times \$1.50 dividend per share). ¹ 10% (\$3,600 net income—\$300 preferred dividends).

Note that parent or consolidated net income is not the basis for parent or consolidated earnings per share computations.

.339 These computations would be different if the subsidiary's securities could be exercised or converted only to obtain the parent company's common stock. For example, assume the same facts as were given in the preceding illustration except (1) the warrants and convertible securities are all owned by outsiders, (2) the subsidiary's warrants are exercisable only to obtain parent company common stock, and (3) the subsidiary's preferred stock is convertible only into parent company common stock.

Earnings per share for the subsidiary

Primary earnings per share \$3.30

Computed:

\$3,600 - \$300

1,000

1,000

Parent or consolidated earnings per share

Computed:

\$10,000 • + \$2,970 •

* Parent's net income.

Parent's proportionate interest in subsidiary's earnings attributable 900 to common stock, computed: —— (1,000 shares × \$3.30 per share).

^e Shares of parent's common stock outstanding.

^d Incremental shares of parent's common stock assumed outstanding applying the treasury stock method for warrants issued by subsidiary exercisable to obtain parent's common stock (computed $\frac{\$20-\$10}{\$20} \times 200$).

AICPA Professional Standards

11

Fully diluted earnings per share...... \$1.26

Computed:

\$10,000 + \$2,970 + \$300 °

10,000 + 100 + 400 '

• Dividends paid by subsidiary on convertible preferred stock which would not have been received by outsiders if the subsidiary's preferred stock had been converted into parent's common stock at the beginning of the period.

^t Shares of parent's common stock assumed outstanding from conversion of subsidiary's preferred stock convertible into parent's common stock.

[2011A.23-.24]

.340 Parent or consolidated net income would be determined as follows:

Parent net income from operations			\$10,000
Subsidiary net income		\$3,600	
Less: Dividends on preferred stock	\$300		
Minority common interest			
(10%)	330	630	2,970
Parent or consolidated net			
income			\$12,970

Note that parent or consolidated net income is not the basis for parent or consolidated earnings per share computations. [.39]

EFFECTS OF SCHEDULED CHANGES

94. Changing Exercise Prices and Conversion Rates .341

Q—How do changes which may occur in exercise prices or conversion rates affect earnings per share computations?

A—Except as discussed in the next paragraph, if an exercise price or conversion rate is in effect during a period, that exercise price or conversion rate is used for primary computations. When no exercise price or conversion rate is in effect during a period, the earliest effective exercise price or conversion rate during the following five years

Computing Earnings per Share

12,855

is used for primary computations. The most advantageous exercise price or conversion rate available to the holder within ten years is always used for fully diluted computations. Previously reported earnings per share data are not restated for subsequent changes in the conversion rate or exercise price. [2011A.12, 2011A.13]

.342 If a convertible security having an increasing conversion rate is issued in exchange for another class of security of the issuing company and is at some time convertible back into as many of the same or a similar security as was exchanged, the conversion rate used in the computation does not result in a reduction of the number of common shares (or common stock equivalents) existing before the exchange.

.343 For example, assume that a corporation issued 100,000 shares of convertible preferred to officers and principal stockholders in exchange for 300,000 shares of common stock and each preferred share is convertible back into one common share the first year, two common shares the second year, three common shares the third year, and four common shares the fourth year and thereafter. The convertible preferred would be included as 300,000 common equivalent shares for primary earnings per share computations and 400,000 common equivalent shares for fully diluted earnings per share computations for the first three years and 400,000 common equivalent shares thereafter for both computations.

ELECTION TO CLASSIFY OUTSTANDING SECURITIES

95. Factors in Section 2011.46 Election

.344

Q—What factors would be considered in classifying securities issued prior to June 1, 1969 under the elections provided in section 2011.46?

A—The following factors might be considered for elections "a" and "b" provided in section 2011.46:

1. The section 2011 recommends restatement of prior periods' earnings per share data if election "b" is made and such data are included in financial statements issued after May 31, 1969, e. g., included in a comparative income statement. Restatement is not required under election "b." Although retroactive restatement is recommended, restatement may not greatly change previously reported earnings per share data. Such data therefore could be included in a comparative income statement without restatement and without a significant loss of comparability.

If election "a" is made, however, all prior periods' earnings per share data must be retroactively recomputed and restated under the provisions of section 2011 when prior periods' data are subsequently presented.

2. Section 2011 includes all options and warrants as common stock equivalents and establishes a test at issuance for convertible securities to determine their classification as common stock equivalents or not. APB Opinion No. 9 excluded the effect of options and warrants from the first EPS amount (unless they were classified as residual securities) and allowed a convertible security to move from senior security to residual status and vice versa based on the value of its conversion rights and common stock characteristics. [.46]

.345 Therefore, election "b" would generally exclude options and warrants issued before May 31, 1969 from primary earnings per share computations. Election "a," on the other hand, would cause convertible securities classified as residual under APB Opinion No. 9 at May 31, 1969 which would not be common stock equivalents at issuance under section 2011 to be reclassified as other potentially dilutive securities. If a corporation had options and warrants and convertible securities as described above, the effects of both types of securities would probably be considered in determining the election to be made.

96. Effect of New Issue of Common Stock Equivalents .346

Q—When securities are classified under election "b" of section 2011.46, can the classifications of those securities change in the future?

A—Generally, the classification of a security does not change after either election is made. However, convertible securities issued before June 1, 1969 would change from other potentially dilutive security status to common stock equivalent status if another convertible security is issued with the same terms which is a common stock equivalent as specified by the second sentence of section 2011.28. (See Interpretation 30.) [.28, .46]

97. No Change for Options and Warrants .347

Q—Would outstanding options or warrants issued prior to June 1, 1969 classified as non-residual securities under election "b" of section 2011.46 become common stock equivalents under the second sentence of section 2011.28 if another option or warrant were issued with the same terms after May 31, 1969?

A—No, such a change of classification applies only to convertible securities. Although this creates a difference of treatment between convertible securities and options and warrants, the Board was explicit in naming only convertible securities. [.28]

.348 Because warrants are often traded, identification of a warrant being exercised as having been issued "before" or "after" may be impossible. When an exercised warrant cannot definitely be identified as having been issued after May 31, 1969, exercise is assumed on a FIFO basis. That is, the first warrants issued are assumed to be the first exercised when specific identification is impossible. The same treatment applies for options, except options usually are not transferable and the specific option being exercised can usually be identified.

98. Prior Period Restatement Recommended .349

Q—Must earnings per share reported under the provisions of APB Opinion No. 9 be restated under the provisions of section 2011?

A—When election "b" of section 2011.46 is made, section 2011 recommends that earnings per share amounts previously reported under APB Opinion No. 9 be restated so the previously outstanding securities conform to the classifications determined under election "b" when such amounts are reported in comparative income statements and election "b" applies to at least one period in the statement. To the extent that the Opinions differ, following this recom-

AC § U 2011.349

mendation will have the effect of retroactively restating previously reported earnings per share amounts. [.45]

.350 If election "a" of section 2011.46 is made, section 2011 must be applied for all periods presented. [.46]

.351 If election "b" of section 2011.46 is made, some companies might prefer not to restate previously reported earnings per share amounts and such restatement is not required by section 2011. There may be cases, however, where the corporation or its auditor may believe that disclosure of the restated earnings per share data is particularly appropriate.

99. Is Prior Period Restatement Permitted?

.352

Q—May prior period earnings per share amounts be retroactively restated other than when restatement is required, for example, for changes in the number of shares computed under the treasury stock method or when a convertible security being issued is determined to be a common stock equivalent and causes outstanding convertible securities with the same terms which were not common stock equivalents at issuance to also become common stock equivalents?

A—No, previously reported earnings per share amounts generally are retroactively restated only when restatement is required (see Part I, paragraphs .039-.041). Earnings per share data are not restated because of changes in the number of shares computed under the treasury stock method. Nor should primary earnings per share data be restated when a convertible security's classification changes because of the subsequent issuance of another convertible security with the same terms. [.28, .36]

DISCLOSURE

100. Required Disclosure

.353

Q—What information related to earnings per share is required to be disclosed in addition to earnings per share data?

A—Section 2011 requires disclosure of the following information:

1. Restatement for a prior period adjustment.

AC § U 2011.350 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

- 2. Dividend preferences.
- 3. Liquidation preferences.
- 4. Participation rights.
- 5. Call prices and dates.
- 6. Conversion rates and dates.
- 7. Exercise prices and dates.
- 8. Sinking fund requirements.
- 9. Unusual voting rights.
- 10. Bases upon which primary and fully diluted earnings per share were calculated. (The computations would not, however, appear upon the face of the income statement.)
- 11. Issues which are common stock equivalents.
- 12. Issues which are potentially dilutive securities.
- 13. Assumptions and adjustments made for earnings per share data.
- 14. Shares issued upon conversion, exercise, and conditions met for contingent issuances.
- 15. Recapitalization occurring during the period or before the statements are issued.
- 16. Stock dividends, stock splits or reverse splits occurring after the close of the period before the statements are issued.
- 17. Claims of senior securities entering earnings per share computations.
- 18. Dividends declared by the constituents in a pooling.
- 19. Basis of presentation of dividends in a pooling on other than a historical basis.
- 20. Per share and aggregate amount of cumulative preferred dividends in arrears.

[.18, .19, .20, .21, .23, 2011A.03, 2011A.05, 2011A.05 fn. 2, 2011A.25]

101. Supplementary Data

.354

Q-When must supplementary earnings per share data be furnished?

A—Supplementary earnings per share data must be furnished for the latest period when common stock is issued on conversion during the period or after the close of the period before the report is issued if primary earnings per share would have increased or decreased at least 3% if the issuance had occurred at the beginning of the period. It may also be desirable to furnish supplementary earnings per share data for each period presented giving the cumulative retroactive effect of all such issuances, but primary earnings per share as reported in those periods should not be retroactively adjusted. [.22, .14 fn. 4]

.355 Supplementary earnings per share data generally would also be furnished whenever common stock or common stock equivalents have been sold for cash and the proceeds have been or are to be used to retire preferred stock or debt. The supplementary data would be furnished even though the sale occurred shortly after the close of the period but before completion of the financial report. [.23]

.356 When the issuance of a convertible security classified as a common stock equivalent causes outstanding convertible securities with the same terms classified as other potentially dilutive securities to be reclassified as common stock equivalents, supplementary earnings per share data may be useful to explain the change in classification. The supplementary data would show what previously reported primary earnings per share would have been if the convertible securities had been classified as common stock equivalents since issuance and thus reconstruct the primary earnings trend. Previously reported primary earnings per share would not be retroactively restated for prior periods in a comparative income statement because of such a change in classification. [.22, .28]

AC § U 2011.355

.357

EXHIBIT 1

U. S. BANK PRIME INTEREST RATES (Source: Federal Reserve Bulletin)

Effect	tive Date	Prime Rate (%)	66 2/3% of Prime Rate (%)
1954	January 1	3.25	2.17
	March 17		2.00
1955	August 4		2.17
	October 14		2.33
1956	April 13		2.50
	August 21		2.67
1957	August 6	4.50	3.00
1958	January 22		2.67
	April 21		2.33
	September 11	4.00	2.67
1959	May 18		3.00
	September 1	5.00	3.33
1960	August 23	4.50	3.00
1965	December 6	5.00	3.33
1966	March 10	5.50	3.67
	June 29	5.75	3.83
	August 16	6.00	4.00
1967	January 26-27	5.75(1)	3.83
	March 27		3.67
	November 20	6.00 ~	4.00
196 8	April 19	6.50	4.33
	September 25		4.17
	November 13		4.17
	December 2		4.33
	December 18		4.50
1969	January 7		4.67
	March 17		5.00
	June 9		5.67
19 70	February 25		5.67
	March 25-26	8.00(4)	5.33

Notes:

- (1) 5.75% predominant rate with 5.50% in effect at some banks.
- (2) 6.25% predominant rate with 6% in effect at some banks.
- (3) 8.50% predominant rate. Starting on February 25, 1970, however, and on several days thereafter, several small banks reduced their prime rates to 8%. At least one bank announced a 7½% prime rate. (See Interpretation 38.)
- (4) Many major banks reduced their prime rates to 8% on March 25 and others followed on March 26. The 8% rate was the predominant rate in effect the date this table was prepared (May 6, 1970).

.358

EXHIBIT 2

EXAMPLES OF COMPUTING AVERAGE MARKET PRICES

An average market price may be computed various ways in applying the treasury stock method for options and warrants. (See Interpretations 53 and 54.) In first applying the treasury stock method, the computation depends upon the stability of the market price of the common stock.

In the following example, an average market price has been computed eight different ways for one quarter. First, the computation is based upon weekly prices. The weekly prices are then averaged to determine a monthly average, which is then averaged to determine a quarterly average. (Although not illustrated, a quarterly average could also be computed by adding weekly prices and dividing by 13, thereby eliminating the computation of a monthly average.) In the second example, the computation is based upon monthly prices.

The "High-Low" computation is based upon an average of the high and low prices for the week or month. In the weighted averages, the market prices are weighted by the number of shares involved in the transactions.

Assume the following market transactions for a corporation's common stock during a three-month period:

N	/eek	High	Low	Close	Shares Traded
Month 1	1	21	19	20	300
	2	24	20	23	700
	3	24	22	22	500
	4	23	21	21	500
Month 2	5	26	22	23	1,000
	6	27	23	26	1,200
	7	29	27	28	1,500
	8	31	29	31	2,000
Month 3	9	28	26	26	2,500
	10	26	22	23	1,500
	11	24	22	22	1,000
	12	22	20	21	800
	13	20	20	20	500

AC § U 2011.358

Simple A	verages	W	eighted Avera	iges
Week High-Low	Close	Shares	High-Low	Close
1	20 23 22 21 86	300 700 500 2,000	6,000 15,400 11,500 11,000 43,900	6,000 16,100 11,000 10,500 43,600
Divide by	_4		2,000	2,000
Month 1 averages 21.75	21.50		21.95	21.80
5	23 26 28 31 108 4 27.00	1,000 1,200 1,500 2,000 5,700	24,000 30,000 42,000 60,000 156,000 5,700 27.37	23,000 31,200 42,000 62,000 158,200 5,700 27.75
9	26 23 22 21 20 112 5 22.40	2,500 1,500 1,000 800 500 6,300	67,500 36,000 23,000 16,800 10,000 153,300 6,300 24.33	65,000 34,500 22,000 16,800 10,000 148,300 6,300 23.54
Three month total71.50Divide by3Three month average23.83	70.90 3 23.63		73.65 3 24.55	73.09 3 24.36

Computing quarterly average from monthly averages based on weekly prices:

	Simple Averages		We	Weighted Averages		
	High-Low	Close	Shares	High-Low	Close	
Month 1	. 21.50	21:00	2,000	43,000	42,000	
Month 2	. 26.50	31.00	5,700	151,050	176,700	
Month 3	. 24.00	20.00	6,300	151,200	126,000	
Quarterly total	. 72.00	72.00	14,000	345,250	344,700	
Divided by	. 3	3		14,000	14,000	
Quarterly average .	. 24.00	24.00		24.66	24.62	

Computing quarterly averages from monthly prices:

Assuming an exercise price of \$20 for options or warrants to purchase 10,000 shares, the above average market prices would produce the following incremental shares:

	Simple Averages		Weighted Averages	
	High-Low	Close	High-Low	Close
Weekly prices		1,536	1,853	1,790
Monthly prices	1,667	1,667	1,890	1,877

Note: Computed

 $10,000 - \left(\frac{\$20 \times 10,000}{\text{average price}}\right) = \text{incremental shares}$

AC § U 2011.358 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

EXHIBIT 3

APPLICATION OF THE TREASURY STOCK METHOD FOR OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

.359 Assume 100,000 common shares are outstanding and 10,000 warrants are outstanding which are exercisable at \$20 per share to obtain 10,000 common shares. Assume also the following market prices for common stock during a three-year period:

	Market P	rices Per S	hare of Con	nmon Sto	ck	
	Y	ear 1	Yea	r 2	Yea	ar 3
Quarter	Average	Ending	Average	Ending	Average	Ending
1	\$18*	\$22	\$24	\$25	\$20	\$18
2	20*	21	22	21	18	22
3	22	19	20	19	24	21
4	24	23	18	17	22	25

* Assume market prices had been more than \$20 for substantially all of a previous quarter.

Computation of Number of Incremental Shares by Quarters

Primary Earnings Per Share⁽¹⁾

Quarter	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3
1	0	1,667	0
2	0	909	0
3	909	0	1,667
4	1, 6 67	0	909

Fully Diluted Earnings Per Share

Quarter	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3
1	909(2)	2,000(2)	0
2		909(1)	909(2)
3	909(1)	0	1,667(1)
4		0	2,000(2)

(1) Based on average market price

(2) Based on ending market price

Note:
$$\left(\frac{\text{Market Price}-\text{Exercise Price}}{\text{Market Price}}\right) \times 10,000 = \text{Incremental Shares}$$

Number of Incremental Shares Included in Year-to-Date Weighted Average

Primary Earnings Per Share⁽¹⁾

	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3
First quarter		1,667	0
Six months	—0—	1,288	-0
Nine months	303	859	55 6
Year	644	644	644

Fully Diluted Earnings Per Share

	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3
First quarter	. 909(1)	2,000(1)	(1)
Six months	. 693(1)	1,455(1)	909(2)
Nine months	. 765(1)	970(1)	859(1)
Year	1,304(2)	727(1)	2,000(2)

Computed by adding incremental shares of each quarter included and dividing by number of quarters included in the year-to-date.
 Incremental shares for all quarters included based on ending market

price.

AC § U 2011.359 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

EXHIBIT 4 DAYS BETWEEN TWO DATES

.360 The table on page 5619 is useful in computing a weighted average of shares outstanding when the number of shares outstanding changes frequently during the year. The table includes numbered days for two years; one day must be added after February 28 during leap year. Corporations reporting on a calendar year basis should use the first 366 numbers; all other corporations should use both tables.

Since the number of days between two dates is determined by subtraction, the number used for the last day of the year is the first day of the following year. That is, a corporation reporting on a calendar year having a stock transaction on June 20 should weight the shares outstanding before the transaction by 170 (determined 171 - 1 = 170) and the shares outstanding after the transaction by 195 (determined 366 - 171 = 195). The 170 days before plus the 195 days after then equal 365 days. For leap year, corresponding computations would be 172 - 1 = 171 and 367 - 172 = 195, so 171 + 195 = 366.

An example of how to use the table follows. Assume a corporation reports on a fiscal year ending June 30. At July 1, 1969 the corporation had 100,000 shares of common stock outstanding. On August 25, 1969 the corporation distributed a 5% stock dividend to its shareholders. On September 18, 1969 the corporation purchased 525 shares of its stock. On April 8, 1970 the corporation issued 10,000 shares of its stock for cash. On May 21, 1970 the corporation split its stock 2-for-1.

The days to be used for weighting are:

Transaction Day	Number for Transaction Day	Number for Beginning Day	Days for Weighting
September 18, 1969	261	182	79
April 8, 1970		261	202
End of year		463	84
Total days			365

The August 25, 1969 stock dividend and the May 21, 1970 stock split are reflected retroactively in the weighted average of shares outstanding as computed below:

AICPA Professional Standards

AC § U 2011.360

to be weighted by the number of days a stock dividend or split was outstanding.

AC § U 2011.360

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

TABLE OF DAYS BETWEEN TWO DATES

щ	ġ	29	28	27	26	ŝ	42	23	22	21	20	6Т	18	71	16	5	ľ	มี	12	۲ ۲	ы	9	8	7	6	J	ŧ	ω	N	L	Day in Month
۲÷	ß	29	28	27	26	25	24	3	22	22	20	61	18	片	Б	5	14	13	12	H	Ч	9	8	7	9	ა	ŧ	ω	N	4	January
1:	:	:	59	58	57	56	ß	ž	53	52	ដ	ัช	64	# 8	5	£	5	Ť₽	£	£	÷	ŧ	ŝ	8	Ľ	36	З	¥₽	ш	ž	February
8	89	88	87	8	3	È	8	8°	8	ფ	79	78	77	76	3	74	73	72	2	70	\$	8	67	8	ჭ	₽	ട	ຄ	ę;	8	March
:	120	611	811	117	911	115	114	113	112	H	011	109	108	107	106	105	10#	ξġτ	102	101	100	. 99	88	97	8	જુ	¥	83	82	22	April
151	0 <u>5</u> 1.	149	148	147	ц,	ц	144	£#1	142	141	140	6£1.	138	137	136	135	134	133	132	131	130	129	1.58	127	126	125	124	123	122	121	Мау
:	181	180	179	178	177	176	175	- 174	173	172	171	170	169	168	167	166	165	1 64	163	162	161	160	159	158	157	156	155	154	153	152	June
22	211	210	209	208	207	206	205	204	203	202	201	200	66T	861	197	961	<u>5</u> 61	191	193	26T	t 61	0 61	681	188	187	186	185	184	.183	182	July
1 <u>2</u>	242	142	240	239	238	237	236	235	234	233	232	231	230	229	228	227	226	225	224	223	222	221	220	219	218	217	216	212	214	213	August
:	273	272	271	270	269	268	267	266	265	264	263	262	261	260	259	258	257	256	255	254	253	252	251	250	249	248	247	246	245	1112	September
말	303	302	301	300	299	298	297	296	295	294	293	292	291	290	289	288	287	286	285	284	283	282	281	280	279	278	277	276	275	274	October
ŀ	°3 ∰	333	332	331	330	329	328	327	326	325	324	323	322	321	320	319	318	317	916	312	314	313	312	311	310	309	308	307	306	305	November
ŝ	36 1	363	362	361	360	359	358	357	356	355	354	353	352	351	350	349	348	347	346	345	344	343	342	341	340	339	338	337	336	335	December
ч	w	29	28	27	26	ŝ	24	23	N	2	20	61	18	片	16	ភ	¥	£1	۲۲ ۲2	H	Б	9	œ	7	٥	UT	÷	ü	N	ч	Day in Month
зğ	395	394	393	392	391	390	389	388	387	386	385	186	383	382	381	380	379	378	377	376	375	374	373	372	371	370	369	368	367	366	January
:	:	:	424	423	422	421	420	41 9	814	417	416	41 5	41	413	412	411	410	60ħ	408	407	406	405	404	4 03	402	to 1	400	399	398	397	February
55	¥5‡	453	452	451	450	644	448	447	9##6	544	444	# #3	442	TH1	011	439	438	437	436	435	434	433	432	431	430	429	428	427	426	425	March
:	485	#84	483	482	481	480	479	478	477	476	475	474	473	472	471	470	69t	-468	467	466	465	46 4	463	462	461	460	459	458	457	456	April
25	515	514	513	512	511	510	509	508	507	506	505	501	503	502	501	500	66 ħ	861	497	3 64	56	1 64	493	492	1 6ħ	96	489	488	487	486	Мау
ŀ	546	545	115	543	542	541	540	539	538	537	536	535	¥£5	533	532	531	530	529	528	527	526	525	524	523	522	125	520	619	815	517	June
577	576	575	574	573	572	571	570	569	568	567	566	565	564	563	562	561	560	559	558	557	556	555	554	553	552	155	550	549	548	547	July
68 68	607	606	605	604	603	602	601	600	599	598	597	596	595	594	593	592	16 5	590	685	588	587	586	585	1 85	583	582	185	580	579	578	August
ŀ	638	637	636	635	634	633	632	1 <u></u>	630	629	628	627	626	625	624	623	622	129	620	619	819	617	616	619	614	613	612	119	019	609	September
66	668	667	666	665	664	663	662	199	660	659	658	657	656	655	654	653	652	159	650	6#9	648	647	646	645	446	643	642	119	640	639	October
:	699	869	697	696	695	6 91	693	692	t6 9	690	689	889	687	989	685	4 89	683	682	1 89	680	679	678	677	676	675	674	673	672	671	670	November
33	729	728	727	726	725	724	723	722	721	720	719	718	717	716	715	714	713	212	117	710	709	708	707	706	705	704	703	702	701	700	December
۳	ъ	29	28	27	26	ß	24	23	22	21	8	61	18	5	16	15	¥	13	12	Ħ	ы	9	60	7	6	თ	ŧ	ω	N	1	Day in Month

102. Two-Class Method for Warrants Issued by REITs

.361 Question—The capitalization of a real estate investment trust (REIT) includes shares of beneficial interest (common stock) and an equal number of warrants. This REIT is not subject to federal income tax with respect to the income it distributes to its shareholders because it distributes at least 90 percent of its annual taxable income (as defined by the *Internal Revenue Code*) and elects not to be taxed on the income distributed. How should this entity treat warrants in computing earnings per share under section 2011?

.362 Interpretation—The "two-class" method of computing primary earnings per share should be used by any REIT which elects under the Internal Revenue Code not to be subject to tax on income distributed and which pays dividends equal to 90 percent or more of its taxable income. Under this method, dividends are deducted from net income and the remaining amount (the undistributed earnings) is allocated to the total of common shares and common share equivalents with use of warrant proceeds applied as described in paragraph .36 or .38. Per share distributions to common shareholders (total dividends divided by the weighted average of common shares outstanding) are added to this per share amount to determine primary earnings per share.

.363 For example, the REIT described in the question above should compute primary earnings per share under the "two-class" method in conjunction with section 2011.38. Assume that this REIT has a net income of \$1,000,000 and distributes \$900,000 in dividends on 1,000,000 common shares outstanding. Warrants exercisable at \$5 per share for 1,000,000 common shares are also outstanding. Assuming a market price of \$23 per share for common and a 3 percent interest rate for debt and/or investments in commercial paper or U.S. government securities, primary earnings per share would be determined applying the twoclass method and paragraph .38 as follows:

AC § U 2011.361 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Computing Earnings per Share	12,87
Net income	\$1,000,000 900,000
Undistributed earnings	\$ 100,000
Proceeds from the exercise of war- rants: 1,000,000 × \$5 \$5,000,000	
Purchase of treasury stock under para- graph .38-a	
200,000 shares × \$23 4,600,000	
Balance to retire debt under para- graph .38-b	
Interest rate on debt retired	
Interest adjustment	12,000
Adjusted undistributed earnings	\$ 112,000
Common shares outstanding	1,000,000
Common shares assumed issued for warrants	
Less treasury stock purchased 200,000	
Incremental shares for warrants	800,000
Common and common equivalent shares	1,800,000
Primary earnings per share: Distributed earnings (\$900,000 ÷ 1,000,000)	\$.90
Undistributed earnings (\$112,000 ÷ 1,800,000)	.06
Total earnings per common and common equivalent share	\$.96

.364 If the per share amount computed above had exceeded earnings per outstanding common share of \$1.00 (computed: \$1,000,000 - 1,000,000 shares), the result would be anti-dilutive and primary earnings per share would be reported as \$1.00 in accordance with paragraph .30.

.365 The two-class method should not be used by a REIT in computing fully diluted earnings per share in order to reflect maximum potential dilution. Therefore, fully diluted earnings per share computed for the above example would be \$.56 (computed: $$1,012,000 \div 1,800,000$ shares) applying only paragraph .38.

.366 Although dividends declared after the close of the taxable year may be included in meeting the 90 percent

requirement for federal income tax purposes, only dividends paid or declared during the period for which the computation is being made should be considered in applying the two-class method. However, a dividend declaration (or official company policy in lieu of actual declaration) before the close of the period stated as a percentage of taxable earnings (the amount to be determined after the close of the period) will be considered as being declared during the period if the dividend is paid by the date the financial statements are issued.

[Issue Date: September, 1971.]

 \implies The next page is 12,951. \leftarrow

AC § U 2011.366

AC Section U2012

Reporting The Results of Operations: Accounting Interpretation of Section 2012

1. Illustration of the Application of Section 2012

.001 Question—As stated in section 2012.19, judgment is required to segregate in the income statement the effects of events or transactions that are extraordinary items. What factors must be considered in determining whether the effects of a particular event or transaction are extraordinary items or should otherwise be set forth in the income statement, and how are these factors applied in practice?

.002 Interpretation—The first question which generally should be considered in determining the appropriate classification of profit or loss items which appear to be unusual, infrequently occurring or extraordinary is:

Does the event or transaction involve the sale, abandonment or other manner of disposal of a segment of a business as defined in section 2012.13?

.003 Discussion—As explained in section 2012.08, results of discontinued operations of a segment of a business and any gain or loss from disposal of the segment should be reported separately in the income statement, but should not be designated as extraordinary items. The term "segment of a business" is defined in section 2012.13 as a component of an entity whose activities represent a separate major line of business or class of customer. Section 2012 further provides guidelines for the determination of a segment of a business and distinguishes between the disposal of a segment and the disposal of assets incident to the evolution of an entity's business. The following are illustrative of disposals which should be classified as disposals of a segment of a business:

(1) A sale by a diversified company of a major division which represents the company's only activities in the electronics industry. The assets and results of operations of the division are clearly segregated for internal financial reporting purposes from the other assets and results of operations of the company.

(2) A sale by a meat packing company of a 25% interest in a professional football team which has been accounted for under the equity method. All other activities of the company are in the meat packing business.

(3) A sale by a communications company of all its radio stations which represent 30% of gross revenues. The company's remaining activities are three television stations and a publishing company. The assets and results of operations of the radio stations are clearly distinguishable physically, operationally and for financial reporting purposes.

(4) A food distributor disposes of one of its two divisions. One division sells food wholesale primarily to supermarket chains and the other division sells food through its chain of fast food restaurants, some of which are franchised and some of which are companyowned. Both divisions are in the business of distribution of food. However, the nature of selling food through fast food outlets is vastly different than that of wholesaling food to supermarket chains. Thus by having two major classes of customers, the company has two segments of its business.

.004 Certain disposals would not constitute disposals of a segment of a business because they do not meet the criteria specified in section 2012. For example, the following disposals should not be classified as disposals of a segment of a business:

(5) The sale of a major foreign subsidiary engaged in silver mining by a mining company which represents all of the company's activities in that particular country. Even though the subsidiary being sold may account for a significant percentage of gross revenue of the consolidated group and all of its revenues in the particular country, the fact that the company continues to engage in silver mining activities in other countries would indicate that there was a sale of a part of a line of business.

AC § U 2012.004 ... © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

(6) The sale by a petrochemical company of a 25% interest in a petrochemical plant which is accounted for as an investment in a corporate joint venture under the equity method. Since the remaining activities of the company are in the same line of business as the 25% interest which has been sold, there has not been a sale of a major line of business but rather a sale of part of a line of business.

(7) A manufacturer of children's wear discontinues all of its operations in Italy which were composed of designing and selling children's wear for the Italian market. In the context of determining a segment of a business by class of customer, the nationality of customers or slight variations in product lines in order to appeal to particular groups are not determining factors.

(8) A diversified company sells a subsidiary which manufactures furniture. The company has retained its other furniture manufacturing subsidiary. The disposal of the subsidiary, therefore, is not a disposal of a segment of the business but rather a disposal of part of a line of business. As discussed in section 2012.13, such disposals are incident to the evolution of the entity's business.

(9) The sale of all the assets (including the plant) related to the manufacture of men's woolen suits by an apparel manufacturer in order to concentrate activities in the manufacture of men's suits from synthetic products. This would represent a disposal of a product line as distinguished from the disposal of a major line of business.

.005 If it has been determined that the particular event or transaction is not a disposal of a segment of a business, then the criteria for extraordinary items classification should be considered. That is:

Does the event or transaction meet both criteria of unusual nature and infrequency of occurrence?

.006 Discussion—Section 2012.19-.22 discusses the criteria of unusual nature and infrequency of occurrence of events or transactions taking into account the environment in which the entity operates. Paragraph .23 specifies certain gains or losses which should not be reported as extraordinary unless they are the direct result of a major casualty, an expropriation, or a prohibition under a newly enacted law or regulation that clearly meets both criteria for extraordinary classification. Events or transactions which would meet both criteria in the circumstances described are:

(10) A large portion of a tobacco manufacturer's crops are destroyed by a hail storm. Severe damage from hail storms in the locality where the manufacturer grows tobacco is rare.

(11) A steel fabricating company sells the only land it owns. The land was acquired ten years ago for future expansion, but shortly thereafter the company abandoned all plans for expansion and held the land for appreciation.

(12) A company sells a block of common stock of a publicly traded company. The block of shares, which represents less than 10% of the publicly-held company, is the only security investment the company has ever owned.

(13) An earthquake destroys one of the oil refineries owned by a large multi-national oil company.

.007 The following are illustrative of events or transactions which do not meet both criteria in the circumstances described and thus should not be reported as extraordinary items:

(14) A citrus grower's Florida crop is damaged by frost. Frost damage is normally experienced every three or four years. The criterion of infrequency of occurrence taking into account the environment in which the company operates would not be met since the history of losses caused by frost damage provides evidence that such damage may reasonably be expected to recur in the foreseeable future.

(15) A company which operates a chain of warehouses sells the excess land surrounding one of its warehouses. When the company buys property to establish a new warehouse, it usually buys more land than it expects to use for the warehouse with the expectation

Reporting the Results of Operations

that the land will appreciate in value. In the past five years, there have been two instances in which the company sold such excess land. The criterion of infrequency of occurrence has not been met since past experience indicates that such sales may reasonably be expected to recur in the foreseeable future.

(16) A large diversified company sells a block of shares from its portfolio of securities which it has acquired for investment purposes. This is the first sale from its portfolio of securities. Since the company owns several securities for investment purposes, it should be concluded that sales of such securities are related to its ordinary and typical activities in the environment in which it operates and thus the criterion of unusual nature would not be met.

(17) A textile manufacturer with only one plant moves to another location. It has not relocated a plant in twenty years and has no plans to do so in the foreseeable future. Notwithstanding the infrequency of occurrence of the event as it relates to this particular company, moving from one location to another is an occurrence which is a consequence of customary and continuing business activities, some of which are finding more favorable labor markets, more modern facilities, and proximity to customers or suppliers. Therefore. the criterion of unusual nature has not been met and the moving expenses (and related gains and losses) should not be reported as an extraordinary item. Another example of an event which is a consequence of customary and typical business activities (namely financing) is an unsuccessful public registration, the cost of which should not be reported as an extraordinary item. (For additional examples, see section 2012.23.)

.008 Disposals of part of a line of business, such as examples 5-9 of this Interpretation, should not be classified as extraordinary items. As discussed in section 2012.13, such disposals are incident to the evolution of the entity's business and therefore the criterion of unusual nature would not be met.

.009 Question—Section 2012.27 states that events and transactions that were reported as extraordinary items in

Accounting Interpretations

statements of income for fiscal years ending before October 1, 1973 should not be restated except that a statement of income including operations of discontinued segments of a business that meet the paragraph .13 criteria may be reclassified in comparative statements to conform with the provisions of paragraphs .08 and .09 of section 2012. If a gain or loss on such a disposal in a prior year had been classified as an extraordinary item but was not computed in the *manner* specified in section 2012.15-.17, may the prior year income statements be reclassified and the gain or loss adjusted to comply with the provisions of section 2012!

.010 Interpretation—Section 2012 specifically uses the term "reclassified" in paragraph .27 and makes direct reference to paragraphs .08 and .09 which describe the manner of reporting disposals of a segment of a business as defined in paragraph .13. While such reclassification is optional under section 2012, there should not be a redetermination (restatement) of net income using the measurement principles specified in paragraphs .15-.17. Since Opinions of the Board are not intended to be retroactive unless otherwise stated, the method of computing of the gain or loss on disposals of a segment should not be retroactively applied if it results in a change in net income of a prior year.

.011 Question—Events or transactions which are not disposals of a segment of a business and are not extraordinary items may nevertheless be required to be reported as a separate component of income from continuing operations under the provisions of section 2012.26. If a company sells a portion of a line of business which does not meet the definition of a segment of a business as defined in section 2012.13, should the gain or loss be calculated using the measurement principles for determination of gain or loss on disposal of a segment of a business as prescribed in section 2012.15-.17 and how should the financial effects of such sale be reported?

.012 Interpretation—The gain or loss on a sale of a portion of a line of business which is not a segment of a business as defined in paragraph .13 should be calculated using the same measurement principles as if it were a segment of a business (section 2012.15-.17). Under the provisions of section 2012.26, the amount of such gain or loss

AC § U 2012.010 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

should be reported as a separate component of income from continuing operations. However, the gain or loss should not be reported on the face of the income statement net of income taxes or in any manner inconsistent with the provisions of paragraphs .08 and .11 of section 2012 which may imply that it is a disposal of a segment of the business. In addition, the earnings per share effect should not be disclosed on the face of the income statement. Revenues and related costs and expenses of the portion of the line of business prior to the measurement date should not be segregated on the face of the income statements and such disclosure is encouraged. In addition, the notes to the financial statements should disclose, if known, those items specified in section 2012.18.

.013 The foregoing examples are illustrative. It should be recognized that all attendant circumstances, which can vary from those above, need to be considered in making the judgments required by section 2012.

[Issue Date: November, 1973]

 \implies The next page is 12,971. $\leftarrow \parallel \parallel$

AC Section U2021

Reporting Changes in Financial Position: Accounting Interpretations of Section 2021

1. Number of Funds Statements Required

.001 Question—Section 2021.07 states that when a balance sheet and an income statement are issued, a "Statement of Changes in Financial Position" (funds statement) should be presented for each period for which an income statement is presented. If comparative income statements for the past five years and only a balance sheet for the end of the five-year period are presented, how many statements of changes in financial position must be presented?

.002 Interpretation — Normally, five statements of changes in financial position would be required by section 2021.07—one for each year for which an income statement is presented. However, the detail of net changes in each element of working capital is required to be presented only for the current year (see section 2021.12).

.003 It should also be noted that section 2021 is effective for fiscal periods ending after September 30, 1971. Therefore, a statement of changes in financial position is not required for any period covered by an income statement ending before that date, although their presentation for earlier years is encouraged.

.004 For example, assume the financial statements described in the question included a balance sheet dated December 31, 1972 and income statements for the calendar years ending December 31, 1972, 1971, 1970, 1969, and 1968. Statements of changes in financial position are required only for the calendar years ended December 31, 1972 and December 31, 1971.

[Issue Date: February, 1972.]

2. Funds Statement for Mutuals and Co-ops

.005 Question—Section 2021.07 requires all "profitoriented business entities" to present a statement of changes in financial position when financial statements purporting to present both financial position and results of operations are issued. Are mutual companies and co-operative organi-

AC § U 2021.005

zations considered "profit-oriented business entities" for this purpose?

.006 Interpretation—Yes, for purposes of reporting under section 2021 mutual companies and co-operative organizations are considered to be "profit oriented." These entities should therefore include a statement of changes in financial position when issuing both a balance sheet and an income statement.

[Issue Date: February, 1972.]

3. Funds Statements for Mutual Funds and Real Estate Companies

.007 Question—Investment companies carrying their investments at "value" (e.g., mutual funds, many "closedend" companies, "variable annuity accounts" of life insurance companies and common trust funds) generally include a "statement of changes in net assets" and real estate investment companies may include a "statement of funds generated and disbursed" among their financial statements. The format of these statements may differ somewhat from that described in section 2021.10 for a statement of changes in financial position, but they present the information required by the section. Does such a variation in format comply with the requirements of the section?

.008 Interpretation—A format that varies from that described in section 2021.10 is acceptable in the case of these statements which have been devised as the most appropriate for reporting information which is peculiar in these industries, so long as the statements contain the information required by the section. The section recognizes the need for flexibility in form (paragraph .09) so long as the required information is disclosed in the most useful portrayal of the financing and investing activities and the changes in financial position of the reporting entity (paragraph .11).

.009 It is expected that Audit Guides issued by the AICPA in the future will illustrate the type of statement of changes in financial position that may be appropriate for a particular industry. Companies should, naturally, follow the recommendations of these Guides.

[Issue Date: June, 1972.]

\implies The next page is 13,001. \leftarrow

AC § U 2021.006

, © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

AC Section U2045

Disclosure of Accounting Policies: Accounting Interpretations of Section 2045

1. Disclosure of "Leveraged Lease" Transactions by Lessors

.001 Question—In leasing arrangements generally referred to as "leveraged leases" the funds for the purchase of the leased property by the lessor (equity participant) are provided in part by one or more third parties (loan participants). Under such leases a major portion of the lease payments is typically assigned to the loan participants as repayment of their loans, together with interest thereon. In the event of default by the lessee, the loan participants usually have no rights of recovery against the equity participant; the loan participants look to the lessee and have a first lien on the property.

.002 In many of these leasing transactions the ownership of the property by the equity participant can give rise to income tax benefits (such as investment tax credits and the right to elect to use accelerated depreciation methods) that are considered an important part of the return on its investment.

.003 Another important element of return on investment of the equity participant can be the anticipated proceeds from sale or re-lease of the property during, or at end of, the original lease term. In many leasing transactions the residual value at the end of the original lease term is considered to be the last payment under the contract.

.004 The Accounting Principles Board terminated its study of accounting practices of equity participants in the determination of income from "leveraged leases," inasmuch as the Financial Accounting Standards Board has placed on its agenda the broad subject of accounting for leases by lessees and lessors. The APB's findings, however, reveal that various accounting practices are employed by equity participants under either the financing method or operating method (see section 4051, Accounting for Leases in Financial Statements of Lessors). Pending an FASB pronounce-

AICPA Professional Standards

AC § U 2045.004

ment on the matter, what types of financial statement disclosures are required of equity participants with respect to accounting for "leveraged leases" in order to fulfill the requirements of section 2045, *Disclosure of Accounting Policies*?

.005 Interpretation—The disclosure of the accounting followed for "leveraged leases" in financial statements issued by equity participants is called for by section 2045.12c. Accordingly, the financial statements should include as part of a summary of significant accounting policies or as a note to the financial statements:

1(A) Financing Method: A description of the manner in which the equity participant's unrecovered investment in the property (net receivable) is determined and reported in the balance sheet, together with disclosure of such amount and any related outstanding non-recourse debt.

(B) Operating Method: A description of the manner in which the equity participant's unrecovered cost is determined and reported in the balance sheet, together with disclosure of such amount and any related outstanding non-recourse debt.

2 A description of the manner in which the annual revenue from "leveraged leases" is determined and reported in the financial statements and the relationship of such revenue to the related (A) unrecovered investment (net receivable) or (B) unrecovered cost. The description should include the accounting treatment of (a) investment tax credits,¹ (b) current and cumulative tax timing differences,² (c) estimated recoveries of residual value (and related tax effects), and (d) leases under which the debt service payments (principal and interest) will exceed the aggregate collections to be received from lessees over the lease terms plus the estimated residual value.

[Issue Date: November. 1973]

 \implies The next page is 13,051. $\prec \implies$

AC § U 2045.005

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

¹See Accounting Interpretation No. 3, Acceptable Methods of Accounting for Investment Credits under 1971 Act (March 1972), section U4094.005, Accounting for the "Investment Credit".

³See Accounting Interpretation No. 25, "Leveraged" Lease Accounting (March 1972), section U4091.141, Accounting for Income Taxes.

AC Section U4062

Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees: Accounting Interpretations of Section 4062

1. Stock Plans Established by a Principal Stockholder

.001 Question—Accounting for compensatory and noncompensatory stock option, purchase and award plans adopted by a corporation is discussed in sections 4062 and 4061. Should a corporation account for plans or transactions ("plans"), if they have characteristics otherwise similar to compensatory plans adopted by corporations, that are established or financed by a principal stockholder (i. e., one who either owns 10% or more of the corporation's common stock or has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or influence significantly the corporation)?

.002 Interpretation—It is difficult to evaluate a principal stockholder's intent when he establishes or finances a plan with characteristics otherwise similar to compensatory plans generally adopted by corporations. A principal stockholder may be satisfying his generous nature, settling a moral obligation, or attempting to increase or maintain the value of his own investment. If a principal stockholder's intention is to enhance or maintain the value of his investment by entering into such an arrangement, the corporation is implicitly benefiting from the plan by retention of, and possibly improved performance by, the employee. In this case, the benefits to a principal stockholder and to the corporation are generally impossible to separate. Similarly, it is virtually impossible to separate a principal stockholder's personal satisfaction from the benefit to the corporation. Section 1025.14, Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles Underlying Financial Statements of Business Enterprises, states that "Financial accounting emphasizes the economic substance of events even though the legal form may differ from the economic substance and suggest different treatment."

AICPA Professional Standards

.003 The economic substance of this type of plan is substantially the same for the corporation and the employee, whether the plan is adopted by the corporation or a principal stockholder. Consequently, the corporation should account for this type of plan when one is established or financed by a principal stockholder unless (1) the relationship between the stockholder and the corporation's employee is one which would normally result in generosity (i.e., an immediate family relationship), (2) the stockholder has an obligation to the employee which is completely unrelated to the latter's employment (e.g., the stockholder transfers shares to the employee because of personal business relationships in the past, unrelated to the present employment situation), or (3) the corporation clearly does not benefit from the transaction (e.g., the stockholder transfers shares to a minor employee with whom he has had a close relationship over a number of years).

.004 This type of plan should be treated as a contribution to capital by the principal stockholder with the offsetting charge accounted for in the same manner as compensatory plans adopted by corporations.

.005 Compensation cost should be recognized as an expense of one or more periods in accordance with the provisions of section 4062.12-.15.

.006 The corporation should account for tax benefits, if any, from this type of plan in accordance with the provisions of section 4062.16.18. If the corporation receives no tax benefit from this type of plan, but would have received such benefit had the plan been adopted by the corporation, the absence of such tax benefit is one of the variables in estimating the plan's cost to the corporation (see section 1091.89.).

[Issue Date: June, 1973]

 \implies The next page is 13,101. $\leftarrow \implies$

AC § U 4062.003

AC Section U4063

Accounting For The Cost of Pension Plans: Accounting Interpretations of Section 4063

A DISCUSSION OF THE BACKGROUND AND REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 4063

By Julius W. Phoenix, Jr., and William D. Bosse

PART I

1. Introduction

.001 Section 4063, issued in November 1966, is both long and comprehensive. It includes 15 separate sections, an appendix briefly describing actuarial techniques, and a glossary devoted principally to the actuarial terms used throughout section 4063. The scope of section 4063 results from the need to consider many interrelated factors affecting estimation of pension cost for accounting purposes. The complexities of estimating pension cost arise primarily from the many uncertainties inherent in the long periods separating the time of estimation from the time of payment of benefits to employees. Underlying the estimates are annuity and compound-interest computations. Mathematical probability factors are used to deal with such uncertainties as employee death or termination and changes in compensation.

.002 The major difficulties in estimating pension cost are in selecting the pertinent data relating to employees as a group, designing the actuarial computation and formulating assumptions regarding such matters as earnings of pension-fund assets. The process usually requires the technical skill, experience and judgment of an actuary. Although significant reliance may be placed on the work of an actuary, the accountant should become familiar with the actuarial concepts and methods so that he can understand the data prepared by the actuary and reach his own conclusions as to whether the provision for pension cost complies with section 4063 (see paragraphs .007-.008 for some key definitions). .003 All complexities and difficulties notwithstanding, the basic accounting for pension plans recommended in section 4063 is relatively easy to understand.

.004 To begin negatively, provisions for pension cost should not be based on contributions to the pension fund, nor should they be limited to the amounts for which the company has a legal liability. They should not fluctuate widely as a result of pension-fund investment gains and losses or from other causes unrelated to the employee group.

Turning to the positive, the provision for pen-.005 sion cost should be based on an actuarial cost method that gives effect, in a consistent manner, to employee group data, pension benefits, pension-fund earnings, investment gains or losses, and other assumptions regarding future events. The actuarial cost method selected should result in a systematic and rational allocation of the total cost of pensions among the employees' years of active service. If the actuarial cost method selected includes past service cost as an integral part of normal cost, the provision for pension cost should be normal cost adjusted for the effect on pension-fund earnings of differences between amounts accrued and amounts funded. If the actuarial cost method deals with past service cost separately from normal cost, the provision for pension cost should include normal cost, an amount for past service cost, and an adjustment for the effect on pension-fund earnings of differences between amounts accrued and amounts funded.

.006 As can be seen later, the most controversial issue in developing section 4063 had to do with the amount to be included for past service cost.

2. Some Key Definitions

.007 For convenience, some terms are delineated here. "Normal cost" is the portion of the annual pension cost that, under the actuarial cost method in use, is related to years after the date of an actuarial valuation of the plan. "Past service cost" refers to the portion of the total pension cost that, under the actuarial cost method in use, is identified with periods prior to the adoption of the plan. Similarly, "prior service cost" refers to the portion of the total pension cost that, under the actuarial cost method in use, is identified with all periods prior to the date of an actuarial valuation of the plan. Therefore, "prior service cost" includes, as of the date of its determination, the past service cost, the normal cost for years prior to that date, and increases in pension cost arising when the plan may have been amended to change the benefits or the group of employees covered. Since "prior service cost" is based on present value on the date of determination, it reflects the effect of other factors to that date, such as assumed earnings or interest equivalents, pension benefits paid to date, and gains or losses under the experience to date. Essentially, it is determined at any time in the same way that a past service cost would be determined if the plan were then being put into effect for the first time.

.008 Section 4063 at times makes reference to a specific part of prior service cost, the most usual being "the amounts of any increases or decreases in prior service cost arising on an amendment to the plan." Since such an amount is dealt with like a past service cost, unless otherwise indicated by the context, the term "past service cost" is used in this article to refer to both past service cost arising on the adoption of the plan and the amounts of any increases or decreases in prior service cost arising on amendments of the plan.

3. Previous Pronouncements

.009 Before discussing section 4063 further, it might be well to review briefly the previous official pronouncements of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants on the subject of pension plans.

.010 The first pronouncement was made in Accounting Research Bulletin No. 36 issued by the committee on accounting procedure in November 1948. It was entitled "Pension Plans—Accounting for Annuity Costs Based on Past Services." Although this Bulletin dealt with only one small segment of the pension accounting problem, it did focus on the most troublesome area, both conceptually and practically, that accountants have had to face in dealing with this complex accounting subject.

.011 ARB No. 36 was included without substantive change as Chapter 13a, "Pension Plans-Annuity Costs Based on Past Service." of ARB No. 43. Restatement and Revision of Accounting Research Bulletins.¹ In ARB No. 43. Chapter 13a, the committee on accounting procedure expressed its belief that "even though the calculation is based on past service, costs of annuities based on such service are incurred in contemplation of present and future services, not necessarily of the individual affected but of the organization as a whole, and therefore should be charged to the present and future periods benefited. This belief is based on the assumption that although the benefits to a company flowing from pension plans are intangible, they are nevertheless real. The element of past service is one of the important considerations in establishing pension plans, and annuity cost measured by such past service contribute to the benefits gained by the adoption of the plan. It is usually expected that such benefits will include better employee morale, the removal of superannuated employees from the payroll, and the attraction and retention of more desirable personnel, all of which should result in improved operations."

.012 The position of the committee on accounting procedure was reaffirmed by a later generation of that committee in Accounting Research Bulletin No. 47, issued in September 1956.² Bulletin No. 47, however, was more specific about how past service cost should be treated and also introduced the factor of vested benefits. The committee expressed its preferences that "costs based on current and future services should be systematically accrued during the expected period of active service of the covered employees," and that "costs based on past services should be charged off over some reasonable period, provided the allocation is made on a systematic and rational basis and does not cause distortion of the operating results in any one year." The committee recognized, however, that its preferences were not universally accepted and went on to say that "as a minimum, the accounts and financial statements should reflect accruals which equal the present worth, actuarially calculated, of pension commitments to em-

² Editor's Note: Footnote reference eliminated.

AC § U 4063.011. © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

¹ Editor's Note: Footnote reference eliminated.

ployees to the extent that pension rights have vested in the employees, reduced, in the case of the balance sheet, by any accumulated trusteed funds or annuity contracts purchased." The committee did not explain what it meant by the term "vested" and did not make any recommendation concerning appropriate actuarial cost methods or recognition of actuarial gains and losses. This void is filled by section 4063.

4. Development of Section 4063

.013 When the accounting variations found in practice made it evident that Accounting Research Bulletin No. 47 was not an adequate guide for accounting for the cost of pension plans, the Accounting Principles Board decided that the subject needed further study and authorized an accounting research study to be made. This study was undertaken by Ernest L. Hicks, who performed an outstanding job in putting together the many accounting complexities surrounding pension plans.

.014 The study was completed and published in 1965. A subcommittee ³ of the Accounting Principles Board began its analysis of the subject when preliminary drafts of the research study became available. Early in 1966, after the initial volume of comments on the study subsided, the subcommittee presented to the full Board a discussion outline of suggestions, problem areas and possible opinion content.

.015 During its meetings through June of that year, the Board devoted much time to discussion of the subject. A regular attendant at Board and subcommittee meetings was Frederick P. Sloat, a member of the American Academy of Actuaries, whose assistance and advice were invaluable. Along the way, the subcommittee initiated a series of meetings with representatives of the actuarial societies, the bar association, utility associations and the Financial Executives Institute.

.016 It is important to emphasize the diligence with which the Board sought the views of responsible members of the business community before reaching the point of

⁹ John W. Queenan, chairman, Marshall S. Armstrong, LeRoy Layton, and Oral L. Luper.

taking any final votes on the contents of section 4063. It is equally important to emphasize the degree of interest and the spirit of co-operation with which the business community responded to the request of the subcommittee. This dispelled any doubt concerning the business community's genuine interest in what the Accounting Principles Board is doing. It does have views that should be considered by the profession and it does want to help.

.017 The exposure draft was issued in July 1966. The comments received as a result of the exposure were gratifying. Replies were received from over 300 of those on the exposure list, including many of the top executives of leading corporations around the country. All comments were read, analyzed and catalogued. After consideration of these comments and a further meeting of the Board, the exposure draft was converted into the final section 4063 in November 1966.

.018 From the authors' observations, the Board appreciates the efforts expended by companies in commenting on its proposed opinions, especially where the comments are supported by reasons and analysis.

.019 It may be helpful to an understanding of section 4063 to discuss its major objective and what is likely to be its principal accomplishment—the elimination of inappropriate fluctuations.

5. Major Objective of Section 4063

.020 Pension cost is an important cost of doing business. Except in rare cases, when a company commits itself to pay pensions to its employees upon their retirement, the cost of those pensions may be expected to continue as long as the company has employees. Furthermore, and this is important, pension cost year by year should not be greatly out of line with the size or compensation of the employee group. For example, it does not appear reasonable for a company with a stable or growing employee group to have pension cost of \$50,000 one year, \$100,000 the next and \$10,000 the next. Although not usually so extreme, fluctuations of this sort did occur in many cases found in practice.

.021 These fluctuations were due largely to the effect given to three things: (1) actuarial gains and losses, AC § U 4063.017 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc. (2) the funding of pension plans and (3) legal safeguards typically written into the plans. The primary accomplishment of the pension section probably will be to eliminate the fluctuations due to these factors.

.022 A brief comment about each: First, actuarial gains and losses. In recent years, some companies made substantial reductions in their annual provision for pension cost when investment gains were realized by the pension fund, when the estimated future earnings rate of the fund was increased or when accumulated appreciation in pension-fund investments was recognized in the actuarial valuation.

.023 These occurrences represent some examples of what are described in section 4063 as actuarial gains. To eliminate the fluctuations in pension cost caused by these gains, the Board concluded that actuarial gains— and, in like manner, actuarial losses—"should be given effect in the provision for pension cost in a consistent manner that reflects the long-range nature of pension cost." The recommended way for accomplishing this is, with certain exceptions, to "spread" or "average" these actuarial gains and losses over a period of years.

.024 Second, funding. Some companies based their provision for pension cost on the amount funded—that is, the amount paid to the pension fund. The amounts funded frequently varied widely from year to year because of working capital availability, tax considerations and other factors. Section 4063 make it clear that, under accrual accounting, amounts funded are not determinative of pension costs.

.025 Accrual accounting is based on the assignment of costs among years on the basis of the economic benefits derived from the incurrence of the cost. Funding arrangements may not, and often do not, follow the pattern of economic benefits. Funding is a matter of financial management and may be discretionary; it is not a matter of accounting principle, however.

.026 Third, legal safeguards. Somewhat related to funding is the influence of legal safeguards that limit the company's liability for the payment of pensions to the

amount in the pension fund. As a matter of business prudence, most companies include a clause in their pension plan to the effect that the company may, in its discretion, discontinue the plan or discontinue contributions. In these cases, the employees have no rights to any benefits beyond those than can be paid from the assets in the pension fund. Relying on these clauses, some companies took the position that they had no liability for pensions and therefore did not need to record pension cost beyond the amounts contributed to the pension fund. The Board concluded that clauses such as these could not, as a practical matter, be brought into play by a business that expected to continue to operate in today's economy. In short, these clauses should have little effect on the incurrence of pension cost. Except in rare instances, therefore, they should be ignored in determining the amount of pension cost to be provided.

.027 While many other matters are covered in section 4063, the conclusions about actuarial gains and losses, funding and legal safeguards will probably have the most widespread effect on accounting for the cost of pension plans.

.028 These conclusions are essential to eliminating the wide fluctuations in pension cost that were largely responsible for section 4063 being written in the first place.

6. Interest Equivalents

.029 Before proceeding to a discussion of the basic section 4063 recommendations, a peripheral issue should be clarified.

.030 In many places, section 4063 refers to "amounts equivalent to interest" or "interest equivalents." As used in section 4063 and in the actuarial profession, "interest" is a simple way of referring to the earnings, assumed or actual, of a pension fund. The need to take interest equivalents into account in computing the pension-cost provision arises when the actual pension fund differs from a theoretical fund and when the amounts funded differ from the amounts which have been recorded for accounting purposes.

.031 Under the present-worth basis used for pensioncost accounting, it is assumed that amounts equivalent to prior service cost and normal cost will be contributed to a fund and that the fund will produce earnings (interest) at an assumed rate. If contributions for these amounts are not made, they will not be available to produce earnings, and it becomes necessary to make an additional provision equivalent to what the earnings would have been if the contributions had been made. This assumption is extended to past service cost even though it is known at the outset that the amounts will not be funded until sometime in the future, or not at all.

.032 For this reason, section 4063 calls for the pension-cost provision to include an amount equivalent to interest on unfunded prior service cost. Such interest may be included as a separate component of the provision or it may be included in the amortization of the past service cost (subject to the 10 per cent maximum). Whenever past service cost is being amortized and the prior year pensioncost provisions have not been funded, an amount equivalent to interest on the unfunded provisions should be added to the provision for the year in addition to any amount included in the amortization. Conversely, when the amounts funded exceed the prior year pension-cost provisions, a reduction of the provision for the year is needed to reflect the interest equivalents on the excess amounts funded.

7. What Constitutes Pension Cost?

.033 The preceding discussion is about the recommendations designed to eliminate fluctuations and about the need for interest equivalents. Agreement concerning these matters was reached by the Board with relative ease. Also, there was never any disagreement that pension cost should be accounted for on the accrual basis, and that the entire cost applicable to an accounting period should be provided. There was disagreement about what constitutes the entire cost applicable to an accounting period. The different views are explained in section 4063. For purposes of this article, suffice it to say that one view was that pension cost should "take into account all estimated prospective benefit payments under a plan with respect to the *existing employee group*" whereas the principal other view was "that pension cost is related to the pension benefits to be paid to the continuing employee group as a whole" (emphasis added).

.034 Under either view, annual pension cost would include normal cost. The difference between the two views essentially revolved around what to do about past service cost.

.035 The Board agreed, as had the predecessor committee on accounting procedure, that past service cost relates to periods subsequent to the adoption or amendment of a plan and should not be charged against retained earnings as something applicable to the past. Some members of the Board believed this cost should be specifically recognized in annual provisions over a period of years, although there were some differences in views concerning the period to use. Other members of the Board believed it unnecessary to make specific provisions for past service cost if all benefit payments could be met on a continuing basis by annual provisions representing normal cost plus an amount equivalent to interest on unfunded prior service cost.

.036 There was merit in both positions. Although the Board stated a preference for past service cost being amortized, it concluded that it should not at this time rule out either approach as an acceptable measure of cost. Accordingly, in the interest of attaining the substantial improvement in accounting for the cost of pension plans that would result from the other conclusions of section 4063, the Board framed section 4063 in terms of a minimum method based on the normal-cost-plus-interest concept and a maximum method based upon the amortization-of-past-service-cost concept. One result of this conclusion is that any period may be selected for the amortization of past service cost, as long as the total annual provision falls between the minimum and maximum.

.037 Many would term the minimum-maximum approach to be a flaw in section 4063, and it is fair to say that few, if any, of those working with section 4063 felt that it was a completely satisfying answer. If the minimum-maximum approach is a flaw, however, the authors believe that the flaw is more apparent than real because, as section 4063 is written, it allows a company to fit its accounting

AC § U 4063.034 C 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

for the cost of its pension plan to the facts and circumstances in its particular case and to record the pension cost most realistic for it.

8. Minimum—Maximum

.038 Before discussing the mechanics of the minimum-maximum methods, three general observations should be made.

.039 First, the difference between the two methods is essentially in the extent to which past service cost is included in the pension-cost provision. Under the defined minimum, only interest on unfunded prior service cost (plus any indicated provision for vested benefits) is included. Under the defined maximum, 10 per cent of the past service cost is included. Normal cost is the same under both.

.040 In two frequently used actuarial cost methods, the "individual level premium" and "aggregate" methods, past service cost is not measured separately. That is, past service cost is included in normal cost. Because there is no amount of separately computed past service cost, the defined minimum and maximum are the same under these methods.

.041 On the other hand, in other frequently used actuarial cost methods, such as the "unit-credit" ("accrued benefit"), "entry age normal," and "attained age normal" methods, past service cost is measured separately. It is only when methods such as these are used that there is a difference between the defined minimum and maximum. Furthermore, if the past service cost has been fully amortized, there is no difference between the defined minimum and maximum.

.042 The second general observation is that section 4063 contemplates that the defined minimum, the defined maximum and the provision for the year will all be computed using the actuarial cost method selected. For example, if the pension-cost provision is based on the unit credit method, the defined maximum should also be based on that method and not on the entry age normal method, which usually would give a greater maximum amount. .043 The third general observation has to do with an apparent misconception about the defined minimum and maximum.

.044 There has been some comment to the effect that any pension-cost provision is acceptable under section 4063 so long as it falls between the minimum and the maximum each year. This may be described as a bouncing-ball effect—that is, the pension-cost provision can bounce up and down between the two limits. This view of section 4063 is a mistaken one.

.045 Section 4063 contemplates that in all cases the provision for pension cost will be based on an acceptable actuarial cost method, with all variable factors consistently applied. Furthermore, the treatment of actuarial gains and losses, the actuarial assumptions and the like, should conform with the recommendations of section 4063, and should be applied consistently from year to year.

.046 As to past service cost, if the vested-benefit provision is not required, section 4063 contemplates that the company will select interest-only or some amortization plan not exceeding 10 per cent and apply whatever it selects consistently. If this is done, pension-cost provisions will not bounce around from year to year, unless caused by such factors as size, composition or compensation of the employee group. If the vested-benefit provision is required, it could cause some variations from year to year. However, as will be seen from the example given later, the effect is not likely to be material.

9. Computing the Defined Maximum

.047 In many cases, the maximum defined in section 4063 is the same as the maximum allowed for federal income tax purposes. Generally speaking, the Internal Revenue Service will allow a deduction for the normal cost of a qualified plan plus not more than 10 per cent of the past service cost. This is also the general maximum limitation included in section 4063. Differences between the maximum tax deduction and the maximum pension-cost provision can arise, however, as a result of unrealized appreciation or depreciation, or as a result of the application of the actuarial cost method. Probably the outstanding example of the latter is where the unit credit actuarial cost method is used for tax purposes. When this method is used, actuarial gains usually reduce the pension-cost deduction in the year they occur or in the following year. In these cases, it may be necessary to make accounting adjustments

to effect a spreading or averaging of the gains.

.048 It is important to note that the 10 per cent limitation applies separately to past service cost at the adoption of a plan and to changes in prior service cost that result from amendments of the plan. For example, disregarding interest equivalents, if a company adopts a pension plan with past service cost of \$100,000, the maximum accounting provision would be normal cost plus \$10,000 (10 per cent of \$100,000) of past service cost. If the company later amends the plan to increase benefits and the cost of the increased benefits related to service prior to the amendment is an additional \$50,000, the maximum would be normal cost plus \$15,000 (10 per cent of the total of \$150,000) until such time as the original past service cost has been fully amortized: after that time the maximum becomes normal cost plus \$5,000 (10 per cent of the \$50,000 increase). This can be significant when there is a series of increases in benefits over a period of time.

.049 As previously indicated, whenever the funding differs from the cost provision, the cost provision must be increased or decreased by interest equivalents on the difference between the amount provided and the amount funded. An illustration may be helpful. When a company adopts a pension plan, it may fund immediately all of the past service cost. It might do this, for example, in order to gain the advantage of the tax-free income from the investment of the funds by the pension trust. Because the pension-cost provision with respect to the past service cost is limited to 10 per cent, there will be a deferral on the balance sheet for the other 90 per cent. Again taking past service cost of \$100,000, \$10,000 would be included in the pension-cost provision for the year and the other \$90,000 would appear as a deferred charge. In this situation, the accrual for the following year would be reduced by the earnings of the \$90,000. If the assumed interest rate was 4 per cent, the cost provision for the succeeding year would

AC § U 4063.049

be reduced by \$3,600. Because of these reductions, the amortization period will be somewhat longer than ten years.

.050 Conversely, if the company decides to make the maximum pension-cost provisions but does not immediately make contributions to the fund or makes contributions in smaller amounts than provided, there will be an accrued pension cost on the balance sheet. The pension-cost provision for subsequent years should include an amount equivalent to interest on whatever amount is shown as an accrual on the balance sheet.

.051 Accounting for pension cost under the definedmaximum method is illustrated by Exhibit A, paragraph .059. The plan used in Exhibit A has the same past service cost, normal cost and benefits as the plan in Exhibit B, paragraph .060, to illustrate the defined-minimum method. The sameness can be seen in the initial data given under "Prior Service Cost," which is identical in the two exhibits. The pension fund, balance sheet and provision for pension cost are, of course, different. This would be expected to be so in practice. Taken together, the two exhibits illustrate how the defined maximum and minimum might differ for the same plan. Although an attempt was made to make the exhibits realistic, certain liberties were necessary to illustrate different factors in applying the two methods.

.052 Exhibit A would serve to illustrate other amortization methods by substituting the method to be used for the 10 per cent maximum.

10. Computing the Defined Minimum

.053 Under the defined-minimum method, the annual provision for pension cost is the total of normal cost, an amount equivalent to interest on any unfunded prior service cost, and, under certain conditions, a provision for vested benefits. The provision for vested benefits embraces an objective that differs from those generally found in present practice. It warrants some elaboration.

.054 First, it is essential to get a clear understanding of what is meant by "vested benefits." Vested benefits are defined in section 4063 as "benefits that are not contingent on the employee's continuing in the service of the employer." This is consistent with the assumption of a continuing pension plan for a company with indefinite life. The amount in the pension fund, therefore, has no effect in determining the total amount of vested benefits as contemplated under section 4063. The definition also excludes any escalation in the amount of benefits through plan-termination and similar provisions. Accordingly, "vested benefits" includes benefits that, as of the date of determination, are expected to become payable (a) to employees then retired, (b) to former employees then terminated and (c) to active employees to the extent that the benefits, or any portions thereof, are not contingent on continued employee service. The value of vested benefits is computed on a present-value basis, giving effect to the usual probability assumptions concerning mortality and retirement (and sometimes also to other assumptions), but not to turnover or future changes in levels of compensation.

.055 The Board concluded that pension-cost provisions should look forward in an orderly way to the creation of a pension fund or balance-sheet accrual at least equivalent to the actuarially computed value of vested benefits. That is, the employer ultimately should maintain a fund or accrual at least sufficient to allow the payment of all benefits to all its employees who have fulfilled all the service and age requirements to be entitled to such benefits whether or not the employees stay with the company.

.056 When provisions equivalent to the total of normal cost and the interest equivalents are made, the amount of pension cost that will be accumulated (whether funded or not) will vary widely depending on, among other things, the actuarial cost method selected and the relative ages of the employees of the company. The amount of vested benefits will vary widely, depending on the vesting terms of the plan. Some plans do not include any vesting prior to the employee's retirement. Other plans call for vesting immediately upon entry into the plan. Between these extremes there are many variations. Frequently a plan will call for vesting of a portion of the benefits when the employee has reached the age of 40 years and has ten years of service. Depending on the combination of these various factors existing in any particular case, the pension cost pro-

AICPA Professional Standards

AC § U 4063.056

vided on the basis of normal cost and interest may exceed the actuarially computed value of vested benefits at any and all times. In other situations, it may fall short of the actuarially computed value of vested benefits for a period of time, or forever.

.057 In many cases, the pension fund and balancesheet accrual may temporarily fall below the actuarially computed value of vested benefits but yet be based on an accounting method that will eventually satisfy this test. For example, when a plan is amended in a way that benefits are increased, the actuarially computed value of vested benefits may increase substantially and may exceed the pension fund and balance-sheet accrual. It may be, however—and this is not unusual—that continued cost provisions on the basis of normal cost and interest equivalents will in time again bring the pension fund and balancesheet accrual to the point that they exceed the actuarially computed value of vested benefits at the higher level.

.058 In recognition of this, the Board initially concluded that pension-cost provisions based on normal cost and interest equivalents would be acceptable if they would result over a reasonable period of time in a pension fund and balance-sheet accrual that would exceed the actuarially computed value of vested benefits. The Board adopted 20 years as a reasonable period for reaching this objective.

AC § U 4063.057 ... © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.059

EXHIBIT A Illustration of Defined-Maximum Method

	••••••		Year			
	1	2	3	4	5	
Prior Service Co	st (Same a	s Exhibit B):				
Beginning Increase at amendment of	\$88,000	\$ 90,000	\$100,000	\$110,000	\$164,000	A
plan				40,000		B
"Interest" growth Normal cost		3,600 8,000	4,000 8,000	6,000 11,500	6,560 11,500	4% of A + B C
(Less) benefits	8,000				•	
paid	(1,200)	(1,600)	(2,000)	(3,500)	(4,000)	D
Ending	\$90,000	\$100,000	\$110,000	\$164,000	\$178,060	
Pension Fund:						
Beginning	\$_0_	\$ 14,800	\$ 25,792	\$ 36,824	\$ 74,797	E
Earnings	_0	592	1,032	1,473	2,992	4% of E
Contribution (Less) benefits	16,000	12,000	12,000	40,000	25,000	F
paid	(1,200)	(1,600)	(2,000)	(3,500)	(4,000)	D
Ending	\$14,800	\$ 25,792	\$ 36,824	\$ 74,797	\$ 98,789	
Balance Sheet:						
Beginning Provision for	\$0	\$0	\$ 4,000	\$ 8,160	\$ (8,014)	G
pension cost (Less)	16,000	16,000	16,160	23,826	23,179	H
contribution	(16,000)	(12,000)	(12,000)	(40,000)	(25,000)	F
Ending	\$_0	\$ 4,000	\$ 8,160	\$ (8,014)	\$ (9,835)	
Pension-Cost Pr	ovision f	or the Yea	r:			
Normal cost	\$ 8,000	\$ 8,000	\$ 8,000	\$ 11,500	\$ 11,500	C
10% of past service cost 10% of prior service cost	8,000	8,000	8,000	8,000	8,000	10% of A, Yr. 1
on amendment of plan				4,000	4,000	10% of B, Yr.
"Interest" on difference between						
accruals and funding	0	0	160	326	(321)	4% of G
Provision for the year	\$16,000	\$ 16,000	\$ 16,160	\$ 23,826	\$ 23,179	н

Plan was adopted at beginning of year 1, amended to increase benefits at beginning of year 4.

Pension-cost provisions, benefit payments, and contributions are assumed to be made at the end of the year in computing "interest."

The assumed "interest" rate is 4% and there are no variations from this or any other actuarial assumptions.

1	n	c	•	ł
	J	U	х	,

EXHIBIT B Illustration of Defined-Minimum Method

			Vaar			
	1	2	rear 3	4	5	
Prior Service Cos	st (Same as	s Exhibit A):				
Beginning Increase at amendment	\$`80,000	\$ 90,000	\$100,000	\$110,000	\$164,000	A
of plan				40,000		В
"Interest" growth	3,200	3,600	4,000	6,000	6,560	4% of $A + B$
Normal cost (Less) benefits	8,000	8,000	8,000	11,500	11,500	C
paid	(1,200)	(1,600)	(2,000)	(3,500)	(4,000)	D
Ending	\$ 90,000	\$100,000	\$110,000	\$164,000	\$178,060	
Pension Fund:						
Beginning	\$0	\$ 10,000	\$ 20,000	\$ 30,200	\$ 44,628	E
Earnings	-0-	400	800	1,208	1,785	4% of E
Contribution (Less) benefits	11,200	11,200	11,400	16,720	16,744	F
paid	(1,200)	(1,600)	(2,000)	(3,500)	(4,000)	D
Ending	\$ 10,000	\$ 20,000	\$ 30,200	\$ 44,628	\$ 59,157	G
Unfunded Prior S	ervice Co	ost:				
Beginning	\$ 80,000	\$ 80,000	\$ 80,000	\$119,800	\$119,372	H = A + B - E
"Interest"						
thereon	\$ 3,200	\$ 3,200	\$ 3,200	\$ 4,792	\$ 4,775	l == 4% of H
Balance Sheet:						
Beginning Provision for	\$ —0—	\$0	\$ 200	\$ 428	\$ 469	1
pension cost (Less)	11,200	11,400	11,628	16,761	17,581	S
contribution	(11,200)	(11,200)	(11,400)	(16,720)	(16,744)	F
Ending	\$_0	\$ 200	\$ 428	\$ 469	\$ 1,306	К
Actuarially Comp Vested Benefits:	uted Vali	ue of				
Beginning Increase at amendment	\$ 10,000	\$ 19,000	\$ 28,750	\$ 40,000	\$ 75,000	L
of plan				20,000		M
"Interest" growth Benefits vested	400	760	1,150	2,400	3,000	4% of L + M
during year (Less) benefits	9,800	10,590	12,100	1 6 ,100	17,200	
paid	(1,200)	(1,600)	(2,000)	(3,500)	(4,000)	D
Ending	\$ 19,000	\$ 28,750	\$ 40,000	\$ 75,000	\$ 91,200	N
Excess of Vested Fund and Balance			sion			
Beginning excess	\$10,000	\$ 9,000	\$ 8,550	\$ 9,372	\$ 29,903	0 == L-E-J
Ending excess before addi- tional provision for vested						
benefits	9,000	8,750	9,800	30,372	32,043	P = N-G-K + I
Decrease (in- crease) during year	\$ 1,000	\$ 250	\$ (1 250)	\$ (21,000)	\$ (2,140)	Q
,		¥ 230	¥ (1,230)	¥ (21,000)	Ψ (2,14U)	×.

AC § U 4063.060

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

EXHIBIT B (continued) Illustration of Defined-Minimum Method

	•••••				Ye						
	_1	L		2		3		•		j	
Calculation of Ad or Vesteri Bandi	_		Pri	noision							
Test 1: 5% of beginning excess	\$		\$	450	\$	428	5	469	\$	1.495	(1) = 5% of 0
Test 2: Amount needed to re- duce beginning excess by 5% (not less than			_ <u>`</u> _				•	21 460	,		
) Test 3: 40 year	-	_0	•	200	•	1,678	•	21,469	•	3,033	(2) = (1)-Q
Test 3: 40-year amortization of past service cost of \$80,000	\$	4,041	\$	4,041	\$	4,041	\$	4,041	\$	4,041	
40-year amorti- zation of prior service cost of \$40,000 arising on amendment of the plan								2.021		2.021	
"Interest" on difference be- tween accruals								-,		_,	
and funding	-	_0		-0		8		17		19	4% of J
Total "interest" on	_	4,041		4,041		4,049		6,079		6,081	
unfunded prior service cost		3,200		3,200		3,200		4,792		4,775	I
Additional pro- vision under Test 3	\$	841	\$	841	\$	849	\$	1,287	\$	1,306	(3)
Additional pro- vision for vested benefits —Least of											
tests 1, 2, or 3	<u>\$</u> -	_0	\$	200	\$	428	\$	469	\$	1,306	R
Pension-Cost Pre	wł	sion fi	or 1	'ee r:							
Normal cost	\$	8,000	\$	8,000	\$	8,000	\$	11,500	\$	11,500	C
"Interest" on un- funded prior service cost		3,200		3,200		3,200		4,792		4,775	I
Additional pro- vision for											_
VISION I UN											
vested benefits Total provision		_0_		200	_	428		469 16,761		<u>1,306</u> 17.581	R S

Plan was adopted at beginning of year 1, amended to increase benefits at beginning of year 4. Pension-cost provisions, benefit payments, and contributions are assumed to be made at the end of the year in computing "Interest."

The assumed "interest" rate is 4% and there are no variations from this or any other actuarial assumptions.

.061 The exposure draft of section 4063 was written along these lines, and would have made necessary a 20-year projection of vested benefits. During the exposure period, a number of comments were received from actuaries and others to the effect that a 20-year projection would be impracticable because of the need for additional assumptions as to the future and because of the added expense of making the projection. While this view was not held by all actuaries, the practicalities of the matter could be served without destroying the accounting objective. This was done by establishing a current test that would not require projections for future periods of time.

.062 In general, the provision for vested benefits is designed to assure that any excess of the actuarially computed value of vested benefits over the pension fund and balance-sheet accrual will decrease by at least 5 per cent each year before taking into account any net increase during the year in the excess of vested benefits. Five per cent a year was selected because in the long run it produces substantially the same result as the original 20-year projection. A simple rule calling for a 5 per cent annual reduction would be unrealistic because it could require the provision to include all additional amounts becoming vested as a result of an amendment of the plan or of an abnormally large group of employees who attain higher vesting levels in any particular year. To avoid this undesirable result, the formula had to be more complex.

.063 There are two circumstances when a company need not be concerned with vested benefits in providing for pension cost. One is where the actuarial cost method does not develop a separate amount for past service cost. The other is where the provision comprises normal cost and amortization of past service cost over 40 or fewer years. In other words, consideration of any provision for vested benefits is necessary only in connection with actuarial cost methods that develop a separate amount for past service cost and then only in connection with a method that extends the amortization of that past service cost beyond 40 years. If past service cost is included in normal cost or is being amortized, the accumulated total pension cost provisions necessarily will equal or exceed the actuarially computed value of vested benefits at or before the time the past service cost is fully amortized. In the two circumstances described in this paragraph, the only concern about vested benefits is for disclosure if their actuarially computed value

AC § U 4063.062 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

exceeds the pension fund and balance-sheet accrual at the end of the year.

.064 Even if the circumstances just described do not exist, a provision for vested benefits may not be needed. Such a provision is not required under section 4063 unless the actuarially computed value of vested benefits exceeds the pension fund and balance-sheet accrual at both the beginning and the end of the year. In other words, if such an excess does not exist at either the beginning or the end of the year, no provision for vested benefits is required. Also, if the excess at the end of the year is at least 5 per cent less than the excess at the beginning of the year, no provision for vested benefits is required.

.065 On the other hand, if an excess exists at the beginning and at the end of the year and the ending excess is not at least 5 per cent less than that existing at the beginning of the year, a provision for vested benefits is required.

.066 The provision for vested benefits is the least of the following: (a) 5 per cent of the beginning excess, (b) the amount needed to reduce the beginning by 5 per cent or (c) an amount that would make the total pension-cost provision equal to that which would result if 40-year amortization of past service cost were used.

.067 Accounting for pension cost under the definedminimum method is illustrated by Exhibit B. As indicated earlier, the basic plan data under "Prior Service Cost" is identical with that in Exhibit A illustrating the definedmaximum method. It might be helpful to point out that the contributions shown in Exhibit B represent normal cost and the interest equivalents for each year plus any additional provision for vested benefits accrued at the end of the preceding year. In practice it is likely that the additional provision for vested benefits would be contributed, if at all, at the same time as the normal cost and interest equivalents for the year. Exhibit B was prepared as it is, however, so that the interest equivalent on the balancesheet accrual could be illustrated.

.068 As can be seen from Exhibit B, the value of the pension fund is an essential factor in the computations. Section 4063 does not specify how the fund should be valued.

The authors believe that the fund should be valued by the actuary in a manner consistent with the treatment given to investment gains and losses and unrealized appreciation and depreciation in computing the other elements of pension cost.

.069 For purposes of determining the excess of vested benefits, however, they believe that the pension fund may be valued at market even though the full amount of appreciation or depreciation has not been recognized in the pension-cost provisions. If so valued, methods should be employed to minimize the effects of short-term market fluctuations. Whatever valuation method is adopted should be followed consistently.

.070 In concluding the discussion about the definedminimum method, another general observation might be helpful. It is doubtful that the provision for vested benefits will be material to most companies using the definedminimum method. Where it is not material and continuing provisions of normal cost and interest equivalents are expected to meet the vested-benefits objective within 20 years, the authors believe it would be appropriate to omit the additional provision for vested benefits. Since that objective will be met without such additional provision, it seems reasonable not to vary the basic normal-cost-plusinterest pattern.

.071 Where the ultimate goal of the vested-benefits test will not be met without additional provisions for vested benefits, however, such provisions should be made even though they are not material in any given year. Here the cumulative effect of the additional provisions for the vested benefits becomes an important consideration.

.072 In view of the earlier discussions of differences between amounts accrued and amounts funded, and other matters that may result in the recognition of pension cost for accounting purposes in periods other than those in which it is recognized for tax purposes, it may be desirable, in concluding this article, to point out that section 4063 calls for appropriate consideration to be given to the allocation of income taxes among accounting periods.

13,122

AC § U 4063.069 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

PART II

11. Actuarial Cost Methods

.073 An actuarial cost method is an interest and annuity type of cost allocation that gives effect to probabilities affecting the amount and incidence of future pension benefits. Although the various methods were developed by actuaries primarily as funding techniques, most of them are also appropriate for accounting purposes. Section 4063 deals with the acceptability of these methods for accounting purposes.

.074 Five often-used actuarial cost methods are specifically deemed acceptable for purposes of providing for pension cost in financial statements, when these methods are applied in conformity with the other conclusions of section 4063. These five acceptable methods are listed in Exhibit C, paragraph .081. Other methods may also be acceptable if they are "rational and systematic" and result in a "reasonable measure of pension cost from year to year." "Pay-as-you-go" (which is not an actuarial cost method) and "terminal funding" are rejected because they do not recognize pension cost prior to retirement of employees.

.075 Several basic conditions apply to the use of any method. The method should be applied consistently from year to year, the amount recognized for past and prior service cost should be reasonably stable from year to year, and the actuarial assumptions should be reasonable for all factors that have a significant effect on the long-range estimates of pension cost. (Section 4063 does not specify all of the actuarial assumptions that may be necessary in pension-cost calculations. In fact, only the more commonly used assumptions are mentioned. The selection of assumptions should be related to the facts and circumstances of each pension plan and employee group.)

.076 There are two major aspects of actuarial cost methods that should be kept in mind. First, some methods deal with past and prior service cost as a separate item; other methods include any such cost in normal cost. Second, some methods (accrued benefit cost methods) assign cost based on specific benefits deemed to be earned ("earned," that is in the limited sense that the employee service on which such benefits are based has been rendered) by each employee; other methods (projected benefit cost methods) assign cost based on an allocated part of all projected future benefits for each employee or group of employees. These distinctions are shown in Exhibit C.

.077 Other differences between the methods generally relate to the treatment of prospective changes in compensation, the recognition of gains and losses, and the allocation of the cost on an individual or group basis. Further discussion of the various characteristics of the different methods is beyond the scope of this article. Each of the methods is discussed in section 4063A.

.078 As an aside, it might be well to point out that in determining the actuarially computed value of vested benefits (paragraphs .089-.098) for purposes of the definedminimum method or for purposes of disclosure, section 4063 contemplates that the accrued-benefit-cost-method approach will be used. This method, in its usual form, results in the determination of accumulated values based on service actually rendered and, if applicable, present compensation levels. When a projected benefit cost method (which takes into account estimated future service and future compensation) is used for accounting purposes, it may be necessary to compute separately or to approximate the actuarially computed value of vested benefits.

12. Actuarial Valuations

.079 Actuarial valuations are made as of a specific date. They may be used, however, for projections of results either forward or backward from that date. Consequently, the amount of pension cost for several periods may be estimated from a single actuarial valuation, sometimes in conjunction with the preceding valuation. Where shifts in employee age and service distributions and group size are not significant from year to year, it is possible for a single valuation to provide the foundation for pension-cost estimates for several years.

.080 An actuarial valuation will rarely be made as of the balance sheet date. Consequently, a computation of the actuarially computed value of vested benefits as of that date usually will not be available. Also, the value of the pension fund may be reported only as of the valuation date. Since a computation of the excess of the actuarially computed value of vested benefits over the total of the pension fund and net balance sheet accruals may be needed under section 4063 as of the end of the year (and sometimes also as of the beginning of the year), a practical problem is created when any of these amounts is not available as of that date. There are several possible solutions to this problem. The authors agree with the solutions indicated by Ernest L. Hicks in footnote 2 to Schedule 2 in his JOURNAL article. (*The Journal of Accountancy*, September, 1967, pp. 70-73.)

.081

EXHIBIT C

Acceptable Actuarial Cost Methods

	Past Service Cost		
	Separate Amount	Included in Normal Cost	
Accrued Benefit Cost Method—Unit credit	. X		
Projected Benefit Cost Methods:			
Entry age normal	. Χ		
Individual level premium		X	
Aggregate	•••	X	
Attained age normal	X		

. . . the appropriate as-of dates for the [actuarially computed value of vested benefits, pension fund, and net balance sheet accruals] will depend on the circumstances. Consistency is a primary consideration. Under one approach, the [actuarially computed value of vested benefits] would be as of the valuation date, and the amounts of the pension fund and net balance sheet accruals] would be as of the end of the employer's fiscal year. If the amount of the pension fund is regularly reported only as of the valuation date, it should be satisfactory for the [actuarially computed value of vested benefits and pension fund] to be as of that date; the [net balance sheet accruals] might then include the amount funded or accrued for the fiscal year, reduced by any portion funded before the valuation date. Under still another approach, all three amounts would be as of the valuation date. Only in very rare circumstances (such as when a material, extraordinary change in the level of vesting is known to have

AC § U 4063.081

taken place after the valuation date) would a valuation made within the employer's fiscal year be updated.

.082 The same basic actuarial cost method may be used for both funding and cost-provision purposes even when the funding and cost provisions differ. A single actuarial valuation could serve both purposes by applying auxiliary adjustments when necessary to comply with section 4063.

13. Actuarial Gains and Losses

.083 Actuarial gains and losses arise from changes in the assumptions concerning future events used in pensioncost estimates and from differences between the estimates based on the assumptions and the actual results. Important among such assumptions are those relating to:

- 1. The fund earnings (interest), including both realized and unrealized investment gains and losses
- 2. The turnover of the work force
- 3. The mortality of active and retired employees
- 4. Compensation levels, retirement ages and other factors concerning employees.

.084 As indicated in the previous article, the treatment to be accorded actuarial gains and losses under section 4063 is likely to cause one of the most significant changes from past practice. The elimination of significant year-to-year pension-cost fluctuations resulting from actuarial gains and losses is a major objective of section 4063.

.085 Actuarial gains and losses should be dealt with "in a manner that reflects the long-range nature of pension cost." Annual determinations of pension cost are necessarily estimates. Actuarial gains and losses are, at best, an indication of the short-term accuracy of the estimates and may themselves be estimates. There is no assurance that changes in assumptions or trends based on current experience will be valid for very long. Under section 4063, therefore, actuarial gains and losses are treated as if they were an integral part of the overall assumptions concerning the future.

AC § U 4063.082 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

method or by separate adjustments.

.086 Consistent with the view that pension costs are long-range costs, section 4063 holds that actuarial gains and losses should be spread in a consistent manner over a reasonable period of years or determined on some average basis, either through the routine application of the actuarial

.087 The spreading or averaging of actuarial gains and losses is accomplished by the normal application of some actuarial cost methods and, as a consequence, likely would be automatically recognized in accordance with section 4063. This is the result when the application of a method measures normal cost by allocating to the current and future years the difference between (1) the present value of all benefits expected to become pavable to current and former employees and (2) the value of the assets of the plan. Since these two values would normally comprehend any actuarial gains or losses, the actuarial gains and losses are thereby effectively spread. The pattern of spreading is complex, recognizing such factors as remaining service lives, compensation, and the various actuarial assumptions. Any of the projected benefit cost methods may be applied in this manner, although some may be applied differently.

.088 Net cumulative gains may also be spread by applying them to reduce the unamortized past or prior service cost before computing amortization or interest equivalents. Under section 4063 it is not acceptable to recognize actuarial gains in a manner that shortens the amortization period. Therefore, if past or prior service cost is being amortized, the reduced amount of unamortized past or prior service cost should be accounted for over the remaining amortization period. Since section 4063 calls for spreading over at least ten years, it would appear that this method should not be used if the remaining amortization period is less than ten years. It should be noted that section 4063 does not say that net cumulative losses may be added to past or prior service cost. If past or prior service cost is being amortized, however, and the remaining amortization period is between 10 and 20 years, there should be no objection to doing so.

14. What Should Be Included in the Actuarially Computed Value of Vested Benefits

Comments by Frederick P. Sloat, a member of the American Academy of Actuaries

.089 If a retirement benefit would stay with an employee if he were to terminate service on the valuation date, it is one that is "not contingent on his continuing in the service of the employer"; therefore, it is a "vested benefit" and its entire value should be included in the actuarially computed value of vested benefits. If the benefit would be forfeited upon such termination of service, none of its value is included.

.090 As an illustration of some of the situations that are frequently encountered, assume that the actuarial assumptions are such that—for 100 employees in a given group who have already met the age and service requirements for vesting and, thus, have vested benefits—the following is expected to happen:

Number who will stay in service and retire at normal retirement	50
Number who will stay in service and retire at early retirement	24
Number who will terminate service at the cur- rent or a future date and later receive re-	
tirement income	12
Number who will die while in service	10
Number who will terminate service at the cur- rent or a future date, but die before receiv-	
ing any retirement income	4
-	

100

.091 The value of the retirement benefits for the group will reflect each situation and the probability of occurrence and will be determined on the accrued benefit (unit credit) cost method. Thus, it will include the value of normal retirement benefits for the 50% who will retire at normal retirement, the value of early retirement benefits for the 24% who will retire at early retirement and the value of deferred benefits to be vested in terminating employees for the 12% who will terminate service and later receive retire-

AC § U 4063.089

ment income. It will, in effect, include nothing for the 10% expected to die in service or the 4% expected to terminate service and die without receiving benefits.

.092 A plan may provide a special benefit, greater than the actuarial equivalent of the normal retirement benefit, for an employee who terminates service after having met the service required by the plan for such special benefit. In the actuarial assumptions above, say that 30 of the 74 who will reach normal or early retirement will, at some earlier date, be eligible to receive this special benefit if they terminate service, that 9 of them now have the necessary service and that only 3 out of the 9 will be expected to so terminate. In such event, the value of the special benefit will be included only for this 3 per cent.

.093 If partial vesting were to apply in event of current termination, say 60 per cent of the total benefit, only that per cent of the total array of values is included, the other 40 per cent being omitted in the same way as for employees who would not be subject to current vesting.

.094 If vesting can be forfeited by the employee's election of a refund of his own contribution, the probability of such election should be taken into account.

.095 Even though a plan provides retirement benefits on a final average salary formula, the benefit for an employee terminating service would be based on current earnings. This is like partial vesting and only the value of benefits based on current earnings would be included.

.096 For plans that do not provide specific amounts of benefits for each year of service, the benefit that would apply in event of current termination of service would be included and valued on the accrued benefit cost method.

.097 A plan may include death, disability or other benefits in addition to retirement benefits; if such a benefit would no longer apply if the employee were to terminate service, its value would not be included with the value of vested benefits. If it would apply after vesting, however, the full value of such benefits would be included for those employees currently eligible for vesting. .098 Where the accrued benefit cost method is already being used, such as under regular group annuity funding, the value of vested benefits will usually be the value of all benefits (or the fractional portions of the benefits, in the case of partial vesting) for service to date for employees who have met the vesting requirements. Where any other actuarial cost method is being used, a corresponding accrued benefit cost method value is needed for all vested benefits.

15. Separate Adjustments for Actuarial Gains and Losses

.099 If actuarial gains and losses are spread or averaged as a separate component of the annual pension-cost provision, they are considered to be adjustments of the normal cost computed under the actuarial method in use. Spreading may be by simple straight-line allocation of each year's net gain or loss over a period of 10 to 20 years, or more complex methods may be used. A historical moving average may be used, or future expectations may be considered in conjunction with past and current experience in developing an average. The objective of avoiding significant year-to-year fluctuations should be a central consideration in selecting or evaluating any method of spreading or averaging.

.100 Exhibit D, paragraph .102, illustrates the application of a ten-year straight-line spreading technique and a five-year moving-average technique to given data. In practice it may not be necessary to record the adjustments annually. For example, if it were concluded that a difference of about \$5,000 between the actual and the spread or averaged gains and losses would not be material, deferrals would be needed in the Exhibit D illustrations only in years seven and nine, and the amounts deferred could be absorbed in a few years.

.101 A combination of techniques may be appropriate. For example, the spreading approach might be applied to items not expected to recur frequently, such as a change in the interest assumption, while averaging might be applied to such recurring items as mortality and turnover adjustments. Consistency of application from year to year is important.

AC § U 4063.098 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.102

EXHIBIT D

ACCOUNTING FOR THE COST OF PENSION PLANS

Application of Spreading and Averaging Techniques to Actuarial Gains and Losses

Spreading Technique—10-Year Straight-line Basis:

	·	Gain (Loss)	
Year	Actual	Applied to Reduce Provision	Deferred to Future Years
1	\$ 5,000	\$ 500	\$ 4,500
2	2,000	700	5,800
3	6,000	1,300	10,500
4	(1,000)	1,200	8,300
5	7,000	1,900	13,400
6	3,000	2,200	14,200
7	(8,000)	1,400	4,800
8	1,000	1,500	4,300
9	10,000	2,500	11,800
10	1,000	2,600	10,200

Averaging Technique—5-Year Moving-Average:

	Gain (Loss)			
Year	Actual	5-Year Total	Applied to Reduce Provision	Deferred to Future Years
-4 -3 -2 -1	\$ 1,000 4,000 (2,000) 3,000	See Note		
1 2 3	5,000 2,000 6,000	\$11,000 12,000 14,000	\$2,200 2,400 2,800	\$ 2,800 2,400 5,600
4 5 6	(1,000) 7,000 3,000	15,000 19,000 17,000	3,000 3,800 3,400	1,600 4,800 4,400
7 8 9	(8,000) 1,000 10,000	7,000 2,000 13,000	1,400 400 2,600	(5,000) (4,400) 3,000
10	1,000	7,000	1,400	2,600

Note: Before year 1, the gains and losses were recognized in the year of determination; they are used here, however, to develop a starting point in the averaging computation.

16. Unrealized Appreciation and Depreciation

.103 The effect of unrealized gains and losses in the pension fund frequently has been omitted from estimates of annual pension cost. In some cases, turnover of fund assets has caused the spread between cost and market value to be reasonably narrow, with little unrealized appreciation or depreciation. In other cases, however, the amounts have been significant.

.104 Under section 4063, unrealized appreciation or depreciation of pension-fund assets (other than debt securities expected to be held to maturity and redeemed at face value) is considered to be an element affecting fund earnings and, like other actuarial gains and losses, should be recognized in estimating pension cost. The objective to be met is a "rational and systematic basis that avoids giving undue weight to short-term market fluctuations." Unrealized appreciation or depreciation may be recognized by the spreading or averaging techniques described for other actuarial gains and losses or by other appropriate techniques. For example, unrealized appreciation and depreciation may be dealt with indirectly by adjusting the assumed rate of interest. Or, the value placed on fund assets for actuarial valuation purposes may be regularly adjusted to reflect an assumed long-term growth rate.

.105 Whether unrealized appreciation and depreciation are included with other actuarial gains or losses, or dealt with as a separate item, the method of determining the amount to be recognized is an important consideration. When unrealized appreciation or depreciation is spread or averaged in an appropriate manner, the total market value of the pension-fund assets may be used. In such circumstances, however, it would be desirable to have a continuing buffer guarding against a decline in market value of such magnitude as to cause the cumulative pension-cost reductions for appreciation to exceed the gain reasonably expected to be realized in the long run.

.106 When the amount of appreciation to be recognized annually as a reduction of pension cost is based on an assumed long-term growth rate, a buffer can be provided by limiting the total of cost and recognized appreciation to a specified portion of the fund's market value.

.107 Because current fluctuations in market value may be abrupt and frequent, section 4063 implies that appreciation need not be recognized if the carrying value of the fund is 75% or more of its market value; however, the 75% referred to in section 4063 is not intended to be a fixed rule.

AC § U 4063.104 (C) 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.108 Here, again, consistency from year to year is important.

17. Other Gain and Loss Considerations

.109 Under section 4063 certain actuarial gains and losses should be recognized in the year they occur. A characteristic of these gains and losses is that they "arise from a single occurrence not directly related to the operation of the pension plan and not in the ordinary course of the employer's business." The examples of these gains and losses given in section 4063 are those resulting from plant closings and business purchase acquisitions. A plant closing might give rise to an immediately recognizable gain to the extent of previous accruals made unnecessary by the elimination from the plan of people formerly employed at the closed plant.

.110 Employees coming into a plan by reason of an acquisition may make necessary immediate recognition of the additional cost. When purchase accounting is followed for the acquisition, any additional pension-cost accrual needed should be treated as an adjustment of the purchase price. On the other hand, when pooling-of-interests accounting is followed for an acquisition, the companies are assumed to be continuing their prior existence; therefore, any additional pension cost related to prior years' services should be treated like an increment of prior service cost arising on the amendment of a plan.

.111 Gains and losses that are immediately recognizable, it should be noted, do not arise from transactions relating to assets of the pension fund. As mentioned previously, these gains and losses are considered to be inherent in the long-range estimates of pension cost.

.112 In variable annuity and similar plans, the pension benefit formula gives effect to changes in the market value of a specified portfolio of equity investments in the fund. Consequently, the pension benefits themselves change with changes in such market values. Section 4063 recognized this type of plan by stating that pension-fund investment gains and losses should not have an effect in computing pension cost if they will be applied in determining pension benefits.

18. Changes in Accounting Method

.113 The section discussion of changes in accounting method refers only to changes from one acceptable method to another. The Board concluded that any adjustments arising from such a change should be recognized in the current and future years and should not be given retroactive effect.⁴ A change in accounting method includes any change in the actuarial cost method, in the method or period for dealing with past and prior service cost, or in the method or period for dealing with actuarial gains and losses or unrealized appreciation and depreciation. A change in assumptions is considered to reflect a new circumstance and hence is not a change in method: however, the accounting for changes in circumstance should, like changes in method, be given effect in the current and future years (except, of course, actuarial gains and losses resulting from changes in circumstances of the type previously discussed as being properly recognized in the year they occur). Both method and circumstance changes are subject to the disclosure recommendations of section 4063.

.114 The transitional procedure for change from a method previously considered acceptable under Accounting Research Bulletin No. 47 but no longer acceptable under section 4063 conforms with the general procedure set forth in section 4063 for a change from one acceptable method to another. The consequences of any such change are therefore also related by section 4063 to current and future cost estimates and should not be applied retroactively.

.115 Because of the complexities of determining initial past and prior service cost for employers who previously followed methods, such as pay-as-you-go and terminal funding, that do not comply with section 4063 and because of the need to deal with any inadequacies of cost previously recognized under these or other methods, the transitional procedure includes a "fresh start" approach. Any prior service cost not covered by the pension fund or balance sheet accruals at the date section 4063 is effective (or such earlier date as it is first applied) may be treated as though created by a plan amendment on that date. This approach

AC § U 4063.113 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

⁴ It should be noted that this conclusion of the Board appears to be controlling for purposes of applying section 1051, *Accounting Changes*. [As amended effective for fiscal periods beginning after July 31, 1971, by APB Opinion No. 20.]

may be used by any company, including those who can identify the various amounts of initial past and prior service cost. The 40-year amortization in the defined-minimum method may also be considered to begin at the effective date of section 4063.

.116 Any unamortized prior service cost as of the effective date of section 4063 should be computed under the actuarial cost method to be used for accounting purposes in the future.

19. Treatment of Overfunding

.117 Any overfunding existing at the effective date of section 4063 is to be treated as an actuarial gain in the same manner as any overfunding arising later. There is a distinction between (a) overfunding and (b) funding in excess of the amounts that would have been required under a method complying with section 4063. Overfunding refers only to a fund (together with unfunded accruals, less prepayments and deferred charges) that is in excess of all prior service cost assigned under the actuarial cost method to be used in the future. If a condition of overfunding exists, the amount of such overfunding is to be considered as an actuarial gain and spread to the future. As to (b), section 4063 rejects the reversal of pension cost recognized in prior years, even though recognized in amounts greater than necessary under section 4063.

20. Balance Sheet Presentation

.118 The amount to be included in the balance sheet as an accrued liability or a prepaid expense is usually the difference between the cost provisions and the amounts paid. Unamortized prior service cost should appear in the balance sheet only if it is a legal liability.

.119 A simultaneous asset and liability position should appear in the balance sheet whenever pension-plan arrangements impose a specific legal obligation that exceeds the total of the amounts paid or accrued. For example, if a company is liable for vested benefits, without limitation to amounts funded, accounting recognition of the unfunded, unaccrued portion of this obligation as a liability on the balance sheet is necessary; to the extent not appropriately

AC § U 4063.119

included in cost provisions, the cost of such benefits should appear as a deferred charge to operations of future periods.

.120 A practical way to account for such situations is to determine, at the end of each year, the amount of the legal liability not yet covered by the pension fund and balance sheet accruals. A liability and deferred charge equal to this amount would then be recorded (or the corresponding amounts as of the end of the preceding year adjusted for the net change) and classified with any other pensioncost accruals and deferred charges appearing in the balance sheet.

21. Disclosure

.121 The Board concluded that the effect of the typical pension plan is of such magnitude as to be a material consideration in evaluating financial position and results of operations and should therefore be disclosed. There may be cases, however, where the effect of the pension plan is not such as to require disclosure—for example, plans covering only a relatively small portion of the employees.

.122 Disclosure of the amount of unamortized past or prior service cost, as is often found in present practice, is not necessary under section 4063.⁵ There are several reasons for the Board's conclusion. As discussed earlier, past and prior service cost is not derived in all actuarial methods. Also, some methods assign a greater past or prior service cost than would be assigned under the unit credit method for benefits based on age, compensation, salary and other conditions existing at the end of the year. As a result, the amount of past or prior service cost could vary considerably-or be non-existent-without any differences in either facts or assumptions, depending entirely on the actuarial cost method used. For these reasons, disclosure of unamortized past or prior service cost may be misleading to some and may not be useful for meaningful analysis by others.

.123 In lieu of disclosure of unamortized past or prior service cost, the Board recommended the disclosure of the

AC § U 4063.120 C 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

⁶ However, at the time of the authors' last contact with the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Commission had not changed its requirements for the disclosure of unfunded or otherwise unprovided for past or prior service cost.

excess of the actuarially computed value of vested benefits over the total of the pension fund and any balance sheet accruals, less any pension prepayments or deferred charges. The disclosure of such excess of vested benefits is meaningful because it should be comparable among companies, except for real distinctions between plan arrangements and employee groups, and because it relates directly to the minimum objective section 4063 sets forth for all plans. This disclosure may be necessary even though the definedminimum method is not being followed; in fact, it could conceivably be necessary when the defined-maximum method is used-for example, upon adoption or amendment of a plan, a large portion of the past and prior service cost could represent vested benefits if the plan calls for early vesting. When the company has several plans, the disclosures may be presented in summary form.

22. Regulated Industries

.124 Section 4063 does not refer specifically to regulated industries. The absence of any such reference makes section 4063 applicable to companies in regulated industries within the framework of the principles set forth in section 6011.

23. Employees Included

.125 Section 4063 calls for inclusion in the pensioncost computations of data for all employees who may reasonably be expected to receive benefits under a pension plan. This should be done without regard to technical "eligibility." Extreme situations found in practice illustrate the need for this conclusion of the Board. In some plans, employees are not "eligible" for coverage or, for other reasons, data for them are not included in the cost calculations until they reach age 35 or 40, or until they have 10 or 15 years of service. In some plans, "eligibility" may not occur until the time of actual retirement. Pension-cost provisions that exclude data for employees who may reasonably be expected to receive benefits could be substantially smaller than the appropriate provision for the year.

.126 However, the combination of low unit cost for the younger employees and the high turnover often experienced frequently results in relatively small amounts of

pension cost for the employees excluded from the cost calculations. The cost applicable to excluded employees also tends to be offset by the higher cost provided for employees included. The net effect of exclusion is unlikely to be material in plans where the period of exclusion is only two or three years. Where the exclusion is based on a longer period of service, or is based on an age factor, the possibility of material effect is increased. When the effect is not material, employees may be omitted from the cost computations during their early years of service. Although materiality is always pertinent in applying Board Opinions, the Board covered the point explicitly in this case.

.127 In this connection, it should be remembered that materiality should be judged in relation to results of operations and financial position rather than in relation to the pension-cost provision itself.

24. Several Plans

Many companies have more than one pension .128 plan. Sometimes each plan covers a different group of employees, but often two or more plans cover a portion or all of the same employee group. Generally, each plan should be considered a separate accountable undertaking and should not be combined for purposes of determining compliance with section 4063. However, two or more plans covering substantial portions of the same employee group may be combined for that purpose if "the assets in any of the plans ultimately can be used in paying present or future benefits of another plan or plans." For example, upon a major revision of the pension structure, a new plan may be established to provide benefits for service after its effective date, with the old plan continuing to provide benefits for service previously rendered. In this situation, if any assets ultimately remaining in the old plan could be used to provide benefits under the new plan, the two could be treated as one in applying section 4063.

.129 A different accounting method may be used for each plan so long as each method conforms with section 4063.

AC § U 4063.127 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

25. Multiemployer Plans

.130 Often multiemployer plans combine a cents-perhour or similar defined contribution with stated benefits. The movement of employees among employers and the differing employee age and service distributions that exist among employers make it difficult, if not impossible, to correlate the defined contribution with the cost of the stated benefits related to employees' services for any individual employer. Any future adjustment of the defined contributions would be negotiated with all employers—not separately with an individual employer based only on his experience. Hence, the defined contribution ordinarily would be the best available measure of pension cost.

26. Insured Plans

.131 Insured plans generally use one of three contract forms: (1) individual policies (cost usually determined under the individual level premium method), (2) group deferred annuity contracts (cost usually determined under the unit credit method, but generally without a turnover factor) and (3) group deposit administration contracts (similar to a trust-fund arrangement-cost may be determined by any of several actuarial cost methods). The following discussion is directed to those insured plans that use only individual policies or group deferred annuity contracts as the basis for determining pension cost and for funding the plan. Employers having such plans for small employee groups are unlikely to have ready access to actuarial advice. Group deposit administration contracts are not discussed because they should be accounted for in the same manner as noninsured plans.

.132 Most of the factors of pension-cost estimation are present in plans using individual policies and group deferred annuity contracts. Some of the factors may not be apparent because they are included in the determination of the premium structure or are dealt with subsequently as "dividends" or "termination credits."

.133 Individual policies usually include past or prior service cost in normal cost whereas group deferred annuity contracts usually deal with it as a separate factor which may be paid in varying amounts at the employer's discretion. In the latter case, separate adjustments may be needed to comply with section 4063.

.134 Because policy dividends generally arise from "averaged" gains of the insurance company, these dividends may be applied to reduce the provision for pension cost in the year received or credited if they do not vary significantly from year to year. If they do, a further averaging or spreading should be applied for accounting purposes.

.135 Problems in accounting for many insured plans arise in respect to termination credits and the period before coverage. Termination credits arise when, as is typical, a turnover assumption is not used. In these cases, some of the cash values built up or the premiums paid for employees who leave before their benefits have vested will be returned in the future as termination credits. The period before coverage is often set to exclude employees during the high turnover period that immediately follows employment; if so, future termination credits will tend to be minimized. When termination credits occur, they should be spread or averaged if necessary to avoid significant yearto-year fluctuations in pension-cost provisions.

.136 The most difficult problem in accounting for the cost of insured plans arises in cases where the financial statements would be materially affected by the omission of pension cost applicable to employees during the early years of their employment. In these cases, it will be necessary to estimate an additional pension-cost provision for the omitted employees. A reasonable estimate for accounting purposes often may be made without an actuarial valuation and without using an actuarial cost method.

.137 Before setting out to estimate what the additional pension-cost provision would be for omitted employees, it would usually be desirable to take a look at the broad picture of the plan, including the employee group and the premiums paid, to see whether the *entire* pension cost is material to the company's operations and financial position. There are cases where the provision for pension cost could be doubled or tripled without its having any material effect on the financial statements. .138 Although the authors are unable to cite any statistics, their discussions with members of the actuarial and accounting professions, as well as their own experience, have led them to believe that the omission of pension cost for employees during the early years of employment is not likely to have a material effect on the financial statements in many cases, particularly for smaller companies.

.139 A simple test of materiality could be made by estimating the additional pension-cost provision for omitted employees to be that proportion of the premiums due for the year which the number (or compensation) of omitted employees bears to the corresponding amount for included employees. The resulting estimated amount (which usually would be larger than a refined estimate) could be compared with income before taxes and other pertinent factors to determine materiality. A variation of this approach could be to base this estimate on only the proportion of omitted employees expected to remain with the company until they become insured.

.140 If preliminary tests indicate that the effect of omitting employees is material, or leave the matter in doubt, more refined techniques should be applied. Should this be necessary, the following techniques are possible ways to deal with the problem.

.141 For each employee not yet covered, the estimated premiums to be paid after coverage could be totaled and then accrued by allocation over his remaining service life. The estimated premiums might be obtained from the insurance agent or based on the premiums being paid for the voungest covered employee. Premiums paid after coverage could be charged against the accrual. If the employee subsequently terminates, any amount accrued in excess of premiums paid would be treated as an additional termination credit. In time, this form of accounting would include all covered employees in the cumulative accruals. This approach could be modified by excluding employees with less than two or three years of service if the effect, giving due regard to turnover, were not material. Interest equivalents on the accruals should be added if the effect would be material.

.142 Another approach would be to estimate what the premium would be if the employees were covered immediately after employment. This amount could be accrued during the years prior to coverage, and the amount thus accumulated could be spread to the years after coverage as a credit against premiums charged to expense. Again, interest equivalents on the accruals should be added if the effect would be material.

.143 The effect of turnover, in rather simple form, could be applied by a variation of the approaches just discussed. Assume, for example, that the computations are to exclude data for employees who do not have one full year of service, and that the plan coverage begins after five years of service. Further assume that, say, 25 per cent of employees with one year's service are expected to continue in service and become covered. In the four years before coverage, the additional cost for employees after one year of service could be based on 25 per cent of the total amount computed for the year the employees attained one full year of service. If the company had ten employees attaining one year's service in the current year and the estimated annual premium for each was \$200, the additional cost would be \$500 $(10 \times $200 \times 25\%)$. This amount would be accrued each year before coverage even though one or more of the employees terminated. In the first year of coverage and thereafter, the accruals during the preceding four years could be spread over the average remaining service lives of any of the ten employees who are still active, or the accruals could be spread as actuarial gains.

.144 The procedures suggested do not include all of the factors that could be applied in computing the pension cost applicable to employees in years before coverage. Adjustments for such actuarial factors as past service cost and interest or annuity computations could be introduced. These would increase the complexity of the computations and likely would require the services of an actuary.

.145 The additional cost provision for vested benefits, or disclosure of vested benefits, would not normally be a problem with individual policy plans. It is not likely that benefits vest before the benefits are covered by premium

AC § U 4063.142

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

payments. This factor should be reviewed, however, for possible applicability to these plans.

27. Conclusion

.146 In conclusion, the authors would like to express a thought that may seem inconsistent with much of what has been said in this and the preceding article. Many of the rules and formula-type parts of section 4063 represent virgin territory in accounting for the cost of pension plans. Nevertheless, the accounting followed by most companies heretofore probably will conform with section 4063 in all material respects. There will be many cases, of course, where important changes will have to be made. By and large, these will be cases where the CPA has already been concerned about the pension cost but has not taken a strong stand because of what he has found to be generally accepted in practice. Section 4063 should change that.

.147 The authors hope that section 4063 will not be viewed as a rule-bookish structure that encloses the accountant in a maze of formulas limiting the exercise of judgment to interpretation, but rather that it will prove to be a working tool that will result in a substantial step forward in accounting for the cost of pension plans.

ACTUARIAL CONSIDERATIONS INVOLVED IN PENSION COST UNDER SECTION 4063

By Frederick P. Sloat

28. Questions and Answers

.148 Section 4063 requires wider understanding of the actuarial, as well as of the accounting, procedures applicable in accounting for the cost of pension plans. The accountant's efforts in determining a proper charge for annual pension expense and the actuary's role in this undertaking must, of course, be closely co-ordinated.

.149 From the actuarial view, section 4063 has stimulated many questions whose answers will more clearly delineate the actuarial responsibility in accounting for pensions. A representative selection of questions and answers follows.

.150 Why does section 4063.07 state that "generally pension cost should be determined from a study by an actuary"?

.151 The computations for a pension plan to take into account the financial effects of expected future occurrences are performed by actuarial techniques and require actuarial judgment. The determination of pension cost has always been considered a function of the actuary.

.152 Has section 4063 altered any concepts held by pension technicians?

.153 Many of us who have been involved with pensions have become so used to considering the cost of a pension plan to be whatever an employer has funded that we are surprised to find that this may not be the only way to measure its cost. The amounts paid toward funding are governed by tax considerations and also by a company's cash position. The former must bear some overall relationship to pension costs, but not necessarily on a year-by-year correlation. As to the latter, cash considerations need not relate to a year's pension costs.

.154 What is the basis of the terminology used for pension cost matters?

AC § U 4063.148 (© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.155 Pension plan development has evolved without a precise terminology so that the same words have come to mean different things, and many concepts have a variety of names. Regardless of the terms used, it would be very desirable if each term meant only one thing and if each concept had only one name. For any particular undertaking, a glossary may be needed. The Committee on Pension and Profit-Sharing Terminology 1 of the American Risk & Insurance Association is working to develop a more precise terminology: the American Institute of CPAs' research study, the foundation for section 4063, incorporated many of the committee's terms, including those that had already been promulgated and those that were being developed. Older terms were also used in the study, recognizing the needs of the accounting profession and others to relate the study to familiar terms. Section 4063 continued this approach, and section 4063 and its glossary are consistent with proposals of the Committee on Pension and Profit-Sharing Terminology.

.156 Section 4063 is obviously intended to apply to any arrangement whereby a company undertakes to provide its employees with retirement benefits. Section 4063 specifies that deferred compensation contracts and profitsharing plans must be treated as pension plans in certain situations. How do you decide whether these arrangements are equivalent to a pension plan?

.157 Section 4063 would apply to deferred compensation contracts if such contracts, taken together, are equivalent to a pension plan. This will not apply in many instances where deferred compensation contracts exist, but auditors may need to investigate this type carefully. As to the deferred profit-sharing plan, section 4063 would apply to the extent that such an arrangement is, in substance, a pension plan or part of one. An example might be a profitsharing plan providing minimum pension benefits. If an arrangement is deemed to be in the nature of a pension plan, the actuarial considerations relating to pensions are applicable.

.158 How about a pension plan where the cost is incurred in a foreign country?

¹ Mr. Sloat is a member of this committee.

.159 Section 4063 says it would apply if the cost is included in financial statements prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. The cost of a plan for a wholly owned foreign subsidiary of a United States company, when included in a consolidated income statement, would be an example. Section 4063 refers, however, to plans that are reasonably similar to those contemplated by it. Thus, there may be bona fide conditions that make an exception necessary; for example, where plans may be affected by foreign laws quite unlike those of this country.

.160 Section 4063 refers to various methods of determining pension cost. Why is there more than one method?

.161 Pension benefits are spread over many years and depend on many factors. A man works for a number of years and the amount of his pension, the payment of it and the period over which it will be paid depend upon future events. If the problem were simply to provide for a fixed payment over a fixed number of years at a fixed rate of investment return, the cost would be definitely determinable, and the only problem would be its allocation to each year he worked. But, under a pension plan, none of these factors are fixed, and problems arise because of the plan's longterm nature and because educated guesses have to be made to measure the probable effect of the contingencies. If an employee works for a company from 1930 to 1970 and retires, his pension payments begin in 1970 and will continue for approximately 15 years. The purpose of an actuarial valuation is to provide for pension payments in advance of retirement. More than one logical method exists for doing this over the 1930-70 period.

.162 If the employer doesn't get around to setting up a plan until 1960 and then amends it in 1969, why should the cost relate to the years of employment and not to 1970, for an employee who retires in that year, or over the years after 1970 when the pension is being paid out?

.163 Pension costs are deemed to be associated to a large extent with the plan itself rather than with specific employees. The actuarial computations take into consideration employees who are already at or near retirement as part of the past or prior service costs to be amortized.

AC § U 4063.159

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.164 How about the actuarial cost methods that are mentioned neither in the body of section 4063 nor in section 4063A?

.165 There are some methods that are disguised forms of terminal funding, such as meeting pension costs only when employees have reached the earliest age at which they can retire—say, 55. If the valuation includes all employees, other than those with relatively short service and those who are at the young ages where only short-service employees would be found, the actuarial cost method would undoubtedly be an adaptation of one or more of those methods contemplated in section 4063.

.166 How would the auditor know which method was being used?

.167 He should ask the actuary whether the method being used is one of those described in section 4063A or is identifiable as an adaptation or variation of one of such methods.

.168 Since the actuarial cost method is just a beginning, aren't there many variations, depending upon the combination of actuarial assumptions?

.169 Yes. Unreasonable assumptions can destroy the appropriateness of any method. There is usually, however, quite a wide range in which the assumptions can reasonably be located. A familiar and easy illustration is the interest rate. Currently, a rate of 2 per cent or of 10 per cent, taking two extremes, would obviously be illogical. But, given a particular situation, it is difficult to say that any rate within a range of from $3\frac{1}{2}$ per cent to 5 per cent would be unacceptable.

.170 As section 4063 carefully distinguishes between funding and accounting, will the actuarial basis be the same for each? If not, the auditor will want to know why one basis is used for funding and another for accrual of cost.

.171 Many companies have become accustomed to the flexibility available in determining the annual payments for funding and for tax purposes. In light of the year-to-year consistency requirement in accounting under section 4063, these companies may well have to use a different approach.

A company may also want to take a cautious tack and set a method and use assumptions that will produce lower accrual costs because of a feeling that it will have to stick with whatever it starts with when bad years occur. It is important for such companies to be informed by their accountants as to what would be involved in making future changes in the actuarial bases of determining accruals.

.172 Section 4063 refers to averaging gains and losses. How is an averaging method applied?

.173 You would need the experience of prior years as a guide. If there have been successive gains, let's say, by the fund earning an average of one-half per cent over the assumed rate, the average amount would be anticipated next year and the cost accrual reduced accordingly.

.174 If the gain in a particular year isn't the same as the average being used, how do you treat the difference?

.175 Over some period, the differences will have to be taken into account, to the extent that the average and the actual gains or losses do not offset each other.

.176 Doesn't this have the same effect as using different actuarial assumptions?

.177 Yes, but with averaging they are not projected into the future, and the expected averaging is readily modified from year to year as experience unfolds. Incidentally, averaging can be the most useful where an employer has been following the immediate recognition basis and can no longer do this under section 4063. If the employer starts to spread his gains over the approved 10- to 20-year period, only a small part of one year's gains can be used the first year. The next year there will be another segment of the first-year gains plus the first segment of the second-year gains—resulting in a pyramiding effect. Averaging will obviate this effect or at least diminish it.

.178 Section 4063.36 provides that if employees are omitted from the calculations because of age or length of service, or for other reasons, they should be included in the pension cost, unless the effect of omitting them is not material. Can the actuary satisfactorily estimate the effect of this situation without making an actual calculation?

AC § U 4063.172 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.179 Generally, the actuarial assumptions include the expected rates of service termination. If done precisely, the rates would vary with length of service as well as with age, with very high rates in the first year or two of employment. If employees with only one or two years of service are included, use of realistic termination rates would very likely show their cost to be negligible.

.180 What about plans that have an age eligibility clause, such as 25 or 30?

.181 Here, the difference might be more significant, just as it could be with a relatively long service requirement. In some instances, the actuary might feel that he has sufficient knowledge of the trends to estimate the probable maximum effect of omitting the employees. Often, however, he would need the valuation data for omitted employees to gauge the effect, particularly with a high age limit, such as 30 or over.

.182 What basis should be used for valuing the pension fund to determine the amount of excess vested benefits over the fund?

.183 Since this was left unspecified in section 4063, it is in order to use current market values or some other basis giving a proper current measure of the assets on hand. The effect of following the chosen method in subsequent years should be given consideration.

.184 The disclosure provision (section 4063.46) requires a company to show the excess of the value of vested benefits over amounts funded or accrued. Why does section 4063.17 take vesting into account only when calculating accruals under the minimum method?

.185 If past service cost is being amortized, the value of all vested benefits will be recognized at some point along the amortization schedule. But if it is not being amortized, the actuarial value of vested benefits might never be fully recognized or, if the amortization period is too long, recognition could be prolonged. Since vesting recognition can be accomplished by amortizing past or prior service cost, it was a logical step to limit the vesting increment to that which would be available in the event of amortization over the longest period that would not be considered as unduly

AC § U 4063.185

prolonging the recognition of vested benefits, set by section 4063 as 40 years. This has the effect of saying that, if past service is being amortized over a period of no longer than 40 years, the minimum test will automatically be met.

.186 A company is not using minimum accrual and believes that available assets exceed the value of vested benefits so that disclosure of any excess is not needed. Can the actuary estimate whether there is any excess of value of vested benefits over assets without making some detailed calculations?

.187 In many cases he can. It is not possible to set up rules or guides, but an actuary will often be able to do so in particular situations. It is much like a doctor making a medical diagnosis. He notes various symptoms and has acquired a certain intuition from years of observation and a well-developed sixth sense. Where the actuary is able to state that, in his professional judgment, the assets equal or exceed the value of vested benefits, it can be accepted. The probable error in such a test should be well within the range of materiality.

.188 Does the actuarial value of vested benefits call for any amounts that are not already incorporated in the actuarial valuation of a plan?

.189 No. Such amounts, however, would not usually be identified separately and therefore will need to be isolated for purposes of section 4063. It is this difficult separation that causes the problems in reprograming valuation computations.

.190 A plan may include death, disability or other benefits in addition to retirement benefits. Are these included in the value of vested benefits?

.191 If such a benefit no longer applied if the employee were to terminate service, its value need not be included with the value of vested benefits. If the benefit continued to apply after termination of service, it would be included. Note that the value of vested benefits does not just mean the value of the benefits for those employees who will terminate service and take their vested benefits with them. Rather, it is the full value of providing such of the benefits, regardless of when they will become payable (but with actuarial account taken of the probability of pay-

AC § U 4063.186

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

ment in various situations), which benefits could become payable even if termination of the employee's service occurred on the valuation date. [ED. NOTE: This is described in more detail by Mr. Sloat in paragraphs .089-.098.

.192 For minimum accrual of vested benefits, it is necessary to know their value at the beginning and at the end of the year. What if the company doesn't have this figure at the beginning of the year, as may be the case in this first year of applying section 4063?

.193 The figure would normally not be available at the first of the year and it would be costly to obtain during the first year of section 4063's application. There seem to be several possible alternatives. One is to add 5 per cent of the year-end excess value of the vested benefits; this would always be equal to or greater than the precise amount required. Another alternative is to use a 40-year amortization amount; this can never be *less* than the amount required. Whether use of the correctly calculated amount in the next year requires any footnote reference indicating a change in accounting method is the auditor's responsibility. In most cases, the footnote could probably be omitted because the effect of the change is immaterial. But, again, that is the auditor's final determination in each case.

.194 Take the case of a company with a small number of employees and whose pension plan utilizes individual life policies. Will this employer have to hire an actuary to comply with section 4063?

.195 No. Section 4063.41 is intended to recognize this situation. The amount of the premiums less dividends under the policies is a satisfactory basis of pension cost. Gains arise in the form of dividends on the policies, and these are usually determined by insurance companies to maintain a reasonable level trend year by year. Since the dividends are based on the experience of large blocks of policies, they are not affected by fluctuations that tend to occur in a small group. Thus, section 4063.41 says: Premiums less dividends comply with the purposes of section 4063.

.196 What happens when employees terminate their service and the surrender values of their policies are returned to the company? .197 That is a different matter. Surrender values fluctuate with the experience under the plan and can be substantial in some years, sometimes enough to pay all the premiums for a year or more. This is the kind of situation that requires spreading. A 10- to 20-year range is indicated by section 4063.

.198 What is the situation with respect to employees who are not yet eligible for the plan, say, where eligibility is something like two years of service and age 30?

.199 Here, again, it's a question of doing without an actuary. The company or the auditor can probably make a pretty fair estimate of what the maximum cost could be for those employees by taking the premium for the youngest employee at age 30 and using it for the ineligible employees. If this calculation produces a total amount that is not considered material, that is an adequate test because it's bound to be on the high side. If it is material, a closer estimate is needed; here the insurance broker selling the policies might be able to help.

.200 What about a group annuity contract a small client might have?

.201 The dividends might fluctuate more, but section 4063 notes that, even here, the insurance company procedure usually furnishes acceptable results.

.202 Where a company has a separate fund used to build up sums to provide additional retirement income other than that available from the group annuity contract or the individual policies, how is it handled?

.203 The special provisions of section 4063.41 apply only where individual policies or group annuity contracts are used exclusively. When you have a plan with a separate fund, then you are in the same position as with a trust or deposit administration plan. The individual policy or the group annuity contract is just part of the total operation of the plan. This plan would probably need an actuary —but may already have some actuarial help, perhaps from the insurance company to determine the amounts for the separate fund.

 \implies The next page is 13,201. \leftarrow

AC § U 4063.197 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

AC Section U4064

Deferred Compensation Contracts: Accounting Interpretations

1. Accounting for Key-Man Life Insurance

.001 Question—Is the "ratable charge" method of accounting for the cost of nonterm life insurance policies on corporate officers an acceptable accounting method?

.002 Answer—No, the ratable charge method is not acceptable for use by a corporation to account for the cost of officers' life insurance policies. Under this method, the net cost of the policy (total premiums to be paid minus total cash surrender value for a paid-up policy) is amortized over the life of the policy by the straight-line method, producing a "level" annual charge. The method assumes that a critical unknown—the length of time an officer will remain in the corporation's employment—can be predicted with much greater certainty than is usually justifiable. If the policy should be discontinued prior to the payment of all scheduled premiums (for example, because of termination of the officer's employment or a change in management's policies), the ratable charge method would result in a "writeoff" of a large unamortized deferred charge.

.003 The generally accepted method of accounting for nonterm insurance on the life of a corporate officer is to charge the increase in the cash surrender value of the policy to an asset account and to charge the remaining balance of the annual premium to expense. Advocates of the ratable charge method cite the large charges to expense under the generally accepted method in the early years of a policy as being too conservative and inconsistent with the "matching" and "going concern" concepts in accounting.

.004 Admittedly the generally accepted method is conservative, but it reflects the economic realities of the transaction. And "matching" should not be confused with "leveling." Finally, the going concern concept recognizes that businesses continue in existence, but the fact that a business continues is not an argument for deferring costs unless a future period will in fact be benefited.

[Issue Date: November, 1970.]

₩ → The next page is 13,301. < - ₩

AC Section U4091

Accounting for Income Taxes: Accounting Interpretations of Section 4091

1. Accounting for Income Tax Surcharge Rate Changes

[.001] (Section U 4091.001-.005 deleted from Volume 1.) By Donald J. Bevis and Raymond E. Perry

INTRODUCTION

2. Historical Development

.006 The issuance of section 4091, *Income Taxes*, represents the culmination of many years of study and consideration. Section 4091 is the most complete and authoritative statement ever issued on the subject. In many respects, it is a codification of practices followed by many companies in the past, although these practices were not necessarily expressed in official pronouncements.

.007 The principal problems in accounting for income taxes arise from transactions that affect the determination of net income for financial accounting purposes in one reporting period and the computation of taxable income in a different reporting period. The practice of interperiod allocation of income taxes has evolved for more than twenty-five years, particularly since the enactment of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1954 which permitted the use of accelerated depreciation methods for tax purposes. As would be expected when an accounting procedure develops over a long period of time, various approaches to allocation have been followed by different companies. The objective of section 4091 is to provide guidelines to cover the recognition and presentation of income taxes in financial statements.

.008 After several years of research by Professor Homer A. Black, with the assistance of the Accounting Research Division of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Accounting Research Study No. 9, *Interperiod Allocation of Corporate Income Taxes*, was published in May 1966. Concurrent with publication of the Study, a subcommittee of the Accounting Principles Board began consideration of the subject. The subcommittee pre-

AC § U 4091.008

sented a point outline of the substantive issues involved for consideration by the Board before drafting section 4091. Numerous discussions were held within the Board, with extensive consideration by the subcommittee between Board meetings.

.009 In the summer of 1967, the subcommittee held informal meetings with more than twenty industry associations, user groups, and government agencies.

.010 Subsequently, a public exposure draft of section 4091 was distributed to members of the AICPA, listed companies, and others. Approximately 1,000 letters of comment were received and considered by the Board. A substantial number of the letters objected to a proposed requirement that realized investment credits be deferred and amortized over the life of the related property. As a result and in order to permit further study, particularly of transition problems, the Board deleted that section from the proposed section. Accordingly, section 4094, dealing with the "Investment Credit", continues in effect.

.011 Section 4091 was issued in December 1967, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967. The conclusions significantly modify the views previously expressed by the predecessor Committee on Accounting Procedure and by the Board and vary in some important respects from the recommendations of Accounting Research Study No. 9.

3. Subjects Included in Section 4091

.012 Section 4091 reaffirms the general concept that "income taxes are an expense of business enterprises earning income subject to tax." By definition, income taxes include taxes based on income determined under provisions of the United States Internal Revenue Code and foreign, state and other taxes (including franchise taxes) based on income.¹

.013 The major subjects covered by section 4091 are (1) interperiod allocation of income tax expense because of

AC § U 4091.009

¹ In some situations (such as for the State of California), application of section 4091 requires the current accrual of certain taxes measured by income in the years the income is earned, even though the taxes constitute a fee for the privilege of doing business in a succeeding period and are payable in that period.

timing differences, (2) accounting for operating loss carrybacks and carryforwards, and (3) financial statement presentation of income taxes, including allocation within a period (intraperiod allocation).

.014 The Board also reaffirmed its conclusion, expressed in section 4092, that deferred taxes should not be accounted for on a discounted basis pending further study of the broader aspects of discounting as it is related to financial accounting in general.

.015 Section 4091, as in the case of all other Opinions of the Board, is not intended to apply to immaterial items.

4. Exclusions from the Section

.016 As mentioned previously, accounting for investment credits continues to be governed by section 4094. However, in applying section 4091, consideration should be given to the effect of investment credits in certain situations not covered in those sections, as discussed in this article.

.017 Section 4091 applies to all other aspects of accounting for income taxes and to all industry situations except as specifically indicated.

.018 Section 4091 does not apply to regulated industries in those circumstances where the standards described in section 6011 are met. Section 6011 states that there may be differences in the application of generally accepted accounting principles to regulated industries because of the effect of the rate-making process and that different treatments, therefore, may be necessary in order to achieve an appropriate matching of expenses and revenues.

.019 The Board deferred consideration of the special problems of allocation among components of a business enterprise pending resolution of the broader problems of

13,304

recognition and allocation of all revenues and expenses in these situations. (As amended, effective after December 31, 1973, by APB Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Reporting.)

.020 In section 4095, Accounting for Income Taxes— Special Areas, the Board has examined the characteristics of the tax consequences of transactions in four special areas and sets forth its conclusions on appropriate accounting treatments. The four special areas are: (1) undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, (2) "general reserves" of stock savings and loan associations, (3) amounts designated as "policyholders' surplus" by stock life insurance companies, and (4) income from investments in corporate joint ventures accounted for by the equity method in accordance with section 5131, The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock. [As amended by APB Opinion No. 23, December, 1971.]

.021 Two specialized industry situations having tax consequences somewhat similar to those for timing differences have been excluded pending further study. Each these situations has certain unique aspects which create problems in the measurement and recognition of their tax consequences. The exclusions are—(1) intangible development costs in the oil and gas industry, and (2) deposits in statutory reserve funds by United States steamship companies. Section 4091 is, however, applicable to these industries in all other respects including timing differences. [As amended by APB Opinion No. 23, December, 1971.]

INTERPERIOD TAX ALLOCATION

5. Objective

.022 Section 4091 adopted the comprehensive allocation concept which requires interperiod allocation of income taxes in the case of all material timing differences, both recurring and nonrecurring. The objective of interperiod allocation of income taxes is to match the income tax expense reported in an income statement for a specific period with the revenues and other expenses reported for that period. Stated another way, reported income tax expense should represent the tax effects or tax consequences of the revenues and expenses included in income

AC § U 4091.020 © 1974, American Institute

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

before income taxes (which is referred to in section 4091 as "pretax accounting income").

.023 The Board rejected the partial allocation viewpoint which generally would require interperiod allocation only for nonrecurring differences. Under prior pronouncements of the Committee on Accounting Procedure, interperiod allocation was required for nonrecurring differences and for some but not all recurring differences.² Practice had been mixed with regard to types of recurring differences where allocation was not specifically required under prior pronouncements.

²ARB No. 43, Chapter 10, Section B, *Taxes: Income Taxes*, paragraph 1, stated that "The section does not apply where there is a presumption that particular differences between the tax return and the income statement will recur regularly over a comparatively long period of time."

6. Alternative Methods Considered by the APB

.024 Section 4091 adopted the deferred method of applying tax allocation and rejected the alternatives—the liability and the net of tax methods.³ The three methods are discussed in detail in Accounting Research Study No. 9 and are summarized in section 4091. Each of the three methods was considered by the Accounting Principles Board in its deliberations.

.025 Generally, the same amount of net income would be reported under each of the three tax allocation methods if tax rates never changed or no new taxes were imposed. The effect on net income of changes in tax rates or the imposition of new taxes, however, will vary depending upon which of the three methods is used. Also, the net of tax method may yield different net income amounts when depreciation or amortization expense is capitalized or included in inventories and treated as a cost of future periods. Financial statement presentation varies depending upon the method used.

.026 The deferred method of allocation ". . . is a procedure whereby the tax effects of current timing differences are deferred currently and allocated to income tax expense of future periods when the timing differences reverse. The deferred method emphasizes the tax effects of timing differences on income of the period in which the differences originate. The deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the tax rates in effect at the time the timing differences originate ⁴ and are not adjusted for subsequent changes in tax rates or to reflect the imposition of new taxes." The tax effects of transactions which reduce taxes

⁴ The Revenue and Expenditure Control Act of 1968, which became law on June 28, 1968, imposes a 10% income tax surcharge retroactive to January 1, 1968 for corporations. The surcharge should be considered for financial accounting purposes under section 4091 as a change in tax rates effective as of that date even though it may be only a temporary change. Accordingly, the tax effects of timing differences originating in a taxable period subject to the surcharge should be computed as if the law had actually been in effect on January 1, 1968. (Also see section U 4091.001.)

AC § U 4091.024 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

³ Prior pronouncements permitted the use of any of the three methodsdeferred, liability or net of tax. For example, see ARB No. 43, Chapter 9, Section C, Depreciation: Emergency Facilities-Depreciation, Amortization and Income Taxes (paragraphs 11-13); ARB No. 44 (Revised), Decliningbalance Depreciation (paragraphs 4, 5, 7 and 10); ARB No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements (paragraph 17); APB Opinion No. 5, Reporting of Leases in Financial Statements of Lessee (paragraph 21), and APB Opinion No. 6, Status of Accounting Research Bulletins (paragraph 23).

currently payable (or create a refund of taxes because of a loss carryback) are treated as deferred tax credits; the tax effects of transactions which increase taxes currently payable (or reduce the amount of a refund of taxes because of a loss carryback) are treated as deferred tax charges. Such deferred credits and charges are amortized to income tax expense in future years as the original timing differences reverse and enter into the determination of pretax accounting income.

.027 Advocates of the liability method consider income tax expense for a period to represent the taxes paid or to be paid on the components of pretax accounting income. Differences between tax expense for accounting purposes and taxes currently payable, which result from timing differences, are viewed as either liabilities for taxes payable in the future, or assets for prepaid taxes. Under the liability method, taxes are computed at the rates in effect or expected to be in effect when the components of pretax accounting income are reported in an income tax return. Adjustments of the liability or prepaid accounts are made whenever tax rates change or new taxes are imposed.

.028 The advocates of the net of tax method consider that tax allocation (determined by either the deferred or liability methods) should give explicit recognition to the fact that taxability and tax deductibility are factors in the valuation of assets and liabilities and the related revenues and expenses. Under the net of tax method, deferred tax accounts are not presented separately in the balance sheet, but instead are shown as reductions of the related assets and liabilities. Also, some advocates of the net of tax method would follow a similar procedure in the income statement and show the income statement effects of tax allocation as adjustments to the related revenue and expense accounts.

.029 Under either the deferred or the liability methods, it is possible to determine from the financial statements the effects of tax allocation; this is not possible under the net of tax method without extensive additional disclosures.

.030 The deferred method is considered to be preferable to the liability method because, although deferred tax charges and deferred tax credits are similar in some respects to receivables and payables, they do not represent receivables and payables in the usual sense. Also, the deferred method has the practical advantage that it neither requires assumptions as to future tax rates or the imposition of new taxes, nor does it require adjustments of balance sheet deferred tax accounts when tax rates change or new taxes are imposed.

In substance, the deferred method, being income .031 statement oriented, measures the tax cost or tax benefit of a timing difference on the basis of the tax rates in effect at the time the difference originates. The liability method, being balance sheet oriented, relates the cost or benefit to the amount actually payable or expected to be payable. For example, assume that a company owns one building and adopts accelerated depreciation for tax purposes and straight-line depreciation for accounting purposes. Under the deferred method, the tax effects would be equal to the reduction or increase in income taxes payable attributable to the difference between depreciation claimed for tax purposes and the amount recognized for accounting purposes. Under the liability method, the tax effects would be based on the taxes expected to be payable over the period in which the property will be held. Conceivably, such tax effects could be computed at "capital gains" rates if there was an intention to dispose of the property at a later date and it was apparent that a capital gain would result.

.032 Deferred taxes relating to an originating timing difference are computed, under the deferred method, as the difference in income taxes payable that would result from (a) including the effect of the timing difference in the calculation of income taxes payable and (b) excluding the effect of the timing difference from such calculation.

.033 The deferred method may be applied to each individual transaction or similar transactions may be grouped. When similar transactions are grouped, either (1) originating differences and reversing differences may each be considered separately, or (2) the originating and reversing differences may be combined.

.034 Differences between pretax accounting income and taxable income may be either "timing differences"

AC § U 4091.031

Accounting for Income Taxes

which require interperiod tax allocation or "permanent differences" which do not require interperiod tax allocation. The distinction between timing differences and permanent differences can best be explained by considering the technical definitions included in section 4091 together with specific examples.

7. Timing Differences

.035 Timing differences are defined as— "Differences between the periods in which transactions affect taxable income and the periods in which they enter into the determination of pretax accounting income. Timing differences originate in one period and reverse or 'turn around' in one or more subsequent periods. Some timing differences reduce income taxes that would otherwise be payable currently; others increase income taxes that would otherwise be payable currently."

.036 When timing differences occur, the income tax currently payable as shown on the income tax return for a period may not be the appropriate amount of income tax expense to match with the pretax accounting income for the period. In order to obtain proper matching, it is usually necessary to report as income tax expense an amount that is more or less than income taxes currently payable. In substance, section 4091 requires the recognition of the tax effects as income tax expense in the same periods as the related transactions are recognized in the determination of net income for financial accounting purposes. The cumulative effects of timing differences at any date appear in the balance sheet as deferred taxes—either deferred charges or deferred credits.

.037 Transactions which give rise to timing differences are classified into four categories—(1) revenues or gains taxed *after* accrual for accounting purposes, (2) expenses or losses deducted for tax purposes *after* accrual for accounting purposes, (3) revenues or gains taxed *before* accrual for accounting purposes, and (4) expenses or losses deducted for tax purposes *before* accrual for accounting purposes.

.038 For example, the gross profit on installment sales is customarily recognized for accounting purposes at the

time of sale. However, under certain circumstances, it is possible to defer the inclusion of gross profit in taxable income until subsequent periods when the receivables arising from the installment sales are collected. Thus, in the period of sale, an originating timing difference occurs because gross profit is included in accounting income, but not in taxable income. In subsequent periods, a reverse timing difference occurs when the installment accounts receivable are collected and gross profit is recognized in the tax returns but not in the accounts.

.039 A simplified illustration of an originating timing difference is presented below. The illustration assumes that a company has sold merchandise on the installment basis for the first time and recognizes the gross profit thereon for accounting purposes at the time of sale but elects the installment method for tax purposes.

Year 1

Pretax accounting income	\$1	,000,000
Gross margin on uncollected installment sales at end of year.		200,000
Taxable income	\$	800,000
Taxes estimated to be payable (assuming a 48% rate less surtax exemption)	\$	377,500
Charge equivalent to reduction in income taxes arising from installment method of reporting for tax purposes (excess of 48% of \$1,000,000, loss \$600 constant \$27500 constant \$200 constant \$2500 constant\$2500 constant		
less \$6,500, over \$377,500; or 48% of \$200,000)		96,000
Income tax expenses as shown in income state- ment	\$	473,500

.040 A deferred tax is amortized when the reverse timing difference takes place. Thus, in the case of installment sales, as the installment receivables are collected, and the gross profit is recognized for tax purposes, income tax expense is reduced by the amortization of the deferred tax credits previously recorded.

.041 Continuing the preceding illustration, the amortization of deferred taxes related to the reverse timing difference appears as follows:

AC § U 4091.039 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Year 2

Pretax accounting income	\$1,000,000
Gross margin on prior year's sales collected during the current year	200,000
Taxable income	\$1,200,000
Taxes estimated to be payable (assuming a 48% rate less surtax exemption plus 10% sur- charge)	\$ 626,450
Amortization of deferred taxes set up in prior year (credit)	(96,000)
Income tax expenses as shown in income state- ment	\$ 530,450

.042 These illustrations show the effect of a timing difference arising from the use of the installment method for tax purposes and the effect of a change in the tax rate.

.043 In a typical case where installment sales occur each year, there would be both originating differences and reversing differences each year. Accordingly, the increase or decrease in the deferred tax credit balance would be the combination of the tax effects from originating differences and the tax effects of reversing differences. Thus, income tax expense appearing in the financial statements might be higher or lower than taxes currently payable.

.044 It should be noted that at least two periods are affected by each initial timing difference—the period in which the difference originates and a subsequent period (or periods) when the initial difference reverses.

.045 Another example of a relatively simple kind of recurring timing difference is a provision for product warranty expenses which originates in one period and reverses in one or more future periods. The provision is recorded for accounting purposes during the period when the warrantied products are sold. However, an income tax deduction is not allowed until the period when expenditures under the warranty are made. For the period when the timing difference originates, warranty expense for accounting purposes exceeds warranty expense for tax purposes; and, consequently, taxable income is greater than pretax accounting income and income taxes payable are greater than income tax expense for accounting purposes. In effect, a portion of the income taxes is prepaid. During a subsequent period a reverse timing difference occurs when expenditures under the warranty are made. In the period of reversal, warranty expense for tax purposes exceeds warranty expense for accounting purposes; consequently, taxable income and income taxes are reduced.

.046 In the not uncommon situation where the warranty period runs for more than one year, the reverse timing differences occur in part during each year of the warranty period. Under these circumstances, the total of the reverse timing differences for several periods will be equal to the original timing difference occurring during the period when the warrantied products were sold. In many cases it will be impracticable to relate recurring originating timing differences to the reverse timing differences because of the number of transactions involved. This problem becomes particularly important when the tax rates applied to originating differences change from period to period. In these cases an arbitrary assumption as to reversal may be necessary. Application of either first-in, first-out, or averaging techniques would be appropriate in these situations.

.047 A more complex example of timing difference occurs when an accelerated method of depreciation is used for tax purposes, while the straight-line method is used for accounting purposes. In such cases, the depreciation accounting following the purchase of a unit of depreciable property results in originating timing differences each period for a number of periods during which tax depreciation exceeds accounting depreciation. In later periods reverse timing differences occur as accounting depreciation exceeds tax depreciation. The reversal period is, of course, known. Even for this type of timing difference, however, an arbitrary flow assumption-either first-in, first-out or averaging-may be necessary in order to relate specific reverse timing differences to specific originating timing differences. The problems of specific identification of reverse timing differences with originating timing differences become further complicated if not impossible, if a composite rate of depreciation is used for a group of assets, the individual units of which have different life cycles.

AC § U 4091.046 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

13,312

8. Permanent Differences

.048 Permanent differences are defined as— "Differences between taxable income and pretax accounting income arising from transactions that, under applicable tax laws and regulations, will not be offset by corresponding differences or 'turn around' in other periods."

.049 Timing differences involve both an originating difference and, subsequently, a reverse difference. Differences between accounting and taxable income, however, are permanent if an originating difference is *never* followed by a reverse difference. Interperiod tax allocation should not be applied to permanent differences because the amount of income tax payable is the proper income tax expense to match with the revenues and other expenses reported for the period in which the differences occur.

.050 Permanent differences may arise under the tax law because specified revenues are exempt from taxation or specified expenses are not deductible. Examples of exempt revenues are life insurance proceeds and interest on municipal obligations. Examples of non-deductible expenses are premiums paid on officers' life insurance and fines. Amortization of goodwill recorded for accounting purposes gives rise to a permanent difference if it is not deductible for tax purposes.

.051 Permanent differences also arise if items enter into the determination of taxable income but are never recognized in determining accounting income. Examples are the excess of statutory depletion over cost depletion and the special deduction for certain dividends received which are recognized for tax purposes but not for accounting purposes.

.052 A permanent difference also results if different bases of carrying property for accounting purposes and for tax purposes produce amounts for depreciation or amortization different for tax purposes than for accounting purposes. Also, gains or losses for tax purposes upon dispositions of such property may differ from those recognized for accounting purposes. Different bases for property frequently result from write-downs of assets in a reorganization. Different bases may also occur from business combinations accounted for as purchases and treated as tax-free exchanges or from business combinations accounted for as poolings of interests and treated as taxable exchanges. Similarly, in the case of a donation of property, accounting expense could be recorded on the basis of the net carrying amount of the property whereas the tax deduction would be for the fair value on the date of gift.

[.053] [Superseded, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1972, by APB Opinion No. 25.] (See section 4062.)

[.054] [Superseded, effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1972, by APB Opinion No. 25.] (See section 4062.)

.055 In summary, tax benefits or tax costs related to transactions affecting income for a period should be reflected in the income statement for that period. If there are no timing differences affecting income for a period, the income statement will show only the taxes estimated to be payable for the period as income tax expense; any tax benefits or tax costs related to permanent differences occurring in the period pertain to that period.

9. Computation of Deferred Taxes

.056 Section 4091 requires that "The tax effect of a timing difference should be measured by the differential between income taxes computed with and without inclusion of the transaction creating the difference between taxable income and pretax accounting income." In computing such differentials. "taxable income" is defined as "the excess of revenues over deductions or the excess of deductions over revenues to be reported for income tax purposes for a period" except that "deductions" do not include loss carrybacks or loss carryforwards. Accordingly, in theory, a separate computation is required for each originating timing difference in order to determine what the tax would have been both with and without including the timing difference. In practice, the same result will often be obtained if the current tax rate is simply applied to the amount of the timing difference. In some cases, however, the same result will not be obtained by use of the "short-cut" approach. Differences may result from the effect of the investment credit or a foreign tax credit, the existence of an operating

AC § U 4091.053 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

loss for the period, or the fact that an operating loss would be incurred if a timing difference is excluded.

.057 Two alternative approaches to the computation of the tax effects of timing differences are set forth in section 4091.36, which states:

> "In computing the tax effects referred to in paragraph .35 timing differences may be considered individually or similar timing differences may be grouped. The net change in deferred taxes for a period for a group of similar timing differences may be determined on the basis of either (a) a combination of amounts representing the tax effects arising from timing differences originating in the period at the current tax rates and reversals of tax effects arising from timing differences originating in prior periods at the applicable tax rates reflected in the accounts as of the beginning of the period; or (b) if the applicable deferred taxes have been provided in accordance with this section on the cumulative timing differences as of the beginning of the period, the amount representing the tax effects at the current tax rates of the net change during the period in the cumulative timing differences."

.058 Similar timing differences refer to individual timing differences which arise from the same kinds of transactions. For example, all differences between accounting depreciation and tax depreciation may be grouped together as similar differences even though they may relate to many individual assets acquired during various years. Also, differences between accounting and taxable income arising from deferral for tax purposes of gross margin on installment sales may be grouped together as similar differences even though they may represent many individual sales occurring over a number of different periods. However, depreciation timing differences should not be combined with gross margin timing differences.

.059 For convenience, the method of computation set forth in (a) in the preceding quotation is referred to as the "gross change method," because, for each group of similar timing differences, separate computations are made for the tax effects of originating differences based on current tax rates and for the tax effects of reversing differences at the applicable tax rates reflected in the accounts at the beginning of the period. The method of computation described under (b) is referred to as the "net change method," because a single computation is made at the current tax rates for the net cumulative effect of both originating and reversing differences occurring during a period relating to a particular group of similar timing differences.

.060 For each kind of "similar" differences, a company may choose to compute deferred taxes either on individual transactions or for groups of transactions and in the latter case by either the gross change or net change methods. Once chosen, the same method should be consistently employed for the specific kind of similar differences. If the method of computation is changed, a consistency exception will be required in the auditor's report where the effect is material.

.061 Under all three methods of computation (individual transaction, gross change, or net change) the tax effect is based on a differential calculation.⁶ Under either

⁶ The calculation should take into consideration all taxes based on income—United States, foreign, state and local. As a practical matter, where companies are subject to a number of jurisdictions which have income

the individual transaction or the gross change methods the reversal of tax effects of timing differences originating prior to the effective date of section 4091 may be recognized only if the applicable deferred taxes had been provided for in accordance with section 4091 either in the prior periods, or retroactively as of the effective date of section 4091. The net change method may be employed only if the deferred taxes applicable to the net cumulative differences of prior periods were provided in those periods or retroactively as of the effective date of section 4091.

.062 The provisions discussed in the preceding paragraphs were included in section 4091 so that a company that was not applying interperiod tax allocation for any particular kind of timing difference prior to the effective date of section 4091 could not use the tax effects of the reversal of that difference to offset deferred taxes required to be recognized for current originating timing differences.

.063 For example, assume that certain expenditures are capitalized when incurred and amortized in subsequent periods for accounting purposes, but are deducted when incurred for tax purposes, and that no provision has been made in the past for the applicable deferred taxes. After the effective date of section 4091, deferred tax credits (equivalent to the tax benefits received) must be provided by a charge against income with respect to any expenditures which are capitalized for accounting purposes but are claimed as tax deductions in the period of expenditure. However, as these costs which were capitalized prior to the effective date of section 4091 are amortized during periods after the effective date, the tax effects of such reverse timing differences may not be considered as a reduction of the provision for deferred taxes required for differences originating after the effective date. [As modified, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 1975, pursuant to FASB Statement No. 2.] (See section 4211.)

.064 Illustrations of the procedures followed in computing deferred taxes comparing the gross change method with the net change method are presented in Exhibits I and Ia. They are not intended as typical illustrations but

taxes, the rates to be used in the calculation are often determined by increasing the United States income tax rate by a percent equivalent to the effect of the taxes imposed by the other jurisdictions.

rather to illustrate some of the complications that may be encountered in practice. The illustrations also demonstrate that the current provision for deferred taxes is not necessarily the amount obtained by applying the current statutory tax rate to the amounts of the timing differences.

10. Amortization of Deferred Taxes

.065 The amortization of deferred taxes upon reversal of nonrecurring timing differences usually presents no special problems. If the entire reverse timing difference occurs during one period subsequent to the period of origination, the entire deferred tax set up at the time of origination is amortized to income tax expense during the period of reversal. If the timing difference reverses over two or more periods, the deferred tax recognized at the time of origination is amortized in each of the subsequent periods of reversal in proportion to the amount of the reverse timing difference in each period relative to the total original timing difference.

.066 Sometimes when the gross change method of computing deferred taxes is employed for recurring timing differences, it may be possible to associate specific reverse timing differences with specific originating timing difference. Under such circumstances, the amortization of deferred taxes is similar to that previously described for nonrecurring timing differences. There are instances of recurring timing differences, however, in which it is not possible to associate a specific reverse difference with a specific originating difference. Often in such circumstances the total deferred tax account applicable to the particular type of, or group of similar, timing differences has been accumulated over a number of years at varying rates. It is appropriate in such circumstances to amortize a portion of the aggregate deferred tax balance at the beginning of the period by use of either the first-in, first-out flow assumption or the average rate assumption.

.067 Under the first-in, first-out assumption, the earliest additions to the deferred tax account are amortized first. Application of the first-in, first-out assumption requires a record of amounts of deferred taxes by year of addition. Under the average rate assumption, the amount of deferred tax amortized is determined by applying the ratio of aggregate deferred taxes to aggregate timing differences at the beginning of the period, to the amount of the reverse timing difference during the period. The practice adopted for amortization of deferred taxes, where specific identification is not possible, should be consistently followed; otherwise, if the effect is material a consistency exception will be required in the auditor's report.

.068 Amortization procedures are different when the net change method of computing deferred taxes is employed. Under the net change method no amortization of deferred taxes is recorded for periods in which the aggregate timing differences increase. In each period in which the aggregate timing differences decrease, deferred taxes are amortized. Such amortization is computed as the difference between income tax on taxable income and income tax on taxable income less the reduction in aggregate timing differences. The amortization of deferred taxes, however, cannot exceed the amounts previously provided. In a period when reversal of all timing differences of a particular type occurs, the entire related deferred tax account should be amortized regardless of the amount determined under the differential computation. For example, a company that has been using the installment method of accounting for gross margin on installment sales for tax purposes may decide to abandon the installment method by selling all installment receivables. The entire amount of deferred tax credits relative to installment sales which was carried over from the preceding period should then be amortized.

EXHIBIT I

COMPUTATION OF DEFERRED TAXES UNDER ALTERNATIVE APPROACHES FOR TWO KINDS OF TIMING DIFFERENCES

Assumptions

- 1. All prior deferred taxes are at an average rate of 48%
- 2. Current period tax rate is 48% less surtax exemption of \$6 and plus 10% surcharge
- 3. Current period investment credit is \$0

G	iross Change Method	Net Change Method
-	(thousands	of dollars)
Computation of taxable income		
Pretax accounting income	\$500	\$500
Timing differences from use of accelerated depreciation for tax purposes and straightline depreciation for accounting pur poses:		
Originating—tax depreciation in excess of accounting depreciation		
Reversing—accounting depreciation in excess of tax de preciation		
Net change	•	(400)
Timing differences from use of installment method for tax pur poses and accrual method for accounting purposes:	-	
Originating—gross margin on current period sales uncol lected at end of period		
Reversing—gross margin on prior period sales collected during current period		
Net change	•	100
Taxable income	. \$200	\$200
Computation of tax estimated to be currently payable		
48% rate	. \$ 96	\$ 96
Surtax exemption	. (6)	(6)
10% surcharge	. 9	9
	\$ 99	\$ 99

AC § U 4091.069 ... © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

	Gross Change Method	Net Change Method
- Computation of deferred tax on depreciation timing difference	(thousands	of dollars)
Taxable income	\$200	\$200
Originating or net change in depreciation timing differences		400
Adjusted taxable income—"without" timing differences	\$700	\$600
Tax on adjusted taxable income	\$363 (a)	\$310 (a)
Tax currently payable	99	99
Differential equivalent to tax effects of timing differences to b added to deferred tax credit	e \$264	\$211
Computation of deferred tax on deferred gross margin timing differences		
Taxable income	\$200	\$200
Originating or net change in gross margin timing differences	300	(100)
Adjusted taxable income—"without" timing differences	\$500	\$100
Tax on adjusted taxable income	\$257 (a)	\$ 46 (a)
Tax currently payable	. 99	99
Differential equivalent to tax effects of timing differences to b added to (or deducted from) deferred tax credit		\$(53)
Summary of changes in deferred tax credit balance Additions to deferred credits arising from originating differences:		
Depreciation	\$264	
Deferred gross margin		
Arising from increase in cumulative depreciation differences		\$2 11
Amortization of deferred credits arising from reversing differences:		
Depreciation—(48% of \$100)	(48)	
Deferred gross margin—(48% of \$400)	(192)	
Net amortization arising from reduction in cumulative de ferred gross margin		(53)
Net Increase	\$182 (b)	\$158 (b)
Notes:		

Notes:

- (a) 48% of adjusted taxable income ("without" timing difference), less surtax exemption of \$6 and plus 10% surcharge.
- (b) The difference between the net increase in the deferred tax credit balance of \$182 under the gross change method and \$158 under the net change method, or \$24 (in effect 4.8% of \$500, the aggregate amount of reversing timing differences) represents the effect of using (1) under the gross change method the current tax rate for originating differences and the effective prior period rates for reversing differences and (2) under the net change method the current tax rate for the cumulative net effect of both originating and reversing differences.

.070

COMPUTATION OF DEFERRED TAXES UNDER ALTERNATIVE APPROACHES FOR TWO KINDS OF TIMING DIFFERENCES

Assumptions

Same as Exhibit I, except current period investment credit is \$50.

		Change thod	Net Char Method
Computation of taxable income Same as Exhibit I	(tł	nousand	ds of dollars
Computation of tax estimated to be currently payable			
48% rate	\$	96	\$ 96
Surtax exemption	(6)	(6)
10% surcharge		9	9
Allowable investment credit	(50)	(50)
	\$	49	\$ 49
Computation of deferred tax on depreciation timing difference			
Taxable income		200	\$200
Originating or net change in depreciation timing differences		500	400

Differential equivalent to tax effects of timing differences to be added to deferred tax credit	\$264	\$ 211
Tax currently payable	49	49
Tax on adjusted taxable income	\$313 (a)	\$260 (a)
Adjusted taxable income—"without" timing differences	\$700	\$600
Originating or net change in depreciation timing differences	500	400

AC § U 4091.070 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

	Gross Change Method	Net Change Method
Computation of deferred tax on deferred gross margin timing differences	(thousands	of dollars)
Taxable income	\$200	\$200
Originating or net change in gross margin timing differences	300	(100)
Adjusted taxable income"without" timing differences	\$500	\$100
Tax on adjusted taxable income	\$207 (a)	\$ 10 (b)
Tax currently payable	49	49
Differential equivalent to tax effects of timing differences t be added to (or deducted from) deferred tax credit		\$(39)
Summary of changes in deferred tax credit balance		
Additions to deferred credits arising from originating differences:		
Depreciation	\$264	
Deferred gross margin	158	
Arising from increase in cumulative depreciation diffe ences		\$ 211
Amortization of deferred credits arising from reversing differences:		
Depreciation-(48% of \$100)	(48)	- <u>3</u>
Deferred gross margin—(48% of \$400)	(192)	
Net amortization arising from reduction in cumulative de ferred gross margin		(39)
Net increase	\$182	\$172 (c)

Notes:

- (a) 48% of adjusted taxable income ("without" timing difference), less surtax exemption of \$6, plus 10% surcharge and less allowable investment credit of \$50.
- (b) 48% of adjusted taxable income ("without" timing difference), less surtax exemption of \$6, plus 10% surcharge and less maximum investment credit of \$36 (\$25 plus 50% of the difference between \$46 and \$25).
- (c) The difference between the net increase in the deferred tax credit balance under the net change method of \$158 in Exhibit I and \$172 in Exhibit Ia, or \$14, arises from the influence of the investment credit. It should be noted that under the gross change method the full investment credit of \$50 is utilized in all of the computations "with and without inclusion of the transaction creating the difference between taxable income and pretax accounting income." Under the net change method the utilization of the investment credit is limited to \$36 in the computation of the tax effects of deferred gross margin timing differences whereas \$50 is utilized in the computation of depreciation timing differences. (See section on "Investment Credit Carrybacks and Carryforwards.")

OPERATING LOSSES

.071 Tax benefits are usually available when operating losses are incurred. Such benefits are obtained either (a) from refunds of taxes paid in prior profitable years by carryback of losses, or (b) as reductions of taxes otherwise payable in future profitable years—by carryforward of losses.⁷ The basic accounting concept of matching revenues and expenses suggests that it is appropriate to record the tax benefit from an operating loss in the income statement of the loss year.

11. Loss Carrybacks

.072 Refunds of taxes paid in prior years arising from carrybacks of operating losses should be recognized during the loss year. This is required to achieve proper matching inasmuch as current realization of the refund is assured. The refunds should be reflected in the balance sheet as current assets.

.073 An illustration of the presentation of an operating loss carryback, assuming that pretax accounting income and taxable income are identical, follows.

Loss before refundable income taxes	\$1,000,000
Refund of prior years' income taxes arising from carryback of operating loss	485,000
Net loss	\$ 515,000
(Note: The refund should be computed at the refundable regardless of current tax rates.)	e amount actually

.074 A loss carryback may occur at a time when net deferred tax credits exist. Under these circumstances "appropriate adjustments of existing net deferred tax credits may also be necessary in the loss period." The tax effects of the loss carryback included in the income statement should be based on income (loss) reported for accounting purposes rather than for tax purposes, the objective being to reflect in income the carryback refund which would exist if there were no timing differences. The difference between this amount and the amount currently refundable should be added to or deducted from the appropriate balance sheet deferred tax account. This is accomplished by recomput-

⁷ This section is also applicable to other unused deductions and credits that may be carried backward or forward in determining taxable income (for example, capital losses, contribution carryovers and foreign tax credits).

ing the net deferred tax amounts for the carryback periods and the current period on a cumulative basis. Such computation is illustrated in Exhibit II.

.075

EXHIBIT II

APPLICATION OF LOSS CARRYBACK AGAINST EXISTING DEFERRED TAX CREDITS

	ome (Loss) Be Income Taxes		Income	Tax Expense (C	redit)	Cumulative Net
Year	Account- ing	Taxable	Current	Deferred	Total	Deferred Tax Credits
1	\$ 15,000	\$ 5,000	\$ 2,500	\$ 5,000	\$ 7,500	\$ 5,000
2	15,000	5,000	2,500	5,000	7,500	10,000
3	15,000	5,000	2,500	5,000	7,500	15,000
4	15,000	5,000	2,500	5,000	7,500	20,000
5	(35,000)	(45,000)	(7,500) (A)	(10,000) (B)	(17,500)) 10,000 (C)
6	5,000	15,000	(A)	2,500 (D)	2,500	12,500

Assumptions:

1. 50% tax rate for all years.

2. Surtax exemptions and investment credits ignored.

Notes:

(A) Taxes paid in years 2, 3 and 4 aggregating \$7,500 become refundable as a result of the carryback of the loss from year 5. No tax is payable in year 6 because of the loss carryforward from year 5.

- (B) For years 2 through 5 cumulative accounting income is \$10,000, which at a 50% rate requires a deferred tax credit of \$5,000. Accordingly a reduction in deferred tax credits of \$10,000 is required. In effect, a loss carryforward has been recognized to that extent. (See section on "Recognition of Carryforwards as Offset to Deferred Tax Credits.")
- (C) The cumulative deferred tax credit at end of year 5 consists of \$5,000 from year 1 plus \$5,000 for years 2 through 5.
- (D) Represents the tax benefit (\$2,500) of the loss carryforward to year 6 previously recognized in year 5.

12. Loss Carryforwards—Conflict of Concepts

.076 The procedures applied to loss carryforwards differ from those applied to loss carrybacks. The existence of a carryforward means that a company has incurred operating losses which exhausted benefits available from carrybacks and which can be realized only as a carryforward. Usually a company in a carryforward position is experiencing financial difficulties so serious that doubt exists as to future realization of the carryforward. In such cases a company may not have shown profits in any recent year or in its entire history. The recording of the tax benefit of a loss carryforward during the loss year under such circumstances would be contrary to the accounting concept that revenues or gains should not be recognized if realization is doubtful. .077 Section 4091 takes the position, relative to loss carryforwards, that the realization concept should take precedence over the matching concept. Therefore, loss carryforward benefits usually should be recognized only when realized through subsequent profitable operations. However, section 4091 also states that the future tax benefit of a loss carryforward should be recorded as an asset during the loss year in those cases where realization is assured beyond any reasonable doubt.

.078 In the usual case of a loss carryforward—where realization is *not* assured beyond any reasonable doubt tax benefits can be recognized *only* during subsequent years *as they are realized*. Thus, even though in a period subsequent to the loss year the future realization of a carryforward becomes assured beyond any reasonable doubt, it is not permissible under section 4091 to recognize the future tax benefit until it is actually realized.

.079 When a loss carryforward is realized and recognized subsequent to the loss period, income statement presentation is a problem. Under the matching concept, the benefit applies to the loss period and not to the period of realization; this suggests retroactive adjustment of the loss period. However the criteria set forth in section 2010, *Reporting the Results of Operations*, greatly restrict prior period adjustments. One criterion essential to a prior period adjustment is that such adjustment not be "attributable to economic events occurring subsequent to the date of the financial statements for the prior period." Since the realization of the tax benefit from the operating loss results from subsequent profitable operations, it is clear that it does not meet this test. Therefore, it is not appropriate to adjust the loss period retroactively.

.080 In order to keep within the criteria of section 2012, it is necessary to include the tax benefit from a loss carryforward in the income statement of the year of realization. However, because it seemed illogical to consider such a credit to be a part of ordinary income, the Board decided that such tax benefits should be presented as extraordinary credits in the year of realization. [As amended, effective for events and transactions occurring after September 30, 1973 by APB Opinion No. 30.]

.081 A loss carryforward benefit recognized in the year realized could be presented as shown in Exhibit III. .082

RECOGNITION OF LOSS CARRYFORWARD BENEFIT IN YEAR REALIZED

Income before income taxes and extraordinary items .		\$1,000,000
Income tax expense:		• · · · ·
Currently payable	\$200,000	
Tax effect of loss carryforward	300,000	500,000
Income before extraordinary items		\$ 500,000
Extraordinary items:		
Reduction of income taxes arising from carry- forward of prior years' operating losses	\$300,000	
Loss on major devaluation of foreign currency (less applicable income tax of \$100,000)	(100,000)	200,000
Net income		\$ 700,000
ptions:		
50% tay rate for all years		

Assum

1. 50% tax rate for all years.

2. Surtax exemptions and investment credits ignored.

13. Assurance Beyond Any Reasonable Doubt

.083 Section 4091 provides that the future tax benefit of a loss carryforward should be recognized as an asset during the loss period if realization is "assured beyond any reasonable doubt." Consequently, the meaning of the phrase "assured beyond any reasonable doubt" is quite important. It was the Board's intention that recognition of future tax benefits of carryforwards should be restricted to unusual cases.

.084 Section 4091 cites, by way of example, circumstances under which carryforwards may be recognized during the loss year as follows:

> "Realization of the tax benefit of a loss carryforward would appear to be assured beyond any reasonable doubt when both of the following conditions exist: (a) the loss results from an identifiable, isolated and nonrecurring cause and the company either has been continuously profitable over a long period or has suffered occasional losses which were more than offset by taxable income in subsequent years, and (b) future taxable income is virtually certain to be large enough

to offset the loss carryforward and will occur soon enough to provide realization during the carryforward period."

.085 The use of the words "identifiable, isolated, and nonrecurring" in the above quotation was intended to rule out recognition of loss carryforwards resulting from generally unsuccessful business operations of an entity. Thus, operating losses resulting because of depressed economic conditions or because of changes in consumer preferences or in technology do not give rise to a situation where a future tax benefit may be recognized. Loss carryforwards resulting from the introduction of products or services which have not achieved sufficient acceptance to produce profits do not qualify for recognition prior to realization. Such non-recognition of loss carryforwards applies both to companies in existence for many years that have moved into a new area of business and to newly-formed companies in the developmental stage.

.086 Examples of the kinds of situations giving rise to loss carryforwards that may qualify for recognition during the loss period are:

(1) Losses resulting from the expropriation of a foreign subsidiary, or from the abandonment of one of several operations where the continuing operations are and have been profitable and are virtually certain to be profitable enough to offset the loss carryforwards, and

(2) Losses of one or more subsidiaries of a profitable parent company where the carryforward will be made available as an offset against other taxable income by filing a consolidated income tax return, or by claiming a bad debt deduction, or by some other means. On the other hand, it would not be appropriate to record a loss carryforward of a subsidiary company even though the parent and other subsidiaries are profitable if there are no specific plans to obtain the tax benefit from the loss.

.087 In those rare cases where operating loss carryforwards are expected to be realized beyond any reasonable doubt as offsets against future taxable income, the potential tax benefits should be reflected in the balance sheet as

AC § U 4091.085 . © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

assets, and should be classified as current or noncurrent depending on the extent to which realization is expected to occur within the current operating cycle.

14. Recognition of Carryforwards as Offsets to Deferred Tax Credits

.088 It may happen that an operating loss carryforward arises at a time when net deferred tax credits exist because of prior timing differences. Even though the realization of an operating loss carryforward is not assured beyond any reasonable doubt, it may be necessary if net deferred tax credits exist to recognize a portion or all of the loss carryforward as an offset to such net deferred tax credits. Section 4091 provides that, in such situations:

> "net tax credits should be eliminated to the extent of the lower of (a) the tax effect of the loss carryforward, or (b) the amortization of the net deferred tax credits that would otherwise have occurred during the carryforward period. If the loss carryforward is realized in whole or in part in periods subsequent to the loss period, the amounts eliminated from the deferred tax credit accounts should be reinstated (at the then current tax rates) on a cumulative basis as, and to the extent that, the tax benefit of the loss carryforward is realized."

.089 The limiting factor in the amount of loss carryforward that may be recognized by way of offset against net deferred tax credits is indicated in clause (b) of the preceding quotation.

.090 The justification for recognizing loss carryforwards as an offset to deferred tax credits is that it would be unrealistic to require recognition of deferred tax credits while at the same time denying recognition of deferred tax charges, in the form of a loss carryforward. This follows because both the deferred credits and the deferred charges will reverse during the same future accounting periods. However, net deferred credits which will not be amortized until after the expiration of the loss carryforward period cannot be offset by loss carryforwards.

.091 If both current and non-current net deferred tax credits exist when the future benefit of a loss carryforward

is recognized as an offset, such benefit should be allocated between current and non-current deferred tax credits on a proportional basis.

.092 As the loss carryforward benefit is realized, the net deferred credits eliminated to give recognition to the carryforward, as well as credits related to originating timing differences of the loss year, should be reinstated at the then current rates (i. e., at the rates at which the loss carryforward is realized) before recognition is given to the realization of any remaining loss carryforwards. At the same time amortization of such deferred credits that would otherwise have occurred should also be recognized.

.093 The interaction of net deferred tax credits and loss carryforwards is illustrated in Exhibit IV.

AC § U 4091.092

<
-
8
Ŧ
×
11

EXAMPLE OF LOSS CARRYFORWARD RECOGNIZED AS OFFSET TO NET DEFERRED TAX CREDITS (All amounts in thousands of dollars)

				nous lu sun	(All amounts in mousands of donars)			Cumulativa
1	Income income	e before le taxes	Depreciation	ation	Incol	Income tax expense (1)		deferred
	Accounting	Taxable	Accounting	Tax	Current (2)	Deferred (F)	Total	tax credits
•	\$ 15,000	\$ 5,000	\$ 10,000	\$ 20,000	\$ 2,500	\$ 5,000	\$ 7,500	\$ 5,000
	15,000	5,000	10,000	20,000	2,500	5,000	7,500	10,000
I .	15,000	5,000	10,000	20,000	2,500	5,000	7,500	15,000
1	15,000	5,000	10,000	20,000	2,500	5,000	7,500	20,000
	(54,000) (3)	(64,000) (3)	10,000	20,000	(7,500) (A)	(15,000) (B) (2,000) (C)	(24,500)	3,000
	2,000	6,000	10,000	6,000	l	(2,000) 3,000	1,000 (D)	4,000
1	2,000	6,000	10,000	6,000	I	(2,000) 3,000	1,000 (D)	5,000
	2,000	6,000	10,000	6,000	l	(2,000) 3,000	1,000 (D)	6,000
1	2,000	6,000	10,000	6,000	l	(2,000) 3,000	1,000 (D)	7,000
	5,000	000'6	10,000	6 ,000	. 1	(2,000) 4,500	2,500 (D)	9,500
1	10,000	16,000	10,000	4,000	8,000	(1,900) (E)	6,100	7,000
	10,000	16,000	10,000	4,000	8,000	(1,900) (E)	6,100	5,700
•	10,000	16,000	10,000	4,000	8,000	(1,900) (E)	6,100	3,800
1	10,000	16,000	10,000	4,000	8,000	(1,900) (E)	6,100	1,900
	10,000	16,000	10,000	4,000	8,000	(1,900) (E)	6,100	1
	\$ 69,000	\$ 69,000	\$150,000	\$150,000	\$ 42,500	 \$	\$ 42,500	 \$

Accounting for Income Taxes

1

13,331

.094

ADDITIONAL ASSUMPTIONS:

- (1) 50% tax rate for all years and surtax exemptions and investment credits ignored.
- (2) Equal to amount payable (or refundable) each year.
- (3) Loss carryforward of \$9,000 on accounting and \$49,000 on tax basis is **not** assured beyond any reasonable doubt.

Notes:

- (A) Refund of taxes paid in years 2-4 available because of loss carryback.
- (B) Adjustment of deferred credit from timing difference recognized in years 2-4 (carryback period) in accordance with section 4091.43. No deferred credit is required for year 5 since tax refund computed with timing difference is same as refund computed without timing difference.
- (C) The tax benefit of the loss carryforward that may be recognized is the lower of (1) the tax effect of carryforward for accounting purposes of \$4,500 (computed as 50% of \$9,000); or (2) the amortization of remaining deferred tax credits that would otherwise occur during the carryforward period of \$2,000 (computed as \$20,000—timing difference reversing in years 6-10—divided by \$50,000—aggregate timing difference at end of year 5—or 40% applied to \$5,000 deferred credit from year 1). The \$2,000 limitation prevails.
- (D) During each of the years 6 through 10, amortization of deferred tax credits on a cumulative basis of \$2,000 is recognized on the basis of 50% of \$4,000 reverse timing differences. In each of these years, deferred credits are restored to the extent of realization of the loss carryforward equal to tax that would otherwise be currently payable in year 6 through 9 of \$3,000 each year, and in year 10 of \$4,500. Full benefit of carryforward is added to deferred credits because aggregate net deferred credits never exceed amounts that would have been recorded if there had been no operating loss.
- (E) The accumulated deferred tax at the end of year 10 is \$9,500 which must be amortized equally during each of the years 11 through 15 since timing differences reverse in equal annual amounts of \$6,000 during those years.
- (F) The average rate assumption has been used in the amortization of deferred tax credits upon reversal of the depreciation timing differences. A first-in, first-out assumption could have been applied. (See section on "Amortization of Deferred Taxes.")

15. Deferred Tax Charges Existing When Loss Carryforward Arises

.095 A company may incur operating losses sufficient to put it in a loss carryforward position at the same time that unamortized net deferred tax charges exist. To the extent the deferred charges arose in the three preceding profitable years, they would normally be eliminated through carryback of losses. However, balances prior to that period may still remain. If the realization of the tax benefit of the carryforward is not assured beyond any reasonable doubt, the question arises as to the propriety of continuing to carry the remaining deferred tax charges. In these situations unamortized net deferred tax charges represent the tax effects of additional expenses not recognized for tax purposes but recognized for accounting purposes. Therefore, if it is not appropriate to recognize the effect of the tax loss carryforward in the year of loss, it may not be appropriate to recognize or to continue to carry as deferred charges the tax effects of the additional expenses recognized for accounting purposes. Accordingly, in the situations cited

the net deferred tax charges should be evaluated as to realizability in the same manner as are other assets.

.096 In other situations companies may incur losses which, because of the nature of the timing differences, are larger for accounting purposes than the amounts carried forward for tax purposes and there is no assurance of future realization of the carryforward benefit. No recognition is given to the tax effects (deferred tax charges) of the timing differences (additional accounting loss carryforwards) inasmuch as the tax effects would be zero under the "with" and "without" computations. Therefore, when these timing differences reverse, the tax benefits realized will not be offset by amortization of deferred charges which would otherwise have been provided. Accordingly, in these situations the tax benefits realized from these timing differences (additional accounting loss carryforwards) should be included in the income statement as extraordinary credits (see Exhibit V) in the same manner as benefits obtained upon future realization of tax loss carryforwards (see Exhibit III).

.097

EXHIBIT V

RECOGNITION OF ADDITIONAL ACCOUNTING LOSS CARRYFORWARD BENEFIT IN YEAR REALIZED

Income before income taxes and extraordinary items Income tax expense:		\$1,000,000
Currently payable	\$200,000	
Tax effect of losses (or expenses) deducted from income for accounting purposes in prior loss periods, but for tax purposes in current period	300,000	500,000
Income before extraordinary items		\$ 500,000
Extraordinary items: Reduction of income taxes arising from deduction of prior years' accounting losses (or expenses) Loss on major devaluation of foreign currency	\$300,000	
(less applicable income tax of \$100,000)	(100,000)	200,000
Net Income		\$ 700,000
Assumptions: 1. 50% tax rate for all years.		

2. Surtax exemptions and investment credits ignored.

16. Loss Carryforward Arising Prior to Quasi-Reorganization

.098 A company which goes through a quasi-reorganization (including for this purpose the application of a deficit in retained earnings to contributed capital) is likely to be in a loss carryforward position. The proper accounting for the future tax benefit of such loss carryforwards poses a question because the losses occurred prior to quasi-reorganization, but the tax benefit from the carryforward is available as an offset against taxable income after quasi-reorganization. Normally, it would be inappropriate to recognize the potential future tax benefits from the carryforward at the date of the quasi-reorganization because realization would not be assured beyond any reasonable doubt. Also, the deficit from operations prior to the quasi-reorganization is written off to contributed capital; in effect a new enterprise is said to have been established.

.099 When a tax benefit is realized from such loss carryforwards, section 4091 provides that such benefits should be added to contributed capital because the benefits are attributable to the loss periods prior to the quasi-reorganization. Thus, the benefits are treated as a part of the capital of the new enterprise.

.100 In some instances, losses may also occur subsequent to the quasi-reorganization and the question may arise as to whether realization of the loss carryforwards applies to losses incurred prior or subsequent to quasi-reorganization. Under the tax law the earliest loss carryforward must be utilized first. For accounting purposes the tax benefits from loss carryforwards should be allocated between losses before and after the quasi-reorganization in the same manner that they are available under the tax laws.

.101 The above requirements apply to the tax effects of loss carryforwards realized after the effective date of section 4091 even though the related quasi-reorganization occurred prior to the effective date.

.102 The concepts described in the preceding paragraphs relative to quasi-reorganizations apply equally to reorganizations under the bankruptcy laws where a deficit is written off to capital.

17. Purchased Loss Carryforwards

.103 Occasionally when a corporation acquires another business in a transaction accounted for as a purchase, one of the assets acquired is the future tax benefit of a loss carryforward. Such future tax benefit should be recorded as an asset at the date of purchase only if its realization is assured beyond any reasonable doubt. In the normal case, however, where such assurance does not exist, the tax benefits of such a loss carryforward ". . . should be recognized only when the tax benefits are actually realized and should be recorded as retroactive adjustments of the purchase transactions . . .".

.104 This is based on the concept that accounting for the acquisition of a business as a purchase requires the allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired. When a loss carryforward exists it may be considered as an important part of the assets acquired. It is likely that in arriving at the purchase price the parties assigned some value to the loss carryforward. Therefore, when the purchase price is being allocated, the future tax benefit of the carryforward should, in theory, be recorded as a receivable. However, inasmuch as it may not be recorded as a receivable unless its recovery is assured beyond any reasonable doubt, the effect of not recognizing it at the date of the purchase may be to increase the goodwill or reduce the "negative goodwill" that would otherwise be recognized.

.105 Therefore, if and when a tax benefit is realized from the purchased loss carryforward, a retroactive adjustment of the purchase transaction is required. This would normally be accomplished by an adjustment of goodwill or "negative goodwill." In some cases adjustment of tangible assets and depreciation may also be required. Such accounting treatment should be applied to tax benefits realized after the effective date of section 4091 even though the related purchase occurred before the effective date.

18. Investment Credit: Carrybacks and Carryforwards

.106 Section 4094.21 states: "The amount of a carryback of unused investment credit may be set up as an asset (a claim for refund of income taxes) and be added to the allowable investment credit in accounting for the effect of the credit in the year in which the property is placed in service. A carryforward of unused investment credit should ordinarily be reflected only in the year in which the amount becomes 'allowable', in which case the unused amount would not appear as an asset." Section 4094 remains in effect without modification by APB Opinion No. 11.

.107 APB Opinion No. 2 required that the "deferral" method should be followed in accounting for investment credits; APB Opinion No. 4 stated that the "flow-through" method was also acceptable. This method is now predominant in practice. Under the "deferral" method investment credits actually realized, including those realized through carryback or carryforward, are deferred and amortized over the productive life of the acquired property.

.108 Under the "flow-through" method investment credits generally are treated as reductions of income tax expense of the year in which the credits are actually realized. Practice does not treat the realization of investment credit carryforwards as extraordinary items in the year of realization, as is required for operating loss carryforwards under section 4091.

.109 As discussed in the section on "Computation of Deferred Taxes," the effect of the investment credit must also be recognized in computing deferred taxes for timing differences originating in the current period. This occurs because deferred taxes are computed as the differential in taxes (giving effect to investment credits) arising from including and excluding the timing difference.

.110 If tax allocation results in net deferred credits the differential calculations will recognize as income for financial accounting purposes, through a reduction in the deferred tax provisions, that portion of available investment credits that would have been allowable had taxes payable been based on pretax accounting income. In effect investment credit carryforwards are being recognized as offsets against net deferred tax credits in a manner similar to that followed for operating loss carryforwards. The carryforwards utilized should be limited to the lower of (a) the amount of the carryforward benefit or (b) the amortization of the net deferred credits that would otherwise have occurred during the carryforward period. The total amount of investment credits that may be reflected in these

AC § U 4091.107 (C) 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

computations is limited to the amount actually available (either currently or as a carryforward).

.111 As the investment credit carryforward benefits are realized, reductions of net deferred credits resulting from application of unused investment credits should be reinstated at the then current rates (i. e., at the rates at which the investment credit carryforwards are realized) before recognition is given to the realization of any remaining investment credits. At the same time amortization of such deferred credits that would otherwise have occurred should also be recognized.

.112 If allocation results in a net deferred charge an opposite effect should be obtained—a portion of the investment credit actually realized will be deducted from the deferred charge and omitted from income of the current period for financial accounting purposes.

.113

EXHIBIT VI

EXAMPLE OF EFFECT OF INVESTMENT CREDIT WHEN TAXABLE INCOME IS ZERO (thousands of dollars)

Assumed Facts	
Pretax accounting income	\$500
Additional depreciation for tax purposes	500
Taxable income	\$-0-
Available investment credits	\$100
Tax rate	mption)
Deferred tax computation	
Tax on taxable income	\$-0-
Tax on taxable income without timing difference:	
52.8% of \$500 less surtax exemption	\$257
Less investment credits (maximum—\$25 plus 50% of tax in ex-	
cess of \$25 or \$141) limited to \$100	100
	\$157
Differential equal to deferred tax credit	\$157
Financial statement presentation	
Income before income taxes	\$500
Income tax expense:	
Currently payable\$ -0-	
Deferred 157	_157
Net income	\$343

(Note: If more than one kind of timing difference is involved and the available investment credits are less than the maximum based on pretax accounting income, then the available credits should be applied in proportion to the amounts of the respective timing differences.)

.114

ILLUSTRATION OF DEFERRED TAX COMPUTATION WHEN INVESTMENT CREDIT CARRYFORWARD EXISTS (thousands of dollars) Locumptions.

Assumptions:	
Pretax accounting income	\$1,000
Excess depreciation (assuming no cumulative timing differences from prior years exist)	500
Taxable income	\$ 500
Available investment credits	\$ 400
Deferred taxes: Taxable income with timing difference	\$ 500
Tax thereon:	-
52.8% less surtax exemption	\$ 257
Investment credits (\$25 plus 50% of tax in excess of \$25)	141
Tax payable	\$ 116
Taxable income without timing difference	\$1,000
Tax thereon:	<u> </u>
52.8% less surtax exemption	\$ 521
Investment credits (\$25 plus 50% of tax in excess of \$25)	•
Tax	\$ 248
Differential equal to deferred tax credits	
•	φ 1 <u>5</u> 2
Investment credits:	
Available	
Realized	
Carryforward	\$ 259
Investment credit benefit received	
in computation of deferred taxes:	
Deferred taxes without considering investment credits (\$521 less \$257)\$264	
Deferred taxes as computed above	\$ 132
Investment credit carryforward to future years	\$ 127
Summary:	
Income before income taxes	\$1,000
Income tax expense:	
Currently payable (after giving effect to investment credits	
realized of \$141) \$116	i
Deferred taxes	
Net income	\$ 752
	<u> </u>

FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

19. Allocation Within a Period

.115 Section 4091 requires income tax expense for any period to be allocated among income before extraordinary items, extraordinary items, adjustments of prior periods (or of the opening balance of retained earnings), and direct entries to other stockholders' equity accounts. The amount of income tax expense for the period allocated to income before extraordinary items is computed as the amount of income tax expense (after giving effect to related investment credits) that would have been determined by excluding from pretax accounting income all transactions that are not included in the determination of income before extraordinary items. The difference between income tax expense allocated to income before extraordinary items and the total income tax expense for the period (after giving effect to investment credits) is then allocated among the extraordinary items (and to adjustments of prior periods and direct entries to stockholders' equity accounts).

.116 If exclusion of extraordinary losses from a net loss for a period results in income before extraordinary items, an appropriate provision should be made for the income tax expense that would have been applicable to such income. This imputed tax provision should then be reversed by application against the extraordinary loss.

.117 If exclusion of extraordinary items from pretax accounting income results in a loss before extraordinary items, a credit tax provision should be allocated to such loss. The credit would be equivalent to the tax that would be refundable from an operating loss carryback equal to the loss before extraordinary items. The sum of such credit tax provision and total income tax expense for the period should then be allocated among the items excluded from pretax accounting income in the determination of the loss before extraordinary items. Often the income tax expense allocated to the extraordinary items will differ from the tax that normally would be associated with such items, as illustrated in the example on next page.

.118 If there is more than one item of revenue and expense included in extraordinary items, adjustments of

prior periods and direct entries to stockholders' equity accounts, it is necessary to allocate the total income tax effects applicable to them among the individual items. The tax effect applicable to each individual item should be determined as the differential in income taxes resulting from including and excluding the specific item and should be determined in the same manner as for a timing difference. The amount of income tax expense allocated to all excluded items should then be allocated to the individual items on the basis of the proportion that the tax effect of each item bears to the aggregate tax effects.

Loss before income taxes and extraordinary capital gain Income tax credit (assuming a 50% rate)	\$ (200,000) 100,000
Loss before extraordinary credit	\$ (100,000)
Extraordinary long-term capital gain of \$600,000, less applicable income tax of \$250,000 ⁸	350,000
Net income	\$ 250,000

In certain unusual cases, an item recognized in .119 the determination of taxable income may not enter into the reporting of results of operations but, instead, for accounting purposes represents a capital transaction which is reflected by a direct entry in a stockholders' equity account. In such cases, the tax effect of such an item should be related to the transaction affecting the stockholders' equity account and not considered to be an increase or decrease of income tax expense for the period. An example of such a direct entry to stockholders' equity accounts arises in connection with that portion of a loan loss reserve of a bank which is recorded in the accounts and is deducted for tax purposes but is in excess of allowances required for accounting purposes and is, therefore, treated as appropriated surplus.

.120 When a transaction is includable in the determination of taxable income for a period but is treated as a

AC § U 4091.119 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

⁶ The amount of \$250,000 represents the sum of 25% of \$600,000, or \$150,000 (the alternative tax), plus \$100,000, the tax credit attributable to the carryback of the loss from operations under the "with" and "without" computations. This \$100,000 tax credit is, in effect, lost inasmuch as the alternative tax computation available because of the long-term capital gain does not provide for any recognition of the loss from operations.

AICPA Professional Standards

Accounting for Income Taxes

prior period adjustment for accounting purposes, the tax effects should be allocated to such prior periods. When a change in accounting method is made by retroactive restatement of prior years' operations, the applicable income tax expense should be determined on the basis of the applicable rates for those prior periods.

20. Income Statement Presentation

.121 All taxes based on income, including foreign, state and local, should be reflected in income tax expense in the income statement.

.122 The components of income tax expense for the period should be disclosed separately. This disclosure of components may be done either on the income statement or in a note. The components of income tax expense that must be disclosed separately for the period, allocated among income before extraordinary items, extraordinary items, adjustments of prior periods (or of the opening balance of retained earnings) and direct entries to other stockholders' equity accounts, are as follows:

(a) Taxes estimated to be payable,

(b) Tax effects of timing differences,

(c) Tax effects of investment credits (whether on the deferral method or the flow-through method) and

(d) Tax effects of operating losses.

.123 An example of income statement presentation of income tax expense follows:

	1968	1967
Income before income taxes	\$800,000	\$700,000
United States, foreign and state income taxes		
(Note A)	300,000	350,000
		<u> </u>
Net income	\$500,000	\$350,000

Note A---Income tax expense differs from amounts currently payable because certain revenues and expenses are reported in the income statement in periods which differ from those in which they are subject to taxation. The principal differences in timing between the income statement and taxable income involve (a) depreciation expenses recorded under the straightline method in the income statement and by accelerated methods for tax purposes and (b) provision for product warranties recorded in the income statement as warrantied products are sold but deducted for tax purposes when services under the warranties are performed. The differences between income tax expense and taxes currently payable are reflected in deferred tax accounts in the balance sheet. Income tax expense consists of the following:

13,341

	1968	1967
Currently payable before giving effect to investment credits		\$350
Investment credits realized	(175)	(50)
Deferred—net	(75)	50
	\$300	\$350

21. Balance Sheet Presentation

.124 The Opinions of the Board require that income tax accounts be presented in the balance sheet so as to provide separate classification of the following elements:

(a) Taxes estimated to be currently payable,

(b) Net amount of current deferred charges and current deferred credits relating to timing differences,

(c) Net amount of noncurrent deferred charges and noncurrent deferred credits relating to timing differences,

(d) Refundable taxes arising from carrybacks of operating losses, investment credits and similar items,

(e) Future tax benefits of carryforwards of operating losses and similar items (in those unusual cases where they have been recognized because realization is assured beyond any reasonable doubt) and

(f) Deferred investment credits (applicable when the deferral method of accounting for investment credits is employed).

.125 The distinction between current and noncurrent deferred taxes due to timing differences is based on the classification of the asset or liability related to each specific timing difference. For example, deferred taxes arising from timing differences in depreciation expense are classified with noncurrent liabilities because the related depreciable assets are noncurrent. On the other hand, if installment receivables are included in current assets, the deferred tax credits arising from the use of installment method for tax purposes are classified with current liabilities.

.126 The Board considered the possibility of presenting current deferred tax charges separately from current deferred tax credits, with similar separation of noncurrent

13,342

deferred tax charges from noncurent deferred tax credits. However, the Board concluded that allowing the netting of deferred charges and credits achieved a simpler presentation while allowing the reader of the financial statement to determine the effect on the balance sheet of interperiod tax allocation. It was considered necessary, however, to separate the net current deferred taxes from the net noncurrent deferred taxes in order to conform with accepted principles for determining working capital.

22. General Disclosures

.127 In addition to the presentation of components of income tax presented in the income statement and in the balance sheet, section 4091 requires the following general disclosures:

"(a) Amounts of any operating loss carryforwards not recognized in the loss period, together with expiration dates (indicating separately amounts which, upon recognition, would be credited to deferred tax accounts);

(b) Significant amounts of any other unused deductions or credits, together with expiration dates; and

(c) Reasons for significant variations in the customary relationships between income tax expense and pretax accounting income, if they are not otherwise apparent from the financial statements or from the nature of the entity's business.

The Board recommends that the nature of significant differences between pretax accounting income and taxable income be disclosed."

In addition, section 4094 requires disclosure of the method adopted (deferral or flow-through) in accounting for investment credits and the amounts of unused carryforwards, together with expiration dates. These requirements are consistent with the disclosure requirements cited above in section 4091.

23. Transitional Problems

.128 Section 4091 was effective for fiscal periods that began after December 31, 1967. Retroactive application was not mandatory but was encouraged. The obvious advantage of applying section 4091 retroactively was to achieve complete comparability among all reported periods—both then and in the future.

.129 If a company did not elect to apply section 4091 retroactively, it was nevertheless necessary to make changes in presentation of deferred taxes that related to periods prior to the effective date. For example, a company that was, prior to the effective date, presenting deferred tax accounts as direct reductions of related assets and liabilities—"net of tax" presentation—was required to change the presentation of balance sheets at the end of fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1967. This was required even though the amounts of deferred taxes carried over from prior years had not been recomputed to conform to the provisions of section 4091.

.130 The net of tax presentation is also prohibited in income statements for periods subject to section 4091. When comparative income statements are presented which include years beginning both before and after the effective date of section 4091, it is not required that "net of tax presentation" be eliminated from the former income statements but it would certainly be highly desirable even though the amounts of deferred taxes are not recomputed.

.131 Deferred tax accounts relating to timing differences may be computed either on the basis of individual transactions or, with respect to similar timing differences, under the "gross change" or "net change" methods. Irrespective of which basis or method is elected, no recognition (beyond systematic amortization of previously recorded deferred taxes) can be given in the computation of the current deferred tax provision to the reversal of tax effects arising from timing differences originating prior to the effective date of section 4091 unless the applicable deferred taxes have been provided for in accordance with section 4091, either during the periods in which the timing differences originated or, retroactively, as of the effective date of section 4091. The method or methods adopted should be consistently applied. If the methods are changed, disclosure of a change in accounting is necessary in accordance with section 1051, Accounting Changes. [As amended, effective for fiscal years beginning after July 31, 1971, by APB Opinion No. 20.]

.132 There are cases in which a company, prior to the effective date of section 4091, did not apply interperiod tax allocation procedures for significant timing differences in accordance with section 4091, but was required to do so subsequent to the effective date. It should be noted that under such circumstances if the provisions of section 4091 were not applied retroactively, there may be a significant lack of comparability among income statements for a number of years. This will occur because it will be necessary to recognize deferred taxes for timing differences that originate subsequent to the effective date of section 4091, whereas it will not be permissible to reflect in the provision for deferred taxes the tax effects of similar timing differences that reverse during the same period. The effect of this procedure will be to place the accounts of the company on a full allocation basis gradually over a period of time. The period of time required for full allocation to be achieved and the significance of the lack of comparability will depend on the "rollover period" of the timing differences involved, and their materiality.

.133 An example of a possible extreme lack of comparability could occur in the case where a company has not been providing deferred taxes relating to provisions for product warranty costs where the warranty period is relatively short, say two or three years. In such a case, during the first few years following the effective date of section 4091, the provision (credit) for deferred taxes in the income statement will vary widely (decreasing in amount) even though there is no change in tax rates or in the ending amount of the warranty reserve. Such lack of comparability, assuming it is significant, requires explanation in a note to the financial statements. It is obvious that under these circumstances retroactive application would be highly desirable.

.134 Some companies adopted tax allocation procedures for depreciation timing differences at the effective date of section 4074 on a prospective basis and did not retroactively provide deferred taxes for accumulated timing differences at that date. Such companies should consider the advisability of providing such deferred taxes retroactively on the basis provided in section 4091.

AICPA Professional Standards

AC § U 4091.134

.135 If a company decides to give retroactive effect to section 4091, the computations of deferred taxes relating to timing differences for prior periods should be based on the provisions of section 4091 and should be applied to all material items of those prior periods. It is unacceptable to compute such deferred taxes under the "liability" approach, which has been rejected in section 4091, even though the liability approach would have been acceptable if it had been followed in prior years. On the other hand, where deferred taxes have been provided in prior years under the liability method, recomputation under the deferred method should be required only when the differences are material.

.136 The Board recognized that it was not practicable to discuss in section 4091 all of the problems that could arise in the application of the principles stated in section 4091. Likewise it was not practicable in this article to indicate or suggest solutions to some existing problems or to anticipate solutions to new problems. Further experience in the implementation of section 4091 will undoubtedly lead to new or different treatments.

[Issue Date: 1969.]

24. Franchise Taxes Based on Income

.137 Question—The Ohio corporation franchise/income tax law enacted December 20, 1971 imposes a tax based on the value of a corporation's issued and outstanding shares of capital stock. The value of the issued and outstanding stock is deemed to be (a) the stockholders' equity in the corporation (subject to certain adjustments) as of the beginning of the corporation's annual accounting period that includes the first day of January of the tax year or (b) the corporation's net income (subject to certain adjustments) for the year, or portion of the year, preceding the commencement of its annual accounting period that includes the first day of January. The amount of the tax payable is the greater of the applicable tax rate applied to stockholders' equity or net income, but no less than \$50, and is first due on January 1, 1972. To what period does the tax charge belong?

AC § U 4091.135 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.138 Interpretation—A franchise tax unrelated to income is a privilege tax which should be charged as an expense of the year to which the privilege relates. A franchise tax which, in effect, is based solely on income is considered to be an income tax under section 4091. The tax should be accrued in the year the income to which it relates is earned, even though the tax constitutes a fee for the privilege of doing business in a succeeding period and is payable in that period.

.139 The Ohio corporation franchise/income tax is considered to be composed of two elements for accounting purposes, a franchise tax and an income tax. To the extent the tax is based on stockholders' equity, it is a franchise tax which should be accrued in the year to which the privilege relates. If there is additional tax due, based on income, that excess is considered to be an income tax which should be accrued in the year the income was earned.

.140 In many instances corporations will have issued prior to the enactment of the Ohio law their financial statements for years ending in 1971. In such cases the additional tax expense for years ending in 1971 should be treated as a prior period adjustment when the corporation next issues its financial statements.

[Issue Date: March, 1972]

25. "Leveraged" Lease Accounting

.141 Question—Financing institutions enter into "leveraged" leases by which they rapidly recover their equity in leased property and the yield thereon on a cash-flow basis (subject to income tax payments in later years) although the lease may provide only a low rate of return on total investment over the life of the lease. In recognizing income from a "leveraged" lease, is it acceptable to discount deferred income taxes, i. e., compute taxes payable in the future on a present-value basis?

.142 Interpretation—Section 4091.34 specifies that the deferred method should be followed for interperiod tax allocation. This method does not permit the discounting of income taxes directly or indirectly.

[Issue Date: March, 1972]

AC Section U4094

Accounting For The Investment Credit: Accounting Interpretations of Section 4094

1. Tax Credit Disclosure

.001 Question—What disclosure is required in relation to accounting for the investment tax credit?

.002 Interpretation—Section 4094.18 specifies that full disclosure of the method followed and amounts involved, when material, in accounting for the investment credit is essential. For this purpose, materiality should be measured in relation to the income tax provision, net income, and the trend of earnings. Generally, all amounts of investment credit should be revealed unless they are clearly insignificant. (Modified by Interpretation No. 2 below.)

[Issue Date: February, 1972.]

2. Tax Credit Disclosure (Modification)

.003 Accounting Interpretation No. 1, issued in February 1972, stated, "full disclosure of the method followed and amounts involved, when material, in accounting for the investment credit is essential. For this purpose, materiality should be measured in relation to the income tax provision, net income, and the trend of earnings. Generally, all amounts of investment credit should be revealed unless they are clearly insignificant." That Interpretation is reaffirmed, except for the foregoing references to materiality as it relates to disclosure of the *method*.

.004 The 1971 Act and the Treasury releases require a taxpayer to disclose in financial reports the method of accounting used for the investment credit but no materiality guideline is given. Accordingly, until such time as a guideline may be issued, the *method* of accounting for the investment credit should be disclosed in all financial reports for taxable years ending after December 9, 1971 even though the *amount* is not material and is not disclosed and dis-

AC § U 4094.004

closure would not otherwise be required. If more than one *method* is used (for example, the deferral method for "old" credits and the flow-through method for "new" credits), all *methods* should be disclosed. The amounts may be omitted only if they are clearly insignificant.

[Issue Date: March, 1972]

3. Acceptable Methods of Accounting for Investment Credits Under 1971 Act

.005 Question—What methods may be used to account for investment credits allowable under the Revenue Act of 1971?

.006 Interpretation—In a news release dated January 10, 1972, the Treasury Department interpreted the Act to mean that the flow-through and the deferral methods are the only acceptable methods to account for investment credits allowable under the 1971 Act for taxable years ending after December 9, 1971.

.007 Under the flow-through method, the credit is reflected as a reduction of tax expense in the year it is recognized in the financial statements.

.008 Under the deferral method, the credit is reflected as a reduction of tax expense ratably over the period during which the asset is depreciated and follows the depreciation method used for financial reporting purposes. The amortization period may be the specific life of each asset or the composite life of all depreciable assets. However, amortization over the period the asset must be held to avoid recapture of the credit rather than life of the asset is not acceptable because it is not based on depreciable life.

.009 A financing institution may include the investment credit as part of the proceeds from leased property accounted for by the financing method and include it in determining the yield from the "loan" which is reflected in income over the term of the lease. However, the financing institution may account for the investment credit on property purchased for its own use by either the flowthrough or the deferral method.

.010 The investment credit may be passed through to a lessee for leased property. The lessee should account for the credit by whichever method is used for purchased property. If the deferral method is used and the leased property is not capitalized, the term of the lease, generally including renewal options which are reasonably expected to be exercised, is the period over which the credit should be amortized.

[Issue Date: March, 1972]

4. Change in Method of Accounting for Investment Credit

.011 Question—The Revenue Act of 1971 provides that a taxpayer need not use a particular method of accounting for the investment credit in financial reports subject to the jurisdiction of, or made to, any federal agency. However, once a method is adopted, a taxpayer may not under the Act change to another method unless the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate consents. (Therefore, a taxpayer has a one-time "free choice" to select a method different from the one used in the past to account for the investment credit under the 1971 Act but must continue to use the method selected.) The Treasury Department issued news releases on December 21, 1971 and January 10, 1972 specifying December 10, 1971 as the effective date for the accounting requirements for the credit under the Act in financial reports issued by taxpayers and describing methods of accounting for it. How do the 1971 Act and the Treasury Department releases affect the application of section 1051, Accounting Changes, by taxpayers who change their method of accounting for the investment credit in financial reports issued to shareholders?

.012 Interpretation—This Accounting Interpretation sets forth our understanding of how section 1051¹ should be applied under the Act and the Treasury releases in accounting and reporting for the investment credit in general purpose financial statements issued by companies subject to the jurisdiction of, or making reports to, federal agencies. These would include, for example, annual reports to shareholders and other investors under the jurisdiction of the SEC, ICC, CAB, SBA, etc. The conclusions of this Interpretation should be applied to all financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting

³ Section 1051 is effective for fiscal years beginning after July 31, 1971, but earlier application is encouraged.

principles even though they are issued by companies whose financial reports are not under the jurisdiction of, or who do not report to, a federal agency. (It is our understanding that a tax return is not deemed a financial report to come under the provisions of the 1971 Act discussed in this Interpretation.) If anything in this Interpretation should conflict with any requirement issued by the Treasury, the requirement of the Treasury prevails for those financial statements.

"Old" Investment Credits

.013 Section 1051.16 specifies that the previously adopted method of accounting for a tax credit which is being discontinued or terminated should not be changed. Therefore, the method of accounting used for investment credits previously reported in financial statements covering taxable years ending before December 10, 1971 should be continued for those credits in financial statements issued after December 9, 1971. Thus, an investment credit received in 1968 and accounted for by the deferral method should under section 1051 continue to be amortized on the same basis as before even though the taxpayer elects to use the flow-through method under the one-time "free choice" to account for 1971 Act investment credits. Likewise, a 1968 investment credit which was accounted for by the flowthrough method should not be reinstated, either by retroactive restatement or by a "catch-up" accounting change adjustment, even though the taxpayer elects the deferral method under the one-time "free choice" to account for 1971 Act investment credits.

.014 Under section 1051.16, the "old" investment credit in the above examples is considered terminated as of December 9, 1971 in view of the Treasury Department releases. The adoption of a different method to account for 1971 Act investment credits under the one-time "free choice" is, therefore, considered similar to the adoption of a different method of amortization for newly acquired assets as provided by section 1051.24.

"New" Credits Arising Before Cutoff Date

.015 An investment credit arising under the Revenue Act of 1971 but allowable in a taxable year ending before

AC § U 4094.013

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

December 10, 1971 (for example, from property purchased in September 1971 by a taxpayer with a November 30 taxable year) may be accounted for either by the method used in prior years to account for the investment credit or by the method the taxpayer will use under the one-time "free choice." In these circumstances, those taxpayers who use the "old" method may exercise their one-time "free choice" in the following year. Those taxpayers who change to a different method for the 1971 Act credit should continue that method in accounting for investment credits allowable in following taxable years ending after December 9, 1971.

Carrybacks and Carryforwards

.016 In practice, the investment credit is recognized in financial statements ² by including it in the "with and without" computation of the tax effect of a timing difference which is specified by section 4091.35. This practice continues to be appropriate in taxable years ending after December 9, 1971 although the credit is a carryback or a carryforward for income tax purposes. Thus, when different methods are used to account for the credit in different years and carrybacks or carryforwards are involved, the method applicable to a particular credit is the method used for the year in which the credit is recognized in the financial statements.

.017 Therefore, an investment credit arising from an investment made during a taxable year ending after December 9, 1971 but carried back to produce a refund from a taxable year ending prior to December 10, 1971 should be accounted for by the method selected under the one-time "free choice." An investment credit arising under prior Revenue Acts which has not been previously accounted for and which is allowable in a taxable year ending after December 9, 1971 (for example, from property purchased in 1968 for which all or part of the credit was carried forward to calendar 1971) should be accounted for by the method selected under the one-time "free choice."

,018 The Treasury Department releases do not apply to investment credits which have been reported in annual income statements covering taxable years ending before December 10, 1971 even though the credits may be carried

² See sections U4091.106-.114, "Investment Credit Carrybacks and Carryforwards" and sections 4091.44-.47 for rationale.

forward to reduce tax liability in years ending after December 9, 1971. Therefore, those investment credit carryforwards realized after that date should be accounted for in the normal manner by crediting the assets set up to recognize the investment credit carryforward or by restoring the deferred tax credit when the carryforward credit is realized.

.019 An investment credit recognized in a carryforward year rather than in the year it arises should be included in the determination of income before extraordinary items in the carryforward year.

Consistency Exception in Auditor's Report

.020 A change in the method of accounting for the investment credit (either by selection of a different method under the one-time "free choice" or later by permission of the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate) would call for a consistency exception in an independent auditor's report if it has a material effect on the financial statements in the current year (see Accounting Interpretation No. 2 on tax credit disclosure). The effect of the change under the one-time "free choice" should be disclosed in the manner specified by section 1051.24. The effect of a Treasury-approved change should be disclosed in the manner specified by section 1051.21.

[Issue Date: March, 1972]

5. Investment Credit Is Prior Period Adjustment

.021 Question—The Revenue Act of 1971 allows an investment credit retroactively to some taxpayers whose fiscal years closed prior to enactment of the Act on December 10, 1971. To what accounting period does this credit belong?

.022 Interpretation — An investment credit arising under the Revenue Act of 1971 and allowable in a taxable year ending before December 10, 1971 is considered to be an event of a fiscal year ending before December 10, 1971. If the financial statements have not yet been issued, they should be adjusted to reflect the credit as a type 1 subsequent event (see AU section 560, Volume 1, AICPA PRO-FESSIONAL STANDARDS).

AC § U 4094.019

If the financial statements have already been issued, the credit should be treated as a prior period adjustment as described by section 2010.17 (see also section 2011.18).

.023 The credit may be accounted for by the method used in prior years to account for the investment credit or by a different method. If a different method is used, that method should be used thereafter to account for investment credits allowable in following taxable years ending after December 9, 1971. (See Accounting Interpretation No. 4 on change in method of accounting for the investment credit.)

[Issue Date: March, 1972]

6. Investment Credit in Consolidation

.024 Question—The Revenue Act of 1971 specifies that a taxpayer shall not be required to use a particular method of accounting for the investment credit in reports subject to the jurisdiction of a federal agency. However, a taxpayer must continue to use the method adopted in all such reports subsequently issued unless consent to change is granted by the Secretary of the Treasury or his delegate. May different methods of accounting for the investment credit be adopted by the various legal entities that file separate income tax returns but are included in consolidated financial statements?

.025 Interpretation—No, a single method of accounting for the investment credit should be adopted under the one-time "free choice" by a parent company and its subsidiaries in consolidated financial statements (including subsidiaries carried on the equity method) and other financial reports subject to the jurisdiction of, or made to, a federal agency.

[Issue Date: March, 1972]

 \implies The next page is 13,451. \leftarrow

AC Section U4095

Accounting for Income Taxes— Special Areas: Accounting Interpretations of Section 4095

1. Disclosure of Untaxed Undistributed Earnings of Subsidiary

.001 Question—Section 4095.14b requires disclosure of the cumulative amount of undistributed earnings of a subsidiary on which the parent company has not accrued income taxes. Is the amount to be disclosed the total amount of undistributed earnings on which income taxes have not been accrued or may an amount that will not be taxed, with appropriate tax planning under existing statutes, be excluded?

.002 Interpretation—The amount to be disclosed under section 4095.14b is the cumulative undistributed earnings which under existing law would be subject to income taxes if distributed currently but for which the parent company has not accrued income taxes. If under existing law, however, a short-term postponement of the distribution would permit the earnings to be distributed tax free to the parent, those earnings need not be included in the amount disclosed. Thus, for example, the amount disclosed would include that portion of the undistributed earnings of a DISC subsidiary on which tax has not been accrued, the undistributed earnings of a foreign subsidiary on which tax has not been accrued and the tax would not be offset by an available foreign tax credit, and the undistributed earnings of a less than 80 percent owned domestic subsidiary.

.003 The amount disclosed would not include the undistributed earnings of an 80 percent or more owned domestic subsidiary that is included in a consolidated income tax return, or where the parent has elected a single surtax exemption for all members of an affiliated group which file separate tax returns, since a dividend paid from those earnings would be eligible for the 100 percent dividends received deduction. Likewise, the undistributed earnings of a subsidiary that is expected to be remitted to the parent company in a tax free liquidation would not be included in the amount disclosed.

.004 The undistributed earnings of an 80 percent or more owned domestic subsidiary that files a separate tax return with multiple surtax exemptions for the affiliated group should not be included in the amount disclosed in most situations. Under present law, dividends paid out of earnings accumulated after 1974 will be eligible for the 100 percent dividends received deduction. Income taxes should. however, be accrued for any pre-1975 multiple surtax year accumulated earnings which are not considered to be invested for an indefinite period of time when the tax planning alternatives of filing a consolidated return or a tax free liquidation are not practical. In the unusual situations when pre-1975 accumulated undistributed earnings are considered invested for an indefinite period of time and the consolidated return and tax free liquidation alternatives are not practical, such pre-1975 accumulated undistributed earnings should be included in the amount to be disclosed.

[Issue Date: March, 1973.]

→ The next page is 13,601. ← ₩

AC § U 4095.004

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

AC Section U4111

Interest on Receivables and Payables: Accounting Interpretations of Section 4111

1. Advance Not Requiring Imputation

.001 Question—Section 4111 requires interest to be imputed for some rights to receive or obligations to pay money on fixed or determinable dates. In certain transactions, pipeline companies make advances to encourage exploration. These advances are satisfied by delivery of future production, but there is also a definite obligation to repay if the future production is insufficient to discharge the obligation by a definite date. Does section 4111 apply to such advances?

.002 Interpretation—No, paragraph .03b states that the section is not intended to apply to "amounts which do not require repayment in the future, but rather will be applied to the purchase price of the property, goods, or service involved (e.g., deposits or progress payments on construction contracts, advance payments for acquisition of resources and raw materials, advances to encourage exploration in the extractive industries)." The advance described in the question above is covered by the exclusion in paragraph .03b even though there may be an obligation to repay should the future production prove insufficient to discharge the obligation.

[Issue Date: June, 1972.]

 \implies The next page is 13,701. \leftarrow

AC Section US131

The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock: Accounting Interpretations of Section 5131

1. Intercompany Profit Eliminations Under Equity Method

.001 Question—In applying the equity method of accounting, intercompany profits or losses on assets still remaining with an investor or investee should be eliminated, giving effect to any income taxes on the intercompany transactions. (See section 5131.19a and sections 2051.07 and 2051.16.) Should all of the intercompany profit or loss be eliminated or only that portion related to the investor's common stock interest in the investee?

.002 Interpretation—Section 5131.19 normally requires an investor's net income and stockholder's equity to be the same from application of the equity method as would result from consolidation. Because the equity method is a "one-line" consolidation, however, the details reported in the investor's financial statements under the equity method will not be the same as would be reported in consolidated financial statements (see section 5131.19c). All intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation, but under the equity method intercompany profits or losses are normally eliminated only on assets still remaining on the books of an investor or an investee.

.003 Section 2051.13 provides for complete elimination of intercompany profits or losses in consolidation. It also states that the elimination of intercompany profit or loss may be allocated proportionately between the majority and minority interests. Whether all or a proportionate part of the intercompany profit or loss should be eliminated under the equity method depends largely upon the relationship between the investor and investee.

.004 When an investor controls an investee through majority voting interest and enters into a transaction with an investee which is not on an "arm's length" basis, none of the intercompany profit or loss from the transaction

Accounting Interpretations

should be recognized in income by the investor until it has been realized through transactions with third parties. The same treatment also applies for an investee established with the cooperation of an investor (including an investee established for the financing and operation or leasing of property sold to the investee by the investor) when control is exercised through guarantees of indebtedness, extension of credit and other special arrangements by the investor for the benefit of the investee, or because of ownership by the investor of warrants, convertible securities, etc. issued by the investee.

.005 In other cases, it would be appropriate for the investor to eliminate intercompany profit in relation to the investor's common stock interest in the investee. In these cases, the percentage of intercompany profit to be eliminated would be the same regardless of whether the transaction is "downstream" (i. e., a sale by the investor to the investee) or "upstream" (i. e., a sale by the investee to the investor). The following examples illustrate how these eliminations might be made. The examples assume an investor owns 30 percent of the common stock of an investee, the investment is accounted for under the equity method. and the income tax rate to both the investor and the investee is 40 percent.

.006 Assume an investor sells inventory items to the investee ("downstream"). At the investee's balance sheet date, the investee holds inventory for which the investor has recorded a gross profit of \$100,000. The investor's net income would be reduced \$18,000 to reflect a \$30,000 reduction in gross profit and a \$12,000 reduction in income tax expense. The elimination of intercompany profit might be reflected in the investor's balance sheet in various ways; for example, the investor might present \$12,000 as a deferred tax charge (this is a "timing" difference under section 4091) and \$30,000 as a deferred income credit. The income statement and balance sheet presentations will depend upon what is the most meaningful in the circumstances.

Assume an investee sells inventory items to the .007 investor ("upstream"). At the investor's balance sheet date, the investor holds inventory for which the investee has recorded a gross profit of \$100,000. In computing the AC § U 5131.005

© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

investor's equity "pickup," \$60,000 (\$100,000 less 40% of income tax) would be deducted from the investee's net income and \$18,000 (the investor's share of the intercompany gross profit after income tax) would thereby be eliminated from the investor's equity income. Usually, the investor's investment account would also reflect the \$18,000 intercompany profit elimination, but the elimination might also be reflected in various other ways; for example, the investor's inventory might be reduced \$18,000.

[Issue Date: November, 1971.]

2. Investments in Partnerships and Ventures

.008 Question—Do the provisions of section 5131 apply to investments in partnerships and unincorporated joint ventures?

.009 Interpretation—Section 5131 applies only to investments in common stock of corporations and does not cover investments in partnerships and unincorporated joint ventures (also called undivided interests in ventures). Many of the provisions of section 5131 would be appropriate in accounting for investments in these unincorporated entities, however, as discussed below.

.010 Partnership profits and losses accrued by investor-partners are generally reflected in their financial statements as described in sections 5131.19c and 5131.19d. Likewise, most of the other provisions of section 5131.19 would be appropriate in accounting for a partnership interest, such as the elimination of intercompany profits and losses (see section 5131.19a).

.011 Income taxes should be provided on the profits accrued by investor-partners regardless of the tax basis employed in the partnership return. The tax liabilities applicable to partnership interests relate directly to the partners, and the accounting for income taxes generally contemplated by section 4091 is appropriate. [As amended by APB Opinion No. 23, December, 1971.]

.012 Generally, the above discussion of partnerships would also apply to unincorporated joint ventures, particularly the elimination of intercompany profits and the accounting for income taxes. However, because the investor-venturer owns an undivided interest in each asset and is proportionately liable for its share of each liability, the provisions of section 5131.19c may not apply in some industries. For example, where it is the established industry practice (such as in some oil and gas venture accounting), the investor-venturer may account in its financial statements for its *pro rata* share of the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses of the venture.

[Issue Date: November, 1971.]

3. Early Disclosure of Material Equity Adjustment

.013 Question—Section 5131 requires the equity method of accounting to be applied for a qualifying investment in common stock for fiscal periods beginning after December 31, 1971. The Board encouraged earlier adoption of section 5131. If a company owns an investment in 1971 for which it does not adopt the equity method until 1972 when the retroactive application will materially change the originally reported 1971 net income, should the amount of the change be disclosed in the 1971 financial statements when they are first issued?

.014 Interpretation—Yes, as a minimum the company should disclose in its 1971 financial statements the effect later retroactive application of the equity method will have on 1971 net income. In fact, the company should consider adopting the equity method in 1971 even though not required to do so.

.015 The Board issued section 5131 in March 1971 and provided a relatively long interval before its effective date because of the time required for companies to accumulate information, arrange for audits of investee companies, etc. Extenuating circumstances may therefore exist for not applying the equity method in 1971. However, any material effect of subsequent retroactive application should be disclosed in the 1971 financial statements.

[Issue Date: February, 1972.]

 \implies The next page is 13,751. \leftarrow

AC § U 5131.013 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

AC Section U5141

Accounting for Intangible Assets: Accounting Interpretations of Section 5141

1. Intangible Assets

.001 Question—Section 5141 requires that intangible assets acquired after October 31, 1970 be amortized over a period not exceeding 40 years. Does this section encourage the capitalization of identifiable internally developed intangible assets which have been generally charged to expense in the past?

.002 Interpretation—Section 5141 does not change present accounting practice for intangible assets in any way except to require that intangible assets acquired after October 31, 1970 be amortized. Paragraph .06 notes that the costs of some identifiable intangible assets are now capitalized as deferred assets by some companies while other companies record the costs as expenses when incurred. This paragraph also specifies that the question of whether the costs of identifiable internally developed intangible assets are to be capitalized or charged to expense is not covered by the section. Therefore, the section does not encourage capitalizing the costs of a large initial advertising campaign for a new product or capitalizing the costs of training new employees.

[Issue Date: April, 1971.]

2. Goodwill in a Step Acquisition

.003 Question—Goodwill and other intangible assets acquired before November 1, 1970 (the effective date of section 5141) are not required to be amortized until their term of existence becomes limited (see Chapter 5 of ARB No. 43). Section 5141 requires all intangible assets acquired after October 31, 1970 to be amortized. When a company purchases two or more blocks of voting common stock of another company at various dates before and after November 1, 1970 and eventually obtains control or the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies of the other company, how should the investor company subsequently account for any "goodwill" related to the investment?

.004 Interpretation—When a company in a series of purchases on a step-by-step basis acquires either a subsidiary which is consolidated or an investment which is accounted for under the equity method, the company should identify the cost of each investment, the fair value of the underlying assets acquired and the goodwill for each step purchase. This process would then identify the goodwill associated with each step purchase made before November 1, 1970 or after October 31, 1970 for each investment.¹

.Q05 Goodwill associated with each step purchase acquired prior to November 1, 1970 should be accounted for in accordance with Chapter 5 of ARB No. 43 as amended by section 2010. Although amortization is not required in the absence of evidence that the goodwill has a limited term of existence, section 5141.35 encourages prospective amortization of such goodwill. Retroactive amortization is prohibited by section 5141.34.

.006 Goodwill associated with each step purchase acquired after October 31, 1970 should be amortized in accordance with section 5141. The period of amortization may not exceed forty years as specified by section 5141.29.

[Issue Date: March, 1973.]

 \implies The next page is 13,901. $\leftarrow =$

¹ The accounting for a step acquisition of a subsidiary which is consolidated is described by section 2051.09 (see also sections 1091.87, 1091.93, and 1091.94). As specified by sections

5131.19b and 5131.19n, similar procedures apply for a step acquisition of an investment carried under the equity method.

AC Section U5362

Early Extinguishment of Debt: Accounting Interpretations of Section 5362

1. Debt Tendered to Exercise Warrants

.001 Question—Section 5362 stipulates that gain or loss should be recognized currently in income when any form of debt security is reacquired by the issuer before its scheduled maturity except through conversion by the holder. Does section 5362 apply to debt tendered to exercise warrants which were originally issued with that debt but which were detachable?

.002 Interpretation—Section 5362 does not apply to debt tendered to exercise detachable warrants which were originally issued with that debt if the debt is permitted to be tendered towards the exercise price of the warrants under the terms of the securities at issuance. The tendering of the debt in such a case would be a conversion "pursuant to the existing conversion privileges of the holder" (see section 5362.02).

.003 Section 5362 does not apply to a conversion of debt nor does the section specify the accounting for conversion of debt. In practice, however, the carrying amount of the debt, including any unamortized premium or discount, is credited to the capital accounts upon conversion to reflect the stock issued and no gain or loss is recognized.

[Issue Date: March, 1973.]

AC CROSS-REFERENCE TABLES

. . . finding list of pronouncements . . . sources of sections in current text . . . schedule of changes in accounting pronouncements . . . finding list of accounting interpretations

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
APPENDIX A—Finding List of Pronouncements	15,051
APPENDIX B—Sources of Sections in Current Text	15,061
APPENDIX CSchedule of Changes in Accounting Pronounce-	
ments	15,071
APPENDIX D—Finding List of Accounting Interpretations	15,081

₩ → The next page is 15,051. ← ₩

Finding List of Pronouncements

Accounting Research Bulletins, Opinions and Statements of the Accounting Principles Board, Statements and Interpretations of the Financial Accounting Standards Board are cross-referenced to sections of the text.

ARB	Chap.	Par.		Sec.
43	1A	1	Unrealized Profit	40 10
43	1A	2	Capital Surplus	5511
43	1A	3	Consolidated Financial Statements	
43	1A	4	Accounting for Treasury Stock	5541
43	1A	5	Receivables from Officers, Employees or	
			Affiliated Companies	5111
43	1A.	6	Donated Stock	
43	1B		Profits or Losses on Treasury Stock	
43	2A		Comparative Financial Statements	2041
43	2 B		(Superseded by APB Opinion 9)	
43	3A		Current Assets and Current Liabilities	2031
43	3 B		(Withdrawn by APB Opinion 10)	
43	4		Inventory Pricing	5121
43	5		(Superseded by APB Opinions 16, 17)	
43	6		(Superseded by FASB Statement 5)	
43	7A		Quasi-Reorganization or Corporate	5501
43	7 B		Readjustment	5581
43 43	7 B 7 C		Stock Dividends and Stock Split-Ups	5501
43	8		(Superseded by ARB 48)	
43	9A		(Superseded by APB Opinion 9) Depreciation and High Costs	4071
43	9B		(Superseded by APB Opinion 6)	4071
43	9D 9C		Emergency Facilities—Depreciation, 'Amor-	
10			tization and Income Taxes	4073
43	10A		Accounting for Real and Personal Prop-	
			erty Taxes	4081
43	10B		(Superseded by APB Opinion 11)	
43	11A		Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts	4041
43	11B		Renegotiation	
43	11C		Terminated War and Defense Contracts	4043
43	12		Foreign Operations and Foreign Exchange	1081
43	13A		(Superseded by APB Opinion 8)	
43	13 B		Compensation Involved in Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans	
43	14		(Superseded by APB Opinion 5)	
43	15		(Superseded by APB Opinion 26)	•• •

AICPA Professional Standards

ARB Chap. Par	. Sec.
44	(Superseded by ARB 44 Revised)
44 (Rev.)	Declining-Balance Depreciation 4074
Letter, 4/15/59	(Superseded by APB Opinion 11)
45	Long-Term Construction-Type Contracts 4031
46	Discontinuance of Dating Earned Surplus 5582
47	(Superseded by APB Opinion 8)
48	(Superseded by APB Opinion 16)
49	(Superseded by APB Opinion 9)
50	(Superseded by FASB Statement 5)
51	Consolidated Financial Statements 2051
	8 (Superseded by APB Opinion 16)
51 10	5 (Superseded by APB Opinion 23)
APB Opinions	
Opinion 1	New Depreciation Guidelines and Rules 4093
Opinion 2	Accounting for the "Investment Credit"
	(Except Addendum) 4094
Addendum to Opinion 2	Accounting Principles for Regulated In-
	dustries
Opinion 3	(Superseded by APB Opinion 19)
Opinion 4	Accounting for the "Investment Credit". 4094
Opinion 5	Reporting of Leases in Financial State- ments of Lessee 5351
Opinion 5, Par. 16, 17, 1	8 (Superseded by APB Opinion 31)
Opinion 6, Par. 12, 13	Profits or Losses on Treasury Stock 5542
Opinion 6, Par. 12c	(Superseded by APB Opinion 16)
Opinion 6, Par. 14	Current Assets and Current Liabilities 2031
Opinion 6, Par. 15	(Superseded by APB Opinion 17)
Opinion 6, Par. 16	Stock Dividends and Stock Split-Ups 5561
Opinion 6, Par. 17	Depreciation on Appreciation 4072
Opinion 6, Par. 18	Foreign Operations and Foreign Exchange 1081
Opinion 6, Par. 19	(Superseded by APB Opinion 26)
Opinion 6, Par. 20	Declining-Balance Depreciation 4074
Opinion 6, Par. 21	(Superseded by APB Opinion 11)
Opinion 6, Par. 22	(Superseded by APB Opinion 16)
Opinion 6, Par. 23	(Superseded by APB Opinion 11)
Opinion 7	Accounting for Leases in Financial State- ments of Lessors 4051
Opinion 7, Par. 12	(Superseded by APB Opinion 27)
Opinion 8	Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans. 4063- 4063B
Opinion 9	Reporting the Results of Operations2010-2010A
Opinion 9, Par. 20, 21, 2	
Opinion 9, Par. 25	(Superseded by APB Opinion 20)
Appendix A c	opyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.

APB Opinions

Opinion 9, Par. 30-51, Exh. E Opinion 9, Exh. A-D Opinion 10, Par. 2, 3, 4 Opinion 10, Par. 5 Opinion 10, Par. 6 Opinion 10. Par. 7 Opinion 10, Par. 8, 9 Opinion 10, Par. 10, 11 Opinion 10, Par. 12 Opinion 11 Opinion 11, Par. 38, 39, 41 Opinion 12, Par. 2, 3 Opinion 12, Par. 4, 5 Opinion 12, Par. 6, 7, 8 Opinion 12, Par. 9, 10 Opinion 12, Par. 11-15 Opinion 12, Par. 16, 17 **Opinion 13** Opinion 14 Opinion 15 Opinion 16 Opinion 17 Opinion 18 Opinion 18, Par. 19 Opinion 19 Opinion 20 Opinion 21 Opinion 22 Opinion 23 Opinion 24 Opinion 25 Opinion 26 Opinion 27 Opinion 28 Opinion 28, Par. 27 Opinion 29 Opinion 30 Opinion 31

(Superseded by APB Opinion 15) (Superseded by APB Opinion 30) (Superseded by APB Opinion 18) (Superseded by APB Opinion 16) Tax Allocation Accounts-Discounting... 4092 Offsetting Securities Against Taxes Payable ····· 2032 (Superseded by APB Opinion 14) Liquidation Preference of Preferred Stock 5515 Installment Method of Accounting...... 4020 (Superseded by APB Opinion 23) Classification and Disclosure of Allowances. 2044 Disclosure of Depreciable Assets and De-2043 preciation Deferred Compensation Contracts 4064 2042 Capital Changes (Superseded by APB Opinion 14) Amortization of Debt Discount and Expense or Premium 5361 Amending Paragraph 6 of APB Opinion 9, Application to Commercial Banks.... 2010.05 Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants... 5516 Business Combinations 1091 Intangible Assets 5141 The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock 5131 (Superseded by APB Opinion 23) Reporting Changes in Financial Position. 2021 Interest on Receivables and Payables ... 4111-4111A Accounting for Income Taxes—Special Areas 4095 Accounting for Income Taxes—Investments in Common Stock Accounted for by the Equity Method (Other than Subsidiaries and Corporate Joint Ventures) 4096 Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees Early Extinguishment of Debt...... 5362 Accounting for Lease Transactions by Interim Financial Reporting...... 2071 (Superseded by FASB Statement No. 3) Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions 1041

Reporting the Results of Operations 2012

Disclosure of Lease Commitments by Lessees 5352

AICPA Professional Standards

Sec.

15,054

APB Statements		Sec.
Statement 1	Fundamentals of Financial Accounting.	1010
Statement 2	Disclosure of Supplemental Financial In- formation by Diversified Companies	2061
Statement 3	Financial Statements Restated for General Price-Level Changes	1071D
Statement 4	Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles Underlying Financial Statements of Busi- ness Enterprises	-1029
FASB Statements		
Statement 1	Disclosure of Foreign Currency Transla- tion Information	1082
Statement 2	Accounting for Research and Development Costs	4211
Statement 3	Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements	2072
Statement 4	Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguish- ment of Debt	
Statement 5	Accounting for Contingencies	
Statement 6	Classification of Short-Term Obligations Expected to Be Refinanced	2033
Statement 7	Accounting and Reporting by Develop- ment Stage Enterprises	2062
FASB Interpretations		
Interpretation 1	Accounting Changes Related to the Cost	
•	of Inventory: An Interpretation of APB Opinion No. 20	1051 1
Interpretation 2	Imputing Interest on Debt Arrangements	1031-1
-	Made under the Federal Bankruptcy Act: An Interpretation of APB Opinion	
	No. 21	4111-1
Interpretation 3	Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans Subject to the Employee Retirement In- come Security Act of 1974: An Interpre-	
	tation of APB Opinion No. 8	4063-1
Interpretation 4	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations Accounted for by the Purchase Method: An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 2	
Interpretation 5	(Superseded by FASB Statement No. 7)	
Interpretation 6	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Computer Software: An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 2	

The next page is 15,061.

APPENDIX B

Sources of Sections in Current Text

Sections in Volume 3 are cross-referenced to Accounting Research Bulletins, Opinions and Statements of the Accounting Principles Board, Statements and Interpretations of the Financial Accounting Standards Board

Sec. Source 100 Preface 500 Introduction 510 General 520 Excerpts from the AICPA Code of Professional Ethics 1000 Financial Accounting-General 1010 Fundamentals of Financial Accounting APB Stmt.1 Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles 1020-1029 Underlying Financial Statements of Business EnterprisesAPB Stmt. 4 1040 Nonmonetary Transactions Accounting for Nonmonetary Transac-1041 tions APB 29 1050 Changes in Accounting Principles and Estimates 1051 -Accounting Changes APB 20 1051B 1051-1 Accounting Changes Related to the Cost 1070 Price-Level Changes 1071-Financial Statements Restated for 1071D General Price-Level Changes....APB Stmt. 3 1080 Foreign Operations 1081 Foreign Operations and Foreign Ex-APB 6 Disclosure of Foreign Currency Transla-1082 1090 **Business Combinations** 1091 Accounting for Business Combina-2000 Financial Statement Presentation 2010 Reporting the Results of Operations....APB 9; APB 13; APB 15; APB 20; **APB 30**

AICPA Professional Standards

10,002	1	5	.062
--------	---	---	------

Cross-Reference Tables

Sec.	Source
Fir	nancial Statement Presentation-Continued
2011-	
2011D	Earnings per ShareAPB 15
2012	Reporting the Result of OperationsAPB 30
2013	Reporting Gains and Losses from Ex- tinguishment of Debt FASB Stmt. 4
2020	Statements of Funds
2021	Reporting Changes in Financial Posi- tion APB 19
2030	Working Capital
2031	Current Assets and Current Liabili- tiesARB 43, Ch. 3A; APB 6
2032	Offsetting Securities Against Taxes PayableAPB 10
2033	Classification of Short-Term Obliga- tions Expected to Be Refinanced FASB Stmt. 6
2040	Form of Statements
2041	Comparative Financial Statements ARB 43, Ch. 2A
2042	Capital ChangesAPB 12
2 04 3	Disclosure of Depreciable Assets and DepreciationAPB 12
2044	Classification and Disclosure of Al- lowances APB 12
2045	Disclosure of Accounting Policies APB 22
2050	Consolidation of Financial Statements
2051	Consolidated Financial Statements. ARB 51; ARB 43, Ch. 1A, Par. 3
2060	Statements for Special Situations
2061	Disclosure of Supplemental Financial Information by Diversified Com- panies APB Stmt. 2
2062	Accounting and Reporting by Develop- ment Stage Enterprises
2070	Interim Financial Statements
2071	Interim Financial Reporting APB 28
2072	Reporting Accounting Changes in In- terim Financial Statements FASB Stmt. 3
4000 Re	wenue and Expense
4010	Unrealized ProfitARB 43, Ch. 1A, Par. 1
4020	Installment Method of AccountingAPB 10
4030	Construction-Type Contracts
4031	Long-Term Construction-Type Con- tracts
4040	Government Contracts
4041	Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee ContractsARB 43, Ch. 11A
4042	RenegotiationARB 43, Ch. 11B
Appendix I	B Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

4 04 3	Terminated War and Defense Con-
1050	tracts
4050	Financial Statements of Lessors
4051	Accounting for Leases in Financial Statements of LessorsAPB 7
4052	Accounting for Lease Transactions by Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors. APB 27
4060	Compensation
4061	Compensation Involved in Stock Op- tion and Stock Purchase Plans, ARB 43, Ch. 13B
4062- 4062A	Accounting for Stock Issued to Em- ployees
4063- 4063B	Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans
4063-1	Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans Subject to the Employment Re-
	tirement Income Security Act of 1974 FASB Int. 3
4064	Deferred Compensation Contracts. APB 12
4070	Depreciation
4071	Depreciation and High CostsARB 43, Ch. 9A
4072	Depreciation on Appreciation
107 2	APB 6
4073	Emergency Facilities—Depreciation and AmortizationARB 43, Ch. 9C
4074	Declining-Balance Depreciation ARB 44 (Rev.); APB 6
408 0	Real and Personal Property Taxes
4081	Accounting for Real and Personal Property TaxesARB 43, Ch. 10A
40'90	Accounting for Income Taxes
4091-	
4091A	Income Taxes APB 11
4092	Tax Allocation Accounts—Discount- ing
4093	New Depreciation Guidelines and Rules
4094	Accounting for the Investment Credit. APB 2; APB 4
4095	Accounting for Income Taxes—Spe- cial Areas
4096	Accounting for Income Taxes—In- vestments in Common Stock (Other than Subsidiaries and Corporate Joint Ventures)
4110	Interest
4111-	Interest on Receivables and Pay-
4111A	ables APB 21

15,063

Source

Sec.

Sec.	Source
	Revenue and Expense—Continued
4111-1	Imputing Interest on Debt Arrange- ments Made Under the Federal Bankruptcy Act
4210	Research and Development
4210	Accounting for Research and De-
	velopment Costs
4211-1	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations Ac- counted for by the Purchase
	Method
4211-3	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Computer Software FASB Int. 6
4310	Contingencies
4311	Accounting for Contingencies FASB Stmt. 5
5100	Assets
5110	Receivable Accounts
5111	Receivables from Officers, Employees, or Affiliated CompaniesARB 43, Ch. 1A, Par. 5
5120	Inventories
5121	Inventory Pricing ARB 43, Ch. 4
5130	Intercorporate Investments
5131	The Equity Method of Accounting for
	Investments in Common Stock APB 18
5140	Intangible Assets
5141	Accounting of Intangible AssetsAPB 17
5300	Liabilities and Deferred Credits
5350	Financial Statements of Lessees
5351	Reporting of Leases in Financial Statements of Lessee
5352	Disclosure of Lease Commitments by LesseesAPB 31
5360	Premium and Discount on Debt
5361	Amortization of Debt Discount and Expense or PremiumAPB 12
5362	Early Extinguishment of Debt APB 26
5500	Capital
5510	Stockholders' Equity
5511	Capital Surplus ARB 43, Ch. 1A, Par. 2
5512	Donated Stock ARB 43, Ch. 1A, Par. 6
5515	Liquidation Preference of Preferred Stock
5516	Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants APB 14
5540	Treasury Stock
5541	Accounting for Treasury Stock ARB 43, Ch. 1A, Par. 4
5542	Profits or Losses on Treasury Stock. ARB 43, Ch. 1B; APB 6
Appen	-

Sec.	Source
5560	Dividends
5561	Stock Dividends and Stock Split- UpsARB 43, Ch. 7B; APB 6
5 580	Quasi-Reorganizations
5581	Quasi-Reorganization or Corporate ReadjustmentARB 43, Ch. 7A
5582	Discontinuance of Dating Earned SurplusARB 46
6000	Special Industry Applications
601 0	Public Utilities
6011	Accounting Principles for Regulated IndustriesAddendum to APB 2

₩ → The next page is 15,071. ← ₩

APPENDIX C

Schedule of Changes in Accounting Pronouncements

The following schedule lists the changes that have been made in Accounting Research Bulletins 43 through 51, the Opinions and Statements of the Accounting Principles Board, and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board.

ARB	Chap.	Par.		Date of Change
43	1B		Amended by APB 6, Par. 12, 13	12/31/65
43	2 A	3	Amended by APB 20	7/31/71
43	2B		Superseded by APB 9	12/31/66
43	3A	6	Amended by APB 21, Par. 16	10/ 1/71
43	3A	8	Amended by FASB Stmt. 6	12/31/75
43	3A	10	Amended by APB 6, Par. 14	12/31/65
43	3B		Superseded by APB 10, Par. 7	12/31/66
43	4	14	Amended by APB 20	7/31/71
43	5	5	Amended by APB 9	12/31/66
43	5	6	Amended by APB 9	12/31/66
43	5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	7	Amended by APB 6, Par. 15	12/31/65
43	5	8	Amended by APB 9	12/31/66
43	5	9	Amended by APB 9	12/31/66
43	5	10	Superseded by APB 16	10/31/70
43			Superseded by APB 17	10/31/70
43	6		Superseded by FASB 5	7/ 1/75
43	7 B	6	Amended by APB 6, Par. 16	12/31/65
43	7C		Superseded by ARB 48	1/57
43	8		Superseded by APB 9	12/31/66
43	9B		Superseded by APB 6, Par. 17	12/31/65
43	9C		Amended by APB 6, Par. 23	12/31/65
43	9C	11-13	Amended by APB 11	12/31/67
43	10A	19	Amended by APB 9	12/31/66
43	10B		Amended by APB 6, Par. 23	12/31/65
43	10B	15, 17	Amended by APB 9	12/31/66
43	10B	_	Superseded by APB 11	12/31/67
43	11B	8	Amended by APB 11	12/31/67
43	11B	9	Amended by APB 9	12/31/66
43	11B	9	Amended by APB 30	9/30/73
43	12	12	Amended by APB 6, Par. 18	12/31/65
43	12	18	Amended by APB 6, Par. 18	12/31/65
43	12	21	Amended by APB 9	12/31/66
43	12	21	Amended by APB 30	9/30/73
43	13A		Superseded by APB 8	12/31/66
43	13B		Amended by APB 25	12/31/72
43 43	14		Superseded by APB 5	9/64
43	15	4	Amended by APB 21	10/1/71

AICPA Professional Standards

Appendix C

Data of

13,072	1	5	,07	2
--------	---	---	-----	---

				Date of
ARB	Chap.	Par.		Change
43	15	7	Amended by APB 9	12/31/66
43	15	11	Amended by APB 11	12/31/67
43	15	12	Amended by APB 6, Par. 19	12/31/65
43	15	17	Amended by APB 9	12/31/66
43	15		Superseded by APB 26	1/ 1/73
44 44 (Dere)			Superseded by ARB 44 (Revised)	7/58
44 (Rev.)		3	Amended by APB 6, Par. 23	12/31/65
44 (Rev.) 44 (Rev.)		3 9	Amended by APB 20	7/31/71
44 (Rev.)		4 , 5,	Amended by APB 6, Par. 20 Amended by APB 11	12/31/65 12/31/67
		7,10	michaed by mi b m	12/01/07
Letter, Da	ated Apri		Superseded by APB 11	12/31/67
47		-	Superseded by APB 8	12/31/66
48		5	Amended by APB 6, Par. 22	12/31/65
48 48		6 12	Amended by APB 6, Par. 22	12/31/65
48		12	Amended by APB 10, Par. 5 Supercoded by APP 16	12/31/66
49			Superseded by APB 16 Superseded by APB 9	10/31/70 12/31/66
50			Superseded by FASB 5	7/ 1/75
51		7,8	Superseded by APB 16	10/31/70
51		16	Superseded by APB 23	12/31/71
51		17	Amended by APB 11	12/31/67
51		19	Amended by APB 10, Par. 2-4	12/31/66
51		20	Amended by APB 10, Par. 2-4	12/31/66
51		19-21	Amended by APB 18	12/31/71
APB				
Opinions				
1		1, 5, 6	Amended by APB 11	12/31/67
2			Amended by APB 4	3/64
3 5		14	Superseded by APB 19	9/30/71
2 3 5 5 5 5 5 6		14	Amended by APB 31	12/31/73
5		16-18 20	Superseded by APB 31	12/31/73
5		20	Amended by APB 31 Amended by APB 11	12/31/73
5		23	Amended by APB 11 Amended by APB 31	12/31/67 12/31/73
6		12c	Superseded by APB 16	10/31/70
6		15	Superseded by APB 17	10/31/70
6		19	Superseded by APB 26	1/ 1/73
6		21	Superseded by APB 11	12/31/67
6		22	Superseded by APB 16	10/31/70
0 7		23	Superseded by APB 11	12/31/67
7		8 12	Amended by APB 27	12/31/72
, 9		3	Superseded by APB 27 Amended by APB 30	$\frac{12}{31}$
9		6	Amended by APB 30 Amended by APB 13	9/30/73 12/31/68
9		8	Amended by APB 30	9/30/73
9		17	Amended by APB 30	9/30/73
9		18	Amended by APB 20	7/31/71
9		20	Amended by APB 20	7/31/71
6 7 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9		20-22	Superseded by APB 30	9/30/73
Appendix C	•	25	Superseded by APB 20	7/31/71
ADDENDIX (-	Conversiont @ 10	75 American Institute of Contified Dublie As	

Appendix C

Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

APB Opinions	Par.		Date of Change
9	27	Amended by APB 30	9/30/73
9	29	Amended by APB 30	9/30/73
9	Exh. A-D	Superseded by APB 30	9/20/73
9	30-51, Exh. E	Superseded by APB 15	12/31/68
10	2-4	Superseded by APB 18	12/31/71
10	5	Superseded by APB 16	10/31/70
10	8,9	Superseded by APB 14	12/31/66
10	11b	Amended by APB 15	12/31/68
11	6	Amended by APB 28	12/31/73
11	38, 39, 41	Superseded by APB 23	12/31/71
12	11-15	Superseded by APB 14	12/31/66
15	13	Amended by APB 20	7/31/71
15	13	Amended by APB 30	9/30/73
15	30	Amended by APB 30	9/30/73
17	4	Amended by FASB Stmt. 2	1/1/75
17	6	Amended by FASB Stmt. 2	1/1/75
17	31	Amended by APB 30	9/30/73
18	19d	Amended by APB 30	9/30/73
18	19j	Superseded by APB 23	12/31/71
19	10	Amended by APB 30	9/30/73
20	5	Amended by APB 30	9/30/73
22	13	Amended by FASB Stmt. 2	1/ 1/75
26	20	Amended by APB 30	9/30/73
26	20	Amended by FASB Stmt. 4	3/31/75
28	27	Superseded by FASB Stmt. 3	12/31/74
2 8	31	Amended by FASB Stmt. 3	12/31/74
30	••	Amended by FASB Stmt. 4	3/31/75
APB Statements			
3	Ann B	Amended by ADR 21	10/1/71
4	App. B 8, 14, 15 35, 46, 80, 190, 191, 194	Amended by APB 21 Amended by APB 19	10/1/71 9/30/71
4		Amended by APB 18	12/31/71
4	178, 199	Amended by APB 20	7/31/71
4	145, 181	Amended by APB 21	10/1/71
4	10, 81, 191, 199	Amended by APB 22	12/31/71
4		Amended by APB 29	9/30/73
4	198	Amended by APB 30	9/30/73
FASB Interpretations			
5		Superseded by FASB Stmt. 7	1/1/76

 \implies The next page is 15,081. \leftarrow \leftarrow

. ..

APPENDIX D Finding List of **Accounting Interpretations**

Sections of the current text are cross-referenced to AICPA Accounting Interpretations and FASB Interpretations

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	Sec.	
1051	.16	Change in Method of Accounting for Investmen Credit (No. 4)	t U4094.011	
	.16	Accounting Changes Related to the Cost of Inventor	Y	
		(FASB Int. 1) EPS for "Catch-up" Adjustment (No. 2)	1051-1.05	
	.18	EPS for "Catch-up" Adjustment (No. 2)		
	.19	Changing EPS Denominator for Retroactive Ad justment to Prior Period (No. 1)	- U1051.001	
	.19	EPS for "Catch-up" Adjustment (No. 2)	U1051.010	
	.20	EPS for "Catch-up" Adjustment (No. 2)	. U1051.010	
	.21	Changing EPS Denominator for Retroactive Ad justment to Prior Period (No. 1)	-	
	.21	Change in Method of Accounting for Investmen	t	
	.24	Credit (No. 4) Change in Method of Accounting for Investmen Credit (No. 4)	t U4094.011	
	.27	Credit (No. 4) Changing EPS Denominator for Retroactive Ad justment to Prior Period (No. 1)	- U1051.001	
	.28	Changing EPS Denominator for Retroactive Ad justment to Prior Period (No. 1)	-	
	.29	Changing EPS Denominator for Retroactive Ad justment to Prior Period (No. 1)	-	
	.34	Changing EPS Denominator for Retroactive Ad justment to Prior Period (No. 1)	- . U1051.001	
	.36	Changing EPS Denominator for Retroactive Ad justment to Prior Period (No. 1)	-	
1091	.05	Applying Purchase Accounting (No. 8)	.U1091.025	
	.05	Acquisition of Minority Interest (No. 26)	. U1091.099	
	.05	Entities under Common Control in a Business Com	-	
	.05	bination (No. 27) Transfers and Exchanges Between Companies Under Common Control (No. 39)	U1091.151	
	.28	Forced Sale of Stock (No. 34)	U1091.136	
	.43	Applying Purchase Accounting (No. 8)	U1091.025	
	.43	Acquisition of Minority Interest (No. 26)	U1091.099	
	.43	Entities under Common Control in a Business Com bination (No. 27)	- . U 1091.103	
	.43	Several Companies in a Single Business Combina tion (No. 38)	U1091.147	
	.43	Transfers and Éxchanges Between Companies Unde Common Control (No. 39) Use of Restricted Stock To Effect a Business Com	r U1091.151	
	.45	bination (No. 11)	U1091.036	
	.45	All Shares Must Be Exchanged to Pool (No. 25)	. U1091.090	
	.46	Ratio of Exchange (No. 1)		
AICPA Professional Standards AC § 1091				

Cross-Reference Tables

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	Interpretation Sec.
1091	.46 .46	Notification to Stockholders (No. 2)	U1091.005
		Intercorporate Investment Exceeding 10 Per Ce Limit (No. 3) Consummation Date for a Business Combination	U1091.009
	.46	(No. 4) "Two-Year" Provisions at Effective Date (No. 9)	on U1091.011
	.46	"Two-Year" Provisions at Effective Date (No. 9) U1091.032
	.46	Effect of Termination (No. 10)	U1091.034
	.46	Use of Restricted Stock To Effect a Business Con- bination (No. 11)	m- U1091.036
	.46	bination (No. 11) Wholly Owned Subsidiary (No. 18)	U1091.061
	.46	Disposition of Assets to Comply with an Or (No. 22)	de r U1091.077
	.46	(No. 22) "Grandfather" for Subsidiaries (No. 24)	U1091.086
	.46	All Shares Must Be Exchanged to Pool (No. 25).	U1091.090
	.46	Acquisition of Minority Interest (No. 26)	U1091.099
	.46	Entities under Common Control in a Business Con- bination (No. 27)	U 1091 . 103
	.46	Pooling by Subsidiary of Personal Holding Con	m-
	.46	pany (No. 28) Option May Initiate Combination (No. 29)	U 1091.115
	.46	No Pooling with Wholly Owned Sub. (No. 36)	U1091.141
	.46	Several Companies in a Single Business Combinition (No. 38)	
	.46	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Busine Combinations Accounted for by the Purcha Method (FASB Int. 4)	ess Ise
	.47	Ratio of Exchange (No. 1)	U1091.001
	.47	Consummation Date for a Business Combinati	on
	.47	(No. 4) Pooling Not Completed within One Year (No. 5).	IJ1091.016
	.47	Registered Stock Exchanged for Restricted Stock (N	
	. 17	6)	U 1091.019
	.47	6) Pooling under "Old Rules" (No. 7)	U1091.021
	.47	Applying Purchase Accounting (No. 8)	 U1091.025
	.47	"Two-Year" Provisions at Effective Date (No. 9) U1091.032
	.47	Effect of Termination (No. 10)	U1091.034
	.47	Use of Restricted Stock To Effect a Business Co bination (No. 11) Warrants May Defeat Pooling (No. 12)	m- U1091.03 6
	.47	Warrants May Defeat Pooling (No. 12)	U1091.040
	.47	Two-Class Common for Pooling (No. 13)	U1091.045
	.47	Contingent Shares Defeat Pooling (No. 14)	
	.47	Equity and Debt Issued for Common Before Pool (No. 19)	. U1091.065
	.47	Treasury Stock Allowed for Pooling (No. 20)	
	.47	Disposition of Assets to Comply with an Or (No. 22)	der U1091.077
	.47	"Grandfather" for Subsidiaries (No. 24)	
	.47	All Shares Must Be Exchanged to Pool (No. 25).	U1091.090
	.47	Entities under Common Control in a Business Combination (No. 27)	m-
AC 8	1001		

Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

C		Interpreta	ıtion
Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.) Sec.	
1091	.47	Option May Initiate Combination (No. 29)	.115
	.47	Representations in a Pooling (No. 30)	.119
	.47	Employment Contingencies in a Pooling (No. 31) U1091	.120
	.47	Stock Options in a Pooling (No. 32)	.130
	.47	tion (No. 38) U1091	.147
	.48	tion (No. 38)	
		bination (No. 11)	.036
	.48	Pooling with "Bailout" (No. 21)	.074
	.48	Disposition of Assets to Comply with an Order	077
	.48	(No. 22) U1091 "Grandfather" for Subsidiaries (No. 24) U1091	086
	.48	Pooling Contingent on "Bailout" (No. 37)	144
	.51	Consummation Date for a Business Combination	
		(No. 4)	.011
	.53	Representations in a Pooling (No. 30)	.119
	.54	Treasury Stock Allowed for Pooling (No. 20) U1091.	.067
	.55	Paragraph .99 Is Not Mandatory (No. 15)U1091	.050
	.55	Intercorporate Investment at 10/31/70 (No. 17) U1091	.057
	.58	Costs of Maintaining an "Acquisitions" Department	
		(No. 33)	.133
	.61	Consummation Date for a Business Combination	011
	.61	(No. 4)	.011
	.65	Retroactive Disclosure of Pooling (No. 23)	080
	.65	Applying Purchase Accounting (No. 8)	025
	.69	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business	
	.02	Combinations Accounted for by the Purchase	
		Method (FASB Int. 4)	1.05
	.76	Method (FASB Int. 4)	
		(No. 33)	.133
	.76	Registration Costs in a Purchase (No. 35)U1091	.138
	.87	Goodwill in a Step Acquisition (No. 2) U5141	.003
	.87	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations Accounted for by the Purchase Method (FASB Int. 4)	1 02
	00		
	.88 .93	Registration Costs in a Purchase (No. 35)U1091 Consummation Date for a Business Combination	.130
	.20	(No. 4)	.011
	.93	Goodwill in a Step Acquisition (No. 2)	.003
	.94	Goodwill in a Step Acquisition (No. 2)U5141	.003
	.97	Pooling Not Completed within One Year (No. 5) U1091	.016

 \longrightarrow The next page is 15,083-3. \leftarrow

15,083

AICPA Professional Standards

•		Interpretation
Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.) <u>Sec.</u>
1091	.97	Pooling under "Old Rules" (No. 7) U1091.021 Pooling under "Old Rules" (No. 7) U1091.021
	.98 .99	Pooling under Old Rules (No. 7)
	.99 .99	Changes in Intercorporate Investments (No. 16)U1091.054
	.99	Intercorporate Investment at 10/31/70 (No. 17) U1091.057
	.99	"Grandfather" for Subsidiaries (No. 24)
	.99	Acquisition of Minority Interest (No. 26)
2010	.17	Changing EPS Denominator for Retroactive Ad- justment to Prior Period (No. 1)
	.17	Investment Credit Is Prior Period Adjustment (No. 5)
	.22	Changing EPS Denominator for Retroactive Ad- justment to Prior Period (No. 1) U1051.001
	.23	Changing EPS Denominator for Retroactive Ad- justment to Prior Period (No. 1)
2011	.05	Corporations and Financial Presentations Excepted (No. 9)U2011.068
	.05	Closely Held Corporations (No. 10)U2011.072
	.05	Subchapter S Corporations (No. 13)U2011.081
	.05	Unaudited Financial Statements (No. 14) U2011.082
	.06	Corporations and Financial Presentations Excepted
	.06	(No. 9)
	.06	Subchapter S Corporations (No. 13)
	.06	Unaudited Financial Statements (No. 14)
	.12	Presentation of Earnings per Share
	.12	Reporting Loss per Share (No. 15)
	.13	Presentation of Earnings per Share
	.13	Dual Presentation (No. 6)U2011.061
	.13	Primary Earnings per Share (No. 7)
	.13	Fully Diluted Earnings per Share (No. 8)
	.13	EPS for Extraordinary Items (No. 16)
	.14	Presentation of Earnings per Share
	.14	Supplementary Data
	.14	Dilution—Dilutive Security (No. 4)
	.14 .14	Dilution Less Than 3% (No. 11)
	.14	Simple Capital Structure (No. 17)
	.14	Complex Capital Structure (No. 18)
	.14	EPS for Simple and Complex Capital Structures
	• A 1	(No. 19)
	.14	Dual Presentation for Corporation with Simple Capital Structure (No. 20)

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	Interpretation Sec.
2011	.14	Earnings Applicable to Common Stock (No. 24).	U2011.101
	.14	Supplementary Data (No. 101)	
	.15	Presentation of Earnings per Share	U2011.010
	.15	Classification of Securities	
	.15	Disclosure	U2011.045
	.15	Primary Earnings per Share (No. 7)	
	.15	Fully Diluted Earnings per Share (No. 8)	U2011.066
	.15	Dilution Less Than 3% (No. 11)	U2011.073
	.15	3% Test (No. 12)	U2011.070
	.15	Complex Capital Structure (No. 18)	
	.15	EPS for Simple and Complex Capital Structu (No. 19)	ITES II 2011.090
	.15	Earnings Applicable to Common Stock (No. 24).	TT2011 101
	.15	Classification and Assumed Conversion (No. 24).	TT2011 111
	.15	Conversion Assumed for Primary Only (No. 43).	II2011 147
	.15	Explanation of 20% Provision (No. 74)	
	.16	Fully Diluted Earnings per Share	U2011.019
	.16	Disclosure	
	.16	Dual Presentation (No. 6)	
	.16	Primary v. Fully Diluted EPS (No. 21)	
	.16	Captions for Earnings per Share Presentations (1 22)	No. U2011.097
	.17	Dilution Less Than 3% (No. 11)	U 2011.073
	.17	Complex Capital Structure (No. 18)	U2011.088

15,085

			Interpretation
Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	Sec.
2011	.17	Dual Presentation for Corporation with Simple Capi Structure (No. 20)	tal 112011 002
	.17	Captions in Comparative Statements (No. 23)	U2011.092
	.18	Restatement of Previously Reported Data	II2011 030
	.18	Required Disclosure (No. 100)	U2011.353
	.18	Investment Credit Is Prior Period Adjustment (No. 5)	U4094.021
	.19	Disclosure	U2011.045
	.19	Required Disclosure (No. 100)	U2011.353
	.20	Assumptions	U2011.011
	.20	Disclosure	U2011.045
	.20	Fair Value Used If No Market Price (No. 56)	
	.20 .21	Required Disclosure (No. 100)	U2011.353
	.21	Required Disclosure (No. 100) Restatement of Previously Reported Data	U2011.333
	.22	Supplementary Data	II2011.039
	.22	Options and Warrants Outstanding Part of a Per	
		(No. 57)	U2011.195
	.22	Supplementary Data (No. 101)	
	.23	Supplementary Data	. U2011.046
	.23	Required Disclosure (No. 100)	<u>U2011.353</u>
	.23	Supplementary Data (No. 101)	
	.24 .24	Assumptions Primary v. Fully Diluted EPS (No. 21)	U2011.011
		Primary v. Fully Diluted EPS (No. 21)	
	.25 .25	Assumptions	U2011.011 II2011.013
	.25	Common Stock Equivalents (No. 2)	
	.26	Assumptions	U2011.011
	.27	Assumptions	
	.27	Primary Earnings per Share	U2011.017
	.27	Security (No. 1)	U2011.052
	.27	Common Stock Equivalents (No. 2)	U2011.053
	.27	Complex Capital Structure (No. 18)	U2011.088
	.27	Equivalents of Options and Warrants (No. 48)	U2011.162
	.27	Explanation of 20% Provision (No. 74)	U2011.255
	.27	Contingent Shares (No. 88)	U2011.308
	.28	Classification of Securities	
	.28 .28	Primary Earnings per Share	U2011.017
	.28 .28	Classification and Computation Not Always Same (No. 28)	the
	.28	Change of Classification of Convertible Secu (No. 29)	rity
	.28	Change of Classification Is Mandatory (No. 30).	
	.28	Definition of "Same Terms" (No. 31)	U2011.132
	.28	Issue Price Is Not a "Term" (No. 32)	U2011.133
	.28	Sale of Treasury Securities Is a New Issue (No. 33	3) U2011.134
	.28	Effect of New Issue of Common Stock Equival	UIIS
	.28	(No. 96) No Change for Options and Warrants (No. 97)	U2011.347
	.28 .28	Is Prior Period Restatement Permitted? (No. 99)	U2011.352
	Dest		AC 8 2011

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	Interpretation Sec.
2011	.28	Supplementary Data (No. 101)	U2011.354
	.29	Time of Issuance (No. 27)	U2011.117
	.29	Time of Issuance (No. 27). Change of Classification of Convertible Securi (No. 29)	. U2011.126
	.29	Deferred Compensation Stock Option (No. 82)	U2011.274
	.29	Time of Issuance for Contingent Issuances (No. 89).	U2011.313
	.29	Convertible Securities Contingently Issuable (No. 92)	
	.30	Classification of Securities	U2011.013
	.30	Anti-Dilutive Securities	U2011.016
	.30	Convertible Securities	U2011.023
	.30	Changing EPS Denominator for Retroactive Adjustment to Prior Period (No. 1)	- TT1051 001
	20		
	.30 .30	EPS for "Catch-up" Adjustment (No. 2) Dilution—Dilutive Security (No. 4)	II2011.010
	.30	Anti-Dilution—Anti-Dilutive Security (No. 5)	
	.30	EPS for Extraordinary Items (No. 16)	II2011.084
	.30	Classification and Assumed Conversion (No. 26)	U2011.111
	.30	No Anti-Dilution From Convertible Preferred Sto	
		(No. 41)	U2011.143
	.30	No Anti-Dilution From Convertible Debt (No. 42)	. U2011.145
	.30	If Converted Method at Actual Conversion (No. 44).	U2011.151
	.30	No Anti-Dilution from Options and Warran (No. 47)	its
	.30	Grouping Options and Warrants (No. 49)	U2011.163
	.30	Market Prices Used for Treasury Stock Meth (No. 52)	od U2011.175
	.30	Options and Warrants Outstanding Part of a Perio (No. 57)	od U2011.195
	.30	Anti-Dilutive Exercise (No. 62)	U2011.217
	.30	Computations for Warrants Whose Proceeds A Applied to Retire Debt (No. 70)	U2011.246
	.30	Treasury Stock Method for Convertibles (No. 71).	. U2011.249
	.30	Debt Purchased Under Paragraph 38 (No. 77)	
	.30	Computations May Differ for Primary and Ful Diluted When Paragraph 38 Applies (No. 81)	. U2011.271
	.30	Deferred Compensation Stock Option (No. 82)	
	.30	Options or Warrants to Purchase Convertible Secu ties (No. 84)	ri- U2011.290
	.30	Contingent Shares (No. 88)	U2011 .30 8
	.31	Classification and Assumed Conversion (No. 26).	U2011.111
	.31	Conversion Assumed for Primary Only (No. 43)	U2011.147
	.33	Primary Earnings per Share	U2011.017
	.33	Common Stock Equivalents (No. 2)	U2011.053
	.33	Classification and Assumed Conversion (No. 26).	U2011.111
	.33	Change of Classification of Convertible Security (N 29)	lo. U2011.126
	.33	Determining a Convertible Security's Cash Yie (No. 34)	eld U2011.135
	.33	Computing a Convertible's Cash Yield (No. 35)	U2011.136
AC § 2	2011	© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Acc	countants, Inc.

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)
2011	.33	Cash Yield of Convertible Security in a "Package" (No. 36)
	.33	Property Included in Cash Yield (No. 37)
	.33	Fair Value Used If No Market Price (No. 56)
	.33	Explanation of 20% Provision (No. 74)
	.33	Options or Warrants to Purchase Convertible Securi- ties (No. 84)U2011.290
	.33	Convertible Securities Contingently Issuable (No. 92). U2011.330
	.34	Assumptions U2011.011
	.34	Prime Rate Used in Yield Test (No. 38) U2011.140
	.34	Prior Period Prime Rates (No. 39) U2011.141
	.35	Convertible Securities
	.35	Options and WarrantsU2011.026
	.35	Common Stock Equivalents (No. 2)U2011.053
	.35	Classification and Assumed Conversion (No. 26) U2011.111
	.35	Classification of Options and Warrants (No. 46) U2011.158
	.35	Equivalents of Options and Warrants (No. 48) U2011.162
	.35 .35	Grouping Options and Warrants (No. 49)
	.35	Securities Subject to Paragraph 37 Tests (No. 66). U2011.231
	.35	Market Prices Used in Paragraph 37 Tests (No. 67)U2011.236
	.35	Treasury Stock Method for Convertibles (No. 71) U2011.249
	.35	Anti-Dilutive Options and Warrants Included (No. 72) U2011.253
	.35	Explanation of 20% Provision (No. 74)
	.35	Deferred Compensation Stock Option (No. 82) U2011.274
	.35	Stock Subscriptions Are Warrants (No. 83) U2011.287
	.36	Assumptions U2011.011
	.36	Options and WarrantsU2011.026
	.36	Restatement of Previously Reported Data
	.36	3% Test (No. 12)
	.36	No Anti-Dilution from Options and Warrants (No. 47)
	.36	Equivalents of Options and Warrants (No. 48) U2011.162
	.36	Methods Used for Options and Warrants (No. 50) U2011.167
	.36	Treasury Stock Method Reflects Dilution of Options and Warrants (No. 51)
	.36	Market Prices Used for Treasury Stock Method (No. 52)
	.36	How Many Market Prices? (No. 53) U2011.181
	.36	What Market Price to Use? (No. 54)
	.36	Over-the-Counter and Listed Stocks Not Traded (No. 55)
	.36	Options and Warrants Outstanding Part of a Period (No. 57)
	.36	Anti-Dilutive Exercise (No. 62)
	.36	"Substantially All" of Three Months (No. 63) U2011.223
	.36	Total of Quarters May Not Equal Annual EPS (No. 64)

Cross Reference Tables

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.) Sec.	
2011	.36	Anti-Dilutive Options and Warrants Included (No.	
		72) U2011	.253
	.36	Redemption Premium or Discount (No. 76) U2011	.262
	.36	Computations May Differ for Primary and Fully	
		Diluted when Paragraph 38 Applies (No. 81) U2011.	.271
	.36	Deferred Compensation Stock Option (No. 82) U2011.	.274
	.36	Options or Warrants to Purchase Convertible Securi- ties (No. 84)U2011	.290
	.36	Is Prior Restatement Permitted? (No. 99)U2011	.352
	.37	Primary Earnings Per Share	.017
	.37	Convertible Securities	
	.37	Options and Warrants	
	.37	Security (No. 1)	.052
	.37	Classification and Assumed Conversion (No. 26) U2011	.111
	.37	No Anti-Dilution from Options and Warrants (No.	
	.37	47) Equivalents of Options and Warrants (No. 48) U2011 U2011	162
	.37	Methods Used for Options and Warrants (No. 50)U2011	.167
	.37	Unusual Warrants and Their Equivalents (No. 65). U2011	.230
	.37	Securities Subject to Paragraph 37 Tests (No. 66) U2011	231
	.37	Market Prices Used in Paragraph 37 Tests (No. 67) U2011	.236
	.37	Computations for Warrants Requiring the Tendering	
	.37	of Debt (No. 68)U2011 Computations for Warrants Allowing the Tendering	
	.37	of Debt (No. 69)	
		Applied to Retire Debt (No. 70)	.246
	.37 .37	Anti-Dilutive Options and Warrants Included (No.	.473
		72)	
	.37	Explanation of 20% Provision (No. 74) U2011	.255
	.37	Original Issue Premium or Discount (No. 75) U2011	.261
	.37	Redemption Premium or Discount (No. 76)U2011	.262
	.38	Anti-Dilutive Securities	.016
	.38	Options and Warrants	.020
	.38	3% Test (No. 12)	.070
	.38		.111
	.3 8	No Anti-Dilution from Options and Warrants (No. 47)	.159
	38	47) U2011 Equivalents of Options and Warrants (No. 48) U2011	.162
	.38	Grouping Options and Warrants (No. 49)	.163
	.38	Methods Used for Options and Warrants (No. 50). U2011	.167
	.38	Market Prices Used for Treasury Stock Method (No. 52)	175
	.38	Options and Warrants Outstanding Part of a Period	
	.38	(No. 57)	231
	.38	Market Prices Used in Paragraph 37 Tests (No.	
	.3 8	67)U2011 Computations for Warrants Whose Proceeds Are Applied To Retire Debt (No. 70)U2011	.236
AC §	2011	© 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants,	Inc.

		F	Trademunded
Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	Interpretation Sec.
2011	.38 .38	Treasury Stock Method for Convertibles (No. 71) Anti-Dilutive Options and Warrants Included (1	No.
	•	72)	
	.38	No Order for Exercise (No. 73)	U2011.254
	.38 .38	Explanation of 20% Provision (No. 74) Original Issue Premium or Discount (No. 75)	
	.38 .38	Redemption Premium or Discount (No. 75)	
	.38	Debt Purchased Under Paragraph 38 (No. 77)	U2011.265
	.38	Compensating Balances Excluded (No. 78)	U2011.267
	.38	Investments Under Paragraph 38 (No. 79)	U2011.268
	.38 .38	Debt Eligible Only While Outstanding (No. 80) Computations May Differ for Primary and Fully luted When Paragraph 38 Applies (No. 81)	Di-
	.38	Two-Class Method for Warrants Issued by REI (No. 102)	Ts
	.39	Classification of Securities	
	.39	Earnings Applicable to Common Stock	
	.39	Original Issue Premium or Discount on Converti Securities (No. 40)	ble
	.39	Deferred Compensation Stock Option (No. 82)	
	.39	Securities Issued by Subsidiaries (No. 93)	U2011.334
	.40	Anti-Dilutive Securities	
	.40	Fully Diluted Earnings Per Share	U2011.019
	.40	Convertible Securities	
	.40	Changing EPS Denominator for Retroactive A justment to Prior Period (No. 1)	d- U1051.001
	.40	EPS for "Catch-up" Adjustment (No. 2)	
	.40	Dilution-Dilutive Security (No. 4)	
	.40	Anti-Dilution—Anti-Dilutive Security (No. 5)	
	.40 .40	Primary v. Fully Diluted ESP (No. 21) Classification and Assumed Conversion (No. 26)	U2011.095
	.40	No Anti-Dilution From Convertible Preferred Sto (No. 41)	ock
	.40	No Anti-Dilution From Convertible Debt (No. 42)	
	.40	Conversion Assumed for Primary Only (No. 43)	U2011.147
	.40	No Anti-Dilution from Options and Warrants (1 47)	No. U2011.159
	.40	47) Grouping Options and Warrants (No. 49)	U2011.163
	.40	Market Prices Used for Treasury Stock Method (1 52)	No. U2011.175
	.40	Options and Warrants Outstanding Part of a P riod (No. 57)	e- U2011.195
	.40	Computations for Warrants Whose Proceeds A Applied To Retire Debt (No. 70)	U2011.24 6
	.40	Treasury Stock Method for Convertibles (No. 71)	U2011.249
	.40	Debt Purchased Under Paragraph 38 (No. 77).	
	.40	Deferred Compensation Stock Option (No. 82)	
	.40	Options or Warrants to Purchase Convertible Se rities (No. 84)	
			AC 5 2011

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.) Sec.
2011	.40	Contingent Shares (No. 88)
2011	.40	Assumptions U2011.010
	.41	Classification of Securities
	.41	Anti-Dilutive Securities
	.41	Restatement of Previously Reported Data
	.41	Other Potentially Dilutive Securities (No. 3)U2011.054
	.41	Complex Capital Structure (No. 18)
	.41	Dual Presentation for Corporation with Simple Capi- tal Structure (No. 20)U2011.092Primary v. Fully Diluted EPS (No. 21)U2011.095
	.41	Primary v. Fully Diluted EPS (No. 21)
	.41	Classification and Assumed Conversion (No. 26) U2011.111
	.41	If Converted Method at Actual Conversion (No. 44)
	.41	Options and Warrants Outstanding Part of a Period (No. 57)
	.41	Total of Quarters May Not Equal Annual EPS (No. 64) U2011.228
	.42	Options and Warrants
	.42	Classification of Options and Warrants (No. 46) U2011.158
	.42	No Anti-Dilution from Options and Warrants (No.
	.42	47) Treasury Stock Method Reflects Dilution of Options and Warrants (No. 51) U2011.159
	.42	Market Prices Used for Treasury Stock Method (No. 52)U2011.175
	.42	Options and Warrants Outstanding Part of a Period (No. 57)
	.42	Applying Ending and Average Market Prices (No.
	.42	60) U2011.207 Treasury Stock Method at Exercise (No. 61) U2011.213
	.42	Anti-Dilutive Exercise (No. 62)
	.42	"Substantially All" of Three Months (No. 63) U2011.223
	.42	Market Prices Used in Paragraph 37 Tests (No. 67) U2011.236
	.42	Computations for Warrants Whose Proceeds Are Applied To Retire Debt (No. 70)U2011.246
	.42	Redemption Premium or Discount (No. 76)
	.42	Computations May Differ for Primary and Fully Di- luted When Paragraph 38 Applies (No. 81)U2011.271
	.43	Other Securities
	.43	Securities Convertible Into Other Convertible Secu- rities (No. 45)
	.45	Restatement of Previously Reported Data
	.45	Effective Date
	.45	Prior Period Restatement Recommended (No. 98) U2011.349
	.46	Restatement of Previously Reported Data
	.46	Effective Date
	.46	Other Potentially Dilutive Securities (No. 3) U2011.054
	.46	Classification and Assumed Conversion (No. 26) U2011.111
	.46	Change of Classification Is Mandatory (No. 30) U2011.129
	.46	Prior Period Prime Rates (No. 39)
AC 8	2011	@ 1074 American Institute of Certified Dublic Accountants Inc

AC § 2011 © 1974, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	Interpretation Sec.
2011	.46	Classification of Options and Warrants (No. 46)	U2011.158
	.46	Treasury Stock Method for Convertibles (No. 71)	
	.46	Explanation of 20% Provision (No. 74)	
	.46	Computations May Differ for Primary and Fully I	Di-
	40	luted When Paragraph 38 Applies (No. 81)	
	.46 .46	Deferred Compensation Stock Option (No. 82)	U2011.274
	.40 .46	Stock Subscriptions Are Warrants (No. 83) Contingent Shares (No. 88)	U2011.28/ II2011 208
	.46	Convertible Securities Contingently Issuable (N	
	.10	92)	U2011.330
	.46	92) Securities Issued by Subsidiaries (No. 93)	U2011.334
	.46	Factors in Paragraph 46 Election (No. 95)	.U2011.344
	.46	Effect of New Issue of Common Stock Equivaler	its
	.46	(No. 96) No Change for Options and Warrants (No. 97)	II2011 347
	.46	Prior Period Restatement Recommended (No. 98)	U2011.349
2011A	.02	Presentation of Earnings per Share	
	.02	Weighted Average of Shares Outstanding (No. 25)	
	.02	If Converted Method at Actual Conversion (No. 44)	U2011.151
	.02	Options and Warrants Outstanding Part of a Peri (No. 57)	od U2011.195
	.02	Treasury Stock Method at Exercise (No. 61)	U2011.213
	.02	Anti-Dilutive Exercise (No. 62)	U2011.217
	.03	Restatement of Previously Reported Data	U2011.039
	.03	Required Disclosure (No. 100)	U2011.353
	.04	Restatement of Previously Réported Data	U2011.039
	.04	Business Combinations and Reorganization	
	.04	Classification and Computation Not Always the Sar (No. 28)	U2011.121
	.05	Earnings Applicable to Common Stock	U2011.020
	.05	Convertible Securities	
	.05 .05	Reporting Loss per Share (No. 15)	U2011.083
	.05	Earnings Applicable to Common Stock (No. 24)	
	.05	Classification and Assumed Conversion (No. 26). No Anti-Dilution from Convertible Preferred Sto	ck
		(No. 41)	. U2011.143
	.05	No Anti-Dilution from Convertible Debt (No. 42)	
	.05	Required Disclosure (No. 100)	. U2011.353
	.06	Earnings Applicable to Common Stock	
	.06	Convertible Securities	U2011.023
	.06 .06	Dilution—Dilutive Security (No. 4)	U2011.050
		Earnings Applicable to Common Stock (No. 24)	
	.06 .06	Classification and Assumed Conversion (No. 26) Classification and Computation Not Always the San	ne
	.06	(No. 28) Original Issue Premium or Discount on Convertible	le
	04	Securities (No. 40) Explanation of 20% Provision (No. 74)	. U2011.142
	.06	Explanation of 20% Provision (No. 74)	U2011.255
	.06 .06	Original Issue Premium or Discount (No. 75) Redemption Premium or Discount (No. 76)	
		reachingtion rientum of Discount (110, 70)	

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	m
2011A	.06	Options or Warrants to Purchase Convertible Secu- rities (No. 84)	90
	.06	Two-Class Method for Convertible Securities (No.	
	.06	87) U2011.30 Convertible Securities Contingently Issuable (No. 92) U2011.33	30
	.07 .09	92) U2011.33 Earnings Applicable to Common Stock U2011.02 EPS Treatment of Two-Class and Participating Se-	
	.09	curities (No. 85)U2011.29 Two-Class Method for Convertible Securities (No.)5
	.10	87)	14
	.10	curities (No. 85)U2011.29 Two-Class Method for Nonconvertible Securities	
	.10	(No. 86) U2011.30 Two-Class Method for Convertible Securities (No. 87) U2011.30)0)4
	.10	Two-Class Method for Warrants Issued by REITs (No. 102)	
	.11	Delayed Effectiveness and Changing Rates or Prices U2011.03	5
	.11	Securities Convertible Into Other Convertible Secu- rities (No. 45)	54
	.12	Delayed Effectiveness and Changing Rates or Prices U2011.03	
	.12	Restatement of Previously Reported Data	19
	.12	Classification and Computation Not Always the Same (No. 28) U2011.12	21
	.12	Deferred Compensation Stock Option (No. 82) U2011.27	4
	.12	Changing Exercise Prices and Conversion Rates (No. 94)	1
	.13	Delayed Effectiveness and Changing Rates or Prices U2011.03	15
	.13	Classification and Computation Not Always the Same (No. 28) U2011.12	21
	.13	Securities Convertible Into Other Convertible Secu- rities (No. 45)	j4
	.13	Computations for Warrants Allowing the Tendering of Debt (No. 69)	
	.13	Treasury Stock Method for Convertibles (No. 71) U2011.24	9
	.13	Deferred Compensation Stock Option (No. 82) U2011.27	/4
	.13	Changing Exercise Prices and Conversion Rates (No. 94)	
	.14	Classification and Assumed Conversion (No. 26)U2011.11	
	.14	Property Included in Cash Yield (No. 37)U2011.13	
	.15	Property Included in Cash Yield (No. 37) U2011.13	8
	.15	EPS Treatment of Two-Class and Participating Secu- rities (No. 85) U2011.29	
	.16	Contingent Shares (No. 88)U2011.30	8
	.16	Earnings Conditions (No. 91)	:Z
	.16	Convertible Securities Contingently Issuable (No. 92)	10
	.17	Restatement of Previously Reported Data	9

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

15,093

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	Interpretation Sec.
2011 A	.17	Time of Issuance (No. 27) Contingent Shares (No. 88)	U2011.117
	.17	Contingent Shares (No. 88)	U2011.308
	.17	Market Price Conditions (No. 90)	U2011.314
	.17	Earnings Conditions (No. 91)	U2011.322
	.17	Convertible Securities Contingently Issuable (No. 92)	
	.18	Restatement of Previously Reported Data	
	.18		
	.18	Contingent Shares (No. 88) Market Price Conditions (No. 90)	
	.18	Convertible Securities Contingently Issuable (No. 92)	U2011.330
	.19	Contingent Shares (No. 88)	U2011.308
	.19	Market Price Conditions (No. 90)	U2011.314
	.19	Earnings Conditions (No. 91) Convertible Securities Contingently Issuable (No. 92)	U2011.322
	.19	Convertible Securities Contingently Issuable (No. 92)	U2011.330
	.20	Property Included in Cash Yield (No. 37)	U2011.138
	.20	Securities Issued by Subsidiaries (No. 93)	
	.21	Property Included in Cash Yield (No. 37)	U2011.138
	.21	Securities Issued by Subsidiaries (No. 93)	. U2011.334
	.22	Property Included in Cash Yield (No. 37)	
	.22	Securities Issued by Subsidiaries (No. 93)	U2011.334
	.23	Property Included in Cash Yield (No. 37)	
	.23	Securities Issued by Subsidiaries (No. 93)	
	.24	Property Included in Cash Yield (No. 37)	U2011.138
	.24	Securities Issued by Subsidiaries (No. 93)	
	.25	Required Disclosure (No. 100)	
2011C	.03 .03	EPS for Extraordinary Items (No. 16) Market Prices Used for Treasury Stock Meth	U2011.084 od
		(No. 52)	U2011.175
	.03	(No. 52) What Is a Period? (No. 58)	U2011.202
	.03	Share Averaging (No. 59)	U2011.205
	.03	Market Prices Used in Paragraph 37 Tests (No. 67)	U2011.236
	.03	Computations for Warrants Allowing the Tenderic of Debt (No. 69)	ng U2011.241
	.03	Computations for Warrants Whose Proceeds A	.re
	•	Applied To Retire Debt (No. 70)	. U2011.246
	.04	Fair Value Used If No Market Price (No. 56)	U2011 . 190
2012	.08	Illustration of the Application of Section 2012 (No. 1)	U2012.001
	.13	Illustration of the Application of Section 2012 (No. 1)	112012.001
	.18	Illustration of the Application of Section 2012 (No. 1)	112012.001
	.19	Illustration of the Application of Section 2012 (No. 1) Illustration of the Application of Section 2012 (No. 1)	TI2012.001
	.23 .23	Losses Caused by Bankruptcies (No. 1)	IJ2010.001
	.25	Illustration of the Application of Section 2012 (No. 1)	II2012 001
	.20 .27	Illustration of the Application of Section 2012 (No. 1)	U2012.001
2021	.07	Number of Funds Statements Required (No. 1)	U2021.001
	.07	Funds Statements for Mutuals and Co-ops (No. 2)	U2021.005
	.10	Funds Statements for Mutual Funds and Real Esta	TT2021 007
	10	Companies (No. 3)	UZUZI.UU/
	.12 .16	Number of Funds Statements Required (No. 1) Number of Funds Statements Required (No. 1)	TT2021.001
	.10	Transer of Funds Statements Required (100, 1)	AC 8 2021

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	Interpretation Sec.
2045	.12	Disclosure of "Leverage Lease" Transactions Lessors (No. 1)	U2045.001
2051	.02	Investment Credit in Consolidation (No. 6)	
	.07	Intercompany Profit Eliminations under Equi Method (No. 1)	U5131.001
	.09	Goodwill in a Step Acquisition (No. 2)	U5141.003
•	.13	Intercompany Profit Eliminations under Equ Method (No. 1)	U5131.001
	.16	Intercompany Profit Eliminations under Equ Method (No. 1)	ity U5131.001
4062	.12	Stock Plans Established by a Principal Stocholder (No. 1)	U4062.001
	.16	Stock Plans Established by a Principal Sto holder (No. 1)	oc k-
406 3	.01	Introduction (No. 1)	U 4063 .001
• .	.03	Introduction (No. 1)	U4063.001
	.03	Previous Pronouncements (No. 3)	U4063.009
	.04	Development of Section 4063 (No. 4)	U4063.013
	.04	Major Objective of Section 4063 (No. 5)	U4063.020
	.04	Interest Equivalents (No. 6)	
	.04	Actuarial Gains and Losses (No. 13)	U4063.083
	.06	Development of Section 4063 (No. 4)	U4063.013
	.06	Major Objective of Section 4063 (No. 5)	
	.07	Minimum-Maximum (No. 8)	U 4063.038
	.07	Questions and Answers (No. 28)	
	.08	Questions and Answers (No. 28)	
	.09	Major Objective of Section 4063 (No. 5)	
	.10	Major Objective of Section 4063 (No. 5)	
	.11	Previous Pronouncements (No. 3)	
	.11	What Constitutes Pension Cost? (No. 7)	
	.11	Computing the Defined Minimum (No. 10)	
	.11	Questions and Answers (No. 28)	
	.13	Interest Equivalents (No. 6)	
	.13	What Constitutes Pension Cost? (No. 7)	
	.14	Actuarial Cost Methods (No. 11)	
	.14	What Should Be Included in the Actuarially Co puted Value of Vested Benefits (No. 14)	U4063.089
	.14	Questions and Answers (No. 28)	
	.16	Major Objective of Section 4063 (No. 5)	
	.17	Interest Equivalents (No. 6)	
	.17 .17	What Constitutes Pension Cost? (No. 7) Minimum-Maximum (No. 8)	114063.033
	.17	Computing the Defined Maximum (No. 9)	U4063 047
	.17	Computing the Defined Minimum (No. 9)	U4063.053
	.17		

^{© 1974,} American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	Interpretation Sec.
4063	.17	What Should Be Included in the Actuarially C puted Value of Vested Benefits (No. 14)	.0m- 114063.089
	.17	Changes in Accounting Method (No. 18)	U4063.113
	.17	Questions and Answers (No. 28)	U4063.184
	.17	Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans	
		Subject to the Employee Retirement	
		Income Security Act of 1974 (FASB Int. 3)	
	.18	Computing the Defined Minimum (No. 10)	U4063.053
	.18	Balance Sheet Presentations (No. 20)	
	.18	Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans Subject to the Employee Retirement	
		Income Security Act of 1974 (FASB Int. 3)	4063-1.05
	.19	Actuarial Cost Methods (No. 11)	U4063.073
	.22	Computing the Defined Maximum (No. 9)	U4063.047
	.23	Actuarial Cost Methods (No. 11)	U4063.073
	.24	Actuarial Cost Methods (No. 11)	U4063.073
	.25	Actuarial Gains and Losses (No. 13)	U4063.083
	.25	Separate Adjustments for Actuarial Gains Losses (No. 15)	
	.26	Separate Adjustments for Actuarial Gains	
	.20	Losses (No. 15)	U4063.099
	.26	Questions and Answers (No. 28)	U4063.172
	.27	Computing the Defined Maximum (No. 9)	U4063.04 7
	.29	Unrealized Appreciation and Depreciation (No. 16	5) U4063.103
	.30	Major Objective of Section 4063 (No. 5)	U4063.020
	.30	Actuarial Gains and Losses (No. 13)	U4063.083
	.30	Separate Adjustments for Actuarial Gains and Los (No. 15)	5SES
	.31	Other Gain and Loss Considerations (No. 17)	U4063.109
	.32	Unrealized Appreciation and Depreciation (No. 16	5). U4063.103
	.33	Other Gain and Loss Considerations (No. 17)	U4063.109
	.34	Employees Included (No. 23)	U4063.125
	.35	Employees Included (No. 23)	U4063.125
	.36 .36	Employees Included (No. 23) Questions and Answers (No. 28)	U4003.125
	.30 .37	Several Plans (No. 24)	II4063 128
	.37	Multiemployer Plans (No. 25)	U4063.130
	.39	Multiemployer Plans (No. 25)	U4063.130
	.40	Insured Plans (No. 26)	U4063.131
	.41	Insured Plans (No. 26)	U4063.131
	.41	Insured Plans (No. 26) Questions and Answers (No. 28)	U4063.194
	.44	Treatment of Over Funding (No. 19)	U4063.117
	.45	Computing the Defined Minimum (No. 10)	
	.46 .46	Balance Sheet Presentation (No. 20)	
	.40 .46	Disclosure (No. 21) Questions and Answers (No. 28)	TI4063 184
	.40	Changes in Accounting Method (No. 18)	
	.48	Changes in Accounting Method (No. 18)	
	.48	Treatment of Over Funding (No. 19)	U4063.11 7
	.49	Changes in Accounting Method (No. 18)	U4063.113
4063A	.01	Actuarial Valuations (No. 12)	U4063.079
	.04	Actuarial Cost Methods (No. 11)	U4063.073
AICPA	Profess	sional Standards	AC § 4063A

Cross-Reference Tables

_			Interpretation
Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	Sec
4063A	.05	Questions and Answers (No. 28)	U4063.168
	.07	What Should Be Included in the Actuarially Co	
	00	puted Value of Vested Benefits (No. 14)	
	.08	Actuarial Gains and Losses (No. 13)	U4003.083
	.09 .10	Actuarial Cost Methods (No. 11) Actuarial Cost Methods (No. 11)	TI4063.073
	.10	What Should Be Included in the Actuarially Co	m-
	.10	puted Value of Vested Benefits (No. 14)	U4063.089
	.15	Actuarial Cost Method (No. 11)	U4063.073
	.34	Questions and Answers (No. 28)	U4063.104
4063B	.19	Multiemployer Plans (No. 25)	U4063.130
	.27	Interest Equivalents (No. 6)	U4063.029
	.29	Some Key Definitions (No. 2) Some Key Definitions (No. 2)	U4063.007
	.30	Some Key Definitions (No. 2)	U 4063.007
	.34	Some Key Definitions (No. 2)	
4063B	.43	Computing the Defined Minimum (No. 10)	U4063.05 3
	.43	What Should Be Included in the Actuarially Co	m-
		puted Value of Vested Benefits (No. 14)	
4091	.01	Historical Development (No. 2)	U4091.006
	.02	Subjects Included in Section 4091 (No. 3)	U4091.012
	.02 .03	"Leveraged" Lease Accounting (No. 25)	
	.03	Historical Development (No. 2) Investment Credit Carrybacks and Carryforward	
	.05	(No. 18)	U4091.106
	.04	Historical Development (No. 2)	U4091.006
	.05	Exclusions from the Section (No. 4)	U4091.016
	.06	Exclusions from the Section (No. 4) Subjects Included in Section 4091 (No. 3)	U4091.012
	.07	Objective (No. 5)	U4091.022
	.12	Subjects Included in Section 4091 (No. 3)	U4091.012
	.12	Objective (No. 5)	U4091.022
	.12 .12	Timing Differences (No. 7)	
	.12	Permanent Differences (No. 8) Franchise Taxes Based on Income (No. 24)	TT4001 137
	.12	Subjects Included in Section 4091 (No. 3)	U4091.012
	.13	Objective (No. 5)	U4091.022
	.14	Timing Differences (No. 7)	U4091.035
	.16	Timing Differences (No. 7)	U4091.035
	.17	Alternative Methods Considered by the APB (No. 6)) U4091.024
	.18	Alternative Methods Considered by the APB (No. 6) U4091.024
	.19	Alternative Methods Considered by the APB (No. 6)	
	.20 .21	Alternative Methods Considered by the APB (No. 6)	114001 022
	.21	Objective (No. 5) Timing Differences (No. 7)	
	.22	Permanent Differences (No. 8)	U4091.055
	.25	Objective (No. 5)	U4091.022
	.28	Objective (No. 5)	U4091.022
	.28	Amortization of Deferred Taxes (No. 10)	U4091.065
	.29	Amortization of Deferred Taxes (No. 10)	U4091.065
	.30	Objective (No. 5)	U4091.022
	.30	Timing Differences (No. 7)	U4091.035
	.32 .32	Alternative Methods Considered by the APB (No. 6) Permanent Differences (No. 8)	
AC § 4			
- ML 3 4	NCUUR	Copyright (1) 1975. American Institute of Certified Public.	accountants, inc.

Sec.		J Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	nterpretation Sec.
4091	.33 .34	Permanent Differences (No. 8) "Leveraged" Lease Accounting (No. 25)	. U4091.141
	.35	Objective (No. 5)	
	.35	Alternative Methods Considered by the APB (No. 6).	U4091.024
	.35	Timing Differences (No. 7) Computation of Deferred Taxes (No. 9)	. U4091.035
	.35	Computation of Deferred Taxes (No. 9)	. U4091.056
	.35	Change in Method of Accounting for Investmen Credit (No. 4)	. U4094.011
	.36	Timing Differences (No. 7)	U4091.035
	.36	Computation of Deferred Taxes (No. 9)	. U4091.056
	.36	Amortization of Deferred Taxes (No. 10)	. U4091.065
	.39	Exclusions from the Section (No. 4)	. U4091.016
	.41	Operating Losses	. U4091.071
	.42	Operating Losses	
	.43	Loss Carrybacks (No. 11)	. U4091.072
	.44	Loss Carryforwards-Conflict of Concepts (No. 12).	
	.44	Assurance Beyond Any Reasonable Doubt (No. 13).	U4091.083
	.45	Assurance Beyond Any Reasonable Doubt (No. 13).	U4091.083
	.46	Assurance Beyond Any Reasonable Doubt (No. 13)	U4091.083
	.47	Recognition of Carryforwards as Offsets to Deferred	L
		Tax Credits (No. 14)	. U4091.088
	.48	Purchased Loss Carryforwards (No. 17)	
	.49	Loss Carryforwards Arising Prior to Quasi-Reorganiza tion (No. 16)	-
	.50	Allocation Within a Period (No. 19)	
	.51	Allocation Within a Period (No. 19)	.U4091.115
	.52	Stock Compensation Plans (No. 1)	.U4061.001
	.52	Operating Losses	.U4091.071
	.53	Balance Sheet Presentation (No. 21)	
	.54	Income Statement Presentation (No. 20)	U4091.121
	.55	Balance Sheet Presentation (No. 21)	. U4091.124
	.57	Loss Carrybacks (No. 11)	U4091.072
	.59	Income Statement Presentation (No. 20)	. U4091.121
	.60	Loss Carryforwards-Conflict of Concepts (No. 12)	
	.62	General Disclosures (No. 22)	U4091.127
	.63	Transitional Problems (No. 23)	U4091.128
	.64	Transitional Problems (No. 23)	U4091.128
	.65	Transitional Problems (No. 23)	
	.66	Transitional Problems (No. 23)	
4091A	.01	Timing Differences (No. 7)	U4091.035
	.02	Timing Differences (No. 7)	.U4091.035
	.03	Timing Differences (No. 7)	
	.05	Timing Differences (No. 7)	U4091.035
4092	.01	Subjects Included in Section 4091 (No. 3)	. U4091.012
	.01	"Leveraged" Lease Accounting (No. 25)	. U4091.141
4094	.16	Historical Development (No. 2)	114091 006
TUJT	.10	General Disclosures (No. 2)	U4091_127
	.18	Tax Credit Disclosure (No. 1)	U4094.001
	.10		

Cross-Reference Tables

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	Interpretation Sec.
4094	.18 . 2 1	Tax Credit Disclosure (Modification) (No. 2) Investment Credit Carrybacks and Carryforward (No. 18)	ls
4095	.12	Disclosure of Untaxed Undistributed Earnings of Subsidiary (No. 1)	U4095.001
	.14	Disclosure of Untaxed Undistributed Earnings of Subsidiary (No. 1)	of U4095.001
4111	.02	Imputing Interest on Debt Arrangements Mac under the Federal Bankruptcy Act (FASB Int. 2)	. 4111-1.02
	.03	Advance Not Requiring Imputation (No. 1)	
	.10	Imputing Interest on Debt Arrangements Mac under the Federal Bankruptcy Act (FASB Int. 2)	4111-1.02
	.11	Imputing Interest on Debt Arrangements Mac under the Federal Bankruptcy Act (FASB Int. 2)	le 4111-1.02
4211	.02	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Comput Software (FASB Int. 6)	er 4211-3.07
	.08	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Busines Combinations Accounted for by the Purchas Method (FASB Int. 4)	se
	.08	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Compute Software (FASB Int. 6)	er 4211-3.02
	.08	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Compute Software (FASB Int. 6)	er
	.08	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Compute Software (FASB Int. 6)	er
	.08	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Compute Software (FASB Int. 6)	4211-3.08
	.08	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Compute Software (FASB Int. 6)	4211-3.09
	.11	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Busines Combinations Accounted for by the Purchas Method (FASB Int. 4)	se
	.1 1	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Busines Combinations Accounted for by the Purchas	ss se
	.11	Method (FASB Int. 4) Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Busine Combinations Accounted for by the Purchas	ss
	.11	Method (FASB Int. 4) Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Compute	4211-1.05 er
	.11	Software (FASB Int. 6) Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Compute Software (FASB Int. 6)	er
	.11	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Compute Software (FASB Int. 6)	er
	.11	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Compute Software (FASB Int. 6)	er
AC § 4	4094	Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public A	

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	interpretation Sec.
42 11	.12	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations Accounted for by the Purchase Method (FASB Int. 4)	•
	.12	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations Accounted for by the Purchase Method (FASB Int. 4)	4211-1.05
	.12	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Computer Software (FASB Int. 6)	- . 4211-3.02
	.12	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Computer Software (FASB Int. 6)	r -
	.15	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations Accounted for by the Purchase Method (FASB Int. 4)	5 2
	.15	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Computer Software (FASB Int. 6)	4211-3.10
	.16	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations Accounted for by the Purchase Method (FASB Int. 4)	3
	.16	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Computer Software (FASB Int. 6)	r
	.31	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Computer Software (FASB Int. 6)	r
	.34	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations Accounted for by the Purchase Method (FASB Int. 4)	3 2
	.34	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations Accounted for by the Purchase Method (FASB Int. 4)	5 2
	.35	Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Computer Software (FASB Int. 6)	r
5121	.05	Accounting Changes Related to the Cost of Invento (FASB Int. 1)	ry . 1051-1.02
5131	.01	Investments in Partnerships and Ventures (No. 2)	
	.19	Intercompany Profit Eliminations under Equit Method (No. 1)	. U5131.001
	.19	Goodwill in a Step Acquisition (No. 2)	. U5141.003
	.19	Investments in Partnerships and Ventures (No. 2)	. U5131.008
	.21	Early Disclosure of Material Equity Adjustmen (No. 3)	
5141	.01	Intangible Assets (No. 1)	. U5141.001
	.06	Intangible Assets (No. 1)	
	.09	Intangible Assets (No. 1)	
	.15	Intangible Assets (No. 1)	
	.24	Intangible Assets (No. 1)	
	.29	Goodwill in a Step Acquisition (No. 2)	

Cross-Reference Tables

Sec.		Interpretation Subject (Interpretation No.)	Interpretation Sec.
5141	.34 .35	Goodwill in a Step Acquisition (No. 2) Goodwill in a Step Acquisition (No. 2)	U5141.003 U5141.003
5362	.02	Debt Tendered to Exercise Warrants (No. 1)	U5362.001
5516	.14	Debt Tendered to Exercise Warrants (No. 1)	U5362.001

_

AC TOPICAL INDEX

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Topical Index	 15,201

Contents

AC TOPICAL INDEX

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers. Boldface references indicate comprehensive coverage of the subject

ABANDONMENT—See Disposal of Segment

ABNORMAL COSTS
. Income Statement Classification 2012.06; 2012.2022
Inventory Pricing
ABSORBED COSTS . Inventories
ACCELERATED DEPRECIATION Change to Straight Line Method 1051A.0104; 2072.1721
. Inflation or Deflation, Effects 1026.39 . "Leveraged Lease" Transactions
. U2045.002 . Method Permitted For Taxes U4091.007 . Timing Differences 4074.04—.05; U4091.047 . U4091.058; U4091.069—.070; U4091.134
ACCOUNTING
. Branches Included
. Corporate—See Corporate Accounting
Definition
. Entity—See Entity, Accounting . Estimates—See Estimation
. Guides, Industry—See Section 6000,
Appendix
. Income v. Taxable Income
. PeriodSee Time Periods
Policies—See Policies, Accounting
. Position Papers—see Section 6000, Appendix
. Textbooks, Sources of Principles 1028.05
ACCOUNTING INTERPRETATIONS
. Purpose
. Reporting Results of Operations 2013.02- .03; U2012.001013 . Status
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD
. Comparability Objective 1024.33; 1029.01 . Development Stage Enterprises 2062.03
. Foreign Currency Translation 1082.02;
1082.12 . Interim Financial Information
. Involvement in Future Changes 1029.13
. Opinions—See Opinions, Accounting
Principles Board . Policy on Retroactivity
. Program
Resolution Approved 100.05
. Statements—See Statements, Accounting Principles Board
. Status of Opinions
. Study of "Leveraged Leases" U2045.004
. Termination of Authority

ACCOUNTING RESEARCH BULLETINS (REFERENCES TO)

(REFERENCES TO)
. Areas Not Covered
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.06
Effect of Statement No. 4
Effect of Statement No. 4
. Need for Revisions 100.03
Number 32. Income and Earned
Surplus
Number 33, Depreciation and High
Costs 4071.01; 4071.03—.09; 4071.14—.17 Number 36, Pension Plans—
. Number 36, Pension Plans—
Accounting for Annuity Costs Based
on Past Services
. Number 37, Accounting for
Compensation in the Form of Stock
Options
Number 43, Chapter 3A, Current
Assets and Current Liabilities 2033.02-
.03; 2033.05; 2033.08—.09; 2033.16; 2033.20;
2033.23; 2033.27; 4311.74
. Number 43, Chapter 4, Inventory
Pricing
Number 43, Chapter 6, Contingency
Reserves
Earned Surplus
. Number 43, Chapter 12, Foreign
Operations and Foreign
Exchange 1082 08-09
Exchange
Plans—Annuity Costs Based on Past
Service
Service
Long-Term Leases in Financial
Long-Term Leases in Financial Statements of Lessees
Long-Term Leases in Financial Statements of Lessees
Long-Term Leases in Financial Statements of Lessees5351.0103; 5351.0506 . Number 44, Declining-Balance
Long-Term Leases in Financial Statements of Lessees
Long-Term Leases in Financial Statements of Lessees
Long-Term Leases in Financial Statements of Lessees
Long-Term Leases in Financial Statements of Lessees5351.0103; 5351.0506 Number 44, Declining-Balance Depreciation4074.06 Number 45, Long-Term Construction- Type Contracts
Long-Term Leases in Financial Statements of Lessees
Long-Term Lesses in Financial Statements of Lessees
Long-Term Leases in Financial Statements of Lessees
Long-Term Lesses in Financial Statements of Lessees
Long-Term Leases in Financial Statements of Lessees
Long-Term Lesses in Financial Statements of Lessees

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

ACCOUNTING RESEARCH STUDIES	A
(REFERENCES TO)—continued	
Number 4, Reporting of Leases in	
Financial Statements 4051.03; 5351.04; 5351.06	
. Number 5, A Critical Study of	•
Accounting for Business	
Combinations	
Number 6, Reporting the Financial	
Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.01; 1071.17—.18; 1071.42	
Number 7, Inventory of Generally	•
Accepted Principles for Business	
Enterprises	•
Number 8, Accounting for the Cost of Pension Plans 4063.05; U4063.013—.019;	
U4063.155	Δ.
. Number 9, Interperiod Allocation of	
Corporate Income Taxes	
4091.14; 4091.17; 4091A.01; 4092.01; U4091.008— 011; U4091.024	
Number 10, Accounting for	
Goodwill 1091.03—.04; 5141.03—.04; 5141.17	•
. Number 11, Financial Reporting in the	
Extractive Industries	
Operations of U.S. Companies in U.S.	
Dollars	
. Number 14, Accounting for Research	•
and Development Expenditures 4211.20; 4211.52	
. Number 15, Stockholders' Equity	
1041.04; 4062.03	
ACCOUNTING TERMINOLOGY	
BULLETINS (REFERENCES TO)	
. Number 1, Review and Resume 1021.07;	•
1025.1920; 4074.02; 4311.09	
Number 2, Proceeds, Revenue,	
Income, Profit and Earnings 1021.07; 1025.21	
. Number 4, Cost, Expense and Loss	•
	•
. Status	
ACCRUAL	
. Definition, Actuarial Terms 4063B.01	
ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING	
. Accounting for Income Taxes 4091.13	•
Basic Feature	
Basis for Implementing	
Deferred Compensation Contracts	
Definition 1022 27: 1025 08	
Equity Method 5131.10 Full Accrual of Pension Cost 4063.12 Interim Period Costs 2071.15—.17 Liability Concept 4311.69—.73	•
Interim Period Costs	
Liability Concept	
. Long-Term Contract Adjustments 2012.23	•
Loss Contingencies 4311.08–.09; 4311.59–	•
.101 — Partial Accrual of Pension Cost 4063.13	•
.14	
Pension Plans, General	
. Stock Issued to Employees 4062.1215	
. Terminated War and Defense Contracts	•
	-
ACCRUED BENEFIT COST METHOD	•
Actuarial Cost Method 4063A.10—.14 Contribution, Annual	
Employees' Retirement Benefits 4063A.12	•
U4063.089—.098	•
Funding Instruments	•
Normal Cost	A
. Value of Vested Benefits U4063.073078;	A
U4063.089—.098	

A	co	UIR	ED	co	MP	ANY
	vγ	OIR	EV	υu		MIN 1

۱C	Control	
•	Control	091.21;
•	Earnings, Previous	091 21
	Fair Value	7475
•	Goodwill Disposed of	0141.32
·	Goodwill Valuation	70 71
·	Income After Acquisition	091 11
÷	Preferred Stock Issued	091.73
	Research and Development	
	Activities	11-1.04 091.38
(C	OUIRING COMPANY	
	Accounting After Acquisition	091 69
	Accrual of Interest	
	Acquisition, Purchase Method U109	
	Adjustment, Cost of Acquired Company	.031
		.091.93
·	Amortization of Goodwill	091.87
•	Appraisal Values	091.90
	Contracts	091.88
	Control	091.18
	Consideration for Stock Issued	091.21
•	Cost of Acquisition 1091.08; 1091.11; 1	091.21;
	1091.1	/8—.80
٠	. 1091. Customer Lists	.091.88
•		015
·	Deferred Compensation	.091.88
·		
·	Disclosure Requirements 1091.	95—.96 70 71
•	Evidence of Identity	/0/1
•	Franchises	091.88
÷	Goodwill Previously Recorded	.091.88
÷	Goodwill Valuation	091.24
	Identity	70—.71
	Income, Acquired Company1 Income After Acquisition1091.11; 1	091.94
	Income After Acquisition 1091.11; 1	.091.21
·	Intangible Assets	091.88
·	Inventories1 Investment Before Combination1	091.88
·	Land1	
:	Leases	
Ż	Liabilities Assumed1	
	Loss U4091.103—.105 Forwards	
	Purchased	3—.105
·	Marketable Securities	7—.88; 3—.140
	Natural Resources1	091.88
•	Negative Goodwill 1091.87; 1091.9	9192
·	Nonmarketable Securities1 Operating Loss Carryforwards1	
•	Patents	
•	Payables	
÷	Pension Costs	
	Plant and Equipment	
	Pro Forma Information1	091.96
• .	Receivables1	091.88
•	Registration Costs	3
·	Research and Development	11104
	Activities	001 21
:	Supplier Lists	
	Vacation Pay	
	Warranties1	
~	OUUSITION COST See Historical Cast	

CQUISITION COST—See Historical Cost

ACQUISITION OF A BUSINESS-See **Business** Combinations

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 4063A.0408 Adjustments
Adjustments
. Benefits 4063A.07
Cost-of-Living Index
Mortality
Retirement Age
. Social Security Benefits
. Social Security Benefits
Change in Estimate
. Effect on Pension Cost
Expected Terminations 04063.178–.181
Invested) 4063A.05
Professional Fees
. Uncertainties
. Unrealized Appreciation (Depreciation) 4063.32; U4063.103—.108
• •
ACTUARIAL COST METHODS
Accrued Benefit Cost Method 4063A.10- .14; U4063.073078; U4063.089098
. Definition
Definition
U4063.073078; U4063.160165 . Projected Benefit Cost Methods
4063A.15
. Aggregate Method
.33
Entry Age Normal Method 4063A.16—.21 Individual Level Premium Method
4063A.22—.25 . Terminal Funding
. Two or More Plans 4063.37; U4063.128—129
Two or More Plans 4063.37; U4063.128—.129 Unit Credit Method—See Accrued
Benefit Cost Method
Actuarial GAINS (LOSSES) Adjustments
Adjustments 4003.25, 04003.059–101 Averaging Method 4063.26; U4063.172–177
. Debt Securities 4063.32
Definition
028: 114063 083-088
. General Description 4063.25–.33
Overfunding
. Reduction of Pension Cost
. Reduction of Pension Cost
Spreading Method
Spreading Method
. Unrealized Appreciation (Depreciation) 4063.28—29; 4063.32;
04063.103108
. Variable Annuities 4063.33; U4063.109112
ACTUARIAL LIABILITY . Definition
ACTUARIAL VALUATIONS 4063A.0103
Catastrophe Losses
Date of Valuations 4063A.01; U4063.079—.082 Definition
Determination of Amount of
Contribution
 Frequency of Valuations
. Pension Reform Act (1974) 4063-1.05
Present Value of Benefits
ACTUARIALLY COMPUTED VALUE—See Present Value

ACTUARIES

. Actuarial Cost Method 4063B.04
Assumptions Re Uncertainties 4063B.03
. Calculations of Present Value 40638.33
. Definition
. Membership in American Academy of
Actuaries
Pension Cost Determination 4063.07;
U4063.001006; U4063.150151
. Use of Word "Accrue"
ADJUSTMENTS, EXCHANGE—See Exchange Adjustments

ADJUSTMENTS, PRICE-LEVEL—See Price-Level Changes

ADJUSTMENTS, PRIOR PERIOD—See Prior Period Adjustments

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES—See General and Administrative Expenses

ADVANCES

ADVANCES Classification in Balance Sheet 2031.07;
. Interest on Advance Payments
Monetary Assets
ADVANCES, GOVERNMENT . Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts 4041.05; 4041.09; 4041.22
. Terminated War and Defense Contracts
ADVANCES, SALES CONTRACTS . Nonmonetary Item
ADVERTISING . Expense Recognition (M-6C) 1027.10 . Interim Period Costs
AFFILIATED COMPANIES Convertible Debt
AGGREGATE METHOD 4063A.2630 Actuarial Cost Method
AGGREGATE NET INCOME . All Inclusive Concept
AGRICULTURE . Inventory Pricing
ALL INCLUSIVE CONCEPT . Net Income Determination 2010.12
ALLOCATION OF COST . Declining-Balance Depreciation 4074.02 . Interest
.17; 2072.09—.13 Protection Against Losses 4311.61—.63; 4311.85—.88
. Research and Development Costs 4211.49; 4211-1.0305
ALLOCATION OF INCOME TAXES—See Interperiod Tax Allocation

ALLOCATION, PURCHASE PRICE

Corporation's Own Stock Acquired ... 5542.13—.14

15.204

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

ALLOWANCES Classification and Disclosure 2044.01-.02 ALLOWANCES FOR DEPRECIATION Investments in Leased Property 4051.15 ALLOWANCES FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS Credit Risks in Leases 4052.05 Savings and Loan Associations 4095.19-25 ALTERNATIVE PRACTICES --- See also Changes, Accounting Classification, Short-term Development Stage Enterprises 2062.10; 2062.34-.40 . Disclosure of Accounting Policies ... 2045.12 Foreign Currency Translation ... 1082.01--.03 1082.18 . 2071.05 . Interim Financial Information . . . 2072.05 Justification for Use 1051.15-.17 ... 4211.01; 4211.18; 4211.37; 4211-1.06; 4211-3.10 AMERICAN ACCOUNTING ASSOCIATION AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS . Industry Audit Guides 1051.04; 2062.31 Recommendations to New York Stock . Review of Financial Statements 2010.01 **AMERICAN INSURANCE ASSOCIATION** AMORTIZATION .097 Development Stage Costs ... 2062.36; 2062.39 Discount or Premium . Conversion Assumed U2011.142; Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.20-.21 • • Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.06-07; 4111.14 . . Refundings Prior to 1/1/73 2013.12; 5362.22 Term of Original Issue Intangible Assets . . . 5141.12 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.13 Method 5141.30 . Professional Firms 510.05

AMORTIZATION --- continued Intangible Assets—continued
 Nonamortization Arguments
 5141.18

 Period
 5141.09; 5141.16; 5141.29

 Prospective Application
 5141.31
 . . Required Method 5141.09 Research and Development Costs 4211.11; 4211.14; 4211.52; 4211.56; 4211.63; 4211-1.02; 4211-3.02 . . Systematic and Rational Price-Level Restatements ... 1071.20; 1071.39 Translation, Foreign currencies 1082.27; 1082 29 ANNUAL REPORTS-See Reports to Stockholders **ANNUITIES**—See Contracts ANTI-DILUTION Changes, Accounting Catch-Up Adjustment U1051.010-.013 Contingent Issuance of Shares U2011.308--.312 Conversion For Primary Only U2011.147-.150 Convertible Preferred Stock U2011.143-.144 **Dividends, Convertible Securities** Interest, Convertible Securities ... U2011.112 **Options and Warrants** . Aggregate Computations U2011.253-.260 . . Anti-Dilutive Exercise U1051.003-.004; U2011.217-.222 . Earnings Per Share Computations U2011.200 **APPLICABILITY OF APB OPINIONS** 006 Government-Owned Corporations ... 2072.02-.03 . Lessees' Financial Statements 4311.18: 5352.06 Municipalities 510.05 Mutual Companies 2011.06; U2011.069; U2021.005-.009 . Nonprofit Organizations 510.05; 2011.06; 2045.09; U2011.069

Pension Plans

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

APPLICABILITY OF APB OPINIONS-

continued
. Profit-Making Organizations 510.05;
2045.08 . Real Estate Investment Trusts U2021.007— .009
. Registered Investment Companies
. Regulated Companies 1051.03; 6011.01- .05; 5362.02
Religious Institutions
. Reporting Results of Operations 2013.02
Results of Operations
Retroactivity 1051.04 Scientific Institutions 510.05
Stock Issued to Employees
. Subchapter S Corporations U2011.081
APPLICABILITY OF FASB STATEMENTS
. Classified Balance Sheets
2033.1920; 2033.31
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.05-
Extinguishment of Debt
. Interim Financial Information
 Research and Development Costs 2062.25; 2062.31; 4211.01—.03; 4211-1.01;
4211-3.01
APPRAISAL VALUES
Depreciation Charges
. Tax Bases
. Use in Business Combinations 1091.75;
1091.87
APPRECIATION OF PROPERTY 4072.01
APPROPRIATIONS
Evelveises frame Deculta of
. Exclusions from Results of
Operations
Operations 2010.27 Replacement Productive Facilities 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4071.06 APPROXIMATION—See Estimation ARREARAGES Cumulative Preferred Dividends 4311.18- .19 ASSESSMENT Date, Accrual of Property Taxes 4081.05; 4081.08 Loss Contingencies Loss Contingencies 4311.3339; 4311.69 Valuation for Property Taxes 4081.02 ASSETS Acquired Company Acquired In Exchange (S-1A) 1027.07 Acquisition, Purchase Method 1091.06 Analysis of Changes 69; U1091.025031 Analysis of Changes 1026.27
Operations
Operations
Operations 2010.27 Replacement Productive Facilities 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4311.15; 4311.20 APPROXIMATION—See Estimation ARREARAGES Cumulative Preferred Dividends 4311.18— .19 .19 ASSESSMENT .0ate, Accrual of Property Taxes 4081.05; 4081.05; 4081.08 Loss Contingencies .4311.04; 4311.10; 4311.33—39; 4311.69 Valuation for Property Taxes 4081.02 ASSETS .0cquired Company .1091.08 .027.07 .027.07 Acquired Company .1091.08 .69; U1091.025—0.31 .022.07 Analysis of Changes .1022.07 .022.07 Assumptions on Costs .1026.09 Baster Transactions Barter Transactions .1026.09 Baster Element of Financial
Operations 2010.27 Replacement Productive Facilities 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4311.15; 4311.20 APPROXIMATION—See Estimation ARREARAGES Cumulative Preferred Dividends 4311.18— .19 ASSESSMENT . Date, Accrual of Property Taxes 4081.05; 4081.05; 4081.05 . Loss Contingencies 4311.04; 4311.10; 4311.30—39; 4311.69 . Valuation for Property Taxes 4081.02 ASSETS Acquired Company 1091.08 . Acquired In Exchange (S-1A) 1027.07 . Acquisition, Purchase Method 1091.06—69; U1091.025—031 . Analysis of Changes 1022.07 . Assumptions on Costs 1026.09 . Basic Element of Financial Accounting 1022.18
Operations 2010.27 Replacement Productive Facilities 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4311.15; 4311.20 APPROXIMATION—See Estimation ARREARAGES Cumulative Preferred Dividends 4311.18- .19 ASSESSMENT .19 ASSEContingencies 4081.05; .4081.08; .1035 Loss Contingencies 4311.14; 4311.10; .4311.33-39; 4311.69 Valuation for Property Taxes 4081.02 ASSETS Acquired Company 1091.08; .4cquired in Exchange (S-1A) Acquired in Exchange (S-1A) 1027.07; .69; U1091.025031; .4ssumptions on Costs 1022.07; .4ssumptions on Costs Analysis of Changes 1022.07; .4ssumptions on Costs 1026.22; .4ssumptions on Costs Assumptions on Costs 1026.09; .1027.07; 1027.07; .3stic Element of Financial .4ccounting Accounting .1022.18; .1022.18; Business Acquired For Stock
Operations
Operations 2010.27 Replacement Productive Facilities 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4311.15; 4311.20 APPROXIMATION—See Estimation ARREARAGES Cumulative Preferred Dividends 4311.18- .19 ASSESSMENT .19 ASSEContingencies .4311.04; 4311.05; 4081.05; 4081.08; 4081.08; 4311.04; 4311.04; 4311.04; 4311.04; 4311.04; 4311.04; 4311.04; 4311.02; 4311.04; 4311.02; 4311.02; 4311.02; 4311.02; 4311.02; 4311.02; 4311.02; 4081.02; 4358ETS Acquired Company .1091.08; Acquired in Exchange (S-1A) .1027.07; Acquisition, Purchase Method .1091.06; 2031; 202.07; 435.00; 2010; 1022.07; 435.00; 2010; 1027.07; 435.00; 2010; 1027.07; 435.00; 2010; 2010; 202.03; 202.01; 202.02; 2035.00; 2010; 2010; 202.02; 2035.00; 2010; 202.02; 2035.00; 2010; 202.02; 2035.00; 2010; 202.02; 2035.00; 2010; 202.02; 2035.00; 2010; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00; 202.02; 2035.00;
Operations 2010.27 Replacement Productive Facilities 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4311.15; 4311.20 APPROXIMATION—See Estimation ARREARAGES Cumulative Preferred Dividends 4311.18- .19 ASSESSMENT .19 ASSEContingencies 4081.05; .4081.08; .4081.04; 4311.10; .4311.33-39; 4311.69 Valuation for Property Taxes 4081.02 ASSETS .4081.02 ASSETS .4081.02 Acquired for Property Taxes 4081.02 ASSETS .4091.06 Acquired for Property Taxes 4081.02 AssetTS .4091.06 .69; U1091.025031 .69; U1091.025031 .43sumptions on Costs .1022.07 Assumptions on Costs .1022.07 Barter Transactions .1026.09 Basic Element of Financial Accounting .1022.18 Business Acquired For Stock .1027.08 Carrying Value .1023.23 Category In Balance Sheet .1022.32
Operations 2010.27 Replacement Productive Facilities 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4311.15; 4311.20 APPROXIMATION—See Estimation ARREARAGES Cumulative Preferred Dividends 4311.18- .19 ASSESSMENT .19 ASSESSMENT .4081.05; .4081.08; .1055 Loss Contingencies .4311.04; 4311.05; .4081.08; Loss Contingencies .4311.04; 4311.02; .4311.3339; 4311.69; Valuation for Property Taxes 4081.02 ASSETS .4081.02 Acquired Company .1091.08; .69; U1091.025031 Analysis of Changes .1022.07 Assumptions on Costs .1026.09 Basic Element of Financial Accouring .1026.09 Basic Element of Financial Accouring value .1022.18 Business Acquired For Stock .1027.08 Carrying Value .1022.23 Category In Balance Sheet .1022.03 Changes in Concept .1025.18 Combined Company .1025.18
Operations 2010.27 Replacement Productive Facilities 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4311.15; 4311.20 APPROXIMATION—See Estimation ARREARAGES Cumulative Preferred Dividends 4311.18- .19 ASSESSMENT .19 ASSESSMENT .19 ASSE Contingencies .4311.04; 4311.10; .4311.3439; 4311.69 Valuation for Property Taxes .4081.02 ASSETS .4081.02 Acquired Company .1091.08 Acquired In Exchange (S-1A) .1027.07 Acquired in Exchanges .1027.07 Assumptions on Costs .1026.22 Assumptions on Costs .1026.22 Assumptions on Costs .1026.09 Basic Element of Financial Accounting .1027.07 Basic Element of Financial Accounting .1027.08 Carrying Value .1026.27 Casualties .1022.03 Changes in Concept .1023.23 Category In Balance Sheet .1023.23 Category In Balance Sheet .1023.23 Category In Balance Sheet .1023.23 Changes in Concept .1025.18
Operations 2010.27 Replacement Productive Facilities 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4311.15; 4311.20 APPROXIMATION—See Estimation ARREARAGES Cumulative Preferred Dividends 4311.18- .19 ASSESSMENT .19 ASSESSMENT .19 ASSESSMENT .4081.05; .4081.08; .1055 . Date, Accrual of Property Taxes 4081.05; .4081.08; .1055 . Loss Contingencies .4311.04; 4311.10; .4311.3339; 4311.69; .4311.3339; 4311.69; .4311.3339; 4311.69; .4311.3339; 4311.69; .4311.3339; 4081.02 ASSETS .4081.02 Acquired for Property Taxes .4081.02 ASSETS .4021.06 .4021.07 .4031.02, .07 .4021.08 .1091.08 .4021.091.025031 .1027.07 .4021.091.025031 .1026.22 .4031.091.06 .1027.07 .4031.0102.07 .1026.09 .4031.021.07 .1026.09 .4031.022 .1027.07 Barter Transactions .1026.09 Basic Element of Financial Accounting .1022.18 .4031.022.18 .1027.08 .411.43 .1027.
Operations 2010.27 Replacement Productive Facilities 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4311.15; 4311.20 APPROXIMATION—See Estimation ARREARAGES Cumulative Preferred Dividends 4311.18- .19 ASSESSMENT .19 ASSESSMENT .081.05; .4081.08; .4081.08; .1055 Loss Contingencies .4311.04; 4311.0; .4311.3339; 4311.69; .4311.3339; 4311.69; Valuation for Property Taxes .4081.02 ASSETS .4020.06; .4020.07, 4020.07, 4020.02; Acquired in Exchange (S-1A) .1027.07, Acquisition, Purchase Method Analysis of Changes .1022.07 Assumptions on Costs .1026.02 Assumptions on Costs (M-1B) .1027.07 Basic Element of Financial Accounting .1026.02 Acasualties .1026.03 Carrying Value .1026.07 Category In Balance Sheet .1022.03 Changes in Concept .1025.18 Combined Company .1091.08 Criteria for Recognition </td
Operations 2010.27 Replacement Productive Facilities 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4311.15; 4311.20 APPROXIMATION—See Estimation ARREARAGES Cumulative Preferred Dividends 4311.18— .19 .19 ASSESSMENT .081.08 Loss Contingencies 4311.13—39; 4311.69 Valuation for Property Taxes 4081.02; 4081.02 ASSETS .4081.04; 4311.10; 4311.10; 4311.13] Valuation for Property Taxes 4081.02 ASSETS .4020.02 Acquired Company .1091.08 Acquired Company .1091.08 Acquired in Exchange (S-1A) .1027.07 Acquisition, Purchase Method .1091.66— .69; U1091.025—0.31 .022.07 Assumptions on Costs .1026.27 Assumptions on Costs .1026.09 Basic Element of Financial .1027.07 Barter Transactions .1026.09 Basic Element of Financial .1027.08 Carrying Value .1026.27 Casualties .1023.23 Category In Balance Sheet .1022.18 Combined
Operations 2010.27 Replacement Productive Facilities 4071.06 Retained Earnings 4311.15; 4311.20 APPROXIMATION—See Estimation ARREARAGES Cumulative Preferred Dividends 4311.18-

ASSETS---continued . Decreased Market Prices Recorded (S-5) 1027.09 Decreases, Sources 1027.13 Deferred Charges 1025.19; 1027.12 Deferred Costs 5141.21 Definition 1025.19 Depreciable—See Depreciable Assets Disposition After Pooling ... 1091.48; 1091.59-.60; U1091.077-...079 Disposition, When Recorded (S-1B) 1027.07 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.13-.16 . Expropriation 4311.04; 4311.11; 4311.32: Fair Value, Owners' Investments (M-2) 1027.08 Fixed-See Property Group Acquisition [M-1A(2)] 1027.07 Identifiable, Acquired 1091.87; 1091.89 - 75 Included in Basis Elements 1025.18 . Increased Market Prices Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 **Increased Market Prices Not Recorded** (S-4) 1027.09 Increases, Sources 1027.13 Intangible—See Intangible Assets 5141.22 Measurement Principles (M-1A) 1027.07 Monetary and Nonmonetary 1041.03; 1071B.02 . Noncash, Investments (M-2C) 1027.08 Noncash, Investments (S-2C) 1027.08 Noncash, Received as Gifts (M-3) ... 1027.08 Noncash, Received as Gifts (S-3) 1027.08 Noncash Transactions 4111.07; 4111.11 Noncurrent-See Noncurrent Assets Nonmonetary—See Nonmonetary Assets Not Economic Resources 1027.04; 1027.12 Note Exchanged for Cash 4111.05--.06; 4111.10 Productive—See Productive Assets Productive Facilities (S-5C) 1027.09 Purchase of Business [M-1A(3)] 1027.07 Recognition of Economic Resources 4211.43-.46 Relation to Economic Elements 1022.12; 1022.18; 1022.19; 1024.12 **Research and Development** Restatement in Terms of Depreciated 1027.07 Systematic and Rational Allocation Systematic and Rational Allocation (M-6B) 1027.10 Systematic and Rational Allocation Treasury Stock 5541.01

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

BA F BA

.

. .

÷

.

.

. BA .

BA

. • • (

ASSETS continued 1027.07 Valuation (M-1A) 1027.07 Write-Downs 4311.31 Write-Downs, Corporate 5581.04 Write-Offs (M-6C) 1027.07 Write-Offs (S-1A) 1027.07 Write-Offs (S-6C) 1027.07 ASSIGNMENT Leases, Manufacturer or Dealer 4052.10 .16
ASSOCIATING CAUSE AND EFFECT . Expense Recognition 1026.21; 4211.48—.49 . Interim Financial Statements 2071.13—.14 . Loss Contingencies
ATTAINED AGE NORMAL METHOD Actuarial Cost Method
AUDIT GUIDES, INDUSTRY Accounting for Costs
 Fire and Casualty Insurance Companies
AUDITING STANDARDS AND PROCEDURES
Section 517.06 U2011.082 Section 560 U4094.022 Section 560 2012.15 Section 561 1051.13 Section 620 U2011.071; 2021.07 Section 620.0910 2045.10 AUDITORS See Opinions, Auditors'
AUTHORITIES, REGULATORY Accounting Requirements
AVERAGING METHOD Actuarial Gains (Losses) 4063.26; 4063.30; U4063.172177 Illustration of ApplicationU4063.099- .101
AWARD, STOCK—See Compensatory Plans BAD DEBT RESERVES—See Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

LANCE SHEETS—See Statements of inancial Position
NK PRIME INTEREST RATE
Comparable Foreign Rate
U2011.140 Contingent Convertibles
Criteria, Common Stock
Equivalence
U2011.113
More Than One Rate
Notes Discounted With Banks 4111.13
Prior Period Rates
Source of Information
Table of Rates (1954-70) U2011.357
NKERS
Interviews on Research and
Development
NKRUPTCY
Imputing Interest on Debt 4111-1.01—.05 Loss Contingencies 4311.11
NKS

BANKS
Consolidation Policy
. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.49
Interest Rates on Notes 4111.03; 4111.13
micrest Rates on Notes 4111.05, 4111.15
. Leasing Activities 4051.08
. Loan Loss Reserve
. Savings and Loan Associations 4095.19-
.25
. Standby Letters of Credit 4311.04; 4311.12
BARGAIN PURCHASE OR RENTAL
Leased Property
BASIC CONCEPTS
Meaning of Term
Polation to Conscally Accompted
Accounting Principles
BASIC ELEMENTS
Effects of Selection and Measurement
Linects of Selection and
Measurement
. Relation to Economic Elements 1022.12;
1023.21
. Relation to Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17-
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17— .18
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17- 18 BASIC FEATURES
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17— 18 BASIC FEATURES
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17- 18 BASIC FEATURES
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17— 18 BASIC FEATURES
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17— .18 BASIC FEATURES
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17–18 BASIC FEATURES .1025.01–.16 Accounting Entity .1025.03 Accrual .1025.10 Approximation .1025.01 Definition .1025.01 Determinant of Structure .1025.01
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17— .18 .18 BASIC FEATURES .1025.01—.16 Accounting Entity .1025.03 Accrual .1025.01 Definition .1025.01 Definition .1025.01 Determinant of Structure .1022.25 Entity, Accounting .1025.03
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17–18 BASIC FEATURES 1025.03 Accounting Entity 1025.03 Accrual 1025.03 Approximation 1025.01 Definition 1025.01 Determinant of Structure 1022.25 Entity, Accounting 1025.03 Exchange Price 1025.03
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17— .18 BASIC FEATURES 1025.01—16 Accounting Entity 1025.03 Accrual
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17— .18 BASIC FEATURES
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17— .18 BASIC FEATURES 1025.01—16 Accounting Entity 1025.03 Accrual
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17— .18 BASIC FEATURES 1025.01—16 Accounting Entity 1025.03 Accrual 1025.03 Approximation 1025.01 Definition 1025.01 Determinant of Structure 1022.05 Entity, Accounting 1025.03 Exchange Price 1025.03 Exchange Price 1025.03 Exchange Price 1025.13 General-Purpose Information 1027.14 Fundamentally Related Statements 1025.13 General-Purpose Information 1025.13 Judgment
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17— 18 BASIC FEATURES
Accounting Principles 1022.18; 1025.17

Statement of Basic Features 1025.02-.15

BASIC POSTULATES

Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.01-04

BASIS OF PROPERTY

3 A	SIS OF PROPERTY							
	Investment Credit				·		. 4094.1	4
	Nonmonetary Tran	isact	ion	s.		1041	1.01—.2	9

· Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

BENEFICIARIES Benefits, Pension Plans
Deferred Compensation Contracts
BENEFITS Actuarially Computed Value U4063.073—
.078 Assumptions in Expense
Recognition
Definition
. Relation to Time Periods (M-6B) 1027.10 . Research and Development Costs
. Tax Reduction, Stock Plans 4062.06; 4062.1618; U4062.006 . Uncertain
Uncertain
BILLINGS, INTERIM
Completed-Contract Method 4031.12 Construction-Type Contracts 4031.02 Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts 4041.02; 4041.16
Percentage-of-Completion Method
BOND DISCOUNT Debt with Warrants
Gains/Losses from Extinguishment
. Interest Method of Amortization 5361.01– .02
Present Value Concepts 4111A.01-03
BONDS PAYABLE Early Extinguishment 2013.08; 5362.01—.22 Financial Statement Presentation
4111A.03 Illustrations, Balance Sheet 4111A.03 Interest Rates on Notes 4111.13 Issue Cost 4111.15 Measurement of Liability (M-1C) 1027.07; 4111.05; 4111A.0102 Sinking-Fund Requirements 2013.08; 2013.08;
2013.16; 5362.03 Unamortized Discount
BONUS, STOCK—See Compensatory Plans
Debt Securities
. Per Common Share 2011.39; U2011.014
BORROWING CONTRACT Examples of Refinancing
4111.10 . Refinancing Short-Term Obligations 2033.04; 2033.11—.14; 2033.23— .29
. Selection of Interest Rates 4111.1213
BRANCHES, FOREIGN—See Foreign

Subsidiaries

BROAD OPERATING PRINCIPLES 1027.01-
. Change in Principles 1022.24; 1028.02; 1029.02
Definition
Accounting Principles 1022.19; 1026.05 Modifying Conventions
Operations Listed
.22; 1026.06; 1027.01 . Relation to Pervasive Principles 1022.21;
1026.06; 1027.01
Accounting Research Study No. 3 1010.0104
BROKER-DEALERS IN SECURITIES Unclassified Balance Sheets 2033.07
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS—See also Pooling of Interests and Purchase
Method
Acceptance In Practice
Accounting Method Unknown 1091.62 Accounting Research Studies 1091.0304
. Accounting Research Studies 1091.03
. Acquisition of Companies
2011.41: U2011.124
. Alternative Methods 1091.08; 1091.43 . Applicability of Methods
U1091.151—.154 Appraisal of Accepted Methods 1091.15—
.41
Background of Opinion
.30 Change in Reporting Entity
Classification
Control
Cost of Acquired Company
U1091.0102, U1091.01015
U1091.011—015 . Definition
10 Differences In Methods 1091 10
Disclosure in Interim Periods
 Disclosure Requirements 1091.63—.65 Earnings Per Share Data
U2011.042—.043
Effect on Financial Position
Effect on Net Income
Election To Apply Pooling U1091.050053 Entity Concept
Expenses in Combining U1091.133135
. Extraordinary Items
. GoodwillSee Goodwill
Improvement in Accounting 1091.44 Initiated Before 11/1/70
U1091.021—.024 . Initiated, Not Consummated 1091.62; 1091.64; 1091.97
Initiation Defined
Assets
Legal Form
. Actuarial Gains (Losses)
U4063.10912 Methods of Accounting 1091.02; 1091.04

BUS

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS—continued Minority Interests of Subsidiary 1091.05; 1091.43; U1091.099—102
Modification of Views
Nature of Transaction
Nonmonetary Assets Distributed 1041.05, 1041.10 1041.23 Nonmonetary Transactions 1041.04 Opinion Section
Ownership Interests Continuing New 1091.10; 1091.12 New 1091.10 Part Purchase, Part Pooling 1091.43:
U1091.050-053 Patents
Purchase Method—See Purchase Method
. Regulated Companies
Research Recommendations 1091.04
U1091.021—.024 Scope of Opinion
. Tax Bases
Unincorporated Businesses
Warrants Exchanged
. Comparability Objective 1024.33
Components of an Enterprise 4111.03 Computer Software
. Contingencies
. Continuity of Existence 1023.16; 1025.04
Definition
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.01
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.01—.16 Dormant Enterprise Reactivated 2062.11
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.01—.16 Dormant Enterprise Reactivated
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.01—.16 Dormant Enterprise Reactivated
Disclosure of Accounting Policies
Disclosure of Accounting Policies
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.01—.16 2045.01—.16 Dormant Enterprise Reactivated2062.11 Earning Process
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.01—.16 2045.01—.16 Dormant Enterprise Reactivated 2062.11 Earning Process
Disclosure of Accounting Policies
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.01—.16 2045.01—.16 Dormant Enterprise Reactivated2062.11 Earning Process
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.0116 Dormant Enterprise Reactivated .2062.11 Earning Process .1026.13 Economic Activity .1023.17; 1025.03 Entity Concept .1025.03 Environment .2012.2021 Exchange Transactions .1023.23 Expansion of Business .2062.06; 2062.23, .2062.3031 External Events .1023.23 Financing and Investing Activities .1025.04 Interim Financial Statements .2071.01 Internal Events .1023.23 Liquidation Imminent .1023.24 Activity 24211.32; 4211.32; 4211.31
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.0116 Dormant Enterprise Reactivated .2062.11 Earning Process .1026.13 Economic Activity .1023.17; 1025.03 Entity Concept .1025.03 Entity Concept .1025.03 Entity Concept .1025.03 Environment .2012.2021 Exchange Transactions .1023.23 Expansion of Business .2062.06; 2062.23, .2062.3031 External Events .1023.23 Financing and Investing Activities .1025.04 Interim Financial Statements .2071.01 Internal Events .1023.23 Liquidation Imminent .1025.04 Nonmonetary Transactions .1041.0129 Research and Development Costs
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.0116 Dormant Enterprise Reactivated 2062.11 Earning Process 1026.13 Economic Activity 1025.03 Entity Concept 1025.03 Environment 2012.2021 Exchange Transactions 1023.23 Expansion of Business 2062.06.2062.23, 2062.3031
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.0116 Dormant Enterprise Reactivated 2062.11 Earning Process 1026.13 Economic Activity 1025.03 Entity Concept 1025.03 Environment 2012.2021 Exchange Transactions 1023.23 Expansion of Business 2062.06.2062.23,
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.0116 Dormant Enterprise Reactivated
Disclosure of Accounting Policies
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.0116 Dormant Enterprise Reactivated 2062.11 Earning Process 1023.17; 1025.03 Entity Concept 1023.17; 1025.03 Entity Concept

CALL OR REDEMPTION-See Redemption or Call CALL PRICE Disclosure 2042.02 Equity Method 5131.06; 5131.19 Stockholders' Equity Accounts 2042.01 CAPITAL LOSSES . Tax Losses

A	P	ITAL STOCK-See S	tockho	lders'
	•	General Rule		4091.52; U4091.071
		Carryforwards		
		Carrybacks		
		ax Lusses		

5362.20

CA Equity

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
. Change in Structure
. Comparability, Owning v. Leasing 5352.02
. Complex
Definition
Disclosure Requirements 2011.19
Earnings Applicable to Common
Stock
Disclosure Requirements
. Earnings per Share Presentation 2011.05;
2011.12; U2011.010
Relation to Earnings
e l
. Definition
Dual Presentation
Earnings Applicable to Common
Stock
Illustrative Statement
. Simple v. Complex
Stock Dividends or Splits
CAPITAL SURPLUS
. Corporate Readjustments 5581.0112
Corrections, Erroneous Credits 5581.12
Debt with Warrants
. Deferred Stock Options
Premium on Convertible Debt 5516.16
. Principal Stockholder Stock Plans
. Restrictions, Corporate
Readjustments
. Retirement of Stock
Stock Dividends
. Tax Benefit, Stock Plans 4062.06; 4062.17
. Treasury Stock Profits or Losses
5542.05—.07
. Treasury Stock, Purchase Price 5542.13
Write-Offs, Intangibles

CAPITAL, WORKING-See Working Capital

CARITALIZATION

CAPITALIZATION
Development Stage Costs
2062.30-33; 2062.4851
. Leased Property 5351.0205; 5351.0910;
5351.15
Leases
. Research and Development Costs 4211.37
. All Costs When Incurred 4211.51-52
. Alternative Future Uses
4211-3.02
Selective
. Stock Dividends 2011A.03; 5561.10—.14;
U2011.110
CARRYBACKS—See Operating Loss

-See Operating Loss Carrybacks

CARRYFORWARDS-See Operating Loss Carryforwards

Copyright () 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

CARRYING AMOUNT Current Assets	
. Debt Securities Compared to Market Value2013.01; 5362.09; 5362.20—.21	
5362.09; 5362.20—.21 Definition	
Nonmonetary Assets Exchanged	
. Nonmonetary Assets Exchanged 1041.2122; 1041.26 . Write-Down of Assets	
CASH	
Concept of Funds Statements	
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.02; 2062.47	
Election to Receive	
 Flow—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position 	
. Indicator of Fair Value	
Measured At Face Amount (M-1A) 1027.07 Measurement of Liabilities (M-1C) 1027.07	
Monetary Assets 1041 03: 1071 18: 1071B 02	
. Note Exchanged for Cash 4111.0506; 4111.10	
Payment at Conversion	
U2011.031; U2011.230; U2011.249252 Pooling of Interests 1091.15; 1091.47;	
U1091.090—.098	
Purchase of Debt	
Restricted	
CASH OUTFLOWS . Comprehensive Tax Allocation 4091.30	
Partial Tax Allocation	
CASH SURRENDER VALUE . Key-Man Life Insurance U4064.001004	
CASH YIELD—See Yield, Cash	
CASUALTIES	
Definition	
Expense Recognition	
Internal Events	
. Measurement (M-7)	
CATASTROPHES . Accounting Practices	
. Actuarial Valuations	
Actuarial Valuations	
Loss Contingencies 4311.4043; 4311.56-	
. Loss Contingencies 4511.4043, 4511.40 .57; 4311.89101 . Matching Principle	
Protection Against Losses	
. Reasons Cited for Reserves	
. Survey of Member Companies 4311.51	
. Unasserted Claims and Assessments	
CAUSAL RELATIONSHIPS	
Assumption in Financial Accounting	
. Expense Recognition 4211.4/	
. Research and Development Activities	
CERTIFICATES OF NECESSITY 4073.01	
CERTIFICATES, PERCENTAGE 4073.0203	
CHANGES, ACCOUNTING	
Accelerated Depreciation Method 4074 03: 4074 06	
Applicability of Opinion	
Catch-Up Adjustment	
. Combining Companies 1091.52; 1091.64	

CHANGES, ACCOUNTING—continued . Comparative Financial Statements
Plans
Cumulative Effect Type
Definition of Term
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.14-
Direct Effects
Change in Estimate
Initial Public Distribution 1051.29
. Interim Financial Statements 2072.08; 2072.11–.14 . Pro Forma Amounts 1051.19–.22; 1051.25 . Restatement of Prior Periods 1051.27–
28.111050.001 000
. Earnings Per Share1051.1921; 1051.34-
. Effect on Retained Earnings 1051.1920; 1051.2526
Effective Date
3
. Errors—See Errors in Financial Statements
Estimates—See Estimation
. Events Excluded
Foreign Currency Translation
Illustration Change in Completed Contract
Method 1051B.01—.04; U1051.003—.004 . Change in Depreciation Method
Method
Inventories—See Inventory Pricing Inventory Cost Elements
Investment Credit
Materiality
.116 Price Level Changes 4071.08; 4071.11—.12
Pro Forma Presentation 1051.19–.22; 1051.25
Property Write-Ups
Regulated Industries
Scope of Section
Timing Differences
Views on Reporting 1051.14 CHANGES, CAPITAL 2042.0102

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION— See Statements of Changes in Financial Position
CHANGES, PRICE-LEVEL—See Price- Level Changes
CHANGES, STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CHARACTERISTICS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CHARITABLE INSTITUTIONS . Applicability of APB Opinions
CIRCULAR EFFECT
. Earnings per Share
CLAIMS Bankruptcy Arrangements
CLAIMS FOR REFUND Operating Loss Carrybacks
U4091.0/2—.0/5 . Recognition Tax Effects
CLASSIFICATION Basis for Periodic Measurements 1022.26
Characteristic of Financial Accounting
.10
Distinctions
CLASSIFICATION AND DISCLOSURE OF ALLOWANCES
CLASSIFICATION OF EVENTS
2012.27 Discussion of Problems
CLOSELY HELD COMPANIES . Business Combinations U1091.103111;
U1091.136—137 . Earnings per Share
COLLATERAL Disclosure Requirements, Leased Property
COMBINATIONS—See Business Combinations

.

COMBINED CORPORATION
. Basis of Accounting 1091.08; 1091.5065
Capital Stock
01091.126—.132
. Duplicate Facilities
Evidence of Acquirer
U1091.133—.135
Income Reported
. Notes to Financial Statements 1091.65 .65
. Pooling of Interests (M-2B) 1027.08
. Reconciliations, Revenue and Earnings
. Reporting Combined Operations
Reporting Combined Operations Disposition of Assets
Retained Earnings
. Stockholders' Equity 1091.130–.132
COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
. Change in Reporting Entity 1051.12
. Foreign Subsidiaries
Price-Level Restatements 1071.45
. Intercompany Transactions
COMBINING COMPANY
Amortization of Goodwill
1091.99: U1091.061—.064: U1091.141—.143
 Attributes Essential for Pooling 1091.46; 1091.99; U1091.061—.064; U1091.141—.143 Basis of Accounting 1091.08; 1091.50—.65
. Changes, Accounting 1091.52; 1091.64
. Consummation Date
Contingent Arrangements
Company U1091 112-114
Company
. Debt and Equity Securities U1091.065066
. Deferred Compensation Plan U1091.126— .129
Disclosure of Pooling 1091.61; U1091.080.
. Dissolution
Dividend Distributions
Elimination of Deficit
. Goodwill Recorded
. Identifiable Assets
Income of Combined Company 1091.12
. Income of Combined Company 1091.12 . Initiation of Plan 1091.46; 1091.99; U1091.005008; U1091.115118
. Intercorporate Investments 1091.46;
1091.99; U1091.009010; U1091.054060; - U1091.086089
Investment in Issuing Corporation
Minority or Half Interest
Percentage of Stock Interest 1091.47; 1091.99; U1091.086089
. Ratio of Stock Interest 1091.47; 1091.99; U1091.001004; U1091.065066; U1091.090 .098
. Reconciliations, Revenue and Earnings
. Retained Earnings 1091.64
. Sale of Voting Common Stock U1091.074— .076

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

COMBINING COMPANY—continued
. Stock Options U1091.130132; U1091.144
.146
. Stockholders' Equity 1091.64
. Subsidiary of Issuing Corporation 1091.49
. Time Limit 1091.47; 1091.99; U1091.016018;
U1091.021024
. Transfer of Net Assets 1091.47
. Treasury Stock Acquired 1091.47;
U1091.067—.073
U1091.067—.073 . Warrants ExchangedU1091.040—.044
COMMERCIAL COMPANIES
. Applicability of APB Opinions
COMMISSIONS, SALES
Expense Recognition
COMMITMENTS
. Construction-Type Contracts 4031.16
Disclosure Requirements 1027.26; 4311.18-
.19
-
Included in Financial Position 1025.20
. Lease Disclosure by Lessees 5352.0112
. Losses (S-1E) 1027.07
. Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors 4052.07
. Proposed Changes
. Recognition of Executory
Contracts
. When Recorded (S-1E) 1027.07
COMMITMENTS, PURCHASE
Losses, Inventory Items 1026.35; 5121.16-
.17
COMMITTEE
. Accounting Procedure
. Accounting for Income Taxes 4091.01;
U4091.011; U4091.023
Applicability of Opinions 510.05
Business Combinations 1091.02; 1091.07
Date Superseded
Depreciation and Amortization,
Emergency Facilities 4073.06: 4073.09
Emergency Facilities 4073.06; 4073.09 Depreciation and High Costs 4071.02;
Emergency Facilities 4073.06; 4073.09 Depreciation and High Costs 4071.02; 4071.04
Emergency Facilities 4073.06; 4073.09 Depreciation and High Costs 4071.02; 4071.04 Depreciation, Plant and
Emergency Facilities 4073.06; 4073.09 Depreciation and High Costs 4071.02; 4071.04 . Depreciation, Plant and Equipment
Emergency Facilities 4073.06; 4073.09 Depreciation and High Costs 4071.02; 4071.04 . Depreciation, Plant and Equipment
Emergency Facilities
Emergency Facilities 4073.06; 4073.09 Depreciation and High Costs 4071.02; 4071.04 Depreciation, Plant and Equipment
Emergency Facilities 4073.06; 4073.09 Depreciation and High Costs 4071.02; 4071.04 Depreciation, Plant and Equipment
Emergency Facilities
Emergency Facilities
Emergency Facilities
Emergency Facilities
Emergency Facilities 4073.06; 4073.09 Depreciation and High Costs 4071.02; 4071.04 Depreciation, Plant and Equipment
Emergency Facilities
Emergency Facilities
Emergency Facilities
Emergency Facilities 4073.06; 4073.09 Depreciation and High Costs 4071.02; 4071.04 Depreciation, Plant and Equipment
Emergency Facilities
Emergency Facilities 4073.06; 4073.09 Depreciation and High Costs 4071.02; 4071.04 Depreciation, Plant and Equipment
Emergency Facilities

COMMON STOCK—See also Stockholders' Equity Contingent Issuance . Conversion of Debt 5516.02-.03 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11 2062.52-- 54 . Disclosure in Funds Statements 2021.14 Earnings Per Share 2011D.12; U2011.020-.022 Equivalents—See Common Stock Équivalents Exchanges in Combinations . 1091.15-.16; 1091.24; U1091.090-.098 Investments Equity Method 4096.01-12; 5131.01-.21 Issuance for No Consideration 1091.40, 2011.09; 2011.27 . Issuance in PackageU2011.137 Issuance, Purchase Method 1091.67 . Issued for Nonmonetary Assets 1041.04 Nonmonetary Items 1041.03; 1071.19; 1071B.04 Refinancing Short-Term Obligations 2033.02; 2033.11-.14; 2033.27 2033.30; 2033.42 Relation to Convertible Securities ... Retirement, Preferred Stock or Shares Issued on Conversion 2011.20; U2011.045; U2011.092---.093 . Shares Issued to Employees 4062.01-.20 . Stock Option and Stock Purchase Weighted Average ... 2011A.02; U2011.105-.110 COMMON STOCK EQUIVALENTS : Agreements to Issue Shares . LI2011 088 Anti-Dilution . . . 2011.30; U2011.015; U2011.058-.060; 2012.09 . Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.249-.252 . Cash Yield Test U2011.135--.140 Conversion For Primary Only 02011.147-.150 Conversions During Period . . . U2011.151-.153 Convertible Debt ... 2011.27; U2011.088; 5362.15 Convertible Preferred Stock 2011.27; U2011.088 .128 Description of Term 2011.05; U2011.003 Dilutive Effect 2011.24; 2011B.08; U2011.064 Dividend Participation 2011A.15; U2011.295-.299 **Dual Presentation, Earnings per** Equity Method . 5131.18 . Extraordinary Items 2011.30 . Identification of Issues 2011.20-21

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

COMMON STOCK EQUIVALENTS---

cor	ntinued
. If	Converted Method 2011A.06; U2011.023;
	U2011.103—.104; U2011.142 ustrative Statement
. 111	ustrative Statement
. in	terest Rate
	112011.053
. N	ew Issues
. N	on-Recognition in Financial
	Statements 2011.39; U2011.014; U2011.142
. 0	ptions
	Classification 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158
• •	Dilutive Effect
. 0	Classification 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Dilutive Effect
	articipating Securities 2011 27: U2011 088
	U2011.116
. R	eclassification Required U2011.126—.131;
	U2011.134
. R	ecognition
. R	ecognition in Financial
P	ecognition in Financial Statements
D.	stirement Broferred Stock or
	реьт
. Se	curities Issued Prior to 6/1/69 2011.46;
	U2011.048—.049; U2011.115; U2011.129—.131;
	U2011.344—.352
. 51	atus at Issuance
. 51	ock Subscriptions
. 50	12011 114 12011 126_131 12011 134
S	ubsidiaries' Securities
	02011.154155
. Ti	me of Issuance 2011.28-29; U2011.117-
	.120
. <u>T</u> r	easury Securities Reissued U2011.134
. TV	vo-Class Common Stock
	02011.000
т	Vo. Class Method 20114 10: 12011 300- 307
1.1.	vo-Class Method 2011A.10; U2011.300—.307 se of Weighted Average
1.1.	conf Woightod Avorage 2011A 02:
. U:	se of Weighted Average
. U: . Va . Va	se of Weighted Average
. U: . Va . Va . W	se of Weighted Average
. U: . Va . Va . Va	se of Weighted Average
. U: . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va	se of Weighted Average
. U: . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va	se of Weighted Average
. U: . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va	se of Weighted Average
. U: . Va . Va . W . W . W . Yi COM	se of Weighted Average
. U: . Va . Va . W . W . W . Yi COM	se of Weighted Average
. U: . Va . Va . W . W . W . W . W . W . W . AI . Be	se of Weighted Average 2011A.02; U2011.105—110 alidity of Concept 2011B.03 alue 2011.25 arrants 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Dilutive Effect U2011.088 arrants to Purchase Convertibles 02011.290—294 eld 2011.25 PARABILITY 1024.29—.30 ternative Practices 1024.28—.33
. U: . Va . Va . W . W . W . W . W . M . Al . Al . Ba	se of Weighted Average
. U: . Va . Va . W . W . W . W . W . W . W . M . AI . Ba . Ci . Ci . Ci	se of Weighted Average 2011A.02; U2011.105—110 alidity of Concept 2011B.03 alue 2011.25 arrants 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Classification 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Dilutive Effect U2011.088 arrants to Purchase Convertibles
. U: . Va . Va . W . W . W . W . W . W . W . M . AI . Ba . Ci . Ci . Ci	se of Weighted Average 2011A.02; U2011.105—110 alidity of Concept 2011B.03 alue 2011.25 arrants 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Classification 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Dilutive Effect U2011.088 arrants to Purchase Convertibles
. U: . Va . Va . W . W . W . W . W . W . W . W . M . Al . Co . Co . Co . Co	se of Weighted Average 2011A.02; U2011.105—110 alidity of Concept 2011B.03 alue 2011.25 arrants 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Classification 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Dilutive Effect U2011.088 arrants to Purchase Convertibles 2011.29—294 eld 2011.25 PARABILITY 1024.29—30 ternative Practices 1024.28—33 nanges, Accounting 1051.14 onclusions Facilitated 1024.23 onditions 1024.24; 1024.29 onsistency 1024.26
. Ui . Va . Va . W . W . Yi . W . Yi . Al . Co . Co . Co . Co	se of Weighted Average 2011A.02; U2011.105—110 alidity of Concept 2011B.03 alue 2011.25 arrants 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Classification 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Dilutive Effect U2011.290—294 eld 2011.25 PARABILITY 1024.29—30 ternative Practices 1024.28—33 nanges, Accounting 1051.14 ponclusions Facilitated 1024.23 ponditions 1024.24; 1024.29 posistency 1024.26 urrent Assets and Current 2031.03
. U . Va . Va . W . Va . W . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va	se of Weighted Average
. U . Va . Va . W . Va . W . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va	se of Weighted Average
. U . Va . Va . W . Va . W . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va	se of Weighted Average
. U . V . V . W . W . W . W . W . W . W . W . W . W	se of Weighted Average
. U: . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Va . Vi . W . W . W . W . W . W . W . W . W . U: 	se of Weighted Average 2011A.02; U2011.105—110 alidity of Concept 2011B.03 alue 2011.25 arrants 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Classification 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Dilutive Effect U2011.088 arrants to Purchase Convertibles 02011.290—294 eld 2011.25 PARABILITY 1024.29—30 ternative Practices 1024.28—33 panges, Accounting 1051.14 ponclusions Facilitated 1024.23 ponditions 1024.24; 1024.29 posistency 1024.24; 1024.29 urrent Assets and Current 1024.26; 1024.21 Liabilities 2031.03 efined as Qualitative Objective 1022.15; 1024.21 evelopment Stage Enterprises 2062.13; 2062.13; 2062.42; 2062.55 fferences in Enterprises 1024.32
U Va Va W Va W V V V V V V V V V V V V V	se of Weighted Average
U Va Va W W V V V V V V V V V V V V V O COM C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	se of Weighted Average 2011A.02; U2011.105—110 alidity of Concept 2011.105—110 alue 2011.25 arrants 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Dilutive Effect U2011.058 arrants to Purchase Convertibles U2011.290—294 eld 2011.25 PARABILITY ternative Practices ternative Practices 1024.29—30 otween Enterprises 1024.28—33 onclusions Facilitated 1024.28 onsistency 1024.24; 1024.29 origen as Qualitative Objective 1024.23 offined as Qualitative Objective 1024.24; evelopment Stage Enterprises 2062.15; 2062.15—16; 2062.38; 2062.42; 2062.55; fferences in Enterprises sclosure of Differences 1024.31 sclosure of Problems 1024.32 scussion of Problems 1024.32 scussion of Problems 1024.23 scussion of Problems 1024.32
U Va Va W W V V V V V V V V V V V V V O COM C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	se of Weighted Average 2011A.02; U2011.105—110 alidity of Concept 2011.105—110 alue 2011.25 arrants 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Dilutive Effect U2011.058 arrants to Purchase Convertibles U2011.290—294 eld 2011.25 PARABILITY ternative Practices ternative Practices 1024.29—30 otween Enterprises 1024.28—33 onclusions Facilitated 1024.28 onsistency 1024.24; 1024.29 origen as Qualitative Objective 1024.23 offined as Qualitative Objective 1024.24; evelopment Stage Enterprises 2062.15; 2062.15—16; 2062.38; 2062.42; 2062.55; fferences in Enterprises sclosure of Differences 1024.31 sclosure of Problems 1024.32 scussion of Problems 1024.32 scussion of Problems 1024.23 scussion of Problems 1024.32
U Va Va W V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	se of Weighted Average
U Va Va W V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V D D D D	se of Weighted Average
U Va Va W V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	se of Weighted Average
. U . V2 . V2 . V3 . W . W . W . W . W . W . M . Al . C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	se of Weighted Average
. U . V2 . V2 . V3 . W . W . W . W . W . W . M . Al . C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	se of Weighted Average 2011A.02; U2011.105—110 alidity of Concept 2011.105—110 alue 2011.25 arrants 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Classification 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Dilutive Effect U2011.088 arrants to Purchase Convertibles U2011.290—294 eld 2011.25 PARABILITY ternative Practices ternative Practices 1024.29—30 atween Enterprises 1024.28—33 hanges, Accounting 1051.14 ponclusions Facilitated 1024.23 ponditions 1024.24; 1024.29 ponsistency 1024.24; 1024.29 ponditions 1024.24; 1
USENE COM	se of Weighted Average 2011A.02; U2011.105—110 alidity of Concept 2011.105—110 alue 2011.25 arrants 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Classification 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Dilutive Effect U2011.088 arrants to Purchase Convertibles 02011.290—294 eld 2011.25 PARABILITY 1024.29—30 ternative Practices 1024.28—33 nanges, Accounting 1024.28 ponclusions Facilitated 1024.23 ponditions 1024.24; urrent Assets and Current 1024.24 Liabilities 2031.03 effined as Qualitative Objective 1022.15; fferences in Enterprises 2062.13; 2062.15—16; 2062.38; 2062.42; 2062.55; 1024.32 scussion of Problems 1024.32 scussion of Problems 1024.32 scussion of Problems 1024.23 scussion of Problems 1024.32 scussion of Problems 1024.32 scussion of Problems 1024.32 scussion of Problems 1024.32 scussion of Problems </td
USENE COM	se of Weighted Average 2011A.02; U2011.105—110 alidity of Concept 2011.105—110 alue 2011.25 arrants 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Classification 2011.27; 2011.35; U2011.158 Dilutive Effect U2011.088 arrants to Purchase Convertibles U2011.290—294 eld 2011.25 PARABILITY ternative Practices ternative Practices 1024.29—30 atween Enterprises 1024.28—33 hanges, Accounting 1051.14 ponclusions Facilitated 1024.23 ponditions 1024.24; 1024.29 ponsistency 1024.24; 1024.29 ponditions 1024.24; 1

COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL Change in Accounting Principle 1051.15-.30; 2041.02; 2072.11 . Combined Corporations 1091.61; 1091.64; U1091.080-.085 es 2062.13; Comparability Development Stage Enterprises 2062.15-.16 Discontinued Segments U2012.009-010; 2012.27 Earnings per Share Presentation Funds Statements 2021.05; U2021.001-.004 Illustration . Change in Completed Contract Change in Depreciation Method . . Change to LIFO Method 2072.22-.25 . Price-Level Restatements ... 1071.38; 1071.44; 1071 48 Prior Period Adjustments 2010.17 Treatment of Extraordinary Items and . 2010.03 Prior Period Adjustments COMPENSATION Illustration, Employee Stock Plans . . Principal Stockholder Stock Plans . Research and Development Costs ... 4211.11 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans 4061.01-.15; U2011.274; 4062.01-.20 COMPENSATORY PLANS . 4062.12-.15 Accrual of Compensation Bonus or Award Plans 4062A.01; 4062A.06; 4062A.11 . Combination Plans 4062A.13-.14 . Date of Grant or Award 4062A.03-.06 . Illustration of Typical Plans 4062A.01-.14 . Market Price v. Fair Value 4061.12-...13; 4062 10 . Measurement Date ... 4062.10-...11; 4062A.07-.12 4062.04 . Measurement of Compensation .05; 4062.10-.11; 4062A.01-.14 . Phantom Stock Plans 4062A.12 Principal Stockholder Stock Plans

COMPLETED-CONTRACT METHOD

Advantage
Billings, Interim
Change in Method
Construction-Type Contracts 4031.09
Disadvantage
Illustration, Change in Principle 1051B.01-
.04; U1051.003—.004
Losses
Matching Costs and Revenues 4031.10
Overhead Costs 4031.10

СОМ

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

COMPLETED-CONTRACT METHOD-

COMPLETED-CONTRACT METHOD-
continued . Recognition of Income 4031.09; 4031.11; 4031.13—.14
. Timing Differences
COMPLETENESS
Adequate Disclosure
COMPONENTS OF A BUSINESS Income Tax Allocation 4091.05; U4091.019 Interest on Receivables/Payables 4111.03
COMPREHENSIVE ALLOCATION
. Accrual Basis
Income Tax Expense Recognition 4091.33 Interperiod Tax Allocation 4091.28—31
Interperiod Tax Allocation
. Matching Principle 4091.30; U4091.022023; U4091.036
Recurring Differences
. Reversal of Timing Differences 4091.28- 29 114091 038-047 114091 065-070
.29; U4091.038047; U4091.065070 Tax Effects, Recognition
4091.33; U4091.022
COMPUTER SOFTWARE
Internal Development
Purchase or Lease
CONCEPTS—See Basic Concepts
CONDEMNATION PROCEEDINGS
. Monetary Transactions
. Segment of a Business
CONDENSED INCOME STATEMENTS . Historical Summaries
Income and Other Taxes
Interim Financial Information 2071.01; 2071.3033
. Interim Financial Statements 2072.14
CONFLICT OF OBJECTIVES . Relation to Financial Accounting 1022.16; 1024.13; 1024.38
. Trade-Offs
CONGLOMERATE COMPANIES—See Diversified Companies
CONSENSUS
Role in Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 1022.19; 1022.23; 1026.01; 1026.03
. Writers on Accounting Principles 1028.05
CONSERVATISM Accrual for Loss Contingencies
Balance Sheet v. Income
Statement
. Modifying Convention 1022.20; 1022.27; 1026.35
. Property Tax Accounting
Renegotiation Refunds
CONSIDERATION
Asset Acquisition
2062.5254
Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets 1041.04; 1041.22; 1041.25
Stock Issued to Employees
. Warrants, Detachable

AICPA Professional Standards

CONSISTENCY

COMPLETED-CONTRACT METHOD-	CONSISTENCY
continued Recognition of Income 4031.09; 4031.11;	. Condition for Fair Presentation 1027.15 . Deferred Taxes
4031.13—.14 . Timing Differences	. Amortization
COMPLETENESS	Earnings per Share
. Adequate Disclosure	Evaluation of Principles
Defined as Qualitative Objective 1022.15;	. Factor in Comparability 1024.26; 1051.14
1024.22	. Inventory Pricing
COMPONENTS OF A BUSINESS	. Investment Credit
. Income Tax Allocation 4091.05; U4091.019	Justification for Accounting Change
Interest on Receivables/Payables 4111.03	. Real and Personal Property Taxes 4081.13
COMPREHENSIVE ALLOCATION	
. Accrual Basis	CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
. Income Tax Expense Recognition 4091.33 . Interperiod Tax Allocation 4091.28—.31	. Accounting Policies
Investment Credits	Acquisition Dates
. Matching Principle 4091.30; U4091.022023;	. Banks
U4091.036	Change in Reporting Entity
. Recurring Differences	. Conditions for Consolidation 2051.03;
29: U4091.038—.047: U4091.065—.070	5131.14
Tax Effects, Recognition 4091.28–.29;	Control
4091.33; U4091.022	Corporate Readjustments 5581.0607
COMPUTER SOFTWARE	Cost Method for Subsidiaries 2051.18—.20 Description
. Internal Development	. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.04;
Programming and Testing 4211-3.07—.09	2062.10
Purchase or Lease	Disclosure of Consolidation Policy 2051.06
. Research and Development Costs 	Disposal of Subsidiary 1041.28; 2051.11 Domestic International Sales
	Corporation 4095.09; U4095.001-005
CONCEPTS—See Basic Concepts	Earned Surplus, Subsidiaries 2051.01;
CONDEMNATION PROCEEDINGS	2051.08 . Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.070;
. Monetary Transactions	U2011.334—.340
	U2011.334—.340 Equity Method
CONDENSED INCOME STATEMENTS	Income Taxes
Historical Summaries	. Finance Companies
Interim Financial Information 2071.01;	2021.08—.15
2071.3033	2021.08—.15 Fiscal Period Differences
. Interim Financial Statements 2072.14	. Foreign Subsidiaries
CONFLICT OF OBJECTIVES	
Relation to Financial Accounting 1022.16;	Depreciation
1024.13; 1024.38 Trade-Offs	Elimination of Write-Ups
CONGLOMERATE COMPANIES—See	. Income Statement Presentation 2051.10-
Diversified Companies	
CONSENSUS	Income Taxes
Role in Generally Accepted Accounting	. Intercompany Profits
Principles 1022.19; 1022.23; 1026.01; 1026.03	Subsidiaries
Writers on Accounting Principles 1028.05	. Insurance Companies 2051.04
CONSERVATISM	. Investment Credits
Accrual for Loss Contingencies 4311.82—	. Investment in Parent by Subsidiary
.84; 4311.87 Balance Sheet v. Income	. Joint Ventures, Corporate
Statement	. Leases Equivalent to Sales 4052.15
. Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts 4041.17—	. Leasing Companies (Subsidiaries) 5131.15
.18 1022 20: 1022 27:	. Loss Carryforwards, Purchased Subsidiaries 4091.48; U4091.103—.105
Modifying Convention 1022.20; 1022.27; 1026.35	. Minority Interests 2051.03; 2051.1314
. Property Tax Accounting	. Omission of Subsidiary
Renegotiation Refunds	Policy
. Treasury Stock Method	Principle of Financial Statement
CONSIDERATION	Presentation
Asset Acquisition	Purchase of Subsidiary
. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11; 2062.52—.54	. Purpose
. Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets	. Sale of Subsidiary 1041.28; 2051.11
	. Step-by-Step Acquisition
. Stock Issued to Employees	U5141.003006 Stock Dividends, Subsidiaries 2051.17
. Warrants, Detachable	Subsidiary Defined
	5

CON

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL	CONTINGENCIES—continued
STATEMENTS—continued	. Leases in Financial Statements of
Subsidiary Shares Distributed 1041.23	Lessee
Tax Effects, Undistributed Earnings	Loss—See Loss Contingencies
4095.07—.14; U4091.020	Partial Allocation, Income Taxes
. Taxes, Income	Pooling of Interests 1091.47; UIC
Subsidiaries' Securities 2011A.2024;	.049; U1091.067—.073; 1091.1
U2011.154—.155; U2011.334—.340	
. Timing Differences	 Prior Period Adjustments 4311.08; Probability—See Probable Events
. Unconsolidated Subsidiaries 1027.23;	Public Hearing
2051.18—.20; 5131.14 . Uninsured Risks	Purchase Method
. Uninsured Risks	Research Effort on Project 4311.49
CONSTRUCTION—See Construction-	Reserves, General or Unspecified
Type Contracts	Scope of Statement
	. Survey of Member Companies
CONSTRUCTION PERIOD COSTS	. Task Force Appointed
. Timing Differences 4091A.05	. Terminology
CONSTRUCTION-TYPE CONTRACTS	CONTINGENT ISSUANCE
4031.01—.16	. Anti-Dilution
Billings, Interim	. Computational Guidelines 2011
. Change in Method 1051.09; 1051.14;	Classification
1051.27—.28	. Convertible Securities
. Commitments 4031.16	. Definition
. Completed-Contract Method 4031.0914	. Earnings Conditions
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.13	. Earnings per Share Computation
Illustration, Change in Principle 1051B.01–	U2011.3
- 04-11051 003-004	. Market Price Guarantees U2011.3
. Interest on Advances	Pooling of Interests
. Interim Financial Statements 2071.11	Potential Dilutive Effect
Losses (S-6E) 1027.10; 2071.11	. Purchase Method 109
. Percentage of Completion Method	. Restatements
	. Time of Issuance
. Reimbursable Costs (M-6E) 1027.10	
. Revenue Measurement (M-1F) 1027.07	CONTINGENT LIABILITIES—See also
. Revenue Measurement (M-6E) 1027.10	Loss Contingencies
. Revenue Recognition 1026.16; 1026.38	Disclosure Requirements
. Revenue Recognition (S-6E) 1027.10	Subcontractors' Claims
. Selection of Method of Accounting	. Tax on Undistributed Earnings
	CONTINUING OPERATIONS
	CONTINUING OPERATIONS Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT	Disclosure Requirements 2012. U2012.011012
	Disclosure Requirements 2012
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock 5542.13—.14 CONSUMER PRICE INDEX	Disclosure Requirements 2012. U2012.011012
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements2012 U2012.011—.012 Earnings per Share2012.07; 2012.09 Income Statement Classification
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements2012 U2012.011-012 Earnings per Share2012.07; 2012.09 Income Statement Classification
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements2012 U2012.011—012 Earnings per Share2012.07; 2012.09 Income Statement Classification CONTRACTORS Accrual for Uninsured Losses
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements2012 U2012.011—012 Earnings per Share2012.07; 2012.09 Income Statement Classification CONTRACTORS Accrual for Uninsured Losses Construction-Type Contracts4031
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements2012 U2012.011—012 Earnings per Share2012.07; 2012.09 Income Statement Classification CONTRACTORS Accrual for Uninsured Losses
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	 Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock 5542.13—.14 CONSUMER PRICE INDEX Adjustment of Pension Benefits 4063A.07 Basis of Issue 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.09 CONSUMPTION 1023.10 Less-Developed Economies 1023.11 CONTINGENCIES 4311.05—.104 Alternative Practices 4311.65—.104 Basis for Conclusions 4311.20; 4311.104 Conditions for Accrual of Loss 4311.01 Definition 4311.02 4311.01 60 Alternative Accounting 4311.20; 4311.104 Conditions for Accrual of Loss 4311.01 Definition 4311.02; 4311.20; 4311.104	Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock CONSUMER PRICE INDEX Adjustment of Pension Benefits Mainter Price Index Mainter I	 Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock CONSUMER PRICE INDEX Adjustment of Pension Benefits Maister Stress Adjustment of Pension Benefits Maister Stress CONSUMPTION Definition, Economic Less-Developed Economies Mitting Encies Atternative Practices Atternative Practices Atternative Practices Atternative Conclusions Atternation for Accrual of Loss Changes, Accounting Atternation Ate	Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock 5542.13—.14 CONSUMER PRICE INDEX Adjustment of Pension Benefits 4063A.07 Basis of Issue 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.09 CONSUMPTION 1023.10 Less-Developed Economies 1023.11 CONTINGENCIES 4311.05—.06; 4311.55; Alternative Practices 4311.05—.06; 4311.55; Basis for Conclusions 4311.46—.54 Basis for Conclusions 4311.20; 4311.104 Conditions for Accrual of Loss 4311.01 Definition 4311.02; 4311.28; 4311.79 Disclosure in Interim Periods 2071.30 Disclosure Requirements 431.09—.13;	 Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock 5542.1314 CONSUMER PRICE INDEX Adjustment of Pension Benefits 4063A.07 Basis of Issue 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.31 ONSUMPTION 1023.10 Less-Developed Economics 1023.10 Atternative Practices 4311.01104 Atternative Practices 4311.0506(4311.55, 4311.01) Basis for Conclusions 4311.4654 Basis for Conclusions 4311.4654 Changes, Accounting 4311.20(4311.20, 4311.104 Conditions for Accrual of Loss 4311.01 Definition 4311.02, 4311.28, 4311.01 Depreciation 4311.02, 4311.28, 4311.79 Disclosure in Interim Periods 2071.22, 2071.30 Disclosure Requirements 4311.0913; 4311.103	 Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	 Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	 Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	 Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock 5542.1314 CONSUMER PRICE INDEX Adjustment of Pension Benefits 4063A.07 Basis of Issue 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.01 CONSUMPTION 1023.10 Less-Developed Economics 1023.11 CONTINGENCIES 4311.01104 Alternative Practices 4311.0506; 4311.55 4311.101 Background Information 4311.55104 Catastrophes—See Catastrophes Changes, Accounting 4311.02 Changes, Accounting 4311.02; 4311.104 2071.22 Definition 4311.02; 4311.28; 4311.79 2071.30 Disclosure in Interim Periods 2071.30 2071.30 Disclosure Requirements 4311.0913; 4311.104 4311.104 Lister Date and Transition 4311.20; 4311.104 Equalization of Income 4311.6366; 4311.92	 Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock 5542.1314 CONSUMER PRICE INDEX Adjustment of Pension Benefits 4063A.07 Basis of Issue 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.09 CONSUMPTION 1023.10 Less-Developed Economics 1023.11 CONTINGENCIES 4311.01104 Alternative Practices 4311.0506; 4311.55 4311.01 Background Information Basis for Conclusions 4311.20; 4311.104 Conditions for Accrual of Loss 4311.01 Definition 4311.02; 4311.28; 4311.79 Disclosure in Interim Periods 2071.30 Disclosure Requirements 4311.0913; 4311.1019; 4311.03 Effective Date and Transition 4311.1015; 4311.104 Equalization of Income 4311.6366; 4311.92; 4311.02;	Disclosure Requirements 2012 U2012.011-012 Earnings per Share 2012.07; 2012.09 Income Statement Classification CONTRACTORS Accrual for Uninsured Losses
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock 5542.1314 CONSUMER PRICE INDEX Adjustment of Pension Benefits 4063A.07 Basis of Issue 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.31 ONSUMPTION 1023.10 Less-Developed Economics 1023.10 CONTINGENCIES 4311.01104 Alternative Practices 4311.0506(4311.55; 4311.101 Baskground Information 4311.4654 Basis for Conclusions 4311.4654 Basis for Conclusions 4311.104 Catastrophes—See Catastrophes Changes, Accounting Changes, Accounting 4311.02; 4311.28; 4311.79 Disclosure in Interim Periods 2071.22; 2071.30 Disclosure Requirements 4311.0913; 4311.10, 4311.58 Effective Date and Transition 4311.104 Equalization of Income 4311.104 Equalization of Income 4311.102; 4311.102 4311.102;	 Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock 5542.1314 CONSUMER PRICE INDEX Adjustment of Pension Benefits 4063A.07 Basis of Issue 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.01 CONSUMPTION 1023.10 Less-Developed Economics 1023.11 CONTINGENCIES 4311.01104 Alternative Practices 4311.0506; 4311.55 Haris for Conclusions 4311.55104 Catastrophes—See Catastrophes Changes, Accounting Changes, Accounting 4311.02; 4311.104 Conditions for Accrual of Loss 4311.01 Depreciation 4311.02; 4311.28; 4311.79 Disclosure in Interim Periods 2071.30 Disclosure Requirements 4311.0913; 4311.1719; 4311.104 Equalization of Income 4311.6366; 4311.92 Estimation and Uncertainty 4311.02; 4311.58 Estimates of Property Taxes 4081.09	 Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	 Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock	 Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock 5542.1314 CONSUMER PRICE INDEX Adjustment of Pension Benefits 4063A.07 Basis of Issue 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.09 CONSUMPTION 1023.10 Less-Developed Economics 1023.11 CONTINGENCIES 4311.01104 Alternative Practices 4311.55104 Catastrophes See Catastrophes Changes, Accounting 4311.20, 4311.104 Conditions for Accrual of Loss 4311.01 Depreciation 4311.02; 4311.28, 4311.79 Disclosure in Interim Periods 2071.30 Disclosure Requirements 4311.0913; 4311.1719; 4311.104 Equalization of Income 4311.6366; 4311.92; 4311.6366; 4311.92 Estimation and Uncertainty 4311.02; 4311.6366; 4311.92 Estimates of Property Taxes 4081.09 Examples of Application 4311.06; 4311.21- 4311.01; 4311.58 4311.02; 4311.05; 4311.02;	 Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock Adjustment of Pension Benefits Adjustment of Pension Benefits Masis of Issue 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.09 CONSUMPTION Definition, Economic 1023.10 Less-Developed Economies 1023.11 CONTINGENCIES Alternative Practices 4311.0506; 4311.55 4311.01 Background Information 4311.101 Background Information 4311.20; 4311.55 Changes, Accounting 4311.02 Conditions for Accrual of Loss 4311.01 Depreciation 4311.02; 4311.28; 4311.79 Disclosure Requirements 4311.0913; 4311.10 Effective Date and Transition 4311.104 Equalization of Income 4311.104 Equalization and Uncertainty 4311.10; 4311.58 <tr< td=""><td> Disclosure Requirements</td></tr<>	 Disclosure Requirements
CONSTRUCTIVE RETIREMENT Corporation's Own Stock 5542.1314 CONSUMER PRICE INDEX Adjustment of Pension Benefits 4063A.07 Basis of Issue 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.31 Price-Level Changes 1071.09 CONSUMPTION 1023.10 Less-Developed Economics 1023.11 CONTINGENCIES 4311.01104 Alternative Practices 4311.55104 Catastrophes See Catastrophes Changes, Accounting 4311.20, 4311.104 Conditions for Accrual of Loss 4311.01 Depreciation 4311.02; 4311.28, 4311.79 Disclosure in Interim Periods 2071.30 Disclosure Requirements 4311.0913; 4311.1719; 4311.104 Equalization of Income 4311.6366; 4311.92; 4311.6366; 4311.92 Estimation and Uncertainty 4311.02; 4311.6366; 4311.92 Estimates of Property Taxes 4081.09 Examples of Application 4311.06; 4311.21- 4311.01; 4311.58 4311.02; 4311.05; 4311.02;	 Disclosure Requirements

INGENCIES—continued ases in Financial Statements of ss—See Loss Contingencies rtial Allocation, Income Taxes 4091 25 oling of Interests 1091.47; U1091.048-.049; U1091.067-073; 1091.119-132 or Period Adjustments ... 4311.08; 4311.104 obability—See Probable Events serves, General or Unspecified 4311.14 INGENT ISSUANCE . . . 2011.30 ti-Dilution mputational Guidelines 2011A.16—.19 rnings per Share Computation ... 2011.22; U2011.308—312 arket Price Guarantees U2011.314—321 INGENT LIABILITIES—See also s Contingencies closure Requirements 1027.26 x on Undistributed Earnings 4095.07 INUING OPERATIONS . . 2012.08—.09 closure Requirements . U2012.011—.012; 2012.06 rnings per Share ... 2012.07; 2012.09; 2012.26 ome Statement Classification 2012.05 RACTORS st-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts 4041.01-.22 e and Leaseback Operations 5351.22 minated War and Defense RACTS quired in Business Combinations . . nuities, Individual . . . 4063.40—.41; 4063A.23— .24; U4063.131—.145 nuities, Variable 4063.33; U2021.007--.009; U4063.109-.112 ense—See Defense Contracts erred Compensation 4064.01--.03 ancing Agreements 2033.04; 2033.11– .14; 2033.23–.29; 2033.34–.50 urance Premiums as Deposits 4311.44—.45 erest on Receivables/Payables. 4111.01-.16

Losses on Insurance Policies 4311.96

. Timing Differences 4091A.02

2011D.06

CON

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

CONTRACTS, BORROWING . Noncash Transaction 4111.07; 4111.11 . Note Exchanged for Cash 4111.0506; 4111.10 . Unamortized Discount 5151.0811
CONTRACTS, COST-PLUS-FIXED-FEE See Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts
CONTRACTS, GOVERNMENT —See Cost- Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts, Renegotiation, and Terminated War and Defense Contracts
CONTRACTS, LONG-TERM Adjustment of Accruals
CONTRACTS, SALES Losses on Purchase Commitments
5121.17 Recognition, Inventory Losses 5121.09 CONTRACTS, SERVICE
. Timing Differences 4091A.04 CONTRACTS, TERMINATED WAR AND
DEFENSE
CONTRIBUTIONS Defined-Contribution Plans
CONTRIBUTIONS, ACTUARIAL COST METHODS
. Accrued Benefit Cost Method 4063A.12 Aggregate Method 4063A.28 Entry Age Normal Method 4063A.16; 4063A.18; 4063A.28
. Individual Level Premium Method 4063A.25
CONTROL Conditions for Consolidation
. Principal Stockholder Defined U4062.00 Significant Influence
. Transfer in Business Combination
Unusual Events
CONVENTIONAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS —See Historical-Dollar Financial Statements
CONVENTIONS, MODIFYINGSee Modifying Conventions
CONVERSION FACTORS Price-Level Restatements
CONVERSION OF DEBT Alternative Methods
Compared to Extinguishment 5362 02-03
U5362.001-003 U5362.001-003 Conversions During Period U2011.151153 Convertible Debt

CONVERSION OPTION Allocation of Proceeds 5516.10; 5516.17
Alternative Choices
. Conversion Into Convertibles U2011.154—
.157
. Conversion Into Nonconvertibles
U2011.035—.037; U2011.122—.123 . Estimation
. Estimation
. Holder of Convertible Debt
Inseparability 5516.05-06: 5516.10: 5362.11
. Inseparability 5516.05—.06; 5516.10; 5362.11 . Investment Value Test
Issuer of Convertible Debt
Materiality
Price-Level Restatements
. Termination
Termination
CONVERSION PRICES
Anti-Dilution Provisions
Definition
Disclosure Requirements
. Market Prices
Market Value, Common Stock 5516.01-
.03
CONVERSION RATE
Alternative Choices
$12 \cdot 12011 \cdot 035 - 037 \cdot 112011 \cdot 341 - 343$
. Computational Guidelines 2011A.1213
Computational Guidelines
CONVERSION RIGHTS
. Determination of Residuality
CONVERSION VALUE
. Definition
. Definition
Definition 2011D.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting Concents 5516.04—.09
Definition 2011D.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.0409 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.10
Definition 2011D.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting Concepts 5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.02
Definition
Definition 2011D.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04—.09 Advantages to Issuer 5516.02 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.03 Affiliated Companies 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01
Definition
Definition
Definition
Definition
Definition 2011D.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.02 Advantages to Issuer 5516.02 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 U2011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.265— .266 Call on Stock 5016.01 Cash Payment at Conversion 2011.37
Definition 20110.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.0409 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04 Advantages to Issuer 5516.02 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.03 Affiliated Companies 5516.03 Anti-Dilution Provisions 5516.01 U2011.145146 20011.145146 Assumed Purchase of Debt .02011.265266 Call on Stock .5516.01 U2011.024; U2011.16; U2011.162; U2011.230201.37; .2011.17;
Definition 2011D.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.02 Advantages to Issuer 5516.02 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.03 Affiliated Companies 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 U2011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.265— .266 Call on Stock 5560.01 .2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.162; U2011.230— .235; U2011.249—.252 .235; U2011.249—.252 Cash Yield Test .2011.33; 41:U2011.135140
Definition 2011D.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.02 Advantages to Issuer 5516.02 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.03 Affiliated Companies 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 U2011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.265— .266 Call on Stock 5560.01 .2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.162; U2011.230— .235; U2011.249—.252 .235; U2011.249—.252 Cash Yield Test .2011.33; 41:U2011.135140
Definition 2011D.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.02 Advantages to Issuer 5516.02 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.03 Affiliated Companies 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 U2011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.265— .266 Call on Stock 5560.01 .2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.162; U2011.230— .235; U2011.249—.252 .235; U2011.249—.252 Cash Yield Test .2011.33; 41:U2011.135140
Definition 2011D.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting Concepts 5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04 Advantages to Issuer 5516.02 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.03 Affiliated Companies 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 U2011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.265— 266 Call on Stock 5516.01 Cash Payment at Conversion 2011.37; U2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.162; U2011.230— 235; U2011.230— 235; U2011.249—.252 Cash Yield Test 2011.33-34; U2011.135140 Characteristics 2011.31 2011.27- U2011.017—.018; 5362.15 U2011.017—.018; 5362.15
Definition 20110.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting Concepts .5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds .5516.04 Advantages to Issuer .5516.01 Advantages to Issuer .5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.03 Affiliated Companies .5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds .5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds .5516.01 Anti-Dilution Provisions .5516.01 Logan .266 Call on Stock .5516.01 .266 .2011.024; U2011.16; U2011.230—.262 .235; U2011.024; U2011.16; U2011.230—.252 .235; U2011.249—.252 .235; U2011.024; U2011.13334; U2011.135140 .2011.31 .2011.024; U2011.16; U2011.3334; U2011.27: .2011.27: .2011.017018; 5362.15 .2011.33—.333
Definition 2011D.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting Concepts 5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04 Advantages to Issuer 5516.02 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.03 Affiliated Companies 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.03 Anti-Dilution Provisions 5516.01 U2011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.265— 266 Call on Stock 5516.01 Cash Payment at Conversion 2011.37; U2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.162; U2011.230— .235; U2011.249—.252 Cash Yield Test .2011.3334; U2011.135140 Characteristics .2011.31 Common Stock Equivalents .2011.31 Contingent Issuance .U2011.330—.333 Conversion, Forced .5516.02 Conversion into Convertibles .U2011.154
Definition 20110.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting Concepts .5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds .5516.04 Advantages to Issuer .5516.01 Advantages to Issuer .5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds .5516.01 Anti-Dilution Provisions .5516.01 Location of Proceeds .5516.01 Assumed Purchase of Debt .02011.265— .266 .266 Call on Stock .5516.01 .265 .2011.024; U2011.16; U2011.230— .225; U2011.024; U2011.16; U2011.230— .225; Cash Yield Test .2011.33-34; U2011.135140 Characteristics .2011.31 Common Stock Equivalents .2011.27; U2011.07—.018; 5362.15 .2011.33 Conversion, Forced .5516.02 Conversion into Convertibles .02011.134—
Definition 2011.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting Concepts .5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds .5516.04 Advantages to Issuer .5516.04 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.04 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds .5516.01 Anti-Dilution Provisions .5516.01 Assumed Purchase of Debt .02011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt .02011.262 .266 .266 Call on Stock .5516.01 .265 .261.01 .265 .2011.024 .2011.024 .2011.162 .2011.024 .2011.132 .2011.024 .2011.132 .2011.024 .2011.230 .225 Cash Yield Test .2011.31 .2011.012 .2011.21 .2011.012 .2011.27 .2011.012 .2011.27 .2011.010/P018 .536.02 Conversion into Convertibles .2011.30
Definition 2011.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting Concepts .5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds .5516.04 Advantages to Issuer .5516.04 Advantages to Issuer .5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds .5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds .5516.01 Anti-Dilution Provisions .5516.01 Location of Proceeds .5516.01 Assumed Purchase of Debt .02011.45 L2011.045 .266 Call on Stock .5516.01 Cash Payment at Conversion .2011.37 U2011.024; U2011.16; U2011.230 .266 Cash Yield Test .2011.33 U2011.017—018; 5362.15 .2011.27 U2011.017—018; 5362.15 .2011.30 Conversion, Forced .5016.02 Conversion into Convertibles .02011.154 .07 .1027.08; 5516.02 .07 .5362.02 .07 .5362.02
Definition 2011D.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting Concepts 5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04 Advantages to Issuer 5516.04 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 Anti-Dilution Provisions 5516.01 Vallocation of Proceeds 5516.01 Anti-Dilution Provisions 5516.01 Vallocation of Proceeds 266 Call on Stock 5516.01 Cash Payment at Conversion 2011.23 V2011.024; U2011.16; U2011.16; U2011.230—.235; U2011.249—252 Cash Yield Test 2011.31 U2011.017—018; 5362.15 Contingent Issuance 2011.21 Conversion, Forced 5516.02 Conversion into Convertibles U2011.154—157 Conversion of Debt 1027.08; 5516.02 Conversion of Debt 1027.02; 5516.02 Conversion Option, Importance 5516.06 Conversion Price 5516.02
Definition 2011D.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting Concepts 5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04 Advantages to Issuer 5516.04 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.02 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.03 Affiliated Companies 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.03 Anti-Dilution Provisions 5516.01 U2011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.265— U2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.162; U2011.230— 226 Call on Stock 5516.01 Cash Payment at Conversion 2011.37; U2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.162; U2011.249—.252 Cash Yield Test 2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.135140 Characteristics Characteristics 2011.21 U2011.017=018; 5362.15 Contingent Issuance U2011.33 Conversion, Forced 5516.02 Conversion of Debt 1027.08; 5516.02 157 Conversion of Debt 1027.08; 5516.02 556.02 Conversion of Debt 5516.01 1027.08; 5516.01
Definition 2011D.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04 Advantages to Issuer 5516.04 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.03 Affiliated Companies 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 Anti-Dilution Provisions 5516.01 U2011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.265— 266 Call on Stock 5516.01 Cash Payment at Conversion 2011.37; U2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.120— 235; U2011.230— 235; U2011.249—.252 Cash Yield Test 2011.33 Common Stock Equivalents 2011.31 Conversion, Forced 2011.27; U2011.017—.018; 5362.15 Conversion into Convertibles U2011.154— Conversion of Debt .0271.08; 5516.02; 536.02; Conversion of Debt .0271.08; 5516.02; 5362.02—03 Conversion of Debt .0271.08; 5516.02; 5362.02—03<
Definition 2011.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting Concepts .5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds .5516.04 Advantages to Issuer .5516.04 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.04 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds .5516.01 Anti-Dilution Provisions .5516.01 Location of Proceeds .5516.01 Assumed Purchase of Debt .02011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt .02011.262 .266 .266 Call on Stock .5516.01 Cash Payment at Conversion .2011.37 U2011.024; U2011.162; U2011.230—.235; U2011.239—.235; U2011.249—.252 Cash Yield Test .2011.31 Common Stock Equivalents .2011.27; U2011.017—.018; 5362.15 .0011.135140 Characteristics .2011.33 Conversion into Convertibles .2011.31 Conversion of Debt .1027.08; 5516.02;
Definition 2011.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting Concepts .5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds .5516.04 Advantages to Issuer .5516.04 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser .5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds .5516.01 Anti-Dilution Provisions .5516.01 Assumed Purchase of Debt .02011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt .02011.265— .266 Call on Stock .5516.01 Cash Payment at Conversion .2011.37 U2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.162; U2011.230—.233 .2011.249—.252 Cash Yield Test .2011.33 .2011.31 Characteristics .2011.31 .2011.27 U2011.017—018; 5362.15 .2011.33 .2011.33 Conversion into Convertibles .02011.340—.333 Conversion of Debt .157 Conversion Option, Importance .5516.02 Conversion Option, Importance </td
Definition 2011.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04 Advantages to Issuer 5516.04 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.01 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 Anti-Dilution Provisions 5516.01 Massumed Purchase of Debt U2011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.265— 266 Call on Stock 5516.01 Cash Payment at Conversion 2011.37 U2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.162; U2011.230—.252 Cash Yield Test 2011.31 Common Stock Equivalents 2011.27 U2011.012018; 5362.15 Conversion into Convertibles U2011.135140 157 Conversion of Debt 1027.08; 5516.02; 536.02 Conversion of Debt 1027.08; 5516.02; 5362.0203 Conversion Option, Importance 5516.01 5362.0203 Conversion Rate Changes U2011.341343 Date Effective
Definition 20110.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04 Advantages to Issuer 5516.04 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.02 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 Anti-Dilution Provisions 5516.01 Vallocation of Proceeds 5516.01 Anti-Dilution Provisions 5516.01 U2011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.265— 266 Call on Stock 5516.01 Cash Payment at Conversion 2011.37 U2011.024-U2011.162 U2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.162; U2011.230— 225; U2011.249—252 Cash Yield Test 2011.31 2011.21 Conversion, Forced .011.27 U2011.017—018; 5362.15 Contingent Issuance .02011.33 Conversion of Debt .027.08; 5516.02 .560.02 Conversion of Debt .027.08; 5516.02 .560.02 Conversion Price .5516.01 .5516.01 Conversion Rate Chang
Definition 20110.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04 Advantages to Issuer 5516.04 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.02 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.03 Affiliated Companies 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 Anti-Dilution Provisions 5516.01 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.265— 266 Call on Stock 5516.01 Cash Payment at Conversion 2011.37 U2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.162; U2011.230— .235; U2011.249—.252 Cash Yield Test .2011.31 Common Stock Equivalents .2011.27 U2011.017—.018; 5362.15 Contingent Issuance .2011.27 U2011.017—.018; 5362.15 .000000000000000000000000000000000000
Definition 2011D.09 Market Parity Test 2011.32 CONVERTIBLE DEBT 5516.01—.10 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04—.09 Accounting for Proceeds 5516.04 Advantages to Issuer 5516.04 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.02 Advantages to Purchaser 5516.03 Affiliated Companies 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.01 U2011.145—.146 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.265— U2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.162; U2011.230— 25516.01 Cash Payment at Conversion 2011.37; U2011.024; U2011.116; U2011.124—.255; 2011.21 Cash Yield Test 2011.3334; U2011.135140 Characteristics 2011.21 Conversion, Forced .2011.31 Conversion of Debt .02011.330—333 Conversion of Debt .027.08; 5516.02 Conversion of Debt .027.08; 5516.01 Conversion of Debt .027.08; 5516.01 Conversion of Debt .027.08; 5516.01 Conversion Price .516.01 Conversion

AICPA Professional Standards

CONVERTIBLE DEBT-continue	d
Extinguishment	52.11—.15; 5362.21
Extinguishment Gains/Losses	
. Financial Planning	
. Financing Cost	5516.00
Inseparability of Conversion	5 5516 10 5262 11
Interest Expense	2011 20
. Interest Expense411	1 04 5516 01-02
. Investment Features	5516.06
. Issuance in Package	
. Leases, Comparison	
. Market v. Call Price	
. Monetary Liability	
. Premium on Debt	
. Price-Level Restatements	
. Prior Period Adjustments	
. Proceeds from Issuance	
	5516.17
Protection of Debt Security Redemption Option Retirement Protection	
. Redemption Option	
Retirement	. 02011.246248
. Retroactive Application	
 Separability of Conversion Operation 	
Single Florest View	5516.07-09
. Single-Element View . Stock Issue on Conversion	5516 03 5516.00
. Subsidiaries' Securities	. 5516.05, 5516.12
. Surrender of Debt Security .	551614
. Termination of Conversion O	ntion 5516.02
Terms Defined	112011 132-133
. Terms Defined	102011102-100
	U2011.331
. Twenty Percent Test	. U2011.258260
. Types of Debt Securities	
Types of Debt Securities Uncertainties	. 5516.06; 5516.08
. Valuation of Conversion Opti	on 5516.06—
	.07; 5516.09
Warranta Nat Datashahla	
. Warrants Not Detachable	
. Warrants Not Detachable . Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—.294
. Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—.294
. Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290294
. Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290294
. Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO . Anti-Dilution . Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024; U2011.116; U201	. U2011.290—.294 >CK . U2011.143—.144
. Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO . Anti-Dilution . Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024; U2011.116; U201	. U2011.290—.294 >CK . U2011.143—.144
. Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO . Anti-Dilution . Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024; U2011.116; U201 .23 . Cash Yield Test 2011.33—.33	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144 2011.37; 1.162; U2011.230— 5; U2011.249—.252 4; U2011.135—.140
. Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO . Anti-Dilution . Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024; U2011.116; U201 .23 . Cash Yield Test 2011.333 . Characteristics	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144 2011.37; 1.162; U2011.230— 5; U2011.249—.252 4; U2011.135—.140 2011.31
. Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO . Anti-Dilution . Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024; U2011.116; U201 .23 . Cash Yield Test 2011.333 . Characteristics	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144 2011.37; 1.162; U2011.230— 5; U2011.249—.252 4; U2011.135—.140 2011.31
Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144
Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO Anti-Dilution Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024; U2011.116; U201 .23 Cash Yield Test 2011.333 Characteristics Common Stock Equivalents Contingent Issuance Conversion Rate Changes	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144 2011.37; I.162; U2011.230—. 5; U2011.235—.140 2011.31 2011.27 . U2011.330—.333 . U2011.341—.343
. Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO Anti-Dilution	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144
. Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO Anti-Dilution	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144
Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO Anti-Dilution Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024; U2011.116; U201 .23 Cash Yield Test 2011.333 Characteristics Common Stock Equivalents Contingent Issuance Conversion Rate Changes	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144
Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144
Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144
Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO Anti-Dilution Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024; U2011.116; U201 .23 Cash Yield Test 2011.333 Characteristics Common Stock Equivalents Conversion Rate Changes Issuance in Package Issued to Employees Subsidiaries' Securities Terms Defined Time of IssuanceU2011.11	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144 2011.37; I.162; U2011.230—. 5; U2011.235—.140 2011.31 2011.31
Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO Anti-Dilution Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024; U2011.116; U201 .23 Cash Yield Test2011.333 Characteristics Common Stock Equivalents Conversion Rate Changes Issuance in Package Issued to Employees Subsidiaries' Securities Time of IssuanceU2011.11 Twenty Percent Test	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144 2011.37; 1.162; U2011.230— 5; U2011.235—.140 2011.31
Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO Anti-Dilution	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144
Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO Anti-Dilution	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144
Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO Anti-Dilution	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144
Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—.294 . U2011.143—.144
Warrants to Purchase Warrants to Purchase Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STG Anti-Dilution Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024; U2011.116; U201 23 Cash Yield Test Coharacteristics Common Stock Equivalents Conversion Rate Changes Issuance in Package Issuance in Package Issuance in Package Subsidiaries' Securities Terms Defined Time of Issuance U2011.11 Twenty Percent Test CoOPERATIVE ORGANIZATION Funds Statements CORPORATE ACCOUNTING Diversity of Practice	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144 2011.37; 1.162; U2011.230— 5; U2011.235—.140 2011.31
Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—294 . U2011.143—.144
Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STO Anti-Dilution	. U2011.290—294 . U2011.143—.144
Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144
Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—294 DCK . U2011.143—144 2011.37; 1.162; U2011.230— 5; U2011.249—252 4; U2011.135—140 2011.31
Warrants to Purchase Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STG Anti-Dilution Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024; U2011.116; U201 .23 Cash Yield Test Conversion Rate Changes Conversion Rate Changes Issuance in Package Issuance in Package Issued to Employees Subsidiaries' Securities Terms Defined Time of Issuance Co-OPERATIVE ORGANIZATION Funds Statements Corporate Accounting Judgment of Results Significance of Income State Uniformity CORPORATE JOINT VENTURE	. U2011.290—294 DCK . U2011.143—144 2011.37; 1.162; U2011.230— 5; U2011.249—252 4; U2011.135—140 2011.31
Warrants to Purchase Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STG Anti-Dilution Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024; U2011.116; U201 .23 Cash Yield Test2011.3333 Characteristics Common Stock Equivalents Conversion Rate Changes Issuance in Package Issued to Employees Subsidiaries' Securities Terms Defined Time of IssuanceU2011.111 Twenty Percent Test Co-OPERATIVE ORGANIZATION Funds Statements CORPORATE ACCOUNTING Judgment of Results Significance of Income Statement Uniformity CORPORATE JOINT VENTURE Jointly Owned Companies	. U2011.290—.294 DCK . U2011.143—.144
Warrants to Purchase Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STG Anti-Dilution Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024; U2011.116; U201 233 Characteristics Contingent Issuance Conversion Rate Changes Issuance in Package Issuance in Package Issuance in Package Issuance in Package Subsidiaries' Securities Terms Defined Time of Issuance U2011.111; Twenty Percent Test CorPORATE ACCOUNTING Diversity of Practice Evolution Significance of Income Statem Uniformity CORPORATE JOINT VENTURE Jointy Owned Companies CORPORATE READJUSTMENTS	. U2011.290—.294 . U2011.143—.144
Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—294 . U2011.143—144
Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—294 . U2011.143—144
Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—294 . U2011.143—144
 Warrants to Purchase Warrants to Purchase CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STG Anti-Dilution Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024; U2011.116; U201 23: Cash Yield Test 2011.333 Characteristics Common Stock Equivalents Conversion Rate Changes Issuance in Package Issuance in Package Subsidiaries' Securities Terms Defined Time of Issuance U2011.111 Twenty Percent Test Cooperative Organization Diversity of Practice Evolution Judgment of Results Significance of Income Stater Uniformity CORPORATE ACOUNTING Diversity Of Practice Adjustment, Carrying Amoun Adjustment, Provisions for Loc Charges 	. U2011.290—294 DCK . U2011.143—144 2011.37; 1.162; U2011.230— 5; U2011.249—252 4; U2011.135—140 2011.31
Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—294 DCK . U2011.143—144
Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—294 . U2011.143—144
Warrants to Purchase	. U2011.290—294 DCK . U2011.143—144

CORPORATE READJUSTMENTS
. Conservatism
Dating Earned Surplus
Effective Date
Fair Value of Assets
1041.10—.12; 1041.23 Operating Loss Carryforwards 4091.49; U4091.098—.102
. Probable Losses or Charges 5581.05 . Procedure after Readjustment 5581.09—
.12 Procedure in Readiustment 5581.03-08
 Procedure in Readjustment 5581.03—.08 Subsidiaries' Earned Surplus 5581.06—.07 Write-Offs Against Earned Surplus 5581.06
CORPORATIONS
Announcements, Stock Split-Ups 5561.11 Business Combinations 1091.01—.99
Domestic International Sales
Corporation U4095.001–.005; 4095.09 . Earnings per Share Presentation
2011.0506; U2011.068071
. Initial Public Distribution 1051.29—.30 . Joint Ventures—See Jointly Owned
Companies
. Principal Stockholder Defined U4062.001 . Principal Stockholder Stock Plans
Publicly Traded Companies
2071.08; 2071.30—.33 Publicly Traded Corporations
2072.14 Related Company Defined 4052.15
Representations, Stock Dividends or Split-Ups
Stock Issued to Employees 4062.01–.20
Stockholders' Income
. Subchapter S, Earnings per Share
Subchapter S, Earnings per Share
Subchapter S, Earnings per Share U2011.081 COST Abnormal or Excessive
COST . Abnormal or Excessive
Subchapter S, Earnings per Share U2011.081 COST Abnormal or Excessive
Subchapter S, Earnings per Share U2011.081 COST Abnormal or Excessive
Subchapter S, Earnings per Share
Subchapter S, Earnings per Share U2011.081 COST
Subchapter S, Earnings per Share
Subchapter S, Earnings per Share U2011.081 COST Abnormal or Excessive
Subchapter S, Earnings per Share

COST —continued Percentage of Completion Method	COST RECOVERY METHOD
4031.0408	Measuring Revenue and E
. Period	[M-1F(1)]
. Preoperating	. Revenue and Expense Rev
Principle—See Historical Cost	[S-1F(1)]
Product—See Product Cost	COST REDUCTION
Recovery—See Cost Recovery Method	. Investment Credit
Reimbursable—See Reimbursable	. investment credit
Costs	COUNCIL OF THE INSTITUT
. Replacement 1023.31; 1026.28; 4071.04	Accounting Standards Exe
Research and Development—See	Committee
Research and Development Costs	. Financial Accounting Star
. Service—See Service Cost . Start-Up	Board Rule 203—Accounting Pr
Systematic and Rational Allocation	. Rule 203—Accounting Fi
1026.23; 4211.48—.49; 4311.78—.79; 4311.98	
. Unexpired	CREDIT STANDING
	Interest Rates on Notes .
COST ACCOUNTING	. Refinancing Short-Term
Manufacturing Costs (M-6A) 1027.10	Obligations
. Manufacturing Costs (S-6A) 1027.10	CREDITORS
. Measurement of Production (M-6)	. Debt Arrangements in Ba
1027.10	
. Variances at Interim Periods 2071.14	. Decisions on Credit
COST BASIS	. Lease Disclosures By Less
. Contingent Consideration 1091.7880	
. Historical v. Current Value 1071D.0205	. Need for Financial Inform
. Intangible Assets 5141.09; 5141.15; 5141.25—	Deine Lavel Statements
.26	. Price-Level Statements . . Refinancing Short-Term E
. Inventory Pricing 5121.04—.05; 5121.07—.08;	203
1051-1.0106	. Use of Financial Informati
. Nonmonetary Transactions 1041.09;	
1041.14; 1041.18	
 Price-Level Statements 1071.05; 1071.28 Purchase Method 1091.66—.69; 1091.91 	CREDITS AGAINST TAX
. Purchase Method 1091.0009, 1091.91	. Investment Credit
COST METHOD	CUMULATIVE PREFERRED D
. Description	. Arrearages 2011A.05
Dividends Received	CURRENCY RESTRICTIONS
. General Practice	. Foreign Operations
. Limitations of Method 5131.07; 5131.10	. Remittances from Subsid
Losses of Investees	
Recognition of Earnings	CURRENT ASSETS
Unconsolidated Subsidiaries	. Carrying Basis
	Definition
COST OF CAPITAL	. Definition
COST OF CAPITAL	. Definition
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36	. Relation to Operating Cyc
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD	. Relation to Operating Cyc.
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21	. Relation to Operating Cyc
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Assumptions Relating Costs 1026.22	. Relation to Operating Cyc. . Resources Excluded . Translation, Foreign Curre
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Assumptions Relating Costs 1026.22 Expense Recognition	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Assumptions Relating Costs 1026.22 Expense Recognition	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification203
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Assumptions Relating Costs 1026.22 Expense Recognition	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Assumptions Relating Costs 1026.22 Expense Recognition	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification 203 Definition 1027.25;
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Assumptions Relating Costs 1026.22 Expense Recognition	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification 203: Definition 1027.25; Disclosure Requirement .
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Associating Cause and Effect 1026.22 Expense Recognition	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification 203 Definition 1027.25;
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification 203: Definition 1027.25; Disclosure Requirement . Examples of Refinancing .
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Associating Cause and Effect 1026.22 Expense Recognition	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification 203: Definition 1027.25; Disclosure Requirement . Examples of Refinancing .
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Assumptions Relating Costs 1026.22 Expense Recognition	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification 203 Definition 1027.25; Disclosure Requirement . Examples of Refinancing . Refinancing on Long-Term
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification 203 Definition 1027.25; Disclosure Requirement . Examples of Refinancing . Refinancing on Long-Term
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Assumptions Relating Costs 1026.22 Expense Recognition	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification 203; Definition 1027.25; Disclosure Requirement . Examples of Refinancing . Refinancing on Long-Term Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT-NONCURRENT M
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Assumptions Relating Costs 1026.22 Expense Recognition	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification203 Definition1027.25; Disclosure Requirement . Examples of Refinancing . Refinancing on Long-Term Translation, Foreign Curre
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification 203 Definition 1027.25; Disclosure Requirement . Examples of Refinancing . Refinancing on Long-Term Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT-NONCURRENT M Foreign Currency Transla 1082.08
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Assumptions Relating Costs	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification203. Definition1027.25; Disclosure Requirement . Examples of Refinancing . Refinancing on Long-Term Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT-NONCURRENT M Foreign Currency Transla 1082.08 CURRENT OPERATING PERM
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Assumptions Relating Costs 1026.22 Expense Recognition	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification 203 Definition 1027.25; Disclosure Requirement . Examples of Refinancing . Refinancing on Long-Term Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT-NONCURRENT M Foreign Currency Transla 1082.08
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Assumptions Relating Costs	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification 203; Definition 1027.25; Disclosure Requirement . Examples of Refinancing . Refinancing on Long-Term Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT-NONCURRENT M Foreign Currency Transla 1082.08 CURRENT OPERATING PERI Net Income Determinatio CURRENT PURCHASE PRICI
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification 203 Definition 1027.25; Disclosure Requirement . Examples of Refinancing . Refinancing on Long-Term Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT-NONCURRENT M Foreign Currency Transla 1082.08 CURRENT OPERATING PERI Net Income Determinatio CURRENT PURCHASE PRICI
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification203. Definition1027.25; Disclosure Requirement . Examples of Refinancing . Refinancing on Long-Term Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT-NONCURRENT M Foreign Currency Transla 1082.08 CURRENT OPERATING PERI Net Income Determinatio CURRENT PURCHASE PRICI Definition
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Assumptions Relating Costs 1026.22 Expense Recognition 1026.13 Expense Recognition (S-1G) 1027.07 Interim Financial Statements 2071.13—14 Inventory Losses, Disclosure 5121.14 LIFO Effects 1026.36 Price-Level Restatements 1071.39 COST-OF-LIVING INDEX Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.07 COST OR MARKET—See Lower of Cost or Market 4041.01—22 Cancellation and Termination 4041.08 Discussion 4041.06—09 Offsetting Government Advances 4041.02 Recognition of Income 4041.02, 4041.11—18 Reimbursable Costs (M-6E) 1027.10 Revenue Measurement (M-6E) 1027.10 Revenue Recognition (S-6E) 1027.10 Revenue Recognition (S-6E) 1027.10	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification1027.25; Disclosure Requirement . Examples of Refinancing . Refinancing on Long-Term Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT-NONCURRENT M Foreign Currency Transla 1082.08 CURRENT OPERATING PERI Net Income Determinatio CURRENT PURCHASE PRICI Definition
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification
COST OF CAPITAL Research and Development Costs 4211.36 COST OF GOODS SOLD Associating Cause and Effect 1026.21 Assumptions Relating Costs 1026.22 Expense Recognition 1026.13 Expense Recognition (S-1G) 1027.07 Interim Financial Statements 2071.13—14 Inventory Losses, Disclosure 5121.14 LIFO Effects 1026.36 Price-Level Restatements 1071.39 COST-OF-LIVING INDEX Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.07 COST OR MARKET—See Lower of Cost or Market 4041.01—22 Cancellation and Termination 4041.08 Discussion 4041.06—09 Offsetting Government Advances 4041.02 Recognition of Income 4041.02, 4041.11—18 Reimbursable Costs (M-6E) 1027.10 Revenue Measurement (M-6E) 1027.10 Revenue Recognition (S-6E) 1027.10 Revenue Recognition (S-6E) 1027.10	Relation to Operating Cyc. Resources Excluded Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT LIABILITIES Classification1027.25; Disclosure Requirement . Examples of Refinancing . Refinancing on Long-Term Translation, Foreign Curre CURRENT-NONCURRENT M Foreign Currency Transla 1082.08 CURRENT OPERATING PERI Net Income Determinatio CURRENT PURCHASE PRICI Definition

AICPA Professional Standards

 Degree of Collectability 4020.01; 4 Measuring Revenue and Expenses 	311.23
Measuring Revenue and Expenses [M-1F(1)]	027.07
OST REDUCTION Investment Credit 4094.03; 4094.0	
	.10
OUNCIL OF THE INSTITUTE Accounting Standards Executive Committee	100.09
Financial Accounting Standards	510.08
. Rule 203—Accounting Principles	01—.07
REDIT STANDING Interest Rates on Notes4 Refinancing Short-Term Obligations	033.22
REDITORS	
Debt Arrangements in Bankruptcy 4111-1.(Decisions on Credit	01-05
Decisions on Credit	024.10
.02; 5	352.11
. Need for Financial Information1(1 . Price-Level Statements1	AAE 1A
Price-Level Statements	033.04; 23—.29
Use of Financial Information10	023.05; 01—.02
REDITS AGAINST TAX . Investment Credit	1—.22
UMULATIVE PREFERRED DIVIDENDS	
. Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.1819; 5	
. Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.1819; 5	
Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.18—.19; 5 URRENCY RESTRICTIONS Foreign Operations	
Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.18—.19; 5 URRENCY RESTRICTIONS Foreign Operations	02—.03 095.08
Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.18—.19; 5 URRENCY RESTRICTIONS Foreign Operations	02—.03 095.08
Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.18—.19; 5 URRENCY RESTRICTIONS Foreign Operations	02—.03 095.08 031.09 031.04 031.02:
Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.18—.19; 5 URRENCY RESTRICTIONS Foreign Operations	02—.03 095.08 031.09 031.04 031.02; 033.23 033.09
Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.18—.19; 5 URRENCY RESTRICTIONS Foreign Operations	02—.03 095.08 031.09 031.04 031.02; 033.23 033.09
Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.18—.19; 5 URRENCY RESTRICTIONS Foreign Operations	02—.03 095.08 031.09 031.04 031.02; 033.23 033.09 081.14; 082.06
Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.18—.19; 5 URRENCY RESTRICTIONS Foreign Operations	02—.03 .095.08 .031.09 .031.04 .031.02; .033.03 .033.09 .081.14; .082.06 .21—.30 .133.20;
Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.18—.19; 5 URRENCY RESTRICTIONS Foreign Operations	02—.03 .095.08 .031.09 .031.04 .033.23 .033.23 .033.20 .033.20 .033.20 .033.20 .033.20 .033.20
Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.18—.19; 5 URRENCY RESTRICTIONS Foreign Operations	02—03 095.08 031.09 031.04 031.02; 033.23 033.09 081.14; 082.06 082.06 021—30 033.20; 033.23 033.20 033.20 033.23 033.20 033.20 033.20 033.23 033.20 033.23 033.20 033.23 033.25 033.23 033.25 033.55 035.55 035.
Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.18—.19; 5 URRENCY RESTRICTIONS Foreign Operations 1081.0 Remittances from Subsidiaries 4 URRENT ASSETS 2 Definition 1027.25; 2 Relation to Operating Cycle 2033.20; 2 Resources Excluded 2031.06; 2 Translation, Foreign Currencies 11 URRENT LIABILITIES Classification 1027.25; 2031.07—.08; 20 Disclosure Requirement 2033.15; 2 2 Examples of Refinancing 2033.20; 2 2 Translation, Foreign Currencies 11 URRENT LIABILITIES 2033.08—.09; 2033.2; 2 Disclosure Requirement 2031.15; 2 Examples of Refinancing 2033.3; 2 Translation, Foreign Currencies 10 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	02—03 095.08 031.09 031.04 031.02; 033.23 033.09 081.14; 082.06 082.06 021—30 033.20; 033.23 033.20 033.20 033.23 033.20 033.20 033.20 033.23 033.20 033.23 033.20 033.23 033.25 033.23 033.25 033.55 035.55 035.
Arrearages	02—.03 095.08 031.09 031.04 033.02; 033.23 033.20; 035.20; 055.20; 055.20; 055.20; 055.20; 055.20; 055.20; 055.20; 055.20; 055.20; 055.20; 055.20; 055.20;
Arrearages	22—03 09508 03109 03104 03102; 03323 03309 08114; 08206 21—30 03320; 03323 03320; 03320 32—50 33.01— 50 081.17; 082.06 2—18; 082.27
Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.18—.19; 5 URRENCY RESTRICTIONS Foreign Operations	02—.03 095.08 031.09 031.04 031.02; 033.23 033.20; 035.20; 055.20; 055.20; 055.20; 055.20; 055.20;
Arrearages 2011A.05; 4311.18—.19; 5 URRENCY RESTRICTIONS Foreign Operations 1081.0 Remittances from Subsidiaries 4 URRENT ASSETS 2 Definition 1027.25; 2 Relation to Operating Cycle 2033.20; 2 Resources Excluded 2031.06; 2 Translation, Foreign Currencies 11 URRENT LIABILITIES 2033.08—.09; 2033.2 Classification 1027.25; 2031.07—.08; 20 Definition 1027.25; 2031.07—.08; 20 Disclosure Requirement 2033.28; 2 Examples of Refinancing 2033.32; 2 Refinancing on Long-Term Basis 2033.3; 2 Translation, Foreign Currencies 10 URRENT-NONCURRENT METHOD 1082.04; 1 URRENT-NONCURRENT METHOD 1082.04; 1082.24; 1 URRENT OPERATING PERFORMANCE Net Income Determination 2010.05	22—.03 095.08 031.09 031.04 031.02; 033.23 033.20; 033.23 033.20; 033.23 033.20; 033.23 033.20; 033.20; 033.23 033.20; 033.23 033.20; 033.23 033.20; 033.23 033.20; 033.23 033.24; 033.23; 033.24; 034.24; 034.24; 035.24;

CURRENT RATES

- Definition
 1082.05

 Disclosure Standards
 1082.06; 1082.24

 Monetary-Nonmonetary Method
 1082.10–.12

CUR

15,218

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

CURRENT SELLING PRICE
Definition
CURRENT VALUE . Exchange of Nonmonetary Assets 1041.18
General v. Specific Prices
Not Reflected in Statements 1022.27
Not Reflected in Statements 1022.27 Price-Level Statements 1071.05; 1071.48
CUSTOMER LISTS
Acquired in Business Combinations
CUSTOMERS
. Burden of Irregular Costs 4311.81; 4311.87;
4311.94
. Classification as Segment
. Use of Financial Information 1023.05
CUSTOMS, TRADE
Inventories at Net Selling Prices 4010.01
DAMAGE . Measurement (M-5D)
Monetary Transactions
Monetary Transactions
4311.85—.88
4311.85—.88 When Recorded
. When Recorded (S-5D) 1027.09
DAMAGED GOODS
. Inventory Pricing
DEALER—See Manufacturer or Dealer
DEATH
. Employees, Pension Plans
DEATH RATE—See Mortality Rate
DEBT. CONVERTIBLE—See Convertible
Debt
DEBT DISCOUNT
Debt with Warrants
Debt with Warrants .5516.1315 Early Extinguishment .5362.0122 Financial Statement Presentation .411.03; 4111.15; 4111.403
Debt with Warrants
 Debt with Warrants
Debt with Warrants 5516.1315 Early Extinguishment 5362.0122 Financial Statement Presentation 4111.03 Gains/Losses from Extinguishment 2013.0117 Interest Method of Amortization 5361.01- Onterest Method of Amortization 5361.01- Notes Issued in Bankruptcy 4111.03 Operation 6361.01- Notes Issued in Bankruptcy 4111.0105 Present Value Concepts 4111.0105 Debt EXTINGUISHMENT—See 5266.1118 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.1118 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.13 Date Effective 5516.1118 Allocation of Proceeds 5516.13 Date Effective 5516.1115 Discount on Debt 5516.1315 Discount on Debt 5516.1315 Exercise of Warrants 5516.12 Statinguishment of Debt 2013.04 Fair Value 5516.13 Financing, Debt 5516.13 Paice of Warrants 5516.13 Proceeds 5516.13 Prior Period Adjustments 5516.13 Proce
 Debt with Warrants

DEBT ISSUED WITH STOCK PURCHASE WARRANTScontinued Separability of Elements Stock Issue for Warrants Stockholders' Approval Surrender of Debt Security Types of Debt Securities Warrants Not Detachable Warrants Of Debt
DEBT RETIREMENT—See Retirement of Debt
DEBT SECURITIES —See Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants
DECISIONS, ECONOMIC—See Economic Decisions
DECLINING-BALANCE DEPRECIATION 4074.0108 Accumulative Differences, Taxable/Financial Income 4074.05 Allocation of Cost 4074.02 Change to Declining-Balance Method 4074.03 Change to Straight Line Method 1051.09 Deferred Income Taxes 4074.0405 Disclosure Requirements, Regulated Industries Industries 4074.07 History of Use 4074.01 DEDUCTIONS Compensation, Employee Stock Plans 4062.16 Taxable Income, Definition 4091.056 Permanent Differences U4091.048055
DEFENSE CONTRACTS
DEFENSE CONTRACTS Accrual for Uninsured Losses 4311.88 Offsetting Securities against Taxes Payable
. Investment Credit 4094.1011; 4094.19; U4091.107; U4094.008010
DEFERRALS 4091.13 Accounting for Income Taxes 4091.13 Catastrophe Reserves 4311.41-42; 4311.90-101 4311.90-101 Exchange Adjustments 1082.06; 1082.12; 1082.27-29 Interim Period Costs 2071.15-17
. Monetary Gain
Assumed in Business Combinations
. 1091.88 . Timing Differences 4091A.03
DEFERRED COMPENSATION CONTRACTS 4064.0103 Amount to Accrue 4064.01 Employee Stock Options U2011.274283 Equivalent to Options/Warrants U2011.162 Equivalent to Pension Plans
Period of Accrual

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

-		
	Definition	4063B.16
	Pooling of Interests	

⁽ Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

DEFERRED COSTS
Debt Issue Costs
2062.10; 2062.30—.33; 2062.36—.39; 2062.49—.50 Estimation of Periods Benefited1051.10—
.11
. Identifiable Intangible Assets
. Matching Principle
DEFERRED METHOD Compared to Alternatives 4091.18—.20; U4091.024—.033
Interperiod Tax Allocation
. Procedures
. Tax Effects, Current Timing Differences
DEFERRED PROFIT-SHARING PLAN . Definition
DEFERRED TAX CHARGES
Balance Sheet Presentation 4091.56; U4091.124—.126
Defined as Assets
Example
U4091.095—.097 Principles Governing
Principles Governing
DEFERRED TAX CREDITS Balance Sheet Presentation 4091.56;
U4091.124126
Defined as Liabilities
. Operating Loss Carrybacks U4091.074-
Operating Loss Carryforwards 4091.47:
U4091.088—.094 . Principles Governing
Accounting Change Adjustment 1051.22
Accounting Change Adjustment 1051.22 Acquiring Company
.097 Classification in Balance Sheets 4091.53;
4091.55—.58; U4091.124—.126 . Compensation, Employee Stock
106217
Declining-Balance Method 4074.0405
Computation
U4091.014; U4091.141—.142 Domestic International Sales
Corporation
Equity Method
Equity
.070; U4091.094
. Intercompany Profits
. Investment Credits, Effects 04091.109—
.114; U4094.018 Joint Ventures, Corporate 4095.15—.18
Life Insurance Companies 4095.26-30 Operating Loss Carryforwards
U4091.088—.097 . Recognition, Regulatory
Authorities
. Savings and Loan Associations 4095.19—
25 Special Areas

DEFERRED TAXES—continued . Undistributed Earnings of DEFINED-BENEFIT PLANS DEFINED-CONTRIBUTION PLANS . Contribution Equivalent to Pension DEFINITIONS OF TERMS-See Terminology DEFLATION . Effects on Business Enterprise 1071.13; 1071.48 . Increase in Purchasing Power 1071.07; 1071.17 DEMAND BANK DEPOSITS

DEPARTURES FROM ESTABLISHED PRINCIPIES

. E	xamples Justifying Departures 520.05
. F	ASB Interpretations
. I	nterpretation of Rule 203 520.02-05
. F	Rule 203—Accounting Principles 520.01;
	1026.04

DEPLETION

Change in Method10	051.22—.24
Excess, Statutory over Cost	
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	U4091.051
Inventory Costs	. 1051-1.03
Percentage, Tax Effects	
Systematic and Rational Allocation	

(М-6В) 1027.10

DEPOSIT ADMINISTRATION

CONTRACTS
Accrued Benefit Cost Method 4063A.14
Aggregate Method
Attained Age Normal Method 4063A.33
. Definition
. Entry Age Normal Method 4063A.21
. Individual Level Premium Method
. Insured Pension Plans
. Separate Fund
DEPOSITS

. Insurance Premiums as Deposits .

4311.44-.45 . Interest on Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001-.002

DEPRECIABLE ASSETS

DEPRECIABLE ASSETS
. Change in Depreciation Method 1051.09;
1051.22—24; 1051.32; 1051A.01—.04; 2072.17—
.21
. Changes in Remaining Lives
. Classes Defined
. Disclosure in Financial Statements
. Estimation
Service Lives 1051.10; 1051.3233; 4311.28
Uncertainty
. Excluded from Inventories 5121.03
. Guidelines and Rules
. Held for Sale
. Inflationary Effects
. Investment Credit
. Research and Development Costs
. Translation, Foreign Currencies 1081.12;
1082.09; 1082.27

15,220

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

DEPRECIATION Accelerated 1026.32; 1051A.0104; U2045.002 Appraisal Values 4071.0708 Appreciated Property 4072.01 Change in Method 1051.09; 1051.2224; 1051.32; 2072.1721 Consolidation, Foreign Subsidiaries 1091.12	C
1081.13 Declining-Balance Method 015closure in Financial Statements 2043.01-02 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.13 Emergency Facilities	D
Agreement with Income Tax Returns	
Replacement, Older Facilities 4073.06 Useful Lives 4073.06	
4311.79 . Research and Development Costs 	
Straight-Line	
. Systematic and Rational Allocation (M-6B)	
.070; U4091.134 Translation, Foreign Currencies 1082.27 Useful Life Less Than Normal 4071.09	
DEPRECIATION GUIDELINES 4093.01-07 Adoption of Guideline Lives 4093.05-06 Bulletin F 4093.02 Life Adjustment Tables 4093.02 Purposes 4093.02 Regulated Industries 4093.03 Revenue Procedure 62-21 4093.03 Tax-Effect Accounting 4093.05-06 Useful Lives 4093.02-03	
DESIGN Research and Development Activity	
DETACHABLE WARRANTS—See Stock Purchase Warrants	
DETAILED PRINCIPLES	
Definition 1022.22; 1028.01 Division of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Accounting Principles 1022.19; 1026.05 Modifying Conventions 1026.34 Reasons for Omission 1028.02 Relation to Broad Operating Principles Principles 1022.21; 1026.06; 1027.01 Sources 1028.0405	
DETERIORATION Inventory Pricing	
DEVALUATIONS—See Foreign Exchange	

DEVELOPMENT

DE	EVELOPMENT	
•	Computer Software 4211-3.06-	09
	Computer Software	1.08
÷.	Definition by NSE 5421	126
	Development Stage Enterprises 206 Extractive Industries 2062.06; 206	2.35
	Extractive Industries	2.28
	New Products	- 40
·	Process Defined 4211-	3 04
nİF	VELOPMENT STACE ENTERPRISES	3.04
	Activities, Typical	2 00
•	Alternative Practices 2062.10; 2062.34	2.09
•		
•	Applicability of FASB Statement 2062.	
		.06
	Background Information 2062.03; 2062.	17—
		- 21
	Basis for Conclusions	55
	Cash Basis Accounting 2062 02: 206	2 47
÷	Cash Flow 206	2 49
	Changes Accounting 2062 14 16:206	2 55
•	Cash Basis Accounting	201.
·	2062.11; 206	2 24
	2002.11, 200 0000 11, 2000 50	2.24
•	Common Stock	34
٠	Comparability 2062.38; 2062.42; 206	2.55
·	Comparative Financial Statements	
		16
	Consideration for Stock Issued 2062	2.02;
	206	2.11
	Deferral v. Expense 2062.30	49
		-50
	Definition	- 00
•	Development	2.25
•		
·	Disclosure in Financial Statements	47
	Disclosure in Financial Statements 2062.10–.16; 2062.29; 2062.38; 2062.42- Discussion Memorandum 2062.18–	4/
٠	Discussion Memorandum 2062.18– 2062.24–.26; 2062.40–.41; 2062.44; 2062	20;
	2062.24—.26; 2062.40—.41; 2062.44; 2062	2.46;
	2062.49; 206	2.54
	Dormant Enterprise Reactivated 206	2.11
	Earnings Per Share	2.16
	Dormant Enterprise Reactivated 206 Earnings Per Share	48
	Effective Date 2062 14-16:206	2 55
·	Effective Date	2.55
:	Effective Date	2.55
•	Effective Date	2.55 2.13; 2.42
		2.55
		2.55
	Expansion of Business 2002.06; 2002 2062.30- Expenses	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33
	Expansion of Business 2002.06; 2002 2062.30- Expenses	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33
· · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- Expenses 2062.30- Exploration 206 2062 Export and the second se	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41
	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- Expenses 2062.30- Exploration 206 2062 Export and the second se	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41
· · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.00; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Expenses 2062.30- Exploration 2062.40- 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.48- 2062.49- 2062.49; 2062.48- 2062.21 Exprove Draft 2062.46; 2062.48- 2062.49; 2062.48- 2062.26 Exprove Draft 2062.46 2062.48- 2062.26	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 - 28
· · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.00; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Expenses 2062.30- Exploration 2062.40- 2062.44; 2062.44; 2062.44; 2062.48- 2062.49- Explorative Industries 2062.24 Explorative Industries 2062.24	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 - 28
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Exploration 206 Description 2062.21; 2062.40- 2062.24; 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.48- 49; 206 Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 2062.25-	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Exploration 206 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.48- 49; 206 Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Fair Presentation 206	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16
· · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Exploration 206 2062.44; 2062.45; 2062.48- 49; 206 Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Fair Presentation 206 2062.10- 100 Construction 206	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16 2.45
· · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Exploration 206 2062.44; 2062.45; 2062.48- 49; 206 Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Fair Presentation 206 2062.10- 100 Construction 206	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16 2.45
· · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Exploration 206 2062.44; 2062.45; 2062.48- 49; 206 Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Fair Presentation 206 2062.10- 100 Construction 206	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16 2.45
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Exploration 206 2062.44; 2062.45; 2062.48- 49; 206 Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Fair Presentation 206 2062.10- 100 Construction 206	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16 2.45
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Exploration 206 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.40- 2062.44- 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.46- 2062.25- Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Financial Statement Presentation 2062.1016; 2062.42- Financial Statements	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16 2.45 47 2.33; 49 51
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Exploration 206 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.40- 2062.44- 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.46- 2062.25- Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Financial Statement Presentation 2062.1016; 2062.42- Financial Statements	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16 2.45 47 2.33; 49 51
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Export of Display and the second sec	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16 2.45 47 2.33; 49 51
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Exploration 206 2062.44; 2062.45; 2062.40- 2062.24- 2062.24; 2062.44; 2062.44- 2062.24- 2062.24; 2062.44; 2062.44- 2062.25- Extractive Industries 206 Fiar Presentation 206 2062.1016; 2062.42- 2062.2324; 2062 Financial Statements 2062.35; 2062.42- 2062.35; 2062.42- 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing 2062.4344; 2062.48- Fical Periods 206 2062.23-24; 2062 2062.35; 2062.42- Conscilancial Statements 2062.35; 2062.42- Statements 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing 2062.43-44; 2062.48- Fiscal Periods 206 General and Administrative 206	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16 2.45 47 2.33; 49 51 2.43 2.47
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Exploration 206 2062.44; 2062.45; 2062.40- 2062.24- 2062.24; 2062.44; 2062.44- 2062.24- 2062.24; 2062.44; 2062.44- 2062.25- Extractive Industries 206 Fiar Presentation 206 2062.1016; 2062.42- 2062.2324; 2062 Financial Statements 2062.35; 2062.42- 2062.35; 2062.42- 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing 2062.4344; 2062.48- Fical Periods 206 2062.23-24; 2062 2062.35; 2062.42- Conscilancial Statements 2062.35; 2062.42- Statements 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing 2062.43-44; 2062.48- Fiscal Periods 206 General and Administrative 206	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16 2.45 47 2.33; 49 51 2.43 2.47
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Export of Discrete Advisorial and Administrative 2062 Exposure Draft 2062.21; 2062.40- 2062.244; 2062.46; 2062.48- 49; 206 Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 2066 Fair Presentation 206 2062.1016; 2062.42- 2062.35- Financial Statement Presentation 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing 2062.43- 2062.43- 2062.44; 2062.48- Fiscal Periods 2062.35- General and Administrative 2066 Expenses 206 General Naccepted Accounting 206	2:55 2:13; 2:42 2:23; 31 33 2:35 2:42 2:42 2:43 2:35 41; 2:45 47 2:33; 49 51 2:43 2:47 2:35
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Export of Discrete Advisorial and Administrative 2062 Exposure Draft 2062.21; 2062.40- 2062.244; 2062.46; 2062.48- 49; 206 Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 2066 Fair Presentation 206 2062.1016; 2062.42- 2062.35- Financial Statement Presentation 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing 2062.43- 2062.43- 2062.44; 2062.48- Fiscal Periods 2062.35- General and Administrative 2066 Expenses 206 General Naccepted Accounting 206	2:55 2:13; 2:42 2:23; 31 33 2:35 2:42 2:42 2:43 2:35 41; 2:45 47 2:33; 49 51 2:43 2:47 2:35
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Export Draft 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.26; 2062 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.4849; 206 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Fair Presentation 206 Presentation 2062.30- Financial Statements 2062.2324; 2062.42- Financing 2062.3344; 2062.42- Financing 2062.4344; 2062.43- Financing 2062.4344; 2062.44- Financing 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing 2062.3344; 2062.48- Fire sentation 2066 General and Administrative 2066 Expenses 206 Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Principles 2062.3034; 2062.30- 2062.3034; 2062.3039; 2062.42; 2062.43-	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16 2.45 47 2.33; 51 2.43 2.47 2.35 2.43 2.47 2.35 2.47 2.35
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Export Draft 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.26; 2062 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.4849; 206 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Fair Presentation 206 Presentation 2062.30- Financial Statements 2062.2324; 2062.42- Financing 2062.3344; 2062.42- Financing 2062.4344; 2062.43- Financing 2062.4344; 2062.44- Financing 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing 2062.3344; 2062.48- Fire sentation 2066 General and Administrative 2066 Expenses 206 Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Principles 2062.3034; 2062.30- 2062.3034; 2062.3039; 2062.42; 2062.43-	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16 2.45 47 2.33; 51 2.43 2.47 2.35 2.43 2.47 2.35 2.47 2.35
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Export Draft 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.26; 2062 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.4849; 206 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Fair Presentation 206 Presentation 2062.30- Financial Statements 2062.2324; 2062.42- Financing 2062.3344; 2062.42- Financing 2062.4344; 2062.43- Financing 2062.4344; 2062.44- Financing 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing 2062.3344; 2062.48- Fire sentation 2066 General and Administrative 2066 Expenses 206 Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Principles 2062.3034; 2062.30- 2062.3034; 2062.3039; 2062.42; 2062.43-	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16 2.45 47 2.33; 51 2.43 2.47 2.35 2.43 2.47 2.35 2.47 2.35
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Export Draft 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.26; 2062 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.4849; 206 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Fair Presentation 206 Presentation 2062.30- Financial Statements 2062.2324; 2062.42- Financing 2062.3344; 2062.42- Financing 2062.4344; 2062.43- Financing 2062.4344; 2062.44- Financing 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing 2062.3344; 2062.48- Fire sentation 2066 General and Administrative 2066 Expenses 206 Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Principles 2062.3034; 2062.30- 2062.3034; 2062.3039; 2062.42; 2062.43-	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 28 2.16 2.45 47 2.33; 51 2.43 2.47 2.35 2.43 2.47 2.35 2.47 2.35
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Exporation 206 2062.25- 2062.26- Exposure Draft 2062.26- 2062.24; 2062.46; 2062.48- 49; 206 Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Fair Presentation 2062.30- 2010-16; 2062.42- 2062.43- Prinancial Statements 2062.23- 2062.35; 2062.42- 2062.44; 2062.48- Financial Statements 2062.26- 2062.35; 2062.42- 2062.35- Financial Statements 2062.26- 2062.35; 2062.42- 2062.44; 2062.48- Financing 2062.43- 44; 2062.48- Fiscal Periods 206 2066 General and Administrative 2062 2062 Expenses 2062.30- 39; 2062.42; 2062.48- Guidelines and Rules 2062.08- 09; 2062 2062.30- 39; 2062.42; 2062.48- 2062.08- Guidelines and Rules 2062.08- 09; 206	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 41; 2.54 2.16 2.45 47 2.33; 49 2.43 2.47 2.35 2.47 2.35 2.47 2.35 2.47 2.35 2.43 2.47 2.35 2.43 2.43 2.47 2.35 2.43 2.45 2.45 2.45 2.45 2.45 2.45 2.45 2.45
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Export of Discrete Presentation 2062.20; 2062.20; 2062.30- 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.20; 2062.40; 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.48- 49; 206 Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Financial Statement Presentation 2062.30- 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing Financing 2062.23- 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing Fiscal Periods 2062.35- General and Administrative 2062.02- Expenses 2062.02- 2062.30- 34; 2062.38- 2062.30- 34; 2062.08- 2062.30- 34; 2062.08- 2062.02- 09; 2062.02- Cuidelines and Rules 2062.02- 2062.30- 34; 2062.08- 2062.02- 09; 2062.02- Expenses 2062.02- Cuidelines and Rules 2062.02- Cuidelines and Pulse 2062.02- Cuidelines and Pul	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 2.35 41; 2.54 2.45 2.45 2.45 2.47 2.33; 47 2.33; 49 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.45 2.47 2.45 2.47 2.45 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Export of Discrete Presentation 2062.20; 2062.20; 2062.30- 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.20; 2062.40; 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.48- 49; 206 Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Financial Statement Presentation 2062.30- 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing Financing 2062.23- 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing Fiscal Periods 2062.35- General and Administrative 2062.02- Expenses 2062.02- 2062.30- 34; 2062.38- 2062.30- 34; 2062.08- 2062.30- 34; 2062.08- 2062.02- 09; 2062.02- Cuidelines and Rules 2062.02- 2062.30- 34; 2062.08- 2062.02- 09; 2062.02- Expenses 2062.02- Cuidelines and Rules 2062.02- Cuidelines and Pulse 2062.02- Cuidelines and Pul	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 2.35 41; 2.54 2.45 2.45 2.45 2.47 2.33; 47 2.33; 49 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.45 2.47 2.45 2.47 2.45 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Export of Discrete Presentation 2062.20; 2062.20; 2062.30- 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.20; 2062.40; 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.48- 49; 206 Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 206 Fair Presentation 206 Presentation 2062.10- 16; 2062.42- Financial Statement Presentation 2062.35; 2062.42- 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing 2062.23- 2062.35; 2062.42- 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing 2062.35- Coecasts 206 General and Administrative 2062 Expenses 2062.02- 2062.30- 34; 2062.38- 39; 2062.42; 2062.48- Guidelines and Rules 2062.02- 2062.02- 2062.30- 34; 2062.38- 39; 2062.42; 2062.48- Guidelines and Rules 2062.08- 09; 206 Historical Background 2062 2062.02- Historical	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 2.35 41; 2.54 2.45 2.45 2.45 2.47 2.33; 47 2.33; 49 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.45 2.47 2.45 2.47 2.45 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- Export 1 Export 1 2062.30- Export 1 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.30- 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.48- 49; 2062 Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 2062.10- Fair Presentation 2062.10- 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	2.55 2.13; 2.42 2.23; 31 33 2.35 2.47 2.54 2.54 2.54 2.54 2.47 2.33; 47 2.33 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.49 2.54 2.47 2.54 2.47 2.54 2.47 2.54 2.47 2.54 2.47 2.54 2.47 2.55 2.49 2.54 2.54 2.54 2.54 2.54 2.54 2.55 2.55
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- 2062.30- Export of Distribution 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.21; 2062.40- 2062.244; 2062.46; 2062.4849; 206 2062.25- Extractive Industries 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 2066 Fair Presentation 206 2062.3016; 2062.42- 2062.35- Financial Statement Presentation 2062.35; 2062.42- Financing 2062.4344; 2062.48- Fiscal Periods 2062.35; 2062.42- Forecasts 206 General and Administrative 2062.3033; 2062.06; 2062 Expenses 2062.3033; 2062.04; 2062.48- Guidelines and Rules 2062.0809; 2062.14- Historical Background 2062.14- Identifiability 2062.0809; 2062.12, 206- Income Taxes 2062.04-2062.10; 206- Investees 2062.04-2062.11; 206-	2.55 2.13; 2.23; 2.23; 2.23; 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.41; 2.35 2.42; 2.45 2.45 2.46 2.47 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.47 2.43 2.44 2.24 2.29 2.24 2.29 2.216 2.229 2.216 2.229 2.216 2.229 2.216 2.229 2.216 2.229 2.216 2.235 2.216 2.217 2.235 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.3
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- Export 1 Exposure Draft 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.26- 2062.44; 2062.45; 2062.4849; 206 2062.25- Extractive Industries .2062.26- Extractive Industries .2062.27- Extractive Industries .2062.27- Extractive Industries .2062.26- Financial Statement Presentation .2062.27- 2062.35; 2062.42- .2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.2324; 2062.48- Fiscal Periods .206 Forecasts .206 General and Administrative .2062.0603; 2062.06; 2062 Expenses .2062.0809; 2062.06; 2062 2062.3034; 2062.3839; 2062.42; 2062.48- .2062.0809; 2062.12; 2062 Historical Background .2062.0809; 2062.12; 206 Historical Summaries .2062.042062.02 Investees .2062.042062.042062.02 Investors .2062.042062.02 Losses .2062.042062.11; 206 Measurement of Performance .2062.042062.12 <td>2:55 2:13:: 2:42 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:54 -2:16 2:45 -47 2:45 -49 -51 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:47 2:35 2:47 2:35 2:42 2:42 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:45 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:45 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:</td>	2:55 2:13:: 2:42 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:54 -2:16 2:45 -47 2:45 -49 -51 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:47 2:35 2:47 2:35 2:42 2:42 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:45 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:45 2:42 2:35 -41:: 2:42 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:45 2:
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06, 2062 2062.30- Exportation 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.48-, 49; 206 2062.25- Extractive Industries 2062.26- 2062.25- Extraordinary Items 2062.10-, 16; 2062.42- 5062.10-, 16; 2062.42- Financial Statement Presentation 2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.23-, 24; 2062 Fiscal Periods .206 General and Administrative .2062.06-, 2062.06-, 2062 Expenses .2062.08-, 09; 2062.10-, 2062.06-, 2062 Generally Accepted Accounting .2062.14-, 2062.08-, 09; 2062.14-, 1062 Guidelines and Rules .2062.08-, 09; 2061.14-, 106-, 116-, 106-,	2.55 2.13: 2.242 2.23; 2.42; 2.23; 2.45 2.35 2.41; 2.35 2.41; 2.35 2.41; 2.35 2.41; 2.35 2.42 2.35 2.42 2.43 2.44 2.44 2.15 2.29 2.16 2.24 2.24 2.23 2.42 2.35 2.42; 2.42; 2.35 2.44; 2.42; 2.45 2.44; 2.45 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.45; 2.44; 2.4
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- Export 1 Exposure Draft 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.26- 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.48- .49; 206 Extractive Industries .2062.25- Extractive Industries .2062.10- Fair Presentation .206 .2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.35; 2062.42- .2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.23- .2062.35; 2062.42- .2062.35; 2062.42- Financing .2062.04- Afficial Periods .206 General and Administrative .2062.02- Expenses .2062.02- .2062.30- .34; 2062.48- Guidelines and Rules .2062.08- .2062.08- .9; 2062.12; 206 Historical Background .206 Investees .2062.04- .2062.04; 2062.10; 206 .2062.04 Investees .2062.04 .2062.04; 2062.11; 206 .2062.04 Investees .2062.04 .2062.04; 2062.11; 206 .2062.11; 206 Inv	2.55 2.13: 2.32 2.42 2.23 2.35 2.41: 2.35 2.41: 2.35 2.42 2.42 2.35 2.42 2.42 2.35 2.42 2.42 2.35 2.42 2.42 2.42 2.42 2.35 2.42 2.45 2.43 2.47 2.42 2.42 2.42 2.44 2.43 2.44 2.43 2.44 2.44 2.44 2.54 2.44 2.25 2.42 2.25 2.42 2.42 2.42 2.44 2.43 2.44 2.4
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- Export 1 Exposure Draft 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.44; 2062.45; 2062.4849; 2062 Extractive Industries .2062.25- Extractive Industries .2062.26- Extractive Industries .2062.27- Extractive Industries .2062.26- Extractive Industries .2062.27- Extraordinary Items .2062.1016; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.0324; 2062.48- Fiscal Periods .206 General and Administrative Expenses Expenses .2062.0603; 2062.06; 2062 2062.3034; 2062.3839; 2062.42; 2062.48- 2062.0809; 2062.12; 2062.44- Guidelines and Rules .2062.0809; 2062.12; 2062.48- Guidelines and Rules .2062.0409; 2062.12; 2062. Investees .2062.0409; 2062.12; 2062. Investees .2062.0409; 2062.12; 2062. Investees .2062.0409; 2062.12; 2062. Inve	2.55; 2.13; 31; 31; 33; 41; 2.35; 42; 2.42; 2.35; 44; 2.16; 2.42; 2.44; 2.44; 2.24; 2.
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- Export 1 Exposure Draft 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.44; 2062.45; 2062.4849; 2062 Extractive Industries .2062.25- Extractive Industries .2062.26- Extractive Industries .2062.27- Extractive Industries .2062.26- Extractive Industries .2062.27- Extraordinary Items .2062.1016; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.0324; 2062.48- Fiscal Periods .206 General and Administrative Expenses Expenses .2062.0603; 2062.06; 2062 2062.3034; 2062.3839; 2062.42; 2062.48- 2062.0809; 2062.12; 2062.44- Guidelines and Rules .2062.0809; 2062.12; 2062.48- Guidelines and Rules .2062.0409; 2062.12; 2062. Investees .2062.0409; 2062.12; 2062. Investees .2062.0409; 2062.12; 2062. Investees .2062.0409; 2062.12; 2062. Inve	2.55; 2.13; 31; 31; 33; 41; 2.35; 42; 2.42; 2.35; 44; 2.16; 2.42; 2.44; 2.44; 2.24; 2.
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- Export 1 Exposure Draft 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.44; 2062.45; 2062.4849; 2062 Extractive Industries .2062.25- Extractive Industries .2062.26- Extractive Industries .2062.27- Extractive Industries .2062.26- Extractive Industries .2062.27- Extraordinary Items .2062.1016; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.0324; 2062.48- Fiscal Periods .206 General and Administrative Expenses Expenses .2062.0603; 2062.06; 2062 2062.3034; 2062.3839; 2062.42; 2062.48- 2062.0809; 2062.12; 2062.44- Guidelines and Rules .2062.0809; 2062.12; 2062.48- Guidelines and Rules .2062.0409; 2062.12; 2062. Investees .2062.0409; 2062.12; 2062. Investees .2062.0409; 2062.12; 2062. Investees .2062.0409; 2062.12; 2062. Inve	2.55; 2.13; 31; 31; 33; 41; 2.35; 42; 2.42; 2.35; 44; 2.16; 2.42; 2.44; 2.44; 2.24; 2.
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Expansion of Business 2062.06; 2062 2062.30- Export 1 Exposure Draft 2062.30- Exposure Draft 2062.26- 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.48- .49; 206 Extractive Industries .2062.25- Extractive Industries .2062.10- Fair Presentation .206 .2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.35; 2062.42- .2062.35; 2062.42- Financial Statements .2062.23- .2062.35; 2062.42- .2062.35; 2062.42- Financing .2062.04- Afficial Periods .206 General and Administrative .2062.02- Expenses .2062.02- .2062.30- .34; 2062.48- Guidelines and Rules .2062.08- .2062.08- .9; 2062.12; 206 Historical Background .206 Investees .2062.04- .2062.04; 2062.10; 206 .2062.04 Investees .2062.04 .2062.04; 2062.11; 206 .2062.04 Investees .2062.04 .2062.04; 2062.11; 206 .2062.11; 206 Inv	2.55; 2.13; 31; 31; 33; 41; 2.35; 42; 2.42; 2.35; 44; 2.16; 2.42; 2.44; 2.44; 2.24; 2.

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISES
continued Public Hearing
Research Effort
. Rights and Obligations
. SEC Regulations
Similar Costs
Start-up Costs 2062.09; 2062.24; 2062.41 Statements of Income 2062.15 Stock Purchase Warrants 2062.01 Subsidiaries 2062.04; 2062.2324 Time Periods 2062.43 Transition Requirements 2062.01; 2062.042062.05
. 16; 2062.55 . Uncertainties 2062.31–.32; 2062.37–.38; 2062.45
. Unincorporated Businesses
DIFFERENCES, TIMING—See Timing Differences DiluTION
. Assumptions
. Increased Earnings Per Share 2011.103–104 U2011.016; U2011.058–060; 2012.09 . Maximum
Options
 Primary Earnings Per Share
. Two-Class v. If Converted U2011.304—307 . Warrants 2011.35—38; U2011.171—.174; U2011.231—.235; U2011.271—.273
DIRECTORS Approval, Convertible Securities 2011.29; U2011.117120
. Approval, Debt Issue
DISABILITY Employees, Pension Plans
. Relation to Contingencies
DISCLOSURE IN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS . Accelerated Depreciation Methods
Accounting Policies—See Policies, Accounting Adequate Disclosure Defined1024.34 Allowances
. Allowances

DISCLOSURE IN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-continued . Amounts Available for Distribution . Arrears, Cumulative Preferred Dividends 2011A.05; 5515.02 . Change in Stockholders' Equity Change to Declining-Balance Commitments to Complete Construction Type Contracts 2045.13; 4031.15 Contingencies 4311.09-.13; 4311.17-.19; 4311.103 Declining-Balance Method . Regulated Industries 4074.08 Deferred Taxes, Classification 4091.56– .58; U4091.124–.126 2043.01—.02 Depreciable Assets Depreciation 2043.01-02; 2045.13 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.05; 2062.10-...16; 2062.29; 2062.38; 2062.42-..47 Differences in Circumstances 1024.32 Differences in Classification . 2012.27 Discontinued Operations 2012.08-.09; 2012.18 Discount or Premium on Notes . 4111.03: 4111.15; 4111A.03 Future APB Pronouncement 2061.13 Earnings per Share Captions Suggested U2011.097-.100 . . U2011.351 Simple Capital Structure Equity in Leased Property 5351.09-.12 Extraordinary v. Ordinary Items 2010.16 Financing and Investing Activities . 2021.08--.15 2051.05 . Fiscal Period Differences Foreign Assets 1081.06; 1082.15; 2045.13 Foreign Earnings . . . 1081.05 Foreign Operations 1081.08; 1082.15 Fourth Quarter Reports 2071.31; 2072.08; 2072.14

AICPA Professional Standards

DISCLOSURE IN FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS—continued
Franchising Operations
Gain Contingencies 4311 17
Gains or Losses
Historical Summaries 1051 39
. Historical Summaries
114091 115-127
Joint Ventures, Corporate 4095.18
. Joint Ventures, Corporate
. Savings and Loan Associations
4095.2425
. Undistributed Earnings of
Subsidiaries
Industry Practice
Infrequent Events 2012.26
Industry Practice
2072.1114 Inventories at Selling Prices
Inventories at Selling Prices 5121 15-16
Inventories Basis 2045 13: 2071 14: 5121 14
Inventory Losses
Investment Credit 4094 18-21-114091 113-
114 14094 001-004
.114; U4094.001—.004 Leases, Annual Rentals 5351.02; 5351.05;
5352.08
Leases Capitalized
. Leases Capitalized
. Leases Not Capitalized 5551.14, 5552.07—
Leases, Obligations Assumed 5351.02;
5351.05
Leasing Activities
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Payments
"Leveraged Lease" Transactions
Liabilities
Liquidation Preference, Preferred
Stock
Market Value of Investments 2031.09
Net leases
. Net Income
Net of Tax Presentation 4091.54; 4091.63; U4091.129—130 New Ways Proposed 1029.11 Nonmonetary Transactions 1041.28 Obligations, Short-Term 2033.15; 2033.20 Offsetting Assets and Liabilities 1027 25
Now Wove Proposed 1029.11
New Ways Proposed
Obligations Short Taura 2022 15: 2022 20
Officiations, Short-rerry 2000.10, 2000.20
Offsetting Government Advances
(CPFF Contracts)
. Operating Loss Carrybacks
U4091.073 . Operating Loss Carryforwards 4091.57
4091.60; U4091.079—.082; U4091.087; U4091.127
. Operating Loss Carryforwards Not Recognized
Recognized
122
Pension Reform Act (1974) 4063-1 04
Policies Accounting 1022.02 1024.00
1027 17: 1027 26: 2045 01 16
Booling of Interests 1001 56: 1001 63-65:
U1091.080-085
Pension Reform Act (1974) 4063-1.04 Policies, Accounting 1022.02; 1024.09; 1027.17; 1027.26; 2045.01—.16 Pooling of Interests 1091.56; 1091.63—.65 ; U1091.080—.085 Present Value of Lease
. Present Value of Lease
. Present Value of Lease Commitments
Present Value of Lease Commitments
Present Value of Lease Commitments

DISCLOSURE IN FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS-continued
. Redemption or Call, Preferred
Stock 5515.02
Regulated Industries 4311.13: 6011.0405
Renegotiation Possibilities 4042.02–.05
. Reporting Standard
. Research and Development Costs
4211.13—.15; 4211.60—.62; 4211-1.06—.07
. Restatements of Net Income 2010.25
Results of Operations, General 2010.07 Revenues (Sales)
Sale and Lease Transactions
5251 05-5251 10 22
5351.05; 5351.19—.22 Seasonal Businesses
Securities, Rights and Privileges 2011.19;
112011 045
. Separation of Components 1027.25
Shares Issued on Conversion 2011.20;
U2011.045
U2011.045 Statements of Income
2012.08-12
Stock Dividends or Splits
U2011.110
. Stock Option and Stock Purchase
Plans 4061.15; 4062.19
. Stockholders' Equity 2042.0102
Stockholders' Equity
Subsequent Events
Tax Effects Prior Period Adjustments
Adjustments
. Termination Claims
Cost and Profit Elements 4043.07
Estimation of Amount
. Presentation
. Subcontractors' Claims 4043.28
. Undeterminable Elements
. Translation of Foreign Currencies 1082.06;
1082.2032 Troopuny Stock 554212 14
1082.2632 Treasury Stock
Treasury Stock
Contracts)
Contracts) 4041.21 Unconsolidated Subsidiaries 2051.18—.20 Undistributed Earnings of 4095.14 Subsidiaries 4095.14 Unearned Compensation 4062.14 Uninsured Risks 4311.103 Unusual Items 2012.26 Use of Information 1022.31;1024.32
Contracts) 4041.21 Unconsolidated Subsidiaries 2051.18—.20 Undistributed Earnings of 4095.14 Subsidiaries 4095.14 Unearned Compensation 4062.14 Uninsured Risks 4311.103 Unusual Items 2012.26 Use of Information 1022.31;1024.32
Contracts)
Contracts)
Contracts)
Contracts)4041.21Unconsolidated Subsidiaries2051.18—.20Undistributed Earnings of Subsidiaries4095.14Unearned Compensation4062.14Uninsured Risks4311.103Unusual Items2012.26Use of Information1022.31; 1024.32Variations in Income Tax Expense2071.19; 4091.62; U4091.127Voting Rights2011.19Working Capital1027.25
Contracts)

DISCOUNTING Future Exchange Price 1023.31; 4111.01
Future Lease Rentals
. Income Taxes 4091.02; 04091.014;
U4091.141—.142 . Interest Rate Appropriate
Liabilities (M-1C)
Money and Money Claims (M-1A) 1027.07
Notes Issued in Bankruptcy 4111-1.01-05 Note Receivable (M-1A) 1027.07
. Notes Receivable/Payable
. Present Value Concepts 4111A.0102
Present Value, Future Pension Benefits
Benefits
DISCOUNTS, RETURNS, AND
ALLOWANCES
Interim Period Costs
DISCRETIONARY COSTS
Employers' Pension Cost 4063.1516
Year-End Bonuses 2071.17
DISCUSSION MEMORANDA
Contingencies
4311.90.4311.97
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.18- .20; 2062.2426; 2062.4041; 2062.44; 2062.46;
.20; 2062.24—.26; 2062.40—.41; 2062.44; 2062.46; 2062.49; 2062.54
. Research and Development Costs
4211.6062
DISPOSAL CREDITS
. Definition
Accounting for Disposal
Adjustments of Prior Amounts 2012.25
Alternative Practices 2012.02
Classification in Income Statement
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements U2012.009—.010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements U2012.009—.010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements U2012.009—.010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements U2012.009—010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.02 Disclosure Requirements 2012.08—09; 2012.18; 2012.23 Disposal Date Defined 2012.14; 2012.23 Disposal Date Defined 2012.14; 2012.23 Cains or Losses 2012.08—09; 2012.15—16; 2012.23 Impairment of Asset Value 1012.14; 2012.23 Impairment of Asset Value 2012.15—16 Interim Period Disclosure 2012.16 Lesses 2012.16
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements U2012.009—.010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term Definition 2012.02 Disclosure Requirements 2012.08—.09; 2012.18; 2012.23 Disposal Date Defined 2012.04; 2071.21 Examples Meeting Criteria 2012.03 Gains or Losses 2012.08—.09; 2012.15—.16; 2012.23 Impairment of Asset Value 1ntangible Assets 2012.16 Interim Period Disclosure 2012.16 Leases 2012.17 Measurement Date Defined 2012.17
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements U2012.009—.010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term
Classification in Income Statement
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements U2012.009—.010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.009—.010; 2012.16 Definition 2012.08—.09; 2012.18; 2012.23 Disposal Date Defined 2012.04; 2071.21 Examples Meeting Criteria 2012.04; 2071.21 Examples Meeting Criteria 2012.03 Gains or Losses 2012.08—.09; 2012.15—.16; 2012.23 Impairment of Asset Value 4311.74—.75 Intangible Assets 2012.13 Intventories 2012.16 Leases 2012.17 Measurement Date Defined 2012.14 Pension Costs 2012.14 Presentation in Income Statement 2012.23
Classification in Income Statement
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements U2012.009—.010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.009—.010; 2012.13 Definition 2012.00 Disclosure Requirements 2012.08—.09; 2012.18; 2012.23 Disposal Date Defined 2012.14; 2071.21 Examples Meeting Criteria 2012.03 Gains or Losses 2012.08—.09; 2012.15—.16; 2012.23 Impairment of Asset Value 4311.74—.75 Intangible Assets 2012.13 Intventories 2012.13 Lasses 2012.11 Measurement Date Defined 2012.14 Pension Costs 2012.14 Presentation in Income Statement 2012.23 Receivables 2012.15
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements U2012.009—.010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.00 Disclosure Requirements 2012.08—.09; 2012.18; 2012.23 Disposal Date Defined 2012.04; 2071.21 Examples Meeting Criteria 2012.03; Gains or Losses 2012.08—.09; 2012.15—.16; Intangible Assets 2012.08—.09; 2012.15—.16; Intargible Assets 2012.18 Inventories 2012.18 Leases 2012.18 Inventories 2012.16 Leases 2012.17 Measurement Date Defined 2012.17 Plan of Disposal 2012.14 Presentation in Income Statement 2012.23 Receivables 2012.15 DISSENTS Reasons Recorded 2010.00 2012.00 2012.00 2012.01 2012.02 2
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements U2012.009—.010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.02 Disclosure Requirements 2012.08 2012.08 2012.18; 2012.23 Disposal Date Defined 2012.14 Effect in Interim Period 2017.04; 2071.21 Examples Meeting Criteria U2012.003 Gains or Losses 2012.08—.09; 2012.15—.16; Impairment of Asset Value 4311.74—.75 Intangible Assets 2012.16 Interim Period Disclosure 2012.16 Leases 2012.17 Measurement Date Defined 2012.14 Pension Costs 2012.14 Pension Costs 2012.14 Presentation in Income Statement 2012.23 Receivables 2012.15 Time Limit 2012.15 DISSENTS
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements 2020.05; 2013.15 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.09—010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.00 Disclosure Requirements 2012.08—09; 2012.18; 2012.23 Disposal Date Defined 2012.14 Effect in Interim Period 2012.08—09; 2012.15—16; Cains or Losses 2012.08—09; 2012.15—16; 2012.23 Impairment of Asset Value 4311.74—75 Intangible Assets 2012.16 Interim Period Disclosure 2012.16 Interim Period Disclosure 2012.16 Leases 2012.17 Measurement Date Defined 2012.14 Presentation in Income Statement 2012.15 DISSENTS Reasons Recorded Voting Procedure DISTRIBUTIONS
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements U2012.009010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.00 Disclosure Requirements 2012.0809; 2012.18; 2012.23 Disposal Date Defined
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements U2012.009010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.00 Disclosure Requirements 2012.0809; 2012.18; 2012.23 Disposal Date Defined
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements U2012.009010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.02 Disclosure Requirements 2012.0809; 2012.18; 2012.23 Disposal Date Defined 2012.14; 2012.23 Effect in Interim Period 2012.04; 2071.21 Examples Meeting Criteria 2012.03 Gains or Losses 2012.0809; 2012.1516; 1ntargible Assets 2012.0809; 2012.1516; 1nterim Period Disclosure 2012.16 Interim Period Disclosure 2012.16 Leases 2012.17 Measurement Date Defined 2012.14 Pension Costs 2012.14 Pension Costs 2012.15 DISSENTS Reasons Recorded 1006 Voting Procedure 2012.16 Earnings of Subsidiaries 2015.104.104 205.0714 Initial Public Distribution 2012.23 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Earnings of Subsidiaries 2012.19 2012.23 Comporate Assets 2012.10 2012.23 Comporate Assets 2012.16 Earnings of Subsidiaries 2012.19 2012.23 2012.19 2012.23 2012.10 2012.23 2012.10 2012.23 2012.10 2012.23 2012.10 2012.23 2012.15 2013.20 2012.15 2013.20 2012.15 2013.20 2012.23 2012.15 2013.20 2012.15 2013.20 2012.15 2013.20 2012.15 2013.20 2012.23 2012.15 2013.20 2012.23 2012.15 2012.23 2012.15 2013.20 2012.23 2012.15 2012.23 2012.15 2012.23 2012.24 2012.25
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements 2020.05; 2013.15 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.09—010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.00 Disclosure Requirements 2012.08—09; 2012.18; 2012.23 Disposal Date Defined 2012.14; 2012.23 Effect in Interim Period 2012.14; 2012.23 Gains or Losses 2012.08—09; 2012.15—16; 2012.23 Impairment of Asset Value 4311.74—75 Intangible Assets 2012.16 Interim Period Disclosure 2012.16 Interim Period Disclosure 2012.16 Leases 2012.16 Pension Costs 2012.17 Plan of Disposal 2012.14 Presentation in Income Statement 2012.15 DISSENTS Receivables 2012.15 DISSENTS Corporate Assets 2012.16 Langt 2012.15 DISSENTS Corporate Assets 2012.16 Langt 2012.15 DISSENTS 2012.16 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Langt 2012.16 Time Limit 2012.15 DISSENTS 2012.16 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Langt 2012.16 Time Limit 2012.15 DISSENTS 2012.16 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Langt 2012.16 Time Limit 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.17 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.17 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.17 Distribution 2012.14 Distribution 2012.15 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.17 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements U2012.009010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.02 Disclosure Requirements 2012.0809; 2012.18; 2012.23 Disposal Date Defined 2012.14 Effect in Interim Period 2012.04; 2071.21 Examples Meeting Criteria 2012.03 Gains or Losses 2012.0809; 2012.1516; 1ntangible Assets 2012.0809; 2012.1516; 1ntarim Period Disclosure 2012.16 Interim Period Disclosure 2012.16 Leases 2012.17 Measurement Date Defined 2012.17 Plan of Disposal 2012.18 Receivables 2012.15 DISSENTS Reasons Recorded 2012.15 DISSENTS Corporate Assets 2012.15 DISSENTS Corporate Assets 2012.16 Earnings of Subsidiaries 2015.06 Production Activity 2012.23 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Distribution 2012.23 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Distribution 2012.23 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Distribution 2012.23 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Distribution 2012.15 Distribution 2012.23 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Distribution 2012.23 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Distribution 2012.23 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Distribution 2012.23 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Distribution 2012.23 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Distribution 2012.23 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Distribution 2012.23 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Distribution 2012.15 Distribution .
Classification in Income Statement 2012.05; 2013.15 Comparative Financial Statements 2020.05; 2013.15 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.09—010; 2012.13 Contracts, Long-Term 2012.00 Disclosure Requirements 2012.08—09; 2012.18; 2012.23 Disposal Date Defined 2012.14; 2012.23 Effect in Interim Period 2012.14; 2012.23 Gains or Losses 2012.08—09; 2012.15—16; 2012.23 Impairment of Asset Value 4311.74—75 Intangible Assets 2012.16 Interim Period Disclosure 2012.16 Interim Period Disclosure 2012.16 Leases 2012.16 Pension Costs 2012.17 Plan of Disposal 2012.14 Presentation in Income Statement 2012.15 DISSENTS Receivables 2012.15 DISSENTS Corporate Assets 2012.16 Langt 2012.15 DISSENTS Corporate Assets 2012.16 Langt 2012.15 DISSENTS 2012.16 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Langt 2012.16 Time Limit 2012.15 DISSENTS 2012.16 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Langt 2012.16 Time Limit 2012.15 DISSENTS 2012.16 Corporate Assets 2012.16 Langt 2012.16 Time Limit 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.17 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.17 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.17 Distribution 2012.14 Distribution 2012.15 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.17 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution 2012.16 Distribution

DIVERSIFIED COMPANIES	04 OF
Background Information 2061 Competition	2061.09
. Definition	2061.01
Disclosure of Supplemental Financial Information	.01—.14
. Disposal of Segment	012.003
Future APB Pronouncement Generally Accepted Accounting	
Principles	2061.02
. Recommendations for voluntary	
Disclosure	.1112
	2061.10
DIVIDENDS Arrears, Disclosure 2011A.05; 4311.	1819:
	5515.02
Cash Yield Test	1091.84
Contingent Consideration 1091.77; Conversion Not Assumed	011.025
. Convertible Securities	2011.112 2011.022
Convertible Securities	5131.13
. Credited to Employees 4002 Disclosure in Funds Statements	2021.14
. Distribution of Policyholders'	
Surplus	4095.20
Effects of Price Level Changes Equity Method 1027.23; 5131.03;	5131.19
Foreign Exchange Rate Change Included in Statement of Retained	
Earnings	1022.05
. Legal Restrictions	5131.09
. Nonmonetary Assets Distributed	1041.05;
Nonreciprocal Transfers 1023.23;	1041.11 1027.08
Participating 2011.08; 2011.19; U20	11.293—
. Pavable	.299
. Payable Monetary Liabilities	
Monetary Liabilities	071B.03
Monetary Liabilities1 Preferred Stock Arrears	071B.03
Monetary Liabilities1 Preferred Stock Arrears	071B.03
Monetary Liabilities1 Preferred Stock Arrears	071B.03
Monetary Liabilities	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 11.361-
Monetary Liabilities	.071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 11.361- 366
Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative	.071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 11.361- 366
Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 11.361 .366 5561.11
Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 11.361 .366 5561.11 2051.01
Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 11.36 5561.11 2051.01 2051.01
 Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative 2011A.05; U2 Earnings per Share Computations 2011.07; 2011.20; 2 U2011.020021; U2011.10 U2011.1 Real Estate Investment Trusts U20 Stock Split-Ups Subsidiaries Declared out of Surplus Prior to Acquisition Disclosure under Cost Method Relation to Consolidated Earned Surplus 	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 11.361 .366 5561.11 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01
Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 11.361 .366 5561.11 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01
 Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative 2011A.05; U2 Earnings per Share Computations 2011.07; 2011.20; 2 U2011.020021; U2011.10 U2011.1 Real Estate Investment Trusts U20 Stock Split-Ups Subsidiaries Declared out of Surplus Prior to Acquisition Disclosure under Cost Method Relation to Consolidated Earned Surplus 	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 11.361 366 5561.11 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.07 095.07
Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01144 43144 43144 11.361 366 5561.11 2051.01 2051.01 2051.16 2051.01 2051.17 955.07 12 5541.01
Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01144 43144 43144 11.361 366 5561.11 2051.01 2051.01 2051.16 2051.01 2051.17 955.07 12 5541.01
Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 11.361- 11.361- 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 31145
Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 11.361 .366 5561.11 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 31145 2011.114
 Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative 2011A.05; U2 Earnings per Share Computations 2011.07; 2011.20; 2 U2011.020021; U2011.10 U2011.1 Real Estate Investment Trusts U2011. Stock Split-Ups Subsidiaries Declared out of Surplus Prior to Acquisition Relation to Consolidated Earned Surplus Stock Dividends Tax on Undistributed Earnings 4053.41; U4063.1 Dividends PER SHARE Change in Rates 2011.33; U2 	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 11.361 .366 5561.11 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 31145 2011.114
Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 11.361- .366 5561.11 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.01 2051.17 095.07- 12 5541.01 31145 2011.114 2011.31 2011.32 2011A.25 4096.08
Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 411.361
Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 411.361 .366 5561.11 2051.01 2
Monetary Liabilities Preferred Stock Arrears Cumulative	071B.03 5515.02 2011.135 011A.06 01104 43144 411.361 .366 5561.11 2051.01 2

DIVISION—see Segment of a Business

DOMESTIC INTERNATIONAL SALES

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

. Disclosure of Undistributed
Earnings
. Tax Allocation
DONATIONS
Capital Stock
Nonmonetary Assets 1041.06
Tax Basis
. Tax Basis
DOUBLE-ENTRY SYSTEM
. Based on Dual Effects
DUAL PRESENTATION—See also
Earnings per Share
. Captions Suggested
. Change in Capital Structure U2011.099—
.100 Conversion For Primary Only U2011.147–
. Conversion For Frimary Only 02011.14/- .150
. Definition
 Differing Viewpoints
. Income Statement Presentation 2011.16;
U2011.004; U2011.061—.063 Simple and Complex Capital
Structure
. Simple Capital Structure U2011.092094
EARNED SURPLUS—See Retained
Earnings
EARNING PROCESS
Definition
. Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets
. Revenue Recognition 1026.14—.17
EARNINGS
. Applicable to Common Stock U2011.020-
.022; U2011.101 —.104
Combined in Pooling of Interests 1091.39 Contingent Consideration 1091.80
Distortion
Distribution
Distribution
Income Taxes
. Goodwill Amortization
. Investment Credit
. Investment Credit
Level
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—17; U2011.322—.329
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—.17; U2011.322—.329 Pension Funds
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—.17; U2011.322—.329 Pension Funds
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.1617; U2011.322329 Pension Funds
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.1617; U2011.322329 Pension Funds
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—.17; U2011.322—.329 Pension Funds Actuarial Gains (Losses) U4063.083—088 Potential Relation to Capital Structure Research and Development Activities 4211.50
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—.17; U2011.322—.329 Pension Funds
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—.17; U2011.322—.329 Pension Funds Actuarial Gains (Losses) U4063.083—088 Potential Relation to Capital Structure Activities Stock Dividends Domestic International Sales
Level . Conditions for Issue of Shares
Level . Conditions for Issue of Shares
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—.17; U2011.322—.329 Pension Funds
Level . Conditions for Issue of Shares
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—.17; U2011.322—.329 Pension Funds Actuarial Gains (Losses) U4063.083—088 Potential Potential Corporation to Capital Structure Activities Domestic International Sales Corporation Domestic International Sales Corporation 1081.04—.05 Foreign Tax on Intercompany Profits 205.01—.005 Translation of Foreign Currencies Corporation 1081.04—.05 Translation of Foreign Currencies
Level . Conditions for Issue of Shares
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—.17; U2011.322—.329 Pension Funds Actuarial Gains (Losses) U4063.083_083_083_083_083 Potential 2011.25; 2011A.15 Relation to Capital Structure 2011B.05 Research and Development Activities Domestic International Sales Corporation 4095.09; U4095.001—005 Foreign 1081.04—05 Tax on Intercompany Profits 2051.16 Tax on Undistributed Earnings 4095.07—14; U4091.020; U4095.001—005 Translation of Foreign Currencies 1081.19—.21; 1082.06 Variability 4091.02; U401.02; U401.02; U4025.001
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—.17; U2011.322—.329 Pension Funds
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—17; U2011.322—329 Pension Funds Actuarial Gains (Losses) 4063.25—33; U4063.083—088 Potential 2011.25; 2011A.15 Relation to Capital Structure 2011.25; 2011A.15 Research and Development Activities 50 Stock Dividends 50 Stock Dividends 50 Stock Dividends 50 Domestic International Sales Corporation 4095.09; U4095.001—.005 Foreign 1081.04—05 Translation of Foreign Currencies 1081.19—21; 1082.06 Variability All Inclusive Concept 2011.25; 2011A.15 2011.32 2010.13
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—.17; U2011.322—.329 Pension Funds Actuarial Gains (Losses) U4063.083088 Potential Potential Potential Corporation to Capital Structure Activities Corporation Subsidiaries Domestic International Sales Corporation U05.05.001—.005 Foreign 1081.04—05 Tax on Intercompany Profits 2051.16 Tax on Intercompany Profits U05.07—.14; U4091.001—.005 Translation of Foreign Currencies 1081.19—.21; 1082.06 Variability All Inclusive Concept 2010.13 EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—.17; U2011.322—.329 Pension Funds Actuarial Gains (Losses) U4063.083—.088 Potential Potential Corporation to Capital Structure Activities Stock Dividends Domestic International Sales Corporation Subsidiaries Domestic International Sales Corporation 1081.04—.05 Tax on Intercompany Profits U4095.001—.005 Foreign 1081.04—.05 Translation of Foreign Currencies 1081.19—.21; 1082.06 Variability All Inclusive Concept Adjustments to Net Income U2011.25; 2011A.15 U4095.001—005 Stock Dividends 1081.04—.05 Translation of Foreign Currencies 2011.13 EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE Adjustments to Net Income 2011.25; 4095.00—.02 2010.13
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—.17; U2011.322—.329 Pension Funds Actuarial Gains (Losses) U4063.083088 Potential Potential Potential Corporation to Capital Structure Activities Corporation Subsidiaries Domestic International Sales Corporation U05.05.001—.005 Foreign 1081.04—05 Tax on Intercompany Profits 2051.16 Tax on Intercompany Profits U05.07—.14; U4091.001—.005 Translation of Foreign Currencies 1081.19—.21; 1082.06 Variability All Inclusive Concept 2010.13 EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
Level Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.16—17; U2011.322—329 Pension Funds Actuarial Gains (Losses) U4063.083—088 Potential Potential Corporation to Capital Structure Activities Domestic International Sales Corporation Stock Dividends Domestic International Sales Corporation 1081.04—05 Foreign Tax on Intercompany Profits 2051.16 Tax on Undistributed Earnings 1081.04—05 Translation of Foreign Currencies 1081.19—21; 1082.06 Variability All Inclusive Concept Adjustments to Net Income

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE-
continued Assuming No Dilution 2011.16; U2011.073—
U2011.010 . Simple v. Complex Capital Structures
EARNINGS PER SHARE
. Anti-Dilution—See Anti-Dilution . Applicability 2011.05—.06; U2011.068—.071
Assumptions and Adjustments 2011.20; U2011.011—.012
. Bank Prime Interest RateSee Bank
Prime Interest Rate Bases of Calculations
U2011.045 Captions Suggested
Captions Suggested
. Catch-Up Adjustment
. Change in Cash Yield 2011.33: U2011.114
. Change in Reporting Entity 1051.3435; U1051.001009
Circular Effect 2011B.07
Circular Effect
. Classification of Securities U2011.111
. Closely Held Corporations
Committee on Accounting Procedure
. Comparative Statements
. Complex Capital Structure
. Computational Guidelines
. Consistency with Income Statement
Consolidated
Contingent Convertibles U2011.330-333 Contingent Issuance of Shares 2011A.16-
.19; U2011.120; U2011.308—.333 . Continuing Operations 2012.07; 2012.09;
2012.26 Conversion for Primary Only U2011.147
Conversion into Nonconvertibles U2011.154157
. Conversion Option Delayed 2011A.11; U2011.035—.036; U2011.122—.123
. Conversion Rate Changes 2011A.11—.12; U2011.341—.343
. Criteria, Common Stock Equivalence 2011.33—.34; U2011.017—.018; U2011.113—.114; U2011.126—.128
Days Between Two Dates
Definitions of Terms
. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.16
. Differing Viewpoints
. Disclosure Requirements
Discount or Premium
Dividends, Cumulative Preferred 2011.05; U2011.020—.021; U2011.101—.102

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

EARNINGS PER SHARE—continued Dual Presentation—See Dual Presentation Earnings Conditions U2011.322-.329 Earnings, Convertible Securities 2011A.07-08 Effect of Retroactive Change U1051.008-.009 U2011.048--.051 . 2011.13; U2011.010; Extraordinary Items U2011.062: U2011.084-.086: 2012.12 Government-Owned Corporations . Grouping of Securities ... 2011.35; U2011.163-.166 Historical Background 2011.07-.11; U2011.001-.004 Illustration Change in Completed Contract Method 1051B.01-.04; U1051.003-.004 Change in Depreciation Method Illustrative Statements 2011C.01-.04 Interest, Senior Securities 2011A.05; U2011.103-.104 Interim Period Disclosure 2071.30; 2072.11-.14 Investment Decisions 2011.01 Market Price Guarantees U2011.314-321 Mutual Companies U2011.069 **Options—See Stock Options and Stock** Purchase Plans U2011.039-.041 . 2011.01 Prospectuses Purchase of a Business ... 2011A.04; U2011.042 Quarterly Computations U2011.228-229 U2011.270 . U2011.107 Reacquired Shares Real Estate Investment Trusts U2011.361-.366 . Reclassification of Securities U2011.126-.131

EARNINGS PER SHARE-continued 2011.21 Reconciliations . Redemption Premium or Discount . . **Registered Investment Companies**
 Reports to Stockholders
 2011.01

 Residual Securities
 2011.05; 2011.08
 2011.36: .009 Securities Issued Prior to 6/1/69 ... 2011.46; U2011.048-.049; U2011.115; U2011.129-.131; U2011.344-.352 Shares Issued on Conversion 2011.20; U2011.045; U2011.092 . Simple v. Complex Capital Situations Not Covered 2011.43; U2011.038 Special Purpose Statements 2011.06; U2011.070--.071 Statistical Services Statistical Summaries ... 2011.05; U2011.068-071 . Subsidiaries, Wholly Owned 2011.06; U2011.070 . . 2011.22-.23; U2011.002; U2011.230-.235; U2011.240-.248 Terminology Time of Issuance 2011.10; 2011.28-.29; U2011.117-.120 Treasury Stock Method—See Treasury Stock Method Twenty Percent Provision U2011.255-...260 U2011.295-.299 . Two-Class Method 2011A.09-.10; U2011.261 . Unusual Items 2012.26 . Warrants-See Stock Purchase Warrants Weighted Average—See Weighted Average Year-to-Date Computations U2011.228-.229 ECONOMIC ACTIVITY . Complexity ... 1022.26; 1023.15; 1023.28; 1025.16 . Constraints on Accounting
 Measurement
 1023.10

 Consumption
 1023.10

 Continuous Nature
 1023.15; 1023.28

 Cost Defined
 1023.25

 Cycles of Activity
 1025.08

 Description
 1021.11

Description, General 1022.11-.12

AICPA Professional Standards

ECONOMIC ACTIVITYcontinued
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.09;
Exchange
. History in Money Terms
Highly-Developed Economies 1023.12 History in Money Terms 1023.02 Individual Businesses 1023.17—26 Influence on Financial Accounting 1023.03 1023.15; 1025.05
. Influence on Financial Accounting 1023.03, 1023.15; 1025.05
Investment
Joint Nature
Less-Developed Economies
Money Terms
Money Terms
Production
. Stability
Successful Operations
. Time Periods 1025.06
United States Economy 1023.12
ECONOMIC COST
ECONOMIC DECISIONS Choices by Users 1024 10
Choices by Users
Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.16—.17
. Elements in Decision Models 4211.50
Knowledge of Decision Processes 1022.10 Materiality Concept
Materiality Concept
1025.06 Prediction From Past Events
Protection Against Losses
4311.61—.66; 4311.85—.88 Refunding of Debt
Relevance as Primary Objective 1024.16
Reliability of Information
Understanding Accounting Policies
. Usefulness of Accounting 1022.01; 1022.13; 1023.01; 1024.01
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS
. Effect on Research Program 100.03 ECONOMIC ELEMENTS—See Economic
Resources, Economic Obligations, Residual Interest
ECONOMIC LIFE
. Definition
ECONOMIC OBLIGATIONS Changes Over Time 1023.22; 1023.29;
1024.08
Classification of Events
. Description of Economic Activity 1022.11;
1023.17 . Evaluation of Enterprise
Exchange Price
General Claims
Indeterminate Amounts
1025.07
. Recorded as Liabilities 1022.19; 1024.12; 1026.01
. Recorded as Liabilities (S-1C) 1027.08
. Relation to Basic Elements
1025.21 . Relation to Residual Interest 1023.20—.21
Selection of Events

ECONOMIC OBLIGATIONScontinued
. Sources
ECONOMIC RESOURCES . Changes Over Time 1023.22; 1023.29;
1024.08 1024.08 Claims to Receive Money 1023.18 Classification of Events 1023.23 Definition 1023.18; 421.42
Definition
. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.48
Evaluation of Enterprise
1023.27; 1023.31; 1025.05; 1025.07 Money
Physical Changes 1023.33 Products 1023.18 Recorded as Assets 1022.19; 1024.12; 1026.01:421.14.3 46
Recorded as Assets (S-1A)
Relation to Residual Interest1023.2021 Rights to Productive Resources1023.15 Selection of Events
ECONOMIC USEFULNESS . Emergency Facilities 4073.03; 4073.05; 4073.07
. Less than Normal Life
EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTIONS Applicability of APB Opinions
ELEMENTS—See Basic Elements
EMERGENCY FACILITIES . Depreciation and Amortization 4073.01—
.10 Timing Differences 4091A.05
EMPIRICAL STUDIES Research and Development
Expenditures
SECURITY ACT OF 1974—See Pension Reform Act (1974)
EMPLOYEES . Average Age, Employee Group 4063.14;
4063.20 Combined Corporation U1091.126—132 Death and Disability Benefits 4063.08 Deferred Compensation Contracts
4064.01-03; U2011.274-283 Disability 4063A.07 Disclosure of Pension Plans 4063.46 Eligibility for Pension Benefits 4063.34;
U4063.125127 Entitlement to Pension Benefits 4063A.07; U4063.089098
. Future Services
U4063.178181 Insured Pension Plans U4063.131145
. Intangible Assets

Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

EMPLOYEES—continued
. Key-man Life Insurance 4064.001-004
Pension Cost Computations 4063.09–15 Bassian Bafarm Act (1974) 4063.101–06
Pension Reform Act (1974) 4063-1.01-06 Phantom Stock Plans U2011.284-286
Principal Stockholder Stock Plans
Relocation Expenses
. Remaining Service Lives
Social Security Benefits
. Stock Issued to Employees 4062.0120
Stock Option and Stock Pension
Plans 4061.0115; U2011.075; U2011.274
.286 Turnover
EMPLOYERS
Administration Expenses, Pension Plans
. Contributions under Defined-Benefit
Plans
Deferred Compensation Contracts
4064.0103
Disclosure Requirements, Pension 4063 46 114063 121-123
Plans
Funding under Pension Plans 4063A.01-03
. Insured Plans
. Legal Obligations, Pension Plans
. Partial Accrual, Pension Benefits
4063.13—.14
. Responsibility for Pension Benefits
4063.10—.11; 4063.15—.16 Stock Issued to Employees 4062.01—.20
. Stock Option and Stock Purchase
Plans
. Terminal Funding
. Terminal Funding
. Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
 Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
 Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
Terminal Funding
 Terminal Funding
 Terminal Funding
 Terminal Funding

. Variations in Practice 4063A.18

AICPA Professional Standards

ENVIRONMENT
Collectibility of Receivables 4311.22-23 Relation to Extraordinary Items
ENVIRONMENT OF FINANCIAL
ACCOUNTING
. Aspects Selected
. Constraints on Achievement 1022.10, 1024.40
Effects on Financial Accounting 1025.01;
1025.16
. Evaluation of Principles
Importance 1022.08 Relation to Basic Features 1025.0116
Stability
. Stability
EQUALIZATION OF INCOME
. All Inclusive Concept
. Contingencies 4311.14—.15; 4311.03—.06; 4311.92
EQUITY See Stockholders' Equity
EQUITY IN LEASED PROPERTY Accumulated by Lessee
Disclosed in Balance Sheet
. Evidence of Existence
. "Leveraged Lease" Transactions
EQUITY METHOD
Amortization Excess Cost over
Equity 5131.06; 5131.19 Applicability 5131.0102; U5131.008012 Application of Opinion 5131.19 Balance Sheet Presentation 5131.11;
Applicability
Application of Opinion
5131.19: 05131.001007
Capital Changes, Investees
5131.19
Carrying Amount of Investment5131.10; 5131.19—.20
. Comparison with Consolidation 5131.19;
U5131.001—.007
. Comparison with Cost Method 5131.05
Comparison with Market Value
Method
Consolidation Policy
Control Defined
Disclosure Requirements
. Discontinuance of Method
Dividends Definition 5131.03
. Definition
. Earnings of Investees
. Basis for Recognition
Definition
. Income Taxes
When Recognized
Effective Date
5131.19; 05131.001007
Estates
. Extraordinary Items
Foreign Currency Translation 1082.06 Foreign Subsidiaries
Goodwill
Illustrative Examples
. Intercompany Profit/Loss U5131.005–
.007 Income Statement Presentation 5131.11:
E121 10-UE121 001 007
. Income Taxes 4096.01—.12; U5131.001—.007 Change in Investment
Change in Investment 4096.10 Operating Losses 4096.09
. Rates Applicable
Increases in Assets 1027.13; 5131.10

EQU

EQUITY METHOD—continued . Intercompany Profits and Losses 5131.06; 5131.19; U5131.001—007
 Inventories, Eliminations
Leases Equivalent to Sales
Minority Interests (S-4A)
Step-by-Step Acquisition
4095.13 . When Applicable
ERRORS IN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Distinguished from Estimates 1051.13 Materiality 1051.38 Prior Period Adjustments 1051.3637 Reporting Corrections 1051.02:1051.06: 1051.13; 1051.3637; U1051.001009; 2012.25 Restatement of Interim Reports 2071.25 Sources of Error 1051.13
ESTATES . Equity Method Not Applicable 5131.02
ESTIMATION Accounting for Income Taxes
. Change in Period Benefited
Characteristic of Financial Accounting
COL

ESTIMATION—continued
. Deferred Compensation Contracts
. Definition
Disclosure of Change 1051.33 Diversified Companies 2061.08
Diversified Companies
. Earnings Potential
Error Correction
Examples of Estimates
Factors Involved
. Fair Values, Common Stock U2011.190
. 194
. Fair Values, Convertible Securities
. Fair Values, Corporate
Readjustments
Future Costs, Lease Transactions 4052.06
. Imputation of Interest 4111.09, 4111.11 . Interim Period Costs 2071.04, 2071.17
. Interim Period Costs
Investment Value
Judgment Required
. Lease Commitments 5352.02; 5352.04
Litigation, Claims, and
Assessments
. Losses on Disposal of Facilities
. Timing Differences
. Losses on Inventories
. Timing Differences
Losses on Purchase Commitments Timing Differences
. Market Value, Common Stock 4062.10
Net Realizable Value of Segment 2012 15
. Nonmonetary Transactions
Nonmonetary Transactions
. Percentage of Completion Method
4031.04—.08 Prior Period Adjustments 1051.31; 2010.23;
 Prior Period Adjustments 1051.31; 2010.23;
2012.25
2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 . Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 . Real and Personal Property Taxes 4081.09; 4081.16 . Recoverability of Costs
2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes 4081.09; 4081.16 Recoverability of Costs
2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes 4081.09; 4081.16 Recoverability of Costs 2062.10 Retinancing Short-Term Obligations 2033.12 Relation to Principle 2033.12 Renegotiation Refunds 4042.04 Reporting Change in Estimate 1051.31 Research and Development Activities 33 Research and Development Activities 4211.39 40; 4211.57 Selection of Method of Accounting for Construction-Type Contracts 4031.15 Undistributed Earnings of Subsidiaries 4095.10 Timing Differences 4095.10
2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes 4081.09; 4081.16 Recoverability of Costs 2062.10 Refinancing Short-Term Obligations 2033.12 Relation to Principle 1051.11; 1051.32 Renegotiation Refunds 4042.04 Reporting Change in Estimate 1051.31 Research and Development Activities 4211.3940; 4211.57 Selection of Method of Accounting for Construction-Type Contracts 4095.10 Undistributed Earnings of Subsidiaries 4095.10 Useful Lives, Depreciable Assets 4093.04- 07; 4311.28 Useful Lives, Intangible Assets 5141.02;
2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 2012.2
2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 2012.2
2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 2012.2
2012.25 2012.2
2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes
2012.25 2012.25 Real and Personal Property Taxes

EXP

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

EVENTScontinued	
	EXCHANGE F
. Current Dollars	. Relation to
Current Dollars	
Effects on Basic Elements	. Relation to
. External—See External Events	
Intangible Assets	EXCHANGE F
. Internal—See Internal Events	
Loss Contingencies	. Definition
Nonmonetary Assets Distributed 1041.10	Disclosure
Noninonetary Assets Distributed 1041.10	EXCHANGEA
Nonrecurring or Terminating	
. Ordinary V. Extraordinary 02012.000-00/,	. Research
2012.19—.24; 2013.02—.03; 2013.15—.16	EXCLUSIONS
. Price-Level Statements	Distinguis
Probable—See Probable Events	-
Subsequent, Disclosure	EXECUTORY
Subsequent to Date of Financial	. Effects No
Statements	. Lease Agr
. Substance Over Form 1025.14	. Rights No
	. When Rec
EXAMPLES—See Illustrations	. When Rec
	EXERCISE OF
EXCHANGE	. Anti-Diluti
Basis for Measurement 1026.26	. And Blue
. Companies Under Common	Dalativita
Control	Debt with
. Condition for Realization 1026.14	Delayed E
. Defined as Reciprocal Transfer 1023.23;	Exercise F
1027.07; 1041.03	. Exercise v
Definition Economic 1027.07, 1041.03	
. Definition, Economic	. Price
. Future (S-1E)	. Price . Primary E
Less-Developed Economies 1023.11	. Retiremen
. Nonmonetary	
Boot Involved 1041.04; 1041.22	. Shares Iss
Differing Views 1041.1516	
	. Tendering
Earning Process Not Culminated	
1041.07	. Tendering
Examples	. Tendering
. Fair Value Determination	. Treasury
Inventories	
Losses	EXPENSES
Nontaxable	. Applicatio
Oil Producing Property	••
Oil Producing Property	. Assets No
1041.2122	
Productive Assets	
Productive Assets	. Associate
1041.21—.22	
Real Estate 1041.07	. Basic Eler
Real Estate	Account
Option to Evolution Sharos 111091 115	. Category
. Option to Exchange Shares 01091.115-	
Option to Exchange Shares U1091.115— .118	
.118	
.118 Price—See Exchange Price	. Changes i
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price . Ratio, Business Combination U1091.001—	. Changes i . Changes i
.118 Price—See Exchange Price Ratio, Business Combination U1091.001– .004: U1091.090–.098	Changes i Changes i Classes
.118 Price—See Exchange Price Ratio, Business Combination U1091.001– .004; U1091.090–.098 Beasons for Occurrence	. Changes i . Changes i . Classes . . Classificat
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price . Ratio, Business Combination U1091.001— .004; U1091.090—.098 . Reasons for Occurrence	. Changes i . Changes i . Classes . . Classificat . Compensi
.118 Price—See Exchange Price Ratio, Business Combination U1091.001– .004; U1091.090–.098 Beasons for Occurrence	Changes i Changes i Classes . Classificat Compens Plans .
	. Changes i . Changes i . Classes . . Classificat . Compensi
	. Changes i . Changes i . Classes . . Classificat . Compens. . Plans . . Computer
.118 Price—See Exchange Price Ratio, Business Combination	Changes i Changes i Classes . Classificat Compens Plans .
.118 Price—See Exchange Price Ratio, Business Combination	. Changes i . Changes i . Classes . . Classificat . Compens. . Plans . . Computer
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .118 . Ratio, Business Combination	Changes i Changes i Classes Classifica Compensi Plans Computer
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price . Ratio, Business Combination	Changes i Changes i Classes Classificat Compensi Plans Computer Cost of Sa
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.001— .004; U1091.090—098 .005; U1021.05 .005; U1021.05 .006; U1021.05 .007.07 EXCHANGE ADJUSTMENTS	Changes i Changes i Classes Classifica Compens Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Reco
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.001— .004; U1091.090—098 .005; U1021.05 .005; U1021.05 .006; U1021.05 .007.07 EXCHANGE ADJUSTMENTS	Changes i Changes i Classes Classificat Compense Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.001— .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .004; U1091.090—098 Resons for Occurrence .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .004; U1091.090—098 Resons for Occurrence .0052.03; 5362.16—17 When Recorded (S-1) .01027.07 EXCHANGE ADJUSTMENTS .01027.07 EXCHANGE ADJUSTMENTS .01027.07 .029 Definition .020 .021 .022 Definition .022 Disclosure Standards .0082.26	Changes i Changes i Classes Classificat Compense Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Developm
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price . Ratio, Business Combination	Changes i Changes i Classes Classificat Compense Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Developm 11
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price . Ratio, Business Combination	Changes i Changes i Classes Classificat Compense Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Developm
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price . Ratio, Business Combination	Changes i Changes i Classes Classificat Compense Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Developm .11 Disposal c Exclusion Exclusion
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.001— .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .118 .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .118 .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .1023.23 Refunding of Debt	Changes i Changes i Classes Classificat Compense Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Developm
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.001— .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .118 .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .118 .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .1023.23 Refunding of Debt	Changes i Changes i Classes Classificat Compense Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Developm .11 Disposal c Exclusion Exclusion
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price . Ratio, Business Combination	Changes i Changes i Classes Classificat Compense Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Developm .11 Disposal c Exclusion Exclusion
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price . Ratio, Business Combination	 Changes i Changes i Classificat Compense Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Definition Disposal of Exclusion: Immediat
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.001— .004; U1091.090—098 .005; U1021.05 .006; U1021.06 .007 EXCHANGE ADJUSTMENTS	Changes i Changes i Classes Classes Compens. Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Disposal c Exclusion: Immediat Immediat
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.001— .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .002; U1091.090—098 .002, 05; 1082.12; 1081.27—29 Definition .002:26 .002; U1082.26 .002; U20 .002; U1082.26 .002; U20 .002; U20 </td <td>Changes i Changes i Classes Classifical Compense Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Definition Developm Ill Disposal c Exclusion: Immediat Immediat Included i Included</td>	Changes i Changes i Classes Classifical Compense Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Definition Developm Ill Disposal c Exclusion: Immediat Immediat Included i Included
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.090—.098 .004; U1091.090—.098 .004; U1091.090—.098 Reasons for Occurrence .118 When Recorded (S-1) .017 EXCHANGE ADJUSTMENTS Deferral Method .1082.06; 1082.12; 1081.27—. .29 Definition .1082.06 Disclosure Standards .1082.26 .29 Definition .1082.26 .29 Definition .1082.06; 1082.28 .1082.26 .29 Definition .1082.26 .29 Definition .1082.26 .29 .20 Definition .1082.26 .21 .22 .23 .24 .25 .26 .27 .28 .29 .22 .23 .24	Changes i Changes i Classes Classificat Compens. Plans. Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Developm Disposal c Exclusion: Immediat Immediat Income D
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.001— .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .002323 Refunding of Debt .01027.07 EXCHANGE ADJUSTMENTS Definition .01082.06; 1082.12; 1081.27—29 Definition .01082.06 Effects of Different Methods .01082.06 Effects of Disclosure .002.26—32 Income Determination .0082.26 .022 EXCHANGE PRICE .023.30 Application .023.31 Approximation by Fair Value <t< td=""><td>Changes i Changes i Classes Classes Classificat Compens. Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Disposal c Exclusion: Immediat Immediat Included i Income D</td></t<>	Changes i Changes i Classes Classes Classificat Compens. Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Disposal c Exclusion: Immediat Immediat Included i Income D
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.001— .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .0023.23 Refunding of Debt .5362.03; 5362.16—17 When Recorded (S-1) .0027.07 EXCHANGE ADJUSTMENTS Definition .1082.06; 1082.12; 1081.27—29 Definition .1082.05 Disclosure Standards .1082.06 Effects of Different Methods .1082.26 .29 .1082.06 Effects of Disclosure .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.27 Tax Effects .1023.30—31 Application .1023.31 Acc	Changes i Changes i Classifical Compens. Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Disposal o Exclusion: Immediat Income D Income T Income T
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price . Ratio, Business Combination	Changes i Changes i Classes Classificat Compense Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Developm Immediat Immediat Income D Income D Income D Inflation c
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.001— .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .002323 Refunding of Debt .01027.07 EXCHANGE ADJUSTMENTS Deferral Method .1082.06; 1082.12; 1081.27—29 Definition .1082.05 Disclosure Standards .1082.06 Effects of Different Methods .1082.26—32 Income Determination .1082.26 .1022.27 Tax Effects .1023.30 Application .1023.32 Approximation by Fair Value [M-1A(1)] .1027.07 Business Acquired [M-1A(3)] .1027.07 Business Acquired [M-1A	Changes i Changes i Classifical Compens. Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Disposal o Exclusion: Immediat Income D Income T Income T
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.001— .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .002323 Refunding of Debt .01027.07 EXCHANGE ADJUSTMENTS Deferral Method .1082.06; 1082.12; 1081.27—29 Definition .1082.05 Disclosure Standards .1082.06 Effects of Different Methods .1082.26—32 Income Determination .1082.26 .1022.27 Tax Effects .1023.30 Application .1023.32 Approximation by Fair Value [M-1A(1)] .1027.07 Business Acquired [M-1A(3)] .1027.07 Business Acquired [M-1A	Changes i Changes i Classes Classificat Compense Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Developm Immediat Immediat Income D Income D Income D Inflation c
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.001— .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .0023.23 Refunding of Debt .5362.03; 5362.16—17 When Recorded (S-1) .0027.07 EXCHANGE ADJUSTMENTS Definition .1082.06; 1082.12; 1081.27—29 Definition .1082.05 Disclosure Standards .1082.06 Effects of Different Methods .1082.26 .29 .1082.06 Effects of Disclosure .1082.26 .1082.27 .1082.28 .29 .102 .102 .102 .102 .1023.30—31 Application	Changes i Changes i Classes Classificat Compens. Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Disposal c Exclusion. Immediat Immediat Included i Income D Income T Income D Infatilmere
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.090—.098 .004; U1091.090—.098 .004; U1091.090—.098 Reasons for Occurrence .118 When Recorded (S-1) .017 When Recorded (S-1) .018	Changes i Changes i Classes Classifical Compens. Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Developm III Disposal c Exclusion Immediat Income D Income D Income T Income T Income T Incatallmer Installmer
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.001— .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .004; U1091.090—098 Reasons for Occurrence .118 When Recorded (S-1) .004; U1091.090—098 Ressons for Occurrence .1023.23 Refunding of Debt .1027.07 EXCHANGE ADJUSTMENTS Deferral Method .1082.06; 1082.12; 1081.27—29 Definition .1082.06; 1082.12; 1081.27—29 Definition .1082.06; 1082.12; 1081.27—29 Definition .1082.06; 1082.212; 1081.27—29 Definition .1082.06; 1082.26—32 Income Determination .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.26 .1082.06 .10	 Changes i Changes i Classeficat Compens. Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Reco Cost Reco Definition Developm
.118 . Price—See Exchange Price .004; U1091.090—.098 .004; U1091.090—.098 .004; U1091.090—.098 Reasons for Occurrence .118 When Recorded (S-1) .017 When Recorded (S-1) .018	Changes i Changes i Classes Classifical Compens. Plans Computer Cost of Sa Cost Recc Cost Recc Definition Developm III Disposal c Exclusion Immediat Income D Income D Income T Income T Income T Incatallmer Installmer

EXCHANGE PRICE—continued Relation to Cost of Production 1023.23 Relation to Present Value 4111.08—09;
4111A.01-02
EXCHANGE RATES Definition
EXCHANGEABILITY . Research and Development Costs 4211.46
EXCLUSIONS FROM TAXABLE INCOME Distinguished from Credits
EXECUTORY CONTRACTS
Effects Not Recognized 1026.10; 1026.26 Lease Agreements 5351.07-08 Rights Not Recorded 1024.12 When Recorded (S-1E) 1027.07
EXERCISE OF WARRANTS . Anti-Dilutive Exercise 2011.35; U2011.217
. 222 . Debt with Warrants
Price
Tendering Debt in Exercise 2011 37
U2011.230—235 Tendering Debt Optional
EXPENSES Application of Principles 1026.25; 4311.77_
.80 Assets Not Carried Forward (S-1A)
. Basic Element of Financial Accounting
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting 1022.18 Category in Income Statement 1022.04; 2012.04 2012.04 Changes in Concept 1025.18 Changes in Estimates 1025.1011 Classification for Interim Reports 2071.12 Compensation, Employee Stock Plans 4062.1215 Computer Software 4211-3.02; 4211-3.05; 4211-3.08 Cost of Sales, Other Than Products 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [M-1F(1)] 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Definition 1025.21; 1026.1819 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.10- .11; 2062.3033; 2062.3540; 2062.4344 Disposal of Segment 2012.1617
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting 1022.18 Category in Income Statement 1022.04 Changes in Concept 1025.04 Changes in Concept 1025.18 Changes in Estimates 1051.1011 Classification for Interim Reports 2071.12 Compensation, Employee Stock Plans 4062.1215 Computer Software 4211-3.02; 4211-3.05; 4211-3.08 Cost of Sales, Other Than Products 1027.25 Cost Recovery Method [M-1F(1)] 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Definition 1025.21; 1026.1819 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.1011; 2062.3033; 2062.3540; 2062.4344 Disposal of Segment 2012.1617 Exclusions 1026.18 Immediate Recognition 1026.24; 4211.48-
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting 1022.18 Category in Income Statement 1022.04; 2012.04 Changes in Concept 1025.18 Changes in Estimates 1051.1011 Classes 1026.18 Classification for Interim Reports 2071.12 Compensation, Employee Stock Plans 2071.1315 Computer Software 4211-3.02; 4211-3.05; 4211-3.08 Cost of Sales, Other Than Products 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [M-1F(1)] 1027.07 Definition 1025.21; 1026.1819 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.10- .11; 2062.3033; 2062.3540; 2062.4344 Disposal of Segment 2012.1617 Exclusions 1026.24; 4211.48- .49 Immediate Recognition 1026.24; 4211.48- .49
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting 1022.18 Category in Income Statement 1022.04; 2012.04 Changes in Concept 1025.18 Changes in Estimates 1051.1011 Classification for Interim Reports 2071.12 Compensation, Employee Stock Plans 4062.1215 Computer Software 4211-3.02; 4211-3.05; 4211-3.08 Cost of Sales, Other Than Products 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [M-1F(1)] 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Definition 1025.21; 1026.1819 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.10- .11; 2062.3033; 2062.3540; 2062.4344 Disposal of Segment 2012.1617 Exclusions .1026.18 Immediate Recognition .1026.24; 4211.42 .49 Immediate Recognition (M-6C) .1027.10 Included in Basic Elements .1025.10
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting 1022.18 Category in Income Statement 1022.04; 2012.04 Changes in Concept 1025.18 Changes in Estimates 1051.1011 Classes 1026.18 Compensation for Interim Reports 2071.12 Compensation, Employee Stock Plans 4062.1215 Computer Software 4211-3.02; 4211-3.05; 4211-3.08 Cost of Sales, Other Than Products 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [M-1F(1)] 1027.07 Definition 1025.21; 1026.1819 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.1011; 2062.3033; 2062.3540; 2062.4344 Disposal of Segment 2012.1617 Exclusions 1026.24; 4211.4849 Immediate Recognition (M-6C) 1027.10 Included in Basic Elements 1025.18 Included in Basic Elements 1025.18
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting 1022.18 Category in Income Statement 1022.04; 2012.04 Changes in Concept 1025.18 Changes in Estimates 1051.1011 Classes 1026.18 Classification for Interim Reports 2071.12 Compensation, Employee Stock Plans 4062.1215 Computer Software 4211-3.02; 4211-3.05; 4211-3.08 Cost of Sales, Other Than Products 1027.25 Cost Recovery Method [M-1F(1)] 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Definition 1025.2343; 2062.3540; 2062.4344 Disposal of Segment 2012.1617 Exclusions .1026.24; 4211.4849 Immediate Recognition (M-6C) .1027.10 Included in Basic Elements .1025.18 Income Determination .4011.3; U4091.012
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting 1022.18 Category in Income Statement 1022.04; 2012.04 Changes in Concept 1025.18 Changes in Estimates 1051.1011 Classes 1026.18 Compensation for Interim Reports 2071.12 Compensation, Employee Stock Plans 4062.1215 Computer Software 4211-3.02; 4211-3.05; 4211-3.08 Cost of Sales, Other Than Products 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [M-1F(1)] 1027.07 Definition 1025.21; 1026.1819 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.1011; 2062.3033; 2062.3540; 2062.4344 Disposal of Segment 2012.1617 Exclusions 1026.24; 4211.4849 Immediate Recognition (M-6C) 1027.10 Incude in Basic Elements 1025.18 Income Determination 4211.4749 Income Determination 4091.13; U4091.012 Income Determination 1026.21
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting 1022.18 Category in Income Statement 1022.04; 2012.04 Changes in Concept 1025.18 Changes in Estimates 1051.1011 Classification for Interim Reports 2071.12 Compensation, Employee Stock Plans 4062.1215 Computer Software 4211-3.02; 4211-3.05; 4211-3.08 Cost of Sales, Other Than Products 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [M-1F(1)] 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.10- .11; 2062.3033; 2062.3540; 2062.4344 Disposal of Segment 2012.1617 Exclusions 1026.18 Immediate Recognition (M-6C) 1027.10 Income Determination .4211.4749 Income Determination .4211.4749 Income Determination .1026.32 Inflation or Deflation, Effects .1026.32 Installment Method [M-1F(1)] .1027.07 Installment Method [M-1F(1)] .1027.07
20/1.1314 Basic Element of Financial Accounting 1022.18 Category in Income Statement 1022.04; 2012.04 Changes in Concept 1025.18 Changes in Estimates 1051.1011 Classes 1026.18 Classification for Interim Reports 2071.12 Compensation, Employee Stock Plans 4062.1215 Computer Software 4211-3.02; 4211-3.05; 4211-3.08 Cost of Sales, Other Than Products 1027.25 Cost Recovery Method [M-1F(1)] 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Definition 1025.2343; 2062.3540; 2062.4344 Disposal of Segment 2012.1617 Exclusions .1026.24; 4211.4849 Immediate Recognition (M-6C) .1027.10 Included in Basic Elements .1025.18 Income Determination .4011.3; U4091.012

AICPA Professional Standards

. .

EXPENSES—continued
Measurement Principle (M-1G) 1027.07
Nondeductible, Examples
. Pooling of interests (M-2D) 1027.00, 1001.58:111001.133_135
. Purchase of a Business
U1091.133—.135
Recognition 1026.18—.25
. Recognition (S-1G) 1027.07; 1027.07
Relation to Economic Elements 1022.12:
1022.18; 1022.12 Rental Payments
Rental Payments
Research and Development Costs
. Sources
. Systematic and Rational Allocation
. Systematic and Rational Allocation
(M-6B)
. Systematic and Rational Allocation
(S-6B)
. Time Periods
EXPERIMENTATION
Adaptation of Accounting
Principles
. Price-Level Restatements 10/1.16
EXPLORATION
. Advances by Pipeline Companies
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.35
. Extractive Industries
4211.03 Production Activity
. Froduction Activity
EXPOSURE
. Accounting Research Study No. 3 1010.02
Basic Postulates 1010.04
Broad Principles
Draft (1971) Translating Foreign Operations
Draft (1973) Foreign Currency
Translation
Summary of Comments 1082.2025
. Draft (1974) Accounting and
Reporting by Development Stage
Companies, Subsidiaries, Divisions, and Other Components
2062 23-25 2062 40-41 2062 44 2062 46
2062.4849; 2062.54
Draft (1974) Accounting for
Contingencies 4311.21; 4311.54; 4311.56;
4311.61—.63; 4311./6; 4311.81; 4311.88;
4311.9091; 4311.97; 4311.104
. Draft (1974) Accounting for Research
and Dovolonment Costs (211-22)
and Development Costs
and Development Costs
. Draft (1974) Classification of Short-
Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced
Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced 2033.0607; 2033.1819; 2033.2631
Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced 2033.0607; 2033.1819; 2033.2631 Draft (1974) Reporting Accounting
 Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced 2033.0607; 2033.1819; 2033.2631 Draft (1974) Reporting Accounting Changes In Interim Financial
 Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced
 Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced 2033.0607; 2033.1819; 2033.2631 Draft (1974) Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements
 Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced
 Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced
 Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced
 Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced 2033.0607; 2033.1819; 2033.2631 Draft (1974) Reporting Accounting Changes In Interim Financial Statements
 Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced
 Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced 2033.0607; 2033.1819; 2033.2631 Draft (1974) Reporting Accounting Changes In Interim Financial Statements
 Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced
 Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced
 Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced
Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced
 Draft (1974) Classification of Short- Term Obligations Expected to be Refinanced

EXTERNAL EVENTS

EXTERNAL EVENTS
Definition
Method Effects on Resource Prices
Other Than Transfers (M-4) 1027.09
Other Than Transfers (S-4) 1027.09
. Principles of Selection and
Measurement
. Types
EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT 5362.01—.22 Amortization of Difference 5362.06—.07
. Amortization of Difference 5362.0607
Applicability of Opinion
Classification of Gains and Losses
2013.08—09; 2013.15—.16 . Comments on Exposure Draft 2013.13—.17
Compared to Conversion 5362.02-03
Compared to Conversion 5362.02-03 Convertible Debt 5362.11-15; 5362.21
Current Practice
. Debt Tendered to Exercise
Warrants
Definitions of Terms
Difference Defined
Economic Nature 5362 16-17
Effective Date 2013 11-12: 2013 17: 5362 22
Economic Nature
.21
. Income Tax Effects 2013.05; 2013.0809
Materiality
Methods of Extinguishment 5362.04
. Methods of Extinguishment
. Opinion
5362.18—.21
. Regulated Companies
. Retroactive Restatement
. Sinking-Fund Requirements
2013.16
2013.16 . Statement of FASB
2013.16 . Statement of FASB 2013.01–.17 . Time of Extinguishment 2013.03 EXTRACTIVE INDUSTRIES 2000 . Development Stage Enterprises 2062.25– . Full Cost Method 208
2013.16 Statement of FASB
2013.16 . Statement of FASB
2013.16 2013.16 Statement of FASB
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.16 Statement of FASB
2013.16 2013.01—.17 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.01—.17 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.01—.17 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment
2013.16 2013.0117 Time of Extinguishment

15,231

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS-continued	
Erosion of Criteria	
Examples Meeting Criteria	
Examples of Ordinary Items	
. Expropriation	
Extinguishment of Debt 2013.0809	
. Income Statement Presentation 2012.10- 	
.12; 2013.09	
. Income Taxes	
. Infrequency of Occurrence	
. Intangible Assets	
. Interim Period Disclosure	
. Investment Credit Carryforwards	
Materiality	
. Operating Loss Carryforwards 2012.07;	
Operating Loss Carryforwards 2012.07; 2013.15; 4091.44; 4091.60; U4091.079—.082	
. Pooling of Interests	
Disposal of Assets	
Presentation of Gains and Losses 1027.25;	
2013.0809	
Price-Level Restatements	
Relation to Net Income	
. Restatements 2012.27; U2012.009010	
Sinking-Fund Requirements	
2013.16	
. Tax Allocation within Period U4091.115-	
.120	
. Tax Effects	
. Translation of Foreign Currencies 1082.16	
. Unusual Nature	
FACILITIES, EMERGENCY	
Depreciation and Amortization 4073.01—	
. Depreciation and Amortization 40/3.01—	
.10	
FAIR COMPENSATION	
Claims (Terminated War and Defense	
Contracts)	
FAIR PRESENTATION	
Condition for Consolidation 1027.22	
. Conditions To Be Met 1027.15	
. Conditions To Be Met 1027.15	
Conditions To Be Met	

Device for Allocating Cost [M-1A(2)] Identifiable Assets 1091.22; 5141.25—26 Leased Property Marketable Securities 1091.74—76;
Marketable Securities
1041.15—.16 Not Determinable .1041.17; 1041.20; 1041.26 Notes Issued in Bankruptcy .111-1.04 Notes Receivable/Payable .4111.11 Owners' Investments .1023.23; 1026.09 Owners' Investments .1027.08 Preferred Stock .1091.73 Property, Cash Yield Test .1021.08 Sale and Leaseback Operations .5351.10 Sale and Leaseback Operations .5561.10 Stock Option and Stock Purchase .1091.89 Transfers, Other Than Owners .1041.06
Transfers With Owners
Revenue Recognition 1026.16 Revenue Recognition (M-6D) 1027.10 Revenue Recognition (S-6D) 1027.10
FEATURES—See Basic Features
FEDERAL BANKRUPTCY ACT Debt Arrangements
FEDERAL INCOME TAXES—See Income Taxes
FEDERAL RESERVE BOARD Standby Letters of Credit
FEDERAL RESERVE BULLETIN Source, Bank Prime Interest Rates
FEDERAL RESERVE BULLETIN Source, Bank Prime Interest Rates U2011.141 FEES Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts—See also Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts 4041.01—.22
FEDERAL RESERVE BULLETIN Source, Bank Prime Interest Rates U2011.141 FEES Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts—See
FEDERAL RESERVE BULLETIN Source, Bank Prime Interest Rates U2011.141 FEES Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts 4041.01—.22 Pooling of Interests Expenses 1091.58; Professional, Pension Plans 4063A.06 Purchase of a Business V1091.133—.135 Timing Differences Consolidation Policies 2051.04 Leasing Activities 4051.03; 4051.03; 4052.02;
FEDERAL RESERVE BULLETIN Source, Bank Prime Interest Rates U2011.141 FEES Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts 4041.01—.22 Pooling of Interests Expenses 1091.133 Professional, Pension Plans 4063A.06 Purchase of a Business U1091.133—.135 Timing Differences 4091A.04 FINANCE COMPANIES Consolidation Policies Consolidation Policies 2051.04 Leasing Activities 4052.1014 "Leveraged Lease" Transactions
FEDERAL RESERVE BULLETIN Source, Bank Prime Interest Rates U2011.141 FEES Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts 4041.01—.22 Pooling of Interests Expenses 1091.58; Professional, Pension Plans 4063A.06 Purchase of a Business U1091.133—.135 Timing Differences Consolidation Policies Consolidation Policies 2051.03; 4051.08; 4052.02; 4052.10—.14 "Leveraged Lease" Transactions U2045.001—.005 Unclassified Balance Sheets 2033.07 FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING Accounting Defined Accrual Defined 1022.27; 1025.08 Appraising Content 1020.07 Appraising Managerial Effectiveness Effectiveness 1022.07
FEDERAL RESERVE BULLETIN Source, Bank Prime Interest Rates
FEDERAL RESERVE BULLETIN Source, Bank Prime Interest Rates

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING—continued
Definition
. Development Stage Enterprises 2002.01-
.55
Discounting
Dynamic Nature 1022.24; 1023.15; 1029.02-
.03; 1029.13
. Economic Elements 1022.12; 1022.18;
1023.22
Economic Organization 1023.15
. Emphasis on Income Statement 1026.36
. Environment—See Environment of
Financial Accounting
. Estimation 1025.10
. Evaluation of Principles
. Examination of Content
Evaluation of Principles
. General Objectives
. General-Purpose Information 1022.17;
1022.27; 1024.12
. Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles—See Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles
. Historical Nature 1022.27; 1022.29; 4311.67-
.68, 4311.93
History in Money Terms 1023 02
Improving Information 102210:102216
Improving Information 1022.10; 1022.16; 1024.13; 1024.38; 1024.41
1024.13, 1024.30, 1024.41
Judgment
. Limitations
. Measurement
Bases
Concepts 1023.28; 1025.07
Difficulties
. Objectives—See Objectives of Financial Accounting and Financial
Financial Accounting and Financial
Statements
Policies, Accounting
. Prices, Exchange 1023.3033; 1025.09
. Proposals for Change 1029.08-13
. Purchasing Power Changes 1022.27;
. Purchasing Power Changes
. Purchasing Power Changes
. Purchasing Power Changes 1022.27;
. Purchasing Power Changes
Purchasing Power Changes
. Purchasing Power Changes
 Purchasing Power Changes
 Purchasing Power Changes
Purchasing Power Changes
Purchasing Power Changes
 Purchasing Power Changes
Purchasing Power Changes
Purchasing Power Changes
 Purchasing Power Changes
 Purchasing Power Changes
Purchasing Power Changes
Purchasing Power Changes
 Purchasing Power Changes
Purchasing Power Changes
Purchasing Power Changes 1022.27; 1026.3032 Purpose, Basic 1022.13; 1024.01 Qualitative Objectives 1022.13; 1024.01 Qualitative Objectives 1024.1337 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 1022.08; 1022.25; 1024.12 Relation to Pricing Policy 4311.81; 4311.94 Relevance as Primary Objective 1024.0506 Research and Development Defined 1024.0506 Research on User Needs 1023.09 Rule 203—Accounting Principles 520.01 Scope and Relevance 1022.2526 Selection and Measurement Principles 1022.2526 Standards—See Standards, Financial Accounting 1022.25 Subject Matter 1022.07 Unit of Measure 1021.06; 1022.25 Subject Matter 1022.07; 1022.27 Unit of Measure 1022.2830; Use of Information 1022.2831; 1023.04 .09 Users' Decision Processes 1022.10; Verifiable Measures 1022.26; 1022.27 FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 520.06; 1071.50 Designated to Establish Principles 510.08; S20.06; 1071.50
Purchasing Power Changes 1022.27; 1026.3032 Purpose, Basic 1022.13; 1024.01 Qualitative Objectives 1024.1337 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 1022.08; 1022.25; 1024.12 Relation to Pricing Policy 4311.81; 4311.94 Relevance as Primary Objective 1024.0506 Research and Development Defined 1024.0506 Research on User Needs 1022.2526 Scope and Relevance 1022.2526 Selection and Measurement Principles 1022.2526 Standards—See Standards, Financial Accounting 1022.27 Structure 1021.06; 1022.25 Subject Matter 1022.17; 1022.07 Terminology in Statement 1022.06; 1022.27 Unit of Measure 1022.08; 1022.27 Use of Information 1022.2831; 1023.04- .09 Users' Decision Processes 1022.10; 1022.27 FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD .00 Designated to Establish Principles .510.08; 520.06; 1071.50 Interpretation No. 1 .0510106 Interpretation No. 2 .4111.10105 Interpretation No. 3 .4063-1.0106
Purchasing Power Changes 1022.27; 1026.3032 Purpose, Basic 1022.13; 1024.01 Qualitative Objectives 1024.1337 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 1022.08; 1022.25; 1024.12 Relation to Pricing Policy 4311.81; 4311.94 Relevance as Primary Objective 1024.0506 Research and Development Defined 1024.0506 Research on User Needs 1023.09 Rule 203—Accounting Principles 520.01 Scope and Relevance 1022.2526 Selection and Measurement Principles 1022.2526 Standards—See Standards, Financial Accounting 1022.27 Structure 1021.06; 1022.25 Subject Matter 1021.06; 1022.27 Unit of Measure 1022.17; 1022.27 Terminology in Statement 1022.03.04 .09 Use of Information 1022.2830; 1022.27 Unit of Measure 1022.28.1; 1023.04 .09 Users' Decision Processes 1022.210 Verifiable Measures 1022.26; 1022.27 FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD 520.06; 1071.50 Interpretation No. 1 10510106 Interpret
Purchasing Power Changes 1022.27; 1026.3032 Purpose, Basic 1022.13; 1024.01 Qualitative Objectives 1024.1337 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 1022.08; 1022.25; 1024.12 Relation to Pricing Policy 4311.81; 4311.94 Relevance as Primary Objective 1024.0506 Research and Development Defined 1024.0506 Research on User Needs 1022.2526 Scope and Relevance 1022.2526 Selection and Measurement Principles 1022.2526 Standards—See Standards, Financial Accounting 1022.27 Structure 1021.06; 1022.25 Subject Matter 1022.17; 1022.07 Terminology in Statement 1022.06; 1022.27 Unit of Measure 1022.08; 1022.27 Use of Information 1022.2831; 1023.04- .09 Users' Decision Processes 1022.10; 1022.27 FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD .00 Designated to Establish Principles .510.08; 520.06; 1071.50 Interpretation No. 1 .0510106 Interpretation No. 2 .4111.10105 Interpretation No. 3 .4063-1.0106

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
BOARD—continued
. Standards—see Standards, Financial
Accounting
. Statement No. 1
. Statement No. 2
Statement No. 3
Statement No. 5
Statement No. 6
Statement No. 7
. Status of Interpretations
FINANCIAL ANALYSTS
. Interviews on Research and
Development 4211.20; 4211.50; 4211.59
. Need for Information on Diversified
Companies
FINANCIAL EXECUTIVES INSTITUTE
Foreign Translation Practices 1082.02;
1082.18; 1082.21
. Survey on Contingencies
FINANCIAL EXECUTIVES RESEARCH
FOUNDATION
Research on Diversified Companies
FINANCIAL INTEREST
. Definition
FINANCIAL POSITION
Accrual Basis
Assets Defined
Balance Sheet Defined
Basic Financial Statements 1027.17
Changes in Financial Position—See also Statements of Changes in
Financial Position 1022.04–.07; 1023.22;
1025.13
Comparability, Owning v. Leasing, 5352.02
. Comparability, Single Enterprise 1024.25
Definition
. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.02-
.03
. Foreign Currency Translation 1082.04–.06; 1082.27; 1082.30–.31
1002.27, 1082.30-31
. Interim Financial Statements 2071.02; 2071.15; 2071.30
. Liabilities Defined
Objectives, Particular Statements 1024.03
. Relation to Economic Elements 1023.22;
1025.13
. Types of Information
. Unit of Measure
. Working Capital 2031.03
FINANCIAL PRESS
. Use of Financial Information 1023.06
. Use of Financial Information
Use of Financial Information 1023.06 FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION
Use of Financial Information 1023.06 FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION
Use of Financial Information

15,233

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

FINANCIAL STATEMENT
PRESENTATION—continued Deferred Taxes 4091.55—58; U4091.128—136
Departures From Established
Principles
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1022.02; 1027 17: 1027 26: 2045 01
Discontinued Operations
Diversified Companies—See also Diversified Companies
Division of Broad Operating Principles
Earnings per Share
Statements
Extinguishment of Debt
Foreign Currency Translation 1081.1222; 1082.0607; 1082.2632
Form of Statements 1027.27
Format of Funds Statements 2021.09—.11
Format of Income Statements 1051.19; 2012.02–12
. Historical Summaries
Change in Completed Contract Method
Change in Depreciation Method
Pofinancing Short-Term
Obligations
U4091.115—127 . Interim Financial Data 2071.30—.33; 2072.08; 2072.11—.14
. Issue Cost
Joint Ventures, Corporate
Lessors
. Loss Contingencies
Materiality
. Net of Tax Method 4091.53—.54; 4091.63; U4091.129—.130
New Forms Proposed
Nonmonetary Transactions
.004 . Obligations, Short-Term 2033.15; 2033.20
. Operating Loss Carryforwards U4091.079—.082
. Pension Plans U4063.118—.120; 4063-1.04 . Pooling of Interests 1091.61; U1091.080—.085
Price-Level Changes 1071.01-50
Receivables
. Relation to Objectives 1027.14
. Relation to Pervasive Principles 1027.14
. Relation to Selection and Measurement
. Research and Development Costs 4211.15—.16
. Results of Operations 2012.08-12
Review of Form and Content 2010.01
.25; 4095.33
. Statement of Principles
.30; 4095.33

FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION-continued 2071.30-.33: Summarized Interim Data 2072.08: 2072.14 Undistributed Earnings of Subsidiaries 4095.14; 4095.32; U4095.001-005 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Basic . . Identified Proposals for Change 1029.10 Types 1022.02 Change in Accounting Estimate . . . 1051.31-.33 . Change in Accounting Principle 1051.15-.30; 1051-1.01-.06 Change in Reporting Entity 1051.34-.35 Changes in Financial Position-See Statements of Changes in Financial Position Combined—See Combined Financial Statements Combined Corporation (M-2B) 1027.08 Common Stock Equivalents 2011.39; U2011.142 Conditions For Fair Presentation 1027.15 Consolidated—See Consolidated **Financial Statements** Current Value of Assets 1022.27 2062.42-.49 Errors—See Errors in Financial Statements Exchange Adjustments 1082.05-.06; 1082.26--.32 . . 1027.27 Form of Statements Fundamental Relationship . . . 1022.17; 1022.27; 1025.13; 1025.23 General-Purpose Reports 1022.01 Historical Nature ... 1022.27; 1022.29; 4311.67-.68; 4311.93 Integrity Impaired by Uncertainties Interim Statements 1027.21; 2071.01-.35; 2072.01-...25 . Lease Disclosure by Lessees 5352.07-.11 Liquidation Proceeds 1022.27 Litigation, Claims, and Notes-See Notes to Financial Statements Objectives—See Objectives of Financial Accounting and Financial Statements Particular Statements 1024.24 . Arrangement 2045.01--.16 Prediction of Future 1022.29 1026.30-.32

AICPA Professional Standards

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—continued Purpose, Basic
Burpose Basic 1022 13 1024 01
. Furpose, basic
Relation Between Statements 1022.17
1025.13; 2021.05; U2021.001—.004 Reliability
. Reliability
. Reliance on Single Measure 1022.31
. Responsibility of Management 510.11 Restricted for Internal Use 2021.07; 2045.10
. Separate Disclosure of
Components
. Source
. Special-Purpose Statements U2011.070-
071: 2021 07: 2045 10
. Subsequent Events 1027.26; 4311.34
. Supplementary Information
Required
. Time Periods
. Unaudited
. Unincorporated Businesses U5131.008
.012
. U. S. Dollar Statements 1022.27
. Use of Information
. Users' Needs and Expectations 1022.10; 1051.15; 5352.0102
FINANCING
. Activities of the Entity 1027.20; 2021.04
. Agreement—See Borrowing Contract . Convertible Debt
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11;
2062.43—.44; 2062.48—.51
Disclosure in Funds Statements 2021.06
07
Early Extinguishment of Debt
Employee Stock Option Plans 4061.04-05
. Examples of Refinancing
Extinguishment of Debt
. Management Ability to Refinance 2033.11;
2033.22
. Management Intent to Refinance 2033.10;
2033.2122; 2033.24
Property Acquisitions
. Refinancing Short-Term Obligations
FINANCING INSTITUTIONS
. Investment Credit
Leasing Transactions Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors
4052 10-14
4052.1014
4052.1014 . ''Leveraged'' Leases
4052.1014 . ''Leveraged'' Leases U2045.001005; U4091.141142
4052.1014 ''Leveraged'' Leases U2045.001005; U4091.141142 FINANCING METHOD
4052.1014 ''Leveraged'' Leases
4052.1014 . "Leveraged" Leases
4052.1014 "Leveraged" Leases
4052.1014 . "Leveraged" Leases
4052.1014 . "Leveraged" Leases
4052.1014
4052.1014 . "Leveraged" Leases
4052.1014 . "Leveraged" Leases
4052.1014 . "Leveraged" Leases
4052.1014
4052.1014 "Leveraged" Leases U2045.001005; U4091.141142 FINANCING METHOD Investment Credit U4091.141142 FINANCING METHOD Investment Credit U2045.009010 Leasing Activities of Lessors
4052.1014 . "Leveraged" Leases
4052.1014 "Leveraged" Leases U2045.001005; U4091.141142 FINANCING METHOD Investment Credit U2045.004005; "Leveraged Lease" Transactions "Leveraged Lease" Transactions "Leveraged Lease" Transactions Timing Differences 4091A.02 FINISHED GOODS Cost or Market Rule Statt Dispositions(M-1B) Inventory Definition Statt Dispositions(M-1B) 1051.0207 Charge in Method 1051.2627 Flow of Cost Factors 1051.0506 Interim Financial Statements 2071.14 Inventory Pricing Principle 1027.01 Remarketing Agreement 4052.13 FISCAL PERIODS Development Stage Enterprises 2062.43
4052.1014 "Leveraged" Leases U2045.001005; U4091.141142 FINANCING METHOD Investment Credit U4094.009010 Leasing Activities of Lessors 4051.05 "Leveraged Lease" Transactions Timing Differences 4091A02 FINISHED GOODS Cost or Market Rule 5121.1213 Inventory Costs 1051-1.03; 5121.05 Inventory Definition 5121.03 FIRST-IN, FIRST-OUT Asset Dispositions(M-1B) 1027.07 Change in Method 1051.09; 1051.14; 1051.2627 Flow of Cost Factors 5121.0506 Interim Financial Statements 2071.14 Inventory Pricing Principle 1027.01 Remarketing Agreement 4052.13 FISCAL PERIODS Development Stage Enterprises 2062.43 Differences, Affiliated Companies 2051.05
4052.1014 . "Leveraged" Leases
4052.1014 "Leveraged" Leases U2045.001005; U4091.141142 FINANCING METHOD Investment Credit U4094.009010 Leasing Activities of Lessors 4051.05 "Leveraged Lease" Transactions Timing Differences 4091A02 FINISHED GOODS Cost or Market Rule .5121.1213 Inventory Costs 1051-1.03; 5121.05 Inventory Definition

FIXED ASSETS-See Property FIXED FEES—See Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts FIXED PRICE WAR AND DEFENSE FLOW OF COST FACTORS FLOW THROUGH METHOD Investment Credit 4094.03; 4094.06; 4094.17; U4091.107-.108; U4094.005-.010 FOOTNOTES—See Notes to Financial Statements FORECASTS Development State Enterprises 2062.47 FOREIGN BRANCHES—See Foreign Subsidiaries FOREIGN CURRENCY Decreased Obligations Recorded Decreased Obligations Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Decreased Obligations Recorded (S-5F) 1027.09 Devaluations 1027.25 Nonmonetary Assets 10718.02 Translation of Foreign Balances 1027.24: 1082.01-.32; 2012.23; 2045.13 Change in Rates 1081.12; 1081.16; 1081.20-.21: 1082.09 Current Assets 1081.14; 1082.08-.12 Current Liabilities 1081.17; 1082.08-.12 Depreciable Assets ... 1081.12; 1082.09; 1082.27 1082.08; 1082.28; 1082.32 Inventories 1081.15-.16 Translation, Foreign Currencies ..., 1082.06; 2012 23 Examples of Disclosure 1082.26-.32 . Price-Level Restatements 1071.45 FOREIGN OPERATIONS—See also Foreign Exchange and Foreign Combined Financial Statements 2051.22 Consolidation Policy 1081.08--.09 Departures from Gold Standard 1081.02 Disclosure of Foreign Earnings 1081.05
 Dividends
 1081.20

 Earnings
 1081.04-.05

 Foreign Assets
 1081.06
 Gains or Losses, Foreign Exchange

 Image: Constraint of the second se

Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

FOREIGN OPERATIONS—continued . Price-Level Restatements 1071.24; 1071.26; 1071.45
Provisions for Losses
. Uncertainties
FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES—See also Foreign Operations and Foreign Exchange
1081.04-05 Equity Method of Accounting
.14 . Timing Differences
FOREIGN TAX CREDITS . Effect on Deferred Taxes
FOREIGN TAXES Based on Income
FORMULA PERCENTAGE SETTLEMENT Terminated War and Defense Contracts
FOUNDERS Investments, Noncash Assets (M-2C)
FRANCHISE TAXES
FRANCHISES Acquired in Business Combinations
. Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.13 . Identified Intangible Assets 5141.01
FULLY DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Light Didtor, optics and variable and variab
. Conversion for Primary Only U2011.147–
. Conversion Option Delayed U2011.122–
. Conversion Rate 2011A.13; U2011.037; U2011.341—.343
Conversions During Period
. Deferred Stock Options
Dilution Test
Dual Presentation 2011.15—16; U2011.010; U2011.067; U2011.090—.091

FULLY DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE--continued U2011.328 . Earnings Conditions . If Converted Method 2011A.06; U2011.103-.104; U2011.147-.150 . Illustrative Statement 2011C.03-.04 . Outstanding Part of Period U2011.197-.199 . Other Potentially Dilutive Securities U2011.054 . Periods Presented . . . 2011.17-.18; U2011.073-074 . Quarterly Computations U2011.207-.212 2011.41 . Retroactive Adjustments U2011.039-.041 . Securities Included U2011.003; U2011.095 . Securities Issued Prior to 6/1/69 ... 2011.46; U2011.050; U2011.115; U2011.129—.131; U2011.344—.352 . Shares Issued on Exercise 2011.42; U2011.095 . Subsidiaries' Securities . 2011A.20-.24; U2011.334--.340 . Treasury Stock Method . . Anti-Dilutive Exercise . .. U2011.222 . . Shares Issued on Exercise U2011.213-.216 . Year-to-Date Computations U2011.207-212 FUND . Definition, Pension Plans 4063B.22 . Restrictions on Transfers of Funds . Segregated to Liquidate Debt 2031.06; 2033.09 FUNDAMENTALS OF FINANCIAL Generally Accepted Accounting Reactions to Exposure 1010.02 . Statement by APB 1010.01--.04 FUNDED . Definition, Pension Plans 4063B.23 FUNDING AGENCY FUNDING INSTRUMENTS . Accrued Benefit Cost Method 4063A.14 . Aggregate Method 4063A.30 Attained Age Normal Method 4063A.33

FUNDING METHOD—See Actuarial Cost Methods

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

15,236	AC Top References are to AC section
FUNDING REQUIRE	MENTS rements
Influence of Fede	ral Income Taxes
. Insured Plans . Overfunding	
. Pension Reform	Act (1974) 4063-1.0305
FUNDS STATEMENT Changes in Financ	F—See Statements of ial Position
FUTURE EXCHANGE	
. Definition	
. Measurement Ba	se 1027.05
FUTURE LOSSES	ee Contingencies
GAIN CONTINGENC	
. Disclosure . Effect of Stateme	
GAINS OR LOSSES	4063A.08; 4063A.19
Aggregate Meth Definition General Descrip Illustration Individual Level	4063A.27 4063B.05 btion 4063.25—.33
Recognition	
. Disposal of Segm	Gee Contingencies ent 2012.0809; 2012.15 .16; 2012.23; 2071.21; U2012.003
. Equity Method .	
. Exchange of Noni	monetary Assets 1041.01—.02; 1041.18; 1041.27
Amortization El	thod
Definition Methods of Extin	
Refunding Reporting Gains Extraordinary Iter	5362.0810 s and Losses 2013.0117 ms 2012.11; 2013.0809
. Foreign Exchange	2
	e Contracts 1082.20—.21; 1082.27; 1082.32
. Interim Period Co . Leases Equivalent	osts
. Portion of Line of	
	n Products 1027.25
GENERAL ACCEPTA	

. Voting Procedure 510.06

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

EXPENSES

Actuarial Assumptions
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.35
Expense Recognition
Inventory Pricing
Pension Plans
Research and Development Costs

GENERAL OBJECTIVES—See Objectives, General

GENERAL PRICE-LEVEL CHANGES—See Price-Level Changes

Price-Level Changes
GENERAL-PURPOSE FINANCIAL
INFORMATION
. Basic Feature of Financial
Accounting
. Characteristic of Financial
Accounting
. Users' Common Needs 1023.0/; 1024.16;
1025.12
GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING
PRINCIPLES
. Acceptability, General 1026.01; 1026.04
. Assets Defined
Assets Defined
Basis of Reporting 1022.25, 1026.01-02
Basic Postulates and Broad
Principles 1010.03
Broad Operating Principles—See
Broad Operating Principles
Change in Principles
Business Combinations 1091.42—.49 Change in Principles 1022.24; 1024.04; 1025.18; 1029.03; 1051.01—.40
. Condition for Consolidation
. Conditions for Fair Presentation 1027.15
Consensus Incorporated, 1022.19; 1022.23;
1026.01: 1026.03
1026.01; 1026.03 Conventional Nature 1022.23—.24; 1026.03
. Current Value of Assets
. Deferred Charges and Credits 1025.19;
Current Value of Assets
. Definition
Depreciation on Cost 40/1.0/08
. Detailed Principles—See Detailed
Principles Development Stage Enterprises 2062.02
. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.02 .03; 2062.06; 2062.10; 2062.3034; 2062.3839;
2062.42; 2062.4849
Disclosure of Accounting Policies
2045 05-08: 2045 12
Diversified Companies
Diversified Companies
Dual Effects of Events
. Earnings per Share 2011.05; U2011.070071
 Emergency Facilities, Depreciation and
Amortization
Equity Method
Evaluation of Principles
1029.02 Executory Contracts
Expenses Defined
. Extractive Industries
. Fair Presentation 1024.37; 1026.02; 1027.15
Fair Presentation
. Foreign Exchange 1081.22; 1082.06
. General Purpose Statements 2010.05 . General v. Specific Prices
General v. Specific Prices 10/10.05
. Historical Development
. Improvement and Evaluation 1024.01; 1024.11
. Income Statement 1022.04; 1027.19
. Income Tax Allocation 1025.19; 4091.05
. Interest Method of Amortization 5361.01-
.02

. International Standards 1029.12

GENERAL ACCEPTANCE

. Basis for Generally Accepted

GOODWILL—continued

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING Liquidation Proceeds 1022.27 Objectives, Particular Statements ... 1024.03 Offsetting Assets and Liabilities 2032.01 Pervasive Principles---See Pervasive Principles . Price-Level Information 1071.25-26; 1071.48
 Real Estate Companies
 2062.06

 Regulated Industries
 6011.01-05
 Relation to Basic Concepts 1026.03 . Relation to Basic Elements 1022.18; 1025.17-18 1025.01 Relation to Basic Features Relation to Environment 1022.24; 1025.01; . Relation To Financial Accounting ... 1022.08; 1022.25; 1024.12 1029.06 . Relation to Financial Statements 1026.01 . Relation to Objectives 1024.01; 1024.04; 1024.11; 1029.07 . Relation to Postulates 1022.23; 1026.03 . Revenue Defined 1025.21; 1026.12 Rule 203—Accounting Principles 520.01 Substantial Authoritative Support 1026.01 . Summary of Statement 1022.19-.23 . Unrealized Profit 4010.01 GIFTS . Measurement (M-3) 1027.08 GOING CONCERN Basic Feature of Financial Accounting 1022.17; 2031.02 .55 Losses on Valuation of Assets 2012.23 . Recognition of Costs/Expenses 2012.16 GOLD GOLD STANDARD . Foreign Operations 1081.02 GOODWILL . Accounting Research Study No. 10 . . Acquired in Business Combinations ... 5141.09 . Amortization ... 1091.90; 5141.17–23; U4091.050 . Business Acquired For Stock (M-2) Cost Excluding Identifiable Assets ... 5141.26

GOODWILL—continued		
. Equity Method	. 5131.	19
. Effect on Earnings	5141.	18
. Estimation of Value	5141	20
. Estimation of value		20
. Excess Cost over Proportionate		
Equity	1091.	99
. Failure to Recognize	1001	25
. Failure to Recognize	. 1091.	22
. Income Determination	. 5141.	20
. Matching Principle	5141.	21
. Measurement of Cost	6141	20
. Measurement of Cost	. 5141.	20
. Measurement Principle [M-1A(3)]	. 1027.	07
Nature of Asset	5141	20
Netters and Destroyed	E141	10
. Net income Reduced	. 5141.	10
Nonamortization Arguments	. 5141.	18
. Nonmonetary Item . Operating Loss Carryforwards U4091.	1071b	በ2
	10010	5
. Operating Loss Carryforwards	. 1091.8	5ð;
U4091.	1041	05
. Previously Recorded by Acquired		
	1001	~~
Company	. 1091.3	88
Recorded in Business		
Combinations 1091.08; 1091.11	1.1001	07
Combinations	1, 1091.	~
. Registration Costs	1381	40
. Retain Cost Indefinitely 5141.17	7.5141	19
Circle and Cost indefinitely	5141	21
Similarity to Other Assets	. 5141.	41
. Step-by-Step Acquisition U5141.	003—.0	06
. Term of Existence 5141.16; 5141.18	8.5141	22
	5, 5141.	22
. Unidentifiable Intangible Asset	. 5141.	01
Useful Life 1091.26:5141.17	7:5141	23
. Unidentifiable Intangible Asset Useful Life	1 24 2	26.
. value in Acquisition 1091.22, 109	1.242	-0,
Value in Future	5141	23
	E1 41	10
. Value Not Consumed	. 5141.	10
Value Retained	. 5141.	19
Write Offe 51/11 12:51/11 17:51/	11 20	21
Value in Future Value Not Consumed Value Retained Write-Offs5141.13; 5141.17; 514	+1.20	~1
GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS —See Cos	t _	
	l-	
Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts,		
Renegotiation and Terminated War ar	nd	
Defense Contracts		
OOVERNINGENT OFFICIALS		
GOVERNMENT OFFICIALS		
	. 1071.	06
. Price-Level Statements		06
		06
Price-Level Statements	15	
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share 2011.06; U	15 J2011.0	69
Price-Level Statements	15 J2011.0	69
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share 2011.06; U Member, Joint Venture	15 J2011.0	69
Price-Level Statements OVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share 2011.06: U Member, Joint Venture GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS	IS J2011.0 . 5131.	69 03
Price-Level Statements	IS J2011.0 _ 5131. 1.03—.	69 03 04
Price-Level Statements	IS J2011.0 _ 5131. 1.03—.	69 03 04
Price-Level Statements	IS J2011.0 _ 5131. 1.03—.	69 03 04
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	US J2011.0 . 5131. 1.03—. . 1081.	69 03 04 02
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	US J2011.0 . 5131. 1.03—. . 1081.	69 03 04 02
Price-Level Statements	US J2011.0 . 5131. 1.03—. . 1081.	69 03 04 02
Price-Level Statements	15 J2011.0 , 5131. 1.03—. , 1081. 1.01—.	69 03 04 02 02
Price-Level Statements	15 J2011.0 , 5131. 1.03—. , 1081. 1.01—.	69 03 04 02 02
Price-Level Statements	1.03 1.03 1.03 1.03 1.081 1.01 	69 03 04 02 02 02
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	15 J2011.0 5131. 1.03—. 1081. 1.01—. 2.01 —. 2011.3	69 03 04 02 02 02 03
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	15 J2011.0 5131. 1.03—. 1081. 1.01—. 2.01 —. 2011.3	69 03 04 02 02 02 03
Price-Level Statements	15 J2011.0 5131. 1.03—. 1081. 1.01—. 2.01 —. 2011.3	69 03 04 02 02 02 03
Price-Level Statements	VS J2011.0 , 5131. (1.03—) , 1081. (1.01—. 2.01—. 2011.3 268—.2	69 03 04 02 02 02 03 38; 70
Price-Level Statements	VS J2011.0 , 5131. (1.03—) , 1081. (1.01—. 2.01—. 2011.3 268—.2	69 03 04 02 02 02 03 38; 70
Price-Level Statements	45 J2011.0 . 5131. (1.03—) . 1081. (1.01—. 2.01—. 2011.3 268—.2 . 5352.0	69 03 04 02 02 02 03 88; 70
Price-Level Statements	VS J2011.0 , 5131. (1.03—) , 1081. (1.01—. 2.01—. 2011.3 268—.2	69 03 04 02 02 02 03 88; 70
Price-Level Statements	45 J2011.0 , 5131. 1.03—. , 1081. 1.01—. 2.01—. 2011.3 268—.2 . 5352.0 5352.	69 03 04 02 02 02 03 88; 70
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 , 5131. 1.03—. , 1081. 1.01—. 2.01—. 2011.3 268—.2 . 5352.0 5352.	69 03 04 02 02 02 03 88; 70
Price-Level Statements	45 J2011.0 , 5131. 1.03—. , 1081. 1.01—. 2.01—. 2011.3 268—.2 . 5352.0 5352.	69 03 04 02 02 02 03 88; 70
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share2011.06; L Member, Joint Venture GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS Accounting Requirements601 Foreign Operations	15 J2011.0 . 5131. (1.03—.) . 1081. (1.01—. 2.01—. . 2011.3 268—.2 . 5352.0 5 352.0	69 03 04 02 02 02 03 88; 70 04; 11
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	15 J2011.0 5131. 103—. 1081. 1.01—. 2.01 268—.2 5352.0 5352. 7 1071A	69 03 04 02 02 03 88;70 04;11
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	15 J2011.0 5131. 103—. 1081. 1.01—. 2.01 268—.2 5352.0 5352. 7 1071A	69 03 04 02 02 03 88;70 04;11
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	15 J2011.0 5131. 103—. 1081. 1.01—. 2.01 268—.2 5352.0 5352. 7 1071A	69 03 04 02 02 03 88;70 04;11
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	15 J2011.0 5131. 103—. 1081. 1.01—. 2.01 268—.2 5352.0 5352. 7 1071A	69 03 04 02 02 03 88;70 04;11
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 . 5131. (1.03—. . 1081. (1.01—. . 2011.3 268—.2 . 5352.0 5352. 7 1071A. . 1071A. . 1071.	69 03 04 02 02 03 88;70 04;11 01 31 06 12
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 . 5131. (1.03—. . 1081. (1.01—. . 2011.3 268—.2 . 5352.0 5352. 7 1071A. . 1071A. . 1071.	69 03 04 02 02 03 88;70 04;11 01 31 06 12
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 . 5131. (1.03—. . 1081. (1.01—. . 2011.3 268—.2 . 5352.0 5352. 7 1071A. . 1071A. . 1071.	69 03 04 02 02 03 88;70 04;11 01 31 06 12
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 , 5131. (1.03—.) 1.081. (1.01—. 2011 2068—.2 5352.0 5352.0 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. 1071A.	69 03 04 02 02 03 88;70 04;11 01 31 06 12
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 . 5131. 1.03 1.081. 1.01 2011.3 2682 . 5352.0 5352. 7 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. 1071A.	69 03 02 02 03 38;70 04;11 01 316 12 02 02
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 . 5131. 1.03 1.081. 1.01 2011.3 2682 . 5352.0 5352. 7 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. 1071A.	69 03 02 02 03 38;70 04;11 01 316 12 02 02
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 . 5131. 1.03 1.081. 1.01 2011.3 2682 . 5352.0 5352. 7 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. 1071A.	69 03 02 02 03 38;70 04;11 01 316 12 02 02
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 .5131. 1.03 .1081. 1.01 2011.3 2682 .5352.0 5352. 7 1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A.	69 03 02 02 03 38;70 04;11 01 31 06 12 02 30
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 .5131. 1.03 .1081. 1.01 2011.3 2682 .5352.0 5352. 7 1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A.	69 03 02 02 03 38;70 04;11 01 31 06 12 02 30
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 .5131. 1.03 .1081. 1.01 2011.3 2682 .5352.0 5352. 7 1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A.	69 03 02 02 03 38;70 04;11 01 31 06 12 02 30
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 .5131. 1.03 .1081. 1.01 2011.3 2682 .5352.0 5352. 7 1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A. .1071A.	69 03 02 02 03 38;70 04;11 01 31 06 12 02 30
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 5131. 1.03—1 1.081. 1.01—. 201—. 2011.2 268—.2 5352.0 5352.0 5352.7 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. 1071. 2071.	69 03 02 02 03 38;70 04;11 01 31 06 12 02 30
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	4S J2011.0 . 5131. 1.03 1.081. 1.01 2.01 2011.3 2682 . 5352.0 5352. 5 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. . 2071.	69 03 04 02 02 03 38;70 04;11 01 316 122 02 30 14
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	4S J2011.0 . 5131. 1.03 1.081. 1.01 2.01 2011.3 2682 . 5352.0 5352. 5 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. . 2071.	69 03 04 02 02 03 38;70 04;11 01 316 122 02 30 14
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	4S J2011.0 . 5131. 1.03 1.081. 1.01 2.01 2011.3 2682 . 5352.0 5352. 5 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. . 2071.	69 03 04 02 02 03 38;70 04;11 01 316 122 02 30 14
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	4S J2011.0 . 5131. 1.03 1.081. 1.01 2.01 2011.3 2682 . 5352.0 5352. 5 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. 1071A. . 2071.	69 03 04 02 02 03 38;70 04;11 01 316 122 02 30 14
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	4S J2011.0 , 5131. (1.03—, 1081. (1.01—, 2.01—, 2011.3 268—,2 5352.0 5352.0 5352.0 1071A. 107	69 03 04 02 02 03 37 04; 11 01 31 012 02 30 14 85 6
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 . 5131. . 1081. . 1081. . 1081. . 2011.3 268—.2 . 5352.0 5352. 5 1071A. . 1071A. . 1074A. . 1074A	69 03 04 02 02 03 38;70 04;11 01 31 06 20 20 30 14 856 09
Price-Level Statements GOVERNMENT-OWNED CORPORATION Earnings per Share	45 J2011.0 . 5131. . 1081. . 1081. . 1081. . 2011.3 268—.2 . 5352.0 5352. 5 1071A. . 1071A. . 1074A. . 1074A	69 03 04 02 02 03 38;70 04;11 01 31 06 20 20 30 14 856 09

AICPA Professional Standards

GUARANTEES AND WARRANTIES-
continued 0071 12
. Interim Financial Statements
Loss Contingencies
4311.2420; 4311.36; 4311.09
. Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors 4052.02; 4052.07
. Market Prices, Common Stock
. Market Prices, Common Stock
Marker Prices, Common Stock U2011.314–.321 Matching Principle
Matching Frinciple
Obligations of Losson 5351 11
Timing Differences
. Hinning Differences
04031.043040, 04031:133
GUIDELINE LIVES
. Timing Differences 4091A.05
GUIDELINES AND RULES
Capitalization v. Expense
Depreciation
.09; 2062.29; 2062.54
. Research and Development Costs
4211.08
4211.0011, 4211-1.02
HIGH COSTS
. Depreciation
HISTORICAL BACKGROUND
. Determination of Net Income 2010.08–.15
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.03;
2002.1/21 2011.07 11
2062.17—21 . Earnings per Share
. Income raxes
HISTORICAL COST
. Allocations in Production (M-6) 1027.10
. Asset Dispositions (M-1B)
Assets Acquired (M-1A)
Assets Acquired (M-1A)
. Deferred Costs
Deferred Costs
. Intangible Assets
Measurement of Pesources 1023.31
1026.27—.28
. Pooling of Interests 1091.3132
. Proposals for Change 1029.09—.10
1026.27-28 1026.27-28 Pooling of Interests 1091.31-32 Proposals for Change 1029.09-10 Purchase Method 1091.66-69; 4211-1.04
HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT
. Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles
Frincipies
HISTORICAL-DOLLAR FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
. Basic Statements
Comparison, Price-Level
Statements 1071.04; 1071.18; 1071.2526;
1071.47
. Cost Principle
. Description
. Foreign Currency Statements 1071.26
. Gains and Losses
General v. Specific Prices 1071D.0205
. Measuring Unit
. Monetary Items
Nonmonetary Items
Presentation
HISTORICAL RATES
. Definitions
. Disclosure Standards 1082.06; 1082.24
. Monetary-Nonmonetary Method
1082.10—.12; 1082.24; 1082.27
HISTORICAL REPORT
. Characteristic of Financial
Accounting

Characteristic	c of Financial
Accounting	
	4311.67: 4311.93

HISTORICAL SUMMARIES

HISTORICAL SUMMARIES
Appropriations of Retained Earnings
Change in Accounting Principle 1051.39
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.14-
.15
. Illustration Change in Completed Contract
Method
Change in Depreciation Method
. Research and Development Costs 4211.15
IDENTIFIABILITY
. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.08 .09; 2062.12; 2062.29
. Intangible Assets
. Research and Development Costs
IDENTIFIED COST
. Inventory Pricing
IDLE FACILITIES
. Inventory Pricing
IF CONVERTED METHOD
. Anti-Dilutive Securities
. Assumed Conversion or
Retirement 2011.37; 2011A.07; U2011.112;
U2011.116 . Cash Payment at Conversion U2011.024;
U2011.031; U2011.249—.252
. Comparison, Two-Class Method 2011A.08;
2011B.21—.22; U2011.304—.307
Computational Guidelines
. Conversions During Period U2011.151153
. Definition
Discount or Premium Amortized
Earnings, Convertible Securities
. Warrants to Purchase Convertibles
ILLUSTRATIONS
. Application of Section 2012 U2012.001-
.013 Change in Depreciation Method 2072.17
.21 Change to LIFO Method
 Compensation, Employee Stock
Plans
. Deferred Taxes U4091.039—.041; U4091.069— .070; U4091.094
Extraordinary Items
. Foreign Currency Translation 1082.26—.32
. General v. Specific Prices 1071D.0205
. Income Tax Expense
. Investment Credit
Loss Carryforwards
U4091.094
. Loss Contingencies 4311.04; 4311.2145; 4311.74
. Refinancing Short-Term
Obligations
. Timing Differences
Undistributed Earnings of
Subsidiary
ILLUSTRATIVE STATEMENTS
. Earnings per Share
. Complex Capital Structure 2011C.0304 . Simple Capital Structure 2011C.02

15,239

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

ILLUSTRATIVE STATEMENTS—continued Price-Level Restatements 1071C.01—.44
. Accumulated Depreciation, First
Year1071C.28 . Accumulated Depreciation, Second Year1071C.40
Balance Sheet, Comparative 1071C.33 Balance Sheet, First Year 1071C.20 Capital Stock 1071C.22 Conversion Factors 1071C.22 Deferred Income, First Year 1071C.22 Deferred Income, Second Year 1071C.31 Expenses, First Year 1071C.31 Gain or Loss, First Year 1071C.32 Gain or Loss, Second Year 1071C.32 Gain or Loss, Second Year 1071C.32 Gain or Loss, Second Year 1071C.34
Income Statement, First Year
Marketable Securities
Property, Plant & Equipment, First Year
Property, Plant & Equipment, Second Year
Year
Year
Year
. Working Income Statement, First Year
Year
. Actuarial Gains (Losses) 4063.26–.27; 4063.31; U4063.109–.112
Expense Measurement (M-6C) 1027.10 Gains or Losses Early Extinguishment of Debt 2013.01;
5362.18—.21
IMPAIRMENT Nonmonetary Assets
IMPUTED INTEREST—See Interest and Interest Rates
INCOME DETERMINATION Basis of Measurement
Definition
. Extinguishment of Debt

INCOME STATEMENTS—See Statements of Income

U

INCOME TAX EXPENSE . Allocation within a Period U4091.115—.120
Contrast with Income Tax Payable
Disclosure of Components U4091.121123
Interperiod Tax Allocation
Measurement
Franchise/Income Faxes
071.49 Special Areas
INCOME TAX PAYABLE
Contrast with Income Tax Expense
Disclosure in Financial Statements 4091.54; 4091.59; U4091.115127
Nonallocation Concept
INCOME TAXES
INCOME TAXES
Amortization, Discount/Premium 4111.14 Applicability of Opinion
U4091.016—.021; U4091.136 Benefit, Deferred Stock Options
Change to LIFO Method 2072.12: 2072.22—
.25 Combined Financial Statements 2051.22 Comparability Among Periods U4091.128–
.136 Comparison of Conclusions in Study
Study
Concepts and Assumptions
Deferred Adjustment for Accounting
Change
.097 Computation
4074.0405
Recognition, Regulatory
Authorities
. Definition 4091.12; U4091.012
Depreciation Guidelines 4093 01-07
. Depreciation Guidelines 4093.0107 Determination Income Tax
Depreciation Guidelines 4093.01—.07 Determination, Income Tax Expense
Depreciation Guidelines 4093.01—.07 Determination, Income Tax Expense
Depreciation Guidelines 4093.01—.07 Determination, Income Tax Expense
Depreciation Guidelines 4093.01—.07 Determination, Income Tax Expense
 Depreciation Guidelines 4093.01—.07 Determination, Income Tax Expense

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

INCOME TAXES—continued . Effective Date of Opinion	
. Effects on Fair Value	
Accounting	
Charges	
. Equity Method	
4095.02. 4095.15—18 . Exchange Adjustments	
Expense of Business 4091.13; U4091.012 Extent of Allocation	
.09	
. Extraordinary Items	
. Going Concern Basis	
. Historical Development	
. Income Tax Expense	
Determination	
Intangible Assets	
. Intangible Development Costs 4091.39;	
4095.01—.02; U4091.021	
. Intercompany Profits	
. Interim Financial Statements	
. Inventory Costs	
. Investment Credits 4091.03; U4091.106 .114; U4094.001025 . Investments in Common Stock 4096.01	
.12 . Joint Ventures, Corporate	
Joint Ventures, Unincorporated U5131.008012	
. Lease Revenue and Expenses 4051.17 . "Leveraged Lease" Transactions 	
. Liability Method	
. Loss Carryovers	
. Materiality	
. Modification of Views	
Nature of Income Taxes	
. Net of Tax Presentation	
. Net Operating Losses	
Nonallocation Concept	ı
1041.27 Nonrecurring Adjustments	
. Operating Loss Carrybacks	
 Operating Loss Carryforwards 2012.07; 4091.11; 4091.44—.49; 4091.60; U4091.076—.105 Operating Losses 4091.41—.49; U4091.071—. 	
.105 . Other Unused Deductions and Credits	
. Partial Allocation	

INCOME TAXES—continued Pension Plans . . Actuarial Gains 4063.27; U4063.047-.052 .052 Personal Holding Company U1091.112-114 Principal Problems 4091.07--.10 Prior Period Adjustments 4091.09 2051.16 042 **Real and Personal Property Taxes** 4081.02-.07; 4081.18 Reduction, Investment Credit 4094.03; 4094.06; 4094.12; 4094.17 Regulated Industries 4091.05; U4091.018 Renegotiation Refunds 4042.07 Sale and Leaseback Operations 5351.21 Scope of Opinion U4091.013 - 33 . Applicability of Opinion 4095.04 Steamship Companies (U.S.) ... 4095.01-.02; U4091.021 Stock Issued to Employees . 4062.04; 4062.06; U4062.006; 4062.16-18 Stock Life Insurance Companies 4091.40; 4095.01-02: 4095.26-.30: U4091.020 Stock Savings and Loan Associations 4095.01-.02; 4095.19-.25; U4091.020 Subchapter S Corporations U2011.081 Subsidiaries . Disclosure Requirements 4095.14 Domestic International Sales . Intercompany Profits 2051.16 4095.07-.14; U4091.020; U4095.001-.005 Tax Effects, Recognition 4091.16; 4091.33 Time Period Identification 4091.13 Timing Differences 4091.07; 4091.14-.40; 4091A.01-.05 . Cumulative . . . 4091.36; U4091.036; U4091.058-.064 . Reversal Indefinite 4095.05-.06; 4095.12; 4095.23; 4095.28 Types
 Transactions, Definition
 4091.07

 Transitional Problems
 U4091.128-...136

 Turnaround Period
 ...4091.22; 4095.05-.067

 4095.09-...12; 4095.23; 4095.28; U4091.035-..047
 INDEXES . Consumer Price Index 1071.09; 1071.31; 4063A.07 . Example, Price-Level Restatement . . General Price-Level 1071.29 . Annual Averages, 1929-1968 1071A.01 Quarterly Averages, 1947-1968 Measurement, Price-Level Changes

. 4091.56

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

INDEXES—continued , Year-to-Year Changes
INDIVIDUAL LEVEL PREMIUM METHOD Actuarial Cost Method 4063.22—25 Cost Assignment 4063.20—21 Costs, Annual 4063.40; 4063A.25 Funding Instruments 4063A.23 Gains or Losses, Actuarial 4063A.24 Normal Cost 4063A.22; 4063A.25 Past Service Cost 4063A.22; 4063A.25
INDUSTRIAL DIVERSIFICATION—See Diversified Companies
INDUSTRIAL ENTERPRISES Applicability of APB Opinions
INDUSTRY AUDIT GUIDES—See Audit Guides, Industry
INFLATION Changes in Accounting Procedure
4071.08; 4071.11—.12 Cumulative Effects
Degree 1071.26 Depreciation Policy 4071.07 Differential Effects 1071.15 Effects on Business Enterprise 1071.13; 1071.48 1071.48
. Effects on Financial Statements 1026.31— .32
Foreign Operations 1071.24; 1071.26; 4072.01 Internal Revenue Code
Restatement in Terms of Depreciated Currencies 4071.13 Specific Prices 1071D.01 World Levels 1071.12
INFORMATION 1027.02 Accounting Process 1027.02 Foreign Currency Translation 1082.01—.32 Use of Term 1023.04
INFREQUENT EVENTS . Criteria for Extraordinary Items 2012.20;
2012.22 Disclosure Requirements
INITIAL RECORDING PRINCIPLES Barter Transactions 1026.09; 1041.01—.29
Definition
. Self-Constructed Assets 1026.09
INSTALLMENT METHOD OF ACCOUNTING 4020.01 Collectability Uncertain 4020.01; 4311.23 Measuring Revenue and Expenses [M-1F(1)] 1027.07 Revenue and Expense Recognition [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 INSTALLMENT PURCHASES OF 1027.07
PROPERTY . Lessees 4051.18
AICDA Professional Standards

INSTALLMENT SALES U4091.038-044: U4091.058: U4091.068-070

INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS 2061.06 INSURANCE . Accrual of Net Losses 4311.96 Catastrophe Losses 4311.40-.43; 4311.89-.101 . Committee on Accounting and 4311.85-.88 Expense Recognition 1026.23 . Interim Period Costs 2071.15
 Inventory Costs
 1051-1.03

 Officers' Key-Man Life
 U4064.001-004

 Pooling of Risks
 4311.45

 Premiums Paid as Deposit
 4311.44-45
 . Catastrophe Losses Assumed 4311.04; 4311.40-.43; 4311.48-.52; 4311.56 Catastrophe Reserves 4311.62; 4311.89-101 2051.04 Consolidation Policy Deposit Administration Contracts 4063B.20 Disclosure Requirements 4095.29-.30 Funding Agency, Pension Plans 4063.40--.41; 40638.24; U4063.131--.145 Income Statements 2010.05 INSURED PENSION PLANS Factor Determining Expense 4063.41 - 201 Individual Policy Plans ... 4063.40; U4063.131-U4063.196-197 Accounting Research Study No. 10 5141.17 Acquired Before 11/1/70 U5141.003—.006 Acquired from Others 5141.01; 5141.09: . 5141.17 5141.24 Amortization—See Amortization 'Company'' Defined 5141.05 U5141.001-.002 . Criticism, Arbitrary Amortization 5141.14 Deferred Costs 5141.06; U5141.001-.002

INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued
. Developed Internally
Disclosure in Funds Statements 2021.14
Disclosure Requirements 2045.13; 5141.30-
31
. Disposal of Segment
Effective Date
 Expected Future Benefit 5141.10—.11;
5141.21; 5141.31
Expense Recognition
Extraordinary Items
Factors to Consider
. Franchises
Goodwill—See Goodwill Group of Assets5141.26
Identifiable
U5141.001
Income Tax Allocation
Indeterminate Lives 5141.15; 5141.2223
Liabilities Incurred
. Limit, Period of Amortization 5141.09;
5141.23
Matching Principle
Measurement of Cost
Method of Amortization
. Modification of Views
. Nonamortization
. Opinion Section
. Patents
Period of Amortization
Preoperating Costs
Present Accounting
 Principles Applicable 5141.15; 5141.21—.22 Prospective Application
. Prospective Application
Recorded as Assets
5141.24; U5141.001002
Recorded as Expenses 5141.09; 5141.11;
5141.15; 5141.24
Regulated Industries 5141.07
. Research and Development Costs
4211-3.06, 5141.04 Research Recommendations 5141.04
. Retroactive Application
. Revision of Useful Life 5141.31
. Revision of Useful Life
. Revision of Useful Life 5141.31 . Scope of Opinion 5141.0408 . Separability 5141.10
. Revision of Useful Life 5141.31 . Scope of Opinion 5141.0408 . Separability 5141.10
Revision of Useful Life 5141.31 Scope of Opinion 5141.0408 Separability 5141.10 Source 5141.01 Term of Existence 5141.12; 5141.16; 5141.2223 5141.2223
. Revision of Useful Life
Revision of Useful Life 5141.31 Scope of Opinion 5141.0408 Separability 5141.10 Source 5141.01 Term of Existence 5141.12; 5141.16; 5141.2223 Timing Differences 5141.30 Trademarks 5141.30
. Revision of Useful Life .5141.31 . Scope of Opinion .5141.0408 . Separability .5141.01 . Source .5141.01 . Term of Existence .5141.12; 5141.16; 5141.2223 . Timing Differences .5141.30 . Trademarks .5141.31 . Unamortized Cost Reduced .5141.3132
Revision of Useful Life 5141.31 Scope of Opinion 5141.04–.08 Separability 5141.01 Source 5141.01 Term of Existence 5141.12; 5141.16; 5141.22–.23 Timing Differences 5141.30 Trademarks 5141.01 Unamortized Cost Reduced 5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09;
Revision of Useful Life .5141.31 Scope of Opinion .5141.0408 Separability .5141.01 Source .5141.01 Term of Existence .5141.2223 Timing Differences .5141.2223 Trademarks .5141.31 Unamortized Cost Reduced .5141.3132 Unidentifiable .5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09; 5141.09;
Revision of Useful Life .5141.31 Scope of Opinion .5141.0408 Separability .5141.01 Source .5141.01 Term of Existence .5141.12; 5141.16; 5141.2223 Timing Differences .5141.03 Trademarks .5141.01 Unamortized Cost Reduced .5141.3132 Unidentifiable .5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09; 5141.09; 5141.05 . Unincorporated Businesses .5141.05
Revision of Useful Life .5141.31 Scope of Opinion .5141.0408 Separability .5141.04 Source .5141.0 Term of Existence .5141.12; 5141.16; 5141.22; 5141.16; 5141.22; 5141.30 Trademarks .5141.3132 Unidentifiable .5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09; 5141.20;
Revision of Useful Life 5141.31 Scope of Opinion 5141.0408 Separability 5141.0 Source 5141.0 Term of Existence 5141.12; 5141.16; Trademarks 5141.01; 5141.00; Unamortized Cost Reduced 5141.03; 5141.00; Unidentifiable 5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.00; Unidentifiable 5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09; Useful Life 5141.05; 5141.05;
Revision of Useful Life .5141.31 Scope of Opinion .5141.0408 Separability .5141.04 Source .5141.01 Term of Existence .5141.12; 5141.16; 5141.2223 Timing Differences .5141.31 Trademarks .5141.01 Unamortized Cost Reduced .5141.3132 Unidentifiable .5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09; 5141.09; 5141.05 Unicorporated Businesses .5141.20 Useful Life .Competition .5141.27 Economic Factors .5141.27
Revision of Useful Life .5141.31 Scope of Opinion .5141.0408 Separability .5141.01 Source .5141.01 Term of Existence .5141.25141.16; 5141.2223 .5141.2223 Timing Differences .5141.30 Trademarks .5141.31 Unamortized Cost Reduced .5141.31 Unicorporated Businesses .5141.05; Useful Life .5141.27 Competition .5141.27 Economic Factors .5141.27 Indefinite .5141.27 Indeterminable .5141.27
Revision of Useful Life .5141.31 Scope of Opinion .5141.0408 Separability .5141.04 Source .5141.01 Term of Existence .5141.12; 5141.16; 5141.22; 5141.16; 5141.22; 5141.31 Trademarks .5141.31 Unamortized Cost Reduced .5141.31 Unidentifiable .5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09; 5141.09; 5141.05 Unicorporated Businesses .5141.27 Useful Life .5141.27 Competition .5141.27 Indefinite .5141.27 Indefinite .5141.27 Ligal Requirements .5141.02
Revision of Useful Life .5141.31 Scope of Opinion .5141.0408 Separability .5141.0408 Source .5141.04 Source .5141.01 Term of Existence .5141.12; 5141.16; .5141.22; 5141.16; .5141.2223 Timing Differences .5141.30 Trademarks .5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09; .5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09; .5141.26 Unidentifiable .5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09; .5141.26 Unicorporated Businesses .5141.27 Liseful Life .5141.27 Indefinite .5141.27 Indefinite .5141.02 Ligal Requirements .5141.2829
Revision of Useful Life .5141.31 Scope of Opinion .5141.0408 Separability .5141.04 Source .5141.01 Term of Existence .5141.25141.16; 5141.2223 .5141.2223 Timing Differences .5141.2223 Trademarks .5141.31 Unamortized Cost Reduced .5141.31 Unicorporated Businesses .5141.26 Unincorporated Businesses .5141.27 Economic Factors .5141.27 Indefinite .5141.27 Legal Requirements .5141.27 Limits .5141.27 Limits .5141.28 .5141.29 .5141.27
Revision of Useful Life .5141.31 Scope of Opinion .5141.0408 Separability .5141.04 Source .5141.01 Term of Existence .5141.12; 5141.16; .5141.22 Timing Differences .5141.31 Trademarks .5141.03 Unamortized Cost Reduced .5141.31 Unidentifiable .5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09; 5141.09; 5141.05 Unicorporated Businesses .5141.27 Lindefinite .5141.27 Indefinite .5141.27 Indeterminable .5141.27 Limits .5141.27 Limits .5141.27 Requirements .5141.27 Limits .5141.27 Limits .5141.27 Limits .5141.28 .5141.28 .5141.27 Limits .5141.28 .5141.27 .5141.27 Limits .5141.27 Revision .5141.27
Revision of Useful Life 5141.31 Scope of Opinion 5141.0408 Separability 5141.0408 Source 5141.01 Term of Existence 5141.12; 5141.16; 5141.2223 5141.22; 5141.16; Trademarks 5141.30 Trademarks 5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09; Unidentifiable 5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09; Unicorporated Businesses 5141.27 Unicorporated Businesses 5141.27 Lindefinite 5141.27 Indefinite 5141.27 Indefinite 5141.27 Limits 5141.28 Renewal or Extension 5141.28 Revision 5141.28 Service Life 5141.21
Revision of Useful Life .5141.31 Scope of Opinion .5141.0408 Separability .5141.04 Source .5141.01 Term of Existence .5141.2; 5141.16; 5141.2; 5141.16; .5141.22; 5141.16; Timing Differences .5141.30 Trademarks .5141.01 Unamortized Cost Reduced .5141.31 Unidentifiable .5141.05; 5141.09; 5141.22 .5141.20 Unincorporated Businesses .5141.26 Useful Life .5141.27 Competition .5141.27 Indefinite .5141.27 Indeterminable .5141.27 Legal Requirements .5141.28 .29 Renewal or Extension .5141.27 Revision .5141.27 Value .5141.27
Revision of Useful Life 5141.31 Scope of Opinion 5141.0408 Separability 5141.0408 Separability 5141.0408 Source 5141.01 Term of Existence 5141.12; 5141.16; 5141.2223 5141.22; 5141.16; Trademarks 5141.30 Trademarks 5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09; Unidentifiable 5141.01; 5141.05; 5141.09; Stat.26 Unincorporated Businesses Useful Life 5141.27 Competition 5141.27 Indefinite 5141.27 Indefinite 5141.27 Legal Requirements 5141.28 Stat.27 5141.28 Renewal or Extension 5141.27 Revision 5141.27 Value 5141.27 Value 5141.27 Value 5141.27
Revision of Useful Life .5141.31 Scope of Opinion .5141.0408 Separability .5141.04 Source .5141.01 Term of Existence .5141.2; 5141.16; 5141.2; 5141.16; .5141.22; 5141.16; Timing Differences .5141.30 Trademarks .5141.01 Unamortized Cost Reduced .5141.31 Unidentifiable .5141.05; 5141.09; 5141.22 .5141.20 Unincorporated Businesses .5141.26 Useful Life .5141.27 Competition .5141.27 Indefinite .5141.27 Indeterminable .5141.27 Legal Requirements .5141.28 .29 Renewal or Extension .5141.27 Revision .5141.27 Value .5141.27

10

.

INTERCOMPANY INVESTMENTS
Acquisition Dates
Acquisition of Subsidiary
Convertible Securities
Elimination in Consolidation 2051.18–20
. Equity Method
Convertible Securities
Joint Ventures, Corporate 4095.15–.18 Losses of Subsidiaries
Losses of Subsidiaries
089
Related Company Defined
Research Study in Process
Twenty to Fifty Percent Owned 5131.17
Undistributed Earnings of
INTERCOMPANY PROFITS . Elimination in Consolidations 1081.09;
2051.13
Eliminations under Equity Method 5131.06; 5131.19; U5131.001007
Income Taxes
. Unincorporated Businesses U5131.008-
.012
INTERCOMPANY TRANSACTIONS Combined Financial Statements, 2051.22
Elimination in Consolidations 2051.07;
5131.04 Eliminations under Equity Method
Regulated Industries
Timing Differences
INTEDECT
INTEREST . Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002
. Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 . Amortization of Discount/Premium
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14: 5362.0607
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14; 5362.0607 Applicability of Opinion
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14; 5362.0607 Applicability of Opinion
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14; 5362.0607 Applicability of Opinion
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14; 5362.0607 Applicability of Opinion
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14; 5362.0607 Applicability of Opinion
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14; 5362.0607 Applicability of Opinion 4111.0204 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.267- Cash Yield Test
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14; 5362.0607 Applicability of Opinion 4111.0204 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.267- Cash Yield Test
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14; 5362.0607 Applicability of Opinion
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14; 5362.0607 Applicability of Opinion
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14; 5362.0607 Applicability of Opinion 4111.0204 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.267 Cash Yield Test
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14; 5362.0607 Applicability of Opinion 4111.0204 Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.267 Cash Yield Test
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14; 5362.0607 Applicability of Opinion
 Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium
 Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium
 Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium
 Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14; 5362.0607 Applicability of Opinion
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium 4111.14; 5362.0607 Applicability of Opinion
Advance Payments 4111.03; U4111.001002 Amortization of Discount/Premium
Advance Payments
Advance Payments
Advance Payments

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

INTEREST—continued . Notes Exchanged for Cash4111.05—06; 4111.10
Notes Issued in Bankruptcy 4111-1.0105 Portion of Rental Payment
Monetary Assets
Related Parties
 Senior Securities 2011A.05; U2011.103—104 Timing Differences
.072 INTEREST METHOD Acceptability
Amortization, Debt Discount/Premium4111.14; 5361.01—.02 Amortization of Exchange Adjustments
INTEREST, MUNICIPAL OBLIGATIONS Interperiod Tax Allocation
INTEREST RATES Changes in Rates
Common Stock Equivalents
Credit Risks in Leases
Equivalence
Disclosure Requirements
Effects on Liabilities (S-5F)
Effects on Market Values
Governmental Restrictions 4111.03 Imputation of Interest 4111.09; 4111.11; 4111-1.0203
Level Effective Rate
Materiality
Present Value of Liabilities
. Refunding of Debt
Selection of Appropriate Rate 4111.1213 Stated Rate Unreasonable 4111.09; 4111.11
INTERESTS, POOLING OF—See Pooling of Interests
INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2071.01—.35
. Accounting Changes 2071.23—.30; 2072.01— .25
. Advertising Costs
Arbitrary Assignment of Cost
Construction-Type Contracts
. Costs Associated with Revenue 20/1.13– .14
Deferred Costs
Differing views
20/1.3031
Earnings per Share
Effective Date

INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTScontinued . Effective Date, FASB Statement No. 2072.16 2071 30 . Fair Presentation 2071.15; 2071.22; 2071.30 . Fourth Quarter Disclosures 2071.31: 2072.08; 2072.14 . Illustration . Change in Depreciation Method 2072.17-.21 Change to LIFO Method 2072.22–.25 Income Tax Provisions 2071.08; 2071.26; 2071.19-.20; 2072.12; 2072.17-.25 Liquidation of LIFO Base 2071.14 Management Commentary 2071.32 Objective in Reporting 2071.05 Opinions, Auditors' 2071.22; 2071.30 Period Costs 2071.15—17 . 2071.06 . Relation to Annual Statements 2071.09-10 Variances at Interim Periods 2071.14 INTERNAL CONTROL INTERNAL EVENTS Principles of Selection and INTERNAL REVENUE CODE . Accelerated Depreciation Methods . Joint Ventures, Corporate 4095.16 . Loss Carryovers 4091.11 Qualified Stock Purchase Plan 4062.07 . Real Estate Investment Trusts . . . U2011.361-.366 . Recognition of Declining-Balance Savings and Loan Associations . Reserve for Bad Debts 4095.19-.21 . Section 124A (Emergency Section 130A (Employee Stock Options) 4061.01; 4061.07 Section 423 (Stock Purchase Plan) Stock Life Insurance Companies . Policyholders' Surplus 4095.26; 4095.29 Subchapter S of Chapter 1 U2011.081 . Undistributed Earnings of

AICPA Professional Standards

15,244

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE (BUREAU OF INTERNAL REVENUE)
. Accrual Date, Property Taxes 4081.04
. Bulletin F
. Changes to LIFO Method
. Regulation 1.471-11
. Revenue Procedure 62-21
Revenue Ruling 59-60
STANDARDS . Prerequisites
INTERNATIONAL TRADE
Foreign Currency Translation 1082.01–.32 Price-Level Changes
INTERPERIOD TAX ALLOCATION
Alternative Concepts
.0/0: U4091.08809/
. Comprehensive Allocation 4091.28—.31; 4091.33; U4091.022; U4091.036 . Cumulative Timing Differences 4091.36;
U4091.036; U4091.058 . Deferred Method 4091.11; 4091.18; 4091.34;
U4091.024034
. Domestic International Sales
Corporation
. Equity Method 4096.0112
Exchange Adjustments
Extent of Application 4091.21
4091.53—.63; U4091.115—.127
. Historical Development U4091.006-011
Income Tay Expanse
Determination
Determination 4091.11, 4091.33 Intangible Development Costs 4095.01–.02; U4091.021 4095.01–.02; U4091.106–.114
Loint Ventures, Corporate 4095.15-18
Joint Ventures, Corporate
Liability Method
. Measurement, rax theeta,
. Methods Adopted
. Net of fax Method 4091.20, 04091.026029, ((4091.129130)
. Nonallocation Concept
Objective
.105 Other Unused Deductions and
Credits
Partial Allocation 4091.25-27; U4091.023
Permanent Differences 4091.33; U4091.034; U4091.048—.055
. Prior Practice
Special Areas 4095.01—.33
. Steamship Companies (U.S.) 4095.0102; U4091.021
. Stock Life Insurance Companies 4095.01- .02; 4095.2630; U4091.020
. Stock Savings and Loan Associations 4095.01–.02; 4095.19–.25; U4091.020
. Subsidiaries
Domestic International Sales
Corporations 4095.09; U4095.001—.005 Undistributed Earnings 4095.07—.14;
U4091.020; U4095.001—.005
Tax Allocation within Period 4091.50-51
. Tax Effects, Recognition
Differences
INTERPRETATIONS—See Accounting Interpretations

INT

Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

INTERSTATE COMMERCE COMMISSION

Ruling on Railroad Losses U2010.001003
INVENTORIES Acquired in Business Combinations
. Assumptions, Flow of Costs
1027.07 Change in Cost Elements 1051-1.05 Cost Basis 5121.0405 Declines in Market Prices 1026.18 Defined as Economic Resources 1023.18 Definition 5121.0203 Disclosure of Cost Basis 2031.09 Disposal of Segment 2012.16 Elimination, Intercompany Profits
Estimation of Obsolescence 1051.10; 1051.33
. Exchanges with Other Entities 1041.07; 1041.16
Flow of Cost Factors
Losses on Purchase Commitments
Operating Cycle 5121.04 Option of the Government (Terminated Contracts) 4043.13 Overhead 5121.05 5121.05 Periodic 5121.01 5121.01 Perpetual 5121.01 5121.01 Perpetual 5121.01 5121.01
Reacquired (Terminated War and Defense Contracts)
Shrinkage 2071.17 Termination Claims 4043.20; 4043.31 – 32 Translation, Foreign Currencies 1081.15 .16; 1082.08 10; 1082.27 Write-Downs 1027.25; 2012.16; 2012.23 Below Cost 5121.05 Price-Level Restatements 1071.37
1071C.17 INVENTORY PRICING
Average Cost
5121.1213 Consistency 5121.1415 Cost Basis 5121.0405 Damage 5121.0708 Departure from Cost Basis 4311.7475; 5121.0708;5121.1516 5121.0708 Deterioration 5121.0708
Disclosure 2045.13 Accounting Policies 2045.13 Inventory Basis

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

INVENTORY PRICING—continued	
Identified Cost	
Income Measurement 5121.03	
Interim Financial Statements 2071.14	
Income Measurement 5121.01 Interim Financial Statements 2071.14 Inventory Definition 5121.0203 Last-In, First-Out 2072.01; 2072.1213: 2072.2225; 5121.0506 Loss Recognition Loss Recognition 4311.7475; 5121.0709	
Last-In, First-Out	
2072.2225; 5121.0506	
. Loss Recognition 4311.7475; 5121.0709	
. Lower of Cost of Market 20/1.14, 3121.0/-	
.13	
Lower of Cost and Market (M-5A) 1027.09 Matching Principle	
Mineral Products	
Not Poplizable Value 5121.08	
Net Realizable Value	
Objective 5121.03-04	
Objective	
. Offsetting Losses	
. Operating Cycle	
Overbead 1051-1 02: 5121 05	
Precious Metals 5121.15—16 Price Level Changes 5121.07—08 Product Charges 5121.05 Purchase Commitments 5121.16—17	
. Price Level Changes	
Product Charges	
Purchase Commitments	
Purpose of Reduction to Market5121.11 Retail Inventory Method5121.06; 5121.10	
Selling Expenses	
Spoilage, Excessive	
Standard Cost	
Write-Downs Below Cost	
INVESTEES	
Classification as Segment	
. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.04; 2062.10: 2062.24	
Equity Method	
Income Taxes 4096.01-12	
. Related Company Defined 4052.15	
INVESTMENT BANKERS	
INVESTMENT BANKERS . Use of Financial Information 1023.06	
INVESTMENT BANKERS . Use of Financial Information 1023.06 . Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193	
INVESTMENT BANKERS . Use of Financial Information 1023.06 . Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES	
INVESTMENT BANKERS . Use of Financial Information 1023.06 . Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES . Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Fouty Method Inapplicable	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements 20021.007-009 Income Statements 2010.05 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.01-22 Administrative Procedure 4094.07 Amortization U4094.005-010 Basis of Property 4094.1415	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements 2010.05 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.05-010 Administrative Procedure 4094.05-010 Basis of Property 4094.105-011 114' I4094 016-019 114' I4096-016-019	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements U2021.007009 Income Statements 2010.05 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.05010 Basis of Property 4094.06019 Carrybacks/Carryforwards U4094.016019 Changes, Accounting U4094.011020	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements U2021.007-009 Income Statements 2010.05 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.07 Amortization U4091.006 Basis of Property 4094.1015 Carrybacks/Carryforwards U4091.106 Changes, Accounting U4094.01020 Claim for Refund U4091.106	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements 20201.007-009 Income Statements 2010.05 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.07 Amortization U4094.005-010 Basis of Property 4094.1012 Changes, Accounting U4094.01020 Claim for Refund U4091.106- Consistency Exception U4094.020	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements 20201.007-009 Income Statements 2010.05 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.07 Amortization U4094.005-010 Basis of Property 4094.1012 Changes, Accounting U4094.01020 Claim for Refund U4091.106- Consistency Exception U4094.020	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements 20201.007-009 Income Statements 2010.05 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.005-010 Basis of Property 4094.104-15 Carrybacks/Carryforwards U4094.005-010 Basis of Property 4094.104-020 Changes, Accounting U4094.011-020 Claim for Refund U4094.010-020 Consolidated Financial Statements	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements 2010.05; U2011.069 Income Statements 2010.05 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Market Prices Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.07 Amortization U4094.005010 Basis of Property .094.1415 Carrybacks/Carryforwards U4091.016019 Changes, Accounting	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements U2021.007009 Income Statements 2010.05 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.01020 Claim for Refund U4091.006019 Changes, Accounting U4094.011020 Claim for Refund U4094.024025 Cost Reduction 4094.03; 4094.024025 Cost Reduction 4094.03; 4094.0810 Deferral Method U4091.107; U4094.024025 Cost Reduction 4094.03; 4094.0810 Deferral Method U4091.107; U4094.028010	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements U2021.007-009 Income Statements U2010.07 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.01020 Carrybacks/Carryforwards U4091.106- 114; U4094.01601	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements 2021.007009 Income Statements 2010.05 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.02010 Basis of Property 4094.10415 Carrybacks/Carryforwards U4091.106019 Changes, Accounting U4094.011020 Claim for Refund U4094.02025 Cost Reduction 4094.03+.034.0800 Deferral Method U4091.107; U4094.008010 Disclosure Requirements U4091.107; U4094.008010 Disclosure Requirements U4091.107; U4094.003004 Earnings per Share Computations	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements 2021.007009 Income Statements 2010.05 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.02010 Basis of Property 4094.10415 Carrybacks/Carryforwards U4091.106019 Changes, Accounting U4094.011020 Claim for Refund U4094.02025 Cost Reduction 4094.03+.034.0800 Deferral Method U4091.107; U4094.008010 Disclosure Requirements U4091.107; U4094.008010 Disclosure Requirements U4091.107; U4094.003004 Earnings per Share Computations	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements U2021.007009 Income Statements U2010.07 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.0102 Claim for Refund U4091.106019 Changes, Accounting U4094.024025 Cost Reduction	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements U2021.007009 Income Statements U2010.07 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.0102 Claim for Refund U4091.106019 Changes, Accounting U4094.024025 Cost Reduction	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements U2021.007009 Income Statements U2010.07 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.0102 Claim for Refund U4091.106019 Changes, Accounting U4094.024025 Cost Reduction	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements U2021.007009 Income Statements U2010.07 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.0102 Claim for Refund U4091.106019 Changes, Accounting U4094.024025 Cost Reduction	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements U2021.007009 Income Statements 2010.05 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.0102 Carrybacks/Carryforwards U4091.106019 Changes, Accounting U4094.024 Consolidated	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements U2021.007009 Income Statements 2010.05 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.0102 Claim for Refund U4091.106 Consistency Exception U4094.02 Consolidated Financial S	
INVESTMENT BANKERS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 Valuation of Common Stock U2011.193 INVESTMENT COMPANIES Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.069 Equity Method Inapplicable 5131.02 Funds Statements U2021.007009 Income Statements 2010.05 Market Prices Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Small Business 5131.02 INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 1940 5131.02 INVESTMENT CREDIT 4094.0122 Administrative Procedure 4094.0102 Carrybacks/Carryforwards U4091.106019 Changes, Accounting U4094.024 Consolidated	

INVESTMENT CREDIT—continued . Internal Revenue Code 4094.01; 4094.06-.07 . Leased Property U4094.009-.010; 4052.04; 4052.12: 4052.14 "Leveraged Lease" Transactions . Net Income Determination 4094.04 Offset Against Liability 4094.21 "Old" Investment Credits U4094.013-.014; 114094 018 Opinions in Effect 4091.03; U4091.010; U4091.016 Prior Period Adjustment U4094.021-.023 Realization of Income 4094.04; 4094.10 Recapture Provisions 4094.01; 4094.09; U4094.005-010 Recognition in Carry Forward Year Reports to Stockholders U4094.011-.020 Revenue Act of 1971 Consolidated Financial . . Disclosure Requirements U4094.003 004 U4094.011 . . Effective Date Methods of Accounting U4094.005-.010 Securities and Exchange ... 4094.12 Commission Spreading of Income 4094.10-.11 . Statement of Income Presentation Tax Reduction 4094.03; 4094.06; 4094.17 . Termination or Discontinuance 1051.16; U4094.013-.014 Unused Investment Credits 4094.21; U4091.106-.114 INVESTMENT VALUE . Common Stock Equivalence 2011.32 Comparison, Cash Yield Test 2011B.12 Determination of Residuality 2011.05; 2011.10; 2011.8 INVESTMENTS . Activities Summarized 2021.04 Common Stocks - 12 Nonmonetary Assets 1041.03; 1071.19 . Decision Models of Investors 4311.64 Definition, Economic 1023.10 . Disclosure in Funds Statements ... 2021.06-. Foreign Subsidiaries 1081.06; 1081.09

AICPA Professional Standards

INVESTMENTS—continued
Intercorporate
5561.06
. Joint Ventures
Market Value Method
Market Value Method
01091.009—.010; 01091.054—.060;
U1091.086089
Research Study in Process 4111.03;
5131.01; 5131.14
Twenty to Fifty Percent Owned
Twenty to Fifty Percent Owned
. Joint Ventures, Unincorporated U5131.008—.012
Leasing Activities 4051.02; 4051.1315; 4052.13
. Less-Developed Economies 1023.11
. "Leveraged Lease" Transactions
1071B.02 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.01—.16
. Owners
Partnerships
. Pension Funds
. Debt Securities
Unrealized Appreciation (Depreciation)4063.28—.29; U4063.103—
.108
.112 Price-Level Changes
Principal Stockholder Stock Plans
 Public Interest In Comparability 1024.28
Separate From Saving
. Subsidiaries Acquisition Dates
. Change in Investment
. Change in Investment
. Holding Shares of Parent
Remittance of Earnings 4095.08; 4095.12
Tax on Undistributed Earnings 4095.01–
Unconsolidated
. Translation, Foreign Currencies 1081.12;
1081.18; 1082.06 Venture Capital Enterprises 2062.49
INVESTORS
. All-Inclusive Concept
. Common Stock Equivalents
Conversion Option
. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.48-
. Diversified Companies
Growth in Number
Guidelines Required
. Institutional
Equity Method
. Equity Method
. Income Taxes
. Interest on Notes Receivable/Payable
Joint Ventures, Corporate
. Joint Ventures, Corporate
. Lease Disclosures by Lessees 5352.0102
. Market Value Method

INVESTORS—continued Public Offering of Securities 1051.29—.30
. Refinancing Short-Term
Obligations
Stock Purchase Warrants
ISSUE COST
. Adjustment of Face Amount
Financial Statement Presentation 4111.15
. Timing Differences 4091A.05
JOINTLY OWNED COMPANIES
. Classification as Segment
Disclosure Requirements
. Equity Method 5131.01—.21; U5131.008—.012
Income Taxes 4095.02; 4095.1518
. Receivables, Notes or Accounts 5111.01
. Related Company Defined 4052.15
. Transfers of Nonmonetary Assets 1041.04
. Types of Ventures 4095.15
JUDGMENT
. Accounting Policies 2045.05-06; 2045.12
Application by Profession 1026.37—.38
Basic Feature of Financial
Accounting
. Characteristic of Financial
Accounting 1022.27
. Collective vs. Individual
. Criteria for Extraordinary Items
Factors Involved
Recoverability of Costs
. Relation to Estimation 1025.11; 1051.10
. Research and Development
Activities
. Role in Measurement
Assessments
203
Use of Qualitative Objectives 1024 14
. Use of Qualitative Objectives 1024.14;
Use of Qualitative Objectives 1024.14; 1024.39
. Use of Qualitative Objectives 1024.14; 1024.39 KEY-MAN LIFE INSURANCE
KEY-MAN LIFE INSURANCE Accounting Methods
Use of Qualitative Objectives 1024.14; 1024.39 KEY-MAN LIFE INSURANCE Accounting Methods
Use of Qualitative Objectives 1024.14; 1024.39 KEY-MAN LIFE INSURANCE Accounting Methods
Lise of Qualitative Objectives
Use of Qualitative Objectives 1024.14; 1024.39 KEY-MAN LIFE INSURANCE Accounting Methods
Lise of Qualitative Objectives
Lise of Qualitative Objectives 1024.14; 1024.39 KEY-MAN LIFE INSURANCE Accounting Methods
Lise of Qualitative Objectives
Luse of Qualitative Objectives 1024.14; 1024.39 1024.39 KEY-MAN LIFE INSURANCE 1024.39 KNOWLEDGE Accounting Methods 104064.001004 KNOWLEDGE Applied in Development 4211.0809 Discovery Through Research 4211.0809 Translation into Design 4211.30709 LABOR UNIONS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 LABORATORY RESEARCH Research and Development Activity Activity 4211.09 1091.88 Asset Without Amortization 5141.22 Contributed by Government Lease Disclosure Requirements 5352.06 Price-Level Illustration Price-Level Restatement 1071.35
Lise of Qualitative Objectives
Lise of Qualitative Objectives
Lise of Qualitative Objectives
Lise of Qualitative Objectives1024.14; 1024.39 KEY-MAN LIFE INSURANCE Accounting Methods
Lise of Qualitative Objectives
Lise of Qualitative Objectives
Luse of Qualitative Objectives 1024.14; 1024.39 KEY-MAN LIFE INSURANCE Accounting Methods Applied in Development 4211.0809 Discovery Through Research 4211.0809 Translation into Design 4211.0809 Translation into Design 4211.0809 LABOR UNIONS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 LABORATORY RESEARCH Research and Development Activity Acquired in Business Combinations 1091.88 Asset Without Amortization 1011.0205 Price-Level Illustration 1071.0205 Price-Level Restatement 1071.0205 Price-Level Restatement 1071.0205 Price-Level Restatement 1071.0205 Price-Level Restatement 1071.02 Asset Dispositions (M-1B) 1051.2627; 2072.01; 2072.1213; 2072.2225 Effect on Balance Sheet 1026.36 Flow of Cost Factors Flow of Cost Facto
Lise of Qualitative Objectives 1024.14; 1024.39 KEY-MAN LIFE INSURANCE Accounting Methods Applied in Development 4211.0809 Discovery Through Research 4211.0809 Translation into Design 4211.0809 LABOR UNIONS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 LABORATORY RESEARCH Research and Development Activity 4211.09 LAND Acquired in Business Combinations 1091.88 Asset Without Amortization 1091.88 Asset Without Amortization 1091.88 Asset Disclosure Requirements 1091.82 Lease Disclosure Requirements 1071.02 Dos Price-Level Illustration 1071.02 Asset Dispositions (M-1B) 1051.2627; 2072.01; 2072.1213; 2072.2225 Effect on Balance Sheet 1026.36 Flow of Cost Factors 5121.0506 Inflation or Deflation 1026.
Lise of Qualitative Objectives 1024.14; 1024.39 KEY-MAN LIFE INSURANCE Accounting Methods Applied in Development 4211.0809 Discovery Through Research 4211.0809 Translation into Design 4211.0809 Translation into Design 4211.0809 Translation into Design 4211.30709 LABOR UNIONS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 LABORATORY RESEARCH Research and Development Activity 4211.09 LAND Asset Without Amortization 1091.88 Asset Without Amortization 1041.06 Lease Disclosure Requirements 5352.06 Price-Level Illustration 1071.0205 Price-Level Restatement 1071.02 Asset Dispositions (M-1B) 1051.2627; 2072.01; 2072.1213; 2072.2225 Effect on Balance Sheet 1051.2627; 2072.01; 2072.1213; 2072.2225 Effect on Balance Sheet 1026.36
Lise of Qualitative Objectives 1024.14; 1024.39 KEY-MAN LIFE INSURANCE Accounting Methods Applied in Development 4211.0809 Discovery Through Research 4211.0809 Translation into Design 4211.0809 LABOR UNIONS Use of Financial Information 1023.06 LABORATORY RESEARCH Research and Development Activity 4211.09 LAND Acquired in Business Combinations 1091.88 Asset Without Amortization 1091.88 Asset Without Amortization 1091.88 Asset Disclosure Requirements 1091.82 Lease Disclosure Requirements 1071.02 Contributed by Government 1071.05 Price-Level Illustration 1071.05 Price-Level Restatement 1071.05 Change in Method 1051.2627; 2072.01; 2072.1213; 2072.2225 Effect on Balance Sheet 1026.36 Inflatio

•	Expense needs not		т
	Loss Contingencies	4311.3339; 4311.68	3
	Losses Recorded (M-3)		8
	Losses Recorded (S-3) .	1027.08	8

Loss Contingencies
LEASEBACKS—See Lessees' Financial Statements
LEASES
Accounting Methods
Cancelable 4052.02
. Capitalization
Capitalization
. Computer Software
Conditions For Sales Recognition 4052.04
. Consolidation of Leasing
Companies
Default or Termination
Default or Termination
U2045.001-005 Disclosure Requirements 5352.07-11
Disclosure Requirements 5352.07—.11
Disposal of Segment
Equivalent to Sales
Related Company Transactions 4052.15
Third Party Participation
Two-Party Lease Transactions 4052.04-
Escalation Clauses
Escalation Clauses
5352.04
Evaluation of Commitments5352.03-04 Exchange of Mineral Leases
Exchange of Mineral Leases
. FASB Agenda Item
Gross Rental Commitments 5352.02
Gross Rental Commitments
Land
Land
23; 5352.01—.12. Lessors' Financial Statements 4051.01—
.19; 4052.01—.18 ''Leveraged'' Leases U2045.001—.005:
Ecteraged Ecoses
"Leveraged" Leases
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—11; 5514.06
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property 4052.09
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property 4052.09 Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property 4052.09 Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property 4052.09 Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors Effective Date of Opinion 4052.18 Measurement of Liability (M-1C) 1027.07 Natural Resources
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property 4052.09 Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors Effective Date of Opinion
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property 4052.09 Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors Effective Date of Opinion
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property 4052.09 Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors Effective Date of Opinion 4052.18 Measurement of Liability (M-1C) 1027.07 Natural Resources
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property 4052.09 Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors Effective Date of Opinion
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property 4052.09 Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors Effective Date of Opinion 4052.18 Measurement of Liability (M-1C) 1027.07 Natural Resources
 Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property
 Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property 4052.09 Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors Effective Date of Opinion
 Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property 4052.09 Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors Effective Date of Opinion
 Long-Term, Disclosure
 Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property
 Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property
 Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property
Long-Term, Disclosure 5352.07—.11; 5514.06 Losses on Leased Property

LAWYERS

LEASING

LEASING
Companies in Consolidation
Comparison with Owning
. Finance Companies 4051.03; 4051.08;
4052.02; 4052.10—.14 . Lessees' Financial Statements 5351.01 —
.23; 5352.01—.12
Lessors' Financial Statements 4051.01-
. 19; 4052.01—.18
LEGAL ENTITY
Compared to Accounting Entity 1025.03
Condition for Consolidation
LEGAL FORM . Lease Agreements
. Substance Over Form 1022.17; 1022.27
LEGAL LIABILITY
. Property Taxes
LEGAL OBLIGATIONS
Employers, Pension Plans 4063.10; 4063.14;
4063.16; 4063.18; U4063.020—.028; U4063.118— .120
. Pension Reform Act (1974) 4063-1.05
LEGAL REQUIREMENTS . Corporate Resolutions, Stock Split-
Ups 5561.11
. Intangible Assets
New Legislation
. Restrictions, Dividend Payments 5542.14
. Stock Dividends, Capitalization 5561.10-
14 Treasury Stock
LEGAL RULE Assessment Date, Property Taxes 4081.08
Stock Dividends
I ENDERS Care Our ditage
LENUERS-See Creditors
LENDERS—See Creditors
LENDING ACTIVITIES
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions 4052.14; 4111.03 Financing Method (Leases) 4051.05; 4051.05; 4051.05 Moncash Transactions 4011.07; 4111.11 Note Exchanged for Cash 4111.0506; 4111.10 Property Subject to Lease 4052.14; 411.03
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions 4052.14; 4111.03 Financing Method (Leases) 4051.05; 4051.05; 4051.05 Moncash Transactions 4011.07; 4111.11 Note Exchanged for Cash 4111.0506; 4111.10 Property Subject to Lease 4052.14; 411.03
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions 4052.14; 4111.03 Financing Method (Leases) 4051.05; 4051.05; 4051.06 Noncash Transactions 4111.07; 4111.11 Note Exchanged for Cash 4111.05-06; 4111.10 Property Subject to Lease 4052.14 Refinancing Short-Term Obligations 2033.0150 Selection of Interest Rates 4111.1213 LESSEES Disclosure of Lease Commitments 5352.0711 Investment Credits 9352.10; 5352.10; 5352.10 Option to Renew Lease 5351.10; 5352.10 Related to Lessor 5351.10; 5351.02; 5351.02 Related to Lessor 5351.02; 5351.02 LESSEES' FINANCIAL STATEMENTS LESSEES' FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions 4052.14; 4111.03 Financing Method (Leases) 4051.05; 4051.08 Noncash Transactions 4111.07; 4111.11 Note Exchanged for Cash 4111.05—06; 4111.05 Property Subject to Lease 4052.14 Refinancing Short-Term Obligations 2033.01—50 Selection of Interest Rates 4111.12—13 LESSEES Disclosure of Lease Commitments 5352.07—.11 Investment Credits 104094.009—010 Option to Renew Lease 5351.10; 5352.10 Related to Lessor 5351.07—08 LESSEES' FINANCIAL STATEMENTS LESSEES' 5351.02; 5352.06 Bargain Purchase/Rental 5351.14—15; 5352.04 Comparability 1000000000000000000000000000000000000
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions 4052.14; 4111.03 Financing Method (Leases) 4051.05; 4051.05; 4051.05 Noncash Transactions 4111.07; 4111.11 Note Exchanged for Cash 4111.07; 4111.11 Note Exchanged for Cash 4111.05–06; 4111.05 Property Subject to Lease 4052.14 Refinancing Short-Term Obligations 2033.01–50 Selection of Interest Rates 4111.12–.13 LESSEES Disclosure of Lease Commitments 5352.07–.11 Investment Credits 414094.009–010 Option to Renew Lease 5351.10; 5352.10 Related to Lessor 5351.10; 5352.10 Related to Lessor 5351.10; 5352.08 Applicability of Opinion 5351.02; 5352.08 Applicability of Opinion 5352.06 Bargain Purchase/Rental 5351.02; 5352.04–06 Comparability 5351.09–.12 Conditions Establishing Purchases
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions 4052.14; 4111.03 Financing Method (Leases) 4051.05; 4051.05; 4051.05 Noncash Transactions 4111.07; 4111.11 Note Exchanged for Cash 4111.07; 4111.11 Note Exchanged for Cash 4111.05–06; 4111.05 Property Subject to Lease 4052.14 Refinancing Short-Term Obligations 2033.01–50 Selection of Interest Rates 4111.12–.13 LESSEES Disclosure of Lease Commitments 5352.07–.11 Investment Credits 414094.009–010 Option to Renew Lease 5351.10; 5352.10 Related to Lessor 5351.10; 5352.10 Related to Lessor 5351.10; 5352.08 Applicability of Opinion 5351.02; 5352.08 Applicability of Opinion 5352.06 Bargain Purchase/Rental 5351.02; 5352.04–06 Comparability 5351.09–.12 Conditions Establishing Purchases
LENDING ACTIVITIES Financial Institutions

LESSEES' FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-

continued Discounting Future Rentals 5351.04:
Discounting Future Rentals
Distinction, Types of Leases
. Effective Date of Section
. Equity in Leased Property 5351.0607
. Evidence of Equity in Property 5351.10;
5352.09
. Executory Contracts
. Guarantees
. Interest Expense
. Land
. Lease Agreement Restrictions 5352.10
. Leaseback and Sale, Timing
Differences
. Leases and Leasebacks
. Lessee and Lessor Related
. Materiality, Rights and Obligations
Minimum Rental Commitments 5352.09
. Obligations Assumed
. Occupancy Cost
. Option to Purchase Property 5351.10;
5352.10 Option to Renew Lease 5351.10; 5352.10
Present Value of Commitments 5352.11
 Prior Lease Agreements 5351.23; 5352.12 Property Rights
. Purchase of Property
5351.0912
. Real Estate Companies
Rental Commitments
Rental Expense
Retroactive Disclosure
Sale and Lease Transactions
5351.1922
. Special Needs of Lessee
. Special Needs of Lessee
. Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21
. Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21 . Tax Treatment of Lease
. Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease
. Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21 . Tax Treatment of Lease
. Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21 . Tax Treatment of Lease
. Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease
. Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks5351.21 . Tax Treatment of Lease
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease
. Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks .5351.21 . Tax Treatment of Lease .5351.11 . Types of Property Leased .5352.0304; . 5352.09; 5352.11
. Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21 . Tax Treatment of Lease 5351.11 . Types of Property Leased 5352.0304; . 5352.09; 5352.11
. Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks . 5351.21 . Tax Treatment of Lease . 5351.11 . Types of Property Leased
. Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks . 5351.21 . Tax Treatment of Lease . 5351.11 . Types of Property Leased
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks .5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease .5351.11 Types of Property Leased .5352.0304; 5352.09; 5352.11 .5352.09; 5352.11 Write-Downs .5352.09; 5352.12 LESSORS Equity Participants
. Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks .5351.21 . Tax Treatment of Lease .5351.11 . Types of Property Leased .5352.0304; . 5352.09; 5352.11
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks .5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease .5351.11 Types of Property Leased .5352.0304; 5352.09; 5352.11
 Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks .5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease .5351.11 Types of Property Leased .5352.0304; 5352.09; 5352.11
 Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks .5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease .5351.11 Types of Property Leased .5352.0304; 5352.09; 5352.11
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks .5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease .5351.11 Types of Property Leased .5352.0304; 5352.09; 5352.11
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks .5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease .5351.11 Types of Property Leased .5352.0304; 5352.09;5352.11
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks .5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease .5351.11 Types of Property Leased .5352.0304; 5352.09; 5352.11
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease 5351.11 Types of Property Leased 5352.0304; 5352.09; 5352.11 5352.09; 5352.11 Write-Downs 5352.09; 5352.12 LESSORS Equity Participants U2045.001005 Investment Credits U4094.009010 "Leveraged Lease" Transactions U2045.001005 Manufacturers or Dealers 4052.0105 Manufacturers or Dealers 4052.0108 Applicability of Opinion 4052.03 Conditions for Sales Recognition 4052.04 Default or Termination 4052.13 Effective Date of Opinion 4052.13 Effective Date of Opinion 4052.14 Migh Credit Risks 4052.0406; 4052.11: 4052.15 Losses on Leased Property -4052.02 Operating Leases -4052.0709; 4052.12
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks .5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease .5351.11 Types of Property Leased .5352.0304; 5352.09; 5352.11
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks 5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease 5351.11 Types of Property Leased 5352.0304; 5352.09;532.11 Write-Downs Write-Downs 5352.09;532.11 LESSORS Equity Participants U2045.001005 Investment Credits U4094.009010 ''Leveraged Lease'' Transactions U2045.001005 Manufacturers or Dealers 4052.0118 Applicability of Opinion 4052.03 Conditions for Sales Recognition Conditions for Sales Recognition 4052.04 4052.04 Effective Date of Opinion 4052.04 4052.13 Effective Date of Opinion 4052.13 4052.11 High Credit Risks 4052.05 Leases Equivalent to Sales 4052.06 Losses on Leased Property
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks .5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease .5351.11 Types of Property Leased .5352.0304; 5352.09; 5352.11
Tax Effects, Sale and Leasebacks .5351.21 Tax Treatment of Lease .5351.11 Types of Property Leased .5352.0304; 5352.09; 5352.11

LESSORS' FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
Allocation Problems	
.10 Disclosure of Methods of	
Accounting 4051.16	
. Disclosure of Pledges	
. Initial Direct Costs	
. Interperiod Tax Allocation ''Leveraged'' Leases	
U4091.141—.142	
U4091.141—142 . Leasing Activities	
. "Leveraged Lease" Transactions	
Manufacturers or Dealers	
. Opinion	
Prior Lease Agreements	
Relationship to Section 5351 4051.18	
. Reporting in Balance Sheet 4051.1315	
Short-Term Leases	
LETTERS OF CREDIT . Loss Contingencies	
LETTERS TO MEMBERSHIP (AICPA)	
. Depreciation and High Cost 4071.01;	
4071.1017	
Profits or Losses on Treasury Stock	
LEVEL PREMIUM METHOD—See	
Individual Level Premium Method	
LIABILITIES	
Acquired Company	
Actuarial	
. Basic Element of Financial	
Accounting	
Catastrophes	
Category in Balance Sheet	
Changes in Concept	
. Changes in Concept	
. Combined Company 1091.08	
. Current—See Current Liabilities	
. Decreases	
. Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09	
. Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09	
. Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) Mounts Not Recorded (S-4) Mounts Recorded (S-4) Mounts Recorded (M-4A) Mounts Recorded (S-4A) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Deferred Credits Mounts Recorded (S-19: 4311.70–72	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) Mounts Not Recorded (S-4) Mounts Recorded (S-4) Mounts Recorded (M-4A) Mounts Recorded (S-4A) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Deferred Credits Mounts Recorded (S-19) Mounts Mounts <t< td=""><td></td></t<>	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.07 Sources 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 4311.7072 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discount or Premium on Notes 4111.0103	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.07 Sources 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 4311.7072 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discount or Premium on Notes 4111.0103	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) Mounts Not Recorded (S-4) Mounts Recorded (S-4) Mounts Recorded (M-4A) Mounts Recorded (S-4A) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Deferred Credits Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Definition Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Discontinued Segment MultiAnul-03 Discovery (S-3) Mount Seguent Mount Seguent Mount Secontinued Segment Mount Secontinued Seguent Mount Secontinued Secontinue Mount Secontinue Mount Secontinue Moun	
. Decreases . Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 . Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 . Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 . Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 . Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 . Sources 1027.13 . When Recorded (S-1D) 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 1027.12 Definition 1025.19; 1027.12 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 . Discovery (S-3) 1027.08 	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) Mounts Not Recorded (S-4) Mounts Recorded (S-4) Mounts Recorded (M-4A) Mounts Recorded (S-4A) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Deferred Credits Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Deferred Credits Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Definition Mounts Segment 2012.18 Discout or Premium on Notes 4111A.0103 Discovery (S-3) Mounts Segment of Debt 5362.0122 Effects of Price-Level Changes 16	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) Mounts Not Recorded (S-4) Mounts Recorded (S-4) Mounts Recorded (M-4A) Mounts Recorded (S-4A) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Deferred Credits Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Deferred Credits Mounts Recorded (S-1D) Definition Mounts Segment 2012.18 Discout or Premium on Notes 4111A.0103 Discovery (S-3) Mounts Segment of Debt 5362.0122 Effects of Price-Level Changes 16	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources 1027.13 When Recorded (S-1D) 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 4311.70–.72 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discourt or Premium on Notes 1011.15; 4111A.01–.03 1025.027.08 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.01–.22 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.13–.6 Exchange Adjustments 1082.05–.06 Extinguishment of Debt 2013.01–.17	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 1027.12 Definition 1025.19; 1027.12 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discoution or Premium on Notes 4111.15; 111.01-003 1027.08 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.01-22 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.13-16 Exchange Adjustments 2013.0117 Included in Basic Elements 1023.0117	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 1027.17 Definition 1025.19; 1027.12 Definition 1025.19; 4311.70–.72 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discout or Premium on Notes 4111A.01–.03 Discovery (S-3) 1027.08 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.01–.22 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.13– 16 Exchange Adjustments 1082.05–.06 Extinguishment of Debt 2013.01–.17 Included in Basic Elements 1025.18	
 Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources 1027.13 When Recorded (S-1D) 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 4311.7072 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discourt or Premium on Notes 4111.15; 4111A.0103 Discovery (S-3) 1025.1027.07 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.3- 16 Exchange Adjustments 1082.0506 Extinguishment of Debt 2013.0117 Included in Basic Elements 1025.18 Increases 1027.09 	
 Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources 1027.13 When Recorded (S-1D) 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 4311.7072 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discourt or Premium on Notes 4111.15; 4111A.0103 Discovery (S-3) 1025.1027.07 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.3- 16 Exchange Adjustments 1082.0506 Extinguishment of Debt 2013.0117 Included in Basic Elements 1025.18 Increases 1027.09 	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources 1027.13 When Recorded (S-1D) 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 4311.70–.72 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discourt or Premium on Notes 1011.15 4111A.01–.03 1025.027.08 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.01–.22 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.13–.16 Exchange Adjustments 1082.05–.06 Extinguishment of Debt 2013.01–.17 Included in Basic Elements 1025.18 Increases 1025.18 Amounts Recorded (M-5) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5F) 1027.09	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources 1027.13 When Recorded (S-1D) 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 4311.70–.72 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discourt or Premium on Notes 1011.15 4111A.01–.03 1025.027.08 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.01–.22 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.13–.16 Exchange Adjustments 1082.05–.06 Extinguishment of Debt 2013.01–.17 Included in Basic Elements 1025.18 Increases 1025.18 Amounts Recorded (M-5) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5F) 1027.09	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 1027.12 Definition 1025.19; 1027.17 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discout or Premium on Notes 4111.0772 Discovery (S-3) 1027.08 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.0122 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.1316 Exchange Adjustments 1082.0506 Extinguishment of Debt 2013.017 Included in Basic Elements 1025.18 Increases	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources 1027.13 When Recorded (S-1D) 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 4311.70–.72 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discourt or Premium on Notes 4111.15; 4111A.01–.03 1022.07.08 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.01–.22 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.13–.16 Exchange Adjustments 1082.05–.06 Extinguishment of Debt 2013.01–.17 Included in Basic Elements 1025.18 Increases 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-5) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5F)	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 1027.12 Definition 1025.19; 1027.12 Definition 1025.19; 1027.12 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discovery (S-3) 1027.08 Early Extinguishment of Debt 3362.01 — 22 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.13— Exchange Adjustments 1082.05—06 Extinguishment of Debt 2013.01—17 Included in Basic Elements 1025.18 Increases 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5F) 1027.09	
 Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources 1027.13 When Recorded (S-1D) 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 1027.12 Definition 1025.19; 1027.12 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discovery (S-3) 1027.07 Discovery (S-3) 1027.08 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.01—.22 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.13— 16 Exchange Adjustments 1082.05—.06 Extinguishment of Debt 1025.18 Increases 1025.18 Increases 1025.19 Amounts Recorded (M-5) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5) 1027.09 Assessments 4311.33—.39 Loss Contingencies 4311.08—.13 	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources 1027.13 When Recorded (S-1D) 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 4311.70–.72 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discourt or Premium on Notes 4111.15; Starly Extinguishment of Debt 5362.01–-22 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.13– Included in Basic Elements 1025.18 Increases Amounts Recorded (M-5) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5F) 1027.09 Sources 1027.13 Interim Period Disclosure 2071.33 Litigation, Claims, and Assessments Assessments 4311.33–.39 Loss Cont	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources 1027.07 When Recorded (S-1D) 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 1027.12 Definition 1025.19; 1027.12 Definition 1025.19; 1027.12 Definition 1025.19; 1027.12 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discout or Premium on Notes 4111.0103 Discovery (S-3) 1027.08 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.0122 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.13- Included in Basic Elements 1025.18 Increases 1021.09 Amounts Recorded (M-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5F) 1027.09 Sources 1027.03 Litigation, Claims, and 4311.3339 Loss Contingencies 4311.3839	
Decreases Amounts Not Recorded (M-4) 1027.09 Amounts Not Recorded (S-4) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-4A) 1027.09 Measurement (M-1D) 1027.07 Sources 1027.13 When Recorded (S-1D) 1027.07 Deferred Credits 1025.19; 4311.70–.72 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discourt or Premium on Notes 4111.15; Starly Extinguishment of Debt 5362.01–-22 Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.13– Included in Basic Elements 1025.18 Increases Amounts Recorded (M-5) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (M-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5F) 1027.09 Amounts Recorded (S-5F) 1027.09 Sources 1027.13 Interim Period Disclosure 2071.33 Litigation, Claims, and Assessments Assessments 4311.33–.39 Loss Cont	

LIABILITIES—continued Noncurrent—See Noncurrent	LI
Liabilities	•
 Nonmonetary—See Nonmonetary Liabilities 	•
Not Economic Obligations 1027.04; 1027.12	LC
. Note Exchanged for Cash 4111.0506; 4111.10	L
. Notes Issued in Bankruptcy 4111-1.0105	
. Offsetting Securities Against Taxes Payable	LC
. Owners' Investments and Withdrawals	
(M-2)	LC
. Product Warranties	
Purchase Method, Business Combinations 1091.67; 1091.72; 1091.87	LC
. Purchases, Leased Property 5351.0205;	
5351.09—12 Real and Personal Property Taxes	LC
4081.0207	LC
. Relation to Economic Elements 1022.12; 1022.18; 1022.19; 1024.12; 1025.13; 1025.21	
Taxes on Property Owned	
Unearned Premiums 4311.41; 4311.95–96 Unearned Revenue	
. Unit of Measure	
. When Recorded (S-1C) 1027.07	
LIABILITY METHOD . Compared to Alternatives U4091.024033	
Interperiod Tax Allecation	
Procedures	
. Tax Rate Changes	
LICENSES	•
. Nonmonetary Item	
LIEN DATE Property Taxes	• .
LIFE ADJUSTMENT TABLES Depreciation Guidelines	•
LIFE INSURANCE POLICIES	
Classification of Loans	
Pension Plans 4063.41	
. Proceeds Exempt From Tax U4091.050	
LIMITATIONS OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL	
STATEMENTS 1022.25	-
LINE OF BUSINESS—See Segment of a	-
Business	
LIQUIDATION Classification of Segregated Funds	
2031.06: 2033.09	
Early Extinguishment of Debt	
. Imminent	
. LIFO Base at Interim Date	:
Nonmonetary Assets Distributed 1041.05; 1041.1012; 1041.23	
. Preferred Stock 5515.01—.02	
Proceeds	
	-
. Tax-Free Earnings of Subsidiaries 4095.12; U4095.001—.005	
. Value Per Share	
LISTED STOCKS NOT TRADED Fair Value Estimation	LO
Debt Arrangements in Bankruptcy	
. Delays, Pooling of Interests U1091.016–	
. Delays, Pooling of interests 01091.010 .018	

LITIGATION—continued . Loss Contingencies 4311.04; 4311.33—.39; 4311.68
Patents
LONG-TERM CONSTRUCTION-TYPE
CONTRACTS—See also Construction- Type Contracts
LOOSELEAF EDITION Language of Pronouncements 100.08 Purpose
LOSS CARRYBACKS—See Operating Loss Carrybacks
LOSS CARRYFORWARDS—See Operating Loss Carryforwards
LOSS CARRYOVERS—See Operating Loss Carryforwards
LOSS CONTINGENCIES
- Accrual of Loss Contingencies 4311.08 .09; 4311.59101
.09; 4311.59—.101 Alternative Practices 4311.05—.06; 4311.55
Appropriation of Retained Farnings
. Associating Cause and Effect 4311./660
Bankruptcy
4311.94
. Catastrophes—See Catastrophes
Claims
4311.3339 4211.08
Conditions for Accrual
Consolidated Financial Statements
4311.27 Cost Recovery Method
. Cost Recovery Method
Disclosure—See Contingencies Examples
General or Unspecified Risks
. Immediate Recognition
. Impairment of Value of Assets 4311.7475
. Installment Method
Lawsuits
Lawyers
Lawyers
Libratile and of Evidence Evidence (211.02)
. Litigation
. Matching Concept
Litigation
Protection Against Losses 4311.6166; 4311.85
. Reasonable Possibility of Loss 4311.10-
. Regulated Industries
. Remote Chance of Loss
. Risk-See Risk
Subsequent to Financial
Subsequent to Financial Statements
. Tax Litigation
. Terminology
. Variability in Net Income 4311.63–.65
Warranties—See Guarantees and
Warranties

LOSSES

Assets (S-3) 1027.08
Bankruptcies, Railroads U2010.001003
Casualties
Casualties (M-7) 1027.11
Catastrophes—See Catastrophes
Category in Income Statement 1022.04
Completed Contract Method 4031.11

15,250

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

LOSSES—continued . Contingencies—See Loss Contingencies	N
Corporate Readjustments	
Disclosure, Inventory Losses	
. Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets 1041.22	
Expired Costs	N
1082.08; 1082.28; 1082.32 . Impairment, Utility of Productive Facilities (M-5C)	
. Investments Cost Method 2051.18; 5131.06—.07 Equity Method 4311.74—.75; 5131.06; 	
Lawsuits	
 Marketable Securities (S-5B)	
. Operating—See Operating Losses . Percentage of Completion Method 	
Price-Level, General	
Purchase Commitments	
Contracts	M
LOWER OF COST OR MARKET Conservatism Convention	M
.16; 1082.05 . Interim Financial Statements2071.14 . Inventory Pricing4311.74—.75; 5131.05; . Loss Recognition4311.74—.75; 5131.05; .5131.19	M
. Loss Recognition (S-5A)	M
MANAGEMENT	
Ability to Refinance	
Accounting Policies	
. Control of Events	•
. Litigation, Claims, and Assessments	
Need for Information 1024.06; 1025.12 Net Income Determination 2010.10 Plan for Disposal of Segment 2012.14 Price-Level Statements 1071.06	

ANAGEMENT—continued

MANAGEMENT—continued
. Research and Development Activities
Responsibilities
. Financial Statements
Machinery
Stewardship and Other 10/1.02; 40/1.16
Line of Comparently Associated
Accounting Principles
U1091.119—.125
. Use of Financial Information
MANUFACTURER OR DEALER LESSORS
. Applicability of Opinion
Conditions for Sales Recognition 4052.04 Credit Risks in Leases
. Default or Termination 4052.13
Effective Date of Opinion
Related Company Transactions 4052.15
Third Party Participation
.06
Leases Equivalent to Sales
. Participation by Third Parties 4052.12—
.14 Related Company Transactions
4052.16—.17
Two-Party Lease Transactions 4052.07– 09.
Related Company Transactions 4052.15-
Remarketing Agreements
Transfer of Risks/Rewards
Transfer of Risks/Rewards
. Two-Party Lease Transactions 4052.04– .09
. Uncertainties
. Undivided Interest Sold 4052.16—.17 MANUFACTURING
. Cost Attachment to Products 1026.22;
2071.13—.14 . Included in Production 1023.23; 1027.10
MARGIN, NORMAL PROFIT
Inventory Pricing
MARKET
. Inventory Pricing
MARKET PARITY
. Common Stock Equivalence 2011.32;
2011B.11 2011D.17
. Definition
MARKET PRICES
. Assumed Purchase of Debt
. Cash Yield Test
Changes, Convertible Securities U2011.127—128
. Changes not Recorded 1024.12
. Common Stock Equivalents
Conditions for Issue of Shares 2011A.18
Conversion of Debt
Conversion Option
. Criteria, Common Stock
Equivalence

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

MARKET PRICES—continued	м
. Debentures	
. Disclosure Under Equity Method 5131.20	
Effect of Stable Earnings	
Exercise Prices	
Extinguishment of Convertible	
Debt	
. Indicator of Fair Value 1041.25: 1091.23:	
1091.74—.75	
. Influenced by Earnings Capacities 1091.24	м
. Investment Companies (S-4A) 1027.09 . Investment Value	
. Investment Value	
Market Value Method	
Nonmonetary Items 1071.19–.20; 1071D.01	
Phantom Stock Plans	
Precious Metals	
. Stock Issued for Warrants	
Stock Issued to Employees	
Treasury Stock Method	
Treasury Stock Method	
(12011-236-239	
Applicability	
Average, Computations	
. Three-Month Test U2011.027; U2011.223—	
Time Periods	
MARKET VALUE	M
. Debt Securities	
Compared to Carrying Amount 5362.09:	
5362.20—.21	
Disclosure for Temporary	M
Investments	
Notes Issued in Bankruptcy 4111-1.02	
Notes Issued in Bankruptcy 4111-1.02 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.08—.11	м
4111.13	
Owners' Investment (M-2)	
. Pension Fund Investments 4063.28–.29 U4063.103–.108	
Property, Plant and Equipment 4072.01	
Residual Securities	M
. Shares, Stock Dividends	
. Shares, Unrealized Appreciation 5561.06	•
. Stock issued to Employees	
4062.10	
MARKETABLE SECURITIES	
Broker-Dealers	
Extinguishment of Debt 2013 01-17	
Impairment of Value 2031.09: 4311.7475	
. Investment Companies (3-4A) 1027.05	
. Lower of Cost or Market	
. Market Price Declines (M-5B) 1027.09	
Market Price Declines (S-5B) 1027.09 Nonmonetary Items 1041.03: 1041.05	
MARKETING 4052.01	
. Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors 4052.01; 4052.13	
. Production Activity 1023.23	
. Research and Development	
Activities 4211.08; 4211.53-54; 4211-3.04;	
4211-3.0709	
MATCHING PRINCIPLE—See also income	
Determination	
. Business Combinations	
. Completed-Contract Method 4031.192, 4031.10	
Comprehensive Tax Allocation 4091.30:	
U4091.022—.023; U4091.036	
U4091.022—.023; U4091.036 Contingencies	
Deferred Costs	
. Expense Recognition 2062.3033; 4211.47	

A A	TCHING PRINCIPLE—continued		
	Income Determination	4091	13
•	Interim Financial Statements 2071	.13—	14
·	Inventories	5121.	08
•	Measurement, Income Tax		
	Expense 4091.35; U4091.022; U4091.03 Rate-Making Processes 6011.02; 60	30U	4/
•	Rate-Making Processes 0011.02.00	/11.04	05
	Research and Development Costs		
•	Subordinated to Realization	091.0	77
		510	۸a
·	APB Opinions Basic Feature of Financial	. 510	09
•	Accounting	1025	15
	Changes. Accounting	1051	38
÷	Changes, Accounting Conversion Option Dilution, Earnings per Share	5516	09
	Dilution, Earnings per Share	2011.	14;
	U2011.010: U2011.073—.080; U2 Extinguishment of Debt Extraordinary Items	011.0	89
	Extinguishment of Debt	2013	.08
•	Extraordinary Items	20/1	21
·	Income Tax Allocation 4091.06: 04	091.0	115
·	Interim v. Annual Reports	20/1	.29
•	Notes Receivable/Payable Pension Plans	71-0 5251	12
·	Notes Receivable/Pavable	4111	.13 09
•	Pension Plans 4063 36: 114063 12	5_1	27.
•	U4063.13	31-1	45
	Relation to Rule 203	. 520	.05
	Treasury Stock Transactions 5542	.10—	11
a A	TERIALS		
	Research and Development		
•	Activities	11-1.	04:
	4.	211-3	02
A A		211-3	02
n A	THEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS	211-3	.02
	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements	211-3. 1025.	.02 .21
	THEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS	211-3. 1025. 1023.	.02 .21 .21
•	THEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Economic Elements 1025.10; Errors in Financial Statements 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	211-3. 1025. 1023.	.02 .21 .21
•	THEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Economic Elements 1025.19; Errors in Financial Statements 1025.19;	211-3 1025 1023 1051	.02 .21 .21 .13
•	THEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements Economic Elements Errors in Financial Statements EASURABILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition	211-3 1025 1023 1051 211.4	.02 .21 .13 .13
•	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Economic Elements 1025.19; Errors in Financial Statements 1025.19; ASURABILITY 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	211-3 1025 1023 1051 211.4	.02 .21 .13 .13 .45
•	THEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Economic Elements 1025.19; Errors in Financial Statements 1025.19;	211-3 1025 1023 1051 211.4	.02 .21 .13 .13 .45
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Economic Elements 1025.19; Errors in Financial Statements 1025.19; Castron Financial Statements 1025.19; Criterion for Asset Recognition 42 Future Benefits 4211 Loss Contingencies 43	211-3 1025 1023 1051 211.4 .53 4311	.02 .21 .13 .45 .54 .08
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Economic Elements 1025.19; Errors in Financial Statements 1025.19; Castron Financial Statements 1025.19; Criterion for Asset Recognition 42 Future Benefits 4211 Loss Contingencies 43	211-3 1025 1023 1051 211.4 .53 4311	.02 .21 .13 .45 .54 .08
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Ecrors in Financial Statements ASURABILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition Future Benefits Loss Contingencies BAUREMENT Accounting Operations Attributes Selected 1023.28;	211-3 1025 1023 1051 211.4 53- 4311 1027 1024	.02 .21 .13 .45 .54 .08 .02 .18
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Economic Elements 1025.19; Errors in Financial Statements 1025.19; Criterion for Asset Recognition 4211 Loss Contingencies 4211 Ascounting Operations 4211 Accounting Operations 1023.28; Based on Classification System 1023.28;	211-3 1025 1023 1051 211.4 .53 4311 1027 1024 1022	.02 .21 .13 .45 .54 .08 .02 .18 .26
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Economic Elements 1025.19; Errors in Financial Statements 1025.19; Criterion for Asset Recognition 4211 Loss Contingencies 4211 Ascounting Operations 4211 Accounting Operations 1023.28; Based on Classification System 1023.28;	211-3 1025 1023 1051 211.4 .53 4311 1027 1024 1022	.02 .21 .13 .45 .54 .08 .02 .18 .26
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Economic Elements Errors in Financial Statements Errors in Financial Statements Errors in Financial Statements ASURABILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition Criterion for Asset Recognition 42 Future Benefits 4211 Loss Contingencies 4211 Accounting Operations 423.28; Based on Classification System Based on Exchanges (S-1)	211-3 1025 1023 1051 211.4 .53 4311 1027 1024 1022	.02 .21 .13 .45 .54 .08 .02 .18 .26
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Economic Elements 1025.19; Errors in Financial Statements 1025.19; ASURABILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition 4211 Loss Contingencies 4211 Loss Contingencies 4211 Ascurement 4211 Ascounting Operations 1023.28; Based on Classification System Based on Exchanges Based on Exchanges (S-1) Bases	211-3 1025 1023 1051 211.4 53 4311 1027 1024 1022 1026 1027	.02 .21 .13 .45 .54 .08 .02 .18 .26 .26
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Economic Elements Errors in Financial Statements Errors in Financial Statements Statements ASURABILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition 4211 Loss Contingencies Statements 4211 Loss Contingencies Accounting Operations 4212 Accounting Operations 1023.28; Based on Classification System Based on Exchanges Based on Exchanges Based on Exchanges Based on Exchanges 1022.27;	211-3 1025 1023 1051 211.4 53- 4311 1027 1024 1026 1027 1027	.02 .21 .13 .45 .54 .08 .02 .18 .26 .07 .05
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Economic Elements Errors in Financial Statements Errors in Financial Statements Statements ASURABILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition 4211 Loss Contingencies Statements 4211 Loss Contingencies Accounting Operations 4212 Accounting Operations 1023.28; Based on Classification System Based on Exchanges Based on Exchanges Based on Exchanges Based on Exchanges 1022.27;	211-3 1025 1023 1051 211.4 53- 4311 1027 1024 1026 1027 1027	.02 .21 .13 .45 .54 .08 .02 .18 .26 .07 .05
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Economic Elements 1025.19; Errors in Financial Statements 1025.19; ASURABILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition 4211 Loss Contingencies 4211 Loss Contingencies 4211 Accounting Operations 1023.28; Based on Classification System Based on Exchanges Based on Exchanges (S-1) Bases Acquisition Cost 1022.27; Current Sales Exchange 1022.27; Disclosure Requirements 1022.27;	211-3 1025 1023 1051 211.4 .53 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027	.02 .21 .21 .45 .54 .08 .26 .07 .05 .05 .26
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Ecrors in Financial Statements ERROR BILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition 4211 Loss Contingencies EASUREMENT Accounting Operations Attributes Selected 1023.28; Based on Exchanges Based on Exchanges (S-1) Bases Acquisition Cost 1022.27; Current Sales Exchange Disclosure Requirements Fair Value 1041	211-3. 1025. 1023. 1051 211.4: .53- 4311. 1027. 1024. 1026. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1028. 1029. 10	.02 .21 .13 .45 .54 .26 .07 .05 .26 .05 .26 .05 .26 .05 .26 .05 .26 .05 .26 .05 .26 .05 .26 .05 .26 .05 .26 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Ecrors in Financial Statements Errors in Financial Statements SURABILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition 4211 Loss Contingencies EASUREMENT Accounting Operations Attributes Selected Based on Exchanges Based on Exchanges (S-1) Bases Acquisition Cost Disclosure Requirements Fair Value Historical Cost	211-3. 1025. 1023. 1051 211.4: .53- 4311. 1027. 1024. 1026. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1027. 1028. 1029. 10	.02 .21 .13 .45 .54 .08 .26 .07 .05 .26 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Ecrors in Financial Statements Errors in Financial Statements ASURABILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition Future Benefits Loss Contingencies EASUREMENT Accounting Operations Attributes Selected Based on Classification System Based on Exchanges Bases Acquisition Cost Disclosure Requirements Fait Value Historical Cost Net Realizable Value	211-3. 1025 1023. 1051 211.4: 53- 4311 1027 1024 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027	.02 .21 .13 .45 .54 .08 .02 .18 .26 .05 .26 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Ecrors in Financial Statements SAURABILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition 4211 Loss Contingencies EASUREMENT Accounting Operations Attributes Selected Based on Exchanges Based on Exchanges Acquisition Cost Disclosure Requirements Fair Value Historical Cost Net Realizable Value	211-3. 1025 1023. 1051 211.4: 53- 4311. 1027 1024 1026 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1028 1027 1	02 21 21 .13 .45 .54 .08 .26 .07 .05 .26 .05 .26 .05 .27 .13
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Ecrors in Financial Statements SAURABILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition 4211 Loss Contingencies EASUREMENT Accounting Operations Attributes Selected Based on Exchanges Based on Exchanges (S-1) Bases Acquisition Cost Disclosure Requirements Fair Value Historical Cost Net Realizable Value Relation to Economic Elements Corparison with Valuation	211-3. 1025 1023. 1051 211.4. 53- 4311. 1027 1024 1027 1025 1	02 21 21 .13 .45 .54 .08 .02 .18 .26 .05 .27 .05 .27 .13 .27 .13
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Ecrors in Financial Statements SAURABILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition 4211 Loss Contingencies EASUREMENT Accounting Operations Attributes Selected Based on Exchanges Based on Exchanges (S-1) Bases Acquisition Cost Disclosure Requirements Fair Value Historical Cost Net Realizable Value Relation to Economic Elements Corparison with Valuation	211-3. 1025 1023. 1051 211.4. 53- 4311. 1027 1024 1027 1025 1	02 21 21 .13 .45 .54 .08 .02 .18 .26 .05 .27 .05 .27 .13 .27 .13
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Ecrors in Financial Statements EXURABILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition 4211 Loss Contingencies EASUREMENT Accounting Operations Attributes Selected Disclosure Requirements Based on Exchanges Acquisition Cost Disclosure Requirements Fair Value Historical Cost Net Realizable Value Relation to Economic Elements Comparison with Valuation Compensation Cost Vote Realizable Value Net Realizable Value Action to Economic Elements Comparison with Valuation Compensation Cost Station to 2000 (Stock Plans Compensation Cost 4061.1213; 4062.0405; 4062.05	211-3. 1025 1023. 1051 211.4: .53- .024 1027 1	.02 .21 .13 .45 .54 .26 .07 .05 .26 .05 .27 .13 .27 .13 .27 .13 .27 .13
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements	211-3. 1025 1023. 1051 1052 1055 105	02 21 21 3 45 54 02 121 3 45 54 02 121 3 45 54 02 121 3 45 54 02 126 13 126 13 126 126 13 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126
AE	ATHEMATICAL RELATIONSHIPS Basic Elements 1025.19; Ecrors in Financial Statements EXURABILITY Criterion for Asset Recognition 4211 Loss Contingencies EASUREMENT Accounting Operations Attributes Selected Disclosure Requirements Based on Exchanges Acquisition Cost Disclosure Requirements Fair Value Historical Cost Net Realizable Value Relation to Economic Elements Comparison with Valuation Compensation Cost Vote Realizable Value Net Realizable Value Action to Economic Elements Comparison with Valuation Compensation Cost Station to 2000 (Stock Plans Compensation Cost 4061.1213; 4062.0405; 4062.05	211-3. 1025 1023 1051 211.4: 53- 4311 1027 1024 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1027 1028 1027 1028 1027 102	02 21 21 3 45 54 08 02 8 26 07 05 26 05 05 27 11 14 05

 IU29.00

 Economic Obligations
 1022.17; 1024.12; 1025.05; 1025.07; 1024.12; 1025.05; 1025.07; 1024.12; 1025.05; 1025.07; 1024.12; 1025.05; 1025.07; 1025.09

 Economic Resources
 1025.05; 1025.07; 1025.09

 Economic Price
 1023.01

.49

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

MEASUREMENT-continued
Interest Rates for Notes
Liabilities (M-1C)
Limitations
. Money rerms 1023.30, 1023.07, 1023.09, 1025.07
1025.16; 1026.29—.30 Nonmonetary Transactions 1041.01—.29
Present Value
4111.0009, 4111A.0102
Principles—See Pervasive
Measurement Principles
Problems
Proposals for Change
Purchasing Power Changes
Research and Development Costs
4211.44—.45
. Tax Effects U4091.031-033; U4091.056-064
Test for Verifiability 1024.18
. Time Periods
. Timing Differences
MEDIUM OF EXCHANGE—See Unit of
Measure
MERCHANT MARINE ACT OF 1970
Income Taxes—Special Areas 4095.02
MERGERS—See Business Combinations
METALS, PRECIOUS
Inventory Pricing
. Revenue Recognition
. Revenue Recognition (M-6D) 1027.10
. Revenue Recognition (S-6D) 1027.10
METHODS OF ACCOUNTING
Changes, Accounting
4031.0914
. Construction Type Contracts 1051.09; 1051.14; 1051.27—.28; 4031.03—.15
1051.14; 1051.27—.28; 4051.03—.15
. Cost (Unconsolidated Subsidiaries) 2051 19
2051.18 (020.01
. Cost Recovery
1082.08—.10; 1082.24; 1082.27
1082.08-10, 1082.24, 1082.27
Definition 1051.07
Definition
Definition
Definition
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.18—.21
Disclosure of Accounting Policies2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt5362.1821 Equity
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.18-21 Equity
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.12 Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.1821 Equity

MINERALS MINORITY INTERESTS . Acquisition by Majority U1091.025-.031; U1091.151-...154: U1091.009-...102 Business Combinations 1091.05: 1091.43; 1091.99; U1091.050-...060; U1091.086-...089 Consolidation Policy 2051.03 Equity Method of Accounting 1027.23; 5131 17 2051.14 . Excessive Losses External Events Recorded (S-4A) . . . 1027.09 . Nonmonetary Items 1071B.04 Significant Minority Defined U1091.088 **MISLEADING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS** Comparability Conditions 1024.24—.25 Errors—See Errors in Financial Statements Price-Level Restatements 1071.46 . Rule 203—Accounting Principles 520.01 **MISTAKES**—See Errors in Financial Statements . Application, Pervasive Measurement Principles 1022.20; 1026.33 . Division of Pervasive Principles 1022.20; 1026.07 . Judgment, Collective vs. Individual . . MONETARY ASSETS . Amounts, Price-Level Statements ... 1071.38 . Effect of Holding 1071.33; 1071.48 Gain or Loss Calculations 1071.40-.42 Price-Level Gains and Losses 1071.33 . Roll-Forward Froeed. C. Translation of Foreign Currencies 1082.08–.12 **MONETARY LIABILITIES** Amounts, Price-Level Statements ... 1071.38 Basis for Accounting 1041.01; 1041.18 Convertible Debt 1071.23; 1071.34 Debentures 1071.34 Definition 1041.03; 1071.18 Effect of Holding 1071.33; 1071.48 . Examples 1071B.03 . Gain or Loss Calculations 1071.40-.42

METHODS OF ACCOUNTING—continued . Research and Development Costs . . . 4211.37

Translation of Foreign Currencies 1082.08–.12

MONETARY-NONMONETARY METHOD

. Foreign Currency Translation . . . 1082.10–12; 1082.27; 7001.24

15,253

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

M	0	N	E	v
1.1	U	1.4	E	T

MONEY 1071.32 Cycles of Activity 1025.08 Economic Obligations 1023.19 Economic Resources 1023.18 Exchange for Notes 4111.01—16 Foreign Currency Translation 1082.01—32 Measured at Face Amount (M-1A) 1027.07 Price-Level Gains and Losses 1071.17—23 Prices, Types 1023.31 Purchasing Power Changes 1023.30; 1025.07; 1026.30—32 Unit of Measure 1022.17; 1023.30; 1025.07; 1026.29—30
MONEY-PURCHASE PLANS
MORTALITY
Actuarial Assumptions
MORTALITY RATE
MORTGAGES
. Interest Rates on Loans
MOVING AVERAGE METHOD Actuarial Gains (Losses) Illustration of Application U4063.099 .101 Pension Funds
(Depreciation)
MUNICIPALITIES Applicability of APB Opinions
MUTUAL COMPANIES Earnings per Share
MUTUAL SAVINGS BANKS Tax Effects, General Reserves 4095.1925
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF ACCOUNTANTS . Report on Foreign Operations1082.10
NATIONAL INCOME ACCOUNTS General Price-Level Restatements
NATIONAL SCIENCE FOUNDATION (NSF)
Definition, Research and
Development
NATURAL RESOURCES
. 1091.88
. Lease Agreements
NEGATIVE GOODWILL Business Combinations 1091.87; 1091.91—
. Operating Loss Carryforwards U4091.104—.105
NET ASSETS . Per Common Share 2011.39; U2011.014
NET INCOME Adjustment of Prior Periods
. Aggregate over Life of Enterprise 2010.13 . All Inclusive Concept 2010.12–.13; 2012.01 . 2012.04
Basic Element of Financial Accounting
Change in Owners' Equity

NET INCOME-continued
. Changes in Concept
Conservatism Convention
Contingencies 4311.15; 4311.20; 4311.76–.80
Definition
Determination
. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.16
Disclosure Requirements 1027.25
. Distortions. Research and
Development
Earnings per Share Computation 2011.07:
2011.20, U2011.020—.023
. Earnings per Share Format 2011.13
. Effect of Business Combinations 1091.02: U1091.133135
. Elimination of Uncertainties
. Equity Method 1027.23; 5131.03
Error in Financial Statements 1051.36-37
. Events Applicable 1023.24
Exclusions from Results of
Operations
. Expense Recognition 1026.20
. Goodwill Amortization
. Historical Background 2010.08
. Illustration
Change in Completed Contract
Method
Change in Depreciation Method
Change to LIFO Method 2072.2225
. Included in Basic Elements
. Most Meaningful Concept
. Partial Allocation, Income Taxes 4091.25
. Price-Level Gains and Losses 1071.41–.42
. Price-Level Restatements 1071.16; 1071.46
. Recognition of Items
. Re-examination of Criteria
. Relation to Economic Elements 1022.12;
1022.18; 1023.29
. Relation to Funds Statements 2021.15
. Restatements, Prior Period
Restatements, Prior Period Adjustments
. Significance
. Significance in Statements 1022.31; 1026.36
. Subchapter S Corporations U2011.081
Tax Allocation Methods
. Unit of Measure
. Variability
NET INCOME PER SHARE—See Earnings

Per Share

NET LEASES

. Definition
. Present Value of Commitments 5352.11
NET OF TAX METHOD
. Compared to Alternatives U4091.024033
Financial Statement Presentation
4091.53—.54; 4091.63; U4091.129—.130
. Interperiod Tax Allocation 4091.20;
U4091.028—.029
NET REALIZABLE VALUE
. Definition
. Definition (M-6D) 1027.10
. Inventory Pricing (M-5A)
. Future Exchange Price
. Marketable Securities
. Measurement Base
. Receivables
. Revenue Measurement (M-6D) 1027.10
. Segment of a Business
NEUTRALITY

NEUTRALITY

Adequate Disclosure	1024.34
Defined as Qualitative Objective	1022.15;
-	1024.19

15,254

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

N

N

N

N

NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE Committee on Stock List 5542.04 Institute Recommendations . 100.01 Treasury Stock 5541.01; 5542.01; 5542.03-.04 NO-COST SETTLEMENTS Terminated War and Defense NOMINAL ISSUE, CAPITAL STOCK NONCANCELABLE LEASES Conditions for Sales Recognition 4052.04 Financing Property requirements 5351.13: 5352.07-11 . 5351.13: . Purchase, Leased Property 5351.11 NONCOMPENSATORY PLANS Essential Characteristics 4062.07 NONCURRENT ASSETS Market Price Reductions (M-5E) 1027.09 Market Price Reductions (S-5E) 1027.09 Obligations Arising from NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 2033.02 Definition Examples of Refinancing 2033.32-.50 Leases Capitalized by Lessee 5351.15 Refinancing Short-Term NONDEDUCTIBLE EXPENSES NONMONETARY ASSETS Deferred Charges 1071.19 . Fair Value Not Determinable 1041.17; 1041.20; 1041.26 1041.18; 1041.27
 Identification
 1071C.08

 Impairment of Value
 1041.21; 1041.23

 Inventories
 1041.03; 1071.19

 Inventories, Exchanges
 1041.07; 1041.16

 Inventories, Exchanges
 1041.07; 1041.23
 . Investments, Common Stock 1041.03; 1071.19 Price-Level Gains and Losses 1071.33 . 1041.23 . Restatement Procedure . . . 1071.35; 1071C.15 . Retirement of Stock 1041.05, 1041.18 . Transfers to Owners 1041.05; 1041.09-.12; 1041.18; 1041.23 Transfers Within Entity 1041.04 Translation, Foreign Currencies ... 1082.08-.12

NONMONETARY LIABILITIES

10710 00 10

· · · · · · · · · · · ·	Convertible Debt 1071.23 Debentures 1071.23 Debentures 1071.34 Definition 1041.03, 1071.19 Effect of Holding 1071.33 Examples 1071B.03 Identification 1071C.08 Price-Level Gains and Losses 1071.39 Purpose of Holding 1071.34 Rent Collected in Advance 1071.35; 1071C.15 Specific Prices 10710.01 Translation, Foreign Currencies 1082.08 12
C	ONMONETARY TRANSACTIONS 1041.01- .29
•	Applicability of Section 1041.04 Application of Basic Principle 1041.24–.27 Basic Principle 1041.18 Business Combinations 1041.04 Definition 1041.04 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11; 2062.52–.54
	Differing Views
	Earning Process Not Culminated 1041.2122
•	Effective Date
	Fair Value Basis 1041 18: 1041 25
	Fair Value Not Determinable 1041.17; 1041.20; 1041.26 Modifications of Basic Principle 1041.19—
	.23 Monetary Consideration 1041.04, 1041.22:
	1041.25 Present Accounting 1041.02 Present Accounting 1041.02 Terminology 1041.02 Timing Differences 1041.21 Transfers, Other Than Owners 1041.13 1041.25 1041.04 Transfers to Owners 1041.05 1041.109-12 1041.05
	Treasury Stock 1041.03; 1041.05; 1041.18
•	NPROFIT ORGANIZATIONS Accounting Policies 2045.09 Applicability of APB Opinions 510.05 Applicability of Statement No. 4 1021.01 Earnings per Share 2011.06: U2011.069 Income Statements 2010.05 Inventory Pricing 5121.02
	DNRECIPROCAL TRANSFERS—See
	NRECURRING ITEMS—See
	RMAL COST
	Accrued Benefit Cost Method 4063A.10; 4063A.13
	Adjustments for Actuarial Gains or Losses
	Maximum Annual Provision, Pension Cost 4063 17: U4063.047-052
•	Minimum Annual Provision, Pension Cost

NOT-FOR-PROFIT CORPORATIONS—See OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL Nonprofit Organizations

NOTES RECEIVABLE/PAYABLE

. Affiliated Companies	5111.01
Definition	4111.02
Definition	4111.02
Discounting Requirements	4111.16
Exchange Price	4111 08_ 09
Exchange Price	$5 - 06 \cdot 4111 \cdot 10$
Financial Statement Presentation	00, 111.10
. Thankia Statement Presentatio	4111A 03
Illustrations, Discounted Notes Issued in Bankruptcy	4111A 03
Issued in Bankruptcy	4111-1.01-05
Monetary Assets/Liabilities	1041.03
. Monetary Assets/Liabilities Noncash Transactions4	111.07: 4111.11
Noninterest Bearing (M-1A)	1027.07
Noninterest Bearing	11.06: 4111A.02
. Officers or Employees	5111.01
. Present Value—See Present Val	
. Selection of Interest Rate	
. Substance Over Form	4111.11
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMEN	
Accounting Policies	045 03 2045 15
Accounting Policies	1022.05
Discontinued Operations	2012 08 09
. Discontinued Operations	2012.08-09,
. Discount/Premium on Notes	4111 15
Effects of Information	1022 31
. Extinguishment of Debt	
. Extraordinary Items	2012 11
. Financial Position Presented	
. Foreign Currency Translation	
. Fourth Quarter Accounting Cha	nge
	071.31: 2072.14
Integral Part of Statements	1022.02
Pension Reform Act (1974) Pooling of Interests	4063-1.04
. Pooling of Interests	. 1091.64—.65;
- U	1091.080—.085
. Refinancing Short-Term	
Obligations2	
. Status	1027.26
NUCLEAR POWER PLANT	
NUCLEAR POWER PLANT Pooling of Risks	
. Pooling of Risks	4311.45
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES. GENERAL	4311.45
Pooling of Risks	
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting	
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting I Definition	4311.45 1024.04—.12 1 022.14; 024.01; 1029.07
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting I Definition	4311.45 1024.04—.12 1 022.14; 024.01; 1029.07
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting In Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies	4311.45 1024.04—.12 3 1022.14; 1022.14; 1022.14 1022.14 1024.04 1024.09
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting In Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies	4311.45 1024.04—.12 3 1022.14; 1022.14; 1022.14 1022.14 1024.04 1024.09
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting I Definition	4311.45 1024.04—.12 1022.14; 024.01; 1029.07 1022.14 1024.04 1024.09 1024.11—.12 11022.14;
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting I Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia	4311.45 1024.04—.12 1022.14; 1024.01; 1029.07 1022.14 1024.04 1024.04 1024.09 1024.11—.12 11024.07 1.024.07
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentation	4311.45 1024.04 —. 12 3 1022.14; 3 1022.07 1022.14 ; 1024.01 1024.04 1024.04 1024.04 1024.01 1024.03 ; 1024.03 ;
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentation Relating Content with Need	4311.45 1024.04 —.12 3. 1022.14; 024.01; 1029.07 1022.14 1024.04 1024.09 1024.11—.12 1. 1024.03; 1024.03; 1027.14 1027.14
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentation Relating Content with Need	4311.45 1024.04 —.12 3. 1022.14; 024.01; 1029.07 1022.14 1024.04 1024.09 1024.11—.12 1. 1024.03; 1024.03; 1027.14 1027.14
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentation Relating Content with Need	4311.45 1024.04 —.12 3. 1022.14; 024.01; 1029.07 1022.14 1024.04 1024.09 1024.11—.12 1. 1024.03; 1024.03; 1027.14 1027.14
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentation	4311.45 . 1024.04—.12 g 1022.14; 024.01; 1029.07 1022.14 1024.04
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentatio Relating Content with Need Reliability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations	4311.45 . 1024.04—.12 g 1022.14; 024.01; 1029.07 1022.14 1024.04
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentatio Relating Content with Need Relability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations Obligations	4311.45 . 1024.04—.12 g 1022.14; 024.01; 1029.07 1022.14 1024.04
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentatio Relability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL	4311.45 1024.04 —. 12 3 1022.14; 3 1022.14; 1024.01 1024.04 1024.04 1024.04 1024.04 1024.03 ; 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.14 1027.15 1027.14 1027.14 1027.15 1027.14 1027.15 1027.14 1027.15 1027.14 1027.15 1027.14 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.15 1027.1
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentatio Relating Content with Need Reliability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	4311.45 . 1024.04—.12 g 1022.14; 024.01; 1029.07 1022.14 1024.04
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentatio Relability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL	4311.45 1024.04—.12 1022.14; 1024.01; 1029.07 1024.01; 1029.07 1024.09 1024.09 1024.11—.12 1024.03; 1027.14 1024.03; 1027.14 1024.03 1024.11 1024.05—.06 1024.12 1024.01—.41 124.38; 1024.39;
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentatio Relating Content with Need Reliability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Conflicts 1022.16; 1024.13; 10	4311.45 1024.0412 3. 1022.14; 1024.01; 1029.07 1022.14; 1024.04 1024.09 1024.09 1024.03; 1027.14; 1024.03; 1027.14 1024.03; 1027.14 1024.0506 1024.12 1024.38; 1024.39; 1029.07
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentatio Relating Content with Need Reliability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Conflicts Constraints on Full Achievemen	4311.45 1024.04—.12 31022.14; 024.01; 1029.07 1024.04 1024.09 1024.11—.12 11024.03; 1027.14; 1024.03; 1027.14 1024.03; 1024.11 1024.04 1024.12 1024.12 1024.12 1024.12
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentatio Relating Content with Need Reliability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Conflicts Constraints on Full Achievemen 1024.13; 10	4311.45 1024.04 1022.14 1024.01; 1029.07 1024.01; 1029.07 1024.01; 1029.07 1024.04 1024.09 1024.09 1024.11 1024.03; 1024.03; 1024.03; 1024.03 1024.12 1024.05 1024.12 1024.38; 1024.39; 1029.07 t. 1022.16; 024.38; 1024.40
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentatio Relating Content with Need Reliability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Conflicts Constraints on Full Achievemen	4311.45 1024.0412 3. 1022.14; 1024.01; 1029.07 1022.14; 1024.04 1024.09 1024.09 1024.03; 1027.14; 1024.03; 1027.14 1024.03; 1027.14 1024.12 1024.0506 1024.12 1024.38; 1024.39; 1029.07 t. 1022.16; 024.38; 1024.49 1022.16; 024.38; 1024.49 1022.1718
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentatio Relating Content with Need Reliability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Conflicts Constraints on Full Achievemen 1024.13; 10 Criteria Provided Determinant of Structure Environmental Influences 102	4311.45 1024.04—.12 1022.14 1024.01; 1029.07 1024.01; 1029.07 1024.01; 1029.07 1024.04 1024.09 1024.09 1024.03; 1024.03; 1027.14 1024.05—.06 1024.12 1024.05—.06 1024.12 1024.38; 1024.39; 1029.07 t 1022.16; 1025.17—.18 1022.25 1022.16; 1024.13;
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentatio Relating Content with Need Reliability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Conflicts Constraints on Full Achievemen 1024.13; 10 Criteria Provided Determinant of Structure Environmental Influences 102	4311.45 1024.04—.12 1022.14 1024.01; 1029.07 1024.01; 1029.07 1024.01; 1029.07 1024.04 1024.09 1024.09 1024.03; 1024.03; 1027.14 1024.05—.06 1024.12 1024.05—.06 1024.12 1024.38; 1024.39; 1029.07 t 1022.16; 1025.17—.18 1022.25 1022.16; 1024.13;
Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentatio Relating Content with Need Reliability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Conflicts Constraints on Full Achievemen 1024.13; 10 Criteria Provided Determinant of Structure Environmental Influences 102	4311.45 1024.0412 3. 1022.14; 1024.01; 1029.07 1022.14; 1024.04 1024.09 1024.09 1024.03; 1027.14; 1024.03; 1027.14 1024.0506
 Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentation Relating Content with Need Relability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Conflicts 1022.16; 1024.13; 10 Criteria Provided Environmental Influences 10 	4311.45 1024.0412 3. 1022.14 1024.01; 1029.07 1022.14 1024.09 1024.09 1024.1112 1. 1024.03 1024.03; 1024.03; 1027.14 1024.0506 1024.12 1024.0506 1024.12 1024.38; 1024.39; 1029.07 t. 1022.16; 1029.07 t. 1029.07 t. 1029.17 t. 1029.07 t. 1029.07 t. 1029.17 t. 1029.07 t. 1029.17 t.
 Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentation Relating Content with Need Relability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Conflicts 1022.16; 1024.13; 10 Constraints on Full Achievement 1024.13; 11 Criteria Provided Environmental Influences I0 Evaluation, Accounting Principle Financial Statement Presentation 	$\begin{array}{c} & 4311.45 \\ \hline 1024.04 \\ \hline 1024.01 \\ \hline 1022.14 \\ \hline 024.01 \\ \hline 1022.04 \\ \hline 1022.14 \\ \hline 1024.04 \\ \hline 1024.04 \\ \hline 1024.09 \\ \hline 1024.01 \\ \hline 1024.03 \\ \hline 1024.03 \\ \hline 1024.03 \\ \hline 1027.14 \\ \hline 1024.05 \\ \hline 1024.12 \\ \hline 1024.38 \\ \hline 1024.05 \\ \hline 1024.12 \\ \hline 1024.38 \\ \hline 1024.12 \\ \hline 1024.38 \\ \hline 1024.12 \\ \hline 1024.38 \\ \hline 1024.43 \\ \hline 1022.16 \\ \hline 1022.16 \\ \hline 1024.13 \\ \hline 1024.38 \\ \hline 1024.44 \\ \hline 1025.17 \\ \hline 18 \\ \hline 1024.44 \\ \hline 1025.17 \\ \hline 18 \\ \hline 1024.38 \\ \hline 1024.40 \\ \hline 1025.17 \\ \hline 18 \\ \hline 1024.38 \\ \hline 1024.40 \\ \hline 1025.17 \\ \hline 18 \\ \hline 1024.38 \\ \hline 1024.40 \\ \hline 1025.17 \\ \hline 1024.13 \\ \hline 1024.14 \\ \hline 1024.13 \\ \hline 1024.14 \\ \hline 1024.1$
 Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Disclussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentation Relating Content with Need Relability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Conflicts 1022.16; 1024.13; 10 Constraints on Full Achievemen 1024.13; 11 Criteria Provided Determinant of Structure In Evaluation, Accounting Principle Financial Statement Presentation 	$\begin{array}{c} & 4311.45 \\ \hline 1024.04 \\ - 12 \\ 1024.01 \\ - 1022.14 \\ 024.01 \\ 1022.01 \\ 1022.01 \\ 1024.01 \\ - 1024.03 \\ 1024.01 \\ - 1024.03 \\ 1027.14 \\ - 1024.03 \\ 1027.14 \\ - 1024.03 \\ 1027.14 \\ - 1024.01 \\ - 1024.01 \\ - 1024.12 \\ \hline 1024.02 \\ - 1024.12 \\ - 1022.13 \\ - 1022.13 \\ - 1024.01 \\ - 1027.14 \\ - 1077.14 \\$
 Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Discussion Estimation of Earnings Potentia Financial Statement Presentation Relating Content with Need Relability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Conflicts 1022.16; 1024.13; 10 Criteria Provided Determinant of Structure Environmental Influences I0 Evaluation, Accounting Principle Financial Statement Presentatic General—See Objectives, General 	$\begin{array}{c} & 4311.45 \\ \hline 1024.04 \\ & 1022.14 \\ 024.01; 1029.07 \\ & 1022.14 \\ 1024.09 \\ & 1024.09 \\ & 1024.10 \\ 1 \\ & 1024.09 \\ & 1024.12 \\ \hline 1024.03; \\ 1024.03; \\ 1027.14 \\ & 1024.05 \\ & .06 \\ \hline 1024.12 \\ \hline 1024.38; 1024.40 \\ & .022.16; \\ 1022.14; \\ 1022.16; \\ 1022.12 \\ \hline 1024.38; 1024.40 \\ & .1022.13; \\ 1022.07 \\ & .1022.13; \\ 1024.38; 1024.40 \\ & .1022.13; \\ 1024.01 \\ & .1022.13; \\ 1024.01 \\ & .1022.14; \\ 1024.38; 1024.40 \\ & .1022.13; \\ 1024.01 \\ & .1024.39 \\ \hline \end{array}$
 Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Relating Content with Need Reliability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL Accounting And FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Conflicts 1022.16; 1024.13; 10 Constraints on Full Achievemen 1024.13; 11 Criteria Provided Environmental Influences I0 Evaluation, Accounting Principle Financial Statement Presentatio General—See Objectives, Gener Importance, Relative 	$\begin{array}{c} & 4311.45 \\ \hline 1024.04 \\ & 1022.14 \\ 024.01; 1029.07 \\ & 1022.14 \\ 1024.09 \\ & 1024.09 \\ & 1024.10 \\ 1 \\ & 1024.09 \\ & 1024.12 \\ \hline 1024.03; \\ 1024.03; \\ 1027.14 \\ & 1024.05 \\ & .06 \\ \hline 1024.12 \\ \hline 1024.38; 1024.40 \\ & .022.16; \\ 1022.14; \\ 1022.16; \\ 1022.12 \\ \hline 1024.38; 1024.40 \\ & .1022.13; \\ 1022.07 \\ & .1022.13; \\ 1024.38; 1024.40 \\ & .1022.13; \\ 1024.01 \\ & .1022.13; \\ 1024.01 \\ & .1022.14; \\ 1024.38; 1024.40 \\ & .1022.13; \\ 1024.01 \\ & .1024.39 \\ \hline \end{array}$
 Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Relability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Conflicts 1022.16; 1024.13; 10 Criteria Provided Determinant of Structure Environmental Influences In Evaluation, Accounting Principle Financial Statement Presentatic General—See Objectives, Gener Importance, Relative Nature Qualitative—See Objectives, 5 	$\begin{array}{c} & 4311.45 \\ \hline 1024.04 \\ & 1022.14 \\ 024.01; 1029.07 \\ & 1022.14 \\ 1024.09 \\ & 1024.09 \\ & 1024.09 \\ & 1024.11 \\ & 1024.09 \\ & 1024.03 \\ & 1024.03 \\ & 1024.03 \\ & 1024.03 \\ & 1024.03 \\ & 1024.04 \\ & 1024.05 \\ & 1024.12 \\ \hline \\ \begin{array}{c} 1024.05 \\ & 022.16 \\ & 1022.16 \\ & 1022.16 \\ & 1022.16 \\ & 1022.16 \\ & 1022.16 \\ & 1022.25 \\ & 1022.40 \\ & 1022.25 \\ & 1022.40 \\ & 1022.13 \\ & 1024.01 \\ & 1022.13 \\ & 1024.01 \\ & 1022.13 \\ & 1024.01 \\ & 1022.13 \\ & 1024.01 \\ & 1022.13 \\ & 1024.39 \\ \end{array}$
 Pooling of Risks OBJECTIVES, GENERAL Content of Financial Accounting Definition Development of Principles Disclosure, Accounting Policies Relating Content with Need Reliability of Information Reporting Resources and Obligations Obligations OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL Accounting And FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Conflicts 1022.16; 1024.13; 10 Constraints on Full Achievemen 1024.13; 11 Criteria Provided Environmental Influences I0 Evaluation, Accounting Principle Financial Statement Presentatio General—See Objectives, Gener Importance, Relative 	$\begin{array}{c} & 4311.45 \\ \hline 1024.04 \\ & 1022.14 \\ 024.01; 1029.07 \\ & 1022.14 \\ 1024.09 \\ & 1024.09 \\ & 1024.09 \\ & 1024.11 \\ & 1024.09 \\ & 1024.03 \\ & 1024.03 \\ & 1024.03 \\ & 1024.03 \\ & 1024.03 \\ & 1024.04 \\ & 1024.05 \\ & 1024.12 \\ \hline \\ \begin{array}{c} 1024.05 \\ & 022.16 \\ & 1022.16 \\ & 1022.16 \\ & 1022.16 \\ & 1022.16 \\ & 1022.16 \\ & 1022.25 \\ & 1022.40 \\ & 1022.25 \\ & 1022.40 \\ & 1022.13 \\ & 1024.01 \\ & 1022.13 \\ & 1024.01 \\ & 1022.13 \\ & 1024.01 \\ & 1022.13 \\ & 1024.01 \\ & 1022.13 \\ & 1024.39 \\ \end{array}$

STATEMENTS—continued Study Group Report Due
. Summary of Statement
. Taxable v. Accounting Income 1051-1.04
Trade-Offs of Objectives 1024.39
. Understanding 1022.16; 1024.13; 1024.38;
1024.41; 1029.07
OBJECTIVES, QUALITATIVE 1024.13
Comparability
. Completeness
. Definition
Financial Statement Presentation 1027.14
Judgment in Use
Primary 1024.15
Primary
. Relevance
. Statement of Objectives 1024.15-22
. Timeliness
Understandability 1024.17
Usefulness of Financial Information
OBLIGATIONS—See also Economic
Obligations . Leases, Long-Term
Leases, Long-Term
Purchases Leased Property
Long-Term, Definition
. Short-Term, Classification 2033.0809;
2033.2130
2033.02 Short-Term, Definition
. Standby Letters of Credit 4311.04; 4311.12
OBSOLESCENCE
. Inventory Pricing 1051.10; 1051.33; 5121.07-
.08
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07
. Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 . Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities 4311.31 Productive Facilities (M-5C) 1027.09 Productive Facilities (S-5C) 1027.09
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities 4311.31 Productive Facilities (M-5C) 1027.09 Productive Facilities (S-5C) 1027.09 OBSOLETE PROPERTY Emergency Facilities . Emergency Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors .4052.07 Productive Facilities .4311.31 Productive Facilities (M-5C) .1027.09 OBSOLETE PROPERTY . Emergency Facilities Leased Property .5351.04; 5352.08
Lease Commitments by Lessors .4052.07 Productive Facilities .4311.31 Productive Facilities (M-5C) .1027.09 OBSOLETE PROPERTY . Emergency Facilities Leased Property .5351.04; 5352.08 OFFICERS —See Employees
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
 Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
 Lease Commitments by Lessors
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
 Lease Commitments by Lessors
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
 Lease Commitments by Lessors
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
 Lease Commitments by Lessors
Lease Commitments by Lessors 4052.07 Productive Facilities
 Lease Commitments by Lessors

AICPA Professional Standards

OIL PRODUCERS—continued . Trade Practice, Inventories	OPERATIONS, FOREIGN —See Foreign Operations
OPERATING CYCLE	OPINIONS, ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
. Concept of Working Capital	BOARD
2031.07; 2033.02; 2033.08; 2033.20	. Applicability
Definition	Areas Not Covered
. Flow of Goods	Auditor's Responsibility
	Business Combinations 1091
OPERATING LOSS CARRYBACKS	4211-
Claims for Refund	. Changes, Accounting 1051.0140
. Definition	Convertible Debt
Financial Statement Presentation	Development Stage Enterprises
	Distinguished from Statements
. Illustrations	. Early Extinguishment of Debt
. Realization	2013.03—.05; 2013.14; 536
. Tax Effects, Allocation 4091.11; 4091.42	. Effect of Statement
. Tax Effects, Recognition	. Effective Dates
04091.072075	. Equity Method of Accounting
OPERATING LOSS CARRYFORWARDS	4311.74; 513
. Accounting Loss Carryforwards	. General Acceptability
U4091.096097	. Interest on Receivables and
. Classification in Balance Sheet	Payables
U4091.076—077; U4091.087 . Conflict of Concepts	. Interim Financial Information 207
. Corporate Readjustments	207
U4091.098—.102	. Leases
. Deferred Taxes	. Materiality
. Definition	. Notes to APB Opinions
. Disclosure Requirements	Omnibus Opinion-1966
U4091.127	Pension Plans 4063.01
. Effect on Acquired Goodwill	4311.07; 431
Examples	. Prevailing Practice
4091.44; 4091.60; U4091.079—.082	. Prior Opinions
. Financial Statement Presentation	. Professional Views
	. Regulated Industries 2062.05 601
. Goodwill	. Reporting Results of Operations 2
. Illustration	
. Interim Periods	. Restatements
. Purchased Subsidiaries	. Retroactivity
. Quasi-Reorganizations 4091.49; U4091.098-	Sources of Generally Accepted
.102	Accounting Principles
. Realization Beyond Reasonable	. Status
Doubt	. Stock Issued to Employees 4062
U4091.083087 Recognition as Offsets	
. Recognition as Offsets 04091.088–.097 . Tax Effects, Recognition 4091.11; 4091.42;	. Substantial Authoritative Support
4091.44; U4091.076—.105	. Voting Procedure
Tax Rates Applicable	OPINIONS, AUDITORS'
	. Compliance With Rule 203 52
OPERATING LOSSES	Consistency ExceptionU
Definition	U4091.067; L
. Effect on Deferred Taxes	Contingencies in Interim Reports
Equity Method 4096.09	. Disclaimer of Opinionl
. Income Taxes 4091.41—.49; U4091.0/1—.105	. Qualification of Opinion 1051.3
. Quasi-Reorganizations 4091.49; U4091.098—	. Reliance of User
.102	. Responsibility
. Subsidiaries	Standard of Generally Accepted
Purchased Loss Carryforward 4091.48; U4091.103—.105	
Tax Effects	. Summarized Interim Disclosures
	. Unaudited Financial Statements
OPERATING METHOD	. Variances, Regulated Industries
Leasing Activities of Lessors 4051.06	
. "Leveraged Lease" Transactions 	OPPORTUNITY COST
. Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors	. Alternative Uses of Assets
. Related Company Transactions	OPTIONS, STOCKSee Stock Option a
4052.16—.17	Stock Purchase Plans
Third Party Participation 4052.12—.14	
Two-Party Lease Transactions 4052.07—	ORE PAYMENTS SALE
.09	. Timing Differences
OPERATING PRINCIPLES—See Broad	ORGANIZATION COSTS
Operating Principles	. Timing Differences

PINIONS, ACCOUNTING PRING	CIPLES
Applicability	510.05
Areas Not Covered	
Auditor's Responsibility	510.11
Authority	1; 520.06; 1026.04
Business Combinations	1091.0199;
	4211-1.0306

	4211-1.0306
	Changes, Accounting 1051.0140; 4311.20
	Convertible Debt 2013.04; 5516.0110
	Development Stage Enterprises 2062.06
	Distinguished from Statements 2061.14
j.	Early Extinguishment of Debt 2013.01;
	2013.03-05; 2013.14; 5362.0122
	Effect of Statement 1021.07
	Effective Dates
	Equity Method of Accounting 4311.27; 4311.74; 5131.01—.21
	4311.74; 5131.01—.21
	General Acceptability
	Intangible Assets 5141.01
	Interest on Receivables and
	Payables
	Interim Financial Information 2071.07–.08;
	2072.0203
	Leases
	Materiality
	Notes to APB Opinions 510.09
	Omnibus Opinion-1966
	Pension Plans 4063.0149; 4063-1.0305;
	4311.07; 4311.18
	Prevailing Practice
	Prior Opinions
	Professional Views
	Regulated Industries 2062.05; 4311.13;
	6011.0105
	Reporting Results of Operations 2010.01-
	.28; 2013.01—.04; 2013.14—.15; 2062.14; 4311.74
	Restatements
	Retroactivity
	Sources of Generally Accepted
	Accounting Principles
	Status
	Stock Issued to Employees 4062.0120;
	4311.07
	Substantial Authoritative Support 1051.16

	Compliance With Rule 203 520.0107
	Consistency Exception
	U4091.067; U4094.020
	Contingencies in Interim Reports 2071.22
	Disclaimer of Opinion
	Qualification of Opinion 1051.31; 2010.22
	Reliance of User 1024.37
	Responsibility
	Standard of Generally Accepted
	Accounting Principles
	Summarized Interim Disclosures 2071.30
	Unaudited Financial Statements
	Variances, Regulated Industries 6011.05
OP	PORTUNITY COST
	Alternative Uses of Assets
OP	TIONS, STOCKSee Stock Option and

RE PAYMENTS SALE

. Timing Differences 4091A.04

RGANIZATION COSTS

. Timing Differences 4091A.03

Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

SECURITIES . Classification
Definition
U2011.066 . Examples
Options and Warrants
OUTSTANDING SHARES
. Shares Issued on Exercise U2011.213—.222 . Twenty Percent Test U2011.255—.260
Use of Weighted Average
OVER-THE-COUNTER STOCKS Fair Value Estimation
OVERHEAD
Absorbed [S-6A(1)] 1027.10
. Examples (M-6A)
. Interim Financial Statements 2071.13—.14 . Unabsorbed [S-6A(1)]
OWNERS—See Stockholders/Owners
OWNERS' EQUITY—See Stockholders' Equity
OWNERSHIP OF OTHER ENTERPRISES Defined as Economic Resources 1023.18
PAID-IN CAPITAL—See also Capital
Surplus . Extinguishment of Convertible
Debt
Premium on Convertible Debt5516.16 Proceeds, Stock Warrants5516.13—.14
PARENT COMPANY
. Corporate Readjustments, Subsidiary's Earned Surplus 5581.07
. Disposal of Subsidiary
. Remittances from Subsidiaries 4095.08 4095.12
. Transfers of Net Assets 1041.04; 1091.05; U1091.151—.154
Undistributed Earnings of Subsidiaries 4095.07—.14; U4095.001—.005
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS
Addition to Consolidation
. Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.070; U2011.334—.340
. Equity Method for Subsidiaries 5131.14
Foreign Subsidiaries
. Joint Ventures, Corporate
Savings and Loan Associations 4095.25 Stock Life Insurance Company 4095.30
. Subsidiaries' Convertible Securities U2011.154—.155 . Subsidiaries' Securities
. Subsidiaries' Securities
. When Appropriate
PARTIAL ALLOCATION . Cash Outflows for Taxes
. Interperiod Tax Allocation 4091.25—.27
Nonrecurring Differences
Revolving Account Approach
PARTICIPATING SECURITIES
. Common Stock Equivalents
. Convertible Securities U2011.304—.307
. Description

PARTICIPATING SECURITIES—continued . Earnings per Share Computations
U2011.295—299 Nonconvertible Securities U2011.300—303
. Twenty Percent Test
. Two-Class Method 2011A.09; U2011.297
PARTNERSHIPS
. Business Combinations U1091.103111
Equity Method of Accounting U5131.008
. Related Company Defined 4052.15
PAST PURCHASE PRICE
. Definition
. Definition
. Primary Measurement Base 1027.05
PAST SERVICE COST
. Accrued Benefit Cost Method 4063A.11
. Aggregate Method
Aggregate Method
114063 113_ 116 114063 184_ 185
Attained Age Normal Method 4063A.31
.32
Definition
. Description
Funding
. Individual Level Premium Method
. Maximum Provision
PATENTS . Acquired in Business Combinations
Expense Recognition 1026.24
Identified Intangible Assets
. Nonmonetary Item
PAYABLES—See also Notes
Receivable/Payable
. Assumed in Business Combinations
. Interest on Payables
. Monetary Liabilities 1041.03: 1071.1718:
10718 02
Normal Trade Terms
. Translation of Foreign Currencies 1082.05—.06; 1082.10—.11; 1082.24; 1082.31
PAY-AS-YOU-GO METHOD
Definition, Pension Plans
. Unacceptable Pension Accounting
PENSION BENEFITS—See Benefits
PENSION COSTS
. Accrued 4063.18; U4063.053—.072; U4063.170— .171
Actuarial Gains (Losses)
. Amount, Accounting Purposes
Amount, Accounting Purposes 4063.09 Assignment to Current Year 4063.2021
U4063.152153 . Associated With Disposal of
Segment
Assumed in Business Combinations
1091.88 Change in Estimate 1051.33
Change in Estimate
U4063.150—.151
. Deduction for Income Taxes U4063.047-
.052 Defined-Contribution Plans 4063.38
U4063.130

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

PENSION COSTScontinued Defined-Maximum Method U4063.047-	- 052
Defined-Minimum Method 04063.053- Description, General	072
. Description, General	037
. Disclosure Requirements 400	03.40;
U4063.121- Employees Included in Calculations	123
4063.35—.36; U4063.125—.127; U4063.	178—
	.181
. Indefinite Deferral	63.12
. Long-Range Views 4063.40–.41, 04063.11; 406	63 13
U4063.033-	037
Minimum and Maximum Annual	070
-Provision 4063.17; U4063.038 4063	2 1 0 2
Pension Reform Act (1974) 4063 Prepaid 4063.18; U4063.118- Relation to Contingencies 433	3-1.03
Prepaid	120
Relation to Contingencies	3 1 1 7
. Timing Differences	1A.03
. Transition to Recommended	
Practices 4063.4849; U4063.113-	116
. Unfunded Pension Plans	63.42
PENSION FUNDS	00.15
. Benefit Payments Based on 4063.15	5-16
. Debt Securities	
Effect on Annual Provision for Pension	CO 17
Cost	3 059
. Illustration, Defined- Maximum	3.060
. Leasing Activities	51.08
. Monetary or Nonmonetary Items	10.02
	3.117
Pension Reform Act (1974) 4063-1.01	06
Pension Reform Act (1974) 4063-1.01 Return on Investments	3B.27;
U4063.083-	
Uprealized Appreciation	088
. Unrealized Appreciation (Depreciation) 4063.28—.29; U4063.	
(Depreciation) 4063.28—.29; U4063.	103—
(Depreciation) 4063.28—.29; U4063.	103—
(Depreciation) 4063.28—.29; U4063. . Valuation Bases	103— .108 183 112
(Depreciation) 4063.28—.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 183 112
(Depreciation) 4063.28—.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 183 112 —.49 63.24
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 183 112 —.49 63.24 —.18
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 183 112 —.49 63.24 —.18
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 183 112 —.49 63.24 —.18
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 183 112 49 63.24 18 63.24 18
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 183 112 49 63.24 18 63.24 18
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 183 112 49 63.24 18 04 12; 71 63.20 24 ;
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 .112 .112 .112 .112 .112 .112 .112 .12; .171 .171 .24; 078
(Depreciation) 4063.2829; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 .112 .112 .112 .112 .112 .112 .112 .12; .171 .171 .24; 078
(Depreciation) 4063.2829; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— 108 183 112
(Depreciation) 4063.2829; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 .108 .112 .183 .112
(Depreciation) 4063.2829; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— 108 183 112 49 63.24 18 04 12; 171 63.24; 078 53.04; 078 53.04; 078 63.45 63.17
(Depreciation) 4063.2829; U4063. Valuation Bases U4063.182- Variable Annuities 4063.33; U4063.109- PENSION PLANS 4063.01 Acceptable Actuarial Cost Methods 40 Accounting Method, Basic 4063.02 47 4063.05- 47 4063.05- 4063.053072; U4063.170- 4063.053- Accrual of Pension Cost 4063.19- U4063.053072; U4063.170- 4063.073- Actuarial Cost Methods 4063.03- 4063.2533; U4063.083- 4063.03- Actuarial Gains and Losses 406 Cost Methods 4063.03- 4063.2533; U4063.083- 4063.03- 401 Actuarial Valuations, Assumptions and Cost Methods 4063.03- Actuarial Valuations, Assumptions and Cost Methods 4063.01- Allocation of Income Taxes 40 Amortization Past Service Cost 406	103
(Depreciation) 4063.2829; U4063. Valuation Bases U4063.182- Variable Annuities 4063.33; U4063.109- PENSION PLANS 4063.01 Acceptable Actuarial Cost Methods 40 Accounting Method, Basic 4063.09 Accounting Research Bulletin No. 47 47 4063.053-072; U4063.170- U4063.053-072; U4063.170- U4063.053-072; U4063.170- U4063.053-072; U4063.170- 4063.013- U4063.053-072; U4063.083- 4063.013- U4063.073- Actuarial Gains and Losses 4063.013- U4063.05533; U4063.083- Actuarial Valuations, Assumptions and Cost Methods 4063.01- Allocation of Income Taxes 40 4063.01- 4063.01- 4063.01- Allocation of Income Taxes 40 4063.01- 4063.01- 4063.01- 4063.01-	103— .108 .108 .108 .108 .108
(Depreciation) 4063.2829; U4063. Valuation Bases U4063.182- Variable Annuities 4063.33; U4063.109- PENSION PLANS 4063.01 Acceptable Actuarial Cost Methods 40 Accounting Method, Basic 4063.02 Accounting Method, Basic 4063.03 Accounting Research Bulletin No. 47 47 4063.053072; U4063.170- Accrued Benefit Cost Methods 4063.073- Actuarial Cost Methods 4063.073- Actuarial Gains and Losses 4063.083- Actuarial Valuations, Assumptions and Cost Methods Cost Methods 4063.03.04 Allocation of Income Taxes 40 Amendments 40 Assumption of Continuity 400 Assumption of Continuity 400	103— .108 .108 .108 .108 .108 .109 .101 .112 .121
(Depreciation) 4063.2829; U4063. Valuation Bases U4063.182- Variable Annuities 4063.33; U4063.109- PENSION PLANS 4063.01 Acceptable Actuarial Cost Methods 40 Accounting Method, Basic 4063.09 Accounting Research Bulletin No. 47 47 4063.053-072; U4063.170- U4063.053-072; U4063.170- 4063.011- U4063.053-072; U4063.170- 4063.013- Accrual of Pension Cost 4063.01- Accrued Benefit Cost Methods 4063.01- Actuarial Cost Methods 4063.01- Actuarial Gains and Losses 4063.01- Actuarial Valuations, Assumptions and Cost Methods Cost Methods 4063.01- Allocation of Income Taxes 40 Amendments 40 Amortization Past Service Cost 40 Assumption of Continuity 40 Changes, Accounting Methods 406 U4063.013- 400	103— .108 .108 .108 .108 .108 .109 .101 .112 .121
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 .108 .108 .108 .108 .108
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 .108 .108 .108 .108 183 112
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103108 108 112 49 63.24 121 63.20 121 63.20 121 63.20 24; 078 63.47; 116 63.17 1116 63.20 1116 63.20 1116 63.20 1116 63.20 1116 63.20 1116 63.20 1116 63.20 1116 63.20 1116 63.20 1116 63.20
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 .108 .108 .108 .108 .108 .109 .101 .112 .121
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103108 108 112 49 63.24 121 63.20 121 63.20 121 63.20 24 04 121 63.20 24 088 34 63.47: 116 63.03 129 53.07: 129 53.07: 082
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103108 108 112 49 63.24 121 63.20 121 63.20 121 63.20 24 04 121 63.20 24 088 34 63.47: 116 63.03 129 53.07: 129 53.07: 082
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 108 108 108 108
(Depreciation) 4063.28–.29; U4063. Valuation Bases	103— .108 .108 .108 .108 .108 .108 .108 .108 .108

PENSION PLANS—continued . Description, General 4063.01-.07: U4063.001-.006 . . 4063.01 Development of Opinion U4063.013-019 **Disclosure in Financial Statements** 4063.18; 4063.46; U4063.121-.123; 4311.18-.19 Discretionary Pension Costs 4063.15-.16 4063.42—.44 . Effect of Funding Employees Included in Cost Calculations ... **4063.34—.36**; U4063.089--.098; U4063.125—.127; U4063.178—.181 Full Accrual Method 4063.12 Funding Requirements . . . 4063.09; U4063.020-.028; 4063-1.03-.05 . Gains or Losses, Actuarial 4063.25--.33 Illustration, Defined-Maximum U4063.059 Illustration, Defined-Minimum U4063.060 Interest, Unfunded Prior Service Cost 4063.04; U4063.029-...032; U4063.053-.072 Legal Obligations 4063.10; 4063.16; U4063.020-028 . 4063.16 Limitations, Legal Obligations . . . U4063.131-.145 Maximum Provision for Pension Cost 4063.17; U4063.047—.052; 4063-1.03 Measurement, Cost of Benefits 4063.17-.18: U4063.089-.098 Minimum Provision for Pension Cost 4063.17; U4063.053—.072; 4063.1.03 Pension Reform Act (1974) ... 4063-1.01-.06 Previous Pronouncements ... U4063.009-012 Projected Benefit Cost Methods 4063.00 Purposes, General 4063.11; U4063.009-012 Transition to Recommended Practices 4063.48-.49; U4063.113-.116 **PENSION REFORM ACT (1974)** Disclosure Requirements 4063-1.04 Effective Date 4063-1.01 Unfunded Pension Costs 4063-1.05 Waiver, Pension Funding Requirement PERCENTAGE CERTIFICATES Basis for Determining Percentage ... 4073.03 PERCENTAGE OF COMPLETION METHOD . Construction-Type Contracts ... 4031.04-.08

Copyright () 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

PERCENTAGE OF COMPLETION METHOD-continued . Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts 4041.16-17 . 4031.08 Disadvantages . Illustration, Change in Principle . . . 10518.01– . 04; U1051.003–004 Recognition of Income 4031.04 Revenue Measurement (M-6E) 1027.10 Revenue Recognition (S-6E) 1027 10 PERFORMANCE ON CONTRACTS Construction-Type Contracts 4031.02 Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts 4041.14-.15 Terminated War and Defense PERIODIC INVENTORIES 5121.01 . Income Measurement Measurement at Interim Periods 2071.14 PERMANENT DIFFERENCES . Tax Benefit, Compensatory Plans 4062.06 PERPETUAL INVENTORIES Measurement at Interim Periods 2071.14 PERSONAL HOLDING COMPANY PERSONAL PROPERTY Lessees' Financial Statements 5351.01-PERVASIVE EXPENSE RECOGNITION PRINCIPLES . 1026.26 Effect Types 1026.20-.25; 4211.48; 4311.78 PERVASIVE MEASUREMENT Basis for Accrual Accounting 1026.08 Basis of Measurement 1022.20 . Division of Pervasive Principles 1022.20; 1026.07 . 1026.08 . Income Determination 1022.20; 1026.11; 4311.77---.80 Initial Recording Principle 1026.09-10 Reasons for Modifying Conventions . 1026.33 . Basis for Accounting Process 1022.20; 1026.07 . Change in Principles 1022.24; 1028.02; 1029.02 Accounting Principles 1022.19 Financial Statement Presentation ... 1027.14 Modifying Conventions 1022.20; 1026.33— -.38

PERVASIVE PRINCIPLES—continued Pervasive Measurement Principles Relation to Broad Operating Principles 1022.21; 1026.06; 1027.01 PHANTOM STOCK PLANS . Description of Terms 4062A 12 Effect, Earnings per Share U2011.284-286 PILOT PLANTS Research and Development PIPELINE COMPANIES . Advances for Exploration U4111.001-.002 . Changes in Interim Period 2071.23-29; 2072.01-.25 **Disclosure in Financial Statements** Effective Date 2045.16 Examples of Disclosures 2045.13 U2045.001-.005 Nonprofit Organizations 2045.09 Opinion 2045.08 Practice, Prevailing 2045.01 Relation to Accounting Changes 2045.14 Relation to Financial Statements ... 1022.02; 1027.17; 2045.08-.10; 2045.15 Research and Development Costs . 1082.26 Unaudited Financial Statements 2045.10 POLICYHOLDERS' SURPLUS . Income Taxes 4095.01-.02; 4095.26-.30 **POOLING OF INTERESTS**—See also Business Combinations . Accounting Method Unknown 1091.62 4063.31; Actuarial Gains (Losses) U4063.109-112 Advantages and Disadvantages 1091.28-.41 Alternative Methods 1091.14 Application of Method 1091.50—.65 Appraisal of Method 1091.27—.41 Approval by Regulatory Agencies Assets and Liabilities Combined 1091.016---018 . Attributes of Combining U1091.141-.143 . Bailout of Stockholders U1091.074-.076; U1091.144-.146 Basis of Accounting 1091.08; 1091.12

. Broad Application 1091.36

POO

AICPA Professional Standards

15,260

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

POOLING OF INTERESTS—continued Changes, Accounting 1051.12; 1091.52 Classification of Conditions 1091.45 Combined Corporation—See **Combined Corporation** Combining Company—See Combining Company Common Stock Acquired 1091.62 Common Stock Issued 1091.13; 1091.40 Companies Under Common Comparative Financial Statements ... 1091.61; 1091.64; U1091.080-.085 Comparisons with Prior Periods 1092.32 Concept of Pooling Existence Doubted 1091.35
 Fusion of Equity Interests
 1091.13

 Validity
 1091.28

 Violation
 U1091.136—137
 Conditions Specified Autonomous Companies . 1091.46: U1091.032-033; U1091.061-064; U1091.086-089; U1091.103-114; U1091.141-143 1091.47 Common Stock Exchange U1091.019-.020; U1091.036-.039 U1091.090-.098 . 1091.47; U1091.048--.049; Contingencies U1091.067-073; U1091.119-132 Delay in Completion ... 1091.47; U1091.016-018 Independent Companies 1091.46 U1091.009-.010 Intercorporate Investments 1091.47; 1091.99; U1091.054-060; U1091.086-089 Percentage of Stock Interest 1091.47 1091.99; U1091.025-.031; U1091.086-.089 ... 1091.48 Planned Transactions U1091.036-.039; U1091.074-.079 U1091.144-.146 1091.47; 1091.99; Ratio of Stock Interest . U1091.001-004; U1091.065-066; U1091.090-.098 . 1091.47 Single Transaction . Time Limit 1091.47; 1091.99; U1091.016-.018; U1091.021-.024 . Two-Year Rule 1091.46; U1091.032—.033; U1091.090-.098; U1091.141-.143 ... 1091.31 Criteria Continuity of Management . 1091.38 U1091.011-.015 . Debt and Equity Securities الالالال (1091.065–066) مد 200 Defect Attributed to Method 1091.39 Deferred Compensation Plans ... U1091.126-.129 Deficits in Combining Companies ... 1091.53 Departure from Traditional Disbursement of Resources 1091.12 Disclosure in Funds Statements 2021.13 Disclosure in Interim Periods 2071.21 Disclosure Requirements 1091.56-...57; Disposition of Assets 1091.48; 1091.59-.60; U1091.077-.079

POOLING OF INTERESTS—continued Dissolution of Combining Company ... **Distributions to Stockholders** 1091.47: U1091.090-098 Divestiture of Assets 1091.46; U1091.077-079 . Dividend Distributions 1091.47 . Dividends per Share 2011A.25 2011A.04; U2011.043; U2011.124-125 Earnings Streams Combined 1091.39 Economic Substance 1091.39; 1091.41 Election to Apply Pooling U1091.050-.053 Elimination, Intercompany .098 . Extraordinary Item 1091.60; 2012.07 Financial Statement Presentation ... 1091.57 "Grandfather" for Subsidiaries 1091.99; U1091.086-.089; U1091.099-.102 . Historical Cost Information 1091.31-.32 Implementation Difficulties 1091.28-.41 Initiated Before 11/1/70 1091.97: U1091.021-.024 Initiated, Not Consummated 1091.62 Initiation of Plan 1096.46; 1096.99; U1091.005—.008; U1091.034—.035; U1091.115— .118 Investment in Combining Company ... Investment in Issuing Corporation ... 1091.47 Litigation Causing Delays U1091.016-018 . Loans Against Stock Issued 1091.48 . Losses, Disposal of Assets 1091.59 . Management Representation 1091.29; 1091.38; U1091.119-.125 Measurement Principle (M-2B) 1027.08 sts of Subsidiary 1091.43; U1091.086—.089; U1091.099—.102 . Minority Interests of Subsidiary More Than Two Companies 1091.47; . New Corporation Example 1091.30 . Notes to Financial Statements 1091.64-.65 . Opposition to Method 1091.35-.41 Origin and Development ... 1091.03; 1091.12-14 **Ownership Interests** . Continuity Personal Holding Company ... U1091.112-.114 U1091.036-.039 . Part Purchase, Part Pooling . . . 1091.13; 1091.43: U1091.050-.053

DOOLING OF INTERFETS
POOLING OF INTERESTS—continued
 Plan of Combination Consummation Date
Date Initiated 1091.46; 1091.99; U1091.005— 008: U1091.034— 035
Minority or Half Interest
U1091.099—.102 Notification to Stockholders 1091.46; U1091.005—.008
Public Announcement
U1091.034—.035
. Prior Year Restatement 1091.57; 1091.63
. Profit or Loss, Disposal of Assets 1091.60 . Ratio of Exchange of Stock 1091.31; U1091.001004; U1091.090098
Beacquired Shares 1091.004, 01091.090–.098
Reacquired Shares
. Reporting Results of Operations 1091.32; 1091.56-57; 1091.64
1091.56—57; 1091.64 Restricted Voting Stock U1091.019—020; U1091.036—039
. Retained Earnings
Retroactive Restatement 1091.52
Size Restrictions
Stock Options
. Stockholder Arrangements 1091.29–.30; U1091.090–.098
. Stockholders' Equity 1091.10; 1091.5355; U1091.125
. Subsidiaries with Minority Interests 1091 43: 111091 086 089: 111091 099 102
Termination of Plan
. Treasury Stock Acquired 1091.4/; 1091.54– .55; U1091.067–.073
Treasury Stock Delivery
.047
. Warrants Exchanged
. When Recorded (S-2b)
U1091.141
01091.141
POSTULATES, BASIC . Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.01–.04
POSTULATES, BASIC . Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 . Relation to Generally Accepted
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.01—.04 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 1022.23; 1026.03
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 1022.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 1022.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING Effects on APB Opinions
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 1022.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 1022.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING Effects on APB Opinions
POSTULATES, BASIC . Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.01—.04 . Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 1022.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING . Effects on APB Opinions
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Accounting Principles 102.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING Effects on APB Opinions 510.07 Unclassified Balance Sheets 2033.19 PREDICTION Catastrophe Losses 4311.92; 4311.97 Future Events
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Accounting Principles 102.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING Effects on APB Opinions 510.07 Unclassified Balance Sheets 2033.19 PREDICTION Catastrophe Losses 4311.92; 4311.97 Future Events
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Accounting Principles 1022.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING Effects on APB Opinions Silicon Unclassified Balance Sheets 2033.19 PREDICTION Catastrophe Losses 4311.92; 4311.97 Future Events 5362.08 Use of Past Events
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Accounting Principles 1022.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING Effects on APB Opinions Unclassified Balance Sheets 2033.19 PREDICTION Catastrophe Losses 4311.92; 4311.97 Future Events 5362.08 Use of Past Events 1022.29; 1024.07
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Accounting Principles 1022.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING Effects on APB Opinions Unclassified Balance Sheets 2033.19 PREDICTION Catastrophe Losses 4311.92; 4311.97 Future Events 5362.08 Use of Past Events 1022.29; 1024.07
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Accounting Principles 1022.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING Effects on APB Opinions Unclassified Balance Sheets 2033.19 PREDICTION Catastrophe Losses Just Rates 5362.08 Use of Past Events 1022.29; 1024.07 PREFERRED STOCK Convertible into Common 2011.127; U2011.143144
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles1022.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING Effects on APB Opinions
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Accounting Principles Accounting Principles PRACTICE, PREVAILING Effects on APB Opinions State 2033.07; PREDICTION Catastrophe Losses 4311.92; 4311.97 Future Events 1022.29; 1024.07 PREFERRED STOCK Convertible into Common 2021.143 Disclosure of Conversion 2021.14 Dividend Preference 2011.19 Dividend Preference 2011.18
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 1022.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING Effects on APB Opinions 510.07 Unclassified Balance Sheets 2033.07; 2033.19 PREDICTION Catastrophe Losses 4311.92; 4311.97 Future Events 4311.92; 4311.97 Future Events 5362.08 Use of Past Events 1022.29; 1024.07 PREFERRED STOCK Convertible into Common 2011.27; U2011.143144 Disclosure of Conversion 2021.14 Dividend Preference 2021.14 Dividend Preference 2011.19; 5515.02 Earnings per Share Computations 2011.20; U2011.020022 Issued in Business Combinations
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 1022.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING Effects on APB Opinions 510.07 Unclassified Balance Sheets 2033.07; 2033.19 PREDICTION Catastrophe Losses 4311.92; 4311.97 Future Events 4311.92; 4311.97 Future Events 5362.08 Use of Past Events 1022.29; 1024.07 PREFERRED STOCK Convertible into Common 2011.27; U2011.143144 Disclosure of Conversion 2021.14 Dividend Preference 2021.14 Dividend Preference 2011.19; 5515.02 Earnings per Share Computations 2011.20; U2011.020022 Issued in Business Combinations
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Accounting Principles 1022.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING Effects on APB Opinions Unclassified Balance Sheets 2033.19 PREDICTION Catastrophe Losses 4311.92; 4311.97 Future Events 4311.03 Interest Rates 5362.08 Use of Past Events 1022.29; 1024.07 PREFERRED STOCK Convertible into Common 2011.27; U2011.143144 Disclosure of Conversion 2011.27 U2011.143144 Dividend Preference 2011.20; U2011.020022 Issued in Arrears 2011.20; U2011.020022 Issued in Business Combinations
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
POSTULATES, BASIC Accounting Research Study No. 1 1010.0104 Relation to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Accounting Principles 1022.23; 1026.03 PRACTICE, PREVAILING Effects on APB Opinions Unclassified Balance Sheets 2033.19 PREDICTION Catastrophe Losses 4311.92; 4311.97 Future Events 4311.03 Interest Rates 5362.08 Use of Past Events 1022.29; 1024.07 PREFERRED STOCK Convertible into Common 2011.27; U2011.143144 Disclosure of Conversion 2011.27 U2011.143144 Dividend Preference 2011.20; U2011.020022 Issued in Arrears 2011.20; U2011.020022 Issued in Business Combinations

P

PREMIUM ON DEBT
. Adjustment of Face Amount
. Convertible Debt
. Debt with Warrants
. Early Extinguishment
Farnings per Share Computations
. U2011.142; U2011.261—.264
. Financial Statement Presentation 4111.03;
4111.15
. Interest Method of Amortization 5361.01-
.02
. Notes Issued in Bankruptcy 4111-1.0105
. Present Value Concepts 4111A.01—.02
. Refunding Transactions
Gain or Loss
Methods of Accounting 5362.05—.10
PREOPERATING EXPENSES
. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.02;
2062.35—.41; 2062.49—.50
. Intangible Assets
. Timing Differences
PRESENT VALUE
. Accrued Benefit Cost Method 4063A.10
. Actuarial Valuation
. Concepts
. Debt Securities Exchanged 5362.03;
5362.16—.17
Deferred Compensation Contracts
. Definition
. Definition, Pension Plans 4063B.33
Employees' Pension Benefits 4063.20
. Entry Age Normal Method 4063A.16
. Estimation of Benefits 4063B.07
. Financial Statement Presentation
4111A.03
. Future Benefits
. Future Costs, Lease Transactions 4052.06
. Future Exchange Price
. Interest Rate Appropriate 4111.12–.13
. Interest Rate Appropriate 4111.1213 . Interest Rates, Lease
Interest Rate Appropriate 4111.12–.13 Interest Rates, Lease Commitments
Interest Rate Appropriate
Interest Rate Appropriate 4111.12–.13 Interest Rates, Lease Commitments
Interest Rate Appropriate 4111.12–.13 Interest Rates, Lease Commitments
Interest Rate Appropriate
 Interest Rate Appropriate
Interest Rate Appropriate
Interest Rate Appropriate
 Interest Rate Appropriate
 Interest Rate Appropriate
Interest Rate Appropriate
 Interest Rate Appropriate
Interest Rate Appropriate
Interest Rate Appropriate
 Interest Rate Appropriate
 Interest Rate Appropriate
Interest Rate Appropriate
 Interest Rate Appropriate
 Interest Rate Appropriate
Interest Rate Appropriate

- Savings and Loan Associations 4095.21
 Stock Life Insurance Companies 4095.28 . Undistributed Earnings of

PRICE-LEVEL FINANCIAL

	1071 01 50
PRICE-LEVEL CHANGES	1071 13
Assets, Fixed	
Changes in Accounting Proceed	dure
	.08; 4071.11—.12
. Comprehensive Restatements	1071.46 in 1071.46
Consumer Price Index	
Conversion Factors	
Conversion Factors Convertible Debt	1071.23; 1071.34
. Cumulative Effects	1071.14
. Debentures	1071.23; 1071.34
. Deflation	
Depreciation of Facilities	
Depreciation Policy	1071 15
Economic Data	1071.24
Economy as a Whole	1071.06
Fffects	.06: 1071.13—.16
Effects on Enterprise	1023 23 1027 09
Fiscal Policy Foreign Currency GNP Deflator	1071.06
Foreign Currency	
. GNP Deflator	1.09-12; 10/1.30 P 1071A 01
Ouerterly Averages, 1929-1900	968
. Qualterly Averages, 1947-1	
Quarterly Averages, 1929 1947-19	1071.1723
. General v. Specific Prices	10/1.08 10/1.29
	1071D.01-05
. Gold	
Holding Monetary Items	10710 02 05
Illustrative Example	10710.0205
Inflation	
. Inflationary Trends	1071.12
International Trade	1071.06
Inventory Pricing	
Investments	1071.06
Losses of Purchasing Power	1071.15
. Measurement	1071.09
Monetary Items	10/1.1/18
Nonmonetary Items Presentation In Financial	10/1.19—.20
Statements	1022 27
. Pricing Policies	
. Procedures for Restatements	1071C.01—
	.44
Product Dissimilarity	
. Proposed Recognition	
Purchasing Power Changes	5.30—.32; 1071.07
Purpose of Restatements	1071.29
. Rate of Inflation	
. Recognition in Net Income	1071.4041
. Replacement of Plant Facilitie	s 4071.04
. Restatement, Historical Costs	1071.05
. Restatement in Terms of Depr	
Currencies	
. Restatement Techniques . Specific v. General Price-Level	1071.08
. Supplementary Information .	1071.02
. Wage Negotiation	
. Write-Downs, Plant Costs	
. Year-to-Year Changes	1071.11
PRICE-LEVEL FINANCIAL	
STATEMENTS	1071.01—.50
. Amortization	1071.20; 1071.39
Appraisal Value	1071 05 [,] 1071 48
Assumptions	
. Balance Sheet Items	1071C.09—.10
. Bases of Accounting	
. Basis for Preparation . Basis for Presentation	
. Changes in Purchasing Power	1071 03_04
. Classification of Items	1071B.01—.04
. Combined Statements	
. Common Stock	

PRICE-LEVEL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS—continued
Comparative Statements 1071.38; 1071.44; 1071.48
Comparison, Historical-Dollar
Comprehensive Pestatements 1071.16
Statements 1071.04; 1071.25—.26; 1071.47 . Comprehensive Restatements 1071.16; 1071.46; 1071.001
Consolidated Statements
Conversion Factors
Cost of Goods Sold 1071.39
Cost of Goods Sold
Creditors
Creditors
Items
Current-Dollar Statements
. Current Value
. Cut-off Date
Deferral, Monetary Gains
. Depreciation 1071.20; 1071.39; 1071.46
. Disclosure Requirements 1071.4649
. Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.01:
10/1.13
Expenses
Explanations Required 10/1.48
Extraordinary Items
First-Year Restatements 10/10.01.10/10.10
. Foreign Currency Statements 1071.26 . Foreign Operations 1071.24; 1071.26
. Foreign Operations 10/1.24, 10/1.20
Foreign Subsidiaries
Coinc and Losson 1071 17 23: 1071 33:
10/1 30 - 43
. General v. Specific Prices 10710.01-05
Government Officials
Government Officials
1071C.01—.44
Identification of Items
. Identification of Items 1071C.08 . Illustrative Statements 1071C.01—.44
. Income Statement Items
1071C.11—.14
. Income Tax Expense
1071.49
. Index to Use
Investors 1071.06
. Land, Restatement Example 1071.35;
10/10.0205
. Lower of Cost and Market
1071C.17
Management
. Measuring Unit
Minority Interests
. Monetary and Nonmonetary Items
Monetary Items Amounts 1071 38
Nature 1071.01-06: 1071.28
Monetary Items, Amounts
Nonmonetary Item Restatements
Notes
Paid-in Capital
Partial Restatements 1071.46; 1071D.0105
Preferred Stock
. Prior Years' Restatements
. Procedures for Restatements 1071C.01-
.44
Purchasing Power, Current
Purpose of Restatements
Ratios and Percentages
. Replacement Costs 10/1.05 10/1.48
. Requirements
Restatement, Nonmonetary Items
Detained Countings 10/1.33; 10/1.35
. Retained Earnings 1071.49; 10718.04;
1071C.10 1071 39
. Revenue

PRI

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

PRICE-LEVEL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—continued
Roll-Forward Procedure 1071.38; 1071.44;
. Sales
Seconds, water and the second
. Steps to Prepare
1071.25; 1071.47—.48 . Time of Reporting 1071.20; 1071.39
. Time of Reporting 10/1.20; 10/1.39 . Updating Previous Statements 1071.44;
1071.48
. Usefulness
PRICE-LEVEL GAINS AND LOSSES 1071.17-
.23 Calculations
Comparison Historical-Dollar
Items
Disclosure
. Holding Monetary Items 1071.38; 1071.48
Identification, Monetary Items 1071.36 Monetary Items 1071.17—.18; 1071.33;
1071.40
. Nonmonetary Items 1971.19–.20; 1071.33
Offsetting
. Presentation
Source
. Time of Reporting 10/1.39; 10/10.0205
PRICES
. Borne by Customers/Policyholders 4311.81; 4311.87; 4311.94
. Effects on Enterprise
Exchange—See Exchange Price
. GNP Deflator
. General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level
General Level

PRIMARY EARNINGS PER SHAREcontinued Continued Distinguished from Fully Diluted 2011.16; U2011.019; U2011.095—096 Dual Presentation 2011.15—16; U2011.010; U2011.065; U2011.090—094 Effective Date . . . 2011.45-.46; U2011.048-.051 Financial Statement Presentation ... 2011.21; 2011.39 . Illustrative Statement 2011C.03-.04 . Outstanding Part of Period U2011.195-.196 . Periods Presented 2011.17-.18; U2011.073-.074 Quarterly Computations U2011.207-212 Recognition, Common Stock Equivalents 2011.26; 2011B.02; 2011B.08 Retroactive Adjustments . . . 2011.22; 2011A.12; U2011.039-.041 Securities Included U2011.003; U2011.095 Securities Issued Prior to 6/1/69 ... 2011.46; U2011.048-.051; U2011.115; U2011.129-.131; U2011.344--.352 Subsidiaries' Securities 2011A.20-.24; U2011.334-.340 . Supplementary Data Required U2011.354-.356 Treasury Stock Method 2011.36-.38 . Shares Issued on Exercise U2011.213-215 -.227 Warrants Expired or Cancelled U2011.195-.201 . Outstanding Part of Period U2011.195-.196 . Year-to-Date Computations U2011.207-.212 PRIMARY REPORTING ENTITY . Parent Company Statements 5131.01; 5131 14 PRIME INTEREST RATE-See Bank Prime Interest Rate PRINCIPAL . Bonds Issued at Discount 4111.07; 4111A.01-.03 . Notes Issued in Bankruptcy 4111-1.03 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS . Change in Estimate 1051 31 Change in Owners' Equity . . . 1022.05; 1025.23 . Comparative Financial Statements ... Convertible Debt . . . 5516.18 Development Stage Enterprises ... 2062.14-.16 Disclosure of Resulting Effects 2010.25 37

15,264

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS
continued
. Excluded from Expenses 1026.18
Excluded from Income Statement 1027.18
. Excluded from Revenue
. Expense Recognition
. Income Taxes
Equity Method
. Joint Ventures, Corporate 4095.32
Savings and Loan Associations 4095.33
. Stock Life Insurance Companies
Undistributed Earnings of
Subsidiaries
. Investment Credit
. Items Not Applicable 2010.23
. Pooling of Interests
. Real and Personal Property Taxes 4081.19
. Realization, Loss Carryforward U4091.079—.080
. Recognition in Period 2010.0203; 2012.01; 2012.25
. Relation to Contingencies 4311.08; 4311.104
. Renegotiation Refunds 4042.08
Research and Development Costs
Restatement of Interim Reports 2071.25 Restatements of Affected Periods 2010.11
. Restatements of Affected Periods 2010.11
. Retroactive Application
U1051.001009 Single Period Statements
. Tax Allocation Within Period
. Tax Allocation Within Period 04091.115—
. Tax Effects
PRIOR SERVICE COST
. Actuarial Gains, Application
U4063.083—.088
Definition 4063B 34 114063 007—008
Description
. Excess Fund Assets 4063.44; U4063.117
Funding
Illustration, Defined-Maximum U4063.059
. Illustration, Defined-Minimum U4063.060 . Transitional Procedure U4063.113—.116
. Unfunded
PRO FORMA COMPUTATION
. Change in Accounting Principle 1051.19– .22; 1051.25; 2072.11–.12; 2072.17–.21
Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 431111
Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 4311.11 Earnings per Share
U1051.007; U1051.010—.013; U2011.050
PRO RATA RECOGNITION OF PROFIT
. Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts 4041.13
.14
PROBABILITY OF RECURRENCE
Criteria for Extraordinary Items 2012.20;
2012.22
PROBABLE EVENTS
. Accrual of Loss Contingencies 4311.08;
4311.59 . Definition
PROCEEDS
. Allocation, Conversion Option 5516.10; 5516.17
. Bonds Issued at Discount
4111A.01—.03 . Convertible Debt
Debt Security
Sale of Donated Stock
. Stock Purchase Warrants
PROCESS A211.2.04
. Definition
. Development in Research
4211-3.06—.09

PRODUCT COST . Costs Assigned [S-6A(1)]
. Measurement [M-6A(1)]
PRODUCTION Activities Included
. Completion
Revenue Measurement (M-6D) 1027.10 Revenue Recorded (S-6D) 1027.10
Complexity of Processes 1023.13
Cost
1027.10
. Internal Events
. Inventory Definition
. Measurement (M-6)
. Measurement by Allocation
. When Recorded (S-6)
PRODUCTIVE ASSETS
Definition
1041.16; 1041.21—.22
Nontaxable Exchanges 1041.21 Obsolescence 4311.31
PRODUCTS
. Economic Obligations 1023.19
Economic Resources
. Inclusion of Services
Activities
09
. Warranties
PROFESSIONAL FEES Pension Plans
PROFESSIONAL FIRMS Applicability of APB Opinions
PROFESSIONAL VIEWS Effects on APB Opinions
PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENTS—See Statements of Income
PROFIT-DIRECTED ACTIVITIESSee Also
Earning Process Definition
. Internal Events 1027.10
PROFIT-MAKING ORGANIZATIONS
PROFIT-MAKING ORGANIZATIONS Applicability of APB Opinions
PROFIT-SHARING PLANS . Applicability of Opinion
. Definition, Deferred Plans
Earnings per Share Computations
. Equivalent to Pension Plans U4063.156-
. Timing Differences
PROJECTED BENEFIT COST METHODS
Actuarial Cost Method 4063A.15—.33 Cost Assignment
PROPERTY
Abandonment
.05; 4071.16 . Acquired in Business Combinations
. Acquisition by Donated Stock 5512.01 . Assessed Valuation for Property

Copyright © 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

PROPERTY—continued
Basis, Income Tax
. Capitalization of Real Estate Taxes
1051A.01—.04 2072.17—.21 Disclosure in Funds Statements 2021.14
. Disposal of Segment
Dividends, Cash Yield Test U2011.138—139 Economic Life Defined
Emergency Facilities
. Equity Accumulated by Lessee 5351.06—
.07; 5351.09—.12; 5352.09 Exchanged for Notes
Inflationary Effects
. Intangible Assets—See Intangible
Assets Inventory Definition 5121 02-03
Inventory Definition
.114; U4094.001—.025
. Lease Disclosure Requirements 5352.03 .04; 5352.09; 5352.11
. Leased to Others 4051.01—.19 ;4052.01—.18; 4052.04;5352.06;5352.08
. "Leveraged Lease" Transactions
. Losses—See Losses
. Nonmonetary Assets1041.03; 1071.19; 1071B.02
Option to Purchase 5351 10: 5352 10
Owning v. Leasing
Purchases, Leased Property 5351.02-05
. Related Company Transactions 4052.15— .17
Research and Development
Activities
Residual Value of Leased Property
Rights
Sale and Leaseback Operations 331.22
Sale and Leaseback Operations
. Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences
Sale and Leaseback, Timing Differences

AICPA Professional Standards

PROXY STATEMENTS . Pro Forma Earnings per Share 2011.09
PUBLICLY TRADED COMPANIES
. Definition
2071.30—.33; 2072.01; 2072.08; 2072.14
PURCHASE COMMITMENTS . Losses, Inventories
PURCHASE METHOD—See also Business Combinations
. Acceptability
Acquired Company—See Acquired Company
. Acquiring Company—See Acquiring Company
. Acquisition of Subsidiary U1091.025031; U1091.099102
. Actuarial Gains (Losses)
. Advantages and Disadvantages 1091.18-
Allocation of Cost 1091.68; 1091.8789
 Amortization of Goodwill
. Apprication of Method
. Appraisal Values
Bargaining Transaction
. Basis of Assets Acquired 1091.08; 1091.67 . Combination Contingent on Bailout
. Contingent Consideration 1091.77—.86
Based on Earnings
Compensation
Compensation
. Dividends on Securities 1091.77; 1091.84
. Issuance of Added Shares
Issuance of Added Shares 1091.77 Resolution of Contingency 1091.79–.86
Tax Effect, Imputed Interest 1091.85 Transfer, Added Consideration 1091.77
Cost of Acquired Company 1091.72-76:
Cost of Acquired Company 1091.72–.76; 1091.78–.80; 1091.82; 1091.91
. Cost Principles
Criticism of Method
. Date of Acquisition 1091.93
. Debt Securities
. Deductibility for Income Taxes 1091.89
Deferred Credits
. Definition
Direct Costs of Acquisition
U1091.133—.135
Disclosure in Interim Periods
Discount on Debt Securities 1091.72;
1091.82 . Earnings Per Share Computations
Erosion of Criteria
.031 . Expenses of Acquisition
U1091.133—.135
. Fair Value Allocation of Cost
Consideration for Stock Issued 1091.20–.21: 1091.67: 1091.73
Cost of Acquired Company 1091.72
Cost of Acquired Company1091.72 Marketable Securities1091.72; 1091.74; 1091.76; U1091.138140
Unilateral Recording
. Forced Sale of Stock U1091.136
DIID

15,266

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

PURCHASE METHOD-continued
Goodwill . Amortization
 Issuance of Stock, When Recorded (S-2A)
Market Prices, Securities Issued 1091.22– .23; 1091.74–.75 Matching Principle
. More Than Two Companies U1091.147– .150 . Nature of Transaction
.96 . Number of Shares Issued 1091.24—.25 . Origin and Development 1091.03; 1091.11 . Part Purchase, Part Pooling 1091.13; . 1091.43 . Preferred Stock Issued
 Present Value of Liabilities 1091.67; 1091.72 Principles of Accounting 1091.08; 1091.21; 1091.66—.69; 1091.72 Pro Forma Information 1091.96; 4211-1.01— .07
Registration Costs 1091.76; U1091.138—.140 Research and Development Costs
. Tax Effects
Purchase Method and Business Combinations
PURCHASE OF DEBT Compensating Balances
PURCHASES 4111.06 Loans to Suppliers 4111.06 Computer Software 4211-3.05 Revenue Not Recognized (M-1F) 1027.07 Treasury Stock 5542.0314
PURCHASING POWERSee Price-Level Changes, Inflation
PURPOSE OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING . Relation to Objectives
QUALITATIVE OBJECTIVES—See Objectives, Qualitative
QUALITY CONTROL Excluded from Research and Development

OUANTITATIVE ATTRIBUTES Selection and Measurement 1023.28 OUASI-REORGANIZATIONS-See also Corporate Readjustments 5581.01-.12 Definition, General 5581.02 . . Exclusions from Results of Operating Loss Carryforwards 4091.49; U4091.098-.102 . Practices Re Write-Ups . . . RAILROADS . Losses on Interline Receivables U2010.001-.003 **RATABLE CHARGE METHOD** . Key-man Life Insurance U4064.001-.004 RATE-MAKING PROCESSES Declining-Balance Depreciation 4074.08 . RATES (INCOME TAXES) Change in Rates 2071.26; U4091.038--.042 Deferred Method 4091.18; U4091.025-.026 .20 Operating Loss Carryforwards 4091.45 RATES OF EXCHANGE—See Exchange Rates **RATES OF INTEREST**—See Interest Rates RATIOS. PERCENTAGE Price-Level Information 1071.47 Stock Dividends v. Split-Ups 5561.16 RAW MATERIALS AND SUPPLIES REACOUIRED BONDS—See Treasury Bonds REACQUIRED SHARES—See Treasury Stock REACQUISITION PRICE definition Early Extinguishment of Debt . . . 5362.20-.21 READJUSTMENTS, CORPORATE-See **Corporate Readjustments** REAL AND PERSONAL PROPERTY -.19 . Accounting Problems 4081.01; 4081.08 Accrual Basis Taxpayer 4081.08 • . Basis for Accrual Accounting 4081.14 . Conservatism in Accrual

Accounting	. 4081.12
Consistency of Application	
Disclosure in Financial Statements .	
	1.16—.19
Generally Accepted Rule	. 4081.07
Interim Period Costs	. 2071.16
Legal Accrual 408	1.02—.03
Legal Liability	1.0207
Liability for Taxes	. 4081.09
Lien Date	. 4081.05
Period Charged 408	1.1011
Transfers of Property	1.0506

Copyright () 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

REAL ESTATE COMPANIES Exchanges of Real Estate 1041.07 Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 2062.06 Sale and Leaseback Operations 5351.22 Unclassified Balance Sheets 2033.07
REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUSTS Earnings Per Share
REALIZABLE VALUE, NET Definition .5121.0809 Marketable Securities .1091.88
REALIZATION
U4091.096097 . Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts4041.11 .18
Definition 1026.14 Exceptions to Principle 1026.16 Foreign Assets 1081.06 Foreign Earnings 1081.05 Gain Contingencies 4311.17 General Rule 4010.01 Intercompany Profits and Losses 5131.19 Investment Credit 4094.04: 4094.0910 Nonmonetary Assets 1041.17 Operating Loss Carrybacks 4091.02075 Operating Loss Carrybacks 4091.072075 Operating Loss Carrybacks 4091.4243 4091.4446: U4091.076087 Pervasive Measurement Principle Proposal for Change 1022.20 Proposal for Change 1029.10 Revenue Defined 1025.21 Revenue To Be Earned 1025.17 Stock Dividends 5561.0509 Stock Split-Ups 5561.0509 Tock Split-Ups 5561.0509 Tock Split-Ups 2071.20
. Uncertainties
Affiliated Companies 1091.88 Affiliated Companies 5111.01 Collectibility 2010.23; 4020.01; 4311.04; 4311.2223; 4311.58; 4311.74 Collectible over Long Period [S-1F(1)] Disposal of Segment 2012.16 Estimation of Uncollectibles 1051.10;
Estimation of officience(tibles
Matching Principle
1082.31 Unbilled Costs and Fees (CPFF Contracts) 4041.04 Unearned Discounts 2031.10 Write-Downs 1027.25; U2010.001003; 2012.16; 2012.23 RECIPROCAL TRANSFERS—See Transfers, Reciprocal

R

rand paragraph numbers.
REDEMPTION OR CALL Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.265
.266 . Call Price
REDEMPTION PREMIUM
. Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.01—.22 . Earnings per Share Computations
. Timing Differences
REFINANCING—See Financing
REFUNDING OF DEBT 5362.04 Definition 5362.01 Early Extinguishment 5362.01—.22
Financing Decisions
. Reporting Gains and Losses 2013.0117
REGISTRATION AUTHORITIES . Initial Public Distribution 1051.2930 . Use of Financial Information 1023.06
REGULATED INDUSTRIES
Accounting Requirements
Recognition for Rate-Making
Purposes
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.05
Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.02 Equity Method
. Income Taxes
Extinguishment of Debt
Generally Accepted Auditing
Generally Accepted Auditing Standards 6011.05 Income Tax Allocation 4091.05; 4095.04
. Income Tax Allocation 4091.05; 4095.04; 1/2091.018
U4091.018 . Intangible Assets
. Intercompany Transactions
Inventory Pricing
Loss Contingencies
. Nonmonetary Transactions
. Opinions, Auditors' 6011.05
. Pension Plans
. Rate-Making Processes

Research and Development Costs ... 4211.14 Variances from Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 6011.03-.05

EGHLA TEC R

REGULATORY AUTHORITIES
. Accounting Requirements 6011.0304
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.02:
2062.34—.35
. Investment Credit
. Losses on Railroad Receivables
U2010.001003
. Pooling of Interests 1091.47; U1091.016018
. Rate-Making Processes
. Recognition of Deferred Income
Taxes
. Refunding of Debt
. Requirement for Funds Statements
. Ruling on Convertible Securities
. Savings and Loan Associations 4095.19-
.20

REGULATORY AUTHORITIES —continued	REORGANIZATIONS—See also Corporate
. Tax Effects, Depreciation	Readjustments
Guidelines	. Approval by Stockholders
1023.08	. Bases. Tax v. Accounting
	. Earnings per Share Computations
REIMBURSABLE COSTS	
. Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts 4041.01— .22	Nonmonetary Assets Distributed 1041.05;
Research and Development Costs	1041.1012; 1041.23
	. Notes Issued in Bankruptcy 4111-1.0105
. Terminated War and Defense	REPLACEMENT COSTS
Contracts	Basis in Business Combinations 1091.88
REINSURANCE COMPANIES	. Foreign Exchange Rate Change 1081.16
. Catastrophe Losses 4311.04; 4311.40—.41;	. General v. Specific Prices 1071D.0205
4311.56; 4311.89	. Inventory Pricing
. Catastrophe Reserves	. Measurement of Resources
. Insurance Premiums as Deposits 4311.4445	1026.28
	Price Level Increases
REINVESTMENT OF PROFITS	. Price-Level Statements 1071.05: 1071.48
. Replacement at Current Prices, Productive Facilities	. Supplementary Schedules
Undistributed Earnings of	REPORTS TO STOCKHOLDERS
Subsidiaries	Accounting Policies 2045.01
RELATED COMPANY	. Changes in Financial Position 2021.01—.16
. Definition	. Comparative Financial Statements
Lease Transactions 4052.02; 4052.1517	. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.01
RELEVANCE	. Development Stage Enterprises 2002.01
. Adequate Disclosure 1024.34; 2012.04	. Diversified Companies
. Defined as Qualitative Objective 1022.15;	Earnings per Share
1024.16	. Financial Highlights 1051.39
. Enhanced by Neutrality	Foreign Currency Translation 1082.18
Lease Disclosures by Lessees 5352.0102	Historical Summaries
Primary Qualitative Objective 1024.15–.16 Trade-Off of Objectives	2072.01–.25
-	. Investment Credits
RELIABILITY	. Net Income
. General Objective of Financial Accounting	. Parent Company Statements 5131.14
. Importance to Users	. Relation to Interim Reports 2071.0910
. Relation to Qualitative Objectives 1024.35	. Research on Contingencies
. Responsibility of Management 1024.36	. Stock Issued to Employees
RELIGIOUS INSTITUTIONS	
. Applicability of APB Opinions	RESEARCH . Contingencies
Earnings per Share	Definition by FASB
REMARKETING AGREEMENT	Definition by NSF
. Manufacturer or Dealer Lessors 4052.13	. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.19:
RENEGOTIATION	2062.49
. Cost-Plus-Fixed-Fee Contracts 4041.16	. Laboratory Research Activity 4211.09
. Disclosure of Uncertainties 4042.0203	RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
Income Taxes	. Accounting, Basis for Conclusions
Price Adjustments	4211.37—.59
 Prior Period Adjustments 2010.22; 4042.08 Refunds, Provisions for	Accounting Requirements
	. Acquired in Business Combinations
RENT Collected in Advance	
. Nonmonetary Item 1041.03; 1071.19	4211.24—.31
Contingent Rentals	Administrative Expenses
Disclosure Requirements 5352.0811	Alternative Future Use 4211.11; 4211-1.02;
. Estimation of Lease Commitments	4211-1.05; 4211-3.02; 4211-3.05; 4211-3.08
5352.02: 5352.04	Alternative Methods Considered 4211.37
. Exchange on Continuous Basis 1023.23; 1027.07	Amortization of Intangibles
Expense Recognition 1026.23	4211-3.02
. Interim Period Costs	. Applicability
	. Applicability to Business
. Lessees	Combinations
Lessors	
Lessors	. Applicability to Computer Software
Lessors	. Applicability to Computer Software 4211-3.01
Lessors	Applicability to Computer Software 4211-3.01 Background Information4211.1722
Lessors	Applicability to Computer Software
Lessors	Applicability to Computer Software 4211-3.01 Background Information 4211.1722 Basis for Conclusions 4211.2364 Business Combinations 4211-3.0107 Capitalization 4211.37:4211.5157;
Lessors	Applicability to Computer Software
Lessors 4051.01-19 Long-Term Leases 2012.17; 5351.02; 5352.09 Losses on Leased Property 4052.09 Payments for Property Rights	Applicability to Computer Software
Lessors	Applicability to Computer Software

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS---continued

COSTS-continued
. Cost Elements Identified 4211.11; 4211.32- .36
. Cost of Capital 4211.36
. Definition by FASB
Definition by NSF
. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.03;
2062.09; 2062.24-26
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.13
Disclosure Requirements 4211.13–.15; 4211.60–.62; 4211-1.06–.07
Discussion Memorandum
Discussion Memorandum 2002.24 Disposal of Segment 2012 16
Disposal of Segment
Effective Date Int 4 4211-106-0/
Effective Date, Int. 6
Exchangeability
Expenditures in United States 4211.17
Expense Recognition 4211.12; 4211.37
4211.47—.49; 4211-1.02; 4211-1.05; 4211-3.02; 4211-3.05; 4211-3.08
. Extractive Industries
Factors Considered by Board 4211.38
General and Administrative
Expenses
Intangible Assets 5141.04; 5141.06; 4211.11;
4211 34 4211-1.01-05:4211-3.02:4211-3.08
. Interest
. Measurability
. Past v. Future Use
Production Activity
Public Hearing
Resources
. Recovered by Current Revenue 4211.52
Regulated Industries
Reimbursable Costs
4211.61; 4211-3.07
4211.61; 4211-3.0/ . Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44
4211.61;4211-3.0/ . Relationship to Benefits 4211.41;4211.44 .45
4211.61; 4211.30/ . Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44 . 45 . Research Effort on Project 4211.20
4211.61; 4211-30/ 4211.61; 4211.44 45 Research Effort on Project
4211.61; 4211-3.0/ . Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44 45 . Research Effort on Project
4211.61; 4211.30/ . Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44 45 . Research Effort on Project
4211.61; 4211.30/ 4211.61; 4211.44 45 Research Effort on Project
4211.61; 4211-30/ 4211.61; 4211-30/ 45 Research Effort on Project
4211.61; 4211.30/ 4211.61; 4211.30/ 4211.41; 4211.44 45 Research Effort on Project
4211.61; 4211.30/ . Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44
4211.61; 4211-30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44 .45 Research Effort on Project 4211.20 Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.20 Scope of Statement 4211.06; 4211-3.10 Scope of Statement 4211.01-03; 4211.22; 4211.36 Selling Expenses 4211.30 Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.5859 Timing Differences 4091A05; U4091.063 Transition Procedures 4211.63; 4211-1.0607
4211.61; 4211-30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44 45 Research Effort on Project 4211.20 Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.20 Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.30 Scope of Statement 4211.01-03; 4211.20 Selling Expenses 4211.01-03; 4211.20 Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.304 Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.5859 Timing Differences 4091A.05; U4091.063 Transition Procedures 4211.63; 4211.10607 Uncertainties of Future Benefits 4211.39
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44 .45 Research Effort on Project 4211.20 Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.20 Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.10; 4211.30 Scope of Statement 4211.01-03; 4211.22; 4211.36 Selling Expenses 4211.36 Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.5859 Timing Differences 4091A05; U4091.063 Transition Procedures 4211.63; 4211.10607 Uncertainties of Future Benefits 4211.39- .40; 4211.45; 4211.4952; 4211.59 U.S. Department of Commerce Report 2062.5051
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44 .45 Research Effort on Project 4211.20 Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.20 Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.10; 4211.31 0 Scope of Statement 4211.06; 4211.31 0 Scope of Statement 4211.01-03; 4211.22; 4211.36 Selling Expenses 4211.36 Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.5859 Timing Differences 4091A.05; U4091.063 Transition Procedures 4211.63; 4211.10607 Uncertainties of Future Benefits 4211.39- .40; 4211.45; 4211.4952; 4211.59 U.S. Department of Commerce Report 2062.5051
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44 .45 Research Effort on Project 4211.20; Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.20; Age of Statement for Prior Periods 4211.20; Scope of Statement 4211.01 Scope of Statement 4211.30; Selling Expenses 4211.30; Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.58 .59 Timing Differences 4211.63; 4211.106 .711.63; 4211.106 .6007 Uncertainties of Future Benefits .4211.39 .40; 4211.45; 4211.49 .52; 4211.59 U.S. Department of Commerce Report .2062.50 .51 Usefulness of Information 4211.50 Write-Downs 2012.16; 2012.23
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44- 45 Research Effort on Project 4211.20; Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.10; 4211-1.06; 4211.31; 4211-1.06; 4211.31; 4211-1.06; 4211.31; 4211-1.06; 4211.31; 4211-1.06; 4211.31; 4211.10: Scope of Statement 4211.01-03; 4211.22; 4211.36; Special Category in Balance Sheet
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44- 45 Research Effort on Project 4211.20; Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.10; 4211-1.06; 4211.31; 4211-1.06; 4211.31; 4211-1.06; 4211.31; 4211-1.06; 4211.31; 4211-1.06; 4211.31; 4211.10: Scope of Statement 4211.01-03; 4211.22; 4211.36; Special Category in Balance Sheet
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44- .45 Research Effort on Project 4211.20; Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.20; 4211.1.06; 4211.30 4211.10; Scope of Statement 4211.10; 4211.1.06; 4211.30 5000000000000000000000000000000000000
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44- As Research Effort on Project 4211.20; Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.12; 4211-1.06; 4211-30; 4211.20; Scope of Statement 4211.01-03; 4211.22; 4211.36 Selling Expenses 4211.36 Special Category in Balance Sheet 5 4211.36 5 Transition Procedures 4211.58 59 Timing Differences 4091.405; U4091.063 Transition Procedures 4211.58 4211.51 4211.30 4211.52 4211.30 4211.45; 4211.4007 Uncertainties of Future Benefits 4211.39 40; 4211.45; 4211.4952; 4211.39 U.S. Department of Commerce Report 2062.5051 Usefulness of Information 4211.53 Write-Downs 2012.16; 2012.23 RESEARCH BULLETINS—See Accounting Research Bulletins RESEARCH FINDINGS Foreign Currency Translation 1082.02; 1082.18; 1082.23 RESEARCH PROGRAM
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44- A5 Research Effort on Project 4211.20; Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.10; 4211-1.06; 4211.31; 4211.10; 4211-1.06; 4211.31; 4211.10; Scope of Statement 4211.10; Scope of Statement 4211.10; Scope of Statement 4211.31; 4211.13; 4211.30 Scope of Statement 4211.31 Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.30 Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.58-59 Timing Differences 4091.063 Transition Procedures 4211.30- 4211.63; 4211.10-06-07 Uncertainties of Future Benefits U.S. Department of Commerce Report Report 2062.50-51 Usefulness of Information 4211.59 U.S. Department of Commerce 4211.20 Report 2012.16; 2012.23 RESEARCH BULLETINS See Accounting Research Bulletins 1082.02; RESEARCH FINDINGS Foreign Currency Translation 1082.02; 1082.18; 108
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44, Assert Action 45 Research Effort on Project 4211.20; Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.10; 4211-1.06; 4211.30 4211.10; Scope of Statement 4211.10; 4211-1.06; 4211.30 4211.22; 4211.10 4211.30 Scope of Statement 4211.30; Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.38 Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.38 Transition Procedures 4211.38 4211.63; 4211.30 4211.39 Uncertainties of Future Benefits 4211.39 U.S. Department of Commerce 40; 4211.45; 4211.49 Report 202.20 Write-Downs 2012.16; 2012.23 RESEARCH BULLETINS —See Accounting Research Bulletins RESEARCH FINDINGS Foreign Currency Translation 1082.02; 1082.18; 1082.23 1082.18; 1082.23 RESEARCH PROGRAM Accounting Principles Board 100.05 Committee on Accounting Procedure 100.02
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44- Research Effort on Project 4211.20; Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.10; 4211-1.06; 4211.30 4211.10; Scope of Statement 4211.10; 4211-1.06; 4211.30 5 Scope of Statement 4211.10; 4211.10 5 Selling Expenses 4211.30 Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.30 Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.58-59 Timing Differences 4091.063 Transition Procedures 4211.10; 4211.63; 4211.10,06-07 Uncertainties of Future Benefits 4211.43; 4211.40-52; 4211.39- 421.43; 4211.40-52; 4211.39- 40; 4211.45; 4211.49-52; 4211.39- 40; 4211.45; 4211.30- U.S. Department of Commerce Report Report 2062.50-51 Usefulness of Information 4211.52 Usefulness of Information 4211.52 Research Bulletins 421.62; 2012.23 RESEARCH FINDINGS Foreign Currency Translation 1082.02; 1082.18; 1082.23 RESEARCH PROGRAM Accounting Principles Board
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44- 45 Research Effort on Project 4211.20; Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.20; Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.20; Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.20; Scope of Statement 4211.10; 4211-1.06; 4211.310 Scope of Statement 4211.1003; 4211.22; 4211.30 Scope of Statement 4211.30 Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.30 Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.5859 Timing Differences 4091A.05; U4091.063 Transition Procedures 4211.1516; 4211.63; 4211.10607 Uncertainties of Future Benefits 4211.39 U.S. Department of Commerce Report 2062.5051 Usefulness of Information 4211.59 2012.16; 2012.23 RESEARCH BULLETINS—See Accounting Research Bulletins RESEARCH FINDINGS 1082.02; 1082.18; 1082.23 RESEARCH PROGRAM Accounting Principles Board 100.0506 Committee on Accounting Procedure 100.02 Economic Developments 100.0107
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44, Assert Action 45 Research Effort on Project 4211.20; Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.10; 4211-1.06; 4211.30 4211.10; Scope of Statement 4211.10; 4211-1.06; 4211.30 4211.30; Scope of Statement 4211.12; 4211.30 4211.30; Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.38 Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.36; Transition Procedures 4211.38, -59; Timing Differences 4091.405; U4091.063 Transition Procedures 4211.36; -07 Uncertainties of Future Benefits 4211.39 40; 4211.45; 4211.49, -52; 4211.39 40; 4211.45; 4211.49, -52; 4211.59 U.S. Department of Commerce Report 202: Depart 202: 50, -51 Usefulness of Information 4211.50 Write-Downs 2012.16; 2012.23 RESEARCH BULLETINS See Accounting Research Bulletins 1082.02; RESEARCH PROGRAM Accounting Principles Board 100.05, 06 Committe
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44 Research Effort on Project 4211.20; Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.12; 4211.10; 4211.30 Scope of Statement 4211.0; 4211.30 Scope of Statement 4211.10; 4211.30; Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.30; Transition Procedures 4211.40; 4211.53; 4211.58 9 Timing Differences 4091.063; 4211.30; 4211.45; 4211.49 52; 4211.39 U.S. Department of Commerce Report 2062.50 51 Usefulness of Information 4211.50 Write-Downs 2012.16; 2012.23 RESEARCH BULLETINS See Accounting Research Bulletins 1082.02; 1082.18; 1082.23 1082.18; 1082.23 RESEARCH PROGRAM Accounting Principles Board 1
4211.61; 4211.30/ . Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44
4211.61; 4211.30/ Relationship to Benefits 4211.41; 4211.44 Research Effort on Project 4211.20; Restatements for Prior Periods 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.10; 4211.12; 4211.10; 4211.30 Scope of Statement 4211.0; 4211.30 Scope of Statement 4211.10; 4211.30; Special Category in Balance Sheet 4211.30; Transition Procedures 4211.40; 4211.53; 4211.58 9 Timing Differences 4091.063; 4211.30; 4211.45; 4211.49 52; 4211.39 U.S. Department of Commerce Report 2062.50 51 Usefulness of Information 4211.50 Write-Downs 2012.16; 2012.23 RESEARCH BULLETINS See Accounting Research Bulletins 1082.02; 1082.18; 1082.23 1082.18; 1082.23 RESEARCH PROGRAM Accounting Principles Board 1

RESERVES

. Catastrophes 4311.4142; 4311.62; 4311.90-
. Unspecified Business Risks
RESIDUAL INTEREST
Changes Over Time
Definition
. Description of Economic Activity 1022.11; 1023.17
. Relation to Basic Elements
Relation to Resources and Obligations
. Types of Events
RESIDUAL SECURITIESSee also
Common Stock Equivalents
Conversion Rights
Earnings Per Share Computations
. Investment Value Test 2011.05; 2011.10;
2011B.11
Market Value
. Modification of Concept 2011.11; 02011.003 . Securities Issued Prior to 6/1/69 2011.46;
U2011.048-050: U2011.055: U2011.115:
U2011.344—.352 . Status after Issuance 2011.10; 2011B.05—.08
Status at Issuance 2011.10, 2011B.05-00 Status at Issuance
Status at Issuance 2011.10 Validity of Concept 2011.11; 2011B.03
RESIDUAL VALUE
. Leased Property
RESOURCES—See Economic Resources
RESTATEMENTS
. Appropriation of Retained Earnings
Assets, In Terms of Depreciated
Assets, In Terms of Depreciated Currency
Assets, In Terms of Depreciated Currency
 Assets, In Terms of Depreciated Currency
Assets, In Terms of Depreciated Currency
 Assets, In Terms of Depreciated Currency
Assets, In Terms of Depreciated Currency

DECTATEMENTS continued
RESTATEMENTS continued Net Income 2010.18 Nonmonetary Items 1071.35 Pooling of Interests 1091.52; 1091.57
1091.62 . Price-Level Changes
Obligations
Retained Earnings 2010.17—.18 Revision of Past Accounts 510.10 Statistical Summaries 2010.26 Views on Accounting Changes 1051.14
RESTRICTIONS
Assets, To Be Disclosed
U1091.036—.039
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 1025.2122; 2010.0128; 2012.0127 Accrual Basis 1025.08 Adjustments of Prior Amounts 2012.25 Applicability of Section 2012.07 Appropriation of Retained Earnings
4311.15 1025.21
Basic Elements
.30; 2072.09—.14 . Comparability, Single Enterprise1024.25 . Criteria for Extraordinary Items2012.19—
Definition
2062.1011 Differing Views
Disposal of Segment U2012.003; 2012.13—.18 Earnings per Share
Applicability 2011.05; U2011.068—.071 Illustrative Statements 2011C.01—.04
Pooling of Interests U2011.043 Purchase Method U2011.042
Effective Date of Section
Equity Method
Determination
 Illustration Change in Depreciation Method 2072.17—.21
Change to LIFO Method
. Income Statement Presentation
2012.08—.12 Income Tax Allocation
2072.06—.07, 2072.09—.14 . Interim Period Costs
Loss Contingencies

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS-continued
Pension Plans 4063.46: U4063.121123
Pooling of Interests
Price-Level Changes
 Purchase v. Pooling of Interests 2011A.04
Relation to Economic Elements 1023.22
. Relation To Funds Statements 2021.05;
2021.15 Revenue Defined
RETAIL INVENTORY METHOD
. Inventory Pricing
RETAIL OUTLETS
. Leasing Activities
RETAINED EARNINGS
. Appropriations for Contingencies 4311.15;
4311.20
. Change in Accounting Principle 1051.19-
.20; 1051.2526; 2072.0910; 2072.1721
Combining Company
Current Operating Performance 2010.11 Date of Readjustment
Dating after Readjustment
Discontinuance of Dating 5582.0102
. Exclusions from Results of
Operations
. Legal Restrictions
. Pooling of Interests 1091.10; 1091.53
. Price-Level Restatements 1071.49;
1071B.04; 1071C.10
Prior Period Adjustments 2010.1718
Purchase Method
Retirement of Stock
. Statement Defined
. Stock Dividends
. Subsidiaries
Capitalization
Capitalization 2051.17 Foreign 1081.09 Inclusion in Consolidation 2051.10 Prior to Acquisition 2051.01 Treasury Stock, Profits or Losses 5542.05 5542.10 Treasury Stock, Purchase Price 5542.13 .4 Write-Offs, Corporate Readjustments 5581.06-07 Write-Offs, Intangibles 5141.13
Capitalization
Capitalization 2051.17 Foreign 1081.09 Inclusion in Consolidation 2051.10 Prior to Acquisition 2051.01 Treasury Stock, Profits or Losses 5542.05 5542.10 Treasury Stock, Purchase Price 5542.13 (Write-Offs, Corporate Readjustments 5581.06-07 Write-Offs, Intangibles 5141.13 RETIREMENT AGE Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.07
Capitalization 2051.17 Foreign 1081.09 Inclusion in Consolidation 2051.10 Prior to Acquisition 2051.01 Treasury Stock, Profits or Losses 5542.05 5542.10 Treasury Stock, Purchase Price 5542.13- 14 Write-Offs, Corporate Readjustments 5581.06-07 Write-Offs, Intangibles 5181.13 RETIREMENT AGE Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.07 RETIREMENT BENEFITS —See Benefits
Capitalization 2051.17 Foreign 2051.17 Prior to Acquisition 2051.10 Treasury Stock, Profits or Losses 5542.05 5542.00 Treasury Stock, Purchase Price 5542.13 Write-Offs, Corporate 14 Readjustments 5581.06-07 Write-Offs, Intangibles 5141.13 RETIREMENT AGE Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.07 RETIREMENT BENEFITS —See Benefits RETIREMENT OF DEBT
Capitalization
Capitalization 2051.17 Foreign 1081.09 Inclusion in Consolidation 2051.10 Prior to Acquisition 2051.01 Treasury Stock, Profits or Losses 5542.05 5542.05 5542.10 Treasury Stock, Purchase Price 5542.13 4 Write-Offs, Corporate Readjustments 5581.06-07 Write-Offs, Intangibles 5141.13 RETIREMENT AGE Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.07 RETIREMENT BENEFITS —See Benefits RETIREMENT OF DEBT Assumed Conversion or Retirement 2010.030
Capitalization
Capitalization
Capitalization 2051.17 Foreign 1081.09 Inclusion in Consolidation 2051.10 Prior to Acquisition 2051.01 Treasury Stock, Profits or Losses 5542.05 5542.05 Treasury Stock, Purchase Price 5542.13 (Write-Offs, Corporate Readjustments 5581.06-07 Write-Offs, Intangibles 5141.13 RETIREMENT AGE Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.07 RETIREMENT BENEFITS —See Benefits RETIREMENT OF DEBT Assumed Conversion or Retirement 2021.14 Early Extinguishment—See Extinguishment of Debt
Capitalization
Capitalization
Capitalization 2051.17 Foreign 1081.09 Inclusion in Consolidation 2051.10 Prior to Acquisition 2051.01 Treasury Stock, Profits or Losses 5542.05 5542.05 5542.10 Treasury Stock, Purchase Price 5542.13 4 Write-Offs, Corporate Readjustments 5581.06—07 Write-Offs, Intangibles 5141.13 RETIREMENT AGE Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.07 RETIREMENT BENEFITS —See Benefits RETIREMENT OF DEBT Assumed Conversion or Retirement 2021.14 Early Extinguishment—See Extinguishment—See Extinguishment O Debt From Proceeds of Common Stock 2011.23 From Proceeds of Warrants 2011.245—248
Capitalization
Capitalization 2051.17 Foreign 1081.09 Inclusion in Consolidation 2051.10 Prior to Acquisition 2051.01 Treasury Stock, Profits or Losses 5542.05 5542.05 5542.10 Treasury Stock, Purchase Price 5542.13 4 Write-Offs, Corporate Readjustments 5581.06—07 Write-Offs, Intangibles 5141.13 RETIREMENT AGE Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.07 RETIREMENT BENEFITS —See Benefits RETIREMENT OF DEBT Assumed Conversion or Retirement 2021.14 Early Extinguishment—See Extinguishment—See Extinguishment O Debt From Proceeds of Common Stock 2011.23 From Proceeds of Warrants 2011.245—248
Capitalization 2051.17 Foreign 1081.09 Inclusion in Consolidation 2051.10 Prior to Acquisition 2051.01 Treasury Stock, Profits or Losses 5542.05 5542.10 Treasury Stock, Purchase Price 5542.13 (Write-Offs, Corporate 14 Readjustments 5581.06—07 Write-Offs, Intangibles 5141.13 RETIREMENT AGE Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.07 RETIREMENT BENEFITS —See Benefits RETIREMENT OF DEBT Assumed Conversion or Retirement 2020.114 Early Extinguishment—See Extinguishment of Debt From Proceeds of Common Stock 2011.37—38: U2011.230—235; U2011.246—248 Gain or Loss 2015.207 RETIREMENT OF STOCK Comparison, Treasury Stock 5542.07
Capitalization
Capitalization 2051.17 Foreign 1081.09 Inclusion in Consolidation 2051.10 Prior to Acquisition 2051.01 Treasury Stock, Profits or Losses 5542.05 5542.05 Treasury Stock, Purchase Price 5542.13 4 Write-Offs, Corporate Readjustments 5581.06–07 Write-Offs, Intangibles 5141.13 RETIREMENT AGE Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.07 RETIREMENT BENEFITS —See Benefits RETIREMENT OF DEBT Assumed Conversion or Retirement 2021.14 Early Extinguishment—See Extinguishment of Debt From Proceeds of Common Stock 2011.355 From Proceeds of Warrants 2011.37–38; U2011.230–235; U2011.246–248 Gain or Loss 2013.01–.17 RETIREMENT OF STOCK Comparison, Treasury Stock 5542.07 Extinguishment of Convertible Debt 5362.15
Capitalization 2051.17 Foreign 1081.09 Inclusion in Consolidation 2051.10 Prior to Acquisition 2051.01 Treasury Stock, Profits or Losses 5542.05 5542.10 Treasury Stock, Purchase Price 5542.13 Write-Offs, Corporate 74 Readjustments 5581.06—07 Write-Offs, Intangibles 5141.13 RETIREMENT AGE 4063A.07 RETIREMENT BENEFITS —See Benefits RETIREMENT OF DEBT Assumed Conversion or 8 Retirement 20211.030 Disclosure in Funds Statements 2021.14 Early Extinguishment—See Extinguishment of Debt From Proceeds of Common Stock 2011.37—38 U2011.230—235; U2011.246—248 Gain or Loss 2012.23; U2011.246—248 Gain or Loss 2012.23; U2011.246—248 Comparison, Treasury Stock 5542.07 Extinguishment of Convertible 2015 Debt 562.15
Capitalization 2051.17 Foreign 1081.09 Inclusion in Consolidation 2051.10 Prior to Acquisition 2051.01 Treasury Stock, Profits or Losses 5542.05 5542.05 Treasury Stock, Purchase Price 5542.13 4 Write-Offs, Corporate Readjustments 5581.06–07 Write-Offs, Intangibles 5141.13 RETIREMENT AGE Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.07 RETIREMENT BENEFITS —See Benefits RETIREMENT OF DEBT Assumed Conversion or Retirement 2021.14 Early Extinguishment—See Extinguishment of Debt From Proceeds of Common Stock 2011.355 From Proceeds of Warrants 2011.37–38; U2011.230–235; U2011.246–248 Gain or Loss 2013.01–.17 RETIREMENT OF STOCK Comparison, Treasury Stock 5542.07 Extinguishment of Convertible Debt 5362.15

Applicability of APB Opinions 510.10; 1051.04 Business Combinations 1091.98; (1091.021-024) Capital Structure Changes (2011.00; U201.040; U201.110) Catch-Up Adjustment U1051.010-003; 2072.06-07; 2072.09-10; 2072.17-21 Changes Requiring Restatement 1051.010-003; 2072.06-07; 2072.09-10; 2072.17-21 Changes Requiring Restatement 1051.01-009 Convertible Debt 5516.17 Disclosure of Prior Lease 4051.19 Agreements 4051.19 Discount/Premium on Notes 111.16 Disposal of Segment 2013.17 Fully Diluted Earnings per Share 2013.11-12; Fully Diluted Earnings per Share 2013.11-12; Income Taxes-Special Areas 4095.32 Interim Financial Statements 2072.0913 Interperiod Tax Allocation 1072.0913 Interperiod Tax Allocation 2072.0913 Interperiod Tax Allocation 2013.17-18; Price Changes, Common Stock 2011.103015 Statements 2012.02-0.3 Interim Financial Statements 5352.12 Loss Carryforwards, Purchased 5352.12 Subsidiaries 4091.46;	
U1091.021-024 Capital Structure Changes	1051.04
Capital Structure Changes 2011A03; 202106-07; 202209-10: 2072.17-21 Changes Requiring Restatement	. Business Combinations
Catch-Up Adjustment	. Capital Structure Changes
Changes Requiring Restatement 1051.27— 28; 1051.34—35; U1051.001—009 Convertible Debt	Catch-Up Adjustment
Convertible Debt	. Changes Requiring Restatement 1051.27—
Early Extinguishment of Debt	Convertible Debt
2013.17 Fully Diluted Earnings per Share 2011.41 Income Taxes—Equity Method	Early Extinguishment of Debt5362.22 Earnings per Share—See Restatements Equity Method5131.21; U5131.013—.015
Income Taxes—Equity Method 4095.12 Income Taxes—Special Areas	2013.17
Procedures	Income Taxes—Equity Method 4095.12 Income Taxes—Special Areas 4095.32 Interim Financial Statements 2072.07;
Loss Carryforwards, Purchased Subsidiaries	Procedures
Recognition of Accounting Change 1051.18—30; U1051.001—009 Research and Development Costs 4211.15; 4211.57; 4211-1.06; 4211-3.10 Supplementary Earnings per Share 2011.22 Tax Effects U4091.061—064 Views on Accounting Changes 1051.14 RETURN ON INVESTMENTS Convertible Securities 2011.33; U2011.135— 140 Element in User Decisions 4211.50; 4311.64 "Leveraged Lease" Transactions U2045.002 Pension Funds 40638.27 REVENUE Activities, General Accounting 1026.12 Basic Element of Financial Accounting Category in Income Statement 1022.04; Completion of Production (S-16) Cost Recovery Method Cost Recovery Method Cost Recovery Method 1026.16; Cost Recovery Method 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method 1026.19; 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method 1026.21; 2071.13 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method 1026.19; 1026.21; 2071.13 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method 1025.21; 2072.07 Cost Associated 1026.19; 1026.21; 2071.07 Definition 1025.21; 1027.07 Definition 1025.21; 2022.03 2062.10—11; 2062.30; 2062.35—37; 2062.39 2062.43—44 Discontinued Operations 2012.04 Earned During Production 1026.13—17 Exchange of Nonmonetary Assets 1026.13—17 Exchange of Nonmonetary Assets 1026.13—17 Exchange of Nonmonetary Assets 1026.14 1025.14 1026.13—17 Exchange of Nonmonetary Assets 1026.13—17 Exchange of Nonmonetary Assets 1026.14 1026.14 1026.14 1026.14 1026.14 1026.14 1026.14 1026.13 1026.14 1126 1127.07 113 114 114 115 115 115 115 115 115	5352.12 . Loss Carryforwards, Purchased Subsidiaries 4091.48; U4091.103—.105 . Price Changes, Common Stock 2011.36 . Prior Period Adjustments 2010.17—.18;
Tax Effects	Recognition of Accounting Change 1051.1830; U1051.001009 Research and Development Costs 4211.15: 4211-106: 4211-3.10
Convertible Securities 2011.33; U2011.135- 140 Element in User Decisions 4211.50; 4311.64 ''Leveraged Lease'' Transactions U2045.002 Pension Funds	. Tax Effects
 Element in User Decisions 4211.50; 4311.64	. Convertible Securities 2011.33; U2011.135-
Pension Funds 40638.27 REVENUE Activities, General 1026.12 Basic Element of Financial 1022.04 Accounting 1022.04 Changes in Concept 1025.18 Collectibility Uncertain [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Construction Contracts 1026.16 Cost Recovery Method (M-1F(1)) Cost Recovery Method [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Costs Associated 1026.19; 1026.21; 207.113 - 14 Costs Associated (S-1G) 1027.07 Definition 1025.01; 2026.12; 207.07 Definition 10262.30; 2062.35 - 37; 2062.03; 2062.02; 2062.1011; 2062.30; 2062.35 - 37; 2062.03; 2062.1011; 2062.30; 2062.3537; 2062.03; 2062.2444 Discontinued Operations 2012.08 Earned During Production 1026.26 Earned During Production 1026.26 Earning Process 1026.1317 Exchange of Nonmonetary Assets	Element in User Decisions 4211.50; 4311.64 , ''Leveraged Lease'' Transactions
Activities, General	. Pension Funds
Category in Income Statement 1022.04; 2012.04 Changes in Concept 2012.04 Collectibility Uncertain [S-1F(1)] 1025.18 Collectibility Uncertain [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Completion of Production (S-6D) 1027.10 Construction Contracts 1026.16 Cost Recovery Method 4311.23 Cost Recovery Method [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Costs Associated 1026.19; 1026.21; 2071.13 Image: Cost Associated (S-1G) 1027.07 Costs Associated (S-1G) 1027.07 Definition 1026.21; 2071.13 Image: Cost Associated (S-1G) 1027.07 Definition 1026.21; 1026.12; 2071.13 Image: Cost Associated (S-1G) 1027.07 Definition 1026.21; 1026.12; 2071.13 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.02; 2062.02; 2062.02; 2062.10 2062.10 11; 2062.30; 2062.35 37; 2062.39; 2062.43 2062.10 11; 2062.30; 2062.35 37; 2062.39; 2062.43 2062.43 44 Discontinued Operations 2012.08 Earned During Production 1026.26 Earning Process	. Activities, General
Changes in Concept 1025.18 Collectibility Uncertain [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Completion of Production (S-6D) 1027.10 Construction Contracts 1026.16 Cost Recovery Method 4311.23 Cost Recovery Method [M-1F(1)] 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Costs Associated 1026.19; 1026.21; 2071.13- 14 1027.07 Definition 1025.21; 1026.12 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.02: 2062.1011; 2062.30; 2062.3537; 2062.39: 2062.4344 Discontinued Operations 2012.08 Earned During Production 1026.26 Earning Process 1026.1317 Exchange of Nonmonetary Assets	. Category in Income Statement 1022.04;
Costs Associated (S-1G)	Changes in Concept 1025.18 Collectibility Uncertain [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Completion of Production (S-6D) 1027.10 Construction Contracts 1026.16 Cost Recovery Method 4311.23 Cost Recovery Method [M-1F(1)] 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 Cost Recovery Method [S-1F(2)] 1027.07 Costs Associated 1026.21; 2071.13-
Discontinued Operations 2012.08 Earned During Production 1026.26 Earning Process 1026.13—17 Exchange of Nonmonetary Assets	Costs Associated (S-1G)
	2002.43—.44 Discontinued Operations

REVENUE-continued
Exclusions
. Exempt from Income Taxes
Farm Products (M-6D)
. Farm Products (S-6D) 1027.10
. Fire and Casualty Insurance
. Future
. Gain Contingencies
Included in Basic Elements 1025.18
Income Determination
. Installment Method
. Installment Method [M-1F(1)] 1027.07
. Installment Method [S-1F(1)] 1027.07 . Interim Financial Information 2071.11;
2071.30
. Joint Result of Activities
Leases Recorded as Sales
4311.92
. Measurement (M-1F) 1027.07
. Pooling of Interests (M-2B) 1027.08
. Precious Metals
. Precious Metals (S-6D) 102/.10
. Recognition
Transactions
. Relation to Economic Elements 1022.12;
1022.18; 1024.12 Research and Development
Activities
. Sales
. Sales (S-1G) 1027.0/
Sales, Other Than Products
0.007.12
. Sources 102/.13
. Unearned
. Unearned
. Unearned
. Unearned
Unearned 1026.17 When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.03 Investment Credit U4094.003 PEVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 1027.03
. Unearned
. Unearned
Unearned 1026.17 When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit U4094.003—.025 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.43—.44 Rights and Obligations 2062.11
Unearned 1026.17 When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit U4094.003—.025 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.43—.44 Refinancing Short-Term Debt 2033.23; 2033.43—.44 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.01—.16
Unearned 1026.1/ When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit 1026.1/ Investment Credit 1027.07 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.14; 2033.23; 2033.4344 2033.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS. PROPERTY 110116
Unearned 1026.17 When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit U4094.003—.025 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.43—.44 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2062.11 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.01—.16 RIGHTS, PROPERTY 5351.04—.05
Unearned
Unearned
Unearned 1026.1/ When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit 1027.07 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY Arising from Leases Catastrophe Losses 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements
Unearned 1026.1/ When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit 1027.07 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY Arising from Leases Catastrophe Losses 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements
Unearned 1026.1/ When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit 1027.07 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2032.23; 2033.4344 Notes Receivable/Payable 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY Arising from Leases Catastrophe Losses 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements 4311.107 Disclosure of Uninsured Risks 4311.40 Poening of Risks 4211.50; 4311.64
Unearned 1026.1/ When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit 1027.07 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2032.23; 2033.4344 Notes Receivable/Payable 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY Arising from Leases Catastrophe Losses 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements 4311.107 Disclosure of Uninsured Risks 4311.40 Poening of Risks 4211.50; 4311.64
Unearned 1026.17 When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit 003025 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY Arising from Leases 5351.0405 RISK Catastrophe Losses 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements 4311.27 Disclosure of Uninsured Risks 4311.103 Element in User Decisions 4211.50; 4311.64 Pooling of Risks 4311.4566; 4311.8588
Unearned 1026.17 When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit 1027.07 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.4344 Rights AND OBLIGATIONS 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY 5351.0405 Arising from Leases 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements 4311.27 Disclosure of Uninsured Risks 4311.40 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 Protection Against Losses 4311.45 Self Insurance 4311.27
Unearned 1026.17 When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit 0033025 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY 5351.0405 RISK Catastrophe Losses 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements 4311.27 Disclosure of Uninsured Risks 4311.45 Protection Against Losses 4311.45 Self Insurance 4311.2730; 431.48; 4311.62 Unspecified Business Risk 4311.41
Unearned 1026.1/ When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit U4094.003025 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY Arising from Leases 5351.0405 RISK Catastrophe Losses 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements 4311.27 Disclosure of Uninsured Risks 4311.45 Protection Against Losses 4311.45 Valinet in User Decisions 4311.45 Valinet in Statements 4311.61 Self Insurance 4311.27 Josciostied Business Risk 4311.48 RISKS AND REWARDS A052.10; 4052.12;
Unearned 1026.1/ When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit U4094.003025 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 203.4344 Rights and Obligations 2033.23; 203.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY Arising from Leases Arising from Leases 5351.0405 RISK Catastrophe Losses 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements 4311.27 Disclosure of Uninsured Risks 4311.45 Protection Against Losses 4311.45 Self Insurance 4311.2730; 4311.6888 Unspecified Business Risk 4311.41 RISK AND REWARDS Retained by Lessors 4052.10; 4052.12; 4052.12;
Unearned 1026.17 When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit 0033025 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2062.11 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY Arising from Leases 5351.0405 RISK Catastrophe Losses 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements 4311.27 Disclosure of Uninsured Risks 4311.61 Fortection Against Losses 4311.4588 Self Insurance 4311.2730; 4311.48; 4311.62 Unspecified Business Risk 4311.14 RISKS AND REWARDS 4052.10; 4052.12; 4052.12; Retained by Lessors 4052.02
Unearned 1026.1/ When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit U4094.003025 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2032.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY Arising from Leases 5351.0405 RISK Catastrophe Losses 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements 4311.103 Element in User Decisions 4211.50; 4311.64 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 Protection Against Losses 4311.45 Unspecified Business Risk 4311.46 Unspecified Business Risk 4311.47 RISK AND REWARDS Retained by Lessors 4052.10; 4052.12; 4052.16 Transferred to Lessee 4052.02 ROUL + FORWARD PROCEDURE 4052.02
Unearned 1026.1/ When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit 023.03 Refinancing Short-Term Debt 2033.14; 2033.23; 2033.43 -44 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.01 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.01 RIGHTS, PROPERTY Arising from Leases Arising from Leases 5351.04 Consolidated Financial Statements 4311.27 Disclosure of Uninsured Risks 4311.40; Protection Against Losses 4311.45; Protection Against Losses 4311.45; Unspecified Business Risk 4311.46; Unspecified Business Risk 4311.46; Unspecified Business Risk 4052.10; Retained by Lessors 4052.10; Rot2.1; FORWARD PROCEDURE 4052.10; Price-Level Restatements 1071.38; 1071.44;
Unearned 1026.1/ When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit U4094.003025 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2032.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY Arising from Leases 5351.0405 RISK Catastrophe Losses 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements 4311.103 Element in User Decisions 4211.50; 4311.45 Protection Against Losses 4311.45 Vunspecified Business Risk 4311.46 Unspecified Business Risk 4311.42 RISKS AND REWARDS A052.10; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12 RISKS AND REWARDS Retained by Lessors RISK AND REWARDS A052.10; 4052.12; 4052.10; 4052.12; 4052.12 RISKS AND REWARDS A052.10; 4052.10; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12 RISK AND REWARDS A052.10; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12 RISK AND REWARDS A052.10; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12 RISK AND REWARDS A052.10; 4052.12; 4052.12
Unearned 1026.1/ When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit 023.03 Refinancing Short-Term Debt 2033.14; 2033.23; 2033.4344 2033.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY Arising from Leases 5351.0405 RISK Catastrophe Losses 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements 4311.27 Disclosure of Uninsured Risks 4311.61 Protection Against Losses 4311.45 Protection Against Losses 4311.45 Risk Self Insurance 4311.2730; 4311.48; 4311.62 Unspecified Business Risk 4311.41 RISKS AND REWARDS 4052.10; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.16 Transferred to Lessee 4052.00; 4052.12; 4052
Unearned 1026.1/ When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit U4094.003025 REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 2033.23; 2033.4344 Rights and Obligations 2033.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY Arising from Leases 5351.0405 RISK Catastrophe Losses 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements 4311.27 Disclosure of Uninsured Risks 4311.103 Element in User Decisions 4211.50; 4311.45 Protection Against Losses 4311.45 Vonspecified Business Risk 4311.45 Unspecified Business Risk 4311.41 RISKS AND REWARDS Retained by Lessors 4052.10; 4052.12; 4052.12 Robingerred to Lessee 4052.10; 4052.12; 4052.
Unearned 1026.1/ When Recorded (S-1F) 1027.07 REVENUE ACT OF 1971 1027.07 Investment Credit 023.03 Refinancing Short-Term Debt 2033.14; 2033.23; 2033.4344 2033.23; 2033.4344 RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 2062.11 Notes Receivable/Payable 4111.0116 RIGHTS, PROPERTY Arising from Leases 5351.0405 RISK Catastrophe Losses 4311.4043; 4311.89 Consolidated Financial Statements 4311.27 Disclosure of Uninsured Risks 4311.61 Protection Against Losses 4311.45 Protection Against Losses 4311.45 Risk Self Insurance 4311.2730; 4311.48; 4311.62 Unspecified Business Risk 4311.41 RISKS AND REWARDS 4052.10; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.12; 4052.16 Transferred to Lessee 4052.00; 4052.12; 4052

15.272

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

RULES AND PROCEDURES—See Detailed Principles	SEC
RULES OF CONDUCT Interpretations Under Rule 203 520.02-	. (
.07 . Rule 203—Accounting Principles 510.08; 520.01	. 1
SALE AND LEASEBACK TRANSACTIONS—See Lessees' Financial Statements	
SALES	. F
. Call on Stock	. F . F
.20 . Debt with Warrants	
Related Company Transactions 4052.15 Third Party Participation	. 1
Two-Party Lease Transactions 4052.04-	SEC
Leases or Leased Property4052.10—.17 Nonmonetary Exchange Transaction1041.21	C . A
. Price-Level Restatements	. A
Proceeds, Donated Stock	
	. /
Real Estate	. 4
. Property Taxes	. (
Revenue Recognition 1026.14—17 Segment of Business 2012.13—18	
. Segment of Business	. F
Contracts	. F . C
. Treasury Stock	. C
SALES CONTRACTS . Losses on Purchase Commitments 5121.17	. 9
. Recognition, Inventory Losses 5121.09	SEG
SALVAGE VALUE—See Residual Value	
SAVING	Ċ
Definition, Economic	. 0
. Employee Stock Plans 4062A.0114 . Interest Costs on Extinguishment	. [
5362.16—.17	
Less-Developed Economies	. [
SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS . Disclosure Requirements 4095.2425	. E
. Tax Effects, General Reserves	. i
4095.19—.25	. J
SCIENTIFIC INSTITUTIONS	. N . F
. Applicability of APB Opinions	
. National Science Foundation	SEL
SEASONAL BUSINESSES	. 4
. Design Changes	. 0
. Interim Financial Statements 2071.18; 2071.30	. C
. Tax Effects of Losses	. E
SECURITIES	. E
. Anti-Dilutive	. 0
Broker-Dealers	
. Classification	. s
. Convertible—See Convertible Debt . Debt	т. т.
Early Extinguishment	
Monetary or Nonmonetary 1071.34	SEL
. Pension Funds	. A
Dilutive	ΞŤ

URITIES ---- continued ssuance in Package Marketable **Issued in Business Combination** Monetary or Nonmonetary 1071B.02 Price-Level Restatements 10710.17 Other Potentially Dilutive U2011.054—.055 Participating-See Participating Securities Reclassification Required U2011.126-.131 Refinancing Short-Term Obligations 2033.02; 2033.10-.11; 2033.27; 2033 30 Senior—See Senior Securities Freasury—See Treasury Securities URITIES AND EXCHANGE OMMISSION Accounting Series Release No. 4 1026.01 Accounting Series Release No. 96 ... 4094.12 Accounting Series Release No. 134 ... Accounting Series Release No. 145 . Accounting Series Release No. 148 . Development Stage Enterprises 2062.02; 2062.34-35; 2062.38-40; 2062.52 Gains/Losses, Extinguishment of Debt 2013.03 Regulation S-X 2062.35: 2062.39; 2062.52 MENT OF A BUSINESS Accounting for Disposal 2012.13—.18 djustments of Prior Amounts 2012.25 Disclosure of Disposal . . . 2012.08-09; 2012.18; 2012 23 Disclosure, Research and Development 4211.62 Plan of Disposal 2012.14; 4311.74—.75 ECTION AND MEASUREMENT Assignment of Dollar Amounts 1027.03 Classification of Events 1023.23; 1027.03 Division of Broad Operating ransfers, Nonreciprocal 1027.08; 1041.03 ransfers, Reciprocal 1027.07; 1041.03 F INSURANCE counting Accruals 4311 62 56

•	Accounting Acc	i uuis	
	Contingencies		4311.28; 4311.48; 4311

Copyright @ 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and pa

SELLING EXPENSES Expense Recognition 1026.18; 1026.24
Inventory Pricing
Activities
SENIOR SECURITIES Claims on Earnings 2011A.05: U2011.101
.104
. Convertible into Common Shares 2011.09; 2011.41; U2011.054—.055
Definition
Two-Class Common
SERVICE
. Definition, Pension Plans 4063B.37
SERVICE COST Cost Assigned [S-6A(1)]
Measurement [M-6A(1)]
SERVICES
. Consideration for Stock Issued 4062.09 .10
Economic Obligations
4211-3.04
Nonmonetary Transactions 1041.01—.29 Production Activity
SEVERANCE PAY
Timing Differences
SHAREHOLDERS—See Stockholders/Owners
SILVER
Inventory Pricing
SINKING FUNDS Classification in Balance Sheet 2031.06;
2033.09 Disclosure Requirements
. Monetary or Nonmonetary Items
. 1071B.02 Reacquisitions of Debt 2013.08; 2013.16:
5362.03 Redemption of Preferred Stock 5515.02
SOCIAL SECURITY BENEFITS
. Reduction of Pension Benefits 4063A.07
SOFTWARE—See Computer Software
SOURCE AND APPLICATION OF FUNDS—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position
SPECIAL ITEMS—See Extraordinary Items
SPECIAL-PURPOSE FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.02;
2062.1011, 2062.33 Earnings per Share 2011.06; U2011.070071
Examples
Exclusion from Statement
SPLIT-UPS, STOCK—See Stock Split-Ups
SPOILAGE, EXCESSIVE Inventory Pricing
SPREADING METHOD Actuarial Gains (Losses) 4063.26; 4063.30;
. Actuaria Gains (Losses)
STANDARD COST Interim Financial Statements
Inventory Pricing

a index	13,273
and paragraph numbers.	
STANDARDS, FINANCIAL ACCOUN Accounting Changes in Interim	
Statements	. 2072.0125
. Contingencies	. 4311.01104
. Development Stage Enterprises	2062.01—
. Foreign Currency Translation	.55
Information	. 1082.0132
. Refinancing Short-Term	
Obligations	. 2033.0150
Extinguishment of Debt	2013.01-17
. Research and Development Cos	ts
	4211.0164
STANDBY LETTERS OF CREDIT	
Definition	
. Disclosure of Loss Contingencie	
START-UP COSTS See Developme	ent
Stage Enterprises	
STATE AND LOCAL TAXES Based on Income	1 12-11/001 12-
U.	4091.137140
. California	U4091.012
CaliforniaU OhioU Real and Personal Property Tax	4091.137—.140
. Real and Personal Property Tax	es 4081.0119
	4001.0119
STATE LAWS . Capitalization, Stock Dividends	5561.14
STATEMENTS, ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES BOARD	
Basic Concepts and Accounting	
. Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles	. 1021.0108
Conservatism	4311.8283
. Distinguished from Opinions 1(
. Diversified Companies	2061.0114
Diversified Companies Fundamentals of Financial Accounting	
Accounting	. 1010.0104
Historical Basis of Accounting Impairment of Value of Assets Matching Principle	
. Matching Principle 2062.3	2; 4311.7778
. Price-Level Changes 1026.32	2; 1071.01—.50
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN	
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION	. 2021.0116
U2021.005006; U. Background Information	. 2021.0103
. Cash Flow 2021.0	027.20; 2021.07
Changes, Accounting	1051.0140
Changes, Accounting Concept of Statement	2021.08
. Content	2021.1214
. Co-Operative Organizations	006
Definition Description of Statements Development Stage Enterprises .03; 2062.10-11; 2062.42; 20	1022.06
Description of Statements	
. Development Stage Enterprises	2062.02-
. Disclosure Requirements	2021.08-15
. Effective Date	2021.001004
. Extraordinary Items	
. Format	1082 14
. Toreign currency translation .	1082.23
. Funds Concepts	2021.06
. General-Purpose Report 10	2021.07; 2021.07
. Insurance CompaniesU . Interim Financial Statements	2021.007-009
	2071.33
Investment CompaniesU	2021.007-009
. Lease Disclosure by Lessees	
. Lease Disclosure by Lessees	2021.007009

. Number of Statements Required

AICPA Professional Standards

FINANCIAL POSITION—continued Dispetives of Statements POSITION—continued Relation to Income Statement POSITION Relation to Income Statement	STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN	STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL
Persent Company Statements 2021.15 PersData 2021.15 Pooling of Interests 2021.15 Real Estate Investment Trusts 2021.15 Restarch and Development Coss 201.06 Obligations 203.07 Relation to Other Statement 2021.07 Working Capital Flow 2021.07 Obligations 203.07 Corporate Readjustment Scale 203.07 Corporate Readjustment Scale 203.07 Corporate Readjustment Scale 202.04 Disclosure of Components 1027.25 Disclosure of Components 202.02 Disclosure of		
Pooling of Interests	. Parent Company Statements 2021.11	1025.23
Real Estate Investment Trusts		
.009 421158-30 Refinancing Short-Term .003 Obligations .00317 Relation to Other Statements .00317 Trate Allocation Accounts, Types .003017 Warking Capital Flow .2021.04 When Required .2021.04 Working Capital Flow .2021.06 Working Capital Flow .2021.06 Tartements for Decisions .2011.01 Appropriation of Retained Earnings .2031.01 Proker-Dealers in Securities .2033.01 Corporate Readjustments .5581.03 Definition .002.01 Current Noncurrent Distinction .2021.02 Definition .002.02 Definition .002.01 Definition .002.01 Disclosure of Components .2021.02 Disclosure of Components .002.02 Disclosure of Components		
Obligations 2033.17 Stock Life Insurance Companies 2033.17 Relation to Other Statements 2021.05 Translation of Foreign Currencies 2001.55 Title of Statement 2021.01 Translation of Foreign Currencies 2001.15 When Required 2021.02 Unbilled Costs and Fees 4031.05 4041.21 When Required 2021.01 Unbilled Costs and Fees 2033.07 Statements OF FINANCIAL POSITION Appropriation of Retined Earnings 2033.07 Appropriation of Stort-Term 1051.01 4001.21 2012.05 2012.05 Changes, Accounting 0013 2012.04 2012.05 2012.05 Current Noncurrent Distinction 2033.10 Condensed Income 2012.05 Deferred Taxs, Classification of Short-Term 1022.03 1023.01 2012.05 Deferred Taxs, Classification 1022.03 1022.03 2012.05 Deferred Taxs, Classification S 2012.05 2012.05 2012.05 Deferred Taxs, Classification S 2012.05 2012.05 2012.05 Disclosure of Components 12 2012.05 2012.05	.009	
Relation to Other Statement 2021.05 Translation of Foreign Currencies 4091.52 Title of Statement 2021.01 Translation of Foreign Currencies 30.3 Usefulness for Decisions 2021.01 Translation of Foreign Currencies 30.3 Working Capital Flow 2021.04 Unclassified Balance Sheets 2033.07 STATEMENTS OF INANCIA POSITION Appropriation of Retained Earnings 4311.15 (311.20 Abnormal Costs 2012.06 (202.2020 Broker-Dealers in Securities 2033.07 Corporate Readjustments 581.0308 Abnormal Costs 2012.06 (202.20202.20.20) Current Nancurrent Distinction 2013.01 -00.122.01 (202.20202.20.20) 2012.00 -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) 2012.00 -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) 2012.00 -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) -00.122.01 (202.20202.20) -00.122.01 (202.20202.20)		
Treminology 2021.15 04091.124 Trite of Statement 2021.04 1081.12–18.1082.06.1082.06.1 Usefulness for Decisions 2021.04 1081.12–18.1082.06.1082.06.1 Working Capital Flow 2021.00.1–004 1081.12–18.1082.06.1082.06.1 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION Appropriation of Retained Earnings. 2033.09 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION Appropriation of Statements 2031.09 Corporate Readjustments 581.03–06 Corporate Readjustments 2012.05 Current Noncurrent Distinction 2033.06–09.2033.15 Corporating Corporations 2012.05 Deferred Taxes, Closification 1022.03.102 Corporate Readjustments 2012.05 Decisoure of Components 2012.05 Continues Operating Performace 2010.09 Disclosure of Components 2012.05 Costal Perfored 2012.05 Disclosure of Components 2011.06 2011.06 2011.06 Disclosure of Components 2011.06 2011.06 2011.06 Disclosure of Components 2011.06 2011.06 2011.06 Disclosure Requirements 2011.06 <td></td> <td>. Tax Allocation Accounts, Types 4091.55;</td>		. Tax Allocation Accounts, Types 4091.55;
Useruiness for Decisions 2021.04 When Required 2021.01 Working Capital Flow 2021.06 Working Capital Flow 2021.06 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION Appropriation of Retained Earnings Appropriation of Retained Earnings 4311.15, 4311.20 Broker-Deaters in Securities 2033.01 Classification of Short-Term Obligations 2031.07 Obligations 2031.07 2033.09 Current-Noncurrent Distinction 2031.01 Definition 107.020.12 2012.04 Definition 2031.07 2033.09 Derivelopment Stage Enterprises 2062.00 2022.01 Disclosure of Components 1027.12 Disclosure of Components 2022.02 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 2033.12 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 2012.04 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 2010.03 General Aulocation Pre	. Terminology	
When Required 2021.06 2021.07 Working Capital Flow 2021.06 2021.09 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 2033.07 Appropriation of Retained Earnings 4311.54 Appropriation of Short-Term 1051.01–40 Obligations 2010.72.033.07 Corporate Readjustments 5581.03–06 Current-Noncurrent Distinction 2033.19 Current Rate Defined 102203.102 Current Rate Defined 102203.102 Definition 2032.06 Definition 2020.06.202.20 Development Stage Enterprises 2020.06 Disclosure of Current Liabilities 2033.15 Disclosure of Current Liabilities 2033.15 Disclosure of Components 1022.01 Disclosure of Corporation 1022.03 Disclosure of Corporation 2012.04 Disclosure of Corporation 2012.04 Disclosure of Corporation 2012.04 Disclosure of Corporation 2012.04 Disclosure of Carponenits 2012.04 Disclosure of Corporatis 2012.04		
Torking Capital How multiple U2021:00100 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION Appropriation of Retained Earnings Appropriation of Retained Earnings	When Required	
2033.19 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION Appropriation of Retained Earnings 2012.06:2012.0.22 Broker-Dealers in Securities 2033.07 Changes, Accounting 1091.94–95 Classification of Short-Term 2012.06:2012.0.12 Obligations 2013.07:2033.08–09.2033.21 Current Nancurrent Distinction 2031.07 Current Rate Defined 1082.03 Obligations 2031.07:2033.08–09.2033.21 Deferred Taxes, Classification 4001.56 Molisclosure of Components 2022.05 Disclosure of Current Liabilities 2033.07 Disclosure of Current Liabilities 2033.07 Discoure Requirements, Pension 2012.06 Plans 4011.09 Piance Companies 2012.01 Discoure Requirements, Pension 2012.02 Discoure Requirements, Pension 2012.02 Obigenet Eax Blocation 4011.02 Obigenet Eax Blocation 2012.02 Discoure of Current Liabilities 2033.07 Discoure of Current Liabilities 2012.02 Dis	. Working Capital Flow 2021.06; 2021.0915;	
Appropriation of Retained Earnings STATEMENTS OF INCOME Broker-Dealers in Securities 20330 Changes, Accounting 1051.01–40 Classification of Short-Term 001 Obligations 2010.07.203.08–09.2033.21– Corporate Readjustments 5581.03–06 Current-Noncurrent Distinction 2031.01– Current Rate Defined 102.203 Deferred Taxes. Classification 4091.55–38. U4091.124–.126 Deferred Taxes. Classification 2012.03 Deferred Taxes. Classification 2012.03 Deferred Taxes. Classification 2012.03 Disclosure of Corponents 2012.03 Disclosure of Corponents 2012.14 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 2012.18 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discontinued Segment 2012.04 Operation Ray Endersed 2012.04 Origon Fax Allocation 1091.17 Discontinued Segment 2012.04 Discontinued Segment 2012.04 Discontinued Segment 2012.04 Discontinued Reports 2012.04		
4311.15, 4311.20 Abnormal Costs 2012 06: 2012 20: -22 Broker-Dealers in Securities 203307 Abnormal Costs 2012 06: 2012 20: -22 Classification of Short-Term Obligations 2021.01: 2012 01: -02 2012 06: 2012 20: -22 Classification of Short-Term Obligations 2021.01: -03 2012 06: 2012 20: -22 Corporate Readjustments 5580.03-06 2012 06: 2012 20: -22 2012 06: 2012 20: -22 Corporate Readjustments 5580.03-06 2012 06: 2012 20: -22 2012 06: 2012 20: -22 Corporate Readjustments 500-06 2012 06: 2012 20: -22 2012 06: 2012 20: -22 Current Noncurrent Distinction 2030 00 Cordensed Scotting 20: 20: 20: 20: 20: 20: 20: 20: 20: 20:		STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Broker-Dealers in Securities 2033.07 Changes, Accounting 1051.01–.01 Classification of Short-Term 2012.01 Obigations .2031.07 2012.01 Corporate Readjustments .5581.03–.08 Current-Noncurrent Distinction .0203.01 Current-Noncurrent Distinction .0203.01 Current Rate Defined .1022.03 Deferred Taxes, Classification .0013.52 Deferred Taxes, Classification .002.03 Disclosure of Components .0202.03 Disclosure of Components .0202.03 Disclosure of Components .0203.02 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies .003.05 Disclosure Requirements, Pension .0102.28 Plans .4063.46.4063.12 Discolsure Readuring .0102.04 Compare Raw Allocation .001.02 Finance Companies .001.02 Income Tax Allocation .001.05 Income Tax Allocation .001.05 Income Tax Mitched Reports .001.12 Interm Period Reports .001.12 Income		
Classification of Short Term2012.04Obligations	. Broker-Dealers in Securities	
Application of Section 2012		
Corporate Readjustments 5581.03-08 Current Noncurrent Distinction 10:2033.01 10:2033.01 Disclosure Requirements 1021.05 Deferred Taxes, Classification 4091.56 Condensed-See Condensed Income Deferred Taxes, Classification 4091.56 Continuing Operations 2012.05 Deferred Taxes, Classification 4091.56 Continuing Operations 2012.05 Desclosure of Components 11:2022.04 1022.04 1022.04 Disclosure of Components 2013.05 Disclosures of Components 101:202.04 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 2033.15 Disclosures of Revenues (Sales) 2010.20 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 2012.04 2012.04 2012.04 Discontinued Segment 2012.04 2012.04 2012.04 Discourt or Premium on Notes 4111.05 2011.05 2012.05 Discourt or Premium on Notes 1011.16 2021.068 2011.05 Discourt or Premium on Notes 1011.02 2021.06 2021.06 Finance Companies 2013 2011.05 2011.05 2011.05	Obligations 2031.07; 2033.08-09; 2033.21-	
Current-Noncurrent Distinction .203101 Complete Defined .1027.19 Current Rate Defined .1027.19 Complete Defined .1027.19 Definition .1022.03 Condensed—See Condensed Income Definition .1020.03 Corrent Rate Defined .1027.19 Definition .1020.03 Condensed—See Condensed Income .03.2062101126242, 208220 .02.002.003 Disclosure of Components .2012.05 Disclosure of Components .1027.25 Disclosure of Components .2022.03 Disclosure of Components .2023.20 Disclosure of Components .2021.04 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies .2012.18 Discontinued Operations .2012.03004; Discontinuer Segment .2012.18 Discontinued Operations .2012.03004; Discontinuer Segment .2012.18 Discontinued Operations .2012.09012 Effect of Business Combinations .0010063 Fully Diluted .2011.06063 Income Tax Allocation .4091.0506 .2011.0718 .2011.06063 Income Tax Allocation .4091.0506 .2011.0718 .2011.06063 Income Tax Allocation .4091.		
Current Rate Defined 10,003301 Deferred Taxes, Classification 409135 Deferred Taxes, Classification 409154 Deferred Taxes, Classification 409154 Deferred Taxes, Classification 409155 Deferred Taxes, Classification 409155 Deferred Taxes, Classification 102203; 102520 Development Stage Enterprises 206202 03; 2062 10–11; 2062 42; 2062 48 112 2061 15; 2062 42–44; 2062 48 Disclosure of Components 1022 04 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 2012 18 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 2012 04 Discourt or Premium on Notes 4111 403 Effect of Business Combinations 1091 02– General-Purpose Report 1023 07 General-Purpose Report 1023 07 Income Tax Allocation 4091 05–06 Interim Period Reports 2013 07 Property Taxes 4091 05–063 Property Taxes 4091 05–064 Property Taxes 4091 07–073 Operating Loss Carryboxids 4091 07–073 Operating Loss Carryboxids 409	. Current-Noncurrent Distinction 2031.01—	
Deferred Taxes, Classification4091.53Statements4091.56-38 (J4091.124-126Continuing Operations2012.05Development Stage Enterprises.202.0720Disclosure of Current Liabilities.203.15Development Stage Enterprises.2062.10Disclosure of Loss Contingencies.203.15Disclosure of Current Liabilities.203.15Disclosure of Loss Contingencies.203.205Disclosures of Revenues (Sales).2012.03Disclosure of Loss Continued Segment.2012.14.2012.03Plans.4063.46; U4063.121123Discount or Premium on Notes.4111.15Discount or Premium on Notes.4111.15.2012.08Effect of Business Combinations.1091.02.2012.04General-Purpose Report.1023.07Continuing Operations.2011.068067Importance.203.07Continuing Operations.2011.068067Importance Companies.203.07Continuing Operations.2011.066067Importance Size Disclosure by Lessees.552.0711.2011.064065Investment Credit.4091.57.0011.12132Operating Loss Carrybocks.4091.57.0011.02057Operating Loss Carrybocks.4091.57.0011.12132Pooling of Interests.1091.57.2011.062063Proerpetry Taxes.4081.16.20211.062067Finance Companies.2021.02.2011.02107Operating Loss Carrybocks.4091.57.2011.02102Operating Loss Carrybocks.4091.57.2011.02103Operating Lo		
4091.56—58; t4091.124—126 Current U0203 (205 20 Current U0203 (205 20 11: 2012 (205 20 Disclosure of Components . 2032 (205 20 11: 2012 (205 20 11: 2012 (205 20 Disclosure of Current Liabilities . 2033 (205 20 2033 (205 20 11: 206 (201 (205 20) Disclosure of Current Liabilities . 2033 (205 20 Disclosure of Current Liabilities . 2033 (206 210 – 11: 206 (201 (205 20) Disclosure of Components . 2012 (20 (201 (205 – 200 – 100) . 2012 (201 (205 – 200 – 100) Disclosure of Loss Contingencies . 2012 (201 (205 – 200 – 100) . 2012 (201 (205 – 200 – 11: 206 – 201 (201 (206 – 201		
11:201205 Development Stage Enterprises 202:02 03:202:10-11:202:42:2062:42 Disclosure of Components 207:25 Disclosure of Current Liabilities 2033:20 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 203:105 01:206:20:20:20:20:20:20:20:20:20:20:20:20:20:	4091.56—.58; U4091.124—.126	
Development Stage Enterprises 1022.04-105.2062.40 Disclosure of Components 1027.25 Disclosure of Current Liabilities 2033.05 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 1027.25 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 1027.25 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 1021.04-05.2012.03 Disclosure of Loss Contingencies 2012.04 Disclosure of Premium on Notes 4111.403 Effect of Business Combinations 1091.02 General-Purpose Report 1022.03 Income Tax Allocation 4091.05-06 Importance 203.07 General-Purpose Report 1026.36 Inventory Pricing 512.01 Interim Period Reports 2011.02 Disclosure by Lessees 5352.0711 Liability for Real and Personal 4091.05 Property Taxes 4081.16 Liquidation Preference, Preferred 515.01 Proing of Interests 1091.57 Pooling of Interests 1091.57		
Disclosure of Components		. Definition
Disclosure of Current Liabilities	Disclosure of Components 1027.25	
 Disclosure of Less Contingencies 4311.09–.13 Disclosure Requirements, Pension Plans 4063.46; U4063.121–.123 Discount or Premium on Notes 4111.15 Discount or Premium on Notes 4111.15 Discount or Premium on Notes 4111.15 Effect of Business Combinations 1091.02–.03 Equity Method 5131.11; 5131.19; U5131.001– Finance Companies 203307 Finance Companies 2012.07 Captions Suggested 2011.088–.089; U2011.003–.065 Fully Diluted 2011.41; U2011.066–.067 Furing Period Reports 2012.07 Inventory Pricing Loss Carryforwards 4091.57; Operating Loss Carryforwards 4091.57; Presentation Preference, Preferred Stock 515.01 Net of Tax Method 4091.63; U4091.129 Operating Loss Carryforwards 4091.57; Presentation Preference, Preferred Stock 2013.18; U4063.053–072; U4091.102–.05 Pooling of Interests 1071.32 Pooling of Interests 1071.32 Pooling of Interests 1071.32 Projer V Taxee 2010.167 Presentation Presented 2011.02–.05 Real Estate Companies 203307 Relation to Funds Statement 2023.07 /ul>		
4311.0913Disclosure Requirements Pension2012.03004Plans4063.46; U4063.121123Discontinued Segment2012.0405; 2012.27Discontinued Segment2012.0405; 2012.27Discontinued Operations2012.0405; 2012.27Discount or Premium on Notes4111.15;41114.032012.0405; 2012.27Effect of Business Combinations1091.02042011.05062011.0506Equity Method5131.11; 5131.19; U5131.001063Complex Capital Structures2011.0506Finance Companies2033.07Continuing Operations2012.09; 2012.26Finance Companies2033.07Continuing Operations2012.09; 2012.26Minfationary Effects1071.14Presentation2011.06063Investment Credit4094.192011.08; U2011.064065Simple Capital Structures2011.1718;Investment Credit4094.192011.07074; U2011.064065Simple Capital Structures2011.10102Liability for Real and Personal4081.16Effect of Business Combinations1091.0203Property Taxes4081.16Effect of Lease Capitalization5352.05Liquidation Preference, Preferred515.01Coperating Loss Carryboxks4091.57Pooling of Interests1091.07073122.2013.00203; 2013.15Operating Loss Carryboxks1091.07073122.2013.0203; 2013.15Pooling of Interests1091.0205Real Estate Companies2033.07Properion Report1022.041022.04; 202.36Prior Period Adjustments2021.06; 2013.15 <td></td> <td></td>		
Discussion requirements 2012.04-05. 2012.27 Discontinued Segment 2012.04-05. 2012.27 Discount or Premium on Notes 411115 Discount or Premium on Notes 411115 Discount or Premium on Notes 41111.03 Effect of Business Combinations 1091.02- Equity Method 5131.11: 5131.19: U5131.001- 007 Finance Companies 2033.07 General-Purpose Report 1023.07 Income Tax Allocation 4091.05-06 Informer Tax Allocation 4091.05-06 Interim Period Reports 2071.33 Property Taxes 1071.14 Inventory Pricing 512.01 Inventory Pricing Loss Carryborks 4091.57 Operating Loss Carryborks 4091.57 Pooling of Interests 1091.57 Presentation 1091.57 Presentation 1027.18 Pooling of Interests 1091.57 Presentation 1022.04 Pooling of Interests 1091.57 Presentation 1027.18 Pooling of Interests 1091.57 Presentation 1027.18		Discontinued Operations 1/2012/003-004
 Discontinued Segment 2012.18 Discount or Premium on Notes 4111.15 Discount or Premium on Notes 4111.16 Equity Method 5131.11; 5131.19; 05131.001 Comma Tax Allocation 4091.05-06 Inventory Pricing 5121.01 Investment Credit 4094.19 Lease Disclosure by Lessees 5352.0711 Liability for Real and Personal Stock 4091.57 Operating Loss Carrybocks 4091.57 Operating Loss Carrybocks 4091.57 Presentation 4063.18; U4063.05072 Pooling of Interests 1071.32 General V Specific Prices 1071.02-05 Real Estate Companies 2033.07 Refinancing Short-Term 00127.18 Relation to Funds Statement 2021.05 Income Taxes 1071.14 Insurance Companies 2033.07 Income Taxes 1071.14 Insurance Companies 2033.07 Interim Period Reports 2021.30 Price-Level Financial Statement 2021.05 Income Taxes 1071.14 Insurance Companies 2023.07 Income Taxes 2010.05 Income Taxes 2011.36 Income Taxe 2011.36 Income	Disclosure Requirements, Pension Plans	2012.04—.05; 2012.27
Discount or Premium on Notes 411113. 41114.03 Effect of Business Combinations 1091.02– 03 Equity Method 5131.11:5131.19; U5131.001– 007 Finance Companies 2003.07 General-Purpose Report 1023.07 Importance 1026.36 Income Tax Allocation 4091.05 Interim Period Reports 2071.33 Investment Credit 4094.19 Lease Disclosure by Lessees 5352.07–.11 Liability for Real and Personal 201.03 Property Taxes 4091.63; U4091.67; Operating Loss Carrybacks 4091.57; Presion Plans 4063.18; U4063.013–.072; Pooling of Interests 1007.12 Proentard V. Specific Prices 1071.12 Proing of Interests 1091.57; Presentation 1022.04; 1026.36 Price-Level Financial Statements 1071.22 Relatator to Funds Statement 2021.05; Relatator to Funds Statement 2021.05; Incorme Tax Stock 1071.14 Incorme Tax Support 1022.04; Interim Period Report 1022.04; Stock 1091	Discontinued Segment	
Effect of Business Combinations 1091.02– 03 Captions Suggested		Applicability of Opinion 2011.05-06;
03 03 Complex Capital Structures 2011.03 Finance Companies 2033.07 General-Purpose Report 1023.07 Importance 1026.36 Income Tax Allocation 4091.05 Inflationary Effects 1071.14 Interim Period Reports 2071.33 Inventory Pricing 5121.01 Inventory Pricing 5121.01 Property Taxes 4081.16 Liquidation Preference, Preferred 5515.01 Stock 4091.63 Operating Loss Carryboxeds 4091.57 U4091.072073 U4091.083 Operating Loss Carryboxeds 4091.57 U4091.082 1001.06 Prooling of Interests 1091.57 Pooling of Interests 1091.57 Price-Level Financial Statements 1071.02 Relation to Funds Statement 2033.07 Refinancing Short-Term 2033.07 Relation to Funds Statement 2033.17 Relation to Funds Statement 2021.05		
Equity Method	.03	
Finance Companies 203307 General-Purpose Report 102307 Importance 102636 Income Tax Allocation 4091.05–.06 Inflationary Effects 1071.14 Interim Period Reports 2011.073–.074. U2011.089. U2011.094 Investment Credit 4094.19 Lease Disclosure by Lessees 5352.07–.11 Liability for Real and Personal 70 Property Taxes 4081.16 Liquidation Preference, Preferred 5515.01 Stock 5015.01 Operating Loss Carrybacks 4091.57; U4091.072–.073 U4091.072–.073 Operating Loss Carrybacks 4091.57; Property Taxes 4063.18; U4063.053–072; U4063.118–.120 U4063.118–.120 Pooling of Interests 1091.57; Price-Level Financial Statements 1071.32; Real Estate Companies 2033.07 Refinancing Short-Term 2033.07 Obligations 2033.07 Refiancing Short-Term 2033.07 Obligations 2033.07 Relation to Funds Statement 2021.05; Insura		.16; U2011.088—.089; U2011.103—.104
General-Purpose Report 1023.07 Importance 1026.36 Income Tax Allocation 4091.05–.06 Inflationary Effects 1071.14 Interim Period Reports 2071.33 Inventory Pricing 5121.01 Investment Credit 4094.19 Lease Disclosure by Lessees 5352.07–.11 Liability for Real and Personal Property Taxes Property Taxes 4081.16 Liquidation Preference, Preferred 5515.01 Stock 4091.57; U4091.072–.073 U4091.072 Operating Loss Carryforwards 4091.57; U4091.087 U4091.087 Periods Presented .2013.09; U2011.104–.065 Effect of Lease Capitalization .03 Prior Period Adjustment of Debt .2013.09; 2013.15 Operating Loss Carryforwards 4091.57; U4091.087 U4091.087 Price-Level Financial Statements 1071.12 Price-Level Financial Statements 1071.02–.05 Real Estate Companies 2033.07 Refinancing Short-Term 2033.07 Relation to Funds Statement 2033.17		
Importance 102.33 Importance 2011.07—018 Income Tax Allocation 4091.05—06 Inflationary Effects 1071.14 Interim Period Reports 2071.33 Inventory Pricing 5121.01 Investment Credit 4094.19 Lease Disclosure by Lessees 5352.07—.11 Liability for Real and Personal Simple Capital Structures Property Taxes 4081.16 Liquidation Preference, Preferred 5515.01 Net of Tax Method 4091.63; U4091.129 Operating Loss Carrybocks 4091.57; U4091.072—073 U4091.087 Periods Presented 2011.17—.18; U2011.008; U2011.009 Primary U2011.087; U2011.001 Effect of Lease Capitalization Stock 515.01 Net of Tax Method 4091.63; U4091.72; Operating Loss Carrybocks 4091.57; U4091.087 2013.02—03; 2013.15 Periods Presented 2013.02—03; 2013.15 Periods Presentation 1027.18 Price-Level Financial Statements 1071.02—05 Real Estate Companies 2033.17 </td <td></td> <td>. Fully Diluted</td>		. Fully Diluted
Inflationary Effects1071.14Interim Period Reports2071.33Inventory Pricing2011.12—13; U2011.01Investment Credit2011.13Investment Credit4094.19Lease Disclosure by Lessees5352.07—11Liability for Real and PersonalSimple Capital StructuresProperty Taxes4081.16Liquidation Preference, Preferred515.01Stock5515.01Operating Loss Carrybacks4091.57;U4091.072—073U4091.072Operating Loss Carryforwards4091.57;U4091.087;U4091.087;Pooling of Interests1091.57;Prize-Level Financial Statements1071.32;General V. Specific Prices1071.02—05;Real Estate Companies2033.07Refinancing Short-Term2033.07Relation to Funds Statement2021.05;Income Taxes1051.19—20Inditionary Effects1071.14Obligations2033.17Relation to Funds Statement2021.05;Interim Period Reports2013.07	. Importance	Periods Presented 2011.17—.18;
Interim Period Reports2071.33Inventory Pricing101Investment Credit4094.19Lease Disclosure by Lessees5352.07—11Liability for Real and Personal03Property Taxes4081.16Liquidation Preference, Preferred515.01Stock5515.01Net of Tax Method4091.63; U4091.129Operating Loss Carrybacks4091.57U4091.072—073U4091.072—073Operating Loss Carryforwards4091.57U4091.087U4063.118, U4063.053—072; U4091.087Pooling of Interests1091.57Price-Level Financial Statements1071.12General v. Specific Prices1071.02—05Real Estate Companies2033.07Refinancing Short-Term Obligations2033.17Relation to Funds Statement2021.05Interim Period Reports1071.14Interim Period Reports201.05Interim Period Reports201.05	Inflationary Effects	
 Inventory Pricing		
 Lease Disclosure by Lessees		Simple Capital Structures
Liability for Real and Personal Property Taxes4081.16Liquidation Preference, Prefered Stock5515.01Net of Tax Method4091.63; U4091.129Operating Loss Carrybacks4091.57; U4091.072073Operating Loss Carryforwards4091.57; U4091.072073Operating Loss Carryforwards4091.57; U4091.087Pension Plans4063.18; U4063.053072; U4063.118120Pooling of Interests1091.57; PresentationPooling of Interests1091.57; U4063.118120Pooling of Interests1091.57; U4063.118120Pooling of Interests1091.57; U4063.118120Pooling of Interests1091.57; U4063.118120Pooling of Interests1091.57; U4063.118120Pooling of Interests1091.57; U4063.118120Pooling of Interests1071.32; U4091.02205Real Estate Companies2033.07Refinancing Short-Term Obligations2033.17Relation to Funds Statement2021.05; Interim Period ReportsColl career2021.05; U10.55; U10.55; Interim Period ReportsColl career201.05; U10.55; U10.55; Interim Period ReportsColl career201.05; U10.55; U10.55;Coll career201.05; U10.55; U10.55;		
 Liquidation Preference, Preferred Stock Liquidation Preference, Preferred Stock Met of Tax Method Operating Loss Carrybacks Operating Loss Carryforwards Motor Tax Method /ul>	Liability for Real and Personal	
Stock 5515.01 Net of Tax Method 4091.63; U4091.129 Operating Loss Carrybacks 1091.57; U4091.072073 U4091.072073 Operating Loss Carryforwards 4091.63; U4091.072073 Pension Plans 4063.18; U4063.053072; U4091.087 U4063.118120 Proim g of Interests 1091.57 Presentation 1027.18 Price-Level Financial Statements 1071.0205 Real Estate Companies 2033.07 Refinancing Short-Term 2033.17 Obligations 2033.17 Relation to Funds Statement 2021.05 Lincome Taxes 1091.132 Insurance Companies 2033.17 Relation to Funds Statement 2021.05 Insurance Companies 201.05 Insurance Companies 201.05 Interim Period Reports 201.35		. Effect of Lease Capitalization
Net of Tax Method 4091.63; U4091.129 Equity Method 007 Operating Loss Carrybacks 4091.57; 007 U4091.087 004091.072 007 Pension Plans 4063.18; U4063.053072; 004091.072 007 Pooling of Interests 1091.57 Extinguishment of Debt 2013.09; 2013.15 Pension Plans 4063.18; U4063.053072; General-Purpose Report 1023.07 Presentation 1027.18 Importance 2011.06; U2011.069 Price-Level Financial Statements 1071.32 Income Tax Expense 4091.54; 4091.59; Real Estate Companies 2033.07 Infationary Effects 1071.14 Obligations 2033.17 Insurance Companies 2010.05 Relation to Funds Statement 2021.05; Interim Period Reports 201.05;		
Operating Loss Carrybacks	. Net of Tax Method 4091.63; U4091.129	. Equity Method 5131.11: 5131.19: U5131.001-
Operating Loss Carryforwards 4091.57; U4091.087 Extraordinary Items U2012.006; 2012.10– 12; 2013.02–.03; 2013.15 Pension Plans 4063.18; U4063.053–.072; U4063.18=.120 Extraordinary Items 12; 2013.02–.03; 2013.15 Pooling of Interests 1091.57 General-Purpose Report 1023.07 Presentation 1027.18 Importance 2011.06; U2011.069 Price-Level Financial Statements 1071.32 Income Tax Expense 4091.54; 4091.59; Real Estate Companies 2033.07 Infationary Effects 1071.14 Obligations 2033.17 Insurance Companies 2010.05 Relation to Funds Statement 2021.05; 1071.32 1071.34	. Operating Loss Carrybacks 4091.57;	.007
U4091.087 12: 2013.0203: 2013.15 Pension Plans 4063.18; U4063.053072; U4063.18120 General-Purpose Report 1023.07 Pooling of Interests 1091.57 Fresentation 1027.18 Price-Level Financial Statements 1071.32 Importance 1022.04; 1026.36 Real Estate Companies 2033.07 Income Tax Expense 4091.54; 4091.59; Refinancing Short-Term 2033.17 Infationary Effects 1071.14 Obligations 2033.17 Insurance Companies 2010.05 Relation to Funds Statement 2021.05; Interim Period Reports 201.35;		
U4063.118—.120Government-Owned CorporationsPooling of Interests1091.57Presentation1027.18Price-Level Financial Statements1071.32General v. Specific Prices1071.0205Real Estate Companies2033.07Refinancing Short-Term1051.1920Obligations2033.17Relation to Funds Statement2021.05;	U4091.087	.12; 2013.02—.03; 2013.15
Presentation 1027.18 Importance 1022.04; 1026.36 Price-Level Financial Statements 1071.32 Income Tax Expense 4091.54; 4091.59; General V. Specific Prices 1071.02-05 Income Tax Expense 10491.121-123 Real Estate Companies 2033.07 Inflationary Effects 1071.14 Obligations 2033.17 Insurance Companies 201.05 Relation to Funds Statement 2021.05 Interim Period Reports 201.30-33;	U4063.118—.120	. General-Purpose Report
 Price-Level Financial Statements		
. General v. Specific Prices 1071D.02-05 U4091.121123 Real Estate Companies 2033.07 Income Taxes 1051.1920 Refinancing Short-Term Inflationary Effects 1071.14 Obligations 2033.17 Insurance Companies 2010.05 Relation to Funds Statement 2021.05; Interim Period Reports 2071.3033;		Income Tax Expense 4091 54-4091 59
. Refinancing Short-Term . Inflationary Effects	General v. Specific Prices 1071D.0205	U4091.121—.123
Obligations 2033.17 Insurance Companies 2010.05 Relation to Funds Statement 2021.05; Interim Period Reports 2071.3033;		
. Relation to Funds Statement 2021.05; Interim Period Reports		
	. Relation to Funds Statement 2021.05;	

STATEMENTS OF INCOME—continued
. Inventory Pricing
Investment Credit 4094.20—.21; U4094.019 Lease Disclosure by Lessees
. Operating Loss Carryforwards 4091.60: 04091.079-082
 Price-Level Gains and Losses
. Relation to Balance Sheet 1022.27: 1025.23 . Relation to Funds Statement 2021.05: 2021.07; U2021.001004
. Research and Development Costs 4211.13—.14
Restatements U2012.009010; 2012.27 Results of Operations, Definition 2010.06 Separate Disclosure of Extraordinary Items 2010.16 Significance 510.03
Single-Step
Adjustments
STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS
Changes, Accounting 1051.01—.40 Content 1022.05 Definition 1022.05 Relation to Funds Statements 2021.05
STATEMENTS OF SOURCE AND APPLICATION OF FUNDS—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position
APPLICATION OF FUNDS—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'
APPLICATION OF FUNDS—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position
APPLICATION OF FUNDS—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY . Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11:
APPLICATION OF FUNDS—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11: 2062.42 STATEMENTS ON AUDITING PROCEDURES—See Auditing Standards and Procedures STATISTICAL SUMMARIES
APPLICATION OF FUNDS—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11: 2062.42 STATEMENTS ON AUDITING PROCEDURES—See Auditing Standards and Procedures STATISTICAL SUMMARIES Earnings per Share 2011.05: 2011.17—18: U2011.068—.071; U2011.083—.100 Research and Development Costs 4211.15
APPLICATION OF FUNDS—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Development Stage Enterprises2062.11: 2062.42 STATEMENTS ON AUDITING PROCEDURES—See Auditing Standards and Procedures STATISTICAL SUMMARIES Earnings per Share2011.05: 2011.17—.18: U2011.068—.071: U2011.083—.100 Research and Development Costs 4211.15 Restatements for Prior Period Adjustments
APPLICATION OF FUNDS—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11: 2062.42 STATEMENTS ON AUDITING PROCEDURES—See Auditing Standards and Procedures STATISTICAL SUMMARIES Earnings per Share 2011.05: 2011.17—.18: U2011.068—.071: U2011.083—.100 Research and Development Costs 4211.15 Restatements for Priod
APPLICATION OF FUNDS—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11: 2062.42 STATEMENTS ON AUDITING PROCEDURES—See Auditing Standards and Procedures STATISTICAL SUMMARIES Earnings per Share 2011.05: 2011.17—18: U2011.068—071; U2011.083—.100 Research and Development Costs 4211.15 Restatements for Prior Period Adjustments
APPLICATION OF FUNDS—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Development Stage Enterprises2062.11: 2062.42 STATEMENTS ON AUDITING PROCEDURES—See Auditing Standards and Procedures STATISTICAL SUMMARIES Earnings per Share2011.05: 2011.17—.18: U2011.068—071; U2011.083—.100 Research and Development Costs 4211.15 Restatements for Prior Period Adjustments
APPLICATION OF FUNDS—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Development Stage Enterprises2062.11: 2062.42 STATEMENTS ON AUDITING PROCEDURES—See Auditing Standards and Procedures STATISTICAL SUMMARIES Earnings per Share2011.05; 2011.17—.18: U2011.068—.071; U2011.083—.100 Research and Development Costs 4211.15 Restatements for Prior Period Adjustments
APPLICATION OF FUNDS—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11: 2062.42 STATEMENTS ON AUDITING PROCEDURES—See Auditing Standards and Procedures STATISTICAL SUMMARIES Earnings per Share 2011.05, 2011.17—.18: U2011.068—.071; U2011.083—.100 Research and Development Costs 4211.15 Restatements for Prior Period Adjustments
APPLICATION OF FUNDS—See Statements of Changes in Financial Position STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11: 2062.42 STATEMENTS ON AUDITING PROCEDURES—See Auditing Standards and Procedures STATISTICAL SUMMARIES Earnings per Share 2011.05: 2011.17—18: U2011.068—071; U2011.083—100 Research and Development Costs 4211.15 Restatements for Prior Period Adjustments

STOCK DIVIDENDS—continued Minimum Legal Requirements
Shareholder's Interest
STOCK, DONATED
STOCK ISSUED TO EMPLOYEES 4062.01-20
Accrual of Compensation
. Convertible Stock
Date of Grant or Award
Dividends Credited to Employees 4062A.1213
Effective Date
. Forfeiture of Rights
Forfeiture of Rights
4062.10—10;04002.006 Market Price v. Fair Value
.12 Measurement of Compensation 4062.10
.11;4062A.01—.14 Noncompensatory Plans
Qualified Stock Purchase Plan 4062.07 Relation to Contingencies
. Termination of Employment
. Types of Plans
STOCK OPTION AND STOCK PURCHASE
PLANS
Accrual of Compensation
Assumed Use of Funds
10 Costs of Services 4061 01: 4062.10—.11 Deferred Stock Options

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

STOCK OPTION AND STOCK PURCHASE PLANS—continued	STOCK PURCHASE PLANS—See Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans
Disclosure Requirements 4061.15; 4062.19 Equivalent Securities 2011.35; U2011.162;	STOCK PURCHASE WARRANTS
U2011.230; U2011.249—.252	. Aggregate Computations U2011.2
. Estimation of Compensation 4062.15	Allocation of Proceeds
. Exercise Price Changes U2011.341343	. Anti-Dilution
. Exercise v. Market Price	Anti-Dilutive Exercise
2011B.18—.19; U2011.026—.027; U2011.159—	Assumed Purchase of Debt 2011. U2011.2
.161; U2011.217—.222; U2011.231—.235	. Classification U
. Expired or Cancelled	Common Stock Equivalents
Federal Salary Stabilization Board 4061.01	2011.35; U
. Forfeiture of Rights	. Conversion Feature Compared
. Formula, Incremental Shares U2011.077-	Definition
.080 . Fully Diluted Earnings per Share 2011.41	. Development Stage Enterprises Dilution, Earnings per Share
. Grouping of Securities	U2011.077—.080; U2011.171—.174; U20
. Illustration of Typical Plans 4062A.0114	. Equivalent Securities 2011.35; U2
. Income Tax Benefits 4062.04; 4062.06;	U2011.116; U2011.162; U2011.230; U20
4062.16—.18; U4062.006	.252; U 5516.12 . Exercise
Internal Revenue Code, Section	Exercise Price Changes U2011.3
130A	. Exercise v. Market Price
. Issu∋d Prior to 6/1/69 U2011.049; U2011.055	2011B.1819; U2011.026027; U20
. Market Price v. Fair Value	.161; U2011.217—.222; U2011.2
. Measurement Date 4002.10	Expiration
. Measurement of Compensation 4061.12-	Expired or Cancelled
.13; 4062.04—.05; 4062.10—.11; 4062A.01—.14	. Fair Value
New Issues	
. Noncompensatory Plans 4061.04—.05; 4062.07	. Fully Diluted Earnings per Share 2
. Order of Exercise	
Order to Apply Methods U2011.167170	Grouping of Securities
. Outstanding Part of Period	Illustrative Statement
.201	Issued for Purchase
. Phantom Stock Plans U2011.284—.286;	. Issued Prior to 6/1/69 U2011.049; U
4062A.12	. Issued with Debt
. Pooling of Interests	. New Issues
Principal Stockholder Stock Plans	Order of Exercise
	Order to Apply Methods U2011.1 Outstanding Part of Period U2020
. Proceeds Invested in Government	. Outstanding Part of Period
Securities 2011.38; U2011.033; U2011.268	. Pooling of Interests
.270 Vualified Stock Purchase Plans	. Price
. Renewal of Option or Right 4062.11	Proceeds Invested in Government
. Restricted Stock 4062.10	Securities 2011.38; U2011.033; U20
. Retirement of Debt 2011.38; U2011.246248	. Real Estate Investment Trusts U20
. Rights Involving Compensation 4061.03	
. Rights Not Involving Compensation	Retirement of Debt 2011 38; U2011 2
4061.0405	. Securities Issued Prior to 6/1/69
. Securities Issued Prior to 6/1/69 	
. Subsidiaries' Securities	 Separability from Debt 5516.11 Stock Subscriptions
U2011.334—.340	. Subsidiaries' Securities 2011A
. Tendering Debt in Exercise U2011.029;	U2011.3
U2011.230—.235	. Tendering Debt in Exercise
Tendering Debt Optional U2011.241-245	U2011.029; U2011.230-235; U5362.0
. Tendering Debt Required	. Tendering Debt Optional U2011.2
. Treasury Stock	. Tendering Debt Required
Treasury Stock Method	. Terms of Issue
U2011.026—.034; U2011.077—.080	U2011.026—.034; U2011.0
Anti-Dilutive Exercise U2011.217-222	Anti-Dilutive Exercise
. Computational Example	Computational ExampleU
Exercise of Options	Exercise of Warrants U2011.2
. Market Prices	Fair Values
U2011.207—.212	U2011.2
Three-Month Test	Three-Month Test
. Twenty Percent Test	. Twenty Percent Test
Types of Plans	. Value
. Unearned Compensation	Warrants Not Detachable
. Value	. Warrants to Purchase Convertibles .
• •andule Fidits	U2011.2

Stock Purchase Plans CHASE WARRANTS Purchase of Debt 20118.19--.20; U2011.261--.266 n Feature Compared 5516.07 ent Stage Enterprises 2062.11 273 2011.35; U2011.024; t Securities 1.116; U2011.162; U2011.230; U2011.249-.252; U2011.287 Price Changes U2011.341---343 Incremental Shares ... U2011.077-.080 ed Earnings per Share ... 2011.41– 42 -.165 or to 6/1/69 . . . U2011.049; U2011.055 ng Part of Period U2011.195-.201 Invested in Government es 2011.38; U2011.033; U2011.268-.270 te Investment Trusts . . . U2011.361-.366 nt of Debt . . . 2011.38: U2011.246—.248 Issued Prior to 6/1/69 ty from Debt 5516.11; 5516.13 es' Securities 2011A.20-24; . . . 2011.32; Debt in Exercise . of Warrants U2011.213-216 U2011.207-212 to Purchase Convertibles

STO

Copyright () 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

STOCK SPLIT-UPS .5561.0116 After Close of Period .2011A.03; U2011.110 Capitalization .5561.15 Computational Example .U2011.360 Corporate Announcements .5561.11 Cost Allocation .5561.09 Definitions, Statements .2021 Differentiated from Stock
Income Determination
STOCK SUBSCRIPTIONS Earnings per Share Computations U2011.287-289 Equivalents of Warrants
STOCK WARRANTS—See Stock Purchase Warrants
STOCKHOLDERS/OWNERS . Approval, Convertible Securities 2011.29: U2011.117120
Approval, Debt Issue
2051.21—22; U1091.103—111 Decisions on Holdings
Income Taxes
Income Determination
Investments, When Recorded (S-2)
 Minority Interests (S-4A)
Notification of Exchange Offer U1091.005- 008
. Option to Exchange Shares U1091.115 .118 . Personal Financial Statements U2011.192
Personal Holding Company
. Pooling Contingent on Bailout U1091.144- .146
Pooling of Interests 1091.28—30, 1091.36; U1091.090—.098 U1091.070 076
Pooling with Bailout
Sale of Stock after Pooling U1091.074-076 Stock Dividends

AICPA Professional Standards

STOCKHOLDERS/OWNERScontinued
. Stock Split-Ups
. Subchapter S Corporations
. Summarized Interim Data 2071.30–.33
. Tax Allocation Within Period U4091.115-
.120
Transfers, Nonreciprocal 1023.23; 1027.03;
1027.08: 1041.05
. Unrealized Appreciation
Use of Financial Information 1023.05
Valuation of Common Stock U2011.192
Voting Rights in Combinations 1091.47;
U1091.019020
. Withdrawals 1025.23
Withdrawals, Measurement (M-2) 1027.08
. Withdrawals, When Recorded (S-2)
. Withdrawais, When Recorded (3-2) 1027.08
STOCKHOLDERS' FOULTY

S

SТ	OCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
	Basic Element of Financial
	Accounting
·	Capital Changes
·	Capitalization, Stock Dividends 5561.10-
	.14 Category in Balance Sheet
•	Changes in Concept
•	Changes in Owners' Equity 1022.10
•	Changes in Owners' Equity
	Changes Presented
	Combining Company
	Combining Company
	2011B.23—.24
	Convertible Debt
-	Decreases, Sources 1027.13
	Deferred Taxes
	Definition
·	Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11
٠	Disclosure of Components 1027.25
•	Equity Method
•	Financing Through Stock Option
•	Plans
	Franchise/Income Taxes U4091.137140
	Included in Basic Elements
	Increases, Sources
	Interim Period Disclosure
	Investments and Withdrawals
	(M-2) 1027.08
	Investments, Noncash Assets
	(M-2C) 1027.08
•	Investments, Noncash Assets (S-2C)
	(S-2C) 102/.08
·	Liquidation Preference, Preferred
	Stock
•	Nonmonetary Assets Distributed 1041.05
·	Nonmonetary Assets Distributed 1041.05 Nonmonetary Items
•	Pooling of Interests 1091 10, 1091 53- 55
•	
	Price-Level Restatements 10/1.46
	Principal Stockholder Stock Plans
•	Purchase Method
	Refinancing Short-Term
	Obligations 2033.11; 2033.30; 2033.42
·	Relation to Basic Elements 1025.17-23
·	Relation to Economic Elements 1022.12;
	1022.18 Research Study (In Process) 4062.03
·	Restrictions To Be Disclosed 1027.26
÷	Retirement Common Stock 5542.07
	Restrictions, To Be Disclosed 1027.26 Retirement, Common Stock 5542.07 Stock Dividends, Split-Ups 5561.08–.09
÷	Stock Option and Stock Purchase
•	Plans
	Translation, Foreign Currencies 1081.18;
	1082.09
	Treasury Stock Dividends

15.278

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY—continued Treasury Stock Profits and Losses	SUM-OF-THE-YEARS-DIGITS METHOD
5542.07 Unearned Compensation	SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION—See also Diversified
STORE OF VALUE—See Unit of Measure	Companies
STRAIGHT-LINE DEPRECIATION Change in Method 1051.09; 1051A.01—.04	SUPPLEMENTARY EARNINGS PER SHARE
SUBCHAPTER S CORPORATIONS Earnings per Share	Conversions . After Close of Period 2011.22; U2011.045
SUBCONTRACTORS Claims, Terminated War and Defense Contracts	.046 2011.22; During Current Period
UBLEASES Disclosure Requirements 5352.06; 5352.08; 5352.11	. Retroactive Effect
SUBSCRIPTIONS COLLECTED IN ADVANCE Example of Deferred Credit	. Expired or Cancelled
. Revenue Recognition 1026.17	. When Required
SUBSCRIPTIONS, STOCK—See Stock Subscriptions	Acquired in Business Combinations
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS Correction of Errors	SUPPLIERS Interest on Receivables/Payables 4111.03: 4111.06
Loss Contingencies 4311.11; 4311.3436 Refinancing Short-Term Obligations	Noninterest Bearing Loans 4111.06 Use of Financial Information 1023.05 SURPLUS
SUBSIDIARIES—See Consolidated Financial Statements	Policyholders—See Policyholders' Surplus
SUBSIDIARIES, FOREIGN—See Foreign Subsidiaries	Proceeds, Sale Donated Stock 5512.01 Technical Term in Accounting 100.04
SUBSIDIES, FEDERAL GOVERNMENT	SURPLUS, CAPITAL
. Investment Credit 4094.03; 4094.05 SUBSTANCE OVER FORM	SURPLUS, EARNED . Discontinuance of Dating 5582.0102
. Basic Feature of Financial	SUSPENSE ACCOUNT
Accounting	. Unrealized Gains, Foreign Exchange
. Classification of Events	SYSTEMATIC AND RATIONAL
Extinguishment of Debt 5362.15; 5362.19	ALLOCATION . Amortization, Intangibles
. Financing Agreements	Anor 122 aton, intangibles
Notes Receivable/Payable	Asset Costs (S-6B)
	. Deferred Compensation Contracts
SUBSTANTIAL AUTHORITATIVE SUPPORT	Depreciation Accounting
Audit Guides, Industry 1051.04; 1051.16	Manufacturing Costs (M-6A) 1027.10
Change in Principle	. Manufacturing Costs (S-6A) 1027.10
Development Stage Enterprises 2062.10; 2062.31	Pervasive Expense Recognition Principle
Problems in Defining	Research and Development Costs 4211.49 TANDEM STOCK PLANS Description
SUMMARIES—See Historical Summaries	TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY
SUMMARIZATION	. Inventory Definition
Accounting Operations	TAX ALLOCATION ACCOUNTS . Discounted Basis
Condition for Fair Presentation 1027.15 Interim Financial Data 2071.01; 2071.30- 	TAX ALLOCATION WITHIN PERIOD . Definition
. Working Capital	. Financial Statement Presentation
SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES	. Interim Financial Statements 2071.19
Foreign Currency Translation 1082.26 Format in Financial Statements 2045.15 	. Need for Tax Allocation 4091.11; 4091.50-

 TAX CREDIT—See Investment Credit

Copyright @ 1975, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.

.....

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

TAX EFFECTS Allocation Within Period
Definition
Imputed Interest, Contingent Consideration
. Investment Credits
Joint Ventures, Corporate
. Nonmonetary Transactions
. Operating Losses 4091.41—.49; U4091.071— .105
Partial Allocation
. Recognition 4091.16; 4091.27—.31; 4091.33; U4091.022
Research and Development Costs 4211.15 Retroactive Application
. Special Areas
Stock Issued to Employees 4062.1618 Stock Life Insurance Companies 4095.01 .02; 4095.2630 ; U4091.020
Stock Savings and Loan Associations 4095.0102; 4095.1925; U4091.020
Subsidiaries Domestic International Sales Corporation
Losses
TAX REDUCTION
Investment Credit
4062.16—.18; U4062.006
TAXABLE INCOME
Accelerated Depreciation Methods
Accelerated Depreciation Methods Loss of Deductibility
Accounting v. Taxable Income 1051-1.04 Definition
Permanent Differences
. Savings and Loan Associations 4095.19– .23
. Stock Life Insurance Companies 4095.26- .28
Treasury Stock Profits or Losses
TAXES 4091.12; U4091.012 Foreign 4091.12; U4091.012 Franchise 4091.12; U4091.012; U4091.137—140
Income 4091.12, 04091.012, 04091.13/140
Income

Inventory Costs	 	 . 1051-1.03
Nonreciprocal Transfers	 	 1023.23

TAXES—continued

Other	12
Real and Personal Property 2071.1	6:
4081.011	
State	12

TAXES PAYABLE

. Offsettin	g Government	Securities
	-	2032.01—.03

TAXING AUTHORITIES

. Use of Financial Information	
	1023.08

TECHNICAL TERMS—See Terminology

TERMINAL FUNDING

TERMINATED WAR AND DEFEN	SE
. Transitional Procedure	. U4063.113—.116
. Actuarial Cost Method	

	Advances, Government 4043.06
	Convenience of the Government 4043.10
	Date of Termination
	Determination of Claim 4043.14
	Disposal Credits
	Inventories Reacquired
	No-Cost Settlements 4043.09; 4043.32
	Presentation in Financial
	Statements
	Profit Accrual
	Scope of Section 4043 4043.01
	Subcontractors' Claims 4043.2430
÷	Termination Claims

TERMINATION CLAIMS --- See Terminated War and Defense Contracts

TERMINATION CREDITS

KMINATION CR	EDITS	
Pension Plans .		5;
	U4063.19619	17

	U	40	63	.1	y

TERMINOLOGY

	itikiitio Eo a i
	Adapted to Users' Capacity 1024.17
	Change, Accounting 1051.06
	Changes in Financial Position 2021.15
	Contingencies 4311.01; 4311.09; 4311.90
	Current Assets
•	Current Liabilities
	Development Stage Enterprises 2062.08-
•	Development Stage Enterprises 2002.00
	Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.03
•	Early Extinguishment of Debt
•	Earnings per Share
·	Equity Method
•	Foreign Currency Translation 1082.05
	Income Taxes
	Initiation, Business Combinations 1091.46
	Liabilities
	List of Terms 1021.08
	Long-Term Obligations
	Modification of Technical Terms 1021.07
	Nonmonetary Transactions
	Operating Cycle
	Pension Plans 4063B.0144: U4063.154155
	Process or Technique
•	Research and Development 4211.08;
•	4211.2829; 4211-3.04
	Short-Term Obligations
•	Technical Meaning of Words
•	
•	Working Capital 2031.03

TERMINOLOGY BULLETINS-See

Accounting Terminology Bulletins

TESTING

. Computer Software	
. Research and Developme Activity	ent 4211.09; 4211-3.04
TIME DEPOSITS . Monetary Assets	

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

TIME OF ISSUANCE	TIMING DIFFERENCES—continued
Agreement as to Terms	. Gross Change Method U4091.059062;
. Cash Yield Test	U4091.066—.076; U4091.131
Contingent Issuance of Shares U2011.313; U2011.331	
Convertible Debt	. Guarantees and Warranties
. Convertible Securities	4091A.03: U4091.045046: U4091.133
. Definition 2011.29; 2011D.24; 5516.14	Guideline Lives
. Reclassification of Securities U2011.126 .131	. Illustrations
. Status of Security	. Income Tax Expense Determination
. Subsequent to Issuance 2011B.0508	. Income Tax Payable
TIME PERIODS	U4091.038044; U4091.058; U4091.068070
. Accrual Basis 1022.27	. Intercompany Transactions 4091A.04
. Basic Feature of Financial	Investment Credit Carryforwards
Accounting	
Basic Period	. Investment Credit Examples 4091.113-
. Change in Period Benefited 1051.16;	.114
1051.32	. Joint Ventures, Corporate 4095.15
. Development Stage Enterprises 2062.43	Lease-Back Sales 4091A.04
. Disposal of Segment	. Leasing Activities
Earnings per Share	Liability Method
Expense Recognition 1026.19: 1026.23	. Losses, Estimated 4091A.03
Expense Recognition (M-6B) 1027.10	. Major Repairs and Maintenance 4091A.03
Interim Financial Statements 2071.0135;	. Measurement, Tax Effects
2072.04; 2072.0914	U4091 031 033: U4091 035 047; U4091 056
Lag in Reporting Earnings	.064
Operating Cycle	. Nature
Rental Commitments	. Net Change Method
. Timing Differences—See Timing	U4091.068; U4091.131
Differences	Net of Tax Method 4091.20; U4091.028029
. Treasury Stock Method U2011.223227	Nonallocation Concept
-	1041.27
TIMELINESS	. Oil or Ore Payments
. Defined as Qualitative Objective 1022.15;	. Opinion
1024.20	Organization Costs
. Interim Financial Information 2071.06; 2071.30	. Originating Differences
. Trade-Off of Objectives	U4091.038047
. Trade-Off of Objectives	. Partial Allocation
TIMING DIFFERENCES	Pension Costs
. Accounting Loss Carryforwards	Preoperating Expenses
U4091.096097	Prior Practice
. Alternative Approaches 4091.36; U4091.057	Procedures, Interperiod Tax
Amortization, Deferred Taxes U4091.065-	Allocation
.070; U4091.088-097	. Recurring/Nonrecurring U4091.022023; U4091.066067
Amortization, Discount/Premium 4111.14	U4091.066—.067 . Rent
. Amortization, Intangible Assets 5141.30 . Business Combinations 1091.89	Rents Collected in Advance
Changes, Accounting	Research and Development Costs
. Comparison with Permanent	4091A.05
Differences	. Retroactive Application U4091.061064
. Compensation, Employee Stock	Reversal Indefinite 4095.0506; 4095.12;
Plans	4095.23; 4095.28
. Comprehensive Allocation 4091.28	. Reverse Differences
. Construction Period Costs	114001 065 070
Contracts, Long-Term	04091.065070 . Royalties
Controlled by Taxpayer 4095.0608;	 Savings and Loan Associations 4095.19—
4095.12; 4095.23; 4095.28	.25
. Cumulative 4091.36; U4091.036; U4091.058	. Self-Insurance
.064	. Special Industry Situations 4095.0133;
Deferred Compensation	04091.021
Deferred Method	. Stock Life Insurance Companies 4095.26-
Definition 4091.12; 4095.0506; U4091.035	.30
Depreciation 4091.14; 4091A.03; 4091A.05;	Tax Effects, Guidelines Needed 4091.10
U4091.047; U4091.058; U4091.069070;	. Tax Effects, Recognition
Effective Date of Opinion 4001.64	U4091.035047; U4091.096097
. Effective Date of Opinion	. Turnaround Period 4091.22; 4095.0506; 4095.09012; 4095.23; 4095.28; U4091.035047
U4091.128	
. Emergency Facilities	 Types of Transactions 4091.14; U4091.037— .047
	. Unamortized Discount, Issue Cost,
. Examples	Redemption Premium
. Extent of Anocation 4091.21, 04091.022 –	. Undistributed Earnings of
. Fees	Subsidiaries
Foreign Subsidiaries 4091A.02; 4095.0714;	Vacation and Severance Pay 4091A.03
1082.22	Zero Tax Effects
1002.22	

TOOLS
. Design
TRADE ASSOCIATIONS . Use of Financial Information
TRADEMARKS . Identified Intangible Assets
TRADE NAMES
Nonmonetary Item
TRANSACTIONS Affecting Financial Position
. Arm's Length
Barter
Change in Accounting Principle 1051.08 Change in Nature
Classification Short-Term
Obligations
. Comparability Defined
Definition
2062.42 Discounting of Notes
. Entity Not a Party 1026.10
Exchange of Values
Foreign Currency Translation 1082.06 Intercompany—See Intercompany
Transactions
"Leveraged Leases"
. Nonarm's Length
. Nonmonetary—See Nonmonetary Transactions
. Nonrecurring or Terminating 1051.16 . Ordinary v. Extraordinary U2012.006–.007;
2012.1924: 2013.0203; 2013.1516
Prior to Effective Date
Summarization in Financial Accounting
Tax Effects
TRANSFERS, NONRECIPROCAL
Definition 1023 23: 1027 08: 1041 03
Expense Recognition
Principles of Selection and Measurement
. Transfers, Other Than Owners1041.06; 1041.13–.14
. Transfers to Owners 1041.05; 1041.09–.12;
1041.18; 1041.23 . Types of Events1027.03
TRANSFERS, RECIPROCAL
Definition
Principles of Selection and Measurement
TRANSLATION
Disclosure, Foreign Currency Information
. Foreign Currencies 1081.1222; 2012.23
Background Information 1082.08 25 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
2045.13 Disclosure Standards
. Examples of Disclosure
Inventories
Payables
1082.24; 1082.31

TRANSLATIONcontinued
. Foreign Currencies—continued
 Price-Level Restatements
1082.24; 1082.31
Tax Effects
Exchange Adjustments TREASURY BONDS
Early Extinguishment of Debt 5362.03
TREASURY DEPARTMENT (IRS)
Depreciation Guidelines
. Waiver, Pension Funding Requirement
TREASURY SECURITIES
. Convertible, Reissued
TREASURY STOCK Acquired in Pooling
Acquisitions
Business Combinations
Capital Transactions
Constructive Retirement
Earnings per Share Computations 2011A.02; U2011.107
. Exclusion from Results of
Operations
Legal Requirements
Materiality of Transactions 5542.10-11 Nonmonetary Assets Distributed 1041.05
Nonmonetary Assets Distributed 1041.05 Profits or Losses
Purchase Price Allocation 5542.13–.14
Reacquisition As Nonreciprocal Transfer
Report, Committee on Accounting Procedure
Retirement of Stock 5542.07; 5542.1314
. Stock Issued to Employees
. Taxable Income
TREASURY STOCK METHOD Anti-Dilution
Anti-Dilution
Assumed Conversion or Retirement
Convertible Securities U2011.249—.252; U2011.258—.260
Definition
Definition
Examples of Method
U2011.171—.174 . Explanation of Method U2011.026—.034 . Fair Value Estimation U2011.190—.194
. Formula, Incremental Shares U2011.077—
.080 . Fully Diluted Earnings per Share2011.42: U2011.028
General Rules
General Rules
. Market Prices
Anti-Dilution Test
U2011.236—239 Applicability
. Average Explained
U2011.236—.239

AC Topical Index

References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

TREASURY STOCK METHOD—continued Market Prices—continued	TWO-CLASS COMMON STOCKS . Common Stock Equivalents
. Bid and Asked	U2011.018—.019
Closing	. Convertible Securities U2011.304—.307 . Description
.189 Over-the-Counter Stock U2011.187—.189	. Earnings per Share Computations U2011.295—.299
. Three-Month Test	
Aggregate Computations U2011.253	. Nonconvertible Securities U2011.300-303 . Twenty Percent Test
Assumed Purchase of Debt U2011.265-	. Two-Class Method
.266 Closely Held Companies U2011.190–.194	TWO-CLASS METHOD
. Computational Example	. Comparison, If Converted Method 2011A.08: 2011B.21—.22; U2011.304—.307
. Deferred Stock Options U2011.274283	Computational Guidelines
Dilutive Effect	U2011.300307
Expired or Cancelled	. Convertible Securities
Order of Exercise	. Definition
Outstanding Part of Period U2011.195–	. Effect, Dividends Declared
Phantom Stock Plans U2011.284—.286	Examples
. Purchase of Convertibles	Nonconvertible Securities U2011.300303
.294	 Participating Securities 2011A.14: U2011.116 Real Estate Investment Trusts U2011.361—
Redemption Premium or	.366
Discount	. When Appropriate
. Tendering Debt Optional U2011.241-245	UNAMORTIZED DISCOUNT
Tendering Debt Required	. Adjustment of Face Amount
Twenty Percent Limitation U2011.255	Earnings per Share Computations
Twenty Percent Test	
Order to Apply Method U2011.167	Extinguishment of Debt
. Real Estate Investment Trusts U2011.361-	. Financial Statement Presentation 4111.15;
366	4111A.03
. Recognition, Market Conditions 2011B.06	Interest Method of Amortization 5361.01–
. Retroactive Adjustments U2011.228229:	.02 Monetary Item
U2011.352	Present Value Concepts 4111A.01-02
. Shares Issued on Exercise U2011.213216	. Term of New Issue
. Stock Subscriptions	Term of Original Issue
. Three-Month-Test U2011.223—.227	. Timing Differences 4091A.05
. Time Period Defined	. Write-Off on Extinguishment 5362.0810; 5362.2021
TRENDS IN FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING	UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Accounting Policies
Accounting Changes, Effect	Earnings per Share
	UNCERTAINTIES
. Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES
. Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions
 Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions
Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions
 Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions
 Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions
 Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions
Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions
 Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions
Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions
 Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions
Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.0304: 4063B.03 Benefits from Research and Development 4011.3940:4211.45: 4211.4952:4211.59 Benefits, Pension Plans 4063B.11 Characteristic of Financial Accounting 1022.27 Consolidation of Foreign Subsidiaries 5131.14 Convertible Debt 5516.06;5516.08 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.3738:2062.45 Disclosure in Interim Periods 2071.22 Economic Activity 1023.15;1023.23:1025.16 Emergency Facilities 4073.08 Fair Value Determination 1041.27 1041.26 Foreign Operations 1081.08 Future Events 1051.1011
 Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions
 Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.0304: 4063B.03 Benefits from Research and Development 4211.3940; 4211.45; 4211.4952; 4211.59 Benefits, Pension Plans 4063.11 Characteristic of Financial Accounting 1022.27 Consolidation of Foreign Subsidiaries 5131.14 Contingencies Defined 4311.0102 Convertible Debt 5516.06; 5516.08 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.31- 32; 2062.3738; 2062.45 Disclosure in Interim Periods 2071.22 Economic Activity 1023.15; 1023.23; 1025 16 Emergency Facilities 4073.08 Fair Value Determination 1041.17; 1041.20; 1041.26 Foreign Operations 1081.08 Future Events 1051.1011 Installment Method of Accounting 4020.01 Investment Credit 4094.10
 Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions
 Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions
 Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.0304: 4063B.03 Benefits from Research and Development 4011.3940: 4211.45: 4211.4952: 4211.59 Benefits, Pension Plans 4063B.01 Characteristic of Financial Accounting 1022.27 Consolidation of Foreign Subsidiaries 5131.14 Convertible Debt 5516.06; 5516.08 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.3738; 2062.45 Disclosure in Interim Periods 2071.22 Economic Activity 1023.15; 1023.23; 1025.16 Emergency Facilities 4073.08 Fair Value Determination 1041.27; 1041.20; Installment Method of Accounting 4020.01 Investment Credit 4094.10 Leases Equivalent to Sales 4052.04
Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions
 Earnings per Share	UNCERTAINTIESActuarial Assumptions4063A.03-04: 4063B.03Benefits from Research and Development4211.39-40; 4211.45: 4211.49-52; 4211.59Benefits, Pension Plans4063.11Characteristic of Financial Accounting1022.27Consolidation of Foreign Subsidiaries5131.14Contingencies Defined4311.0102Convertible Debt5516.06; 5516.08Development Stage Enterprises2062.31- 32; 2062.3738; 2062.45Disclosure in Interim Periods2071.22Economic Activity1023.15; 1023.23; 1025 16Emergency Facilities4073.08Fair Value Determination1041.17; 1041.20; 1041.26Foreign Operations1081.08Future Events1051.1011Installment Method of Accounting4094.10Leases Equivalent to Sales4052.07Loss Contingencies4311.2223; 4311.58- .59; 4311.8284Percentage of Completion Method.4031.08
 Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIES Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.03-04: 4063B.03 Benefits from Research and Development 4211.39-40; 4211.45: 4211.49-52; 4211.59 Benefits, Pension Plans 4063.11 Characteristic of Financial Accounting 1022.27 Consolidation of Foreign Subsidiaries 5131.14 Convertible Debt 5516.06; 5516.08 Development Stage Enterprises 2062.37- 32; 2062.37-38; 2062.45 Disclosure in Interim Periods 2071.22 Economic Activity 1023.15; 1023.23; 1025.16 Emergency Facilities 4073.08 Fair Value Determination 1041.17; 1041.20; 1041.26 Foreign Operations 1051.1011 Installment Method of Accounting 4020.01 Investment Credit 4052.07 Leases Equivalent to Sales 4052.07 Loss Contingencies 4311.8223; 4311.58- .59; 4311.8243; 4311.82 Percentage of Completion Method
Aids in Prediction	UNCERTAINTIESActuarial Assumptions4063A.03-04: 4063B.03Benefits from Research and Development4211.39-40; 4211.45: 4211.49-52; 4211.59Benefits, Pension Plans4063.11Characteristic of Financial Accounting1022.27Consolidation of Foreign Subsidiaries5131.14Contingencies Defined4311.0102Convertible Debt5516.06; 5516.08Development Stage Enterprises2062.31- 32; 2062.3738; 2062.45Disclosure in Interim Periods2071.22Economic Activity1023.15; 1023.23; 1025 16Emergency Facilities4073.08Fair Value Determination1041.17; 1041.20; 1041.26Foreign Operations1081.08Future Events1051.1011Installment Method of Accounting4094.10 Leases Luivalent to SalesLeases Under Operating Method4052.07 Loss ContingenciesLoss Contingencies4311.2223; 4311.58- .59; 4311.8284Percentage of Completion Method4031.08

nterests U1091.045---rted Method . 1B.21-22; U2011.304-.307 nt Trusts U2011.361-NT Presentation . . . 4111.15; mortization . . . 5361.01—

. 2045.10

Jr	CERTAINTIES
	Actuarial Assumptions 4063A.0304:
	4063B.03
	Benefits from Research and
	Development
	4211.4952: 4211.59
	Benefits, Pension Plans
	Characteristic of Financial
	Accounting
	Consolidation of Foreign
	Subsidiaries
	Contingencies Defined
	Convertible Debt
	Development Stage Enterprises 2062.31-
	.32; 2062.3738; 2062.45
	Disclosure in Interim Periods
	Economic Activity 1023.15; 1023.23; 1025.16
	Emergency Facilities
	Fair Value Determination 1041.17; 1041.20:
	1041.26
	Foreign Operations
	Future Events
	Installment Method of Accounting 4020.01
	Investment Credit 4094.10
	Leases Equivalent to Sales 4052.04
	Leases Under Operating Method 4052.07
	Loss Contingencies 4311.22-23: 4311.58-
	.59: 4311.8284
	Percentage of Completion Method
	Prior Period Adjustments 1051 31

15,283

AC Topical Index References are to AC section and paragraph numbers.

UNCERTAINTIES—continued
. Real and Personal Property Taxes 4081.16
Reduced by Law and Custom 1023.16 Renegotiation Possibilities 4042.02-05
Timing Differences 4095 05-06
Timing Differences
. Unrealized Profit
UNCLASSIFIED BALANCE SHEETS—See Statements of Financial Position
UNCOLLECTIBLE ACCOUNTSSee Receivables
UNDERSTANDABILITY
Accounting Policies 2045.07
Adequate Disclosure 1024.31:1027.26
Changes, Accounting
1024.17
UNEARNED COMPENSATION
Stock Issued to Employees 4062.14
UNEARNED DISCOUNTS
. Deduction from Related
Receivables
UNEARNED FINANCE CHARGES
. Rental Activities 4051.14
UNEARNED REVENUE Realization Principle
UNFUNDED ACTUARIAL LIABILITIES 4063B.06
UNFUNDED PENSION PLANS
Legal Obligation Recognition 4063-1.05
UNFUNDED PRIOR SERVICE COST
Illustration, Defined-Maximum, U4063.059
Illustration, Defined-Minimum 04063.060
. Illustration, Defined-Minimum
Presentation in Balance Sheet 4063.18;
U4063.118—.120
UNFUNDED PRIOR-YEAR PROVISIONS
. Pension-Cost Provision
UNIFORMITY
Accounting for Goodwill
. Role in Corporate Accounting 510.04
UNINCORPORATED BUSINESSES
Business Combinations 1091.01; 1091.05;
U1091.103—.111 . Development Stage Enterprises 2062.11
Income Taxes
Intangible Assets 5141.05 Intercompany Profits U5131.008-012 Joint Ventures U5131.008-012
Intercompany Profits
Oil and Gas Ventures
Oil and Gas Ventures
UNIT OF MEASURE
Conversion Factors 1071C.06
Definition
1026.29—.30
Purchasing Power Changes 1026.30–.32
Purchasing Power of Money 1023.30; 1071.04; 1071.44; 1071.48
UNITED STATES
Dollar Devaluation 108212
Dollar Devaluation
Economic Activity

Research an	d De	velopm	nent	Costs	 4211.17

AICPA Professional Standards

UNREALIZED APPRECIATION (DEPRECIATION) Market Value of Shares 5561.06
Market Value of Shares
Variable Annuities 4063.33: U4063.109
UNREALIZED GAINS OR LOSSES . Foreign Exchange 1081.11: 1082.08: 1082.2728
UNREALIZED PROFIT
UNUSED INVESTMENT CREDITS 4094.21 . Carrybacks and Carryforwards U4091.106—.114
UNUSUAL ITEMS . Criteria for Extraordinary Items 2012.20–
21 Disclosure in Interim Statements 2071.21: 2021 20
2071.30 Disclosure Requirements
Earnings Per Share Effects
2012.04—.06 Tax Effects in Interim Period 2071.19
USEFUL LIFE—See also Economic Life Depreciable Assets
Change in Estimate
Contrast with Guidelines 4093.05—.06 Depreciation Guidelines
Depreciation Guidelines
. Intangible Assets
USEFULNESS . Basic Purpose of Financial
Accounting
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2045.04: 2045.07
Earnings Per Share Figures
Funds Statements
Income Statement Favored
. Interim Financial Information 20/1.06: 2071.09
Lease Disclosure by Lessees 5352.01—.02: 5352.05
Qualitative Objectives 1022.15: 1024.13 Research and Development Costs 4211.50
USERS
Classes
1025.12 Comparability Adjustments
Cost of Financial Accounting
Creditors
Customers
1024.10 Demands for Financial Information 1022.24, 1029.03
Development Stage Costs 2062.30; 2062.38; 2062.49
Direct Interest Groups
2045.01—16 Disclosure Requirements
Earnings Variability
Employees
Extinguishment of Debt
Financial Analysts

USERScontinued	VAF
Financial Press	VAI
Funds Statements	
. General-Purpose Information 1023.07	VAF
. Importance of Income Statement 1022.04:	A
1026 36	.
1002.00	VER
Indirect Interest Groups	VEI
Investment Penkers	
. Investment Bankers	VEN
1023.06	С
Lawyers	VEF
5352.05	
Management	• •
Need for Information 1023.03, 1023.06, 1024.10	
. Need for Information 1022.02; 1022.14; 1022.25; 1023.09	
	. 1
Neutrality as Objective	
Owners	•
Public Offering of Securities 1023.05, 1024 10	•
Public Offering of Securities	VES
Registration Authorities	. /
. Regulatory Authorities 1025.00, 1025.00	
. Reliance on Financial Statements 1024.35	
Reliance on Independent Auditor 1024.37	. 1
. Reliance on Single Measure 1022.31	. 1
Reporting Agencies 1023.06 Special Needs 1023.08: 1024.19	. (
. Special Needs	
. Stock Exchanges	. 1
Summarized Interim Data	. 1
Supplementary Information	. 1
Required	
Suppliers 1023.05 Taxing Authorities 1023.05; 1023.08 Trade Associations 1023.06; 1023.08	
Taxing Authorities	voi
. Trade Associations 1023.06; 1023.08	. (
. Understanding Financial	
Accounting 1024.17	
. Unions	. (
UTILITIES, PUBLIC—See also Regulated	
UTILITIES. FUBLIC—See also Regulated	
Industries	. !
Industries	
Industries	
Industries	
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS	
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 4311.7475;	
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 4311.7475: Losses on Inventories 5121.0708	
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 4311.7475;	י י י י י
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 4311.7475: Losses on Inventories 5121.0708	TOV
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 4311.7475: S121.0708 5121.0708 Measurement 5121.0809	
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 5121.0708 Losses on Inventories 5121.0708 Measurement 5121.0809 UTILITY REVENUE Prior Period Adjustments	. 1
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 5121.0708 Measurement 5121.0809 UTILITY REVENUE 2010.22 VACATION PAY 2010.22	
Industries	ו ו דסע
Industries	. 1
Industries	ו ו ו ו ו
Industries	ו ו דסע
Industries	ו ו ו ו ו
Industries	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Industries	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Industries	1000 1000 1000 1000 1000
Industries	1000 1000 1000 1000 1000
Industries	VO1
Industries	TOV 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Industries	WAG
Industries	VO1
Industries	WAG
Industries	TOV TOV TOV TOV TOV TOV TOV TOV TOV TOV
Industries	TOV TOV NAW NAW NAW NAW NAW
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 5121.0708 Losses on Inventories 5121.0708 Measurement 5121.0708 Prior Period Adjustments 2010.22 VACATION PAY Assumed in Business Combinations Interim Financial Statements 2071.15 Timing Differences 4091A.03 VALUATION See also Actuarial Valuation Conversion Option 2011.02.97 Interest Rates for Notes 4091.23.27 Conversion Option 2011.09.5516.06 Fair Value, Common Stock U2011.190194 Interest Rates for Notes 4111.213 Net of Tax Method 4091.63; U4091.028029 Present Value 4111.0809 4111.04.11.08 .09 VALUE Appraisal 1071.05: 1071.48; 4072.01	UND CONTROL CO
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 5121.0708 Losses on Inventories 5121.0708 Measurement 5121.0708 Prior Period Adjustments 2010.22 VACATION PAY Assumed in Business Combinations Interim Financial Statements 2071.15 Timing Differences 4091A.03 VALUATION See also Actuarial Valuation Conversion Option 2011.02.97 Interest Rates for Notes 4091.23.27 Conversion Option 2011.09.5516.06 Fair Value, Common Stock U2011.190194 Interest Rates for Notes 4111.213 Net of Tax Method 4091.63; U4091.028029 Present Value 4111.0809 4111.04.11.08 .09 VALUE Appraisal 1071.05: 1071.48; 4072.01	TOV TOV NAW NAW NAW NAW NAW
Industries	UND CONTROL CO
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 4311.7475: Losses on Inventories 5121.0708 Measurement 5121.0708 UTILITY REVENUE 2010.22 VACATION PAY Assumed in Business Combinations Assumed in Business Combinations 1091.88 Interim Financial Statements 2071.15 Timing Differences 4091A.03 VALUATION-See also Actuarial Valuation Comparison with Measurement Conversion Option 2011.09: 5516.06 Fair Value Basis 1041.18 Fair Value Common Stock U2011.190194 Interest Rates for Notes 4111.2	UNA UNA UNA UNA UNA UNA UNA UNA UNA UNA
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 5121.0708 Losses on Inventories 5121.0708 Measurement 5121.0708 Prior Period Adjustments 2010.22 VACATION PAY Assumed in Business Combinations Assumed in Business Combinations 1091.88 Interim Financial Statements 2071.15 Timing Differences 4091A.03 VALUATION—See also Actuarial Valuation Comparison with Measurement Conversion Option 2011D.09; 5516.06 Fair Value Basis 1041.18 Fair Value Common Stock U2011.10954; Net of Tax Method 4091.20; 4091.5354; 4091.63; U4091.024.029 Present Value Present Value 111.04; 4111.0809; 4111.04; 4111.0809; 4111.04; 4111.0809; VALUE Appraisal 1071.05; 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.19 Current 1071.05; 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.19 Current 1071.05; 1071.48; 4072.01	WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 5121.0708 Losses on Inventories 5121.0708 Measurement 5121.0708 Prior Period Adjustments 2010.22 VACATION PAY Assumed in Business Combinations Interim Financial Statements 2071.15 Timing Differences 4091A.03 VALUATION—See also Actuarial Valuation Comparison with Measurement Conversion Option 2011.02.95516.06 Fair Value Basis 1041.18 Fair Value, Common Stock U2011.190194 Interest Rates for Notes 4111.213 Net of Tax Method 4091.63; U4091.028029 Present Value 4111.0809 VALUE 1071.05; 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.19 Current 1071.05; 1071.48; 1071.002 Decline 5141.02 Goodwill 5141.1723 Impairment 4311.7475	WAI WAI WAI WAI WAI WAI WAI
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 5121.0708 Losses on Inventories 5121.0708 Measurement 5121.0809 UTILITY REVENUE Prior Period Adjustments 2010.22 VACATION PAY Assumed in Business Combinations 1091.88 Interim Financial Statements 2071.15 Timing Differences 4091A.03 VALUATION—See also Actuarial Valuation Comparison with Measurement 1023.27 Conversion Option 2011.09: 5516.06 Fair Value Basis 1041.18 Fair Value, Common Stock U2011.190194 111.213 Net of Tax Method 4091.20: 4091.5354: 4091.63; U4091.028029 Present Value 4111.04; 4111.0809: 4111.0402 VALUE 1071.05; 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.19 Current 1071.05; 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.19 Current 1071.05; 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.19 Current 1071.05; 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 109	WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 131.7475: Losses on Inventories 5121.0708 Measurement 5121.0809 UTILITY REVENUE 2010.22 VACATION PAY Assumed in Business Combinations Assumed in Business Combinations 1091.88 Interim Financial Statements 2071.15 Timing Differences 4091A.03 VALUATION-See also Actuarial Valuation Comparison with Measurement Conversion Option 2011D.09; 5516.06 Fair Value Basis 1041.18 Fair Value Common Stock U2011.10954; Net of Tax Method 4091.63; U4091.028029 Present Value 4111.04; 4111.0809; 4111.0202 4111.0202 VALUE 1071.05; 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.19 Current 1071.05; 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.19 Current 1071.05; 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.19 Current 1071.05; 1071.48;	WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 5121.0708 Losses on Inventories 5121.0708 Measurement 5121.0708 Prior Period Adjustments 2010.22 VACATION PAY Assumed in Business Combinations Assumed in Business Combinations 1091.88 Interim Financial Statements 2071.15 Timing Differences 4091A.03 VALUATIONSee also Actuarial Valuation Conversion Option Conversion Option 2011D.09: 5516.06 Fair Value Basis 1041.18 Fair Value Common Stock U2011.90194 Interest Rates for Notes 4111.213 Net of Tax Method 4091.20: 4091.5354: 4091.63; U4091.028029 Present Value Present Value 1071.05: 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.19 Current 1071.05: 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.10 Current 1071.05: 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.10 Current	WAI WAI WAI WAI WAI WAI WAI
Industries 6011.0105 Loss Contingencies 4311.13 Pooling of Risks 4311.45 UTILITY OF GOODS 131.7475: Losses on Inventories 5121.0708 Measurement 5121.0809 UTILITY REVENUE 2010.22 VACATION PAY Assumed in Business Combinations Assumed in Business Combinations 1091.88 Interim Financial Statements 2071.15 Timing Differences 4091A.03 VALUATION-See also Actuarial Valuation Comparison with Measurement Conversion Option 2011D.09; 5516.06 Fair Value Basis 1041.18 Fair Value Common Stock U2011.10954; Net of Tax Method 4091.63; U4091.028029 Present Value 4111.04; 4111.0809; 4111.0202 4111.0202 VALUE 1071.05; 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.19 Current 1071.05; 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.19 Current 1071.05; 1071.48; 4072.01 Business Combinations 1091.19 Current 1071.05; 1071.48;	WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU WAU

. Element in User Decisions	
	4311.6365

VARIANCES, COST . Interim Financial Statements
VARIANCES FROM GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES . Regulated Industries
VENTURE CAPITAL ENTERPRISES . Investment Decisions
VENTURE, JOINT—See Jointly Owned Companies
VERIFIABILITY
Characteristic of Financial Accounting
1024.18 Measurement Difficulties 1024.40 Test of Results 1024.18 Trade-Off of Objectives 1024.39
VESTED BENEFITS . Actuarially Computed Value 4063.14; U4063.073078; U4063.089098; U4063.186-
. Death. Disability Benefits
U4063.121123 . Illustration, Defined-Minimum U4063.060 . Pension Reform Act (1974) 4063-1.04 . Provision Requirements
VOTING PROCEDURE . Committee on Accounting Procedure
. Dissents
Opinions 510.06 Majority Requirement 510.06 Prevailing Practice 510.07
Prior Opinions
Representative Character 510.06 Statements of the Board 1029.14:1071.50 Submission to Members 510.06
VOTING RIGHTS Disclosure Requirements
VOTING STOCK
Equity Method 1027.23; 5131.18 Minority Ownership 1027.13; 5131.17 Minority Ownership (S-4A) 1027.09
WAGES . Effects of Price-Level Changes 1071.06:
4071.16 . Interim Financial Statements 2071.13 2071.15
. Research and Development Costs 4211.11
WAR AND DEFENSE CONTRACTS Terminated
WARRANTIES—See Guarantees and Warranties
WARRANTS, STOCK—See Stock Purchase Warrants
WEIGHTED AVERAGE Computational Guidelines
Conversions During Period
. Examples
Commitments

WEIGHTED AVERAGE—continued Primary Earnings per Share .2011.24 Reacquired Shares .02011.107 Rule of 78 .02011.109 Translation, Foreign Currencies .1082.27 Treasury Stock Method
WORK IN PROCESS Acquired in Business Combinations 1091.88 Inventory Costs 5121.05 Inventory Definition
WORKING CAPITAL 2031.0110 Classified Balance Sheets .2033.07; 2033.20 Concept of Funds Statements .2021.06 Definition .2031.03 Disclosure in Funds Statements .2021.09 .15; U2021.001004 .1027.25 Impairment .2031.01 .00perating Cycle Concept .2031.03 .01terim Period Disclosure .2031.05 .0201.021.031.07 .2033.02; 2033.02; 2033.02
WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION . Relation to Contingencies
WRITE-DOWNS Assets, Corporate Readjustments 5581.04 Intangible Assets 2012.16: 2012.23 Inventories 2012.16: 2012.23 Operating Assets 4311.31 Productive Facilities (M-5C) 1027.09

WRITE-DOWNScontinued
. Receivables U2010.001003; 2012.16: 2012.23
. Sale and Leaseback Operations 5351.22
WRITE-OFFS
. Assets Acquired (S-1A) 1027.07
Assets of Prior Periods
. Intangible Assets 2012.16; 2012.23; 5141.13;
5141.17: 5141.20—21
. Inventories
Property
. Receivables
. Research and Development Costs
. Unamortized Discount 5362.05; 5362.08-
.10; 5362.2021
YIELD. CASH
Change in Rates
U2011.135
U2011.135 Common Stock Equivalents
U2011.135 . Common Stock Equivalents 2011.25 . Computational Guides U2011.135–.140
U2011.135 . Common Stock Equivalents
U2011.135 . Common Stock Equivalents 2011.25 . Computational Guides U2011.135–.140
U2011.135 Common Stock Equivalents2011.25 Computational Guides
U2011.135 Common Stock Equivalents2011.25 Computational Guides
U2011.135 Common Stock Equivalents
U2011.135 Common Stock Equivalents 2011.25 Computational Guides 2011.35140 Criteria, Common Stock U2011.13140 Equivalence 2011.3334; 20118.09; U2011.113 Criticism of Method Criticism of Method 2011.812 Definition 2011.003
U2011.135 Common Stock Equivalents
U2011.135 Common Stock Equivalents
U2011.135 . Common Stock Equivalents
U2011.135 Common Stock Equivalents
U2011.135 . Common Stock Equivalents
U2011.135 . Common Stock Equivalents
U2011.135 . Common Stock Equivalents